

SEPTEMBER 2-5, 2018

EDIRNE, TURKEY





PROCEEEDINGS OF INTERNATIONAL AGRICULTURAL, BIOLOGICAL & LIFE SCIENCE CONFERENCE

2 – 5 SEPTEMBER, 2018, EDIRNE, TURKEY

In

Trakya University Balkan Congress Center, Edirne, Turkey

> Organized by Trakya University

ISBN # : 978-975-374-243-6 Trakya University Publisher No: 213

WELCOME NOTES

You are welcome to our AGBIOL Conference that is organized by Trakya University. The aim of our conference is to present scientific subjects of a broad interest to the scientific community, by providing an opportunity to present their work as oral or poster presentations that can be of great value for global science arena. Our goal is to bring three communities, namely science, research and private investment together in a friendly environment of Edirne, Turkey in order to share their interests and ideas and to benefit from the interaction with each other.

In September 2018, it will be held the first edition of the AGBIOL Conference, with ambition of the organizers to make it a periodical event. We are proud to announce that in the AGBIOL 2018 will take part more than 700 scientists and researchers from all over the world. There were submitted 823 scientific papers, of which 363 will be presented as oral talks and 460 as poster presentations. The full author list of all submitted papers comprises 2091.

Our conference is a premier international science, technology and business forum focusing on Agriculture, Biology and Life Science. The technical sessions highlight invited and volunteer speakers. Three student posters will be selected to receive 1st, 2nd and 3rd place monetary awards and a certificate during the conference.

We love our nature and care about the environment. We wanted to make our conference as much greener as possible, using less paper. The participants' posters were submitted via conference web page and will be presented on electronic poster screens, developed particularly for this purpose. Abstract book is published in electronic version, and copy of it on flash memory stick, will be provided on each participant.

Conference Topics:

Agriculture, Forestry, Life Sciences, Agricultural Engineering, Aquaculture and Biosystems, Animal Science, Biomedical science, Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Biology, Bioengineering, Biomaterials, Biomechanics, Biophysics, Bioscience, Biotechnology, Botany, Chemistry, Chemical Engineering, Earth Sciences, Environmental Science, Food Science, Genetics and Human Genetics, Medical Science, Machinery, Pharmaceutical Sciences, Physics, Soil Science.

Edirne is not only a very nice, lovely and historical city at the edge of Europe, but located just at the heart of Balkan region and history endowed with monuments reminding imperial past. We are much pleased to host all of you in Edirne and Turkey.

We would like to thank all of you for joining this conference and we would like to give also special thanks to our sponsors and collaborators for giving us a big support to organize this event.

We wish you nice stay in Edirne!

Prof Dr Yalcin KAYA Head of the Organizing Committee

ORGANIZING COMMITTEE

Prof. Dr. Yalcin KAYA Assoc. Prof. Dr. Semra HASANCEBI Asst. Prof. Dr. Necmi BEŞER Asst. Prof. Dr. Gökhan KAÇAR Asst. Prof. Dr. Mehmet YABAŞ Asst. Prof. Dr. Süleyman KÖK Asst. Prof. Dr. Orhan Onur AŞKIN Dr Göksel EVCI Dr Irfan OZTURK Dr Veli PEKCAN Mehmet Ibrahim YILMAZ Emrah AKPINAR Gizem ÇİVİ

Trakya University, Turkey Trakya University, Turkey Trakya University, Turkey Trakya University, Turkey Trakya University, Turkey Trakya University, Turkey Kırklareli University, Turkey Trakya Agr Res. Inst, Turkey Trakya University, Turkey Trakya University, Turkey

Chair Co-Chair Co-Chair Member Member Member Member Member Member Member Member Secreatary Member

SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

NAME

| NAME | INSTITUTION | COUNTRY |
|-----------------------------------|--|------------|
| Acad. Prof. Dr. Atanas ATANASSOV | Joint Genomic Center - Sofia | Bulgaria |
| Prof. Dr. Teodora POPOVA | Inst. of Animal Science- Kostinbrod | Bulgaria |
| Prof. Dr Zhao JUN | Inner Mongolia Agricultural University | China |
| Prof. Dr. Ioannis TOKATLIDIS | Trakia Democritus University | Greece |
| Prof. Dr. Mulpuri SUJATHA | ICAR-Indian Inst of Oilseeds Research | India |
| Prof. Dr Mohamed RAMDANI | University of Mohamed V Agdal | Maroc |
| Prof Dr Velibor SPALEVIC | University of Montenegro | Montenegro |
| Prof. Dr. Saeed RAUF | Muhammad Nawaz Sharief Agric Univ | Pakistan |
| Prof. Dr. Ahmet ULUDAG | Onsekizmart University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Doğanay TOLUNAY | Forestry Faculty, Istanbul University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr Ahu ALTINKUT UNCUOGLU | Marmara University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Metin TUNA | Namık Kemal University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Sezen ARAT | Namık Kemal University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Murat YURTCAN | Trakya University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Çiler KARTAL MERİC | Trakya University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Ismail CAKMAK | Sabanci University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Mustafa CULHA | Yeditepe University | Turkey |
| Prof. Dr. Yaroslav BLUME | National Academy of Sciences | Ukraine |
| Prof. Dr. Nurhan T. DUNFORD | Oklahoma State University | USA |
| Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nooduan MUANGSAN | Suranaree University of Technology | Thailand |
| Assoc. Prof Dr Ina ZIVATKAUSKIENE | University of Applied Sciences | Lithuania |
| Asst. Prof. Dr. Buket AŞKIN | Kırklareli University | Turkey |
| Asst. Prof. Dr. Hayati ARDA | Trakya University | Turkey |

EDITORS OF THE PROCEEDING BOOK

Prof Dr Yalcin KAYA

Prof Dr Teodora POPOVA

CONTENTS

| ENTOMOPATHOGENS IN THE MANAGEMENT OF STORED PRODUCT PESTS |
|---|
| THE KEY ELEMENT IN THE CONTROLLING OF EURYGASTER INTEGRICEPS; ECONOMIC THRESHOLD 17 |
| SUNN PEST MANAGEMENT POLICY CHANGE IN TURKEY; FROM CLASICAL APPROACH TO INTEGRATED PEST MANAGEMENT |
| THE EFFICACY OF ENTOMOPATHOGENIC NEMATODES AGAINST ZABRUS SPP |
| EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCES OF SELECTED SOME WINTER CHICKPEA GENOTYPES UNDER MEDITERRANEAN CLIMATE CONDITIONS |
| DETERMINATION OF PHYTOTOXIC RESPONSES IN TOBACCO (NICOTIANA TABACUM L.) EXPOSED TO HERBICIDE AND INSECTICIDE STRESSES |
| COMPARATIVE ASSESSMENT OF LAJTHIZA AND BOVELLA'S WATER AT THE SOURCE, UP TO PRODUCTION-READY DURING 2017-2018 |
| COLISTIN RESISTANT ESCHERICHIA COLI AND MCR GENE BY PLASMID-MEDIATED RESISTANCE |
| IMPACT OF VINIFICATION TECHNIQUES ON THE CONTENT OF POLYPHENOLIC COMPOUNDS OF WHITE WINE FROM CV. PULËZ DURING TWO DIFFERENT VINTAGES |
| FABRICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF CHITOSAN/GUM ARABIC/POLYVINYL ALCOHOL) NANOCOMPOSITE FILMS |
| MODELING THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF OLIVE OIL |
| AREA OF DISTRIBUTION OF THE PATHOGEN PLASMOPARA HALSTEDII IN THE REPUBLIC OF BULGARIA |
| THE NAME OF HAZARD INCREASINGLY IMPORTANT IN FOOD HYGIENE IS MODIFIED MYCOTOXINS . 91 |
| A STUDY ON THE PREVALENCE OF SALMONELLA BY IMS-PCR AND CONVENTIONAL CULTURE METHODS IN BEEF MEATS SOLD IN ERZURUM, TURKEY |
| EFFECT OF BROILER GENETIC STRAIN ON MEAT QUALITY CHARACTERISTICS |
| INFLUENCE OF THE NITROGEN FERTILIZATION ON THE YIELD OF TRITICALE GRAIN VARIETY VIHREN |
| PREVENTIVE COMPONENTS THAT AFFECTIVE IN EFFECTIVENESS OF AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY SERVICES IN IRAN |
| INVESTIGATING THE FACTORS AFFECTING THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF WATER RESOURCES IN THE IRAN AGRICULTURAL REGION |
| HYPOTHETICAL RADIOLOGICAL FINDINGS IN DOGS AND CATS SUFFERING FROM INSOMNIA |
| COMPARISON OF DIFFERENT DNA MARKERS FOR SELECTION OF HIGH OLEIC TYPE SUNFLOWER GENOTYPES |
| DEVELOPMENT OF ASSISTED REPRODUCTION TECHNOLOGIES FOR THE ENDANGERED ALBANIAN WATER FROG (PELOPHYLAX SHQIPERICUS): FROM GAMETE RELEASE TO FROGLETS |
| USE OF FACTOR ANALYSIS TO EVALUATE THE WATER QUALITY OF DAM LAKES LOCATED IN ERGENE RIVER BASIN (THRACE REGION, TURKEY) |
| USE OF PRINCIPLE COMPONENT ANALYSIS TO EVALUATE THE GROUNDWATER QUALITY OF VILLAGES LOCATED IN ERGENE RIVER BASIN |
| COMPARISON OF ORGANIC POLLUTION BETWEEN TWO MAIN BRANCHES OF DRIN RIVER 175 |

| A COMPARATIVE STUDY THE ANTIOXIDANT PROPERTIES OF DIFFERENT CITRUS JUICES 179 |
|---|
| DETERMINATION OF OCHRATOXIN A IN SUN AND MICROWAVE DRIED PLUMS 186 |
| THE INFLUENCE OF CULTURE MEDIUM ON IN VITRO PROPAGATION ON KALANCHOE BLOSSFELDIANA |
| EFFECT OF WATER HARVESTING TECHNIQUES ON SOIL PROPERTIES IN THE SOUTH OMDURMAN AREA- SUDAN |
| THE ABILITY OF CERTAIN SOIL BACTERIA ON REMEDIATION OF ETHALFLURALIN HERBICIDE IN SUBMERGED CULTURE CONDITIONS VIA TURBIDITY |
| EVOLUTION OF THE DIFFERENT ASSESSMENT METHODS ON LEG WEAKNESSES AND LAMENESS OF BROILERS |
| AN ARTIFICIAL NEURAL NETWORKS MODELL FOR PREDICTING BOD OF ISHËM RIVER 225 |
| FOREST GAPS: A REVIEW WITH SPECIAL ATTENTION TO TEMPERATE BEECH FORESTS IN HYRCANIAN REGION |
| TEST OF CONTAMINATION OF A LICHENIC SPECIES "XANTHORIA PARIETINA" AND A MUSCICOLE SPECIES "HYLOCOMUIM SPLENDENS" BY LEAD/EFFECTS ON SOME PHYSIOLOGICAL PARAMETERS 239 |
| INHERITANCE OF THE DURATION OF VEGETATIVE GROWTH (DURATION BETWEEN THE INDIVIDUAL PHENOPHASES) IN SUNFLOWER HYBRID COMBINATIONS UNDER THE CONDITIONS OF NORTH-EAST BULGARIA |
| INVESTIGATION OF STRUCTURAL AND ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES OF MANGANESE DOPED ZNO VARISTORS PREPARED FROM NANOPOWDERS |
| DEGRADATION OF PENCONAZOLE IN APPLE AND ESTIMATION OF RESIDUE LEVELS USING LC-MS/MS |
| NEW ACCESSIONS IN THE COMMON WINTER WHEAT WORKING COLLECTION OF DOBRUDZHA AGRICULTURAL INSTITUTE, BULGARIA |
| INVESTIGATION OF OLEANOLIC ACID FROM FLOWERS OF EUGENIA CARYOPHYLLUS, USING OF MODERN SPECTROSCOPY |
| ULTRASOUND DIAGNOSIS OF HEPATIC LIPIDOSIS IN COWS FOR MILK PRODUCTION AS INDICATOR OF SARA (SUB ACUTE RUMEN ACIDOSIS) |
| TREATMENT OF POLLUTION FROM TEXTILE DYES WITH OZONE METHOD |
| THE FINDING OF SUITABLE BIOCOMFORT AREA MAPPING FOR KARABUK CITY CENTER |
| THE ASSESSMENT OF ECOTOURISM POTENTIAL FOR THE CASE STUDY OF KARABUK AREAS |
| THE ASSESSMENT OF ACCESSIBILITY OF URBAN GREEN AREA FOR KARABUK |
| THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT DRYING METHODS ON TOTAL PHENOLIC CONTENTS OF KABAAŞI APRICOT VARIETY |
| A NEW SIGHT IN PARTIALITY AND IN WHOLENESS ON THE ORGANISM IDIOTYPE ACTION |
| INVESTIGATION ON SOME TRAITS OF BRANCHED SUNFLOWER FERTILITY RESTORER LINES DURING THE BREEDING PROCESS |
| ANALYSIS OF NUMERICAL METHODS FOR APPROXIMATING DDE SOLUTIONS IN WHEAT PRICE DYNAMICS IN ALBANIA |
| COMPARATIVE VIEW OF ALBANIAN VEGETABLE PRODUCTION |

| NEW HABITATS OF GONIOLIMON DALMATICUM (C. PRESL) RCHB. F. IN BULGARIA |
|---|
| CO-PRECIPITATED MAGNETITE PROPERTIES IN WASTEWATERS PHOSPHATE ADSORPTION AND MICROBIAL CHARGE REDUCTION |
| PERFORMANCES OF NEW INDUSTRIAL TOMATO CULTIVARS (<i>LYCOPERSICUM ESCULENTUM</i>) IN THE GHARB REGION OF MOROCCO |
| PRACTICAL USE OF <i>PUCCINIA TRITICINA</i> ERIKS. ISOLATES FROM THE STATE COLLECTION OF PHYTOPATHOGENIC MICROORGANISMS OF THE ALL-RUSSIAN RESEARCH INSTITUTE OF PHYTOPATHOLOGY (ARRIP) |
| PRECISION LIVESTOCK FARMING APPROACH TO MEASURE THE LIVE WEIGHT OF ANIMALS |
| QUALITY ASSURANCE AND PREVENTIVE MEASURES, A PRE-CONDITION FOR FOOD SAFETY GUARANTY |
| SORGHUM CROP, AN ALTERNATIVE FOR DOBROGEA FARMERS IN THE CONTEXT OF CLIMATE CHANGES |
| THE INFLUENCE OF LEAF LITTER ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF AQUATIC MACROBENTHIC FAUNA IN TUNCA RIVER (EDIRNE/TURKEY) |
| THE ROLE OF PRECISION FARMING IN PEST MANAGEMENT AND CROP YIELD |
| THE SOLUBILITY OF TURKEY OAK (<i>QUERCUS CERRIS</i> L.) AND HUNGARIAN OAK (QUERCUS FRAINETTO TEN) IN COLD WATER |
| ESTIMATION OF ANTI-HEMOLYTIC AND ANTI-INFLAMMATORY EFFECTS OF <i>DAUCUS GRACILIS</i> STEM. METHANOLIC EXTRACT FROM EASTERN ALGERIA |
| PHYSIOLOGICAL STUDY OF CULTIVARS CARRYING THE 1BL.1RS WHEAT-RYE CHROMOSOMAL TRANSLOCATION IN BREAD WHEAT |
| DRYING OF KIWI FRUIT SLICES BY APPLYING VACUUM IMPREGRATION |
| EFFECT OF GROWTH PROMOTERS ON GROWTH PERFORMANCE, CARCASS CHARACTERISTICS, HEMATOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS OF IRAQI SHARABI CALVES FATTENED UNDER NINEVEH PROVINCE ENVIRONMENT, IRAQ |
| ALTERNATING ELECTRIC CURRENT AFFECTS ADVENTITIOUS ROOTING OF 140RU GRAPEVINE ROOTSTOCK |
| RESPONSE OF CALLUSING ATTRIBUTES OF CABERNET SAUVIGNON/5BB GRAFTING COMBINATION TO APPLICATIONS OF DIFFERENT PHENOLIC COMPOUNDS |
| DETERMINATION OF FATTY ACID COMPOSITION OF SESAME (<i>SESAMUM INDICUM</i> L.) GROWN IN ÇUKUROVA |
| COMPARISON OF THE CHEMICAL COMPOSITION AND STEVIOL GLYCOSIDE PROFILES OF <i>STEVIA</i> <i>REBAUDIANA</i> (BERTONI) VARIETIES CULTIVATED IN SOUTH OF TURKEY |
| THE EFFECTS OF NANOPARTICLES ON THE EXPRESSION OF CATALASE ENZYME IN SHORT-TERM ADMINISTRATION ON BREAST CANCER CELLS |
| DETERMINATION OF NUCLEAR DNA CONTENT OF <i>LOLIUM</i> SPECIES BY FLOW CYTOMETRY METHOD AND ITS USAGE IN TAXONOMIC IDENTIFICATION |
| MICROPROPAGATION OF ANGELONIA ANGUSTIFOLIA FROM STEM EXPLANTS |
| ASSESSMENT OF THE RESPONSE OF POTATO VARIETIES TO ECOLOGICAL CONDITIONS IN NORTH IRAQ |

| COLD STORAGE OF CARROTS GROWN IN KIRIKHAN (HATAY) REGION | 508 |
|--|--------------|
| INVESTIGATION OF ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITY OF PHYSALIS ALKEKENGI L. FRUIT EXTRACTS COLLECTED FROM CORUH VALLEY | 518 |
| COLLECTION OF INDIRECT RESISTANCE TRAITS DISTURBANCE VIRULIFEROUS INSECTS TO ELON THE PERIOD BEFORE THE FIRST INFECTION OF ZYMV | IGATE 523 |
| STEVIA: A NEW GENERATION NATURAL SWEETENER | 529 |
| RHEOLOGICAL MODELING EVALUATION OF THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON DIFFERENT DILUT OF HONEY | TIONS 532 |
| IN VITRO REGENERATION IN SELECTED CUCURBITA SPP. GERMPLASM | 539 |
| MORPHOLOGICAL EVALUATION AND DNA BARCODING IN PLANTS | 543 |
| INDUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC HAPLOID EMBRYOS AND PLANTS AFTER POLLINATION BY IRRADIATED POLLEN IN SUNFLOWER | 547 |
| COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENT IN VITRO HEAVY METAL CONTAMINATION IN SUNFLOW | /ER 552 |
| THE PERFORMANCE OF SOME HYBRID RICE CULTIVARS IN EDIRNE CONDITIONS | 558 |
| CARCINOGENESIS OF HIGH-RISK HUMAN PAPILLOMA VIRUS (HPV) IN PATIENTS WITH CERVICAL ABNORMALITIES | 564 |
| SINGLE AND COMBINED EFFECT OF BOTH FUNGICIDES TRICYCLAZOLE AND CYPROCONAZOLE OF FUNGUS ALTERNARIA ALTERNATE | : 570 |
| A CONTRIBUTION TO THE FAUNA OF MICROCHELONUS SZÉPLIGETI, 1908 (HYMENOPTERA: BRACONIDAE: CHELONINAE) OF ÇANAKKALE PROVINCE | 580 |
| GIANT REED GROWTH FOR NEY MANUFACTURING IN SAMANDAĞ DISTRICT OF HATAY PROVINC | E 584 |
| ESSENTIAL OIL CONTENT AND COMPOSITION OF LEMON BALM (MELISSA OFFICINALIS L.) GENOT GROWN UNDER CENTRAL ANATOLIAN REGION | TYPES 588 |
| ALLELOPATHIC POTENTIAL OF RAPESEED (BRASSICA NAPUS L.) CULTIVARS ON WEEDS | 593 |
| DIURNAL VARIATION OF ESSENTIAL OIL CONTENT AND COMPOSITION OF THYME (THYMRA SPIC | CATA) 604 |
| SOIL PHOSPHATASE ACTIVITY IN DIFFERENT BUFFER PH AND STOCK CULTURE | 611 |
| EFFECTS OF SOIL TILLAGE ON SOIL PROPERTIES | 624 |
| THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN EMOTIONAL INTELLIGENCE AND SOCIAL MEDIA ATTITUDES OF UNIVERSITY STUDENTS | 637 |
| SORGHUM CROP, AN ALTERNATIVE FOR DOBROGEA FARMERS IN THE CONTEXT OF CLIMATE CHANGES | 647 |
| INVESTIGATION OF EXTRACELLULAR ALPHA-AMYLASE ACTIVITY OF PENICILLIUM CYCLOPIUM | 653 |
| GENETIC MARKERS ASSOCIATED WITH CANINE HIP DYSPLASIA | 662 |
| DNA FINGERPRINTING OF REGISTERED TURKISH RICE (Oryza sativa L) CULTIVARS | 668 |
| NICKEL ACCUMULATION AND ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY OF COMMON REED (PHRAGMITES AUSTR | ALIS) 682 |

| OXIDATIVE STRESS IN COMMON REED (PHRAGMITES AUSTRALIS) IN THE ALBANIAN PART OF | LAKE |
|--|------|
| OHRID | 687 |
| PARTICIPANT LIST | 508 |
| AGBIOL CONFERENCE STUDENT ORGANIZING TEAM | 517 |
| OUR SPONSORS | 518 |

ENTOMOPATHOGENS IN THE MANAGEMENT OF STORED PRODUCT PESTS

Ramazan CANHILAL*

Erciyes University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, 38039 Kayseri, Turkey <u>r canhilal@hotmail.com</u>, <u>ramazancanhilal@erciyes.edu.tr</u>

ABSTRACT

Funigation is mainly applied to control of stored product pests in the world and in Turkey. The ruining of natural balance among living organisms, the resistance of pests for pesticides, and residues on crops are produced by application of pesticides widely. Nowadays, incremental necessity has been occurred to find out alternatives to chemicals. Biological control is a novel method to replace chemicals. Insect pathogens which kill insects causing disease are agents such as bacteria, fungi, nematodes, viruses, protozoa. The mass of entomopathogenic bacteria are in genera Coccobacillus and Bacillus. Coccobacillus acridiorum produced disease in grasshoppers. Bacillus thuringiensis and Bacillus popillia are important disease causing agents against lepidopteran pests. Entomopathogenic fungi Beauveria bassiana, Metarhizium anisopliae, and Verticillium lecanii cause disease on larger insects than other pathogens. These are rather prevalent on the insects in orders Lepidoptera, Homoptera, Hymenoptera, Coleoptera, and Diptera. Insects, especially living in soil at one of its life cycle such as larva, pupa adult are highly susceptible against entomopathogenic nematodes. or Neosteinernematidae, Steinernematidae and Heterorhabditidae are the families containing these nematodes. They are obligatory insect pathogens in nature. Entomopathogenic nematodes impacts many insect species with a broad host range. Entomopathogenic viruses at least 16 families are very important in biological control to affect insects pests. Baculoviruses are produced commercially and applied as a biological control agent to manage significant agricultural and forestry insects, especially in Orders Lepidoptera and Hymenoptera. Entomopathogenic protozoans such as Nosema locusta are a substantial role in the ecologically management of populations of insect pests. In this review, application and potentials of entomopathogens as biological control agents of harmful insect species on stored products has been abstracted.

Keywords: Entomopathogens, Insect pests, Stored products

INTRODUCTION

Infestation of stored bulk grain and processed commodities by insects causes big economic loss (Hagstrum and Flinn, 1995). These insects damage the product by physical yield and quality loss, inducing mould growth, contamination of products with insect bodies. They can shelter inaccessible places and survive on even little bit food. They reproduce and increase their population quickly. Then move from cracks and crevices, perforated floors, and inside machinery into stored bulk products to infest them (Campbell et al., 2004). The order Coleoptera includes about 250.000 species. Fourty families of this order contain insects harmful on stored products world-wide. Bostrichidae, Bruchidae, Cucujidae, Curculionidae, Dermestidae, Silvanidae and, Tenebrionidae are some of these families (Rees, 1996).

Government regulations, environmental and human health concerns, resistances of insects to insecticides, pesticide residues on crops, changing consumer demands limit the presence and use of chemical insecticides against these pests (Durmuşoğlu et al. 2010). Entomopathogens are biological control agents causing diseases in insect populations. These are organisms such as bacteria, fungi, nematodes, viruses, and protozoa. They can be a safe alternative for stored-product pests in unreachable places, because some biological control agents actively search out pests in these cryptic habitats (Schöller and Flinn 2000). In this paper, the research and applications of entomopathogens against stored products are summarized.

Entomopathogenic Bacteria

Entomopathogenic bacteria are most commonly used microorganisms against insect pests present. The most widely used ones, spore-forming facultative bacteria producing crystals. The bacteria enter the insect body through the mouth with food. They form endospor and protein crystals. These crystals contain toxins. The insects are killed because the toxins or bacteria wrap the body of insect.

The majority of entomopathogenic bacteria take place in *Coccobacillus* and *Bacillus* species. *Coccobacillus acridiorum* is a type of grasshopper pathogen. *Bacillus thuringiensis* and *Bacillus popillia* are the other two important species. In our country, bacteria are recommended and used against harmful species in order Lepidoptera some of them below.



Archipssp. (http://www.agroziraat. com/mmeyve/Archipsspp.h tml)



Heliothis armigera pityocampa (http://www.inra.fr/hyppz/RAVAG EUR/6helarm.htm)



Thaumetopoea (<u>https://en.wikipedia.org</u> .wiki Thaumetopoeidae

Entomopathogenic Fungi

Fungal diseases in insects, the lighting in the Italian Agostino Bassi's parasitic nature of white muscardine disease of silkworm were known since the 1834-1835 year. Entomopathogenic fungi, capable of infecting insects in Order Lepidoptera, Homoptera, Hymenoptera, Coleoptera and Diptera included, are quite common. The fungi encounters host with chance in environmental conditions. Population density depends on the amount of surrounding fungal spores and insect pests. The host entrance into cuticle is realized by both with lytic enzymes and by means of mechanical formation of appressorium (Figure 1). After penetrating the cuticle and epidermis, spores germinate and multiply in the insect body. The

metabolites formed by fungi cause physiological and biochemical changes in the host and results in insect death.



Figure 1. Penetrating of fungus into the cuticle and epidermis, and appressorium formation (<u>http://www.nature.com/nrmicro/journal/v5/n5/fig_tab/nrmicro1638_ft.html</u>)

Lord (2011) used *Beauvaria bassiana against Dermestes maculatus* and it was successful with 82% in 75% humidity. Khashaveh (2011) observed 68-92% mortality in the population of *Sitophilus granarius* and *Tribolium castaneum* adults against which *Beauvaria bassiana* applied. Ahmad (2010) used *Lecanicili lecanii, Isaria fumosarose* and *Metarhizium anisoplia* against *Sitophilus zeamays* adults and determined 100% insect mortality. Lord (2009) obtained 10% more mature death on *Rhyzopertha dominica, Oryzaephilus surinamensis, Cryptolestes ferrusineus* using *Beauvaria bassiana* with diatomaceous powder formulation. Batta (2008) used *Beauvaria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisoplia* against *Rhyzopertha dominica, Sitophilus oryzae, Tribolium castaneum, Sitophilus oryzae* adults and got the highest mortality rate (85-96%) on *Sitophilus oryzae*. Hansen (2007) determined *Beauvaria bassiana* to be a successful control agent against *Sitophilus granarius with* rate of 83-98% mortality.

Entomopathogenic Nematodes

Entomopathogenic nematodes (EPNs) (*Rhabditida: Neosteinernematidae Steinernematidae and Heterorhabditidae*) do not cause contamination of ground water and are harmless to plants and animals. As biological control agents, EPNs attract attention increasingly in research area recently. Their ideal properties such as; the broad host spectrum, to be able to kill their hosts within 24-48 hours, to be producible commercially easily in vivo or in vitro, having ability to search actively their hosts, settling in application areas and staying effective for a long time, having easy applicability, being in compliance with many chemicals and being safe for the environment are important for their preferability.

They are soil dwelling, aquatic organism. They have motile bacteria (*Xenorhabdus* spp. and *Photorhabdus* spp.) living in their intestine. Nematode and bacterium are mutualistic symbionts and obligate, lethal parasites of insects. EPNs can be found everywhere on earth and infect many different insects (Smart, 1995). Infective juveniles of the nematodes living in the soil enter the host insect's haemocoel through mouth, anus, and respiratory openings or cuticle's

thin sections. Once in the insect, infective juveniles of the nematode release the bacteria that are carried in the intestine. Bacteria block the insect's immune system, multiply and kill the insect using many different toxins and causing septicemia in the hemolymph (Figure 2).

Bacterial cells reproduce rapidly. The nematodes eat the bacteria and some of body tissue of the insect, and reproduce for 3 or 4 generations depending on the food source. Over 100,000 nematodes exit the insect (Burnell and Stock, 2000) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The simple life cycle of entomopathogenic nematodes

(http://entnemdept.ufl.edu/creatures/nematode/entomopathogenic_nematode.htm)

Tradan et al., (2006) in their study used four species of entomopathogenic nematodes (*Steinernema feltiae*, *S. carpocapsa, Heterorhabditis bacteriophora* and *H. megidis*) against storage pests, *Sitophilus granarius* and *Oryzaephilus surinamensis* in the laboratory to determine the activity of nematodes against adults. LC₅₀ value was found as 803-1195 Ijs/adult on *S. granarius* and 921-1335 Ijs/adult on *O. surinamensis*. Shahina and Salma (2010) studied seven local (Pakistani) entomopathogenic nematodes (*Steinernema pakistanense, S. asiaticum, S. abbasi, S. siamkayai, S. feltiae, Heterorhabditis bacteriophora* and *H. indica* on *Sitophilus oryzae* 's adults and pupae in the laboratory. Consequently, the LC₅₀ value for pupae of *S. oryzae* was 42-169 Ijs/pupae and for adults, 55-370 Ijs/adult. Canhilal et al., (2013) determined the biological activity of nine endemic nematodes obtained from a survey conducted in the various districts of Kayseri Province against *Sitophilus oryzae* adults. The lowest LC₅₀ value was 57.96 IJs/adult for *S. carpocapsae* 076 isolate, while the highest LC₅₀ values was 922.95 Ijs/adults for *S. feltiae* OZV-5-S isolate.

Entomopathogenic Viruses

Baculovirus is important as biological control agents especially in the control of pests in agriculture and forestry. It is produced commercially and used against pests belonging to Lepidoptera and Hymenoptera. In Brazil, *Baculovirus anticarsi* is used successfully against *Anticarsi gemmatalis* causing substantial harm in soybeans. Nakai (2013) in Japan used granulovirüs (GV) as a biological agent against the tea leaf crimpers (*Adoxophyes honmai* and

Homona magnanima, Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) and there was no harmful infections during the four growing seasons.



Figure 3. The life cycle of the baculovirus

(https://oetltd.wordpress.com/2014/07/17/growing-pains-the-life-cycle-of-the-baculovirus/)

Entomopathogenic Protozoa

Entomopathogenic protozoa are usually host-specific and slow effect is caused due to chronic infection. *Nosema locustae* has been developed as a commercial product for grasshoppers control (Henry and Oma, 1981). Entomopathogenic protozoa needs live hosts to be produced and shows quite slow effect. Therefore, it has limited application for biological control.

CONCLUSIONS

Chemical fumigation is the most commonly used method against of stored product pests in the world and in our country. Widely used insecticides against harmful organisms damage the natural balance existing among organisms, cause harmful organisms to acquire resistance to pesticides and residues in the crops. In recent years, biological control is emphasized as an alternative to chemical control. Entomopathogens have an important place in the biological control because they have a wide host range, are harmless to the environment and human, and could be applied with conventional sprayers. They can be used more against stored product pests with the development of new biotechnical methods such as collecting pests in some stations to meet them with entomopathogens.

Acknowledgements: I would like to thank my graduate student, Sevim Dogan of Yozgat Bozok University, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Sciences, Department of Plant Protection for literature collection.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, B.I. (2010). Potentials of Entomopathogenic Fungi in Controlling the Menace of Maize Weevil Sitophilus zeamis on Stored Maize Grain. Arch. Phytopathol. Plant Protect., 43(2): 107-115.
- Akhurst, R. and Smith K. (2002). Regulation and Safety. Entomopathogenic Nematology. Gaugler, R. (ed), CABI, Wallingford UK, pp. 311-332.
- Batta, Y.A. (2008). Control of Main Stored-Grain Insects with New Formulations of Entomopathogenic Fungi in Diatomaceous Earth Dusts. Int. J. Food Eng., 4(1): 1556-3758.
- Bornstein, F.S., Kiger H., Rector A. (2005). Impacts of fluctuating temperature on the development and infectivity of entomopathogenic nematode *Steinernema carpocapsae*-A10. J. Invertebrate Pathol., 88: 147-153.
- Campbell, J.F., Arthur, F.H. and Mullen, M.A. (2004). Insect management in food processing facilities. Adv. Food Nutr. Res., 48: 240–295.
- Canhilal, R., Borazan, F., Doğan, S., Özdemir, Y.E., Eşgin G. and Aksoy, H. (2013).
 Determination of efficacy of entomopathogenic nematodes (*Rhabditida: Heterorhabditidae* and *Steinernematidae*) against a stored crop pest, *Sitophilus oryzae* (*Coleoptera: Curculionidae*). 4th International Participated Entomopathogens and Microbial Control Symposium, Artvin, Turkey, p. 28.
- Charnley, A.K. and Leger R.J. (1989). The role of cuticle degrading enzymes in fungal pathogenesis in insects. The Fungal Spore and Disease Initiation in Plants and Animals, Eds: Cole, G.T. and Kock, H.C., Plenum Press, New York, pp. 267-286.
- Durmuşoğlu, E., Tiryaki, O. Canhilal, R. (2010). Türkiye'de Pestisit Kullanımı, Kalıntı ve Dayanıklılık Sorunlari. Türkiye Ziraat Mühendisliği 7. Teknik Kongresi. Ankara, 11-15 Ocak, Bildiriler Kitabı, 2:589-607.
- Ehlers, R.U. (2005). Forum on Safety and Regulation. Nematodes as Biocontrol Agents. Grewal, P.S., Ehlers, R.-U., and Shapiro-Ilan, D.I. (eds.), CABI, Cambridge. pp. 107-114.
- Hagstrum, D.W. and Flinn, P.W. (1995). Integrated pest management. In: Subramanyam, B., Hagstrum, D.W. (Eds.), Integrated Management of Insects in Stored Products. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 399–408.
- Hall, R.A. and Papierok B. (1982). Fungi as biological control agents of arthropods of agricultural and medical importance. Parasitology. Anderson, R.M., and Canning, E.U., (eds.), Cambridge University, Great Britain, 84, pp. 205-240.
- Hansen, L. S. (2007). Combining larval parasitoids and an entomopathogenic fungus for biological control of *Sitophilus granarius (Coleoptera: Curculionidae)* in stored grain. Biol. Control, 40(2): 237-242.
- Hansoylu, R.B. (2003). Obtained from Ground Turkey Entomopathogenic fungi *Beauveria bassiana* (Bals.) Using the race as a biological control agent. Master of Science Thesis, Hacettepe University, Institute of Science and Technology, Ankara, 84s.
- Henry, J.E. and Oma, E.A. (1981). Pest Control by Nosema locustae, A pathogen of Grasshoppers and Crickets, pp. 573-586, In Microbial Control of Pests and Plant Diseases, 1970-1980, Ed. Burges, H. D., Academic Press, London.
- Inceoglu, A.B. (2001). Recombinant Baculoviruses for Insect Control, Pest Manag. Sci., 57: 981-987.

- Kaya, H.K. and Gaugler R. (1993). Entomopathogenic nematodes. Annual Rev. Entomol., 38: 181-206.
- Khashaveh, A. (2011). The Use of Entomopathogenic Fungus, *Beauveria bassiana* (Bals.) Vuill. in Assays with Storage Grain Beetles. J. Agric. Sci. Technol., 13(1): 35-43.
- Knaak, N. and Fiuza, M.L. (2005). Histopathology of *Anticarsia gemmatalis* Hübner (*Lepidoptera: Noctuidae*) Treated with *Nucleopolyhedrovirus* and *Bacillus thuringiensis* serovar kurstaki, Brazilian J. Microbiol., 36: 196-200.
- Koppenhöfer, A.M. (2000). Nematodes. In: Lacey, L.A. Kaya, H.K. Eds. Field Manual of Techniques in Invertebrate Pathology. Dordrecht, The Netherlands, Kluwer, 283-301.
- Leger, R.J., Charmley A.K. and Cooper R.M. (1988). Production of polyphenol pigments and phenoloxidase by the entomopathogen, *Metarhizium anisopliae*. J. Invertebrate Pathol., 53: 211-215.
- Lord, J. C. (2009). *Beauveria bassiana* infection of eggs of stored-product beetles. Entomol. Res., 39(2): 155-157.
- Lord, J.C., (2011). Influence of subsrate and relative humidity on the efficacy of three entomopathogenic fungi on *Dermestes meculatus*. Biocontr. Sci. Technol., 21(4): 475-483.
- Nakai, M. (2013). Potential of slow-killing insect viruses to control leaf-rollers in tea fields, 4th International Participated Entomopathogens and Microbial Control Symposium, Artvin, Turkey, p.36.
- Payne, C.C. (1986). Insect Pathogenic Viruses As Pest Control Agents. Fortschritte der Zoologie, 32: 183-200.
- Rees, D. (1996). Coleoptera. In Integrated Management of Insects in Stored Products; Subramanyam, B., Hagstrum, D.W., Eds., Marcel Dekker: New York, 1996; 1-40.
- Schöller, M. and Flinn, P.W. (2000). Parasitoids and predators. In: Subramanyam, B., Hagstrum, D.W. (Eds.), Alternatives to Pesticides in Stored-Product IPM. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Norwell, Massachusetts, pp. 229–271.
- Sezen, K. (2008). Nematodlar ve biyolojik mücadele. Entomopatojenler ve biyolojik mücadele. Demirbağ, Z. (ed.), Esen Ofset Matbaacılık, Trabzon, ss. 245-288.
- Shahina, F. and Salma, J. (2010). Laboratory Evaluation of Seven Pakistani Strains Of Entomopathogenic Nematode Against Stored Grain Insect Pest Sitophilus oryzae L. Pakistan J. Nematol., 28(2): 295-305.
- Smart, Jr. G.C. (1995). Entomopathogenic Nematodes for the Biological Control of Insects. Suppl. J. Nematol., 27(4S): 529-534.
- Trdan, S., Vidrih M. and Vali N. (2006). Activity of four entomopathogenic nematode species against young adults of *Sitophilus granarius* (*Coleoptera: Curculionidae*) and *Oryzaephilus surinamensis* (*Coleoptera: Silvanidae*) under laboratory conditions. J. Plant Dis. Protect., 113(4): S. 168–173, 2006, ISSN 1861-3829.
- Zimmermann, G. (2007). Review on safety of the entomopathogenic fungi *Beauveria bassiana* and *Beauveria brongniartii*. Biocontrol Sci. Technol., 17(5/6): 553-596.

THE KEY ELEMENT IN THE CONTROLLING OF EURYGASTER INTEGRICEPS; ECONOMIC THRESHOLD

Ramazan CANHILAL

Erciyes University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, 38039 Kayseri, Turkey

r_canhilal@hotmail.com, ramazancanhilal@erciyes.edu.tr

Abstract

Wheat and barley have a significant insect pest, the sunn pest, Eurygaster integriceps Puton (Heteroptera: Scutelleridae) in Turkey. It affects the yield and the quality of flour of which bread is made. In this study; the yield loss due to white spike damage caused by overwintered adults and kernel damage by nymphs and new-generation adults in wheat fields were defined to set up an economic threshold (ET) for the sunn pest. To evaluate the relationship between overwintered adult density and white spike damage, and between percent kernel damage and sedimentation value of the flour, a regression analysis was performed. White spike damage comprised at low levels (0.1 - 1.7%) in the study fields and the relationship between overvintered adult density and white spike damage was not statistically important in bread and durum wheat. Average damaged kernels by E. integriceps were 4.2% in bread wheat and 5.4% in durum wheat. A positive relationship between nymph and new-generation adult density, and kernel damage in bread and durum wheat was found. We determined the sedimentation values of flour that was made of wheat kernels on which the pest fed. It was 7-89 in bread wheat, and 9-28 in durum wheat. There was no effect of sunn pest density on gluten strength up to 2.1% kernel damage in bread wheat or up to 0.9% kernel damage in durum wheat, but kernel damages above these levels restrained dough quality. We assessed these limit values in the regression formula and we found the economic thresholds as 8.1 and 9.2 nymphs/m² in bread and durum wheat, respectively. While the existing ET (10 nymphs/m²) may still be acceptable in durum wheat, it may be reduced to 7-8 nymph/m² for some wheat varieties and regions, especially for low yield levels (~2000 kg/ha) in bread wheat.

Keywords: Economic threshold, wheat, sunn pest.

INTRODUCTION

Wheat, *Triticum aestivum* L. is grown on about 9 million ha area annually with the production of approximately 20 million tons in Turkey (Anonymous 2008). It is important basic food crop consumed mostly as bread in the country. It provides a substantial component of the human diet; cereal (mostly wheat) products provide 53 and 66% of the per capita dietary supply of calories and protein, respectively (Anonymous 1980). It is also consumed as animal feed and used in industry to make various processed foods. The country exports the about 10% of wheat production. The South Eastern Region of the country represents 13 and 8% of wheat acerage and production, respectively (Anonymous 2008).

The sunn pest, *Eurygaster integriceps* Put. (Hemiptera: Scutelleridae), is a very damaging insect pest of wheat and barley in Turkey (Lodos 1982). Overwintered adults of the sunn pest attack the leaves and stems of young, succulent wheat and barley plants, causing them to wither and die prior to spike formation. They also suck the base of the spike during the early growing period resulting in whitish spikes without kernels, producing white spikes. Yield losses by this pest are estimated at 50-90% in wheat and 20-30% in barley. Apart from the direct yield reduction, the insect injects digestive enzymes during feeding that reduce the baking quality of the dough. If as little as 2-3% of the grain has been fed on, the entire grain lot may be rendered unacceptable for baking purposes because of poor quality flour (Lodos 1982).

The sunn pest is univoltine. Adults rest under bushes and litter at high elevations around cereal fields during the hot and dry months of late summer and autumn. They hibernate during the cold and often severe winter months on hillsides of the mountains. In spring, when soil surface temperature reaches 15°C at overwintering sites, adults migrate to cereal fields. Migration typically continues for 7-10 d. Overwintered adults appear in the fields over a 1-4 week period. After feeding, females lay eggs on leaves, stems, and spikes. After five nymphal instars, a pupal stage occurs and new-generation adults are seen. These new-generation adults feed and return to higher elevations after barley and wheat harvest (Lodos 1982).

When migration to the fields ends, technical consultants survey fields and overwintered adults are counted in 0.25 m² frames to determine field densities. Fields are also monitored for egg parasitism by *Trissolcus* spp. (Hymenoptera, Scelionidae) when 20-30 % of the eggs are 10-12 day-old. Spraying is not conducted if the overwintered adult densities are at or below 0.8, 1.0 and 1.5 adult/m² and the parasitism rates are 40%, 50% and 70%, respectively, (Simsek & Sezer 1985). Finally, nymph density is determined in the same manner as for the overwintered adults. The most effective time to spray the sunn pest is during the first two nymphal instars. At the end of the survey, if nymph density reaches 10 nymphs/m², fields are sprayed, and this usually coincides with the milky stage of winter wheat (Lodos 1982).

This insect was first reported from the South Anatolia Region of Turkey in 1927 and there have been many outbreaks from the 1950s to the present. Detailed studies on the sunn pest were begun in the 1950s in Turkey (Simsek 1998). The government managed sunn pest control from 1927, until 2001 when an integrated pest management (IPM) approach was adopted. Sunn pest management was changed from aerial application to ground spraying, shifting responsibility to farmers. Currently, ground sprays for sunn pest control are conducted on 1-2 million ha area annually (Anonymous 2004). Government provides technical support and farmers are supposed to apply insecticide with their equipment, as determined by official technical consultants.

One of the key factors affecting the success of IPM programs is economic threshold (ET). The economic threshold used for sunn pest control was established about 50 years ago in the region and Country (Yuksel 1968). There is a need to revise the ET because of changes in climatic conditions, wheat varieties used, agronomical practices, and crop diversity. The purpose of this study was to determine plants (spikes), nymphs and new-generation adults (NGAs) density, and kernel damage caused by nymphs plus NGAs in wheat fields to redefine the ET for the sunn pest in the region.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted in 17 one-ha insecticide-free bread and durum wheat fields in Gaziantep, Kilis and Kahramanmaras provinces in southeastern of Turkey. There were 9 fields of bread wheat and 8 fields of durum wheat. Several varieties of bread and durum wheat were

used. Variety was not held constant over all fields. When the migration of adults from overwintered sites to cereal fields ended, weekly surveys to determine adult and nymph density were begun in each field by using a 0.25 m^2 frame. A total of 25 frames tossed at random in each field were sampled, and overwintered adults, nymphs, and new generation adults were counted in the each frame. The results of these counts were multiplied by 4 and presented.

During the surveys, at the beginning of the milky stage of wheat, all healthy and damaged spikes in each frame were recorded. Before harvest, all plants in each frame were cut and put in a paper bag, and brought to laboratory. In the laboratory, spikes were dried and threshed, and the kernels cleaned. The kernels from each frame were weighed to determine yield per field. The mean yield from 25-0.25 m² was used to estimate the yield per ha for each field. Then kernels from all 25 frames were combined and 1-kg kernels taken from this combined kernels for each field. From this sample, 100 kernels, up to 20 times, (total = 2000 kernels) were randomly selected. These sub-samples were checked under the dissecting microscope and damaged and undamaged kernels were separated (Dortbudak 1974), and percent kernel damage was regressed against nymphs and new-generation adult density at the final count in each field.

Sedimentation test

The kernels combined from 25 sampling frames were also used for sedimentation test. All milling was conducted at 23°C and 60% relative humidity. Wheat samples were cleaned and tempered overnight to optimum moisture, as described by Williams et al. (1988). Tempered wheat was milled using Buhler laboratory mill type MLU-202 (Uzwil, Switzerland), with break roll gaps adjusted to $B_2 = 1.2/1000$ cm, $B_3 = 0.8/1000$ cm, $C_1 = 1.2/1000$ cm and $C_3 = 0.8/1000$ cm. Medium hard soft-wheat clothing was used. Buhler Bran finisher MLU-302 (Uzwil, Switzerland) was used to extract "bran flour", which was combined with all six flour streams. The Modified Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate (SDS) Sedimentation Test (Cressey & McStay 1987) was used to evaluate wheat-insect damaged in wheat.

Statistical analysis

Regression analysis was used to predict kernel damage (%) based on final nymph and newgeneration adult density (P < 0.05). A correlation analysis was applied to determine the relation between overvintered adult density and white spike damage, and between percent kernel damage and sedimentation value (P < 0.05). All statistical analysis was done using SPSS for windows (2003). Data from the two years was combined for regression and correlation analyses.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Adult migration was completed during the last week of April and weekly survey studies were started. Sunn pest adults were present in field trials two to four weeks after migration was completed. Nymphs of the sunn pest were seen in the middle of May and reached the new-generation adult stage, which is the most damaging stage, in the first week of June.

Average overwintered adult density was 1.1 per m^2 in bread wheat (Table 1), and 1.4 per m² in durum wheat (Table 2). Adult populations in some study fields decreased or increased in consecutive sampling dates. This was likely because of sunn pest movement in or out of the fields.

The nymph population averaged $7.2/m^2$ in bread wheat, and $15.5/m^2$ in durum wheat, respectively. While bread wheat yield averaged 4798 kg/ha (Table 1), yields for durum wheat were 3820 kg/ha (Tables 6).

No leaf or stem damage was observed because when the sunn pest completed migration to the fields, wheat plants reached 10-15 cm in height, and it was late for the sunn pest to damage leaves and stems, as observed by Lodos (1961).

White spike damage (overwintered adult damage)

White spike damage occurred at low levels. It averaged 0.3% in bread wheat (Table 1), and 0.6% in durum wheat (Table 2). Correlation analysis indicated that there was no significant relationship between overwintered adult density and white spike damage caused by overwintered adults in bread (r = 0.288, $r^2 = 0.083$, P = 0.226) or durum wheat (r = 0.568, $r^2 = 0.322$, P = 0.071).

Canhilal et al. (2005) also found that the low level of white spike damage (<0.1-0.9%) occurred at various overwintered sunn pest adult densities (1, 2, 3, 5, 10 overwintered adults/m²) in large field cages (2 by 2 by 1.7 m) and was not statistically significant in bread or durum wheat.

On the other hand, Kılıç et al. (1973) found that 0.4, 1.0-1.5, 1.6-2.0, and 2.1-2.3 overwintered sunn pest adults/m² caused 1.1%, 3.6%, 4.2% and 6.6% white spike damage in wheat fields, respectively. Şimşek et al. (1997) stated that when overwintered adult density was one adult/m², 7% stem damage and 1.9% spike damage occurred. These high levels of white spike damage differ from our results, perhaps because of high levels of overwintered adult parasitism that might have occurred in the fields, reducing adult feeding and damage.

Kernel damage (nymph and new-generation adult damage) in bread wheat

Average kernel damage caused by nymphs and new-generation adults was 4.2% in bread wheat (Table 1). There was a positive relation between nymph and new-generation adult density, and percent kernel damage in regression analysis (r = 0.947, $r^2 = 0.898$, P = 0.000). The regression equation used to predict percent kernel damage, based on nymph and newgeneration adult density per m², was Y = -0.899+0.364X, (SE a=1.041, SE b=0.046, P = 0.000). Sedimentation values ranged from 7 to 89. The relation between sedimentation values and percent damaged kernels was strongly negative (r = -0.821, $r^2 = 0.674$, P = 0.003). The sedimentation value dropped to 52 when percent kernel damage was 2.1 in sedimentation tests (Table 1). No effect of sunn pest density on gluten strength up to kernel damage of 2.1% was detected. Sedimentation value around 50 is generally accepted as the value at which dough quality is ruined (Fouad et al. 2005). When this value is entered in our equation, the nymph density that causes the kernel damage that ruins dough quality (the economic threshold) is 8.1nymphs/m². The practical tolerance for damaged kernels in industry, regardless of wheat type (bread or durum) or variety, is 2-3%. We found that the expected ET was 9.4 nymphs/m² when the 2.5 value, which is the average of 2-3% of tolerance for damaged kernels, is used in our equation.

The expected ET of 8.1 nymphs/m² obtained from the sedimentation value is different from the ET of 9.4 nymphs/m² calculated from the tolerance level for damaged kernels used in industry and ET (10 nymph/m²) regardless of wheat variety and region in Turkey. Thus, the ET (10 nymph/m²) may be lowered to 7-8 nymph/m² for wheat varieties and regions where there

are complaints and practical observations, and especially for low-yield levels (~ 2000 kg/ha) until more detailed research is conducted.

Table 1. Overwintered adult and nymph+new generation adult densities of the sunn pest, % kerneldamage, sedimentation values, % white spike damage, varieties, and yield in bread wheat field trials in Gaziantep and Kahramanmaras provinces

| Place | Variety | Yield kg/ha | No. OW adults ^a /m | % White spikes | $No. \\ nymphs \\ + NGA^{b/} \\ m^{2}$ | % Kernel damage | Sedi- men- tation |
|-------------------|-------------|----------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|--|-----------------------|-------------------------|
| T.Tigem | Golye | 5210 | 0.5±0.1 | 0.1±0.1 | 1.9±0.2 | 0.6±0.2 | 77 |
| I.Hanagzi | Golye | 5210 | 0.5±0.1 | 0.1±0.1 | 2.9±0.2 | 0.4±0.1 | 64 |
| I.Zincirli | Golye | 6260 | 1.1±0.1 | 0.2±0.1 | 4.0±0.3 | 1.6±0.3 | 82 |
| N.Ciftlik | Golye | 6130 | 0.6±0.1 | 0.1±0.1 | 10.4±0.5 | 2.1±0.3 | 52 |
| I. Sakcagozu | Özdemir Bey | 4210 | 4.1±0.2 | 0.3±0.1 | 34.1±1.1 | 6.2±0.6 | 18 |
| T.Tigem | Golye | 4860 | 0.3±0.1 | 0.2±0.1 | 1.0±0.1 | 0.5±0.1 | 89 |
| N.Ciftlik | Basribey | 4200 | 0.3±0.1 | 0.9±0.2 | 6.2±0.4 | 1.2±0.2 | 69 |
| I. Kozdere | Golye | 3710 | 0.5±0.1 | 0.1±0.1 | 8.5±0.4 | 2.2±0.4 | 63 |
| S. Degirmenonu | Golye | 3392 | 2.4±0.1 | 0.9±0.2 | 55.8±1.2 | 22.7±1.2 | 7 |
| Mean | | 4798 | 1.1 | 0.3 | 13.9 | 4.2 | |

^aOverwintered adults, ^bNew generation adults

Durum wheat

Average kernel damage was 5.4% in durum wheat (Table 2). A strong, positive relation was determined between nymph and new-generation adult density, and percent kernel damage in regression analysis (r = 0.859, $r^2 = 0.738$, P = 0.003). The regression equation obtained to predict percent kernel damage, based on nymph and new-generation adult density per m², was Y = -3.206+0.443X, (SE a = 2.368, SE b = 0.108, P = 0.006).

Sedimentation values varied from 9 to 22. Most fields yielded low sedimentation values and were of poor quality. There was a strong negative relation between sedimentation values and percent damaged kernels (r = -0.699, $r^2 = 0.489$, P = 0.027). The sedimentation value was 28, which is around the limit that weakens gluten strength (Fouad et al. 2005), when the kernel damage was 0.9% (Table 2). When this level of kernel damage (0.9%) is placed in the equation, the nymph density that causes the kernel damage that spoils dough quality is 9.2 nymphs/m².

As in bread wheat, the expected ET is calculated as 12.9 nymphs/m^2 when 2.5, which is the average of 2-3% of tolerance for kernel damage, is used in our equation. This is much over the ET that is used (10 nymphs/m²) now in Turkey.

| Place | Variety | Yield kg/ha | No. OW adults ^a /m ² | % White spikes | No. nymphs + NGA ^b / m ² | % Kernel damage | Sedi- men- tation |
|-----------------|---------------|----------------|--|----------------------|--|--------------------|-------------------------|
| O. Kutlar | Ege 88 | 4015 | 1.6±0.1 | 1.7±0.3 | 29.6±1.0 | 6.7±1.0 | 10 |
| O. Havaalanı | Akcakale 2000 | 4680 | 2.4±0.1 | 1.0±0.2 | 38.7±0.8 | 19.0±1.6 | 9 |
| O. Sanko | Ege 88 | 4660 | 2.6±0.2 | 0.6±0.2 | 14.9±0.5 | 3.5±0.7 | 22 |
| E. Yavuzlu | Ege 88 | 5240 | 1.1±0.1 | 0.4±0.1 | 12.6±0.5 | 2.7±0.3 | 13 |
| O. Kutlar | Ege 88 | 1692 | 0.2±0.1 | 0.1±0.1 | 5.3±0.2 | 0.9±0.2 | 28 |
| O. Havaalanı | Akcakale 2000 | 3000 | 0.5±0.1 | 0.3±0.2 | 14.2±0.4 | 4.0±0.6 | 10 |
| Y. Arpaci | Zenit | 4776 | 1.9±0.1 | 0.4±0.2 | 26.9±1.0 | 4.2±0.5 | 9 |
| E. Yavuzlu | Ege 88 | 2496 | 0.6±0.1 | 0.1±0.1 | 13.0±0.4 | 2.3±0.3 | 17 |
| Mean | | 3820 | 1.4 | 0.6 | 19.4 | 5.4 | |

Table 2. Overwintered adult and nymph+new generation adult densities of the sunn pest, % kernel damage, sedimentation values, % white spike damage, varieties, and yield in durum wheat field trials in Gaziantep and Kilis provinces.

^aOverwintered adults, ^bNew generation adult

Although the level of kernel damage (0.9%) that weakens the gluten in our study differed from practical tolerance for kernel damage in industry (2-3%), the ET of 9.2 nymphs/m² calculated from the equation and the ET that is currently used (10 nymphs/m²) are similar. Hence, in durum wheat, the tolerance for kernel damage in industry should be lowered about 1%, but the ET which is 10 nymphs/m² appears to be still valid. However, almost no low-level kernel damage was recorded in the study plots; sedimentation was low and damage was high for all measured points. Thus the regression operated close to the lower limit of its valid range when it was used for gluten strength and ET calculations, or for 2.5% damage and ET. This should be considered when the results are used.

CONCLUSIONS

Differences between our results on the tolerance for kernel damage and ET, and the ones that are used in the country might have occurred because our studies and the previous studies were not conducted on the same varieties or in the same region, and there were some changes in climatic conditions, agronomical practices, and crop diversity over time. Therefore, future research should be done based on region, irrigated and rain-fed farming condition, wheat type and variety, and various yield levels.

REFERENCES

 Anonymous (1980). Buğdaydan Ekmeğe. T.M.M.O.B. Yayınları No 26/3. 336 sayfa.
 Anonymous (2004). Technical Instructions for Plant Protection. General Directorate of Protection and Control, the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, Ankara, 291p. International Agricultural, Biological & Life Science Conference, Edirne, Turkey, 2018

- Anonymous (2008). TÜİK Tarımsal Yapı, Üretim, Fiyat, Değer 2006. Türkiye İstatistik Matbaası, Ankara, Nisan 2008.
- Canhilal, R., Kutuk, H., Islamogul, M., Kanat, A. D. and Gul, A. (2005). Damage loss assessment of sunn pest, *Eurygaster integriceps* Puton (Hemiptera; Scutelleridae) on wheat in Turkey. Arab J. Plant Protect. In press
- Cressey, P.J. and McStay, C.L. (1987). Wheat-bug damage in New Zealand wheat. Development of a simple SDS-sedimentation test for bug damage. J. Sci. Food Agric., 38: 357-366.
- Dortbudak, Y. (1974). Investigation on *Eurygaster* species, identification, distribution and population densities in the Southeast Anatolia. General Directorate of Plant Protection and Agricultural Quarantine Research Trace Series, Ministry of Food-Agriculture and Livestock Farm, Ankara, 40p.
- Fouad, J.H., El-Bouhssini, M., Mafi, M. A., Canhilal, R., and Kutuk, H. (2005). The impact of sunn pest density in wheat fields on grain and flour quality. Arab J. Plant Protect.
- Kılıç, A. U., Çatalpınar, A., Adıgüzel, N., Dörtbudak, Y. and Çavdaroğlu, S. (1973). Investigation on distribution, biology, epidemiology and chemical control of sunn pest (*Eurygaster integriceps* Put.) in the Southeast Anatolia region of Turkey. Annual Report of the Plant Protection Research Institute, Diyarbakır (in Turkish), 121 pp.
- Lodos, N. (1961). Observation on problems of the sunn pest (*Eurygaster integriceps* Put.) in Turkey, Iran and Iraq. Eagean University, Faculty of Agriculture Publications. Izmir, 15pp.
- Lodos, N. (1982). Turkey Entomology 2. General, Practical and Faunistic. E.U. Ziraat Fakultesi Yay. No. 429, E. U. Mat. Bornova-Izmir, 591 pp (in Turkish).
- Simsek, N. and Sezer, A.C. (1985). Hatay ilinde buğdayda Süne (*Eurygaster integriceps* Put.)'nin yumurta ve nimf popülasyonu ile zararı üzerinde ön çalışmalar. Bitki Koruma Bülteni 25 (1-2): 30-48.
- Simsek, Z., Simsek, N., Ozkan, M., Melan, K. and Derin, A. (1997). Sunn Pest. Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, General Directory of Agricultural Research Publications, Ankara, 39 p.
- Simsek, Z. (1998). Past and current status of sunn pest (Eurygaster spp.) in Turkey. FAO PPCRI Integrated Sunn Pest Control Meeting, Ankara, 6-9 January 1998.
- SPSS (2003). A simple Guide and Reference, 11.0 Update. Pearson Education Inc., Boston, 386 pp.
- Williams, P.C., El-Haramein, F.J., Nakkoul, H. and Rihawi, S. (1988). Crop Quality Evaluation Methods and Guidelines. Technical Manual No. 14. ICARDA, Aleppo, Syria. 145 pp.
- Yuksel, M. (1968). Investigation on distribution, biology, epidemiology and damage of Sunn pest (*Eurygaster integriceps* Put.) in the South and Southeast Anatolia region of Turkey. Publications of General Directorate of Plant Protection and Agricultural Quarantine, the Ministry of Agriculture, No. 46, 255 pp (in Turkish).

SUNN PEST MANAGEMENT POLICY CHANGE IN TURKEY; FROM CLASICAL APPROACH TO INTEGRATED PEST MANAGEMENT

Ramazan CANHILAL

Erciyes University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, Kayseri, Turkey

r canhilal@hotmail.com, ramazancanhilal@erciyes.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Wheat, Triticum aestivum L. and barley, Hordeum vulgare L are important crops in Turkey. They are grown in about 13,5 million ha area annually. The sunn pest, Eurygaster spp. (Hemiptera; Scutelleridae) is the most important insect pest of wheat and barley. These insects were first reported from the South Anatolia region of Turkey in 1927 and caused many outbreaks through the 1950s to the present. Detailed studies on the sunn pest were started in the 1950s. Government, only itself has managed the sunn pest control since 1927. Farmers had no responsibility until 2001. Then an IPM approach has been adopted in control of the sunn pest; the sunn pest control policy has been changed to switch from aerial application to ground spraying and leave the responsibilities to farmers gradually. Now the sunn pest control sprays have been done by ground equipments completely. Government provides only technical support and farmers are supposed to apply the insecticide by their equipment, as determined by official technical consultants. After switching ground spraying, insecticide treated area decreased dramatically from about 1.9 million ha in 2003 to 0.6 million ha in 2014. This clearly showed us how appropriate decision it was. But there is always a danger that farmer may apply insecticide more than necessary because there is no good control of pesticide application and residue in the country.

Keywords: Eurygaster spp., wheat and barley, sunn pest, integrated pest management, policy

INTRODUCTION

Wheat, Triticum aestivum L., and barley, Hordeum vulgare L., are important crops in Turkey. They are grown in about 13.5 million ha area annually; 9.5 million ha wheat and 4 million ha barley with the production of about 20 and 8 million tons, respectively (Anonymous 2002). The sunn pest, Eurygaster integriceps Put. (Hemiptera: Scutelleridae), is the most important insect pest of wheat and barley. Turkey is very good location for the sunn pest to spread over and make outbreaks because it is at the genetic origin of wheat and barley and the sunn pest is synchronized with wheat and barley well because of climatic condition, topographic structure, crop design and agricultural tradition. There are three important sunn pest species, Eurygaster integriceps Put., E. maura L., E. ausriaca Schrk. The dominant species is *E. integriceps* in the South and Southeast Anatolia and Thrace regions, while *E.* maura dominates in the Central Anatolia and Aegean Regions. Nymphs and adults of the sunn pest cause damage by feeding on leaves, stems, and grains and reduce yield dramatically. Yield loss caused is estimated at 50-90% in wheat and 20-30% in barley. Apart from the direct reduction in yield, the insect injects digestive enzymes during feeding that greatly reduce the baking quality of the dough. If as little as 2-3% of the grain has been fed on, the entire grain lot may be rendered unacceptable for baking purposes because of poor quality flour (Lodos 1982).

This insect was first reported from the South Anatolia Region of Turkey in 1927. The first outbreaks of the sunn pest were recorded in the South Anatolia in 1927-1929 and in the Southeast Anatolia in 1939-1941. Then the first sunn pest outbreaks occurred in Thrace in 1982, in the Aegean Region in 1987, in Central Anatolia in 1988, and in Marmara Region in 1990. These outbreaks have been going on to the present (Simsek 1997). Detailed studies on the sunn pest were begun in the 1950s. The government only itself has managed sunn pest control since 1927.

Sunn Pest Management in Turkey

Adults of the sunn pest rest under bushes and litter at the tops of mountains around cereal fields during aestivation in the hot and dry months of late summer and autumn. They hibernate during the cold and often severe winter months on hillsides of the mountains. In spring, when temperature on the soil surface reaches 15°C at overwintering sites, adults migrate down to cereal fields. Migration continues 7-10 days under normal weather conditions (Lodos 1982). Overwintered adults appear in the fields over a 6-8 week period. After feeding on leaves and stems, a reproductive phase in the annual cycle occurs; females lay eggs on leaves, stems, and spikes.

Official technical consultants begin surveys in certain overwintering areas in autumn and spring of each year to assess and predict the pest population for the following year by comparing the survey results with those of previous years. The beginning of migration from overwintering sites to fields is determined by observing the activity of the pest when the daily temperature reaches 15°C, usually in March and April. Successive counts are done from the beginning of migration until 90% of the overwintered adult population has left the overwintering site (Anonymous, 2000).

When migration ends, technical consultants start surveys in the field; adult sunn pests are counted in 0.25-square meter frames and densities are determined. Fields where the density is 0.5-0.8 adults/m² are monitored for egg parasitism when 20-30 % of the eggs are in the anchorsign stage. If the egg parasitism rate is high enough, spraying is not conducted. Finally, nymph density is determined in the same manner as for the overwintered adult. At the end of the survey, if nymph density reaches 10 nymphs/m², fields are sprayed, coinciding with the milky stage of winter wheat (Lodos 1982). The most effective time to spray the sunn pest is during the first three nymphal instars. Hence chemical control begins when second-instars nymphs reach 40% in population. However, if chemical control can't be completed during this period, the insecticide applications are continued through the fourth or fifth instars (Anonymous, 2000).

Adoption of Sunn Pest IPM

Mechanical and physical control; collecting by hand or sweep nets and destroying, burning of bushes under which sunn pest overwinter on mountains were applied in early times because of insufficient materials, knowledge and organization. Even it is said that farmers had amulet made and hung on sticks in their fields to prevent the sunn pest damage. Mainly chemical control in the framework of technical instructions developed by excessive national researches was used in 1956-2001. The chemical applications were done by airplane mostly.

It was seen by time that only chemical application especially by airplane was not right solution. It was realized that the treated area (Figure 1) and chemical used (1,283 tons in 2003) were increasing with high cost (US\$ 15 million in 2003) and environmental problems begun to be seen by years. It was because insecticide applications posed a risk to nature's balance, human health, water quality, wildlife, and the environment as a whole. It was worse by aerial application because of drifting of chemicals to non-target areas, worse effects on beneficial and less efficacy on the pest.

So the present insecticide-based strategies must have been replaced with multi-dimensional integrated pest management (IPM) approaches. Then an IPM approach has been adopted in control of the sunn pest in 2001. It has been decided that the elements other than chemicals of IPM such as biological and biotechnological control, cultural practices would be given priority.

Shifting from aerial to ground spray

The biggest challenge in implementing IPM for the sunn pest management was national agricultural strategies that rely on chemical control. The cost of insecticides was borne by government and the applications also were made by government. So faced with sunn pest infestation (mostly not at the economic threshold level), farmers applied pressure to their political representatives, who in turn requested the government to spray. Therefore the sunn pest was called political insect in Turkey. Thus a policy change was needed to devolve the insect control responsibility to farmers and remove the disincentives for adopting IPM as an alternative to agrochemicals.

Finally, after adoption of sunn pest IPM, as the first step, the sunn pest control policy was changed to switch from aerial application to ground spraying and leave the responsibilities to farmers gradually. It was not so easy to leave a 45-year habit. Public awareness and education at the level of political representatives, public institutions, farmer organizations, and farmers were crucial for the success of such policy change.

Several training sessions were arranged for farmers at every village where the sunn pest is problem to explain them why the policy change was crucial and teach the sunn pest; its biology and natural enemies, environmental protection, economic threshold (ET) and decision making to spray. Many public awareness meetings and panels in every city, sometimes in the districts with attendance of NGOs, local governors, cereal farmers, universities, media and all related parties were held to explain why we needed to change the sunn pest control policy. Separate meetings were also done with only political representatives of provinces previously the other meetings to get their support.



Figure 1. Ground spraying, aerial spraying and total area treated (ha) against sunn pest, *Eurygaster integriceps* in 1980-2014, Turkey

Separate meetings were also done with only political representatives of provinces previously the other meetings to get their support.

Tractor mounted sprayers were rented to farmers with free of charges where the farmers did not have enough equipments at the first year of shifting to ground spraying. These equipments were bought by government and some NGOs. There was gradually shifting. In the first year, 2001, some part of Trace region where the egg parasitoid was common and effective was chosen. Then, the remaining part of Trace region, Aegean and Marmara regions in 2002, Ankara, Konya, Eskişehir, Aksaray, Kırıkkale Provinces in Central Anatolia in 2003, everywhere except Diyarbakır, Mardin and Sanliurfa Provinces in 2004, everywhere except Siverek district in Sanliurfa Province in 2005 and all country in 2006 switched to ground spraying. The use of ground spraying as opposed to aerial application increased rapidly from 8% in 1997 to 56% in 2003. It was 69 and 90% in 2004 and 2005, respectively, and ground spraying was used completely in 2006. After switching ground spraying, insecticide treated area decreased dramatically from about 1.9 million ha in 2003 to 0.6 million ha in 2014 (Figure 1). This clearly showed us how appropriate decision it was. But there is always a danger that farmer may apply insecticide more than necessary because there is no good control of pesticide application and residue in the country.

Government provided insecticides with farmers for several years. Now there is no insecticide support and sunn pest control sprays are done by ground equipment completely. Farmers are supposed to apply the insecticide by their equipment, as determined by official technical consultants (Anonymous 2005-1). Technical support will be continued several years.

Research activities

Researches on the sunn pest's biology, bio-ecology, natural enemies and economic threshold, natural occurrence and effectiveness of egg parasitoids, chemical control and integration of all methods available have been conducted in Plant Protection Research Institutes since 1950s in the country.

In the framework of an international project, "Integrated Pest Management of Sunn Pest in West Asia", intensive research activities on economic threshold, host plant resistance, parasitoids, entomopathogenic fungi, semiochemicals in host and mate finding, and adaptive studies through the establishment of farmer field schools in pilot sites were carried out to develope and apply of appropriate, low-cost and environmentally acceptable IPM approaches in 2002-2005 in Turkey.

Over 2-year study in bread and durum wheat fields; adult parasitzm and egg parasitzm of sunn pest were 1-8% and 10-100%, respectively. No leaf or stem damage was observed because when the sunn pest completed migration to the fields, wheat plants reached 10-15 cm in height, and it was late for the sunn pest to damage leaves and stems. White spike damage was 0.03-1.67% at the density of 0.32-4.08 adults/m2, which was not significant (Canhilal et al., 2006)

The ET for sunn pest was redifined with the data generated from 2-year field research. The regression equations obtained to predict percent kernel damage for bred and durum wheat were Y = -0.899+1.454X and Y = -3.206+1.771X, respectively. The threshold calculated were 8.12 and 9.16 nymphs/m² for bred and durum wheat, respectively. Present ET is 10 nymphs/m² regardless wheat type and variety and region. Thus the following suggestions are made (Canhilal et al. 2006):

1-The ET may lowered to 8-9 nymph/m² for wheat varieties and regions where there are complaints and practical observations, and especially for low-yield levels (~ 2000-2500 kg/ha) until detailed research is conducted based on region, wheat variety, and yield level for bred wheat.

2-The ET 10 nymphs/m² appears still to be valid for durum wheat. But needs detailed research as for bred wheat.

A "National Integrated Sunn Pest Management Project" was also started in 2004. Establishing "green belts" to preserve the natural enemies of the sunn pest, studies on resistant varieties, parasitoids and economic threshold, and rearing and releasing its egg parasitoids (*Trisolcus spp*) and predatory birds such as partridge are some activities in the project. In the framework of the national project, about 3.8 million egg parasitoids in 2005 and 7.5 million in 2006 reared in the lab and released preferably in areas where there is reasonably high parasitzm (Anonymous 2005-2 and Anonymous 2006). About 200,000 partridges are planned to rear and released into overwintering sites in fall in 2006.

CONCLUSIONS

There was little sunn pest damage in some area where farmers were reluctant to enter their field with tractor at the beginning and then late for application in the first year of shifting. But overall there was a big success throughout the country because of ground spray. Percent kernel damage dropped to less than 1% in 2004. This meant an important quality increase. Thus, wheat import made previous years because of low quality wheat production was stopped.

After switching ground spraying, insecticide treated area decreased dramatically from about 1.9 million ha in 2003 to 0.6 million ha in 2014. This clearly showed us how appropriate decision it was. But there is always a danger that farmer may apply insecticide more than necessary because there is no good control of pesticide application and residue in the country.

REFERENCES

Anonymous (2002). Government Statistic Institute (D.I.E.) Database.

- Lodos, N. (1982). Turkey Entomology 2. General, Practical and Faunistic. E.U. Ziraat Fakultesi Yay. No. 42 9, E. U. Mat. Bornova-Izmir, 591 pp (in Turkish).
- Şimşek, Z., Şimşek, N., Özkan, M., Melan, K. and Derin, A. (1997). Sunn Pest. Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, General Directory of Agricultural Research Publications, Ankara, 39 p.
- Anonymous (2000). Program of Plant Protection and Principals of Application. Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, Ankara.
- Anonymous (2005-1). Program of Plant Protection and Principals of Application. Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, Ankara.
- Anonymous (2005-2). Annual Report of the Project on Rearing and Releasing of the Egg Parasitoids of the Sunn Pest in the Framework of National Integrated Sunn Pest Management Project. Plant Protection Research Institute, Adana.
- Anonymous (2006). Annual Report of the Project on Rearing and Releasing of the Egg Parasitoids of the Sunn Pest in the Framework of National Integrated Sunn Pest Management Project. Plant Protection Research Institute, Adana.
- Canhilal, R., Kutuk, H., Kanat, A.D., Islamoglu, M., El-Haramein, F. and El-Bouhssini, M. (2006). Economic Threshold for the Sunn Pest, *Eurygaster integriceps* Put. (Hemiptera:Scutelleridae), on Wheat in Southeastern Turkey (Submitted to Journal of Agricultural and Urban Entomology).

THE EFFICACY OF ENTOMOPATHOGENIC NEMATODES AGAINST ZABRUS SPP.

Ramazan CANHİLAL

Erciyes University, Faculty of Agriculture Plant Protection Department, 38039 Kayseri, Turkey

r_canhilal@hotmail.com, ramazancanhilal@erciyes.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Experiments were conducted to find out the susceptibility of the larvae of Zabrus spp. (Coleoptera: Carabidae), an important insect pest of wheat, against entomopathogenic nematodes (Rhabditida: Steinernematidae and Heterorhabditidae) in the laboratory first time in the World. The entomopathogenic nematodes used in the trials were Steinernema feltiae-Commercial, S. feltiae-Endemic, S. carpocapsae, S. bicornutum, Heterorhabditis bacteriophora, and H. indica. Small plastic pots with a lid (8 cm in height, 6 cm in diameter) containing autoclaved soil have been utilized in trials. In the experiments, rates of 50, 100 and 200 infective juveniles (IJs)/cm² at 15, 20 and 25°C applied and they were repeated 2 times. Raising rate and temperature expanded the mortalities caused by nematodes. S. carpocapsae produced 75% mortality at the rate of 200 IJs/cm², which was the highest at 15°C. The lowest mortality with 5% at the rate of 50 IJs/cm² was caused by S. bicornutum 15°C. Steinernema carpocapsae at the rate of 200 IJs/cm², and S. feltiae-Endemic and H. indica at the rate of 50 IJs/cm² provided the highest (85%) and the lowest (20%) mortality, respectively at 20°C. At 25°C, S. carpocapsae at the rate of 200 IJs/cm² was the nematode caused the highest mortality with 95% while S. feltiae-Endemic at the rate of 50 IJs/cm² was producing 25% mortality which was the lowest. As a result, S. carpocapsae performed the best efficacy against Zabrus spp. and it was followed by H. bacteriophora and S. bicornutum.

Keywords: Zabrus spp., entomopathogenic nematods, Steinernema, Heterorhabditis, biological control

INTRODUCTION

Being an important crop in our country and in the world, wheat is an indispensable source of food for human nutrition. Annual wheat production in our country is approximately 18-20 million tons, wheat consumption however is approximately 16-17 million tons (Anonymous, 2008). Despite of an excessive wheat production, the losses in crop quality caused by pests and diseases makes a significant amount of wheat to be imported into our country. In addition to the diseases such as bunt, rust, smut, insect pests; sunn pest, cereal bugs, cereal spike beetles, and cereal ground beetles, *Zabrus* spp. are important and cause losses in wheat yield and quality (Lodos, 1989). Occurrence of high population densities of *Zabrus* spp. (Coleoptera: Carabidae) can cause yield losses of up to 100% in years and areas where none of control methods are applied. In our country, there are only seeds and surface chemical applications as control methods against this important pest.

In terms of plant protection, although there are many different control options against pests, the biological control is highly preferred over other methods, because of being the human, animal and environmental friendly method, maintaining the ecological balance and sustainability. As biological control agents, entomopathogenic nematodes (EPNs) (*Rhabditida:*

Steinernematidae and Heterorhabditidae) attract attention increasingly in research area recently. Their ideal properties such as; the broad host spectrum, to be able to kill their hosts within 24-48 hours, to be producible commercially easily in vivo or in vitro, having ability to search actively their hosts, settling in application areas and staying effective for a long time, having easy applicability, being in compliance with many chemicals and being safe for the environment are important for their preferability. They are soil dwelling, aquatic organism and have motile bacteria living their intestine. The bacteria in Steinernematidae are *Xenorhabdus* spp. and in Heterorhabditidae are *Photorhabdus* spp. Nematode and bacterium are mutualistic symbionts and obligate, lethal parasites of insects. EPNs can be found everywhere on earth and infect many different insects (Smart, 1995). Nematodes enter insect through natural openings. Once in the insect, the nematode releases the bacteria that are carried in the intestine. Bacterial cells reproduce rapidly and kill the insect within 24-48 hours using many different toxins. They also produce antibacterial and antifungal antibiotics not to allow any other other organisims in the host. The nematodes eat the bacteria and reproduce for 3 or 4 generations depending on the food source. Over 100,000 nematodes exit the insect (Burnell and Stock, 2000).

Entomopathogenic nematodes have been used in controlling insects since the 1930s (Smart 1995) in various climatic regions of the world. They are important biological control agents of soil-inhabiting insects (Gaugler 1981, Georgis and Poinar 1984, Klein 1990) such as Japanese beetles, mole crickets, and root weevils. They have also been used successfully against above-ground insects in cryptic habitats (Bedding & Miller 1981, Ralph 1981, Kaya 1988, Begley 1990, Kaya 1990, Vreditelyami et al. 1992), for example, navel orange worm, the codling moth and the artichoke plume moth, carpenter worms, and clearwing moths.

However, studies on EPN are very limited and some of them have just started in Turkey. Turkey having a diverse ecology shelters nine EPN species but the studies on the investigating of efficacy and usage of these species on pests of cultivated plants are very rare. In this study; we conducted experiments to find out the susceptibility of the larvae of *Zabrus* spp. against entomopathogenic nematodes in the laboratory first time in the World to produce basic data to use in the biological control of the insect.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

We studied entomopathogenic nematodes as an alternative to chemical control. The entomopathogenic nematodes used in the trials were *Steinernema feltiae-Commercial*, *S. feltiae*-Endemic, *S. carpocapsae*, *S. bicornutum*, *Heterorhabditis bacteriophora*, and *H. indica*.

Zabrus spp. larvae from wheat fields were collected digging into soil 25-30 cm at the end of March and beginning of April. They brought to lab in ice box. They let stay in plastic containers for 24 hours to differentiate the damaged ones during collecting and transportation. The trials have been conducted in small plastic pots with a lid (8 cm in height, 6 cm in diameter) containing autoclaved soil and repeated 2 times. The nematodes at 3 rates of 50, 100 and 200 infective juveniles (IJs)/cm² with 4 replicates applied evenly into plastic with pipet. Pots were placed in incubators at dark adjusted 15, 20 and 25 °C. They were checked after 7 and 10 days to count dead larvae. Efficacy was evaluated by comparing the treatments with untreated control.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The mortalities caused by nematodes increased by increasing rate and temperature at the 10^{th} day. The highest mortality with 75% at the rate of 200 IJs/cm² was caused by *S. carpocapsae* followed by *S. carpocapsae* at the dose of 100 and 50 IJs/cm² with 70% mortality and *H. bacteriophora* at dose of 200 IJs/cm² with 60% mortality. However they were statistically at

the same group. The lowest mortality with 5% mortality at the rate of 50 IJs/cm² was caused by *S. bicornutum* at 15°C (Table 1).

| Table 1 | The efficacy of | of entomopathogenic | nematods against 2 | Zabrus spp. larvae | at 15 °C in laboratory |
|---------|-----------------|---------------------|--------------------|--------------------|------------------------|
|---------|-----------------|---------------------|--------------------|--------------------|------------------------|

| | _ | Larva used 1 st and 2 nd year | | 7 th da | y count | 10 th day count | | | |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|--|
| Nematod | Dose (IJ/ cm ²) | | Death (%) 1 st | Death (%) 2 nd | Death average (%) | Death (%) 1 st | Death (%) 2 nd | Death average (%) | |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 50 | 20+20 | 30 | 10 | 20bcde | 30 | 30 | 30de | |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 100 | 20+20 | 35 | 15 | 25cde | 35 | 35 | 35ef | |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 200 | 20+20 | 45 | 25 | 35def | 50 | 50 | 50f | |
| <i>S.feltiae</i> Commer | 50 | 20+20 | 15 | 25 | 20bcdef | 15 | 15 | 15abcd | |
| S.feltiae Commer | 100 | 20+20 | 30 | 25 | 27,5cde | 30 | 30 | 30de | |
| S.feltiae Commer | 200 | 20+20 | 50 | 30 | 40ef | 55 | 55 | 55gh | |
| H. bacteriophora | 50 | 20+20 | 15 | 50 | 32,5cde | 40 | 70 | 55fg | |
| H. bacteriophora | 100 | 20+20 | 25 | 35 | 30cde | 45 | 65 | 55gh | |
| H. bacteriophora | 200 | 20+20 | 15 | 60 | 37,5ef | 50 | 70 | 60ghi | |
| S. carpocapsae | 50 | 20+20 | 30 | 50 | 40ef | 55 | 85 | 70hi | |
| S. carpocapsae | 100 | 20+20 | 40 | 60 | 50f | 60 | 80 | 70hi | |
| S. carpocapsae | 200 | 20+20 | 35 | 70 | 52,5f | 65 | 85 | 75i | |
| S. bicornutum | 50 | 20+20 | 5 | 0 | 2,5ab | 5 | 5 | 5ab | |
| S. bicornutum | 100 | 20+20 | 10 | 15 | 12,5abc | 15 | 25 | 20bcde | |
| S. bicornutum | 200 | 20+20 | 25 | 25 | 25cde | 30 | 30 | 30de | |
| H. indica | 50 | 20+20 | 5 | 5 | 5ab | 10 | 10 | 10abc | |
| H. indica | 100 | 20+20 | 10 | 10 | 10abc | 25 | 25 | 25cde | |
| H. indica | 200 | 20+20 | 15 | 15 | 15ab | 25 | 25 | 25cde | |
| Control | 0 | 20+20 | 0 | 0 | 0a | 0 | 0 | 0a | |

| | | Larva used 1 st and 2 nd year | 7 th day count | | | 10 th day count | | | |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|---|---|-------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|----------------------|--|
| Nematod | Dose (IJ/ cm ²) | | Death (%) 1 st year | Death (%) 2 nd year | Death average (%) | Death (%) 1 st year | Death (%) 2 nd year | Death average (%) | |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 50 | 20+20 | 25 | 15 | 20abc | 25 | 15 | 20b | |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 100 | 20+20 | 50 | 10 | 30bcde | 50 | 45 | 47,5de | |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 200 | 20+20 | 50 | 20 | 35bcde | 55 | 50 | 52,5def | |
| <i>S.feltiae</i> Commercial | 50 | 20+20 | 20 | 25 | 22,5abcd | 25 | 30 | 27,5bc | |
| <i>S.feltiae</i> Commercial | 100 | 20+20 | 35 | 35 | 35bcde | 40 | 35 | 37,5cd | |
| <i>S.feltiae</i> Commercial | 200 | 20+20 | 50 | 20 | 35bcde | 55 | 50 | 52,5def | |
| H. bacteriophora | 50 | 20+20 | 30 | 50 | 40bcde | 55 | 50 | 52,5cde | |
| H. bacteriophora | 100 | 20+20 | 40 | 35 | 37,5bcde | 50 | 40 | 45cde | |
| H. bacteriophora | 200 | 20+20 | 60 | 70 | 65g | 70 | 80 | 75gh | |
| S. carpocapsae | 50 | 20+20 | 35 | 55 | 45defg | 50 | 60 | 55def | |
| S. carpocapsae | 100 | 20+20 | 55 | 50 | 52,5efg | 55 | 55 | 55def | |
| S. carpocapsae | 200 | 20+20 | 40 | 80 | 60fg | 80 | 90 | 85h | |
| S. bicornutum | 50 | 20+20 | 30 | 30 | 30bcde | 45 | 45 | 45cde | |
| S. bicornutum | 100 | 20+20 | 30 | 30 | 30bcde | 45 | 45 | 45cde | |
| S. bicornutum | 200 | 20+20 | 45 | 45 | 45defg | 75 | 60 | 67,5fg | |
| H. indica | 50 | 20+20 | 15 | 15 | 15ab | 20 | 20 | 20b | |
| H. indica | 100 | 20+20 | 40 | 40 | 40cdef | 55 | 65 | 60efg | |
| H. indica | 200 | 20+20 | 25 | 35 | 30bcde | 55 | 65 | 60efg | |
| Control | 0 | 20+20 | 5 | 0 | 2,5a | 5 | 0 | 2,5a | |

Table 2. The efficacy of entomopathogenic nematods against Zabrus spp. larvae at 20 °C in laboratory

| | | Larva used 1 st and 2 nd year | | 7 th d | ay count | 10 th day count | | |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------|
| Nematod | Dose (IJ/ cm ²) | | Death (%) 1 st year | Death (%) 2 nd | Death average (%) | Dea th (%) 1 st | Death (%) 2 nd | Death average (%) |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 50 | 20+20 | 25 | 15 | 20abcd | 25 | 25 | 25b |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 100 | 20+20 | 15 | 25 | 20abcd | 45 | 55 | 50def |
| S.feltiae Endemic | 200 | 20+20 | 15 | 30 | 22,5bcde | 50 | 70 | 60efg |
| <i>S.feltiae</i> Commer | 50 | 20+20 | 20 | 10 | 15abc | 30 | 30 | 30bc |
| S.feltiae Commer | 100 | 20+20 | 15 | 10 | 12,5ab | 35 | 25 | 30bc |
| S.feltiae Commer | 200 | 20+20 | 30 | 40 | 35bcdef | 45 | 45 | 45cde |
| H. bacteriophora | 50 | 20+20 | 55 | 65 | 60gh | 60 | 70 | 65fg |
| H. bacteriophora | 100 | 20+20 | 15 | 60 | 37,5cdefg | 50 | 80 | 65fg |
| H. bacteriophora | 200 | 20+20 | 40 | 60 | 50fg | 50 | 80 | 65fg |
| S. carpocapsae | 50 | 20+20 | 45 | 30 | 37,5cdefg | 50 | 50 | 50def |
| S. carpocapsae | 100 | 20+20 | 60 | 60 | 60gh | 60 | 60 | 60efg |
| S. carpocapsae | 200 | 20+20 | 95 | 60 | 77,5h | 100 | 90 | 95i |
| S. bicornutum | 50 | 20+20 | 40 | 40 | 40defg | 60 | 60 | 60efg |
| S. bicornutum | 100 | 20+20 | 45 | 45 | 45efg | 70 | 70 | 70gh |
| S. bicornutum | 200 | 20+20 | 45 | 20 | 32,5bcdef | 90 | 80 | 85hi |
| H. indica | 50 | 20+20 | 45 | 45 | 45efg | 35 | 40 | 37,5bcd |
| H. indica | 100 | 20+20 | 45 | 45 | 45efg | 50 | 55 | 52,5defg |
| H. indica | 200 | 20+20 | 20 | 45 | 32,5bcdef | 60 | 80 | 70gh |
| Control | 0 | 20+20 | 0 | 0 | 0a | 0 | 0 | 0a |

Table 3. The efficacy of entomopathogenic nematods against Zabrus spp. larvae at 25 °C in laboratory

S. carpocapsae at the rate of 200 IJs/cm², and *S. feltiae*-Endemic and *H. indica* at the rate of 50 IJs/cm² provided the highest (85%) and the lowest (20%) mortality, respectively at 20°C. *H. bacteriophora* at the rate of 200 IJs/cm² with 75% mortality and *S. bicornutum* at the rate of 200 IJs/cm² with 67.5% mortality followed *S. carpocapsae*. They did not differ from each other statistically (Table 2). At 25°C, *S. carpocapsae* at the rate of 200 IJs/cm² was the one producing the highest mortality with 95% while *S. feltiae*-Endemic at the rate of 50 IJs/cm² was causing

25% mortality which was the lowest (Table 3). *S. bicornutum* at the rate of 100 and 200 IJs/cm² with 70% and 85% mortality and *H. indica* at the rate of 200 IJs/cm with 70% mortality followed *S. carpocapsae* at the rate of 200 IJs/cm², which were at the same group statistically.

CONCLUSIONS

As a result, *S. carpocapsae* showed the best efficacy against *Zabrus* spp. and it was followed by *H. bacteriophora* and *S. bicornutum*. Field trials with these nematodes showed high efficacy against *Zabrus* spp. should be planned for future studies.

REFERENCES

- Anonymous (2008). TÜİK Tarımsal Yapı, Üretim, Fiyat, Değer 2006. Türkiye İstatistik Matbaası, Ankara, Nisan 2008.
- Bedding, R. A. and Miller, L. A. (1981). Disinfesting black currant cuttings of Synanthedon tipuliformis, using the insect parasitic nematode, Neoaplectana bibionis. J. Entomol. Sci., 10: 449–453.
- Begley, J. W. (1990). Efficacy against insects in habitats other than soil, pp. 215–231. In R. Gaugler and H. K. Kaya [Eds.], Entomopathogenic nematodes in biological control. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Burnell, A.M. and Stock S.P. (2000). *Heterorhabditis*, *Steinernema* and their bacterial symbionts lethal pathogens of insects. Nematology 2: 31-42.
- Gaugler, R. (1981). Biological control potential of neoaplectanid nematodes. J. Nematol. 13:241–249.
- Georgis, R. and Poinar, G. O. (1984). Field control of the strawberry root weevil, *Nemocestes incomptus*, by neoaplectanid nematodes (Steinernematidae: Nematoda). J. Invertebr.Pathol. 43: 103–131.
- Kaya, H. K. (1988). Princes from todes. Am. Nurseryman 168: 63, 65-69.
- Kaya, H. K. (1990). Soil ecology, pp. 93–115. *In* R. Gaugler and H. K. Kaya [Eds.], Entomopathogenic Nematodes in Biological Control. CRC, Boca Raton, FL.
- Klein, M. G. (1990). Efficacy against soil-inhabiting insect pests, pp. 195–214. *In* R. Gaugler and H. K. Kaya [Eds.], Entomopathogenic nematodes in biological control. CRC, BocaRaton, FL.
- Lodos, N. (1989). Türkiye Entomolojisi IV (Kısım 1) (Genel, Uygulamalı ve Faunistik). E.Ü. Zir. Fak. Yay. No: 493, 250 s.
- Ralph, W. (1981). Nematodes for insect control. Rural Research (No. 113): 11-14.
- Smart, Jr., G.C. 1995. Entomopathogenic Nematodes for the Biological Control of Insects. Supplement to the Journal of Nematology, 27(4S): 529-534
- Vreditelyami, S. V., V. P. C. Smorodiny, A. S. Zainalov (1992). Attempts to increase efficiency of control measures against the principle pests in black currant nurseries, pp. 17-20. Thesis Russian Academy of Agricultural Sciences, Moscow, Russia.

EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCES OF SELECTED SOME WINTER CHICKPEA GENOTYPES UNDER MEDITERRANEAN CLIMATE CONDITIONS

Aybegün TON^{*}, A. Emin ANLARSAL

Cukurova University Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Field Crops ,01330 Adana/Turkey

aybeguntoncu@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

This study was carried out to investigate the yield and yield components of some promising chickpea genotypes at Cukurova conditions. The experiment was performed according to complete randomized block design with four replications. This research was conducted with 9 genotypes (7 promising lines and 2 registered cultivars as a control orginated in Turkey) at Çukurova University, Agricultural Faculty, Field Crop Department during winter season of 2015/2016 and 2016/2017. According to average of experiment years, plant height, first podding height, number of branches per plant, number of pods per plant, number of grains per plant, grain weight per plant, 100-grain weight, and grain yield varied from 61.1 to 72.0 cm, from 22.7 to 35.4 cm, from 9.5 to 12.4 number plant⁻¹, from 56.6 to 103.5 number plant⁻¹, from 70.8 to 133.6 number plant⁻¹, from 27.3 to 45.5 g, from 32.5 to 44.0 g, from 1951 to 2690 kg ha⁻¹ respectively. There were positive and significant correlations between grain yield and plant height, number of pod, grain weight per plant, 100-grain weight per plant, 100-grain weight per plant.

Keywords: Chickpea, Yield, Agronomic Traits, Genotype, Correlation

INTRODUCTION

Cultivation of chickpea is widely spreaded in the worldwide and it is pulses the second most important after dry bean for sowing area in the world. It has high protein, carbonhydrate, mineral and vitamins and it is used as canning, boliling or roasting in human diets. Chickpea is most important pulses in Turkey. In Turkey planted area and average grain yield for chickpea are 360.0000 ha and the 128 kg ha⁻¹ respectively (Anonymous, 2016). Chickpea has a great grain production in Mediterranean of Turkey. Chickpea is traditionally planted at early spring in the mentioned region, but grain yield is very low 800-900 kg ha⁻¹). Chickpea can be grown as a winter crop in the rotation with cotton and maize at Mediterranean region and it has a great grain production in this region, but Ascochyta blight is a serious problem for winter chickpea production because of warm and rainy climate condition at autumn sowing. Therefore grain yield can considerably decrease. However, grain yield increases greatly if cultivars with the tolerant to Ascochyta blight are grown as a winter crop at the Mediterranean conditions. The average grain yield in chickpea was obtained in between 2000 kg ha⁻¹ and 3000 kg ha⁻¹ (Mart and Anlarsal 2001., Yucel and Anlarsal, 2012) for winter crop at coastal region. Some researcher reported that yield and yield compenents are greatly influenced by rainfall and temperature in flowering and podding, Khanna-Chopra and Sınha, 1987; Yücel et al., 2012; Lake et al., 2016). Grain yield per plant was positively and significantly correlated with plant height, branches number per plant, pods number per plant and 100-seed weight (Toker et al., 2004, Gul et al., 2013; Pandey et al., 2013). Therefore, new chickpea cultivars which are tolerant to Ascochyta blight, favourable to harvesting machine, high yielding capacity, large seeded must be improved to spread cultivation of winter chickpea in the region.

The objective of this study revealed the performance of some promising chickpea genotypes under Mediterranean climates. Therefore, some selected chickpea genotypes at this region were investigated for grain yield and yield components and relations to among some traits.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The experiment was conducted at research area of Department of Field crop of Agricultural Faculty of Cukurova University (35⁰ 18' E, 37⁰ o1 N;23 m above sea level) during 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 experimental years. This area has Mediterranean climate at Turkey. Average annual total precipitation and mean temperature of this area are 625 mm and 18.7°C according to long-terms respectively. Meteorological values were given in Table 1. In Balcalı the soil of research area was sandy-loam in textures. Values of pH and salt content were 7.78 and 0.33 mmhos cm⁻¹, respectively.

| Meteorological | Years | November | December | January | February | March | April | May |
|---------------------|-----------|----------|----------|---------|----------|-------|-------|------|
| Parameters | | | | | | | | |
| Mean Temperature | 2015-2016 | 24.6 | 18.8 | 13.4 | 20.2 | 21.7 | 27.5 | 27.1 |
| | 2016-2017 | 23.2 | 14.1 | 13.9 | 17.7 | 21.1 | 24.7 | 27.4 |
| (°C) | Long term | 14.8 | 10.5 | 9.3 | 10.0 | 12.9 | 17.3 | 21.6 |
| Total Rainfall | 2015-2016 | 10.5 | 0.6 | 138.4 | 83.1 | 54.3 | 1.8 | 87.9 |
| (mm) | 2016-2017 | 11.9 | 147.1 | 52.0 | 0.8 | 65.4 | 65.9 | 45.9 |
| | Long term | 86.4 | 115.6 | 95.0 | 82.5 | 61.1 | 50.3 | 43.4 |

Table 1. Values of monthly average temperature and total precipitation of Adana.

The research material was seven promising line (FLIP 09-51 C, FLIP 09-24 C, FLIP 09-17 C and FLIP 09 -29 C, FLIP 06-118 C, FLIP 06-111 C, FLIP-05-88 C) and two check cultivars orginated Turkey (Seçkin and Hasanbey). The promising lines were selected from a lot of number lines orginated ICARDA (International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas) in Syria. The experiment was organized in randomized complete block design (RCBD) with four replication. Each plot was sown in rows of 5 m lenght and 4 rows with a spacing of 45 cm between rows. Plant to plant distance in row was 6 cm. Each genotype was planted at the end of November in both years. The fertilizer was applied at a rate of 30 kg N ha⁻¹ and 70 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹ before sowing. The plot was harvested at the beginnig of June and the middle of June in the first and second experimental years respectively.

The traits were measured on ten plants selected randomly from each plot. Plant height (cm), number of branches per plant, number of pods per plant, grains per plant, 100-grain yield (g), grain weight per plant (g) and grain yield (kg ha⁻¹) were investigated.

The data were variance analysed combined over experiment years according to the randomized block using MSTATC programme. Differences among the average were found using Duncan multiple range test at 0.05 probability level.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Values of plant height and first podding height of genotypes for 9 chickpea genotypes in different experimental years were presented in Table 2. According combined years, the study showed that plant height was significantly affected by genotypes and it varied from 61.1 (09-17 C) to 72.0 cm (09-24 C). The years were significantly affected the plant height. The mean value for this trait was lower in first experimental year (63.5 cm) than in second experimental year (70.2 cm). Field emergence date of genotypes in the first year was later (January 5) compared with second year because of late rainfall. Genotype x year interaction was significant
for plant height. The highest value was achived by genotype 09-24 C with 72.0 cm followed by 05-88 C and 06-111 C while the lowest value was obtained from 09-17 C with 53.5 cm.

| | 1 | 0 | 1 | U | 1 0 11 | | | |
|-------------|---------|----------------|----------|---------|-----------------------|---------|--|--|
| Constrans | Pla | ant height (cn | n) | First | First pod height (cm) | | | |
| Genotypes – | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean | | |
| 09-51 C | 60.8 de | 63.9 cd | 62.3 de | 28.5 | 24.1 | 26.3 d | | |
| 09-24 C | 66.6 cd | 77.4 a | 72.0 a | 35.2 | 35.1 | 35.1 a | | |
| 09-17 C | 53.5 f | 68.8 bc | 61.1 e | 22.5 | 23.1 | 22.7 e | | |
| 09-29 C | 59.4 e | 69.3 bc | 64.3 cde | 27.2 | 28.6 | 27.9 cd | | |
| 06-118 C | 66.2 cd | 70.0 bc | 68.1 abc | 30.3 | 29.5 | 29.9 bc | | |
| 06-111 C | 66.4 cd | 73.3 ab | 69.8 ab | 31.9 | 34.9 | 33.4 ab | | |
| 05-88 C | 66.7 cd | 76.8 a | 71.7 a | 35.1 | 35.6 | 35.4 a | | |
| Seçkin | 64.7 ce | 66.5 cd | 65.6 cd | 33.9 | 28.5 | 31.2 bc | | |
| Hasan bey | 67.0 cd | 65.9 cd | 66.5 bc | 32.2 | 28.4 | 30.3 bc | | |
| Mean | 63.5 b | 70.2 a | 66.8 | 30.7 | 29.8 | 30.3 | | |
| CV(%) | | | 5.6 | | | 22.9 | | |

Table 2. Mean values for plant height and first pod height of 9 chickpea genotypes^{*}

*Means with a column and line for each trait followed by the some letters are not significantly different for Duncan's multiple range test (p < 0.05).

According to combined years differences among the genotypes were significant for the first podding height . The highest value was found for 05-88 C (35.4 cm) and 09-24 C (35.1 cm) whereas the lowest one was 09-17 C with 22.7 cm. The first podding height was significantly affected by years and genotype x years interaction.

The mean values of branches per plant and pods per plant of 9 chickpea genotypes in different experimental years were presented in Table 3.

| emenhen Senerijkes | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|---------|------------------------------|------|---------|--------------------------|---------|--|--|
| Constrans | Number | Number of branches per plant | | | Number of pods per plant | | | |
| Genotypes – | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean | | |
| 09-51 C | 15.9 | 6.3 | 11.1 | 68.7 | 113.5 | 91.1 a | | |
| 09-24 C | 13.5 | 7.6 | 9.5 | 50.0 | 71.9 | 60.9 b | | |
| 09-17 C | 11.9 | 7.0 | 9.5 | 44.9 | 74.9 | 59.9 b | | |
| 09-29 C | 14.8 | 5.8 | 10.3 | 55.3 | 85.8 | 70.5 b | | |
| 06-118 C | 16.5 | 8.3 | 12.4 | 75.9 | 131.1 | 103.5 a | | |
| 06-111 C | 14.7 | 7.3 | 11.0 | 53.6 | 62.0 | 57.8 b | | |
| 05-88 C | 13.6 | 9.9 | 11.8 | 46.5 | 90.6 | 68.5 b | | |
| Seçkin | 12.2 | 6.7 | 9.5 | 39.1 | 74.2 | 56.6 b | | |
| Hasan bey | 15.1 | 7.9 | 11.5 | 57.8 | 73.9 | 65.8 b | | |
| Mean | 14.2 a | 7.4 b | 10.8 | 54.6 b | 86.4 a | 70.5 | | |
| CV(%) | | | 22.9 | | | 23.8 | | |

Table 3. Mean values for number of pods per plant and number of grains per plant of 9 chickpea genotypes^{*}

*Means with a column and line for each trait followed by the some letters are not significantly different for Duncan's multiple range test (p < 0.05).

The branches per plant were not influenced by genotypes and genotype x year interaction in both years, but years affected the branches per plant. Branches per plant in the first experimental year (14.2) were higher than in the second experimental year (7.4). The number of branches per plant was varied between 9.5 and 12.4.

The mean of the pods per plant were significantly affected by genotypes. The highest number of pods was obtained in 06-118C (103.5) and 09-51 C (91.1) while the lowest value was found for Seçkin (56.6) Number of pods was higher in the second year than in first year. The high average temperature (27.5 0 C) and low rainfall (1.8 mm) during the flowering stage in beginning April at the first year may cause lower the pods compared with the second year (Table 1). Similarly to our findings some researcher reported that high temperature and low rainfall affected negative the generative traits in various legumes (Bakry et al., 2011; Kanchan and Virender, 2014; Lake et al., 2016

Values of grains per plant and 100-grain weight of chickpea genotypes in different experimental years were given in Table 4. Differences among the genotypes for grains per plant were significant. The mean values of grains per plant varied 70.8 (06-111 C) to 133.6 (06-118 C). This trait was significantly affected by the years. Number of grains per plant was higher in the second year compared with first year as in pods per plant. High number of grains per plant in the second year may be due to the high pods per plant in the same year. The effect of genotypes was significant for 100-grain weight. The mean 100-grain weight varied from 32.5 g (06-118 C) to 44.0 g (09-51 C). The 100-grain weight was significantly influenced by years. The value of 100-grain weight in the second year was greater than in the first year. The high temperature and low rainfall during the stage of grain filling in April at the first experimental year may decrease the 100-grain weight.

| Conotunos | Numbe | er of grains pe | r plant | 100-grain weight (g) | | |
|-------------|---------|-----------------|---------|----------------------|---------|---------|
| Genotypes - | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean |
| 09-51 C | 78.2 | 131.6 | 107.9 b | 43.5 | 44.0 | 44.0 a |
| 09-24 C | 64.1 | 83.2 | 73.6 c | 37.6 | 40.0 | 39.0 c |
| 09-17 C | 55.9 | 96.2 | 76.0 c | 40.2 | 42.0 | 41.5 b |
| 09-29 C | 64.4 | 91.1 | 77.7 c | 35.4 | 38.4 | 36.5 d |
| 06-118 C | 97.2 | 169.9 | 133.6 a | 32.0 | 33.1 | 32.5 e |
| 06-111 C | 96.5 | 72.2 | 70.8 c | 39.5 | 45.0 | 42.0 b |
| 05-88 C | 59.3 | 91.4 | 75.3 c | 34.5 | 37.7 | 36.1 d |
| Seçkin | 54.6 | 99.7 | 77.1 c | 37.5 | 41.7 | 39.6 c |
| Hasan bey | 73.3 | 105.0 | 88.6 bc | 39.9 | 42.0 | 40.9 bc |
| Mean | 68.4 b | 104.5 a | 86.4 | 37.8 b | 40.5 a | 39.2 |
| CV(%) | | | 26.6 | | | 4.2 |

Table 4. Mean values for number of grains per plant and 100-grain weight of chickpea genotypes.^{*}

*Mean s with a column and line for each trait followed by the some letters are not significantly different for Duncan's multiple range (p < 0.05)

Values of grain weight and grain yield of chickpea genotypes in experimental years were given in Table 5. There were significantly differences among the genotypes for grain weight per plant and it varied 29.6 (09-24 C and 09-17 C) to 45.5 g (09-51 C and 06-118 C). Grain weight per plant in the second experimental year due to high pods per plant, grains per plant and 100 grain weight was significantly higher than in the first experimental year. Genotype x year interaction was not significant for this trait.

As shown in Table 5, according to combined years' differences among the genotypes were significant for grain yield. Grain yield varied 1951(06-118 C)-2690 kg ha⁻¹ (09-24 C). However, there were not differences between genotypes 09-24 C, 05-88 C and Seçkin. Grain yield was greater in the second year due to the low rainfall and high temperature during the flowering and

pod filling stage compared with the first year. Similar opinions were reported by some researcher (Kanchan and Virender, 2014; Meena et al., 2015; Lake et al., 2016.) Genotype x year interaction was significant for grain yield. The highest yield was achived by genotype 09-29 C with 2690 kg ha⁻¹ followed by 05-88 C and 09-24 C in the second experiment year. The lowest yield was obtained from 06-188 C with 06-188 C with 1577 kg ha⁻¹. These results were in close agreement with the findings of some reports (Anlarsal et al., 1999, Yücel and Anlarsal, 2006; Mart et al., 2011; Ton and Anlarsal, 2016). The mentioned genotypes and check cultivars also showed tolerance to Ascochyta blight in both years.

| | Grain | Grain weight per plant (g) | | | Grain yield (kg ha ⁻¹) | | |
|-----------|---------|----------------------------|--------|----------|------------------------------------|---------|--|
| Genotypes | | | | | | | |
| | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | Mean | |
| 09-51 C | 36.4 | 54.2 | 45.5 a | 1823 g-1 | 2760 cd | 2290 b | |
| 09-24 C | 23.4 | 31.2 | 29.6 b | 2078 f-h | 3303 ab | 2690 a | |
| 09-17 C | 22.1 | 37.1 | 29.6 b | 2039 f-h | 2548 de | 2294 b | |
| 09-29 C | 22.1 | 32.5 | 27.3 b | 1741 hı | 3364 a | 2552 ab | |
| 06-118 C | 33.8 | 57.3 | 45.5 a | 1577 1 | 2324 ef | 1951 c | |
| 06-111 C | 27.2 | 32.6 | 29.9 b | 1824 g-1 | 3060 a-c | 2444 ab | |
| 05-88 C | 19.9 | 37.6 | 28.7 b | 1984 f-1 | 32.8 ab | 2617 a | |
| Seçkin | 20.1 | 39.3 | 29.7 b | 2018 e-h | 3134 а-с | 2657 a | |
| Hasanbey | 28.6 | 40.0 | 34.3 b | 2196 e-g | 2874 bd | 2530 ab | |
| Average | 26.0 b | 40.2 a | 33.1 | 1939 b | 2957 a | 2448 | |
| CV(%) | | | 25.9 | | | 11.2 | |

| Table 5. Mean values for seed w | veight per | plant and seed | yield of chick | pea genotypes. |
|---------------------------------|------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
|---------------------------------|------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|

*Means within a column and line for each trait followed by the some letters are not significantly different for Duncan's multiple range test (p < 0.05)

Simple correlations coefficients between yield and yield components in chickpea were presented in Table 6.

| Yield | components | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 |
|-------|------------|---------|-------------|---------|-------------|-------------|----------|--------------|
| 1. | PH | 0.531** | 0.299^{*} | 0.334** | 0.244^{*} | 0.254^{*} | 0.065 | 0.577^{**} |
| 2. | FPH | - | 0.099 | -0.268* | 0.293^{*} | -0.324** | -0.106 | 0.123 |
| 3. | BPP | - | - | -0.169 | -0.174 | -0.184 | 0.359** | 0.613** |
| 4. | PPP | - | - | - | 0.921** | 0.933** | 0.004 | 0.328^{**} |
| 5. | GPP | - | - | - | - | 0.936** | -0.320** | 0.209 |
| 6. | GWP | - | - | - | - | - | 0.154 | 0.304** |
| 7. | 100-GW | - | - | - | - | - | - | 0.362^{**} |
| 8. | GY | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |

*, **, ns, significant at 5% and non significant level respectively .

1.PH: plant height(cm), 2.FPH: First pod height(cm), 3.BPP: Grains per plant , 4. PPP: Pods per plant, 5.GPP: Grains per plant $^{-1}$ 6. GWP: Grain weight per plant 7.100- GW: 100- grain weight(g), 8.GY: Grain yield(kg ha⁻¹)

As seen in Table 6, positive and significant correlations were observed between grain yield with plant height (0.577^{**}), pods per plant (0.328^{**}), grain weight per plant (0.304^{**}), 100-grain weight (0.362^{**}) and branches per plant (0.613^{**}) . These results were also similar to the results of Ton and Anlarsal, 2016, Kobraee et al., 2010, Biabani et al., 2011. The association of grain yield with first podding height had not significant. Grain weight per plant showed significant and positive correlation with plant height, pods per plant, grains per plant. Similar results were reported by Ali et al., 2009; Ali and Hassan, 2011; Samad et al., 2014, Hegde and Kumar, 2015, Samyuktha et al., 2017. However, in contrast to our findings, (Sing et al. 2017) recorded that seed yield per plant showed non-significant correlations with these characters except pods per plant. This present revealed that there was negative significant correlation between grain weight per plant and first podding height. The relationship between grain weight per plant and branches per plant was non significant. Similar findings were reported by Jha et al. Singh et al. 100-grain weight exhibed negative and significant correlations with grains per plant. Similar result was reported by Samyukta et al., 2017. On the other hand there were not significant correlations between 100-grain weight and plant height, first podding height, pods per plant, grain weight per plant. However, the correlation between 100-grain weight and branches number was positive and significant. Positive and significant relationships were found between plant height and first podding height, pods per plant, grains per plant, grain weight per plant.

CONCLUSIONS

The results of this research showed that the 09-24 C, 05-88C, 09-29 C, 06-111 C genotypes had high grain yield and their yields were similar to those of check cultivars (Seçkin and Hasanbey). They also showed tolerance to Ascochyta blight. On the other hand 100 grain weight of 09-51 C, 09-17 C, 06-111 C, 09-24 C was greater than those of check cultivar Seçkin. The mentioned promising genotypes should be tested in diverse environment of Mediterranean region in Turkey. The present study revealed that plant height, pods per plant, grain weight per plant and 100-grain weight and branches per plant may be considered for improving grain yield in chickpea.

REFERENCES

- Ali, Q. and Ahsan, M. (2011). Estimation of variability and correlation analysis for quantative traits in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). Int. J. Agrovet. Med. Sci., 5(2): 194-200.
- Ali, M. A., Nawab, N.N., Abbas, A., Zulkiffal, M. Sajjad, M. (2009). Evaluation of selection criteria in *Cicer arietinum* L. using correlation coefficients and path analysis. Aust. J. Crop Sci., 3(2): 65-70.
- Anlarsal, A.E., Yücel, C. and Özveren, D. (1999). Çukurova koşullarında bazı nohut (*Cicer Arıetinum* L.) hatlarının verim ve verimle ilgili özelliklerinin saptanması üzerine bir araştırma. Turkiye 3. Tarla Bitkileri Kongresi, Kasım15-20,342-347, Adana.

Anonymous (2016). www. tuik. gov. tr

- Bakry, B. A., Elewa, T.A., El-Karamany, M.F., Zeidan, M.S. and Tawfik, M.M. (2011). Effect of Row Spacing on Yield and Its Components of Some Faba Bean Varieties under Newly Reclaimed Sand Soil Condition. World J. Agric. Sci., 7 (1): 68-72.
- Biabani, A., Katozi, M., Mollashahi, M., Bahlake, A.G. and Khani, A.H.G. (2011). Correlation and relationships between seed yield and other characteristics in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars under deterioration. Afr. J. Agric. Res. 6(6): 1359-1362.
- Gul, R., Khan, H., Bibi, M., Ain, Q. A., Imran, B. (2013). Genetic analysis and interrelationship of yield attributing traits in chickpea (*Cicer arientinum* L.). J. Anim. Plant Sci. 23(2): 521-526.

- Hegde, V.S. and Kumar, J. (2015). Identification of agronomic traits to enhance biomass and grain yield of chickpea under rainfed short-duration environment. Legume Res., 38(5): 621-625.
- Jha U.C., Singh, D.P. and Lavanya G.R. (2012). Assessment of genetic variability and correlation of important yield related tarits in chickpea (*Cicer arientinum* L.). Legume Res., 35(4): 341-344.
- Kanchan, J. and Virender, S.B. (2014). Impact of elevated temperatures on growth and yield of chickpea (*Cicer arientinum* L). Field Crop. Res., 164: 90-97.
- Khanna-Chopra, R. and Sinha, S.K. (1987). Chickpea: Physiological aspects of growth and yield. In:The Chickpea (Eds:MC Saxena and K.B.Singh).Wallingford. pp.163-189.
- Kobraee, S., Shamsi, K., Rasheki, B. and Kobraee, S. (2010). Investigation of correlation analysis and relationships between grain yield and other quantitative traits in chickpea (*Cicer arientinum* L). Afr. J. Biotechnol., 9(6): 2342-2348.
- Lake, L., Chenu, K. and Sadras, V.O. (2016). Patterns of water stress and temperature for Australian chickpea production. Crop Past. Sci., 67(2): 204-2015.
- Mart, D., Anlarsal, A.E. (2001). Çukurova koşullarında nohutta (*Cicer arientinum* L.) bazı özellikler yönünden hat çevre interaksiyonları ve uyum yeteneklerinin saptanması üzerine bir araştırma. Türkiye IV. Tarla Bitkileri Kongresi, 17-21 Eylül, Tekirdağ. pp. 321-323.
- Mart, D., Karaköy, T. and Türkeri, M. (2011). Çukurova bölgesinde tescile aday nohut (*Cicer arinetum L.*) çeşit ve hatlarının verim ve kalite kriterleri açısından değerlendirilmesi. Türkiye IX. Tarla Bitkileri Kongresi, 12-15 Eylül, Bursa. pp. 595-600.
- Meena, H.P. and Kumar, J. (2015). Estimation of mean performance and genetic association of yield components and drought related traits in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). Legume Res., 1(38): 85-90.
- Pandey, A., Gupta, S., Kumar, A., Thongbam, P.D. and Pattanayak, A. (2013). Genetic divergence, path coefficient and cluster analysis of chickpea (*Cicer arientinum* L.) cultivars, in the mid-altitudes of Meghalaya. Indian J. Agric. Sci., 83(12): 1300-1304.
- Samad, M. A., Sarker, N., Deb, A.C. (2014). Study on Relationship and selection index in chickpea. Trop. Plant Res., 1(3): 27-35.
- Samyutka, S.M., Geetjanjali, S. Kannan Bapu, J.R. (2017). Genetic diversity and correlation studies in Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) based on morphological tarits, 8(3): 874-884.
- Singh, V., Vimal, S.C., Shrivastav, S.P., Maurya, V., Singh, N. (2017). Character association and path analysis of yield contributing traits and quality parameter in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) J. Pharm. Phytochem., 6(5): 1488-1492.
- Toker, C., Cagirgan, M.I. (2004). The use of phenotypic correlations and factor analysis in determining characters for grain yield selection in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). Hereditas, 140: 226–228.
- Ton, A. and Anlarsal A.E. (2016). Determining correlation analysis and agro-morphological traits of some chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) genotypes in Mediterranean climate conditions. J. Agric. Fac. Uludag University, 30, Special Issue: 383-391.
- Yücel, D., Anlarsal, A.E., Yücel, C. (2006). Genetic variability, correlation and path analysis of yield and yield components in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). Turk. J. Agric. Forest., 30: 183-188.
- Yücel, D., Ton, A. Anlarsal, A.E. (2012). Determining the yield and yield components in some winter chicpea genotypes in Mediterrenean Climate Conditions. International Symposium for Agriculture and Food, Skopje, Makedonya,12-14 Aralık.pp.138-143.

DETERMINATION OF PHYTOTOXIC RESPONSES IN TOBACCO (NICOTIANA TABACUM L.) EXPOSED TO HERBICIDE AND INSECTICIDE STRESSES

Armağan KAYA*

Basic Concepts of Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, 07425 Alanya, Antalya/Turkey

* armagan-kaya@hotmail.com

Abstract

Plants are exposed to various stress factors in their natural environment that causes physiological and biochemical damage on the product quality. Pesticide stress is one of the most experienced abiotic stress factors. In this study the effect of herbicide and insecticide stress were tested simultaneously and in a separate manner on the tobacco plant. With this aim different doses of herbicide and insecticide were applied on the tobacco plants and collected leaves were tested for their total chlorophyll, carotenoid and malondialdehyde content as well as antioxidant enzyme activity. According to the findings stress applied groups has shown that chlorophyll content has decreased, malondialdehyde content has increased where antioxidant enzyme activity changes. These changes were more remarkable for the herbicide and herbicide and herbicide group.

Keywords: Herbicide, Insecticide, Nicotiana tabacum, Antioxidant

INTRODUCTION

Plants are exposed to several stress factors in their natural environment. The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) increases in plants under stress. Increased ROS causes lipid, protein and chlorophyll damage in cells, leading to DNA and RNA damage which results in cell death, thereby causing harm for the plant. Enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants in plants helps the plant to overcome stress conditions by regulating ROS levels (Mittler 2002; Qulha and Qakırlar 2011; Büyük et al. 2012).

Pesticides are one of the common stress factors that plants are often exposed to. Combination of pesticide can be used in various agricultural applications. These active substances are specifically designed to combat diseases and unwanted organisms (Yıldız et al). Plant pests may include insects, rodents, weeds or other undesirable hosting organisms (Ecobichon, 1998). Therefore, pesticides occupies an important space among other chemicals. An ideal pesticide should be be highly specific for the undesired target organism. However, most pesticides are toxic to several non-target organisms, including human beings (Klaassen, 2011).

Pendimethalin (N- (1-ethylpropyl) -3,4-dimethyl-2,6-dinitrobenzenamine) is a herbicide that is used for controlling the narrow- and broad-leaved weeds in areas where cotton, tobacco, sunflower and vegetables are grown (Appleby and Valverde, 1989; Sondhia 2012). This agent inhibits the steps involved in cell-wall formation and cell division, thereby leading to damage.

Methomyl (*S*-methyl *N*-(methylcarbamoyloxy) thioacetamidate) is a broad-spectrum insecticide on vegetables, tobacco, cotton, alfalfa, soy beans and corn. It is effective as both contact and systemic effects (Farre et al. 2002).

In the present study, a comparative evaluation has been performed to assess certain changes in tobacco resulting from separate and simultaneously application of two pesticides that are commonly utilized in tobacco-growing areas. For this purpose, total chlorophyll, carotenoid, malondialdehyde (MDA) and glutathione (GSH) contents and glutathione reductase (GR) and glutathione S-transferase (GST) activities have been investigated.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant growth and treatments

The plant materials for the study were "Oriental cv." tobacco seedlings supplied from farmers who grow tobacco in Adıyaman/Çelikhan. The seedlings (of approximately 40 days old) were planted in turf: perlite mix (3:1) pots and placed in a climate chamber at 30°C with 65% humidity. Seedlings were divided into four different groups 10 days after the planted. The first group was the control group and treated with pure water only. The second group was treated with 3 different doses (7.5, 15 and 30 mM) of pendimethalin (Pend), the third group was treated with 3 different doses (4, 8, 16 mM) of methomyl (Met) and the fourth group was treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met. Leaf samples were collected for analysis 10 days after these treatments.

Physiological and biochemical analyses

Determination of the total chlorophyll and carotenoid contens were made according to De Kok and Graham (1980) and Lichtenthaler and Wellburn (1983). The GST activity was determined according to Habig et al. (1974). The GR activity was made according to Carlberg and Mannervik (1985). The MDA content was analysed according to Heath and Packer (1968). The GSH content was determined according to Akerboom and Sies (1981).

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS 17.0 software. The differences between the averages at different stress groups were determined using Duncan's (1955) method.

RESULTS

Total chlorophyll and carotenoids content of leaves in tobacco plant exposed to pesticide stress

Total chlorophyll content has decreased compared to control group at all stress groups. Although the highest total chlorophyll content was found as 7.28 μ g⁻¹ g at control group, the lowest total chlorophyll content was found as 5.33 μ g⁻¹ g at groups of treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met (*p*<0.05) (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Changes in total chlorophyll content in tobacco leaves exposed to Pend and Met stresses. The different lower-case letters are significantly different from each other (p < 0.05) among different concentration of Pend and Met according to Duncan's test.

Carotenoid content has decreased comparing to the control group at all stress groups. The highest carotenoid content was found as $3.21 \ \mu g^{-1}$ g at control group, the lowest total chlorophyll content was found as $1.98 \ \mu g^{-1}$ g at groups of treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Changes in carotenoid content in tobacco leaves exposed to Pend and Met stresses. The different lower-case letters are significantly different from each other (p < 0.05) among different concentration of Pend and Met according to Duncan's test.

MDA content of leaves in tobacco plant exposed to pesticide stress

MDA content of plants exposed to pesticide simultaneously was found to be higher compared to those exposed separately. The highest MDA content was found as 7.31 µmol MDA g^{-1} FW at groups of treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met (p < 0.05) (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Changes in MDA content in tobacco leaves exposed to Pend and Met stresses. The different lower-case letters are significantly different from each other (p < 0.05) among different concentration of Pend and Met according to Duncan's test.

GSH content of leaves in tobacco plant exposed to pesticide stress

GSH content increased compared to control at all stress groups. The highest GSH content was found to be 0.83 μ mol min⁻¹mg⁻¹protein at groups of treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met (p < 0.05) (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Changes in total GSH content in tobacco leaves exposed to Pend and Met stresses. The different lower-case letters are significantly different from each other (p < 0.05) among different concentration of Pend and Met according to Duncan's test.

GR and GST activities of leaves in tobacco plant exposed to pesticide stress

GR and GST activities of plants exposed to the pesticide simultaneously was found to be higher compared to those exposed separately. The highest GR activity was found to be 0.51 μ mol min⁻¹mg⁻¹protein at groups of treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met (p < 0.05). The highest GST activity was found to be 0.72 μ mol min⁻¹mg⁻¹protein at groups of treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met (p < 0.05) (Fig. 5, 6).



Figure 5. Changes GR activity in tobacco leaves exposed to Pend and Met stresses. The different lower-case letters are significantly different from each other (p<0.05) among different concentration of Pend and Met according to Duncan's test.



Figure 6. Changes GST activity in tobacco leaves exposed to Pend and Met stresses. The different lower-case letters are significantly different from each other (p < 0.05) among different concentration of Pend and Met according to Duncan's test.

DISCUSSION

Environmental stresses might cause negative effects on plants. Pesticide stress is one of the most experienced abiotic stress factors. In this study the effect of herbicide and insecticide stress were tested simultaneously and in a separate manner on the tobacco plant. Chlorophyll content is accepted as one of the indicators of resistance of plant against environmental stresses. The results illustrated that total chlorophyll and carotenoid contents have decreased compared to control at all stress groups. This decrease in the pigment content can reflect pesticide-induced stress.

MDA is a final product of lipid peroxidation and an indicator of cellular damage in plants exposed to stress. There are studies in the literature reporting that MDA content increases under different stress conditions (Garkova et al.,2011; Qiu et al.,2014; Qing et al.,2015). The findings showed that MDA content increases compared to control group at all stress groups.

Antioxidant compounds play an important role on protection of cell against ROS and help plants to survive under stress (Mandal et al., 2009; Gill et al., 2013). This study shows that GST and GR activities and GSH content increases comparing to the control group at groups exposed to pesticides. Those changes were more remarkable for the groups that were treated with 15 mM Pend+8 mM Met.

CONCLUSIONS

As a conclusion, according to the results has showed that it is essential to raise awareness on pesticide use among farmers for the two stress factors that plants are exposed, either separately or often simultaneously during their growth which causes oxidative damage in the plant, and especially considering the unfavorable effects of pesticides on non-target organisms.

REFERENCES

Akerboom, T. P. M., Sies, H. (1981) Assay of glutathione, glutathione disulfide and glutathione mixed disulfide in biological samples, In: Jakoby, W. B. (ed.), Methods in Enzymology 77, Academic Press, New York, pp. 373–382.

- Appleby, A., Valverde, B. (1989) Behavior of dinitroaniline herbicides in plants. Weed Technol., 3:198–206.
- Büyük, I., Soydam-Aydın, S., Aras, S. (2012). Bitkilerin stres koşullarına verdiği moleküler cevaplar. Türk Hij. Den. Biyol. Derg., 69(2): 97 110.
- Carlberg, I., Mannervik, B. (1985). Glutathione reductase. Method. Enzymol., 113: 484–490.
- Çulha, Ş., Çakırlar, H. (2011). Tuzluluğun bitkiler üzerine etkileri ve tuz tolerans mekanizmaları, AKU Fen Bilimleri Dergisi, 11: 11-34.
- De-Kok, L., Graham, M. (1980). Levels of pigments, soluble proteins, amino acids and sulfhydryl compounds in foliar tissue of *Arabidopsis thaliana* during dark induced and natural senescence. Plant Physiol. Biochem., 27: 133–142.
- Duncan, D. B. (1955). Multiple range and multiple F tests biometrics. IBS 11, 1–42.
- Ecobichon, D. J. (1998). Occupational Hazards of pesticide exposure, sampling, monitoring, measuring, Taylor&Francis, Philadelphia.
- Farré, M., Fernandez, J., Paez, M., Granada, L., Barba, L., Gutierrez, H. M., Pulgarin, C., Barceló, D. (2002). Analysis and toxicity of methomyl and ametryn after biodegradation, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 373: 704–709
- Garkova, A.N., Rusyaeva, M.M., Nushtaeva, O.V., Aroslankina, Y.N., Lukatkin, A.S. (2011). Treatment with the herbicide granstar induces oxidative stress in cereal leaves. Russ. J. Plant Physiol., 58(6): 1074–1081.
- Gill, S. S., Anjum, N. A., Hasanuzzaman, M., Gill, R., Trivedi, D.K., Ahmad, I., Pereira, E., Tuteja, N., 2013. Glutathione and glutathione reductase: A boon in disguise for plant abiotic stress defense operations. Plant Physiol. Biochem., 70: 204-212.
- Habig, W. H., Pabst, M. J., Jakoby, W. B., (1974). The first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation Glutathion S-Transferases. J. Biol. Chem., 249: 7130–7139.
- Heath, R. L., Packer, L., (1968). Photoperoxidation in isolated chloroplast, I. Kinetics stoichiometry of fatty acid peroxidation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 125: 180–198.
- Klaassen C. D. (2001). Casarett & Doull's Toxicology The Basic Science of Poisons, Medical Publition Division, 6 th Edition, 760-800.
- Lichtenthaler, K., Welburn, A. R. (1983). Determination of total carotenoids and chlorophylls a and b of leaf extracts in different solvents. Biochemical Society Transactions, 603rd Meeting, Liverpool, pp. 591–592.
- M. Yıldız, O. Gürkan, C. Turgut, Ü. Kaya. Tarımsal savaşımda kullanılan pestisitlerin yol açtığı çevre sorunları, <u>http://www.zmo.org.tr</u>.
- Mandal, S., Yadav, S., Yadav, S., Nema, R.K. (2009). Antioxidants: A Review. J. Chem. Pharm. Res., 1(1): 102-104.
- Mittler, R. (2002). Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends in Plant Sci., 7, 405-410.
- Qing, X., Zhao, X., Hu, C., Wang, P., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X., Wang, P., Shi, H., Shi, H., Jia, F., Qu, C. (2015). Selenium alleviates chromium toxicity by preventing oxidative stress in cabbage (Brassica campestris L. ssp. Pekinensis) leaves. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf., 114: 179–189.
- Qiu, Z., Guo, J., Zhu, A., Zhang, L., Zhang, M. (2014). Exogenous jasmonic acid can enhance tolerance of wheat seedlings to salt stress. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf., 104: 202–208.
- Sondhia, S. (2012) Dissipation of pendimethalin in soil and its residues in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* 1.) under field conditions. B. Environ. Contam. Tox., 89: 1032–1036.

COMPARATIVE ASSESSMENT OF LAJTHIZA AND BOVELLA'S WATER AT THE SOURCE, UP TO PRODUCTION-READY DURING 2017-2018

Majlinda SANA^{1*}, *Emina DACI*²

¹Aleksander Moisiu University, Durres ² University of Prishtina

* lidabrahaj@hotmail.com

Abstract

With population increasing and knowledge development, the requirements for drinking water quality and safety have been increased. Nowadays, the request for high quality and safety drinking water has been increased, parallel to industrial, agricultural, energy and aquaculture usage. Water is one of the main ingredients for consumption and for use in the food industry, it has a high strength solvent to salts therefore, depending on the chemical composition of the layers from which water passes, enriched with various substances and thus has a content of different chemical. Water used for consumption and industry should be drinking. The drinking water is characterized by parameters such as organoleptic, chemical and bacteriological. Water than from all other juices falling shrink to a certain temperature $(+4 \degree C)$ and then immediately abruptly begins to swell. When it freezes, it expands even more. For this reason the solid water is easier than its liquid state. So, instead of ice water swim by the laws of physics should sink to the bottom of it. Water should be easier and less mineralized. The amount of minerals dissolved in water is a basic indicator for the natural mineral water, the label in the form of parameter "dry residue at 180 °C in mg/l". The lower this value is, the better is the water. This study takes into account the scientific evidence of the above, where the resources at any time of the year there are no variable composition and chemico-physical and to maintain equal treatment of the quality regulated by the technological process from storage, filtering varied and up on the packaging. Albania is considered a country with many natural water resources where there are many opportunities for the development of the water industry for human consumption

Keywords: Water, Water features, Resources, Water quality

INTRODUCTION

With the development and the population increasement, the demand for a better quality water is increased. Besides industrial usage, agricultural, energetic and thermo-energetic, fish industry and aquaculture, today also the demand for a drinkable and qualitative water is increased, especially in terms of personal hygena and in tourism. Water, not only is the main component of the human body, but he is also one of the three elements (earth, water, air) of life on our planet. The lack of drinking water to informal settlements and the more the risk of pollution from land existing as well as from the air, always adds more "drink water". Today more and more insurance to the consumer water is made in the form of packaged to ensure its quality. The variety of pollutants in the environment often causes the change of the physical, chemical and microbiological natural source. Increasing Food Standard of living increases the demand for bottled drinking water. The world market for bottled water has a consumption exceeding 89 billion liters per year. Western Europeans are the biggest consumers in the world of bottled water (85 liters/person/year). Classification of drinking water by the International

Organization for Water (IOW) is as follows: natural mineral water, spring water and purified water (surface water or groundwater). Also, IOW for bottled water bottle takes into account four categories as artesian water, drinking water (tap) water, gas and water wells. Water characteristics significantly affect the development of the various stages of the process of technological processes and the quality of nutrition, so it is necessary to use an adequate water. If you can not possess a suitable water for consumption, we should perform appropriate treatments to modify the characteristics or special operations, in order to avoid negative effects.

| The contentof dissolved salts in water (mg/ l) | < 50 | < 500 | 500 ÷ 1500 | > 1500 |
|--|-------------|----------|---------------|-----------|
| Natural mineral water containing: | very low | low | medium | high |

Among the key indicators necessary and drinking mineral water are:

Mineral salts in water in the form of cations and anions. Usually cations and anions in the most important are: Ca^{+2} , Mg^{+2} , Na^+ , Fe^{+2} , $HC0_3^-$, $S0_4^{-2}$, Cl^- , F^- . Their content is necessary in certain limits, while the surplus is harmful to human health. In general, their content must be according to the following indicators, in mg/l: canions: $Ca^{+2} > 150$, $Mg^{+2} > 50$, $Na^+ > 200$, $Fe^{+2} > 1$ and anions: $HC0_3^- > 600$, $S0_4^{-2} > 200$, $Cl^- > 200$, $F^- > 1$, content of free $C0_2$ according standardev should be > 250 mg/l.

In this article we are performed analysis and assessment Lajthiza and Bovilla water during 2017, some of these characteristics may come as a result of pollution of natural resources, the packaging that they are traded or technology of drinking water treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

There are determined the physical-chemical parameters like pH, temperature, turbulence, conductivity and free clor.

Two are the methods used for the determination of physical-chemical parameters, the spekto-fotometrical method, UV-VIS and the volumetrical method (APHA1998). Also the microbiological lab determines total coliforms, fechal coliforms, fechal streptococci and general mycroflora in 22 degrees Celsius, 36 degrees Celsius and Clostridium. For microbiological analysis is used the technique of membrane filtering, where 100 ml of water is filtered with the help of a filtering device in vacuum, using membranic filters with 47-50 mm of diameter and pore size 0.45µm. The filters with the content of filtering water are put in a "petri dish" plates with willing dehydrated surfaces and according to case are put in thermostat or mari bath. We highlight that the methods used are in accordance with European standard 80/778 albanian standard STASH 3904:1997 (VKM 145,1998) for the water quality consumped by humans.

The sampling method

Samples for analysis were taken in accordance with the rules of sampling for analysis. They represent samples: water that is packaged in place, water packaged overseas (imports), as well as from the origin where packaged waters produced in place. Equipment used for the analysis of all physical-chemical indicators and bacteriological are:

Through these devices are defined as:

- 1. By conductometer determined electrolytic conductivity of water.
- 2. By pH-meter determined value of alkalinity.
- 3. By turbo-meter determined turbidity of the water.
- 4. By ammonium-meter determined NH⁴⁺ quantify.

5. By spectrophotometer determined the light absorption measures.

By analogy should make sure that the concentration of organic substances extracted by chloroform (ECC), as he polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, should not exceed 0.2 mg / 1 and not have the presence of pesticides (Schedule 1). Water to be evaluated as drinking must have a constant temperature, ranging from 6 to $12 \degree \text{C}$, there should be no abnormal taste or odor even at 60 °C. Also there should be no color and should be fine. The clarity of the water is an indication of lack of insoluble substances, however this feature is very relative because they are very few waters that have not suspended substances (Schedule 1). Evaluation of suspended substances can be performed with a measurement of turbidity by turbidimetrit Jackson. The analysis results are expressed in units Jackson (rotected) which can be converted into other units through equivalency factors. According to the norms of the World Health Organization maximum turbidity should be in the 5 rotected.

Chemical analysis should enable the removal of fecal contamination originated, those organic and inorganic type; such information is obtained by performing analysis for the determination of organic substances, ammonium chloride (organic pollution in action), nitrites and nitrates (organic pollution distinct) and inorganic elements that may be present due to infiltration of emissions coming from the surrounding industrial areas. It is important, both from the standpoint of the consumer, as well as suitability of use in any industry, defined as insoluble salts and their composition. For this purpose we need to know the power of a water classify in total, temporary and permanent.

The total power is determined by the concentration of calcium and magnesium salts. Temporary power is determined by the concentration of calcium and magnesium salts that are as bicarbonate, whereas the difference between these two types of power sets and found a permanent power of the calcium and magnesium salts that remain undigested in the water after it has been boiled.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In this comparative study were obtained two types of groundwater in the country, Lajthiza and Bovilla water. Samples taken are taken from the source, the beginning of the technological process in the middle of the process and its conclusion. Chemical analysis carried enable the identification of fecal contamination originated, those organic and inorganic type; Such information is obtained by performing analysis for the determination of organic substances, ammonium chloride (organic pollution in action), nitrites and nitrates and inorganic elements that may be present due to infiltration of emissions coming from the surrounding industrial areas.

The quality of drinking water originating from Bovilla reservoir regularly followed by two laboratories, chemical and microbiological, set up near the treatment plant. These two labs perform regularly once or twice a day for about 19 tests physico-chemical parameters and six microbiological parameters (Schedule 1). In each laboratory carries untreated water and treated water; also measured several times a day some of the main parameters of water in the main stages of water treatment performance, the introduction, partitor, filters and exit the facility. At the same time, the electronic monitoring devices for untreated water and treated, automatic measured parameters, such as pH, temperature, turbulent, conductivity, chlorine free; data reflected in the central server, which supervises the entire process automatic water purification technology. We note that the methods used by us are in accordance with European standard 80/778 and STASH Albanian Standard 3904: 1997 (Decision 145, 1998) (Schedule 1, 2 and 3), the quality of water consumed by man.

Specific Bacteria

| E.coli | 250 ml | negative |
|--|--------|----------|
| Coliform bacteria | 250 ml | negative |
| Fecal streptococci | 250 ml | negative |
| Pseudomonas aeruginosa | 250 ml | negative |
| Sulfite reducing sporeforming anaerobes | 50 ml | negative |

| Parameters | Measurement Unit | Normal | Untreated water of Bovilla | Treated water of Bovilla |
|--------------------------------------|------------------------------------|------------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Water temperature | ⁰ C | 8-15 | 11.7 | 10.93 |
| Smell / taste | Normal | Acceptable | Normal | Normal |
| Concentration of H ⁺ ions | pH unit | 6.5-8.5 | 8.15 | 7.89 |
| Turbidity | FTU (NTU) | < 1.0 | 4.31 | 0.18 |
| Electrical conductivity | µs/cm 20 °C | 2500 | 280 | 340 |
| The total alkalinity | mg/l CaCO ₃ | | 144.5 | 144.5 |
| Total hardness | ⁰ German | 10-20 | 7.92 | 7.92 |
| Free residual chlorine | mg/l Cl ₂ | 0.5 | - | 0.76 |
| Dissolved oxygen | mg/l O ₂ | ≥ 8 | 8.70 | 10.50 |
| Organic substances KMNO ₄ | mg/l O ₂ | 5 | 1.07 | 0.55 |
| Calcium | mg/l Ca | 200 | 38.20 | 38.16 |
| Chlorides | mg/l Cl- | 250 | 6.02 | 12.76 |
| Sulphates | mg/l SO ₄ ²⁻ | 250 | 24.90 | 25.10 |
| Ammonia | mg/l NH ₄ + | 0.1 | 0.03 | 0.00 |
| Nitrites | mg/l NO2 ⁻ | 0.5 | 0.01 | 0.00 |
| Nitrates | mg/l NO3 ⁻ | 50 | 0.94 | 0.96 |
| Phosphates | $\mu g/l P_2O_5$ | - | 48.96 | 20.60 |
| Sulfides | $\mu g/l H_2S$ | - | 8.54 | 0.00 |
| Aluminium | mg/l Al ³⁺ | 0.2 | 0.015 | 0.010 |
| Iron | μg/l Fe | 200 | 47.7 | 0.00 |

Schedule 1 – Physico-chemical evaluation of Bovilla water

Drinking water plant Bovilla - Tirana, chemical water analysis (CMD .Nr 379

Data from monthly averages in Schedule 1 note that untreated water of Bovilla stands for the highest content of nitrite; all seasons, at 7-14 °C temperature ranges, features which is very acceptable especially in the hot summer season. The data of Schedule 2 and 3 shows that Lajthiza water has contents higher carbonates, of ammonium and organic matter during the hottest months, which when crossing the technological process of infiltration, all these indicators move on rates allowed standard.

Details of the above statements (Schedule 1, 2 and 3) indicate that:

T - The water temperature in the two measurements performed on two sources: Bovilla-Lajthiza ranging in T = 7.73 - 16.5 0 C, this indicator is within the norm (norm 8-15 to 20 0C). pH of groundwater monitoring sources ranging: Lajthiza water from 7.1-7.4 to 7.89 - 8.15 of Bovilla water. The rate allowed for drinking water this indicator is within the norm: (pH = 6.5-8.5). Changes in two sources varies: 0.03 to 0.07. Normal pH has Lajthiza water based on the final results.

Fp - Total Hardness Fp in water Lajthiza ranging 3.36 - 6.27 ° German, while Bovilla water ranging in 7.92-8 ° German. The water is within drinking water standard (optimal rate is 10-20 ° Germany, where the maximum allowed content is 25 ° German).

Ca - The content of calcium in Lajthiza water ranging 17.04 - 34.13 mg/l, while in Bovilla water content of Ca ranging in 38.16 - 38.20 mg/l. Boville water remains after processing of higher amounts of Ca, compared with Lajthiza water.

| Parameters | Measuremen t Unit | Norma | DEPOT | Filter 1 mm | Filter 0.2mm | Final product |
|--------------------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|
| Water temperature | °C | 8-15 | 14.6 | 13.5 | 13.5 | 13.5 |
| Smell / taste | Normal | Acceptabl e | Normal | Normal | Normal | Normal |
| Concentration of H ⁺ ions | pH Unit | 6.5-8.5 | 7.3 | 7.2 | 7.2 | 7.4 |
| ΤΔS | - | - | 60 | 70 | 60 | 60 |
| Total Hardness | 0 German | 10-20 | 5.36 ⁰ Water | 4.42 ⁰ Water | 4.39 ⁰ Water | 6.27 ⁰ Water |
| Calcium | mg/l Ca | 200 | 42.1 | 38.2 | 29.7 | 16.7 |
| Chlorides | mg/l Cl ⁻ | 250 | 14.07 | 13.6 | 12.9 | 1.1 |
| Sulphates | mg/l SO ₄ ²⁻ | 250 | 12.6 | 11.38 | 9.5 | 9.5 |
| Ammonia | mg/l NH ₄ + | 0.1 | 0.0089 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| Nitrite | mg/l NO2 ⁻ | 0.5 | 0.0016 | 0.001 | 0.00 | 0.000 |
| Nitrate | mg/l NO3 ⁻ | 50 | 0.98 | 0.86 | 0.67 | 0.60 |
| Magnesium | mg/l mg | 125 | 2.43 | 2.43 | 2.43 | 2.9 |
| Hydrogen carbonate | mg/l HCO3 ⁻ | | | | | 57 |
| carbonate | mg/l CO ₃ ²⁻ | - | 85.4 | 73.2 | 71.3 | 3 |
| Iron | μg/l Fe | 200 | 38,5 | 23.6 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| Organic substances | KMnO ₄ | 5 | 066 | 036 | 0.12 | 0.01 |
| Phosphates | μg/l P ₂ O ₅ | - | 48.97 | 13.60 | 0.045 | 0.04 |
| Sulfides | μg/l H ₂ S | - | 8.54 | 0.006 | 0.0055 | 0.005 |
| Aluminum | mg/l Al ³⁺ | 0.2 | 0.016 | 0.040 | 0.0055 | 0.005 |

Schedule 2 – Lajthiza water in May, June and July

Fe - The content of iron in two sources is: $38.5 - 0.00 \ \mu g/l$ Fe in Lajthiza water, and $47.7-0 \ \mu g/l$ Fe in Bovilla water. The final content is slightly above the recommended rate in the second stage of monitoring.

 NH_4 - In the first stage of obtaining water from the water source of Lajthiza the ammonia content is 0.01 mg/l; content is below the max allowed: 0.05 mg / l. In the second post-processing phase the content of NH_4 is 0.00 mg / l. In the first phase the content of ammonia NH_4 in Bovilla water is 0.015 mg/l, while the ammonia content after production is 0.011 mg/l, above the recommended content.

| Parameters | Measurem | Norma | | Filter | Filter 0.2 | Final product |
|--------------------------------------|------------------------------------|------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|---------------|
| | ent Unit | | DEPOT | 1 mm | mm | 1 |
| Water temperature | ⁰ C | 8-15 | 5-12 | 12.5 | 12.8 | 13.6 |
| Smell / taste | Normal | Acceptable | Normal | Normal | Normal | Normal |
| Concentration of H ⁺ ions | pH Unit | 6.5-9.5 | 7.1 | 7.06 | 7.09 | 7.1 |
| ΤΔS | - | - | 60 | 70 | 60 | 60 |
| Total Hardness | 0 German | 10-20 | 3.36 ⁰ | 3.36 ⁰ | 3.36 ⁰ | 5.32 ° Water |
| | | | Water | Water | Water | |
| Calcium | mg/l Ca | 200 | 36.2 | 33,04 | 29.1 | 16.8 |
| Chloride | mg/l Cl- | 250 | 12.05 | 12.05 | 12.05 | 1.0 |
| Sulphate | mg/l SO ₄ ²⁻ | 250 | 11.62 | 10.37 | 0.00 | 7.9 |
| Ammonia | mg/l NH ₄ + | 0.1 | 0.0074 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.0 |
| Nitrite | mg/l NO ₂ - | 0.5 | 0.0015 | 0.001 | 0.00 | 0.0 |
| Nitrates | mg/l NO ₃ - | 50 | 0.98 | 0.86 | 0.67 | 2.7 |
| Magnesium | μg/l H ₂ S | 125 | 2.83 | 2.76 | 2.43 | 3.0 |
| Bicarbonate | mg/l Al ³⁺ | - | 75.4 | 68.2 | 88.3 | 3 |
| Hydrogen carbonate | | | | | | 59 |
| Iron | μg/l Fe | 200 | 37,5 | 21.7 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| Organic substances | KMnO ₄ | 5 | 066 | 036 | 0.12 | 0.12 |
| Phosphates | $\mu g/l P_2O_5$ | - | 48.97 | 13.60 | 0.05 | 0.04 |
| Sulfides | μg/l H ₂ S | - | 8.54 | 0.006 | 0.006 | 0.005 |
| Aluminum | mg/l Al ³⁺ | 0.2 | 0.016 | 0.040 | 0.016 | 0.005 |

| Schedule 3 - | Lajthiza | water in | December, | January | and February |
|--------------|----------|----------|-----------|---------|--------------|
| | | | | | |

Cl - The content of chlorine in Lajthiza water is 0.00 mg/l. In Bovilla water the content of Cl⁻ ranging from 6.02 - 12.76 mg/l. Cl⁻ content is much higher than in Lajthiza water.

 SO_4 - The content of sulfates in Lajthiza water after processing reaches in 9.5 mg/l. In Bovilla water the content of sulphate is 24.9 mg/l. Sulphate content is within the recommended standard.

 NO_3 - Nitrate content in Lajthiza water is small and varies between 0.98-2.7 mg/l. In Boville water the nitrates content varies between 0.94-0.96 mg/l. NO_3 content is within the recommended standard.

Analysis for microelements: Ni, Mn, Zn, Pb, Cu, Co, Cr.Cd. In this analysis has microelements content in two stages of monitoring: Ni = 0.005 - 0.002 mg/l, Mn = 0 - 0.001mg/l, Zn = 0.002 - 0.007 mg/l, Pb = 0 - 0.03 mg/l, Cu = 0.005 - 0.001 mg/l, Co = 0.007 - 0.04 mg/l, Cr = 0.045 - 0.000 mg/l, Cd = 0 - 0.001 mg/l.

CONCLUSIONS

Based on physical-chemical indicators in general result that those waters are suitable to be used for consumption. On the basis of studies conducted (Schedule_1, 2 and 3), referring to

the physical and chemical indicators, it turns out that the source country waters Lajthiza are suitable to be used for children.

During the study two sources of origin of the natural mineral waters of the country, Bovilla and Lajthiza, was met comparative evaluation between indicators of Marketing (TSM), bottled water (UAA) and the origin (UBA). Referring indicators environment (pH) of Lajthiza water, we can say that they have a pH value within EU norms which are 6.5 - 8.5, while refer to the content of salts, residue that dry, they have a content ranging from 120-220 mg/l (standard referred to 0-1500 mg/l). The exception is Bovilla water here,, where the salt content reaches up to 960 mg / l.

Another indicator of good quality of water Lajthiza is the indicator of strength. In general, natural mineral waters of our country have a low hardness, ranging from 6-11 German hardness grade, where the standard rate is 8-15 German hardness degrees. As such, they can be considered as water with low hardness. As such, they can be considered as water with low hardness. In the geological context, our waters are generally natural mineral water in the limestone cliffs descent, as it is the source of Lajthiza. So, in waters originating from limestone rocks and limestone-dolomite are rich in ion Ca^{+2} , $S04^{2-}$ while those with volcanic origins are rich in ion Mg^{+2} and $HC03^{-2}$.

The study conducted shows that in general there is an alignment between marketing indicators (label) and the packaged and fountain. Physico-chemical characteristics, microbiological and generally they are within standards.

REFERENCES

A.Çullaj "Sigurimi i cilesise dhe kontrolli i cilesise ne analizat kimike"2005.

- A.Çullaj "Kimia e mjedisit"2005.
- Allan, J.A. (1998). Virtual water: a strategic resource. Global solutions to regional deficits. Groundwater, 36(4): 545-546.
- Associated Press."Tap water testing"2009.
- Barthélemy, F., Renault D. and Wallender W. (1993). Water for a Sustainable Human nutrition: inputs and resources analysis for Arid areas. UC Davis Internal report 70 pages.
- Colin, L. (2002). Method to estimate virtual water trade around the world and analysis of first results. Report of Internship, WWC-INAPG, 63pp.
- Cosgrove, W.J. and Rijsberman, F. (2000). World Water Vision, Making water everybody's business. World Water Council, Earthscan, 108 pp.
- Hoekstra, A.Y. and Hung, P.Q. (2002). Virtual water trade: a quantification of virtual water flows between nations in relation to international crop trade. Value of Water Research Report Series No.11, IHE, the Netherlands.
- Official Journal of the European Communities Council on the quality of water intended for human consumption THE COUNCIL OF THE EUROPIAN UNION, Directive 98/83/EC of 3 November, 1998.
- Official Journal of the European Communities.EU Directive 2008/105/EC of the European parliament and of the cvouncil on environmental quality standards in the fields of water policy, amending and subsequently repealing Council Directives 82/176/EEC, 83/513/EEC, 84/156/EEC, 84/491/EEC, 86/280/EEC and amending Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, 16 December 2008.
- Oki, T., Sato, M., Kawamura, A., Miyake, M., Kanae, S. and Musiake, K. (2002). Virtual water trade to Japan and in the World. Proceedings Expert meeting on Virtual Water, Delft, December 2002 (this issue).

- Renault D. and Wallender, W.W. (2000). Nutritional Water Productivity and Diets : From « Crop per drop » towards « Nutrition per drop » . Agric. Water Manag., 45:275-296.
- Renault, D. (2003). Value of Virtual Water for Food: Principles and features. Proceedings Expert meeting on Virtual Water, Delft, December 2002 (this issue).
- Rosegrant, M. and Ringler, C. (1999). Impact on food security and rural development of reallocating water from agriculture. IFPRI. Washington DC.
- Turton, A.R. (2000). Precipitation, people, pipelines and power: towards a "virtual water" based political ecology discourse. MEWREW Occasional paper, Water issues Study group, School of Oriental and African Studies (SOAS) University of London.
- Wichelns, D. (2001). The role of "virtual water" in efforts to achieve food security and other national goals, with an example from Egypt. Agric. Water Manag., 49:131-151.

COLISTIN RESISTANT ESCHERICHIA COLI AND MCR GENE BY PLASMID-MEDIATED RESISTANCE

Mehmet Cemal ADIGÜZEL¹, Alper BARAN², Tamer TURGUT³, Ahmet ERDOĞAN^{*4}

¹ Atatürk University, Faculty of Veterinary, Department of Microbiology, Erzurum, Turkey

² Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Department of Food Quality Control and Analysis, Erzurum, Turkey

³ Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Department of Food Technology, Erzurum, Turkey ⁴ Atatürk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Food Engineering, Erzurum, Turkey

* a.erdogan@atauni.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

The problem of antimicrobial resistance, which maintains its importance throughout the world, has once again attracted attention with its resistance to Escherichia coli isolates isolated from humans and animals. Colistin is the most effective antibiotic against carbapenem resistant Gram-negative bacteria. While the use of colistin was limited for veterinary treatment, colistin resistant Gram-negative bacteria were found at high rates in animal isolates. In humans, the use of colistin has been limited due to the impairment of renal function, which is now frequently used in the treatment of infections caused by multiple antibiotic resistant Gram-negative bacteria. The development of plasmid-mediated resistance provided by the mobilized colistin resistance (mcr-1) gene has further increased the importance of colistin, while the resistance of the colistin is thought to cause only long-term chromosomal mutations. Since the introduction of the mcr-1 gene in China in 2015, this gene has been identified in a variety of bacterial strains isolated from animals, animal food products, humans, and environmental samples. In this review, up-to-date information on the resistance of the colistin will be given.

Keywords: E. coli, mcr, Colistin, Antimicrobial resistance

INTRODUCTION

Recent years of metagenomic and genomic studies have revealed that antibiotic resistance genes are common. New and highly different genetic resistance genes can be identified in human, animal, agricultural land (animal faeces, soil, water and waste water systems etc.). The antibiotic resistance genes obtained from metagenomic libraries of human, chicken, pig, gull and cattle stool specimens were different from those described previously. The transferable colistin resistance gene is also defined in this way. The emergence of this resistance gene may be an important risk factor for the use of colistin in animals for treatment or prophylaxis. For this reason, there is a significant tendency to limit the use of colistin in animal production worldwide (Sun et al., 2017).

Colistin, also known as Polymyxin E, is an antibiotic of the polymyxin group produced by the *Paenibacillus polymyxa* bacterium. Polymyxin E is a polycationic peptide having both hydrophilic and lipophilic sites. The cationic regions interact with the bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) layer in the outer cell membrane, which changes magnesium and calcium ions. Colistin is used topically in human medicine. However, it has been widely used in clinical medicine in previous years. Since

colistin causes significant nephrotoxicity, its use is limited (Caniaux et al., 2017). In recent years, it has been used as the last choice in the treatment of Gram-negative bacteria such as *Acinetobacter* baumannii, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* with multiple antibiotic resistance (Sun et al., 2017).

Colistin has been used as a feed additive in the Asian and European countries, as well as for treatment and prophylactic purposes. Although approved by the FDA in the United States, it is not used in farm animals. It has been used as animal feed additive for body weight gain in livestock in Asian countries such as China, India, Japan and Vietnam (Kempf et al., 2016). It is frequently used in the treatment of infections in pigs and especially cattle in veterinary medicine. In Europe, it has been used to treat infections, which is caused by Enterobacteriaceae, of pigs, chickens, cattle, sheep and goats (Catry et al., 2015).

In recent years, the use of colistin is limited because of causing kidney toxicity in humans. It has begun to be resumed as a last opportunity in the treatment of carbapenem resistant bacteria recently. It is used effectively in the treatment of infections caused by bacteria such as *P. aeruginosa*, *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella* spp. It is also preferred in the prophylactic treatment of patients with respiratory tract infections and intensive care units (Caniaux et al., 2017).

Colistin resistance and recent emergence of mcr genes

Common use of colistin in food animals has been recognized as an important risk factor for the emergence and transmission of the plasmid-mediated colistin resistant gene *mcr-1*. Particularly in China, the use of colistin intensively in animal production may have brought to fruition of this resistance. Therefore, it has been proposed to reconsider and regulate the use of colistin in animal production (Rhouma et al., 2016). Brazil and China have forbidden the use of colistin as a feed additive seven months after the discovery of the *mcr-1* gene (Walsh and Wu, 2016, Sun et al., 2017).

Although classical resistance to colistin is rare, the SENTRY antimicrobial surveillance program identified the presence of a plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism involving the *mcr-1* gene *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* between 2014 and 2015. *mcr-1* gene has been isolated from animal, human, and environmental samples (Liu et al., 2016), subsequently, its genetic variants (*mcr-2, mcr-3, mcr-4* and *mcr-5*) were identified. This plasmid-mediated gene has caused horizontal migration of the colistin resistance. The increase and spread of this resistance among bacteria in the Enterobacteriaceae family has reinforced worries (Xavier et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017; Yin et al., 2017, Bardet et al., 2017).

Recent epidemiological studies of resistance to colistin have shown that mcr-1 positive Enterobacteriaceae isolates are quite common worldwide in various animal hosts. Liu et al. (2016), first reported 21% and 15% mcr-1 isolation in *E. coli* from pigs and raw meat in China. Also, the 1611 *E. coli* strains isolated from chickens between 1970 and 2014 were detected as only three mcr-1 positive isolates (Shen et al., 2016)., 4438 *E. coli* isolates, which was isolated animal origin foods were investigated for colistin resistance gene mcr-1 in another study conducted in China. Colistin resistance was detected in 16.8% of the *E. coli* isolates obtained from pigs and chickens in the years 2013-2014. It was found to be higher than those isolated in years 2007-2008 (5.5%) and 2010-2011 (12.4%) (Huang et al., 2017). In other studies, conducted in China, mcr-1 positivity was found that 10.8% (10/93) of *E. coli* isolates producing Shiga toxin (Bai et al., 2016), 23.0% of carbapenem resistant *E. coli* isolates isolated from poultry (Wang et al., 2017), 5.11% of *E. coli* strains isolated from poultry.

High *mcr-1* positive *E. coli* was found in animal and food origin isolates, especially in turkeys (10.7%) and chickens (5.6%) in Germany (Irrgang et al., 2016). High colistin-resistance (45%) and *mcr-1* positive (13%) *E. coli* were reported in pig isolates in Japan (Kusumoto et al., 2016). In another study conducted in Japan, however, the ratio of colistin-resistant (1%) and *mcr-1* positive (0.02%) *E. coli* strains isolated from healthy animals was found to be low (Suzuki et al., 2016). In Vietnam, high *mcr-1* ratio (59.4%) was detected in stool specimens taken from chickens. This suggests that colistin is associated with the emergence and spread of *mcr-1* bearing bacteria because

of widespread use in poultry production (Trung et al., 2017). Although the *mcr-1* positivity in *E*. *coli* in Korea is low (0.1%), it has been determined that the prevalence of *mcr-1* has increased since 2013 (Lim et al., 2016).

mcr-1 positivity was reported in pigs and animal origin foods in the USA by 0.35% and 0.1%, respectively. The most interesting finding in this study is the detection of two mcr-1 positive *E. coli* isolates from pigs. Because, colistin was not used as a treatment or feed additive in animals in the USA (Meinersmann et al., 2017). mcr-1 positive *E. coli* isolates have been identified in South America since 2012. In Brazil, isolates of chickens (5%) and pigs (1.8%) were reported to carry the mcr-1 gene, although some of them are colistin-sensitive (Fernandes et al., 2016). In Venezuela, two *E. coli* isolates isolated from pigs were found to be mcr-1 positive (Delgado-Blas et al., 2016).

In South Africa, colistin resistant avian-pathogenic *E. coli* isolates increased from 4.5% in 2008-2014 to 13.6% in 2015 (Perreten et al., 2016). Only one *E. coli* isolate isolated from cattle in Egypt was found to be *mcr-1* positive (Khalifa et al., 2016).

It has been reported that *mcr-1* carrying *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* which is isolated from blood, urine samples of patients, and that all strains are expanded spectrum β -lactamase producing bacteria (Liu et al., 2016; Du et al., 2016). Colistin resistance, which can be transferred in NDM-1 producing carbapenem resistant Enterobacteriaceae strains, was found to be 10% in the United Kingdom. In Italy, the *K. pneumoniae* isolates had a colistin resistance of 57%, and the majority of these *mcr-1* strains had a low minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) value (4 µg / mL) (Caniaux et al., 2017). Among the enterobacterial isolates isolated from urinary tract infections in Switzerland, the *mcr-1* gene was found to be low (Liassine et al., 2016), also Enterobacteriae which is isolated bacteraemia of the *mcr-1* gene was not detected (Nordmann et al., 2016a).

329 Enterobacteriaceae isolates for mcr-1 and mcr-2 genes has investigated by Sarı et al., (2017) in Turkey, and found that the isolates did not carry these gene regions. Similarly, Guducuoglu et al. (2018) investigated mcr-1, mcr-2, and mcr-3 genes in carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria, indicating that isolates do not carry these gene regions.

In addition to the *mcr-1* gene, plasmid-mediated colistin resistance *mcr-2*, which is 76.7% similar to this gene, was detected in *E. coli* isolates from bovine and porcine origin in Belgium (Xavier et al., 2016). Its prevalence was found to be higher (20%) than the isolates carrying the *mcr-1* gene (13%). This gene was not detected in other studies of Germany and Switzerland where it was investigated (Roschanski et al., 2017; Buess et al., 2017). *mcr-3*, which is a 45% nucleotide analogue to the *mcr-1* gene and 47% nucleotide analogue to the *mcr-2* gene, is another colistin resistant gene was identified in porcine *E. coli* isolates in China (Yin et al., 2017). Fukuda et al. (2018) reported that *mcr-3* positivity of 8.3% in isolates of 120 isolates from pigs. One of the carbapenem-resistant *E. coli*, which is isolated from cattle, in Spain was found to carry both *mcr-1* and *mcr-3* genes (Hernández et al., 2017; Kluytmans, 2017). *mcr-4* gene, which is initially detected in *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* strain of a pig in Italy, and later also followed in three *E. coli* isolates is described by Carattoli et al. (2017) and Teo et al. (2018). Borowiak et al. (2017) identified *mcr-5* gene as a novel phosphoethanolamine transferase gene in *Salmonella Paratyphi* B dTa+ isolate 13-SA01718 with whole genome sequencing. This gene region was also identified in *E. coli* isolates from pigs in subsequent studies (Fukuda et al., 2018; Hammerl et al., 2018).

Epidemiological studies on the emergence of mcr-1 mediated colistin and mcr-like genes in animals show that it is a selective agent of the use of colistin in food animals and contributes to the emergence and transmission of mcr-1. Colistin is not absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract of animals (Rhouma et al., 2016). Therefore, the accumulation of colistin or its metabolites in faeces may significantly increase the colistin-resistant, mcr carrying bacteria in agricultural ecosystems. Some studies also have shown that international trade in animal commerce or exotic animals, such as reptiles, is a significant influence on the spread of mcr-1 mediated colistin resistance (Grami et al., 2016; Unger et al., 2017).

Detection Methods in Clinical Laboratory of mcr Resistance E. coli

Tests used to determine colistin resistance can be grouped as phenotypic and genotypic. Phenotypic tests reveal the presence of colistin resistance in Enterobacteriaceae and nonfermentative Gram-negative bacteria. All molecular tests have been designed to identify the *mcr-1* gene and other variants, regardless of phenotypic colistin resistance especially in the Enterobacteriaceae, (Caniaux et al., 2017, Osei Sekyere, 2018).

Chromogenic media (CHROMagar COL-APSE, SuperPolymyxin[™] and LBJMR etc.) have been developed to identify polymyxin-resistant Enterobacteriaceae or Gram negative nonfermentative bacteria from environmental factors as well as clinical samples such as stools and blood. SuperPolymyxin[™] has been shown to have 100% sensitivity and specificity. In particular, it can detect polymyxin resistance both direct isolates and clinical specimens such as feces or rectal swabs. Such mediums allow rapid and easy identification of the colistin resistance bacteriae. It has an important place in prevalence studies both human and veterinary medicine (Caniaux et al., 2017; Osei Sekyere, 2018).

Disk diffusion test and E-test are inadequate to detect colistin resistance after evaluation by European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST). Currently, only a broth microdilution method (BMD) is recommended as a reliable test for to detection of colistin resistance, although it is laborious and time-consuming (Caniaux et al., 2017, Osei Sekyere, 2018). EUCAST has determined the clinical cut-off limits of the colistin for Enterobacteriaceae, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter* spp. as sensitive $\leq 2mg/l$, resistant $\geq 2mg/l$ (EUCAST, 2018). Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) has determined the clinical cut-off limits for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Acinetobacter* spp. (susceptible $\leq 2mg/l$, intermediate = 4mg/l, and resistant $\geq 8mg/l$) (CLSI, 2017). In addition, CLSI has determined 2 mg/L epidemiological cut-off values for *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Raoultella ornithinolytica*, *Enterobacter aerogenes* and *Enterobacter cloacae* from the wild-type and other isolates (Chew et al., 2017; Vasoo, 2017).

Rapid diagnostic kits and automation systems have been developed by different companies to identify the colistin resistance. The sensitivity and specificity of these tests and automation systems are shown in Table 1 (Caniaux et al., 2017; Osei Sekyere, 2018).

Real-time PCR, multiplex PCR (mPCR), CT103XL microarray and loop-mediated amplification (LAMP) assays have been used to identify *mcr* genes in culture, clinical and stool samples (Caniaux et al., 2017; Osei Sekyere, 2018)

| | Table 1. resis of identify mer genes and constin-resistant Gran-negative bacteria | | | | | |
|--|---|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|--|--|
| Diagnostics | Species | Sensitivity (%) | Specificity (%) | References | | |
| Screening and culture | -based methods | | | | | |
| Broth microdilution (BMD) | Enterobacteriaceae | 71.4 - 81.0 | NS | Chew et al., 2017 | | |
| CHROMagar COL- APSE | Enterobacteriaceae, Gram- negative non-fermenters | 100 | 100 | Abdul Momin et al., 2017 | | |
| LBJMR media | Enterobacteriaceae, Gram- negative non-fermenters | 100 | 100 | Bardet et al., 2017 | | |
| MIC Test strip® (MTS) (Liofilchem, Italy) | Enterobacteriaceae, <i>P. aeuginosa</i> , Acinetobacter spp. | NS | NS | Matuschek et al., 2018 | | |
| MICRONAUT MIC- Strip® (MERLIN Diagnostika Gmbh, Germany) | Enterobacteriaceae, P. aeuginosa, Acinetobacter spp. | NS | NS | Matuschek et al., 2018 | | |

Table 1. Tests of identify mcr genes and colistin-resistant Gram-negative bacteria*

| SensiTest [™] Colistin (Liofilchem, Italy) | Enterobacteriaceae; Gram- negative non-fermenters | NS | NS | Esposito et al., 2017 |
|---|--|--------------|-------|---|
| SuperPolymyxin™ | Enterobacteriaceae, Gram- negative non-fermenters | 86.0 - 100.0 | 100.0 | Carretto et al., 2018; Matuschek et al., 2018 |
| UMIC (Biocentric, France) | Enterobacteriaceae, <i>P. aeuginosa, Acinetobacter</i> spp., Gram-negative bacilli | NS | NS | Abdul Momin et al., 2017; Bardet et al., 2017; Nordmann et al., (2016a,b) |
| Automated commercia | al MIC testing platforms | | | |
| MICRONAUT-S (MERLIN Diagnostika Gmbh, Germany) | Enterobacteriaceae, <i>P. aeuginosa</i> , Acinetobacter spp. | NS | NS | Matuschek et al., 2018 |
| MicroScan | Enterobacteriaceae, Gram-negative bacilli | 100 | NS | Chew et al., 2017; Jayol et al. 2018 |
| BD Phoenix/ Phoenix 100™ (Becton Dickinson Diagnostics, USA) | Enterobacteriaceae; Gram- negative non-fermenters | 91.87k | NS | Jayol et al., 2017a; Jayol et al., 2017b; Carretto et al., 2018 |
| Sensititre [™] (ThermoFisher Diagnostics) | Enterobacteriaceae, <i>P. aeuginosa, Acinetobacter spp.</i> , Gram-negative bacilli | 95.2 - 100 | NS | Chew et al., 2017; Jayol et al., 2018; Matuschek et al., 2018 |
| Vitek 2 (BioMerieux) | Enterobacteriaceae | 95.2 | NS | Chew et al., 2017 |
| Molecular methods | | | | |
| Conventional PCR | Enterobacteriaceae | 100.0 | 100.0 | Imirzalioglu et al., 2017; Jayol et al., 2017a; Jayol et al., 2017b; Bernasconi et al., 2017; Esposito et al., 2017; Abdul Momin et al., 2017 |
| Multiplex PCR | Enterobacteriaceae | 100.0 | 100.0 | Osei Sekyere, 2018; Rebelo et al., 2018 |
| Real-time PCR | Enterobacteriaceae and non-fermenters | 100.0 | 100.0 | Nijhuis et al., 2016 |
| Whole-genome sequencing | Enterobacteriaceae | 100.0 | 100.0 | Bernasconi et al., 2017; Imirzalioglu et al., 2017; Rebelo et al., 2018 |

* This table has summarized from the studying of Osei Sekyere, (2018); NS: Not specified.

CONCLUSIONS

The identification of colistin-resistant genes is important to understand the development and molecular basis of the colistin resistance and to contend with this resistance. The discovery of new resistance genes by effective molecular assays will provide us with more accurate and precise information as it will improve the described mechanisms.

Nowadays, there is a worldwide trend to limit or even ban the use of colistin in animal production. Clearly, limiting the use of colistin is expected to greatly reduce selective pressures and thus control the plasmid-mediated colistin resistance. However, limiting or prohibiting colistin in animal production will not fully solve this important problem. Because the problem of antibiotic resistance is complex and can be affected by many different causes. Despite the fact that *mcr-1* positive *E. coli* isolates have been identified in the USA, it has been shown that colistin resistance may be affected by external factors. A comprehensive examination of these non-colistin factors will provide effective strategies and preventive measures to reduce the colistin resistance in the animal production system worldwide. Due to the diversity and complexity of the mechanisms associated

with polymyxin resistance, it is highly difficult to develop innovative, accurate and rapid tests that are clinically important. Simultaneous detection of carbapenem resistance should be considered to make the researches on colistin resistance clinically more useful.

REFERENCES

- Abdul Momin, M. H. F., Bean, D. C., Hendriksen, R. S., Haenni, M., Phee, L. M. and Wareham, D. W. (2017). CHROMagar COL-APSE: A selective bacterial culture medium for the isolation and differentiation of colistin-resistant Gram-negative pathogens. J. Med. Microbiol., 66: 1554–1561.
- Bai, L., Hurley, D., Li, J., Meng, Q., Wang, J., Fanning, S. and Xiong, Y. (2016). Characterisation of multidrug-resistant Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* cultured from pigs in China: co-occurrence of extended-spectrum β-lactamase-and *mcr-1*-encoding genes on plasmids. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents, 48(4): 445-448.
- Bardet, L., Baron, S., Leangapichart, T., Okdah, L., Diene, S. M. and Rolain, J. M. (2017). Deciphering Heteroresistance to colistin in a *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolate from Marseille, France. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 61(6): e00356-17.
- Bernasconi, O. J., Principe, L., Tinguely, R., Karczmarek, A., Perreten, V., Luzzaro, F. And Endimiani, A. (2017). Evaluation of a new commercial microarray platform for the simultaneous detection of beta-lactamase and *mcr-1* and *mcr-2* genes in Enterobacteriaceae. J. Clin. Microbiol., 55: 3138–3141.
- Borowiak, M., Fischer, J., Hammerl, J. A., Hendriksen, R. S., Szabo, I. and Malorny, B. (2017). Identification of a novel transposon-associated phosphoethanolamine transferase gene, *mcr*-5, conferring colistin resistance in d-tartrate fermenting *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* serovar *Paratyphi B.* J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 72(12): 3317-3324.
- Buess, S., Nüesch-Inderbinen, M., Stephan, R. and Zurfluh, K. (2017). Assessment of animals as a reservoir for colistin resistance: no *mcr-1/mcr-2* producing Enterobacteriaceae detected in Swiss livestock. J. Glob. Antimicrob. Res., 8: 33-34.
- Caniaux, I., van Belkum, A., Zambardi, G., Poirel, L. and Gros M. F. (2017). MCR: modern colistin resistance. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis., 36: 415-420.
- Carattoli, A., Villa, L., Feudi, C., Curcio, L., Orsini, S., Luppi, A., Pezzotti, G. and Magistrali, C. F. (2017). Novel plasmid-mediated colistin resistance *mcr-4* gene in *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli*, Italy 2013, Spain and Belgium, 2015 to 2016. Euro Surveill., 22(31).
- Carretto, E., Brovarone, F., Russello, G., Nardini, P., El-Bouseary, M. M., Aboklaish, A. F., Walsh, T. R. and Tyrrell, J. M. (2018). Clinical validation of the SensiTestTM Colistin, a broth microdilution based method to evaluate colistin MICs. J. Clin. Microbiol., 56: e01523–17.
- Catry, B., Cavaleri, M., Baptiste, K., Grave, K., Grein, K., Holm, A., Jukes, H., Liebana, E., Navas, D. Mackay, A. L., Magiorakos, A. P., Romo, M. A., Moulin, G., Madero, C. M., Pomba, M. C., Powell, M., Pyorala, S., Rantala, M., Ruzauskas, M., Sanders, P., Teale, C., Threlfall, E. J., Torneke, K., van Duijkeren, E. and Edo, J. T. (2015). Use of colistincontaining products within the European Union and European Economic Area (EU/EEA): development of resistance in animals and possible impact on human and animal health. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents, 46: 297–306.
- Chew, K. L., La, M. V., Lin, R. T. P. and Teo, J. W. P. (2017). Colistin and polymyxin B susceptibility testing for carbapenem-resistant and *mcr*-positive enterobacteriaceae: Comparison of sensititre, microscan, vitek 2, and etest with broth microdilution. J. Clin. Microbiol., 55: 2609–2616.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). (2017). Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing; Twenty-Seventh Informational Supplement M100-S27. 36–64.

- Delgado-Blas, J. F., Ovejero, C. M., Abadia-Patiño, L. and Gonzalez-Zorn, B. (2016). Coexistence of *mcr-1* and blaNDM-1 in *Escherichia coli* from Venezuela. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 60(10): 6356-6358.
- Du, H., Chen, L., Tang, Y. W., and Kreiswirth, B. N. (2016). Emergence of the *mcr-1* colistin resistance gene in carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Lancet Infect. Dis., 16(3): 287-288.
- Esposito, F., Fernandes, M. R., Lopes, R., Muñoz, M., Sabino, C. P., Cunha, M. P., Silva, K. C., Cayô, R., Martins, W. M. B. S., Moreno, A. M., Knöbl, T., Gales, A. C. and Lincopan, N. (2017). Detection of colistin-resistant *mcr-1*- positive *Escherichia coli* using inhibition by EDTA and zeta potential assays. J. Clin. Microbiol., 55: 3454–3465.
- European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST), 2018. Breakpoint tables for interpretation of MICs and zone diameters. Version 8.0, 5-10.
- Fernandes, M. R., Moura, Q., Sartori, L., Silva, K. C., Cunha, M. P., Esposito, F., Lopes, R., Otutumi, L. K., Goncalves, D. D., Dropa, M., Matte, M. H., Monte, D. F., Landgraf, M., Francisco, G. R., Bueno, M. F., de Oliveira Garcia, D., Knobl, T., Moreno, A. M. and Lincopan, N. (2016). Silent dissemination of colistin-resistant *Escherichia coli* in South America could contribute to the global spread of the *mcr-1* gene. Euro Surveill., 21(17).
- Fukuda, A., Sato, T., Shinagawa, M., Takahashi, S., Asai, T., Yokota, S. I., Usui, M. and Tamura, Y. (2018). High prevalence of *mcr-1*, *mcr-3* and *mcr-5* in *Escherichia coli* derived from diseased pigs in Japan. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents, 51(1), 163-164.
- Grami, R., W. Mansour, W. Mehri, O. Bouallegue, N. Boujaafar, J. Madec, M. Haenni (2016). Impact of food animal trade on the spread of *mcr-1*-mediated colistin resistance, Tunisia, July 2015. Euro Surveill., 21, 6–10.
- Guducuoglu, H., N. C. Gursoy, Y. Yakupogullari, M. Parlak, G. Karasin, M. Sunnetcioglu, B. Otlu (2018). Hospital outbreak of a colistin-resistant, NDM-1-and OXA-48-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: high mortality from pandrug resistance. Microb Drug Resist. (doi: 10.1089/mdr.2017.0173, in press)
- Hammerl, J. A., M. Borowiak, S. Schmoger, D. Shamoun, M. Grobbel, B. Malorny, B. A. Tenhagen, A. Käsbohrer (2018). *mcr-5* and a novel *mcr-5.2* variant in *Escherichia coli* isolates from food and food-producing animals, Germany, 2010 to 2017. J Antimicrob Chemother., 73(5), 1433-1435.
- Hernández, M., M. R. Iglesias, D. Rodríguez-Lázaro, A. Gallardo, N. M. Quijada, P. Miguela-Villoldo, M. J. Campos, S. Píriz, G. López-Orozco, C. de Frutos, J. L. Sáez, M. Ugarte-Ruiz L. Domínguez, A. Quesada (2017). Co-occurrence of colistin-resistance genes *mcr-1* and *mcr-3* among multidrug-resistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from cattle, Spain, September 2015. Euro Surveill., 22(31).
- Huang, X., L. Yu, X. Chen, C. Zhi, X. Yao, Y. Liu, S. Wu, Z. Guo, L. Yi, Z. Zeng, J. H. Liu (2017). High prevalence of colistin resistance and *mcr-1* gene in *Escherichia coli* isolated from food animals in China. Front Microbiol., 8, 562.
- Imirzalioglu, C., L. Falgenhauer, J. Schmiedel, S. E. Waezsada, K. Gwozdzinski, N. Roschanski, U. Roesler, L. Kreienbrock, A. P. Schiffmann, A. Irrgang, A. Käsbohrer, R. Bauerfeind, E. Domann, T. Chakraborty (2017) Evaluation of a loop-mediated isothermal amplificationbased assay for the rapid detection of plasmid-encoded colistin resistance gene *mcr-1* in enterobacteriaceae isolates. Antimicrob Agents Chemother., 61, 02326–16.
- Irrgang, A., N. Roschanski, B. A. Tenhagen, M. Grobbel, T. Skladnikiewicz-Ziemer, K. Thomas, U. Roesler, A. Käsbohrer (2016). Prevalence of *mcr-1* in *E. coli* from livestock and food in Germany, 2010–2015. PLoS One, 11(7), e0159863.
- Jayol, A., P. Nordmann, C. André, L. Poirel, V. Dubois (2018). Evaluation of three broth microdilution systems to determine colistin susceptibility of Gram-negative bacilli. J Antimicrob Chemother., 73(5), 1272–1278.

- Jayol, A., P. Nordmann, A. Brink, M. V. Villegas, V. Dubois, L. Poirel (2017a). High-level resistance to colistin mediated by various mutations in the crrb gene among carbapenemaseproducing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother., 61, e01423–17.
- Jayol, A., Nordmann, P., Lehours, P., Poirel, L. and Dubois, V. (2017b). Comparison of methods for detection of plasmid-mediated and chromosomally encoded colistin resistance in Enterobacteriaceae. Clin. Microbiol. Infect., 24: 30291–30294.
- Kempf, I., Jouy, E. and Chauvin, C. (2016). Colistin use and colistin resistance in bacteria from animals. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents., 48: 598-606.
- Khalifa, H. O., Ahmed, A. M., Oreiby, A. F., Eid, A. M., Shimamoto, T. and Shimamoto, T. (2016). Characterisation of the plasmid-mediated colistin resistance gene *mcr-1* in *Escherichia coli* isolated from animals in Egypt. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents., 47(5): 413-414.
- Kluytmans, J. (2017). Plasmid-encoded colistin resistance: *mcr*-one, two, three and counting. Euro Surveill., 22(31).
- Kusumoto, M., Ogura, Y., Gotoh, Y., Iwata, T., Hayashi, T. and Akiba, M. (2016). Colistinresistant *mcr-1*-positive pathogenic *Escherichia coli* in swine, Japan, 2007–2014. Emerg. Infect. Dis., 22(7): 1315.
- Liassine, N., Assouvie, L., Descombes, M. C., Dénervaud Tendon, V., Kieffer, N., Poirel, L. and Nordmann, P. (2016). Very low prevalence of *mcr-1*/mcr-2 plasmid-mediated colistin resistance in urinary tract Enterobacteriaceae in Switzerland. Int. J. Infect. Dis., 51: 4-5.
- Lim, S. K., Kang, H. Y., Lee, K., Moon, D. C., Lee, H. S. and Jung S. C. (2016). First detection of the *mcr-1* gene in *Escherichia coli* isolated from livestock between 2013 and 2015 in South Korea. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 60(11): 6991-6993.
- Liu, Y. Y., Wang, Y., Walsh, T. R., Yi, L. X., Zhang, R., Spencer, J., Doi, Y., Tian, G., Dong, B., Huang, X., Yu, L. F., Gu, D., Ren, H., Chen, X., Lv, L., He, D., Zhou, H., Liang, Z., Liu, J. H. and Yu, L. F. (2016). Emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism *mcr-1* in animals and human beings in China: a microbiological and molecular biological study. Lancet Infect. Dis., 16(2): 161-168.
- Matuschek, E., Åhman, J., Webster, C. and Kahlmeter, G. (2018). Antimicrobial susceptibility testing of colistin -evaluation of seven commercial MIC products against standard broth microdilution for *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Acinetobacter* spp. Clin. Microbiol. Infect., S1198–74x
- Meinersmann, R. J., Ladely, S. R., Plumblee, J. R., Cook, K. L. and Thacker, E. (2017). Prevalence of *mcr-1* in the cecal contents of food animals in the United States. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 61(2): e02244-16.
- Nijhuis, R. H. T., Veldman, K. T., Schelfaut, J., Van Essen-Zandbergen, A., Wessels, E., Claas, E.
 C. J. and Gooskens, J. (2016). Detection of the plasmid-mediated colistin-resistance gene *mcr-1* in clinical isolates and stool specimens obtained from hospitalized patients using a newly developed real-time PCR assay. J. Antimicrob. Chemother., 71: 2344–2346.
- Nordmann, P., Assouvie, L., Prod'Hom, G., Poirel, L. and Greub, G. (2016a). Screening of plasmid-mediated *mcr-1* colistin-resistance from bacteremia. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis., 35(11): 1891-1892.
- Nordmann, P., Jayol, A. A. A. and Poirel, L. (2016b). Rapid detection of polymyxin resistance in enterobacteriaceae. Emerg. Infect. Dis., 22: 1038–1043.
- Osei Sekyere, J. (2018). Mcr colistin resistance gene: a systematic review of current diagnostics and detection methods. MicrobiologyOpen, e00682.
- Perreten, V., Strauss, C., Collaud, A. and Gerber D. (2016). Colistin resistance gene *mcr-1* in avianpathogenic *Escherichia coli* in South Africa. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 60(7): 4414-4415.
- Rebelo, A. R., Mordhorst, H., Cavaco, L., Bortolaia, V., Kjeldgaard, J. S. and Hendriksen, R. S. (2018). Multiplex PCR for detection of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance determinants, *mcr-1*, *mcr-2*, *mcr-3*, *mcr-4* and *mcr-5* for surveillance purposes. Euro Surveill., 23(6): 17-00672.

- Rhouma, M., Beaudry, F. and Letellier, A. (2016). Resistance to colistin: what is the fate for this antibiotic in pig production? Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents., 48: 119–126.
- Roschanski, N., Falgenhauer, L., Grobbel, M., Guenther, S., Kreienbrock, L., Imirzalioglu, C. and Roesler, U. (2017). Retrospective survey of *mcr-1* and *mcr-2* in German pig-fattening farms, 2011–2012. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents., 50(2): 266-271.
- Sarı, A. N., Suzuk, S., Karatuna, O., Ogunç, D., Karakoc, A. E., Cizmeci, Z., Alışkan, H. E., Cömert, F., Bakıcı, M. Z., Akpolat, N., Çilli, F. F., Zer, Y., Karataş, A., Akgün Karapınar, B., Bayramoğlu, G., Ozdamar, M., Kalem, F., Delialioğlu, N., Aktas, E., Yılmaz, N., Gürcan, Ş. and Çilli, F. F. (2017). Results of a multicenter study investigating plasmid mediated colistin resistance genes (*mcr-1* and *mcr-2*) in clinical Enterobacteriaceae isolates from Turkey. Mikrobiyol. Bul., 51(3): 299-303.
- Shen, Z., Wang, Y., Shen, Y., Shen, J., and Wu, C. (2016). Early emergence of *mcr-1* in *Escherichia coli* from food-producing animals. Lancet Infect. Dis., 16(3): 293.
- Sun, J., Zeng, X., Li, X. P., Liao, X. P., Liu, Y. H. and Lin, J. (2017). Plasmid-mediated colistin resistance in animals: current status and future directions. Anim. Health Res. Rev., 18: 136-152.
- Suzuki, S., Ohnishi, M., Kawanishi, M., Akiba, M. and Kuroda, M. (2016). Investigation of a plasmid genome database for colistin-resistance gene *mcr-1*. Lancet Infect. Dis., 16(3): 284-285.
- Teo, J. W., Kalisvar, M., Venkatachalam, I., Ng, O. T., Lin, R. T. and Octavia S. (2018). mcr-3 and mcr-4 variants in carbapenemase-producing clinical Enterobacteriaceae do not confer phenotypic polymyxin resistance. J. Clin. Microbiol., 56(3): e01562-17.
- Trung, N. V., Matamoros, S., Carrique-Mas, J. J., Nghia, N. H., Nhung, N. T., Chieu, T. T. B., Mai, H. H., van Rooijen, W., Campbell, J., Wagenaar, J. A., Hardon, A., Mai, N. T. N., Hieu, T. Q., Thwaites, G., de Jong, M. D., Schultsz, C. and Hoa, N. T. (2017). Zoonotic transmission of *mcr-1* colistin resistance gene from small-scale poultry farms, Vietnam. Emerg. Infect. Dis., 23(3): 529.
- Unger, F., Eisenberg, T., Prenger-Berninghoff, E., Leidner, U., Ludwig, M. L., Rothe, M., Semmler, T., and Ewers, C. (2017). Imported reptiles as a risk factor for the global distribution of *Escherichia coli* harbouring the colistin resistance gene *mcr-1*. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents., 49: 122–123.
- Vasoo, S. (2017). Susceptibility testing for the polymyxins: Two steps back, three steps forward? J. Clin. Microbiol., 55: 2573–2582.
- Walsh, T. R. and Wu, Y. (2016). China bans colistin as a feed additive for animals. Lancet Infect. Dis., 16: 1102–1103.
- Xavier, B. B., Lammens, C., Ruhal, R., Kumar-Singh, S., Butaye, P., Goossens, H. and Malhotra-Kumar, S. (2016). Identification of a novel plasmid-mediated colistin-resistance gene, *mcr*-2, in *Escherichia coli*, Belgium, June 2016. Euro Surveill., 21(27).
- Wang, Y., Zhang, R., Li, J., Wu, Z., Yin, W., Schwarz, S., Tyrrell, J. M., Zheng, Y., Wang, S., Shen, Z., Liu, Z., Liu, J., Lei, L., Li, M., Zhang, Q., Wu, C., Zhang, Q., Wu, Y., Walsh, T. R. and Liu, Z. (2017). Comprehensive resistome analysis reveals the prevalence of NDM and *mcr-1* in Chinese poultry production. Nat. Microbiol., 2(4): 16260.
- Yang, Y. Q., Li, Y. X., Song, T., Yang, Y. X., Jiang, W., Zhang, A. Y., Guo, X. Y., Liu, B. H., Wang, Y. X., Lei, C. W. and Xiang, R. (2017). Colistin resistance gene *mcr-1* and its variant in *Escherichia coli* isolates from chickens in China. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother., 61(5): e01204-16.
- Yin, W., Li, H., Shen, Y., Liu, Z., Wang, S., Shen, Z., Zhang, R., Walsh, T. R., Shen, J. and Wang, Y. (2017). Novel plasmid-mediated colistin resistance gene *mcr-3* in *Escherichia coli*. MBio, 8(3): e00543-17.

IMPACT OF VINIFICATION TECHNIQUES ON THE CONTENT OF POLYPHENOLIC COMPOUNDS OF WHITE WINE FROM CV. PULËZ DURING TWO DIFFERENT VINTAGES

Onejda KYÇYK¹*, Fatbardha LAMÇE*¹; Krenar GOZHDARI¹; Besim META¹; Marsel KECI¹, Edlira KUKALI²

¹Faculty of Biotechnology and Food, Food Research Center, Tirana, Albania, Agricultural University of Tirana

²Faculty of Agricultural & Environment, Department of Horticulture & Design Architecture Agricultural University of Tirana

*okycyk@ubt.edu.al

Abstract

Wine production techniques and agronomic practices influence the flavors and bouquet of white wines. Various studies have shown that these factors influence the content of phenolic compounds that are essentially responsible for the taste and aroma of wine. The purpose of this study is to investigate the influence of vinification tecniques in dynamic changes of phenolic compounds in white wines produced in two differente vintages. For this study, was taken a autochthonous white grape, Pulëz, cultivated in Berat area. For the production of wines were followed two different vinification schemes (fermentation with and without skins). Prior to fermentation, the must was macerated at 5°C for 24 hours. Saccharomyces bayanus BC commercial yeast was used for both fermentations. Every three days the phenolic compounds of wines were analyzed by spectrophotometric methods, such as the index of polyphenols, flavonoids and color parameters. The obtaned data were subject to ANOVA statistical analysis. The obtained results shows that vinification techniques gives a higher values in the index of polyphenols, flavonoids and color parameters with a significant difference with $P \le 0.05$ Test Tukey. While different vintages have not significant differences in polyphenolic components. Based on the results of this study, we conclude that the application of two vinification techniques influences the increase of these constituents especially when vinification is carried out in the presence of the skin.

Keywords: White wine, Fermentation, Polyphenols, Flavonoids.

INTRODUCTION

Phenolic compounds are important constituents of white wine that can affect its stability and color. Many phenolic compounds in white wine derive from grapes; and specific phenolic compounds are found in different concentrations in different grape tissues (pulp, membrane and seeds) (Nordestgaard, 2011; Silva et al., 2005; Ivanova et al., 2012). It is generally accepted that these compounds are of great importance for the varietal character of a wine (Ugliano et al., 2006, Zafrilla et al., 2003; Gil-Muñoz et al., 1999). For these reasons, the application of

various grape processing techniques, especially the method by which the juice extracted, may affect the phenolic profile of white wines.

The process of fermentation with skins for a variable time, with the purpose of extracting poliphenols, stimulates the increasing of their quantity that improves the body and the flavor of white wine (Olejar et al., 2015; Olejar et al., 2016; Ramos et al., 1999).

Nowadays, the interest in phenolic compounds has been increased mainly due to their different chemical structure and biological activity in the prevention of same chronic or severe diseases (Soto Hernandes et al., 2017; Mitić et al., 2010). Many studies have shown that phenolic compounds in wine may have the potential to naturally prevent same major diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson and Alzheimer's, this is also one of the reasons for applying new vinification techniques to in order to increase the quantity of these ingredients in white wine (Aguilera et al., 2016; Österbauer et al., 2005).

In recent years, different versions of fermentation with skins in white wine have been studied to obtain wines of interesting and distinct types (Olejar et al., 2016, Cadota et al., 2012). Such technologies have been proved successful in obtaining complex flavors and aromas, potential increased antioxidant phenolic activity, and improved maturation and stability (Aleixandre-Tudo et al., 2015; Lomolino et al., 2010).

The main purpose of this study is to evaluate the dynamics of changes at the content of polyphenols, flavonoids and colors during fermentation (with and without skins) of Pulëz variety (*Vitis vinifera* L.) in two different vintages. The presence of skins during fermentation will increase the extraction of polyphenols in white wine, so the study of these phenolic parameters is of great importance as it will contribute to the evaluation and application of new production techniques of white wine.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Vinification

A grape variety (Vitis vinifera L.) were obtained to carry out this study, Pulëz (from Berat area) in two different vintages 2015 and 2016, harvested at optimal ripeness and conditions within the quality parameters according to Table 1. These samples were transported to the Food Research Center of Biotechnology and Food Faculty.

The amount of grape taken in this study was 100 kg in each vintage, which was split into two 50 kg lots. The experiments carried out in this study were in two schemes of fermentations, with (Pulëz 2) and without (Pulëz 1) skins. The experimental tests were treated with a dose of 5g/hl SO₂ and placed in cold maceration for 24h at 5°C. After cold maceration, Pulëz 1 (fermentation without skins) of both vintage was pressed. The obtained juice was added 2 g/hl of pectolytic enzyme for better rendering and left for static decantation (48h at 5°C). Subsequent withdrawal of the juice from the lees and inoculation of 20 g/hl of S. bayanus BC yeast and fermented at controlled temperature of 14-18°C for 12 days.

The other experimental test of Pulëz 2 (fermentation with skins) of both vintages after the maceration was left at rest until it reached room temperature. The juice was inoculated with 20 g/hl dry yeast S. bayanus BC and fermentation was done with skins until its completion (12 days). Fermentation performance was checked every day (% of sugar and temperature) and every three days samples were taken for analysis of total polyphenols index, total flavonoids content and color intensity. Samples prior to analysis were centrifuged to remove solid suspensions.

Determination of total poliphenols index (TPI).

The total polyphenols index was determined by Cetó, it is a spectrophotometric method. Samples were diluted and the absorbance was measured at 280 nm, characteristic of benzoic acid present in all polyphenols (Cetó et al., 2012).

Determination of total flavonoid contents (TF).

The total flavonoid content was determined by spectrophotometric method (Zhishen et al., 1999). This method based on the formation of complex flavonoid-aluminum. At 510 nm was measured the absorbance. The concentration of the total flavonoid compounds in the wines was expressed as catechin equivalent (mg/L). The samples were analyzed in triplicate.

Determination of color intensity.

Chromatic characteristics of the wines were determined by spectrophotometric method. The color intensity was calculated as the absorbance measured at 420 nm. The color intensity assessment refers to the numerical value determination of the white wine chromatic characteristics (Beccheti, 1999).

Statistical analysis

Samples were analyzed in triplicate. The analysis of the ANOVA has been carried out to study the effect of each of the treatments on the content of the total polyphenol index, total flavonoids and color intensity of the white wine studied. To establish differences between means, the Tukey Test ($P \le 0.05$) was applied. The Statistix program, Version 9.0 (Analytical Software) has been used.

RESULTS

During this study, an autochthonous variety Pulëz (from the Berat area) was taken in consideration in two different vintages 2015 and 2016. We have work with two different fermentation schemes with and without skins, for the extraction of polyphenols in white wine. The quality parameters of the grape used (Pulëz variety) are shown in the following table:

Table 1. Quality parameters of grape var. Pulëz in two different vintages (2015-2016)

| Variety | Sugar °Brix | Total Acidity (g/L tartaric acid) | рН |
|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------|
| Pulëz (Berat 2015) | $22.09\pm0.01^{\rm a}$ | 3.62 ± 0.01 | 3.3 ± 0.02 |
| Pulëz (Berat 2016) | 21.19 ± 0.00 | 4.89 ± 0.03 | 3.46 ± 0.05 |
| a - Mean + SD | | | |

As can be seen, from the table 1, in vintage 2016, the maturity indicator is slightly lower than in vintage 2015, this is seen in the lowest sugar content and the highest content of total acidity and pH. This change is due to climatic conditions in the two years.

Total Polyphenols Index

Evolution of the total polyphenol index (TPI) values is shown in Table 2. As can be seen from the table the value of the TPI during both vintages is doubled in fermentation with skins.

| Variety | Vintage | Days of Fermentation | Total Polyphenol Index |
|----------|---------|----------------------|------------------------|
| Pulëz 1* | 2015 | 0 | $10.27\pm0.53^{\rm a}$ |
| | | 3 | 19.25 ± 0.67 |
| | | 6 | 13.37 ± 0.45 |
| | | 9 | 13.05 ± 0.78 |
| | | 12 | 14.45 ± 1.59 |
| Pulëz 2* | 2015 | 0 | 10.27 ± 0.53 |
| | | 3 | 14.65 ± 2.29 |
| | | 6 | 27.35 ± 0.5 |
| | | 9 | 32.63 ± 0.5 |
| | | 12 | 28.80 ± 0.5 |
| Pulëz 1 | 2016 | 0 | 4.95 ± 1.22 |
| | | 3 | 5.91 ± 0.11 |
| | | 6 | 6.95 ± 0.05 |
| | | 9 | 3.35 ± 0.13 |
| | | 12 | 4.81 ± 0.11 |
| Pulëz 2 | 2016 | 0 | 4.95 ± 1.22 |
| | | 3 | 8.15 ± 0.04 |
| | | 6 | 9.33 ± 0.05 |
| | | 9 | 9.93 ± 0.06 |
| | | 12 | 11.86 ± 0.02 |

Table 2. Extraction of polyphenols during the fermentation performance with and withoutskins, in two different vintages (2015-2016) for Pulëz grape variety.

1- without skins, 2 – with skins, a – Mean + SD

Thus, the maximum value of TPI during 2015 in fermentation without skins is 14.45 while in fermentation with skins this value increases to 28.8. During 2016 the maximum values of TPI in fermentation without skins is 4.81, whereas in fermentation with skins this value increases to 11.86.



Figure 1. Performance of the TPI of white wine from Pulëz grape variety in fermentation with and without skins during two different vintages 2015 - 2016 (Tukey Test, P ≤ 0.05).

From the statistical analysis Anova factor design was found that the fermentation scheme with skins generally represented a significant difference of P < 0.05 for both vintages. This difference for the total polyphenol index is shown in Figure 1.

Total Flavonoids

The table below shows the values of the total flavonoid (TF) content during the white wine fermentation process for two vintages. From the table it is noted that the flavonoids content is doubled in fermentations with skins, for both vintages.

| Table 3. Extraction of total flavonoids during fermentation performance with and with | iout |
|---|------|
| skins in two differences vintage (2015-2016) for Pulëz grape variety. | |

| Variety | Vintage | Days of Fermentation | Total Flavonoids |
|----------|---------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| | | | (mg/L) |
| Pulëz 1* | 2015 | 0 | 261.87 ± 2.52^{a} |
| | | 3 | 171.02 ± 0.55 |
| | | 6 | 179.68 ± 4.46 |
| | | 9 | 245.48 ± 2.76 |
| | | 12 | 243.17 ± 3.82 |
| Pulëz 2* | 2015 | 0 | 261.87 ± 2.25 |
| | | 3 | 229.56 ± 4.52 |
| | | 6 | 453.90 ± 8.18 |
| | | 9 | 602.83 ± 0.29 |
| | | 12 | 591.80 ± 9.12 |
| Pulëz 1 | 2016 | 0 | 32.83 ± 3.02 |
| | | 3 | 26.80 ± 1.06 |
| | | 6 | 18.06 ± 2.48 |
| | | 9 | 30.76 ± 0.82 |
| | | 12 | 38.21 ± 1.81 |
| Pulëz 2 | 2016 | 0 | 32.88 ± 3.02 |
| | | 3 | 65.09 ± 2.41 |
| | | 6 | 97.95 ± 1.04 |
| | | 9 | 89.76 ± 2.76 |
| | | 12 | 109.73 ± 2.35 |

1- without skins, 2 - with skins, a - Mean + SD

Thus, in vintage 2015 the value of TF in fermentation without skins is 243.17 and in fermentation with skins this value increases to 591.80. In vintage 2016 the value of TF in fermentation without skins is 38.21 and in fermentation with skins this value increases to 109.73.

Fermentation with the skins for both vintages showed that there was a higher significant impact with a $P \le 0.05$ as also shown in Figure 2.

Meanwhile, during fermentation with and without skin, the intensity of the color does not differ much from one another, which means that fermentation in the presence of the skins does not stimulate the oxidation of wine.



Figure 2. Performance of the TF of white wine from Pulëz grape variety in fermentation with and without skins during two different vintages 2015 - 2016 (Tukey Test, P ≤ 0.5)

Color Intensity

The data in Table 4 show that the intensity of color at the end of the fermentation decreases in all the experiments carried out in two vintages.

| Table 4. Extraction of color index during fermentation performance with and without skins | s in |
|---|------|
| two differences vintage (2015-2016) for Pulëz grape variety. | |

| Variety | Vintage | Days of Fermentation | Color Intensity |
|----------|---------|----------------------|-------------------|
| Pulëz 1* | 2015 | 0 | 1.39 ± 0.01 a |
| | | 3 | 0.41 ± 0.01 |
| | | 6 | 0.27 ± 0.01 |
| | | 9 | 0.12 ± 0.01 |
| | | 12 | 0.11 ± 0.01 |
| Pulëz 2* | 2014 | 0 | 1.39 ± 0.01 |
| | | 3 | 0.41 ± 0.01 |
| | | 6 | 0.27 ± 0.00 |
| | | 9 | 0.27 ± 0.00 |
| | | 12 | 0.21 ± 0.00 |
| Pulëz 1 | 2016 | 0 | 0.20 ± 0.01 |
| | | 3 | 0.25 ± 0.01 |
| | | 6 | 0.38 ± 0.01 |
| | | 9 | 0.20 ± 0.01 |
| | | 12 | 0.29 ± 0.01 |
| Pulëz 2 | 2016 | 0 | 0.20 ± 0.01 |
| | | 3 | 0.29 ± 0.01 |
| | | 6 | 0.43 ± 0.01 |
| | | 9 | 0.16 ± 0.01 |
| | | 12 | 0.27 ± 0.01 |

1- without skins, 2 – with skins, a – Mean + SD



Figure 3. Performance of the Color Intensity of white wine from Pulëz grape variety in fermentation with and without skins during two different vintages 2015 - 2016 (Tukey Test, P < 0.5)

Fermentation with the skins and without the skins according to statistical analysis of the design factor Anova and Tukey Test had no significative impact on this parameter but during tow vintages we have the significative difference (Figure 3). During 2015 the wine was more colored than 2016.

Table 5. Explanation of percentage variability of total polyphenols index, flavonoids and color intensity during fermentation performance with and without skins for grape varieties taken in two different vintages.

| | Total Polyphenol Index | Total Flavonoids | Color Intensity |
|------------------------|------------------------|--------------------|---------------------|
| Fermentation | 26.14* | 18.51* | $0.50^{ m NS}$ |
| Vintage | 96.31*** | 70.14*** | 86.60 ^{NS} |
| Fermentation x Vantage | 3.16 ^{NS} | 6.32 ^{NS} | 1.71 ^{NS} |
| Error | 1.39 | 5.04 | 11.19 |

NS- not Significant, *** $P \le 0.0001$; * $P \le 0.05$

Table 5 shows the percentage of variability of the fermentation performance in the total polyphenol index content, total flavonoids and color intensity. As it is noticed, the fermentation scheme has a significant impact ($P \le 0.05$) on these components.

DISCUSSION

In white wine vinification, skin contact treatment is a process often applied to increase the wine's varietal character (Peinado et al., 2004; Selli et al., 2003). The organoleptic property of white and red wines comes as a result of phenolic compounds (Robichaud et al., 1990, Vidal et al., 2004). White wines in contrast to red wines are characterized by a low intensity aroma and

flavor. Chemical composition of grapes and respectively of the produced wines is complex and diverse. The concentration of this component depends on the variety, soil and climatic conditions, the applied growing practices, maturity and the winemaking technology (Fang et al., 2008, Ramos et al., 1999, Gil-Muñoz et al., 1999, García-Falcón et al., 2007).

Regarding the results obtained from this study, the application of two fermentation schemes indented from different vintages shows significant differences between them $P \le 0.05$. The content of the total polyphenols index doubled the values when the fermentation occurred with the presence of the skin. The increase in this parameter at the end of the fermentation for white wine is in line with the ones realized by Lukic et al. (2017). This increase is due to the presence of skins during alcoholic fermentation by extracting these components from skins and seeds (Cadota et al., 2012). It was also noted that the impact of climate conditions from one year to the next presented significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in the content of total polyphenols, considering that in this study the origin and variety are the same. The vintage 2016 showed the lowest values in this parameter, however, during the use of fermentation with skins the amount of polyphenols total increased.

Flavonoids are the main compounds responsible for organoleptic properties (Alcalde-Eon et al., 2014). In this study, it was also noted that the white wines produced by vinification with presence of the skins represented content of flavonoids significantly higher for both the vintages (2015 - 2016). During fermentation with skins the increase in the content of total flavonoids in wine comes due to the extraction of these constituents from the presence of skins and seeds during fermentation. These results are similar to those achieved by Lukic et al. (2017).

Colour is generally the first organoleptic property of the wine that is perceived by consumers and it is, therefore, responsible for the consumers' first opinion on a given wine (Alcalde-Eon et al., 2014). Colour may condition the perception of the aroma, taste or mouthfeel properties of a wine (Morrot et al., 2001, Österbauer et al., 2005). Moreover, the color is considered one of the parameters that evaluate the oxidative stability of the wine (Beccheti, 1999). According to the results of this study, the wines produced in 2015 were more intense than those obtained in 2016; these values were within the established limits (Beccheti, 1999). The increase in color intensity is due to the extraction of the pigments found in the skin of the fruit during the fermentation with the skin. The conservation of these pigments by oxidation was not the result of the addition of SO₂, since the doses of SO₂ for both fermentations were the same, but it is assumed by the extraction of the phenols found in the grapes.

Use of the new schemes vinification in order to improve the quality of the wines, especially white wines is a necessary and important process for producing wines with high organoleptic quality. From the results of this study it is possible to evaluate and the importance of both oenological practices to improve the quality of white wine in relation to climate changes that may occur during one vintage to the other. Based on the vinification type, the fermentation with skin showed an increase in the values of components responsible for aromas and flavor in white wines. It has been observed that the increase of the levels of these compounds was more noticeable when the levels are lower. In addition, the use of these technological schemes can affect the increase in the amount of flavonoids in white wine, which can be useful from the phenolic point of view, and can improve the wine in terms of astringency and bitterness, especially when the wine is it produces from grapes that have not reached optimum maturity.

CONCLUSIONS

From this study, we conclude that the use of new fermentation schemes for white wines, fermenting with the presence of skins, promotes the growth of polyphenol and flavonoid contents. Increasing the content of phenolic components using fermentation with skin will improve the quality of the wine produced from unripe grapes. The information obtained in this
work about polyphenols component might be useful for nutritional studies to understand the bioactive effect of this wine in the human health. Fermentation with skin affect the organoleptic evaluation, because increase the components that is responsible for astringency, bitterness and color of white wine. Fermentation with skins results with significant impact on the content of phenolic components that are responsible and for the sensory characteristics of wines.

REFERENCES

- Aguilera, Y., Martin-Cabrejas, M. and De Mejia, E.G.(2016). Phenolic compounds in fruits and beverages consumed as part of the Mediterranean diet: their role in prevention of chronic diseases. Phytochem. Rev., 15: 405–423.
- Alcalde-Eon, I.C., Garcı'a-Estevez, R., Ferreras-Charro, J.C. Rivas-Gonzalo, R. Ferrer-Gallego, M.T. Escribano-Bailon (2014). Adding oenological tannin vs. overripe grapes: Effect on the phenolic composition of red wines. J. Food Comp. Anal., 34: 99–113.
- Aleixandre-Tudo, J. L., Weightman, C., Panzeri, V., Nieuwoudt, H.H. and du Toit, W. J. (2015). Effect of skin contact before and during alcoholic fermentation on the chemical and sensory profile of South African Chenin Blanc White Wines. South Afr. J. Enol. Vitic., 36: 366–377.
- Andrade, P.B., Oliveira, B.M., Ferreira, M.A., Ferreres, F. and Garcia-Viguera, C. (2001). Analysis of phenolic compounds in Spanish Albarino and Portuguese Alvarinho and Loureiro wines by capillary zone electrophoresis and high-performance liquid chromatography. Electrophoresis, 22: 1568–1572.
- Añón, A., López, J.F., Hernando, D., Orriols, I., Revilla, E. and Losada, M.M. (2014). Effect of five enological practices and of the general phenolic composition on fermentationrelated aroma compounds in Mencia young red wines. Food Chem.: 148 268–275.
- Beccheti, R. (1999). Metodi di analisi dei vini e delle bevande spiritose. Sesta edizione.
- Bekara, T., Bayramb, M., Cangia, R., Gencc, N. and Elmastasc, M. (2017). Effects of leaf removals on must and wine chemical composition and phenolic compounds of Narince (*Vitis vinifera*) grape cultivar. Scientia Horticulturae, 225343–349.
- Cadota, Y., Caillé, S., Samsonc, A., Barbeaua, G., Cheynier. V. (2012). Sensory representation of typicality of Cabernet franc wines related to phenolic composition: Impact of ripening stage and maceration time. Analytica Chimica Acta, 732: 91–99.
- Cetó, X., Gutiérrez, J., Gutiérrez, M., Céspedes, M., Capdevila, F., Mínguez, J. S., Jiménez-Jorquera, C and M. Valle (2012). Determination of total polyphenol index in wines employing a voltammetric electronic tongue. Analytica Chimica Acta, 732: 172–179.
- Fang, F., Li, J., Zhan, P., Tang, K., Wang, W., Pan, Q.H. and Huang, W.D, (2008): Effect of grape variety, harvest date, fermentation vessel and wine ageing on flavonoid concentration in red wines. Food Res. Int., 41: 53-60.
- Fang, F., Li, J.M., Zhan, P., Tang, K., Wang, W., Pan, Q.H. and Huang, W.D. (2008) Effect of grape variety, harvest date, fermentation vessel and wine ageing on flavonoid concentration in red wines. Food Res. Int., 41: 53-60.
- García-Falcón, M.S., Pérez-Lamela, C., Martínez-Carballo, E., Simal-Gándara, J. (2007). Determination of phenolic compounds in wines: Influence of bottle storage of young red wines on their evolution. Food Chem., 105: 248-259.
- Gil-Muñoz, R., Gómez-Plaza, E., Martínez, A., López-Roca, J.M. (1999). Evolution of phenolic compounds during wine fermentation and post-fermentation: Influence of grape temperature. J. Food Comp. Anal., 12: 259-272.
- Ivanova, V., Stefova, M., Chinnici, F. (2010). Determination of the polyphenol contents in Macedonian grapes and wines by standardized spectrophotometric methods. J. Serbian Chem. Society. 75 (1): 45–59.

- Jara-Palacios, M., Hernanz, D., Escudero-Gilete, M. and Heredia, F. (2016). The use of grape seed byproducts rich in flavonoids to improve the antioxidant potential of red wines. Molecules, 21: 1526.
- Komes, D., Ulrich, D., Kovacevic Ganic, K. and Lovric, T. (2007). Study of phenolic and volatile composition of white wine during fermentation and a short time of storage. Vitis, 46 (2): 77–84.
- Lomolino, G., F. Zocca, P. Spettoli, G. Zanin, A. Lante (2010). A preliminary study on changes in phenolic content during Bianchetta Trevigiana winemaking. J. Food Comp. Analysis, 23: 575–579.
- Lukic, I., Lotti, C. and Vrhovsek, U. (2017). Evolution of free and bound volatile aroma compounds and phenols during fermentation of Muscat blanc grape juice with and without skins. Food Chem., 232: 25–35.
- Mitić, M.N., Obradović, M.V., Grahovac, Z.B. and Pavlović, A.N. (2010). Antioxidant Capacities and Phenolic Levels of Different Varieties of Serbian White Wines. Molecules, 15: 2016-2027.
- Morrot, G., Brochet, F. and Dubourdieu, D. (2001). The color of odors. Brain and Language 79: 309–320.
- Nordestgaard, S. J. (2011). Phenolic Extraction and Juice Expression during White Wine Production (Doctoral dissertation). University of Adelaide, Adelaide, Australia.
- Olejar, K. J., Fedrizzi, B. and Kilmartin, P. A. (2015). Antioxidant activity and phenolic profiles of Sauvignon Blanc wines made by various maceration techniques. Aust. J. Grape Wine Res., 21: 57–68.
- Olejar, K. J., Fedrizzi, B. and Kilmartin, P. A. (2016). Enhancement of Chardonnay antioxidant activity and sensory perception through maceration technique. LWT Food Sci. Technol., 65: 152–157.
- Österbauer, R.A., Matthews, P.M., Jenkinson, M., Beckmann, C.F., Hansen, P.C., Calvert, G.A., (2005). Color of scents: chromatic stimuli modulate odor responses in the human brain. J. Neurophysiol., 93: 3434–3441.
- Peinado, R.A., Moreno, J., Bueno, J.E., Moreno, J.A. and Mauricio, J.C., (2004). Comparative study of aromatic series in two young white wines subjected to prefermentative cryomaceration. Food Chem., 84: 585-590.
- Ramos, R., Andrade, P.B., Seabra, R.M., Pereira, C., Ferreira, M.A. and Faia, M. (1999). A preliminary study of non-coloured phenolics in wines of varietal white grapes (códega, gouveio and malvasia fina): Effects of grape variety, grape maturation and technology of winemaking. Food Chem., 67: 39–44.
- Robichaud, J.L. and Noble, A.C. (1990). Astringency and bitterness of selected phenolics in wine. J. Sci. Food Agric., 53: 343-353.
- Schneider, V. (1995). Evaluation of small amounts of flavonoid phenols in white wines by colorimetric assays. Am. J. Enol. Vitic., 46 (2): 274 277.
- Selli, S., Cabaroglu, T., Canbas, A., Erten, H. and Nurgel, C. (2003). Effect of skin contact on the aroma composition of the musts of Vitis vinifera L. cv. Muscat of Bornova and Narince grown in Turkey. Food Chem. 81: 341-347.
- Silva, R.L., Andrade, P.B., Valentao, P., Seabra, R.M., Trujillo, M.E. and Velazquez, E. (2005). Analysis of non-coloured phenolics in red wine: Effect of Dekkera bruxellensis yeast. Food Chem., 89: 185–189.
- Soto-Hernandes, M., Palma-Tenango, M. and Garcia-Mateos, M. (2017). Phenolic Compounds, Biological Activity. INTECH, 241p.
- Stratil, P., Kubáň, V. and Fojtová, J. (2008). Comparison of the phenolic content and total antioxidant activity in wines as determined by spectrophotometric methods. Czech J. Food Sci., 26: 242–253.

- Tian, R., Pan, Q., Zhan, J., Li, J., Wan, S., Zhang, Q. and Huang, W. (2009). Comparison of phenolic acids and flavan-3-ols during wine fermentation of grapes with different harvest times. Molecules, 14: 827-838.
- Ugliano, M., Bartowsky, E. J., McCarthy, J., Moio, L., & Henschke, P. A. (2006). Hydrolysis and transformation of grape glycosidically bound volatile compounds during fermentation with three Saccharomyces yeast strains. J. Agric. Food Chem., 54: 6322– 6331.
- Vidal, S., L. Francis, A. Noble, M. Kwiatkowski, V. Cheynier, E. Waters (2004). Taste and mouth-feel properties of different types of tannin-like polyphenolic compounds and anthocyanins in wine. Anal. Chim. Acta, 513: 57-64.
- Zafrilla, P., J. Morillas, J. Mulero, J.M. Cayuela, A. Martinez-Cacha, F. Pardo and J.M.L. Nicolas (2003). Changes during storage in conventional and ecological wine: Phenolic content and antioxidant activity. J. Agric. Food Chem., 51: 4694–4700.
- Zhishen J., Mengcheng, T. and Wu Jianming, W. (1999): The determination of flavonoids content in mulberry and scavenging effect on superoxide radicals. Food Chem., 64: 555–559.

FABRICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF CHITOSAN/GUM ARABIC/POLYVINYL ALCOHOL) NANOCOMPOSITE FILMS

Çağla Gül GÜLDİKEN, Hasan Ferdi GERÇEL*

Eskişehir Technical University, Chemical Engineering Department, Eskişehir 26555, Turkey

* hfgercel@anadolu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Recently, natural and synthetic polymeric biomaterials, as well as their composites, have found wide applications in regenerative medicine and tissue engineering due to their favorable chemical, physical, and biological properties such as biocompatibility, biodegradability, and non-toxicity. In this study, natural polymers; chitosan and gum Arabic were combined with polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), which is a biocompatible and biodegradable synthetic polymer, and nanosphere based nanocomposite films were fabricated through electrospraying technique. The morphological observations, determination of the average diameter and diameter distribution of nanospheres were conducted by scanning electron microscopy (SEM). The possible chemical interactions between the components and the existence of relevant functional groups were characterized with Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR). Thermal degradation behavior of the nanocomposite film was investigated through thermogravimetric analysis (TGA).

Keywords: *PVA*, *Gum Arabic*, *Chitosan*, *Biomaterials*, *Electrospraying*, *Nanocomposite*, *Nanosphere*

INTRODUCTION

Natural polymers such as polysaccharides and proteins have a long history of biomedical applications, such as tissue engineering, wound dressings, and drug delivery systems, because of their unique properties like biocompatibility, biodegradability, and similarity to natural extracellular matrix. Composite materials, consisting of both synthetic and naturally occurring polymers, can also be developed for biomedical applications by cross-linking or blending the natural macromolecules with biodegradable and biocompatible synthetic polymers to enhance the chemical and mechanical stability (Hussain et al., 2016; Tan et al., 2015; Mogoşanu et al., 2014).

Nano-scaled materials such as nanospheres and nanofibers mimic the natural extracellular matrix and regarded as potential materials for applications in nanomedicine field which combines nanotechnology and medicine. High-voltage electrostatic technology, an environmentally friendly technique, can be used to manufacture nanospheres and nanofibers simultaneously. When the products are nanospheres, the technique is known as "electrospraying". On the other hand, when the products are nanofibers, the technique is known as "electrospinning" (Madhumathi et al., 2010; Tracy et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2018).

Chitosan, known for its absorption of exudes, anti-fungal, antimicrobial, anti-viral and wound healing properties, is a linear polycationic polysaccharide (Kim et al., 2011; Behera et al., 2017). The cationic structure of chitosan promotes electrostatic interaction with anionic groups (Ibekwe et al., 2017). Gum Arabic is an inexpensive, hydrophilic, nontoxic, biocompatible and

totally biodegradable polymer, and also a weak polyelectrolyte that carries anionic groups (Barik et al., 2015). PVA is a hydrophilic, nontoxic, biocompatible, and fully degradable synthetic polymer (Wang et al., 2011). The present study deals with the production and characterization of chitosan/gum Arabic/PVA nanocomposite films to combine the advantageous properties of these biopolymers by electrospraying technique.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Materials

Glacial acetic acid and gum Arabic (*Acacia Senegal*) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Co. Chitosan (20 kDa, deacetylation degree 75%) was purchased from Santa Cruz. Ethanol (\geq 99.9%) and PVA (MW = 30,000, fully hydrolized) were purchased from Merck.

Preparation of the nanocomposite film by electrospraying

0.25 g of chitosan was added in 5 mL of 1% (v/v) acetic acid solution and stirred continuously at 30°C for 12 hours. Gum Arabic was dissolved in 2.5 mL of deionized water under constant stirring at room temperature for 12 hours. After complete dissolution, the prepared solutions were combined and stirred at ambient temperature for further 12 hours. 1 g of PVA was added gradually in deionized water and stirred at 80 °C overnight. The combined chitosan and gum Arabic solution was added in 10 mL of aqueous PVA (10%, w/v) solution and stirred overnight at ambient temperature. The resulting clear gel was taken into a plastic syringe which has a 0.3 mm diameter metallic capillary tip.

The electrospraying system involves a syringe pump, a high voltage power supply, and a rotary drum collector. Rotational and axial speeds of the rotary drum collector can be controlled by a software. One electrode of the high voltage power supply was connected to the metallic capillary tip and the other connected to the rotary drum collector, used as the ground. The rotary drum collector was covered with an aluminum foil substrate. Rotational and axial speed of the rotary drum collector were 180 rpm and 1 mm/min, respectively. The composite solution, flowing at a flow rate of 1.5 mL/h, was subjected to a potential difference of 18 kV through the electrodes which are 10 cm apart. By the effect of the electrical field, the composite solution was moved to the collector as very small droplets, solvent was evaporated and a nanocomposite film consisting of nanospheres was obtained.

Structural and thermal analysis of the nanocomposite film

Analyses of the functional groups and possible chemical interactions between the constituents of the nanocomposite film were conducted by a Thermo Scientific/Nicolet IS10 spectrometer with a FTIR-attenuated total reflectance (FTIR-ATR) attachment. The film sample was dried at 40°C in a vacuum oven for 24 hours prior to the analysis.

A Perkin Elmer/STA6000 thermogravimetric analyzer was used for the analysis of the thermal degradation behavior of the nanocomposite film. Percentage mass loss of the sample as a function of temperature were recorded. The sample was heated from 30°C to 600°C at a heating rate of 10°C/min under nitrogen atmosphere.

Morphological analysis of the nanocomposite film

Morphological study of the nanocomposite film was conducted through a Carl Zeiss/Supra 40VP scanning electron microscope with an accelerating voltage of 5 kV. The film sample was sputter coated with gold/palladium alloy before SEM analysis. Diameter distribution of the

nanospheres were studied on an image analysis software by choosing 300 nanospheres at 10000X magnification and presented by a histogram.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Structural analysis by FTIR

FTIR spectrum of the nanocomposite film, shown in Figure 1, was used to indicate the possible chemical interactions between the polymers and the existence of relevant functional groups. The broad band, seen at 3271 cm⁻¹ is due to the characteristic absorption band of hydrogen bonded hydroxyl groups. N–H symmetrical vibration of chitosan which is expected to be seen between 3300-3500 cm⁻¹ must have been masked by the broad O-H absorption band. This attributed to the overlapped NH₂ and -OH group stretching vibrations (Daoub et al., 2016; Hussain et al., 2016; AbdElhady et al., 2012). The absorption peak, seen at 2910 cm⁻¹ is assigned to the vibrational modes of C-H groups (Fernandes et al., 2014). The peak, appeared at 1409 cm⁻¹ is assigned to O-H in-plane bending of carboxylic acid groups. The peak, observed at 1561 cm⁻¹ is attributed to symmetric deformation of -NH3⁺ which might be formed by ionization of the primary amine groups (–NH₂) of chitosan by the anionic groups of the other polymers.



Figure 1. FTIR spectrum of the nanocomposite film

Analysis of thermal degradation behavior by TGA

The TGA curve of the nanocomposite film is presented in Figure 2. Based on Figure 2, the nanocomposite film is degraded thermally by three steps: water loss, major decomposition of polymer backbones, and degradation of the byproducts. The last step, take place between 350–600°C, is arising from the degradation of the byproducts of PVA, formed during its thermal degradation (Choo et al., 2016; Bozorgi et al., 2018). First degradation step, starting at about 100 °C is arising from the loss of adsorbed water to the polysaccharide structures. The second step between 200-350°C, being the major decomposition step with a weight loss percentage of 69%, is due to the backbone decomposition of the polymers.



Figure 2. TGA curve of the nanocomposite film

Morphological study of the nanocomposite film by SEM

The SEM micrograph at 10000X magnification and the diameter distribution histogram of the nanocomposite film are presented in Figure 3(a, b). SEM observations demonstrated that the produced film consists of variable sized nanospheres. In addition, interconnected nanofibers which may be formed by the elongation of PVA through the effect of the applied electrical field, were present at a few regions. Diameter distribution histogram of the nanocomposite films revealed that 65% of the nanospheres are in the range of 200-550 nm and the average diameter was determined as 583 nm.



Figure 3. (a) SEM micrograph at 10000X magnification and (b) Diameter distribution histogram of the nanocomposite film

CONCLUSIONS

A ternary nanocomposite film, consisting of PVA, chitosan, and gum Arabic was developed in this study. FTIR spectrum of the nanocomposite film showed that there are ionic interactions among the native polymers. In addition, it was observed that the nanocomposite film exhibits only one major decomposition temperature (T_{onset}), as shown in the TGA curve of the nanocomposite film. These results indicate the compability of chitosan and gum Arabic, as the natural polysaccharides and PVA, being a synthetic polymer. The nanosphere based nanocomposite film, developed in this study, can be investigated for their potential use in drug release and wound healing applications in further studies.

Acknowledgement: The authors acknowledge Mr. Metin ÇAM, electrical engineer in Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Anadolu University, for his valuable efforts and technical suggestions in constructing the electrospraying system.

REFERENCES

- Hussain, T., Masood, R., Umar, M., Areeb, T., Ullah, A. (2016). Development and characterization of alginate-chitosan-hyaluronic acid (ACH) composite fibers for medical applications. Fibers and Polymers, 17(11): 1749-1756.
- Tan, L., Hu, J., Huang, H., Han, J., Hu, H. (2015). Study of multi-functional electrospun composite nanofibrous mats for smart wound healing. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 79, 469-476.
- Mogoșanu, G. D., Grumezescu, A. M. (2014). Natural and synthetic polymers for wounds and burns dressing. Int. J. Pharm., 463(2): 127-136.
- Madhumathi, K., Kumar, P. S., Abhilash, S., Sreeja, V., Tamura, H., Manzoor, K., Jayakumar, R. (2010). Development of novel chitin/nanosilver composite scaffolds for wound dressing applications. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine, 21(2): 807-813.
- Tracy, L. E., Minasian, R. A., Caterson, E. J. (2016). Extracellular matrix and dermal fibroblast function in the healing wound. Adv. Wound Care, 5(3): 119-136.
- Chen, Y., Mu, X., Wang, F. (2018). Preparation and Drug Release of PVA Composite Nanofibers Loaded Chitosan Microsphere. Polym. Sci., Series A, 60(3): 311-321.
- Kim, J., Cai, Z., Lee, H. S., Choi, G. S., Lee, D. H., Jo, C. (2011). Preparation and characterization of a bacterial cellulose/chitosan composite for potential biomedical application. J. Polym. Res., 18(4): 739-744.
- Behera, S. S., Das, U., Kumar, A., Bissoyi, A., Singh, A. K. (2017). Chitosan/TiO2 composite membrane improves proliferation and survival of L929 fibroblast cells: Application in wound dressing and skin regeneration. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 98: 329-340.
- Ibekwe, C. A., Oyatogun, G. M., Esan, T. A., Oluwasegun, K. M. (2017). Synthesis and characterization of chitosan/gum arabic nanoparticles for bone regeneration. Am. J. Mat. Sci. Eng., 5(1): 28-36.
- Barik, P., Bhattacharjee, A., Roy, M. (2015). Preparation, characterization and electrical study of gum arabic/ZnO nanocomposites. Bull. Mat. Sci., 38(6): 1609-1616.
- Wang, Y., Zhang, C. L., Zhang, Q., Li, P. (2011). Composite electrospun nanomembranes of fish scale collagen peptides/chito-oligosaccharides: antibacterial properties and potential for wound dressing. Int. J. Nanomedicine, 6: 667.
- Daoub, R. M., Elmubarak, A. H., Misran, M., Hassan, E. A., Osman, M. E. (2016). Characterization and functional properties of some natural Acacia gums. J. Saudi Soc. Agric. Sci.
- AbdElhady, M. M. (2012). Preparation and characterization of chitosan/zinc oxide nanoparticles for imparting antimicrobial and UV protection to cotton fabric. Int. J. Carbohydr. Chem., 2012.
- Fernandes Queiroz, M., Melo, K. R. T., Sabry, D. A., Sassaki, G. L., Rocha, H. A. O. (2014). Does the use of chitosan contribute to oxalate kidney stone formation? Marine drugs, 13(1): 141-158.
- Choo, K., Ching, Y. C., Chuah, C. H., Julai, S., Liou, N. S. (2016). Preparation and characterization of polyvinyl alcohol-chitosan composite films reinforced with cellulose nanofiber. Materials, 9(8): 644.
- Bozorgi, M., Abbasizadeh, S., Samani, F., & Mousavi, S. E. (2018). Performance of synthesized cast and electrospun PVA/chitosan/ZnO-NH 2 nano-adsorbents in single and simultaneous adsorption of cadmium and nickel ions from wastewater. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res., 1-16.

MODELING THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF OLIVE OIL

Anisa DHROSO *¹, Hasime MANAJ¹, Ilirjan MALOLLARI¹ ¹Faculty of Natural Sciences, Tirana, Albania * anisa.dhroso@fshn.edu.al

ABSTRACT

Olive oil is used throughout the world, especially in regions around the Mediterranean Sea. Oils help to improve the taste, color and quality of the food, so it plays an important role in health and in life. The main goal of this work is to study the dependence of viscosity of olive oil on temperature, since is a fundamental characteristic property of all liquids. The dynamic viscosity of olive oil was experimentally determined as a function of temperature (20 to 60°C). Several physicochemical and rheological characteristics of olive oil were investigated. The studied parameters were: density, moisture content, pH, free acidity, electrical conductivity, dynamic viscosity and kinematic viscosity. The viscosity of olive oil was represented as a function of temperature by using two, three and multi-constant proposed mathematical models. The evaluations of the models were done by the correlation coefficient, percentage of average absolute deviation and standard deviation of the data.

Keywords: Olive oil, Mathematical models, Density, Viscosity.

INTRODUCTION

Olive oil, produced at a level of around 2.6 millions tones (Spain, Greece, Italy, Turkey, Syria, Tunisia and other), has a long history going back to pre-biblical times. It is produced and consumed mainly in Mediterranean countries, but demand is increasing in other countries in Northern Europe and in the US as a consequence of strong marketing of this oil. Olive oil is considered to be an essential ingredient of the healthy Mediterranean life style (Gunstone, 2002). Albania has been and continues to be a typically "agrarian" country, in which over 50 % of population lives and works in the rural areas, and which has as its major activity the agricultural sector, in which roughly 75-80 % of work' days are spent on farm (Leksinaj, 2008). The main olive growing regions include: i) the Ionic region, along the Southern Coastline, which accounts for 38.4% of the country's olive production, 28.5% of total olive groves and 28.8% of total olive trees; ii) the Adriatic region, along the Western Coastline, which accounts for roughly half of the country's olive production, total olive groves and total olive trees; iii) the Near-Adriatic region which accounts for 14.9% of the country's olive production, 16% of total olive groves and 20.3% of total olive trees; and iv) the Interior region, the production of which is minimal except for some areas where the microclimate allows for olive cultivation (FAO, 2008). In the year 2017 was produced 107.830 tons olives, increased with 8.9 % compared with the previous year. The highest level of olives production was achived in the prefectures of Berat with 32.410 tonnes, following by prefectures of Fier with 29.648 tonnes and Vlora with 14.881 tonnes (Instat, 2018). The olive oil sector is an important segment of Albanian primary production and agro industry. Main production areas of olives for olive oil are Fier, Vlora and the area between Elbasan and Tirana. In these areas, 90% to 95% of cultivars are for olive oil production. Olive oil industry can be divided in four main clusters, namely: small localized oil mills, small modern producers; medium-sized processors, and industrial producers and bottlers. Demand of olive oil and table olives is increasing, in parallel with revenues growth and urbanization (Leonetti et al., 2009). Viscosity is one of the most important physical properties of a liquid system; the change of viscosity is linked to physicochemical oil properties (Fasina and Colley, 2008). This parameter can changes under temperature, pressure, and concentration influence, and all these changes can be modeled by some theorical equations (Ramakrishna et al., 1987). The dynamic viscosity of olive oil was experimentally determined as a function of temperature (20 to 60° C). The variation of the viscosity of olive oil with the temperature is analyzed applying the two, three and multi constant equations. The correlation coefficient for all the models obtained from the non-linear regression procedure was greater than 0.99.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Olive oil is the oil obtained solely from the fruit of the olive tree, to the exclusion of oil obtained using solvents or re-esterification processes and of any mixture with oils of other kinds. Olive oil available in Albanian market was characterized for physicochemical and rheological properties. For this purpose we choose the olive oil from southern areas, because this is one of the main olive growing region. All oil sample were stored at room temperature (around 20°C) and in a dark place before analysis. The density and viscosity of olive oil were experimentally determined as a function of temperature (20-60°C). Physicochemical and rheological characteristics of olive oil were analyzed: density, moisture content, pH, free acidity, electrical conductivity, dynamic viscosity and kinematic viscosity. The moisture was calculated by sample weight loss at 105°C for a period of 24 h. The pH measurement of olive oil was obtained with a pH meter (PHS-3CW Microprocessor pH Meter) was calibrated with standard solutions buffered. Also we measured the electric conductivity with DDS-120W Microprocessor Conductivity Meter. The free oil acidity, a known weight of olive oil was dissolved in a mixture of diethyl ether/ethanol (1:1 v/v). The mixture was titrated with potassium hydroxide in methanol (0.05M), in the presence of phenolphthalein as indicator. Viscosity and temperature of olive oil samples were measured using the Digital Viscometer Model NDJ-5S with accuracy $\pm 1\%$. The SP-1 spindle was operated at 60 rpm. In addition to the dynamic viscosity and density, kinematic viscosity by the formula was also determined. The Digital Viscometer gives indications for out of range operations when % (Torque) readings are \leq 20% or \geq 90%. The Electric model L-81 was used to increase the temperature of the oil samples to a specific temperature. All values were below the limits, were within the range established by European Guidelines. The dependence of the oil viscosities to temperature was modeled using two, three and multi constant equations. Equation 1 include the Arrhenius model, Law Power model and Natarajan model (two constant equations) that is commonly used to model temperature dependence of a property (Clements C. et al., 2006; Natarajan G. et al., 1989).

$$\mu = \mu_{\infty,T} \exp\left(\frac{E_a}{RT}\right) \qquad \mu = A(T - T_{ref})^B \qquad \mu = AT^B \tag{1}$$

Where μ is the dynamic viscosity in mPa.s, $\mu_{\infty,T}$ is the viscosity at infinite-temperature in mPa.s, Ea is the exponential constant that is known as activation energy (J/mol); R is the gas constant (J/mol.K) and T is the absolute temperature Kelvin, T_{ref} is reference temperature of 273.15 C. Multi-constant formula known as Abramovic (three constant) and Clements (four constant) models that are represented in the following equations (Abramovic et al. 1998; Clements et al. 1992):

$$Ln\mu = A + \frac{B}{T} + \frac{C}{T^2}$$
 $Ln\mu = A + \frac{B}{T} + \frac{C}{T^2} + \frac{C}{T^3}$ (2)

Where μ is the dynamic viscosity in mPa.s, T is the temperature in Kelvin. A, B and C are constants. The relationship between density and temperature can be expressed mathematically, while density decreases linearly with increasing temperature, is presented in equation 3 (Rodenbush et al., 1999):

$$\rho = a + b \cdot T \tag{3}$$

Where ρ is the density in g /cm³, T is the temperature in C, a and b are constants.

According to Rodenbush et al., the dependence between density and viscosity can be expressed as illustrated (Rodenbush et al., 1999):

$$\rho = D + \frac{E}{\eta^{1/2}} \tag{4}$$

Office Excel 2016 software was used to carry out the effect of temperature on dynamic viscosity of olive oil by different mathematical models. The percentage of average absolute deviation of the olive oil at different temperatures together with standard deviations was obtained.

RESULTS AND DISCCUSION

The olive oil quality and behavior can be influenced by the cultivars, the degree of ripeness, the industrial processes extraction, and environmental conditions (Bento et al., 2002). Several physicochemical and rheological characteristics of olive oil were investigated. The physicochemical characteristics: density, moisture content, pH, free acidity, electrical conductivity, were determined following the analytical methods described in Regulation EEC/2568/91, amended (Commission Regulation, 1991). All parameters were determined in triplicate for each sample. By comparing our experimental data with standard value, we can see that they are roughly the same, with very little difference. This may come as a result of many factors that affect the quality of the oil and therefore the experimental results. Factors can be numerous, but we can mention the area of seed origin, storage conditions and stages of production of the final product. The density values of olive oil samples of southern region of crop 2017 was measured at 20°C and found to be 0.9179 g/cm³. Moisture of olive oil sample was 0.2%. pH and electric conductivity of olive oil sample were 4.1 and 0.045 mS, at 20°C, respectively. The value of electrical conductivity obtained indicates that olive oil is truly an insulator as compared to other liquid insulators. Meaning is highly resistive to flow of electric charge. Also transformers or machines oil, coolants etc using olive oil as dielectric will last longer. Olive oil can be said to be very bad conductor of electricity (Ushie et al., 2014). A free acidity value and acid number of olive oil were 0.62% and 1.23. The acidity expresses the percentage content (in weight) of the free fatty acids in the oil under examination. The free oil acidity is a direct measure of the quality of the oil, thus reflects the condition from blossoming fruit and olive oil production. Setting a free oil acidity level lower than 0.8% can provide a useful standard to ensure that growers provide high quality undamaged fruit that is not harvested too late. The dynamic viscosity and kinematic viscosity values of olive oil sample of southern region were measured at 20°C and found to be 68.4 mPa.s and 74.51 mm²/s. Our value of dynamic viscosity of olive oil at 20°C is in good agreement with other researcher. The viscosity influences by the wax content and composition, which is affected by cultivar, crop year and processing (Boskou, 2006).

Dynamic viscosity dependence of temperature and fitting of model to experimental data

The dependence of the oil viscosities to temperature was modeled using Equations 1-2. Equation 1 includes the Arrhenius model, Law Power model and Natarajan model (two constant equations). Equation 2 includes Abramovic and Clements models (three and four constant equations). The experimental data of olive oil, for dynamic viscosity (Pa.s) fitting by Arrhenius model is shown in Figure 1. The values of the estimated constants for Arrheniua Equation, correlation coefficients, percentage of average absolute deviation and standard deviation are given in Table 1, respectively.



Figure 1. Effect of temperature on dynamic viscosity of olive oil by Arrhenius equation

The value of activation energy of the analyzed olive oil was 22.89 kJ/mol, which describe the sensitivity of viscosity to temperature changes. The correlation coefficient (R^2) for Arrhenius model was under value 0.99. The mean absolute percentage error was 5.87, below 10%, but standard deviation was higher than 10%. The experimental data of olive oil, for dynamic viscosity (Pa.s) fitting by Law Power model is shown in Figure 2. The values of the estimated constants for by Law Power Equation, correlation coefficients, percentage of average absolute deviation and standard deviation are given in Table 1, respectively.



Figure 2. Effect of temperature on dynamic viscosity of olive oil by Law Power model

Figure 3 shows the olive oil μ (Pa.s) dependence of the temperature (K) and the fitting of the Natarajan model to experimental data (Equation 1). Table 1, resumes the results of Natarajan parameters, correlation coefficient, percentage of average absolute deviation and standard deviation



Figure 3. Effect of temperature on dynamic viscosity of olive oil by Natarajan model

Figure 4 shows the olive oil ln μ (Pa.s) versus (1/T) and the fitting of the Abramovic and Clements models to experimental data (Equation 2). Table 1 resumes the results of Abramovic and Clementes parameters, correlation coefficient, percentage of average absolute deviation and standard deviation.



Figure 4. Effect of temperature on dynamic viscosity of olive oil by (a) Abramovic and (b) Clements models

The percentage of average absolute deviation (AADP) and standard deviation were (SD) computed and used to compare the goodness of fit of the equations to experimental data. An equation with lower SD values gives a better fit to experimental data compared to an equation with higher SD values.

| Mathematical model | Α | В | С | D | Temperature Range | R ² | AADP | SD |
|-----------------------|--------|--------|--------|------------|-----------------------|----------------|------|-------|
| | 0.005 | 2755 | | | 293 - 333 K | 0.988 | 5.88 | 13.97 |
| Two constant | 1606 | -1.04 | | | 20-60 C | 0.987 | 1.23 | 15.69 |
| | 3E+23 | -8.8 | | | 293 - 333 K | 0.984 | 0.53 | 14.46 |
| Three constant | 20.35 | -13235 | 2E+06 | | 0.0034 - 0.0030 (1/K) | 0.999 | 0.11 | 0.39 |
| Four constant | 131.73 | -11760 | 4E+0.7 | - 3E+09 | 0.0034 - 0.0030 (1/K) | 0.999 - 1 | 0.05 | 0.38 |

Table 1. Two, three, multi-constant values, Temperature range, R², AADP and SD of models studied

Arrhenius, Law Power and Natarajan models (two constant equations) were not the best fit of dynamic viscosity of olive oil sample, because the percentage of average absolute deviation and standard deviation gives very high value. The correlation coefficients for Arrhenius and Natarajan models were under 0.99. According to the experimental data three and four constant equations are more suitable to describe the dependence of dynamic viscosity from temperature of olive oil sample. The R² values for olive oil were above 0.99, indicating experimental data fell on straight lines. All of the standard deviations were very low, which means that the viscosity values obtained were very stable.

The dependence of density and kinematic viscosity according temperature for olive oil

The kinematic viscosity can be calculated from the dynamic viscosity and the density. Because both, density and viscosity are highly temperature sensitive; it is possible to see the dependence between them. Furthermore, the density - viscosity dependence was analyzed, showing that a good estimation of the viscosity can be obtained from the measure of the density, which is a simple and time effective process (Esteban et al., 2012). Density of olive oil at different temperatures ranges of 0.9179 to 0.9307 g/cm³. According to Rodenbush et al., when dealing with vegetable oils the dependence between density and viscosity can be expressed as illustrated in Equation (4). Kinematic viscosity of olive oil at different temperatures of 0.1158 to 0.2008 mm/s². The R² for both dependence obtained was greater than 0.99. The values of the estimated constants are shown in each equation, set in the graph.



Figure 5. Effect of temperature on density of olive oil



Figure 6. Effect of temperature on kinematic viscosity of olive oil

CONCLUSIONS

In this study the experimental results depend on oil nature and can be used as a way of characterizing the oil quality. The dynamic viscosity versus temperature of olive oil was measured and described by mathematical models. The correlation coefficient for all the models obtained from the non-linear regression procedure was greater than 0.95. However, comparisons of the correlation coefficient and percentage of average absolute deviation indicate that the temperature dependence of viscosity for the olive oil sample was best described by the Clements model. The results show that the experimental values of olive oil studied were comparable with the published values at the same temperatures.

REFERENCES

- Abramovic, H., Klofutar, G., (1998). The temperature dependence of dynamic viscosity for some vegetables oils, Acta Chim. Slov., 45(1): 69-77.
- Bento, A., Casal, S., Oliveira, M. and Pereira, J., (2002), Influence of olive storage period on oil quality of three portuguese cultivars of olea europea, cobrüncosa, madural, and verdeal transmontana, J. Agric. Food Chem., 50: 6335 6340.
- Boskou, D. (2006); Olive oil chemistry and technology, 2nd Edition.
- Clements, L. D., Noureddini, H. and Teoh, B. C., (1992). Viscosity of vegetables oils and fatty acids , J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 69 (12): 1189-1191.
- Clements, C., Craig-Schmidt, M., Fasina, O. O. and Hallman, H., (2006). Predicting temperature-dependence viscosity of vegetable oils from fatty acid composition. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 83(10): 899-903.
- Esteban, B., Riba, J., Baquero, G., Rius, A. and Puig R. (2012). Temperature dependence of density and viscosity of vegetable oilsBiomass and bioenergy 42, p. 164-171.
- European Commission (1991): Regulation No 2568/91 of 11 July 1991 on the characteristics of olive oil and olive-residue oil and on the relevant methods of analysis.
- INSTAT, (2018): Agricultural statistics 2017, www.instat.gov.al.
- Fasina O.O., Colley Z., (2008): Inter. J. Food Prop, 11, 738.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) (2008): A systematic analysis of the agribusiness sector in transition economies: The Albanian olive oil sector.
- Gunstone, F. D. (2002). Vegetable oils in food technology: Composition, Properties and Uses, Blackwell Publishing, ISBN 0849328160.
- Leksinaj, E. (2008): An analysis of the structural and economic agro-food sector in Albania, Faculty of Economy and Agribusiness, Agricultural University of Tirana, businessdocbox.com, 5 pages.
- Leonetti, L., Imami, D., Stefanllari, A. and Zhllima, E. (2009). The olive and olive oil value chain in Albania, Development Solutions Associates.

- Mailer, R. (2006): Testing olive oil quality: chemical and sensory methods, Profitable and Sustainable primary industries, <u>www.dpi.nsw.gov.au</u>
- Natarajan, G. and Viswanath, D. S. (1989). Data book on viscosity of liquids. Hemisphere, New York.
- Nierat, T.H, Mohammad, Sh., Abdel-Raziq, I.R. (2014). Temperature and Storage Age (Yearly Basis)-Dependence of Olive Oil Viscosity in Different Locations in Palestine, J. Material. Env. Sci., 5(1): 245-254.
- P. Ramakrishna, K.V.L. Venkatesh, T.C.Poornima and B.Manohar (1987). J.Am.OilChem.Soc., 64: 859.
- Rodenbush, C.M., Hsieh, F.H., Viswanath, D.S. (1999). Density and viscosity of vegetable oils. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 76: 1415.
- Ushie, P., Osang, J., Ojar, J., Ohakwere-eze and Alozie M. S. (2014). Investigation of the efficiency of olive oil as dielectric material and its economic value on the environment using its dielectric properties. International Journal of Advance Research, IJOAR .org Volume 2, Issue 1.

AREA OF DISTRIBUTION OF THE PATHOGEN PLASMOPARA HALSTEDII IN THE REPUBLIC OF BULGARIA

Valentina ENCHEVA*

Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute, General Toshevo, 9520, Bulgaria

* en4eva_v@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Downy mildew/Plasmopara halstedii Farl. Berlese et de Toni is distributed in all the world where sunflower is produced. In Bulgaria, the pathogen is very important for sunflower production. Increasingly, scientists report the emergence of new, more aggressive races of the pathogen or return to "old". According to others, these races show resistance to the fungicides currently used. This requires annual research on the distribution range and diversity of the disease. Such surveys provide valuable information for both selection and practice - for zoning of varieties and hybrids. As a result of the study, three races of *Plasmopara halstedii* were isolated - 700, 731 and race 307. Their spread and attack rate are closely related to both the climatic conditions of the year and their resistance of varieties and hybrids cultivated in practice. It is particularly worrying that a "new" race was established in the DZI selection fields. After the test, it turned out to be a race 307 or a return to old races of the 300-group pathogen.

Key words: Plasmopara halstedii, Races, Distribution

INTRODUCTION

Downy mildew / Plasmopara halstedii Farl Berlese et de Toni is spread throughout the world where sunflower is grown. In Bulgaria, the pathogen is of great economic importance for the cultivation and zoning of sunflower as the main oil-bearing crop (Shindrova P 1998, 2000, 2005, Shindrova, 2006,). To a lesser extent, it is also important for the selection process aimed at creating sustainable hybrids. Gulyia T., 2007 reported that at least 35 races of the pathogen have been identified in the world that make the problem solving quite difficult. For a long time in our country there were races 700 and 731. Their distribution was largely due to the climatic conditions in the country and to the resistanc of cultivars and hybrids cultivated in practice. More and more researchers report the emergence of new aggressive races of pathogen (Tourvieill de Laborouhe D. et al., 2000; 2010) or the return of the "old". According to others, these races show resistance to the currently used fungicides (Viranyi, F. and T.Gulyia 1996). One of the most effective methods to solve this problem is the use of sustainable varieties and hybrids of sunflower. This is achieved with a purposeful selection work. For this purpose, annual research tours are carried out in all country to establish distribution and races diversity of the pathogen. These studies provide valuable information on both the selection process and the practice - for the proper zoning of varieties and sunflower hybrids.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In order to determine the race variability of sunflower downy mildew in the major sunflower production regions in Bulgaria, field expeditions for collecting isolates of *Plasmopara halstedii* were organized in 2016 and 2017. Leaves from systemically infected plants were collected and used as inoculum. During the period of investigations, the inoculum used originated from: north-eastern, north-western, central-northern, central southern and central western (Table 1 and 2).

The inoculum collected from the above regions was used to infect the differential set lines applying the standard methodology Gulia et al. (1991).

For identification of the races on downy mildew was used the new nomenclature system with nine lines. These were grouped as follows:

- First group HA-304 (D-1), Rha-265(D-2), Rha-274 (D-3)
- Second group DM-2 (D-4), PM-17 (D-5) и 803-1 (D-6)
- Third group HAR-4 (D-7), HAR-5 (D-8) и HA-335 (D-9).

The race was identified on the basis of the response of the lines from each group (Tourvieill de Laborouhe et al. 2000).

The study was conducted in the phytopathological laboratory of the Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute under controlled conditions.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

During the first year of the investigation nine plant samples were collected and processed. The result from this investigation showed that only 2 races (pathotypes) were isolated – 700 and 731. Race 700 is established only in Northeastern Bulgaria (DZI, Staro Oryahovo and Brashlyan), while race 731 is established throughout the country (DZI / Dobrich / infection field, Kardam / Dobrich, Staro Oryahovo / Varna, Brashlyan / Rousse, Silanovtsi / Vratsa, Pleven, Radnevo, Ivailo / Pazardzhik and Sliven. *Plasmopara halstedii* is a pathogen which in our conditions does not exhibit a great variety of races. This could be due to the resistance of varieties and hybrids cultivated in practice and to the climatic conditions of the country.

Table 1. Distribution and race composition of (*Plasmopara halstedii* Farl. Berlese et de Toni)in sunflower during 2016

| N⁰ | Location | Region | Race |
|----|-----------------------------|---------------------------|----------|
| 1 | DZI/Dobrich/infection field | North-eastern Bulgaria | 700; 731 |
| 2 | Kardam/Dobrich | North-eastern Bulgaria | 731 |
| 3 | Staro Oryahovo/Varna | North-eastern Bulgaria | 700 |
| 4 | Brashlyan/Russe | North-eastern Bulgaria | 700; 731 |
| 5 | Silanovtzy/Vratza | North-western Bulgaria | 731 |
| 6 | Pleven | Central- north Bulgaria | 731 |
| 7 | Radnevo | Central southern Bulgaria | 731 |
| 8 | Ivailo/Pazardzhik | Central southern Bulgaria | 731 |
| 9 | Sliven | Central western Bulgaria | 731 |

When testing the samples collected in 2017 three races of the manna were registered - 700, 731 and race 307. The date in tabl.2 show that the following year a "new" race was found identified as a race 307. It was isolated from samples with origin from the region of DAI from breeding fields and materials from international exchange. One of the explanations for the occurrence of the new race in this very location can be the high breeding pressure on the pathogen, because in the breeding fields resistant genotypes are predominantly grown.

On the other hand, this may have been due to the intensive international exchange of breeding materials, which makes possible the transfer of the fungus, mainly through infected seeds, plant residues or soil particles.

| N⁰ | Location | Region | Race |
|----|-----------------------------|---------------------------|----------|
| 1 | DZI/Dobrich/infection field | North-eastern Bulgaria | 700; 731 |
| 2 | DZI/Dobrich/breeding field | North-eastern Bulgaria | 307 |
| 3 | Tervel/Dobrich | North-eastern Bulgaria | 731 |
| 4 | Brashlyan/Russe | North-eastern Bulgaria | 700; 731 |
| 5 | Silanovtzy/Vratza | North-western Bulgaria | 731 |
| 6 | Nova Zagora | Central southern Bulgaria | 731 |
| 7 | Radnevo | Central southern Bulgaria | 731 |
| 8 | Stoil voivoda/Sliven | Central western Bulgaria | 731 |
| 9 | Sliven | Central western Bulgaria | 731 |

Table 2. Distribution and race composition of Plasmopara halstedii Farl. Berlese et de Toniin sunflower during 2017

Race 700 is established in two places in Northeastern Bulgaria - (DZI - Gen.Toshevo and Brashlyan/Russe). In the rest of the region, race 731 was spread. It is particularly worrying that a "new" race was established in the DZI selection fields. After the test, it turned out to be a race 307 or a return to old races of the 300 group pathogen. This type of study is done to identify the most widespread and aggressive race of the pathogen. The next step is to identify sources and donors of sustainability. This is possible only on the basis of rich genetic diversity and purposeful selection work.

CONCLUSIONS

In the period 2016 - 2017 three races of the pathogen - 700, 731 and 307 were established in the territory of the Republic of Bulgaria. The most common race is 731, which is registered in all sunflower regions of northern and southern Bulgaria. Sustainable race diversity in *Plasmopara halstedii* during the period 2016-2017 is the result of a uniform crop structure and the use of resistance hybrids.

REFERENCES

Шиндрова, П. (2006). Мана по слънчогледа (*Plasmopara halstedii* Farl.Berlese et de Toni) – разпространение и расов състав през 2004 – 2005 година. Растениевъдни науки, 43: 451 – 454.

- Gulia, T. J., Miler, F., Viranyi F., Sackston, E. (1991). Proposed internationally standardized method for race identification of *Plasmopara halstedii*. Helia, 14: 11-20
- Gulya, T. J. (2007). Distribution of *Plasmopara halstedii* races from sunflower around the wold. Proc. II International Downy mildew Simposium. Palcky University in Olomouc and JOLA, pp. 135 – 142
- Shindrova, P. (1998). Distribution and race composition of Downy mildew (*Plasmopara halstedii*) in Bulgaria in the period 1995 1997 &th International Congres of Plant Pathology, Edinburgh, Scotland, 9 16 August, 1998 (Downy mildew Newsletter, Number 10, August 1998, p. 16)
- Shindrova, P. (2000). Distribution and race composition of Downy mildew *Plasmopara halstedii* (Farl.) Berlese et de Toni) in Bulgaria. Helia, 23 (33): pp 25 32.
- Shindrova, P. (2005) New nomenclature of Downy mildew races in sunflower (*Plasmopara halstedii* Farl. Berlese et de Toni) in Bulgaria (Race composition during 2000 2003). Helia, 28, N 42, pp 57 – 64
- Tourvieill de Laborouhe D., Pilorge, E., Nicolas P., Vear F. (2000). Le mildiou du tournesol. CETIOM-INRA, Versailles, France. 176 pp
- Tourvieill de Laborouhe D., Gulya, T. J., Masirevic, S., Penaud, A., Rashid, K. Y., Viranyi,F. (2000). New nomenclature of Races of Plasmopara halstedii (Sunflower Downy Mildew) 15th International Sunflower Conference, 12-15 June 2000, Toulouse (France).
- Tourvieill de Laborouhe D., Bordat A., Tourvieill J., Mestries E., Walser P., Sark N., Ducher M., Delmotte F., Vear F. (2010). Impact of major gene resistance management for sunflower on fitness of *Plasmopara halstedii* (downy mildew) population, Oilseeds & Fats crops and Lipids; 17:56-64
- Viranyi, F., Gulyia, T. (1996). Pathogenic variation in *Plasmopara halstedii*, Downy mildew Newsletter, Number 9

THE NAME OF HAZARD INCREASINGLY IMPORTANT IN FOOD HYGIENE IS MODIFIED MYCOTOXINS

Alper BARAN*¹, Mehmet Cemal ADIGÜZEL², Ahmet ERDOĞAN³, Tamer TURGUT⁴

¹Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Department of Food Quality Control and Analysis, 25240 Erzurum, Turkey

²Atatürk University, Faculty of Veterinary, Department of Microbiology, Erzurum, Turkey ³Atatürk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Dept. of Food Engineering, Erzurum, Turkey ⁴Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Dept. Food Technology, Erzurum, Turkey

* alper.baran@atauni.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Mycotoxins are toxic secondary compounds synthesized by certain fungal species that can grow in a variety of foods under specific conditions. In addition to animal products such as meat, milk and eggs, mycotoxins enter the food chain via cereal-based foods, which can accumulate in different organs or tissues. In particular, the main chemical structure of mycotoxins that undergo various metabolic changes in originated foods varies considerably. Mycotoxin derivatives, which cannot be detected by conventional analytical techniques as the structure changes in the plant, are described as "modified mycotoxin". Although the natural formation of modified mycotoxins has been shown in food and animal feed for a long time, there are not enough directives, regulations and recommendations for food and feed considering these modified species. In addition, little is known about the toxicity of these modified mycotoxins. In fact, the lack of analytical standards and reference materials has complicated their definition and partly limits the progress of research in this area. All of these effects can cause the modified mycotoxin components in food and feed to be taken into account. Given all these factors, the monitoring of the presence of these potentially dangerous metabolites is seen as an important activity in terms of food safety and provision of human/animal health. In this study, the definition of modified mycotoxins, their presence in food, possible damages and methods of protection and control have been examined in the light of current literature information.

Keywords: Mycotoxin, Hazard, Modified, Food safety

INTRODUCTION

Mycotoxins are toxic secondary compounds that can be synthesized under specific conditions by some fungal species which develop in a variety of food. The most common mycotoxins produced mainly by *Aspergillus, Fusarium, Penicillium* and *Alternaria* fungi are: aflatoxins; ochratoxin a (OTA); patulin; citrinin, trichothecenes: deoxynivalenol (DON), T2 toxin (T2) and HT2 toxin (HT2); fumonisins and zearalenone (ZEN). Mycotoxins can occur in the food chain due to fungal infections of plants consumed directly by humans or used as feed in livestock. Metabolism of imported mycotoxins can lead to mycotoxin accumulation in different organs or tissues entering the food chain via meat, milk or eggs (Accensi et al., 2006). Mycotoxins can undergo chemical reactions such as oxidation, reduction and hydrolysis as well as phase I and phase II metabolism, including amino acids, sulfate groups and second conjugation with glutathione. All these changes significantly change the chemical structure of the main component (Righetti et al., 2016). Mycotoxin derivatives, which cannot be detected

by conventional analytical techniques as the structure changes in the plant, are described as "modified mycotoxin". Even though the natural formation of modified mycotoxins has been shown in foods and animal feeds in the last ten years, there are no adequate directives, regulations and recommendations for food and feed, taking these modified derivatives into account. In addition, little is known about the toxicity, toxicokinetics and potential in vivo hydrolysis of these modified mycotoxins. When modified mycotoxins enter the intestinal tract, they are disrupted by gastric acids, small intestine enzymes or large intestinal microbial activity. This leads to the release of free and unbound mycotoxins in the human gut and thus mycotoxin accumulation (Marin et al., 2013; Dellafiora et al., 2016). For this reason, the release of the modified metabolites of mycotoxins in the human intestine has led to a more comprehensive assessment of the risk of exposure to these compounds. Modified mycotoxins such as mycoestrogens, trichothecenes, and fumonisins can be detected in cereal-based foods and feeds by non-conventional methods. More specifically, modified mycotoxin subspecies such as deoxynivalenol-3-glucoside (DON-3G), zearalenone-14-glucoside (ZEN-14G), HT-2-toxin-3glucoside (HT-2-3G) diacetoxysirpenol (NAS-3G), mono-acetoxysirpenol-3-glucoside (MAS-3G), neosolaniol-3-glucoside (NEO-3G) and fumonisins-esters can be determined (Boevre et al., 2015). Toxic effects of ZEN, NIV, T2 HT2, DON and fumonosin were investigated in vivo and in vitro. The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) reviewed the potential effects of modified mycotoxins on human health and called for analytical data left open until October 2014. In fact, the lack of analytical standards and reference materials has complicated their identities and partly limits research progress in this area. All of these effects can cause to underestimating the total content of mycotoxins in food and feeds. For this reason, the monitoring of the presence of these potentially dangerous metabolites remains one of the main tasks for food safety and human/animal health (Righetti et al., 2016). In this review, the definition of modified mycotoxins, their presence in food, possible damages and methods of protection and control will be discussed.

Modified Mycotoxins

Modified mycotoxins were first uncovered by Gareis and Bauer (1990) with the discovery of the breakdown of zearalenon-14-glucoside (ZEN-14G) during digestion in pigs. Initially the modified mycotoxins were expressed as non-detectable molecules by standard routine analysis. Metabolism of mycotoxins by plants can occur in part and leads to the production of components called modified mycotoxins. Three phases of chemical modification of these xenobiotic compounds can be observed during plant metabolism. Phase I processing involves reduction, oxidation or acetylation of the main mitotoxin and the emergence of a higher level of toxicity resulting in the activation of the derivatized molecule. Phase II is based on the formation of more hydrophilic compounds through the enzymatic conversion of more reactive groups such as conjugation, glucosidation and sulfation and facilitating the elimination of modified mycotoxins and thus the reduction of toxicity. Stage III involves the cleavage of mycotoxins to root or binding to cell wall of the plant. However, mammalian and fungal metabolites derived from mycotoxins, which can not be detected in routine analyzes, are also other modified mycotoxins that are thermally generated during the processing of food, but which are not produced principally by plants (Dellafiora et al., 2016). Following this complexity, all modified mycotoxins were systematically defined in four hierarchical steps by Rychlik and Humpf (2014). In the first step, 'free', 'matrix related' and 'modified' mycotoxins were distinguished. Then, the modified mycotoxins were separated into 'biologically' and 'chemically' modified derivatives. The biologically modified compounds are then distinguished as being 'functionalized', 'conjugated' or 'modified differently'. At last, a distinction is made between the 'plant', 'animal' and 'fungal' conjugates for biologically conjugated mycotoxins (Table 1).

| Level 1 | Level 2 | Level 3 | Level 4 | Example |
|------------|------------------------|-----------------------|------------|----------------------------|
| Free | | | | Deoxynivalenol, |
| mycotoxins | | | | zearalenone, |
| | | | | 3/15-acetyl-deoxynivalenol |
| Matrix- | Complexes, physically | | | |
| related | dissolved or entrapped | | | |
| mycotoxins | Covalently bound | | | |
| Modified | Biologically modified | Functionalized (phase | | |
| mycotoxins | | I metabolites) | | |
| | | | Conjugated | Deoxynivalenol-3-glucoside |
| | | | by plants | |
| | | | Conjugated | Deoxynivalenol-3/8/15- |
| | | Conjugated (phase II | by animals | glucuronide |
| | | metabolites) | Conjugated | Zearalenone-14-sulphate |
| | | | by fungi | Deepoxy-deoxynivalenol |
| | | | | Nordeoxynivalenol A-C |
| | | | | Deoxynivalenol-sulphonate, |
| | | | | Nordeoxynivalenol A-C |
| | Chemically modified | Different modified | | |
| | | Thermally formed | | |
| | | Non-thermally | | |
| | | formed | | |

Table 1. Systematic Classification of Modified Mycotoxins by Rychlik and Humpf (2014)

Because of all the mentioned reasons, all of mycotoxins are ignored in food and feed. For this reason, the monitoring of the presence of these potentially dangerous metabolites has become very important nowadays. In this frame, liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (LC/MS) has been accepted as the gold standard for the determination of available quantities for at least ten years (Righetti et al., 2016). In general, there are three different approaches to the analysis of modified mycotoxins: direct and indirect determination, and also non-targeted analysis. Direct analysis provides advantages when conventional, standardized analytical methods are appropriate, but they should be optimized and adjusted according to their structurally related chemical properties as compared to free mycotoxins. The major disadvantage of the direct assay is that up to now only the reference substance is available for the analysis of a few modified mycotoxin (e.g., DON-3-Glc). During the malting process, a slight increase in DON3G was reported before germination despite a significant drop in DON and ADON. However, during the drying of malt, no significant changes were observed for DON or ADON, but variable results were reported for DON3G (Lancova et al., 2008).

Presence of Modified Mycotoxins in Foods

A limited number of studies have revealed the presence of modified mycotoxins in foods. The products which are mainly affected in the foods are cereal-based products which are at the initial stage of fermentation or a malt process. Studies conducted between 2010 and 2014 to detect mycotoxins have generally focused on grains. Lattanzio and Visconti (2012) reported decreased incidence in tricothecenes and decreased mean concentrations, also: DON3G (55.85% μ g / kg), 15ADON (31.37% μ g / kg), 3ADON (22.15% μ g / kg) and FUS-X (5.5% ug

/ kg). They also reported that the estimated concentration ratios of HT2-G / HT-2 and T2-G / T-2 were 27% and 24%, respectively. Also in the analyzed food, especially beer, is a grain product which is most exposed during the processing and has been examined by many researchers.

A limited number of studies to determine the potential presence of available information has been summarized by the Food Standards Agency of London (2016) as shown in Table 2. However, to our knowledge it has not been any efforts to presence of modified mycotoxins in Turkey. The studies focused on the detection of unmodified species of mycotoxins in general. Thus it is seen that the lack of informative data regarding the potential dangers of modified mycotoxins in Turkey.

| Food matrix | | n (sample) | Conjugates | n (positive) |
|-------------------------------|-------------------|------------|--|--------------|
| Beverage | Pain / Ale | 9 | DON3Glc | 5 (56%) |
| | Beer | 21 | DON3Glc | 9 (43%) |
| Herbs and spices | | 30 | β -ZEL, β -ZEL14Glc, ZEN14Glc, | 5 (17%) |
| | | | ZEN14Sulf | |
| Cereal products Baby products | | 30 | DON3Glc | 3 (10%) |
| Grain products | | 25 | DON3Glc | 6 (24%) |
| | Breakfast cereals | 60 | DON3Glc | 7 (12%) |
| | | | | |

Table 2. Summary of modified mycotoxin forms found in different products

Mechanisms of Action

In a small number of studies of metabolism on body, the exact mechanism of bioavailability has not been established. Recent studies have identified the hydrolytic fate of D3G during in vitro digestion. D3G was found to be resistant to hydrochloric acid, and it was thought that mammals could not be hydrolyzed in the digestive tract. Some lactic acid bacteria located in the intestinal flora, such as Enterococcus durans, E. mundtii or Lactobacillus plantarum, recover the glucose from the DON, although it is not the hydrolytic effect of human cytosolic β glucosidase. Although the potential cleavage of D3G is shown during digestion, in vivo studies are necessary to quantitatively describe the DON release from D3G. Initial results suggest that D3G is partially cleaved from DON associated with glucuronide in rat urine. There is little information about the metabolism and toxicological mechanisms of trichothecenin in humans and animals. The bioavailability of DON has been reported to be low in sheep and cows and relatively high in pigs. Seeing whether D3G shows an increased uptake relative to DON is the most interesting result of these studies (Berthiller et al., 2013). B-type trichothecene deoxynivalenol (DON), which is mostly produced by Fusarium graminearum and F. *culmorum*, is a substance frequently polluting cereal products all over the world. DON binds to the 60S subunit of the ribosomes to exhibit their biological activity and thus inhibit protein biosynthesis. DON also affects the transcription of pro-inflammatory genes and mRNA stability. In animals, DON causes symptoms such as vomiting, anorexia, weight loss and susceptibility to infectious diseases. In addition, DON affects intestinal integrity and changes the local intestinal immune response. In humans, DON is associated with gastroenteritis attacks (Nagl et al., 2014). Due to the wide variety of adverse health effects, DON has a significant economic impact and is a major concern for public health. As a result, some countries have set a maximum limit or threshold for DON in food and feed. However, masked DON forms arising from conjugation reactions during phase II metabolism in plants have been ignored in the legal regimes of many countries due to the lack of toxicological data. DON is one of the most common mycotoxins in cereal products worldwide. DON is a risk for human and animal health due to its wide side effect effects. Recently, new information on DON metabolism has led to the use of the biomarker approach to assess human exposure. In some subpopulations, a significant proportion of the individuals tested have been claimed to exceed the maximum acceptable amount for DON. Since the modified mycotoxin deoxynivalenol-3-b-D-glucoside (DON-3-GIc) is partially cleaved during mammalian digestion, further evaluation of DON has been reported to further increase the total mycotoxin burden associated with exposure (Nagl et al., 2015).

Fusarium trichothecenes can be divided into two main groups: Type A and Type B tricothecenes Type A trichothecenes are defined by the absence of a keto (carbonyl) function in carbon atom 8 (C-8), whereas type B trichothecenes are defined by the presence of a keto function at C-8 lt. Also types A and B can be distinguished by the presence (type B) and absence (type A) of a hydroxyl function at C-7. The most concerning tricothecenes in wheat and barley growing areas are DON, nivalenol (NIV) and their acetylated derivatives from B-type tricothecenes. Within the *Fusarium graminearum* species complex, there are three major trichothecene phenotypes (chemotypes), 3-3-ADON, 15-ADON and NIV. Although the strains predominantly tend to produce 3-ADON or 15-ADON, non-acetylated trichothecene DON frequently accumulates in wheat seed, because wheat or fungal esterases (deacetylases) remove acetyl units from 3-ADON or 15-ADON (Alexander et al., 2011).

Various effect mechanisms for FX have been reported. In general, FX is known to induce a ribotoxic stress response that inhibits protein and DNA synthesis in eukaryotic cells. In detail, it causes degradation of eukaryotic poliribosomes at high concentrations in vitro. FX binds to the ribosomes and inhibits the formation of the second peptide bond but does not inhibit polypeptide chain initiation. Furthermore, FX stimulates the DNA strand breakage of dose-dependent and segmented Caco-2 cells. This action is stronger than the action produced by the metabolite NIV. Previously, FX has been reported to exhibit a poor clastogenic effect on Chinese hamster V79-E cells, although these mechanisms suggest that FX is genotoxic in intestinal cells. The mechanisms of action of FX have not yet been fully understood. Further studies are needed to elucidate this problem with various studies that need to be done (Otsubo et al., 1972; Ueno et al., 1973; Mizuno, 1975; Aupanun et al., 2017).

FX alone showed greater toxicity in various cell types, including U-937 macrophages, HL-60 cells, RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages, SF-9 insect cells and Caco-2 cells compared to NIV and other type B trichothecenes (Aupanun et al., 2017). Dual combination of DON and NIV at low concentrations exhibited synergistic toxicity in Caco-2 cells but exhibited antagonistic effects (DON-NIV-FX) in the inverse combination (Alessane-Kpembi et al., 2013). FX is highly toxic to organs containing actively proliferating cells. Following administration of low dose FX (0.1, 0.3 and 0.5 mg / kg BW) in mice, it has been reported to induce lymphocyte apoptosis in lymphoid tissues, including Peyer's patches, thymus and spleen. FX has been reported to have a higher emetic potential than other tested mycotoxins (DON, NIV, 3-ADON and 15-ADON) in minks (Wu et al., 2013). Administration of FX (3.5 mg/kg BW) orally to pregnant mice in fetus brains, especially telencephalon, induced apoptosis (Sutjarit et al., 2014). Besides such toxic effects, administration of FX (5 μ g / area) alone in shaved guinea pig skin has been reported to induce erythema and curing caused by deteriorating fibrolytes and cilium cells (Yang et al., 2017).

In an investigation in which individual or combined toxicological effects of DON, NIV and their mycotoxins in multiple deoxynivalenol family, such as acetyl derivatives of 3-ADON, 15-ADON, D3G and FX deoxynivalenol, in vivo, were examined in human gastric epithelium (GES-1) GES-1 cells, and that 3-ADON is less effective at reducing cell viability compared to DON, while the main compounds of 15-ADON and FX in GES-1 cells are slightly stronger than DON and NIV. In general, the ability of mycotoxins to be toxic when assessed individually has been determined in an increasing order to 3-ADONA<15-ADON </p>

FX at low and / or moderate inhibitory concentrations (IC10-IC70, IC10-IC80 and IC10-IC40) for the interaction types of mycotoxin mixtures are observed, respectively. It has been determined that 15-ADON + NIV and 15-ADON + FX produce nearly complete antagonistic cytotoxicity on the GES-1 cell model, while FX + NIV results in almost completely synergistic cytotoxicity (Yang et al., 2017). In another study, the effects of feeding with six different diets supplemented with DON levels increased for 45 days on the liver and gene markers of the zebrafish were investigated. In addition to these parameters, long term effects on fertility, juvenile larval swimming activity and global DNA methylation in embryos have been investigated. Adult zebrafish performance was not affected by DON added diets. Liver CYP1A mRNA levels were found to be significantly higher in fish fed with 2.0 ppm DON compared to control, 0.1, 0.5 and 1.5 ppm groups. The gene transcripts of CuZn, SOD and Cyclin G1 increased as the DON content in the diet increased. It was determined that fish fed with 1.5 ppm DON had 22% higher fertility than the control group. It was observed that increased larval swimming activity was observed in the high DON group. The results have been shown that DON undergo detoxification in the liver via the phase 1 system and cause deterioration of the oxidative stability. It has not been determined in this study that the effects observed in egg production and larval swim activity arose whether due to direct interaction of DON with the reproductive organs or oxidative imbalance of liver of the parent emerged as a secondary (Pestka et al., 1987). In this study, the mechanism of action of modified mycotoxins in the embryonic period cannot be fully explained.

Although mycotoxins have different toxic effects, it is a known fact that they all target the immune system. Mycotoxins have immunostimulatory or immunosuppressive effects depending on concentration and parameter. Modified mycotoxins, which are the products of subsequent cleavage of these toxic components, have been reported to have a similarly immunosuppressive effect (Petska et al., 1987; Bouhet et al., 2006). The immune system is the defense mechanism that is primarily responsible for organisms invading the body. Because of contaminated with mycotoxin feed intake, increased sensitivity to infectious diseases leads to problems such as a chronic infection reoccurrence and reduced vaccine efficacy (Pierron et al., 2016). In another study (Accensi et al., 2006), however, it was determined that the modified mycotoxins did not cause immunosuppression.

Future Perspectives

To fully explain the exposure to modified mycotoxins, a more detailed understanding of their occurrence is essential. This is linked to the development of analytical techniques that can detect these compounds in various food matrices. DON3G is a well-researched compound that clearly demonstrates the problem that can occur with high incidence of modified mycotoxins and relatively high concentrations in cereal and cereal-based products. Because of altered physico-chemical properties, modified mycotoxins generally behave differently when compared to free mycotoxins. DON3G is an indicator of how the modified mycotoxin can enter a different reaction when subjected to food processing stages compared to the free mycotoxin DON. The effect of common household techniques such as food processing, industrial processes, as well as boiling of rice or macaroni, can have a profound effect on the presence and concentration of modified mycotoxins and must be extensively investigated. In industrial processes the influence of common domestic techniques such as the processing of food, as well as the boiling of rice or macaroni, can have a profound effect on the presence and concentration of modified mycotoxins and must be extensively investigated. In addition to the processing of food in industrial process, common household techniques such as boiling rice or macaroni can have a profound effect on the presence and concentration of modified mycotoxins and should be extensively investigated. Synthesis of chemical standards, monitoring of formation, toxicity assessment and toxicokinetic studies of modified forms for this area can be made. Different control strategies have been described to prevent the growth of mycotoxigenic fungi in the preharvest period to prevent the growth of mycotoxins in food, as well as different control strategies to prevent mycotoxin contamination: use of resistant varieties before harvesting, good agricultural practices, field management and use of chemical or biological detoxifying agents, timely harvesting and precisely tuned equipment usage and post-harvest storage conditions, modified atmospheres, fumigation, irradiation, use of mycotoxin modifiers. To the best of our knowledge, however, no inhibition, detoxification or neutralization technique is specifically described for modified mycotoxins. It is clear that necessary laws and regulations should be made for this area.

REFERENCES

- Accensi, F., Pinton, P., Callu, P., Abella-Bourges, N., Guelfi, J. F., Grosjean, F., Oswald, I. P. (2006). Ingestion of low doses of deoxynivalenol does not affect hematological, biochemical, or immune responses of piglets. J. Anim. Sci., 84(7): 1935-1942.
- Alassane-Kpembi, I., Kolf-Clauw, M. Gauthier, T., Abrami, R., Abiola, F. A., Oswald, I. P., Puel, O. (2013). New insights into mycotoxin mixtures: the toxicity of low doses of Type B trichothecenes on intestinal epithelial cells is synergistic. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol., 272(1): 191-198.
- Alexander, N. J., McCormick, S. P., Waalwijk, C., van der Lee, T., Proctor R. H. (2011). The genetic basis for 3-ADON and 15-ADON trichothecene chemotypes in *Fusarium*. Fungal Genet. Biol., 48(5): 485-495.
- Anfossi, L., Giovannoli, C., Baggiani, C. (2016). Mycotoxin detection. Current Opinion in Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 37(Supplement C): 120-126.
- Aupanun, S., Poapolathep, S., Giorgi, M., Imsilp, K., Poapolathep, A. (2017). An overview of the toxicology and toxicokinetics of fusarenon-X, a type B trichothecene mycotoxin. J. Vet. Med. Sci., 2017, 79(1): 6-13.
- Berthiller, F., Crews, C., Dall'Asta, C., Saeger, S. D., Haesaert, G., Karlovsky, P., Oswald, I. P. Walburga, S., Gerrit, S., Joerg S. (2013). Masked mycotoxins: A review. Mol. Nutr. Food Res., 57(1): 165-186.
- Boevre, M. D., Graniczkowska, K., Saeger, S. D. (2015). Metabolism of modified mycotoxins studied through in vitro and in vivo models: an overview. Toxicol. Lett., 233(1): 24-28.
- Bouhet, S., Le Dorze, E., Peres, S., Fairbrother, J. M., Oswald, I. P. (2006). Mycotoxin fumonisin B 1 selectively down-regulates the basal IL-8 expression in pig intestine: in vivo and in vitro studies. Food Chem. Toxicol., 44(10): 1768-1773.
- Dellafiora, L., Dall'Asta, C. (2016). Masked mycotoxins: An emerging issue that makes renegotiable what is ordinary. Food chem., 213: 534-535.
- Gareis, M., Bauer, J., Thiem, J., Plank, G., Grabley, S., Gedek, B. (1990). Cleavage of Zearalenone-Glycoside, a "Masked" Mycotoxin, during Digestion in Swine. Zoonoses and Public Health, 37(1-10): 236-240.
- Lancova, K., Hajslova, J., Poustka, J., Krplova, A., Zachariasova, M., Dostalek, P., Sachambula, L. (2008). Transfer of *Fusarium* mycotoxins and 'masked' deoxynivalenol (deoxynivalenol-3-glucoside) from field barley through malt to beer. Food Addit. Contam. Part A, 25(6): 732-744.
- Lattanzio, V. M., Visconti, A., Haidukowski, M., Pascale, M. (2012). Identification and characterization of new *Fusarium* masked mycotoxins, T2 and HT2 glycosyl derivatives, in naturally contaminated wheat and oats by liquid chromatography-high-resolution mass spectrometry. Int. J. Mass. Spectrom., 47(4): 466-475.

- Marin, S., Ramos, A. J., Cano-Sancho, G., Sanchis, V. (2016). Mycotoxins: Occurrence, toxicology, and exposure assessment. Food Chem. Toxicol., 60: 218-237.
- McDonald, S. (2016) Evaluation of masked mycotoxins in food and their release and uptake in the gut. UK: Food and Environment Research Agency; Contract No: FS102101.
- Mizuno, S. (1975). Mechanism of inhbition of protein systhesis initiation by diacetoxyscirpenol and fusarenon X in the reticulocyte lysate system. Biochim. Biophys Acta., 383(2): 207-214.
- Nagl, V., Woechtl, B., Schwartz-Zimmermann, H. E., Hennig-Pauka, I., Moll, W. D., Adam, G., Berthiller, F. (2014). Metabolism of the masked mycotoxin deoxynivalenol-3glucoside in pigs. Toxicol. Lett., 229(1): 190-197.
- Nagl, V., Schatzmayr, G. (2015). Deoxynivalenol and its masked forms in food and feed. Curr. Opin. Food Sci., 5: 43-49.
- Otsubo, K., Kaden, P., Mittermayer, C. (1972). Polyribosomal breakdown in mouse fibroblasts (L-cells) by Fusarenon-X, a toxic principle isolated from *Fusarium* nivale. Biochim. Biophys Acta, 287(3): 520-525.
- Pestka, J., Tai, J. H., Witt, M., Dixon, D., Forsell, J. (1987). Suppression of immune response in the B6C3F1 mouse after dietary exposure to the *Fusarium* mycotoxins deoxynivalenol (vomitoxin) and zearalenone. Food Chem. Toxicol., 25(4): 297-304.
- Pierron, A., Alassane-Kpembi, I., Oswald, I. P. (2016). Impact of mycotoxin on immune response and consequences for pig health. Animal Nutrition, 2(2): 63-68.
- Righetti, L., Paglia, G., Galaverna, G., Dall'Asta, C. (2016). Recent Advances and Future Challenges in Modified Mycotoxin Analysis: Why HRMS Has Become a Key Instrument in Food Contaminant Research. Toxins, 8(12): 361.
- Rychlik, M., Humpf, H. U., Marko, D., Dänicke, S., Mally, A., Berthiller, F., Klaffke, H., Lorenz, N. (2014). Proposal of a comprehensive definition of modified and other forms of mycotoxins including "masked" mycotoxins. Mycotoxin Research, 30(4): 197-205.
- Sanden, M., Jørgensen, S., Hemre, G. I., Ørnsrud, R., Sissener, N. H. (2012). Zebrafish (Danio rerio) as a model for investigating dietary toxic effects of deoxynivalenol contamination in aquaculture feeds. Food Chem. Toxicol., 50(12): 4441-4448.
- Sutjarit, S., Nakayama, S. M. M., Ikenaka, Y., Ishizuka, M., Banlunara, W., Rerkamnuaychoke, W., Kumagai, S., Poapolathep, A. (2014). Apoptosis and gene expression in the developing mouse brain of fusarenon-X-treated pregnant mice. Toxicol. Lett., 229(1): 292-302.
- Ueno, Y., Nakajima, M., Sakai, K., Ishii, K., Sato, N. (1973). Comparative toxicology of trichothec mycotoxins: inhibition of protein synthesis in animal cells. J. Biochem., 74(2): 285-296.
- Wu, W., Bates, M. A., Bursian, S. J., Link, J. E., Flannery, B. M., Sugita-Konishi, Y., Watanabe, M., Zhang, H., Pestka, J. J. (2013). Comparison of emetic potencies of the 8-ketotrichothecenes deoxynivalenol, 15-acetyldeoxynivalenol, 3acetyldeoxynivalenol, fusarenon X, and nivalenol. Toxicol. Sci., 131(1): 279-291.
- Yang, Y., Yu, S., Tan, Y., Liu, N., Wu, A. (2017). Individual and Combined Cytotoxic Effects of Co-Occurring Deoxynivalenol Family Mycotoxins on Human Gastric Epithelial Cells. Toxins., 9(3): 96.

A STUDY ON THE PREVALENCE OF SALMONELLA BY IMS-PCR AND CONVENTIONAL CULTURE METHODS IN BEEF MEATS SOLD IN ERZURUM, TURKEY

Alper BARAN*¹, Mehmet Cemal ADIGÜZEL², Ahmet ERDOĞAN³, Tamer TURGUT⁴

¹Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Department of Food Quality Control and Analysis, Erzurum, Turkey

²Atatürk University, Faculty of Veterinary, Department of Microbiology, Erzurum, Turkey ³Atatürk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Food Engineering, Erzurum, Turkey ⁴Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Department of Food Technology, Erzurum, Turkey * alper.baran@atauni.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

In this study, the presence of *Salmonella* spp. and specific microbiological parameters and were investigated in 30 beef meat samples collected from markets and butcher shops. The specific microbiological parameters were determined using a conventional cultural method and the presence of *Salmonella* spp. in beef meat samples was determined using conventional and immunomagnetic separation (IMS)-polymerase chain reaction (PCR) methods. In addition, antimicrobial susceptibility of the isolates was revealed using the Kirby–Bauer disc diffusion method. The results indicated that 1 of the 30 samples were positive for *Salmonella* spp. by the conventional method, and 8 of the 30 were positive by the IMS-PCR method. These results indicate a high prevalence of *Salmonella* spp. in beef meat samples from Erzurum city, Turkey, and the general microbiological properties should be considered for public health. The results also show that the IMS-PCR technique was superior to the conventional method for detecting *Salmonella* in beef meat.

Keywords: Salmonella, IMS-PCR, Beef meat, Microbiological

INTRODUCTION

Meat is a widely-consumed food in world due to its unique aroma and flavor as well as containing important nutrients such as protein, B group of vitamins and iron. It has a critical importance for the growth and development of humans due to nutritional composition contained (Williams, 2007). According to data of Turkish Statistical Institute, beef meat production in Turkey was 1,149,262 in 2015 (COMCEC, 2017).

Meat is an ideal medium for the development of bacteria due to its neutral pH, rich protein content and high-water activity. The meat, which has a highly potential for production and consumption, is contaminated with a variety of pathogen micro-organisms such as, *Salmonella*, Listeria, Escherichia, Shigella and Staphylococcus because of production, transport and selling under unhygienic conditions (Zhao et al., 2001). The World Health Organization reports that one out of every 10 people in the world has been infected with foodborne infections and about 420.000 of these cases have been fatal. On the other hand, the number of high bacteria lead to shortening of shelf life by deterioration of meat and therefore it may cause the economic loss (WHO, 2015).

Salmonella, an ubiquitous, short rod-shaped, facultative and Gram-negative bacteria which pose a public health concern worldwide. The warm-blooded animals such as livestock, wildlife, poultry, and companion animals and humans are host for *Salmonella* spp (D'Aoust and Maurer, 2007; Jalil and Islam, 2012). This enteric bacterium can lead to Salmonellosis by consumption foods that have been contaminated with feces of wild or livestock animals (D'Aoust and Maurer, 2007). According to a report published in 2015 by the Centers for Disease Control and

Prevention (Enterotoxigenic), it is estimated that about 1.2 million people in the U.S. have been exposed to *Salmonella* infections, and that an average of 19.000 hospitalizations and 380 deaths occur from this infection between 2000 and 2008. In addition to the lack of records on foodborne *Salmonella* infections in Turkey, there is a limited number of studies on food containing this microorganism.

Today, there are many methods for isolation and identification of *Salmonella* spp from foods. The main methods used in the detection of Salmonella spp. are conventional culture, Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) technology, immunology-based, and bacteriophage-based assays (Jeníková et al., 2010). The conventional culturing method, have used from past until today, is laborious and time consuming because of taking 5-7 days (Lee et al., 2015). Pre- and selective enrichment stages followed by streaking onto selective agars and finally verifying the identity of isolates by biochemical tests are the reasons of this situation. The detection of Salmonella spp. has a great importance in terms of public health, more rapid and sensitive methods are needed. Despite the providing rapid results in molecular based methods, they have some disadvantages such as requirement of higher level skill, more time and labor in the preparation and removing of the mixture, and PCR inhibition due to possible contamination from food matrix (Liébana et al., 2014). Removing inhibitor components is the most important step in the success of PCR applications and there are several methods to accomplish this (Schrader et al., 2012). IMS is one of them, an effective method for separating target microorganisms from food matrix materials and other microorganisms found in floras. In this method, metallic spheres coated with antibodies specific to the target microorganism are removed by a magnet after adding into the pre-enriched sample. The techniques such as conventional culturing, ELISA, microscopy, electrochemical impedance technology, and PCR are used to identify the separated lysate in the next step (Liébana et al., 2014).

There are not enough studies on the presence of *Salmonella* spp. in beef meats offered for sale in markets in Erzurum, located in the east of Turkey. Therefore, in the present study, it was aimed to determine the presence of *Salmonella* spp. by both classical culture and IMS-PCR technique, and some microbiological properties in meats offered for sale.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Materials

In total, 30 beef meat samples were collected from 19 different local markets and retail stores, distributed in Erzurum city, Turkey during the May-December 2016. All samples were transferred to the laboratory under cold chain within one hour and microbiological analyzes were carried out on the same day.

Microbiological Analysis

Ten g of each meat samples were transferred to sterile stomacher bag which contained 90 ml of sterile Ringers (Merck, 115525) ¹/₄ solution and mixture was homogenized by a stomacher blender (IUL Instruments, Barcelona, Spain)for 90 s. A series of 10-fold dilutions was prepared in tubes containing 9 ml of sterile Ringer's ¹/₄ solution. Then, each diluted sample (0.1 mL) was plated on proper growth media except for total coliforms (pouring method). Total aerobic mesophilic bacteria were enumerated on Plate Count Agar (PCA) (Merck, 105463), after 48-72 h at 32 ± 1 °C; total coliforms on Violet Red Bile (VRB) Agar (Oxoid, CM0107B) after 48 h at 37 ± 1 °C; Enterococcaceae on Kanamycin Aesculin Azide (KAA) Agar (Oxoid, CM0085) after 48 h at 37 ± 1 °C; Pseudomonas on Pseudomonas Selective agar (Merck, 1.07620) supplemented with CFC (Merck, 1.07627) after 48 h at 25 °C; Yeast and molds on Rose Bengal Chloramphenicol (RBC) agar (Merck, 1.00467) after 5-7 d at 25 °C.

Bacterial strain

Positive control used in PCR assay was obtained from Turkey Public Health Institution Microbiology Reference Laboratories (*Salmonella* Typhimurium RSSK 95091).

Isolation and identification of Salmonella spp. Conventional Method

Isolation and identification of *Salmonella* spp. was performed according to ISO 6579: 2002. Briefly, 25 g of meat sample was transferred to filtered stomacher bags containing 225 ml of sterile buffered peptone water (Merck, 107228) and homogenized with masticator (Neutec Masticator, Neutec Group, Inc., Farm- ingdale, NY) for 90 s. Homogenized samples were incubated for pre-enrichment for 24 h. Then, 1 mL was transferred to tube containing Muller-Kauffmann tetrathionate/novabiocin broth (MKTTn) (Oxoid, CM1048) supplemented with novobiocin (Oxoid, SR0181) in 10 ml volume and 0.1 mL of pre-enriched solution was transferred to tube containing Rappaport-Vassiliadis (RV) medium (Merck, 1.07700) in 10 mL volume. For selective enrichment, the tubes with RV were incubated at 41.5 °C for 24 h and inoculated tubes with MKTTn were incubated for 37 °C for 24 h. Following the incubation, enrichment samples were streaked onto Xylose Lysine Tergitol-4 (XLT-4) agar (Oxoid, CM1061) supplemented with tergitol (Oxoid, SR0237) and Xylose Lysine Deoxycholate (XLD) agar (Merck 1.05287) and incubated at 37 °C overnight. The colonies with a black centre with pinky-reddish periphery on XLD agar and black or black-centered with a yellow periphery on XLT4 agar were evaluated as suspicious for Salmonella. Suspicious colonies of being Salmonella spp. were selected and identified by inoculating to tubes containing 7 mL of Triple Sugar İron Agar (TSIA) (Oxoid, CM0277B), Lysine İron Agar (LIA) (Oxoid, CM0381) and urea broth (Merck, 1.08483) using a inoculating needle. Following the incubation of tubes at 37 °C for 24 h, typical reaction on TSIA (alkaline slant, acid butt, positive H2S and positive/negative gas) and LIA (alkaline slant, alkaline butt, positive H2S) and urea negative cultures were evaluated as suspicious for Salmonella. The other biochemical tests were performed by using GN Cards (BioMérieux, Inc., Craponne, France) including 64 different test substrates on VITEK 2 Compact system (BioMérieux) for verifying the isolates. For this purpose, the isolates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hour on blood agar. A sufficient number of colonies from pure culture were suspended in a polystyrene tube containing 3.0 mL of sterile saline solution (0.45%, pH 4.5). TheMcFarland turbidity of solution was adjusted to 0.5 using a turbidity meter. Then, the suspension was loaded on the GN cards. Identification of presumptive Salmonella spp. isolates was performed on VİTEK2 Compact System (BioMérieux, Marcy l'Étoile, France) within 3 h using fluorescence reading of GN cards. VİTEK2 Compact System Software identified Salmonella spp. with a level of 97-99% probability.

IMS Method

Salmonella spp. were separated from pre-enriched samples using Dynabeads® anti-Salmonella (ThermoFischer Scientific, 71002) according to the manufacturer's instruction to perform IMS-PCR technique. Briefly, 20 μ l of Dynabeads® anti-Salmonella was pipetted into 1.5 ml of sterile ependorfs placed in the MPC-S rack. Then, 1 mL pre-enriched samples were added to eppendorfs. Eppendorfs placed on MPC-S rack were incubated with gentle agitation for 10 min, followed by inverting it at least five times to mix the samples and beads. Hereafter, a magnetic plate was placed on the MPC-S rack and recovery of the beads was performed for 3 minutes. After recovery, the supernatant was carefully removed. Following the removal of the magnetic plate from the MPC-S rack, the IMS beads-bacteria complex on the tube wall were washed with 1 mL wash buffer (PBS with 0.05% Tween-20). Washing process was repeated twice. Buffer-washed dynabead-bacteria complex were diluted with 100 μ l of Tris-EDTA buffer (pH, 8). This complex was maintained at -80 ° C until used in the PCR. DNA extraction from the Dynebead-bacterial complex was performed by the boiling method. For this purpose, 100 μ l of Tris-EDTA buffer solution (pH, 8.0) containing dynebead-bacteria was boiled for 10 min. At the end of the boiling, the samples were cooled on ice and centrifuged at 10.000 g for 15 sec. The supernatant obtained by centrifugation was used as a directly DNA template.

PCR Method

PCR primers (invAFW: 5'-ACA GTG CTC GTT TAC GAC CTG AAT-3'; invARV 5'-AGA CGA CTG GTA CTG ATC GAT AAT-3') were used to specifically amplify a 284-bp genomic fragment of the invA gen, which is highly specific for *Salmonella* spp. for PCR assays of the isolates. The PCR amplifications were performed in a total volume of 15 μ L solution containing 2 μ l of template DNA, 1× PCR buffer (Sigma), 0.25 mM MgCl2 (Sigma), 200 μ M (each) dNTP (Sigma), 10 pmol of each primer, 1.25 U of Taq polymerase (Sigma). The PCR cycle condition was an initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 min; 30 cycles of 95°C 30 s, 55°C 30 s and 72°C 30 s; and a final extention at 72°C for 5 min. The amplified products were detected by electrophoresis in a 1% agarose gel in Tris/Borate/EDTA Buffer (TBE, pH 8.3) pre-stained with ethidium bromide. Then agarose gel visualized in UV light using Gel DocTM XR+ Gel Documentation System (BioRad, USA).

RESULTS

Microbiological Characteristics of Meat samples

The microbial counts (log10 CFU/g) data for meat samples collected from 19 retail markets are presented in Table 1.

As shown in Table 1, the total aerobic mesophilic bacteria count (TAMB), Pseudomonas, yeast and moulds, coliform bacteria, Enterococcus and Staphylococcus/Micrococcus counts of the 30 beef meat samples showed differences of <10-9.69, <10-6.17, <10-5.69, <10-7.06, <10-4.76, and <10-5.52, respectively.

| Total Aerobic | Pseudomonads | Yeast and | Coliform | Enterococci | Staph- |
|---------------------|--------------|-----------|----------|-------------|----------|
| Mesophilic Bacteria | | Moulds | | | Microcci |
| <10 | <10 | <10 | 3.60 | <10 | 2.70 |
| <10 | 3.00 | <10 | <10 | <10 | <10 |
| 4.78 | <10 | 3.52 | 4.70 | 2.30 | 4.37 |
| 5.00 | <10 | <10 | 4.48 | 2.85 | <10 |
| 5.00 | <10 | 4.00 | <10 | <10 | <10 |
| 5.06 | 2.85 | 4.04 | 3.60 | 3.41 | 4.63 |
| 5.27 | 3.78 | 4.56 | 3.62 | <10 | 5.07 |
| 5.48 | 4.00 | 4.28 | 5.78 | <10 | 5.32 |
| 5.59 | 2.52 | 4.42 | 4.70 | 2.70 | 3.74 |
| 5.72 | 2.00 | <10 | 2.48 | 2.60 | 2.00 |
| 5.95 | 5.81 | 4.91 | 3.46 | <10 | 4.78 |
| 6.00 | 3.30 | <10 | 3.60 | 3.04 | <10 |
| 6.00 | 4.20 | <10 | 4.13 | 2.00 | 3.26 |
| 6.00 | 6.17 | 4.00 | 3.30 | <10 | <10 |

 Table 1. Some microbiogical characteristics of beef meats

| 6.03 | 3.31 | 3.30 | 4.06 | <10 | 4.23 |
|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| 6.18 | 3.70 | 3.95 | 5.20 | 2.90 | 4.69 |
| 6.41 | 4.02 | 5.28 | 4.85 | 3.85 | 3.57 |
| 6.45 | <10 | <10 | 4.49 | <10 | 5.52 |
| 6.55 | 2.00 | 3.00 | 4.87 | 3.28 | 4.06 |
| 6.64 | 3.44 | 4.41 | 4.13 | 4.47 | 4.89 |
| 6.71 | 2.48 | 3.00 | 3.30 | 3.28 | 4.23 |
| 6.93 | 4.93 | <10 | 5.85 | 3.97 | 4.36 |
| 7.00 | <10 | 4.97 | 5.23 | <10 | 4.48 |
| 7.06 | 3.43 | 4.09 | 7.06 | 3.78 | 5.11 |
| 7.26 | 6.15 | 5.69 | 4.53 | 1.30 | 4.40 |
| 7.36 | <10 | <10 | 6.32 | <10 | 4.00 |
| 7.75 | 5.34 | 4.60 | 7.06 | 4.76 | 5.20 |
| 7.81 | 4.79 | 3.78 | <10 | 3.00 | 5.17 |
| 8.09 | 4.78 | 4.70 | 3.96 | 1.60 | 4.98 |
| 9.69 | <10 | 5.35 | <10 | 3.30 | 4.85 |

The presence of Salmonella spp. In beef meat samples

30 of the one (3.33%) beef meat samples were positive for *Salmonella* spp. by the conventional method, whereas eight of the 30 (26.67%) samples were positive by the IMS-PCR method (Table 2).

Table 2. Salmonella spp. results that were determined by conventional and IMS-PCR methods

| | Conventional | IMS/PCR | Both methods |
|-----|--------------|---------|--------------|
| n/N | 1/30 | 8/30 | 0/30 |
| % | 3.33 | 26.67 | 0 |

DISCUSSION

The general microbiological quality parameters of the samples were determined with respect to TAMB, Pseudomonas, yeast and mould, coliform bacteria, Enterococcus and Staphylococcus/Micrococcus counts. According to the Food Standard, the presence of *Salmonella* spp., coliform and other bacteria are accepted as the hygiene index (ISO 2001, 2002). However, the results obtained here show that the samples did not meet the standards with respect to the presence of microorganisms. A number of bacteria shortens shelf life by deteriorating meat quality, resulting in an economic loss. Our results seem to be due to processing and storage conditions as well as cross-contamination after processing in the markets and homes.

Salmonellosis is a widespread, foodborne zoonotic disease in the world and has been reported to affect over 90.000 people in European countries each year (EFSA, 2014b). The agent is taken orally by especially foods contaminated with feces. In food, meat plays an important role in the emergence of diseases. Increased food contamination, immune system diseases, gastrointestinal disturbances, and age are associated with increased risk of salmonellosis cases with non-specific symptoms (Cianflone, 2008). Not only in Turkey, but also in most developing countries, the absence of an epidemiological surveillance system of salmonellosis cases makes it difficult to assess the prevalence effectively (KÄFerstein, 2003). However, the number of cases of gastroenteritis due to *Salmonella* spp. was 1993 in 2008, but

this number increased to 2307 in 2011, according to the data unpublished by the THSK Department of Communicable Diseases (THSK, 2015). Comparing the data obtained in this study with other studies reveals that meat is an important food source in contamination with Salmonella spp. It is thought that the difference of Salmonella spp. prevelance data between previous studies and present study may be due to factors such as hygiene and sanitation conditions, methodological differences using detection, transportation and storage conditions in the markets and localization (Straver et al., 2007, Li et al., 2013). Beef meat is contaminated with Salmonella spp. due to processing of meat in non-hygienic conditions, low personnel hygiene, uncleaned tools and equipment used in production in a proper manner, and crosscontamination reasons in markets where sales are offered (İseri and Erol, 2010). In the present study, Salmonella spp. was identified in 38 (37.25%) meat samples by IMS-PCR technique and in 30 (30.39%) meat samples by conventional method. According to the Turkish Food Codex Communiqué on Microbiological Criteria, it has been reported that Salmonella should not be present for both meat types (TFC, 2011). Adiguzel et al. (2012) reported that Salmonella spp. could isolated from 4 (2.86%) of the 140 beef samples collected from markets in Erzurum. In our study, the number of Salmonella spp. positive samples isolated by the conventional method was one sample (3.33%), whereas 8 samples (26.67%) of Salmonella spp. positive samples were found by IMS-PCR technique. In this study, the prevalence of Salmonella detected in red meat by IMS-PCR technique is similar to that of meat of the same type: 23.3% (21/90) in Egypt (Sallam et al., 2014), 20% (38/189) in Iran (Soltan Dallal et al., 2014) and 17% (13/78) in China (Yang et al., 2010). However, the prevalence is lower than in some countries: 62% (31/50) in Vietnam (Van et al., 2007) and 57.08% (240/137) in Ghana (Adzitey et al., 2015). All results indicate that poultry meat is an important source of danger for Salmonella spp. infections.

The study results show that the contamination rate of poultry meat with *Salmonella* spp. is higher than the beef. When IMS-PCR and conventional method used for detection of *Salmonella* were compared, IMS-PCR technique was found to be superior. The superiority of IMS-PCR over the conventional method may be due to concentrated the target bacterium in the samples, the removal of inhibitor components and the elimination of other groups of microorganisms. Similar results were obtained by Siriken et al. (2015) who performed detection of *Salmonella* spp in beef and poultry meat by both conventional and IMS method (36.00%, IMS; 25.33%, conventional). The IMS-PCR technique is a method that allows rapid detection of *Salmonella* spp. after IMS. Zheng et al. (2016) reported that IMS-PCR showed an accuracy of 98.3%.

CONCLUSIONS

In this study, 30 beef meat samples were analysed for the presence of *Salmonella* spp. The results showed that one of the 30 samples were positive for *Salmonella* spp. by the conventional method, while eight of the 30 were positive by IMS-PCR. In conclusion, combining the IMS and PCR methods was used effectively to isolate *Salmonella* spp. from beef meats than either method alone. Taken together, it is evident that beef meat is a serious public health risk in this region in terms of the presence of *Salmonella* spp. in beef meats and microbiological properties of beef meats.

Acknowledgements: This study was supported by Ataturk University Scientific Research Projects Unit (Grant number: PRJ2015/331). **REFERENCES**

Adiguzel, G., Bozoglu, C., Yanmis, D., Gormez, A., Gulluce, M., Adiguzel, A. (2012). Phenotyping and genotyping characterization of Salmonella strains isolated from retail beef in Erzurum, Turkey. J. Pure Appl. Microbiol., 6(4), 1581-1589.

- Adzitey, F., Nsoah, J. K., Teye, G. A. (2015). Prevalence and Antibiotic Susceptibility of Salmonella species Isolated from Beef and its Related Samples in Techiman Municipality of Ghana. Turkish J. Agric.-Food Sci. Technol., 3(8), 644-650.
- COMCEC (2017). Reducing Food Waste in the OIC Countries. Comcec Coordination Office Publication.
- D'aoust, J.-Y., Maurer, J. (2007). 'Salmonella species', Food Microbiology: Fundamentals and Frontiers, Third Edition, American Society of Microbiology.
- International Organization for Standardization ISO 6579:2002 (2002). Microbiology of Food and Animal Feeding Stuffs– Horizontal Method for the Detection of Salmonella spp. Geneva, Switzerland: International Standards Organisation.
- Jalil, M., Islam, M. (2012). Serological survey of Salmonella infection in non-vaccinated commercial layer birds in Khulna District of Bangladesh. Bangl. J. Vet. Med., 9(1), 27-31.
- İseri, O., Erol, I. (2010). Incidence and antibiotic resistance of Salmonella spp. in ground turkey meat. Br. Poult. Sci., 51(1), 60-66.
- Jeníková, G., Pazlarová, J., Demnerová, K. (2010). Detection of Salmonella in food samples by the combination of immunomagnetic separation and PCR assay. Int. Microbiol., 3(4), 225-229.
- Lee, K.-M., Runyon, M., Herrman, T. J., Phillips, R., Hsieh, J. (2015). Review of Salmonella detection and identification methods: aspects of rapid emergency response and food safety. Food Control, 47, 264-276.
- Li, R., Lai, J., Wang, Y., Liu, S., Li, Y., Liu, J. Shen, K., Wu, C. (2013). Prevalence and characterization of Salmonella species isolated from pigs, ducks and chickens in Sichuan Province, China. Int. J. Food Microbiol., 163(1), 14-18.
- Liébana, S., Brandão, D., Alegret, S., Pividori, M. I. (2014). Electrochemical immunosensors, genosensors and phagosensors for Salmonella detection. Analytical Methods, 6(22), 8858-8873.
- Sallam, K. I., Mohammed, M. A., Hassan, M. A., Tamura, T. (2014). Prevalence, molecular identification and antimicrobial resistance profile of Salmonella serovars isolated from retail beef products in Mansoura, Egypt. Food Control, 38, 209-214.
- Siriken, B., Türk, H., Yildirim, T., Durupinar, B., Erol, I. (2015). Prevalence and characterization of Salmonella isolated from chicken meat in Turkey. J. Food Sci., 80(5).
- Soltan Dallal, M. M., Sharifi Yazdi, M. K., Mirzaei, N., Kalantar, E. (2014). Prevalence of Salmonella spp. in Packed and Unpacked Red Meat and Chicken in South of Tehran. Jundishapur J. Microbiol., 7(4), e9254.
- Schrader, C., Schielke, A., Ellerbroek, L., Johne, R. (2012). PCR inhibitors–occurrence, properties and removal. J. Appl. Microbiol., 113(5), 1014-1026.
- Straver, J., Janssen, A., Linnemann, A., Van Boekel, M., Beumer, R., Zwietering, M. (2007). Number of Salmonella on chicken breast filet at retail level and its implications for public health risk. J. Food Protec. 70(9), 2045-2055.
- Turkish Food Codex (2011), 'Türk Gıda Kodeksi Mikrobiyolojik Kriterler Yönetmeliği', T.C. Official Newspaper.
- Türkiye Halk Sağlığı Kurumu (THSK) (2015), 'Salmonella Enfeksiyonları'. Unpublished data.
- Van, T. T. H., Moutafis, G., Istivan, T., Tran, L. T., Coloe, P. J. (2007). Detection of Salmonella spp. in Retail Raw Food Samples from Vietnam and Characterization of Their Antibiotic Resistance. Appl. and Environ. Microbiol., 73(21), 6885-6890.
- Williams, P. (2007). Nutritional composition of red meat. Nutrition & Dietetics. 64, 113–119.

- Yang, B., Xi, M., Wang, X., Cui, S., Yue, T., Hao, H., Wang, Y., Cui, Y., Alali, W., Meng, J. (2011). Prevalence of Salmonella on raw poultry at retail markets in China. J. Food Protect., 74(10), 1724-1728.
- Zheng, Q., Mikš-Krajnik, M., Yang, Y., Lee, S.-M., Lee, S.-C., Yuk, H.-G. (2016). Evaluation of real-time PCR coupled with immunomagnetic separation or centrifugation for the detection of healthy and sanitizer-injured Salmonella spp. on mung bean sprouts. Int. J. Food Microbiol., 222: 48-55.
- Zhao, C., Ge, B., Villena, J. D., Sudler, R., Yeh, E., Zhao, S., White, D. G., Wagner, D., Meng, J. (2001). Prevalence of Campylobacter spp., Escherichia coli, and Salmonella serovars in retail chicken, turkey, pork, and beef from the Greater Washington, DC, area. J. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 67(12): 5431-5436.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2015). WHO estimates of the global burden of foodborne diseases: foodborne disease burden epidemiology reference group 2007-2015, World Health Organization.
EFFECT OF BROILER GENETIC STRAIN ON MEAT QUALITY CHARACTERISTICS

Hayet BEN HAJ KOUBAIER^{*1,2,3}, Atef LAKOUD², Moncef CHOUAIBI², Nadine BARHOUMI, Nabiha BOUZOUITA^{2,3}

¹Laboratoire Appui à la Durabilité des Systèmes de Production Agricole dans la Région du Nord-Ouest – Ecole Supérieure d'Agriculture du Kef, 7119, Le Kef -Tunisia

²Ecole Supérieure des Industries Alimentaires de Tunis, 58 Avenue Alain Savary1003, Tunis, Tunisia

³Laboratoire de Chimie Organique Structurale : Synthèse Chimique et Analyse Physico-chimique, Faculté des Sciences de Tunis ElManar, Tunis, Tunisia

* h.kbaier@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The present work aims to evaluate the effect of broiler genetic type on meat quality and sensory acceptability. Two commercial broiler strains were studied:a fast-growing strain (Cobb and Arbor) and the slow-growing poultry strain (JV), that has been genetically selected to improve production traits of broilers and maximize the profitability of chicken meat production. A post-mortem inspection showed that the general trauma rate was higher in both Arbor and Cobb strains compared to the JV strain (p<0.05). Physicochemical parameters evaluation showed a significant difference between the studied poultry strains (p<0.05). Statistical analysis revealed that pH was positively correlated with cooking loss ant the color parameter a* but it was negatively correlated with water loss, exudate and color parameter b*. Moreover, the textural analysis showed that the broiler from Cobb strain was significantly difficult to chew. In addition, no differences (p> 0.05) existed among breast meat from the different strains with respect to consumer acceptability of appearance and overall acceptability. Breast meat from Arbor strain was slightly preferred (p< 0.05) with respect to color, aroma and juiciness.

Keywords: Broiler genetic type, Fast-growing strain, Slow-growing strain, Meat quality, Economic profitability

INTRODUCTION

In Tunisia, poultry sector plays an important role in the national economy and make a significant contribution to food security. This development is accompanied by consumer's interest in broiler meat because it is cheaper, more versatile, and is perceived to give more health benefits than red meat (Pandurevic et al., 2014).

The poultry industry is always trying to change, adapt and evaluate its strategies to meet the consumer expectations meat products quality while also preserving a respectable economic profitability. The most factors directly related to meat quality are pre- and post-slaughter practices, bird age, strain, sex, environment and nutrition (Le Bihan-Duval et al., 2002).

The objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of broiler genetic type on economic profitability, meat quality and sensory acceptability.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Experimental birds and samples preparation

The trial and bird slaughter were carried out at a poultry company –Tunisia. Laboratory analyses were performed in High School of food Industry.

Total of 1000 chicken from two commercial genetic broilers strains (fast-growing strain (Cobb and Arbor); slow-growing poultry strain (JV)) were used to examine strain effect on meat quality and sensory evaluation.

Trauma evaluation

A post mortem examination was made on 1000 broiler carcasses per trip for trauma evaluation. Causes of trauma in broilers were evaluated by three methods : Five Ws, Brainstorming and Weighted voting methods.

pН

The pH of the samples was measured by inserting electrodes into the breast muscle using a pHmeter system (Consort C830 pHmeter) (Le Bihan-Duval et al.2007).

Exudate, cooking and thawing losses

Exudate losse (EL) was determined according to Offer (1991) method. Breast is weighed 24 h after slaughter (raw weight), then, stored at 4 °C for 6 days in filmed container with an absorbent paper. Exudate loss was calculated as follow: %EL= [(raw weigh – weigh after 6 days of storage)/ raw weigh]x100

Cooking losse (CL) was determined 24 hours after slaughter, according to a modified methodology proposed by Cason et al. (1997). Raw breast meat samples were weighed and packaged, then steam-cooked in a water-bath at 80°C for 15 minutes. After this procedure, the samples were cooled at room temperature and re-weighed. CL was calculated as the difference between the initial and the final weight.

Thawin loss (ThL) was determined by immersing breast slices in liquid ethanol, cooled to -18 °C (for 12 hours) and stored at -20 °C. The frozen slices were thawed at + 4 °C for 12 hours, wiped and weighed. %ThL = [(weight before thaw - weight after thaw)/weight before thaw] × 100.

Total fat content

Total lipids from the breast meat were extracted according to the method described in NT 53.15 (1984).

Sensory panel

Samples of cooked breast were presented to trained panelists (n=42) in balanced, random, monadic order in individual booths in a sensory laboratory. Numerological scale (1= dislike extremely and 7= like extremely) was used to evaluate: appearance, color, aroma, juiciness, taste and overall acceptabilityn of samples.

Color measurements

A Minolta Chroma Meter CR-300 was used to evaluate color parameters L*,a* and b* where L* represents degree of lightness (0 = black to 100 = white), a* represents green (-a*) to red (+a*), and b* represents blue (-b*) to yellow (+b*). The color values were measured at three different sites on the same sample after 24 h Slaughtering (Olivo et al., 2001).

Instrumental texture measurements

Texture measurements were determined using Texture analyzer (model TVT 6700 Perten). Double compression, shear and penetration tests were conducted according to Honikel (1998).

Statistical evaluation

Data were presented as the mean of triplicate \pm standard deviation (mean \pm SD). The data were analyzed for statistical significance using Statgraphics Centurion XVI. Differences between treatments were assessed using one way ANOVA, followed by Tukey HSD post hoctest. P values below 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Trauma evaluation

Trauma represent the most frequent factors causing the deterioration of the organoleptic quality of broiler meats leading to significant economic losses. In this study, the trauma evaluation is carried out on wings, fillet and thighs (Figure 1).



For all values with the same letter, the difference between the means is not statistically significant

Figure 1. Trauma evaluation: (a) general rate; (b) trauma wings; (c) trauma fillet (c) and (d) trauma thighs

General trauma rate is higher in both Arbor and Cobb strains. An important traumatic injury is observed on chicken wings. Genetic strain does not have a significant effect on the trauma. The quality approach reveals many causes illustrated in the following figure.





Physicochemical parameters

Physical properties of studied broiler meat are presented in Table 1. According to results, Fast-growing strains present the highest exudate and cooking losses (p<0,05). Arbor strain present the highest total fat content about 0,79%.

the pH values were ranging from 5.5 to 5.8. Slow-growing strain (JV) has the lowest value of pH (pH= 5.80 ± 0.06).

| | | Strains | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | JV | Arbor | Cobb | | | | | |
| Total fat content (%) | 0.31 ^a | 0.79 ^b | 0.21 ^c | | | | | |
| pHu | $5.80{\pm}0.06^{ m b.c}$ | $5.63 \pm 0.08^{a.b}$ | $5.57{\pm}0.02^{a}$ | | | | | |
| %Exudate | 42.41±2.15 ^a | 44.16±0.49 ^a | 68.57±0.16 ^b | | | | | |
| %cooking loss | 26.15±0.18 ^a | 33.33±0.20 ^c | 30.26±0.31 ^b | | | | | |
| %thawing loss | 21.92±2.50 ^a | 19.64±5.97 ^a | 17.29±2.71ª | | | | | |

Table 1. Physicochemical parameters of broiler breast

For all values with the same letter, the difference between the means is not statistically significant

Sensorial analysis

The results obtained in sensory analysis of the studied strains were presented in Figure 3. It was revealed a significant difference between samples in term of color, aroma, juiciness, taste and aftertaste. JV and Arbor strains have the maximum overall acceptability. The overall acceptability score for these samples were 5.5 and 5, respectively, on a 7-point hedonic scale. Also, it seems that the genetic strain did not affect the consumer acceptance.



Figure 3. Sensory Evaluation of broiler filet of studied strains (* p<0.05)

Statistical analysis shows that there is a significant difference for the color components between the studied strains (figure 4).



For all values with the same letter, the difference between the means is not statistically significant

Figure 4. Cie L*a*b* parameters of broiler meat

Texture measurements were conducted to note that Cobb strain present a significant higher hardness, springiness, chewiness and resilence values. Shear and penetration tests show that Cobb has significantly the lowest values with an important adhesiveness (Table 2).

| | Strain | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | JV | JV Arbor Cobb | | | | | | |
| | Double co | ompression test | | | | | | |
| Hardness (g) | 5255.00±76.00 ^a | 5505.00±4.00ª | 6906.00±7.00 ^b | | | | | |
| Fmax2(g) | 4637.50±49.50ª | 4704.00±36.00 ^a | 6219.00±43.00 ^b | | | | | |
| Cohesiveness | 0.66±0.03ª | 0.65±0.03ª | 0.76±0.01ª | | | | | |
| Springiness | $0.50{\pm}0.00^{a}$ | 0.55±0.01ª | 0.61±0.01 ^b | | | | | |
| Chewiness | 1728.50±47.50 ^a | 1981.00±121.00 ^a | 3251.50±30.50 ^b | | | | | |
| Resilience | $0.32{\pm}0.00^{a}$ | 0.34±0.02ª | 0.44±0.01 ^b | | | | | |
| | Sh | ear test | | | | | | |
| Fmax(g) | 2142.00±52.00 ^a | 3183.50±7.50 ^b | 1704.00±51.00° | | | | | |
| Wmax(g.min-1) | 2552.89±50.59ª | 4611.99±287.87 ^b | 2142.77±431.73ª | | | | | |
| Penetration test | | | | | | | | |
| Penetration Force (g) | 94.67±1.78ª | 108.50±0.50 ^b | 84.50±0.50° | | | | | |
| Adhesiveness | 2.84±0.16 ^a | 3.08±0.27ª | 2.22±0.08 ^b | | | | | |

DISCUSSION

The analysis of bird behavior on the slaughter lines indicate that heavy strains try to straighten themselves by flapping their wings (LeBihan-Duval et al., 2001). Hence the myoglobin content increases; which generates the appearance of hematomas and traumatic injuries.

After slaughter, postmortem glycolysis is activated and accumulation of lactic acid in the muscle is increased, which results in a decline in pH. This pH value is one of the important parameters for quality profiling of meat (El Rammouz et al., 2004). No significant strain effects were observed in muscle, suggesting that no protein denaturation issues existed within strain (Schilling et al., 2008). Previous studies have reported that lower pH (5.7) at 24 h postmortem indicates poor meat quality that is characterized by protein damage, lighter meat color, and reduced water-holding capacity, all of those being typical characteristics of pale, soft, and exudative meat (Van Laack et al., 2000).

Cobb strain show the lowest pHu value and the highest percentage of exudate loss. Indeed, heavy strains are characterized by a rapid decrease of pHu leading to increase exudate loss (Ngoka et al., 1982).

Boulianne and King (1995) report that pHu affect color. the pH value of the dark color pectorals is higher than the normal color pectorals. Thus, the luminance decreases and the red color index increases when pH increases. A low pH values lead to increase the width of

extracellular spaces and the reflection of the incident light (bloodless). Thus, fast-growing strains were lighter, less red and more yellow.

Although Arbor and Cobb strains belong to fast-growing strains, we note a significant difference between both of strains in term of texture measures. This suggests that the rearing mode does not affect the textural quality of broiler meat.

CONCLUSIONS

This study show that genetic strain does not have a significant effect on trauma meat apparition. However, fast-growing strains (Cobb and Arbor) present the highest general trauma rate. The quality approach reveals many causes related to : collection method, hanging method, type of cage and its maintenance, weight of chickens, distance between breeding center and slaughterhouse, type of breeding center, strains.

Physicochemical parameters (pHu, exudate, cooking losses).and sensorial analysis (CIE $L^*a^*b^*$ color scale, sensory panel, texture measurements) were significantly influenced by genetic strains.

Acknowledgements: The authors gratefully acknowledge the kind support of Mr SASSI N. and Mr BRIKI O. and the High School of Food Industries (ESIAT-Tunisia)

REFERENCES

- Bee, G., Guex, G. and Herzog, W. (2004). Free-range rearing of pigs during the winter: adaptations in muscle fiber characteristics and effects on adipose tissue composition and meat quality traits. J. Anim. Sci., 82: 1206–1218.
- Boulianne, M. and King, A. J. (1998). Meat colour and biochemical characteristics of unacceptable dark-coloured broiler chicken carcasses. J. Food Sci., 63: 759-762.
- Cason, J.A., Lyon, C.E. and Papa, C. (1997). Effect of muscle opposition during rigor on development of broiler breast meat tenderness. Poult. Sci., 76: 785-787.
- El Rammouz, R., Berri, C., Le Bihan-Duval, E., Babile, R. and Fernandez, X. (2004). Breed differences in the biochemical determinism of ultimate pH in breast muscle of broiler chickens—A key role of AMP deaminase? Poult. Sci., 83: 1445–1451.
- Honikel, K.O. (1998). Reference methods for the assessment of physical characteristics of meat, Meat Sci., 49: 447-457
- Le Bihan-Duval, E., Ben, C., Baza, E., Millet, N. and Beaumont, C. (2001). Estimation of the genetic parameters of meat characteristics and of their genetic correlations with growth and body composition in an experimental broiler line. Poult. Sci., 80: 839-843
- Le Bihan-Duval, E., Millet, N. and Remignon, H. (1999). Broiler meat quality: Effect of selection for increased carcass quality and estimates of genetic parameters. Poult. Sci., 78: 822–826.
- Ngoka, D. A. and Froning, G. W. (1982). Effect of free struggle and preslaughter excitement on color of turkey breast. Poult. Sci., 61 : 2291-2293.
- NT 53.15 (1984). Viandes et produits à base de viande détermination de la teneur en matière grasse totale.
- Offer, G. (1991). Modelling of the formation of pale, soft and exudative meat: Effect of chilling regime and rate and extent of glycolysis. Meat Sci., 30: 157-184.
- Olivo, R., Soares, A. L., Ida, E.I. and Shimokomaki, M. (2001), Dietary vitamin E inhibits poultry PSE and improves meat functional properties. J. Food Biochem., 25: 271-283.
- Pandurevic, T., Mitrovic, S., Ristanovic, B. and Stanisic, V. (2014). Quality of chicken meat from conventional and organic production. Proceedings of the 5th International

Scientific Agricultural Symposium East Sarajevo, Jahorina, Faculty of Agriculture. Pp. 849-853.

- Schilling, M. W., Radhakrishnan, V., Thaxton, Y.V. and Christensen, K. (2008). The effects of broiler catching method on breast meat quality. Meat Sci., 79: 163–171.
- Van Laack, R. L. J. M., C.H., Liu, M.O., Smith, H.D., Loveday (2000). Characteristics of pale, soft, and exudative broiler breast meat. Poult. Sci., 79: 1057–1061.

INFLUENCE OF THE NITROGEN FERTILIZATION ON THE YIELD OF TRITICALE GRAIN VARIETY VIHREN

Dimitrinka Krusheva^{1*}, Milka Dimitrova-Doneva², Nadezhda Palova¹

¹Scientific Center of Agriculture-Sredets ²Institute of Agriculture – Karnobat * kasidi4@abv.bg

ABSTRACT

The aim of this article is to show the analysis of yields results and some of its components found in triticale, fertilized with different nitrogen rates. In this respect, during the period 2011-2013, at the Centre for Agricultural Research in Sredets the Polish experience of the block method has been used in 4 repetitions, with size of the harvest plot of 20 m^2 without irrigation. The subject of the study was triticale, Vihren variety, grown at three nitrogen levels: T₀ - (control) without nitrogen fertilization; T_1 - N_{60} ; T_2 - N_{100} and T_3 - N_{140} on $P_{10}K_5$ background. Nitrogen rate has been introduced once before the active vegetation of the plants in the form of ammonium nitrate. Sowing has been carried out with seeding rate of 560 hp, after predecessor coriander. Except for the tested factor, the remaining agro-technological practices were in line with the triticale breeding technology adopted for the region. Grain yields (kg/ha) and some of its structural elements have been reported - number of stalks/m², plant height (cm), stalk length (cm), number of grains in a stalk, grain weight in a stalk (g) and the mass of 1000 grains (g). It has been found that grain yields increase from 10 to 38% when fertilizing with increasing nitrogen rates. The values of the indicators - number of stalks/m² and number of grains in a stalk increase and reach the maximum values for fertilization N₁₄. In the conditions of Strandzha, for Vihren variety growing the most efficient fertilization is with N_{10} . Keywords: Strandzha, Triticale, Fertilization, Yield.

INTRODUCTION

Triticale /*Triticosecale* Wittm./ has been an artificially created intergeneric hybrid that has been officially introduced into production for more than 50 years. It has a wide popularity as a forage, food and technical crops. It also has a number of agrotechnical advantages: the possibility of growing on poorer and acidic soils, high resistance to fungal diseases, very good drought- and winter resistance, less demanding to the dietary regimen. This makes triticale crops ecologically cleaner and cheaper to grow (Baychev, 2014). It is often considered as an alternative to wheat and other cereals, especially in areas with less favorable soil and climatic conditions (Kim et al., 2001; Ammar et al., 2004; Kolev et al., 2005; Kirchev et al., 2010; Cushla Mcgoverin et al 2011; Baychev, V. 2013.).

Method for optimal expression of biological opportunities and adapt to the soil and climatic conditions of different regions is to improve the technology of the crops /culture/. One of the main agronomic factors for this purpose is a mineral fertilizer, especially nitrogen nutrition. Kirchev et al., 2005; Gibson et al., 2007; Lestingi et al., 2010; Kuang, 20011; Hristov, 2014). Kirchev et al. (2014) establish that triticale cultivated in the Thrace area conditions showed greater responsiveness to increasing nitrogen fertilization, and in Dobrudzha area conditions there has been established a limit in the range N₁₂₀₋₁₆₀. Gushevilov (2001) determines the effect of lower and medium fertilization norms in the cultivation of triticale on gray forest soil and concludes that liming and fertilization are mandatory triticale cultivation measures. From provedeneni earlier studies (Tanchev, D. et al., 1989; Dimitrova-Doneva, 2007) on leached cinnamic forest soil in the Strandza area there has been established that on a background of

 $P_{100}K_{60}$ an effective rate of fertilization of the Persenk variety with nitrogen has been $_{100-140}$ kg/ha, and when growing after preceding stubble, rape and sorghum: fertilization with 100 kg/ha nitrogen. Studies on the biological and economic qualities of triticale in different soil and climatic conditions and cultivation factors allows for a better use, especially in poor and acidic soils, for increasing the production of grain per unit area, respectively. increasing the attractiveness of these crops. The aim of our study was to determine the optimal fertilization rates in triticale for grain in the conditions of the Strandzha area.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study has been conducted in 2011-2013 at the experimental field of the MOA /the Municipal Office for Agriculture/ in the town of Sredets, (42034`27018`) at an altitude of 47 m a. s. l. and covers a terrain typical of the area. The soil type on which the experiment is based on, is leached cinnamic forest soil with a slightly clayey mechanical composition, a shallow humus horizon (20-25 cm), a humus content below 2.25%, a slightly acidic reaction, poorly loaded with phosphorus, and well-stocked with potassium.in the experimental field of the PES Sredetz (42034`27018`) at an altitude of 47 m a. s. l. and covers a terrain typical of the area. The soil type on which the experiment is based is leached cinnamon forest soil with a slightly clayey mechanical composition, a shallow humus horizon (20-25 cm), a humus content below 2.25%, a slightly acidic reaction, poorly loaded with phosphorus, and well-stocked with potassium.

The object of the study is triticale, Vihren variety grown at three nitrogen norms: $T_0 - (control)$ - without nitrogen fertilization; T_1 - N_{60} ; T_2 - N_{100} μ T_3 - N_{140} at a background of $P_{100}K_{50}$. The nitrogen norm is introduced once before the active spring vegetation of the plants, under the form of ammonium nitrate. The sowing has been carried out with a sowing rate of 560x / m2, after a predecessor of coriander. Except for the test factor, the other agro-technological practices are in line with the triticale breeding technology adopted for the region. The experimental design is a randomized block in four replications of 25m². Grain yield (kg / ha) and some of its structural elements - number of triticale ears /heads//m², number of grains in ear, grain weight in ear (g) and mass per 1000 grains (g) have been reported.

Experimental data processing has been performed using the Microsoft Excel Xp programme package.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The area of the experimental field belongs to the Strandzha climate zone of the Continental-Mediterranean climatic region. Its special features are determined by the joint influence of the Black Sea and the Strandzha Mountain. Characteristic of the region is the much softer and more precipitation winter, compared to the European-continental part. Spring is felt in the first half of March. In summer, although the temperature differences are not large, there are droughts in the period July-August. Spring is warmer and longer and autumn is cool. The microclimate of the experimental field does not differ significantly from that of the entire area, both in terms of temperatures and rainfall distribution.

The meteorological conditions during the three years of the survey (2011-2013) differ substantially in terms of both the average monthly air temperatures and the monthly precipitation values, compared to the climatic norm for the Sredets region, but are similar in terms of each other (Table 1).

The first harvest year (2010/11) has been characterized as moderately warm, with a temperature closest to the average temperature for the multiannual period, but with regard to moisture for the vegetation period and months, there are significant differences. The rainfall

measured during vegetation (488.1 mm) is significantly less than rainfall over the multiannual period (583.1 mm) and the other two years. Autumn - the winter period is characterized by rainfall close to the climatic norm and favors the initial development of culture. With regard to the great importance of sufficient rainfall in the spring for the production of triticale, especially in April-May, their distribution in 2010/11 is favorable, which is a prerequisite for high crop productivity.

In temperature terms, the second year (2011/12) of the study differs significantly. The winter months are colder and the average monthly temperatures in January and February are negative (-0.3° C and -1.2° C), but due to the snow cover, the frosting of the crops was not taken into account. Temperatures in April - June exceed the temperature range and set the period as warmer and worse temperature mode. Autumn is characterized by a lot of rainfall in October (when the highest rainfall is measured during this harvest year, 149 mm) and relatively dry November, the precipitation conditions in December-February lead to a good winter-spring stock of soil moisture. March-June are unevenly distributed, especially in May, when they are 117.8 mm, which is 57.7 mm above the May norm.

Table 1. Rainfall and average monthly temperatures during the vegetation of triticale in

 Sredets during the period 2011-2013

| Precipitapion during the vegetation of triticale in Sredets for 2011-13, mm | | | | Avera tritica | ge daily temp le in Sredets | peratures du for 2011-13 | ring the veg 5, ⁰ C | getation of | |
|--|-----------|-------|-------|------------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------|---------|
| | | Years | | | | | Yea | ars | |
| Months | Perennial | 2010/ | 2011/ | 2012/13 | | Perennial | 2010/11 | 2011/12 | 2012/13 |
| | volues | 11 | 12 | | | volues | | | |
| Х | 64 | 77.2 | 149 | 92.1 | | 13.7 | 11.7 | 10.8 | 16 |
| XI | 70.1 | 60 | 0.6 | 12.9 | | 9.1 | 10.5 | 4.6 | 9.2 |
| XII | 67.2 | 48.3 | 64.1 | 106 | | 4.4 | 3.7 | 3.8 | 1.6 |
| Ι | 60.2 | 54.4 | 71.5 | 46.8 | | 1.8 | 1.9 | -0.3 | 2 |
| Π | 47 | 34.6 | 46.2 | 49.8 | | 3.6 | 1.6 | -1.2 | 4.4 |
| III | 45.3 | 31 | 7.6 | 46.5 | | 6.5 | 6.5 | 6.5 | 7 |
| IV | 48.7 | 89.1 | 47.6 | 26.8 | | 11.6 | 10 | 13.9 | 13 |
| V | 60.1 | 42 | 117.8 | 19.5 | | 16.8 | 16.3 | 16.9 | 18.8 |
| VI | 66.3 | 30.5 | 20.6 | 74.9 | | 20.8 | 21.2 | 22.4 | 21 |
| VII | 54.2 | 21 | 10 | 27.6 | | 23.3 | 24.7 | 25.9 | 22.5 |
| Σ | 583.1 | 488.1 | 535 | 502.9 | ¯X | 11.16 | 10.81 | 10.33 | 11.55 |

The third harvest year can be defined as quite different in temperature relative to the multiyear period. The vegetation period is with higher average monthly temperatures than the other two vegetation periods, too. Except for December, temperatures in the other months are higher than the climatic norm. Particularly in April and May, when combined with less rainfall, they create unfavorable conditions for forming more and better quality grain. The rainfall at the beginning of June somewhat compensates for stress and helps to obtain good yields.

The number of classical stems is a major component of yields in other cereals as well as in triticale (Skuodiene and Nekrosiene, 2009). In the present study, differences in its values were established in relation to the years and the level of the nitrogen norm (Figure 1).

The number of crop-ear stems is a major component of yields in other cereals as well as in triticale (Skuodiene and Nekrosiene, 2009). In the present study, differences in its values were established in relation to the years and the level of the nitrogen norm (Figure 1).





Figure 1. Number of ear stems

Figure 2. Number of grains in an ear

| Sourceof variantion | Year | | | Fertilization | | | Interaction Year X Fertilization | | |
|---------------------|-----------|-------|----------|---------------|-------|----------|-------------------------------------|-------|----------|
| | MS | η (%) | Fexp | MS | η (%) | Fexp | MS | η (%) | Fexp |
| NS/m ² | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2392.33* | 22.43 | 23.151 | 2903.556* | 40.83 | 28.09892 | 1306.55* | 12,64 | 36.74 |
| NGS | 938* | 83.15 | 75.375 | 184* | 16.31 | 9.8571 | 6* | 0.53 | 0.160714 |
| WGS | 0.0037* | 0.87 | 4.353 | 0.272222* | 95.71 | 320.2614 | 0.004856* | 3,42 | 5.712418 |
| W100G | 890.9858* | 88.5 | 6838.124 | 62.4475* | 9.35 | 479.3412 | 7. 145833* | 2.15 | 54.85 |

Table 2. Effect of conditions and nitrogen fertilization on some triticale yield components.

In year 2011, 577 ears / m^2 have been formed, and in 2012-677 pcs./ m^2 . When fertilizing with N₁₄₀, they have reached maximum values, with an average increase over the period of the net variation being 38pcs. (5.9%). By the data on the effect of year and nitrogen fertilization factors on the structural components (Table 2) there has been seen, that the influence of the factors has been statistically proven. The highest one is that of the fertilization (40.83%), followed by the interaction between fertilization and year - with 36.74%, and the year - with 22.43%.

The variation of the values of the number of grains in an ear (Figure 2) has been from 23.7 in 2012 to 33.3 in 2011. The impact of the year has been stronger than that of fertilization, since the change in the values is up to 10 grains in an ear, and under the influence of fertilization - up to 5 grains, the difference between the different levels of the nitrogen norm is 2-3 grains. The results are explained by the favorable combination of climatic conditions during the formation of the grain (February-March), and the possibility of absorbing nitrogen from the fertilizer norms. This is confirmed by the results in Table 2.





Figure 3. Weight of grain in an ear

Figure 4. 1000 grains mass

When comparing the ear grain mass in variants (Figure 3), it has been found that the changes in the values by years are small and insignificant. The fertilizer variants form more grain in an ear. The greatest effect had had the average nitrogen rate (N_{100}), with the increase over the previous nitrogen norm (N_{60}), being the largest one: 22%. The most powerful impact has been the fertilization in 2011, when there is also the greatest increase in grain mass. Nitrogen treatment is the key factor for the grain weight variation in an ear (95.71%).

1000 grains' mass (Figure 4) is a qualitative feature, defining the value of seeds as a sowing material. According to some authors (Đekić 2014) nitrogen feed affects positively the mass of 1000 grains, while others (Dumbravă, 2016) consider that nitrogen fertilization increases the productivity of the triticale, but does not affect the mass of 1000 grains. The results of the experiment show that the absolute grain mass is positively influenced by the applied nitrogen fertilization, but with a different effect. In the case of T_2 fertilizers, it had grown by 5 - 6g compared to the unspent mass, and had slightly decreased with the fertilization with T_3 variants. It is striking the similar response (almost equalized values by variants) of the crop in years 2012 and 2013.

By the grain yield data (Table 3) is established, that all fertilized variants exceed in yield the non-fertilized ones, which indicates the impact of fertilization. It creates more favorable conditions for growth and development of plants and realization of their productive capacity in the agro-climatic conditions of the region. Without the use of nitrogen fertilization, the yield is the result of soil fertility and varies from 4720 in 2011 to 5500 kg / ha in 2013, which is almost in line with that obtained in 2012. Testing of increasing nitrogen norms (60, 100 and 140 kg / ha N) significantly increases grain yield with triticale in each year of the study, with the highest yield being obtained with fertilization with T₂ -7500 kg/ha in 2012 and 7300 kg/ha in 2013 with a relative increase relative to the net control of 36% and 32%, respectively, and T₃ - 7170 kg / ha in 2011 with an increase of 51%. On average, over the period, the application of T₂- N₁₀₀, has increased the yield with 200 kg / ha or 38% T₀.

The increase in yield relative to T^0 has been statistically proven. Low nitrogen fertilization leads to boosting yields in 2011 with 17%, in 2012- with 8%, in 2013 - with 7%, on average for the period - with 10%. Despite the fact that the application of nitrogen norms higher than N₆₀ leads to a statistically significant increase in yield to N₀, the determination of the optimal nitrogen rate can only be made by calculating the reliable differences from the previous tested nitrogen norm. The relative yield surplus between T₂ and T₁ in years is as follows: 24.32%, 26.05%, 24.69%, and the average for the period (1430 kg) -24.7%. Average for the period, fertilization with T₃ leads to a decrease in the yield relative to T₂ with 160 kg.

| Years | 201 | 11 | 20122013Average for the p | | 2012 2013 Average for th | | the period | |
|--------------------------|-------|-----|---------------------------|-----|--|-----|------------|-----|
| Variants | kg | % | kg | % | kg | % | kg | % |
| 1.N ₀ (cont.) | 4720 | 100 | 5480 | 100 | 5500 | 100 | 5230 | 100 |
| 2.N ₆₀ | 5550 | 117 | 5950 | 108 | 5900 | 107 | 5800 | 110 |
| 3.N ₁₀₀ | 6900 | 146 | 7500 | 136 | 7300 | 132 | 7230 | 138 |
| 4.N ₁₄₀ | 7170 | 151 | 7040 | 128 | 7000 | 127 | 7070 | 135 |
| GD 5% | 23.98 | | 18.46 | | 17.10 | | | |
| 0.1% | 39.79 | | 30.61 | | 28.36 | | | |
| 0.01% | 74.39 | | 57.25 | | 53.03 | | | |

Table 3. Grain yield from triticale for the period 2011-213, kg / ha.

In Table 4 there are presented data for the analysis of the yield variance. The power of fertilization factor is 92.5%, followed by the year 4.13%, and the interaction between them 3.37%. The smaller percentage of the year is probably due to the fact, that the study period includes three consecutive years with similar climatic conditions.

Table 4. Variety Vihren yield variance analysis.

| | | | | | | Fcrit | |
|------------------------|----------|----|----------|----------|------|--------|--------|
| Factor | SS | DF | MS | F exp | η | P=0.05 | P=0.01 |
| Total | 383087.7 | 47 | | | | | |
| Factor A Year | 15264.67 | 2 | 7632.333 | 20.03237 | 4.13 | 3.26 | 5.25 |
| Factor B Fertilization | 341654.3 | 3 | 113884.8 | 298.9102 | 92.5 | 2.86 | 4.38 |
| Interaction AXB | 12452.67 | 6 | 2075.444 | 5.447361 | 3.37 | 2.36 | 3.35 |
| Within | 13716 | 36 | 381 | | | | |

CONCLUSIONS

In the conditions of Strandzha, on leavened /leached/ cinnamic forest soil, single nitrogen fertilization on background $P_{100}K_{50}$. is an effective event, which increases the yield of Vihren grain variety on average for the period from 570 to 1840 kg/ha. The most effective is the one-time fertilization with 100 kg/ha of nitrogen, introduced early in spring. The values of the number of crop ears/m², and the number of grains in an ear, increase and reach the maximum values when fertilization N₁₄₀. The grain weight is most strongly influenced by the nitrogen fertilization; the mass of 1000 pcs. of grains - from the year.

REFERENCES

- Ammar, K., Mergoum, M. Rajaram, S. (2004). The history and evolution of triticale, in Triticale Improvement and Production, ed. by Mergoun M, Gomez-Macpherson H. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, pp. 1–10 (2004)
- Baychev, V. (2013). Triticale lines and varieties grown under contrasting meteorological conditions. International Scientific Conference "Selection and Agrotechnics of Field Cultures", Karnobat, 28 November 2013. Scientific papers of the Institute of Agriculture - Karnobat, 2,1: 79-86

Baychev, V. (2014). Triticale. Agriculture plus 1 (256): 1-12.

- Mcgoverinn, C., Muller, N., Snyders, F. Manley, M. (2011). A review of triticale uses and the effect of growth environment on grain quality. J. Sci. Food Agric., 91(7):1155-65.
- Dimitrova-Doneva, M. (2007). Optimization of some Agrotechnical Factors in Winter Cereals for the Strandja Region. Dissertation.
- Gibson, L., Nance, C., Karlen, D. (2007). Winter triticale response to nitrogen fertilization when grown after corn or soybean. Agron. J., 99 (1): 49-58.
- Gushevilov, G. (2001). Impact of long-term fertilization and liming on yields and quality of triticale. Plant Breed. Sci., 2: 93-99.
- Hristov, I. (2014). Effect of the foliar feeding applying on the grain yield of triticale and barley growing in rotation. Sci. Technol., 4(6): 2014.
- Kim, B.Y., Baier, A.C., Somers, D.J., Gustafson, J.P. (2001). Aluminium tolerance in triticale, wheat and rye. Euphytica, 120 (3), 329-337.
- Kirchev, H., Terziev, Z., Tonev, T. K. (2005). Parametri na produktivnostta pri novi sortove tritikale v zavisimost ot azotnata norma. Jubileyna nauchna konferentsia "60 god. AU -Plovdiv" Nauchni trudove, L, 4: 153-158.
- Kirchev, H., Terziev, Z., Matev, A. (2010). Grain qualities of triticale (X Triticosecale Wittmack) varieties grown under the ecological conditions of Thrace and Dobrogea. J. Environ. Prot. Ecol., 11 (2): 534-539.
- Kirchev, H., Matev, A., Yanchev, I., Zlatev, Z. (2014). Productivity and its elements of triticale varieties depending on the nitrogen norm. J. Manag. Sustain. Develop., 3 (46): 67-70.
- Kirchev, H., Delibaltova, V., Matev, V., Kolev, T., Yanchev, I. (2014). Analysis of the productivity of triticale varieties cultivated in Thrace and Dobrudja depending on the nitrogen fertilization. J. Mount. Agric. on the Balkans, 17 (2): 328-335.
- Kolev, T., Ivanova, R. (2004). Testing of triticale varieties in the agro-ecological conditions of the Plovdiv region. Plant Breed. Sci., 41 (6): 509-512.
- Kolev T., Yanev, Y., Tachsin, N., Yanchev, I. (2005). Productivity of wheat varieties (common - Tr. Aestivum L., hard-Tr. Durum Desf.), Triticale and rye. Chirpan conference. Field Crops Studies, 1: 147-151.
- Kuang, Y., Li, T., Zhang, X., Yu, H. (2011). Genotypic variation in nitrogen use efficiency of triticale and its evaluation. Plant Nutr. Fertil. Sci., 17 (4): 845-851.
- Lestingi, A., Bovera F., de Giorgio D., Ventrella D., Tateo A. (2010). Effects of tillage and nitrogen fertilisation on triticale grain yield, chemical composition and nutritive value. J. Sci. Food Agr.: 90-96.
- Dumbravă, M., Epure, L.L., Duşa, E. M. (2016). Grain Yield and Yield Components at Triticale under Different Technological Conditions Agriculture and Aricultural Science Procedia 10: 94 – 103.
- Skuodiene, R., Nekrošeine, R. (2009). Effect of preceding crops on the *winter cereal* productivity and diseases incidence. Acta Agric. Slov., 93(2):169-179.
- Tanchev, D., Antonov, D., Ivanov, S. (1989). Treating the triticale in the conditions of Strandzha. Agriculture, 6, 44-46.
- Đekić, V., Milovanović, M., Popović, V., Jelić, M., Perišić, V. (2014). Effects of fertilization on yield and grain quality in winter triticale. Rom. Agric. Res., 31: 176-183.

PREVENTIVE COMPONENTS THAT AFFECTIVE IN EFFECTIVENESS OF AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY SERVICES IN IRAN

Solieman RASOULIAZAR*

Department of Agricultural management, Mahabad Branch, Islamic Azad University, Mahabad, Iran

* rasouli88s@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Technologies and farming methods are constantly changing. Farmers should be informed about how to use these innovations in their fields. Utilizing the competence of the graduate's agricultures in the form of Agricultural Advisory Services companies (AASC) is one of the best solutions to transfer knowledge and technology to farmers and accelerating in agricultural development. The main purpose of this study is study and identification of the problems that AAS is faced with. Statistical population of the study consisted of Agricultural Consultants (N=1731). Using the formula Cochrane, sample size was determined 306. Questionnaire was the data instrument. The appearance and content validity of questionnaire was obtained by comments of extension experts. Reliability coefficient of questionnaire was obtained 0.89 by Cronbach alpha. The results showed that AAS increased participation of stakeholders in decision making and planning. AASC also provided the specialized context fields in agricultural extension. Results showed that AASC increased accountability and responsibility in extension services. By using exploratory factor analysis barriers are classified in four factors, including Infrastructure, Policy-making, Socio - cultural and Financial. These factors could explain 62.86 % of variance in reduce effectiveness of AASC among farmers in West Azerbaijan province.

Keywords: Preventive, Agricultural Advisory Services Companies, Factors, Effectiveness, Iran

INTRODUCTION

Agricultural advisory (extension) services are a vital element of the array of market and non-market entities and agents that provide critical flows of information that can improve farmers' and other rural peoples' welfare. After a period of neglect, agricultural advisory services have returned strongly to the international development agenda. Apart from their conventional function of providing knowledge for improved agricultural productivity, agricultural advisory services are expected to fulfill a variety of new functions, such as linking smallholder farmers to high-value and export markets, promoting environmentally sustainable production techniques. (Anderson, 2008). In many developing countries, rural populations are heavily dependent on agriculture as well as different social services for their livelihoods. Yet access to adequate knowledge, improved technologies, financial services and other relevant social services remains a critical issue (Tchouawou and Colverson, 2014).

However, with regard to the implementation of demand-driven and participatory approaches, some success stories were registered with strategies used in agricultural extension. With the lack of a gender sensitive approach to service delivery, challenges still impede the implementation of market-led and participatory Extension Agricultural services systems. Many systems have put a greater emphasis on promoting various agricultural extension projects without understanding the practical and cultural obstacles that prevent women from accessing the most needed services. This has largely resulted in women's unequal access to Extension Agricultural services in rural locations. Consequently, the need for Extension Agricultural services delivery systems focused on best-fit approaches has been underlined as they provide an opportunity for adapting Extension Agricultural services to different population groups with specific priorities and needs (Manfre et al., 2013).

The decentralization of extension services retains the public delivery and public funding characteristics of traditional centralized extension, but transfers the responsibility for delivery to local governments (district, county, etc.) in diverse ways. For instance, many Latin American governments undertook this approach in the 1980s and 1990s, and it is being initiated enthusiastically in several African and Asian countries. The main expected advantage of the approach is in improving accountability, as agents become employees of local government, which—if democratically elected—would be keen on receiving positive feedback on the service from the clientele-electorate (Anderson, 2008). Access and use of information plays a crucial role in any activity (Martiius and Stabingis, 2000). Today farmers couldn't have access to new technologies only through direct contact between researchers. But new organizations should be responsible for transferring information and technologies to the farmers (Lashgarara and Hosseini, 2008). Commercialization in agriculture requires demands for technical consulting services (Christoplos, 2008).

Agriculture is one of the most important economic sectors in Iran. Agricultural sector provides about a quarter in employment and 33% of exports in Iran (Manzoralibadi, 2009). Despite the important role of agriculture in food production, employment and exports, unfortunately rural community is being faced with numerous problems. Issues such as poverty, unequal income distribution, unemployment, low productivity, unskilled labor force, inadequacy in agricultural sector, lack of appropriate extension system abound in agricultural sector of Iran (Merzaiy et al., 2007). To increase agricultural production level, farmers are needed to have access to extension services. But despite the long term of starting agricultural extension programs, in Iran, millions of farmers have not been covered by public extension. FAO statistics in Africa show that two of every three farmers do not have access to public services. This ratio in Asia is three of every four people, Latin America six of the every seven people, and five of the six people in the Middle East (Shekara, 2001; Zamanipour, 2001; Lashgarara and Peshbien, 2004). A number of specific formats of extension operations emerged over recent decades in endeavors to overcome these widely acknowledged problems. These newer (and now, for some, not so new) approaches, which depart from the traditional public service models, entail institutional innovations and reforms, often pluralistic, where specific design features reflect attempts to overcome weaknesses inherent in earlier public extension efforts (Anderson, 2008).

Agricultural Extension Services have been widely criticized due to inability to perform assigned functions and the absence of expected effectiveness and efficiency. Therefore, major changes such as structural reform, decentralization and privatization are essential to agricultural extension (Birner et al., 2009). Rivera (2008) assumes that the agricultural extension in the public sector has been seriously criticized in many countries due to its inefficiency.

Today, the role of agricultural public extension in transferring of technology in agriculture has been questioned (Rasouliazar and Fealy, 2008). Ahmadi (2004) pointed out that negligence to capital and human factors in agriculture, lack of covering comprehensive stockholders in agricultural extension, limited resources, manpower and funds in public extension system, dearth of fitness levels of staffing and professionalism to the needs of farmers are the main problems existing in agricultural knowledge and information system of Iran (Ahmadi 2004). Other countries have different strategies to cover defects and weaknesses of public extension (Mandler, 2010). Policy-makers in these countries have reached an important consensus to find

other alternatives to public extension. One of this alternatives is the use of private companies to provide information and transfer technologies to farmers. Privatization of extension services refers to the services that extension staff in private organizations provides for those farmers who pay the cost of services. These services are being considered as supplement for public extension service (Hanchinal et al., 2001; Saravanan, 2001; Anderson, 2004).

Amirani (2001) states that the solution of these problems would be possible through consulting services. Privatization of extension services by contracts to farmers has been introduced as one of the strategies of restructuring the public extension system (Christoplos, 2008). Application of AASC integrated with other techniques to produce effective access to financial facilities and marketing for the product would increase production and improve performance of farmers production in fields (Smith and Munoz, 2002).

Benin et al. (2007) stated that the main purpose of an agricultural consulting services is to increase agricultural productivity by strengthening the technical skills of farmers, and also to monitor their activities through delivery information and consulting services to them (Benin et al., 2007). Anderson (2007) believes that consulting services are critical elements which provide key information and improve the welfare of farmers. He believes that the term "consulting services" refers to a complete set of agricultural organizations that facilitate and support participation of farmers and solve their problems in agricultural sector with transmission of information, skills and techniques.

Transferring to agricultural consulting services and conventional extension systems could enhance productivity in production organization like agricultural farms (Arbenz, 2004). Application of consultancy companies is meant to achieve goals such as: increased efficiency and faster economic growth, agricultural development and decrease of government intervention in executive decisions (Rasouliazar and Fealy, 2008). One of the important challenges that extension Planners are faced with it, is the issue of how to increase the level of effectiveness and efficiency of technical consulting services (Chipeta, 2006). Designing effective extension systems has always been indispensible to system designer and policy-makers. Sundberg asserted that effective counseling services have significant impact on performance and efficiency of farmers (Sundberg, 2005).

Ministry of agriculture in 2009 reported that West Azerbaijan province has a high capacity in agriculture production (Anonymous, 2008). But on account of its geographical situation (being mountainous) and scattered villages farmers have limited access to public extension, and a large number of farmers are deprived of obtaining extension services.

Accordingly, using AASC can solve many of this structural problems and bottlenecks of public extension system. According to statistics of Agricultural Engineering Organization over 1900 AASC have been formed and established in Iran. The largest number of Agricultural graduates in form of AASC was based in West Azerbaijan. The number of these graduates was 1731 that were based in 162 AASC companies (Anonymous, 2009). Considering the important role of AASC in providing extension services to farmers, it is necessary to identify obstacles and barriers that influence the effectiveness of this companies. Since these obstacles and problems will reduce the effectiveness of services and take false credits in extension services sector (Barret et al., 2005); therefore, the main goal of this study was identifying obstacles factors that reduce effectiveness of AASC in Iran. By identifying this problems, Policy-makers and Extension planners could have suitable strategies to solve their. And also AASC could increasing their effectiveness in process of delivery agricultural services to farmers.

Research Methodology

The methodology used in this study involved a combination of descriptive and quantitative research and included the use of correlation and descriptive analysis as data processing

methods. A questionnaire was developed based on interviews and relevant literature. The questionnaire included both open-ended and fixed-choice questions. A 5-point Liker scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) was applied as a quantitative measure. Content and face validity were established by a panel of experts consisting of faculty members and experts in the Ministry of Agriculture. A pilot study was conducted with 30 rural people who had not been interviewed before the earlier exercise of determining the reliability of the questionnaire for the study. Cronbach's Alpha coefficient was 0.86 which demonstrated that the questionnaire was highly reliable. The research population included Agricultural Consultants that are offered advisory to farmers in the Provinces of West Azerbaijan (n = 1731). Using a Cochran formula, sample size was determined 306. Factor analysis statistical methods were used. Also for data processing Statistical Package of social Science (SPSS) version16 was used.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of descriptive statistics show that the average age of consultants was 28.53 years, with 3.8 years work experience. The majority of them (72.2%) were male. Majority of respondents (81.4%) had a B.Sc in agriculture majors. Consultants have announced that a major method to earn income was monitoring the farmers' farm (49.3%). In addition 38.6 percent of the consultants preferred the method of "visit farms' farm". The results showed that (81.4%) of consultants have suitable place in AASC. The average distance of AAS center from city was 17 kilometers (Table1).

| Variables | | n | % | Mean | SD. | Min. | Max. |
|--------------------|----------------------------|-----|------|-------|------|------|------|
| Age | | | | 28.53 | 3.8 | 22 | 38 |
| Age experience | | | | 3.22 | 1.55 | 1 | 7 |
| Distance from city | | | | 17.5 | 89.9 | 2 | 34 |
| Sex | Female | 85 | 27.8 | | | | |
| | Male | 221 | 72.2 | | | | |
| Education | Bachelor of science (B.Sc) | 249 | 81.4 | | | | |
| | Master of Science | 54 | 17.6 | | | | |
| | PhD | 3 | 1 | | | | |
| | Inputs sale | 55 | 18 | | | | |
| Methods to | Delivery advisory | 151 | 49.3 | | | | |
| | Farm monitoring activities | 35 | 11.4 | | | | |
| | Office visit | 9 | 2.9 | | | | |
| | Farm visit | 118 | 28.6 | | | | |
| Educational | Group methods | 89 | 29.1 | | | | |
| methods | Use telephone | 21 | 9.6 | | | | |

 Table 1. Descriptive statistics of extension experts

| Suitable office | Yes | 249 | 81.4 | | |
|-----------------|-----|-----|------|--|--|
| place in AASC | no | 57 | 18.6 | | |

Priorities attitudes of consultants about advantages of advisory services companies indicated that improving farm management skills of farmers was ranked as the first advantage (CV=0.184), also increasing access to demand-driven extension services (CV=0.185) was ranked as the 2^{th} , and increasing participation of farmers in planning and decision-making process (CV=0.187) was in the next rank. Other findings are shown in Table 2.

| Advantages | mean | SD | Coefficient | Rank |
|---|------|------|---------------------|------|
| | | | of variance (CV) | |
| In an aging form many and skills of form and | 4.22 | 0.80 | 0.194 | 1 |
| increasing farm management skills of farmers | 4.55 | 0.80 | 0.184 | 1 |
| Improving access to Demand-Driven extension services | 4.32 | 0.80 | 0.185 | 2 |
| Increasing participation of farmers in planning and decision making process | 4.26 | 0.80 | 0.187 | 3 |
| increasing the specialty of extension services | 4.36 | 0.82 | 0.188 | 4 |
| Increasing responsibility of extension consultants | 4.28 | 0.86 | 0.200 | 5 |
| Increasing bargaining power of farmers for acquire information and services | 4.15 | 0.90 | 0.216 | 6 |
| Providing rural development fields | 3.66 | 0.84 | 0.229 | 7 |
| Increasing the extension services to farmers | 3.78 | 0.87 | 0.230 | 8 |
| Reducing cost in public sector | 3.84 | 0.97 | 0.252 | 9 |
| Increasing quality of extension services | 3.79 | 1.02 | 0.269 | 10 |
| increasing incomes of farmers | 3.41 | 0.93 | 0.272 | 11 |
| Improving in public extension situation | 3.66 | 1.04 | 0.284 | 12 |

Table 2. Advantages of AAS from farmers' perception

Strongly agree=5,agree=4, intermediate=3, Disagree=2, Strongly disagree=1

Factor analysis is a general term for some multivariate statistical methods whose main purpose was summary data. This method examines internal correlation in a large number of variables, and eventually is explained in the form of general operating and restricted categories. Performed calculations display that internal coherence is proportional (KMO=0.94) and the Bartlett statistics is significant (χ^2 = 2467.047 and P=0.000). To determine the number of factors, special amount and percentage of variance was used.

Table 3 through using the ordinal factor analysis shows the classification of the factors into four latent variables. The variables were classified into infrastructure, policy-making, socio-cultural and financial. The basic idea of factor analysis is to find a set of latent variables that contain the same information. The classic factor analysis assumes that, both observed and the

latent variables are continuous variables. But, in practice, the observed variables are often ordinal. Results shows these four factors have been explain 62.86% of the total variance in reduce effectiveness of AASC (Table 3).

| | Rotation sums of squared loading | | | | | | |
|--------|----------------------------------|---------------|--------------|--|--|--|--|
| factor | total | % of Variance | Cumulative % | | | | |
| 1 | 3.985 | 22.13 | 22.13 | | | | |
| 2 | 2.930 | 16.27 | 38.40 | | | | |
| 3 | 2.344 | 13.02 | 51.42 | | | | |
| 4 | 2.057 | 11.42 | 62.84 | | | | |

Table 3. Total variance explained

Table 4 explained variance by each of the factors reducing effectiveness of AASC. As it can be seen structure factors, policy-making factors, socio – cultural factors and financial factors were identified as main barriers in the effectiveness of AASC (Table 4).

| Factor | variables | Variance by | % of |
|------------|---|-------------|----------|
| name | | factor (%) | Variance |
| | Lack of cooperation of other institutions and | 0.642 | |
| | organizations(public) with AASC | | |
| | Lack of expert and technical personnel in AASC | 0.671 | 22.13 |
| Structural | Lack of coordination in the activities of public and | 0.666 | |
| | private sector | | |
| | Lack of necessary facilities (vehicle) by the consultants | 0.601 | |
| | Lack of services to marginal farmers | 0.623 | |
| | Lack of subsidies and grants from the government for | 0.731 | 16.27 |
| Policy- | companies and farmers | | |
| making | Lack recognition signed of AASC | 0.713 | |
| | Lack of executive power of AASC | 0.590 | |
| | Lack of monitoring and evaluation activities of AASC | 0.664 | |
| | Unhealthy competition between advisory agencies | 0.652 | |
| Socio- | Lack of trust in advisory services companies | 0.541 | 13.02 |
| cultural | Illiteracy of farmers | 0.662 | |
| | Little attention to the needs of women farmers | 0.540 | |
| Financial | High cost of consultancy services | 0.715 | 11.42 |
| | Lack of credit and financial power of farmers | 0.719 | |

Table 4. Classification of factors by using ordinal factor analysis

The first factor was called "structural factors". This factor according to the special value (3.985), which is higher than other factors, could explain 22.13% of the total variance. The second factor was named policy-making. This factor according to the specific amount 2.93 could explain 16.27% of total variance. The third factor was named socio-cultural factors. This factors according to the specific amount 2.344 could explain 13.20 % of total variance. The fourth factor was named financial factor. This factor according to the specific amount 2.057 could explain 11.42% of total variance. Between these factors structural factors can cause the most to explain the variance in the reduce effectiveness of AASC by respondents. So should increase the effectiveness of AASC among farmers, necessary will be done some practices and pointed to items mentioned by policy-making and extension-planners (Table 2)

CONCLUSION

Advantages of using the services of AAS indicated that improving farm management skills and enhancing productivity of farmers are the main advantages of using AAS. Also offering consulting services based on demand of farmers and increasing participation of farmers in decision- making and program planning were identified as other advantages of counseling services. Therefore considering the cases and factors on the strengthening and developing of consulting services is very crucial, since AASC can solve many of the challenges of farmers and the agricultural sector. These findings also accord with studies of (Anderson, 2008; Saravanan, 2001; Shekara, 2001; Sadighi, 2004; Rezvanfar and Arabi, 2006).

Results from factor analysis shows that barriers were infrastructure components, policymaking, socio - cultural and financial factors. The most important barrier factor is the infrastructure factor. Factors such as lack of cooperation with AASC from other organizations (public organization), lack of specialists in the company structure, tasks interference with public extension sector, lack of communication infrastructure (roads and ICT), and also shortage of vehicles and equipment have been identified as barriers for infrastructure. Therefore to increase efficiency of AASC these issues should be resolved. Also it is necessary that the consultants should increase their technical competences. Also through the acquisition of funding sources it is necessary for AASC to provide equipment. Finally missions and tasks of each sectors (public, private) should be explained and determined. These finding also pointed by several authors, such as (Hung, 1992; Walker, 1993; Arbenz, 2004; Povellato and Scorzelli, 2006; Naderlof et al., 2008; Fealy et al., 2007).

The second barriers factor was named policy-making factor, that AASC face with. There are issues such as lack of livelihood and subsistence farmers to advisory services, lack of subsidies and financial assistance from the government to provide services to marginalized groups such as women and rural youth, lack of executive power of Advisory companies, and lack of sufficient credit for the signing of AASC from the other organizations. On the other hand the lack of assessment and monitoring sector has caused many problems for AASC. Undoubtedly providing appropriate plans and programs of government can enhance AASC. Use of specialized assessment and evaluation committees to review the performance of consultants and the increase of the executive power of AASC through obtaining funding, and the recognition of the sign' companies could reduce the problems that are classified as obstacles factors in policy. Research findings are in compliance with this studies (Walker, 1993; Beglarian, 2002; Rezaei 2005).

The third factor that barriers to the effectiveness of AASC among farmers was the sociocultural factors. Unhealthy competition between AASC, lack of trust farmers towards them, the low educational levels of farmers and the problem of having access to women in order to delivery advisory services were determined as socio-cultural barriers. So to solve this problem AASC should increase their technical competences about farmers' issues in order to increase farmers' confidence and trust toward them. Also it is highly crucial that female consultants would be able to provide services to rural women. This finding also pointed by several authors, such as (Hang, 1992; Walker, 1993; Ahmadi, 2001; Pamela et al. 2003; Rasouliazar and Fealy, 2009; Waddington et al., 2010).

Financial factors such as high cost of consultancy services for farmers and lack of access to financial resources by farmers were identified as financial barriers to the effectiveness of AASC. So to reduce the financial barriers Governments must be considering strategies to provide funding sources to farmers to develop agricultural activities (such as loans). Moreover evaluation committee should be monitoring the services offered to farmers. Consultants also must use other methods to provide cost of services such contract among farmers at the end of the production process. Agricultural advisory services is a private sector to reduce problems of public extension sector and improve farm management skills of farmers in Iran. Providing

information and consulting services to farmers cause the increase of quality and quantity of agricultural products. According to these issues the following suggestions will be presented to increase acceptance and reduce problems of AASC. And increasing effectiveness of them. As it was stated some of preventing problems will be solved through reform and changes in the structure of AASC activities. Attention to these issues such as acquiring professional and technical skills by consultants and employing female consultants could solve a part of the problems which reducing the effectiveness of advisory services among farmers. Also the policy-makers should develop facilitate mechanisms such as (providing supportive policies and infrastructure development) to AASC.

REFERENCES

- Ahmadi, Sh. (2005). Investigation reform components of agricultural information knowledge structure. M.S. Thesis, Tarbiat Modares University, Iran.
- Amirani, M. (2001). The process on use extension approach in world. Jihad Journal, 21(4): 226-237.
- Anderson, J. A. (2008). Agricultural advisory services. A background paper for "Innovating through science and technology", Chapter 7 of the WDR 2008.[on line]. <u>http://www.gfras.org/fileadmin/UserFiles/Documents/Background_Information/Agricultural-Advisor-Services_WDR_2008.pdf</u>
- Anderson, R. J. (2004). The whole farm approach: a policy to improve management practice, OCED expert meeting on farm Management indicators for Agriculture and the environment. Palmerstone Nort, Newzeland, OECD.
- Anderson, R. J. (2008). Agricultural advisory services. A Background Paper for World Development report. [online] available at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTWDR2008/Resources/2795087-1191427986785/Anderson_AdvisoryServices.pdf
- Anonymous (2009). Agricultural Advisory Services Network, Iran. Tehran.
- Anonymous(2008). Statistics and agriculture information in west Azerbaijan.
- Arbenz, H. V. (2004). Impact of the Rural Advisory Service (RAS) on the Living Conditions in Rural Kyrgyzstan. A Report in the Frame of the Kyrgyz-Swiss Agricultural Programme (KSAP), Based on the Surveys Conducted by the Research and Analyzing Organization Centre Interbilim in 1999, 2001 and 2003. Kyrgyzstan: Bishkek.Available at: www.ip.bmjjournals.com/cgi/content/abstract/6/2/92.
- Barret, G., N. Konya, E. Okecho and S. Song (2005). Evaluation of training program for caregivers to aging adults. J. Extension, 43(3).
- Beglarian, M., Sadighi, H., Pezeshkirad, Gh. (2001). Investigation of perception of boss and assistant manager about privatization of extension. MS. Thesis, Tarbiat Modares University, Iran.
- Benin, S., Nkonya, E., Okecho, G., Pender, J., Nahdy, S., Mugarura, S., Kato, E., Kayobyo, G. (2007). Assessing the impact of the national agricultural advisory services (NAADS) in the Uganda rural livelihoods. The International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) Discussion Paper 00724.
- Birner, R., Davis, K., Pender, J., Nkonya, E., Aandajayasekeram, P., Ekboir, H., Mbabu, A., Spielman, D,j., Horna, D., Benin, S and Cohen, M (2009). From best practice to best fit: a framework for designing and analyzing pluralistic agricultural advisory services worldwide. J. Agric. Ed. Ext., 15(4): 341-355.
- Chipeta, S. (2006). Demand driven agricultural advisory services. Swiss Center for Agricultural Extension and Rural Development: Neuchatel Group.

- Christoplos, I. (2008). Agricultural advisory services and the market. Natural Resource Perspectives, 113. London: Overseas Development Institute. J. Rural Develop.
- Dinar, A. and Keynan G (1998). The cost and performance of paid agriculture extension services. The case of agriculture technology transfer in Nicaragua. [on line]. Available at: http://www.manage.gov.in/pvtex/htm.
- Fami, Sh., Kalantari, Kh., Asadi, A. (2009). New subject in agricultural extension and education. Khoshbien publication. Pp: 66-113.
- Fealy, S., Pezeshkirad, Gh., Chizari, M., (2007). Investigation Effectiveness of wheat consultants Services in Tehran province. Int. J. Agric. Ext. Ed., 3(1):73-83.
- Gheyasvand, F., Hosseini, F. J., Hossieni, M. (2007). Affective factors influence on effectiveness of wheat supervisor in Gazven Province, Iran. Agric. Ext. Ed. J., 3(2): 31-43.
- Hanchinal, S. N, Sundarasway, B., Ansari, M.R. (2001). Attitudes and Preferences of Farmers Towards privatization of Extension Services. In:P. Chandra Shekra(ed). Private Extension in India: Myths, realties. Apprehensions and Approaches (pp.85-91).India: NIAEM
- Haug, R. (1999). Some leading issues in International Extension. J. Agric. Ed. Ext., 5(4).
- Kalantari, Kh. (2009). Process and analysis data in social and economic research. Saba Publication, P: 392.
- Lashgarara, F., Hossini, S.M. (2008). Investigation private extension services from view points of stuff experts in Ministry of Agriculture. Int. J. Agric. Ext. Ed., 4(1): 89-97.
- Lashgarara, F., Peshbien, A (2004). Privatization in agricultural extension. J Rural Develop., 7(2): 37-46.
- Mandler, A. (2010). The Context of Agriculture Advisory Services in the Republic of Tajikistan. [online] Available at: <u>http://www.mace-events.org/greenweek2010/6382-</u> <u>MACE/version/default/part/AttachmentData/data/Mandler_feb.pdf</u>
- Manfre, C., Rubin, D., Allen, A., Summerfield, G., Colverson, K., Akeredolu, M. (2013). Reducing the gender gap in agricultural extension and advisory services: How to find the best fit for men and women farmers. MEAS Brief #2. Urbana, USA: Modernizing Extension and Advisory Services (MEAS).
- Manzoralibadi, A (2009). Explain agriculture sector situation in Iran economic development. M.S. Thesis. Imam Sadigh University, Iran.
- Martiius, S and Stabingis. L. (2000). Information System of Research, Studies and Consulting for Agriculture in Lithuania. [online]. available at: <u>http://.www</u>. subs.emis.de/LNI/Proceedings/.../29_InfoSysofReas-Stud-Consul.pdf
- Martimort, D., Straub, S. (2009). Infrastructure privatization and changes in corruption patterns: The roots of public discontent. J. Dev. Econ., 90: 69-84.
- Merzaiy, R., Sadighi, H., Phalsaphi, P. (2008). Assessment of agricultural extension systems of Iran. Agric. Ext. Ed. J., 2(3): 57-67.
- Nederlof, E. S., Wennink, B., Heemskerk, W. (2008). Access to agricultural services. Development Policy & Practice, Amsterdam. [online], available at: www.ifad.org/rural/rpr2010/background/3.pdf
- Pamela, S.A.W., Wynne, H. J., Ploeger, H.W., Leonard, D.K. (2003). Path analysis of subs stances farmer's use veterinary services in Zimbabwe. Int. J. Prev. Vet. Med., 61(4): 339-385.
- Povellato, A., Scorzelli, D. (2006). The Farm Advisory System: A Challenge for the Implementation of Cross Compliance. [online] available at: <u>http://www.ieep.eu/publications/pdfs/crosscompliance/D14%20Cross%20compliance %20and%20the%20FAS.pdf</u>.

- Rasouliazar, S., Fealy, S. (2008). Factors affecting in farm management skills of Wheat consultants in Iran. J. Ext. Agric. Eco., 1(4):45-54.
- Razaghi, F., Assadi, A. (2009). Comprehensive perception of farmers to privatization of extension (case study in Mazandaran province). First national conference of agricultural extension and education. Shiraz university, College of agriculture.
- Rezaei, R (2005). Identification factors explaining privatization of Extension Services from view point of rice producers , Zanjan, Iran. M.S. Thesis, Tehran University, Iran.
- Rezvanfar, A., Arabi, F. (2006). Perception of farmers to privatization veterinary services in Iran. Int. J. Agric. Ext. Ed., 4(2):45-58.
- Rivera, W. M. (2008). Pathways and Tensions in the Family of Reform. J. Agric. Ed. Ext., 14,(2): 101 109.
- Sadighi, H. (2004). Agricultural extension privatization: an analysis of different financing schemes. Proceedings of the 20th Annual Conference: Ireland, Dublin: 932-940.
- Saravanan, R. (2001). Privatization of Agricultural Extension. in chandra Shekra, P (Eds)., Privative extension in India: Myths, realties, Apprehensions. And Approaches (pp.1-17). Rajendranger, Hyderabad-500030,a.p., India.
- Shekara, P. C. (2001). Private extension in India: myths, realities, apprehensions and approaches. In: P. C. Shekara (ed). Private extension in India: myths, realities, apprehensions and approaches. (1-18). India: NIAEM.
- Smith, M., Munoz, G. (2002). Irrigation advisory services for effective water use: A review of experiences. Irrigation Advisory Services and Participatory Extension in Irrigation Management. Workshop papers by FAO- ICID. Canada: Montreal.
- Sundberg, J. (2005). Systems of innovation theory and the changing architecture of agricultural research in Africa. J. Food Policy, 30, 1: 21-41.
- Tchouawou, M., Colverson, K. (2014). Increasing access to agricultural extension and advisory services: How effective are new approaches in reaching women farmers in rural areas? Nairobi, Kenya: International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI).
- Waddington, H., Snilstvei, B., White, H., Anderson, J. (2010). The Impact of Agricultural Extension Services. [on line]. Available at":

www.3ieimpact.org/admin/pdfs_synthetic/009%20Protocol.pdf

Zamanipour, A. (2001). Agricultural Extension in development process. Firdausi publication. Mashhad.

INVESTIGATING THE FACTORS AFFECTING THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF WATER RESOURCES IN THE IRAN AGRICULTURAL REGION

Solieman Rasoulaizar*, Nesa Rostamnejad, Loghman Rashiedpour Department of Agricultural management, Mahabad Branch, Islamic Azad University,

Mahabad, Iran

* <u>rasouli88s@yahoo.com</u>

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to investigate the factors affecting the sustainable development of water resources in the agricultural sector of Urmia. The statistical population of this study is experts in agricultural service centers and Urmia Agriculture Jihad, whose number is 110 persons based on the information received. The method of sampling in this research was simple random sampling. Morgan's famous table was used for sampling; therefore, the number of statistical samples was 86. This research was a researcher-made questionnaire consisting of 5 units. The questionnaire was designed according to the hypotheses and objectives of the research. After validation and validity, it was provided to the statistical sample to answer the questions. For statistical analysis, inferential statistics methods have been used using 22Spss software.

Research findings shows that ecological and infstracture components affective in the sustainable development of water resources in the agricultural sector. Also research findings showed the most ecological factors that affecting the sustainable development of water resources in the agricultural sector is Fitness fitting with facilities and constraints and Covering irrigation canals to prevent waste and evaporate water and also the most the Infrastructure Influencing Factors on Sustainable Development of Agricultural Water Resources was mitigating river flows" and the "repair and reconstruction of water transfer channels" as well as the "prevention of increased water evaporation in Irrigation of farms (such as irrigation at appropriate times) was identified as the most important infrastructure components effective in increasing the sustainable development of agricultural water resources from respondents' point of view.

Keywords: Effective Factors, Sustainable Development, Water Resources, Iran

INTRODUCTION

Agricultural activities, while carried out at the present time, may lead to malnutrition and hunger for future generations. For this reason, farmers need to devote more time to thinking, planning and developing management in order to achieve a sustainable agri-agricultural unit. Water is the main factor behind agricultural development, which accounts for about 70% of the world's water consumption in agriculture. In many countries, including Iran, irrigation is one of the main components of food production (Heydari, 2011).

Investigating the status of water resources and its management in Iran indicates that the country is located in the world's arid regions and water shortage is the most important bottleneck of agricultural development (Keshavarz et al., 2005).

The only source of the main sources of water in the country is the annual atmospheric precipitation, which is accumulated in the form of surface waters in rivers and canals, and so on. (Karpisheh, 2011). Therefore, a comprehensive and comprehensive approach to the

improvement of sustainable water management and its effective factors is of crucial importance, and effective water management is crucial to sustainable development. (Dungumaro and Madulu, 2003). Due to its biological nature and its strong dependence on nature, agriculture is the largest consumer of water resources in most countries. In our country, 93.5% of the water resources are used in agriculture. In addition, water scarcity and pollution of water resources transfer agricultural water to other sectors and the low water use efficiency in agriculture as a crisis, which requires serious attention of authorities and public officials in the national arena. Also, increasing demand for water and increasing periods of drought and human impact on natural resources have posed a serious risk to the quantity and quality of water resources. In this regard, the importance of rational management and utilization of water resources in terms of sustainable development, especially sustainable agricultural development It can be said that the shortage of water is the greatest dilemma of the world in the present century (Heidari, 2011).

Water is one of the most important factors in Iran's agricultural production; the amount of rainfall in the country is such that in most areas without resorting to irrigation, agricultural activity is not possible. Also, agriculture not only does not have acceptable performance compared to other countries, not only in dryland areas, even in wetlands and modern networks, which receive enough water. Considering that Iranian agriculture is heavily dependent on irrigation; if the role of water is not considered in the development of the country, the food security of the country will be faced with serious problems (Yusufi et al., 2011).

Water resources management is very important in agricultural development. From three perspectives, water plays a key role in sustainable development. First, it is consumed as a final product.

Second, water is an important input element in many businesses. The third reason of this importance is the key role of water in living organisms on the planet. Sustainable socioeconomic development in low water countries is limited to the availability of water and the reduction of water quality. A resource in resource management can put development plans at various parts of the economy at high risk. Perhaps because of the key role of water in sustainable development, the fourth program of economic, social and cultural development of the country has the water of intrinsic value and capital for exploitation, conservation and recycling (SalimiFard and Mostafaei, 2012). The water workers in the city of Urmia, located in the center of the province of West Azerbaijan, have been suffering from water scarcity in the agricultural sector for some time now, due to the traditional and incorrect use of water resources by farmers.

The agricultural sector is of particular importance in this city. The main source of water supply for agriculture in this area is groundwater, but due to the excessive utilization of groundwater, the annual decline in these waters is significant, and the major problems are the unconventional harvest of the groundwater resources are more than the annual amount of nutrition. Unofficial statistics of the existence of more than 400,000 wells in the country it says that more than 130,000 unauthorized wells are harvested over 5 billion cubic meters of water. In 2005, China, India and Iran ranked first to third in excess of groundwater resources. According to the statistics reported by Iran Water Resources Management Company, the amount of harvested from unauthorized wells was 3 billion and 400 million cubic meters, which caused the depletion of groundwater table and negative balance in the country's large plains. On the one hand, unbalanced feeding and harvesting and subsequent droughts have put a lot of pressure on the reservoirs and lowered the level of underground aquifers and subsidence of the plains of the area (Khalili, 2016). Population growth and socio-economic development increase demand for services provided by the lagoon (Lake Urmia catchments) such as water and food. Surplus water depletion and undeveloped underground water management can lead to water shortages (Faramarzi, 2012). The decrease of atmospheric droughts and droughts in recent years has destroyed the Niligan Lake Urmia. With the approach of summer and heat season, 50-mm

reduction of rainfall during the current year of water in the West Azerbaijan, and especially Urmia, due to the dryness of the lake, experts and custodians of the water supply area warned of the occurrence of water crisis in the region. And the subject matter that has attracted much attention in this area, considers the development of outsiders and unauthorized splits outside of the city as one of the main threats to the area.

The reduction of water volume in Urmia reservoir to 155 million liters from 220 million liters and a sharp decrease in the water level of Urmia also poses a serious challenge as Urmia water now accounts for 40 wells and dams. The daily consumption of 192 liters per person in the year 90, although lowered to 176 liters in the year 92, but with a 20 percent drop in precipitation, it still exceeds global standards and water reserves in the province. Culture and management of water use are needed in all sectors, in particular Household and agriculture. Average water consumption in the country is 2000 liters in a second, while in winter this rate in Urmia will rise to 1,700 liters and in summer to 2,700 liters, which will be a serious challenge, along with a shortage of water reservoirs in Orumieh (Malikzadeh, 2014)

In this regard, the present study attempts to investigate the factors affecting sustainable management of water resources in the agricultural sector in Urumia so that the results of this research can finally be presented with effective solutions to increase the factors affecting the sustainable development of water resources in the agricultural sector. Urmia achieved.

This research indicates that the factors affecting the sustainable development of water resources affect Urumia agriculture.

RESEARCH METHOD

The purpose of this research is to apply applied research and also, from the point of view of the nature of the method, is a descriptive-survey research type. Finally, in terms of data collection, it is a type of field research (Azadanlou, 2009). The statistical population of this study is 110 experts of Urmia Agricultural and Urban Agriculture Jihad Service Centers, which includes all experts from experts in Agricultural Services and Jihad of Urmia. The sampling was simple random and based on Morgan's table, the sample size was determined. 86 people are determined. In this research, a researcher-made questionnaire was used to collect data and information. In addition, in order to formulate and set up a researcher-made questionnaire, firstly, an evaluation group (professors and experts) to prepare and set questions of the questionnaire, their relationship with the subject, the goals and hypotheses of the research, and the setting of questions in terms of the phrasing, clarity, induction. The researcher's opinion and expression were not given. After several times, the final questionnaire was prepared and the questionnaire questionnaire was prepared according to the independent and dependent variable used in the research. Considering the fact that the researcher made questionnaire in this research, such as Likert scale, Accordingly, the responses of respondents by giving scores are very low (score 1), low (score 2), average (score 3), high (score 4), Very much (score 5) was compared and analyzed.

RESULTS

According to data analysis, from 86 respondents to the questionnaire from Urmia service centers and Jihad, 45 people are 3.52% male employees and 41 persons, 7.47% female employees. Also, the frequency distribution of the respondents' age to the questionnaire in Urmia service centers and Jihad, the youngest age of 24 years and the oldest age is 58 years. Regarding the status of education, it can be said that the highest frequency is for graduate degrees with 5.53% and the lowest frequency for higher education is 5.3%. Regarding the age

of activities in the organization, the highest frequency is related to age 32 with 15.1% and the lowest frequency is about 56 years old with 2.1%.

Regarding the frequency and frequency of education in Urmia service centers and Jihad, the highest percentage of agricultural education is with 2.30% and the lowest percentage is in the Watershed study program with 5.3%. The results also showed that the average work experience of respondents to the questionnaire was 83.14, 1, and 35 years, at the service centers of Urmia. The results showed that the mean of work in the water project respondents in the research is 32.1 and the lowest is 1 year and the highest responder is 2 years. Also, the average of respondents 'water experts in this study is 43.3 years and the lowest responder is 1 year and the highest responders' depression in the current study is 37.1 years and the lowest responder is 1 year and the highest responder Has 2 years.

Prioritizing respondents' views on the ecological factors affecting the sustainable development of water resources in the agricultural sector

Prioritizing respondents' views about the factors affecting the ecology of the sustainable development of agricultural water resources in Urmia showed that "the appropriateness of cultivation with facilities and constraints" and the "cover of irrigation canals to prevent waste and water evaporation" as well as exploitation From the wells that fit the facilities and constraints "as the most important components of effective ecology in the context of increasing the sustainable development of agricultural water resources from the viewpoint of respondents.

As the results show, the consistent fitting of cultivation with the facilities and limitations can increase the sustainable development of agricultural water resources. Undoubtedly, having proper cultivation facilities can provide the success of many projects in the agricultural sector. On the other hand, having measures and predictions of critical situations such as droughts and events that may occur under certain conditions, and will lead to certain measures in the conservation and maintenance of water resources in times of crisis such as droughts in increasing the proportion of crops with the constraints and facilities in the agricultural sector is effective.

In the field of knowledge of exploiters, water degradation and environmental impacts have been considered as an important factor in increasing the appropriateness of cultivation with the facilities and constraints in the agricultural sector. Undoubtedly, the type of behavior of each farmer against the items that is considered important for them can increase the water use efficiency of the agricultural sector to implement water conservation and preservation programs.

At the same time, the attention of experts as well as farmers to the environmental consequences of water resources for agriculture can double the importance of maintaining water resources with appropriate cultivation in agriculture for farmers. The results of the research are consistent with Amirkhani et al. (2010), because in Amirkhani et al. Researches between the variables of the meeting with the farmer in the village and the field, There is a positive and significant correlation between participation in classrooms and educational and educational lectures, scientific visits to networks and irrigation systems and tillage facilities, and watching television programs with farmers' technical knowledge in the field of optimal agricultural water managemen.

| Items | Mean | Standard | Coefficient | Rank |
|---|------|-----------|-------------|------|
| | | deviation | of variance | |
| Fitness fitting with facilities and constraints | 4.16 | 0.76 | 0.182 | 1 |
| Covering irrigation canals to prevent waste and | 1 22 | 0.80 | 0.180 | 2 |
| evaporate water | 4.22 | 0.80 | 0.189 | 2 |
| Pipelining of wells in accordance with facilities | 2.05 | 0.86 | 0.217 | 2 |
| and constraints | 5.95 | 0.80 | 0.217 | 3 |
| Prevent the destruction of springs and aqueducts | 3.60 | 1.13 | 0.313 | 4 |
| Fertile clouds of rain | 3.16 | 1.10 | 0.348 | 5 |

Table 1. Prioritization of ecological factors affecting the sustainable development of water resources

Likert Spectrum: Very Low: 1 Low: 2 Medium: 3 High: 4 High: 5 Source: Research findings

Prioritizing Respondents' Views on the Infrastructure Influencing Factors on Sustainable Development of Agricultural Water Resources

The results of prioritizing the responses of respondents to the Infrastructure Influencing Influencing Sustainable Development of Urban Water Resources in Urmia showed that the term "mitigating river flows" and the "repair and reconstruction of water transfer channels" as well as the "prevention of increased water evaporation in Irrigation of farms (such as irrigation at appropriate times) was identified as the most important infrastructure components effective in increasing the sustainable development of agricultural water resources from respondents' point of view. Infrastructure factors as the basis for implementing many programs and projects can provide a platform for its success. Meanwhile, attention to controlling flowing waters in rivers is of great importance. When water transfer channels are rehabilitated, and in order to prevent evaporation of irrigation water properly and at the right time, experts will provide farmers with the necessary information on the sustainable management of water resources and ways to increase sustainable development of water resources in the agricultural sector, Water Importance Farmers and villagers are more concerned with improving their irrigation practices. The results of the research with AziziKhalkhali et al. (2009) According to research results, AziziKhalkhali et al., Household size, dependency, education level, aquaculture, annual agricultural income, extension contacts, social capital components, irrigation status of the region and participation status; farmers in the field of network management Irrigation is correlated with the issue of water resources management.

| Items | Mean | Standard deviation | Coefficient of variance | Rank |
|---|------|--------------------|-------------------------|------|
| Containment of flowing waters in the rivers | 4.02 | 0.75 | 0.186 | 1 |
| Repair of water transfer channels | 4.08 | 0.77 | 0.188 | 2 |
| Avoid increasing water evaporation in irrigating the fields (such as irrigation at appropriate times) | 3.36 | 0.70 | 0.208 | 3 |
| Water rationing for agriculture | 3.74 | 0.81 | 0.216 | 4 |
| Rainwater harvesting | 3.69 | 0.81 | 0.219 | 5 |
| Improvement of farmland drains | 3.81 | 0.93 | 0.244 | 6 |
| Use of wastewater treatment | 3.22 | 0.99 | 0.307 | 7 |

Table 2. Prioritization of the Infrastructure Operating Facility Effects on the Sustainable

 Development of Water Resources

Likert Spectrum: Very low: 1 Low: 2 Medium: 3 High: 4 High: 5 Source: research findings

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

As it was found out, attention to the terms of each of these factors is necessary in areas such as the appropriateness of cultivation with the facilities and constraints and the coverage of irrigation canals to prevent the loss of water, and the evacuation of water and prevent the destruction of springs and aqueducts, as well as fertilizing clouds of rain. These measures must be taken in relation to the social context that exists at the community level.

In this regard, attention to the economic consequences of

Reducing water resources in the region and the consequences that it can bring to farmers will be more effective. Because when farmers point out sources of funding and income for livelihoods in line, they focus on unproductive methods for exploiting water resources.

In order to implement irrigation development projects for sustainable development of agricultural water resources, attention should be paid to sub-structural issues, through the formation of research teams and development companies specializing in the management of flood waters in rivers and the restoration and rehabilitation of water transmission channels and Also, preventing the increase of water evaporation in irrigating farms (such as irrigation at appropriate times) can be effective in agriculture alongside farmers' communities.

Finally, it can be concluded that in order to achieve the long-term goals for sustainable preservation and sustainable development of agricultural water resources in Urmia, the factors affecting sustainable development ecology and infrastructure should be at the top of the issues of high-level managers and experts. According to the findings of the research on the ecological factor affecting the sustainable development of agricultural water resources in Urmia, attention should be paid to measures to protect water resources during low rainfall and adequate water storage for the agricultural sector, as well as covering irrigation canals and exploitation of well-connected facilities. Factors affecting the sustainable development of agricultural water resources. The use of consulting engineers and agricultural engineering companies to raise awareness among farmers about the sustainable development of agricultural water resources as well as the rehabilitation of water transmission channels and the restoration of drainage of farms.

REFRENCES

- Amirkhani, S., Chizari, M. and Hosseini, S. M. (2010) Educational and promotional factors affecting the transfer and increase of technical knowledge of wheat farmers in Varamin County in the field of agricultural water management. J. Agric. Manag. Res., 15: 69-57.
- AziziKhalkheili, T. and Zamani, G.H.H. (2009). Farmer participation in irrigation management: the case of Doroodzan Dam irrigation network, Iran. Agricult. Water Manag., 96: 859-865.
- Dungumaro, E. W. and Madulu, N. F. (2003). Public participation in integrated water resources management: The case of Tanzania. Phys. Chem. Earth, 28: 1009–1014.
- Faramarzi (2012). Agricultural use in the Uromiyeh Lake Basin, Iran, Department of Earth Sciences, Main Science Library for Sustainable Development, University of Uppsala, No. 107, pp. 59, p. 30.
- Heidari-Sarban, V. (2011). Investigating the Socioeconomic Factors Influencing the Knowledge of Farmers of Wheat Cultivars in Crop Management (Case Study: Meshginshahr. Agric. Ext. Ed. Res. J., 4(4).
- Karpeshe, L., (2011). Designing a Drought Management Extension Model Based on the Extension of Native Knowledge and Innovation Case Study of Stanford County. Doctoral dissertation on Agricultural Extension and Training, Tehran University of Science Sciences
- Keshavarz, A., Ashrafi, M., Heydari, N., Pouran, M. and Farzaneh, E. (2005). Water allocation and pricing in agriculture of Iran. Proceedings of an Iranian-American workshop on Water Conservation, Reuse and Recycling, U.S. National Research Council of the National Academies. The National Academies Press, Washington, D. C.
- Khalili, D. (2016). Challenges of water resources management in drought conditions in Iran. J. Strat. Res. Agric. Sci. Nat. Res., 1(2): 149-164.
- Omani, A. (2010). Identification of Factors Affecting Sustainable Aquaculture Knowledge among Ahwaz Wheat Farmers. Agric. Ext. Ed. Res. J., 3(2): 75-65.
- Salami H., Shahnooshi N. and Thomson K. J. (2009). The economic impacts of drought on the economy of Iran: An integration of linear programming and macroeconometric modelling approaches. Ecol. Econ., 68(4): 1032-1039.
- Salimifard, Kh. and Dowlatabad, M. (2013). Applying Stochastic Goal Programming to Water Resource Management. J. Water Soil., 27, 2: 282-291.
- Yousefi, A. (2011). A Study on the strategic importance of water resources in iranian economy using the general equilibrium model. J. Agric. Econ. Develop. (Agricultural Sciences and Technology), 25, 1, 120.

HYPOTHETICAL RADIOLOGICAL FINDINGS IN DOGS AND CATS SUFFERING FROM INSOMNIA

Emilian SHABANI¹, Avni ROBAJ^{2*}

¹ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Tirana, Albania ² Faculty of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, University of Prishtina, Kosovo * avni.robaj@uni-pr.edu

Abstract

Sleep is a vital body function, regulating several biological phenomena. Deprivation studies are one of the ways used to examine the physiological functions and the regulation of the sleep. Sleep deprivation is a stressor, and its' effects depend on an individual's prior sleep deficit and distribution during the day. Sleep deprivation can be partial, total, acute, or chronic or specifically focused on one of the sleep phases. Sleep deprivation affects a large spectrum of vital systems such as thermoregulation, energy and mineral balance, and immunofunction. Based on the fact that sleep is a very important process for the normal development of many metabolic pathways, it is logical to think that insomnia has serious organism consequences. Functional irregularities of different organs are always reflected in structural changes that can be identified with imaging techniques. Imaging methods can also help identify problems of animals insomnia.

Keywords: Radiology, Diagnosis, Insomnia, Sleep, Biology.

INTRODUCTION

Definition of sleep, sleep architecture and sleep profiles

We all understand what it means to be asleep, but it is not always obvious whether observed animals are experiencing the same state. Sleep must be distinguished from circadian changes in alertness controlled by the suprachiasmatic nucleus and other body clocks. Most animals need to adjust their activity to optimal conditions of prey availability, predator threat, sexual opportunities, temperature and other variables affecting survival that vary with time of day. Adequate rest and sleep is essential for the welfare of young growing animals (Everson 1995; Rechtschaffen, 1998; Siegel; 2005). Sleep regulates the secretion of several hormones, such as GH and glucocorticoids (Steiger, 2002), and is essential for brain development (Mirmiran 1986; Morrissey et al., 2004; Siegel 2005). Defines mammalian sleep as an individual that sustains quiescence in a species-specific posture accompanied by reduced responsiveness to external stimuli, has a quick reversibility to the wakeful condition and characteristic changes in the electroencephalogram (Zepelin et al., 2005). The behavioural criteria consist of a lack of mobility or slight mobility, slow eye movements, characteristic specifies-specific sleeping posture, reduced response to external stimulation, increased reaction time, elevated arousal threshold, an impaired cognitive function and a reversible unconscious state. Electrophysiologically sleep is split into two main phases: rapid eye movement sleep (REM), also called a paradoxical sleep, or active sleep and non-rapid eye movement sleep (NREM), also called quiet sleep, orthodoxical sleep, or slow wave sleep (SWS). In principal, the smaller the animal and the northern it lives, the shorter the daily sleeping duration and the shorter the REM-phases. The stimulus threshold to wake up from REM-sleep is higher than that of NREM, and thus a long REM-sleep period can be a threat to survival for prey species other than those rodents species that sleep in nests (Allison and Cicchetti, 1976; Elgar et al., 1988; Tobler, 1995). Primates often exhibit a mono- or biphasic sleeping rhythm while several other species have a polyphasic rhythm, sleeping all over the day. Typical examples of polyphasic short sleepers are our domestic ruminant species, such as cattle, sheep, and goats. The sleep cycle consists of one or several REM and NREM phases. The cycle length is speciesspecific. Sleep cycle lengths are short in farm animals, as in several prey animal species. Total daily sleeping duration also varies between species. These differences between species depend on several factors, such as time spent eating, and available food sources, digestion and rumination, and ecological niche (Allison and Cicchetti, 1976; Elgar et al., 1988;). Grazing animals, for example are assumed to sleep less, as they need more time to consume large amounts of low- calorie foods (Siegel, 2005). In mature mammals and birds, the sleep phase usually starts with NREM and deepens during the REM phase (Zepelin et al., 2005). The young of many terrestrial mammalian species sleep more and have more REM sleep than do older animals (Siegel, 2005). Sleep is essential for brain development, and REM sleep is connected to the early developmental phase (Mirmiran, 1986; Morrissey et al., 2004). Young animals have also higher need for energy conservation acquired through sleep. Precocial young mammals, such as bovine calves, are suggested to spend proportionally less in REM sleep from their total sleep time than do young altricial mammals (Siegel, 2005).

Functions of the different sleep phases and effects of deprivation

Sleep is a vital body function, regulating several biological phenomena. Many theories have been presented to explain the function of sleep and sleep phases. Most theories assume that sleep serves the same functions for all animal species (Siegel, 2005). Deprivation studies are one of the ways used to examine the physiological functions and the regulation of the sleep. Sleep deprivation is a stressor, and its' effects depend on an individual's prior sleep deficit and distribution during the day. Sleep deprivation can be partial, total, acute, or chronic or specifically focused on one of the sleep phases. Sleep deprivation affects a large spectrum of vital systems such as thermoregulation, energy and mineral balance, and immunofunction (Bonnet, 2005). If sleep loss is chronic, depriving individual animal totally from sleep or selectively from REM or NREM sleep, experimental animals will die within a month due to infections or metabolic disorders. Hormones, which are dependent on sleep, loose their secretion rhythm. Several sleep-related hormonal secretions, such as GH and prolactin, diminish, when sleep is deprived. The body temperature decreases before an individual falls asleep, but during sleep deprivation, the body temperature remains around the normal level (BONNET 2005). During NREM sleep, body metabolism slows, body temperature decreases, and oxygen consumption diminishes, so that energy is conserved (Shapiro and Flanigan, 1993). Brain glycogen storage is restored during NREM sleep (Benington and Heller, 1995) and anabolic processes accelerate (Shapiro and Flanigan, 1993). NREM sleep may also play a central role in neurogenesis; REM sleep occurs proportionally and absolutely more during early development, and secures neuronal development (Siegel, 2005). Biological rhythms, such as hormonal fluctuation and rest-activity or sleep rhythms, are generated by an internal system. Biological rhythms are classified as circadian, with a cycle of approximately 24-hours, and ultradian, with a cycle less than 24 hours. The main regulator, pacemaker, is in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN). The SCN is situated in the hypothalamus, just directly above the optic chiasm (Buijs et al., 2003). The suprachiasmatic nucleuos functions already in fetuses such as in lambs (Yellon and Longo, 1987). The main regulators for the SCN are external light and feeding. Other factors that synchronize the circadian system are, for example, nutrition, hormone feed-back mechanisms, activity, and social cues (Buijs et al., 2003). Sleep onset stimulates GH secretion, but the hormones of the somatotrophic axis are also involved in sleep

regulation in a complex way. GHRH, for example, stimulates slow wave sleep and slow wave activity, and GH increases REM sleep. The secretion of GH increases during sleep independent of the circadian sleeping cycle, and sleep deprivation diminishes the GH release. In humans, however, a day time GH secretion increases after one night of sleep deprivation, thus partly compensating the loss.

Cytokines are proteins produced by leukocytes and other cells functioning as intracerebral mediators that may play an important role in immune and sleep regulation1. Several cytokines (e.g., interleukin or IL, interferon alpha or IF- α and tumour necrosis factor or TNF) have been shown to promote sleep (Kapsimalis et al., 2008). There are however, other sleep-promoting substances called sleep factors which increase in concentration during prolonged wakefulness or during infection and enhancing sleep. These factors include delta sleep-inducing peptides, muramyl peptides, cholecystokinin, arginine vasotocin, vasoactive intestinal peptide, growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH), somatostatin, prostaglandin D2, and adenosine. There is evidence that cytokines play an important role in the pathogenesis of excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS) in a variety of sleep disorders and in sleep deprivation. Increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and TNF- α) have been noted during sleep deprivation causing excessive sleepiness. Viral or bacterial infections causing EDS and increased NREM sleep are associated with increased production of TNF-a and IL-B). Increased sleepiness and disturbed sleep in other inflammatory disorders such as HIV infection and rheumatoid arthritis are associated with increased amounts of circulating TNF-a. Several authors suggested that excessive sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome, narcolepsy, insomnia or idiopathic hypersomnia may be mediated by cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- α . The neuroanatomical substrates of REM and NREM sleep and wakefulness are located in separate parts of the central nervous system5. There are no discrete sleep-wake promoting centers but these states are produced by changes in the interconnecting neuronal systems modulated by neurotransmitters and neuromodulators. Insomnia is the most common sleep disorder affecting the population and is the most common disease encountered in the practice of sleep medicine. Insomniacs complain of difficulty initiating and maintaining sleep, including early morning awakening and non-restorative sleep occurring 3-4 times per week persisting for more than a month and associated with an impairment of daytime function. Acute insomnia may be associated with an identifiable stressful situation. Most cases of insomnia are chronic and co-morbid with other conditions which include psychiatric, medical and neurological disorders (Rechtschaffen, 1998).

The true function of sleep is still being discussed, but sleep undoubtedly affects the endocrine and metabolic systems and the immune function (Rechtschaffen et al., 1983; Bergmann et al., 1989).

Total sleep deprivation in animals

The first report on the total chronic sleep deprivation in rats dates back to 1962 (BERGMANN et al., 1989). The animals were kept awake for 27 days, which led to aggressive behaviour, decreased body mass gain and impairment of the startle response. The most detailed analysis of sleep deprivation was based on data deriving from well designed, several-year experiments conducted by Bergmann and Rechtschaffen (Webb 1962; Everson et al., 1989). The experiments were performed using the diskover- water method, with a rat being placed on a disk over a layer of water, and a polysomnograph signal setting the disk into motion whenever an initiation of sleep was recorded (Cirelli et al., 1999). The sleep deprivation obtained using this procedure made up 70–90% of the experiment time and led to the death of the animals within 2–3 weeks. In the course of the experiment, weight loss was observed despite an increased food intake, as well as pathological skin reactions on the tail and paws and a bad condition of the fur. Initially, body temperature was elevated, but it decreased during the period

preceding death. Plasma levels of the thyroid hormones decreased significantly and heart rate increased. At the same time, no stress symptoms, such as stomach ulcers, elevated ACTH or corticosterone levels, or decreased metabolic rate, could be observed during the experiment (Everson et al., 1989a; Cirelli et al., 1999). Rats died within 11-32 days (16-21 days on average) from the onset of deprivation, a period comparable to that of food deprivation with lethal effects (17-19 days). However, histopathological findings did not reveal any cause of death (28–30). The animals which survived acute deprivation (that were eventually allowed to sleep) showed a dramatic compensatory increase in the REM sleep (Lyamin et al., 2005). The other symptoms subsided within 24 hours, which indicates that the sleep deprivation did not exert destructive effects either on the cells, the neurons or the vital organs. Nonetheless, a complete recovery of the pre-deprivation levels of the particular sleep stages, or of the heart rate and body temperature, lasted several days (Marinesco et al., 1999; Lyamin et al., 2005). An interesting exception to the rule can be observed among marine mammals: despite the periodic, significant sleep restriction, they do not experience the recovery sleep that would be a typical reaction to prolonged wakefulness, as well as to 4 NREM or REM sleep deficiency, in terrestrial mammals. The seals, for example, when staying in the ocean, can function well for several weeks despite the fact that they exhibit a considerably low duration of the REM sleep. Their sleep architecture changes immediately after they come back to the land. Unihemispheric slow-wave sleep (characteristic of dolphins and whales) is replaced by alternate NREM and REM phases. The sleep time typical for terrestrial conditions is immediately restored, and no symptoms of developing the recovery sleep can be seen (Rampin et al., 1991). Similarly, no rebound sleep occurs in infant dolphins and their mothers who refrain from sleeping throughout the period from the delivery till the youngsters achieve some self-sufficiency, which can last several weeks (Newman et al., 2008). The ability to withstand sleep deprivation is dependent on the species-related natural sleep characteristics regarding the duration and quality of sleep. For instance, large ungulate herbivores have a short, shallow and intermittent sleep, while predators usually sleep long and deeply. The relationship between sleep deprivation and the level of stress has not been fully explained, although the latter may have a varying influence on the compensation for sleep deficits. In a study reporting on wakefulness maintained through immobilization for 0.5 to 4 hours, the recovery sleep became significantly shorter when the immobilization period reached its maximal duration (Siegel, 2008). Two-hour immobilization repeated on the consecutive days of the experiment produced similar effects. However a single 2-hour immobilization resulted in an 92% increase in paradoxical sleep within the following 10 hours, whereas a 2-hour wakefulness, maintained using standard methods (disk or gentle handling), did not significantly affect the sleep that followed (Rechtschaffen and Bergmann 2002). Rats appear to be particularly vulnerable to sleep deprivation enforced using the moving disk method, since in other animals (pigeons), the changes observed after 24-29 days of this procedure were not as severe as in rats (Newman et al., 2008). Other deprivation procedures were not lethal either to rats or other laboratory animals although this may have been due to the significantly shorter periods of deprivation under other experimental conditions or to the difficulties in achieving total sleep deprivation. In animal experiments, sleep deprivation induced an increased rate of systemic metabolism, which led to reduced body mass despite an increased food intake, even if the animals were provided with food that was rich in proteins and calories. Both in the total and selective deprivation of REM sleep in rats, the plasma concentrations of the thyroid hormones, mainly thyroxine and triiodothyronine, decreased considerably.
CONCLUSION

Hypothetical radiological findings

Based on the fact that sleep is a very important process for the normal development of many metabolic pathways, it is logical to think that insomnia has serious organism consequences. Functional irregularities of different organs are always reflected in structural changes that can be identified with imaging techniques. We think that there are many pathological and nonpathological conditions that provoke sleeplessness in dogs and cats. Imaging methods can also help identify problems of animal fatigue. To concretize these hypotheses, extensive studies are needed.

REFERENCES

- Allison, T. and Cicchetti, D.V. (1976). Sleep in mammals ecological and constitutional correlates. Science., 194: 732-734.
- Benington, J.H. and Heller, H.C. (1995). Restoration of brain energy-metabolism as the function of sleep. Prog. Neurobiol., 45: 347-360.
- Bergmann, B., Everson, C., Kushida, C., Fang, V., Leitch, C., Schoeller, D., Refetoff, S. and Rechtschafen, A. (1989). Sleep-deprivation in the rat 5. Energy use and mediation. Sleep., 12: 31–41.
- Bonnet, M. (2005). Acute sleep deprivation. In: M.H. KRYGER, T.ROTH, and W.C. DEMENT, editors, Principals and practice of sleep medicine. Elsevier Saunders. Philadelphia., USA. 51-66.
- Buijs, R.M., Van Eden, C. G., Goncharuk, V. D. and Kalsbeek, A. (2003). Circadian and seasonal rhythms: The biological clock tunes the organs of the body: timing by hormones and the autonomic nervous system. J. Endocrinol., 177:17-26.
- Cirelli, C., Shaw, P.J., Rechtschaffen, A. and Tononi, G. (1999). No evidence of brain cell degeneration after long-term sleep deprivation in rats. Brain Res., 840: 184–93.
- Elgar, M., Pagel, M. and Harvey, P. (1988). Sleep in mammals. Animal Behav., 36:1407-1419.
- Everson, C.A. (1995). Functional consequences of sustained sleep deprivation in the rat. Behav. Brain Res., 69: 43-54.
- Everson, C.A., Bergmann, B. M. and Rechtschaffen, A. (1989). Sleep deprivation in the rat: III. Total sleep deprivation. Sleep, 12: 13–21.
- Everson, C.A., Gilliland, M. A., Kushida, C. A., Pilcher, J.J., Fang, V.S. and Refetoff, S. (1989a). Sleep deprivation in the rat: IX. Recovery. Sleep, 12:60–7.
- Kapsimalis, F., Varouchakis, G., Manousaki, A., Daskas, S., Nikita, D. and Kryger, M. (2008). Cytokines and pathological sleep. Sleep Med., 9: 603-14.
- Lyamin, O., Pryaslova, J., Lance, V., Siegel, J. (2005). Animal behaviour: continuous activity in cetaceans after birth. Nature, 435: 1177.
- Marinesco, S., Bonnet, C., Cespuglio, R. (1999). Influence of stress duration on the sleep rebound induced by immobilization in the rat: a possible role for corticosterone. Neuroscience, 92: 921–33.
- Mirmiran, M. (1986). The importance of fetal/neonatal REM sleep. Eur. J. Obstet. Gyn. R. B., 21:283-291.
- Morrissey, M. J., Duntley, S.P., Anch, A.M. and Nonneman, R. (2004). Active sleep and its role in the prevention of apoptosis in the developing brain. Med. Hypotheses, 62: 876-879.

- Newman, S.M., Paletz, E.M., Rattenborg, N.C., Obermeyer, W.H. and Benca R.M. (2008). Sleep deprivation in the pigeon using the disk-overwater method. Physiol Behav., 93:50– 8.
- Rampin, C., Cespuglio, R., Chastrette, N. and Jouvet, M. (1991). Immobilisation stress induces a paradoxical sleep rebound in rat. Neurosci. Lett., 126:113–8.
- Rechtschaffen, A. (1998). Current perspectives on the function of sleep. Perspect. Biol. Med., 41:359-390.
- Rechtschaffen, A. and Bergmann, B.M. (2002). Sleep deprivation in the rat: an update of the 1989 paper. Sleep, 25:18–24.
- Rechtschaffen, A., Gilliland, M.A., Bergmann, B.M. and Winter, J.B (1983). Physiological correlates of prolonged sleep deprivation in rats. Science, 221:182–4.
- Siegel, J.M. (2005). Clues to the functions of mammalian sleep. Nature, 437:1264-1271.
- Siegel, J. M. (2008). Do all animals sleep? Trends Neurosci., 31:208–13. DOI 10.1016/j.tins.2008.02.001
- Steiger, A. (2002). Sleep and the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical system. Sleep Med. Rev., 6:125-138.
- Shapiro, C.M and Flanigan, M.J. (1993). ABC of sleep disorders. Function of sleep. Brit. Med. J., 306:383-385.
- Tobler, I., (1995). Is sleep fundamentally different between mammalian species? Behav. Brain Res., 69:35-41.
- Webb, W.B. (1962). Some effects of prolonged sleep deprivation on the hooded rat. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol., 55:791–3.
- Yellon, S.M. and Longo, L. D. (1987). Melatonin rhythms in fetal and maternal circulation during pregnancy in sheep. AJP Endocrinology and Metabolism., 252: E799- E802.
- Zepelin, H., Siegel, J.M. and Tobler, I. (2005). Mammalian Sleep. In: M.H.KRYGER, T. ROTH, W.C.DEMENT, editors, Principles and practice of sleep medicine. Elsevier Saunders., 92-100.

COMPARISON OF DIFFERENT DNA MARKERS FOR SELECTION OF HIGH OLEIC TYPE SUNFLOWER GENOTYPES

Behiye BANU BILGEN*¹, Göksel EVCl², Yalçın KAYA³

¹Namık Kemal University, Faculty of Agriculture, Agricultural Biotechnology Dept, Tekirdağ, Turkey

²Directorate of Trakya Agricultural Research Institute, Edirne, Turkey

³Trakya University, Faculty of Engineering, Genetics and Bioengineering Dept, Edirne, Turkey

* bbilgen@nku.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Sunflower is one of the most important oilseed crops due to high oxidative stability of its oil with high oleic acid content. Determination of high oleic sunflower by standard methods such as gas chromatography is time consuming and expensive. On the other hand, marker-assisted selection analysis with molecular markers associated with high oleic acid trait is a useful and powerful tool in order to facilitate sunflower breeding programs. For the purpose of genotyping the sunflower genotypes for high oleic content four molecular markers were used; SSR marker, HO PCR specific fragment, INDEL markers (FAD2-F4/FAD2-R1 and FAD2-NF/FAD2-NR and FAD2-IS-F/FAD2-IS-R primer set). The results showed that high oleic containing hybrids expressed a specific SSR band at 246 bp length and also HO PCR specific fragment at 870 bp length. INDEL marker FAD2-F4/FAD2-R1 has an insert specific band at 653 bp length. The results were also confirmed by estimating the fatty acid composition. The results of this work allowed to validation of three DNA markers in sunflower inbred lines for high oleic acid traits. According to results, showing the insertion site which is linked to the Pervenets mutation by the insertion specific PCR primers is more reliable than the SSR marker for selection of the high oleic type sunflower genotypes.

Keywords: Helianthus annuus, INDEL markers, Marker-assisted selection, SSR, Oleic acid composition

INTRODUCTION

Vegetable oils are necessary mainly for food and industry. They are mainly composed of triacylglycerol carrying saturated, monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids. Sunflower oil which is one of the most important oil in the world contains high level of unsaturated fatty acids [linoleic acid (48-74%); oleic acid (14-40%)] and also saturated fatty acids [palmitic acid (4-9%); stearic acid (1-7%)] (Singchai et al., 2013; Nagarathna et al., 2011). Sunflower oil used for both human and non-food purposes in the world. It is desirable for human consumption because of its favorable fatty acid composition (Baydar and Erbas 2005). Oleic type sunflower production and high oleic sunflower oil consumption started rapidly both for healthy frying oil, and also non-food purposes in recent years (Vannozzi 2006). High oleic type vegetable oils also have longer shelf life than standard vegetable oils (Kaya et al., 2012). High oleic type vegetable oil containing diets have been reported to be most effective for preventing cardiovascular diseases (Delplanque et al., 1997; Broun et al., 1999). Classic sunflower varieties are low oleic type (LO) whereas new varieties that are qualified as high oleic (HO) have been developed. Increase of oleic acid content has become one of the major goals to improve vegetable oil quality (Lacombe et al., 2004). In order to reach this aim, Sunflower

lines and hybrids which have high oleic acid content in their seeds have been obtained by selection programs from HO (High oleic) Pervenet mutant by chemical mutagenesis (Soldatov 1976). The phenotypic determination by fatty acid analysis does not allow rapid and early determination of HO genotypes and also cannot provide differentiation of homozygotes from heterozygotes for the mutation (Bilgen et al., 2018). The use of molecular markers has become popular tool for the genetic and breeding studies because of being rapid, cheaper and simple when appropriate markers were developed (Varshney et al., 2005). Therefore, marker assisted selection (MAS) analysis is necessary at genomic level allowing rapid and earlier determination of homozygous HO genotypes for sunflower breeding studies. The aims of study are characterization of sunflower genotypes with high oleic acid content by different DNA markers and evaluate the effectiveness of three markers developed by Berville et al. (2009) and Schuppert et al., (2006).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant materials

For the purpose of screening on high oleic acid genotypes, around 250 F_4 (K2-AD-SN-26) sunflower individuals obtained from a cross between high oleic acid and low oleic acid lines were used. All genotypes were screened by SSR primer and selected 27 genotypes were screened by 3 primer pairs in order to compare effectiveness of different markers. Leaves were collected from the field, labeled with individual number and stored at -80°C until use.

DNA isolation

Before DNA isolation leave samples were homogenized with Retsch[®] Model MM300 Mixer Mill. i-genomic Plant DNA Extraction Mini Kit was used for DNA isolation from all samples. Concentration of each DNA was measured with Qubit[®] 2.0 Fluorometer and the quality of DNA was checked by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis, stained with RedSafe Nucleic Acid Staining Solution and visualized by Gel Imaging System Vilber Lourmat Quantum ST5. Each of the extracted DNA was diluted as 50 ng per μ l and was stored at -20 °C for later uses.

PCR analysis

Genotyping of high oleic (HO) and low oleic (LO) sunflower individuals was performed with 3 primer pairs; SSR (N1-1F/N1-1R), HO PCR specific fragment (N1-3F/N2-1R) and INDEL marker (FAD2-F4/FAD2-R1) that were chosen from the patent obtained by Berville et al. (2009) and Schuppert et al., (2006) (Table 1). Amplified PCR products were controlled by 2% agarose gel electrophoresis, stained with RedSafe Nucleic Acid Staining Solution and visualized by Gel Imaging System Vilber Lourmat Quantum ST5. SSR (N1-1F/N1-1R) fragments were scored in a *Beckman Coulter* GenomeLabTM GeXP Genetic Analysis System and fragment sizes were calculated by its Software (Figure 1).

| No | Primer type | Primer name | Primer Sequences $(5' \rightarrow 3')$ |
|----|------------------------------|--------------------|---|
| 1 | SSR | N1-1F N1-1R | TTGGAGTTCGGTTTATTTAT TTAGTAAACGAGCCTGAAC |
| 2 | HO PCR specific primer | N1-3F N2-1R | GAGAAGAGGGAGGTGTGAAG AGCGGTTATGGTGAGGTCAG |
| 3 | INDEL marker | FAD2-F4 FAD2-R1 | GTAACGTCTGCGCGCGCTTGCAGACATCA GGTTTTGCATGAGGGACTCGATCGAGTG |

Table 1. Characteristics of markers used to analyze HO and LO sunflower genotypes



Figure 1. DNA fragment analyses results for studied sunflower genotypes.

RESULTS

The Pervenet mutation was labeled by the polymorphism of the SSR locus located on the Δ 12-desaturase gene intron (Berville et al., 2009). Alleles and genotypes of studied sunflower individuals were determined for analyzed SSR (N1-1F/N1-1R) locus. According to DNA fragment analysis for SSR locus 246/246 Homozygous (239 genotypes), 243/243 Homozygous (2 genotypes) and 243/246 Heterozygous genotypes (4 genotypes) were identified. 27 selected sunflower genotypes were also screened with HO PCR specific fragment (N1-3F/N2-1R) in order to confirm HO sunflower genotypes. The Pervenet mutation was labeled by the 870 bp PCR fragment across the 5' insertion point by HO PCR specific fragment (N1-3F/N2-1R) (Berville et al., 2009). The results showed that high oleic containing sunflower individuals (HO genotypes) showed a specific band at about 870 bp length which was absent in low oleic (LO) genotypes (Table 2). The third primer pair, INDEL marker (FAD2-F4/FAD2-R1), were used for screening 27 selected sunflower genotypes again in order to confirm HO sunflower genotypes. The F4/R1 amplicons were approximately 653 bp long in HO genotypes and this specific band was also absent in LO genotypes (Table 2, Figure 2). The results were confirmed by determination of fatty acid composition using gas chromatography in all the studied individuals (Table 2).

| Sample number | SSR (N1-1F/N1-1R) | HO PCR specific primer (N1-3F/N2-1R) (~870 bp) | INDEL marker (FAD2-F4/FAD2- R1) (~653) | Oleic acid content (%) |
|------------------|----------------------|--|--|------------------------------|
| 10 | 246 | + | + | 87.5 |
| 13 | 246 | + | + | 57.4 |
| 15 | 246 | + | + | 83.1 |
| 25 | 246 | + | + | 55.9 |
| 28 | 246 | + | + | 62.1 |
| 37 | 246 | + | + | 59.5 |
| 49 | 246 | + | + | 62.6 |
| 58 | 246 | + | + | 55.1 |
| 67 | 246 | + | + | 56.7 |
| 70 | 246 | + | + | 54.1 |
| 78 | 246 | + | + | 81.6 |
| 80 | 246 | + | + | 54.4 |
| 84 | 246 | + | + | 54.1 |
| 87 | 246 | + | + | 59.8 |
| 110 | 243/246 | + | + | 54.9 |
| 122 | 246 | + | + | 84.7 |
| 125 | 246 | + | + | 57.9 |
| 140 | 246 | + | + | 70.2 |
| 180 | 246 | + | + | 89.4 |
| 193 | 246 | + | + | 90.8 |
| 195 | 246 | + | + | 65.9 |
| 199 | 246 | + | + | 64.4 |
| 208 | 246 | + | + | 88.1 |
| 210 | 246 | + | + | 72.5 |
| 211 | 246 | + | + | 88.2 |
| 226 | 246 | + | + | 68.1 |
| 239 | 246 | + | + | 89.7 |

Table 2. Marker assisted selection (MAS) and Gas Chromatography (GC) results of selected F4 (K2-AD-SN-26) sunflower genotypes



Figure 2. PCR amplification of HO and LO sunflower genotypes with INDEL primer pair (FAD2-F4/FAD2-R1)

DISCUSSION

Various sunflower lines and hybrids have been studied to distinguish HO genotypes from LO genotypes by different researchers and molecular marker types such as RAPD or SSR (Dehmer and Friedt 1998; Schuppert et al., 2006; Berville et al., 2009; Nagarathna et al., 2011; Grandon et al., 2012; Singchai et al., 2013). Dehmer and Friedt (1998) were used RAPD markers (OP-AC10 and OP-F15) in order to differentiate HO and LO genotypes. Nagarathna et al., (2011) studied around 350 sunflower genotypes including RHA-lines, cms lines, inbreds and germplasm lines to screening on high oleic acid. In Nagarathna et al., (2011) For the purpose of genotyping the sunflower lines for high oleic content, HO PCR specific fragment (N1-3F/N2-1R) were chosen and also the seeds were used for the determination of fatty acids (linoleic acid, oleic acid, palmitic acid and stearic acid) using gas chromatography. They reported that the genotypes having a specific band (at 800 to 900 bp) showed high oleic content. Singchai et al., (2013) studied the developed lines that used as the representative of low and high oleic acid sunflowers for genotyping. They screened thirty seven SSR primers including 34 primers of ORS set, 2 primers of HA set and N1-3F/N2-1R primer to identify DNA samples from two lines (high and low oleic acid contents). Out of the 37 SSR primers screened for polymorphism, 10 SSR primers including N1-3F/N2-1R generated differentiating bands between the high and low oleic content lines. With the 10 SSR markers they studied, Singchai et al., (2013) reported that it is possible to identify the genetic markers linked to high oleic acid trait which may be useful for further sunflower breeding program. Dimitrijevic et al., (2017) studied F13-R5 and F4-R1 (Schuppert et al., 2006), and Fsp-b-R1 primer (Lacombe et al., 2009) in order to MAS analysis of F1 and F2 generations that were obtained from crosses between standard linoleic and high oleic parents. They concluded that F4-R1 primer pair was very effective to select HO genotypes. The MAS and GC analysis results of our study were compatible with other studies in the literature.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study has shown that studied 3 primer pairs were effectively select HO sunflower genotypes from LO genotypes. However, 246 bp SSR band can be found in some LO sunflower varieties. So, the SSR marker is able to indicate the Pervenets mutation but not in all the sunflower varieties. Pervenets mutation results from an insertion of a DNA sequence into a region at the downstream of the $\Delta 12$ -desaturase gene. The HO PCR specific fragment and INDEL marker showed the presence of the inserted sequence and they are able to detect HO varieties more confidently than the SSR marker.

Acknowledgements: This study was supported by The Scientific and Technical Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) (Project No: 114O971 and 114O974).

REFERENCES

- Baydar, H. and Erbas, S. (2005). Influence of seed development and seed position on oil, fatty acids and total tacopherol contents in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Turk. J. Agric. For., 29: 179-186.
- Berville, A., Lacombe S., Veillet S., Granier C., Leger S. and Jouve P. (2009). Method of selecting sunflower genotypes with high oleic acid content in seed oil. The Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT), WO 2005/106022 A2.
- Bilgen B.B., Daneshvar, S., Evci, G., Pekcan, V., Yilmaz, M.I. and Kaya, Y. (2018). Determination of High Oleic Type and Broomrape Resistant Sunflower Hybrids By DNA Markers. Ekin J. Crop Breed. Genet., 4(1): 22-30.

- Broun, P., Gettner, S. and Somerville, C., (1999). Genetic engineering of plant lipids. Annual Rev. Nutr., 19: 197-216.
- Dehmer, K.J. and Friedt, W. (1998). Development of molecular markers for high oleic acid content in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Ind. Crop. Prod., 7, 311-315.
- Delplanque, B., Le Roy, B., Senault, C. and Lemort, N., (1997). Reduced capacity of cholesterol efflux, delayed postprandial lipid response, and abnormal Apo-CIII distribution in normolipemic sujects with premature coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis, 134(1-2):338-4, pp. 200.
- Dimitrijevic, A., Imerovski, I., Dragana, M., Cvejic, S., Jocic, S., Zeremski, T. and Sakac, Z. (2017). Oleic acid variation and marker-assisted detection of Pervenets mutation in high- and low-oleic sunflower cross. Crop Breed. Appl. Biotechnol., 17, 235-241.
- Grandon, N.G., Moreno, M.V., Scorcione, M.C., Gieco, J.O., Alvarez, D., Paniego, N. and Heinz, R. (2012). Characterization of sunflower inbred lines (*Helianthus annuus* L.) for high oleic acid content using SSR markers. Instituto Nacional de Technologia Agropecuaria, Estacion Experimental Agropecuaria Manfredi, Reuniones Y Congress, 1851-4987.
- Kaya, Y., Evci, G., Pekcan, V. and Yilmaz, M. I. (2012). Developing oleic type sunflower hybrids for food and non-food purposes. Proceeding of 41st Annual Meeting of ESNA, September 24- 28, Stará Lesná, High Tatras, Slovak Republic. 69.
- Lacombe, S., Kaan, F., Griveau, Y. and Berville, A. (2004). The Pervenets high oleic mutation: Methodological studies. Helia, 40: 41-54.
- Lacombe, S., Souyris, I. and Berville, A.J. (2009). An insertion of oleate desaturase homologous sequence silences via siRNA the functional gene leading to high oleic acid content in sunflower seed oil. Mol. Genet. Genom., 281: 43-54.
- Nagarathna, T.K., Shadakshari, Y.G. and Ramanappa, T.M. (2011). Molecular analysis of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) genotypes for high oleic acid using microsatellite markers. Helia, 34: 63-68.
- Schuppert, G.F., Tang, S., Slabaugh, M.B. and Knapp, S.J. (2006). The sunflower high-oleic mutant Ol carries variable tandem repeats of FAD2-1, a seed-specific oleoylphosphatidyl choline desaturase. Mol. Breed., 17: 241-256.
- Singchai, A., Muangsan, N. and Machikowa, T. (2013). Evaluation of SSR markers associated with high oleic acid in sunflower. Int. J. Biol. Food Vet. Agric. Eng., 7: 631-634.
- Soldatov, K.I. (1976). Chemical mutagenesis in sunflower breeding. Proc. 7th International Sunflower Conference, 27 June 3 July, Krasnodar, Russia, Pp. 352-357.
- Vannozzi, G.P. (2006). The perspectives of use of high oleic sunflower for oleochemistry and energy raws. Helia, 29: 1-24.
- Varshney, R.K., Graner, A. and Sorrels M.E., (2005). Genic microsatellite markers in plants: features and applications. Trends Biotechnol., 23(1): 48-55.

DEVELOPMENT OF ASSISTED REPRODUCTION TECHNOLOGIES FOR THE ENDANGERED ALBANIAN WATER FROG (PELOPHYLAX SHQIPERICUS): FROM GAMETE RELEASE TO FROGLETS

Blerta TURANI¹*, Valbona ALIKO¹

¹ Department of Biology, Faculty of Natural Sciences, University of Tirana, Tirana Albania

* blertaturani@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

The Albanian water frog, *Pelophylax shqipericus*, is a species of true frog (family Ranidae) and is native to Albania and Montenegro. This frog is an endangered species and its populations are currently in decline. Significant threats to its habitat are presented by pollution and by drainage of wetlands, and a more direct threat is the aggressive collection of the species for commercial purposes. Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ART) encompasses a range of techniques that manipulate reproductive endocrinology, gametes, and embryos, for the purpose of enhancing reproductive success. The aim of this study is the stabilization of the protocol to be used in the *in-vitro* fertilization the Albanian water frog and the recognition of some of the factors that play a crucial role in the success of this technique. This study investigates the activation and in-vitro fertilization of eggs of *Pelophylax shqipericus* obtained by hormonally induced ovulation. Also, here we show that the egg jelly structure is one of the major factors in the achievement of fertilization in the water frog P. shqipericus. Definition of morphology, sperm concentration and fertilization of eggs through the technique of direct spray with the extract of macerated testicles increases significantly the success of the technique. Finally, applied *in-vitro* fertilization protocol showed a 27% success rate. By using the *in-vitro* fertilization technique (IVF), we can give a contribution to the protection and conservation of the critically endangered Albanian water frog. The transfer of this technology and production of endangered amphibians is a conservation milestone that can be applied to other captive breeding programs.

Keywords: *Pelophylax shqipericus, In-vitro fertilization, Assisted reproductive technologies, Conservation*

INTRODUCTION

Declines in amphibian populations is a global phenomenon in conservation biology, and it can bear significant implications for the functioning of many terrestrial ecosystems, and may signify important implications for human welfare. Amphibian species world-wide are declining at an alarming rate due to habitat destruction, environmental pollution, ultraviolet exposure, and pathogenic agents (Daszak et al.,1999; Morell, 2001; Kiesecker et al., 2001). In response to this crisis, in the last decade development of assisted reproduction technologies (ART) has gained considerable interest. Although amphibian ART is a relatively new field of study, several recent advancements in protocol development have led to significant conservation achievements such as the production of endangered tadpoles from frozen-thawed sperm or the release of thousands of tadpoles produced by in-vitro fertilization (Kouba et al., 2009, 2013; Kouba and Vance, 2009). When applied effectively, ART could result in increased breeding efficiency, reduced costs, halt loss of genetic diversity, reduce mate-pairing issues, and possibly even reject extinction as the only scenario for critically endangered species.

Anurans are characterised by external fertilisation, which is the ancestral condition in amphibians (Wells, 2007). Understanding the factors that affect fertilisation success, and how to manipulate these factors to enhance species propagation, is therefore a critical research priority in conservation biology. Reproductive success for amphibians requires that spermiation, ovulation, oviposition, fertilization, embryonic development, and metamorphosis were accomplished (Whitaker, 2001). The hormone hCG induces spermiation in a wide variety of toads and frogs (McKinnell et al., 1976; Easley et al., 1979; Clulow et al., 1999; Iimori et al., 2005; Browne et al., 2006a, 2006b; Pozzi et al., 2006) and is commonly used in the commercial breeding of Xenopus laevis (Schultz and Dawson, 2003). The sperm-egg interactions occur in the egg-jelly at fertilization and the egg-jelly prevents excess sperm from reaching the egg-surface after the egg is spawned into water. Sperm are prepared for fertilization before they reach the egg surface by a series of interactions with the egg extracellular matrix (Katagirl, 1987; Hedrick and Nishihara, 1991).

Pelophylax shqipericus, the Albanian water frog, is an endangered species and known populations are currently in decline. Significant threats to its habitat are presented by pollution and by drainage of wetlands, and a more direct threat is the aggressive collection of the species for commercial purposes (Szabolcs et al., 2017). To address the problem of extinction of some important amphibian species in Albania, assisted reproductive technology has been applied successfully (Turani and Aliko, 2015; Turani et al., 2018). In an effort to conserve declining populations of amphibians in Albania, the development of protocols for the IVF is of great interest. The present study aimed to advance our understanding of how to optimize the fertilization rate and to maximize fertilization success in the endangered Albanian water frog *Pelophylax shqipericus*.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Animals

All frogs used in the experiment were captured during the breeding season in May 2017. *Pelophylax shqipericus* were obtained from a pond near Scadar Lake (42°10N 19°19E/42.167°N 19.317°E) in the north-western part, Albania. Between the capture procedure and the start of the experiment, frogs were kept in boxes (40x37x60 cm) separated by sex, on a 12-h/12-h light/dark cycle at 18°C-20°C. Animal maintenance and experimental procedures were in accordance with the Guide for Use and Care of Laboratory Animals (European Communities Council Directive 86/609/EEC) and national and institutional guidelines for animal welfare (Act No. 10465, 29/9/2011: "On the Veterinary Service in the Republic of Albania").

Experimental design

In-vitro fertilization were carried out by following the procedure described by Berger et al. (1994). Two days before the experiment, females and males were weighed, and their snoutvent lengths (SVL) were measured to the nearest 0.1 mm. Both sexes were subcutaneously injected with approximately 100 ml/10 g bodyweight of the human hormone hCG (Silla et al., 2012) in a concentration of 1 mg/100 ml isotonic saline solution. In females, this induces ovulation within 48 h; in males, it has a positive effect on sperm motility. Thereafter, animals were kept individually in covered plastic containers (20x11.5x7.5 cm) fitted with a moist paper towel. All artificial fertilization experiments were conducted at room temperature (21^{0} C).

Gamete collection and quality assessment

After acclimatization in the laboratory, male frogs were double-pithed, and their testes removed. Both testes were dissected, weighed to the nearest milligram and temporarily stored in 13 ml Holtfreter's solution (0.059 M, NaCl; 0.00067M KCl; 0.00076M CaCl2; 0.0024M NaHCO3). Testes were crushed in 5-15 ml of chilled (13°C) Holtfreter's solution, thoroughly carved up with pincers, and the sperm released into a 50 mm Petri dish with 1 ml Holtfreter's solution. Testes crushes have long been used to efficiently obtain high numbers of mature sperm in amphibian embryology (Rugh, 1948), and this method of sperm collection has been widely used in amphibian fertilization and sperm quality studies (e.g. Browne et al., 1998; Edwards et al., 2004; Hettyey and Roberts, 2006). The sperm concentration was standardized by dilution with Holtfreter's solution to approximately 8 x106 sperm/ml and was controlled (deter-mined by hemocytometry). Sperm were stored on ice until use. Eggs were gently squeezed from the gravid females and the mucous capsules of five selected eggs from each female were dissected from the ovum and vitelline membrane. The oocvtes pass through the oviduct where the jelly layers required for fertilization are acquired (Caputo et al., 2001). The capsules and jelly were macerated with filtered tap water in Eppendorph tubes, vortexed for 1 min, centrifuged and placed on ice. The eggs are allowed to develop at the room temperature, in 100 mm Petri plates moistened with antibiotic solution with 25 µg/ml amphotericin B, 10 U/ml penicillin and 10 µg/ml streptomycin.

Sperm morphology

To determine the morphology of *Pelophylax shqipericus* sperm, two to three drops of the single-male sperm suspensions used for the in-vitro fertilization were pipetted onto microscope slides and allowed to dry for later sperm-size measurements. Five slides of the seven males were examined under a KN-100TC, Kyowa, Tokyo fitted with a YCU-300F 3CCD camera that relayed images to a PC running ImageJ software, which was used to make all measurements. We measured the flagellum and head length (μ microns) of 100 sperm cells and calculated the total sperm length and the tail-to-head length ratio.

Sperm survival

For measuring sperm survival, sperm suspensions were prepared by crushing the dissected testes into petri dishes with 0.5 ml aged tap water. To filter out larger tissue pieces that might hinder subsequent sperm counting, we washed the sperm suspension through a filter (hole diameter: 100 mm) into an Eppendorf tube with aged tap water and diluted it to 0.5 ml. Sperm suspension (5 ml) was pipetted from Eppendorf tubes onto microscope slides after 5 min (t0), and again after 3, 8, 24, 48h. To reliably distinguish between living and dead spermatozoa we pipetted 5 ml of 1% neutral red solution onto each sperm solution (Romeis, 1948).

In vitro fertilization (IVF) experiments were carried out by using the sperm prepared as above and eggs were placed in 60 x 15-mm Petri dishes and covered with 5 ml of Holtfreter's solution (20-30 oocytes per Petri dish). By using the pipete the sperm were placed directly on top of each egg. Alternatively, by using a syringe 28G, 13 mm long, drops the sperm are injected under the egg jelly coat. Pre-incubation of sperm with egg jelly was accomplished by vigorously vortexing the jelly from one egg in 100 μ l of Holtfreter's solution. Sperm was then incubated for 10 min in the jelly/buffer supernatant and then injected under the jelly coat.

The yield of fertilization is estimated as a percentage of 3-6 of the larval stages formed after 6-8 hours after the application of spermatozoids on the egg. The counting of formed embryos and unfertilized eggs was done under a stereomicroscope. Fertilization success is evident after 20–50 min when the black animal hemisphere of fertilized eggs rotates to the top. At this time, we added enough aged water to cover the eggs completely. To calculate the fertilization success, we first counted the total number of eggs in the petri dish and then, after the first

cleavage was visible (usually after 3 h), all fertilized and unfertilized eggs. The eggs were evaluated as successful fertilized when they reach neural stage (stage 14 according to Gosner) (Gosner, 1960). After this stage, the eggs were transferred from Petri dishes into plastic containers ($20 \times 11.5 \times 7.5 \text{ cm}$) that were filled with aged water to a height of 2 cm. Water in the containers was changed periodically during development of the eggs.

RESULTS

We were able to obtain an in-vitro fertilization efficiency of 27% by simply mincing the testes and adding them directly over the eggs.

| Fertilization protocol | Number tested eggs | Cleaved embryos (%) |
|---|-----------------------|------------------------|
| 1. Sperm solution injected under the jelly coat | 37 | 0 |
| 2. Sperm pre-incubated in jelly buffer and | 45 | 8 (17.7) |
| then injected under the jelly coat | | |
| 3. Testes minced directly over eggs | 30 | 8 (27) |
| TOTAL | 112 | 16 (14.3) |

Table 1. In vitro fertilization of P. shqipericus eggs



Figure 1. In vitro fertilization rate of Pelophylax shqipericus

Sperm concentration may play a role in fertilization efficiency. We also examined the possibility that a component of the egg jelly coat may be important for sperm capacitance. To test this, we incubated sperm with Holtfreter's solution and jelly, or Holtfreter's solution alone, and injected this under the jelly coat of eggs. When we injected the sperm with Holtfreter's solution alone, under the jelly coat of eggs, no fertilization happened at all. None of 37 fertilized eggs were developed to embryo, thus the fertility rate was 0%, while pre-incubation of sperm with an extract of the jelly coat in Holtfreter's solution resulted in a fertilization yield of 17.7%. This procedure boosted egg fertilizability to near the levels of fertilization by directly spray

with the extract of macerated testicles (27%), and suggests that interactions between sperm and the jelly coat may play a role in sperm capacitance and subsequent fertilization (Fig.1).

A total of 112 eggs was fertilized and put immediately under culture conditions for further maturation. Furthermore, 16 of 112 eggs (14.3%) developed to two-cell stage following culture in Holtfreter's solution modified with antibiotics. All of two-cells stage embryos reached the larval stage. Healthy frogs were raised and released into the wild.

Sperm morphology, measured by the total sperm length and the ratio between the sperm tail and head length. The average length of the head resulted $3.6 \times 10^4 \mu$; the average length of the tail resulted $6.5 \times 10^4 \mu$. So, the total sperm length resulted $10.1 \times 10^4 \mu$. The ratio between the sperm tail and head length resulted $3:1 \times 10^4 \mu$ (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Spermatozoon of Pelophylax shqipericus

Figure 3 shows the decrease in sperm survival over time, expressed as the percentage of vital sperm at 3, 8, 24 and >48 h, relative to the percentage that was vital immediately after preparing the suspension (t_0 =100%). Sperm survival declines exponentially.



Figure 3. Sperm survival rate of Pelophylax shqipericus

DISCUSSION

The data obtained in our laboratory showed that: the protocol of in-vitro fertilisation of frog eggs by direct spray with the extract of macerated testicles was successfully. The average yield performed in our laboratory was 27% of all fertilized eggs. This can be considered a successful performance if taken into account that the efficiency of fertilization for the other techniques of fertilization (sperm diluted solution pipetted on eggs) is approximately 8% (Elinson, 1987; Ueda et al., 2002).

Using in-vitro fertilization of Albanian water frog, *Pelophylax shqipericus*, we found that incubation of sperm with an extract of the jelly coat eggs seems to have a higher relevance in the in-vitro fertilization efficiency. The egg-jelly fluid induced a greater proportion of sperm to become motile, and a faster swimming speed of spermatozoids. Proteins from the jelly coats of anuran eggs have been identified as essentials for fertilization (Barbieri, 1976) influencing the chemoattraction of sperm to eggs (Olson et al., 2001) and their binding to the vitelline envelope (Olson and Chandler, 1999). Components of egg jelly layers are necessary for the fertilization of the egg by chemoattracting sperm. Components of egg jelly layers are necessary for the fertilization of the egg by incoming sperm. Other possible roles of the jelly coat include protection from mechanical stresses (Thomas and Bolton, 1999; Thomas et al., 1999, Simons et al., 2009), prevention of polyspermy (Schuel, 1984), and increasing the effective diameter of the egg for higher sperm-egg collision frequency (Farley and Levitan, 2001; Podolsky, 2001; Podolsky, 2002).

Also, when sperm manipulation was done in very low temperatures (nearly t=4°C), and when for its dilution Holtfreter's solution diluted to 10% and not concentrated were used. The dilution of sperm seems to reduce its fertilization ability. Incubating the gametes in any buffer solution with an osmolality higher than 50 mOsmol/kg will inhibit fertilization (Edwards et al., 2004), for aquatic anurans are known to achieve optimal rates of fertilization at low osmolarities (0-7mOsmol/kg) (Edwards et al. 2004). It is likely that this inhibition to fertilization is due to inactivation of sperm motility at higher osmolarities (Browne et al., 1998; Kouba et al., 2003; Edwards et al., 2004). Typically, fertilization takes place with sperm concentrations ranging from 10^4 to 10^6 spermatozoa per mL (Wolf and Hedrick, 1971; Browne et al., 1998; Edwards et al., 2004).

Our data demonstrated that longevity of sperm of *P. shqipericus* is highest for up to 3h, giving us the chance to have time for preparations in the laboratories until successful performing of fertilization (Fig. 2).

Conclusions

In vitro fertilization success depends on many factors, starting from egg and sperm release, quality of gametes, and composition of media used for fertilization and development of embryos. So, to realise successfully the *in vitro* fertilization technique for reproduction of Albanian water frog, all the above-mentioned events must be accomplished. Successfully control of sperm-egg interaction, as a crucial step of in vitro fertilization is the main step toward success. Also, sperm morphology and sperm concentration are very important in fertilization success, thus providing an optimal *in-vitro* fertilization protocol.

Finally, we can say that our results demonstrate efficient IVF in a fresh water endemic frog and help lay the foundation for future research and conservation possibilities for *Pelophylax shqipericus*.

Acknowledgements: The authors thank Tirana University for funding support of this study.

REFERENCES

- Barbieri, F. D. (1976). Diffusible factors in anuran fertilization. Acta Pysiol. Latinoam., 26: 1-9.
- Bligh, E. G., W.Y. Dyer (1959). A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Can. J. Biochem. Physiol., 37(8): 911-917.
- Browne, R. K., J. Clulow, M. Mahony, A. Clark (1998). Successful recovery of motility and fertility of cryopreserved cane toad (*Bufo marinus*) sperm. Cryobiology, 37: 339-345. DOI:10.1006/cryo.1998.2129.
- Browne, R. K., H. Li, J. Seratt, A. J. Kouba, (2006a). Progesterone improves the number and quality of hormone-induced Fowler toad (*Bufo fowleri*) oocytes. J. Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol., 4, 3. DOI:10.1186/1477-7827-4-3.
- Browne, R. K., J. Seratt, C. K. Vance, A. J. Kouba (2006b). Hormonal priming, induction of ovulation and *in vitro* fertilization of the endangered Wyoming toad (*Bufo baxteri*). J. Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol., 4, 34. DOI:10.1186/1477-7827-4-34.
- Caputo, M., V. Infante, R. Talevi, M. C. Vaccaro, R. Carotenuto, C. Campanella (2001). Following passage through the oviduct, the coelomic envelope of *Discoglossus pictus* (Amphibia) acquires fertilizability upon reorganization, conversion of gp 42 to gp 40, extensive glycosylation, and formation of a specific layer. Mol. Reprod. Dev., 58: 318– 329.
- Clulow, J., M. Mahony, R. Browne, M. Pomering, A. Clark (1999). Applications of assisted reproductive technologies (ART) to endangered amphibian species. In 'Declines and Disappearance of Australian Frogs'. (Ed. A. Campbell.) pp. 219-225.
- Daszak, P., L. Berger, A. A. Cunningham, A. D. Hyatt, D. E. Green, R. Speare (1999). Emerging infectious diseases and amphibian population declines. Em Inf Dis., 5: 735-748.
- Easley, K. A., D. D. Culley, Jr, N. D. Horseman, J. E. Penkala (1979). Environmental influences on hormonally induced spermiation of the bullfrog, *Rana catesbeiana*. J. Exp. Zool., 207: 407-416. DOI:10.1002/ JEZ.1402070309.
- Edwards, D. L., M. J. Mahony, J. Clulow (2004). Effect of sperm concentration, medium osmolality and oocyte storage on artificial fertilisation success in a myobatrachid frog (*Limnodynastes tasmaniensis*). Reprod. Fertil. Dev., 16: 347-354.
- Ellison, A. M. (1987). Effects of competition, disturbance, and herbivory on *Salicomia europaea*. Ecology, 68: 576-586.
- Farley, G. S., D. R. Levitan (2001). The role of jelly coats in sperm-egg encounters, fertilization success, and selection on egg size in broadcast spawners. Am. Nat., 157 (6): 626-636.
- Gosner, K. L. (1960). A simplified table for staging anuran embryos and larvae with notes on identification. Herpetologica, 16: 183-190.
- Hedrick, J., T. Nishihara (1991). Structure and function of the extracellular matrix of anuran eggs. J. Electron. Microsc. Techol., 17: 319-835.
- Hettyey A., J. D. Roberts (2006). Sperm traits of the quacking frog, *Crinia georgiana*: intraand interpopulation variation in a species with a high risk of sperm competition. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol., 59: 389-396. DOI:10.1007/s00265-005-0062-3.
- Iimori, E., M. J. D'Occhio, A. T. Lisle, S. D. Johnston (2005). Testosterone secretion and pharmacological spermatozoa recovery in the cane toad. Anim. Reprod. Sci., 90: 163-173. DOI:10.1016/J. ANIREPROSCI. 2005.01.010.
- Katagiri, Ch. (1987). Role of oviduct secretions in mediating gamete fusion in anuran amphibians. Zoo/. Sci., 4: 1-14.

- Kiesecker, J. M., A. R. Blaustein, L. K. Belden (2001). Complex causes of amphibian population declines. Nature, 410: 681-684.
- Kouba, A. J., R. E. Lloyd, M. L. Houck, A. J. Silla, N. Calatayud, V. L. Trudeau, et al. (2013). Emerging trends for biobanking amphibian genetic resources: the hope, reality and challenges for the next decade. Biol. Conservation, 164: 10-21.
- Kouba, A. J., C. K. Vance (2009). Applied reproductive technologies and genetic resource banking for amphibian conservation. Reprod. Fertil. Dev., 21: 719-37.
- Kouba, A. J., C. K. Vance, M. A. Frommeyer, T. L. Roth (2003). Structural and functional aspects of *Bufo americanus* spermatozoa: effects of inactivation and reactivation. J Exp Zool., 295A: 172-82.
- Kouba, A. J., C. K. Vance, E. L. Willis (2009). Artificial fertilization for amphibian conservation: current knowledge and future considerations. Theriogenology, 71: 214-27.
- Lipke, C. S., T. Meinecke, B. Meinecke (2007). An advanced spermiation protocol in a dendrobatid frog, *Dendrobates auratus* (Amphibia, Anura, Dendrobatidae). Abstracts of the 40th Annual Meeting on Physiology and Pathology of Reproduction, the 32nd Joint meeting of Veterinary and Human Medicine, Berlin, Germany. Reprod. Dom. Anim., 42 (Suppl. 1):19.
- McKinnell, R. G., D. J. Picciano, R. E. Kriegg (1976). Fertilization and development of frog eggs after repeated spermiation induced by human chorionic gonadotropin. Lab. Anim. Sci. 26(6): 932-935.
- Morell, V. (2001). The fragile world of frogs. National Geographic May, 106-123.
- Nagarsenker, P. B. (1984). On Bartlett's test for homogeneity of variances. Biometrika, 71: 405-407.
- Olson, J. H., D. E. Chandler (1999). *Xenopus laevis* egg jelly contains small proteins that are essentials to fertilization. Dev. Biol., 210: 401-410.
- Olson, J. H., X. Xiang, T. Ziegert, A. Kittelson, A. Rawls, A. L. Bieber, D. E. Chandler (2001). Allurin, a 21-kDa sperm chemoattractant from *Xenopus* egg jelly, is related to mammalian sperm-binding proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 98: 11205-11210.
- Podolsky, R. D. (2001). Evolution of egg target size: an analysis of selection on correlated characters. Evolution, 55: 2470-2478.
- Podolsky, R. D. (2002). Fertilization ecology of egg coats: physical versus chemical contributions to fertilization success of free-spawned eggs. J. Exp. Biol., 205: 1657-1668.
- Pozzi, A. G., C. Rosemblit, N. R. Ceballos (2006). Effect of human gonadotropins on spermiation and androgen biosynthesis in the testis of the toad *Bufo arenarum* (Amphibia, Anura). J. Exp. Zool., 305A (1): 96-102. DOI:10.1002/JEZ.A.254.
- Romeis, B. (1948). Mikroskopische Technik. Redaktion Oldenbourg, Munich.
- Rugh, R. (1948). Experimental embryology: a manual of techniques an procedures. Minneapolis, MN: Burgess.
- Rugh, R. (1962). Culturing of amphibian embryos. In Experimental embryology: techniques and procedures (ed. Rugh R., editor.). Minneapolis, MN: Burgess Publishing Company.
- Schuel, H. (1984). The prevention of polyspermic fertilization in sea-urchins. Biol. Bull., 167: 271-309.
- Schultz, T. W., D. A. Dawson (2003). Housing and husbandry of *Xenopus* for oocyte production. Lab. Anim., 32: 34-39. DOI:10.1038/ LABAN0203-34.
- Silla, A. J., J. D. Roberts (2012). Investigating patterns in the spermiation response of eight Australian frogs administered human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) and luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRHa). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 79(1): 128-36.

- Simmons, W., J. D. Roberts, M. A. Dziminskij (2009). Egg jelly influences sperm motility in the externally fertilizing frog, *Crinia georgiana*. L. EVOL. BIOL., 22: 225-229.
- Szabolcs, M., E. Mizsei, D. Jablonski, B. Vági, B. Mester, Z. Végvári, S. Lengyel (2017). Distribution and diversity of amphibians in Albania: new data and foundations of a comprehensive database Amphibia-Reptilia. 38: 435-448.
- Shapiro, S. S, M. B. Wilk (1965). Distributional Fitting, Assumption Testing. Biometrika, 52: 591-611.
- Townsend, D. S, M. M. Stewart (1985): Direct development in *Eleutherodactylus* coqui (Anura: Leptodactylidae): A staging table. Copeia, 423-436.
- Turani, B., V. Aliko (2015). In vitro fertilization and maturation of Balkan water frog (*Pelophylax kurtmuelleri, Gayda, 1940*) – A case study in reproductive amphibian biotechnology. International Journal of Ecosystems and Ecology Sciences (IJEES), 5 (4): 557-560.
- Turani, B., V. Aliko, C. Faggio (2018). Allurin and Egg Jelly Coat Impact on In-Vitro Fertilization Success of Endangered Albanian Water Frog, *Pelophylax Shqipericus*. Natural Research Product. DOI: 10.1080/14786419.2018.1508147 In press.
- Thomas, F. I. M., T. F. Bolton (1999). Shear stress experienced by echinoderm eggs in the oviduct during spawning: potential role in the evolution of egg properties. J. Exp. Biol., 202: 3111-3119.
- Thomas, F. I. M., K. A. Edwards, T. F. Bolton, M. A. Sewell, J. M. Zande (1999). Mechanical resistance to shear stress: the role of echinoderm egg extracellular layers. Biol. Bull., 197: 7-10.
- Ueda, Y., Y. Norio, Y. Iwao (2002): "Acrosome reaction in sperm of the frog, *Xenopus laevis*: its detection and induction by oviduct pars recta secretion". Dev Biol., 243: 55-64.
- Wells, K. D. (2007). Chapter 10: The natural history of amphibian reproduction. In 'The Ecology and Behavior of Amphibians'. (Ed. K. D. Wells) pp. 451-515. (University of Chicago Press: Chicago).
- Whitaker, B. R. (2001). Reproduction. In: Wright KM, Whitaker BR, eds. Amphibian Medicine and Captive Husbandry. Malabar FL: Krieger Publishing Company. p. 285-307.
- Wolf, D. P., J. L. Hedrick (1971). A molecular approach to fertilization: II. Viability and artifi cial fertilization of *Xenopus laevis* gametes. Dev Biol., 25: 348-59.

USE OF FACTOR ANALYSIS TO EVALUATE THE WATER QUALITY OF DAM LAKES LOCATED IN ERGENE RIVER BASIN (THRACE REGION, TURKEY)

*Cem TOKATLI^{*1}, Esengül KÖSE², Arzu ÇIÇEK³, Özgür EMIROĞLU⁴, Hayri DAYIOĞU⁵*

¹Department of Laboratory Technology, İpsala Vocational School, Trakya University, İpsala / Edirne, Turkey

²Department of Environmental Protection and Control, Eskişehir Vocational School, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Eskişehir, Turkey

³Applied Environmental Research Centre, Anadolu University, Eskişehir, Turkey

⁴Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Eskişehir, Turkey

⁵Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Dumlupinar University, Kütahya, Turkey

* <u>tokatlicem@gmail.com</u>

ABSTRACT

Altınyazı, Karaidemir, Kayalıköy, Kırklareli, Sultanköy and Süloğlu Dam Lakes are located in Ergene River Basin in the Thrace part of Marmara Region, where has very large agricultural lands because of contained rich soil and much freshwater resources. They were constructed by DSİ (State Water Works) in order to provide irrigation and drinking water and flood protection. The aim of this study was to evaluate the water quality of these reservoirs by a statistical approach by using Pearson Correlation Index (PCI) and Factor Analysis (FA). For this purpose, total of 16 limnologic parameters (temperature, dissolved oxygen, oxygen saturation, pH, electrical conductivity, total dissolved solids, salinity, turbidity, nitrate, nitrite, phosphate, sulfate, fluorine, biological oxygen demand, chemical oxygen demand, fecal coliform) were measured in selected total of 15 stations in spring season of 2018. According to the results of PCI, significant relations were recorded between the investigated parameters at the 0.01 and 0.05 significance levels. According to the results of FA, 3 factors explained 85% of the total variance.

Keywords: Dam Lakes, Ergene River Basin, Factor analysis

INTRODUCTION

Multistatistical techniques, which may help the interpretation of complex data matrices to better understand the ecological status of the investigated ecosystems, are being widely used in large numbers of countries in especially water quality assessment studies. Factor Analysis is one of the most convenient multivariate statistical methods that is being used commonly all over the world (Shrestha and Kazama, 2007; Akın et al., 2010; Tokatlı et al., 2013).

The Ergene River is the most important river basin of the Thrace Region and it is known to be exposed to a great industrial pressure (Tokatlı, 2015; 2017; Tokatlı and Baştatlı, 2016). Altınyazı, Karaidemir, Kayalıköy, Kırklareli, Sultanköy and Süloğlu Dam Lakes, which are located on the Ergene River Basin, are most important reservoirs of Thrace Region and they were constructed by DSİ, on the Basamaklar, Poğaça, Teke, Şeytandere, Manastır and Süloğlu Streams respectively (http://www2.dsi.gov.tr/). But as many freshwater ecosystems, these reservoirs are being effected from agricultural and domestic pressure.

In the present study, Pearson Correlation Index (PCI) and Factor Analysis (FA) were applied to lymnological data detected from the reservoirs of Ergene River Basin in order to evaluate the water quality.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study area and collection of samples

Altınyazı, Karaidemir, Kayalıköy, Kırklareli, Sultanköy and Süloğlu Dam Lakes and selected stations on the reservoirs are given in Figure 1. Water samples were collected in spring season of 2018 and one water sample was taken from each selected stations on the dam lakes.

Physicochemical analysis

Temperature, dissolved oxygen, oxygen saturation, pH, EC, TDS and salinity parameters were determined by using "Hach Lange HQ40D Multiparameter" device during the field studies; turbidity parameter was determined by using "Hach Lange 2100Q Portable Turbiditymeter" device during the field studies; nitrate, nitrite, phosphate, sulphate, fluorine and COD parameters were determined by using "Hach Lange DR3900 Spectrophotometer" device during the laboratory studies; BOD parameter was determined by using "Hach Lange DR3900 Spectrophotometer" device during the laboratory studies; BOD parameter was determined by using "Hach Lange DR3900 Spectrophotometer" device during the laboratory studies.

Microbiological analysis

Microbiological analysis was carried out using membrane filtration technique. All water samples were filtered with membrane filtration technique and the membrane filter was placed in coliform chromogenic m-FC Agar. All growth mediums were left to incubate for 24 hours at 44.5 ± 0.2 0C and counted by automatic colony counter.

Statistical analysis

Pearson Correlation Index (PCI) was applied to the results in order to determine the relations between the psychochemical parameters by using the SPSS 17 package program. Factor Analysis (FA) was applied to the results in order to determine the effective varifactors on reservoirs of Ergene River Basin according to correlated variables by using the SPSS 17 package program.



Figure 1. Ergene River Basin, dam lakes and selected stations

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Pearson Correlation Index

The relations between the levels of physical and chemical parameters in the reservoirs of Ergene River Basin were determined by using detected data (n = 15 for all parameters) and all detected relations are given in Table 1.

Factor Analysis (FA)

FA was used to determine the effective varifactors on the reservoirs of Ergene River Basin by using correlated variables. Uncorrelated variables were removed from the data set in order to increase the reliability of FA. A total of 11 variables were used to detect the varifactors (n = 15 for all parameters). Result of KMO (Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin) test that presents the measure of sampling adequacy was 0.527 and this value means that, the sampling adequacy was in a good level for the present application (>0.5) (Liu et al., 2003).

Eigenvalues higher than one were taken as criterion for evaluate the principal components that required to explain the sources of variance in the data. According to rotated cumulative percentage variance, 3 factors explained 85% of the total variance (Table 2) and the scree plot of FA is given in Figure 2.

| | Total Variance Explained | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|--------------------------|---------------------|------------|-------|------------------|------------|------------------|------------------|------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | | | | Ez | xtraction | Sums of | Rotation Sums of | | | | | | | |
| | I | Initial Eigenvalues | | | Squared Loadings | | | Squared Loadings | | | | | | |
| | | % of | Cumulative | | % of | Cumulative | | % of | Cumulative | | | | | |
| Component | Total | Variance | % | Total | Variance | % | Total | Variance | % | | | | | |
| 1 | 6.288 | 57.163 | 57.163 | 6.288 | 57.163 | 57.163 | 5.052 | 45.930 | 45.930 | | | | | |
| 2 | 1.876 | 17.058 | 74.221 | 1.876 | 17.058 | 74.221 | 2.513 | 22.841 | 68.771 | | | | | |
| 3 | 1.188 | 10.800 | 85.021 | 1.188 | 10.800 | 85.021 | 1.787 | 16.250 | 85.021 | | | | | |

Table 2. Extracted values of various FA parameters



Figure 2. Scree plot of FA

Liu et al. (2003) classified the factor loadings according to loading values as "strong (>0.75)", "moderate (0.75 - 0.50)" and "weak (0.50 - 0.30)". The parameter loadings higher than 0.5 calculated after rotation for 3 components are given in Figure 3. Also component plot in rotated space, which shows the related variables of 3 factors, is given in Figure 4.

First factor (F1) explained 45.9% of total variance and it was related to the variables of SO₄, EC, TDS, salinity, F, pH and NO₃ parameters. SO₄, EC, TDS and salinity parameters were strong positively; NO₃ parameter was moderate positively; and pH parameter was moderate negatively loaded with this factor (Figure 3, 4).

| | Temp | DO | O2sat | pН | EC | TDS | Sal | Tur | NO ₃ | NO ₂ | PO ₄ | SO ₄ | F | COD | BOD | FC |
|-----------------|-------|--------|-------|------------------|--------|--------|--------|------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|------|------|-----|----|
| Temp | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| DO | 128 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| O2sat | .130 | .963** | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| pН | .200 | .083 | .190 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| EC | 546* | .320 | .145 | 632 [*] | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| TDS | 579* | .298 | .115 | 638* | .998** | 1 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Sal | 591* | .289 | .103 | 639* | .997** | .999** | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Tur | .621* | 358 | 213 | 049 | 434 | 461 | 470 | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| NO ₃ | 542* | .202 | .025 | 355 | .643** | .634* | .626* | 226 | 1 | | | | | | | |
| NO ₂ | 523* | .668** | .498 | 404 | .765** | .746** | .742** | 245 | .620* | 1 | | | | | | |
| PO ₄ | 043 | 052 | 119 | 593* | .211 | .199 | .188 | .431 | .413 | .407 | 1 | | | | | |
| SO ₄ | 439 | .123 | 025 | 605* | .948** | .941** | .937** | 250 | .670** | .650** | .222 | 1 | | | | |
| F | 314 | .406 | .297 | 428 | .763** | .735** | .729** | 096 | $.670^{**}$ | .751** | .191 | .821** | 1 | | | |
| COD | .006 | .329 | .286 | 311 | .143 | .123 | .122 | .255 | 040 | .455 | .352 | .089 | .354 | 1 | | |
| BOD | .346 | .412 | .510 | .123 | 099 | 135 | 149 | .457 | 086 | .201 | .020 | 090 | .194 | .213 | 1 | |
| FC | .526* | 336 | 160 | .246 | 420 | 428 | 422 | .410 | 535* | 511 | 238 | 278 | 166 | 022 | 082 | 1 |

Table 1. Pearson Correlation Index coefficients

Temp: Temperature; DO: Dissolved oxygen; O2sat: Oxygen saturation; Sal: Salinity; Tur: Turbidity; FC: Fecal coliform *: Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (p<0.05); **: Correlation is significant at the 0,01 level (p<0.01)

Second factor (F2) explained 22.8% of total variance and it was related to the variables of NO₃, fecal coliform, temperature and turbidity parameters. Fecal coliform and temperature parameters were strong positively; turbidity parameter was moderate positively; and NO₃ parameter was moderate negatively loaded with this factor (Figure 3, 4).

Third factor (F3) explained 16.2% of total variance and it was related to the variables of pH, turbidity and pH parameters. PO₄ parameter was strong positively; turbidity parameter was moderate positively; and pH parameter was moderate negatively loaded with this factor (Figure 3, 4).



Figure 3. Rotated component matrix

As it is known that one of the most widely used statistical techniques is Factor Analysis, which provides valuable and easy explaining data. In a study performed in Xiangjiang watershed in China, FA was used to evaluate the quality of some aquatic habitats. According to data observed, FA reduced the data sets in 4 latent factors for 3 different sites accounting for 71.62%, 71.77% and 72.01% of the total variance (Zhang et al., 2009). In another study performed in Uluabat Lake in Turkey, FA was used to assess the water quality. According to data observed, 3 factors explained 77.35% of total variance (Iscen et al., 2007).

Agricultural applications could significantly raise the concentrations of nitrogenous compounds in close aquatic ecosystems to the agricultural lands (Wetzel, 201; Manahan, 2011). According to results of FA, "F1 Factor", which was explained 45.9% of total variance and strong positively related to the variables of SO₄, EC, TDS, salinity, F and NO₃ parameters, was determined as the most effective component for the reservoirs of Ergene River Basin.



Figure 4. Component plot in rotated space

CONCLUSION

In this study, Factor Analysis was used to evaluate the water quality of the reservoirs of Ergene River Basin by using a large number of physical, chemical and biological data. Factor Analysis helped to identify the effective factors on the system and 3 effective factors were determined that were explained 85% of the total variance. In conclusion, multistatistical evaluation is necessary for a sophisticated environmental evaluation especially in water quality assessment studies, because of obtained large numbers of different parameters and difficulty of the interpretations of all parameters.

Acknowledgements: The author would like to thank for the financial and technical supports supplied by Trakya University, Turkey. This investigation has been supported by the project numbered as 2017/211 accepted by Trakya University, Commission of Scientific Research Projects.

REFERENCES

- Akin, B. S., Atıcı, T., Katircioglu, H., Keskin, F. (2010). Investigation of water quality on Gökçeekaya dam lake using multivariate statistical analysis, in Eskişehir, Turkey. Environ Earth Sci, DOI 10.1007/s12665-010-0798-6.
- http://www2.dsi.gov.tr/
- Iscen, CF., Emiroglu, Ö., Ilhan, S., Arslan, N., Yılmaz, V., Ahiska, S. (2007). Application of multivariate statistical techniques in the assessment of surface water quality in Uluabat Lake, Turkey. Environ. Monit. Assess. DOI 10.1007/s10661-007-9989-3.
- Liu, CW., Lin, KH., Kuo, YM. (2003). Application of factor analysis in the assessment of groundwater quality in a Blackfoot disease area in Taiwan. Sci. Total Environ., 313: 77– 89.
- Manahan, S. E. (2011). Water Chemistry: Green Science and Technology of Nature's Most Renewable Resource. Taylor & Francis Group, CRC Press, 398 pages.
- Shrestha, S., Kazama, F. (2007). Assessment of surface water quality using multivariate statistical techniques: A case study of the Fuji river basin; Japan. Environ. Modell. Softw., 22: 464–475.
- Tokatlı, C. (2015). Assessment of the Water Quality in The Meriç River: As an Element of the Ecosystem in the Thrace Region of Turkey. Pol. J. Environ. Stud., 24 (5): 2205-2211.
- Tokatlı, C. (2017). Bio Ecological and Statistical Risk Assessment of Toxic Metals in Sediments of a Worldwide Important Wetland: Gala Lake National Park (Turkey). Archives of Environmental Protection, 43 (1): 34-47.
- Tokatlı, C., Baştatlı, Y. (2016). Trace and Toxic Element Levels in River Sediments. Pol. J. Environ. Stud., 25 (4): 1715-1720.
- Tokatlı, C., Çiçek, A., Köse, E. (2013). Groundwater Quality of Türkmen Mountain (Turkey). Pol. J. Environ. Stud., 22 (4): 1197-1208.
- Wetzel, R. G. (2001). Limnology: Lake and River Ecosystems. Elsevier Academic Press, 1006 pages.
- Zhang, Q., Li, Z., Zeng, G., Li, J., Fang, Y., Yuan, Q., Wang, Y., Ye, F. (2009). Assessment of surface water quality using multivariate statistical techniques in red soil hilly region: a case study of Xiangjiang watershed, China. Environ Monit Assess, 152:123–131.

USE OF PRINCIPLE COMPONENT ANALYSIS TO EVALUATE THE GROUNDWATER QUALITY OF VILLAGES LOCATED IN ERGENE RIVER BASIN

Cem TOKATLI*

Department of Laboratory Technology, İpsala Vocational School, Trakya University, İpsala / Edirne, Turkey

* <u>tokatlicem@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Ergene River is located on the Thrace part of Marmara Region and it is known as one of the most contaminated aquatic habitats of Turkey. This study was carried out to evaluate the groundwater quality of settlement areas located in the Ergene River Basin by using some statistical methods. Water samples were collected from 30 villages in summer season of 2018. Some physical and chemical water quality parameters including dissolved oxygen, oxygen saturation, pH, electrical conductivity (EC), total dissolved solids (TDS), salinity, turbidity, nitrite (NO₂), nitrate (NO₃), phosphate (PO₄), sulphate (SO₄) and chemical oxygen demand (COD) were determined and the results were evaluated by using by using Pearson Correlation Index (PCI) and Principle Component Analysis (PCA). According to the results of PCI, significant relations were recorded between the investigated parameters at the 0.01 and 0.05 significance levels. According to the results of PCA, 2 factors named as "Ionic Factor" and "Agricultural Factor" explained 77.7% of the total variance.

Keywords: Ergene River Basin, Groundwater quality, Principle Component Analysis

INTRODUCTION

Freshwater resources are among the most significant and adversely affected components of environment. Pollution caused by agricultural activities in especially rural areas decreases the quality of these limited freshwater (Çiçek et al., 2013; Tokatlı et al., 2014; Köse et al., 2015). Statistical techniques may help the interpretation of complex data matrices to better understand the ecological status of the investigated ecosystems. Principle Component Analysis is one of the most convenient statistical methods that is being used commonly in many countries in water quality assessment studies (Shrestha and Kazama, 2007; Akın et al., 2010; Tokatlı et al., 2013). The aim of this study was to evaluate the groundwater quality of settlement areas located in the Ergene River Basin by a statistical approach using Pearson Correlation Index (PCI) and Principle Component Analysis (PCI).

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study area and collection of samples

In this study, groundwater samples were collected in summer season of 2018 from 30 stations from the drill fountains of the villages located in the Ergene River Basin. Groundwater with a volume of three wells was purged before sampling. Drinking water samples were then collected at the outflow of drill pump in polyethylene bottles. Coordinate information and

locations of selected stations are given in Table 1 and map of investigated area is given in Figure 1.

Physicochemical analysis

Dissolved oxygen, oxygen saturation, pH, EC, TDS and salinity parameters were determined by using "Hach Lange HQ40D Multiparameter" device during the field studies; turbidity parameter was determined by using "Hach Lange 2100Q Portable Turbiditymeter" device during the field studies; nitrate, nitrite, phosphate, sulphate, fluorine and COD parameters were determined by using "Hach Lange DR3900 Spectrophotometer" device during the laboratory studies.

Statistical analysis

Pearson Correlation Index (PCI) was applied to the results in order to determine the relations between the psychochemical parameters by using the SPSS 17 package program. Principle Component Analysis (PCA) was applied to the results in order to determine the effective varifactors according to correlated variables by using the SPSS 17 package program.

| Locality | Coord | linates | Locality | Coord | linates |
|-------------|----------|----------|--------------------|----------|----------|
| Locality | North | South | Locality | North | South |
| Muratlı | 41.17275 | 27.49570 | Karakavak | 41.32615 | 27.07046 |
| Sarılar | 41.14440 | 27.66180 | Kadriye | 41.34883 | 26.99870 |
| Çorlu | 41.15593 | 27.81326 | Çerkezmüsell im | 41.27186 | 27.02568 |
| Velimeșe | 41.24793 | 27.88046 | Hayrabolu | 41.21345 | 27.10629 |
| Çerkezköy | 41.28212 | 28.00176 | Pehlivanköy | 41.34710 | 26.92391 |
| Saray | 41.44099 | 27.92175 | Danișment | 41.30453 | 26.90137 |
| Karlı | 41.36929 | 27.86502 | Çöpköy | 41.21846 | 26.82429 |
| Marmaracık | 41.20692 | 27.75227 | Bayramlı | 41.30688 | 26.82262 |
| Vakıflar | 41.26342 | 27.64992 | Uzunköprü | 41.26693 | 26.68699 |
| Karamusul | 41.30349 | 27.44734 | Salarlı | 41.22682 | 26.62626 |
| Müsellim | 41.34041 | 27.37037 | Kurtbey | 41.14380 | 26.57977 |
| Düğüncübaşı | 41.33248 | 27.27715 | Yenicegörece | 41.13088 | 26.46713 |
| Lüleburgaz | 41.40263 | 27.36572 | Meriç | 41.19106 | 26.41824 |
| Babaeski | 41.43123 | 27.09134 | Adasarhanlı | 41.08398 | 26.35818 |
| Alpullu | 41.37195 | 27.14307 | İpsala | 40.92896 | 26.39274 |

Table 1. Location properties of villages



Figure 1. Study area and selected stations

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Pearson Correlation Index

The relations between the levels of physical and chemical parameters in the groundwater of Ergene River Basin were determined by using detected data (n = 30 for all parameters) and all detected relations are given in Table 2.

According to results of PCI, the relations between oxygen saturation – dissolved oxygen (+); EC – TDS (+), salinity (+), SO₄ (+), F (+) and COD (-); TDS – salinity (+), SO₄ (+), F (+) and COD (-); salinity – SO₄ (+), F (+) and COD (-); SO₄ – F (+) and COD (-) levels were directly proportional at the 0.01 significance level.

Principle Component Analysis (PCA)

PCA was used to determine the effective varifactors on the groundwater of Ergene River Basin by using correlated variables. Uncorrelated variables were removed from the data set in order to increase the reliability of PCA. A total of 7 variables were used to detect the varifactors (n = 30 for all parameters). Result of KMO (Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin) test that presents the measure of sampling adequacy was 0.814 and this value means that, the sampling adequacy was in a good level for the present application (>0.5) (Liu et al., 2003).

Eigenvalues higher than one were taken as criterion for evaluate the principal components that required to explain the sources of variance in the data. According to rotated cumulative percentage variance, 2 factors explained 77.7% of the total variance (Table 3) and the scree plot of FA is given in Figure 2.

| | DO | O2Sat | pН | EC | TDS | Sal | Tur | NO3 | NO2 | PO4 | SO4 | F | COD |
|-------|--------|-------|------|--------|--------------|--------|------|------|------|------|--------|-----|-----|
| DO | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| O2Sat | .995** | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| pН | 243 | 258 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | |
| EC | 107 | 040 | 186 | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| TDS | 105 | 042 | 174 | .998** | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Sal | 107 | 044 | 173 | .998** | 1.000^{**} | 1 | | | | | | | |
| Tur | 214 | 200 | 239 | .282 | .284 | .282 | 1 | | | | | | |
| NO3 | .366* | .370* | 438* | .362* | .376* | .371* | .110 | 1 | | | | | |
| NO2 | 246 | 215 | 323 | .161 | .148 | .149 | 014 | .074 | 1 | | | | |
| PO4 | .119 | .140 | 063 | 032 | 049 | 047 | 090 | .020 | 050 | 1 | | | |
| SO4 | 032 | .031 | 343 | .783** | .771** | .771** | .251 | .261 | .154 | .046 | 1 | | |
| F | 189 | 147 | .322 | .623** | .615** | .617** | .099 | 141 | 049 | 004 | .537** | 1 | |
| COD | .009 | 046 | .280 | 599** | 600** | 599** | 420* | 406* | 212 | 040 | 486** | 201 | 1 |

 Table 2. Pearson Correlation Index coefficients

DO: Dissolved oxygen; O2sat: Oxygen saturation; Sal: Salinity; Tur: Turbidity *: Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (p<0.05); **: Correlation is significant at the 0,01 level (p<0.01)

 Table 3. Extracted values of various FA parameters

| | Total Variance Explained | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|--------------------------|--------------|------------|-------|-------------|------------|------------------|----------|------------|--|--|--|--|
| | I. | nitial Figor | voluos | Ex | traction Su | ims of | Rotation Sums of | | | | | | |
| Component | 1 | innai Eigen | lvalues | Sc | quared Loa | dings | Squared Loadings | | | | | | |
| Component | Total | % of | Cumulative | Total | % of | Cumulative | Total | % of | Cumulative | | | | |
| | | Variance | % | Total | Variance | % | Total | Variance | % | | | | |
| 1 | 4.264 | 60.910 | 60.910 | 4.264 | 60.910 | 60.910 | 4.107 | 58.675 | 58.675 | | | | |
| 2 | 1.181 | 16.870 | 77.780 | 1.181 | 16.870 | 77.780 | 1.337 | 19.106 | 77.780 | | | | |



Figure 2. Scree plot of FA

Liu et al. (2003) classified the factor loadings according to loading values as "strong (>0.75)", "moderate (0.75 - 0.50)" and "weak (0.50 - 0.30)". The parameter loadings higher than 0.5 calculated after rotation for 3 components are given in Figure 3. Also component plot in rotated space, which shows the related variables of 2 factors, is given in Figure 4.

First factor (F1), named as "Ionic Factor", explained 58.6% of total EC, salinity, TDS, sulphate and fluorine parameters. All the parameters were strong positively loaded with this factor (Figure 3, 4). Second factor (F2), "Agricultural Factor", explained 19.1% of total variance and it was related to the variables of nitrate and nitrite parameters. Nitrate parameter was strong and nitrite parameter was moderate positively loaded with this factor (Figure 3, 4).



Figure 3. Rotated component matrix

EC is affected by the presence of dissolved solids. TDS is defined as the quantity of dissolved material in water. Also salinity is defined as the total of all salts dissolved in water. EC, TDS, and salinity parameters in water are closely related and these parameters may indicate general water quality. Discharges to groundwater may change the EC, TDS and salinity levels. Sewage water and especially irrigation practices are known as significantly effective factors on these parameters (Wetzel, 2001; Manahan, 2011). In this study, significant relations were determined among EC, TDS and salinity parameters (p<0.01) and according to the results of PCA, first factor (F1), which was related to the variables of EC, TDS and salinity, was the most effective factor on the groundwater quality in Ergene River Basin.

It is known that fertilizers used in agricultural activities increase the level of nitrogen compounds in water and soil especially in rural areas (Wetzel, 2001; Manahan, 2011). The main sources of nitrogen compounds in groundwater is nitrogen rich fertilizers in general that is commonly used around the basin (Self and Waskom, 2013; Tokatlı, 2014). According to the results of PCA, "Agricultural Factor" (F2) was defined as an effective factor on the groundwater quality of the basin, which was related to the variables of nitrate and nitrite.



Figure 4. Component plot in rotated space

CONCLUSION

In this study, Principle Component Analysis (PCA) was used to evaluate the groundwater quality of the groundwater of Ergene River Basin by using a large number of physical and chemical data. PCA helped to identify the effective factors on the groundwater of the system and 2 effective factors were determined that were explained 77.7% of the total variance. In conclusion, multistatistical evaluation is necessary for a sophisticated environmental evaluation especially in

groundwater quality assessment studies, because of obtained large numbers of different parameters.

Acknowledgements: The author would like to thank for the financial and technical supports supplied by Trakya University, Turkey. This investigation has been supported by the project numbered as 2017/211 accepted by Trakya University, Commission of Scientific Research Projects.

REFERENCES

- Akin, B. S., Atıcı, T., Katircioglu, H., Keskin, F. (2010). Investigation of water quality on Gökçeekaya dam lake using multivariate statistical analysis, in Eskişehir, Turkey. Environ Earth Sci, DOI 10.1007/s12665-010-0798-6.
- Çiçek, A., Bakış, R., Uğurluoğlu, A., Köse, E., Tokatlı, C. (2013). The Effects of Large Borate Deposits on Groundwater Quality. Pol. J. Environ. Stud., 22 (4): 1031-1037.
- Köse, E., Çiçek, A., Uysal, K., Tokatlı, C., Emiroğlu, Ö., Arslan, N. (2015). Heavy Metal Accumulations in Water, Sediment and Some Cyprinidae Fish Species from Porsuk Stream (Turkey). Water Environ. Res., 87 (3): 195-204.
- Liu, CW., Lin, KH., Kuo, YM. (2003). Application of factor analysis in the assessment of groundwater quality in a Blackfoot disease area in Taiwan. Sci. Total Environ., 313: 77–89.
- Manahan, S. E. (2011). Water Chemistry: Green Science and Technology of Nature's Most Renewable Resource. Taylor & Francis Group, CRC Press, 398 pages.
- Self, J. R., Waskom, R. M. (2013). Nitrates in Drinking Water. Colorado State University Extension. 7/95. Revised 11/13.
- Shrestha, S., Kazama, F. (2007). Assessment of surface water quality using multivariate statistical techniques: A case study of the Fuji river basin; Japan. Environ. Modell. Softw., 22, 464–475.
- Tokatlı, C. (2014). Drinking Water Quality of a Rice Land in Turkey by a Statistical and GIS Perspective: İpsala District. Pol. J. Environ. Stud., 23 (6): 2247-2258.
- Tokatlı, C., Çiçek, A., Köse, E. (2013). Groundwater Quality of Türkmen Mountain (Turkey). Pol. J. Environ. Stud., 22 (4), 1197-1208.
- Tokatlı, C., Köse, E., Çiçek, A. (2014). Assessment of the Effects of Large Borate Deposits on Surface Water Quality by Multi Statistical Approaches: A Case Study of The Seydisuyu Stream (Turkey). Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 23 (5): 1741-1751.
- Wetzel, R. G. (2001). Limnology: Lake and River Ecosystems. Elsevier Academic Press, 1006 pages.

COMPARISON OF ORGANIC POLLUTION BETWEEN TWO MAIN BRANCHES OF DRIN RIVER

DANO Eralda*¹, NEZIRI Anila²

¹Agricultural University of Tirana, Faculty of Biotechnology and Food

²University of Shkodra "LuigjGurakuqi" Department of Biology and Chemistry, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Shkoder, Albania.

*<u>danoeralda@gmail.com</u>

ABSTRACT

The objective of this paper is to compare data on pollution from organochlorinated pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) in waters of the two most important branches of Drin River, one passing through Kosovo and the other originating from Ohrid Lake and passing through north-eastern Albania. The organochlorinated pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls are the widest class of organic pollutions and the most problematic in environment. The method applied to detect pesticides was sampling water in 10- 25 cm of depth in two specific locations, one at the end of each of the branches of the river before their conjuction. Samples of surface waters were taken during 2012 - 2015. The liquid – liquid (L/L) water extraction and gas chromatography (GC) with micro electron-capture detector (μ ECD) were applied for pesticide residue analyse. The quantified pesticides were α -HCH, β -HCH, HCB, Lindan, Heptachlor, 2,4-DDE, 4,4-DDE, DDT, DDD representing organoclorinated pesticides and PCB 28, PCB 101, PCB118, PCB 153, PCB 138 for polychlorinated biphenyls. The most polluted branch resulted to be Black Drin. **Keywords**: *Drin River, Organochlorinated pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls*.

INTRODUCTION

Drin, the longest river in Albania, is formed near the Albanian border from two main branches: White Drin which springs and passes through Kosovo and Black Drin which originates from the Ohrid lake and passes in western part of FYROM and in north-western Albania.

Aim of study

The aim of this study is to compare pollution from organochlorinated pesticides (OCP) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) in these two branches of the river. A number of compounds were chosen for the evaluation of the level of organic pollution, namely: α -HCH, β -HCH, HCB, Lindan, Heptachlor, 2,4-DDE, 4,4-DDE, DDT, DDD as representatives of organoclorinated pesticids and PCB-28, PCB-52, PCB-101, PCB-118, PCB- 138, PCB-153 and PCB-180 as representatives of polychlorinated biphenyls.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study area

One sample point at the end of each river branch before their union was chosen: Morine for White Drin and Zall Rec for Black Drin. Samples of surfice waters were taken each month during the period October 2012 to September 2015.

Sampling technique

Samples were collected using grab sampler bottle UWITEC, transferred in 1 litter glass bottles and stored in 4°C prior to chemical analyses.

Extraction and measurement

Water samples were processed by Liquid – Liquid extraction using 1 L separator funnel. Samples were spiked with 10 μ l PCB 29 as internal standard in 2.5 ng μ l⁻¹ concentration and extracted with 40 ml n-hexane. The organic phase (n-hexane) was dried with 10g Na₂SO₄. The extracts were cleaned in a glass column filled with deactivated 5% water fluorosil (100-200 mesh or 0.075-0.150 mm). The column was rinsed out with 8 ml mixture of 4:1 n-hexane and DCM. The extract was evaporated till 1 ml extract by Rotary Evaporator (Laborota 4000, Heidolph) and N2 evaporator (Thermo Scientific). The 1ml extracts were transferred in the chromatographic vials. Gas chromatographic analyses were performed with Agilent 7890 gas chromatograph equipped with a micro⁶³Ni electron-capture detector and a split/splitless injector and auto-injector. The column used was a HP-5 [low/mid polarity, 5% (phenyl methyl siloxane)] (30 m x 0.32 mm I.D., 0.25µm film). The split/splitless injector and detector temperatures were set at 280°C and 300°C respectively. Nitrogen (N2) at 3.5 ml/min was used as carrier gas and 29 ml min⁻¹ for make-up. The initial oven temperature was kept at 60°C for 15 min, increased to 200°C at 20°C/min, held for 10min and then increased to 250°C at 4°C/min for 20min. Temperature was finally increased to 300°C at 10°C/min and held for 7 min. Injection volume was 1µl. The organochlorinated pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls quantification was performed by internal standard method. The system was calibrated with a standard mixture containing organochlorinated pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls. Values of each component are expressed in ng/l and mean concentration during the year for each component was calculated.

RESULTS

Mean concentrations of each component for the two sample point are presented in the tables and graphs below.

| | PCB-28 | PCB-101 | PCB-118 | PCB-153 | PCB-138 | PCB-52 | PCB-180 |
|----------|--------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------------|---------|
| Zall Rec | 63.69 | 5.79 | 8.03 | 6.82 | 3.81 | Nd* | Nd* |
| Morine | 7.97 | 15.37 | 11.18 | 4.5 | 3.07 | Nd* | Nd* |

 Table 1. Mean concentration of PCBs (ng/l).

Nd = not detected.

PCB-52 and PCB 180 were not detectable in any in sample in either sample points. In an other study on the same time period, Nuro and Marku have found these two PCB in considerable levels in sediment samples near the delta of Drin river (Nuro and Marku, 2013).

PCB-28 concentration were 10 fold higher in Black Drin compared to White Drin. PCB-153 and PCB-138 mean concentration were only slightly higher in Black Drin, while PCB-101 and PCB-118 were slightly higher in White Drin. However, in all the samples, the concentration of every studied PCB was lower than the EU limit.



Graph 1. Comparison of PCBs.

 Table 2. Mean concentration of OCPs (ng/l).

| | a-HCH | β-ΗCΗ | HCB | Lindan | Heptaclor | 2.4-DDE | 4.4-DDE | DDT | DDD |
|----------|--------|--------|---------|--------|-----------|----------------|----------------|-------|-------|
| Zall Rec | 106.52 | 291.42 | 1948.42 | 314.69 | 254.83 | 76.28 | 66.61 | 34.12 | 54.66 |
| Morine | 76.38 | 65.16 | 1146.27 | 43.07 | 55.96 | 13.68 | 34.67 | 10.72 | 20.2 |

The values of OCP mean concentrations vary on the range of ten to a few hundreds ng/l for α -HCH, β -HCH, Lindan, Heptaclor, DDE, DDT and DDD. Only HCB values range is in thousands ng/l. For this reason, we have separately represented HCB from the other OCPs. Figure 2 shows the comparison of HCB mean concentrations in the two sampling points while figure 3 the comparison of all the other OCPs.



Zall Rec Morine

Graph 2. Comparison of HCB.

Graph 3. Comparison of OCPs except for HCB.

Black Drin results more polluted than White Drin for each OCP. The difference is more obvious for β -HCH, Lindan, Heptaclor and 2,4-DDE which mean concentrations in Black Drin are a multitude of those in White Drin. Also the mean concentrations of HCB, 4,4-DDE, DDT and DDD in this river branch are almost twice those in the other branch. A slightly higher but considerable difference of 30 ng/l was found for α -HCH in Black Drin.

A study concerning similar substances in for Ohrid Lake where Black Drin originates, has reported levels 12 - 24 ng/l for Lindan and 19 - 32 ng/l for HCH. These are very low compared to our results in Zall Rec, the end point of this river branch, respectively in the range of 300 ng/l for Lindan and 400 ng/l for total HCH. Slightly higher levels are detected in our study even for 4.4-DDE, DDT and DDD compared with Velianovskaet al. (Veljanoska-Sarafiloska et al., 2011) This

discrepancy may be a testimony of agricultural pollution in north-eastern Albania where this river branch passes and colletcts smaller branches. Pollution from municipal, industrial, and agrochemical sources remains a major threat to Balkan freshwater ecosystems. Mining mainly affect Bulgarian and Albanian rivers, industrial pollution is important in Bulgaria, FYROM and Bosnia and Herzegovina, agricultural pollution is widespread in Greece, Bulgaria and Albania, while municipal waste water pollution prevails in all countries except Greece (Lazarov et al, 2005).

The sea, rivers and lakes have become the environmental reservoirs for all possible organic pollutants (Chee et al., 1996). The organochlorine pesticides group includes DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane), methoxychlor, aldrin, dieldrin, chlordane, toxaphene, endrin, heptachlor, and lindane (gamma isomer of benzene hexachloride (BHC)). These are trade names for closely related hydrocarbon compounds to which several chlorine atoms have been joined (Hung and Thiemann, (2002). Due to their environmental persistence, these pollutants can cause contamination of surface water and underground water (Jones and de Voogt, 1999). Persistent organic pollutants (POPs), including organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), are of global concern because of their toxicity, resistance to degradation, potential for long-term transport and their tendency to accumulate in fatty tissues (lipophilicity), the latter of which renders them likely to bioaccumulate through food chain (Skoulikidis, 2009).

CONCLUSIONS

It results that the overall level of pollution is higher in Black Drin. Levels of PCB are within EU norms in both river branches, but OCP levels are above them. HCB is the most problematic substance. Other pollutants with high levels are Lindan, HCH and Heptaclor.

REFERENCES

- Chee, K. K., Wong, M. K., Lee, H. K., (1996). Microwave assisted elution techniques for the extraction of organic pollutants in water. Anal ChimActa., 330: 217
- Hung, D. Q., Thiemann, W., (2002). Contamination by selected chlorinated pesticides in surface waters in Hanoi, Vietnam. Chemosphere., 47: 357
- Jones, K. C., de Voogt, P., (1999). Persistent Organic Pollutants (POP's): State of the Science. Environ Poll., 100: 209
- Lazarov, B., Manova, J., Bratanova, Z., Bonev N., (2005). Quick method for determination of organochlorine pesticides in drinking waters. Application at Accidental Contamination. J Environ Prot Ecol., 6 (3): 521.
- Nuro, A., Marku, E., (2013). Study of organochlorinated pollutions in Kune-Vaini Lagoon. unishk.edu.al/icrae2013/icraecd2013/doc/376.pdf
- Skoulikidis, N.Th., (2009). The environmental state of rivers in the Balkans. A reviewwithin the DPSIR framework. Science of the Total Environment., 407: 2501
- Veljanoska-Sarafiloska, E., Jordanoski, M., Stafilov, T., Stefova M, M. (2011). Study of organochlorine pesticide residues in water, sediment and fish tissue in lake ohrid (Macedonia/Albania) Mac. J Chem. and Chemical Eng., 30 (2): 163–179

A COMPARATIVE STUDY THE ANTIOXIDANT PROPERTIES OF DIFFERENT CITRUS JUICES

Demet Yıldız TURGUT*, Tuba SEÇMEN, Ayşe TANIR Batı Akdeniz Agricultural Research Institute, Antalya, Turkey

* demet.yildizturgut@tarim.gov.tr

ABSTRACT

Citrus fruits are important sources of beneficial phytochemicals, such as vitamins A, C and E, mineral elements, flavonoids, coumarins, limonoids and carotenoids. Epidemiological studies have shown that citrus species possess significant biological functions on human health, including antioxidative, anticarcinogenic, antiatherosclerotic, antimutagenic, and angiogenesis inhibitory activities. In this study, total phenolic, total flavonoid, total carotenoid and vitamin C contents of the juices of seven citrus varieties were determined grown in Antalya, Turkey. Additionally, antioxidant activities were also investigated using DPPH method. Total phenolic contents of the citrus juices varied from 18.21 to 52.44 mg gallic acid equivalent/100 mL and flavonoid contents varied from 2.77 to 10.64 mg catechin equivalent/100 mL. Total carotenoid contents changed between 1.27 and 1.86 mg/mL and vitamin C contents were from 46.06 to 86.01 mg/100mL. IC₅₀ values of the citrus juices ranged between 52.88 and 122.84 μ l. Significant differences were statistically observed among citrus varieties in terms of investigated parameters.

Keywords: Citrus, Antioxidant activity, Phenolic, Flavonoid

INTRODUCTION

The citrus species, belonging to the family *Rutaceae*, are the most popular agricultural product in the world (Turner and Burri, 2013). Turkey is one of the main citrus producers among the World countries and ranks 9th in the World (Faostat, 2016). Total citrus fruit production of Turkey was 4.796.726 tonnes in 2017. Orange, mandarin, lemon and grapefruit are the main citrus species produced in Turkey. The Mediterranean and Aegean Regions are the major citrus growing areas of Turkey. The West Mediterranean Region is the second largest citrus area of Turkey. Antalya province, located in this region, accounts for 14% of Turkey's total citrus production (TUİK, 2017).

Citrus fruits are important source of bioactive compounds, including ascorbic acid, carotenoids, flavonoids, phenolic compounds, dietary fiber, vitamins and minerals which are beneficial aspects to human health. Epidemiological evidences have suggested that these compounds possess important biological activities such as antioxidant, anti-inflammation, anti-mutagenicity, anti-carcinogenicity and anti-aging (Zou et al., 2016). The bioactive components and antioxidant properties of citrus fruits have been studied by many authors in recent years. The type and amount of bioactive compounds present in citrus fruits can be affected by many factors such as cultivar, fruit part, maturity state, cultural practices, processing, geographical and ecological conditions (Gorinstein et al., 2001; Abeysinghe et al., 2007; Alvarez et al., 2012; Sicari et al., 2016; Yoo et al., 2016). The antioxidant activity of citrus fruits is mainly due to phenolics and vitamin C (Abeysinghe et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2008). Flavonoids are major phenolic compounds in citrus fruits. The main flavonoid groups in citrus juice are flavanones, flavones and flavonols (Hunlun et
al., 2017). Among the flavonoids, naringin, neohesperidin, neoeriocitrin, hesperidin, narirutin and didymin are found in bergamot, orange, mandarin, grapefruit and bitter orange juices (Tripoli et al., 2007). In addition to flavonoids, citrus juices contain significant amount of phenolic acids, including ferulic, sinapik, cafeic, chlorogenic, p-coumaric and o-coumaric acids (Wang et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2008). Phenolic compounds have been reported to possess a wide range of biological actions, such as a key enzymes in mitochondria, protection against coronary hearth diseases, anti-inflammatory, anti-tumor, antioxidative and antimicrobial activities (Harborne and Williams, 2000; Morton et al., 2000). Vitamin C is the most commonly vitamin found in citrus fruits (Zou et al., 2016), and it shows antioxidant activity through scavenging reactive oxygen species and protecting against oxidation of biological molecules (Tripoli et al., 2007; Sdiri et al., 2012). Carotenoids are pigments responsible for the characteristic color of citrus juices and peels. More than a hundred individual carotenoids have been identified in citrus fruits. Carotenoids of citrus juices play an important role in the prevention of chronic diseases such as certain types of cancer, cataract and cardiovascular diseases, because of their antioxidant properties (Fanciullino The aim of this study was to determine the total phenolic, flavonoid, carotenoid et al., 2006). and vitamin C contents and antioxidant activities of seven citrus varieties grown in Antalya.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Seven citrus varieties were selected for this study, including two mandarins (Yerli Apireno, Klemantin Fino), two grapefruits (Marsh Seedless, Star Ruby), one sour orange (Common Sour Orange), one lemon (Interdonato) and one bergamot variety (Yerli A-41). The fruits were collected from Batı Akdeniz Agricultural Research Institute (BATEM) citrus orchard in Antalya. All varieties were harvested at maturity stage. Citrus fruit juices were obtained by hand squeezing method. All analyses were carried out in four replicates. Fifteen fruits were used for each replication.

Total Phenolic content

Total phenolic content of juice samples were determined using the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent method as described Spanos and Wrolstad (1990). The absorbance was measured against the blank solution at 765 nm using a Shimadzu UV-1800 spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Inc., Kyoto, Japan). The results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent (GAE)/100 mL fresh juice.

Total Flavonoid content

Total flavonoid content in samples were quantified using a modified colorimetric method described by Zhishen et al. (1999). The absorbance was detected at 510 nm using a Shimadzu UV-1800 spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Inc., Kyoto, Japan) using catechin as the standard. The results were expressed as mg catechin equivalent (CE)/100 mL fresh juice.

Total carotenoid content

The method of Wang et al. (2008) was used for total carotenoid determination. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm by Shimadzu UV-1800 spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Inc., Kyoto, Japan). Total carotenoid content was expressed as mg β -carotene equivalents/ mL fresh juice.

Vitamin C

The content of vitamin C in juices was analyzed with the HPLC method (Sdiri et al., 2012). Each juice sample was extracted with 3% metaphosphoric acid solution. The mixture was centrifuged at 6500 rpm for 10 min at 4°C and the supernatant were filtered through a 0.45 μ m membrane filter before injection. The separation was performed on ODS-3-C-18 Column (250x4.6 i.d.) using 2% potassium dihydrogen phosphate (pH 2.3) as the mobile phase at a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min at 25° C column temperature and 243 nm. Vitamin C contents were expressed as mg/100mL.

Antioxidant activity

The antioxidant activity of the citrus juices was evaluated by the 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) free radical-scavenging method (Brand-Williams et al., 1995) with some modifications. Five concentrations of juice samples were mixed 0.6 mL DPPH radical solution (1mM). The volume of mixtures was completed with 6 mL of pure methanol. After shaking, the mixtures were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 15 min. The absorbance of mixtures was measured by a spectrophotometer at 517 nm against blank without samples). The results were expressed as IC_{50} value.

Statistical analysis

SAS software program were used for statistical assessment. All experiments were carried out in four replicates. The results were expressed as means \pm standard deviation (SD). All data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA). The significant difference of means were compared by Duncan's multiple-range test at the level of *P* <0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Total Phenolic and flavonoid content

The contents of total phenolic and flavonoid in the juices of seven citrus varieties are shown in Table 1. There were observed significant differences in the contents of total phenolic and flavonoid in juice samples (P < 0.05). Star Ruby had the highest total phenolic content (52.44 mg GAE/100 mL), followed by Yerli Apireno (44.29 mg GAE/100 mL), Marsh Seedless (40.76 mg GAE/100 mL) and Common Sour Orange (40.52 mg GAE/100 mL). Our values were lower than those reported in the literature (Ersus and Çam, 2007; Xu et al., 2008; Kelebek, 2010; Sicari et al., 2016). The total flavonoid content of the juice samples ranged from 2.77 to 10.6 mg CE/100 mL. The highest total flavonoid content was found in bergamot (Yerli A-41) juice. The lowest values for total phenolic (18.21 mg GAE/100 mL) and total flavonoid (2.77 mg CE/100 mL) were detected in lemon (Interdonato) juice. The variation in phenolic and flavonoid content of citrus fruits depends on genetic properties, degree of maturity, climatic conditions and processing (Gil-Izquierdo et al., 2002; Germana et al., 2004; Nogata et al. 2006; Xu et al., 2008; Sun et al., 2015).

| Varieties | Species | Total phenolic content | Total flavonoid content | | |
|-----------------------|-------------|------------------------|-------------------------|--|--|
| | | (mg GAE/100 mL) | (mg CE/100 mL) | | |
| Klemantin Fino | Mandarin | 39.99±2.72 b | 3.76±0.03 d | | |
| Yerli Apireno | Mandarin | 44.29±5.68 b | 8.42±1.30 b | | |
| Star Ruby | Grapefruit | 52.44±1.49 a | 8.05±0.53 b | | |
| Marsh Seedless | Grapefruit | 40.76±1.47 b | 4.95±0.11 c | | |
| Interdonato | Lemon | 18.21±2.70 d | 2.77±0.19 e | | |
| Common Sour Orange | Sour Orange | 40.52±2.76 b | 3.92±0.11 d | | |
| Yerli A-41 | Bergamot | 30.37±2.15 c | 10.64±0.23 a | | |

Table 1. Total phenolic and flavonoid content of citrus varieties*

*Means with different letters within the same column represent significant differences at P < 0.05

Total carotenoid, Vitamin C and Antioxidant Activity

Total carotenoid, vitamin C and IC₅₀ values of citrus juices are presented in Table 1. A statistical significant difference (P <0.05) was found among the samples for examined parameters. The highest total carotenoid value was detected in Yerli Apireno (1.86 mg/ml), followed by Common Sour Orange (1.76 mg/mL) and Marsh Seedless (1.66 mg/mL). Bergamot (Yerli A-41) had the lowest total carotenoid content (1.27 mg/mL). Total carotenoid contents in juices from different citrus varieties were higher than those reported by Xu et al. (2008). These differences may be due to the geographic factors, cultivar, methods of extraction and analyses. Vitamin C values of citrus juices were varied from 46.06 mg/100 mL to 86.01 mg/100 mL. The highest vitamin C content was found in Klemantin Fino, while the lowest content was found in Interdonato in this study.

| Varieties | Species | Total carotenoid content (mg/mL) | Vitamin C (mg/100 mL) | IC ₅₀ (μL) |
|--------------------|-------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|
| Klemantin Fino | Mandarin | 1.37±0.03 f | 86.01±6.22 a | 52.88±0.02 g |
| Yerli Apireno | Mandarin | 1.86±0.03 a | 65.64±5.89 c | 84.54±0.02 b |
| Star Ruby | Grapefruit | 1.47±0.03 e | 76.44±2.63 b | 82.73±0.02 d |
| Marsh Seedless | Grapefruit | 1.66±0.03 c | 72.89±2.58 b | 112.84±0.02 a |
| Interdonato | Lemon | 1.57±0.03 d | 46.06±1.41 d | 84.33±0.01 c |
| Common Sour Orange | Sour Orange | 1.76±0.03 b | 74.49±2.21 b | 66.16±0.01 f |
| Yerli A-41 | Bergamot | 1.27±0.03 g | 73.27±1.67 b | 67.26±0.01 e |

Table 2. Total carotenoid, Vitamin C and IC₅₀ values of citrus varieties*

*Means with different letters within the same column represent significant differences at P < 0.05

Our values for mandarins, grapefruits, lemon and sour orange were higher than reported by Ersus and Çam (2007), Xu et al. (2008), and Sdiri et al. (2012). The content of vitamin C in bergamot was lower than the values reported by Sicari et al. (2016). Genotypic factors, climatic conditions, cultural practices, harvest time and processing methods affect the vitamin C content of fruits and vegetables (Lee and Kader, 2000).

The antioxidant activities of citrus juices were determined by DPPH free radical scavenging method in this study and were expressed as IC_{50} . This value is expresses the amount of antioxidant needed to decrease the radical concentration by 50%. So, lower IC_{50} value means a higher antioxidant activity of the sample (Kelebek, 2010). IC_{50} values for citrus juices ranked 52.88-122.84 µL. The highest IC_{50} value was recorded in Marsh Seedless and the lowest in Klemantin Fino. Among the citrus varieties, Klemantin Fino had the highest antioxidant activity, followed by Common Sour Orange and Yerli A-41.

CONCLUSIONS

Total phenolic, flavonoid, carotenoid, vitamin C and antioxidant activity of juices obtained from seven citrus varieties were evaluated in this study. Significant differences were statistically observed among citrus varieties in terms of investigated parameters. The antioxidant properties of citrus juices were influenced by the type of varieties. Our results suggest that citrus fruits are a potential antioxidant sources and can be provide important information for breeding studies, consumers and processing industry. In addition, citrus varieties studied in this work can be potentially for food and nutraceutical formulations. Further studies on the individual bioactive components of citrus varieties are necessary to evaluate their potential health benefits.

REFERENCES

- Abeysinghe, D.C., Li, X., Sun, C.D., Zhang, W.S., Zhou, C.H., Chen, K.S. (2007). Bioactive compounds and antioxidant capacities in different edible tissues of citrus fruit of four species. Food Chem., 104: 1338–1344.
- Álvarez, R., Carvalho, C. P., Sierra, J., Lara, O., Cardona, D., Londoño, J., (2012). Citrus juice extraction systems: effect on chemical composition and antioxidant activity of clementine juice. J. Agric. Food Chem., 60 (3): 774-781.
- Brand-Williams, W., Cuvelier, M.E., Berset, C. (1995). Antioxidative activity of phenolic composition of commercial extracts of sage and rosemary. Food Sci. Technol., 28: 25-30.
- Ersus, S., Çam, M. (2007). Determination of Organic Acids, Total Phenolic Content, And Antioxidant Capacity of Sour *C. aurantium* Fruits. Chem. Nat. Compd., 43 (5): 605-609.
- Fanciullino, A. L., Dhuique-Mayer, C., Luro, F., Casanova, J., Morillon, R., Ollitrault, P. (2006). Carotenoid diversity in cultivated citrus is highly influenced by genetic factors. J. Agric. Food Chem., 54(12): 4397-4406.
- Faostat (2016). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [Online]. http://www.fao.org/faostat.
- Germana, M.A., Mineo, V., Chiancone, B. (2004). Study on flavonoid contents in fruits of different of citrus genotypes. Acta Horticulturae, 632: 355–360.

- Gil-Izquierdo, A.,. Gil, M. I, Ferreres, F. (2002). Effect of processing techniques at industrial scale on orange juice antioxidant and beneficial health compounds. J. Agric. Food Chem., 50(18): 5107-5114.
- Gorinstein, S., Martın-Belloso, O., Park, Y. S., Haruenkit, R., Lojek, A., Ĉíž, M., Caspi, A., Libman, I., Trakhtenberg, S. (2001). Comparison of some biochemical characteristics of different citrus fruits. Food Chem., 74(3): 309-315.
- Harborne, J. B., Williams, C. A. (2000). Advances in flavonoid research since 1992. Phytochemistry, 55(6): 481-504.
- Hunlun, C., de Beer, D., Sigge, G. O., Van Wyk, J. (2017). Characterisation of the flavonoid composition and total antioxidant capacity of juice from different citrus varieties from the Western Cape region. J. Food Compos. Anal., 62: 115-125.
- Kelebek, H. (2010). Sugars, organic acids, phenolic compositions and antioxidant activity of Grapefruit (*Citrus paradisi*) cultivars grown in Turkey. Ind. Crop. Prod., 32(3): 269-274.
- Lee, S. K., Kader, A. A. (2000). Preharvest and postharvest factors influencing vitamin C content of horticultural crops. Postharvest Biology and Technology. 20(3): 207-220.
- Morton, L. W., Caccetta, R. A.-A, Puddey, I. B., Croft, K. D. (2000). Chemistry and biological effects of dietary phenolic compounds: relevance to cardiovascular disease. Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. P., 27: 152-159.
- Nogata, Y., Sakamoto, K., Shiratsuchi, H., Ishii, T., Yano, M., Ohta H. (2006). Flavonoid composition of fruit tissues of citrus species. Biosci, Biotechnol. Biochem., 70: 178–192.
- Sdiri, S., Bermejo, A., Alezo, P., Navarro, P., Salvador, A. (2012). Phenolic composition, organic acids, sugars, vitamin C and antioxidant activity in the juice of two new triploid late-season mandarins. Food Res. Int., 49: 462-468.
- Sicari, V., Loizzo, M. R., Branca, V., Pellicanò, T. M. (2016). Bioactive and antioxidant activity from *Citrus Bergamia* Risso (Bergamot) juice collected in different areas of Reggio Calabria province, Italy. Int. J. Food Prop., 19(9): 1962-1971.
- Spanos, G., Wrolstad, R.E. (1990). Phenolics of apple, pear and white grape juices and their changes with processing and storage. J. Agric. Food Chem., 40: 1478-1487.
- Sun, Y., Shen, Y., Liu, D., Ye, X. (2015). Effects of drying methods on phytochemical compounds and antioxidant activity of physiologically dropped un-matured citrus fruits. LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 60(2): 1269-1275.
- Tripoli, E., La Guardia, M., Giammanco, S., Di Majo, D., Giammanco, M. (2007). Citrus flavonoids: Molecular structure, biological activity and nutritional properties: A review. Food Chem., 104 (2): 466-479.
- TÜİK (2017). Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu. <u>http://www.tuik.gov.tr</u>.
- Turner, T., Burri, B. J. (2013). Potential nutritional benefits of current citrus consumption. Agriculture, 3(1): 170-187.
- Wang, Y. C., Chuang, Y. C., Hsu, H. W. (2008). The flavonoid, carotenoid and pectin content in peels of citrus cultivated in Taiwan. Food Chem., 106 (1): 277-284.
- Wang, Y.C., Chuang, Y.C., Ku, Y.H. (2007). Quantitation of bioactive compounds in citrus fruits cultivated in Taiwan. Food Chem., 102: 1163-1171.
- Xu, G., Liu, D., Chen, J., Ye, X., Maa, Y., Shi J., (2008). Juice components and antioxidant capacity of citrus varieties cultivated in China. Food Chem., 106: 545–551.
- Yoo, K. M., Moon, B. (2016). Comparative carotenoid compositions during maturation and their antioxidative capacities of three citrus varieties. Food Chem. 196: 544-549.

- Zhishen, J., Mengcheng, T., Jianming, W. (1999). The determination of flavonoid contents in mulberry and their scavenging effects on superoxide radicals. Food Chem., 64: 555-559.
- Zou, Z., Xi, W., Hu, Y., Nie, C., Zhou, Z. (2016). Antioxidant activity of Citrus fruits. Food Chem., 196: 885-896.

DETERMINATION OF OCHRATOXIN A IN SUN AND MICROWAVE DRIED PLUMS

Dilay KART¹, Duygu BENZER GÜREL¹, Özlem ÇAĞINDI^{*2}, Neriman BAĞDATLIOĞLU²

¹ Manisa Celal Bayar University, Institute of Natural and Applied Sciences, Manisa, Turkey

² Manisa Celal Bayar University, Engineering Faculty, Food Engineering Dept, Manisa, Turkey

* ozlem.cagindi@cbu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Drying is a food preservation method in which water is removed from the material. By reducing the value of water activity by the drying process, it provides suitable conditions to prevent especially microbiological activities in food products. With the drying process, storage conditions are easier and are generally preferred due to economic gain. The environmental condition during ripening, harvesting drying and storage of plum seem favourable for mold growth and mycotoxin production in fruits. Ochratoxin A (OTA) is a toxic secondary metabolite, naturally produced by species mold. As far as humans concerned, the International Agency for Research on Cancer classified OTA as a possible carcinogen to humans. In this study, plum samples which were dried by using 2 different drying methods and were stored at room temperature for two years. Samples were dried in the sun and two different microwave power and analyzed in terms of their OTA content by HPLC-FLD after pre-separation using immunoaffinity columns in 2 replicates in 2 parallels. The HPLC system was an Agilent 1260 Infinity system with an autosampler using a fluorescence detector. The wavelengths for excitation and emission were 333 nm and 460 nm, respectively. The chromatographic column was 5 µm ODS C18, 250 x 4.6 mm column. The mobile phase used for OTA analysis was a mixture of water, acetonitrile, and acetic acid (49.5:49.5:1 %; v/v/v). The flow rate was 0.8 mL/min, and the column temperature was maintained at 25 °C. The injection volume was 100 µL. As a result, OTA was not detected in both sun and microwave dried plums. It is believed that careful selection of raw materials during the drying and fulfilling recommended production and storage requirements may prevent the emergence of OTA.

Keywords: OTA, Plum, Drying, Microwave

INTRODUCTION

Plum is rich fruit in antioxidants and fibre and contributes significantly to human nutrition (Atici, 2013). The plum, a kind of temperate climate fruit, has many uses according to different consumption habits of the societies. Drying is a food preservation method in which water is removed from the material. It is applied to prevent microbial and chemical deterioration and to increase the shelf life (Kart, 2017). Unwanted changes in water activity by drying process are brought to suitable conditions to prevent especially microbiological activities in food products (Kartal, 2011). Together with the drying process, storage conditions are easier and are generally preferred due to economic gain. Important part of agricultural products can be stored dried (Er, 2011). As dried fruits contain essential amino acids, vitamins, minerals and rich dietary fibre that are useful for protecting health, they have become an increasingly attractive snack food (Asghar et al., 2017). Foods are dried either by using solar heat or by using heat from other sources. These

two separate applications are named "drying in the sun" and "artificial drying" (Cemeroğlu, 2011). It is not possible to control hygienic conditions in sun-dried products. In addition, the dried product is contaminated by various insects, birds and similar in the open area. In the artificial drying process, the product is more hygienic in terms of microbiological and controlled drying process can be performed (Cemeroğlu, 2011; Ayan, 2010). The plum is dried by artificial drying methods with hot air. And heat transfer is carried out by transport and transmission mechanisms. Depending on this, drying is faster than drying in the sun, but it is not fast enough. Slow drying causes some problems. In particular, fermentation occurs in the core zone and in the quality losses during the drying of the whole plum. Because of these problems encountered in the dried plums, whole dried plums are usually divided into two (Kart, 2017).

Mycotoxins are secondary metabolites produced by toxigenic fungi during the field and/or during storage, showing various effects on human health. Levels may change according to the season, growth areas and storage conditions. They are also very stable in different conditions and therefore are difficult to be eliminated from the food chain. This is food security worldwide and causes losses in food production that affect international trade (Perrin et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018b). Numerous studies have shown that mycotoxins can cause DNA damage and are harmful to human and animal health even at low concentrations (Li et al., 2017). The most important mycotoxins emerging from dry plums are AF (B1, B2, G1 and G2) and OTA (Özer et al., 2012). Ochratoxin is a mycotoxin produced by some Aspergillus and Penicillium species. Ochratoxin A is the most common and most toxic type. Ochratoxin (OTA); It is a colorless, crystalline compound that gives fluorescence under UV light (Ringot et al., 2006). The most common and most toxic type for food is OTA (Tosun et al., 2006). It has nephrotoxic, carcinogenic, genotoxic, immunosuppressive, teratogenic, mutagenic and hepatotoxic effects on human health (Ringot et al., 2006). The exposure of people to OTA is most likely due to the lowlevel contamination of different foods in a wide range (Cabanes and Bragulat, 2018). In terms of the amount of OTA contained in foodstuffs, limit values have been determined by both national and international organizations (Gökmen, 2016). In the European Union, the maximum amount of OTA that foodstuffs may contain is determined by the Regulation (EC) No: 1881/2006; limit values determined according to Turkish Food Codex Contamination Regulation are used for domestic market products. According to this regulation; there is no limit on dry plum; but the maximum amount of OTA that can be found in dried grapes is 10 ppb (10 µg/kg) (Anon, 2018).

The stages of drying the fruit vary according to the product, but they can be sorted in general as elimination, washing, sizing, peeling, slicing-division and pitting. Drying may be terminated by drying in grapes 15-20%, 16-20% in plums, 15-18% in apricots, 25-28% in peaches and 18-20% in apples (Drusch and Ragab, 2003). Dried fruit due to inadequate drying or inadequate storage conditions are products sensitive to mold contamination and mycotoxin formation. Mycotoxin formation in dried products can occur at any stage of pre-harvest, harvest, drying, packaging and storage. The risk of mycotoxin formation is significantly reduced when the water activity value of the product is reduced to a level that prevents mold growth (Gürhayta and Çağındı, 2015). measures to protect crops from mold formation and mycotoxin formation must be started before harvest. Storage is the riskiest step in mycosis and mycotoxin synthesis (Drusch and Ragab, 2003). Many research on dried fruit is concerned with fruits that grow in hot climates such as figs and grapes. However, the available data on dried dates, prunes, apricots are very limited. To identify the true mycotoxin risk in dry fruits other than dried figs and grapes, these crops should be better studied using increasing sample numbers and standardized methodology (Özer et al., 2012). In this study, aiming to determine the result of Ochratoxin A of plum samples dried by using 2 different

drying methods including sun and microwave (2 different microwave powers) and stored at room temperature for two years.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Material

In this research, damson plum (*Prunus domestica* subsp. Institua) which was obtained from İzmir was used. Plum samples were brought to the laboratory of Manisa Celal Bayar University Department of Food Engineering where experiments were carried out and kept at +4 °C and 80-90% relative humidity.

Methods

Preparation of samples

Plums that are not suitable for drying are subjected to the sorting process. It is very important that the plums are the same size for uniform drying. For this purpose, the extracted plums were sized. Plums were dipped for 1 min with 1% NaOH solution at 55 °C. After the dipping process, the plums were washed under running water for 1 min. After washing, in order to remove excess water on the plums, they were left in the filter for 5 minutes. Plums were cut in half with a knife and pitted. The samples were prepared in 2 replicates in 2 parallels.

Natural drying on the sun

The plums, divided in two, were placed one day with the cut surface facing up, and the next day with the cut surface facing down. Plums were kept in the sun between August 30, 2016, and September 20, 2016, between 09: 00-21: 00 hours and taken to the laboratory environment to minimize humidity change during evening/night hours. Among these dates, the highest temperature average measured in Manisa was recorded as 33.7 °C and the lowest temperature average was recorded as 19.4 °C. Whether the plums reached the final dry matter content (82%) was determined by monitoring their weight throughout the drying period. The dried plums were allowed to cool at room temperature for a while. It is then wrapped in aluminium foil placed in the refrigerator bag and filled into capped glass jars and stored until deep-freezing to be analyzed. The samples were coded as SD.

Drying with microwave (MW)

In the MW drying process, a kitchen type microwave oven (AR 245, Arzum, Turkey) was used. Samples were dried in the microwave at 2 different power levels (720 W (P80) and 900 W (P100)). All the drying operations were carried out with 400 g of fresh plums. The drying process was applied for 20 s while applying power and waiting for 20 s. Whether the plums reached the final dry matter content (82%) was determined by monitoring their weight throughout the drying period. Dried plums were kept in the room for 5 minutes, then wrapped in aluminium foil, which was transferred to the refrigerator bag for hot packaging, and filled into capped glass jars and stored until deep-freezing.

Drying time

The drying period of the plum samples was carried out following the reduction of the weight of the samples during the drying process. Approximately 400 g of fresh plums were placed in each drying cycle, with a known dry matter starting ratio and the sample weight was monitored at 5 min

intervals. The weight of the product has been determined by the dry matter test to reach the final product content of 82% (18% moisture content). When the product reached this weight, the drying process was terminated and the drying time was recorded.

Determination of water activity

The water activity determination in the dried plum samples was carried out using a measuring set comprising a water activity measuring probe connected to a data logger (Testo 400, Germany). For this purpose, the dried plums were cut into small pieces and the water activity value was read after placing approximately 3 g of the sample in the measuring chamber and waiting until the relative humidity in the container reached the equilibrium (Kart, 2017).

Analysis of Ochratoxin A

For the analysis of ochratoxin AOAC method 2000.03, Shundo et al., 2009 method was used and some modifications were made.

Extraction

A 10 g of the sample was mixed and stirred at medium speed for 3 minutes on a stirrer (Waring, USA) with the addition of 2.5 g of NaCl and 100 mL of MeOH: acetonitrile: water (4:4:2%; v: v: v) (HPLC purity). The mixture was passed through a filter paper (Whatman No. 4), and 10 mL of this filtrate was taken and mixed with 40 mL of phosphate buffered salt solution. The mixture was centrifuged at 4000 rev/min speed and, at 4 °C. Then, the supernatant was filtered with a 1.5 μ m microfiber filter to make the immunoaffinity suitable for passage through the colon.

Immunoaffinity column

Immunoaffinity columns (Ochratest, Vicam, USA) were attached onto a vacuum manifold at a rate of 2–3 mL/min was passed through the column so as to provide a total of 10 mL of filtrate. Thus, OTA is retained by the antibody. After all of the sample was passed through the column, the column was washed by passing 10 mL of PBS solution through the column at the same flow rate and then passing 10 mL of ultrapure water. For extraction OTA from column, 1.5 mL of MeOH (HPLC grade) and 1.5 mL of ultrapure water were passed through the column respectively to provide solvent aeration of OTA.

HPLC system

Table 1 gives the chromatographic conditions for the analysis of OTA.

| HPLC system: | Agilent 1260 Infinity model |
|--------------------|--|
| Detector | Fluorescence detector |
| | Ext 333 nm |
| | Em 460 nm |
| Column | Termo Scientific C18 column (4,6 mm x 250 mm; 5 µm) |
| Flow rate | 0,8 mL/min. |
| Injection volume | $100 \ \mu L_{\text{ssp}}^{[1]}$ |
| Column temperature | 25 °C |
| Mobile phase: | Water: acetonitrile: acetic acid (49.5:49.5:1%; v:v:v) |

Table 1. Chromatographic conditions for analysis of OTA

A 40 μ L of a 1 mL standard mixture (50 μ g / mL OTA) containing OTA (Spelco, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was transferred to a 10 mL balloon bag, and a second-stage standard 0,2 μ g/mL OTA) was obtained by adding 960 μ L of methanol over this. In order to prepare the third step standard, the second step was completed by taking 100 μ L of a standard ball from the standard and injecting 10 mL with the mobil phase. Then, 5 standard series were prepared using the third stage standard (0.002 μ g/mL OTA).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The drying time values of the plum samples were subjected to microwave drying process on the sun and at two different powers (720 W (P80) and 900 W (P100)) are given in Table 2. It has been determined that 4 days and 14 hours for half-dried plums on the sun. Microwave drying is made on the highest power value half plum drying time for the drying operation 26 min 27 s P100, P80 was determined to be 27 min 7 h for drying.

| Table 2. Drying time of plains | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Drying method | Time | | | | | |
| SD | 4 days 14 h | | | | | |
| P100 | 26 min. 27 s | | | | | |
| P80 | 27 min. 7 s | | | | | |

Table 2. Drying time of plums

As a result, drying in the microwave seems to significantly reduce the drying time compared to drying in the sun. The increase in microwave power applied to the specimens caused a decrease in drying time. Michalska et al., 2016 different microwave power from the microwave vacuum drying time in the study from 32 to 120 minutes and dried plum convection-microwave pre-drying the final drying times were determined as 394 to 664 min. Baysal et al., 2015 study conducted in the microwave drying process apple slices were calculated at 20 minutes.

The water activity values of the plum samples subjected to microwave drying at the sun and at two different powers (720 and 900 W) are given in Table 3.

It was noted that the water activity value of fresh plum being used was reduced to 0.60-0.68 in dried samples with both methods and figures. It is seen that these values are at a level which can provide the product safely in terms of microbiology (Özay 1993).

| I doite et mater activity m | anaes of affea plains |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------|
| Drying method | $a_{ m W}$ |
| SD | 0.60 ± 0.02 |
| P100 | 0.66 ± 0.07 |
| P80 | 0.65 ± 0.09 |

Table 3. Water activity values of dried plums

Water activity is an important physicochemical property in food technology. Unlike moisture value, it determines physical, chemical and microbiological stability in food quality. In fresh fruit with high water content, the water activity values of 0.97-0.99 are dried down to 0.60 aw. It has been found that the water activity values in dry fruits vary between 0,505 and 0,694 (Özay, 1993). Rodriguez et al., 2015, found that fresh water activity values in the range of 0,966±0,002. After drying, water activity values varied between 0.441 and 0.845 depending on the experimental

conditions (Rodriguez et al., 2015). Iamanaka et al., 2005 found that the a_w value of dried plums was in the range of 0.712-0.863 and the mean was 0.796. The water activity values obtained for the drying types are close to these values and are compatible with our work. OTA was not found on dried plums both in the sun and in the microwave. It is considered that raw materials are carefully selected during the drying process and prevent OTA from emerging if the recommended production and storage requirements are met. Iamanaka et al., 2005, reported that Ochratoxin A value was below the detection limit of <0.1 mg/kg in 19 samples and OTA value was 0.1-5.0 mg/kg in 1 sample using 20 plum samples. Heshmati et al., 2017 reported that OTA levels in all dried fruit species (mulberry, dates, figs and apricots) were under EU regulation (10 mg/kg) and in the MOE> 10000 levels below the toxicologically non-toxic level for consumers. Özer et al. (2012) studies on mycotoxin contamination of plums indicate that OTA formation is the major mycotoxin problem in these fruits.

CONCLUSIONS

In this study, plum samples which were dried by using 2 different drying methods and were stored at room temperature for two years. Mycotoxins are one of the most important risk factors of agricultural product quality and safety. Studies on the risk assessment of mycotoxins are drawing more and more attention on a global scale. OTA formation in dried fruit is a threat to human health. Consumers often do not consume visible moldy or rotten fresh fruit. However, when rotten or moldy raw materials are used to produce dried fruit, mycotoxins can form at intensive levels. Therefore, strong fruits should be used in dry fruit production, the product should be dried quickly and stored under dry conditions. Today, due to taste and nutritional values, especially in European countries, prunes consumption is increasing in countries outside production areas. Because dried fruits are often consumed directly, the consumer must be aware of the quality and safety of these products. As a result of the work done, OTA was not found in dried plums on both sun and microwave. It has also been observed that microwave technology could be an alternative drying method in plum drying.

REFERENCES

AOAC. Ochratoxin A in Barley. AOAC Official Method 2000.03, 2002.

- Asghar, M. A., Ahmed, A., Zahir, E., Asghar, M. A., Iqbal, J., & Walker, G. (2017). Incidence of aflatoxins contamination in dry fruits and edible nuts collected from Pakistan. Food Control, 78: 169-175.
- Atıcı, G. Erik Pestilinin Kalite Parametreleri ve Kuruma Davranışı Üzerine 'Sıcak Havalı Kurutma ve Mikrodalga Kurutma Yöntemlerinin Etkisinin Belirlenmesi Üzerine Bir Araştırma. Çukurova Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Gıda Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı, Adana, 2013, 95 s. (Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- Ayan, H. Güneşte ve Yapay Kurutucuda Kurutulmuş Domates (Lycopersitcum Esculentum) Üretimi ve Proses Sırasındaki Değişimlerinin Belirlenmesi. (2010) Ankara Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Gıda Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı, Ankara, 2010, 109 s. (Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- Baysal, T., Özbalta, N., Gökbulut, S., Çapar, B., Taştan, Ö., Gürlek, G. Investigation of Effects of Various Drying Methods on The Quality Characteristics of Apple Slices and Energy Efficiency. Isi Bilimi ve Tekniği Dergisi. 2015, 35(1), 135-144.

- Cabañes, F. J. and Bragulat, M. R. (2018). Black aspergilli and ochratoxin A-producing species in foods. Current Opinion in Food Science, 23, 1-10.
- Cemeroğlu, B. Meyve ve Sebze İşleme Teknolojisi, cilt 2, Nobel Akademik, Ankara, Türkiye, 2011, 650 s.
- Drusch, S. and Ragab, W. (2003). Mycotoxins in fruits, fruit juices, and dried fruits. J. Food Protect., 66(8): 1514-1527.
- Er, T. Kırmızı Pancarın Bazı Fiziksel ve Fitokimyasal Özellikleri Üzerine Farklı Kurutma Sıcaklıklarının Etkisi. Selçuk Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Gıda Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı, Konya, 2011, 73 s. (Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- Gökmen, E. Siyah Aspergillus Suşları Tarafından Kuru Üzüm Besiyerinde Okratoksin A (ota) Oluşumunun İncelenmesi (Doctoral dissertation, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü).
- Gürhayta, O., & Çağındı, Ö. Kurutulmuş Meyvelerde Aflatoksin ve Okratoksin A Varlığının ve Sağlık Üzerine Etkilerinin Değerlendirilmesi. Celal Bayar Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi, 12(2).
- Heshmati, A., Zohrevand, T., Khaneghah, A. M., Nejad, A. S. M. and Sant'Ana, A. S. (2017). Cooccurrence of aflatoxins and ochratoxin A in dried fruits in Iran: Dietary exposure risk assessment. Food Chem. Toxicol., 106: 202-208.
- Iamanaka, B. T., Taniwaki, M. H., Menezes, H. C., Vicente, E. and Fungaro, M. H. P. (2005). Incidence of toxigenic fungi and ochratoxin A in dried fruits sold in Brazil. Food Add. Contam., 22(12): 1258-1263.
- Kart, D., Eriğin Kurutulmasında Mikrodalga Tekniğinin Ürün Kalitesi Üzerine Etkilerinin Belirlenmesi. Manisa Celal Bayar Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Gıda Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı, Manisa, 2017, 98 s. (Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- Kartal, A. S. Mikrodalga ve Kuru Hava Yardımıyla Kurutma Yöntemlerinin Meyve Pestillerinin Kuruma Sürelerine Etkilerinin İncelenmesi. İstanbul Teknik Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Gıda Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı, İstanbul, 2011, 91 s. (Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- Li, Z.X., Nie, J.Y., Yan, Z., Zhang, X.N., Guan D.K. and Shen, Y.M. (2017). Progress in research of detection, risk assessment and control of the mycotoxins in fruits and fruit products. Scientia Agricultura Sinica, 50, 332–347. (in Chinese)
- Michalska, A., Honke, J., Lysiak, G., Andlauer, W. (2016). Effect of Drying Parameters on The Formation of Early and Intermediate Stage Products of The Maillard Reaction in Different Plum (Prunus Domestica L.) Cultivars. Food Sci. Technol., 65: 932-938.
- Özer, H., Oktay Basegmez, H. I., and Ozay, G. (2012). Mycotoxin risks and toxigenic fungi in date, prune and dried apricot among Mediterranean crops. Phytopathologia Mediterranea, 148-157.
- Özay, G., Pala, M. and Saygı, B. (1993). Bazı Gıdaların Su Aktivitesi Yönünden İncelenmesi. GIDA. 18 (6): 377-383.
- Ringot, D., Chango, A., Schneider, Y. J., and Larondelle, Y. (2006). Toxicokinetics and toxicodynamics of ochratoxin A, an update. Chemico-biol. Interact., 159(1): 18-46.
- Rodriguez, M. M., Rodriguez, A. and Mascheroni, R. H. (2015). Color, Texture, Rehydration Ability and Phenolic Compounds of Plums Partially Osmodehydrated and Finish-Dried by Hot Air. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation. 39: 2647–2662.
- Shundo, L., de Almeida, A. P., Alaburda, J., Lamardo, L. C. A., Navas, S. A., Ruvieri, V., Sabino, M. (2009). Aflatoxins and ochratoxin A in Brazilian paprika. Food Control, 20(12): 1099– 1102.

- Anon 1. 2018 TGK (2011). Türk Gıda Kodeksi Bulaşanlar Yönetmeliği. Gıdalardaki bulaşanların maksimum limitleri. Erişim: 28.08.2018 http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2011/12/20111229M3-8-1.pdf
- Tosun, H., Demirel, N. N. and Çoban, H. (2006). Üzüm ve Üzüm Ürünlerinden Okratoksin A Sorunu. Celal Bayar Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi, 2(2): 141-145.
- Wang, Y., Nie, J., Yan, Z., Li, Z., Cheng, Y. and Chang, W. (2018a). Occurrence and cooccurrence of mycotoxins in nuts and dried fruits from China. Food control, 88: 181-189.
- Wang, Y. J., Nie, J. Y., Zhen, Y. A. N., Li, Z. X., Cheng, Y. and Farooq, S. (2018b). Multimycotoxin exposure and risk assessments for Chinese consumption of nuts and dried fruits. J Integrative Agric, 17(7): 1676-1690.
- Van de Perre, E., Jacxsens, L., Lachat, C., El Tahan, F., and De Meulenaer, B. (2015). Impact of maximum levels in European legislation on exposure of mycotoxins in dried products: case of aflatoxin B1 and ochratoxin A in nuts and dried fruits. Food Chem. Toxicol., 75: 112-117.

THE INFLUENCE OF CULTURE MEDIUM ON IN VITRO PROPAGATION ON KALANCHOE BLOSSFELDIANA

Adrian PETICILA¹*, Oana VENAT², Andreea DOBRE¹

¹ University of Agronomic Sciences and Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Horticulture, 59 Marasti Blvd., District, 011464 Bucharest, Romania

² University of Agronomic Sciences and Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Horticulture, Research Centre for Studies of Food and Agricultural Products Qualit, 59 Marasti Blvd., District 1,

011464 Bucharest, Romania

* apeticila@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Our research aimed at developing a protocol for breeding *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana in vitro* for the purpose of obtaining a large number of plants free of viruses as well as a good rate of multiplication. Three concentrations of sodium hypochlorite (10%, 15%, 20%) solutions were used for disinfection. To initiate the cultivation of uninodal segments we used three growing mediums: the Murashige & Skooq initiation, Murashige and Skooq with IBA 0,1 mg/l and BAP 0,1 mg/l, Murashige & Skooq with BA 0,1 mg/l, IBA 0,5 mg/l and 30 g/l sucrose content and the multiplication crops were made in Gamborg B5 with IBA 0,01 mg/l, BA 0,1 mg/l and sucrose 20 g/l. Out of the three different concentrations of disinfection, the best results were obtained by using 10 % sodium hypochlorite. For testing the culture mediums we took into account the average number of leaves and roots; the best results were obtained on the Murashige and Skooq culture medium, while the Gamborg B5 culture medium showed significant differences. The same applies to the average number of roots analyzed is on the MS culture mediums. Based on the results obtained, we can recommend for the purpose of *in vitro* propagation of *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana* species both Murashige & Skooq with BA 0,1 mg/l, IBA 0,5 mg/l and 30 g/l sucrose and rooting on MS without hormones.

Keywords: Kalanchoe, In vitro, Explant, Culture medium

INTRODUCTION

Kalanchoe is a perennial and herbaceous plant, which is part of the Crassulaceae family. The genus Kalanchoe includes approximately 200 species of succulents originating in South Africa and Madagascar. The word Kalanchoe derives from "Kalan Cauhuy" which can be translated to "the drops and increases". The genus Kalanchoe was described for the first time in 1973, by botanist Michel Adanson (1727 - 1806),who was of Scottish-French origin. Among Kalanchoe species, the most cultivated are Kalanchoe hybrida Hort. or sunflower of coral and Kalanchoe blossfeldiana (Flaming over Katy, Panda Plant), originating from Northern Madagascar, hereinafter referred to as such in honor of the German botanist Robert Blossfeld (1882-1945) who, in 1932, introduced a culture in Potsdam, Germany. The plant's small, white flowers, which can be star-shaped or involute, are grouped into inflorescence umbels. The colors range from vivid shades of red, pink, orange, yellow or white, violet. Kalanchoe can be propagated mainly through young shoot cuttings. Propagation can also be achieved via seeds. If the plant is cultivated outdoors, it must be protected from freezing. (Toma, 2014) Being a slow-growing plant, it is extremely important to develop a system of very fast-growing tissues. One of the most extensive farming techniques of tissue culture is micropropagation, as it is very efficient, mainly because of the possibility to multiply virus free plants and because it may be a better alternative to multiplying by seeds and cuttings. In 1990, Dickens C.V.S and J. Van Staden at the University of Pietermaritzbug Natal in South Africa, published the study "The in vitro flowering of Kalanchoe blossfeldiana Poellniz. The effects of growth regulators and gallic acid". For this study explants from Kalanchoe blossfeldiana were used. These were subsequently cloned and multiplied by vegetative means. In vitro they have been grown in an environment which is composed of mineral salts, sucrose and agar, having a pH of 5.8, and under long day conditions (18 h of light from fluorescent tubes and glow plugs) at a temperature of 25 °C. Going further, in 1992 a study by researchers Maria Ioannou and N. Ioannou is published at the Institute for Agricultural Research in Nicosia, Cyprus, on in vitro propagation of leaf segments (both basal and apex types) of Kalanchoe blossfeldiana. For this experiment leaves of healthy Kalanchoe were used, reared outdoors, which were washed with water and disinfected with a combination of soap and water as well as a solution with a concentration of 15% chlorine, for 15 minutes, and then were rinsed three times with distilled water. The results obtained demonstrated that the in vitro production of plants of Kalanchoe blossfeldiana fragments of leaves is a viable propagation method.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Kalanchoe is a plant that propagates quite easily through stem and leaf cuttings, but this method is slow and inadequate, and thus, it's *in vitro* multiplication has become essential (Stanica, 2004). Plants resulting from *in vitro* multiplication process show better development of stems and their branches as well as shorter internodes, which are some of the preferred commercial characteristics. (Peticila A., 2015) All the plant material used in this study was taken from plants of *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana*, produced and grown in a greenhouse in the Netherlands. Uniondale segments were used as explants, and the research was carried out within the Micro-Specimen Laboratory within the Research Center for Food and Agricultural Products of the University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine in Bucharest.

Preparation of explants

After the separation from the mother plant, the uninodal segments were washed with running water for 5 minutes, followed by a fungicide disinfection, followed by successive rinses with sterile distilled water. The sterilization processes was carried out by submerging the explants in a 70% ethanol solution, followed by two rinses with sterilized distilled water for 5 minutes. Finally, the uninodal segments were disinfected with 0.4% NaOCl, then rinsed 3 times, for 5 minutes each, in sterile distilled water. Three such disinfection protocols were used as show in the Table 1.

| Protocol options | Ingredients | Time |
|------------------|--|-------------|
| Option 1 | Distilled water (rinsing) | 5 minutes |
| | Fungicide 4.5g / 1 | 3 minutes |
| | Distilled water (rinsing) | 2x5 minutes |
| | Ethanol 70% | 3 seconds |
| | Distilled sterile water (rinsing) | 5 minutes |
| | NaOCl 0.4% per 100gr (10% commercial bleach) | 5 minutes |
| | Distilled sterile water (rinsing) | 3x5 minutes |
| Option 2 | Distilled water (rinsing) | 5 minutes |
| | Fungicide 4.5g / 1 | 5 minutes |
| | Distilled water (rinsing) | 2x5 minutes |
| | Ethanol 70% | 20 seconds |
| | Distilled sterile water (rinsing) | 5 minutes |
| | NaOCl 0.4% per 100gr (15% | 15 minutes |
| | commercial bleach) | 3x5 minutes |
| | Distilled sterile water (rinsing) | |
| Option 3 | Distilled water (rinsing) | 5 minutes |
| | Fungicide 4.5g / 1 | 5 minutes |
| | Distilled water (rinsing) | 2x5 minutes |
| | Ethanol 70% | 20 seconds |
| | Distilled sterile water (rinsing) | 5 minutes |
| | NaOCl 0.4% per 100gr (20% commercial bleach) | 15 minutes |
| | Distilled sterile water (rinsing) | 3x5 minutes |

Table 1. The desinfection protocols used

Culture medium used

During our research, the *in vitro* multiplication procedure of *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana* consisted of three stages: Stage 1 - initiation of *in vitro* culture for the formation of new plant organs, stage

2 - replication in a multiplication medium of the newly formed individual plantlets (obtained in the previous step) for stem growth and root formation, and step 3 - *in vivo* transfer of plants and their acclimatization. The basic culture medium used in our research contains inorganic salts MS (Murashige and Skoog) supplemented with Fe chelate, vitamins, inositol, sucrose and agar. The composition of the medium is detailed in the table below. In the culture initiation medium (MS +, MS -), BA and IBA were added in varying proportions, and both added growth hormone mediums and no growth hormone mediums were used to stimulate root formation and development, in order to better test their role in the roots formation and growth process. Also, a B5 (Gamborg) medium was used in the multiplication step (Table 2). The pH of the medium was adjusted to 5.7, 5.8 and 5.9 (by alkalinisation with either 1N NaOH - to lower the pH or HCl - to increase the pH).

| MS(-) Medium | | MS(+) Medium | | MS modified Me | edium | B5 Medium | | |
|-------------------|--------|-------------------|----------|-------------------------|-------------|-------------------------|----------|--|
| Microelements | 1ml | Microelements | 1ml | Microelements | 1ml | Microelements | 1ml | |
| MS 100X | | MS 100X | | MS 100X | | MS 100X | | |
| Macroelements | 100ml | Macroelements | 100ml | Macroelements | 100 | Macroelements | 100ml | |
| MS 10X | | MS 10X | | MS 10X | ml | MS 10X | | |
| Iron Chelate | 5ml | Iron Chelate | 5ml | Iron Chelate | 5ml | Iron Chelate | 5ml | |
| FeNaEDTA | | FeNaEDTA | | FeNaEDTA | | FeNaEDTA | | |
| 200x | | 200x | | 200x | | 200x | | |
| Vitamins MS | 10ml | Vitamins MS | 10ml | Vitamins MS | 10ml | Vitamins MS | 10ml | |
| 100X | | 100X | | 100X | | 100X | | |
| Nicotinic acid | | Nicotinic acid | | Nicotinic acid | | Nicotinic acid | | |
| Thiamine HCl | | Thiamine HCl | | Thiamine HCl | | Thiamine HCl | | |
| Pyridoxine HCl | | Pyridoxine HCl | | Pyridoxine HCl | | Pyridoxine HCl | | |
| Inositol 100X | 10ml | Inositol 100X | 10ml | Inositol 100X | 10ml | Inositol 100X | 10ml | |
| | | Indol-3-butiric | | benzyladenine | | Indol-3-butiric | | |
| | 8 | | acid IBA | | BA 0.1 mg/l | | acid IBA | |
| | | 0.1mg/l | | Indol-3-butiric | | 0.01mg/l | | |
| | | BA | | acid IBA | | BA | | |
| | | benzyladenine | | 0.5mg/l | | benzyladenine | | |
| | | 0.1mg/l | | | | 0.1mg/l | | |
| Sucrose | 25g | Sucrose | 25g | Sucrose | 30g | Sucrose | 20g | |
| Agar | 7g | Agar | 7g | Agar | 7g | Agar | 7g | |
| Distilled water u | p to 1 | Distilled water u | p to 1 | Distilled water up to 1 | | Distilled water up to 1 | | |
| liter | | liter | | liter | | liter | | |

| Table 2. The culture medium use |
|--|
|--|

Culture initiation

The uniondale segments of *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana* were subjected to the disinfection protocol described above, then they were transferred to tubes containing the culture medium necessary for plant regeneration. The tubes were labeled and stored in the growth room for 20 days at a temperature of 22°C and a humidity of 30-40% under white fluorescent light for 9 hours of darkness and 15 hours of light. The explants were monitored weekly to observe the effects of disinfection and possible developments of the new plant (measurements of leaves, number of buds,

mean leaf size and number of roots were taken). Disinfection efficiency was recorded 19 days after inoculation by visual determinations of contamination.

Culture multiplication

In the second stage of our research, the explants (that were inoculated during the *in vitro* culture initiation) were multiplied in new culture mediums, both MS + and MS-. In view of the fact that *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana* shoots become semi-lignified when mature, a B5 medium (Gamborg), which is a medium dedicated to the micropropagation of woody plants, was used in order to observe its effects on the development of stems and shoots. Two multiplications of the viable explants were made, their evolution being followed for 9 weeks. Throughout this period, measurements and observations were made regarding the length and number of shoots, the number of buds, the number of leaves and their average size, the number of roots and the number of resulted plants, in order to be interpreted and analyzed. The plants were prepared for *in vivo* transfer and acclimatization after approximately 12 weeks since the initiation of culture took place.

Acclimatization

The plants with already formed and developed roots were removed from the tubes or jars when their width (stem and leaves) was 1.5 to 4 cm (approximately 12 weeks from inoculation), and when the roots were viable. After the roots were washed with running water in order to remove the agar and sucrose, the plants were transferred to a substrate consisting of a mixture (previously sterilized for 20 minutes at 121 $^{\circ}$ C) of peat and perlite in seed-starting trays.

RESULTS

We started our research started with 60 explants of *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana*, represented by uninodal segments of approximately 0.5 cm, which were subjected, before inoculation, to the disinfection protocol described above. 10 uninodal segments were inoculated in MS + medium and 10 similar segments were inoculated in MS – medium - for each of the options represented by the disinfectant solution. The first observations on explant evolution occurred 19 days after inoculation. One of the 20 inoculated explants had an infection, while the rest of the plants (leaves, buds and even roots) showed growth. **Table 3**.

| Desinfection substance and concentration | Culture medium | Number of viable explants |
|--|----------------|---------------------------|
| NaOCl 10% | MS + | 9 |
| | MS - | 10 |
| NaOCl 15% | MS+ | 2 |
| | MS - | 6 |
| NaOCl 20% | MS + | 0 |
| | MS- | 0 |
| | | |

Table 3. Evolution of explants according to the disinfection protocol used

In the following period, approximately 10 days later, observations and measurements were made on the inoculated plants on the two types of mediums (MS + and MS -), observing the development of their organs (buds, leaves, roots) as well as their number and size. As a result of the measurements, the largest growths were recorded in the case of explants inoculated on the MS – culture medium - (in terms of both leaf number and root development - only 20%).

After 20 days, the first plant multiplication after the initial inoculation is made. The 19 remaining plants show both leaf and root growth, two of the explants growing roots within the first 10 days of inoculation. Following the multiplication, 34 new explants resulted. 17 of these were inoculated on MS – medium without growth hormones, while the remaining 17 were inoculated on the B5 medium (Gamborg), the medium dedicated to the multiplication of woody plants, in order to test its influence on the growth and development of the organs of the plant, to which IBA (0.1 mg/1) and BA (0.1 mg/1) were added.

Table 4 shows the development of the number of plants inoculated within the first experiment, throughout these 22 days.

| Date | Culture medium | Type of explant | Primordia formation |
|------------|----------------|-----------------|---------------------|
| 30.10.2017 | MS + | 9 US | 8 |
| | MS - | 11 US | 11 |
| 15.11.2017 | MS+ | 8 US | 8 |
| | MS- | 11US | 11 |
| 20.11.2017 | MS+ | 8 US | 8 |
| | MS- | 11 US | 11 |

Table 4. Evolution of explants subjected to the first disinfection option (NaOcl 10%) 11.10.2017

US = Uninodale segments

19 days after inoculation, the plants that were placed in the MS – culture medium had a total number of leaves of 23 (with a total average size of 16.5 mm), the number of buds were 14 and the total number of the roots was 10, while the explants on MS + medium had a total number of leaves of 53 (with a total average size of 20.5 mm), the number of buds were 14 and the total number of roots were 8.

DISCUSSION

During the next 15 days, there was an increase in both the number of leaves and their size (especially for MS + cultivar plants) and roots, especially for those inoculated on the MS – medium, as follows: in 15 days, the total number of plant leaves on the MS + culture medium increased from 53 to 81 (and the average size from 20.5 mm to 26.5 mm), the number of buds remained unchanged. Regarding the roots, it was noted that only 2 out of the 8 explants developed roots, their total number remaining 8, the same as at the October 30 measurement. In contrast, the uninodal segments that were inoculated on the MS – culture medium - had better root development, with all plants showing root primordia in a total of 26 and a total number of buds of 19. In terms of total number of leaves, this recorded a significant increase from 23 to 54.

The last observations and measurements before multiplication were done for 45 days. During this stage, the 11 plants on MS – developed a total number of 73 leaves (with a total average size

of 25.7mm), the number of roots increased to 39, and bud number remained unchanged while for the plants inoculated on the MS + medium, there was a small increase in the number of leaves (from 81 to 90), having a total average size of 26.5 mm, while the number of roots remained relatively small, 12 compared to the previous measurement when they were only 8. Following this experiment, attention was directed to the 34 plants from the first experiment, which were subjected to new measurements at a 10-day interval.

18 days after inoculation, we noticed that out of the 17 explants in the MS – cultured medium, only two had roots (the total number of roots was 3), and 5 showed stagnation (lack of new development). For the remaining 10 plants, the formation of new leaves was noted, their total number being 54 (with a total average size of 22 mm). As far as the B5 plants are concerned, 2 developed roots (their total number being 3), 7 registered stagnation, and the remaining 11 had a total number of leaves of 17 (16.7 mm total average). The next measurement after 10 days showed that the number of plants inoculated on the MS medium – which developed roots reached 9 with a total number of roots of 63), and the number of plants that have registered stagnation was reduced to 2, thus 15 plants presented leaf system development (the total number of leaves increased to 71 with a total mean size of 37.2 mm). For the B5 plants, it was noted that the number of those that showed stagnation remained the same (7), while the number of rooted plants increased by 6 (total number of roots - 49). The last measurement was done after 20 days. As a result, it was decided to acclimatize (in vivo) the plants that were quite developed in terms of shoots and leaves, as well as roots. Thus, the seven plants both on the MS – and B5 mediums and on the B5-medium, developed roots (in a total of 89).

DS5% for three mean mediums 3.8 - 3.9

From the above data, resulting from the monofactorial experience, where one of the factors is the culture medium and the other from the dynamics of the explant development and analyzed with the Duncan test, we concluded that there are significant differences between the MS and B5 culture mediums in favor of MS and between the two MS mediums, MS + was significant for the average number of leaves while MS- was significant for the average number of roots (Table 5).

| Medium | Average no of leaves | Average no of roots |
|--------|----------------------|---------------------|
| MS- | 14.3 a | 13.7 a |
| MS+ | 15.0 a | 12.0 a |
| B5 | 10.3 b | 6.3 b |

Table 5. Results of Duncan test

After 30 days a new acclimatization process was done for the rest of the plants remaining in the culture medium, and it was noted that the acclimatization was done successfully for all plants, the acclimatization rate being 100%.

CONCLUSIONS

The most effective disinfection protocol was the one employing a 10% NaOCl (0.4%) solution with a 5 minute disinfection time (95% of the plants remained viable, while the infection rate was

only 5%), the uninodal segments used turned out to be quite sensitive to a higher concentration of disinfectant.

The best results (the longest shoot length, the largest number of leaves, the largest number of roots and the longest roots) were obtained for plants inoculated in the culture medium without growth hormones, which could be explained by the fact that *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana* naturally produces a sufficient level of auxins and cytokinins, so their addition to the culture medium did not significantly influence plant development.

REFERENCES

- Dickens, C.W.S. and van Staden, J. (1990). The In Vitro Flowering of Kalanchöe blossfeldiana Poellniz. II. The Effects of Growth Regulators and Gallic Acid. Plant Cell Physiol., 31 (6): 757–762.
- Ioannou, M. and Ioannou, N. (1992). Micropropagation of Kalanchoe blossfeldiana pollen from leaf-blade segments. Agricultural Research Institute, Ministry Of Agriculture And Natural Resources, Nicosia Cyprus.
- Peticila, A. (2015). Microînmulțirea plantelor horticole, Ed. Granada, ISBN: 978-606-8254-76-0, 166-168.
- Stanica, F. (2004). Microinmultirea plantelor horticole, Ed. INVEL Multimedia, Bucuresti., 125-126.
- Toma, F. (2004). Floricultură și artă florală Specii utilizate ca plante în ghivece pentru decorul interioarelor, Ed. Invel Multimedia, ISBN: 978-973-1886-13-8.

EFFECT OF WATER HARVESTING TECHNIQUES ON SOIL PROPERTIES IN THE SOUTH OMDURMAN AREA- SUDAN

Shaker Babeker Ahmed¹, Amir Bakheit Saeed², Mohamed Abd Alla Mohamed Ali¹

¹Department of Agricultural Engineering, Faculty of Agriculture, Omdurman Islamic University, Khartoum, Sudan ²Department of Agricultural Engineering, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Khartoum, Khartoum,

Sudan

*shaker33@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

This study was conducted at Khartoum New International Airport, South Omdurman area, Khartoum State, Sudan. A complete randomized block design was followed to study the effect of Holes and Crescents water harvesting techniques on the soil moisture content soil sample were taken prior and immediately after rains and at three weeks intervals. The results indicated that the Holes and Crescents water harvesting techniques affected positively some soil physical properties especially at the upper soil layer (0 – 30 cm) which was subjected to excavation by a loader. These soil properties included porosity, field capacity and infiltration rate as they have direct influence on the soil moisture content. The Holes water harvesting techniques showed an increase of 15% in soil moisture content resulting in better improvement of the soil physical properties as compared to the Crescents water harvesting techniques, hence the farmer techniques recommended for adoption.

Keywords Holes, Crescents, Water harvesting technique, Infiltration rate, Field capacity, Moisture content

INTRODUCTION

One of the major critical problems of agriculture is water conservation, especially in rainfed areas. Sound soil and water conservation is based on full integration of engineering, plant and soil sciences. It is essential to develop sound practice that will permit the entrapment and storage in soil profile a greater percentage of available precipitation as by water harvesting techniques which provide an entirely new potential source of water. Water has an essential role in sustaining life and development especially in arid and semiarid regions. According to the United Nations (2003), water resources are envisaged decline steadily because of population growth, pollution and frequent climate changes due to the problem of global warming. Hence, the water crisis is getting more attention among all countries specially the developing ones. Therefore, new strategies and techniques to deal with water problems are highly needed. Water harvesting and spreading techniques succeeded in providing feasible solutions for improving the living conditions of millions of people facing serious domestic water supply problems. Water harvesting goes back in the old history. It is an old and ancient method for collecting water, practiced by man since life existed on this planet. Much of the early history of rain water harvesting has its origin in many

parts of the world. The old civilizations developed in western Asia and in central and northern Africa gave strong evidences that they had known water harvesting. In Europe, especially in small islands with no significant river systems, rain water is the only source of water. The island of Gibraltar has one of the largest rain water collection systems in existence. (UNEP, 1983) and (UCWR, 2003). In Sudan the central clay plains, east of the Nile, the use of earth bunds (Terases) are familiar to intercept sheet-flow runoff, following heavy storms, from adjacent catchments. Sixty and seventy percent of runoff is concentrated in the flood period from June to September (Kutsch, 1982; Ahmed and Eldaw, 2003).

This study was conducted with a view to attaining the following objectives:

- 1. To compare different water harvesting techniques on the basis of soil moisture content (SMC).
- 2. To examine the viability of improving the physical condition of the soil.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study area:

Site location:

The study was conducted at Khartoum New International Airport (KNIA) in the south western direction of Omdurman, Khartoum State at Latitude 15° 13′ N and Longitude 32° 19′ E, at a distance of 50 km South of Khartoum center and 20 km west of the White Nile River.

Meteorological and Soil data:

Rainfall:

The rainy season normally falls between July and September each year and the annual average rainfall is about 150 mm. The effective rainy season starts in late June, increases in July and reaches its peak in August.

Topography:

The topography of the study area is generally fairly flat but few isolated ridges and sand dunes may be observed in the western part of the site and the ground surface slopes gently to the east.

Vegetation:

Harrison and Jackson (1955) stated that vegetation of the study area is dominated by *Acacia tortilis* and *Maeruacrassifolia* desert scrub. Generally, the natural grazing area in Khartoum state is estimated as 40% of total area. The annual grasses and herbs form about 75% of the natural vegetation cover, while the perennial grasses and shrubs/trees form 5% and 20%, respectively. In summary the degradation of the study area is characterized by the disappearance of trees cover mainly due to conflict between people needs and woodland preservation. Thus, the whole state has badly denuded of its natural tree cover.

Climate:

The climate is hot, dry, dusty during the summer season and dry, cold during the winter.

Soil:

The area is covered by a light brown and very thin gravely sand layer (about 10mm thick), and few angular to sub-angular, 20 to 60mm sized fragments of the ferruginous sandstone. The

southern part of the site is covered by sandy gravel probably formed due to the weathering of Nubian Group rocks which are outcropping in some places in the area. Runoff usually occurs during heavy rains.

Experimental treatments:

These included two water harvesting techniques which were constructed before the onset of the rainy season; each treatment was represented by a block which included the plant species. The Holes and Crescents types of water harvesting techniques were used; mainly because the site is known to be extremely rough terrain.

(a) Holes (Deep pits) technique:

Each Hole was 2.5 m in width, 4 m in length and 50 cm deep. The distance between holes in the row was 10 meters while the distance between rows was also 10 meters. The slope direction was made from the upper side to trap the sheet flow run-off after rain storms.

(b) Crescents or curved terraces technique:

Each Crescent was 30 meters in diameter and 50 cm deep. The crescents were laid 15 m apart.

Soil mechanical and physical properties:

Soil mechanical and physical analysis was performed at the Soil Science Department, laboratory of the Faculty of Agriculture, University of Khartoum.

Soil class and bulk density:

Soil class was determined using the hydrometer method proposed by Bouyoucus (1951). Samples were taken from six locations in each plot. From each location 3 samples were taken at depths of 30, 60 and 90cm below the soil surface.

The mean bulk density in gm/cm³ for each depth was determined using the following equation:

Bulk density $(g/cm^3) = Dry \text{ soil weight } (g) / \text{ Soil volume } (cm^3)$

Bulk Density =m/v (g/cm³) Where: m = mass of sample in gv = volume of sample in cc (ml)

Infiltration rate:

Steady state infiltration rates were measured for each treatment (plot) using the double ring infiltrometer following the procedure described by Michael (1978).

The double ring infiltrmeter was made of 0.25 cm thick metal sheet and consisted of two concentric cylinders, 28 cm height with diameter of 28 cm for the inner ring and 55 cm for the outer one. The infiltrometer was pressed firmly in the soil and hammered gently with the help of a wooden plate until it was driven to a depth of 10 cm in the soil. A filter paper was then placed at the bottom of the inner cylinder to prevent disturbing the surface of the soil, then water was poured gently into the inner cylinder. The space between the inner and the outer cylinders was filled immediately with water after filling the inner one to prevent the horizontal water movement. Readings of the depth of the pond water in the inner cylinder was taken every 5 minutes then the rate of water intake over time was measured as described by Michael (1978).

Soil moisture content determination:

This parameter was determined gravimetrically, soil samples were augured from different locations at 0.3 m increment from the soil surface to a depth of 0.9 m. The samples were oven dried at 105°C for 24 hours then weighed to determine moisture content on dry basis. Moisture content % = (wt of wet sample – wt of oven dry sample) \times 100

Wt of oven dry sample

Where:

wt = the sample weight in gm.

Equipment:

The following equipment was used in the experiments:

- 1- A Loader was used to construct the rain water harvesting structures
- 2- Auger for soil sampling.
- 3- Sample containers for the determination of the moisture content of the soil and plastic bags to keep the soil samples.
- 4- An oven for drying the soil moisture.
- 5- Measuring tools (metering tape, a sensitive balance.
- 6- Double ring infiltrometer.

Statistical analysis

Data for each trial were analyzed as Complete Randomized Block Design (C.R.B.D) by standard analysis of variance techniques. Mean significant ($p \le 0.05$) treatments were separated using Duncan's Multiple Range Test procedure (Steel and Torrie, 1980).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Soil particles distribution

Figure 1 and Table 1 show that the amount of sand particles was greater in the upper 30 cm depth than in the lower depths (30-60 cm) and (60-90 cm) in both treatments. The soil texture was sandy clay for the upper part for both soil types, while it was clayey for depth (60-90 cm) for both soil treatments, this might be due to eroded slope of the upper terraces where the sand and some gravel were exposed as a result of erosion. The soil is sandy clay in the upper zone (30-60 cm) with more sand in the top 30 cm. The clay content increase with depth more sand and gravel are seen above soil surface mainly due to a washing proves of clay down the slope.



Figure 1. Soil mechanical analysis for different depth and treatments

Soil bulk density

Figure 2 and Table 2 show that the bulk density in g/cm^3 for each 30 cm increment from the soil surface down to the depth of 90 cm for both the Holes (T1) and Crescents (T2) water harvesting techniques. It becomes apparent that the bulk density was found to increase with increasing depth, with an average of 1.64 g/cm³ at all locations. This result may be attributed to the fact that the soil bulk density increases with increase in the clay content, a fact which is supported by the findings of salah (1991).



Figure 2. Soil bulk density (g/cm³) of the treatment

Infiltration rate

The infiltration rate (mm/h) and the accumulative infiltration rate (mm) for the Holes and Crescents water harvesting techniques treatments can be depicted in Figure 3 and Table 3. In both cases the infiltration rate (mm/h) and the accumulative infiltration (mm) were plotted against elapsed cm (min). The infiltration rate started at about 300 mm/h then dropped down gradually for about 30 min before reaching relatively steady state in moderate conditions.





Soil moisture content

The moisture contents of the soil before and after rain at different depths are shown in Fig (4) and Table (4). The 1st reading before the rain showed a significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) for depth (60-90), while the 2nd and the 3th readings for depth (0-30) and (60-90), respectively after the rain showed that a significant difference ($p \le 0.05$) existed among the treatments. There was no significant difference ($p \ge 0.05$) for 4th and 5th, readings at all depths.



Figure 4. Soil moisture content (SMC) measurement (wt %)

| TT 1 1 1 | 0 '1 | 1 • 1 | 1 . | C | .1 | 1 | 1.00 | 1 /1 | 1.4 | |
|----------|------|------------|---------|-------|-----|-----------|-----------|-------|---------|------------|
| Table 1. | 2011 | mechanical | analysi | s tor | the | location, | different | deptr | i and t | reatments. |

| Treatment | Depth | R1 | R2 | R3 | Means |
|-----------|----------------|------|------|------|-------|
| Holes | Ioles 0 - 30 1 | | 1.63 | 1.61 | 1.6 |
| | 30 - 60 | 1.62 | 1.68 | 1.65 | 1.65 |
| | 60 - 90 | 1.66 | 1.70 | 1.66 | 1.67 |
| Crescents | 0 - 30 | 1.63 | 1.58 | 1.61 | 1.63 |
| | 30 - 60 | 1.66 | 1.61 | 1.67 | 1.65 |
| | 60 - 90 | 1.66 | 1.65 | 1.71 | 1.67 |

Table 2. The bulk density in g/cm3 for the location, different depths and treatments

| Treatment | Depth | | Soil | | |
|-----------|---------|-------|-------|---------|------|
| | | | | texture | |
| | | Clay% | Silt% | Sand% | |
| Holes | 0 - 30 | 24.17 | 32.96 | 42.87 | Sand |
| | 30 - 60 | 40.32 | 24.6 | 35.08 | Clay |
| | 60 - 90 | 43.2 | 30.38 | 26.42 | Clay |
| Crescents | 0 - 30 | 29.18 | 29.45 | 41.37 | Sand |
| | 30 - 60 | 46.96 | 22.68 | 30.36 | Clay |
| | 60 - 90 | 50.09 | 20.78 | 29.13 | Clay |

| Time | Holes | | Crescents | | | | |
|-------|--------------|---------------------|--------------|---------------------|--|--|--|
| (min) | | | | | | | |
| | Infilt. Rate | Acc. infilt. values | Infilt. Rate | Acc. infilt. Values | | | |
| | (mm/h) | (mm) | (mm/h) | (mm) | | | |
| 5 | 297.6 | 24.8 | 304.8 | 25.4 | | | |
| 10 | 266.4 | 47 | 276 | 48.4 | | | |
| 15 | 240 | 67 | 247.2 | 69 | | | |
| 20 | 213.6 | 84.8 | 217.2 | 87.1 | | | |
| 25 | 175.2 | 99.4 | 182.4 | 102.3 | | | |
| 30 | 147.6 | 111.7 | 153.6 | 115.1 | | | |
| 35 | 116.4 | 121.4 | 122.4 | 125.3 | | | |
| 40 | 105.6 | 130.2 | 108 | 134.3 | | | |
| 45 | 91.2 | 137.8 | 93.6 | 142.1 | | | |
| 50 | 74.4 | 144 | 79.2 | 148.7 | | | |
| 55 | 72 | 150 | 74.4 | 154.9 | | | |
| 60 | 72 | 156 | 74.4 | 161.1 | | | |

Table 3. The values of infiltration rate (mm/h) and accumulative infiltration (mm)

Table 3. Average moisture content before and after rains

| Readings | | 1 | | 2 | | 3 | | 4 | | 5 | |
|-----------|---------|------|-------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Treatment | | Bef | Aft | Bef | Aft | Bef | Aft | Bef | Aft | Bef | Aft |
| | Depth | MC | MC % | MC | MC | MC | MC | MC | MC | MC | MC |
| | | % | | % | % | % | % | % | % | % | % |
| Holes | 0 - 30 | 3.65 | 17.36 | 18.5 | 23.4 | 16.5 | 19.5 | 12.0 | 14.6 | 9.7 | 10.3 |
| | 30 - 60 | 4.12 | 14.6 | 17.7 | 22.6 | 17.1 | 21.4 | 13.0 | 15.7 | 11.0 | 11.8 |
| | 60 - 90 | 4.98 | 10.2 | 16.1 | 21.2 | 18.3 | 20.4 | 13.8 | 16.4 | 11.8 | 12.5 |
| Crescents | 0 - 30 | 3.78 | 14.9 | 14.6 | 23.8 | 14.0 | 17.8 | 10.5 | 12.2 | 8.7 | 9.4 |
| | 30 - 60 | 4.49 | 13.0 | 13.1 | 23.1 | 15.6 | 19.3 | 11.5 | 13.5 | 10.0 | 10.6 |
| | 60 - 90 | 4.20 | 11.0 | 10.3 | 21.6 | 16.2 | 19.5 | 12.3 | 14.2 | 10.5 | 11.1 |

CONCLUSIONS

The following conclusions can be drawn from the results of this study. The Holes and Crescents water harvesting techniques improved soil moisture content significantly. Higher values of moisture content were recorded for the Holes type of water harvesting technique as compared to the Crescents type. From the results obtained and conclusions drawn the following recommendation can be made. Further research should be conducted to investigate the performance of different indigenous tree species under more water harvesting techniques to enable selecting the water harvesting techniques and the species most appropriate to the environmental conditions of the area.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, A. A. and Eldaw, A.K. (2003). Rainwater Harvesting in Arid and Semi-arid Zones with Reference to Sudan Experience, Proceeding of Water Harvesting and the Future of Development in Sudan Conference: Water Harvesting for Food Security and Sustainable Development, UNESCO Chair in Water Resources, 19-20 August 2003, Friendship Hall, Khartoum, Sudan.
- Bouyoucos, G. H. (1951). A Recalibration of the Hydrometer for Making Mechanical Analysis of Soils. Agron. J., 43: 434-438.
- Harrison, A.L. and Jackson, R.B. (1955). the Vegetation of Khartoum Province, 36(1): JUNE 1955, Published by: University of Khartoum
- Kutsch, H. (1982). Principle features of a form of water- concentrating culture on smallholdings with special reference to the Anti-Atlas. Trierer Geogr. Studien 5. Trier.
- Michael, A.M. (1978). Irrigation: Theory and Practices, Vikas publishing House. PVTLtd. New Delhi, india.
- Salah, A.S. (1991). A comparative study between furrow, furrow basin and border methods of Irrigation. M.Sc. Thesis U of K.
- Steel, R.G.D. and Torrie, J.H. (1980). Principles and Procedures of Statistics. A biometrical approach. 2nd edition. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA, pp. 20-90.
- UCWR (2003). Water harvesting and the Future of Development in Sudan UNESCO Chair in Water Resources, Conference, August 2003, Khartoum, Sudan.
- UNEP (1983). Rain and storm water harvesting in rural areas. Ed. United Nation Environmental Programmers. Dblin: Tycooly International.

THE ABILITY OF CERTAIN SOIL BACTERIA ON REMEDIATION OF ETHALFLURALIN HERBICIDE IN SUBMERGED CULTURE CONDITIONS VIA TURBIDITY

Gokhan ONDER ERGUVEN*

Munzur University, Faculty of Engineering, Department of Environmental Engineering, 62000, Tunceli, Turkey

* gokhanondererguven@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study is investigate the removal efficiency of certain soil bacteria on ethalfluralin biodegradation with Ethalfluralin, chemical oxygen demand (COD), Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD)₅, Total Organic Carbon (TOC) and reveal the population dynamics of these bacteria during biodegradation process under agitated culture conditions via turbidity and number of colony forming unit (CFU). Bacteria were firstly isolated from agricultural soil in agar media taken from Thrace region of Turkey. These cultures were used in experimental studies. For determination of Ethalfluralin active ingredient, EPA Method 8081B was used. COD experiments were done according to standard methods 5220C closed reflux titrimetric method, BOD₅ measurement was carried out in 24-hour intervals according to the Standard Method 5210B (5 day BOD₅ test) and for total organic carbon analyses, standard method 5310B High temperature combustion method was used according to APHA, (1998) and decreasing of the ethalfluralin followed about five days. Turbidity experiments were performed by Photolab 6600 UV-VIS Spectrophotometer. As a result of the study, best removal performance observed in Bacillus thuringiensis and Bacillus muralis as 88% and 82% for Ethalfluralin while 83% and 80% in COD at 5 days, 81% and 73% in BOD₅ and 74% and 61% in TOC parameters. The lowest performance was seen on Fusarium fujikuroispecies for Ethalfluralin, COD, BOD₅ and TOC as 41%, 53%, 47% and 43% respectively on same time period. The performance for Micrococcus luteus and Micrococcus yunnanensis species occurred between 60% and 70% for these parameters.

Keywords: Bacteria, Ethalfluralin, Biodegradation, Removal efficiency

INTRODUCTION

The soil ecosystem is a theater of biological processes with complex links and regulated by its microbiota (Radivojević et al., 2014). To manage weeds, common methods such as cultural, mechanical, biological, and chemical methods are utilized (Abeysekara, 2011). Weed control using herbicides is the most popular method among farmers and it allows inexpensive weed control and provides a cost-effective method in the cultivation of agricultural crops (Juraimi et al., 2013).

Pesticide contamination of the surface and ground waters was well documented (Laabs et al. 2007), although an effective way to eliminate environmental contaminants is yet to be discovered. However, certain significant progress was made in soil bioremediation technologies including microbe-induced, chemical reductive and oxidative technologies during recent years (Guimarães et al., 2010).

Pesticides are the most extensively used chemical compounds in agricultural activities (Socorro et al., 2015). Over the past decade, interest on the presence and distribution of

pesticides and other organic pollutants has been increased in environmental waters with lower impact (Malik et al. 2007). Pesticides are chemicals that used for control certain forms of plants (Krieger, 2010). Consideration of the human health emergency due to these chemicals introduce multiple challenges such as modes of actions to pests except humans (Manikkam et al., 2012). It is significant to eliminate pesticides from environment since their opposite effects. The most preferred methods for eliminate pesticides are photocatalytic degradation, coagulation, fenton oxidation and ozonation. But their application time process, costs and ineffectiveness of large area are disadvantages (Tay et al., 2009). Previous studies on microbial degradation of these chemicals revealed that certain bacterial species were able to degrade herbicides (Erguven and Yildirim, 2016). Microorganisms could degrade herbicides by using them as energy and carbon sources (Garbisu and Alkorta, 2003). The results of the bioremediation studies in water have revealed that this process corralated with the pesticide reduction. This method is a low cost, effective and one of the alternative process that does not result toxic products (Massiha et al., 2011). Scientists researched microorganisms to degrade pesticides, especially through white-rot fungi (Fan et al., 2013). Bioremediation time is also very short and microorganisms can deifficultly survive in the target field) (Maruyama et al., 2006).

Dinitroaniline pesticides are selective types of herbicides that used for control of a broadleafed weeds of important agro-economically crops. Ethalfluralin (N-ethyl- α , α , α -trifluoro-N-(2-methylallyl)-2,6-dinitro-p-toluidine) was used for the protection of crops such as cotton, soya beans, tomatoes, peanuts and sunflowers. This herbicide degrades in surface water but does not hydrolyze. Ethalfluralin is generally applied to the surface of the field by spraying after planting the crops. The effectiveness of these type of herbicies is dependent on transfer of the herbicide into the soil by irrigation, rainfall or mechanical incorporation (Prostko et al., 2001).

Ethalfluralin is one of the selective herbicide of Semi-Volatile Organic Compound (SVOC) which has a vapor pressure of $1.2 \times 10-2$ Pa (at $8.9 \times 10-5$ mm of Hg) at 25 °C, and a Henry's low constant of 18 Pa m3 mol-1. Ethalfluralin can be volatilize from aqueous solutions. In the European Union and the United States, ethalfluralin is employed in several countries for over 30 years.

The present paper aimed to provide a comparison of the removal performance of five soil bacteria against herbicide ethalfluralin in agitated culture media with most important environmental parameters and reveal the baseline of bioremediation activities. One of the main objectives of the present study was to provide recommedations for scientists who attempt to rehabilitate the receiving environments polluted by the abovementioned types of pesticides. Furthermore, it also aimed to provide recommendations for farmers who use ethalfluralin or other dinitroaniline group herbicide for rehabilitation of their agricultural fields after cultivation.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Bacteria

Bacillus thuringiensis, Bacillus muralis, Micrococcus luteus, Micrococcus yunnanensis and *Fusarium fujikuroi* used in this study. These bacterial strains are currently available in our culture collections. The strains were grown in petri dishes on plate count agars at 4°C in refrigerator.

Chemicals

Ethalfluralin, plate count agar (PCA) and sabouraud broth (SDB) were obtained from sigma aldrich (Turkey) with a cas and lot number of 55283-68-6, 70152 and S3306 respectively.

Submerged cultures preparation

Submerged culture medium of *Bacillus thuringiensis*, *Bacillus muralis*, *Micrococcus luteus*, *Micrococcus yunnanensis* and *Fusarium fujikuroi* were cultured at 20°C on PCA slants in glass tube with diameter of 10 mm. After three days of incubation, conidial suspensions were prepared and used for the preparation of inoculum. 1 ml of the bacterial suspension (includes approximately 2 x 107CFU/ml) was transferred into a 100 ml flask containing 99 ml of SDB and agitated on a rotary shaker at 130 rpm for 5 days at 20°C in dark. After incubation finished, these flasks homogenized and homogenized mycelial cultures were used as inoculum for bioremediation studies under submerged culture medium. 1 ml of homogenized mycelial culture was transferred into 100 ml flasks containing 99 ml of 10000 mg/l of Ethalfluralin (application concentration for farmers) on an agitated incubator for 7 days at 20 °C in triplicate. After incubation, all flasks filtered for removing bacterial biomass and this filtrate was used for determinate Ethalfluralin, COD, BOD₅ and TOC reduction rates for five days. These filtrates were also used for determinating the beginning time of bioremediation process on 24 hours period.

Bioremediation Studies

On 24 hours intervals, each part of the samples are used for Ethalfluralin, COD, TOC and BOD₅ experiments. For ethalfluralin analysis, EPA, 8081 method was used. In this method, Perkin Elmer Clarus 500GC-ECD was used. All samples were spiked with internal and surrogate standards for determine the recovery rate. For the carrier gas, high purity helium (99.99%) was used at a constant flow rate of 1.5 mL/min. As the surrogate standard, tetrachlorom- xylene was used. Tetrachlorom- xylene was spiked to the sample prior to extraction. Quintozene was as an internal standard and spiked just before capping the chromatography vials. Average recovery rate was 93%. The limits of detection (LOD) values were calculated for each congener as average blank concentrations plus three times the standard deviations. In case of weight losses, the new concentration was recalculated according to (Kmellar et al., 2011). Any sample concentrations that fall below the LOD value were ignored. For each set of analysis, blank samples were corrected and all results were blank corrected. Chloroform was obtained from Merck (Augsburg, Germany). All utilized chemicals were of GC grade. Methanol was used as a working standard solution and were prepared with analytical standards for GC calibration in the range of 0.1-100 mg/l. For the COD experiments, closed reflux titrimetric method used identified in the Standard Method 5220C and decreasing of the substrate followed day by day. BOD₅ experiments were performed with Standard Method 5210B (5 day BOD₅) test and the TOC test was performed in line with the method of burning at a high temperature identified in the Standard Method 5310A with TEKMAR - DOHRMANN - Apollo 9000 device (A.P.H. Association, 1998) Turbidity measurements taken from ethalfluralin media were performed according to Harry et al. (1990) at 650 nm with Photolab 6600 UV-VIS Spectrophotometer device.

RESULTS

The performance of the removal of *Bacillus thuringiensis, Bacillus muralis, Micrococcus luteus, Micrococcus yunnanensis* and *Fusarium fujikuroi* with Ethalfluralin, COD, TOC and BOD₅ and the bioremediation process baseline including the colony count and turbidity are illustrated in Fig. 1-5, respectively.



Figure 1. Reduction of ethalfluralin related with turbidity by Bacillus thuringiensis



Figure 2. Reduction of ethalfluralin related with turbidity by Micrococcus yunnanensis



Figure 3. Reduction of ethalfluralin related with turbidity by Fusarium fujikuroi



Figure 4. Reduction of ethalfluralin related with turbidity by Bacillus muralis


Figure 5. Reduction of ethalfluralin related with turbidity by Micrococcus luteus

Differences in bacteria species in the agitated culture media demonstrated the different results on Ethalfluralin, COD, TOC and BOD₅ reduction rates. The COD reduction efficiencies on *Bacillus thuringiensis, Clostridium tetani, Fusarium fujikuroi, Bacillus muralis* and *Micrococcus luteus* species were 83%, 75%, 53%, 80% and 77%, respectively in five days. At the end of the 5th day, there were negligible variations in all three parameters. At the end of 120th hour, The COD which was originally calculated as 16400 mg/l decreased to 2790 mg/l. The poorest removal performance was observed with *Fusarium fujikuroi*, decreasing the COD from 16400 mg/l to 7660 mg/l (Fig. 3.).

DISCUSSION

Based on the study findings, it was observed that as the population increased in all cultures, the turbidity of the agitated culture media increased as well. In studies that employed culture media with and without ethalfluralin, although there were differences between the values of the turbidity caused by the population size and identified cultures, it was impossible to obtain knowledge on these differences based on turbidity, and the number of microorganisms demonstrating the best and the worst removal efficiency, according to the results obtained in Ethalfluralin, COD, TOC and BOD₅ experiments. However, the increase in the population count and the value of turbidity in the media with ethalfluralin started later when compared to those in the blank media without ethalfluralin. This period may extend from hours to days. This is related to the adjustment period of the microorganisms (Lag phase) to the media with ethalfluralin. It also leads to the increase in the number of bacteria that utilize phosphorus and carbon and the value of turbidity caused by the microorganisms, along with the degradation of ethalfluralin. In the current study, it was observed that the rates of Ethalfluralin, COD, TOC and BOD₅ removal were between 88% and 41%. When the results of the monitoring of the bacterial activity in the Ethalfluralin culture medium through turbidity and population increase were examined, it was found that the increase in turbidity was dependent on Bacillus thuringiensis and Bacillus muralis, which had the best COD removal rate in the Ethalfluralin

medium, particularly after the 24th and 72th hours. Thus, lag phase of *Bacillus thuringiensis* occured within a longer period than that of *Bacillus muralis*.

The population size and the increase in turbidity in Fusarium fujikuroi that had the worst removal rate in the Ethalfluralin was observed after the 72th hour in the Ethalfluralin medium. Erguven and Bayhan (2016) conducted a study with fungi in a liquid medium, where Trifluralin was added and microbial activity was monitored with COD analysis. In that study, it was observed that the COD removal rates of Metacordyceps chlamydosporia and Penicillium simplicissimum were 80% and 59%, respectively. Based on their results, it was observed that Metacordyceps chlamydosporia demonstrated the highest COD removal rate (17400mg/l), which was reduced to 3480 mg/l at the end of the 5th day. During the decomposition, Penicillum simplicissimum had the lowest rate of COD reduction from 17400 mg/l to 7130 mg/l. In a previous study on biodegradation of herbicide chlorsulfuron, COD removal rates were observed between 70% and 93% (Erguven and Yildirim, 2016). (Yonten et al., 2017) studied the removal efficiency performance of *P. eryngii var. ferulae* for COD and they found P. eryngii var. ferulae was a suitable adsorbent for bioremediation of sulfamethazine contaminated soil field. Slight increase in turbidity and colony count could be observed by monitoring the bacterial population in the medium with ethalfluralin particularly after the 24th hour on Bacillus thuringiensis, Micrococcus vunnanensis and Bacillus muralis (Fig. 1-3), after the 48th hour on Fusarium fujikuroi (Fig. 3.) and after the hour 72th on *Micrococcus luteus* (Fig. 5.). The significant increase in colony count and turbidity demonstrated that the best COD, TOC and BOD_5 removal in the medium with ethalfluralin was observed with B. Thuringiensis and B. muralis.

CONCLUSIONS

Thus, for bioremediation of ethalfluralin contaminated liquid medium, these types of soil bacteria was an adequate species. The soil includes numerous bacteria that could degrade herbicides. In the medium, pesticide persistence is caused by the physico-chemical properties of organisms that could degrade pesticides.

REFERENCES

- A.P.H. Association (1998). A .W.W. Association, W.P.C Federation, W.E. Federation. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater. American Public Health Association.
- Abeysekara, A.S.K. (2011). Management of Echinochloa spp. in rice in Sri Lanka. FAO workshop on Echinochloa spp. Control, Beijing., China.
- EPA Method 8081 (1996). Organochlorine Pesticides by GC-ECD, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Erguven, G.O., H. (2016). Bayhan Role of Some Isolated Soil Cultures on Reduction of Herbicide Trifluralin. Fres. Environ. Bull., 25: 5018-5026.
- Erguven, G.O. and Yildirim, N. (2016). Efficiency of some soil bacteria for chemical oxygen demand reduction of synthetic chlorsulfuron solutions under agiated culture conditions. Cell. Mol. Biol., 62: 92-96.
- Fan, B., Zhao, Y., Mo, G., Ma, W., and Wu, J. (2013). Co-remediation of DDT-contaminated soil using white rot fungi and laccase extract from white rot fungi. J. Soils Sediments., 13: 1232-1245.
- Garbisu, C. and Alkorta, I. (2003). Basic concepts on heavy metal soil bioremediation. Eur. J. Miner Process. Environ. Prot., 3: 58-66.

- Guimarães, B.C.M., Arends, J.B.A., van der Ha, D., de Wiele, T.V., Boon, N. and Verstraete, W. (2010). Microbial services and their management: recent progress in soil bioremediation technology. Appl. Soil. Ecol., 46: 157-167.
- Harry, W.S., Paul, J.V. and John, J.L.E. (1990). Microbes in Action: A Laboratory Manual of Microbiology, fourth ed. San Francisco.
- Juraimi, A.S., Uddin, K., Anwar, P., Mohamed, M.T.M., Ismail, R., and Man, A. (2013). Sustainable weed management in direct seeded rice culture: a review. AJCS., 7: 989-1002.
- Kmellar, B., Pareja, L., Ferrer, C., Fodor, P. and Fernandez-Alba, A. R. (2011). Study of the effects of operational parameters on multiresidue pesticide analysis by LC– MS/MS. Talanta., 84: 262–273.
- Krieger, R. (2010). R. Krieger Haye's Handbook of Pesticide Toxicology, third ed. Academic Press, Waltham.
- Laabs, V., Wehrhan, A., Pinto, A., Dores, E. and Amelung, W. (2007). Pesticide fate in tropical wetlands of Brazil: an aquatic microcosm study under semi-field conditions. Chemosphere., 67: 975-989.
- Malik, A., Singh, V.K. and Singh, K.P. (2007). Occurrence and Distribution of Persistent Trace Organics in Rainwater in an Urban Region (India). Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 79: 639-645.
- Manikkam, M., Tracey, R., Guerrero-Bosagna, C. and Skinner, M.K. (2012). Pesticide and insect repellent mixture (permethrin and DEET) induces epigenetic transgenerational inheritance of disease and sperm epimutations. Reprod. Toxicol., 34: 708-719.
- Maruyama, T., Komatsu, C., Michizoe, J., Ichinose, H. and Goto, M. (2006). Laccase-mediated oxidative degradation of the herbicide dymron. Biotechnol Progr., 22: 426-430.
- Massiha, A., Majid, M.R., Pahlaviani, K. and Issazadeh, K. (2011). Microbial degradation of pesticides in surface soil using native strain in Iran. - International Conference of Biotechnology and Environmental Management, IACSIT, Singapore., 18: 76-81.
- Prostko, E.P., Johnson, W.C.III. and Mullinix Jr, B.G. (2001). Annual grass control with preplant incorporated and preemergence applications of ethalfluralin and pendimethalin in peanut (Arachis hypogaea). Weed Technol., 15: 36-41.

Radivojević, L., Jovičić, D., Šantrić, L., Gašić, S. and Gajić, J.U. (2014). Effects of metsulfuron-

methyl on soil microbial activity. Arch. Tech. Sci., 11: 77-82.

- Socorro, J., Durand, A., Temime-Roussel, B., Ravier, S., Gligorovski, S., Wortham, H. and Quivet, E. (2015). Heterogeneous Oxidation of Pesticides on the Aerosol Condensed Phase. WIT Transactions on Ecology and The Environment., 198: 15-25.
- Tay, K.S., Rahman, N. A. and Abas, M.R.B. (2009). Degradation of DEET by ozonation in aqueous solution. Chemosphere., 76: 1296-1302.
- Yonten, V., Alp, H., Yildirim, N., Yildirim, N.C. and Ogedey, A. (2017). Investigation of optimum conditions for efficient COD reduction in synthetic sulfamethazine solutions by Pleurotus eryngii var. ferulae using response surface methodology. J. Taiwan. Inst. Chem., 80: 349-355.

EVOLUTION OF THE DIFFERENT ASSESSMENT METHODS ON LEG WEAKNESSES AND LAMENESS OF BROILERS

Cihan DEMİR¹ Arda AYDIN^{2*}

¹Kırklareli University, Technics Science Vocational High School, Mechanical Dept, Kırklareli Turkey

²Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Agriculture Faculty, Agricultural Mechanization Dept, Çanakkale, Turkey

* araydin@comu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

In this study, firstly, a brief evolution of the chickens was mentioned and then 'leg weakness' and what leg weakness means in the broiler sector were investigated. "Leg weakness" is a vague term used to describe properties of infective and non-infective nature that occur in modern, fast-growing broilers. Modern broilers commercially grown are prone to foot problems, including lameness, footpad dermatitis and hock-burn. Lameness is an extensive term used for some damages of broiler chickens with infective and non-infective source. Lameness is a very big problem in the broiler industry. For the United State in 2002, the costs of lameness were predicted to be between \$80 million and \$120 million. However, in literature, it has been proven that the lameness strongly correlated with weight, growth rate and activity. The time before the chick reaches, a live weight of 1500 g was reduced from 120 days to 30 days in 80 years. As results of fast growing, severe problems have been occurred in broiler chickens. For example, the animals with severe problems have a reduced feed efficiency and lower growth. The carcass quality of these animals has also been decreased in value. Additional to the welfare problems that have been caused by leg problems, also financial losses has been occurred for the producers. Therefore, the first purpose of this study is created as to review the leg weaknesses of broilers and provides to readers a brief discussion of the factors influencing this problem. The second purpose of this study is to review the lameness and lameness assessment methods for broilers. Additionally, the advantages and disadvantages of these methods are discussed. At the end of this review, brief conclusions can be found with related reference list.

Keywords: Broiler, Leg Weknesses, Lameness, Chicken, Technology.

INTRODUCTION

The poultry industry has grown enormously over its fifty-year history until these days and now more than 20 billion broiler chickens are produced every year. The demand for increased growth rate and production due to the economic benefits of higher body weight has led to the differential growth of body parts like accelerated growth of muscle (Verma, 2006).

However this growth is not accompanied by the skeletal development. Lame broilers cannot walk easily and unfortunately they cannot reach the feeder and the drinker when they are hungry or thirsty. Lameness is reducing their life quality. The existence of lameness is strongly correlated with weight and rapid growth of broilers (Su et al., 2000). Furthermore, movement problems may be painful for the broilers. It can decrease the broiler's activity and increase different problems, like hock burns and chest dirtiness (Thapa, 2004). Rapid growth rate

accompanied by adequate nutrition, proper management, optimum lighting and temperature, a disease free environment prevents weakness in broiler chickens. The absence of any of these factors combined with the intrinsic weight bearing characteristics give rise to the different degrees of leg disorders (Verma, 2006). Leg weakness can be classified as infectious, developmental/metabolic and degenerative disorders. Leg weakness leads to high incidence of morbidity than mortality (Verma, 2006). However, the disabled bird experiences pain, does not reach feed and water and dies due to inanition (Webster, 1995; Weeks, 1997).

Therefore, the first purpose of this study is created as to review the leg weaknesses of broilers and provides to readers a brief discussion of the factors influencing this problem. Among the factors that cause the leg weakness include nutritional deficits, mechanically induced trauma, toxins, genetic defects, pathogens infectious diseases, sex, weight and growth rate, age, the efficiency of feed conversion, handling and movement. The second purpose of this study is to review the lameness and lameness assessment methods for broilers.

Lameness

According to the European Commission report lameness is the main cause of bad welfare in broiler chickens (Scahaw, 2000). Lameness is an extensive term used for some damages of broiler chickens with infective and non-infective source (Rousing et al., 2000). Lameness is also a very big problem in the broiler industry. The financial losses due to lameness in the commercial grown broilers are considerable (Cook, 2000). For the United State in 2002, the costs of lameness were predicted to be between \$80 million and \$120 million (Sullivan, 1994).

Causes of Lameness

Among the factors that cause lameness include infectious diseases, genetics, sex, weight and growth rate, age, the efficiency of feed conversion, nutrition, handling and movement. These factors will be discussed further below. The key factors here of non-infective and non-nutritional bone abnormalities its genetic selection and the management (Bradshaw et al., 2002).

Assessment of Lameness

Traditional methods to determine the gait score as an indicator for lameness include manual scoring of birds' movement and other behaviours in the farm. Nevertheless, it is difficult to score the behaviours of broiler chickens. Compared to traditional methods, fully-automated image analysis techniques have many potential for lameness assessment. Automatic video image technique to analyze the activity as an indicator of lameness in broilers is becoming popular (Aydin et al., 2013) because it is getting cheaper. It is also non-contact method which allows recording more frequent data during the life-span of broiler chickens. There is also no need for huge data storage when data are automatically evaluated in real-time (Aydin et al., 2013). The measurements can also be performed continuously and automatically throughout the life-span of birds with non-invasive and non-intrusive way. It is also do not involve the biosecurity risk of having people visiting different commercial farms to perform visual gait scoring for boiler chickens (Dawkins et al., 2009).

Manual Assessments (Gait Scoring System)

The first manual assessment technique was developed by Kestin et al. (1992) to evaluate the gait problem in birds by visually observing and giving some gait scores for each broiler chicken. In this method, a score is assigned ranging from 0 (no leg problems) to 5 (completely

paralyzed) according to the criteria as follows: 0 (healthy broiler); 1 (the broiler moves fast, but there is a slight walking deficiency); 2 (the broiler moves fast, but significant walking deficiency is observed); 3 (the broiler moves fast, but there is a significant deficiency); 4 (the broiler cannot moves fast and there is a serious difficulty); and 5 (the broiler cannot move anymore).

Bristol Scoring System

The University of Bristol's Gait Scoring Guide is widely used to assess walking ability. This scoring system works on the same principle as the Gait Scoring System. Here, too, each broiler again a score from 0 to 5 according to certain criteria. The score is awarded by experts (Kestin et al., 1992). Although this method is often used because it is so easy to apply, it is still very subjective. It depends on the expertise and experience of the observer. Other studies showed that the repeatability of the visual gait score is not entirely reliable. From other studies even more important are that only the movement scored with this method, and not the pressure exerted by the chick. It will therefore not give objective information on whether the animal is in pain or not (Corr et al., 1998).

Automatic Assessment Systems

Pedobarograph System

The light intensity will be in proportion to the applied pressure (Corr et al., 1998). The gaitanalysis was performed using a purpose-built pedobarograaf. When pressure is exerted on the surface, the emulsion side of the photographic paper pressed closer against the glass so that the light is distributed. This can be seen on the bottom of the glass. The glass plate and the career were both covered with polythene-backed protective sheeting (Benckhote, Whatman International Ltd) in order to ensure the birds. For a homogeneous surface under the glass is a mirror placed at an angle of 45 degrees. The divided light is reflected by the mirror and filmed with a closed-circuit camera (Panasonic WV-BP3101B0). The video was recorded on a S-VHS recorder (Panasonic AG-7355), and images warden transferred to a Powermac 8100/110 computer with a Scion LG-3 frame grabber card and analyzed using Scion Image (version 1.57) software (Scion Corporation, Maryland, USA). In this study, there were 12 frames per second. Each pixel is given a value between 1 and 254, depending on the brightness of that point. The system can then be calibrated to relate with applied pressure (Corr et al., 2003).

There were several gait parameters measured and compared between the different groups:

- Speed (m / sec)
- Step frequency (steps / min)
- Step width
- Step length
- Step angle

Video Recordings

In another study, the behaviour of broiler chickens related with lameness was investigated by (Weeks et al., 2000). Comparisons were performed between healthy broilers and lame birds

between 39 and 49 days old. Healthy birds spent 76% of their time as lying and 24% of their time as standing and/or moving. Lame broilers with gait score 3 spent 86% of their time as lying in. Lying events were also increased with the age of broilers (Weeks et al., 2000).

Latency to Lie Test

In broilers, another method for lameness assessment was described by (Weeks et al., 2002). The time duration that birds stayed standing in water was measured and the results were checked with traditional results. There was an important (P < 0.001) correlation among the gait scores and LTL of birds. More than 750 birds at the age between 32 and 45 days old were tested in a broiler house. Almost all of the healthy broilers were able to stand for at least 15 minutes and most of the lame <u>broilers</u> sit down in five minutes.

Force Plate Study of Avian Gate

Another method was developed by Corr et al. (2007) to define the ground reaction force of birds. The ground reaction force was tested while the broilers walked on the experiment setup. GRF patterns represented important changes during growth. It was concluded that the force plate is an appropriate study tool for recording the ground reaction force patterns of broilers.

Precision Livestock Farming Approaches to Detect the Lameness of Broilers

Automatic monitoring the activity in broiler chickens is one of the easiest ways to define lameness at broiler houses. A fully automated monitoring system was developed by Aydin et al. (2010) to measure the broilers activity at different gait scores. The activities were obtained by using an automatic video recording system. Then, the images of the birds with six different lameness level were automatically analyzed by the developed algorithm. The results showed that, there was an important correlation among the lameness obtained by expert and activity recorded by image monitoring tool (Aydin et al., 2010). It was also detected that there was an important lower activity of high gait score broilers (GS4&GS5). Therefore, it was concluded that, this technique can be used as indicator of high lameness level (GS4&GS5) in broiler houses. Another study was performed by (Aydin et al., 2013) to define a new technique to estimate the spatial use of broilers by using image analysis. An important relationship was observed for both experiments among the lameness and the movement recorded by the image monitoring tool. The results also showed that there was a strong relationship between the spatial use of broilers with a certain lameness level and activity. Therefore, it was also concluded that the spatial use of broilers can also be a kind of indicator for activity and criteria for lameness assessment (Aydin et al., 2013).

CONCLUSIONS

As explained in this study, leg weakness includes a wide range of abnormalities due to a multitude of etiological causes. It is definitely affect the growth and end-weight of broiler chickens consequently causing a huge economic loss to the farmer. As detailed above, the leg weakness of broiler chickens is influenced by many different factors, which needs to be taken into account when managing broilers. Leg weakness can be prevented by modifying the environment and diet. Also growth rates can be reduced by artificial lighting and restricted feeding. However, proper manage mental practices should be adopted.

REFERENCES

- Aydin, A., Cangar, O., Eren Ozcan, S., Bahr, C. and Berckmans, D. (2010). Application of A Fully Automatic Analysis Tool to Assess the Activity of Broiler Chickens with Different Gait Scores. Comput. Electron. Agr., 73:795-802.
- Aydin, A., Bahr, C., Pluk, A., Leroy, T. and Berckmans, D. (2013). Automatic Identification Of Activity And Spatial Use Of Broiler Chickens With Different Gait Scores. T. Asabe, 56:1123-1132.
- Bradshaw, R.H., Kırkden, R.D. and Broom, D.M. (2002). A review of the aetiology and pathology of leg weakness in broilers in relation to welfare. Avian Poult. Biol. Rev., 13:45-103.
- Cook, M.E. (2000). Skeletal deformities and their causes: Introduction. Poultry Sci., 79:982-984.
- Corr, S.A., Mccorquodale, C.C. and Gentle, M.J. (1998). Gait Analysis Of Poultry. Res. Vet. Sci., 65:233-238.
- Corr, S.A., Mccorquodale, C.C., Gentle, M.J. and Bennett, D. (2003). The effect of morphology on walking ability in the modern broiler: A gait analysis study. Animal Welfare, 12:159-171.
- Corr, S.A., Mccorquodale, C.C., Gentle, M.J. and Bennett, D. (2007). Evaluation Of Ground Reaction Forces Produced By Chickens Walking On A Force Plate. Am. J. Vet. Res., 64:76-82.
- Dawkins, M.S., Lee, H.-J., Waitt, C. D. and Roberts, S. J. (2009). Optical flow patterns in broiler chicken flocks as automated measures of behavior and gait. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci., 119:203-209.
- Kestin, S.C., Knowles, T.G., Tinch, A.E. and Gregory, N.G. (1992). Prevalence of leg weakness in broiler chickens and its relationship with genotype. Vet. Record, 131:190-194.
- Rousing, T., Bonde, M. and Sorensen, J.T. (2000). Indicators for the assessment of animal welfare in a dairy cattle herd with a cubicle housing system. In Improving Health and Welfare in Animal Production, 37-44. EAAP Publication No. 102. Rome, Italy: European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP).
- Scahaw (2000). The welfare of chickens kept for meat production (broilers). Report of the Scientific Committee on Animal Health and Animal Welfare. Brussels, Belgium, European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate- General.
- Sullivan, T.W. (1994). Skeletal problems in poultry: Estimated annual cost and descriptions. Poultry Sci., 73:879-882.
- Su, G., Sørensen, P. and Kestin, S.C. (2000). A note on the effects of perches and litter substrate on leg weakness in broiler chickens. Poultry Sci., 79:1259-1263.
- Thapa, B.R. (2004). Detection of avian leukosis virus subgroup j in chicken flocks from Malaysia and their molecular characterization, Avian Pathol., 33:359-63.
- Verma, S.D. (2006). Mycotoxins affect bone structure and leg weakness. World Poultry, 22:11.
- Weeks, C.A., Knowles, T.G., Gordon, R.G., Kerr, A.E., Peyton, S.T. and Tılbrook, N.T. (2002). New Method For Objectively Assessing Lameness In Broiler Chickens. Vet. Rec., 151:762-764.
- Webster, A.J.E. (1995). A cool eye towards eden. Oxford, Blackwell Science.

- Weeks, C.A. and Kestin, S.C. (1997). Effect of leg weakness on the behaviour of broilers. Proceedings Of The 5th Poultry Welfare Symposium, Wageningen. The Netherlands. 117.
- Weeks, C.A., Danburry, T.D., Davies, H.C., Hunt, P. and Kestin, S.C. (2000). The behaviour of broiler chickens and its modifications by lameness. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci., 67:111-125.

AN ARTIFICIAL NEURAL NETWORKS MODELL FOR PREDICTING BOD OF ISHËM RIVER

Frederik DARA*¹, Ariola DEVOLLI³, Arta KODRA³

 ¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Natural Sciences, University of Tirana, Albania,
 ² Department Chemistry, Faculty of Biotechnology and Food, Agriculture University of Tirana, Albania

³ National Environmental Agency, Tirana, Albania

* frederik.dara@fshn.edu.al

ABSTRACT

Water quality depends on the determination of the many parameters determined by chemical methods. These methods are often tedious and time consuming. Artificial Neural Networks (ANNs) are suitable models for many purposes. Recently, ANNs have been widely used in modeling, control, pattern recognition, signal processing, prediction purposes and so on. Many of the physical and chemical water quality variables (pH, turbidity, TDS, temperature, electrical conductivity, dissolved oxygen, chemical oxygen demand, hardness, chloride, sulphate, phosphate, calcium, magnesium, nitrate, nitrite and amonium) that affect biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) concentrations were collected at 7 sampling sites in the Ishëm River Basin during 2010–2017. In this study, we use a three layer feed-forward model with backpropagation multi-layer perception (MLP) to model the relationship between the water qualities parameters used to predict the BOD. The available data set was partitioned in three subsets: a training set, a validation set and a test set according to station. In order to reach an optimum amount of hidden layer nodes, nodes 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 10 were tested. Within this range, the ANN architecture having 10 inputs and 1 hidden layer with 5 nodes gives the best choice. The ANN was successfully trained and validated with 80% and 10% of the data sets respectively. Comparison of results shows that the ANN model gives reasonable estimates for the BOD prediction. Performance of the models was evaluated by average absolute relative error (AARE) and root mean square error (RMSE). The correlation coefficient of ANN models for prediction of BOD was 0.925. Sensitivity analysis was also carried out to identify the most significant input-output relationship. Hence, the ANNs were able to show remarkable prediction performance to predicting the BOD in Ishëm River.

Keywords: Artificial Neural Network model, Multi-layer perceptron, Prediction, Ishëm River, BOD, Water quality parameters.

INTRODUCTION

Water quality is one of the main characteristics of a river, even when its purpose is other than human water supply. Water quality in the surface waters has started to degenerate as a result of wastewater being let go to the receiving ground and surface water without control.

Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) is an important parameter for usage conditions of surface waters. The assessment of the water quality is an important part of integrated water

resource management. Among different parameters that are being monitored, BOD in rivers is the only water quality indicator that every EU member state is obliged to monitor on a regular basis. The water quality indicators monitored at the national level are temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), BOD, chemical oxygen demand (COD), ammonium (NH₄), nitrate (NO₃), nitrite (NO₂) and phosphorus (P), in rivers. BOD is a measure of organic pollution in an aquatic system and it is inversely related to the DO level in water, i.e. high BOD values indicate a low level of DO or even anoxic conditions in water (Singh et al. 2009). Also, it represents the approximate amount of biodegradable organic matter in the water and provides a strong indication of the extent of water pollution (Marcotullio 2007). Therefore, it is established as the most significant water quality parameter needed to identify and implement strategies for the protection of water resources (Basant et al. 2010). In general, the BOD levels depend on the organic waste loads that come from the household wastewater, industries, and silage effluent and manure from agriculture (European Environment Agency EEA 2015).

River water pollution caused by various human activities represents severe stress on human well-being and hinders economic development. It also adversely affects ecosystems, depleting aquatic life in watercourses that used to be abundant in species and populations.

Some water quality parameters (pH, temperature, DO, etc.) can be accurately measured in the field. Performing the test for BOD level is rather time-consuming and requires 5 days in the laboratory to complete the test. The laboratory tests do not take into consideration oxygen consumption by living organisms, but only oxygen required for oxidation of an organic waste load in a given volume of water, thus results can be inaccurate (Verma et al., 2013).

Several water quality traditional models such as mechanistic, statistical and deterministic approaches have been directed toward developing a reliable model that could predict quickly and at low cost water quality parameters such as BOD. Since the most of input data which are needed by most of these models are often difficult to obtain, make these models very expensive and time consuming.

Recent researches have been applied intelligence techniques for water quality modelling. Among these techniques ANN is the suitable approach. ANNs are able to extract a relationship model inputs and outputs to provide quite better accurate predictions with a minimum data requirement by "learning" from available data presented to them. Thus, ANNs have become a powerful tool in predicting different parameters in many difficult problems.

Based on Devolli et al. (2012) Ishëm River has higher levels of pollution compared to other Albanian rivers, due to the great impact of urban and industrial discharges. The content of BOD, COD and ammonium in all sites exceed the maximum permitted levels.

This study aims to analyze and discuss the performances of ANN in prediction of BOD in the Ishëm River.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Description of the study area

The Ishëm (or Ishmi) is a river in western Albania, which brings water to the area north of the Albanian capital, Tirana. It forms part of a watercourse (Tiranë-Gjole-Ishëm), but only the lower third of the watercourse is known as the Ishëm, the Ishëm proper is formed at the confluence of the rivers Gjole and Zezë, a few km northwest of Fushë-Krujë. It flows into the Adriatic Sea near the town Ishëm, the length of the watercourse is recorded in different sources as between 74 and 79 km. (Çullaj et al., 2005; Pano, 2008; Kolaneci, 2000)

Latitude: 41° 34' 23.99" N

Longitude: 19° 33' 16.19" E

The Ishëm is formed from several rivers which arise to the northeast of Tirana in the Skanderbegg Mountains beyond the Krujë range, the most important of these are:

The Tiranë (Lumi i Tiranës), which has its source to the northeast of Mount Dajt, is the main tributary of the Ishëm (Pano N, 2008). It crosses the mountain range to the north of Mount Dajt, through a narrow canon called Shkalla Tujanit, it then flows west all the way across the Plain of Tirana. The city of Tirana stretches along the southern edge of its broad flood plain, at the western edge of the plain, the river meets its most important tributary, the Lanë, which rises on the western slopes of Mount Dajt and flows through the city centre of Tirana to the south of the Tiranë river in a westerly direction until it meets it. After this, the river continues in a northerly direction.

The Tërkuza meets the Tiranë a little further north. It also has its source to the east of the mountain chain and crosses it through a canyon, called Shkalle e Bovillës, which has been dammed in order to create the Bovilla Reservoir, which has a surface area of around 8,000,000 m³ and has provided drinking water to the city of Tirana since December 1998. The Tërkuza crosses the Tirana Plain in a northwesterly direction, running past Tirana Airport, before it meets the Tirana River. Once these two rivers join, the river is referred to as the Gjole.

The Zezë (Black river) arises east of Krujë. It also runs through a canyon, called Shkalla e Kryemadhës, and then crosses the plain in a northwesternly direction, passing through Fushë-Krujë, it meet the Gjole a few kilometers after the Tërkuza.

From the point where the Zezë joins the Gjole, the river is known as the Ishëm, it flows in a westerly direction until it reaches the edge of the Tirana Plain, then turns to the northwest and heads for the Adriatic. In this part of its journey it passes through a town with the same name. Shortly before the mouth of the river, it is joined by the Droja River, a stream which arises in the mountains northeast of Krujë, the Ishëm discharges into the Adriatic to the southwest of Laç in the Rodon Bay, which is bounded on the western edge by the Cape of Rodon and forms part of the Drin Gulf.



Figure 1. Ishëm River basin

The drainage basin of the Ishëm covers a total area of 673 km². The average discharge at the mouth of the river is 20.9 m³/s. The highest annual discharge is over six times the annual minimum (Pano, 2008).

The water quality dataset

Important pollution sources in Ishëm basin are municipal, industrial wastewater and agricultural run-off. The Ishëm River is also affected by non-point sources of pollution including fertilizers from farm effluents, domestic wastewater discharges and some industries' effluents. Ishëm stream drainage basin has intensive industry activity. The Lana River receives wastewater discharges from Tirana City. And other towns in the basin have no sewage treatment system. Solid wastes of Tirana city is untidy stored in the Lana River Basin. Furthermore, there are intensively daily residence plants around Stream. The Ishëm basin has density agricultural activity. The monitoring network of the Ishëm river water quality on its flow through the observed area hosts 7 monitoring stations.

Water quality at the 7 stations is monitored regularly, monthly or fortnightly, and the dataset for modeling was composed of 10 parameters monitored over a period of 7 years, from 2010 to 2017. The river water flow was not considered since the monitoring data was available at too few stations. The full dataset prepared for the prediction of BOD level in the Ishëm River was comprised of more than 1,100 individual observations.

Artificial neural networks

ANNs are considered as powerful forecasting tools, in comparison to traditional modeling techniques (Awchi, 2014). An ANN is inspired by biological neural system. It is a highly interconnected network composed by many simple processing units called neurons. An ANN normally consists of three layers, an input, a hidden and an output layer. Each layer is composed by neurons which are connected only with neurons of next layer. The strength of this connection is called weight. The determination of these weights is an important step in developing of the ANN model. ANN is able to "learn" from "experience" by looking into previous behavioral relationships. This is carried out by changing the weights. The process of determining unknown weights is called training. A supervised training algorithm requires an external teacher to guide the training process. The primary goal in supervised training is to minimize the error at the output layer by searching for a set of weights that minimize the ANN error between outputs and targets. A supervised training mechanism called back-propagation training algorithm (BP) is normally adopted in most of the applications.



Figure 2. An ANN composed by three layers

We have developed the model by adopting following steps. Firstly, database collection; analysis and preprocessing of the data; training of the neural network. Then we had choice the

architecture, training functions, training algorithms and parameters of the network; testing of the trained network; and using the trained neural network for simulation and prediction.

Training Algorithm

The back-propagation training algorithm is a simple gradient descend technique, and it is widely used in study. But it has some shortcomings such as slow velocity of convergence and local minimum. The Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm (L-M) is a mixture of gradient descend and Gauss-Newton iteration, it is also being used widely recently due to its superior efficiency and high convergence speed (Antcil et al., 2004). It can overcome the weakness caused by BP (Nouir et al., 2007).

Selection of input parameters for the ANN

The selection of input parameters for ANN is a very important aspect for the ANN modeling.

The sensitivity analysis was applied to determine the relative importance of the parameters. The sensitivity analysis is used to determine the effect of changes and to determine the relative importance or effectiveness of a variable on the output. The input variables that do not have a significant effect on the performance of an ANN can be excluded from the input variables, resulting in a more compact network.

The statistical correlations of BOD with their respective inputted parameters were calculated using SPSS Statistics 22 for analyzing and examining the relation among the parameters so as to bring out the relative susceptibility of each parameter.

The correlation coefficients for BOD are chemical oxygen demand (0.763), ammonium (0.725), phosphorus (0.659), pH (0.515), sample point (0.463) at 0.01 level of significant and dissolved oxygen (-0.423), nitrate (0.382), nitrite (0.298) and time (0.257) at 0.05 level of significant had highest correlation while calcium (0.300), and hardness (0.097) had least correlation with biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) in that order.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Before the training of the network both input and output variables were normalized within the range 0.1–0.9. The available data set was partitioned in three subsets: a training set, a validation set and a test set according to station.

In order to reach an optimum amount of hidden layer nodes, 2 - 10 nodes are tested. Within this range, an ANN model, having 10 inputs and 1 hidden layer with 5 nodes and 1000 iteration number, gives the best choice.

The ANN was successfully trained and validated with 80% and 10% of the data set respectively. It is tested with 10% of the data set.

In order to test the robustness of the model, the average absolute relative error (AARE) was used. The AARE gives the performance index in terms of predicting BOD. It also shows the distribution of the prediction errors

$$AARE = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |RE|$$

in which

$$RE = \frac{d_i - o_i}{d_i} \times 100\%$$

where *RE* is the relative error in forecast expressed as percentage, d_i is the observed BOD for the *i*-th pattern, and o_p is output produced by ANN (the computed BOD) for the *i*-th pattern

and *N* is the total number of the testing patterns. It is clear the smaller the value of AARE, the better the performance is. The performance control of the ANN outputs was evaluated by estimating the determination coefficient (R^2) and RMSE.

Based on the statistical findings, the ANN model with ten inputs (COD, NH₄, DO, P-total, NO₃, NO₂, DO, Sp, time) gives the best estimation.

Several MLP networks were generated and tested for finding the best architecture with various hidden nodes and training algorithms. This is conducted by Alyuda NeuroIntelligence Software.

The Levenberg-Marquardt (L-M) training algorithm was used to adjust the learning procedure. We used momentum and weight decay to improve the network. The results of different MLP and their errors for BOD are shown in Table 1. Average absolute percentage error (AAPE) for each model is calculated. In the trials, the number of neurons in the hidden layer varied between 2 and 10 and number of iterations is set at 3000. As can be seen from Table 1, the model 4 outperforms the others.

| MLP model number | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 |
|-----------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Number of neurons | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 |
| in first hidden layer | | | | | | | | | |
| Relative error | 0.052 | 0.036 | 0.031 | 0.026 | 0.048 | 0.064 | 0.047 | 0.054 | 0.052 |
| (AAPE) | | | | | | | | | |

Table 1. Different MLP results for BOD

The architecture of the optimal ANN model for the BOD model is composed of one input layer with ten input variables, one hidden layer with five nodes and one output layer with one output variable. The correlation coefficient (r), RMSE and AARE values computed for the training, validation and test data sets are presented in Table 2.

The scatter plots of actual versus predicted values of obtained using ANN model are shown in Figure 3. The figure reveals that an acceptable agreement between the simulations and observations can be achieved. The correlation coefficient values between the ANN models predicted values and observed data for BOD was 0.925.

| ANN-structure | Data set | RMSE | AAPE | R |
|---------------|------------|------|------|-------|
| 10-5-1 | Training | 0.33 | 0.26 | 0.952 |
| | Validation | 0.42 | 0.33 | 0.945 |
| | Test | 0.48 | 0.37 | 0.925 |

 Table 2. Performance parameters of the ANN models



Figure 3. Scatter plots of actual versus predicted values.

CONCLUSIONS

This paper recommends the use of ANN-based water quality parameters prediction model for rivers. In this paper, artificial neural network models were developed for prediction of BOD in the Ishëm River, Albania.

The networks were designed by putting weights between neurons, by using the hyperbolictangent function of training. The results for the training and the test data sets were satisfactory. Hence, with the proposed model applications it is possible to manage water quality parameters such BOD in a more cost-effective and easier way.

Comparison of results shows that the ANN model gives reasonable estimates for the BOD prediction. Performance of the models was evaluated by average absolute percentage error (AAPE) and root mean square error (RMSE). The correlation coefficient of ANN models for prediction of BOD was 0.925. Sensitivity analysis was also carried out to identify the most significant input-output relationship. Hence, the ANNs were able to show remarkable prediction performance to predicting the BOD in Ishëm River.

REFERENCES

- Antcil, F. and Lauzon, N. (2004). Generalisation for neural networks through data sampling and training procedures, with applications to stream of predictions. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci., 8 (5): 940-958.
- Awchi, T. (2014). River discharges forecasting in northern Iraq using different ANN techniques. Water Resour. Manag., 28: 801–814.
- Basant, N., Gupta, S., Malik, A., Kunwar P. and Singh, K. (2010). Linear and nonlinear modeling for simultaneous prediction of dissolved oxygen and biochemical oxygen demand of the surface water—a case study. Chemom. Intell. Lab., 104: 172–180.
- Çullaj, A., Hasko, A., Miho, A., Schanz, F., Brandl, H. and Bachofen, R. (2005). The quality of Albanian natural waters and the human impact. in: Environment International, 31.

- Devolli A., Kodra A., Stafasani M., Kodra M. and Shkurti A., (2012). Evaluation of chemical and microbiological indicators of urban discharged water of Tirana city. BALWOIS 2012 Ohrid, Republic of Macedonia 28 May, 2 June.
- European Environment Agency (EEA) (2012a) Oxygen consuming substance in rivers (CSI 019), <u>http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-andmaps/indicators/oxygen-consuming-substances-in-rivers-5</u>. Accessed 7 Feb 2014.
- Kolaneci, M. (2000). Flood Risk in Albania, Worldbank.
- Marcotullio, P.J. (2007). Urban water-related environmental transitions in Southeast Asia. Sustain. Sci., 2:27–54.
- Nouir, Z., Sayrac, B. and Fourestie, B. (2007). Comparison of neural network learning algorithms for prediction enhancement of a planning tool," The 13th European Wireless Conference, Paris, France.
- Pano, N. (2008). (in German), Pasuritë ujore të Shqipërisë, Tirana: Akademia e Shkencave e Shqipërisë, ISBN 978-99956-10-23-4
- Verma, A.K. and Singh, T.N. (2013). Prediction of water quality from simple field parameters. Environ. Earth Sci., 69: 821–829.

FOREST GAPS: A REVIEW WITH SPECIAL ATTENTION TO TEMPERATE BEECH FORESTS IN HYRCANIAN REGION

Kambiz ABRARI VAJARI*¹

Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Lorestan University, Iran

* kambiz.abrari2003@yahoo.com,abrari.k@lu.ac.ir

ABSTRACT

Forest gaps formed by death of individual tree or a few trees can influence on forest structure. In Hyrcanian regions, the natural events and silvicultural systems affect forest dynamics via creating canopy gaps. The main objective of this review was to study the effect of gap size on the natural regeneration and herb-layer diversity within oriental beech (Fagus orientalis Lipsky) stands in Hyrcanian regions, northern Iran. The scientific researches in Hyrcanian beech forests showed that the most regeneration of trees was observed in harvest-created and natural gaps of 50-550 m^2 in size and regeneration rate was reduced with increasing gap area. Many factors including light intensity, forest structure, harvesting operation, unsuitable weather condition and seeding cycle can contribute to the quantity of beech trees regeneration within gaps. Also age, crown condition, height of trees in the edge of gaps and age of gaps associated with ecological factors influence on presence, frequency and quality of beech seedlings within beech stand. The studies on plant species diversity in canopy gaps within oriental beech stands indicated that gap size affected on herb-layer diversity values and the gap size of 200-500 m² is a suitable gap size for maintaining herb-layer plant diversity and richness values. Generally, it can state to attain the successful regeneration and to conserve herb-layer diversity in beech stands in close-to- nature silviculture, it is essential to consider the gap size of 50-550 m² through planning silvicultural operations in Hyrcanian beech forests.

Keywords: Beech, Canopy gap, Plant diversity, Regeneration, Silviculture

INTRODUCTION

Forest gap created by death of individual tree or more trees is the principal disturbance in a lot of forest ecosystem in world. (Muscolo et al., 2014). In general, disturbances such as diseases (Sommerfeld et al., 2000; Miller et al., 2007; Vepakamma et al., 2008), storm (Collins and Battaglia, 2002; Muller and Wagner, 2003; Kukkonen et al., 2008), fire (Banal et al., 2007; Zou et al., 2007) and harvesting (Miller et al., 2007; Banal et al., 2007; Toledo-Aceves et al., 2009) causes injuries to trees or even removes them which may finally lead to the creation of a forest gap. The structure and function of forests can be formed by disturbances that produce forest gaps (Huai et al., 2017). Forest dynamics and succession are affected by canopy gap, also microclimate conditions altered within and around gap when the gap is formed (Zhu et al., 2007), and the extend of changes is established via gap area (d'Oliveira and Braz, 2006). The soil and air temperatures, solar radiation, and soil moisture are higher in gaps than the neighboring closed forest (Schliemann and Bockheim 2014). Forest canopy gaps and adjacent closed stands often are differed in regarding to microclimate conditions (Forrester et al., 2012). Plant species composition may be affected by age and size of gaps, also environmental features

including light, soil elements (Qin et al., 2011). The changes in structure, plant species diversity, and regeneration are shaped by gap size and its temporal distribution (Sapkota et al., 2009). The effect of forest gap on growth is related to light and soil nutrients changes, as well as plant capability to respond to these changes (Stan and Daniels, 2014). Forest gap is the main process that determine regeneration improvement in temperate forests and there are a lot of studies about influences of gaps on tree growth (Van Couwenberghe et al., 2010). The aim of this review is to study new and previously published data to provide a clear picture of the role of forest gaps in broad-leaf deciduous forests of Hyrcanian region, northern Iran. The natural phenomena and silvictultural methods were created canopy gaps within forest stands, especially in beech stands. Harvesting methods in forest leads to gap creation with varying sizes (d'Oliveira and Ribas, 2011). The oriental beech (Fagus orientalis Lipsky) stands are the most valuable and commercial tree species which were presented in Hyrcanian forests, northern Iran and many studies were conducted about role of canopy gaps within beech stands. In the temperate deciduous forests of Hyrcanian region, different size and shape of gaps were created by various silvicultural methods such as selection method in beech stands. As forest management aims to control the development of forest stands based on management objectives, using different silvicultural methods, to study the role of canopy gaps may help achieve these goals and the collected information on gap dynamics could be valuable for forest management.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Forest gaps have been studied in the temperate deciduous forests for the past years. This review considers much of this research with a view to assessing the importance of gap disturbance in oriental beech (*Fagus orientalis* Lipsky) forests in Hyrcanian region, northern Iran. This review is constructed on the results of a literature assessment which focused on papers published in the period 2006-2015 using keywords including gap size, regeneration, biodiversity and beech trees. The majority of the articles involved in this review were published in Iranian journals written in Persian and a few in foreign journals. I categorized the selected papers according to gap size (natural and artificial gaps) in beech stands. The artificial gaps were created by single-tree selection and shelterwood systems in oriental beech stands. Beech trees were recognized as gap makers in all stands.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The evolution of any forest is dependent on the establishment of regeneration, in fact, the current status of regeneration of any forest indicates its position in the future (Delfan Abazari et al., 2004). Commercial tree regeneration for sustainable yield is considered an important factor in forest management (Schultze, 2008). One of the major challenges of silviculture and ecology is the understanding of development of plant community structure in forest after disturbance and new seedling growth is the first important incidence after disturbance had occurred (Coates, 2002). Gap size and its shape are the most important factors for tree species regeneration within forest. Based on conducted scientific researches in Hyrcanian beech forests, the most regeneration for this tree was observed in harvest-created and natural gaps of 50-550 m^2 in size and regeneration was reduced in large gap area (Amanzadeh et al., 2006; Shabani et al., 2011; Zolfaghari et al., 2011; Abrari Vajari et al., 2012; Amolikondori et al., 2012; Sefidi et al., 2015; Nasiri et al., 2015). The decreased beech seedlings within large gaps can be contributed to shade tolerant nature of oriental beech, also less competition with other tree species. In the larger gaps within oriental beech forest, we can observe that plants especially, light-adapted herb-layer species grow easily than beech seedlings. Mirdar Harijani et al. (2016) asserted that with increasing gap sizes associated with light and temperature

tensions, beech seedlings decreased. Of course, regeneration rate of beech is correlated to structure (Hahn and Madsen, 2004), light and soil properties (Madsen et al., 2004) in forest gaps. For example, Shabani et al. (2011) declared that there was positive significant correlation between oriental beech seedling density and N%, P, pH and moisture within gaps in beech forest. Several factors such as blackberry, ferns, grazing, unsuitable weather condition, seeding cycle (Amanzade et al., 2006) and harvesting operations can contribute to regeneration quantity of beech trees. Gap size influences the intensity of light and therefore the temperature of air and soil, soil moisture and biological properties of soil which impact on regeneration of trees (Muscolo et al., 2017). In some cases, gap size had no impact on regeneration density of beech seedlings and other tree species (Amolikondori et al., 2012). Age, crown condition, height of trees in the edge of gaps, also age of gaps associated with ecological factors influence on presence, frequency and quality of beech seedlings within forest. It is quite evident that some factors such as light, moisture and nutrients of soil differ from around to inside of forest gaps which effect on plant species with diverse regeneration necessities (Muscolo et al., 2017). In general, it can state to achieve the successful regeneration in beech stand in close-to- nature silviculture it is necessary to consider the gap size of 50-550 m² through planning silvicultural operations in hyrcanian beech forests. Since understory plant species account for most plant diversity in temperate forests, it is important for forest managers to determine the factors affecting distribution of these plants (Gracia et al., 2007). The studies on plant species diversity in canopy gaps within oriental beech stands revealed that gap size influenced on herb-layer diversity values (Amanzadeh et al., 2015; Haghverdi et al., 2011; Abrari Vajari et al., 2012; Shabani et al., 2011; Hamrang et al., 2014; Pourbabaei et al., 2013). These researchers suggested the gap size of 200-500 m^2 which is a suitable gap size for maintaining herb-layer plant diversity and richness values. Physical and biological environmental changes occur in the forest after canopy gaps develop (Zhao et al., 2006) and the ground-layer plant species are intensely vulnerable to environmental conditions (Kern et al., 2006). Naaf et al. (2007) stated that the increase in species richness beneath gaps is mainly due to larger space and higher light availability. Creation of gap changes the environmental conditions of understory in a gradient of resources, the irregularity of light in gaps of temperate forest along with soil moisture and nutrient accessibility explain the floristic pattern (Duguid et al., 2013). The variations of light, air and soil temperatures, and soil features in gaps with different sizes might be relative to the impacts of the microsite, which influences the diversity values of plant species. These studies demonstrated significant impacts of gap size (natural and artificial gaps) on plant species diversity and regeneration in oriental beech stands. Higher herb-layer richness and diversity values in large gaps indicate that gap creation could be used as a management approach to increase herbaceous plant richness and structural heterogeneity in Hyrcanian temperate beech forests.

CONCLUSIONS

The findings suggest that canopy gap conditions, especially gap size in beech-dominated deciduous stands may be sufficient to promote the regeneration of beech trees and herbaceous plant diversity values. The applied single-tree selection and shelterwood silvicultural systems in oriental beech stand created gap size at maximum 500 m² via felling these trees in overstory strata. The results afford practical evidence to plan a silvicultural system valuable to manage the natural regeneration of beech trees in Hyrcanian forest diminishing the environmental effects. Silvicultural systems in beech stands have the ability to create different gap size, which can be useful for plant diversity and regeneration. This information has significant implications for planning forest management.

REFERENCES

- Abrari Vajari, K., Jalilvand, H., Pourmajidian, M.R., Espahbodi, K. (2012). Investigating the impact of gaps created by single-tree selection system on beech tree ringwidth (*Fagus orientalis* Lipsky) (Case study: Alandan forest-Sari). Ir. J. For., 4(4): 345-352.
- Abrari Vajari, K., Jalilvand, H., Pourmajidian, M.R., Espahbodi, K., Moshki, A. (2012). Effect of canopy gap size and ecological factors on species diversity and beech seedlings in managed beech stands in Hyrcanian forests. J. For. Res., 23(2): 217-222.
- Amanzadeh, B., Amani, M., Amin-Amlashi, M., Salehi, M. (2006). Investigation on regeneration of natural gaps in the Asalem forests. Pajouhesh & Sazandegi, 71: 19-25.
- Amanzadeh, B., Pourmajidian, M.R., Sagebtalebi, Kh., Hodjati, S.M. (2015). Effect of different natural gaps on diversity and composition of plants in mixed stands of Asalem. For. Wood Prod., 68(2): 287-301.
- Amoli Kondori, A.R., Marvi Mohajer, M.R., Zobeiri, M., Etemad, V. (2012). Natural regeneration of tree species in relation to gaps characteristics in natural beech stand (*Fagus orientalis* Lipsky), north of Iran. Iran. J. Forest Poplar Res., 20(1): 151-164.
- Banal, S., Marceau, D.J., Bouchard, A. (2007). Sapling responses to variation in gap densities and spatial configurations modeled using SORTIE. Ecol. Model., 206(1-2): 41-53.
- Coates, K.D. (2002). Tree recruitment in gaps of various size, clearcuts and undisturbed mixed forest of interior British Columbia, Canada. Forest Ecol. Manag., 155(1-3): 387-398.
- Collins, B.S., Battaglia, L.L. (2002). Microenvironmental heterogeneity and *Quercus michauxii* regeneration in experimental gaps. Forest Ecol. Manag., 155(1-3): 279-290.
- d'Oliveira, M.V.N., Ribas, L.A. (2011). Forest regeneration in artificial gaps twelve years after canopy opening in Acre State Western Amazon. Forest Ecol. Manag. 261(11): 1722-1731.
- Delfan Abazari, B., Saghebtalebi, K.H., Namiranian, M. (2004). Investigation of regeneration gap size and quantities condition of seedlings in control compartment of Klardasht forest (Langa forest planning). Iran. J. Forest Poplar Res., 12(2): 251-266.
- Duguid, M.C., Frey, B.R., Ellum, D.S., Kelty, M., Ashton, M.S. (2013). The influence of ground disturbance and gap position on understory plant diversity in upland forests of southern New England. Forest Ecol. Manag., 303: 148-159.
- Forrester, J.A., Mladenoff, D.J., Gower, S.T., Stoffel, J.L. (2012). Interactions of temperature and moisture with respiration from coarse woody debris in experimental forest canopy gaps. Forest Ecol. Manag., 265: 124-132.
- Gracia, M., Montane, F., Pique, J., Retana, J. (2007). Overstory structure and topographic gradients determining diversity and abundance of understory shrub species in temperate forests in central Pyrenees (NE Spain). Forest Ecol. Manag., 242(2-3): 391–397.
- Haghverdi, K., Kiadaliri, H., Saghentalebi, Kh., Hosseini, S.M. (2011). Effect of light on herblater cover in gaps created by deadwood of beech. J. Sci. Technol. Nat. Res., 7(1): 16-26.
- Hahn, K., Madsen, P. (2004). Gap regeneration in a semi-natural beech fagus sylvatica forest in Denmark. 7th international Beech symposium IUFRO.pp.20.

- Hamrang, N., Pourbabaei, H., Nikooy, M. (2014). The influence of canopy gaps size derived from selective cuttingon diversity of herbaceous species in mountainous forests of Northern Iran (A Case Study: Beech Stands of Lumiere, Asalem). Iran. For. Ecol., 2(3): 33-48.
- Kern, C.C., Palik, B.J., Strong, T.F. (2006). Ground-layer plant community responses to evenaged and uneven-aged silvicultural treatments in Wisconsin northern hardwood forests. Forest Ecol. Manag., 230(1-3): 162-170.
- Kukkenon, M., Rita, H., Hohenwald, S., Nygren, A. (2008). Treefall gaps of certiofied, conventionally managed and natural forests as regeneration sites for Neotropical timber trees in northern Honduras. Forest Ecol. Manag., 255(7): 2163-2176.
- Madesen, P., Hahn, K., Larsen, J.B., Lindhold, S. (2004). Gap regeneration in a close-to-nature managed beech forest in Denmark. 7th international Beech symposium IUFRO.pp.25.
- Miller, S.D., Goulden, M.L., Rocha, H.R. (2007). The effect of canopy gaps of subcanopy ventilation and scalar fluxes in a tropical forest. Agric. Forest Meteorol., 142(1): 25-34.
- Mirdar Harijani, M., Pourmajidian, M.R., Jalilvand, H., Zahedi Amiri, G. (2016). Effect of Crown Gap Size on Forest Natural Regeneration Establishment and Survival (Case Study: Parcel No 18, Forestry Plan Jamand Series). J. Environ. Sci. Technol., 18(3): 193-202.
- Muller, K.H., Wagner, S. (2003). Fine root dyanamics in gaps of Norway spruce in the German Mountains. Forestry, 76(2): 149-158.
- Muscolo, A., Settineri, G., Bagnato, S., Mercurio, R., Sidari, M. (2017) Use of canopy gap openings to restore coniferous stands in Mediterranean environment. iForest, 10: 322-327.
- Naaf, T., Wulf, M. (2007). Effect of gap size, light and herbivory on the herb layer vegetation in European beech forest gaps. Forest Ecol. Manag., 244(1-3): 141-149.
- Nasiri, N., Marvie Mohadjer, M.R., Etemad, V., Sefidi, K. (2015). Natural regeneration of oriental beech (*Fagus orientalis* Lipsky) within canopy gapsand under canopy cover, (Case study: Gorazbon, Kheyroud Forest, Nowshahr). Iran. J. Forest Poplar Res., 23(1): 13-24.
- Pourbabaei, H., Haddadi-Moghaddam, H.R., Begyom-Faghir, M., Abedi, T. (2013). The influence of gap size on plant species diversity and composition in beech (Fagus orientalis) forests, Ramsar, Mazandaran Province, North of Iran. Biodiversitas, 14(2): 89-94.
- Qin, X., Li, G., Wang, D., Liu, R., Yang, G., Feng, Y., Ren, G. (2011). Determinism versus chance in canopy gap herbaceous species assemblages in temperate *Abies–Betula* forests. Forest Ecol. Manag., 262(6): 1138-1145.
- Sapkota, I.P., Tigabu, M., Odén, P.C. (2009). Species diversity and regeneration of old-growth seasonally dry Shorea robusta forests following gap formation. J. Forest. Res., 20(1): 7-14.
- Schliemann, S.A., Bockheim, J.G. (2014). Influence of gap size on carbon and nitrogen biogeochemical cycling in Northern hardwood forests of the Upper Peninsula, Michigan. Plant Soil, 377(1-2): 323-335.

- Schultze, M. (2008). Technical and financial analysis of enrichment planting in logging gaps as a potential component of forest management in the eastern Amazon. Forest Ecol. Manag., 255(3-4): 866-879.
- Sefid, K., Marvie Mohadjer, M.R., Etamad, V., Mozandel, R. (1993). Effect of canopy gap features on regeneration of beech trees in mixed beech forests. J. Iran. Nat. Ecosyst., 5(2): 25-39.
- Shabani, S., Akbarinia, M., Jalali, Gh., Aliarab, A. (2011). Impact of canopy gaps size on woody species biodiversity in mountainous forests of northern Iran (Case study: beech stands of Lalis, Chalous). Iran. J. Forest Poplar Res., 19(1): 73-82.
- Sommerfeld, R.A., Lunquist, J.E., Smitj, J. (2000). Characterizing the canopy gap structure of a disturbed forest using the Fourier transform. Forest Ecol. Manag., 128(1-2): 101-108.
- Stan, A.B., Daniels, L.D. (2014). Growth releases across a natural canopy gap-forest gradient in old-growth forests. Forest Ecol. Manag., 313: 98-103.
- Toledo-Aceves, T., Purata-Velarde, S., Peters, C.M. (2009). Regeneration of commercial tree species in a logged forest in the Selva Maya, Mexico. Forest Ecol. Manag., 258(11): 2481-2489.
- Van Couwenberghe, R., Collet, C., Lacombe, E., Pierrat, J.C., Gégout, J.C. (2010). Gap partitioning among temperate tree species across a regional soil gradient in windstormdisturbed forests. Forest Ecol. Manag., 260(1): 146-154.
- Vepakomma, U., St-Ogne, B., Kneeshaw, D. (2008). Spatially explicit characterization of boreal forest gap dynamics using multi-temporal Lidar data. Remotes Sensing & Environment 112(5): 2326-340.
- Yang, H., Liu, S., Cao, K., Wang, J., Li, Y., Xu, H. (2017). Characteristics of typhoon disturbed gaps in an old-growth tropical montane rainforest in Hainan Island, China. J. Forest. Res., DOI: 10.1007/s11676-017-0402-y.
- Zhao, X., Zhang, C., Zheng, J. (2006). Correlations between canopy gaps and species diversity in broad-leaved and Korean pine mixed forests. Front. Forest China, 1(4): 372-378.
- Zhu, J., Tan, H., Li, F., Chen, M., Zhang, J. (2007) .Microclimate regimes following gap formation in a montane secondary forest of eastern Liaoning Province, China. J. Forest. Res., 18(3): 167-173.
- Zolfaghari, E., Marvi Mohajer, M.R., Zahedi Amiri, Gh., Namiranian, M. (2011). Investigation of forest crown gap effects on rehabilitation and diversity of natural regeneration settlement (Case Study, Chelir district from Kheiroud forest, Nooshahr). Res. J. Forest Sci. Engineering 1(2): 24-28.
- Zou, C., Zhang, C., Ma, Y., Xu, W. (2006). An environmental gradient change of *picea mongolica* seedling from center of a forest canopy gap in forest- steep ecotone in Inner Magnolia automonous region of China. J. Forest. Res., 17(3): 221-225.

TEST OF CONTAMINATION OF A LICHENIC SPECIES "XANTHORIA PARIETINA" AND A MUSCICOLE SPECIES "HYLOCOMUIM SPLENDENS" BY LEAD/EFFECTS ON SOME PHYSIOLOGICAL PARAMETERS

KOUADRIA Nawel^{*1}, BELHOUCINE Fatma¹, CHAGRA Ali², BOURADJA Nadia¹, BELHABIB Lahouaria¹, BERREBBAH-ALIOUA Amel¹

¹Department of the living and the environment, Faculty of natural and life sciences. Université des Sciences et de la Technologie d'Oran Mohamed Boudiaf, USTO-MB, BP 1505, El M'naouer, 31000 Oran Algérie.

²Department of biology, Faculty of sciences, University of Badji Mokhtar, Annaba Algérie

* nawel.kouadria@yahoo.com

Abstract

Air pollution, especially that caused by lead has constantly evolved over time, due to the considerable increase in the number of vehicles on the market. Lead, which is one of the first used metals by mankind, represents a major risk to human health but also to the ecosystem. Living beings are a reflection of the environment in which they evolve and their observations at various levels of the biological organization can provide guidance on the quality and characteristics of this environment. The use of lichens and mosses can provide very precise indications and show as early as possible the natural or the induced changes. That's why, our work is essentially based on the characterization of the accumulating power as well as the impact of the different concentrations of lead on two species, a lichenic species "Xanthoria parietina" and muscicole species "hylocomium splendens" collected in the region of Bir El Djir "Oran". In order to determine the ability of these plants to accumulate lead and its impact on some physiological parameters (ph, chlorophyll and proline), a contamination in vitro by different concentrations of Pb (NO3) was carried out during a period of 45 days. The obtained results show the presence of lead in the thalli of both species, at levels increasing in parallel with the concentrations to which they were exposed. As well as a disturbance of the cellular metabolism which is interpreted by an increase in ph. Also we have noticed variations of measured physiological parameters; Chlorophyll and proline content that can result from stress, degradation of the fresh material, and disturbance of the photosynthetic process. It is obvious to mention that the two studied species are proven good bio accumulators of lead which makes them excellent bio-indicators for the estimation of pollution especially by metals.

Keywords: Lichens, Mosses, Lead, Bioaccumulation, Bio-Indication, Physiological Parameters.

INTRODUCTION

Air pollution and the transfer of harmful quantities of natural or synthetic materials in the atmosphere, the direct or indirect consequence of human activity, is one of the important manifestations of environmental degradation, as it threatens directly the most necessary element for life (air). This type of pollution can have a dramatic effect, if the main problem concerns the health of the populations, the impact on the ecosystem must also be taken in consideration.

The use of bio indicators is based on their integrator character in respect of environments factors. In effects, the livings beings are the reflection of the environment in which they evolves and their observation in various levels of biological organizations can offer indications about the quality and the characteristics of that environment. In bio-monitoring of heavy metal pollution, bio indication techniques occupies an interesting place. The use of lichens and

mosses can offer so precise indication and make obvious as early as possible the natural or caused modifications (Alioua, 2001).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Presentation of the sampling region

The city of Bir-el Djir (Fig. 1) our sampling region is the main city in the immediate suburbs to the east of Oran outside the borough baptized agricultural in colonial times, the municipality is located 8km from the city center. It is a city that remained essentially agricultural until the end of the years 80, it now hosts a population of 118,000 inhabitants and becomes a major pole of the Oranean agglomeration. It houses several corporate offices with modernist architecture, the new University Hospital 1st November, University education Institutes which USTO is the biggest. The territory of district of Oran is characterized by a relief consisting mainly of mountains, hills and plains, we distinguish in particular the mountain of the Aidour (429m). According to the National Meteorological Organization 2011 The Oran region has a classical mediterranean climate marked by a summer drought, mild winters, and a bright and clear sky. During the summer months, precipitation becomes rare or even non-existent.

The subtropical anticyclone covers the Oranean region for nearly four months. On the other hand, the area is well watered during the winter. The weak precipitations (420 mm of precipitations) and their frequency (72.9 day by year) are also characteristic of this climate: Minimum annual average temperature is about 12 C°. Maximum annual maximum temperature is about 22 C°

Justification of the choice of the sampling site

After prospecting different region in Oran, we noticed that the lichenic and muscicole species are limited, only the two species *Xanthoria parietina* and *Hylocomium splendens* have taken our attention. Our sampling takes place at the sciences and technology university of Oran ‹‹Mohamed Boudiaf ›› for its proximity and also for the abundance of the species.



Figure 1. Localization of Bir-el Djir city in the district of Oran

Experimental protocol

Sampled biological material

Our study concerned a nitrophile foliated specie of lichens with a lush color developing on different phorophytes, especially on *«Acacia albida»* from where we have chosen it for our experimentation, it is *«Xanthoria parietina»*.

For the mosses our choice concerned the most present specie in the samling site, it is *«Hylocomium splendens».*

Sampling techniques

For lichen thalli, we detached them from their phorophyte using a knife, as for the muscicoles thalli, they were carefully detached from the soil. The samples taken are placed in a well labelled bag, transported to the laboratory for identification.

The essays

Preparation of lead solutions using lead nitrates

We have prepared three solutions with different concentrations of lead, 50, 100 and 350 μ g/l, compared to the world reference, the concentration of 50 μ g/L is the admissible dose in water (Durfor et Baker, 1964).

Contamination essays of two species by lead solution

Once the solutions are prepared, we will proceed to the contamination of the samples in order to test the power of the lichens and the mosses to accumulate the lead.

Analytical techniques

pH measurement

Using a pH meter, we followed the temporal evolution (each week) of the pH of all samples in solutions treated at different concentrations

Chlorophyll dosage

In order to evaluate the effect of the pollution on the photosynthesis and especially on the chlorophyll of lichen talli and mosses, we opted for the dosage of chlorophyll a and b using the method proposed by (Rao and Leblanc, 1965).

Proline dosage

In order to evaluate the effect of the pollution on the proline content in lichens and mosses the calculation of the proline content is determined following the formula proposed by (Mon neveux and Nemmar, 1986).

Lead dosage

The technique of spectrophotometry of atomic absorption (S. A. A) is the most used for the dosage of heavy metals, after mineralization lead measurements were done with solutions of 20 ml of nitric acid of 2%.

Before proceeding lead dosage in samples, first, a calibration curve must be established from the solutions of known concentrations of lead.

The results are directly read on the device if it is preset according to the manufacturer's indications or the calibration curve in lead

The device used is a spectrophotometer (PERKIN- AIMER model 400)

RESULTS





For both species whatever the lead concentration, the pH of the solutions has increased, due to the absorption of some elements resulting from the dissolution of lead nitrates which implies the dissociation of its constituent ions.

Variation of Proline content

| Date of | D1 (day of First Collection) | D2 (day of second collection | | | |
|-----------------------------------|--|------------------------------|--------|--------|--|
| mesurement | S (collected from its natural habitat) | Т | C1 | C2 | |
| Proline content in <i>lichens</i> | 0,0004 | 0,0001 | 0,0005 | 0,0007 | |

Figure 4. Variation in Proline content in Xanthoria parietina and Hylocomium splendens.

The proline content of the sample (S) was very high in both species, tended to stabilize for the concentration C1, and increased respectively With C2 and C3 indicating acute stress during the sudden disturbance of plan.



Variation of chlorophyll a, b and a+b content

In a chlorophylien plant as we can see in the witness, the content of Chl a is superior than Chl b, but chlorophyll a, b, and a+b is conversely proportional to accumulated lead doses both in lichens and mosses, and decreases as a result of the reduction in photosynthetic intensity.



The content of lead related to the contamination test





Figure 8. Temporal variation of the lead content of sollution where *Hylocomium splendens* has stayed.

For both species, the lead content in the three solutions is reduced depending on the exposure time with lower content in solutions where lichen has stayed.

| Solutions at different concentrations | Accumulated lead Mass in lichens | Accumulated lead Mass in mosses |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Witness | 0,03 | 0,01 |
| C1 | 1,6 | 1,2 |
| C2 | 2 | 1,6 |
| C3 | 10 | 3,6 |

Figure 9. Content of accumulated lead $\mu g/g$ by the thallus of the two species.

The lead levels increased in the thallus of the two plants regardless of the concentrations of lead in the solutions but with a higher content in the lichen thallus. It appears globally for both species that their ability to accumulate lead in time is important.

DISCUSSION

The deterioration of the air quality and the evolution of the technologies have aroused an awareness of the public authorities and the citizen. The development of sensors capable of quantifying certain types of pollutants has contributed positively to the improvement of the quality of our environment, however, the use of indirect methods such as bio-indication proved to be very useful quickly. By analyzing the results the set of values clearly indicates that both lichens and mosses accumulate and concentrate lead in their tissues.

Both species have proven to be very good bio hyperaccumulator of lead which makes them excellent bio accumulators for the estimation of pollution especially by metals (case of lead). Nevertheless the lichen species *Xanthoria parietina* has a higher accumulator power than that of *Hylocomium splendens*. The variation in concentrations remains effectively depending on the nature of the species and the time of exposure to pollution.

As regards to variations in measured physiological parameters, chlorophyll content, proline, they can testify to the effect of lead on the two species studied, the chlorophyll content tends to decrease due to the disturbance of the photosynthetic process as well as the degradation of the fresh material, while proline content tends to increase with exposure time due to undergoes stress.

CONCLUSIONS

The deterioration of air quality and the evolution of technology have aroused an awareness of the public authorities and of the citizen. However, the use of indirect methods such as bioindication were quickly very useful in analyzing the results, the set of values clearly indicates that both lichens and mosses accumulate and concentrate the lead in the tissues, which in its turn is responsible of many physiological disturbances.

It is obvious to mention that the two studied species are proven good bio accumulators of lead which makes them excellent bio-indicators for the estimation of air pollution especially by metals, nevertheless the lichen species *Xanthoria parietna* presents a higher accumulator power than *Hylocomium splendens*, that returns to the symbiosis that makes lichens a complex

and fantastic biological material to study, whose operating mechanisms, still little known compared to the superior plants and offer the possibility of numerous research.

REFERENCES

- Alioua, A., Maizi, N., Semadi, F., Tahar, A. and Kahoul, M. I. (2008). Detection of the mercury pollution in the region of Azzaba using some bio accumulators. Rev. Eur. J.
- Alioua, A., Maizi, N., Maizi, L. and Tahar, A. (2008). Caracterisation of NO2 pollution using a coupling of biological and physico-chemical techniques in the region of Annaba (Algeria) Rev. Atmospheric Poll., Paris.
- Alioua, A. (2001). Detection of lead pollution caused by vehicles using bio accumulator plants in the agglomeration of Skikda (N. R Algeria) (Doctoral thesis), joseph fourrier university, Grenoble, 2-3-5-9-10-17-34-35-40-65; 108-109.
- Alioua, A. (1995). Detection of mercury pollution in the region of Azzaba using bio accumulators (Xanthoria parietina, Olea Europa, Cupressus sempervirens, Casuarina equisetifolia and Triticum durum) (magister thesis), university of Annaba, 103.
- Asta, J. and Garrec, J. P. (1980). Study of accumulation flux in lichens of a polluted alpine valley. Environement pollution. 21.
- Deruelle, S. (1983). Ecology of the lichens of the Parisian basin. Impact of air pollution and relationship to climate factors (doctoral thesis), Pierre and Marie Curie University, Paris, 360.
- Durfor, C. and Becker, E. (1964). Selected data on public supplies of the largest cities in the United States, 1962. J. Am. Waterworks assoc. 56: 237.
- Giordano, S., Adamo, P., Sorbo, S. and Vingiani, S. (2005). Atmospheric trace metal pollution in the Naples urbanarea based on results from moss and lichen bags. Environ. Poll. 136, 431-442.
- Mon neveux and Nemmar (1986). In: Doghmane, N. (2005). Contribution in the study of air quality of a biological system «lichens» (Xanthoria parietina) in the region of Annaba (State Engineer thesis in ecology and environmental), Badji Mokhtar university Annaba. 66.
- Ozenda, P. (2000). Plants biological study and illustrated flora, Ed. Masson. 7-18.
- Ramade, F. (1995). Ecology elements; Applied Ecology, Ed. Lavoisier (Paris), 72.
- Rao, and Le Blanc, (1965). In Doghmane, N. (2005). Contribution in the study of air quality of a biological system «lichens» (Xanthoria parietina) in the region of Annaba (State Engineer thesis in ecology and environmental), Badji Mokhtar university Annaba. 66.
- Roland, J, C., B. Vian (1999). Plants Biol., Ed. Dunod. 46.
- Semadi, A. (1989). Effect of atmospheric pollution (global pollution fluorinated and lead) on vegetation in the region of Annaba (PhD thesis of State in natural sciences), pierre and marie curie university (Paris 6) 339-340.
- Semadi, A. and Decormis, L. (1986). Influence of flored pollution on the vegetation of the region of Annaba (Algeria), Rev. Pollu. Atmo. Avril-juin, 1993, 113-121.
- Synder, L, J. (1975). Determination of trace amounts of organic lead in air. Anal Chem., 39: 591-595.
- Tola, S., S. Hernberg (1973). parametres indicative of absorption and biological effect in new lead exposure: Aprospective study. Britt. J. Ind. Med., 30: 81.

INHERITANCE OF THE DURATION OF VEGETATIVE GROWTH (DURATION BETWEEN THE INDIVIDUAL PHENOPHASES) IN SUNFLOWER HYBRID COMBINATIONS UNDER THE CONDITIONS OF NORTH-EAST BULGARIA

Georgi GEORGIEV *, Nina NENOVA, Galin GEORGIEV, Penka PEEVSKA, Daniela VALKOVA Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute – General Toshevo 9521, Bulgaria * georgi_d4@abv.bg

ABSTRACT

The investigation was carried out during 2012 - 2016 at Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute – General Toshevo (DAI). Fifteen hybrid combinations were investigated. The heritability of the vegetative growth duration in hybrid combinations was studied in comparison to the parental lines. The periods between the different phenophases in the hybrids and the parental lines were investigated. The investigation showed that hybrids 217A x 87R (107 days) and 217A x 85R (110 days) were early. The best parent and mid-parent heterosis of the vegetative growth duration was studied in the above hybrid combinations. The duration of the vegetative growth in sterile lines was 115 days, while this duration in the fertility restorer lines was 110 days.

Keywords: Sunflower, Heterosis, Hybrid

INTRODUCTION

Heterosis breeding is at the basis of the modern economic production of maize grain in Bulgaria. The study on the expressions of heterosis and the genetic control over the inheritance of the traits related to yield from maize are important in the scientific approach to practical heterosis breeding. Each instance of breeding work begins with investigation on the behavior of the plants from different agricultural crops under field conditions.

The phenological observations are carried out during the entire vegetative growth of the plants (from planting to maturity and harvesting of the crop). The separate stages of the development of the plants and the periods (number of days) between these stages are observed. All changes occurring in the plants in the process of their growth and development are noted.

Simultaneously, their reaction to the changes in the environment is taken into consideration (high and low temperatures, high amounts of rainfalls, drought, attacks of pests and diseases), as well as their effect on the plants' development by phenophase. Heterosis is the main genetic factor determining the high productivity of hybrid sunflower (Genchev, 1973; Spreg, 1987).

A peculiarity of the quantitative parameters is their permanent variation due to two factors: the large number of genes, which determine this variation, and the influence of the environment on them (Genchev et al., 1975). The intensive competition in the domestic and the world markets imposes the necessity of constantly developing new sunflower hybrids with higher genetic potential for seed yield from unit area, wider range of disease resistance and higher adaptability than the one currently existing in the hybrids (Skoric et al., 2004). The heterosis effect in the first generation (F_1) is different for the individual parameters (Hladni et al., 2007; Valkova, 2013).

After testing 120 hybrid combinations, Goncharov (2008) came to the conclusion that the greater duration of the vegetative growth does not increase the seed yield. In the different groups formed according to their duration of vegetative growth, the seed yield was determined

by the time from emergence to flowering. Oil content was determined by the duration of the period from flowering to technical maturity.

Andrei et al. (1998) reported that the genotypes with greater duration of flowering were characterized by greater plant height, head diameter and seed set. During the flowering stage, the greater part of the structural elements of yield were formed (Leon et al., 2000).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The field experiment was carried out in the trial field of DAI during 2013 - 2016 according to a conventional technology for growing of sunflower (Georgiev et al., 1997). Fifteen hybrid combinations were tested, which were obtained by crossing three lines with cytoplasmic male sterility to five fertility restorer lines. The experiment for testing of the hybrid combinations was designed according to the Latin square method in three replications. The plot size was 7.35 m². The standards used were the Bulgarian hybrids San Luka and Veleka, as well as one of the most productive and well established on the market foreign hybrid PR64F50. The data from the investigated parameter (duration of vegetative growth) were subjected to genetic analysis to determine the mid-parent and best parent heterosis of the studied hybrid combinations.



Figure 1. Duration (number of days) of the separate phenophases in hybrid combinations (budding, mass flowering, duration of flowering, vegetative growth duration)

Figure 1 presents the separate phenophases: budding (number of days), mass flowering (number of days), duration of flowering (number of days) and duration of the vegetative growth (number of days) of the hybrid combinations included in the study. The duration of budding of the investigated hybrids was longer (37 days) in comparison to the parental lines (33 days). The time from emergence to flowering (number of days) was shorter (averagely 55 days) in contrast to the parental forms (averagely 61 days). The period from the beginning till the end of the flowering in all hybrid combinations varied from 8 to 12 days, and this variation was not within a wide range over the years of study. Regarding the duration of the vegetative growth, some hybrid combinations, such as 217A x 84R (107 days) and 217A x 85R (109 days), were earlier than the parental lines (217A - 112 days, 84R - 113 days, 85R - 114 days). In other hybrid combinations, 2003A x 84R and 2003A x 98R (117 days), the duration of the vegetative growth over the years of investigation was longer than in the parental lines (2003A - 109 days, 84R - 113 days, 98R - 116 days).



Figure 2. Mid-parent (according to both parents), MPH (%) and best parent (according to the better parent) heterosis, BPH (%), of the parameter duration of vegetative growth in the studied hybrid combinations

Figure 2 shows the data on the investigated hybrid combinations for mid-parent (according to both parents) and best parent (according to the better parent) heterosis of the duration of the vegetative growth. Negative values for best parent heterosis were established in seven hybrid combinations for this parameter. Highest values of the parameter for mid-parent and best parent heterosis were determined in the following combinations: 2003A x 84R, (MPH- 100%), (BPH- 5,7%); 2008A x 85R, (MPH- 103.5 %), (BPH-2.6 %); 1017A x 84R, (MPH- 96.6 %), (BPH- 1.8 %). The same father line 84R was involved as a component in two of the hybrid combinations.

CONCLUSIONS

Two of the hybrid combinations, 217A x 84R (107 days) and 217A x 85R (109 days) were earlier than the parental lines (217A - 112 days, 84R - 113 days, 85R - 114 days).

The budding stage of the studied hybrids was longer (37 days) in comparison to the parental lines (33 days).

Highest values of this parameter for mid-parent and best parent heterosis were determined in 2003A x 84R, (MPH-100%), (BPH-5.7%); 2008A x 85R, (MPH-103.5 %), (BPH-2.6 %); 1017A x 84R, (MPH- 96.6 %), (BPH-1.8 %).

REFERENCES

Genchev, G. et al. (1975). Biometrical methods in crop production, genetics and breeding. Zemizdat, Sofia (in Bg).

Genchev, G. (1973). Heterosis. Zemizdat, Sofia (in Bg).

Valkova, D. (2013). Investigation on species from genus Helianthus as sources of important breeding parameters. Ph.D. thesis, 200 pp (in Bg).

Spreg, D. F. (1987). Heterosis (in Ru).

Andrei, El., Bernaveta, E. and Jitareanu, C. (1998). Correlations among different characteristics of sunflower hybrids created an the Pody-Iloaiei agricultural research station.

Proceedings of the 2nd Balkan Symposium on Field Crops. Novi Sad, Yugoslavia 16-20 June 1998, vol.1, 373-377.

- Goncharov, S. and Zaharova, M. (2008). Vegetation period and hybrid sunflower productivity in breeding for earliness, Proc. 17th International Sunflower Conference, Córdoba, Spain (2008).
- Leon A., Andrade, F. and Lee, M. (2000). Genetic mapping of factors affecting quantitative variation for flowering in sunflower (*Helianthus annus* L.), Crop Sci., 40 (2): 404-407.

INVESTIGATION OF STRUCTURAL AND ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES OF MANGANESE DOPED ZNO VARISTORS PREPARED FROM NANOPOWDERS

Amal BOUMEZOUED^{*1}, Kamal GUERGOURI¹, Mourad ZAABAT¹, Djamil RECHAM², Regiss BARILLE³

¹Laboratory of Active Components and Materials, University Larbi Ben M'Hidi of Oum El Bouaghi, 04000 Algeria,

²Laboratory of Materials and Structure of Electromechanic systems and their fiability, University Larbi Ben M'Hidi of Oum El Bouaghi 04000, Algeria

³Moltech Anjou University, Angers/CNRS UMR 62002, Bd Lavoisier, 49045 ANGERS cedex France,

* <u>kamelguergouri@yahoo.com</u>

ABSTRACT

Non-ohmic properties of pure and doped zinc oxide varistors are widely used to manufacture good devices. These varistors are generally used in electrical or electronic circuits to protect them from voltage surges. In this study, pure and Mn doped ZnO nanopowders have been synthesized by a soft chemistry method, the sol-gel route. The obtained powders after calcination at 500°C are consolidated and sintered using conventional furnace at 1075°C for 15 min. The obtained pellets are characterized by: X-ray diffraction, MET. The XRD spectra indicate that pure and Mn doped ZnO powders are solid solution, with an average grain size varying between 36.15 nm to 65.92 nm. The grain size decreases with the increase of Mn concentration except for 5 mol % Mn, where there is an unexpected increase. This is confirmed by MET images. The current-voltage J(E) characteristics show that the breakdown electric field increases with increasing Mn concentration ranging from 1595V/cm to 1901.50V/cm except for the Zn-5% Mn-O varistor, where the non linear coefficient α and breakdown electric field are lower. In general the more the grain size decreases the more the varistor effect and the threshold voltage increase.

Keywords: Particle size, Sol-Gel, Varistors, Zinc oxide nanopowder

INTRODUCTION

Nanomaterials have received a great interest in last decades due to their many technological applications, very promising in various fields such as sensors, field-emission transistors, ultraviolet photo-detectors, photovoltaic and biomedical system such as DNA sequence detectors Wang et al. (2007). Among these materials, zinc oxide (ZnO) is considered as one of the most important in varistor behavior because of its excellent non-ohmic properties and a high non-linearity coefficient Matsuoka et al. (1969), Subasri et al. (2009). Varistors based on ZnO have been most extensively studied Levinson et al. (1975), Clarke et al. (1999). At the same time researchers have made considerable efforts to develop and investigate new properties in this material for protection against overvoltages in electrical network or a power supply. Thus, in the literature, there are varistors based on tin dioxide (SnO₂) Pianaro et al. (2009), Santos et al. (2006), titanium dioxide (TiO₂), Wu et al. (1991), De Sousa et al. (2006), Kim et al. (1999), strontium titanate (SrTiO₃) Rossinelli et al. (1989), barium titanate (BaTiO₃) Kutty et al. (1993), Yang (2004), tungsten trioxide (WO₃), Makarov et al. (1994), Dey et al.

(1992) and dioxide of cerium (CeO₂) Nahm et al. (2003). In comparison, varistors based on zinc oxide are more interesting since they present a coefficient of non-linearity α ten times more high. For this reason ZnO became the best choice. To improve the coefficient α and to favor the states of interface, several oxides such as Bi₂O₃, Pr₆O₁₁, SbO₃, CoO or MnO Hashimov et al. (2006) are added to ZnO matrix. ZnO nanopowders are synthesized by various techniques, the most widely used at this time is the sol-gel route, because of its low cost one hand, and the good quality of the varistors made with. The origin of the varistor effect is essentially due to the microstructure in one hand, and to the potential barriers of grain boundaries between two ZnO, in another hand Blatter et al. (1989), Sharma et al. (2008). The grain boundaries are therefore responsible for the non-linearity because each one of them constitutes a barrier to the passage of the current. Therefore, the size of grains in a varistor determines the number of grain boundaries that the current will encounter on its way and therefore the threshold voltage of the varistor.

The purpose of this study was therefore the investigation of the effect of manganese on the structural, optical and electrical properties of ZnO varistors.

Experimental Procedure

Pure and Mn-doped ZnO nanopowders have been synthesized by the soft chemistry sol-gel technique. Zinc acetate dehydrate ($C_4 H_6 O_4 Zn.2H_2 O$) (purity>99%, biochem-Chempharma) is used as starting material and an alcoxide: citric acid ($C_6 H_8 O_7$. $H_2 O$) monohydrate is used to keep particles in suspension, monoethanolamine MEA ($C_2 H_7 NO$) and ethylene glycol are used as a stabilizer and solvent, respectively. The dopant source of manganese used is manganese chloride (MnCl₃). Then, the obtained solution is stirred at 130°C for 2h to obtain a homogeneous and transparent solution. Finally and after 24h the solution was calcined at 500°C for 4h in a furnace. A schematic representation of the synthesis is shown by the following sequences (Fig.1).



Figure 1. Synthesis of ZnO doped Mn by sol-gel route
The obtained powders are characterized by means of several techniques: XRD, using the Cuka (ka = 0.154056 nm) radiation of a BRRUKER AXS, D8 advence X-ray diffractometer, to identify the structure and calculate the grain size, TEM, using an X-Max model transmission electron microscope to identify the morphology and estimate the crystallite size, electrical characteristics J(E), using a high voltage measure unit (KEITHLEY model 237) to calculate the breakdown electric field and non linear coefficient a. In order to obtain dense varistors with high performance, conventional sintering study was performed. To do that, the obtained powders were pressed into discs of 11mm in diameter and 1.8mm in thickness at a pressure of 2 MPa. Then the pellets were sintered at 1750°C for 15 min. The size of the final samples was about 10 mm in diameter and 1.6 mm in thickness. Gold contact was deposited on both faces of the pellets of Zn%Mn-O to have ohmic contacts, which are realized by heating at 500 °C for 10 min to remove the organic functions.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The XRD patterns of Zn1-xMnxO ($0 \le x \le 7$) powders synthesized by sol-gel method are shown in Figure 2. The spectra exhibit peaks of the würtzite structure. It is also shown that two peaks were detected at 29.39° and 33.05° only in Zn5%Mn-O corresponding to Mn₃O₄ phase as identified by Sharma et al. (2008), which reported the presence of secondary phases: ZnMn₂O₃ or Mn3O4 in the Mn doped ZnO.

The average grain sizes were calculated from X-ray line broadening using Scherrer formula Liu et al. (2007).

$$D = \frac{0.9\lambda}{\Delta\theta cos\theta}$$

Where D is the grain size, λ the X-ray wave length (λ =1.5418A°), $\Delta\theta$ the full width at half-maximum (FWHM) and θ the Bragg angle.

Lattice parameters a and c of the samples were calculated using the following equation:

$$\frac{1}{d} = \frac{4}{3} \left[\frac{h^2 + hk + k^2}{a^2} \right] + \frac{l^2}{c^2}$$

Where a and c are the lattice parameters, d is the interplanar distance and (hkl) are the miller indices.

As it is shown in Figure 3, the grain size of Mn doped ZnO nanopowders decreases by increasing Mn concentration and vary from 65.92 nm to 36.15 nm, except for 5% mol Mn, where there is an unexpected increase, the grain size become higher ($D \approx 66$ nm) because of the appearance of the new phase Mn₃O₄. However the powders keep the same structure. The values of lattice parameters are listed in Table 1.

The diffraction peaks of the ZnO matrix are slightly shifted towards the small angles after introduction of Mn atoms. It indicates that Mn^{2+} ions go to Zn^{2+} sites. The ionic radius of Zn^{2+} being 0.60 A°, and the one of Mn^{2+} is 0.66 A°.



Figure 2. XRD patterns of pure and Mn doped ZnO nanopowders synthesized by sol-gel route

Table 1. The lattice parameters, crystalline size and particle size of Mn doped ZnO samples

 synthesized by sol-gel route

| Zn% MnO | a=b(A°) | c(A°) | c/a | D (XRD) (nm) | D (TEM) (nm) |
|---------------------|---------|------------------------|----------------|-----------------|--------------|
| 0% mol Mn | 3.2425 | 5.2012 | 1,6037 | 65.92 | 59.86 |
| 1% mol Mn | 3.2432 | 5.2064 | 1.6053 | 52.51 | 55.39 |
| 3% mol Mn | 3.2565 | 5.2025 | 1.6000 | 47.47 | 42.13 |
| 5% mol Mn | 3.2458 | 5.1953 | 1.5975 | 66.97 | 65.12 |
| 7% mol Mn | 3.246 | 5.2021 | 1.6022 | 36.15 | 39.40 |
| (a) | | | (k | o) | |
| . 5 | | ■ D(XRD) ▲ D(TEM) - | 6 | | |
| 60 - | | - | , v) s | | |
| ■ ⁵⁵ - ▲ | | - | | 0,5 | |
| is uia: 45 - | • | - | | a a a | |
| 0 - 40 - | • | | | 0,32 - | |
| 35 - | | • 1 | I of | | 1 |

Figure 3. Variation of the (a) crystalline size (XRD, MET) and (b) hexagonal lattice parameters (a and c) with Mn concentration for Zn1-xMnxO powder samples.

% Mn

% Mn

In Figure 5, we present TEM images of the pure ZnO and manganese-doped ZnO nanopowders. The images show that the crystallites tend to agglomerate and form aggregating sphere. Basically, nanoparticles have a natural trend to agglomerate for two main reasons. First, the agglomeration is a more stable configuration from an energetic point of view. Then, nanoparticles tend to agglomerate to allow crystallite growth. The results presented in figure 3(a) indicate that the mean crystallite sizes measured from the TEM images is varying in the same direction than those obtained by XRD. The crystallite size histograms of pure ZnO, 1 mol%, 3 mol%, 1.5 mol% and 7 mol% manganese-doped nanoparticles are shown in figure 4. For the doped samples, the crystallite size is between 10 and 80 nm. The manganese doping causes a reduction in the number of crystallites belonging to the size range from 39.4 to 79.87 nm.However, the sample doped with 5 mol% Mn contains the Mn₃O₄ phase, whose crystallite size is on average higher than those obtained with the other concentrations. Since it is not possible to distinguish the mechanism of agglomeration of ZnO crystallites from Mn₃O₄ phase because of the larger size of these crystallites.



Figure 4. Average particle size histograms of pure ZnO and Mn-doped nanopowders



Figure 5. TEM images of pure and Mn doped ZnO nanopowders from two different regions (a) 0%, (b) 1%, (c) 3%, (d) 5% and (e) 7%

The plotted electric field as a function of current density for different concentrations is given in figure 6. The nonlinear coefficient α was obtained by: $\alpha = \log (I2/I1)/(V2/V1)$ where V1 and I1 as well as V2 and I2 are corresponding values of voltage and current for two points that can be chosen arbitrarily in the non-ohmic region Duran et al. (2003).



Figure 6. Characteristics of varistors as a function of Mn concentration

Figure 6 shows E(J) curves at room temperature for all samples. We can see clearly two regions: the ohmic region, known as a high resistance region and the non-ohmic one, known as a very low resistance region.

The curves show that the electric field E in the non-linear region increases by increasing Mn concentration, thus E increases with decreasing of grain and particle sizes except for 5 mol% Mn, where E is lower and the grain size higher. However the current density is reduced, particularly for the 5 mol% Mn, because the current is limited to the ohmic resistance. This is in good agreement with XRD and TEM results, and can be explained by the increase of the number of grain boundaries due to the decrease of the grain size average.

Table 2 and figure 7 show that the non-linear coefficient and the breakdown voltage increase by increasing Mn concentration up to 3mol % Mn and remain nearly constant after that. The Zn-5% Mn-O is still out the expect variation. For the coefficient α the results can be explained by the fact that this coefficient is due to solid state reactions and the formation of potential barriers between grains Mirzayi et al. (2013).

The increase of EB with increasing Mn concentration (from 1595V/cm to 1901.50V/cm except for the Zn-5%Mn-O varistor) and by the fact its increase with decreasing of the grain size of starting powders can be explained by the increase of the number of grain boundaries due to the decrease of the grain size average.

| Table 2 | . The v | varistor | effect] | parameters | of pure | and Mn | doped ZnC |) samples |
|----------|---------|----------|----------|------------|---------|--------|-----------|-----------|
| synthesi | zed by | sol-gel | route | | | | | |

| Sample | Breakdown voltage | Non-linearity |
|-----------|-------------------|---------------|
| | (V/cm) | coefficient a |
| 0% mol Mn | 1595 | 2.8450 |
| 1% mol Mn | 1659.88 | 3.7973 |
| 3% mol Mn | 1851.32 | 3.63 |
| 5% mol Mn | 1773.33 | 3.40 |
| 7% mol Mn | 1901.50 | 13.63 |



Figure 7. Variation of the nonlinear coefficient and breakdown voltage as a function of Mn concentration.

CONCLUSIONS

Nanopowders of pure and Mn (1–7%) doped ZnO have been synthesized by Sol–gel technique. The obtained nanopowders have been characterized by means of XRD, TEM and I-V to determine, respectively, their structural characteristics, morphological and electrical properties. The all obtained powders exhibit würtzite structure, where the lattice parameters a and c vary in the same direction. These powders are constituted by very small grains, which size decreases as a function of Mn concentration. On the other hand the manganese doping causes a decrease in the particles size and an increase in varistor effect for the 1, 3 and 7 mol% Mn-doped samples; the breakdown electric field ranges between 1595/cm and 1901.50V/cm except and the coefficient of non-linearity (α) between 2.8450 and 13.63.

All samples have a morphology consisting of small nanoparticles, uniformly distributed. From 5 mol% Mn and more, the powders contain a Mn3O4 secondary phase formed at grain boundaries, which is not suitable for a use as varistor. This study shows that 7 mol% Mn doped ZnO varistor has the best electrical properties.

REFERENCES

- Blatter, G., Greuter, F. (1986). Carrier transport through grain boundaries in semi-conductors. Phys. Rev. B, 33:3952–3966.
- Clarke, D.R. (1999). Varistor ceramics. J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 82: 485-502.
- De Sousa, V.C, Oliveira, M. M., Orlandi, M., Leite, E.R., Longo, E. J. (2006). Nanostructured TiO₂ thin films by polymeric precursor method. Mater. Sci. Mater. Electron. 17:79.
- Dey, D., Bradt, R.C. (1992). Grain growth in sintering ZnO and ZnO–Bi2O3 ceramics. J. Am. Cer. Soc., 75:2529–2534.
- Duran, P, Tartaj, J, Moure, C. (2003) Fully dense, fine-grained, doped zinc oxide varistors with improved nonlinear properties by thermal processing optimization. J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 86:1326–1329.
- Gupta, T.K. (1990). Application of zinc-oxide varistors. J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 73:1817–1840.
- Hashimov, A.M., Hasanli, S.M., Mehtizadeh, R.N., Bayramov, K.B., Azizoya, S.M. (2006). Zinc oxide and polymer-based composite varistors. Phys. Stat. Sol. C, 3:2871–2875.
- Jin, Z.C., Hamberg, J., Granqvist, C.G. (1988). Optical properties of sputter-deposition ZnO:Al thin films. J. Appl. Phys., 64: 5117.
- Kim, S.H., Seon H.W, Kim H.T, Park J.G, Kim Y, Byun J.D (1999). Contrasting conduction mechanisms of two internal barrier layer capacitors: (Mn, Nb)-doped SrTiO₃ and CaCu₃Ti₄O₁₂. Mater. Sci. Eng. B. 60:12.
- Kutty, T.R.N., Ravi, V. (1993). Electrical properties of semiconductive Nb-doped BaTiO3 thin films prepared by metal–organic chemical-vapor deposition. Mater. Sci. Eng. B. 20:271.
- Levinson, L. M., Philipp, H.R. (1975). The physics of metal oxide varistors. J. Appl. Phys. 46: 1332-1334.
- Liu, H.Y., Kong, H., Ma, X.M., Shi, W.Z. (2007). Microstructure and electrical properties of ZnO-based varistors prepared by high-energy ball milling. J. Mater. Sci., 42: 2637– 2642.
- Makarov, V., Trontelj, M. J. (1994). Nonlinear electrical properties of cobalt doped SnO₂, Ni₂O₃, Nb₂O₅ varistors. Mater. Sci. Lett. 13:937.
- Matsuoka, M., Masuyama, T., Iida, Y. (1969). Voltage nonlinearity of zinc oxide ceramics doped with alkali-earth metal oxide. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 81275–1276.
- Mirzayi, M., Hekmatshoar, M.H. (2013). Effect of V2O5 on electrical and microstructural properties of ZnO ceramics. Phys. B., 414: 50–55.
- Nahm, C.W. (2003). Nonlinear properties and stability against DC accelerated aging of praseodymium oxide-based ZnO varistors by Er2O3 doping. Solid State Commun. 126: 281–284.
- Pianaro, S.A., Bueno, P.R., Longo, E., Varela, J.A. (2009). J. Mater. Sci. Lett. Comparison of non-Ohmic accelerated ageing of the ZnO- and SnO₂-based voltage dependent resistors 14: 692.
- Rossinelli, M., Greuter, F., Schmueckle, F. (1989). Prebreakdown conduction in zinc oxide varistors: Thermionic or tunnel currents and one step or two step conduction processes. Brit. Ceram. Proc., 41:177.
- Santos, P. A., Maruchin, S.G., Menegoto, F., Zara, A.J., Pianaro, S. A. (2006). Mater Lett. Inversion boundary induced grain growth in TiO₂ or Sb₂O₃doped ZnO-based varistor ceramics, 60: 155.
- Sharma, V.K., Varma, G.D. (2008). Investigations of the effect of gaseous environment during synthesis on the magnetic properties of Mn doped ZnO. J. Alloys. Compounds. 458: 523-527.

- Subasri, R., Asha, M., Hembram, K., Rao, G.V.N, Rao, T.N. (2009). Microwave sintering of doped nanocrystalline ZnO and characterization for varistor applications. J. Mater. Chem. Phys., 115: 677–684.
 - Wang, X., Song, J., Wang, Z.L (2007). Nanowire and nanobelt arrays of zinc oxide from synthesis to properties and to novel devices. J. Mater. Chem. 17:711-720.
- Wu, J.M, Lal, C.H. (1991). Nonlinear electrical behavior of theTiO₂.WO₃ varistor. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 74: 3112.
- Yang, X.S., Wang, Y., Dong, L. (2004). WO3-based capacitor–varistor doped with Gd₂O₃. Mater. Chem. Phys., 86 (2–3): 253–257.

DEGRADATION OF PENCONAZOLE IN APPLE AND ESTIMATION OF RESIDUE LEVELS USING LC-MS/MS

Edlira Shahinasi^{*1}, Vojslava Bursic², Martina Mezei², Ferdi Brahushi³, Gorica Vukovic⁴, Magdalena Cara⁵

¹Faculty of Biotechnology and Food, Department of Chemistry, Agricultural University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania

²Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Environmental and Plant Protection, University of Novi Sad, Serbia

³Faculty of Agriculture and Environment, Department of Agroenvironment and ecology, Agricultural University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania

⁴Institute of Public Health, Bul. despota Stefana 54a, Belgrade, Serbia

⁵Faculty of Agriculture and Environment, Department of Plant Protection, Agricultural University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania

* eshahinasi@ubt.edu.al

Abstract

Penconazole belongs to the class of Triazole, which is one of the largest and the most important pesticide group of fungicides to control powdery mildew, pome fruit scab and other fungal pathogens on fruit and vegetables. The aim of the study was to estimate the trend of residue levels of penconazole in apple fruit after its application. The residues of penconazole were investigated in two apple cultivars Starking and Golden Delicious, which were treated with maximum (0.05%) and minimum (0.025%) levels of recommended doses of penconazole by application of commercial formulation PEN10. The apple fruit samples were collected randomly in the interval of 1, 7 and 19 days after application and were prepared for further analysis. The samples were extracted using QuEChERS method and the clean-up was achieved using the primary secondary amine (PSA) and magnesium sulphate. The qualitative and quantitative analyses of penconazole residues in apple fruit were performed using liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) technique.

The obtained results showed that the level of penconazole residues in all analyzed samples decreased with the time after application. Thus, the level of penconazole residues vary from 0.173mg/kg to 0.037mg/kg and from 0.306mg/kg to 0.045mg/kg in Golden Delicious with the minimum and maximum applied doses at 1st and 19th day after application, respectively. Also, in the Starking cultivar the level of penconazole residues vary from 0.239mg/kg to 0.01mg/kg and from 0.493mg/kg to 0.045 with the minimum and maximum applied doses at 1st and 19th day after application, respectively. Therefore, the level of penconazole residues on first day after the application were in general, above the Maximum Residues Limit (MRL) of 0.2mg/kg for apple fruit, except the treated samples with the minimum recommended dose in Gold Delicious cultivar. Whereas, the penconazole residues in all analyzed apple fruit samples were below MRL on the 19th day after application, showing that the application of penconazole as fungicide to control fungal pathogens in apple fruit is suitable and guarantees the food quality and safety for the consumers.

Keywords: Penconazole, Apple, QuEChERS, Pesticide residue, LC-MS/MS technique.

INTRODUCTION

Most fruits and vegetables are treated with pesticides which are chemicals deliberately used in households and modern agriculture, playing a major role in maintaining high agricultural productivity (Tilman et al., 2002; Iyer and Makris, 2010). Without pesticides commercial fruits production would not be economically viable in many regions of the world (Kostik et al., 2014). Their use may involve risks and hazards for humans, animals and the environment, especially, when placed on the market without having been officially tested and used incorrectly.

In order to ensure food safety for consumers and protect human health, many organizations and countries around the world have established maximum residue limits (MRLs) for pesticides in food commodities. Maximum residue levels of a pesticide residue represent highest concentrations of pesticide residues (expressed in mg/kg), which are legally permitted in or on food or animal feed when the pesticide is used according to authorized agriculture practices (EFSA, 2010; Munawar and Hamid, 2013; Jallow et al., 2017).

Among pesticides, fungicides and insecticides are likely to remain the major class used for crops protection. Because the fungicides are used increasingly in many countries around the world they can lead on high levels of pesticide residues. Thus, their analyses are important to ensure food safety and human health protection. The main objective of current study was to investigate the residue levels of penconazole in apple fruit after its application.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental field and sampling

The experiment was conducted to Korça region, which is the main market supplier with apple fruits in Albania. In the experiment two types of cultivars were studied Golden Delicious and Starking, as the most affected species by *Venturia Inequalis*. The orchard was divided in four plots as it is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Schematic drawing of experimental field

The first and second plot represent Golden Delicious trees which were treated respectively with minimum and maximum recommended doses of pesticides, while the third and forth plot represent Starking treated with minimum and maximum recommended doses as well. The application of pesticides was done through a tractor in which two sprays were mounted.

Sampling

The apple fruit samples were collected randomly in the interval of 1, 7 and 19 days after application in accordance with European Commission Directive 2002/63/EC. The transportation of apples to the laboratory was done through cooling boxes. The temperature of boxes did not exceed 5 to $6^{0}C$.

Extraction and clean-up

The extraction was based on QuEChERS method developed by Anastassiades et al. (2003). Thus, after homogenization of 1 kg apples with a domestic blender, 10 g of homogenized samples were weighted into a 50mL polypropylene centrifuge tube followed by addition of 10mL acetonitile and 100 μ L internal standard (carbofurane d-3). After they were mixed 4g anhydrous sulfate, 1g sodium chloride, 1g Na3-citrate dihydrate, 0.5 g Na₂H-citrat sesquihydrate was added and the tube was shaken again 1 min and then was centrifuged at 3000g for 5min. Then 6mL was transferred in a 15 mL PP tube and was cleaned-up with PSA sorbent and anhydrous sulfate. After it was shaken and centrifuged again, the upper layer was filtered and transferred in vial and kept in refrigerate being ready for LC-MS/MS analysis.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The experiment was conducted during the years 2015 and 2016 in Korça region and results of this study were interpreted in accordance to MRLs requirements set in legal EU regulations. The data presented in Table 1 and Figure 2 showed that the level of penconazole residues in Golden Delicious cultivar in all analyzed samples decreased over time (from 0.306 mg/kg to 0.045mg/kg for cultivars treated with maximum recommended dose and from 0.173mg/kg to 0.037mg/kg for cultivars treated with mimimum recommended dose.

| Days | | Golden max | • | | Golden min. | |
|------|-------|------------|-------|-------|-------------|-------|
| | Year | | Mean | Y | 'ear | Mean |
| | 2015 | 2016 | | 2015 | 2016 | |
| 1 | 0.289 | 0.324 | 0.306 | 0.167 | 0.180 | 0.173 |
| 7 | 0.065 | 0.094 | 0.080 | 0.057 | 0.060 | 0.059 |
| 19 | 0.050 | 0.040 | 0.045 | 0.055 | 0.019 | 0.037 |

Table 1. Residue levels of penconazole (mg/kg) in Golden Delicious cultivar

Thus, the level of penconazole residues on the first day after application which were treated with the maximum recommended doses was above the Maximum Residues Limit (MRL) of 0.2 mg/kg apple fruit, while the samples treated with the minimum recommended doses event on the first day after application showed low levels of penconazole residues, below the MRL (see Figure 2).



Figure 2. Decrease of penconazole residues level over time in Golden Delicious cultivar

Furthermore, presented data in Table 2 and Figure 3, show that the level of penconazole residues in the Starking cultivar vary from 0.239mg/kg to 0.01mg/kg and from 0.493mg/kg to 0.045 with the minimum and maximum applied doses at 1st and 19th day after application, respectively.

| | Residue levels of periconazore (mg/kg) in Starking cultiva | | | | | | | | | |
|------|--|-------------|-------|---------------|-------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| | S | tarking may | κ. | Starking min. | | | | | | |
| Days | Year | | Mean | Y | Mean | | | | | |
| | 2015 | 2016 | | 2015 | 2016 | | | | | |
| 1 | 0.480 | 0.506 | 0.493 | 0.230 | 0.249 | 0.239 | | | | |
| 7 | 0.210 | 0.220 | 0.215 | 0.080 | 0.072 | 0.076 | | | | |
| 19 | 0.050 | 0.040 | 0.045 | 0.010 | 0.012 | 0.011 | | | | |

Table 2 Residue levels of penconazole (mg/kg) in Starking cultivar

In contrast to the Golden Delicious cultivars, the treated samples with the minimum recommended doses which showed level of penconazole residues below 0.2 mg/kg (MRL) on first day after application, the samples of Starking cultivars on their first day after application in both cases showed level of penconazole residues above MRL.





The Figure 2 and 3 showed that the penconazole residues in all analyzed apple fruit samples were below MRL on the 19th day after application.

CONCLUSIONS

The obtained results showed that the level of penconazole residues in all analyzed samples decreased with the time after application. The level of penconazole residues on first day after the application were in general, above the Maximum Residues Limit (MRL) of 0.2mg/kg for apple fruit, except the treated samples with the minimum recommended dose in Gold Delicious cultivar. Whereas, the penconazole residues in all analyzed apple fruit samples were below MRL on the 19th day after application, showing that the application of penconazole as fungicide to control fungal pathogens in apple fruit is suitable and guarantees the food quality and safety for the consumers.

REFERENCES

- Anastassiades, M., Lehotay, S.J., Stajbaher, D. and Schenk, F.J. (2003). Fast and easy multiresidue method employing acetonitril extraction/ proportioning and solid phase extraction for the determination of pesticide residues in produce. Journal of AOAC International, 86 (2):412-431.
- EFSA (2010). 2008 Annual report on pesticide residue according to article 32 of Regulation (EC) No 396/2005. EFSA Journal 2010 8(7): 1646.
- Iyer and Makris (2010). Developmental and reproductive toxicology of pesticides. Hayes' Handbook of pesticide toxicology edited by Robert Krieger. Vol. 1 Chapter 12 pp. 381-440
- Kostik, V., Angelovska, B., Petreska. K. E. and Bauer, B. (2014). Determination of pesticide residues in plant based foods from the Republic of Macedonia. J. Food Nutr. Sci., 2, (4): 124-129.
- Munawar, A. and Hameed W. S., (2013). Quantification of pesticide residues in vegetables by different chromatography techniques. J. Chromatograph Separation Techniques. 4, 8.
- Jallow, F.A.M., Awadh G.D., Albaho S. M., Devi Y.V. and Ahmad M. (2017). Monitoring of pesticide residues in commonly used of fruits and vegetables in Kuwait. International J Environ. Res. Public Health, 14: 833.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K.G., Matson, P.A., Naylor, R. and Polasky S. (2002). Agriculture sustainability and intensive production practices. Nature, 418: 671-677.

NEW ACCESSIONS IN THE COMMON WINTER WHEAT WORKING COLLECTION OF DOBRUDZHA AGRICULTURAL INSTITUTE, BULGARIA

Gallina MIHOVA*, Tatyana PETROVA, Vanya IVANOVA, Yordanka STANOEVA

Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute, General Toshevo, Bulgaria

* gm_mihova@abv.bg

ABSTRACT

The storage and adequate management of the plant genetic resources is a main focus of the breeding programs. The priorities of the activities are determined by many factors, among which are the successful guarantee of sustainable agriculture, the climatic changes and the increasing consummation worldwide. The decrease of genetic variability imposes the necessity to apply new approaches with the aim to enrich it and to develop genotypes with improved morphological characteristics and adaptability. DAI is a main breeding center in Bulgaria and has a large plant gene pool of field crop species. The chamber for long-term storage contains a collection of 3435 accessions of genus Triticum. A working collection of Bulgarian and foreign breeding, which consists of 1745 varieties, is grown under filed conditions, as well as lines with specific traits. Sixty six of them were evaluated for main economic indices during three harvest seasons (2015 - 2018). The aim was: 1) characterization of the yield structure and the resistance to abiotic and biotic stress; 2) determining possibilities for hybrid combinations. The experiment was designed in plots of 10 m², in two replications. Phenological observations and biometric analysis were done on 25 plants per plot. The methodologies of UPOV and IPGRI were used. The accessions were well differentiated according to: date to heading, plant height, winter resistance, resistance to powdery mildew and leaf rust, yield structure specificity and productivity. Within the period of investigation, the Bulgarian wheat varieties, which realized highest yield, were Rada, Kalina, Dragana and Kristi, and the highest yielding cultivars of European breeding were Basmati, Foxil, Avenue, NS 407 and Andalou.

Keywords: Wheat, Genetic resources, Stress factors, Yield structure

INTRODUCTION

During the recent years, the intensive grain production has limited the set of cultivars grown on large areas. There is a permanent tendency toward narrower genetic variability, which presents a major risk under occurrence of stress factors of abiotic and biotic nature. The storage and adequate management of the plant genetic resources is a main focus of the breeding programs. The priorities of the activities are determined by many factors, among which are the successful guarantee of sustainable agriculture, the climatic changes and the increasing consummation worldwide. The decrease of genetic variability imposes the necessity to apply new approaches with the aim to enrich it and to develop genotypes with improved morphological characteristics and adaptability. A total of 102 common wheat varieties and 7 durum wheat cultivars, 13 triticale forms and 6 cultivars of winter barley have been developed at Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute. Over 35 % of the wheat areas in Bulgaria are sown with cultivars, which are the scientific product of our research institute. The rich and diverse varietal list of winter wheat allows the producers to choose the cultivars, which are best for them and to develop their appropriate varietal structure. The cultivars are with confirmed adaptability and possess good balance between productivity potential and stability of its realization under unfavorable growing conditions. Under the increasing market competitiveness, a new vision for the breeding program of the cereal crops is outlined. The strategy for improvement of a complex of traits has been reconsidered, including the structure of yield. In compliance with the traditions, however, the accent is still on the high efficiency in production and on introduction of products for quality foods.

The aim of the research was to characterize the structure of the yield and the resistance to biotic and abiotic stress of new common winter wheat accessions included in the gene pool of Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Within three growing seasons (2015-2018), 66 new accessions of common winter wheat were evaluated (Table 1). They are from different breeding centers and possess specific phenological and biological traits. They were compared to the cultivars developed at DAI, which were recently introduced in practice. The experiment was designed in two replications, the harvest plot area being 10 m². The sowing norm was 550 germinating seeds per m². The previous crop was grain peas. At the end of February, fertilization was done with 0.06 t.ha⁻¹ active matter of nitrogen. The biometrical measurements were in accordance with the methodology of UPOV (2008). The following indices were analyzed: days to heading (DH); number of days (from 1st January); plant height (PH), cm; productive tillers of 1 m² (NPT), number; grains per spike (NGS), number; thousand kernel weight (W₁₀₀₀), g; test weight (TW), kg; lodging resistance (L), score (1 – susceptible, 3 – intermediate, 9 – resistant); grain yield (YG) t.ha⁻¹. The laboratory frost resistance was evaluated by the method of Tsenov and Petrova (1984). The resistance to the cause agents of powdery mildew *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *hordei*) and brown rust (Puccinia hordei Otth.) were studied in an artificial infection field. The attacking rate of powdery mildew was read according to the scale of Ha Saari & Prescott (1975), and the type of infection – according to Mains et Diets (1930). The scale of Cobb, modified by Peterson et al., (1948) was used for leaf rust. The experimental data were processes with the help of Microsoft Excel^{xp} и STATISTICA, release 7.0 (StatSoft Inc., 2004).

| Origin | Accessions |
|---------------|---|
| Austria (AT) | 1. Albertus; 2. Antonius; 3. Balitus; 4. Fabius; 5. Fidelius; 6. Papageno; |
| | 7. Plinius; 8. Rainer; 9. Ubicus and 10. Urbanus. |
| Bulgaria (BG) | 11. Aglika (St); 12. Bozhana; 13. Dragana; 14. Fani; 15. Kalina; |
| | 16. Korona; 17. Kristi; 18. Kristalina; 19. Lazarka; 20. Nikodim; |
| | 21. Pchelina; 22. Pryaspa (St); 23. Rada; 24. Todora (St) and 25. Zhana. |
| Croatia (HR) | 26. Alka; 27. Andelka; 28. Katarina; 29. Kraljica; 30. Lucija; 31. Renata and 32. Srpanjka. |
| France (F) | 33. Anapurna; 34. Andalou; 35. Andino; 36. Apache; 37. Avenue; |
| | 38. Basmati; 39. Exotic; 40. Foxil; 41. Solehio and 42. Toskani. |
| Germany (DE) | 43. Athlon; 44. Attraktion; 45. Balaton; 46. Bitop; 47. Eduard; 48. Etana; 49. Felix; 50. |
| | Genius; 51. Joker; 52. Joseff; 53. Katarina; 54. Laurenzio; 55. Lukullus; 56. Midas; 57. |
| | Mulan; 58. Peppino; 59. Philipp; 60. Tobias and 61. Vulkanus. |
| Serbia (RS) | 62. Ilina; 63. NS 40S; 64. Pannonia; 65. Renesansa and 66. Simonida. |

Table 1. Core collection of new common winter wheat accessions

North-east Bulgaria, where Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute is situated, is characterized with soil and climatic conditions favorable for the development of cereals. The low temperatures without snow cover during the winter months are critical. The absolute minimum temperature for this region is -29.4° C, and the absolute maximum $+41.1^{\circ}$ C. Due to the frequent flows of cooling ground-level air currents coming from the sea, the spring here is late with 10-15 days. The summer is cool, and the autumn is long, with gradual cooling of the weather. There are two distinct periods of drought, in March – April and July – August. The mean annual sum of

rainfalls is 510 mm. The leached chernozem soils are predominant in the region. Due to the heavy composition of soil, the values of the hydrological indices are comparatively high.

RESULTS

The years of study allowed very good differentiation of the investigated accessions with regard to their development and peculiarities of yield formation (Figure 1). The moisture reserves and the high mean daily air temperatures during the autumn of 2015 - 2016 were favorable for the normal emergence of the crops and their thick stand. The combination of the meteorological conditions ensured good hardening at a suitable stage of the plants development. The tillering was intensive and in some genotypes the crops became too dense. Due to the high temperatures during the spring months, the plants entered the booting stage comparatively early, and the photoperiod was not a significant limiting factor. The plants accumulated sufficient biomass, a prerequisite for formation of high productivity. Favorable conditions were registered for mass occurrence of powdery mildew, brown and yellow rust. The intensive rainfalls at the end of the vegetative growth of the plants were the reason for lodging to various degrees and for the deterioration of the physical properties of grain. The late sowing date (November) and the low mean daily temperatures in December and January were determining for the phenological development during the next vegetative growth period (2016 -2017). The emergence started during the last decade of February. Subsequently, there were favorable conditions for tillering and the crops reached normal density.



Figure 1. Agro-meteorological characteristics, 2015-2018

In spite of the elongated photoperiod, the booting stage was late. The main reason were the low mean daily and radiation temperatures. Heading started later than usual. During the next stages of vegetative growth, the amount of rainfalls and their even distribution favored the formation of good physical properties of grain. A strong drought during the spring months characterized harvest season 2017 - 2018. The entire booting period, when the reproductive organs were formed, occurred under comparatively unfavorable conditions. There were favorable conditions for the occurrence of brown rust. The high infection rate in the susceptible genotypes caused fast decay of leaf mass and early entering in the economic maturity stage.

The analysis of the variances revealed different percents of the genotype and the conditions of the environment for formation of the studied traits (Table 2). Greatest differences between the accessions were found with regard to plant height, number of productive tillers, and duration of the time to heading. Within the investigated period, the effect of the conditions on the test weight and the rate of lodging was significant.

The correct interpretation of the results requires noting that only in one of the years there were conditions for lodging and the differentiation was not good. The portion of the genotype and the conditions was similar for the formation of the number of grains and their weight. This indicates that the studied accessions had specific response to the conditions during the vegetative growth of the plants and to the combination of stress factors.

| m osugato a traits | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|------|------|------|------|-------|------|------|------|
| Traits | DH | PH | NPT | NGS | W1000 | TW | LR | YG |
| Sum of squares, | | | | | | | | |
| % | | | | | | | | |
| Genotype (A) | 52.4 | 69.3 | 56.6 | 68.7 | 39.5 | 27.8 | 24.3 | 38.2 |
| Year (B) | 26.4 | 19.4 | 22.8 | 15.9 | 41.4 | 56.4 | 58.2 | 30.5 |
| A x B | 7.3 | 5.5 | 10.7 | 10.2 | 8.7 | 6.3 | 9.8 | 24.7 |
| Residual | 13.9 | 5.8 | 9.9 | 5.2 | 10.4 | 9.5 | 7.7 | 6.6 |

Table 2. Relative portion of genotype and environment and interaction in the total variation of investigated traits

The results present the main tendencies in the realization of the genetic potential of the accessions from the working collection. At the contemporary stage of development of the breeding programs, within the open European market and under intensive exchange of materials, it is difficult to make a categorical differentiation by center of origin. The established differences are the result primarily from the pressure in the process of breeding. It is determined by the priorities of the respective programs and by the limiting factors of the concerned ecological and geographic regions. The cultivars from Austria and Germany were with the longest time to heading, followed by the ones from Croatia and France (Table 3). The variation of the latter group was within a wide range. Cultivar Avenue headed earliest, and Foxil, Toskani and Basmati - latest. Considerable variability according to this trait was found between the accessions from Bulgaria and Serbia. The field observations showed they had similar phenological development. Among the new Bulgarian common wheat cultivars included in the study, cultivar Kalina was with the earliest date to heading, while cultivar Dragana was with the latest. The variability with regard to plant height was considerable. The accessions from Croatia were with the shortest stem. Even their maximum value was much below the mean height of the rest of the groups. The accessions involved in the investigation were from the same, and from the biggest breeding centers in that country. Probably, the shortening of the stem and the use of a concrete *Rht* gene is a specificity of the program. The accessions from France had low values of this trait. The cultivars from Austria were with the highest stem. Nevertheless, during 2015 - 2016, the registered percent of lodging did not exceed 40 %. The variation was highest in the group of the Bulgarian cultivars. The predominant part was within the range 86 – 95 cm. Cultivars Korona, Kalina, Zhana, Fani and Dragana were with the shortest stem, while Bozhana was with the highest.

In comparing the structural components of the yield, considerable variability was observed; it was highest with regard to the number of productive tillers and the number of grains in spike. The Bulgarian breeding was with the lowest potential for tillering. It was preceded by the cultivars of Serbia and Austria. Higher variation was established in them. The accessions from

Croatia and France were with highest mean number of productive tillers. Cultivars Basmati, Toskani, Andino, Lucija and Renata are worth mentioning. A peculiarity of these two groups was the lower number of grains in the spike and the lower weight of grain. Exceptions were cultivars Basmati, Exotic, Foxil, Andalou and Solehio.

The Bulgarian cultivars were with highest mean values for number of grains in spike and absolute weight, which compensated for their lower number of productive tillers. Similar was the tendency in the group of the Serbian accessions. The accessions from Germany were with a balanced combination of the traits, and to a lesser degree – the ones of Austria, which were characterized by lower absolute grain weight.

Test weight was the trait with the lowest variation within the working collection. Lower values were registered during harvest seasons 2015 - 2016 and 2017 - 2018. The reasons for this are various. During the first season, lodging of the crops deteriorated grain filling, and during the second – the high rate of leaf rust occurrence caused fast defoliation of the susceptible accessions.

The determined mean productivity between the groups of different origin was 6.45 and 7.60 t.ha⁻¹. In comparing the range of variation, it was observed that in each of them there were accessions with very high potential realized under the conditions of this region. Lowest mean yield was obtained from the Austrian and Croation accessions. This was not incidental since the predominant part of them were from the group of the quality wheats and a comparison is inappropriate. Similar was the reason for the variation in the German accessions. Among the French cultivars, there was the highest number of medium wheat types and medium wheat types with increased strength. In this group, the highest productivity of 9.24 t.ha⁻¹ was determined. Within the period of investigation, the Bulgarian wheat varieties, which realized highest yield, were Rada, Kalina, Dragana and Kristi, and the highest yielding cultivars of European breeding were Basmati, Foxil, Avenue, NS 407 and Andalou.

| | Traits | DH | PH | NPT | NGS | W1000 | TW | YG |
|--------|---------|---------|--------|---------|-------|-------|-------|-----------|
| Origin | | | | | | | | |
| AT | mean | 132 | 101.5 | 638.8 | 42.7 | 38.2 | 77.8 | 6.47 |
| | min-max | 130-134 | 90-120 | 580-788 | 37-44 | 32-44 | 76-80 | 5.49-7.82 |
| BG | mean | 127 | 94.0 | 563.8 | 45.5 | 46.6 | 80.4 | 7.74 |
| | min-max | 123-130 | 82-108 | 552-676 | 38-48 | 43-50 | 78-83 | 6.33-8.68 |
| HR | mean | 125 | 69.0 | 775.4 | 35.6 | 35.6 | 79.4 | 6.45 |
| | min-max | 124-127 | 60-76 | 668-888 | 32-40 | 32-38 | 77-81 | 5.31-8.05 |
| F | mean | 128 | 80.7 | 724.4 | 39.3 | 40.2 | 78 | 6.90 |
| | min-max | 123-132 | 68-90 | 620-908 | 35-43 | 34-44 | 76-79 | 5.75-9.24 |
| DE | mean | 131 | 98.4 | 688.2 | 40.1 | 40.4 | 80.3 | 7.09 |
| | min-max | 125-136 | 70-128 | 560-840 | 35-42 | 32-46 | 76-84 | 4.72-8.51 |
| RS | mean | 127 | 89.4 | 630.4 | 44.6 | 44.1 | 79.7 | 7.60 |
| | min-max | 125-129 | 80-100 | 584-804 | 37-48 | 38-47 | 76-81 | 6.15-8.22 |

Table 3. Mean, minimum and maximum values for characters in wheat accessions

The study on the laboratory frost resistance according to the methodology adopted at DAI showed that the Bulgarian cultivars were with the highest level of cold resistance, followed by the cultivars of Serbian origin. The predominant part of the rest of the groups was at the level of the standards Rusalka and San Pastore, which is rather insufficient. Such results were to be expected. They are related to the specificity of the region where the genotypes were developed and the frequency of occurrence of critical abiotic factors during the winter and the vegetative growth of the crop.



Figure 2. Level of frost resistance of common winter wheat accessions

The phytosanitary situation in Bulgaria is currently complicated due to various reasons. High attacking rates of infection caused by diseases with previous sporadic occurrence are becoming more frequent. The initial studies showed high tolerance of the tested accessions to the main diseases on wheat in this region – powdery mildew and leaf rust (Table 4). During harvest season 2017 - 2018, the situation was rather different. Most of the accessions with high level of resistance suffered a severe attack by leaf rust. The main reason for this was probably the change in the population of the pathogen resulting from improper varietal structure and dominance of a small number of genotypes.

Discussion

The updating of the breeding program of wheat in DAI imposes the necessity to search for new sources with the aim to develop genetic variability in a number of directions. These are the specific aspects: 1) High level of winter resistance; 2) Faster resumption of vegetative growth in the spring months allowing faster rate of biomass accumulation by utilization of the autumn and winter moisture reserves; 3) Earlier date to heading allowing flowering, pollination and fertilization to occur under more favorable conditions, as well; 4) Expressed dynamic relationship between duration and rate of grain filling; 5) Tolerance to drought.

| Origin of accessions | Powdery mildew | Leaf rust |
|----------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| AT | Fabius; Fidelius. | - |
| BG | Bozhana; Dragana; Kalina; | Aglika; Fani; Rada; Pchelina; Zhana. |
| | Kristalina; Rada. | |
| HR | - | Andelka; Lucija. |
| F | Avenue; Basmati; Exotic; | Anapurna; Basmati; Exotic; Foxil; |
| | Foxil; Solehio; Toskani. | Toskani. |
| DE | Athlon; Bitop; Joseff; | Athlon; Attraktion; Bitop; Eduard; |
| | Katarina; Lukullus; Midas; | Genius; Katarina; Midas; Philipp; |
| | Mulan; Philipp. | Tobias. |
| RS | Pannonia. | Pannonia; Simonida. |

Table 4. Common winter wheat accessions with tolerance to diseases (results from artificial infection field)

The cultivars released during the last decade represent a step forward in the breeding of this crop. An indication for their adaptability potential is the high yields realized, which are stable over years under changeable soil and climatic conditions (Mihova et al., 2018; Tsenov et al., 2012a; Tsenov et al., 2012b).

When investigating the physiological specialization of powdery mildew on wheat, genes *Pm 3c*, *Pm 7* and *Pm 3b* demonstrated highest efficiency to the studied populations (Stanoeva and Iliev 2014). Genes *Pm 4e*, *Pm 5* and *Pm 3d* had low efficiency. Completely inefficient were genes *Pm 6*, *Pm 8* and *Pm 2+6*. With regard to brown rust, genes *Lr 9*, *Lr 19*, *Lr 40*, *Lr 41*, *Lr 42*, *Lr 43* and *Lr 51* were with absolute efficiency. Genes *Lr 24*, *Lr 25*, *Lr 29*, *Lr 35*, *Lr 36*, *Lr 47*, *Lr 50* and *Lr 52* were highly efficient, while *Lr 3ka*, *Lr 11*, *Lr 15*, *Lr 18*, *Lr 26* and *Lr 30* were absolutely inefficient (Ivanova 2014).

The yield is a resultant trait and the efforts for its enhancement relate to a number of theoretical and applied researches on certain qualities and properties. Morphological traits have been improved, which are related to the more efficient utilization of the environmental factors, including also the nutrition regime. Until recently, quite different genes were involved in Bulgarian breeding for reduction of stem height (Tsenov et al., 2009) in comparison to the West European breeding. The reasons for this are numerous, mainly the higher susceptibility to abiotic stress (primarily drought), the later date to heading, and a significant negative pleiotropic effect on the yield. The higher spike productivity was at the basis of the breeding strategy in wheat, primarily through higher number of florets and grains formed per spikelet at the expense of lower number of productive tillers. The contemporary high level of breeding and the demands of the market impose the necessity to search for new approaches to increase productivity. One of the options to do this is to simultaneously increase the number of productive tillers (Panayotov, 2013). Some of the *Rht* genes used in the breeding centers abroad are especially interesting. They ensure a favorable stem/spike ratio allowing the use of intensive production technologies.

In this respect the conservation and management of the genetic resources is especially important for the breeding program of DAI. The initial results from the evaluation of the biological traits of the new wheat accessions and their combining ability showed that they can be successfully used as parental components in the breeding and improvement work.

CONCLUSIONS

The working collection of common winter wheat includes 65 accessions with origin from Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, France, Germany and Serbia. Best differentiation was found according to the traits plant height, number of productive tillers and date to heading. Higher level of similarity was established between the Bulgarian and Serbian breeding. The cultivars from Austria and Germany were with the longest time to heading, followed by the ones from Croatia and France. Significant was the variability with regard to plant height. The Croatian accessions were with the shortest stem. The accessions from Croatia and France had high mean number of productive tillers. They were characterized by a lower number of grains in spike and lower grain weight.

Within the period of investigation, the Bulgarian wheat varieties, which realized highest yield, were Rada, Kalina, Dragana and Kristi, and the highest yielding cultivars of European breeding were Basmati, Foxil, Avenue, NS 407 and Andalou.

The new accessions Athlon (DE), Felix (DE) Balitus (AT), Fabius (AT), Fidelius (AT), Midas (DE), Pannonia (RS) and Simonida (RS) were with a level of laboratory frost resistance acceptable for the conditions of Bulgaria.

REFERENCES

- Ivanova, V. (2014). Race and Virulence Dynamics of *Puccinia triticina* and Effectivness of *Lr* genes in Bulgaria during 2005-2009. Turk. J. Agric. Nat. Sci., Special issue 2: 709-720.
- Mains, E. and Jackson, H. (1926). Physiologic specialization in the leaf rust of wheat, *Puccinia triticina* Erikss. Phytopathology, 16: 89-120.
- Mihova, G., Baychev, V., Aleksandrov, T., Petrova, T., Stanoeva, Y. and Ivanova, V (2018). Breeding of cereal crops at Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute – General Toshevo, Bulgaria. J Agric. Food Environ. Sci., 72 (2): 124-131.
- Panayotov, I. (2013). Etude on a new design for productivity in wheat, *Triticum aestivum* L. In: Wheat genetic and breeding studies, "Abagar", V. Tarnovo, 724-772.
- Peterson, R. F., Campbell, A. B., and Hannah, A. E. (1948). A diagrammatic scale for estimating rust intensity on leaves and stems of cereals. Can. J. Res. Sect. C., 26: 495-500.
- Saari, E. and Prescott, J. (1975). A scale for appraising the foliar intensity of winter wheat diseases. Plant Dis. Rep., 595: 337–380.
- Stanoeva, Y. and Iliev, I. (2014). Dynamics of distribution of the cause agent of powdery mildew *Blumeria graminis tritici* on wheat during 2005-2009. Turk. J. Agric. Nat. Sci., Special Issue (2): 1863-1869.
- StatSoft, Inc. (2004). STATISTICA (data analysis software system), version 7. <u>www.statsoft.com</u>.
- Tsenov, A. and Petrova, D. (1984) Methods of assess breeding materials of winter cereals and legumes for abiotic stress. Plant Sci., 21 (6): 77-87.
- Tsenov, N., Kostov, K., Todorov, I., Panayotov, I., Stoeva, I., Atanassova, D., Mankovsky, I. and Chamurliyski, P. (2009). Problems, achievements and prospects in breeding for grain productivity of winter wheat. Field Crop. Stud., 5 (2): 261-273.
- Tsenov, N., Chamurliyski, P., Petrova, T. and Penchev, E. (2012a). Breeding of cold tolerance the common winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) at Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute. Field Crop. Stud., 8 (1): 53-64.
- Tsenov, N., Ivanova, A., Atanasova, D., Petrova, T. and Tsenova, E. (2012b). Breeding indices for assessment of drought tolerance of winter bread wheat. Field Crop Stud., 8 (1): 65-74.
- UPOV (2008). Protocol for distinctness, uniformity and stability tests. *Triticum aestivum* L. European Union, Community Plant Variety Office, 40pp.

INVESTIGATION OF OLEANOLIC ACID FROM FLOWERS OF EUGENIA CARYOPHYLLUS, USING OF MODERN SPECTROSCOPY

¹Fatimah I. SULTAN,²Ayad Ch. KHORSHEED

¹Northern Technical University, Technical Agricultural College, Plant Production Techniques Department, Mosul-Iraq

² Mosul University, Education for Girls College, Biology Department

i_education@yahoo.com

Abstract

We obtained 0.03 gm from Oleanolic acid by using 1 gm of acetonic and ethanolic crude extracts from the flowers of *Eugenia caryophyllus*, using multiple column chromatography and using of chloroform-methanol, (1:10) as solvent system. Oleanolic acid was identified by modern spectroscope methods like (¹H, ¹³C NMR and MS spectroscopy) and chromatographic methods, that available in Bangor university (UK) and the bands was related to 48 protons and 30 carbon atoms belong to Oleanolic acid. Mass spectroscopy was showed the extract molecular weight 456.3621. Also the test of inhibitory effect of isolated Oleanolic acid against three types of MO (*Staphylococcus aureus*, *Escherichia coli* and *Candida albicans*) by using spectrophotometer that provided with LT-4000 plate reader that contend 96 cells for to concentration from (512-1) µg/ml and using MIC method. Moreover the Oleanolic acid gave different inhibitory effect against three mentioned MO.

Keywords: Eugenia caryophyllus, Oleanolic acid, ¹H, ¹³C NMR and Mass spectroscopy, Antibacterial activities.

INTRODUCTION

Eugenia is a genus of flowering plants, the myrtle family Myrtaceae and the *Eugenia caryophyllus* is evergreen shrubs tree with a conical shape, flowering with a four-part flower, it has a strong aromatic odour, the height average of the clove tree is 10-12 meters and sometimes reaches 20 meters, it is one of the oldest and most famous spices and its seeds are like nails, they are also refered to as light bulbs and their colour is red and turns brown when it becomes dry and for medical uses, clove is described as a fever repellent, antiseptic, and sterile stomach heals from sores and headaches protects from epidermis and helps digestion and alert of the heart (Pharmazie, 1999). Moreover the medically part used is the flower buds were that they are harvested and dried for use in the extraction process to produce the oil, as well as they used leaves and stems to get the crude extract as oil (Shovalie Indero, 2010).

The most important active ingredients are their contained of the volatile oil, where it reaches 14-21% which consist of phenols, (alpha & beta) caryophyllene, terpenes, esters, ketones, alcoholics and sesqua terpenes which are anticancer compounds, it also possible to extract the eugenol compound which has the therapeutic properties of dental pain, using flower buds and clove oil contains 13% of the oleanolic acid, and gellotannins, moreover the oil is contained 97% of eugenol, also the following compounds were presented in the clove oil (methylbenzol,

furfuryl, β -pinene, α -methyl furfural, methyl-n-heptyl carbinol, vanillin, benzyl alcohol, furfuryl -n-benzyl alcohol, furfuryl-n-heptyl ketone, methyl-n-aryl carbinol (Kamatou et al., 2012).

Oleanolic acid is one of the important of triterpenes with molecular weight of 456.70 g/mol with five six rings with formula of $C_{30}H_{48}O_3$ and presented in a wide range in the kingdom of plants and in nature is presented either free pole or a free acid and it is aglyconic intiator for cytonic terpenes that is attached with simple or multiple of sugars, and the oleanolic acid synthesized in a number of plants by conversion of squalene and commercially used in addition to be as anticancer as well as in the activation of heart muscle cells, which have given great importance to the medical aspect (Jacob and Goossens, 2012) and it is also used in the treatment of some chronic diseases such as diabetes (Xiao et al., 2012, Madlala, 2012).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Preparation of the crude plant extracts by using continuous soxhlet apparatus

The crude extracts were carried out by method that mentioned of Al-Daody (1998), and this method was depended on the nature of active constituents that isolated from the plants and also on the solvent that we used in the separation process and using the sequence solvents systems in the extraction, moreover we used five solvent systems with different polarity of following pet.ether (60-80°C), chloroform acetone, ethonol 95% and methylated spirit industrial (IMS).

The extraction process was carried out in the different temperature degrees according to the boiling point of each solvent provide that temperature was not increase above 80°C, so we put 100 gm of the plant powder of the flowers in the patch to soxhlet extractor and the extraction process was reached to the end of each solvent by appearance of no colour in the soxhlet. The process was repeated for each solvent using the same batch.

Also, each solvent was concentrated using rotary vacuum evaporator (RVE) at the degree of temperature 40°C and put all crude extracts in the dark bottoms and kept in the freeze till we are used latter.

Separation and purification of oleanolic acid from acetonic and ethanolic extracts of bud flowers of Eugenia caryophyllus

Dissolve of 1 gm of each acetonic and ethololic crude extract at ratio of (1:1) and we gave the symbol of E_3 and E_4 of bud flowers of *Eugenia caryophyllus* that was prepared with solvent solution and separation of components of extract E_3 and E_4 by using column chromatography with silica gel 60A for flash chromatography and saturated with mixture eluent of pet.ether-Ethyl acetate (5:1, V/V) that was chosen by the best separation of the run of TLC technique and the system was called as (P:E) and the E_3 and E_4 extracts were put in saturated of P.E. on the silica gel and the separation was carried out step by step, and we collected every 5ml from the part of solvent system (mobile phase) in glass bottomed.

The detection of the resulted fractions from the column chromatography as according to the similarity of spots at position and shapes on TLC-plates on the same solvent system that used in the column, after that we get four fractions which gave as (E_3 and $_4$ and F_3A , E_3 and $_4$ F_4A , E_3 and $_4$ F_1A , E_3 and $_4$ F_2A) and changed the polarity of mobile phase of column for the same extracts, so we chose (Chloroform-Meoh) at ration of (10:1) as (Ch:M) as solvent system.

Only two fractions were obtained from this polarity and gave as $E_3\&_4 F_1B$ and $E_3\&_4 F_2B$ and also we changed the polarity another one that we used (Ch:M) with ration of (5:1) and two fractions were appeared too, and gave as ($E_3\&_4 F_1C$, $E_3\&_4 F_2C$) and then evaporate the solvent by (RVE) and dissolve some of each fraction in (Methanol-d₄) to measure it by NMR instrument (Harbourne, 1998).

The inhibitory activity test of oleanolic acid by turbidity method

The method of microbial sensitivity test of isolated oleanolic acid from *Eugenia caryophulls* so that, the test was carried out by spectrophotometer instrument from FFFF JASCO-550 UVNIS that presented in Bangor university (UK) also the turbidity test was measured by the mentioned instrument which provided from the Fishcher scientific company and using LT-4000 plate reader that contained 96 cell as cleared in the Image 1.

The primary concentration was prepared which netroulized 1024 μ g/ml that dissolve of 0.1 gm of isolated pure compound in 1 ml of DMSO after that added the mixture to the test tub that contend 1 ml N. broth in cells beginning from the second cell of plate. So 200 ml was added to the primary concentration of active compound to the primary cell of plate and the formation of diluted solutions and transfer of 100 μ l from the primary cell and added to second cell an so over till we reach to the tenth cell.

Microbial suspension was prepared with concentration of 1×10^5 cell/cm³ by addition of 0.1 ml of bacteria to 10 ml from N. broth. 100 µl from microbial suspension was added to tenth cell and we get of concentration as (512, 256, 128, 64, 32, 16, 8, 4, 2, 1) µg/ml.

The test was carried out with the average of repeated there of each concentration and each type from the using microbial types on the plat it self and the complete of diluted solution. The plate was covered with adhesive adaptor and reading of spectrophotometer and using incubator at 37°C for the period of 14-16 Hrs. after that we measure the turbidity by the instrument it self and the reading with wave length of 492 nm. So the limitation was carried out of the effect was pure active compound for comparison with the positive stander compound (Pessin et al., 2003).



Image 1. A. Spectroscopy B. Plate 96 cell

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Separation and identification of oleanolic acid from the acetonic and ethonolic crude extracts from the bud flowers of *Eugenia caryophyllus*, using CC technique solvent system of (P:E) (Pet.ether-ethylacetate) as mobile phase was used with ration of (5:1, V/V) in the column chromatography that packed with silica gel 60A, in the separation of oleanolic acid, and obtained of four fractions and from them, the fourth fraction that identify as oleanolic acid by NMR spectroscopy and it was not purified and gave as $E_3\&_4$ F₄A by weight of 0.14 g (Image 2) and it is clear that the fourth fraction was appeared at the bottom of TLC, so the polarity was increased for choosing solvent system (Ch-MeOH) with ration of (10:1, V/V). So, this solvent system more polarity then will compete with silica gel to put of oleanolic acid and separated

and when we saw the chemical structure of oleanolic acid that we found it as glycosides from as presented in the plant, so the oleanolic acid is a triterpene with glucose sugar and it is contained of two type of hydroxyl group (OH), first is carboxylic acid at (C_{24}) position and the other is alcoholic at position of (C_2) and Figure 1, so that, the sugar will attach, with OH of carboxylic of alcoholic and also we have solvent contained of chloroform that non polar that is dissolved the aglycone part and the glycone compound will dissolve by methanol (polar compound) and in this case, the oleanolic acid will liberate from silica gel, or acid hydrolysis was carried out inside of column chromatography as a result of silica gel as silicic acid, then the oleanolic acid liberated as free pole.

There are two fractions by using of the solvent system as (Ch:M) and after of the testing of them by NMR technique, we found that oleanolic acid is presented in the first fraction with 100% purity and gave as $E_3\&_4 F_1B$ as clear in the (Image 3) so, the B is presented as second choosing polarity (Ch:M) and the weight was 0.03gm from the origin 1 g extract of each acetonic and ethanolic with ration of (1:1, V/V).

Oleanolic acid is polar compound that, it is elucidated to appear after the change of polarity of mobile phase and also was separated from acetonic and ethanolic that are usually known as polar solvents and this compound is not appeared in the non polar solvents.

The Image 4 was appeared that oleanolic acid had white colour after evaporated the solvent by RVE or it had white colour with power from when it evaporated and had crystal material when it inside of the solvent. It is considered that oleanolic acid was separated as pure from the bud flowers of *Eugenia caryophyllus* and this study is the first in Iraq and it was differed from the first study in India as a result of different culture by Rangari & Banarase that get the patent (Rangari and Banarase, 2010).



Image 2. Oleanolic acid in E₃&₄ F₄A by TLC technical



Image 3. Oleanolic acid in E₃&₄ F₁B by TLC technical



Image 4. Pure oleanolic acid from Eugenia caryophllus

Identification of oleanolic acid

The oleanolic acid was identified by using multiple of techniques as following below: **First:** by ¹H-NMR, that used of NMR instrument with 400 MHz for proton, and 101 MHz for C^{13} , so that the oleanolic acid which was isolated by column chromatograph dissolve in chloroform-d¹ as (CD Cl₃) so, it gave band at 7.27 ppm in ¹H-NMR & gave the band at 77.00 ppm related to ¹³C-NMR.

A: Identification of oleanolic acid by ¹H-NMR

The identification was carried out through limitation of the bands that appeared in $C_{30}H_{48}O_3$ as clear in the Figure 1. The broad band b as triplet band (t) for on proton at 5.29 ppm, ¹H, J3.4Hz, b.t and this proton was carried the no. 13 and the integration was also 1.00. The band (dd) for one proton was also appeared at 3.22 ppm, ¹H, 10.8 Hz, J4.32 (dd) and carried no. 2 and this proton was appeared (dd) for adjacent of two proton, one of them is cis and the other is trans as clips & couch and the integration is 1.01. Also the band of (dd) for one proton was appeared at 2.83 ppm as (dd), ¹H, J4.28, 14.04 Hz and carried the no. 18. And in case of previous proton it self, with no. 2 as adjacent two proton but the difference that, this proton was Endo while the proton of no. 2 was Exo and integration was 1.04.

So that, a band (tt) at 1.97 ppm was also appeared for one proton and the integration was 1.16 as (¹H, tt J4.04, 13.4 Hz which was carried the no. of 33 and it carried the carboxyl group. Also, the multiple bands were appeared for two proton (4, 10) at (1.88-1.92) ppm as m, 2H and integration was 1.91. Multiple bands were also appeared belong to 12 protons at (1.53-1.81) ppm as 12H, m, belong to atoms (6+7+8+14+20+22) as from CHz and integration was 11.43. The same multiple bands were appeared at (1.05-1.48) ppm belong to 12 proton (1+15+16+19) as well as of proton of OH at 27 carbon atom, and also triple multiple band belong to three protons related to CHz group no. 32 was appeared at 1.14 ppm and integration was 12.35 as 1.05-1.48.

Also, single six bands were appeared belong to three protons for CH₃ groups at 0.99 ppm related to atoms 28 (5, 3H) with integration of 3.38, and the atom 2, at position of (5, 3H, 0.93 ppm) with integration 8.74. The action 36 at 0.92 ppm, 3H, S with integration 8.74 and atom 35 at 0.91 ppm. S, 3H, with integration of 8.74, and the atoms 25 at 0.78 ppm (3H, S) and integration of 3.81 and atom 26 at position of 0.76 ppm (3H, S). The OH group of carboxylic acid was not appeared at normal position 9 ppm and over that because as exchange of part of acid with CDCl₃ to change to CHCl₃ and for that the acid was appeared at position with high shielded and appeared of CHCl₃ at position of deshielded as 7.28 ppm. The resent results of study was equaled to the study (Corey and Lee, 1993). So that the identified position that he obtained by ¹H-NMR for oleanolic acid that prepared it by chemical methods was similar to

the recent study. Also, the current study was nearly equal with results of (Marquina et al. 2001) who was identified oleanolic acid that isolated from the roots of *Viguiera decurrens* by ¹H-NMR. Also, identified oleanolic from *Sebania sesban* by ¹³C-NMR and the results was nearly equal to the current study (Das et al., 2011).



Figure 1. ¹H-NMR of oleanolic acid

B. Identification of oleanolic acid by ¹³C-NMR

The Figure 2 was cleared that the various bands of oleanolic acid which contained of 30 carbon atoms $C_{30}H_{48}O_3$ and measured by ¹³C-NMR with 101 MHz and using CDCl₃ as solvent that gave the band at 77.00 MHz, so the number of carbons from C1-30 as following below:

| C ₁₂ =143.6 | C ₁₃ =122.6 | C ₂ =79.6 | $C_{22}=55.2$ | C ₈ =47.6 | C7=46.5 |
|------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| C ₁ =45.9 | C ₆ =41.6 | C ₃₂ =41.0 | C ₃₆ =39.3 | C ₃₅ =38.7 | C ₂₈ =38.4 |
| C ₂₉ =37.1 | C ₂₆ =33.8 | C ₂₅ =33.1 | C ₁₉ =32.6 | C ₁₆ =32.4 | C ₁₄ =30.7 |
| C ₁₈ =28.1 | $C_{11} = 27.7$ | C ₄ =27.2 | C ₁₇ =25.9 | C ₃ =23.6 | C5=23.4 |
| C ₉ =22.9 | C ₂₀ =18.3 | C ₁₅ =17.1 | C ₁₀ =15.5 | C ₂₁ =15.5 | |

There results were equal to the results of Bednarczyk-Cwynar et al. (2012); Martinez et al. (2013); Moreira et al. (2013), relatively.

Mass spectroscopy MS is analytical technique for limitation of components that composition of the compound or the part that used to clear the chemical formula of molecules e.g. peptides and other chemical compounds.

The Figure 3 was spectrum of mass of oleanolic acid was started from appeared the primary essential band as presented as molecular ion (M^+) and truly mean the molecular weight to the measure compound and fragmentation of this compound according to appear of fragmented bands.



Figure 2. ¹³C-NMR of oleanolic acid

Second: Identification of oleanolic acid by using Mass spectroscopy (MS)

- (1) $M^+ = 456.3621$
- (3) 17(OH alc.) = 439.4449

(2) $lC^{13} + = 457.4449$

 $(4) \qquad 18(H_2O) - = 438.3390$



(5) 438.446-17 (OH) = 421.44



- $(7) \qquad 392.368 + (1C^{13}) = 393.3940$
- (9) 392.3268-15 (CH₃) =377.3151

(6) 438.3390-28 (CO) = 410.3488



- (8) 438.3390-46(HC OH) = 392.3268
- (10) 377.3151-28 (CH₂=CH₂) = 349.2776



(11) 349.2774 - 100 = 249.2331



- $(12) \quad 249.2331 + (1C^{13}) = 250.1889$
- $(14) \quad 248.1057 15 \ (CH_3) = 233.1265$



(16) 207.1523 - 18 (CH₄) = 191.1314



- $(17) \quad 191.1314 (1H) = 190.1314$
- $(19) \quad 189.1226 (1H) = 188.1304$
- (21) $187.1301-26 (H-C \equiv C-H) = 161.2345$
 - H₃C + +
- (23) 160 (1H) = 159
- (25) 158 (1H) = 157





- $(13) \quad 249.2331 (H) = 248.1057$
- (15) 233.1265-26 (H−C≡C−H)=207.1523



- $(18) \quad 190.1314 (1H) = 189.1226$
- $(20) \quad 188.1304 (1H) = 187.1304$
- $(22) \quad 161 (1H) = 160$

- (24) 159 (1H) = 158
- $(26) \quad 161.2345 16 (CH_4) = 145.0947$

(28)

(30)

(27) $145.0947 - 16 (CH_4) = 129.1122$



(29) $119.0715 - 12(1C^{12}) = 107.0697$



(31) $95.0705 - 14 (CH_2) = 81.0507$



• •

 $145.0947 - 26 (H - C \equiv C - H) = 119.0715$



 $(32) \quad 95.0705 - 28 (CH_2CH_2) = 67.0990$





Figure 3. Mass spectra of oleanolic acid

Antimicrobial activity

We take the isolation microbial of (*Staph. aureus, E. coli and C. albicans*) it was done in one of the laboratories of Dept of Biology/ University of Bangor/ British and the isolation bacteria was identified worldly and raping with lyfolyzer and so that the summation of isolation bacteria was reached to 48 isolation and there were 30 isolation as Gram positive and 18 isolation with Gram negative.

The experiment was carried out with test turbidity method by using JASCO V-550 UV/VIS spectrophotometer and it provided from Fishcher scientific company with using plate of type LT-4000 plate reader and content with 96 cell.

The method was carried out in the biological was in Bangor University (UK) and preparation of diluted solution as clear from the material and methods. So, it was prepared the concentration of oleanolic acid compound (512, 256, 128, 64, 32, 16, 8, 4, 2, 1) μ g/cm³ and after incubator at 37°C so, the results were appeared as following.

The sensitivity test of oleanolic acid

The experiment was appeared clear sensitivity the turbidity test of microbial (*Staph. aureus, E. coli and C. albicans*) against isolated oleanolic acid with pure from the put flower of *Eugenia caryophllus* with comparison with positive stander control that it content from N. broth media and microbial using under study for each one that it is noticed in the Table 1 using of microbial was a highly sensitivity against oleanolic acid. Oleanolic acid was inhibited the growth of *staph. aureus* in a mount 0.09 at the concentration 512 μ g/cm³ and the same case in the rest of used of concentrations as clear in the figure (4). Moreover the oleanolic acid was effected at *E. coli* by 0.04 with compared with stander control as clear in the Table 1 and the Figure 4. And the same case for *C. albicans* so the oleanolic acid was a good affected against *C. albicans* so the growth of these microbial was few with turbidity of 0.20 with concentration 512 μ g/cm³ against oleanolic acid and the effect was inserted directly with were compared with stander control. As in the Table 1 and the Figure 4.

| 14010 (1): 5 | | | | pure o | leanon | ie uera | nom | Bugen | | opnin | 15 | |
|--------------|---------------|------|------|--------|--------|---------|-----------|---------|------|-------|------|---------|
| Microbial | | | | | | Conce | entration | n μg/cm | 3 | | | |
| | Treatment | 512 | 256 | 128 | 64 | 32 | 16 | 8 | 4 | 2 | 1 | Control |
| Olaanolia | Staph. aureus | 0.09 | 0.19 | 0.30 | 0.57 | 0.69 | 0.87 | 0.98 | 1.99 | 1.00 | 1.07 | 1.52 |
| Oleanone | — 11 | 0.04 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.70 | | 0.0. | 4.00 | 1.00 | 1 00 | | |

0.53

0.79

0.77

0.86

0.95

0.99

1.09

1.04

1.20

1.09

1.33

1.23

1.41

1.40

1.55

1.53

Table (1): Sensitive of some microbial to pure oleanolic acid from Eugenia caryophllus

0.22

0.62

Control (+ve) 100 µl from broth and 100 µl from microbial suspension.

0.04

0.20

0.09

0.44



E. coli

C. albicans

acid





Figure (4): Sensitive of microbial under study to oleanolic acid (A): *Staph. aureus* (B): *E. coli* (C): *C. albicans*

REFERENCES

- Pharmazie, M. (1999). "Diplomarbeit Javanese medical plants used in rural communities". Durchgeführt am Dept. für Pharmakognosie Universität Wien.
- Shovalie Indero (2010). "The treatment by herbs and medicinal plants". International academic, Beirut, Lebanon.
- Kamatou, Gp., Vermaak, I., Viljoen Am. (2012). "Eugenia from the remote maluku islands to international market place: a review of remarkable and versatile molecule". Molecule 17(6): 6953-81 doi/0.3390/molecules. PMID 22728369.
- Jacob, P., Goossens, A. (2012). "Oleanolic acid". Phytochemistry, 77: 10-15.
- Xiao, Y, Wang, Y.P., Cantley, J., Iseli, T.J., Molero, J.C., Hegarty, B.D., Idward, W., Ji-Ming Ye, Ye, Y. (2012). "Oleanolic acid Reduces Hyperglycemia beyond treatment period with Akt/Fox01- Induced suppression of Hepatic gluconeogenesis in type -2-Diabetic Mic". J. Pone, 10: 1371.
- Madlala, H.P. (2012). "The effect of plant derived Oleanolic acid on kidney function in male Sprague-Dawley rats and in cell lines of the kidney and liver". M. Sc. Thesis. University of Kwazalu Natal.
- Al-Daody, A. Ch. (1998). "Chemical Study on some Iraqi Plants". Ph.D. Thesis, College of Science, University of Mosul, 112-113.
- Harborne, J.B. (1998). Phytochemical Methods. 3rd ed., Chapman & Hall.
- Pessin, G.L., Dias Filho, B.P., Nakamura, C.V., Cortez, D.A.G. (2003). Antibacteria activity of extracts and neolignans from piper regneni. Var. pallescens yunck. Mem. Inst. Oswaldocruz, Riode Janeire, 98(8): 1115-1120.
- Rangari, V.D. Banarase, N.B. (2010). Isolation of Oleanolic acid from Eugenia *caryophyllus* flower Buds with 2% yield and process there of invent to patent. Patent to prosper TMP. Searchers.com international classification: C07J63100.
- Corey, E.J., Lee, J. (1993). "Enantioselective total synthesis of Oleanlic acid, Erythrodiol, β-Amyrin, and other pentacyclic Trierpenes from a common intermediate". J. Am. Chem. Soc., (115): 8873-8874.
- Marquina, S., Maldonado, N., Garduño-Ramirez, M.L., Aranda, E., Villarreal, M.L.;, Navarro, V., Bye, R., Delgado, G., Alvarez, L. (2001). "Bioactive Oleanolic acid saponins and other constituents from the roots of *Viguiera decurrens*". Phytochemistry, (56):93-97.
- Das, N., Chandran, P., Chakraborty, S. (2011). Potent spermicidal effect of Oleanolic acid 3-beta-D-glucuronide, an active principle isolated from the plant *Sesbania sesban* Merril Contraception, India. 83: 167-175.
- Bednarczyk-Cwynar, B., Zaprutko, L., Marciniak, J., Lewandowski, G., Szulc, M., Kaminska, E., Wachowiak, N., Mikolajczak, P.L. (2012). "The analgesic and anti-inflammatory effect of new Oleanolic acid acyloxyimino derivative". Eur. J. Pharm. Sci., (47): 549-555.
- Martinez, A., Rivas, F., Perojil, A., Parra, A., Garcia-Granados, A., Femandez-Vivas, A. (2013).
 "Biotransformation of oleanlic and maslinic acids by Rhizomucor miehei". Phytochemistry, (94): 229-237.
- Moreira, V.M.; Salvador, J.A.R.; Simoes, S.; Destro, F. and Gavioli, R. (2013). "Novel Oleanlic vinyl boronates: synthesis and antitumor activity". Eur. J. Medicinal Chem., (63): 46-56.

ULTRASOUND DIAGNOSIS OF HEPATIC LIPIDOSIS IN COWS FOR MILK PRODUCTION AS INDICATOR OF SARA (SUB ACUTE RUMEN ACIDOSIS)

Emilian SHABANI

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Tirana, Albania

emilian3shabani@yahoo.it

ABSTRACT

Metabolic diseases in the cow have been and remain the challenge of veterinarians around the world. The main problem is related not only to nutrition and the environment but also to the individual characteristics of animals and the physiological period. Immediately after calving is the most favorable terrain for the development of many metabolic diseases. Very common pathologies are Sara, ketosis, puerperal paresis, etc. Studies show that there is a strong relation between ruminal environment disorder by subclinic acidosis and hepatic lipidosis. Since sub clinic acidosis or SARA presents many diagnostic difficulties, hepatic lipidosis as frequent episode of this pathology, may serve as an important indicator for Sara's diagnosis. The simplest, fast, non-invasive and low cost method for diagnosis is ultrasonography of liver. Through this method, it is possible to see the hepatic changes caused by the increased deposition of the adipose tissue. The main purpose of this article is to inform the reader that hepatic lipidosis serves to raise doubts that dairy cows are suffering from SARA condition.

Keywords: Sara, Hepatic lipidosis, Ultrasonography, Cows, Diagnosis

INTRODUCTION

Subacute rumen acidosis (below SARA condition) is the most important economic problems on farms and cows for milk production and is characterized by daily episodes of pH reduction in the rumen content between values of 5.5 - 5.0, (Enemark et al., 2002). Poverty or lack of clinical signs do not easily identifiable pathology. Clinical signs may appear to reduce the amount of dry food consumption, laminitis, rumenitis, liver abscesses, pulmonary bacterial embolism, loss of body weight and % reduction of fat in milk, require weeks and months to follow the negative impact of SARA condition (Underwood, 1992; McDonald, 1995; Mortensen, 1999; Kleen et al., 2003). The decline in pH of ruminal content and rumen movement disorders in cows with SARA condition, caused by the local accumulation of volatile fatty acids only as a result of feeding the animals with food ration easily fermentable and not by accumulation of lactic acid (Nocek, 2003; Kleen et al., 2003; Gianesella, 2012).

Subacute rumen acidosis (SARA), is recognized as a disorder of the processes of fermentation and digestion of food in the rumen (Oetzel, 2003; 2005). This syndrome is found in particular in well-managed farms of cows for milk production (Nordlund et al., 1995; Hughes, 2001). SARA condition is the most common disorders in ruminants and deviation from the norm underlying processes in the environment of ruminal fermentation. SARA condition is characterized by episodes of lowering daily pH of rumen content in values between 5.5 and 5.0, (Underwood, 1992). This disorder is a result of feeding the animals with high levels of concentrate (Radostis et al., 2003). SARA condition can also be defined as a decrease of pH in the content of rumen in nophysiological levels after receiving concentrated foods and not to favor environmental adaptation in terms of ruminal microflora and mucous membranes. This condition is not associated with obvious clinical signs.

Cows are always regarded as an essential source of animal products (meat, milk, leather, bones) and as natural land fertilizers. One of the permanent tasks of mankind has been and remains the improvement of the productive and reproductive performance of dairy cows. This exaggerated obsession is related to increased demand for products and by-products originating from cows. Such levels requirements tend to exceed all genetic capabilities of animals and constitute the major ubiquitous cause of metabolic problems (Nordlund, 1995). The liver is an organ of great importance in the body. It actively participates in the synthesis of glucose, in plasma protein formation, in formation and excretion of bile salts, in pigment excretion, in the formation of prothrombin, in detoxification and excretion of many substances including photodynamic agents. Ruminants liver has a remarkable functional reserve. Clinical manifestations of liver diseases becomes apparent only if 70% of parenchyma is totally in functional inactivity. Using imaging methods especially ultrasound for diagnosing of hepatic diseases in cattle is indicated because other diagnostic methods including the determination of hepatospecific enzymes, in most cases are insufficient (Nordlund, 1995; Shabani et al., 2013). Hepatic ultrasound examination is rewarding because it defines the hepar size, position, shape, condition, dimension of vessels and different types of hepatic disorders (Shabani and Robaj, 2016). Hepatic lipidosis is the most important metabolic disorder of dairy cows during early lactation and is responsible for ill-health and poor reproductive performance of the animals. Efficient application of diagnostic and preventive strategies for this syndrome has great economic importance. Transitional period between late pregnancy and early lactation is a situation where creates an excessive drainage of different nutrients. Hepatic lipidosis is a condition that usually develops in the period near of calving and in early lactation (Kojouri, 2003). Hepatic lipidosis develops when hepatic lipid intake exceeds the level of oxidation and exretion of lipds from liver. This condition is characterized by high concentration of free fatty acids metabolized by adipose tissue. Lipid excess is deposited as triglycerol who is primarily responsible for reducing the liver's metabolic functions. Liver can be categorized as normal or average, moderate or severe hepatic lipidosis, encephalopatic lipidosis, and hepatic incefalopatia (Braun, 1990; Grummer, 1990; Ametaj, 2005; Brown, 2000). Syndrome of hepatic lipidosis affects almost half of herd immediately after calving. The amount of fat accumulated in liver in the first 10 days after calving ranges from 60 to 120 grams per day. Lipids accumulated in liver occupy 12 to 25% of liver wet weight. In some cases, hepatic lipidosis followed by severe inflammation resulting in patient's death. If patients who suffer from this syndrome are not treated, mortality captures the values 25% (Ametaj, 2005). SARA causes negative energy balance resulting in hepatic lipidosis. Hepatic lipidosis can be identified by an ultrasound study and can serve as a SARA condition indicator (Shabani and Robaj, 2016).

Results of recent studies show an interesting correlation among the unfavorable breeding conditions (bad hygiene, inadequate ventilation, inappropriate layer, density of animals above the permitted levels, poor lighting, poor approach to water and food) with the frequency of metabolic diseases.

Cows with high milk production experience a period of energy scarcity in early lactation. In this period the cows mobilize body reserves to cope milk production. These facts constituting the real causes of moderate hepatic lipidosis which affects the best individuals in the herd. Fat is deposited in all tissues of the body, especially in sceletal muscles. Statistical processing of data from different studies shows that hepatic lipidosis syndrome is part of the general fats mobilization and not just a specific tissue or organ (Kida, 2003). Margolles et al. (1988) demonstrated that hepatic lipidosis happens in such circumstances when the energy distribution in animals at late pregnancy is insufficient. Animals with double pregnancy are extremely vulnerable and sensitive to energy deficiencies in resent moths of pregnancy. Recent studies shows very clearly the importance of nutrition of animals before and after calving on

the etiology of ketosis/hepatic lipidosis syndrome. Braun (2003), states that transitional period (3 weeks before and 3 weeks after calving is the most critical moment in the biological life of dairy cows.

Always it has been reported a correlation between mastitis and metabolic diseases. Hyperglycemia followed by hypoglycemia it has been reported as part of the inflammatory phase. It is believed that the hypoglycemia phase is associated with the reduction of the level of glucose released from the liver (Katoh, 2002) reported a transitional growth of plasma concentration in NEFA after intravenous injection of E.coli lipopolysaccharide in heifers. Inflamatory responses are part of the etiology of hepatic lipidosis. Hepatic lipid accumulation is stimulated by the growing of concentration of proinflamative cytokines and tumor necrosis factor alfa (Braun and Gerber, 1994; Mammdouh, 2004). Inflammatory conditions and the response of the acute phase activate the macrophages that release a wide variety of products known as cytokines. The most important cytokines are TNF alpha, interleukin 1 and interleukin 6 that promote the production of a large range of proteins in the liver. These proteins are known as SAA and haptoglobina which reach high concentrations in the plasma of dairy cows immediately after calving. The levels are similar with the situations when we inject endotoxin intravenously (Ametaj, 2005; Radostitis et al., 2005). Endotoxins are components of cell membranes in all gram negative bacteria and play a very important role in the development of many matabolic diseases among them and hepatic lipidosis (Mundron et al., 1999; Ametaj, 2005; Bobe et al., 2008).

Goff and Horst (1997) concluded that phosphorus deficiency after calving plays an important role in the pathogenesis of hepatic lipidosis. The same author recomended phosphorus supplements as a useful prophylactic and therapeutic measure for postpartum hepatic lipidosis. This scientific facts were emphasized even more by (Multu et al., 1998; Radostitis et al., 2003) who describet post- mortem examination in cattles with haemoglobin deficiency after calving. The liver of this animals appears enlarged and with great fatty infiltration. Changes of degenerative fatty infiltration were found also in histopathological examiantions. Sayed (1991) studied 180 cattles of Holshtein breed 40 days after calving. From this study, the author reported that hypophosphatemia in 10.7% of cases was associated with hyperacetonemia. Morrow et al. (1979) and Oetzel (2001) sugested that hypophosphatemia comes as a secondary metabolic event, as a result of subclinical condition of ketoacidosis in the period before calving.

Hepatic lipidosis it is a pathological change which is not yet very clear on the causality, but many authors suggest and give as the main problem disorder of the intrahepatic blood circulation (Acorda et al., 1994). Brown (1990) showed that degenerative local changes of hepatic lipidosis can be identified with special diagnostic techniques (ultrasound). Hepatic accumulation of triglycerides due to increased level of hepatic intake of NEFA stimulate an increased activity of diacylglycerol acyltransferases (Acorda et al., 1994; Manal et al. 2005). Recent studies have managed to explain why the liver has a limited capacity for oxidation of fatty acids. Lack of ocsalacetate which is needed to keep in view the tricarboxylic acid cycle, lack of carnitine which is necessary for mitochondrial transport and oxidation of acetyl coenzyme A, lack of niacin, disturbed endocrine factors of patient, are the correct answers of the question WHY (Goff and Horst, 1997). Hepatic lipidosis occurs when the unesterified fatty acid concentrations reach levels 1000 uEq per L (Multu et al., 1998). Hepatic triglyceride level is negatively correlated with plasma level of alfatocopherol (Van Den Top et al., 2005). Microzomal hepatic triglicerides transfer the protein activity and the body mass index it is not affected by nutritional status of cows that are not in lactation (Acorda et al., 1994).

Morrow et al. (1979) and Grummer et al. (1990) described hepatic lipidisis as a specific clinical condition that occurs in obese dairy cows. This illness situation causes serious health problems at the time of calving. The same author noted that the level of morbidity was 82%

and mortality 25%. Cows with a very good condition at the calving period are more likely to be affected from hepatic lipidosis and cows with hepatic lipidosis are very likely to develop the ketosis condition (Salem et al., 2003). Hepatic lipidosis syndrome may be developed within 24 hours and lasts for a long time. By histological, cows classified into 3 groups based on the level of fat content in the hepatic level at individuals one week after calving

- 1.Less than 20% lipids corresponds to less than 50 mg per gram of liver weight.
- 2. 50 to 100 mg lipids per gram of liver.
- 3. More than 40% is more than 100 mg lipids per gram of liver.

These concentrations correspond to the average rates, moderate and severe of hepatic lipidosis. Cows with less than 20% lipids in liver, in a week after calving are considered normal, individuals with over 20% are considered with hepatic lipidosis syndrome. Clinical evidences of liver disease do not pull the attention of a doctor or a farmer until such time as concentrations of lipids in liver do not reach the values 35%, 45% or more (Radostitis et al., 2003). The total of hepatic lipids, mainly triglycerides, come to a climax on the day of calving or between 1 and 5 week after calving. This situation persists until the 12th week of lactation (Radostitis et al., 2003; Ametaj, 2005) in the total of affected animals of a herd, generally 25%, fatality level in affected individuals is 90% (Radostitis et al., 2003; Beitz et al., 2004; Shabani and Robaj, 2016). The vital indicators (body temperature, cardiac and respiratory frequency) are within values of the norm. Rumen peristaltic is weak or absent and faeces are generally scarce. Periods of lying for a long time are common in patients who suffer from this illness condition. Heavy ketosis condition which does not answers in ordinary treatment is frequent. Patients demonstrate full anorexia. This fact makes the animals physically weaker and forces them to stay lying. Animals with lying syndrome die within 7 or 10 days (Clain et al., 1984; Braun, 2003). Clinical findings in patients with serious hepatic lipidosis are yellowing of the mucous membranes, anorexia, ketosis, frequent movement and unintentional of the head, the left shift of abomasum, lying and coma (Nordlund, 1995; Braun et al., 1996). However, it should be noted that this illness condition it is not characterized by specific clinical signs. A clinical moment which should never be forgotten is that the hepatic lipidosis is a physiological deviation that occurs at the beginning of lactation. Special attention should be shown to animals in early lactation because other diseases as ketoza, paresis, mastitis, metritis, displacement of abomasum and the rest of the placenta are more frequent in animals with hepatic lipidosis (Braun, 1996; 2004). Almost in all cases hepatic lipidosis is coexistent with the above diseases (Radostitis et al. 2003; Sayed, 1991; Nordlund, 1995; Van Den Top, 2005).

Ultrasound examination of liver

The complete ultrasound examination of the liver must provide detailed information on shape, size, position, ultrasound model of hepatic parenchyma, size of the gall bladder, size of the internal and external liver duct and topography of the large blood vessels. Ultrasound allows doctors to accurately trial hepatic pathological processes and helps setting the correct diagnosis (Braun, 1990; Bremmer et al., 2000; Shabani and Robaj, 2016). Ultrasound diagnosis methods are safe and do not cause damage to the liver cells (Braun , 1990; Shabani and Robaj, 2016). The best region for ultrasound examination of the liver in cows is the area between the ribs 7 and 12 on the right side. Care should be taken in patients with right abomasal displacement or with diaphragmatic hernia or different congenital malformations which relocate liver and make it invisible on ultrasound examination (Bobe et al., 2005; Shabani and Robaj, 2016). Normal pattern of normal cow's liver during the ultrasound examination consists of a poor echoich homogeneity distributed throughout the liver area. The lumen of the portal and hepatic vein is anechoic. The normal liver ultrasonograme consists in a number of weak echo distributed

homogeneously throughout the liver area, with a thin longitudinal anechoic line, veins and wall of the arteries are thick and hiperechoic (Salem et al. 2003). Hepatic ultrasonogram is rewarding in assessing the degree of hepatic fatty infiltration in dairy cows (Bobe et al., 2005). Ultrasound diagnosis of liver using liver/kidney contrast has only limited use in dairy cows (Acorda et al., 1994). Braun (1990) and Bobe et al. (2005) indicated that the breed and the cow's age does not influence the liver ultrasound appearance. Different echo models of bright patterns, light stains in deep hepatic vessels and different angles can be used to distinguish varying or diffuse hepatocellular disorders in dairy cows. Ultrasound methods can also be used as a screening test before using other invasive techniques (Acorda et al., 1994). Ultrasound findings of hepatic lipidosis is associated with hepatomegaly appearance, round borders of liver, hiperechoic parenchyma close to the abdominal wall, the weak echoic view with increasing distance from the abdominal wall and poor appearance of the liver blood vessels (Braun, 1990). Local hepatic lipidosis not cause displacement of adjacent blood vessels (Grummer at al., 1990; Shabani and Robaj, 2016). By increasing the fat content in the liver observed reduction in the diameter of the portal vein and increase the size of the gallbladder (Kida, 2003). Digital ultrasound tests have the potential to classify the level of triglycerides in the liver infiltration and evaluate the hepatic triglyceride content. These analyzes are appropriate and safe to be realized in a large group of animals on the farm. The diagnosis of hepatic lipidosis makes successful treatment and significantly lowers the level of mortality in patients suffering from this pathological condition and SARA (Bobe et al., 2004).

CONCLUSIONS

From this study of literature were some important moments which should be always in consideration during the management of herds of dairy cows, in order to successfully avoid the productive and reproductive health problems. The application of biochemical examining methods for animals during negative energy balance is rewarding for the diagnosis and prevention of hepatic lipidosis but imaging test are the most accurate especially to associate Sara with lipidosis. Ultrasound diagnostic techniques are safe, noninvasive and rewarding in early diagnosis of hepatic lipidosis and Sara condition. The combined application of biochemical examining and ultrasound leads in early and correct diagnosis of hepatic lipidosis and Sara and helps prevent and treatment of this syndromes.

REFERENCES

- Acorda, J.A., Yamada, H. and Ghamsari, S.M. (1994). Evaluation of fatty infiltration of the liver in dairy cattle through digital analysis of hepatic ultrasonogram. Vet. Radiol. Ultrasoun., 352: 120-123.
- Acorda, J.A., Yamada, H. and Ghamsari, S.M. (1994). Ultrasonography of fatty infiltration of the liver in dairy cattle using liver-kidney contrast. Vet. Radiol. Ultrasoun., 35: 400-404.
- Ametaj, B.N. (2005). A new under standing of the causes of fatty liver in dairy cattle. Adv. Dairy Technol., 17: 97-112.
- Bobe, G., Young, J.W. and Beitz, D.C. (2004). Invited Review: Pathology, Etiology, Prevention, and Treatment of Fatty Liver in Dairy Cows J.Dairy Sci., 87: 3105-3124.
- Bobe, G., Amin, V.R., Arnold, R., Hippen, A.R., Pengxiang, S., Young, J.W. and Donald, C.B. (2008). Non-invasive detection of fatty liver indairy cows by digital analysis of hepatic ultrasonograms. J. Dairy Res., 75: 84–89.
- Braun, U. (1990). Ultrasonic examination of the liver in cows. Am. J. Vet.Res., 53: 1522-1526.
- Braun, U. and Gerber, D. (1994). Influence of age, breed and stage of pregnancy on hepatic ultrasonographic findings in cows. Am. J. Vet.Res., 55, 9: 1201-1205.
- Braun, U. (1996). Ultrasonographic examination of the liver and gall bladder in cows: normal findings continuing education article, 18, 2 February.
- Braun, U., Pusterla, N. and Wild, K. (1996). Ultrasonographic examination of the liver and gall bladder in cows: Abnormal Findings Compendium, 18 (11): 1255 1269.
- Braun, U. (2003). Review on ultrasonography in gastrointestinal diseases in cattle. Vet. J., 166:112.
- Braun, U. (2004). Diagnostic ultrasonography in bovine internal diseases. 23rd World Buiatrics Congress, Quebec, Canada.
- Bremer, D. R., Tower, S. L., Bertics, S. J., Besong, S. A., Bernabucci, U. and Grummer, R. R. (2000). Etiology of fatty liver in dairy cattle: effects of nutritional and hormonal status on hepatic microsomal triglyceride transfer protein. J Dairy Sci., 83 (10): 2239-2251.
- Byers, D. I. (1999). Controlling metabolic diseases Tri-state Dairy Nutrition Conference, April, 1-927.
- Clain, J. E., Stephens, D. H. and Charboneau, J. W. (1984). Ultrasonography and computed tomography in focal fatty liver. Report of two cases with special emphasis on changing appearance over time. Gastroenterology, 87 (4): 948-952.
- Beitz, D.C., Young, J. W., Hippen, A. R., and Nafikov, R. (2004). Use of glucogon to prevent and treat fatty liver in transition cows. Iowa State University Animal Industry Report.
- Goff, J. P. and Horst, R. L. (1997). Physiological changes at parturition and their relationship to metabolic disorders. J.Dairy Sci. 80: 1260-1268.
- Grummer, R. R., Bertics, S. J., Lacont, D. W., Snow, J. A., Dentine, M. R. and Sauffacher, R. H. (1990). Estrogen induction of fatty liver in dairy cattle. J.Dairy Sci., 73: 1537-1543.
- Katoh, N. (2002). Relevance of apolipoproteins in the development of fatty liver-related peripartum diseases in dairy cows. J. Vet. Med. Sci., 64 (4): 293-307.
- Kida, K. (2003). Relationship of metabolites to milk production and feeding in dairy cows. J. Vet. Med. Sci., 65 (6): 671-677.
- Kojouri, G. H. A. (2003). Fatty Liver Infiltration and Its Estimation Methods. Acta Vet. Scand., 44(1): 127
- Mammdouh, M. I. A. (2004). Examination of different diagnostic methods and significance of different diagnostic methods and significance of fatty liver at clinically diseased dairy cows and its relation to hypophosphatemia. Ph D thesis, Clinic of cattle, Faculty of Vet. Med., Free University Berlin.
- Manal, G.F., Mona, M. A., Aly, A. H., Sakran, M. N. and Amal, M. A. (2005). Effects of subclinical fatty liver syndrome at late stage of pregnancy and its role in predisposing some reproductive disorders in post partum period. J. Egypt. Vet. Med. Assoc. 65 (5):155-167.
- Margolles, E., Colome, H. and Saez, C. (1988). Biochemical characteristics of subclinical ketosis in a herd of high yielding Holstein cows Ketone bodies, glucose and minerals. Revista-Cubana-De-Ciencias Veterinarias, 19: 129 – 143
- Morrow, D.A., Hillman, D., Dade, A.W. and Kitchen, H. (1979). Clinical investigation of a dairy herd with the fat cow syndrome. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc., 174: 161-167.
- Multu, S., Basoglu, A., Oztok, I., Sand Dikci, M. and Birdane, F. (1998). The clinical- chemical parameters, serum lipoproteins and fatty infiltration of the liver in Ketotic cows. Tr.J. Vet. Anim. Sci., 22: 443-447.
- Mundron, P., Rehage, J., Qualmann, K., Sallmann, H. P. and Scholz, H. (1999). A study of lipid peroxidation and vitamin E in dairy cows with hepatic insufficiency Zentrabl Veterinarmed A 46(4):219-224.
- Oetzel, R.G. (2001). Ketosis and hepatic lipidosis in dairy herds. American Association of bovine practitioners 34th Annual convention, September 11-12.
- Radostitis, O.M., Gay, C.C., Blood, D.C. and Hinchliff, K.W. (2003). Veterinary Medicine: A text book of diseases of cattle, sheep, pigs, goats and horses. 9th ed.; W.B.Sanders.

Salem, F. S., Abd-Allah, A. M. A., Raef, M. A. and El-Attar, N. M. S. (2003). Immunological, haematological and biochemical studies on cattle naturally infected with some intestinal parasites. Egypt J. Comp and Clinic Path, 16 (1): 223-237.

- Sayed, A. M. (1991). Metabolic profile tests in high and low dairy Friesian cattle. Ph. D., A Thesis (Internal Medicine) Fac. Vet. Med., Assiut Univ.
- Shabani, E., Robaj, A. (2016). Radiologjia Veterinare, Tekst Un. ISBN 978-9928-218-19-3
- Nordlund, K., (1995). Questions and answers regarding rumenocentesis and the diagnosis of herd-based subacute rumen acidosis. Proc. 4-State Applied Nutrition and Management Conference. La Crosse, WI, USA.
- Shabani, E., Ceroni, V. and Mavromati, J.(2013). Values of pH Rumen Content Depending by Sampling Techniques Impact of Rumenocentesis on the Health of Dairy Cows, by Monitoring of Clinical Status. August 2013, e-ISSN: 1857-1878, p-ISSN: 1857-8179.
- Brown, M.S. (2000). Evaluation model of acute and subacute ruminal acidosis. J. Anim. Sci., 78: 3155 3168.
- Shibano, K. and Kawamura, S. (2006). Serum free amino acid concentration in hepatic lipidiosis of dairy cows in the periparturient period. J. Vet. Med. Sci., 68 (4):393-396.
- Van Den Top, A. M., Van Tol, A., Jansen, H., Geelen, M. J. Benynen A.C. (2005). Fatty liver in dairy cows postpartum is associated with decreased concentration of plasma triacylglycerols and decrease activity of lipoprotein lipase in adipocytes. J. Dairy Res., 72, 2:129
- Clakson, M.L. (2006). Incidence and prevalence of lameness in dairy cow. 27-39. 5. Guard C. (1995). Laminitis in dairy cow. Vet. Record., 138 (23):563-567.
- Guard, C. (1995). Laminitis in dairy cow. Bovine proceedings of the 23rd Annual of Bovine Practitioner, 28: 71 74.
- Manson, F. J. (2001). The influence of concentrate amount on locomotion and clinical lameness in dairy cows. Animal prod., 47:185-190.
- McDonald, P. (1995). Animal nutrition. 367-371.
- Mortensen, H. (1999). Bovine laminitis, clinical and pathological. Inter. symp. On disorder of ruminant digit. 210 226.
- Nocek, J.E. (2003). Bovine acidosis, implication in laminitis. 11-19.
- Enemark, J.M.D., Jorgensen, R.J. and Enemark P.S. (2002). Rumen acidosis with special emphasis on diagnosis aspect of subclinical rumen acidosis. Vet. Zootech. 42: 16-29.
- Garrett, E.F., Perreira, M.N., Nordlund, K.V. et al. (1999). Diagnostic methods for the detection of subacute ruminal acidosis in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci., 82: 1170-1178.
- Gianesella, M. (2012). Subacute rumen acidosis in Italian Dairy Herds.
- Hughes, J. (2001). A system for assessing cow cleanliness. In Prac., 40: 517-524.
- Kleen, J.L., Hooijer, G.A., Rehage, J. and Noordhuizen, J.P.T. (2003). Subacute ruminal acidosis (SARA): a review. J. Vet. Med. Series A, 50: 406-414.
- Kleen, J.L., Stokman, P., Noordhuizen, J.P., Rehage, J. and Hooijer, G.A. (2003). Subacute Ruminal Acidosis (SARA) in Dairy Cows; European Meeting of the Société Francaise de Buiatrie, Paris, pages 24 – 30.
- Nordlund, KV., Garrett, EF. Oetzel, GR. (1995). Herd-based rumenocentesis a clinical approach to the diagnosis of subacute rumen acidosis. Compd. Con. Ed. Pract. Vet., 17.
- Oetzel, G.R. (2005). Applied aspects of ruminal acidosis induction and prevention. J. Dairy Sci., (Suppl. 1), 88: 377.
- Oetzel, G.R. (2003). Subacute ruminal acidosis in dairy cattle. Adv. Dairy Sci. Tech., 15: 307-317.
- Underwood, W.J. (1992). Rumen lactic acidosis. Part II. Compend. Contin. Educ. Pract. Vet., 14: 1265-1270.

TREATMENT OF POLLUTION FROM TEXTILE DYES WITH OZONE METHOD

Ali Rıza DİNÇER^{*1}, Meltem BAYRAM²

¹Dept. of Environmental Engineering, Namık Kemal Un, Çorlu, Tekirdağ, Turkey ² Setaş Kimya, Çerkezköy, Tekirdağ

* adincer@nku.edu.tr

Abstract

The textile industry uses a large number of different colors and pigments. More than 50% of the dyes used in the textile industry are azo dyestuffs. These dyes usually contain at least one and at most four azo groups bound to two radicals, at least one or both of which are aromatic groups. The increased use of cotton also causes significant increases in the use of reactive dyes. However, since reactive azo dyes are separated by carcinogenic aromatic amines, they are potentially harmful to the environment and are of high importance. In this study, COD and color removal were investigated by ozonation (2 g O_3 /hour) method of selected dyestuff species (Reactive Red 195 and Acid Blue 284) used in the textile industry. COD and color removal were found to be very low during the two hour reaction period. The total reaction time was 4.5 hours. As a result, ozonation method has not provided a significant elimination of COD removal from these dyestuffs. The color removal efficiency for both paints was found to be high.

Key words: Ozone, Advanced treatment, Dyestuff, Chemical oxygen demand, Color removal

INTRODUCTION

Waste water from the textile industry is one of the most important pollutants. Particularly reactive dyestuffs are widely used in the textile industry due to its easy dyeing process and stability. In addition to these, dyestuff groups which are different according to fiber type are also widely used. Waste water containing these paints causes serious environmental problems when drained. In addition to color removal from textile waste water, it is very difficult to treat chemical substances that are harmful to environment and health contained in the contents of paints. Therefore, advanced oxidation processes have been used for wastewater treatment in recent years.

Textile wastewater is an important source of water pollution. In general, textile wastewater contains high organic compound, heavy metal, high temperature, high COD, high pH, and concentrated color (Wijannarong et al., 2013). In general, the dye molecules are organic compounds that contain chromoform groups linked in a single bond. Ozonation oxidizes the double bonds of the chromoform groups in the dye molecules (Wijannarong et al., 2013). In many studies, color removal from synthetic dyes is provided by ozonation (Wu et al., 2007; Glaze et al., 2007). Ozone is one of the best methods for breaking paint and eliminates formation in other problems (Iranifam et al., 2011).

Pigments are small molecules consisting of two main components: chromophore, which usually gives color and functional group, which binds dye to yarn. The adsorption of the paint on the yarn varies depending on the textile yarn and the type of paint. There are hundreds of types of paint classified in the literature, according to the chemical structure or the fiber type applied. Therefore, the chemical variety that affects purification systems is very high.

Oxidation with ozone is one of the most effective methods for removing reactive pigments. There are probably two ways of oxidizing with ozone: Molecular ozone mechanism and free radical mechanism (Shu et al., 1985). Color removal by ozonation method:

Sludge formation is low, (2) Minimum risk, (3) Color removal and disintegration occur in one stage, (4) Application is easy, (5) Space requirement is low, (6) All residual ozone easily decomposes oxygen. Ozone-based oxidation is the most appropriate method for removing azo dyes (Sharma et al., 2013). In this work, it is aimed to purify by the ozonation method of various dyestuff groups(Reactive Red 195 and Acid Blue 284) used in the textile industry.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

Ozone production was carried out using Degremont Technologies brand Triogen model ozone generator with ambient air. The homogeneous distribution of ozone production in the water and diffusion formation in the wastewater were supported by KNF (D-79112) brand air compressor. Experiments were carried out by placing 400 milliliters of sample in a glass reactor called a 500 milliliter gas wash bottle. There are three gas washing bottles beside the reactor in the experimental setup. The number 1 bottle shown in Figure 1 is the reactor in which the dye solution is placed as the waste water sample. Bottles 2, 3 and 4 are gas-flush bottles connected in series with the reagent with a 2% KI (Potassium iodide) solution in order to determine the amount of ozone that escapes without reaction.

Potassium iodide (KI) in the experiments: Cas no. 7681-11-0 Sigma-Aldrich 99.0-100.5% purity, Sodium thiosulfate pentahydrate (Na2O3S2 * 5H2O): Cas no. 10102-17-7 Merck \geq 98.0% purity, Sulfuric Acid (H₂SO₄): Cas no. 7664-93-9 Merck 95-97% purity. Acid Blue 284(0.5 g/l) and Reactive Red 195(0.5 g/l) paints were used for color and COD removal with ozone.



Figure 1. Ozone Experiment System

METHODS

In the ozonation experiments, 0.5 g /lt dyestuffs solutions were used as waste water samples. The dyestuffs used in the experiments were obtained from Setaş Kimya San. A.Ş. During the experiments, the following charts were followed according to the numbering given in the Fig. 1 apparatus: The number one bottle was filled with 400 ml of dye solution. Two, three and four wash bottles were filled with 2% KI (Potassium iodide) solution. The flow meter for the ozone generator was set to 10 l/min. Air pump activated. The ozone generator was activated after some air passage was achieved. The sample was taken from the reactor with a 30 minute interval. Sampling continued throughout the planned ozonation period.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Acid Blue 284 (Acid Paint) and Reactive Red 195 (Reactive Paint) type paints were used in the experiments. The measurement results of the sample taken during the 4.5 hour ozonation of 0.5 g/l Acid Blue 284 solution are given in Figure 2. The influent COD concentration is 537 mg/l. At the end of the reaction for four and a half hours, the effluent COD value is 511 mg/l. The pH change range during the reaction is 1.6-5.4.

COD removal as a result of the ozonation experiment with Acid Blue 284 (Acid Paint) is given in Figure 2. Depending on the duration of the ozone, the COD removal was approximately 12% at about 3 hours. The COD increase at 180 and 270 minutes is thought to be due to the formation of organic acids and intermediates, which are completely non-cleavable (acetic acid, aldehydes, ketones) in the reaction of the dyes with ozone. The color removal (Figure 3) as a result of the 4.5 hour ozonation process is shown in Figure 3. No change was observed in the color removal during the first 1.5-2 hour period with the ozonation process. As a result, COD elimination seems to be low. From these results it was seen that during the ozonation the paint structure turned into intermediate products, no final products. The change of color from very dark to slightly darker shows that the paint structure is deteriorated.



Figure 2. COD change with time as a result of ozonation (Acid Blue 284)



Figure 3. Ozonation and change of color with time (Acid Blue 284)

COD removal as a result of ozonation of Reactive Red 195 (Reactive Dye) is given in Figure 4. The results of the sample measurements taken during the 4.5 hour ozonation of the 0.5 g / lt Reactive Red 195 solution are shown in figure 3.3. The influent COD value is 287 mg/l and the effluent COD value is 186 mg / l after 4.5 hours of reaction. Depending on the duration of the ozone, the COD removal was approximately% 29 at about 3 hours. The color removal (Figure 5) as a result of the 4.5 hour ozonation process is shown Figure 5. No change was observed in the color removal during the first 1.5-2 hour period with the ozonation process. As a result, COD elimination seems to be low. From these results it was seen that during the ozonation the paint structure turned into intermediate products, no final products. The order of color change from very dark to slightly dark indicates that the structure of the reactive dye is deteriorated.



Figure 4. Change in COD Removal with Ozonation Time(Reactive Red195)



Figure 5. Ozonization and change of color with time (Reactive Red 195).

CONCLUSIONS

In this study using acid and reactive dye, it was found that the removal of COD is very low for both paint samples as a result of 4.5 hour ozone reaction. The decrease in pH value is thought to be due to the formation of organic acids. The color removal for both dyes did not change for the first few hours. In the 4.5 hour ozone reaction, a change in color from a very dark to an open color was observed. This indicates that both dye molecules are deteriorated at the end of the reaction.

REFERENCES

- Apha, Awwa and Wef (1995). Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. 18th Edition, Washington Dc, USA.
- Chung-Hsin W., Chao-Yin K., Chung-Liang C. (2007). Decolorization of AZO dyes using catalytic ozonation. Reaction Kinetics and Catalysis Letters, 91 (1): 161–168.
- William, H. Glaze, Joon-Wun Kang, D. H. Chapin (1987). The Chemistry of Water Treatment Processes Involving Ozone, Hydrogen Peroxide and Ultraviolet Radiation. Journal Ozone: Science & Engineering. The Journal of the International Ozone Association, 9 (4).
- Iranifam, M., Zarei, M., Khataee, A.R. (2011). Decolorization of C.I. Basic Yellow 28 solution using supported ZnO nanoparticles coupled with photoelectron –Fenton process. J. Electroanal. Chem., 659: 107.
- Shu, H., Huang, C. Degredation of commercial azo dyes water using ozonation and UV enhanced ozonation processes. Chemosphere, 31: 3813.
- Sharma, S., Buddhdev, J., Patel, M., Ruparelia, J.P. (2013). Studies on Degradation of Reactive Red 135 Dye in Wastewater using Ozone. Procedia Engineering,51: 451-455.
- Suphitcha W., Sayam A., Patana T., Charaporn K. Removal of Reactive Dyes from Textile Dyeing Industrial Effluent by Ozonation Process. APCBEE Procedia (5): 279-282.

THE FINDING OF SUITABLE BIOCOMFORT AREA MAPPING FOR KARABUK CITY CENTER

Mehmet CETIN*

Kastamonu University, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, Department of Landscape Architecture, 37150, Kastamonu, Turkey

*mcetin@kastamonu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

People experience nominal temperature, precipitation, and humidity, and in certain ranges of environmental conditions, such as wind, they feel healthy and dynamic. In the appropriate range for the people of these values, it is called biocomfort. When biocomfort will be in the range of fair value, people in the area would become bothered and want to get away from the area. Hence, biocomfort areas used for tourism are important.

In this study, biocomfort is examined by mapping the Karabuk, and thus, this study aims to build pad similar studies in urban or forest areas with similar structures. To this end, the climatic data of Karabuk are obtained; based on the equivalent temperature from the physiological index, biocomfort maps are prepared. To determine the structure of the biocomfort field, climatic data are collected from meteorological stations. The obtained data are evaluated using the RayMan 1.2 program, and geographic information system is used to produce a thermal perception map with the help of a software. As a result, the most appropriate time and area for outdoor recreation activities are identified by thermal perception maps.

Keywords: Landscape plan, Forest, Karabuk, Biocomft

INTRODUCTION

Urban development in developing countries in recent years has mostly been rapid and unplanned. As a result, the city is made the center of the crowd, and a dreary point has occurred. People who live in these areas that provide them opportunities transform themselves to become comfortable with their conditions. The air temperature and moisture content in this area significantly affect human health and productivity. People experience nominal temperature, precipitation, and humidity, and in certain ranges of environmental conditions, such as wind, they feel healthy and dynamic. In the appropriate range for the people of these values, it is called biocomfort. When biocomfort will exceeds in the range of fair value, people in the area would become bothered and want to get away from the area. Therefore, people live in areas in which biocomfort is very important. The per unit area in residential areas where biocomfort is more felt by people is of great importance (Milne, 2013; Olgyay, 2015; Cetin, 2015; Cetin, 2016).

Air and surface temperatures are higher in urban areas than in rural areas. Many cities are situated in natural land, and air temperature can be warmer than 13 °C. The main reason for this is that the current space in the crowd is the temperature that is linked to human activity. Increased temperature causes people to feel uncomfortable. Temperature and humidity are two of the environmental factors that affect people's comfort (Altunkasa, 1990; Cetin et al., 2010; Topay, 2012; Cetin, 2015; Cetin and Zeren, 2016; Cetin et al., 2016).

Biocomfort has been on the agenda in recent years and is an issue of growing importance. People have started to consider the values of biocomfort in landscape planning and design. When the value of biocomfort is appropriate, people are healthy, and when the dynamic range is not in the range of biocomfort, people refrain from staying in that area. Based on the urban areas nowadays, the biocomfort value range has not helped much in terms of landscape planning and design. However, the most important factors that shape the climate biocomfort are the most important factors in determining the lifestyle of people. Air and the climate of the person's behavior and physiological state have significant effects. Human performance can be distinguished based on the climate change. Comfortable climatic conditions make these positive responses. Climatic conditions or conditions that are healthy for human thermal comfort of mood and dynamic weather conditions refer to the human sense of satisfaction with the thermal environment (Cetin et al., 2010; Topay, 2013; Cetin, 2015; Cetin and Zeren, 2016; Cetin et al., 2016).

In the middle latitudes where our country is located, the perceived temperature value that is considered to be suitable for bioclimatic comfort, depending on humidity and wind, ranges from 17 °C to 24.9 °C. According to Altunkasa (1990), 21–27 °C temperature if all other conditions are normal and showed that together create a comfortable environment with relative humidity of 30–65%. Below or in value on these conditions, to achieve the bioclimatic comfort temperature or radiation or energy or shadow report that they are needed in specific wind and humidity. However, considering these negatives in the planning is crucial in fulfilling the purpose of landscaping (Cetin et al., 2010; Cetin, 2015; Cetin and Zeren, 2016; Cetin et al., 2016).

This study evaluated whether the Karabuk detailed analysis of meteorological and climate data for landscape planning was transferred into a database. This database is intended for climate balanced planning and design purposes. Planning and design and other criteria, such as climate balanced planning and design, are used to show the creation of a bioclimatic assessment.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

The study material is Karabuk and the surrounding area. The Karabuk district, located in the Black Sea coast, the Western Black Sea Region. It is with coordinates of 41° 11' north latitude and 32° 37' east longitude and the values were evaluated and processed using GIS maps, and the map obtained is shown in Figure 1. The surface area of the region of Karabuk has its natural, cultural, and recreational resources have a high value. In the region, the majority of the year is dominated by the Black Sea rainy climate. The average annual temperature is 19.4 °C. The highest temperature is 22.2 °C to 23.2 °C, which usually occurs in July and August. January is the coldest month at -5.2 °C. The northern slopes of the area get more rain (Municipality, 2016; Meteorology, 2016).

In this study, the climatic data of Karabuk were identified; the equivalent temperatures based on the physiological index in biocomfort maps were prepared. To determine the structure of the field of biocomfort, climatic data were collected from meteorological stations. The obtained data were evaluated using the RayMan 1.2 program, and geographic information system (GIS) was used to produce a thermal perception map with the help of a software. The results showed that the best biocomfort fields using ArcView software has been tried to be determined.

Working primarily in Karabuk, data were obtained from the meteorological station of the research area. The annual temperature was determined using data obtained from the annual average value and converted using the RayMan 1.2 program (Matzarakis et al., 2007, Matzarakis et al., 2010). To view the map associated with it, humidity and wind speed maps were created. The theoretical basis of the study of climatic factors related to climate comfort was evaluated in terms of the Karabuk. This study provides the most accurate map of the climatic data obtained in the field. ArcView GIS mapping with linear interpolation Kriging

interpolation option ESRI software was used. As a result, the climatic factors in Karabuk and bioclimatically suitable areas were identified and evaluated in terms of comfort level.



Figure 1. The location of study

RESULTS

The temperature and relative humidity values of the Karabuk between 1968 and 2015 at 2.00 p.m. were obtained from the general directorate of the State Meteorological Service (Meteorology, 2016).

The resulting ArcView 10 software maps, climate with the Kriging interpolation method was used to form an appropriate space. To evaluate the data, the universal linear extension system was used because it provided the most accurate climate data distribution in the area. The annual average temperature of the study area was evaluated. The biocomfort value of the town of Karabuk ranged from 15 °C to 21 °C, and the temperature with the value of the study area was determined to focus on the northern and southern regions.

The optimal relative humidity range of the Karabuk district in terms biocomfort was determined to be 51%-56%. The annual average relative humidity values in the northern part of the study area examined are increasing. This condition is linked to the presence of the sea and reduces the comfort value of the northern part of this work area. The optimal values in terms of the annual average wind speed biocomfort were 1.7 and 2.1 m/s. The average annual wind speed value in the study area in the northern and central regions was 2.02 m/s, and therefore, the annual average wind speed in terms of biocomfort value of the parts was the highest. The study area was determined to be the north and midlands.

Comfort area produced maps for the study area was classified for each month. The average value for each field on the resulting bioclimatic comfort conditions, considering the 12-month map, allowed us to obtain the map that coincided with the annual value of the sensed temperature. The classified 12 month program was assessed using the ArcGIS raster data function. As a result, average values were calculated for each 12-month scan. The annual sensed temperature ranges divided in the map were subjected to grading. The obtained data were evaluated and shown all over the map based on biocomfort suitable or unsuitable areas and areas designated as a suitable comfort zone. Consequently, a bioclimatic map of the Karabuk district was analyzed. Temperature, relative humidity, and areas for optimum wind speed are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Karabuk biocomfort areas

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The values obtained in this study affect the comfort bioclimatic conditions of the residential area being studied and reduce biocomfort. The bioclimatic comfort temperature range of Karabuk is from 15°C to 21°C. However, the humidity is changing the sensed temperature value. The study results, is the temperature, when the relative humidity and evaluated in terms of wind speed, the Karabuk district of the remaining forest and coastal strip outside the city residential area, in the northwestern area shows the western and the southern part is suitable areas for bioclimatic comfort.

Based on the results obtained in evaluating the map, the total surface area of the available space for bioclimatic comfort is approximately 211 km^2 . The town of Karabuk appears to cover the portion of approximately 183 km^2 . The total area of the town of Karabuk. Approximately 80% of this area is considered suitable for biocomfort section. The total area of 28 km^2 is eligible for bioclimatic comfort. The ideal value of the relative humidity in the region bioclimatic comfort can be interpreted as a consequence of being present.

Not very convenient in terms biocomfort, namely, negative values with bioclimatic comfort areas, mostly located in the northeast part of the county were determined.

The absolute comfort of bioclimatic conditions of the area should be considered during landscaping. Improper conditions in the planning and design of bioclimatic comfort can create extremely unfavorable conditions because the natural vegetation is under stress and prevents the formation of hot or cold areas suitable for intensive bioclimatic comfort in areas.

In this study, the bioclimatic comfort zone for the Karabuk was identified. The resulting maps and data can be useful for future town planning. Bioclimatic comfort, so the removal of the regional planning structures Karabuk. The highest level of comfortable climatic conditions will help in determining the limits of comfortable housing population. The study results related to new residential and recreation areas can help in planning the locations of public buildings.

REFERENCES

- Altunkasa, M.F. (1990). Determination of climate-balanced urban green space planning principles in Adana and the example of multi-purpose development of a green field", Institutional Faculty of Agriculture, 5: 9-54.
- Cetin, M., Topay, M., Kaya, L.G., Yilmaz, B. (2010). Efficiency of bioclimatic comfort in landscape planning process: the case of Kutahya. Suleyman Demirel University. Journal of Faculty of Forestry, A(1), 2010; 83–95. Isparta.
- Cetin, M. (2015). Determining the bioclimatic comfort in Kastamonu city Environ. Monit. Assess., 187(10): 640. doi:10.1007/s10661-015-4861-3.
- Cetin, M. (2016). Determination of bioclimatic comfort areas in landscape planning: a case study of Cide Costline. Turk. J. Agric.-Food Sci. Tecnol., 4(9): 800-804.
- Cetin, M., Zeren, I. (2016). Evaluation of the value of biocomfort for Kastamonu-Inebolu". International Conference GREDIT'2016 – Green Development Infrastructure Technology, Poster section 4: Management of Urban and Industrial Waste, Climate Change – Biodiversity – Efficiency, ISBN 978-608-4624-21-9, 31.03 and 01.04 2016, p4–35, page: 310, Skopje, Macedonia.
- Cetin, M., Adiguzel, F., Kaya, O., Sahap, A. (2016). Mapping of bioclimatic comfort for potential planning using GIS in Aydin. Environ., Develop. Sustain., 1-15. Doi: 10.1007/s10668-016-9885-5.
- Matzarakis, A., Rutz, F., Mayer, H. (2007). Modelling Radiation fluxes in simple and complex environments Application of the RayMan model. Int. J. Biometeorol., 51(4): 323-334.
- Matzarakis, A., Rutz, F., Mayer, H. (2010). Modelling radiation fluxes in simple and complex environments: basics of the RayMan model. Int. J. Biometeorol. 54(2): 131-139.
- Meteorology (2016). Ministry of Forestry and Hydraulic Works. General Directorate of Meteorology. Karabuk district for the 1968 2015 covering the meteorological data.
- Milne, M. (2013). Climate consultant 5.4, UCLA, Los Angeles: Energy design tool group.
- Municipality (2016), Karabuk Municipality, http://www.karabuk.bel.tr/, [Accessed: 18/05/2017]
- Olgyay, V. (2015). Design with climate: bioclimatic approach to architectural regionalism, Princeton University Press. 2015.
- Topay, M. (2012). Importance of thermal comfort in the sustainable landscape planning. J. of Environ. Prot. Ecol., 13(3): 1480-1487.
- Topay, M. (2013). Mapping of thermal comfort for outdoor recreation planning using GIS: the case of Isparta Province (Turkey). Turk. J. Agric. For., 37(1): 110–120.

THE ASSESSMENT OF ECOTOURISM POTENTIAL FOR THE CASE STUDY OF KARABUK AREAS

Mehmet CETIN*

Kastamonu University, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, Department of Landscape Architecture, 37150, Kastamonu, Turkey

*mcetin@kastamonu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Karabuk has an important historical value and great potential because of its outstanding natural and cultural heritage. It is an area that can make an important contribution to the entire region. But in order to do so, making long-term plans for the area and its surroundings, creating the necessary infrastructure, and promoting it locally and internationally are required. This study deals with the ecotourism resources of Karabuk that include its historical, cultural, and natural landscape to determine its potential classification in terms of values that can be a source of tourism activity and are intended to be mapped. For this purpose, the value of the tourism resources that constitute Karabuk's values such as maps, photos, and surveys were evaluated in light of data collected as a result of work done in the area and of existing and potential base were determined. During the evaluation and processing of data, they were used to map the ArcGIS program. In conclusion, Karabuk's ecotourism resources including its historical, cultural, and ecological values were identified and mapped.

Keywords: Forest, Karabuk, Ecotourism, ArcGIS

INTRODUCTION

Natural resources are vital to human life. However, especially in the last century, the irresponsible use of natural resources has become one of the most alarming problems threatening nature and the environment. Therefore, global warming, climate change, air pollution, the irresponsible use of water resources, and the sustainable use of natural resources in all areas have been brought to the agenda (Cengiz, 2007; Maple et al., 2013; Cetin and Sevik 2016a,b). For centuries, people have been inspired by nature, and tourism activities have been carried out to see different natural landscapes. In particular, coastal tourism is the hippest form of tourism in recent years. Visiting coastal areas, swimming, water sports, and hiking have been quite attractive for people, and millions of people have started to carry out tourism activities in this manner to forget, albeit for a while, problems in the city and to participate in natural and cultural activities, desiring to make it even more valuable. Natural, cultural, and historic sites are seen with great interest. However, the intensive use and increasing interest in the area also brings the risk of damage, so establishing the right balance between the protection and the use of these areas is of paramount importance (Nouri et al., 2008; Cetin 2015a,b,c,d; Cetin 2016).

Removing the environment and wildlife conservation from the forefront and the importance of ecotourism from tourism, this process has increased and continues to increase. Ecotourism focuses on unusual properties, promoting natural and cultural areas, and providing a positive contribution in many areas. Areas where ecotourism is applied become the center of attraction. Ecotourism activities are carried out with a general awareness in the use of the natural environment. Besides holding activities for the protection of natural and cultural values

for economic use, to adjust the balance between protection and use is the sine qua non of sustainable tourism, and it can be achieved through the natural and cultural aspects of sustainability in the field of the foreground and environmentally sensitive ecotourism, as well as aesthetic, recreational, or cultural activities that protect delicate ecosystems. Education can be brought in the forefront as awareness (Powell et al., 2008; Nouri et al., 2008; Cetin 2015a,b,c,d; Cetin 2016).

Ensuring cooperation among the local population is one of the most important requirements for planning in the tourism sector. In the long term, natural resources, tourism, alternative tourism, ecotourism, and nature tourism are becoming an important choice based on sustainable use. In this study, the natural and cultural aspects of coastal areas are intended to reveal the potential of ecotourism in Karabuk districts.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study material includes Karabuk districts. The geographic location of Karabuk districts with rich natural and cultural areas are found between the coordinates 41° 11' north latitude and 32° 37' east longitude and the values were evaluated and processed using GIS maps, and the map obtained is shown in Figure 1. The position of Karabuk district is shown in Figure 1.



Figure1. Karabuk geographical location

Located in coastal areas in the West Black Sea Region, Karabuk is a mountainous and rugged terrain. The average altitude is around five meters in the central district. It is 121 km from the city center through the district (Municipality, 2016; District Governorship, 2016).

Temperatures in winter fall as much as 5 degrees and in summer around 30 degrees. The beach continues to increase toward the interior upgrade. With a mild climate, during winter season on the beach, the altitude of the large amount of snow in the inner part is over 1000 meters. Winter rain is experienced in coastal areas, while inland, snow is seen. The summers are hot and arid.

While old houses are made of wood, because of the concrete forest district, new homes are now made of wood and brick. In indigenous places, slate stones are used in the roof. Due the forested and mountainous region made up of many streams are merged through the Black Sea.

Meseta and traces of the castle by the sea can be seen in the fishing ports in the district center. Glade is the oldest inhabited settlement. In Ilyasbey, there is nothing more than ruins.

Our district is full of natural beauty for tourism due to take place on the beach. It has unique landscapes that combine the sea and the forest, the green and blue intertwining.

In the study, geological, hydrological, topographical, and soil maps were obtained. Then the climate of the region and flora and fauna information were collected. The obtained data can be fed into computers belonging to the area with the help of ArcGIS maps, and the data is processed on the maps. During the fieldwork in the study area, surveys, opportunities, and constraints were determined by considering various pieces of information regarding the local population. SWOT was used in analyzing the obtained data, and these data were evaluated using maps. All the data and created maps of areas suitable for ecotourism were evaluated to develop an alternative to the current use of the area's strengths and weaknesses in terms of ecotourism, and threats and opportunities were identified.

RESULTS

The coastal areas, forest areas, forest openings, potential areas for accommodation, and recreational facilities in the Karabuk districts are rather limited. Landscape, coastal areas, nature and culture, vegetation and wildlife, geological and hydrological conditions, and soil have values in Karabuk. Given the topographical features of the Karabuk districts, the slope of the high woodlands and narrow coastal strip limit the number of suitable areas for construction.

The geological, geomorphological, and geological structures of the soil groups in the region have interesting features, such as coastal and mountain formations. The height and slope analysis of Karabuk are shown in Figure 2. Different geomorphological character movements in the valley are characterized by ridges and peaks. This geomorphological structure creates an extraordinary natural landscape with lush forests.





The Black Sea climate prevails in the region. Summers are hot, and winters are usually mild. Adequate rainfall is experienced in all seasons. The number of visitors per day during the tourist season ranges from 15,000 to 20,000. During this period, the following activities can be done: hiking, camping, photo safari, trekking, cycling, and amateur fishing. Many recreational activities, such as botanical tourism and air sports, are also offered. The Karabuk survey was conducted to determine the protection of the coastal area in the protection-use balance and to determine the level of awareness. The SWOT analysis was conducted, and the opportunities

that may be encountered in the future, as well as the current strengths and weaknesses and threats identified in the area.

Areas under ecotourism activities in the study area, coastal tourism, historical sites, bird observation areas, natural monuments, springs, rivers, canyons, bike tours, hiking, photo-jeep safari, camping, rock climbing, cave, winter tourism hunting-fishing, paragliding, wind, water, surf, cultural, and thermally processed tourism maps are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Potential Karabuk ecotourism map

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Once it is known enough to become one of the most important tourist areas in the Karabuk, even the Black Sea will take its rightful place in tourism. Enough accommodation is needed so there is no reason to eliminate openness to tourists. There are those rare places where natural beauty remains intact in their natural state. On weekends, families can come and go easily, although there are tea gardens and recreational areas where they can have a picnic in Karabuk and the surrounding counties that are not known.

For the development and economic growth of countries, the importance of sustainable tourism activities with an ecological approach is great. Sustainable ecotourism can be achieved only with a proper approach to the ecological characteristics of tourism development and management plan. To set up an ecotourism strategy in the area of tourism and recreational activities, there is a need to organize and have a good planning. The study area has quite a high tourism potential in terms of tourism and recreation. Karabuk's scarce resources and assets allow different tourism activities in different seasons. The Karabuk District's beach, historical sites, photography, bird watching, adventure and sports tourism, historical and cultural tourism, wildlife tours, caves, camping, picnic activities, horse riding, cycling, and rich ecotourism activities such as fishing have a potential.

Karabuk's regulations on the forest and coastal for ecotourism has a significant potential. However, the routes for many activities and lack of contacts and facilities are a major problem. The solution to these problems and the use of the potential of the region, as well as the process involved, can provide important economic contributions to the region.

Karabuk is rich in vegetation, and the mountain tourism potential is high in the region. In the area of botanical gardens, arboretum structures that promote the region's biodiversity can make an important contribution to increase the public's awareness and so on. In addition, the area contains interesting examples of different geological and geomorphological structures. In terms of biodiversity, this area may be of interest to enthusiasts and researchers in particular.

Ecotourism in the region has a high potential. Uncontrolled development, overuse, and destruction in value depending on their source cause excessive pollution. In the planning, this issue should be taken into consideration.

Areas suitable for various activities are shown in Figure 3. This map of ecotourism infrastructure, site selection, planning, design, transportation, management of solid waste pollution, and sewage systems can be used in accommodation facilities and the natural environment and can also be utilized for taking measures to protect wetlands.

In addition, historical and cultural tourism resources have been identified and are again. A natural park, an ideal area for the observation of wild animals, offers substantial opportunities for wildlife tours. Ideal plateau areas for wildlife tours are also shown in Figure 3. The use of these fields also needs to be done with trained guides and an orientation on plants.

There are problems in the area of transport, especially in regional transport, which as to be available and seamless. In addition, the area is very safe, and people are very hospitable. Promotion should be done in this regard. Also, at the entrance to the Karabuk, information about important areas in the region must be available, and promotion should be done by putting up maps. Also, the introduction of the place should be done at the national and international levels.

REFERENCES

- Cengiz, T. (2007). Tourism, an ecological approach in protected areas: Karagöl-Sahara National Park, Turkey. Int. J. Sust. Dev. World, 14(3): 260-267.
- Cetin, M. (2016). Sustainability of urban coastal area management: A case study on Cide. J. Sust. For., 35(7): 527-541.
- Cetin, M. (2015a). Consideration of permeable pavement in landscape architecture. J. Environ. Prot. Ecol., 16(1): 385-392.
- Cetin, M. (2015b). Determining the bioclimatic comfort in Kastamonu City, Environ. Monit. Assess., 187 (10): 640.
- Cetin, M. (2015c). Evaluation of the sustainable tourism potential of a protected area for landscape planning: a case study of the ancient city of Pompeipolis in Kastamonu. Int. J. Sust. Dev. World, 22(6): 490-495.
- Cetin, M. (2015d). Using GIS analysis to assess urban green space in terms of accessibility: case study in Kutahya. Int. J. Sust. Dev. World, 22(5): 420-424.
- Cetin, M., Sevik, H. (2016a). Evaluating the recreation potential of Ilgaz Mountain National Park in Turkey. Environ. Monit. Assess., 188(1): 52, doi:10.1007/s10661-015-5064-7.
- Cetin, M., Sevik, H. (2016b). Assessing Potential Areas of Ecotourism through a Case Study in Ilgaz Mountain National Park, (in: Eds: LeszekButowski, Tourism - From Empirical Research Towards Practical Application), InTech, ISBN:978-953-51-2281-4, 81-110.
- District Governorship (2016). http://www.karabuk.gov.tr/, [Accessed: 18/05/2017].
- Maple, L. C., Eagles, P. F.J., Heather (2010). Rolfe Birdwatchers' specialization characteristics and National Park Tourism Planning. J. Ecotourism, 9(3): 219-238.
- Municipality (2016), Karabuk Municipilty, http://www.karabuk.bel.tr/,
- Nouri, J., Danehka, A., Sharifipour, R. (2008). Evaluation of ecotourism potential in the Northern Coastline of the Persian Gulf. Environ. Geol., 55(3): 681-686.
- Powell, R. B., Ham, S. H. (2008).Can ecotourism interpretation really lead to pro-conservation knowledge, attitudes and behaviour? Evidence from the Galapagos Islands", J. Sustain. Tour., 16(4): 467-489.

THE ASSESSMENT OF ACCESSIBILITY OF URBAN GREEN AREA FOR KARABUK

Mehmet CETIN*

Kastamonu University, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, Department of Landscape Architecture, 37150, Kastamonu, Turkey

mcetin@kastamonu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

An urban green space distribution of active and functional and aesthetic qualities of size and systematic planning will be possible with the development of an urban design concept. The adequacy of the standard value of green space is usually specified in the relevant legislation and comparing it with the amount of green space available per city are defined. Size and decreasing rates per person evaluated. Even distribution of distance and accessibility of green space throughout the city is closely related to the need to provide entertainment. Different sizes of green space, recreational activities and accessibility standards unit varies depending on the city they serve. In this research, Karabuk green field distribution and distribution of the amount of green space in the neighborhood, as well as scale are analyzed. According to the digitization of parks composed of polygons in the ArcGIS attribute table for calculation, parks in the study area consist of 30 different parcels, 12 of which are 10000 m² or less in area. Most small parklands were 1.296 m²; the largest urban park is at the southern entrance of the city, with an area of 5.624 m². Parks in the study area cover a total area of 8.358 m².

Key words: GIS, Karabuk, Green space, Urban city, Sustainable

INTRODUCTION

Urban green areas as quality active and passive recreation activities, provides many functions, such as providing environmental benefits and is a habitat for wildlife. Urban green spaces are areas that have been established to meet the recreational needs of urban people. Green spaces, but vary according to country in terms of layout and design features from one region to the country, basically has been created to allow the meeting with human nature (Arnberger & Eder, 2012; Barthel et al., 2013; Caspersen and Olafsson, 2010; Cetin et al., 2010; Cetin, 2015a; Cetin, 2015b; Cetin, 2015c; Cetin, 2015d; Cetin, 2015e; Cetin, 2016a; Cetin, 2016b; Cetin, 2016c; Cetin and Sevik, 2016a; Cetin and Sevik, 2016b; Cetin and Sevik, 2016c; Cetin and Sevik, 2016c; Cetin et al., 2010; Wendel et al., 2012; Wolch et al., 2014; Zhou and Parves, 2012).

Urban green space and traffic emissions, air quality, microclimate, noise, accessibility, providing there are effects on the economic impact and social benefits. This affects the neighbourhood scale should be considered in urban planning and design of green space for various green areas that serve the entire urban area. Adequacy of green areas has been evaluated by several researchers (Conway et al., 2010; Coombes et al., 2010; Dai, 2011; Cetin, 2015a; Cetin, 2015b; Cetin, 2015c; Cetin, 2015d; Cetin, 2015e; Cetin, 2016a; Cetin, 2016b; Cetin, 2016c; Cetin and Sevik, 2016a; Cetin and Sevik 2016b; Cetin and Sevik 2016c; Cetin and

Sevik 2016d; Cetin et al., 2016; Panduro and Veie 2013; Schipperijn et al., 2010; Wendel et al., 2012; Wolch et al., 2014; Zhou and Parves 2012).

Cetin (2015a) criteria for determining the potential recreation areas have been set taking into account the views of the landscape architect and urban planning expert. In this context, compliance with recreational use criteria in order of priority; the presence of plants, transportation, slope, water availability, drainage, rainfall, temperature, and altitude indicators were identified as erosion. On the other hand Cetin and Sevik (2016c) increases the potential value of the recreational green areas; proximity to the presence of water, cultural values, accessibility, vegetation, slope, visual values, climate, altitude, soil and has set bond (Cetin, 2015a; Cetin, 2015b; Cetin, 2015c; Cetin, 2015d; Cetin, 2015e; Cetin, 2016a; Cetin and Sevik, 2016b; Cetin and Sevik, 2016a; Cetin and Sevik, 2016b; Cetin and Sevik, 2016c; Cetin and Sevik, 2016a; Cetin and Sevik, 2016c; Cetin and Sevik, 2016c; Cetin and Sevik, 2016; Panduro and Veie, 2013; Schipperijn et al., 2010; Wendel et al., 2012; Wolch et al., 2014; Zhou and Parves, 2012). Over similar recreational green areas of spatial magnitude affecting important that the criteria parks include the equipment and access in the use of the Karabuk considering accessibility and slope Contiguous Zone has tried to reveal the appropriateness of green areas.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study material is Karabuk and the surrounding area. The Karabuk district, located in the Black Sea coast, the Western Black Sea Region. It is with coordinates of 41° 11' north latitude and 32° 37' east longitude and the values were evaluated and processed using GIS maps, and the map obtained is shown in Figure 1. The surface area of the region of Karabuk has its natural, cultural, and recreational resources have a high value. In the region, the majority of the year is dominated by the Black Sea rainy climate. The average annual temperature is 19.4 °C. The highest temperature is 22.2 °C to 23.2 °C, which usually occurs in July and August. January is the coldest month at -5.2 °C. The northern slopes of the area get more rain It has significant natural, cultural and recreational resource values at regional and national scale. In the region, the climate of the Black Sea is predominant, with most of the year rainy. The average annual temperature is 16.5°C and the highest temperature is 27.4°C in July and 27.2°C in August. The coldest month with January -7.5°C. The north region of the zone gets more rain (Municipality, 2016, Meteorology 2016). Within the scope of the study, geology, hydrology, topographic and soil maps belonging to the study area were provided. Then the climate, flora and fauna of the region were collected. The obtained data are entered into the computer and maps of the region are created with the help of Arc GIS software and processed on the maps. In this study it was obtained from the Municipality of Karabuk numerical data used in the park. In the study: 1/5000 Master Plan, 1/100000 scale topographic map data and GIS is utilized (Figure 2).

Karabuk area of green space within standard that given revealed that on the basis of the slope groups; (1) are classified according to their spatial size criteria, (2) Effective service area (radius) by accessibility analysis, (3) slope analysis was conducted in the area of effective service (Cetin, 2015a; Cetin and Sevik, 2016c). Recreational slope of the distance and the distance until transportation is one of the most important factors affecting the use of recreational areas. Accessibility within walking distance defined by the people, can be reduced depending on the distance of the slopes. In this context, the slope groups, especially so

considering the accessibility of persons with disabilities (0-4), (4-5), (5-8), (8-12), (12 <) are classified into 5 groups. The showing Figure 2 are the different slope groups in Karabuk. (Cetin, 2015a; Cetin and Sevik, 2016c). The analysis performed in this study Arc GIS software (Arc Map Version 10) was performed using.



Figure 1. Geographical location of Karabuk and its immediate surroundings



Figure 2. Karabuk slope analysis

RESULTS

In this study, Karabuk district adjacent area of the park boundary in a total of 12 were evaluated. The parks discussed under the research, based on area size and categorized in terms of accessibility, provincial district park, it was determined that the neighborhood playground and 3 different parks size can be defined as a children's playground. The classification result;

1 district park, neighborhood park, 2 and 1 has also been found that a total of 4 parking can be defined as a playground or sports field. In these studies, 1 also under evaluation to be defined as 30 parking spaces and green areas are considered substandard. Karabuk district park, neighborhood park and playground accessibility map is given in Figure 3. The city, with a total of 30 parking less than 1000 m² has been identified as substandard parks. The size of these parks between 8 to 1 in 12 for parking, which is made of the accessibility analysis using the effective service radius of 200 m (Figure 3). Analysis showed a total of 213 m² of parks in ideal conditions it was found that accessibility is possible. However, due to the creation of the position of parking availability status without considering the availability of parking space coincide. This is the availability of parking space has led to a fall from 2130 m² to 1800 m². Accessibility slope groups in the border (0-4%, 4-5%, 5-8%, 8-12% and 12% <) was evaluated in five grades. Spatial extent of these classes, respectively, 879, 97, 200, 286 and 754 m².



Figure 3. Karabuk district park, neighborhood park and playground accessibility map and availability of Karabuk substandard parking map

Neighborhood Park: When the neighborhood parking availability within the boundaries of the slope groups studied, 0-4% slope areas with 581 m², slope areas between 4-5% 62 m² slope area between 5-8% of 85 m², slope areas between 8-12% 86 m² and the area with the slope values above 12% were found to be 212 m². Looking at the present topography slope groups within the boundaries of the neighborhood parking availability, accessibility ideal slope of a significant portion of the area, especially people with disabilities, it is seen that the value will prevent access to the area. Neighborhood parks of the area of 268 m² as an important part of the city adjacent areas due to remain outside the boundaries of the park district has not been calculated for this section of slope group. Neighborhood Parks: The neighborhood slope groups in the availability of the boundaries of the park are analyzed, 0-4% slope areas with 63 m² slope area between 4-5% 16 m² slope area between 5-8% 91 m² slope area between% first 8-12 120 m² and the area with the slope values above 12% were found to be 473 m². An important part of the area of accessibility as 80% of the ideal neighborhood parks are not accessible in terms

of slope. The neighborhood is close around the intensification of the park of high slope in the availability border of the park, while the lower slope accessibility limits of the extreme accessibility in because of the concentration limit of 20% part because of the slope distribution within is not accessible. Children's Playground: The accessibility within the boundaries of the slope groups studied, the area up to the slope of 4% 103 m², sloping areas between 4-5% 6 m², sloping areas between 5-8% 5 m², sloping areas between 8-12% 7 m² and% in the area with the slope values over the 12 it was found to be 21 m². The standard limits the availability of underground parking inclination group in the assessment; areas with 4% slope 132 m², 13 areas with slopes between 4-5% m², 19 areas with slopes between 5-8% m², 10 areas with slopes between 8-12% m², the area has a slope of over 12% 39 was found to be m². Standard six parks, its effect on the accessibility of the slope is more advantageous than other parks group class.

CONCLUSIONS

Karabuk district area within the boundaries of the study for the park; 1 neighborhood park of 93 parking spaces, parking 3 different size may be 2 and 1 neighborhood park playground have been identified. 8 in the bottom of the 89 parking spaces were identified as substandard parks. Availability of these parking areas (effective service areas) respectively 1026 m², 763 m², 142 m² and 180 m². When Karabuk district area of public parks accessibility in all circumstances considered together; availability of ideal distance, and could not reach the park from 69% of the study area (Figure 3). On the other hand parks able to achieve the accessibility of the park due to conflict with each other border areas it is narrowed. Conflict with an ability to reach areas of the park are a positive feature when under normal conditions, the distribution and availability of parking space in the city has decreased recreational services when considered together. Made unplanned and the needs of more than one park to reach the city's green space system in any park shuttle when it is not possible at some point in the district indicate that at some point meet. When parking on a slope groups in the field of research evaluation in accordance with accessibility limitations; 0-4% 4-5% 5-8% slope can be achieved easily reach the park between groups. Park within the boundaries of accessibility for the comfort provided by the park district's transportation groups slope 688 m², 170 m² for neighborhood parks, a children's garden for 114 m², covers 164 m² for substandard parks. Karabuk district areas within the boundaries of the park provide comfortable areas where the transportation of the group in accordance with the inclination limit accessibility covers 1176 m^2 . Within the boundaries of the park accessibility 8-12% and 12% <area between the slope groups are the areas where it is difficult to access or lack of transportation. This area of 298 m², respectively (neighborhood parks) 593 m² (neighborhood parks), 28 m² (playground) and 49 m² (substandard parks) covers. Karabuk district area according to the inclination of the accessibility limit set in the park in the adjacent area in which it is difficult to transport or transportation are not possible areas cover 1031 m². The availability and attractiveness of green areas have a part of urban life quality the easy availability of green spaces can help to increase the physical activity of it. Karabuk in the study of the park users to be close to the first preferred parking spaces (38%), size (20%) and easy accessible ability (18%) chose the criteria. These results demonstrate the importance of evaluating the accessibility of the park. 38% of the contiguous area within the boundaries of settlements (379.6 m²) to enter into effective service area of the park. 62% of the residential area (630.3 m^2) is effective outside the service area of the park. In these areas, there arises a need for the establishment of the park in standard sizes. Karabuk district area Contiguous Zone will be held on considering accessibility in urban green

space planning and design studies indicating parking balanced distribution system should be established.

REFERENCES

- Arnberger, A., Eder, R. (2012). The influence of green space on community attachment of urban and suburban residents. Urban For. Urban Gree., 11(1): 41-49.
- Barthel, S., Parker, J., Ernstson, H. (2013). Food and green space in cities: A resilience lens on gardens and urban environmental movements. Urban Stud., 0042098012472744.
- Caspersen, O. H., Olafsson, A. S. (2010). Recreational mapping and planning for enlargement of the green structure in greater Copenhagen. Urban For. Urban Gree., 9(2): 101-112.
- Cetin, M., Topay, M., Kaya, L.G., Yilmaz, B. (2010) Efficiency of bioclimatic comfort in landscape planning process: case of Kutahya, Turk. J. For., 1 (1): 83-95
- Cetin, M., Sevik, H. (2016a) Chapter 5: Assessing Potential Areas of Ecotourism through a Case Study in Ilgaz Mountain National Park, InTech, Eds:Leszek Butowski, 190, ISBN:978-953-51-2281-4, 81 -110,
- Cetin, M., Sevik, H. (2016b). Measuring the impact of selected plants on indoor CO₂ concentrations. Pol. J. Environ. Stud., 25(3): 973-979.
- Cetin, M., Sevik, H. (2016c). Evaluating the recreation potential of Ilgaz Mountain National Park in Turkey. Environ. Monit. Assess., 188(1):52.
- Cetin, M., Sevik H. (2016d) Change of air quality in Kastamonu city in terms of particulate matter and CO₂ amount. Oxid. Commun., 39,(4-II): 3394–3401.
- Cetin, M. (2016a) Determination of bioclimatic comfort areas in landscape planning: A case study of Cide Coastline. Turk. J. Agric.-Food Sci. Technol., 4 (9): 800-804
- Cetin, M. (2016b). Sustainability of urban coastal area management: a case study on Cide. J. Sustain. Forest., 35 (7): 527–541.
- Cetin, M. (2016c). A Change in the Amount of CO2 at the Center of the Examination Halls: Case Study of Turkey. Stud. Ethno-Med., 10(2): 146-155.
- Cetin, M., Adiguzel, F., Kaya, O., Sahap, A. (2016) Mapping of bioclimatic comfort for potential planning using GIS in Aydin. Environ. Develop. Sustain., 1-16, In press, DOI: 10.1007/s10668-016-9885-5, <u>http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10668-016-9885-5</u>
- Cetin, M. (2015a). Using GIS analysis to assess urban green space in terms of accessibility: case study in Kutahya. Int. J. Sust. Dev.. World., 22(5): 420-424,
- Cetin, M. (2015b) Determining the bioclimatic comfort in Kastamonu City. Environ. Monit. Assess., 187(10): 640.
- Cetin, M. (2015c). Consideration of permeable pavement in Landscape Architecture. J. Environ. Prot. Ecol., 16(1): 385-392.
- Cetin, M. (2015d) Evaluation of the sustainable tourism potential of a protected area for landscape planning: a case study of the ancient city of Pompeipolis in Kastamonu. Int. J. Sust. Dev. World, 22(6): 490-495.
- Cetin, M. (2015e) Chapter 55: Using Recycling Materials for Sustainable Landscape Planning, Environment and Ecology at the Beginning of 21st Century, ST. KLIMENT OHRIDSKI UNIVERSITY PRESS, SOFIA, Eds: Prof. Dr. Recep EFE, Prof. Dr. Carmen BIZZARRI, Prof. Dr. İsa CÜREBAL, Prof. Dr. Gulnara N. NYUSUPOVA, 821 p. ISBN:978-954-07-3999-1, İngilizce, chapter page: 783-788

- Conway, D., Li, C. Q., Wolch, J., Kahle, C., Jerrett, M. (2010). A spatial autocorrelation approach for examining the effects of urban greenspace on residential property values. J. Real Estate Financ., 41(2): 150-169.
- Coombes, E., Jones, A. P., Hillsdon, M. (2010). The relationship of physical activity and overweight to objectively measured green space accessibility and use. Soc. Sci. Med., 70(6): 816-822.
- Dai, D. (2011). Racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in urban green space accessibility: Where to intervene? Landscape Urban Plan., 102(4): 234-244.
- Meteorology (2016), Ministry of Forestry and Water Affairs. General Directorate of Meteorology. Meteorological data for the Karabuk district covering the years 1960 2015.
- Municipality (2016), Karabuk Municipality http://www.karabuk.bel.tr/, (19/02/2017).
- Panduro, T. E., Veie, K. L. (2013). Classification and valuation of urban green spaces—A hedonic house price valuation. Landscape Urban Plan., 120: 119-128.
- Schipperijn, J., Stigsdotter, U. K., Randrup, T. B., Troelsen, J. (2010). Influences on the use of urban green space–A case study in Odense, Denmark. Urban For. Urban Gree., 9(1): 25-32.
- Wendel, H. E. W., Zarger, R. K., Mihelcic, J. R. (2012). Accessibility and usability: Green space preferences, perceptions, and barriers in a rapidly urbanizing city in Latin America. Landscape Urban Plan., 107(3): 272-282.
- Wolch, J. R., Byrne, J., Newell, J. P. (2014). Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: The challenge of making cities 'just green enough'. Landscape Urban Plan., 125: 234-244.
- Zhou, X., Parves Rana, M. (2012). Social benefits of urban green space: A conceptual framework of valuation and accessibility measurements. Management of Environmental Quality: International Journal, 23(2): 173-189.

THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT DRYING METHODS ON TOTAL PHENOLIC CONTENTS OF KABAAŞI APRICOT VARIETY

Mustafa KAPLAN*¹, Sevgi ESKIGÜN¹, Okan LEVENT² Mehmet ALPASLAN³

¹ Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Livestock, Directorate of Apricot Research Institute, Malatya

² Inonu University, Food Engineering Department, Malatya ³ Namık Kemal University, Department of Nutirition and Dietetics, Tekirdağ

* <u>kaplanmustafa@tarim.gov.tr</u>

ABSTRACT

The origin of Kabaaşı apricot variety is Malatya. It is evaluated as table and dried. Amount of dry matter soluble in water varies between 24-26, the fruit meat hardness is hard texture. Malatya apricots are known to be an important source of phenolic compounds. Phenolic compounds are important in terms of food composition, their effects on the taste-odor formation, their participation in the mechanism of color formation and change, their antioxidant and antimicrobial properties. Phenolic compounds not only prevent the oxidation of foods but also protect the human body from harmful oxidative effects. This study is important to determine the specificity of identification of the phenolic compound compositions of Malatya apricots and to reveal differences among varieties. Kabaaşı apricot sample suitable for drying was applied to sun drying (SD) and sulfur drying (SuD) and oven drying (OD) methods. Changes in the amount of total phenolic contents (TPC) were determined after drying with drying methods. The amount of TPC was determined spectrophotometrically by modifying the Folin-Ciocalteu method. The TPC values of the samples were calculated as the sum of the amounts of water-soluble and methanol-soluble substances as gallic acid equivalents. The amount of TPC in the Kabaasi apricot sample was determined as 187.22 mg GAE100 g DM⁻¹, whereas the quantities of 135.91, 229.46 and 154.06 mg GAE100 g DM⁻¹ TPC were determined in SD, SuD and OD methods, respectively. It was determined that the amount of TPC was increased due to sulfur application and quantity in the SuD method.

Keywords: Malatya apricots, Total phenolic content, Gallic acid

INTRODUCTION

The origin of Kabaaşı apricot variety is Malatya. It is evaluated as table and dried. Amount of dry matter soluble in water varies between 24-26, the fruit meat hardness is hard texture.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Materials

Kabaaşı fresh and dried apricot variety is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Dried Kabaaşı apricot sample

METHODS

1 g of the wet sample was taken from 0.5 g of the dried sample, homogenized with 25 mL of pure methanol for 2 minutes, then allowed to stand overnight at $+ 4 \circ C$. Centrifugation was carried out for 20 minutes at 9000 rpm in a refrigerated centrifuge (Nüve NF 800 R, Türkiye). Kabaaşı wet apricot samples were taken out by dissolving in methanol and then the process was repeated by adding 25 mL of purified water to the same phase in the amount of TPC dissolved in water. The TPC amount was determined spectrophotometrically by modifying the Folin-Ciocalteu method (Thaiponga ve ark. 2006; Re et.al. 1999). The TPC amount is calculated as the sum of the water-soluble and methanol-soluble substance values. Curve was drawn by spectrophotometer with standard solution (Shimadzu UV-120-01, China) prepared at 5 different concentrations (mg / mL) of gallic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) and the absorbance results of the samples were obtained as mg GAE 100 g DM⁻¹ It was calculated (Table 1.)

| $0,1 \text{ mL} \rightarrow$ | 100 mL | \rightarrow 5 ppm |
|------------------------------|--------|------------------------------|
| $0,2mL \rightarrow$ | 100mL | $\rightarrow 10 \text{ ppm}$ |
| $0,5mL \rightarrow$ | 100 mL | $\rightarrow 25 \text{ ppm}$ |
| $1mL \rightarrow$ | 100 mL | $\rightarrow 50 \text{ ppm}$ |
| $2 \text{ mL} \rightarrow$ | 100 mL | →100 ppm |



Figure 2. Concentration and Absorbance Value of GAE

Figure 3. Calibration Curve of Gallic acid

RESULTS

The amount of TPC in the Kabaaşı fresh apricot sample was determined as 187.22 mg GAE100 g DM^{-1} , whereas the quantities of 135.91, 229.46 and 154.06 mg GAE100 g DM^{-1} TPC were determined in SD, SuD and OD methods, respectively. It was determined that the amount of TPC was increased due to sulfur application and quantity in the SuD method.

| Table 1. | Kabaaşı | apricot sa | nples TPC | values of | water + | methanol | extracts |
|----------|---------|------------|-----------|-----------|---------|----------|----------|
|----------|---------|------------|-----------|-----------|---------|----------|----------|

| Apricot sample | Water GAE100g DM ⁻¹ | Methanol GAE100g DM ⁻¹ | TFM (Water + Methanol) GAE100g DM ⁻¹ |
|---------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|
| Kabaaşı FF (Fresh apricot) | 32.05 | 155.16 | 187.22 |
| Kabaaşı SD (Sun Dried), | 29.36 | 106.55 | 135.91 |
| Kabaaşı SuD (Sulphur Dried), | 63.37 | 166.09 | 229.46 |
| Kabaaşı OD (Oven Dried) | 19.94 | 134.12 | 154.06 |

CONCLUSIONS

The amount of TPC value determined 229.46 mg GAE100g DM⁻¹ in SuD samples (Table 1). A reduction in the amount of TPC of the apricots with drying was generally determined. It is known that phenolic compounds are used as substrates in the enzymatic browning reactions that occur during drying in the sun.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the Republic Of Turkey Ministry Of Food, Agriculture And Livestock, General Directorate Of Agricultural Research And Policies and Apricot Research Institute for supporting this project.

REFERENCES

- Acar, J., Gökmen, V. (2005). Meyve ve Sebze İşleme Teknolojisi, Cilt 1- Meyve ve sebze suları üretimi, Hacettepe Üniversitesi Yayınları, ISBN:975-491-179-7, Ankara: 674.
- Alper, N. (2001). Nar suyu üretimi üzerine araştırmalar, Doktora Tezi, Hacettepe Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Ankara: 151.
- Asma, B.M. (2011). Her Yönüyle Kayısı. İnönü Üniversitesi Fen edebiyat fakültesi, Biyoloji Bölümü, Malatya: 20-23.
- Çam, M., Hışıl, Y. (2003). Gıdalardaki flavonoidler ve önemleri, 3. Gıda Mühendisliği Kongresi, 2-4 Ekim, Ankara, Türkiye: 67-82.
- Garcia-Alonso, M., Pascual-Teresa, S., Santos-Buelga, C., Rivas-Gonzalo, J.,C. (2004). Evaluation of the antioxidant properties of fruits, Food Chem., 84 (1): 13-18.
- Güçlü, K., Altun, M., Özyürek, M., Karademir, S. E., Apak, R. (2006). Antioxidant capacity of fresh, sun- and sulphited-dried Malatya apricot (Prunus armeniaca) assayed by CUPRAC, ABTS/TEAC and folin methods. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol., 41: 76–85.
- Heim, K.E., Tagliaferro, A.R., Bobilya, D.J. (2002). Flavonoid antioxidants: chemistry, metabolism and structure-activity relationships. J. Nutr. Biochem., 13: 572-584.
- Re, R., Pellegrini, N., Proteggente, A., Pannala, A., Yang, M., Rice-Evans, C. (1999). Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. Free Rad. Biol. Med., 26(9): 1231-1237.
- Ruiz, D., Egea, J., Tomas-Barberan, F. A., Gil, M.I. (2005). Characterization and quantitation of phenolic compounds in new apricot (Prunus armenica L.) varieties, J. Agric. Food Chem., 53 (24): 9544-9552.
- Thaiponga, K., Unaroj, B., Kevin, C., Luis -Zevallosc, David, H. (2006). Byrnec Comparison of ABTS, DPPH, FRAP, and ORAC assays for estimating antioxidant activity from guava fruit extracts. J. Food Compos. Anal., 19: 669–675.

A NEW SIGHT IN PARTIALITY AND IN WHOLENESS ON THE ORGANISM IDIOTYPE ACTION

Gospodin CUNICULA* 21, Brod str., 1510 Sofia, Bulgaria

* gospodin.cunicula@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

In this work is *given, with a dose of conditionality, a new concept for the ingredients of the results of action of one or another combination of the genetic determinants. First is the action of the so cold non-Mendelian -, cytoplasmic -, or preferred by the author of this article extrachromosomal inheritance (heredity), valid for all the bionta, exluding the species of precellular organisms. That is why, the sum of the action of these genetic determinants is *named *ech-zigosis* and *ech-osis* or *eci-zigosis* and *eci-osis*, and *designated with the symbol $\pm d_{eci}$. The second sum of actions is the *named as *hemizygosis* or *hemisis*, *marked with the symbol The third sum of actions is named *homosis* or - **homozygosis, here *designated $\pm d_{hem}$. as $\pm d_{hom}$ and the fourth sum of actions is - the *heterozygosis* or *heterosis*, here *symbolized $\pm d_{het}$. The last three single summary effects are *joined together, and *named with the as terms *ch-osis* and *ch-zygosis* or *ci-osis* and *ci-zygosis*, and their total sum is *marked with the symbol $+ d_{ci}$. *New terms are also implemented for the summary effect of the whole or holistic combination of the hereditary determinants - holozygosis or holosis. For the pre-cellular organisms are suitable only the terms *hemisis* and *holosis*. But the terms *ech-osis* or *eci-osis*, *hemisis*, *ch-osis* or *ci-osis* and *holosis* are suitable for all the species of prokaryotes, and during all the phases from the *so-named stadium of gametobiont, being either *androgametobiont or *gynogametobiont, from the particular contiguous windings (generations) of the screw lines of the survivals of the birth populations of eukaryotes, either diploid, auto- or allopolyploid. The terms ech-zigosis (eci-zigosis), hemizygosis, homozygosis, heterozygosis, ch-zygosis (cizygosis) and holozygosis are suitable during all the phases from the *so-named stadium of zygotobiont from the particular contiguous windings (generations) of the screw lines of the survivals of the birth populations of eukaryotes, either diploid, auto- or allopolyploid, while in these circumstances the terms *homosis* and *heterosis* have not to be used. This whole or holistic effect is *designated with the symbol $\pm e_{hol}$, and is composed by the sum of the four summary single effects and by the addition of all possible interactions between them. Interactions are *labeled with the symbol + b with subscripts for the respective double, triple or quadruple combination of ech (eci), ch (ci), hem, hom and het. Mathematical expressions of the *holozygosis* - or the *holosis* in any definite environment are given with the respective equations for the pre-cellular organisms, for the prokaryotes or during all the phases of the aforementioned stadium of *gametobiont* of the eukaryotes, and during all the phases of the aforementioned stadium of *zygotobiont* of the eukaryotes.

Key words: Androgametation, Hemisis, Hemizygosis, Heterosis, Heterozygosis, Holosis, Holozygosis, Homosis, Homozygosis, Ch-Osis, Ch-Zygosis, Ci-Osis, Ci-Zygosis, Ech-Osis, Ech-Zygosis, Eci-Osis, Eci-Zygosis, Gametobiont, Androgametobiont, Gynogametobiont, Zygotobiont

INTRODUCTION

In the mother Nature, or the evolution, ever since exists the *so-called *spontaneous* -, or *natural (a)melioration* of the heredity of all the organisms, incl. the human beings, whether it was *biogenic* - or **biontogenic* -, incl. *anthropogenic influenced* or - not.

However, perhaps from the precedent of the transition from the supply with organisms, collected directly from the mother Nature to one, mediated first by their proper (as carefully as possible) management, i. e. since the moment of the spring of the husbandry, has been being its version. This alternative practice is the *so-called *technological* -, or *artificial* -, or *induced* (*a)melioration* of the heredity of the husbanded by people bionts (beings, organisms, individuals), in principal applicable also for the mankind. But this activity has particularly benefited from the advancement of science and technology, especially during the past two centuries. The introduction of the latest achievements in these fields, such as the artificial **androgametation* (the artificial polenisation in the phytobionts, and in the mycobionts, the so called artificial insemination in the zoobionts, incl. the zoobionts of the species Homo sapiens) and the other branches of the reproduction biotechnologies; as cloning; as induced mutagenesis; as genomiks and as genetic engineering is becoming more evident than ever because in these circumstances we mean the use of gametes, that are produced by the male beings, not - of some seeds. This does not mean that improvements in the "classics" of it are being overlooked or that its practice would soon be stopped as well as in the natural balance activities.

On the contrary, this field as a whole, as well as in its particular elements, for instance, such as giving a general evaluation of the zoobiont (the animal) breeding value, have been nourished by the introduction of electronics and computing machinery.

Still, the extent and the direction of action of its operations' contributions do not act in synergy so that, for instance, the animal beings for final production purposes (for meat, for milk, for wool, for eggs, for work, and for etc.) would give the maximum amount, highest quality and lowest cost of production (Dimov, 2003), because the things in that direction with the other bionts are not much more different.

Historical overview

It was performed first a brief retrospective overview of the practices of the technological (a) melioration of the heredity of husbanded domestic bionts within the aforementioned period. For illustration of this explanation it will stop on the zoobionts. Initially, the emphasis was put on the recognized technology for production of pure-blood (pure-bred) animals for final utilization.

The use of this approach results in obtaining the least expensive possible animals for production of animal foodstuffs. This however does not imply that the production would also be the least expensive due to the failure to be composed the most appropriate idiotype to achieve production goals.

During the second half of the last century were implemented everywhere the technologies for creating zoobionts and other bionts for production purposes - whether single-hybrid - or double-hybrid multitudes - of single or double hybrid cultigenic varieties or varieties of cultigens - multitudes of bionts from the species, cultivated for the needs of economy (husbandry) or human life, i.e. ***cultivars of bionts.

On one side, it is aknowledged that the need for a special, very rigid and costly system for production of breeding zoobionts; seeds and nurselings of phytobionts (plants) and inoculates of mycobionts and of microbionts for multiplication, results in a very expensive production of bionts for final purposes.

The reason for this is that hybrid crossing (hybridization or metization) in both variants - primary or inverse is not always rational (Lewis, 1955). To say of production of double hybrids for final purposes, this is out of any ratio (Dimov, 2006).

As a result, we face the need to exclude from the breeding the male or female individuals of the different direct (purebred) or hybrid *cultivars in *multipliers* - the multiplying or breeding units in the *nursery* or *pepiniere* in Fr and Ge, *pepiniera* in It, from the *so-called (*a*)*melioratorium* (the system for melioration of the heredity of the majorities of one or another husbanded species of organisms, whose highest unit is the *citadel, center, central or headquarters*, the actual part of this sacred action flows), as well as other inconveniences that are not subject of this paper.

A new concept for the ingredients of the results of action of one or another combinations of the genetic (hereditary) determinants (factors)

The biggest drawback of existing so far technologies for production of purebred or hybrid bionts for final purposes is that the most beneficial combination of genetic determinants, from an economical point of view, is achieved with lots of efforts and rather by chance.

To become this reality, we need go through, for instance in zoobionts, the "investment" in the phenotypic performance of its offspring. If we analyze this performance from the point of view of her determination, we will find four most important pools, that serve either independently or together, to achieve a certain result.

On one hand, through this approach, all the species of bionts, excl. sub-cellular -, pre-cellular - or para-cellular organisms (*regnum -, regia -* or *superdomain Acytota*), not only do not gather the beneficial versions or alternatives (alleles) of one or another genetic determinant or genetic factor (locus) from the so-called *non-Mendelian -, cytoplasmic -*, or *extrachromosomal inheritance* or - *heredity* (Jones, 1952, Rieger et al., 1976), situated out of the cell's nucleus in eukaryote bionts, either diploid, auto- or allopolyploid (extrachromosomal in prokaryotes or in *regnum Monera*), but a significant loss of these alleles and loci also occurs.

Thus, beings are deprived of the beneficial - and useful effects of these genetic determinants. Because the science knows the transmitted to the next generations through the chromosomes, but not according to the Mendel s laws allele convertion, genom imprinting (gamete of origin-dependent modification), either vegetative (somatic) - or germinative mosaicism, and also trinucleotide repeat disorders, the author of this paper prefers the term *extrachromosomal inheritance (heredity)*.

That is why he *named the sum of these positive - or negative effects on the entire - and the all-round adaptability of the organisms *ech-zigosis* or *ech-osis*, but it is not wrong to be used also the analogous terms *eci-zigosis* or *eci-osis* (hereby *designated with the symbol $\pm d_{eci}$, but the symbol $\pm d_{ech}$ is also suitable).

Here are possible three casuses. The first of them treats the prokaryotes, lately divided into the domains bacteria and archaea. In them these genetic determinants are invested in the next generation through donor ship of plasmids and / or episomes between two cells, realized, on one hand, para-sexual or asexual, on other hand, equivalent - or not equivalent reciprocal, and on the third hand, reciprocal or one way.

The other treats the cases of amphymixis of the eukaryotes. In some of them the transmission of these situated in the chloroplasts and in the mitochondria (in phytobyonts) or in mitochondria

(in zoobionts or in mykobionts) extrachromosomal hereditary factors to the contiguous generation is realized only through the ovum, i. e. by mother line.

This phenomenon is discovered after cross of the spot-leaved variety of four o clock flower or marvel of Peru *Mirabilis jalapa* by Correns (1904), one of the founders of the modern genetics. Its nature he for the first time gave the name *Status albomaculatus*.

In other eukaryotes the transmission of these extrachromosomal genetic determinants to the next generation is realized equipollent - or in some step non equipollent bought through mother -, and through father line. This phenomenon is discovered after cross by Baur E. (1909), also one of the founders of the modern genetics, of the variety with white edged leaves of pelargonium *Pelargonium zonale*. Its nature he for the first time gave the name *Status paraalbomaculatus*.

The last touches the cases of vegetative multiplication of the bionta. In it also is not transmitted the majority of absolutely all the hereditary determinants, either in their authentic matter, or in absolutely the same structure between them.

By the way the things stand so also in the cases, when during all the life or in the part of it, some lot of this heredity is due to viruses and / or rickettsia, and / or even bacteria. In result of all this it is impossible to be with fully identical hereditary determinants either parent - and filial generations or possibly the most related side relatives.

That is why in result of the different heritage of such hereditary determinants the natural (spontaneous) clonings - monozygotic (one- egged) twins (doublets), triplets, quadruplets and so on, (as well as artificial - or induced clonings) are not fully identical beings. This means that in these cases, there is always $\pm d_{eci}$ effect and therefore always there is some free territory for the selection, either natural or artificial.

Here is the place to give the deserved to Bateson et al. (1902), who for the first time introduced the terms homozygote and heterozygote. In this way they created the necessary conditions, later to be understood either partially - or in wholeness the actions and the interactions of the separate components of the idiotype.

So on the other hand, working via these approaches does not emphasize sufficiently the wanted effect resulting from one or another version (allele) of one or more genetic factors, *named *hemizygosis* or *hemisis*. The sum of these positive - or negative effects on the entire - and the all-round adaptability of the organisms is *marked with the symbol $\pm d_{hem}$.

It presents: in pre-cellular bionts; in prokaryotes, that posses a single chromosome i. e. are one-chromosome bionts; during all the phases from the *so-named stadium of *gametobiont*, being either **androgametobiont* or **gynogametobiont*, (the so far gametophyte or the incorrectly named, why, we shall see a bit later, sexual generation in the phytobionts or in the mykobionts) from the particular contiguous windings (generations) of the screw lines of the survivels of the birth populations of eukaryota, either diploid, auto- or allopolyploid; and mostly in heterogametic eukaryote offspring.

It was put a stress on "mostly" as this phenomenon also occurs, although very rarely, in environmental (through the environment conditions), maternal (through the egg) or haplodiploid sex determination as well as in homogametic sex with sex determination by Mendelian traits heredity, autosomo-homoallosomal (of allosome of the homogametic sex) balance and homoallosomo-heteroallosomal (of allosome of the heterogametic sex) systems of sex predetermination. It is provoked by hemizygosity on one or another alternative of one or more genetic determinants located in homoallosomes (exhibited also in homogametic sex individuals) and / or on autosomes (exhibited in representatives from both sexes).

In addition, at least with zoobionts, the simultaneous occurrence of heterogameticity and the ability to "invest" extrachromosomal heredity only in female individuals (the carriers and the transmitters of extrachromosomal genetic determinants) is not a precedent.

What is more, the utilization of every of the aforementioned practices involves a very high risk to lose the already existing in direct cultivars maximum (by value) and positive wanted effect in the offspring resulting from inherited equal versions of one or more genetic factors during the purebreeding of bionts for final purposes, named *homosis* (Altshuler, et al., 1968), or - ** *homozygosis*. The last term is used also by Shull (1915) and Wright (1933), but not in this sense.

This effect is proper only during all the phases from the *so-named stadium of *zygotobiont* (the so far sporophyte or the incorrectly named asexual generation in the phytobionts or in the mykobionts, because absolutely all the sporophyta are beings with sexual belongness) from the particular contiguous windings (generations) of the screw lines of the survivels of the birth populations of eukaryota, either diploid, auto- or allopolyploid.

This is a homozis - or homozygous effect in the offspring, obtained as a result of the action of the same versions of one or more hereditary determinants of pure-blooded production of bionts for final use. The sum of these positive - or negative effects on the entire - and the all-round adaptability of the organisms is *designated as $\pm d_{hom}$.

For sorry, **Anonymous,** in the world is being yet the totally wrong -, from all the sides not right practice, with the term homosis to be signed the phenomenon in which the hybrid spring is with lower - and / or less satisfying the needs of the husbandman qualities than these of the parent troops.

On the fourth place, this is attributed to the circumstance that in the process of obtaining double hybrids (offspring of sire and dam from different single hybrid cultivars), a lot of possibilities for attaining maximum (by value) and positive - and negative (according to Lewis, 1955; Turbin, 1961) outbreeding enhancement, hybrid vigor (Darwin, 1877; Gartner, 1849, Koelreuter, 1766; Mendel, 1865; Naudin, 1866; Lewis, 1955), *heterosis* (Shull, 1911, Shull, 1952, Hayes, 1952, Jones, 1952), or *heterozygosis* (East et al., 1912) are not realized.

This heterozygous effect is proper only during all the phases of the afore mentioned stadium of *zygotobiont* of the eukaryota. The sum of these positive - or negative effects on the entire - and the all-round adaptability of the organisms is *symbolized as $\pm d_{het}$.

It is result of inherited different alternatives of one or more hereditary determinants during the purebreeding or hybridization of zoo-, phyto- and mykobionts (fauna, flora and mykota) for final purposes.

The explanation could be found in the fact that this way, a loss of the effect formed in single hybrids (obtained from hybridization of direct cultivars) that serve as parents of double hybrids could have occurred

By the way, the *heterosis*, sooner the *heterozygosis*, as it will be seen later, is estimated in absolute - and in relative values. These estimations are divided also into:

- husbandrian - superiority of the arithmetical mean on a defined character or defined index of the hybrids above - or inferiority of the arithmetical mean on a defined character or defined index of the hybrids below, the together weighted mean on the same character or the same index

of the two parent cultivars, calculated according to the partnership ratio between them (Dimov, 1987);

- hypothetical - superiority of the arithmetical mean on a defined character or defined index of the hybrids above - or inferiority of the arithmetical mean on a defined character or defined index of the hybrids below, half the sum between the arithmetical means on the same character or the same index of the two parent cultivars (Omarov, 1975);

- *real* - superiority of the arithmetical mean on a defined character or defined index of the hybrids above - or inferiority of the arithmetical mean on a defined character or defined index of the hybrids below the arithmetical mean on the same character or the same index respectively of the higher - or of the lower parent cultivar (Omarov, 1975).

But through all these meagurements, the size of the heterozis is viewed as detached from both the magnitude of the arithmetic means of the hybrid majority and the parent cultivars, and dlso from the efficiency of the operation of the entire pyramid for production of the final hybrids.

This could lead to the choise of the hybrid cultivar with the largest heterosis, but not with the largest productivity or with the most efficient exploitation. This can be completely avoided by applying

- *competitive measurement of the heterosis* - an increase - or a decrease of the arithmetic mean on a given trait - or on a given index of the hybrid majority respectively above or below the arithmetic mean on the same trait - or on the same index respectively of the expressed in highest - or in lowest degree in the competitive tests in a given region (country, continent, etc.) of a hybrid cultivar (Abramova, 1985), but after the following conditions are fulfilled.

If the profitability of the whole chain is compared - from the inicial direct cultivars to the ready-to-eat food, the test is conducted in the conditions closest to the normal mass practice. Perhaps it will be argued, that when behind each of the hybrid cultivars compared in a given region there are no grown in the same region formations of bionta from all higher levels of the mentioned pyramid, hybrid cultivars can not be evaluated in the way just described.

Provided that the data on the productive and reproductive qualities of the bionta from each pyramid level for the production of each of the hybrid cultivars are available, some economic indicators have been taken from the functioning of the pyramid to produce the basic hybrid cultivar (the standard of comparison) and it is known **** the cast of each of the hybrid cultivars, this problem can easily be solved by the apparatus of mathematical modeling.

Then, by regression analysis, it can be determined which of the above-mentioned measurements are closest to the real values of the hybrid cultivars and to the what extent the comparison indicators can be simplified in order not to substantially impair the assessment of these merits.

The terms *ech-zigosis* (*eci-zigosis*), *hemizygosis*, *homozygosis* and *heterozygosis* are suitable for all the phases of the aforementioned stadium of *zygotobiont* of the eukaryota. And it is developed from the zygotes, either diploid, auto- or allopolyploid.

For the same reason and in the same circumstances the terms *homosis* and *heterosis* have not to be used. The term *hemisis* is suitable for all the species of organisms and in all possible their peripetia.

The last three single effects, i. e. the effects of *chromosomal inheritance (heredity)* - *hemizygosis*, *homozygosis* and *heterozygosis* are *joined together with the terms *ch-zygosis* and *ci-zygosis* or *ch-osis* and *ci-osis*, and the sum of these positive - or negative effects on the

entire - and the all-round adaptability of the organisms is *marked with the symbol $\pm d_{ci}$, but the symbol $\pm d_{ch}$ is also suitable.

For the cited yet reason, in this case the terms with *-zygosis* are suitable during all the phases of the aforementioned stadium of *zygotobiont* of the eukaryota, while the terms with *-osis* - for all the species of organisms and in all possible their peripetia.

Last but not least, consequently to all mentioned drawbacks, by all these technologies are produced for final purposes multitudes (massives) of bionts that are not homogeneous enough by their productivity. This circumstance considerably hinders the implementation, for instance, of contemporary zoobionts rearing technologies.

This new concept - base also for new systems for the conservation of genetic resourses, and for novel and perfected technologies for melioration of the heredity of the bionts.

The imperfections of systems existing so far could be reduced to a rather acceptable extent or could be completely eliminated by the creation on this base of advanced **novel and perfected technologies** for melioration of the heredity of husbanded cultigenes as well as for rearing of bionts for production purposes. On this stage the author of this paper has created and is able to implement such technologies only for husbanded zoobionts.

The achievement of each of these goals requires a kind of economical formation, but it is far more facilitated, flexible and faster than preexisting ones, i.e. it is more effective. Also, the wanted *hemizygous*, *homozygous* and *heterozygous* effects are *maximally profited from*, as well as the wanted effects from the accumulated at an utmost extent the situated out of the cells nucleus (in prokaryotes out of the chromosome) *extrachromosomal genetic determinants*.

Meanwhile, this new look upon the organism idiotype action gives an opportunity for the creation of far more sophisticated and at the same time more efficient and competent systems for genetic resource - and/or for biologic(al) diversity preservation. They are to be reviewed in other publications

A new scientific name of the effect of the whole combination of the hereditary determinants

As the novel concept implies a new label, I *suggest to implement the term **holozygosis** or **holosis**, that puts forward at first glance the whole - or holistic summary combination of the effects the genetic determinants of a new creature, i.e. a holistic or everyway zygosis.

For the exposed yet reason, in this case the first term is suitable during all the phases of the aforementioned stadium of *zygotobiont* of the eukaryotes, while the last - for all the species of organisms and in all possible their peripetia. In both cases the sum of these positive - or negative effects on the entire - and the all-round adaptability of the organisms will be *designated with the symbol $\pm e_{hol}$.

It is composed by the sum of the four summary single effects and by the addition of all possible interactions between them. Interactions will be *labeled with the symbol $\pm b$ with subscripts for the respective double, triple or quadruple combination of *ech (eci)*, *ch (ci)*, *hem*, *hom* and *het*. The mathematical expression of the holozygosis - or of the holosis in any definite environment could be *given with the equation

 $\pm e_{hol} = \pm d_{hem}$ - for pre-cellular organisms,

 $\pm e_{hol} = \pm d_{eci} \pm d_{hem} \pm b_{eci hem}$ - for prokaryota or during all the phases of the aforementioned stadium of *gametobiont* of the eukaryota and

 $\pm e_{hol} = \pm d_{eci} \pm d_{hem} \pm d_{hom} \pm d_{het} \pm b_{eci hem} \pm b_{eci hom} \pm b_{eci het}$

$\pm b$ hem hom $\pm b$ hem het $\pm b$ hom het $\pm b$ eci hem hom $\pm b$ eci hem het $\pm b$ eci hom het

 $\pm b$ hem hom het $\pm b$ eci hem hom het - during all the phases of the aforementioned stadium of *zygotobiont* of the eukaryota.

Among other things, the heterosis (heterozygosis) dimensions described above are also one to one applicable to the holosis (the holozygosis).

*** By the way, there are no objective reasons, either the taxonomic nomenclature of the phytobionts, of the mycobionts, of the zoobionts and the other bionts in the wildlife, or for the cultigenes, not to be unconditionally identical at absolutely all units of the taxonomic hierarchical structure, from the highest to the lowest.

Unfortunately, in terms of systematic names botanists, zoologists and mycologists not yet switched to the use of the same word for absolutely all essentially identical taxa. Here I exclude the clonings, whether phyto-, zoo-, myco- or microbo clonings.

In this case, I will not comment the Comintern mentality - and / or homemade criteria of our specialists in applied phytology (excluding their colleagues in forest culture), which, for the difference from their colleagues abroad, we must be lined up, they have not gone to the general application of the taxon cultivar for the different varieties of phytocultigenes yet.

As to the specialists in applied zoology or in applied mycology, literally from all over the world, I still can not -, and hardly ever I could figure out, why on the analogy of the universal use of taxon variety for every variety of bionta in the wild life, they do not * apply smoothly - and indiscriminate the taxon cultivar to denote the varieties of zoo cultigenes, or respectively of myco cultigenes, or of microbo cultigenes, in the latter two cases the name strain is still everywhere used.

Even Darwin himself used not the concept cultivar, but its predecessor - variety for just those varieties of zoo cultigenes. On the sensitive question how to call the so-called sortotypes and other similarities in some cultigenes, whether phyto-, zoo-, myco- and microbo, I answer this way: Although with some dose of conventionality, for example, the following hierarchical order can be considered: fraction of -, echelon of -, phalanx - or composition of -, version of -, series of -, group of -, strings from -; as well as **** the casts: ordinary - and synthetic - (compounde - or composite -) direct -; inbred - and outbred direct -; single hybrid - (twovariety -); three-, four-, and so on -variety consecutively alternately hybrid -; three-, four- and so on -variety consecutively non-alternately hybrid -; three-, four-, and so on -variety parallel hybrids; primal - and inverse -; intermediate - and terminal - (final -); monovalent -, bivalent -, trivalent -, ... and polyvalent (according to their purpose, whether productive, ie for the production of one or several products, model, ie for the biological modeling of the states -, of the processes - and of the phenomena, respectively occurring in the norm or in pathology, decorative, etc.) cultivars.

REFERENCES

- Altshuler V., Borisenco, E., Polyacov, A. (1968). Evolution genetics foundations of heterosis. In Heterosis in animal husbandry, Ed., Leningrad, 93 - 97 (in Rus).
- Anonymous, <u>www.lahistoriaconmapas.com/histopia</u> ... Definicion de Homosis Enciclopedia Online - La Historia con Mapas {f.} [Genetical] Fenomeno en virtud del cual el vigor de los hibridos es inferior al de los progenitores. d. (in Esp).
- Bateson W., Saunders, E. R. (1902). Experimental studies in the physiology of heredity. Rep. Evolut. Comm. Roy. Soc. Rep. I
- Baur, E. (1909). Das Wesen und die Erblichkeitsverhaltnisse der "varietas albomarginatus hort." von Pelargonium zonale. Z. induct. Abstamm. u. Vererbungslehre 1, 330.
- Correns, C. (1904). Experimentelle Untersuchungen uber die Gynodioecie. Ber. dtsch. bot. Ges. 22, 506.
- Darwin, Ch. R. (1876). The effects of cross and self fertilization in the vegetable kingdom, John Murray, Albemarle Street, London, p. 300 340.
- Dimov, M. (2003). Is the animal hybridization always the most benefical economically, Poultry Husbandry, 12, (3): 14 15 (in Bg).
- Dimov, M. (2006). Novel and perfected technologies for melioration of the heredity of husbanded animals, VMnews, 11, (3 4): 48 52 (in Bg).
- Dimov, M. (1987). A trial for improvement of the estimation of the heterosis effect, In collection of articles "Problems of the industrial production of poultry meat", International House of Scientists, Varna, 172 175 (in Bg).
- East, E. M., Hayes, H. K. (1912). Heterozygosis in evolution and in plant breeding, United States Department of Agriculture. Bur. Plant Industry Bulletin, 243 258.
- Gartner, C. F. (1849). Versuche und Beobachtungen uber die Bastardierung im Plancenrech, Stutgart, 378 p
- Hayes, H. K. (1952). Development of the heterosis concept, "Heterosis", ed. John W. Gowen, Iowa State College Press, Ames, Iowa, 49 65.
- Jones, D. F. (1952). Plasma genes and chromo genes in relation to heterosis "Heterosis", ed. John W. Gowen, Iowa State College Press, Ames, Iowa, 66 75.
- Koelreuter, J. G. (1766). Vorlayfige Nachricht von einigen das Geschlecht der Plancen betreffenden Versuchen und Beobachtungen, Leipzig, 470 p. Lewis D. (1955). Gene interaction, environment and hybrid vigor, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, ser. B, 144, 915.
- Mendel, G. J. (1865). Versuche uber Plancenhybriden, Naturforsch. Vereines Brunn Verhandl,
 4, Abhandlungen 3 47 (reprinted 1951 in Journal of Heredity 42, (1): 3 47.
 Naudin, Ch. (1865). Nouveles recherches sur l, hybridite dans les vegetaux, Nouveau de Archive de Museum Histoir Naturale, 1: 3 87
- Omarov D. S., 1975, To the methodics of the measuring and the estimation of the heterosis in plants. Agricultural Biology, 10 (1): 123 127, (in Rus). Rieger, R., Michaelis, A., Green, M. (1976). Glossary of Genetics and Cytogenetics, Veb. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena, p. 647
- Shull, G. (1915). Definitions in the New Standard Dictionary. The American Naturalist, 49: 52 59.
- Shull, G. H. (1911). Experiments with maize, Botanical Gazette, Chicago, Illinois, 52(4): 480 483.
- Shull, G. H. (1952). Beginning of the heterosis concept, "Heterosis", ed. John W. Gowen, Iowa State College Press, Ames, Iowa, 30 48.
- Turbin, N. V. (1961). Heterosis and genetic balance, In "Heterosis, theory and methods for practical utilization", Biology Institute, Academy of Sciences, BSSR, Minsk, 3 - 35 (in Rus).
- Wright, S. (1933). Inbreeding and homozygosis. Proc. of the National Academy of Sciences, 19, 411 420.

INVESTIGATION ON SOME TRAITS OF BRANCHED SUNFLOWER FERTILITY RESTORER LINES DURING THE BREEDING PROCESS

Galin GEORGIEV*

Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute – General Toshevo

* galindzi@abv.bg

ABSTRACT

Five branched restorers of fertility in sunflower were investigated (27R, 154R, 185R, 240R, 242R). They possessed very good general and specific combining ability and were the father components in high-yielding hybrids. The aim was to investigate the development of the fertility restorers when left with their branches and to compare them to the development of the plants with removed branches. There were differences in the values of some main traits related to the breeding of sunflower where mainly manual labor is involved. The question arises whether and to what extent the removal of branches in this type of lines is justifiable. The traits subjected to investigation were the following: number of seeds per head, plant height, head diameter, oil content in seeds, absolute weight, germination energy and germination. The experiment was carried out for three years in the trial fields of Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute - General Toshevo. In most of the cases, the number of seeds in the branched plants was higher than in the plants with removed branches, but this was always at the expense of the absolute weight, which was higher in the lines without branches. The trait plant height was not influenced by the presence or absence of branches. The head diameter was lower in the normal plants in comparison to the plants with removed branches. In the fertility restorer lines with normal branches, the oil content in seeds was always higher in comparison to the lines without branches. The traits germination energy and germination were not affected by the presence/absence of branches in a father component.

Keywords: Sunflower, Lines, Fertility restorers, Traits, Branches

INTRODUCTION

Out of the four schemes of sunflower hybrid seed production developed at Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute (Velkov and Stoyanova, 1974), only the method if interlinear hybridization is now used for developing two-linear male fertile simple hybrid with full restoration of fertility. After the discovery of the cytoplasmic male sterility (CMS), the search for fertility restorer genes began exactly in CMS PET-1 (Nenov, 2002). Kinman (1970) reported the first such source of PET-1 restoration.

After the discovery of the sources of Rf genes, it was necessary to involve them in such lines that can be used for hybridization. The developing of fertility restorer lines is a main task of the Sunflower Breeding Department of DAI. Such forms are being obtained in several ways: selection and selfing of varieties, in which the presence of Rf genes has been confirmed (Vranceanu and Stoenescu, 1971, 1978); crossing of wild species to cultural forms – varieties and lines, selection, new crossing, etc. (Kinman, 1970; Nenova et al., 2014; Valkova et al., 2016); crossing of two lines, one of which is a carrier of Rf genes (Bochkarev, 1980); crossing

a line to a variety; developing synthetic populations, developing dihaploids, and selfing of hybrids followed by selection, which is the most commonly applied method in the recent years.

The main function of the fertility restorer line (R line) is to restore the male fertility of the new developed hybrid by combining its genome with the gene material of the mother line, and through the heterosis effect, to reach a higher productivity level (Singh et al. 2018). The genetic material in pollen grains of father line was transferred by honey bees and bumblebees (Basualdo et al., 2007).

The seed production of the different types of crops has high cost price and is carried out according to specific methodology and schemes (Mihova et al., 2017). The aim is to obtain authentic quality sowing material allowing the cultivar or hybrid to realize their genetic potential.

Sunflower seed production nowadays uses mainly branched fertility restorers, in which the pollen is in much greater amounts and is produced for a longer period of time in comparison to the non-branched R lines. This is very important for the process of pollination and hence – for better results in the production of hybrid sunflower seeds. Furthermore, the branched fertility restorers are very favorable for developing of hybrids, in which the two lines are with sharply different dates of flowering.

Often, in the process of initial breeding and initial seed production, when manual labor in the branched fertility restorers is predominant, sometimes branches are removed to work easier with the central head and to obtain larger seeds from a certain line, which will be further used in the next breeding stages.

The aim of this study was to follow the parallel development of the fertility restorer lines when left with all their branches and when the branches were removed. Our goal was to find out if there was any difference in the values of some main traits related to the breeding and seed production of sunflower; and also if the removal of the branches of this type of lines was justifiable and to what degree.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study was carried out at Dobrudzha Agricultural Institute – General Toshevo during 2009 – 2011. It involved 5 branched fertility restorer lines - 27R, 154R, 185R, 240R, 242R. These are father lines with very good general and specific combining ability. Some of them are father components in hybrids already officially registered in Bulgaria and abroad.

The trial was designed according to the block method in five replications, the size of the plot being 10.8 sq. m. The stand density was 6200 plants/da. Four-five days prior to flowering, two central heads were selected from each plot, from each line and replication; all branches of one of the two heads were removed manually, leaving only the head itself on the stem.

The study was aimed at following the development of the fertility restorer lines when left with all their branches, and how the plants developed when their branches were removed. We tried to find answers to the questions if there was any difference in the values of some main traits related to the breeding of sunflower, where manual labor is predominant, and was the removal in some instance of the branches of this type of lines justifiable and to what extent.

The following traits only of the central head were read: number of seeds in head (NSH), plant height (PH), diameter of the head (DH), oil content in seed (OC), absolute weight (W_{1000}), germination energy (GE) and germination (G).

The effects from the removal of the branches (Factor A) and the specificity of the genotype (Factor B) for the formation of the studied traits were evaluated by using two-way dispersion analysis. The experimental data was processed with the help of the software package Microsoft Excel^{xp}.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Very often, in the process of sunflower breeding, manual labor is very important and is almost indispensable. Certain manipulations have to be performed, which can be done only by well trained workers. Each cross between two plants involves the so called "kissing" between two heads, so that the pollen from the first to be efficiently placed on the second. The production of seeds from parental sunflower lines under macro insulators is also primarily related to manual labor, where very often the branches of the father lines have to be removed to ensure better contact for "kissing" with the mother lines and thus provide better pollination and hence – greater quantity of seeds.

Furthermore, the seeds obtained from the father form are considerably larger and with better appearance. Such seeds are much easier to work with, and they are also preferable for the future seed production because they are much more easier to plant with the sunflower planters in which the discs of the sowing apparatus should not be with very small apertures in order not to hinder the sowing process.

The analysis of the variances (Table 1) shows that the removal of the branches in the father lines is related mainly to higher head diameter and 1000 kernel weight. The differences are with high statistical significance (P=1%).

| Component | PH | DH | NSH | W ₁₀₀₀ | OC | GE | G |
|-----------|--------|---------|----------|-------------------|--------|-----|-----|
| Factor A | 15.8 | 92.9*** | 3821.6 | 996.4*** | 112.5* | 0.4 | 1.0 |
| Factor B | 523.6* | 9.5 | 34338.8 | 66.3 | 32.7 | 6.0 | 1.5 |
| A x B | 51.7 | 4.7 | 21.805.7 | 6.4 | 2.4 | 0.2 | 0.7 |

Table 1. Analysis of the variances of the studied traits in father lines of sunflower

Averaged for the period of investigation, the head diameter of the non-branched forms was with 3.5 cm larger, reaching 14.8 cm (Figure 1). The variations were highest in 2009 and 2011. They were within narrower limits in 2010, when considerable amounts of rainfalls were registered during June-August, especially in the flowering stage. The range of variation of 1000 kernel weight was wider, the variation being as high as 11.5 g. The mean value in the unbranched forms was 43.8 g. Under favorable conditions for the formation of this trait, the variations became greater. The removal of the branches had lower effect on oil content. This effect was significant at a lower level, P=5%. The mean value of the trait in the branched forms was 49.3%. The tendency over years was similar, although variable to different degrees in the separate lines. A probable reason for this were the phenological specificity of the genotypes, the variations in the dates to flowering and its duration, and all these are directly dependent on the combination of meteorological factors. In the rest of the traits, the differences were not significant. The deviation was greater in number of seeds per head, but the variation during the period of study and by genotypes was not unidirectional. The difference in plant height was

insignificant. In practice, there were no differences with regard to the germination energy and the germination.

The interaction of the factors was not significant, which was an indication that the removal of the branches had a unidirectional effect on the investigated traits and was not genotypically specific.



Figure 1. Values of the traits depending on the type of development – with or without branches

The morphologically investigated father lines differed mainly by plant height (Table 2). Significant differences at the level of genotype were found only by this trait. Line 240R was with highest mean values, and line 27R – with lowest. However, the removal of the branches had low effect on this trait. The variation was within 3 cm. Higher deviation was found in line 185R – over 11 cm.

The effect from the removal of the branches on the head diameter was significant. In all lines, this was related to higher values of the trait. In 154R, the difference was almost 7 cm, but the mean deviation was within 2-5 cm. In the fertility restorer 27R, however, such a tendency was not observed and under certain climatic conditions, the removed branches did not favor a higher diameter of the central head. The higher head diameter, however, is not always related to higher number of formed seeds.

| Line | | PH | DH | NSH | W1000 | OC | GE | G |
|-------|---------------------|-------|------|-------|-------|------|------|------|
| 27 R | With branches | 104.3 | 11.1 | 613.3 | 32.9 | 48.7 | 82.0 | 90.5 |
| | Without branches | 102.7 | 12.8 | 461.9 | 44.4 | 43.1 | 81.7 | 90.7 |
| | Mean | 103.5 | 11.9 | 537.6 | 38.6 | 45.9 | 81.9 | 90.6 |
| 154 R | With branches | 120.6 | 10.7 | 454.5 | 25.9 | 50.4 | 80.6 | 89.5 |
| | Without branches | 123.1 | 17.1 | 498.0 | 38.7 | 46.2 | 81.4 | 90.4 |
| | Mean | 121.8 | 13.9 | 476.2 | 32.3 | 48.3 | 81.0 | 89.9 |
| 185 R | With branches | 112.9 | 10.1 | 398.0 | 33.5 | 53.0 | 79.7 | 90.5 |
| | Without branches | 101.3 | 12.7 | 365.3 | 45.7 | 49.2 | 79.8 | 90.3 |
| | Mean | 107.1 | 11.4 | 381.7 | 39.6 | 51.1 | 79.7 | 90.4 |
| 240 R | With branches | 124.9 | 11.9 | 301.5 | 36.9 | 47.6 | 79.5 | 88.7 |
| | Without branches | 126.0 | 15.7 | 391.7 | 44.8 | 43.7 | 80.1 | 90.0 |
| | Mean | 125.4 | 13.8 | 346.6 | 40.8 | 45.7 | 79.8 | 89.4 |
| 242 R | With branches | 113.1 | 12.7 | 352.7 | 32.4 | 47.0 | 79.5 | 89.8 |
| | Without branches | 115.5 | 15.7 | 515.7 | 45.5 | 45.1 | 79.6 | 89.5 |
| | Mean | 114.3 | 14.2 | 434.0 | 38.9 | 46.0 | 79.6 | 89.6 |
| | GD 5% | 9.8 | | | | | | |
| | GD 1% | 13.3 | HP | HP | HP | HP | HP | HP |
| | GD 0.1 % | 18.0 | | | | | | |

Table 2. Values of the traits by genotype

In most cases, the most ostensible effect was on the increase of the absolute weight of the seeds, and the differences were with high significance. This is confirmed also by the data in the researches of Supriya et al. (2017) and Emerson et al. (2017). In lines 154R, 240R and 242R, the removal of the branches increased the number of seeds. In the other two lines, the opposite tendency was observed during most of the years of research. The differences were determined by the conditions during the vegetative growth and the presence of stress factors, such as the abundant rainfalls during flowering in the second year of the study, when the values of the trait number of seeds per head were lowest in all lines. Having in mind the necessary manual labor, the removal of the branches was justifiable only in line 242R, in which in certain years the number of seeds increased significantly and their commercial presentation became especially good. Apart from the higher number of seeds in head, this type of development is related also to a significant increase of the head diameter and the absolute weight of seeds.

With regard to the oil content in seed, the tendency was unidirectional; the seeds obtained from heads without branches had lower values of this trait. The variation of the trait in most of the lines was with 3-4 %. Further studies will check if the pollination with pollen from the two types of plants has the same effect on the obtained production of F1 seeds.

The germination energy of seeds and their germination capacity were not related to the removal of the branches. The values were similar, with very close range of variation. Tendencies and dependencies related to their weight were not observed.

CONCLUSIONS

In most cases, the number of seeds from the central head in plants with branches was higher than the seeds in plants with removed branches, but this was always at the expense of the absolute weight, which was higher in plants with removed branches. The trait plant height was not influenced by the presence or absence of branches. The head diameter was lower in the normal plants in comparison to the plants with removed branches. The oil content of the seeds in the fertility restorer lines with normal branches was always higher than in the lines with removed branches. The traits germination energy and germination were not affected by the presence or absence of the branches in a branched father component.

REFERENCES

Bochkarev, N. I. (1980). News in the development of analogues of the fertility restorers of sterile cytoplasm in sunflower. Breeding and seed production of oil seed crops, Krasnodar, 66 – 69 (in Ru).

Nenov, N. (2002). Ph.D. Thesis.

- Nenova, N., Valkova, D., Encheva, J. and Taxin, N. (2014). Promising lines as a results from interspecific hybridization between cultivated sunflower (*H. annuus* L.) and the perennial. Turk. J. Agric. Nat. Sci., 2: 1654-1659.
- Basualdo, M., Rodríguez, E.M., Bedascarrasbure, E. and De Jong, D.(2007). Selection and estimation of the heritability of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) pollen collection behavior in *Apis mellifera* colonies. Genet. Mol. Res., 6 (2): 374-381
- Chambó, E. D., Escocard de Oliveira, N. T., Conceição, R.G., Ruvolo-Takasusuki, M. C. C. and Alencar Arnaut de Toledo, V. (2017). Phenotypic Correlation and Path Analysis in Sunflower Genotypesand Pollination Influence on Estimates. Open Biol. Sci. J., 3: 9-15.
- Valkova, D., Nenova, N., Encheva, V. and Encheva, J. (2016). Hybridization between cultivatedsunflower and wild annual species *Helianthus neglectus* Heiser. Proceedings 19th Intern. Sunflower Conference, 29 May-3 June, Edirne, Turkey, 2016, pp. 454-459.
- Velkov, V. and Y. Stoyanova (1974). Biological peculiarities of cytoplasmic male sterility and schemes of it 's use. Proc. of 6th International Sunflower Conf. Bucharest, 361-365.
- Kinman, M. L. (1970). New development in the USDA and State experiment stations sunflower breeding programs. Proc. Of the 4th Int. Sunfl. Conf. Memphis, 181-184.
- Mihova, G., Baychev, V., Alexandrov, T., Petrova, T., Stanoeva, Y. Ivanova, V. (2017). Breeding of cereal crops at Dobrudzha Agricultural Inst., General Toshevo, Bulgaria. 3rd International Symp. for Agriculture and Food, Ohrid, Republic of Macedonia.
- Supriya, S.M., Vikas V. Kulkarni, Ranganatha, C.N. and P. G. Suresha (2017). Quantitative Analysis of Oil Yield and Its Components in Newly Developed Hybrids of Sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Int.J.Curr.Microbiol.App.Sci., 6(8): 3088-3098.
- Vranceanu V. and Stoenescu, V. (1971). Pollen fertility restorer gene from cultivated sunflower. Euphytica, 20: 536-541.
- Vranceanu, V. and Stoenescu, V. (1978). Genes for pollen fertility restoration in sunflower. Euphytica, 27: 617-627.
- Vivek, K., Singh, Sheoran, R.K. and Chander, S. (2018). Correlation analysis for seed yield and its component traits in sunflower. J. Pharmacog. Phytochem., 7(3): 2299-2301.

ANALYSIS OF NUMERICAL METHODS FOR APPROXIMATING DDE SOLUTIONS IN WHEAT PRICE DYNAMICS IN ALBANIA

Elfrida Dishmema^{*1}, Frederik Dara², Silvana Mustafaj¹, Elisabeta Peti³

¹Agriculture University of Tirana, Faculty of Economy and Agribusiness, Department of Mathematics and Informatics, Albania

²University of Tirana, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Applied Mathematics, Albania

³University of Tirana, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Mathematics, Albania

e.dishmema@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Interactions between delay differential equations (DDEs) and economical models have been popular and developed rapidly in recent years. In mathematics, DDEs are known as differential equations in which the derivatives of some unknown functions at present time are dependent on the values of functions at previous time. Nowadays, such equations are used as a fundamental tool in describing the behavior of dynamical systems and appear frequently as mathematical models in natural sciences, economics, population dynamics, epidemiology, medicine and engineering. Many methods have been proposed for the numerical approximation of these equations. The purpose of this paper is to analyze the price dynamics of wheat in Albania, in context of mathematical modeling using linear and nonlinear DDEs. The data are obtained from the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Consumer's Protection, Statistical Department and from Institute of Statistics for a period of 10 years (from 2007 to 2017). Fundamental methods for solving DDEs are used to study the effects of time delay on the behavior of solutions, which include steady states, periodic and oscillatory solutions, bifurcations and stability switches. In the analysis are used numerical illustrations to confirm the theoretical findings. The economical interpretations of delay effects are briefly discussed. **Keywords**: Delay differential equations, Numerical methods, Price stability.

INTRODUCTION

Nowadays, cereals constitute the base of agricultural production. The wheat culture is one of the most cultivated crops in many countries. Wheat is a strategic crop that is found in the majority Albania's districts. This plant provides the food base of the population by being a great source of energy, proteins and fibers for human nutrition. These products today continue to be a very necessary part of modern human diet [Dukes, Toma & Wirtz, 1995]. Wheat is a plant with high energy values due to the high content of carbohydrates (amidogen, cellulose and sugars) which account for about 70% of the weight of the grains. From 1 kg of grain, an average of 3330 calories are obtained [Gooding & Davies, 1997]. In recent years, wheat consumption has increased, especially in developed countries. This is due to the significant contribution of complex carbohydrates of wheat in healthy diets. Wheat production is still a condition for human existence in poor countries [Faridi & Faubion, 1995]. Wheat production in Albania has undergone constant ups and downs over the years. The largest increase of annual growth of grain output was recorded in 2008 when about 34% more wheat than a year ago was produced. Wheat production (in tons) for the period year 2007- year 2017 is shown in the Figure 1.



Figure 1. Production of wheat in Albania

In the study we have used Cobweb models to study the dynamics of wheat in Albania. Cobweb models describe the cyclical behavior of agricultural products' markets. These models concentrate attention on the fact that the present events depend upon the past happenings. Cobweb models use a technique to demonstrate the process of change over time and also describe a dynamic price process on a competitive market for a single non storable good with a supply response lag. Due to the production lag, suppliers must form price expectations onetime period ahead. In agricultural markets, the farmer's decision about how much should be produced is usually based on current and past experience. Within the classical cobweb model of Ezekiel [Ezekiel, 1938], producers simply form naive expectations [Dieci & Westerhoff, 2010]. Many cobweb models with different linear or nonlinear functions are used to model economic dynamics of commodity markets [Hommes, 1991; Finkestadt, 1995]. Many researchers in their findings indicate that the nonlinear cobweb model may explain various irregular fluctuations observed in real economic data. During recent years' considerable interest has been given in ignoring the potential role of delays in generating economic fluctuations using DDEs [Liz & Rost, 2013; Howroyd & Russel, 1984]. Such equations appear in various areas such as neural networks, ecology, medicine, engineering and particularly we have used them in agriculture area. DDEs describe mathematical models for systems in which the rate of change depends not only on the current study period but also on their history in the past. Techniques for solving ordinary differential equations (ODEs) and DDEs are based on numerical approaches of the solution. Nowadays, there are known a large number of methods for building numerical approximations of the initial value problem in ODEs and DDEs [Bellen & Zennaro, 2003; Al-Mutib, 1977; Butcher, 1987].

MATERIAL AND METHODS

We are based in the records of price and production of major market centers in Albania to study the price dynamics of wheat. The data are obtained from the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Consumer's Protection, Statistical Department and from Institute of Statistics (INSTAT) for a period of 10 years (from 2007 to 2017). We have used linear and nonlinear DDEs of demand and supply, equations which are formulated from the data and then employed these equations to derive cobweb models which are used in order to study the price dynamics of wheat.

| Year | Average prices of wheat (ALL/Kg) | Production of wheat (Metric ton) |
|------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| 2007 | 32.00 | 249.5 |
| 2008 | 47.75 | 335 |
| 2009 | 39.25 | 333.1 |
| 2010 | 30.67 | 294.9 |
| 2011 | 42.08 | 292.8 |
| 2012 | 40.41 | 300.2 |
| 2013 | 42.75 | 294 |
| 2014 | 38.00 | 280 |
| 2015 | 37.47 | 275 |
| 2016 | 39.00 | 275 |
| 2017 | 46.16 | 275 |

Table 1. Price and Production of wheat in Albania

Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for price and production of wheat

| | Mean | Median | Max | Min. | Quant. | Sum. | Std.Dev | Skew. | Kurt. |
|------------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|-----------|----------|
| Price | 39.59455 | 39.25000 | 47.75000 | 30.67000 | 39.25000 | 435.5400 | 5.208350 | -0.215270 | 2.409208 |
| Production | 291.3182 | 292.8000 | 335.0000 | 249.5000 | 292.8000 | 3204.500 | 25.35870 | 0.446621 | 2.655265 |

The model

Cobweb models describe a dynamic price process on a market for a single non storable good with a supply response lag [Dieci & Westerhof, 2010]. We describe the price by a sequence of numbers $p(1), p(2), p(3), \dots, p(t), \dots$ where p(t) represents the price for the t year, and so forth. The model involves: -the price p(t) of the product in year t; -the supply S(t) for the product in year t - that is, how many units of the product are being made in this year; -the demand D(t) for the product in year t - that is, how many units of the product are being bought in this year. A time lag exists between the decision to produce a particular product and actual production. Farmers determine how much they will plant in the spring based on the price they received the preceding year and they try to charge the same price in the fall. Producers are assumed to base production plans on current price. For agricultural commodities the production plans appears on the market a year later. Due to the time lag, the current supply is a function of the price last year $S(t) = S\{p(t-1)\}$ (1)

It is assumed that no producer is left with unsold stocks and no consumer with an unsatisfied demand, that in other words means that the current demand is equal to the current supply S(t) = D(t) (2)

Consider the linear demand function of price $D\{p(t)\} = a - bp(t)$ (3) and the linear supply function of price $S\{p(t)\} = c + dp(t - \tau)$ (4) where a, b, c, d and τ are positive constants, b represents the slope while a represents intercept for the demand function and also c and d are corresponding constants for the supply function. The slope of the demand curve is taken to be negative, that of the supply curve positive. At price 0, demand and supply are a and c, respectively [Ezekiel, 1938; Goldberg, 1961].

The market price is determined by the rate of change of the price between supply and demand as in the equation

$$p'(t) = D\{p(t)\} - S\{p(t)\}$$
(5)

 $p'(t) = (a - c) - bp(t) - dp(t - \tau), \tau > 0 \text{ on } [0, \nu], \nu > 0 \quad (6)$

This is a DDE with a single delay. Analytically a large number of DDEs are solved with a wellknown method called the method of steps. The DDE would have initial function (the history function) as $p(t) = \varphi(t)$ defined over the interval $[-\tau, 0]$ and then its solution is mapped onto solutions of other functions. Thus the solution of this equation is going to be a mapping from functions on the interval $[t - \tau, t]$ into functions on the interval $[t, t + \tau]$, $[t + \tau, t + 2\tau]$, etc., from time points $t = 0, \tau, 2\tau, ...$

In other words, the solutions of this dynamical system can be considered as sequence of functions $p_0(t)$, $p_1(t)$, $p_2(t)$, ... defined over contiguous time interval of length τ [Roussel, 2014]. In practice this problem is often solved numerically. In this paper we have used MatLab solver dde23 to solve DDE (6). Considering a simple nonlinear DDE of quadratic form for the supply function of price

 $S\{p(t)\} = c + dp(t - \tau) - ep^{2}(t - \tau)$ (7)

 $p'(t) = (a - c) - bp(t) - dp(t - \tau) + ep^2(t - \tau), \tau > 0 \text{ on } [0, v], v > 0$ (8)

where a, b, c, d and τ are positive constants. The equation (8) is a nonlinear DDE and cannot be solved using an analytical method. We have used Matlab solver dde23 with history function of $p(t) = \varphi(t)$, on $[-\tau, 0]$ to solve this equation numerically.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

We study the price dynamics of wheat in Albania in the context of mathematical modelling using real economic data of wheat price and production. We have used E-Views program to find the parameter estimates of the model and Matlab program to find the numerical solutions of the DDEs in linear and nonlinear case. The Figure 2 below shows the time series plot of wheat price in Albanian currency (ALL) in the period year 2007- year 2017. The price and production data are checked for stationary status by applying time series techniques in E-views program. The figure indicates that the price data is stationary.



Figure 2. Time series plot of wheat price

Analysis of the model

First, we have checked the data and correct any errors and then used E-Views to verify the stationary status for price and production before formulating the demand and supply functions of price using regression analysis. In the end the DDEs (linear and nonlinear) are solved using Matlab solver dde23.

| Model | Coefficient | Std. Error | t-Statistic | Prob. | | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------------------------|------------|-------------|--------|--------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Price | -2.8062 | 0.292210 | -3.113695 | 0.0170 | Demand function | | | | |
| | Dependent variable: production | | | | | | | | |
| Price | 4.041262 | 1.290247 | 3.132161 | 0.0140 | Supply | | | | |
| Price | 12.61504 | 1.610353 | 7.833714 | 0.0000 | function | | | | |
| Price ² | -0.130796 | 0.039203 | -3.336394 | 0.0087 | | | | | |

Dependent variable: production lag

In Table 3 are given the parameter estimates of demand and supply function after the data are checked to be statistically significant.

The equation (9) for the demand function was obtained from price data of order two differencing and production data of order one differencing.

D(p(t)) = -2.8062p(t), a = 0 (9)

Equation (10) below for supply function was obtained from price data of order one differencing and production data of order two differencing.

 $S(p(t)) = 4.0412p(t - \tau), \ c = 0 \ (10)$

Equation (11) for supply function was obtained with no order of differencing

 $S(p(t)) = 12.6150p(t-\tau) - 0.1307p^2(t-\tau), \ a = 0, c = 0 \ (11)$

In equations (10) and (11) the presence of the delay τ expresses time that is needed to realize change of supply in dependence on price. From equations (9) and (10) the rate of change of price is given by the following equation where $\tau = 1$:

p'(t) = D(p(t)) - S(p(t)) = -2.8062p(t) - 4.0412p(t-1)(12)

This is a DDE which can be solved using MatLab solver dde23.

The linear model from equations (9) and (10) solved analytically provide first order linear cobweb model derived from the difference equation:

 $p(t) = -1.44008 \ p(t - \tau) \quad (13)$

The following figure is the solution of the equation (13) obtained numerically using Matlab.

The history function is set at P(t) = 32 (the initial price from Table 1), when $t \le 0$, with (12) on the interval [0, 100]. The figure shows the oscillation of price around equilibrium approach. The Figure 3 above shows that the price of wheat is stabilized at equilibrium point (ALL=0.00) a long time before it started to destabilize around of equilibrium point. So, in the economic point of view, no producers would continue to supply wheat in that situation of the market price condition.



Figure 3. Discrete linear model

From equations (9) and (11), the rate of change of price is given by the following equation where $\tau = 1$:

 $p'(t) = D(p(t)) - S(p(t)) = -2.8062p(t) - 12.6150p(t-1) + 0.1307p^2(t-1)$ (14) The nonlinear model from equations (9) and (11) solved analytically provide first order nonlinear cobweb model derived from the difference equation:

 $p(t) = -4.495 \ p(t-1) + 0.0466 \ p^2(t-1) \quad (15)$

The following figure is the solution of the equation (15) obtained numerically using Matlab.



Figure 4. Discrete nonlinear model

From the Figure 4 it is clear that price stability of wheat can only be achieved at p(t) = 0. The reason is because of the fact that producers are sensitive to price and they would be attracted towards any other price instead of the zero equilibrium price (p(t) = 0) as demonstrated by the analytical solution. The price function from equation

 $p(t) = -4.495 \ p(t-1) + 0.0466 \ p^2(t-1) \quad (15)$

is like quadratic equation having two price points $p_1 = 0$ and $p_2 = 117,93$. The price stability is dependent on the slope of supply curve or elasticity of supply. The responsiveness of demand and supply to changes in price is quantified using elasticity which is an economic measure designed for such purpose [Varian, 1992]. Equation (15) is perturbed on assumption that *b* remains the same, while *d* is varied to observe its effect on price behavior of wheat. The below figures were obtained as a result of price parameter variation using numerical analysis. In the Figure 5 is shown that when *d* is reduced to 5.5572 from 12.6150 (in equation (15)), then with *b* still at 2.8062 so that |d/b| > 1, the oscillatory behavior of nonlinear cobweb model has now conformed to the condition of nonlinearity model. In the Figure 6, *d* is further reduced to 1.6764 from 12.6150 (in equation (15)), while *b* remains the same as assumed. From Figure 6, it is clear that farther the slope is reduced, more the fluctuations of wheat price are stabilized after few periods of instability.

lution



Figure 5. Slope of supply curve in nonlinear model, |d/b| > 1



Figure 7. Slope of supply curve in nonlinear model, |d/b| = 1



Figure 6. Slope of supply curve in nonlinear model, |d/b| < 1



Figure 8. Slope of supply curve in linear model, |d/b| = |0.22|

From the Figure 7 above, the price oscillates in two cycle between two price points. It happened so because both d and b are 2.8062. From the Figure 8, when d in linear equation (10) is reduced to 0.6207 from 4.0412, the price was in stable form which is directly opposite to that displayed in Figure 3. Price of wheat would now converge towards an equilibrium price point other than the price zero (ALL=0.00). It will give few oscillations and then converge towards equilibrium.

CONCLUSIONS

In this study we analyzed the price dynamics of wheat in Albania, in context of mathematical modeling using linear and nonlinear delay differential equations. We examined the effect of changes in the wheat price in two models (linear and nonlinear) using time delay differential equations and also showed the numerical simulations of the models. The models

are based on the assumptions that wheat has no equal substitutes. The analysis of price and production data in Albania showed that the linear model provided an unstable zero equilibrium price point. This result is unrealistic because of producers' sensitivity towards price of farm produce. On the other side, the analysis of the nonlinear model showed oscillations between and around two equilibrium price points, which is realistic and a reflection of wheat price in Albania. The analysis in the study can inform the farmers about price fluctuations of wheat. The price fluctuations are reduced, if and only if, factors affected by time lag, such as buying new inputs, the time necessary for increasing supply etc. are improved. This analysis is an additional help in understanding the role of time delays in models in agriculture and should be useful for farmers in taking the right decisions and making the right plans for their products.

Acknowledgements: The authors would thank Ms. Qanie Fetahu, the Statistical Expert in Statistics Sector at the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Consumer's Protection for the help and the disposition in the statistical data collection and would like to gratefully acknowledge the kind support of Dr. Edmira Ozuni for the help in the statistical programs implementation.

REFERENCES

- Al-Mutib, A.N. (1977). Numerical methods for solving delay differential equations Ph.D. Thesis. University of Manchester.
- Bellen, A.; M. Zennaro (2003). Numerical methods for delay differential equations. Oxford University Press.
- Butcher, J.C. (1987). The numerical analysis of ordinary differential equations. Wiley, Chichester, UK.
- Dieci, R., F. Westerhoff (2010). Interacting cobweb markets. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, Elsevier, 75 (3):461-481. 10.1016/j.jebo.2010.05.004.
- Dukes, R., R.B. Toma & R. Wirtz (1995). Cross-cultural and nutritional values of bread. Cereal Foods World 40: 384-385
- Ezekiel, M. (1938). The cobweb theorem. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 52: 255-280.
- Faridi, H. & J. B. Faubion (1995). Wheat End- Uses Around the World. American Association of Cereal Chemists, ST. Paul, Minnesota, USA.
- Finkenstadt, B. (1995). Nonlinear Dynamics in Economics: A Theoretical and Statistical Approach to Agricultural Markets. Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems no. 426, Springer, Berlin, Germany.
- Goldberg, S. (1961). Introduction to difference equations: with illustrative examples from economics, psychology, and sociology, Wiley, NY:176-184.
- Gooding, M.J. & W.P. Davies (1997). Wheat Production and Utilization: Systems, Quality and Environment: 336.
- Hommes, C. H. (1991). Adaptive learning and roads to chaos: the case of the cobweb. Economics Letters, 36 (2):127-132.
- Howroyd, T. D. & A. M. Russel (1984). Cournot oligopoly models with time delays. J. Math. Econ., 13: 97-103.
- Liz, E., G. Rost (2013). Global dynamics in a commodity market model. Journal of Mathematics Analysis and Applications. 393:707-714. DOI: 10.1016/2012.09.024.
- Roussel, A.M. & R. Marc (2014). Delay-differential equations. Available: http://people.uleth.ca/~roussel/nld/delay.pdf.
- Varian, H. R. (1992). Microeconomic Analysis (3). New York. Norton.

COMPARATIVE VIEW OF ALBANIAN VEGETABLE PRODUCTION

Silvana Mustafaj^{*1}, Elfrida Dishmema¹, Majlinda Belegu¹

¹Agricultural University of Tirana, Faculty of Economy and Agribusiness, Department of Mathematics and Informatics, Albania

* <u>smustafaj@ubt.edu.al</u>

ABSTRACT

Albania has the opportunity to cultivate different kinds of vegetables based on the geographical position, climatic conditions and early tradition in their production. Nowadays, in our country are cultivated more than 30 types of vegetables and this number is always increasing. Even the total production of vegetables in the country has always been increasing. Also, more and more in Albania the vegetable production is being applied in different kinds of greenhouses. In these past years, the above mentioned factors have made the vegetable production in different areas of the country grow and extend throughout the year. The main goal is achieving the optimal levels of vegetable production in order to meet the country's needs, to reduce their import and to rise our country's export. This study, for this purpose, makes an assessment of our country's counties performance of vegetable production during 2013-2017. The performance in vegetable production is estimated using Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA). Based on this assessment, through a comparative view between the different counties, the opportunities and the appropriate ways to achieve optimal levels in vegetable production in our country are found. **Keywords**: *Vegetables, Performance, DEA, Counties*.

INTRODUCTION

Vegetables are herbaceous plants of various types planted in the ground, such as tomatoes, cucumber, spinach, cabbage, etc. In Albania, over 60 different types of vegetables can be cultivated due to the favorable climate conditions, the favorable geographic position and the long experience that our country has in cultivating them. Nowadays, our country cultivates over 30 different types of vegetables and this number is growing. Considering all these positive factors, vegetable production has grown in all over the country and in some of the most important areas of the country is stretched throughout the year.

Furthermore, before the 1990s, the production of vegetables in our country occupied a special place as they served as food for the population and generated export earnings. As for the main vegetables, the main place was the field tomatoes and tomatoes and cucumbers which were produced in the existing greenhouses. For the main vegetables it is noticed that the cultivated areas have been grown in many parts of the country. This made the production of main vegetables extend. As for the second vegetables, in autumn and winter were distinguished pickles and onions, but also cucumbers, peppers, eggplant, carrot, beans, etc. Much of the production of vegetables was carried out in the coastal areas of Albania, from Shkodra to Saranda, areas which had a favorable climate for their cultivation. The main area where we cultivated vegetables in our country was Divjaka, where was carried out for the first time the production of vegetables in the greenhouses.

Nowadays, the production of vegetables in our country occupies an important place in the overall agricultural production, which is part of the country's national economic and social development strategy, and is also part of the European Integration Plan for Albania. Our

country's goal is to orient and secure a sustainable agricultural development in order to increase production to meet the country's needs, minimize imports and increase export opportunities. In these conditions, the support and management of this development gains special importance. In this sector there is an increase in production for every crop, where production growth is more evident in protected areas, where a continuous increase of protected areas is noticed and the trend of growth of production is maintained year by year.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The data for this paper are taken from the Agricultural Statistical Yearbook 2017, INSTAT, Albania. Since the information for the vegetables in this statistical yearbook is found only for the cultivated surfaces and the production received from them, in this paper the presentation of current situation and the assessment of the performance of the counties in Albania regarding the production of vegetables is based in these indicators. Data has been collected for all of our country's counties for a period of 5 years from 2013 to 2017. Specifications include cultivated areas and total production of vegetables, cultivated area and main and second vegetable production, as well as the cultivated area and the production of main vegetables in the greenhouses.

In this study, the counties performance based on technical efficiency is evaluated using the data envelopment analysis (DEA) method, through the BCC model (Banker, Charnes, Cooper, 1984). Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) is a relatively new "data oriented" approach for evaluating the performance of a set of peer entities called Decision Making Units (DMUs) which convert multiple inputs into multiple outputs. The definition of a DMU is generic and flexible. Recent years have seen a great variety of applications of DEA for use in evaluating the performances of many different kinds of entities engaged in many different activities in many different contexts in many different countries. These DEA applications have used DMUs of various forms to evaluate the performance of entities, such as hospitals, universities, cities, business firms, and others, including the performance of countries, regions, etc. (Cooper Seiford, Zhu, 2004). Thus, DEA is a mathematical programming method for evaluating the relative efficiency of decision making units (DMUs). Here the (pure) technical efficiency of each county (DMU) is measured in terms of the technical efficiency of all other counties in the analysis. The model will identify and differentiate efficient and inefficient ones. In BCC-I (input oriented) model, the goal is to produce the same output level with the possible minimum of input. The BCC-I model, under the VRS assumption, in its envelopment form is given below: ----~

$$\min \theta - \varepsilon \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} s_i^- + \sum_{r=1}^{s} S_r^+\right)$$

Subject to:
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{ij}\lambda_j + s_i^- = \theta x_{i0} \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} y_{rj}\lambda_j - s_r^+ = y_{r0} \qquad r = 1, 2, ..., s$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j = 1$$

$$\lambda_j, s_i^-, s_r^+ \ge 0 \qquad \forall j, i, r$$

where: *n* is the number of DMUs taken in the study; each DMU consumes varying amounts of m different inputs to produce s different outputs, specifically DMU_j consumes amount x_{ij} of input *i* and produce amount y_{rj} of output *r*; s_i^- and s_r^+ are additional variables (slacks); λ_j are nonnegative scalars; $\varepsilon > 0$ an infinitely small quantity; θ the relative efficiency score (scalar that determines the proportional reduction for all inputs of DMU_o).

DMU₀ (DMU under evaluation) performance is fully efficient (100%) only if the conditions are met at the same time: $\theta^* = 1$ and all slacks are equal to zero. The performance of DMU₀ is weakly efficient only when the conditions are met: $\theta^* = 1$ and $s_i^{-*} \neq 0$ and/or $s_r^{+*} \neq 0$ for any *i* and *r* in some alternate optima. DMU that result with the value of $\theta = 1$ are technically efficient and define the efficient frontier according to this model. Conversely, if $0 \leq \theta < 1$, the DMU₀ becomes technically inefficient and extend below the efficient frontier. For inefficient DMUs, which need improvement, optimization is calculated in a two-stage process: First, the proportional reduction of the inputs used by the DMU taking the optimal value of θ as a factor and second, movement over the efficient frontier through slack variables s^+ and s^- .

Also, non-zero elements of the optimal lambdas $(\lambda_j, j = 1, 2, ..., n)$ found by the model identify the reference set for each inefficient DMU. The reference set consists of efficient DMUs from the range of efficient DMUs at the efficient frontier, against which the DMU₀ is evaluated. The reference set determines the point of reference for the DMU₀. This means that, the projection in the efficient frontier of an inefficient DMU will be the linear combination of the reference set of the respective efficient DMUs of this inefficient DMU with the optimal lambdas. The linear combination of the DMUs means a linear combination of inputs and outputs with the values of λ -s to obtain the input and output levels that the DMU must achieve in order to be technically efficient. This design will result the same as that gained by the improvement through θ and additional variables.

RESULTS

Based on the data of the cultivated area with vegetables and the production made there, the following graphs were made. Looking at the production graphs for each case, a clear picture of the production levels that the counties have reached during 2013-2017 will be given. This picture will also be complemented by the performance evaluated by the DEA method for each county in order to understand in which counties the production received is achieved by minimizing the cultivated area with vegetables and in which counties this is not present.



The first graphs show the general surfaces cultivated with vegetables and total vegetable production realized during the years 2013-2017 in all counties of Albania.

Figure 1. Cultivated area and production of total vegetables, 2013-2017

From the production chart we note that the counties, by the level of the production of total vegetables that have reached during 2013-2017, form nearly this ranking: Fier, Tirane, Berat, Durres, Korçe, Shkoder, Elbasan, Diber, Lezhe, Vlore, Kukes, Gjirokaster. Meanwhile, if we look at the production during the years in terms of output specifically for each county we distinguish: Fier county, which results in the 5 years with the highest level of production in the country, also differs from the fact that there is a significant increase in production during these years. Tirana county also with continuous production. Durres county has a growth in production at the beginning of the period and a decrease in production at the end. Korça county has a steady continuous growth. Then comes Shkodra county with a slight increase of production in the last two years. Elbasan county with small fluctuations around the same production level. Then Dibra and Lezha counties appear with a decrease in their level of production in these 5 years, Vlora county with very light production growth, and finally Kukes and Gjirokastra counties with slight fluctuations around the low levels of vegetable production.

The above table will be supplemented by the performance of the counties in the production of total vegetables, which is shown in Table 1.

Technical efficiency 1,20000 2014 2015 2013 2016 County 2017 1,00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 Berat Diber 0.94116 0.87256 0.87571 0.86477 0.78345 0,80000 0.62448 0.59674 Durres 0.64665 0.66690 0.61308 0,60000 0.74215 0.70626 0.65014 0.68277 0.67809 Elbasan 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 Fier 1.00000 0,40000 0.79589 0.74855 0.78292 0.75915 0.74894 Gjirokaste 0,20000 0.68314 0.68446 0.69579 Korce 0.71424 0.73117 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 1.00000 Kukes 0,00000 0.68904 0.76634 0.67252 0.66537 0.59012 Lezhe 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Shkoder 0.52529 0.52903 0.50538 0.49899 0.48752 Berat Diber Durres 0.49867 0.48796 0.46878 0.45686 0.46858 Tirane Elbasan - Fier Gjirokaster Vlore 0.55636 0.55908 0.56303 0.55077 0.52671 Korce Kukes 0.75912 0.75565 0.73456 0.73230 0.71466 Avarage Shkoder Tirane Vlore

Table 1. Counties performance in the production of total vegetables 2013-2017 (the relevant graph).

From this assessment, we find that the counties of Fier, Berat and Kukes, compared to other counties of the country, exhibit the highest level of performance, which is maintained throughout the study period. This shows that these counties have reached their level of vegetable production by optimally utilizing the area used for their cultivation, resulting in a clean technical efficiency, Thus, these counties have resulted with the best productive practice in cultivating vegetables and form the efficient production frontier. However, in a more detailed study beyond the boundaries of our work, we can differentiate between them fully efficient counties from those with weakly efficiency. Whereas, in this order: Diber, Gjirokastra, Elbasan, Korca, Lezha, Durres, Vlora, Shkoder, Tirana, result technically inefficient in the process of producing vegetables, showing during the entire study period values of relative efficiency smaller than the one, by staying below the efficient production frontier.

The following graphs show cultivated areas with main vegetables and their production during the years 2013-2017 in all regions of Albania.



Figure 2. Cultivated area and production of main vegetables, 2013-2017

In the main vegetable production, Fieri and Tirana, which reach the highest levels of production, have experienced an increase in production during 2013-2017, followed by Korça, Shkodra and Berat, with production growth of 5 years, Durres and Elbasan with fluctuations in production over the years. Then the Diber and Lezhe counties come with light upgrades at the production level and Vlora with a slight increase in production. In the end, Gjirokastra and Kukes rank at almost constant levels of production. Korça is distinguished in the main vegetable production. Its production levels can be ranked after Tirana, which is not noticeable in the production of total vegetables.

On the other hand, the results presented in Table 2 are taken into account in the evaluation of the performance of the counties in the production of the main vegetables.

Table 2. Counties performance in production of main vegetables, 2013-2017 (the relevant graph).



As the highest and most stable counties throughout the period 2013-2017 are distinguished again the counties of Fier, Berat and Kukes, which are technically efficient in the production of main vegetables. As a matter of fact, Diber, Gjirokastra, Elbasan, Durres, Korca, Lezha, Vlora, Shkoder and Tirana are technically inefficient in the production of the main vegetables during the study period.

The charts below show the cultivated areas with second vegetables and the level of their production during the years 2013-2017, in our counties.



Figure 3. Cultivated area and production of second vegetables, 2013-2017.

In the second vegetable production, Fieri heads again, where, following a fall in 2014, marks a sharp increase in their level during 2015-2017, followed by Berat county with continuous growth in the first 4 years and approximately the same level in the last year, Tirana county with a decrease of production in the first year and increase of production in the following years, Durres with a production decrease in the first and last year and then with Elbasan with slight growth tendencies. Then, Vlora county with easy growth of production, Shkodra and Lezha with decrease of production. Then Kukes county with production fluctuations, Gjirokastra with the rise initially and then decline in production, but always at low levels and Dibra with very low levels of production. Korca county does not produce second vegetables. Here, compared with the production of main vegetables, the situation for some of the country's counties is overthrown, such as Korca, Shkodra and Dibra.

From the evaluation of the performance of the counties related to the second vegetables production, the results given in Table 3 were taken.

| | Technical efficiency | | | | | | 1,50000 | | | | | |
|-------------|----------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---|-----------|---------------|--------------|-----------|------|-------|
| County | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | | | | | | | |
| Berat | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | | | | | | | |
| Diber | 0.00000 | 0.00000 | 0.00000 | 0.59403 | 0.00000 | | 1,00000 | | | | | |
| Durres | 0.45523 | 0.49696 | 0.45784 | 0.50140 | 0.42505 | | | | | | | |
| Elbasan | 0.42513 | 0.42010 | 0.39754 | 0.52852 | 0.59948 | | | | \checkmark | | | |
| Fier | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | | 0 50000 | | | | | |
| Gjirokaster | 0.44422 | 0.40107 | 0.20856 | 0.20486 | 0.19990 | | 0,50000 | - | | | 1 | |
| Korce | 0.00000 | 0.00000 | 0.00000 | 0.00000 | 0.00000 | | | | | | | |
| Kukes | 0.56837 | 0.74452 | 0.53274 | 0.50170 | 0.70509 | | | _ | _ | | | |
| Lezhe | 0.63716 | 0.54277 | 0.38122 | 0.45601 | 0.39538 | | 0,00000 | | | | | |
| Shkoder | 0.39222 | 0.40191 | 0.38108 | 0.29490 | 0.35592 | | | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 |
| Tirane | 0.31539 | 0.30047 | 0.30218 | 0.28144 | 0.32783 | 1 | Be | rat | Dil | ber | | irres |
| Vlore | 0.25194 | 0.30487 | 0.29968 | 0.26784 | 0.28279 |] | EID Ko | idSdil rce | | er kes | G | zhe |
| Avarage | 0.45747 | 0.46772 | 0.41340 | 0.46922 | 0.44095 | 1 | Sh | koder | Tir | ane | | ore |

Table 3. Counties performance in production of second vegetables, 2013-2017 (the relevant graph).

Here the situation is different from that of main vegetable production. Efficiency results are noticeably lower than in the case above. Fier and Berat counties are distinguished for the maximum level of relative technical efficiency and keep this level throughout the period 2013-

2017. Other counties result in lower values than technical efficiency. So, counties Lezha, Kukes, Durres, Gjirokaster, Elbasan, Shkoder, Tirana, Vlore, Diber and Korce are technically inefficient in the production of second vegetables.

The charts below show the cultivated area with vegetables in the greenhouses 2015-2017 and their production during the years 2013-2017 in the regions of our country.



Figure 4. Cultivated area and production of main vegetables in greenhouses.

In the production of the main vegetables in the greenhouses Fier county is distinguished with continuous growth during 2013-2016 and especially a significant increase in 2017. It is also distinguished the Berat county which, after the production decline in 2014, has had a steady increase in production. Elbasan county has a slight growth of production until 2016, while in 2017 there has been a decline in production. Shkoder county, following a fall in the first year, has continued production growth. Than comes Durres county, which has a growth in production in 2014, followed by a second increase in 2017. Tirana county has a growth in production in 2014 and then fluctuates at lower production levels. Vlora county has a growth in production in 2014, followed by a continuous decline. Then come the counties of Kukes, Lezha and Korce. Kukes county has a growth in production in the first year and then maintains a constant production level. Lezhe county has production fluctuation, while the Korce county has produced for the first time in greenhouses only in 2017. In the end there are Diber and Gjirokastra counties. The Diber county has declined to level zero production in 2014, and then fluctuations in low production levels. The Gjirokastra county has fluctuations at the lowest levels of production. Graphs for Diber, Gjirokaster, Korce and Lezhe counties do not show their production levels, as they are quite low compared to other counties. The results presented in Table 4 are taken from the evaluation of the performance of the counties related to the production of the main vegetables in the greenhouses.

| | Tech | nical effi | ciency | 1,50000 — | | | | | |
|-------------|---------|------------|---------|-----------|------|------|-------|---|----------------|
| County | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | | | | | | |
| Berat | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 0.97129 | | | | | | |
| Diber | 0.49892 | 0.55033 | 0.47031 | 1,00000 — | | | | | |
| Durres | 0.80341 | 0.84239 | 1.00000 | | | | | | |
| Elbasan | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 0.97861 | | | | • | | |
| Fier | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 0,50000 — | | - | | | |
| Gjirokaster | 0.18885 | 0.25899 | 0.45000 | , | | | | | |
| Korce | 0.00000 | 0.00000 | 0.80122 | | | - | | | |
| Kukes | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000 | 0.00000 | | | | · | |
| Lezhe | 0.89964 | 0.83379 | 0.78216 | -, | | 2015 | 2016 | | 2017 |
| Shkoder | 0.87248 | 0.81148 | 0.82352 | Bera | at | 1013 | Diber | | — Durres |
| Tirane | 0.47968 | 0.44854 | 0.39798 | Elba | san | | Fier | | — Gjirokaster |
| Vlore | 0.50476 | 0.49689 | 0.40149 | Kord | ce | | Kukes | | — Lezhe |
| Avarage | 0.68731 | 0.68687 | 0.75638 | | oder | | | | Vlore |

Table 4. Counties performance in production of main vegetables in greenhouses, 2015-2017 (the relevant graph)

In the production of the main vegetable in the greenouses, Fier and Kukes counties are technically efficient, followed by the counties of Durres, Berat, Korce, Elbasan, Lezhe, Shkoder, Diber, Gjirokaster, Vlore, Tirana, which are technically inefficient and exhibit lower levels in their performance.

DISCUSSION

The performance of the counties depends not only on the production produced by them but also on other indicators that affect it, such as the surface of the cultivated area for the production of vegetables. Therefore, the production levels should be faced with the results of the efficiency of the counties. At the same time, we support our discussion on the levels of production realized in the years 2013-2017 for the counties as well as their relative efficiency values during these years, given in Tables 1, 2, 3, 4.

Thus, the Fier county is distinguished for the highest level of vegetable production in the whole country. Main vegetables this county has produced up to 75% of total production and second vegetables about 25% of total vegetable production. It is distinguished from all counties even at the level of production of the main vegetables taken in the greenhouses, thus holding up to 22% of their production. Even in terms of performance, in all cases and at all times, it has been at the maximum level. So this county is efficient and always the production of vegetables is taken by maximally exploiting the cultivated land surface. Tirana county, which ranks second in the production of total vegetables in the country, about 87% of them are the main vegetables, and much less the second vegetables, about 13%. The level of main vegetables produced in the greenhouse from this county is small and it is only 2% of them. Conversely, the performance of the Tirana county in all cases and throughout the study period, compared to those of other counties, is rather poor by listing it in the penultimate or last place. This indicates that this county compared to other counties is inefficient, so it does not maximally utilize the cultivated area to reach the existing level of production. Berat county occupies the third place in the production of total vegetables. It produces about 70% of them as main vegetables and about 30% as second vegetables. But it differs in the production of the second vegetables being ranked after Fier and leaving behind even Tirana. It also differs in the production of main vegetables in the greenhouses, producing around 55% of their total level, where it also ranks after Fier leaving behind all other counties. While from the performance evaluation in all cases it is clear that the county of Berat is technically efficient reaching its maximum level, therefore it is efficient in utilizing the cultivated area in the production of vegetables in all cases, except in case of production of main vegetables in greenhouses in 2017, when there is a slight decrease from the maximum level. The counties of Durres, Elbasan and Shkoder are at average levels

of the production of total vegetables, following the above-mentioned main counties. The Durres county has made most of its production with main vegetables, up to 79%, and a smaller share of second vegetables, around 21%. In the greenhouses, a small amount of main vegetables is produced, up to 8% of them. The relative efficiency values in the total vegetable production in the main and second vegetables show inefficiencies in the production by not maximally utilizing the cultivated area in each of the cases. It distinguishes performance in vegetable production in greenhouses, where over the years there has been an increase in technical efficiency up to the maximum level, thus passing from technically inefficient to technically efficient in production. Elbasan, up to 90% of its production is in main vegetables and the rest in second vegetables. In the greenhouses, in different years, it has produced up to 17% in main vegetables. Efficiency values in total production and that of main vegetables show that it is always inefficient, so there is room for improvements with a view to maximizing the utilization of the cultivated area. The most notable inefficiency appeared in the second vegetables. Better situation occurs in the production in greenhouses, where the county reaches maximum values, though with a slight fall in the last year. Shkodra, too, most of the total production is in the main vegetables, approximately 95%, and less in the second vegetables (about 5%) and from the main vegetables up to 5% of them are produced in greenhouses. The relative efficiency values in the production of total vegetables and the production of main vegetables show inefficiencies in the use of the cultivated area. The situation is worse in the production of second vegetables. In the production of main vegetables in the greenhouses it seems inefficient but not as noticeable as in the cases above. Korce county, that follows them in the production of total vegetables, produces main vegetables only being ranked after Fier and Tirana and does not produce second vegetables. There is also no production in greenhouses in Korca county, with the exception of the last year, about 0.2% of the main vegetables. The values of the technical efficiency in the total vegetable and main vegetable production show the optimum utilization of the cultivated area. While in second vegetables it has 0 because it does not produce. In the greenhouses there is an increase of efficiency in the last year showing its potentials in production in the greenhouses. Diber, Lezha, Vlora counties follow Korca with their production levels. The Diber county marks a decline in the production of total vegetable, which are all main vegetables with the exception of 3 tonnes of second vegetables in 2017. From the main vegetables in the greenhouses it produces up to 0.03% of them. Dibra shows inefficiency in the production of total vegetables and main vegetables. In second vegetables inefficiency is even more noticeable. Even in the greenhouses it turns out to be inefficient. The Lezhe county marks a slight decrease in total vegetables. The main vegetables, by contrast, represent an increase, accounting for about 75% of total production. The rest are second vegetables (about 25%). In the greenhouses it produces up to 2% of the main vegetables. Lezha turns out to be inefficient in its performance in all cases. But the lower performance is in the production of second vegetables. Vlora county produces main vegetables up to 83% of them and second vegetables about 17%. Vlora is inefficient in the production of vegetables in all cases. Efficiency values in second vegetables are the indicator of its poor performance. Kukës and Gjirokastra have lower levels in the production of total vegetables. Kukes produces up to 93% of the total vegetables as main vegetables and and about 7% of total vegetables as second vegetables. But there are efforts to cultivate vegetables in greenhouses up to 1% of main vegetables. Kukes reaches the maximum value in its performance in total production and in main vegetables. This demonstrates technical efficiency in the production of vegetables by maximizing the cultivated area. It is inefficient in the second vegetables and efficient in the production of main vegetables in the greenhouses. Gjirokastra produces up to 97% of the total as main vegetables and about 3% as second vegetables. In the greenhouses the main vegetable production accounts for about 0.8% of them. Gjirokastra is inefficient in total production and

in main vegetables. Meanwhile, the performance is still lower in the production of second vegetables and in the production of main vegetables in the greenhouses.

CONCLUSIONS

In the assessment of the performance of the counties in the production of total vegetables, according to Table 1, during the period 2013-2017, about 25% of them reach the maximum value, so they are technically efficient, while about 75% of them are technically inefficient. During these five years there has been a slight decrease in the average level of county efficiency in the production of total vegetables. Even in the assessment of the performance of the counties in the production of the main vegetables, according to Table 2, it is noticed that during the period 2013-2017 about 25% of them are technically efficient, while about 75% of them are technically inefficient. During these years there has been a slight fall in the average level of the performance of counties in the production of main vegetables. The situation varies in the assessment of the performance of counties in the production of second vegetables. It is noted from Table 3 that during the period 2013-2017, approximately 17% of the counties reach the maximum level in their technical efficiency and about 83% of them are technically inefficient, therefore they do not exhibit optimal levels in the exploitation of the cultivated area in the production process. Counties performance in the production of second vegetables has been decreasing and increasing during these years. The performance is poorer than that displayed in the production of main vegetables. If we look at the performance of the counties in the production of the main vegetables in the years 2015-2017, according to Table 4, we notice that about 17% of the counties have the maximum value in the displayed performance, while about 83% of them are inefficient. A slight increase observed in the last year at the average level of county efficiency in the production of main vegetables in the greenhouses is to be mentioned.

As a conclusion, which is based on the indicators taken into consideration, counties that result technically efficient when evaluating their performance in vegetable production (total, main or second) have reached their level of production by minimizing the cultivated area. If they wanted to increase the production level, they would have to increase the amount of cultivated area with vegetables. While in any county and in any case we have a result of lower technical efficiency, there is room for improvement by making the best use of the area being cultivated for the production of vegetables. Improvement can be accomplished through θ and slacks or equivalent the improvement can be orientated by reference set. For year 2017, we provide reference sets and optimal lambdas for each county and for each occasion of the vegetable production discussed above, wich are shown in tables 5 and 6.

| | | | Reference sets | | | | | | | | |
|----|-------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------------|------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | | Total production | Main production | Second production | Main production | | | | | | |
| No | County | of vegetables | of vegetables | of vegetables | of vegetables in greenhouses | | | | | | |
| 1 | Berat | 1 | 1 | 1 | 3,5 | | | | | | |
| 2 | Diber | 1,8 | 1,8 | 2 | 3,8 | | | | | | |
| 3 | Durres | 1,8 | 1,8 | 1,2 | 3 | | | | | | |
| 4 | Elbasan | 1,8 | 1,8 | 1,2 | 3,5 | | | | | | |
| 5 | Fier | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | | | | | | |
| 6 | Gjirokaster | 8 | 1,8 | 1,2 | 8 | | | | | | |
| 7 | Korce | 1,8 | 1,5 | 2 | 3,8 | | | | | | |
| 8 | Kukes | 8 | 8 | 1,2 | 8 | | | | | | |
| 9 | Lezhe | 1,8 | 1,8 | 1,2 | 3,8 | | | | | | |
| 10 | Shkoder | 1,8 | 1,5 | 1,2 | 3,5 | | | | | | |
| 11 | Tirane | 1,5 | 1,5 | 1,2 | 3,8 | | | | | | |
| 12 | Vlore | 1,8 | 1,8 | 1,2 | 3,8 | | | | | | |

Table 5. Reference sets by type of production for 2017.

| | | | OP | TIMAL LAMBDAS | |
|----|-------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|
| | | Total | Main | Second | Main production |
| | | production | production | production | |
| No | County | of vegetables | of vegetables | of vegetables | of vegetables in greenhouses |
| | | | | | $\lambda_3 = 0.333$ |
| 1 | Berat | $\lambda_1 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_1 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_1 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_5 = 0.667$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.283$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.487$ | | $\lambda_3 = 0.001$ |
| 2 | Diber | $\lambda_8 = 0,717$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.513$ | $\lambda_2 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.999$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.718$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.912$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.428$ | |
| 3 | Durres | $\lambda_8 = 0.282$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.088$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.572$ | $\lambda_3 = 1.000$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.650$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.805$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.424$ | $\lambda_3 = 0.905$ |
| 4 | Elbasan | $\lambda_8 = 0.350$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.195$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.576$ | $\lambda_5 = 0.095$ |
| 5 | Fier | $\lambda_{5} = 1.000$ | $\lambda_{5} = 1.000$ | $\lambda_{5} = 1.000$ | $\lambda_5 = 1.000$ |
| | | | $\lambda_1 = 0.018$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.008$ | |
| 6 | Gjirokaster | $\lambda_8 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.982$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.992$ | $\lambda_8 = 1.000$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.662$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.968$ | | $\lambda_3 = 0.013$ |
| 7 | Korce | $\lambda_8 = 0.338$ | $\lambda_{5} = 0.032$ | $\lambda_2 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.987$ |
| | | | | $\lambda_1 = 0.044$ | |
| 8 | Kukes | $\lambda_8 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_8 = 1.000$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.956$ | $\lambda_8 = 1.000$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.270$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.387$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.121$ | $\lambda_3 = 0.121$ |
| 9 | Lezhe | $\lambda_8 = 0.730$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.613$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.879$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.879$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.659$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.995$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.122$ | $\lambda_3 = 0.937$ |
| 10 | Shkoder | $\lambda_8 = 0.341$ | $\lambda_5 = 0.005$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.878$ | $\lambda_5 = 0.063$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.990$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.857$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.374$ | $\lambda_3 = 0.442$ |
| 11 | Tirane | $\lambda_5 = 0.010$ | $\lambda_5 = 0.143$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.626$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.558$ |
| | | $\lambda_1 = 0.223$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.277$ | $\lambda_1 = 0.174$ | $\lambda_3 = 0.170$ |
| 12 | Vlore | $\lambda_8 = 0.777$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.723$ | $\lambda_2 = 0.826$ | $\lambda_8 = 0.830$ |

Table 6. Optimal lambdas by type of production for 2017.

To clarify the meaning of the reference set, we are referring to the example of the Tirana county, which reaches high levels in the production of vegetables ranking second after Fier, but in the performance evaluation it has resulted poorer than all other counties. According to Table 5, in the production of total vegetables the Tirana county has as its reference set the Berat and Fier districts, which are efficient and comparable with, according to which this county should project its improvement to technical efficiency. So if the cultivated area and production of vegetables of Berat and Fier counties are multiplied by the optimal lambdas given in Table $6,\lambda_1 = 0.990, \lambda_5 = 0.010$, the Tirana county projection is reached at the efficient frontier. Following the same logic, in the production of main vegetables it is necessary to compare again with the counties of Fier and Berat, in the production of the second vegetables with the Berat and Diber counties, always keeping in mind the optimal lambdas given in table 6.

REFERENCES

Agricultural Statistical Yearbook 2017, INSTAT, Albania

- Banker, R.D., A. Charnes, W.W. Cooper, (1984), Some Models for Estimating Technical and Scale Inefficiencies in Data Envelopment Analysis, Management Science 30(9): 1078-1092.
- Banker, R.D., R.M. Thrall, (1992), Estimation of Returns to Scale Using Data Envelopment Analysis, European Journal of Operational Research 62(1):35-44.

- Banker, R.D., W.W. Cooper, L.M. Seiford, J. Zhu, J., (2011), Return to Scale in DEA, in Cooper, W.W., Seiford, L.M., Zhu. J., Handbook on Data Envelopment Analysis, 41-69
- Charnes, A., W.W. Cooper, E. Rhodes, (1978), Measuring the Efficiency of Decision Making Units, European Journal of Operational Research 2:429-444.
- Charnes, A., W.W. Cooper, A.Y. Lewin, L.M. Seiford, (1997), Data Envelopment Analysis, Theory, Methodology and Applications, Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Charnes, A., W.W. Cooper, B. Golany, L.Seiford, (1985), Foundations of Data Envelopment Analysis for Pareto Koopmans Efficient Empirical Production Functions, Journal of Econometrics, 30: 91-107.
- Coelli, T., (1996), A Guide to DEAP Version 2.1: A Data Envelopment Analysis (Computer) Program, CEPA Working Paper 96/08.
- Coelli, T., D.S.P. Rao, G. Battese, (1998), An Introduction to Efficiency and Productivity Analysis, Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Coelli, T.J., (1995), Recent Developments in Frontier Modeling and Efficiency Measurement, Australian Journal of Agricultural Economics 39(3):219-245
- Cooper, W.W., L.M. Seiford, J. Zhu, (2004), Data envelopement analysis. In: Cooper, W.W. Seiford, L.M., Zhu. J. (eds), Handbook on Data Envelopment Analysis. International Series in Operations Research & Management Science, vol 71. Springer, Boston, MA
- Cooper, W.W., L.M. Seiford, K. Tone, (2007), Data Envelopment Analysis: A Comprehensive Text With Models, Applications, References and DEA-Solver Software, Second Edition, Springer, USA
- Farrell, M.J., (1957), The Measurement of Productive Efficiency, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series A (General), 120, Nr. 3(1957): 253-290.
- Lovell, C.A.K., (1993), Production Frontiers and Productive Efficiency, ne Fried, H.O., Lovell, C.A.K., Schmidt, S.S., (eds.), The Measurement of Productive Efficiency:Techniques And Applications, New York: Oxford University Press, 160-194.
- Seiford, L.M., J. Zhu, (1999), An Investigation of Return to Scale in DEA, European Journal for Operational Research, Omega 27(1): 1-11.
- Thanassoulis, E. (2003), Introduction to Theory and Application of Data Envelopment Analysis: A Foundation Text with Integrated Software. Boston: Klower Academic Publishers

www.bujqesia.gov.al

Zhu, J., (2009), Quantitative Models for Performance Evaluation and Benchmarking: Data Envelopment Analysis with Spreadsheets, 2nd edition, Boston: Springer Science.

NEW HABITATS OF *GONIOLIMON DALMATICUM* (C. PRESL) RCHB. F. IN BULGARIA

Ivanka IVANOVA^{1*}, Valeria IVANOVA², Valentin PANCHEV²

¹Institute of Ornamental Plants, 1222 Negovan, Sofia, Bulgaria ²Department of Horticulture, Agricultural University, Plovdiv, Bulgaria

* iva_ivanka@abv.bg

Abstract

The conducted research was focused on monitoring three new habitats of Balkan endemic species *Goniolimon dalmaticum*, all three found in the Hadjidimovo Municipality, Blagoevgrad in 2011. The habitats are located near the villages Nova Lovcha, area "Polianite" and "Kosharite", and Gaitaninovo, area "Omaya". The habitats in "Kosharite" and "Omaya" occupy an area of about 2 ha and "Polianite" – 2.5 ha. The populations contain 2400, 3750, and 2850 plants, respectively. All three populations are very well developed, with one to three flowering stems per plant. Over the years no change was observed in the ratio of generative and vegetative plants within the populations. Generative plants dominated in the populations, which is an indicator of the population stability.

Keywords: Protective, Endemic, Habitat, Population, Goniolimon dalmaticum

INTRODUCTION

The wild species of the *Plumbaginaceae* family have valuable ornamental and commercial characteristics. The species with the highest ornamental value are of the genuses *Goniolimon* and *Limonium*. There are four species of the genus *Goniolimon* in the Bulgarian flora: *Goniolimon besserianum* (Schult. ex Rchb.) Kusn., *Goniolimon collinum* (Griseb.) Boiss., *Goniolimon dalmaticum* (C. Presl) Rchb. f., and *Goniolimon tataricum* (L.) Boiss. All species are of conservation significance and are listed in the Red Book of Bulgaria and Annex No. 3 of the Biological Diversity Act. *Goniolimon dalmaticum* is a Balkan endemic. According to the assessment made using the criteria of IUCN's *Red List of Threatened Plants* (Walter & Gillett (eds.), 1998.1997), on regional level the species is assigned to the category "Critically endangered species in the Bulgarian flora".

Due to their ornamental qualities, the wild species of the *Plumbaginaceae* family, genus *Goniolimon* are widely used in floriculture in various countries (Yanev, 1959; Anchev, 1982; Rizzotto, 1999). Research on the protected species of this family has been conducted by a number of authors in Bulgaria (Ivanova et al., 2008; Kaninski et al., 2000; Kaninski et al., 2008a; Kaninski et al., 2008b; Manolova et al., 2015).

Climate change over the last few years, pests as well as negative human impact are a threat to the preservation of the *Goniolimon dalmaticum* species.

Goniolimon dalmaticum is widespread not only in Bulgaria, but also in other countries on the Balkan Peninsula (Albania, Greece, Macedonia, Croatia, Montenegro, Serbia, European Turkey) (Goranova & Anchev, 2011; Buzurović et al., 2013; Crivelli, 1997).

The aim of this study was to monitor three new habitats of the Balkan endemic *Goniolimon dalmaticum* in Hadjidimovo Municipality, Blagoevgrad.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The three new habitats of the endangered species *Goniolimon dalmaticum* found at the foot of Slavyanka Mountain in 2011 were studied during the period 2011 to 2013. The habitats "Polianite" and "Kosharite are near N. Lovcha, whilst the third habitat "Omaya" is located on the territory of Gaitaninovo, Hadjidimovo Municipality, Blagoevgrad.

Monitoring of the populations was carried out according to the methodology for monitoring of higher plants in two phenophases: full flowering and seed maturity (Baideman, 1954). The following habitats' characteristics were observed and analysed: size, slope, soil type, population density, and health status.

Biometric data were collected from 20 plants in eight fixed sites for each habitats, whereby the following two indicators were considered: height of flowering stems, number of flowering stems per plant (Lidanski, 1988).

The coefficient of variation (CV) for the indicators height of flowering stems during flowering and number of flowering stems per plant was determined with:

$$CV = \frac{\mathrm{mx100}}{\mathrm{M}} \%$$

CV - Coefficient of Variation;

M – Mean;

m – Standard deviation;

CV – up to 10% – Weak variation;

CV – 10-30% – Average variation;

CV – above 30% – Strong variation.

GPS coordinates and altitude were obtained for each habitat of Goniolimon dalmaticum.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

During the entire period of the study no change was observed in the size of the two newly found habitats of *G. dalmaticum* ("Kosharite" and "Omaya"). Their area amounts to approximately 2 ha. An increase in area was observed for the third habitat ("Polianite"). It expanded from 1.5 ha during the first year to 2.5 ha at the end of the study. The 1 ha increase in size of "Polianite" habitat was due to the population expanding to a greater area.

During the monitoring it was found that all three habitats are south facing and have brown forest soils with shallow capacity. The soils are stony, dry, and limy. The slope of the "Polianite" habitat ranges from 10° to 35° . For "Omaya" and "Kosharite" the slopes are between 3° and 30° , and between 5° and 10° , respectively.

Out of the three habitats, the average altitude of "Omaya" is the lowest one (649 m), followed by "Kosharite" (708 m) and "Polianite" (742 m).

Three newly found habitats of *G. dalmaticum* are located at approximately the same average altitude as two other habitats discovered by our team - "Zastavata" (631 m) and "Granichen punkt" (718 m), both near Nova Lovcha (Ivanova et al., 2008). Other authors (Anchev, 1982; Goranova and Anchev, 2011) have reported that this species can be found at an altitude of 1000 m.

The period of full flowering is virtually the same for all the three populations, the difference being merely one to two days. For seed maturing this difference ranges between two and four days (Table 1). This development probably results from the approximately equal altitude and southern exposure of the habitats.

Table 1. Phenological records for G. dalmaticum in the habitats "Kosharite", "Polianite", and"Omaya" (average for a period of three years (2011 – 2013)

| Habitat | Full flowering | Seed maturity |
|-------------|----------------|---------------|
| "Kosharite" | 12/6 | 28/8 |
| "Polianite" | 14/6 | 31/8 |
| "Omaya" | 12/6 | 26/8 |

The population of *G. dalmaticum* in the habitat "Polianite" near Nova Lovcha is numerous, amounting to approximately 2850 plants (Table 2), which are distributed relatively even throughout the area. The majority of the population consists either of groups of 2-5 individuals or of single plants. The number of plants in the population has increased by about 990 over the three-year period.

The population in the "Polianite" habitat is mixed and consists of the species *Goniolimon* dalmaticum, *Goniolimon tataricum*, and *Goniolimon collinum*. The predominant species in the population is *G. dalmaticum* – 70% of the total number of plants, followed by *G. tataricum* (20%) and *G. collinum* (10%). Over the years no change was observed with regards to the size ratio between species in the population. With 0.114 plants per m² the density of the species is good; in some areas it reaches 2–3 plants per m².

During the years of study population size of *G. dalmaticum* in the habitat "Kosharite" totals roughly 2400 plants (Table 2), distributed relatively even throughout the area. The density of the species is good – 0.225 plants per m², reaching 3–5 plants per m² in single areas.

The population of the species *G. dalmaticum* in the habitat "Omaya" near Gaitaninovo consists of 3750 plants (Table 2). The plants are mostly single and in groups of 3–4 plants. With regards to population density no change was detected over the three years of study. Population density is good – 0.19 plants per m², reaching 2–5 plants per m² in some areas. The population consists only of the species *G. dalmaticum*.

| Habitat | Total number of plants in the | Plant heig | ht, cm | Number of flowering stems per plant (no.) | | |
|-------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------------|--------|---|-------|--|
| | population (no.) | $.) \qquad M \pm m \qquad CV \ \%$ | | $M \pm m$ | CV % | |
| "Kosharite" | 2400 | 13.82 ± 7.3 | 52.82 | 1.6 ± 0.55 | 34.37 | |
| "Polianite" | 2850 | 10.52 ± 4.5 | 42.78 | 1.95 ± 0.93 | 47.69 | |
| "Omaya" | 3750 | 18.35 ± 6.35 | 34.60 | 2.24 ± 0.86 | 30.39 | |

| Table 2. | Biometrical da | ata on <i>G. dalm</i> | naticum in the | habitats " | 'Kosharite", | "Polianite", | and |
|----------|------------------|-----------------------|----------------|------------|--------------|--------------|-----|
| "Omaya' | ' (average for a | a period of thr | ee years (201 | 1 – 2013) | | | |

Note: M – mean; $\pm m$ – standard deviation; CV – coefficient of variation.

A variation concerning plant height, number of flowering stems per plant, and height during the full flowering has been observed over the years (Table 2). The greatest height was registered for plants of the *G. dalmaticum* population in "Omaya", ranging between 18.35 cm and 23.5 cm. The lowest figures in this respect were recorded for plants in the habitat "Polianite", which have an average height of 10.52 cm.

In all three populations, the number of flowering stems per plant ranges from 1 to 3 (Table 2), whereby there were single plants (0.5%) with 4 flowering stems per plant in the habitat "Omaya" in the last year of the study. There are differences between the three populations with

regards to the percentage ratio in the number of plants with one, two and three flowering stems. In the habitat "Omaya" the plants with 3 flowering stems prevail (47.5%), followed by those with 1 flowering stem (32.8%) and with 2 flowering stems (19.7%). In the habitat "Polianite" mostly plants with 1 flowering stem are found (52.3%), followed by those with 2 flowering stems (35.0%) and with 3 flowering stems (12.7%). In the habitat "Kosharite" the number of plants with one, two and three flowering is approximately equal with 35.7%, 34.0%, and 30.3%, respectively.

The high values of the coefficient of variation (Table 2) for the indicators plant height and number of flowering stems per plant during full flowering in all three populations show that populations are highly uneven under natural conditions. This is probably due to the more unfavourable soil and climate conditions as well as to the different age and structure of the individual plants within the population in the habitat.

During the years of the study no change in the ratio of generative and vegetative plants within the populations was observed. Generative plants dominate in all three habitats, which is an indicator of the stability of the populations (Table 3).

Table 3. Ratio of generative and vegetative plants of the species *G. dalmaticum* in the habitats "Kosharite", "Polianite", and "Omaya" (average for a period of three years (2011–2013)

| | Percent (%) | | Number of reproductive plants in the | | | | |
|---------------------|--------------|-------------|--------------------------------------|-------------|-------|--|--|
| | | | population per m ² | | | | |
| | Vegetative | Generative | Gegetative | Generative | Total | | |
| Habitat/ Species | plants (no.) | plants(no.) | plants(no.) | plants(no.) | Total | | |
| Habitat "Polianite" | | | | | | | |
| G. dalmaticum | 25 | 75 | 0.02 | 0.06 | 0.080 | | |
| G. tataricum | 20 | 80 | 0.005 | 0.018 | 0.023 | | |
| G. collinum | 40 | 60 | 0.007 | 0.008 | 0.011 | | |
| Habitat "Kosharite" | | | | | | | |
| G. dalmaticum | 25 | 75 | 0.056 | 0.169 | 0.225 | | |
| Habitat"Omaya" | | | | | | | |
| G. dalmaticum | 45 | 55 | 0.09 | 0.10 | 0.19 | | |

Monitoring during the first year show that the populations of *G. dalmaticum* in the three habitats have an excellent health status. No damage from diseases or by pests on vegetative and generative organs was observed. Except for the population in the habitat "Omaya", in the second and third year of study, damage was detected for the populations in the two other habitats. Leaves were damaged by leaf-mining moths. There were also nibble marks of unknown origin on unripe seeds. For the population in "Kosharite", 2012 saw a 4% increase in damage, which then went up to 8% in the last year of study. As for the habitat "Polianite", about 50% of the plants of all three *Goniolimon* species experienced seed damage in the second year of study, whereas the third year saw a significant reduction in the percentage of damaged seeds (-15%).

Changes in health status require annual monitoring of the populations in both habitats during flowering and seed formation in order to establish the extent of damage for preservation purposes.

CONCLUSION

Initial data about the population of the protected species *Goniolimon dalmaticum* in three newly found habitats "Kosharite", "Polianite", and "Omaya" at the foot of Slavyanka Mountain, Hadjidimovo Municipality, Blagoevgrad, were obtained.

Populations of the species *Goniolimon dalmaticum* in all three habitats are numerous. The plants are well developed with 1 to 3 flowering stems per plant.

Generative plants dominated in all three habitats, which is an indicator of the stability of the populations.

In the habitats "Kosharite" and "Polianite", damages by leaf-mining moth on the leaves as well as nibble marks of unknown origin on unripe seed were detected. These damages require annual monitoring of the populations in both habitats during the phases flowering and seed formation in order to determine the extent of the damage for preservation purposes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The study was funded by the Enterprise for Management of Environmental Protection Activities of the Ministry of Environment and Water as per contract № 8004/17.05.2011.

REFERENCE

- Anchev, M. (1982). Flora Republica Bulgaria, Family *Plumbaginaceae*, Genus *Goniolimon* Boiss. In: S. Kozuharov (eds.), Sofia: Publishing house of the Bulgarian Academy of Sciences (8): 349-356.
- Beideman, I. N. (1954). Methods of phenological observations in geobotanical studies, Leningrad; Komarov Bot. Inst. Acad. Sci. USSR., p. 130. bibl. approx. 430.
- Biological Diversity Act, Bulgaria, Annex 3. In; State Newspaper, 88 of 4.11.2005.
- Buzurovic, U., Stevanovic, V., Niketic, M., Jakovljevic, K., and Tomovic, G. (2013). On the distribution of *Goniolimon tataricum* (Plumbaginaceae) in Serbia. Botanica Serbia, 37 (2): 167-172.
- Crivelli, A.J. and Cats, Adorakis G. (eds). (1997). Lake Prespa, Northwestern Greece. The flora of Prespa National Park with emphasis on species of conservation interest. Hydrobiologia, 351: 35-40.
- Goranova, V. and Anchev, M. (2011). Red Book of Bulgaria Peev, D. & al. (eds)., Vol. 1 Plants & Fungi) Bulgarian Academy of Sciences & Ministry of Environment and Water Bulgaria, Electronic data, Digital edition., URL: http:// e-ecodb..bas.bg/rdb/en/.
- Ivanova, I., Kaninski, A. and Bistrichanov, S. (2008). Prouchvane dekorativnite kachestva na Goniolimon dalmaticum(C.Presl) Reichenb.Fil. Union of scientists Stara Zagora International Scientific conference, Published on optical media (CD-ROM) with ISBN 978-954-93-2944-5, Digital edition, (Bg).; http://www.sustz.com/Proceeding08/Content/Issunes in plant studies 04.htm/.
- Kaninski A., Bistrichanov, S. and Ivanova, I. (2008a).. Study of seed germination at the Goniolimon tataricum (L) Boiss. Union of scientists. Stara Zagora. International Scientific conference, Published on optical media (CD-ROM) with ISBN 978-954-93-2944-5, Digital edition, (Bg).; <u>http://www.sustz.com/Proceeding08/Content/Issunes</u> in plant_studies 04.htm/.
- Kaninski A., Bistrichanov S. and Ivanova I. (2008b). Cultivation of wild species from Goniolimon genus: a case study. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca, 36 (2): 51-53.
- Kaninski, A., Vitanova, G., Bistrichanov, S. (2000). Dekorativni kachestva na vidovete ot rod *Goniolimon*. Sbornik dokladi. IPPS in Bulgaria. Fourth Scientific Conference. Propagation of Ornamental Plants. Sofia, 233-238.

Lidanski, T. 1998. Statistical methods in biology and agriculture. Zemizdat, Sofia: p. 375.

- Manolova, D., Kaninski, A., Zaprianova, N. (2015). Effects of different substantes on seed germination of four a rare, endangered and protected species from the genus *Goniolimon*, family *Plumbaginaceae* distributed in the Bulgaria. Bulg. J. Agric. Sci., 212: 957-960.
- National system for monitoring of biodiversity. Instruction No. 2 of 18.12.2006. Ministry of Environment and Waters, Bulgaria, State Newspaper, 3, 12.01.2007.
- Red Data Book of Republic of Bulgaria. Volume 1 Plants & Fungi (2011) In: Peev D., Vladimirov V., Petrova A.S., Anchev M., Temniskova D., Denchev C.M., Ganeva A., Gussev C. (eds.), Bulgarian Academy of Sciences.& Ministry of Environment and Water Bulgaria Digital edition, URL: <u>http://e-ecodb.bas.bg/rdb/en/</u>.
- Rizzotto, M. (1999). Research on the genus *Limonium (Plumbaginaceae)* in the Tuscan archipelago (Italy), Webbia, 53 (2): 241-282.
- Walter, K.S. and Gillett, H. J. (eds). (1998). 1997. IUCN Red List of Threatened Plants, IUCN, Cambridge.
- Yanev, A. (1959). Ornamental plants in the flora of Bulgaria. Science and art, Sofia, p. 510.

CO-PRECIPITATED MAGNETITE PROPERTIES IN WASTEWATERS PHOSPHATE ADSORPTION AND MICROBIAL CHARGE REDUCTION

Sonila VITO^{1*}, Amilda BALLATA¹, Nereida MALO¹, Ilirjana BOCI¹

¹University of Tirana, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Department of Industrial Chemistry

* sonila.vito@fshn.edu.al

ABSTRACT

In this paper are presented experimental results of synthetic magnetite adsorption capacity study for phosphorus removal from wastewaters. The magnetite used is produced by coprecipitation synthesis. First, the optimal precipitation conditions, such as NaOH addition rate, the presence of inert media, and the drying temperature are identified. After that, adsorption characteristics in synthetic and real wastewaters are evaluated. It is concluded that magnetite manifest better characteristics if it is produced in an inert media by fast addition of NaOH in the Fe(II)/Fe(III) mixture and dried at 60°C. Phosphorus adsorption in synthetic waters takes place after Langmuir isotherm. The situation differs in real wastewaters where, considering the competing ions, the adsorption takes place after Freundlich isotherm with equation constants k=13.12 and 1/n=2.9037. The presence of competing ions also seems to lead to weaker capacities of magnetite to adsorb phosphorous. It is also shown a microbial reduction in the presence of magnetite, especially coliform bacteria, but also yeasts and moulds colonies.

Keywords: Magnetite, Co-precipitation synthesis, Adsorption capacity, Phosphate removal, Microbial load reduction

INTRODUCTION

It is known that natural magnetite (FeO·Fe₂O₃) has very good adsorption capacities of a variety of aqueous substances. It has been widely used to separate chemical, physical and biological substances (Boyd at al., 1986).

Due to its novel properties, there has been numerous efforts in producing synthetic magnetite with higher efficiency, capable of being used in treating wastewaters produced by mines (Navratil and Akin, 2009), metal finishing industries (Oskay, 2003; Yuan et al., 2010; Mayo et al., 2007), oil industry (Moniwa et al., 2010) etc. Magnetite has also been used for color and turbidity removal (Anderson et al., 1982), bacteria cells removal (Mac Rae and Evans, 1984), phosphorus removal (Yao-Jen Tu at al., 2015; Abo Markeb et al, 2016) etc.

There are a variety of methods for producing synthetic magnetite such as classical synthesis by co-precipitation, reactions in constrained environments, hydrothermal and high-temperature reactions, sol-gel reactions, polyol methods, flow injection syntheses, electrochemical methods, aerosol/vapor methods, and sonolysis (Laurent, 2008). The co-precipitation technique is probably the simplest and most efficient chemical pathway. Iron oxides (either Fe₃O₄ or γ Fe₂O₃) are usually prepared by aging ferrous and ferric salts solutions with a stoichiometric ratio of 2:1 (Fe3+/Fe2+) in a non-oxidizing oxygen aqueous medium, at a pH between 8 and 14. It is important to consider that magnetite (Fe3O4) is not very stable and is sensitive to oxidation. It is transformed into maghemite (γ Fe2O3) in the presence of oxygen and acidic conditions. The main advantage of the co-precipitation process is that a large amount of nanoparticles can be synthesized. However, the control of particle size distribution

is limited. The size and shape of the nanoparticles can be tailored with relative success by adjusting pH, ionic strength, temperature, nature of the salts (perchlorates, chlorides, sulfates, and nitrates), FeII/FeIII concentration ratio or flow rate of added chemicals. The addition of chelating organic anions (carboxylate ions, such as citric, gluconic, or oleic acid) or polymer surface complexing agents (dextran, carboxydextran, starch, or polyvinyl alcohol) during the formation of magnetite can help to control the size of the nanoparticles (Laurent, 2008).

In this paper there are presented the experimental results of co-precipitated magnetite adsorption characteristics for orthophosphate and microbial removal from synthetic and diary wastewaters.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Magnetite production

Synthetic magnetite is produced through chemical co-precipitation method of Fe(II)/Fe(III) salts solutions, at a ratio of 0.5, like that of natural magnetite. Ferrous and ferric stock solution is obtained using $FeCl_2*4H_2O$ and $FeCl_3$ (3%) reagents. Stock solution of 10M NaOH is used to create the alkali conditions (Kim at al., 2001). A solution of 0.01M HCl is prepared for surface neutralization, while a solution of 2% sodium oleate is used as a surfactant solution for coating of magnetite particles (Kim at al., 2001). The inert reaction medium is assured by bubbling N₂ gas in the reaction vessel. All the chemicals are of reagent grade.

Aqueous dispersion of magnetic particles was prepared by alkalinizing an aqueous mixture of ferric and ferrous salts with NaOH at room temperature. For that, first 2.28 g FeCl₂*4H₂O dissolved in 100 ml distilled water is mechanically mixed with 1 ml of FeCl₃ (3%) solution. A certain volume of NaOH is added drop-wise (at a certain flow rate), until pH 10 is reached. After 30 min of stirring the solution is subjected to an external magnetic field and the precipitated powder is isolated. The magnetite powder is washed four times with distilled water and one time with 0.01M HCl to neutralize the anionic charge on the particle surface. The cationic particles are separated by decantation in the presence of the magnetic field and washed three more times with distilled water prior to coating. Coating is carried out using sodium oleate solution under vigorous mechanical stirring for 30 min at 90°C (Kim at al, 2001). After coating, the particles are separated by the surfactant and washed for tree times with distilled water to remove the excessed surfactant adsorbed physically on the particle surface. All the main synthesis steps are carried out in the presence of N₂ gas to avoid possible oxygen contamination during the operations. Three operating conditions: (i) the flow rate of NaOH, (ii) the presence of inert gas, and (iii) drying temperature of magnetite particles are considered for different synthesis experiments.

Batch experiments for orthophosphate adsorption on magnetite

All magnetite water treatment experiments are realized after the same protocol. In a series of chemical flasks, 40 ml of phosphate solutions are treated with 0.1 g magnetite, under mechanical stirring. After a certain contact time, they are subjected to filtration and the filtrate is analyzed for phosphate content. Two scenarios have been investigated: (i) synthetic phosphate wastewater and (ii) diary industry wastewater. The synthetic wastewater samples, of different phosphate concentration, are prepared using 200 mg/l KH₂PO₄ stock solution.

Aqueous orthophosphate spectrophotometric determination method (APHA, 1998).

The reagents used are: ammonium molibdate solution (9.5 g of (NH4)6Mo7O24·4H2O dissolved in 100 mL water); 4.5M sulfuric acid; ascorbic acid solution (7 g C6H8O6 diluted in 100 mL water); potassium antimonile tartrate solution (3,25 g of K(SbO)C4H4O6·1/2H2O

diluted in 100 mL water); mixed reagent (45 mL of ammonium molibdate solution is added in 200 mL sulfuric acid and 5 mL of potassium antimonile tartrate solution).

In 20 ml of water sample is added 0.5 ml of ascorbic acid, 1 ml of combined reactive and water till 25 mL volume. After 15 minutes the absorption value in the wave length 880 nm is determined. Measurement are performed using UV 1200 spectrophotometer.

Experimental method of determining the water sample microbial load

Sample dilution: 10 ml of waste water sample is added in 90 ml of sterile water. The method used is that of general and selective field coverage (coliform, lactic bacteria, yeasts and moulds). After incubation in respective conditions, the colonies are counted after 2-7 days. To evaluate magnetite effect in microbial loading reduction, this method is applied to waste water samples before and after the addition of magnetite.

RESULTS

The aim of this work is the evaluation of a) magnetite production operating conditions and b) magnetite capacity in adsorbing phosphate and reducing microbial load. Two scenarios have been taken in consideration: i) synthetic waters and ii) real diary wastewaters.

Magnetite production operating conditions

Three operating conditions have been taken in consideration: NaOH flow rate, the presence of inert medium and drying temperature of magnetite particles. They are determined by comparing the phosphate adsorption efficiency of magnetite produced at different conditions. 10ppm KH₂PO₄ solutions have been used for the purpose. The magnetite-solution treatment time is 4 hours. The experimental results are shown in table 1.

| Sample | NaOH flow | Presence | Drying | Magnetite color | Orthophosphate |
|--------|-----------|-------------------|-----------------|-----------------|--------------------------|
| - | rate, L/h | of N ₂ | temperature, °C | - | adsorption efficiency, % |
| M1 | 3.6 | - | 60 | Brown | 10 |
| M2 | 3.6 | + | 60 | Black | 98 |
| M3 | 0.9 | + | 60 | Black | 30 |
| M4 | 3.6 | + | 110 | Chocolate brown | 8 |

Table 1. Co-precipitated magnetite characteristics produced at different conditions.

Comparing the adsorption characteristics of M1 and M2 samples, it can be seen that the inert reaction medium is a crucial factor that influences adsorption efficiency. In the absence of N_2 gas, magnetite particles are of brown color, rather than black (the color of real magnetite), showing that the oxygen present in solution has caused oxidation of ferrous species. In fact, adsorption efficiency decreases from 98% for M2 to 10% for M1.

Another important parameter that influences adsorption effectiveness is particle size of the adsorptive media. In this case particle size depends on the rate that NaOH is added to Fe(II) - Fe(III) solution. Comparing the samples M2 and M3 it can be concluded that fast addition of NaOH (M2) yield to higher phosphate adsorption efficiency. Magnetite crystallization time is much shorter and thus much more crystals are formed with smaller size. The specific surface area of magnetite particles produced by fast addition is expected to be greater than that produced by slow addition. Taking this in consideration, all the other experiments are carried out with magnetite produced in the presence of N_2 and by fast addition of NaOH.
Comparing the samples M2 and M4, it seems that the drying temperature of magnetite particles is another parameter that influences magnetite adsorption characteristics. The most appropriate drying temperature, between the two values taken in consideration, is 60°C. By increasing the temperature, the magnetite particles color changes from black to brown which means that there has been some changes in their structure. In fact, even the adsorption efficiency decreases from 98% to 8%. After (Tang et al., 2002), in the temperatures around 25°C magnetite is oxidizing very slowly to maghemite (c-Fe2O3). If temperature increases the oxidation goes till hematite. This is why we conducted the drying process for a short period of time (1 hour).

Orthophosphate adsorption capacity of magnetite

The aim of this experiments set is to evaluate adsorption isotherm. For that, first it is evaluated the time required to reach adsorption equilibrium. The experimental results are shown in figure 1. Six parallel tests are conducted for this purpose. 40 ml of 10 ppm aqueous KH_2PO_4 sample is treated with 0.1 g magnetite, at room temperature, 20 °C, for contact time, respectively 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, and 12 hours.



Figure 1. The change of phosphate removal efficiency by adsorption on magnetite over contact time.

As can be seen, the percentage of adsorbed phosphorus increases as the treatment time increases up to 4 hours. After that, the percentage of phosphorus removed is almost constant. This means that the adsorption equilibrium is reached for 4 hours. All the following experiments are accomplished for contact time over 4 hours.

In order to determine the adsorption isotherm, six parallel treatment tests of 40 ml KH₂PO₄ aquatic solutions, with concentration 1, 5, 7, 10, 15, and 20 mg/l respectively, are performed. Each of them are treated with 0.1 g magnetite, at room temperature, 20 °C, for contact time 4 hours. The experimental adsorption results are presented at figure 2 and 3. The maximum amount of phosphorus removal achieved is 0.14 g/g magnetite.



Figure 2. Phosphate removal efficiency over initial concentration, in mg/l.



Figure 4. Langmuir isotherm linearization of phosphate adsorption in magnetite. X/M is the amount of orthophosphate adsorbed per amount of magnetite, in mg/g. C_e is the equilibrium concentration, mg/l.



Figure 3. Adsorption isotherm of phosphate in magnetite. C_e is the equilibrium concentration, mg/l.



Figure 5. Freundlich isotherm linearization of phosphate adsorption in magnetite. X/M is the amount of orthophosphate adsorbed per amount of magnetite, in mg/g. C_e is the equilibrium concentration, mg/l.

By linearization after Langmuir, figure 4, and Freundlich, figure 5, it is concluded that adsorption takes place after the Langmuir isotherm ($R^2=0.9942$), with isotherm equation coefficient a=0.14492 g P adsorbed/g magnetite and b=4.06.

It should be noted that all the above conclusions are derived from experiments in synthetic waters. The behavior of magnetite to real wastewaters is expected to differ. Consequently, to evaluate the influence of competing ions in the process, all the adsorption experiments are performed on some real diary wastewaters. The experimental results of the adsorption isotherm are presented in figure 6, 7. The phosphate removal efficiency decreases to 70%.



Figure 6. Phosphate removal efficiency over initial concentration, in mg/l.



Figure 8. Langmuir isotherm linearization of phosphate adsorption in magnetite. X/M is the amount of orthophosphate adsorbed per amount of magnetite, in mg/g. C_e is the equilibrium concentration, mg/l.



Figure 7. Adsorption isotherm of phosphate in magnetite. C_e is the equilibrium concentration, mg/l.



Figure 9. Freundlich isotherm linearization of phosphate adsorption in magnetite. X/M is the amount of orthophosphate adsorbed per amount of magnetite, in mg/g. C_e is the equilibrium concentration, mg/l.

By linearization after Langmuir, figure 8, and Freundlich, figure 9, it is concluded that adsorption in such dairy wastewaters takes place after the Freundlich isotherm (R^2 =0.961), with isotherm equation coefficient k=13.12, and 1/n=2.9037.

Microbial load reduction

In addition, real dairy wastewaters are also used to investigate magnetite ability in removing microorganisms. The experimental results for microbial load of magnetite untreated and treated water samples are presented, respectively, in table 2 and 3.

As seen, the total charge of non-treated diary waste water corresponds to $4*10^6$ cfu/ml mesophilic bacteria. It is shown the presence *Fusarium spp*. as white colonies in the Czapek media and also coliform bacteria in Mc Concey media, whose presence may be related to the cleaning water in the dairy industry.

It is important to emphasize that there is no presence of coliform bacteria in Mrs selective media, but we have faced a number of colonies very similar to moulds which may correspond to *Sphaerotilus natans*. This strain can be grown in the presence of high content of lactose,

organic acids and low percentage of phosphorus and in specific conditions may also be pathogenic.

| | Cfu/ml | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Media | Dilution 1 | Dilution 2 | Dilution 3 | Dilution 4 | | | | | | | |
| PCA | Non cauntable | Non cauntable | Non cauntable | 4*10 ⁶ | | | | | | | |
| Mrs | $20 * 10^{1}$ | $2*10^{2}$ | - | - | | | | | | | |
| Mc | $2*10^{3}$ | 95*10 ² | 13*10 ³ | 3*10 ⁴ | | | | | | | |
| Czapek | 30*10 ¹ | $4*10^{2}$ | - | - | | | | | | | |

Table 2. Microbiological results for the magnetite non-treated diary waste water

Table 3. Microbiological results after treatment with magnetite of the diary waste water

| | Cfu/ml | | | | | | | | | |
|--------|--------------------|------------|------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Media | Dilution 1 | Dilution 2 | Dilution 3 | Dilution 4 | | | | | | |
| PCA | 55*10 ¹ | - | - | 1*10 ⁴ | | | | | | |
| Mrs | - | - | - | - | | | | | | |
| Мс | - | - | - | - | | | | | | |
| Czapek | - | - | - | _ | | | | | | |

It is obvious the reduction of the microbiological charge from $4*10^6$ cfu/ml to $1*10^4$ cfu/ml after the sample treatment. It is not shown the presence of coliform bacteria in Mc media. There is also seen no presence of yeasts and moulds in respective PDA and Czapek media. As in microscopic views, the only microbiological charge that could be grown in this conditions, correspond to bacteria of cylindrical shapes. This bacteria can also be identified in further studies.

CONCLUSIONS

The experimental results of synthetic and real diary wastewater treatment by synthetic magnetite concluded that this is an excellent method to decrease phosphate and microbial content in industrial wastewaters. The magnetite produced by co-precipitation method through fast addition of NaOH, in an inert reaction media and dried at 60°C showed high efficiency in removing phosphates from diary wastewaters by 70%. In fact, its adsorption ability was higher for pure orthophosphate aqueous solutions, 98%. The presence of other ions in water seem to have influenced the process by conducting competitive reactions. Adsorption takes place after the Freundlich isotherm with equation constants k=13.12 and 1/n=2.9037. It was also shown that magnetite is highly efficient in reducing wastewaters microbial load. The results were excellent especially for coliform bacteria, yeasts and moulds colonies.

REFERENCES

- Abo Markeb, A., Alonso, A., Dorado, A.D., Sánchez, A., Font, X. (2016). Phosphate removal and recovery from water using nanocomposite of immobilized magnetite nanoparticles on cationic polymer. Environ. Technol., 37(16):2099-112
- Anderson, N. J., Bolto, B. A., Blesing, N. V., Kolarik, L. O., Priestley, A. J., Raper, W. G. C. (1982). Colour and turbidity removal with reusable magnetite particles—VI pilot plant operation. Water Res., 17, 10:1235-1243.
- APHA, AWWA, WEF (1998). Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, XX Ed., (Washington, APHA).
- Boyd, T.E., Cusick, M.J., Navratil, J.D., (1986). Chapter 6: Ferrite Use in Separation Science and Technology, Recent Developments in Separation Science Volume VIII, N. N. Li, and J. D. Navratil, Editors, CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, FL.
- Kim, D. K., Zhang, Y., Voit, W., Rao, K.V., Muhammed, M. (2001). Synthesis and characterization of surfactant-coated superparamagnetic monodispersed iron oxide nanoparticles. J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 225: 30-36.
- Mac Rae, I. C., Evans, S.K. (1984). Removal of bacteria from water by adsorption to magnetite. Water Res., 18, 11: 1377-1380.
- Mayo, J.T., Yavuz, C., Yean, S., Cong, L., Shipley, H., Yu, W., Falkner, J., Kan, A., Tomson, M., Colvin, V.L. (2007). The effect of nanocrystalline magnetite size on arsenic removal. Sci. Technol. Adv. Mater., 8: 71–75.
- Moniwa, S., Shiire, H., Ebihara, S., Ashikaga, N., Kiuchi, T. (2010). Water Treatment System, United States Patent Application, 20100059444.
- Navratil, J.D., Akin, A.C. (2009). Mine Water Treatment Using Iron Ferrites and Magnetite, International Mine Water Conference, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Oskay, E. (2003). Treatment of wastewater using magnetite. Izmir, Turkey.
- Laurent, S., Forge, D., Port, M., Roch, A., Robic, C., Elst, L. V., Muller, R. N. (2008). Magnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticles: Synthesis, Stabilization, Vectorization, Physicochemical Characterizations, and Biological Applications. Chem. Rev., 108: 2064–2110.
- Tang, J., Myers, M., Bosnick, K.A., Brus, L.E. (2002). Magnetite Fe3O4 Nanocrystals: Spectroscopic Observation of Aqueous Oxidation Kinetics. J. Phys. Chem., 107: 7501-7506.
- Yao-Jen Tu, Chen-Feng You, Chien-Kuei Chang, Mei-Hsuan Chen (2015). Application of magnetic nano-particles for phosphorus removal/recovery in aqueous solution. J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. E., 46: 148–154.
- Yuan, P., Liu, D., Fan, M., Yang, D., Zhu, R., Ge, F., Zhu, J., He, H. (2010). Removal of hexavalent chromium [Cr(VI)] from aqueous solutions by the diatomitesupported/unsupported magnetite nanoparticles. J. Hazard Mater., 173(1-3): 614-21.

PERFORMANCES OF NEW INDUSTRIAL TOMATO CULTIVARS (LYCOPERSICUM ESCULENTUM) IN THE GHARB REGION OF MOROCCO

Nour EDDINE ES-SAFI^{1*}, *Abdelkrim KRIRA*², *Mohammed IBRIZ*³ ¹*Fiec Ltd Compagny, University Ibn Tofail, Morocco*

²National Institute of Agronomic Research, Kenitra, Morocco ³Faculty of Science, Ibn Toufail University, Kenitra, Morocco ^{*} essafi_n@yahoo.fr

ABSTRACT

Considering the importance of the cultivars performance in improving productivity, comparative study of ten new industrial tomato cultivars was conducted at the experimental field of Sidi Alla Tazi in the Gharb region of Morocco, for their phenological and production parameters. The objective of this experiment is to study the agronomic performance of 10 Tomato cultivars in order to seek out the most adapted and high yield potential in the Gharb agro-climatic conditions. The cultivars trial was transplanted in April, with dual lines and led by fertigation. The tested plant material consisted of cultivars with fixed growth. The adopted trial is a randomized block with four replications. Obtained results have statistically identified four cultivars; Num 0058 (120 t/ha), Artix (118 t/ha), Mariflor (117 t/ha) and Riotinto (116t/ha), which differ by the best morphological, agronomic and technological criteria as: height, vegetative port, Leaf Area Index (LAI), yield, synchronized maturity, precocity and Brix. These cultivars expressed the highest yields and the best brix have shown the best performance of growth and development. The lowest yield was obtained by Heinz 2710 control (100 t/ha). In viewpoint of precocity, cultivars Num 0058 and NPT 63 are the earliest.

Keywords: Performance, Cultivars, Brix, Industrial Tomato, Morocco

INTRODUCTION

Two main types of tomatoes (*Lycopersicum esculentum*) exist, composed by indeterminate growth tomato and the growth fixed which has a bushy port, growth stops after the formation of a limited number of fruit-bearing clusters; it is the "dwarf" or so-called industrial tomato. The elongate form of fruit is characterized by a high dry matter, a brix of around 5.5 and the pH is slightly acid. It is important to notify that the new hybrid cultivars are known by a high pulp rate and without any seeds.

Globally, the major producers of industrial tomatoes according to the International Association Mediterranean Tomato (AMITOM, 2010¹) are; USA (12.6 million tonnes), China (6.2 million tonnes) and Italy (5 million tonnes). In Morocco, the area reserved to this crop has experienced a constant evolution in the various regions where irrigation is possible (Atherton, 1986 quoted by Chleyah 2001). The production is currently concentrated in the Gharb and Loukkos regions on an area of about 5,000 ha and over 75% of the sowings exists in Gharb region (ORMVAG, 2008).

These crops present only 13% of sown areas, but they contribute to 54% of the total value of crop production (Green Morocco Plan 2008). Tomato sector provides 120 working days per Ha and ensures the continued operation of an emerging processing industry. However, average yields are still low and unstable (29-54 t / ha) and there is an inter-annual variability yields of cultivated areas (Krira and El hasnaoui, 2007).

The major constraints for the development of this sector are technical and concern others aspects related to market. The main part of production is converted into concentrated and derivatives by one of the important aggregation companies; Les Conserves de Meknes (LCM-Aicha) that convert more than 110,000 tonnes per year (Essafi and Krira, 2015).

In this context, this study aims to contribute to the improvement of productivity by comparing ten new cultivars in order to propose the best ones to the farmers. This study was conducted in collaboration between INRA and Les Conserves de Meknes (LCM)-Aicha.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant Material

The plant material used is composed of ten cultivars with determinate growth. All these cultivars namely; Num 0058, NPT 63, Num 0001, Num0051, Mariflor, Riotinto, Artix, NPT 65 and NPT 64, are produced by Syngenta and Nunhems companies. Seeds of cultivars object of this experiment are sown in a peat substrate in trays cells. Morphological and agronomic characteristics are not known except Heinz 2710 variety used as control. Transplanting plants in soil blocks was completed in April.

Soil Characteristics

The experiment was installed on a heavy soil in the experimental area of Sidi Allal Tazi (INRA). Results of physicochemical analysis show that the superficial horizons consist of alluvium depositing are rich of silt. The soil texture is clayey loam moderately provided organic matter (2.98%) and very rich in potassium (546.45 ppm). pH (7.69) is slightly alkaline, favorable to the installation of tomato. Trial was conducted in fertigation for a target yield of 100 t/ha. Fertilizers units used are; 130U NO2, 97U P2O5, 264U K2O and 12U Mg associated with foliar fertilizers and biostimulants taking into account the soil fertility level.

Experimental setup

The experimental model is a randomized complete block with four replications. The basic plot with an area of 36 m^2 consists of three twinned lines spaced of 2m. The plant stand is made of about 25,396 plants per hectare. Each elementary plot or each cultivars stage magnification fruit, three plants are selected at random on the middle line of each plot. In total, we analyzed 120 plants for vegetative characters as following:

- a) Height at the maximum growth (cm);
- b) LAI or Leaf Area Index (LAI): The measurements were performed using a LAI meter Licoorn 2000;
- c) Vegetative port matches the covering of the variety (cm);

d) Precocity is evaluated by a rating scale of 1 to 6 for five successive visits at intervals of 3 to 7 days from the stage pre-flowering. A variety is considered flowering when 50% of plants are in flowering step. 1: very early, 2 early, 3: medium early, 4: fairly late, 5 late, 6: very late.

e) Yield and its components, the early bloom stage to grow fruit, we followed the evolution of yield components of the plants selected in each unit plot by counting the branches, the number of clusters,

number of flowers and number of fruits per plant.

At harvest, the productions were weighed and characters qualitative have been noted.

f)Caliber, a sample of 12 fruits is picked at random from a sample of the harvest of each individual parcel (variety). At the laboratory, the sample is weighed, fruit shape is determined by the length of the superficial circumference of the plant. The number of lodges was also noted after dissection of the fruit.

g)Technological quality, the sample of fruit was crushed and analyzed in the laboratory for Brix, pH and NaCl content.

Statistical analysis

For each measured character as agronomic, technological and morphological, we have proceeded to the analysis of variance (ANOVA) by a single classification criterion. When a significant difference was found between cultivars for one character, the ANOVA is completed by Dunnett test for the comparison of means and for identifying cultivars that differ significantly from the control. For each character, the variation coefficient is used to assess levels of variation of averages observed between cultivars.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Phenological parameters

The variance analysis of measured quantitative and qualitative characteristics, grouped in Table 1 revealed a high significant HS difference for the height character and the LAI character respectively ($P \le 0.0044^{**}$) and ($P \le 0.0043^{**}$) and very HS for the vegetative shape character ($P \le 0.0005^{***}$). While the other characters are not significant, indicating existence of morphological diversity among the cultivars tested but with values of variation coefficients indicating a low variation for all characters respectively; 6.03%, 8.73% and 6.7%. We mention therefore that the morphological characters are less variables.

Comparison of heights average of different cultivars, compared with the control, showed that cultivars such as Artix (76.66 cm; a), Num 0058 (72.91 cm; ba) and Riotinto (72.91cm; ba) give a remarkable growth in height greater than that of Heinz 2710 control (69.58 cm; bc), against an average height of all cultivars (68.91 cm) with a variation coefficient of 8.78% (Table 1). Indeed, this result justifies their adaptation to agro-ecological conditions of the region. The LSD test (6.03) and a threshold P= 0.05 allowed to classify cultivars in 3 homogeneous groups. The first consists of Artix cultivar with an average height of 76.66 cm followed by the second group of cultivars Num0058 and Riotinto having an average of 72.91 cm and a last group of other cultivars including Heinz 2710 control, not exceeding 70 cm (Figure 1).

| Va | ariation | Height (cm) | Leaf Area | Vegetative | Yield (T/ha) | Fruit weight |
|----|-----------|-------------------|------------------|--------------------|---------------------|-------------------|
| SS | ources | _ | Index (LAI) | shape (cm) | | (g) |
| | Num 0058 | $72,91 \pm 2,9ba$ | 5.24±0.68ed | 2.24± 0.31a | 119.98 ±21.73a | 85.08±9.14 |
| | NPT 63 | 67.08±6.43bc | 5.69±1.20becd | 1.92±023 cb | 114.44±34.59ba | 91.47±5.25 |
| | Num 0001 | 65.41±4.16c | 5.17±1.12e | $1.96 \pm 0.13b$ | 104.75±27.89ba | 107.01 ± 9.70 |
| | Num0051 | 65.41±5.16c | 6.42±0.51ba | 1.76±0.14 c | 101.31 ±39.36b | 104.80±12.65 |
| | Mariflor | 66.24±4.78c | 5.66±0.80ecd | 1.83±0.22 cb | 117.47±25.98 a | 77.38±8.63 |
| | Riotinto | 72.91±10.66ba | 6.80±0.88a | 1.84 ± 0.26 cb | 115.56±31.5 ba | 88.75±5.96 |
| | Artix | 76.66±3.60a | 6.01±1.02bc | 1.90±0.13 cb | 118.35. ±29.75a | 94.44±6.59 |
| | NPT 65 | 67.49± 5.18bc | 5.91±1.04becd | 1.80 ± 0.25 cb | 111.69±33.71b | 103.66±10.43 |
| | NPT 64 | $65.41 \pm 2.09c$ | 6.00 ± 0.87 bc | $1.76 \pm 0.21c$ | $101.93 \pm 31.08b$ | 89.42±7.47 |
| | Heinz | 69.58±4.16bc | 5.98±0.75bcd | 1.90±0.24cb | 100.76±32.30b | 99.90±9.46 |
| | (Control) | | | | | |
| | Fobs | 3.64 | 3.65 | 5.00 | 2.08 | 1.19 |
| | Р | <0.0044(HS) | 0.0043(HS) | 0.0005(THS) | 0.0686(NS) | 0.3140(NS) |
| | CV% | 6.03% | 8.73% | 6.70% | 9.60% | 29.51% |

Table 1. ANOVA of observed parameters

(For each character, values with the same letter are statistically equal according to Dunnett's test)

Comparing the averages for the leaf area index (LAI) was leading to estimate the biomass directly dependent on the photosynthesis that takes place in the plant stand. The ability of the latter to intercept the incident radiation depends on this index. The density of leaf system has consequences on the health status of the culture and the reduction in evapotranspiration. This comparison shows that cultivars: Riotinto (6.80; a), Num0051 (6.42; ba), Artix (6.01; bc) and NPT 64 (6.00; bc) have shown greater leaf area index in comparison to Heinz 2710 control (5.98; bcd) and therefore these cultivars have a denser biomass (Table 4). It appears that the planting in twin rows, density doubles and leaf area increases. This results in an increase of the incident radiation, which also depends on this density. LSD test (0.74) at threshold $\Box = 0.05$ has shown the existence of more homogeneous groups. The first consists of the Riotinto cultivar that comes out on top with an average of 6.80 followed by the Num 0051 (6.42), Artix, NPT64 and other cultivars that overlap each other between 5.17 and 6 (Figure 2).

Comparing the averages for the vegetative shape character which refers to the foliage, shows that cultivars Num 0058 (2.24; a), Num 0001 (1.96; b) and NPT63 (1.92; cb) have a vegetative volume significantly higher than other cultivars including Heinz 2710 control (1.90; cb). These cultivars tend to better display their vegetative port unlike other cultivars overlapping between vegetative ports semi-spread and erect. The illustration of vegetative volumes depending on the variety is shown in Figure 3.



Figure1. Importance of plants height according to cultivars (cm)



Figure 2. Importance of Leaf Area Index (LAI) according to cultivars





LSD test (0.18) with threshold $\Box = 0.05$ allowed to classify the cultivars in 4 homogeneous groups. The first one consists of the variety Num 0058 that ranks first with an average of 2.24 cm followed by the second group of the variety Num 0001 (1.96 cm). These cultivars tend to better display their vegetative port. An intermediate group of cultivars: NPT63, Heinz 2710, Artix, Riotinto, Mariflor and NPT 65 whose averages overlap between them and with values between

1.80 and 1.92 cm. The last group is composed by cultivars of NPT 64, Num 0051 and with those of vegetative volume was 1.76 cm only. These two cultivars have an erect vegetative port type.

Yield Components

Data on yield components (number of flower clusters / plant, number of flowers / plant, number of fruits / plant and yield) were submitted to principal component analysis (PCA) for discriminating cultivars and look for correlations that might exist between the various components and performance (Tables 2 and 3).

| Cultivars | N° of | Nb. of flower | Nb. of flowers | Nb. of fruits | Yield t/ha |
|------------|---------|---------------|----------------|---------------|------------|
| | variety | cluster | cluster | | |
| Num 0058 | V1 | 43 | 295 | 140 | 120 |
| NPT 63 | V2 | 31 | 109 | 50 | 114 |
| Num 0001 | V3 | 34 | 103 | 85 | 105 |
| Num0051 | V4 | 24 | 103 | 41 | 101 |
| Mariflor | V5 | 36 | 190 | 71 | 117 |
| Riotinto | V6 | 47 | 220 | 117 | 116 |
| Artix | V7 | 42 | 167 | 65 | 118 |
| NPT 65 | V8 | 55 | 149 | 135 | 112 |
| NPT 64 | V9 | 22 | 124 | 44 | 102 |
| Heinz 2710 | V10 | 31 | 140 | 68 | 100 |
| Average | | 36 | 159.50 | 76.60 | 111 |
| Type-Ecart | | 10.32 | 61.18 | 36.76 | 7.72 |

Table 2. Computing data yield components

According to the above analyze, we classify the cultivars on three homogeneous groups, the first one consists of the folowing cultivars as Num 0058, Mariflor, Riotinto and Artix. The best positive correlation is mentioned between Yield and the Flowers number ($r^2=0.75$). This constitute good illustration for the best yield (Table 3).

Table 3. Correlations R²

| | | y1 (N.Branch) | y2 (N.Clust) | y3 (N.flowr) | y4 (N.fruit) | y5 (Yield) |
|--------|----------------|------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|------------|
| x 1 | (N.Branch) | 1.000 | 0.643 | 0.724 | 0,896 | 0,484 |
| x 2 | (N.Clust) | | 1.000 | 0.502 | 0.847 | 0.649 |
| x 3 | (N.flowr) | | | 1.000 | 0.709 | 0.747 |
| x 4 | (N.fruit) | - | | | 1.000 | 0,622 |
| x 5 | (Yield) | | : | | | 1.000 |

Number of flower cluster

The number of flower clusters per plant varies widely between cultivars, it varies from 22 to 55 (Figure 4). The best performances were recorded by the following cultivars: NPT 65, Riotinto, Num 0058 and Artix. The principal component analysis for all components measured yields reveals a positive correlation between the number of flower clusters and other yield components like number of flowers, fruit number and yield. This relationship is confirmed between number of flower clusters and number of flowers, also between fruit number and yield that establishes a significant correlation respectively as following; r (x2, y3) > 0.50, r (x2, y4) > 0.84, r (x2, y5) > 0.64. Therefore, this component explains strongly the performance. Num 0058, Riotinto, Mariflor and Artix cultivars have confirmed an abundant flowering compared to the rest of genotypes.



Figure 4. Distribution of homogeneous groups according to flowers

Clusters 2.2 Number of flowers per plant

The number of flowers per plant varies between cultivars; it changes from 103 to 295. The best performances were recorded by the cultivars: Num 0058, Riotinto, Mariflor, Artix and that showed superiority over the rest of the cultivars having abundant flowering compared to the rest of cultivars. The correlation between the number of flowers and the yield is significant (r > 0.74). The significance test of the correlation coefficient explained that the number of flowers determines greatly the yield parameter, which is obvious. Figure 5 shows the importance of cultivars depending on the number of flowers.



Figure 5. Cultivars rating according to the flowers number

Number of fruits per plant

The number of fruits per plant varies from 44 to 140 according to the variety. Cultivars NPT 65, Num 0058, Riotinto and Artix are shown remarkable regarding to the number of flower cluster per plant which ranged from 22 to 55 depending on the variety. At harvest the counts of fruit number per plant shows that the number of fruits produced represents only half of the formed flowers number. The correlation between the number of fruits and yield was significant (r> 0.62) and therefore this component explains very well the cultivars performance. While the percentage of aborted flowers exceeds fairly 50%. Figure 6 shows the arrangement of cultivars based on the number of fruits produced. According to the control variety, the Num 0058, NPT65, Riotinto, Mariflor, Num0001 and Artix have given the best Number of fruit. The highest fruits number was obtained by the Num0058, NPT65 and Rotinto cultivars.



Figure 6. Cultivars rating according to fruits number

Yields

The threshold $\Box = 0.05$, ANOVA revealed no significant difference. LSD test has three potentially interesting cultivars that are specially Num 0058, Artix and Mariflor. The highest yield was obtained by the cultivars like Num 0058 (120 t / ha), Artix (118 t / ha), Mariflor (117 t / ha) and Riotinto (116 t/ha), but the lowest was obtained by Heinz 2710 control (100 t / ha). The average yield of all other cultivars is of about 110.62 t / ha with a variation coefficient of 9.6%. (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Rating of homogeneous groups according to yields

Note that the recorded performance levels (Table 2) range from 100 to 120 tonnes per hectare. These yields are very satisfactory compared to other similar experiments carried out in the region with other cultivars. The Heinz 2710 control gives only 90 tonnes / ha. Moreover, cultivars Petoseed, Sun 6200, and Heinz 9661 have given yields comprise between 70 to 80 t/ha, while Boss, Sun 6235 and Heinz 8704 have given yields from 55 to 70 t / ha (El Atir et al, 2001). We thought that it is useful to make a classification for these cultivars in 3 homogeneous groups which are illustrated in the histograms in Figure 7. The first consists of cultivars Num 0058, Artix, and Mariflor who gives the best yields, respectively 120, 118 and 117 t/ha. Then come the cultivars Riotinto F1, NPT 63, NPT 65 and Num 0001 with yields of 116, 114, 112 and 105 t / ha and other similar variety as Heinz 2710 control who gives yield of about 100 t/ha.

Precocity, inter varietal maturity, size and technological quality

Monitoring rating flowering has determined the flowering period of the different cultivars. This period has a duration of 17 days. The evolution of flowering percentage allowed to a classification according to a gradient in the number of flowers, which gives an idea of the intervarietal precocity (Table 4). Thus, cultivars like NPT 63, Num 0058, Num 0001 and Mariflor are in advanced phase of nearly 15 days compared to other cultivars. This aspect match partially with some cultivars that are found with almost (20%) for their crops with after 15 days from the first harvest

Two harvests were conducted to observe if the cultivars expressing a grouped maturity. The first harvest was performed by 98 days after sow and the second after 15 days. Thus, compared to Heinz2710 control, the others cultivars like Mariflor, Num 0058 and Num 0001 tend to have a grouped maturity and expressed more than 90% of their production in the first harvest (Table 5).

| | | Num | NPT | Num | | | | | NPT | NPT | Heinz |
|-----------------------------------|-------|------|-----|------|---------|----------|----------|-------|-----|-----|-------|
| Obser./dates/cultivars | jours | 0058 | 63 | 0001 | Num0051 | Mariflor | Riotinto | Artix | 65 | 64 | 2710 |
| pré-flowering (%) (3/06/05) | 0 | 3 | 4 | 1 | - | 2 | 1 | 1 | 1 | - | 1 |
| Start- flowering (%) (6/06/05) | 3 | 30 | 30 | 20 | 5 | 10 | 5 | 3 | 2 | 2 | 1 |
| Flowering (%) | 7 | 40 | 45 | 30 | 10 | 25 | 10 | 10 | 8 | 8 | 10 |
| Extended flowering % | 10 | 45 | 50 | 35 | 10 | 40 | 15 | 12 | 12 | 12 | 15 |
| Flow-blooming % | 17 | 70 | 70 | 65 | 45 | 60 | 50 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 45 |
| Total | 17 | 188 | 199 | 151 | 70 | 132 | 81 | 66 | 63 | 62 | 72 |
| Scale rating | | 2 | 1 | 3 | 6 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 6 | 6 | 6 |

able 4. Rating of flowering percentage according to studied cultivars

Table 5. Proportion of harvest in the parcelar global production

.

.

| Varities | 1 st . harvest (04/08/05) (%) | 2 nd . harvest (20/08/05) (%) |
|-------------|--|--|
| Num 0058 | . 87,8 | 12,1 |
| NPT 63 | 86,8 | 13,1 |
| Num 0001 | 87,2 | 12,7 |
| Num0051 | 80,9 | 19,0 |
| Mariflor | 90,1 | 9,8 |
| Riotinto F1 | 82,9 | 17,0 |
| Artix | 81,2 | 18,7 |
| NPT 65 | 86,9 | 13,0 |
| NPT 64 | 86,4 | 13,5 |
| Heinz 2710 | 88,4 | 11,5 |

We have conducted two crops to observe if the cultivars express particular precocity. The percentage of the first harvest in the overall production ranged from 80.9 to 90.1% depending on the variety. Genotypes like Mariflor, Heinz, Num 0058 and Num 0001 tend to have a grouped maturity compared to other cultivars and expressed almost 90% of their production to the first

.

harvest (Table 5). The group of intermediate cultivars such as NPT 63, NPT 64 and NPT 65 showed a maturity relatively less grouped. However, Num 0051, Riotinto and Artix cultivars presented 20% of their products 15 days after the first harvest. These cultivars have a relatively grouped maturity than other cultivars. The crop was transplanted by April 28 and the first harvest was established on August 4, this is equal to a cycle of 98 days.

The analysis of variance of fruit weight showed that no significant difference (P> 5%) between cultivars. The assessment of the form by the combination of the length and diameter of each fruit variety showed the existence of the rounded shape for the variety Num 0001, the long rounded, and flattened for Num 0051cultivar and Heinz 2710variety. The rest of the cultivars have a long flat shape.

Moreover, the number of lodges has been 3 for genotypes such as Num 0058, Num 0001, Mariflor, Riotinto F1, NPT 63 and Heinz 2710, when he was only 2 for cultivars like Num 0051, Artix, NPT 65 and NPT 64. However, the average of fruit weight is of around 77 to 107 g/fruit, with no significant difference between all genotypes.

Brix is the most important criterion of the quality in tomato industry. It denotes the degree of dry matter, which determines the performance for processing. All cultivars have shown a brix above 5 except one genotype as NPT 65 (4.8). Cultivars like Num 0051, Mariflor and Artix expressed the best brix between 5.2 and 5.4. Other cultivars have a satisfactory brix.

The NaCl content is relatively the same for all cultivars. It is of the order of 0.06 to 0.08%. Also, the pH of the juice from all the other cultivars is relatively the same (Table 6)

| Cultivars | pH | °degree of Brix | NaCl content |
|----------------------|-------|-----------------|--------------|
| Num 0058 (V1) | 4,18 | 5 | 0,08 |
| NPT 63 | 4,02 | 5 | 0,08 |
| Num 0001 | 4,09 | 5 | 0,08 |
| Num0051 (V4) | 4,06 | 5,4 | 0,08 |
| Mariflor | 4,24 | 5,2 | 0,09 |
| Riotinto F1 | 4,22 | 5 | 0,08 |
| Artix | 4 ,22 | 5,2 | 0,07 |
| NPT 65 | 4,20 | 4,8 | 0,08 |
| NPT 64 | 4,20 | 5 | 0,06 |
| Heinz 2710 (control) | 4,08 | 5 | 0,08 |

 Table 6. Results of technological analyzes

Agronomic and morphological characteristics of cultivars

According to the results of the parameters mentioned in Table 7, it is clear the existence of 3 cultivars that seem most appropriate and present the best performance. These cultivars are Num 0058, Artix and Mariflor. These cultivars have expressed the best yields and the best brix. They also expressed the best growth and development performance (best height, good vegetative port and the number of the highest lodges except the variety Artix (2 boxes). Concerning precocity, cultivars Num 0058 and NPT 63 are the best ones, while the cultivars Num 0001, Riotinto F1 and Artix are later. In viewpoint of disease resistance, the Num 0058 and NPT 63 cultivars were free of diseases and

physiological mosaic unlike cultivars Mariflor and Artix which presented some mosaic branches. We also observed that the Num 0058 variety presented a less dense foliage than other cultivars.

.

.

| | Height | Veget. Shape | | | Yield | Nbr. | | Diseases | | Foliar |
|-------------|--------|--------------|-----|-----------|--------|--------|------|----------|----------|------------|
| Cultivars | (cm) | (m) | LAI | Precocity | (t/ha) | lodges | Brix | physio. | Mosaique | density |
| Num 0058 | 72.9 | 2.2 | 5.2 | 2 | 120 | 3 | 5 | - | - | clair |
| NPT 63 | 67.0 | 1.9 | 5.6 | 1 | 114 | 3 | 5 | - | - | very dense |
| Num 0001 | 65.4 | 1.9 | 5.1 | 3 | 105 | 3 | 5 | + | - | dense |
| Num0051 | 65.4 | 1.7 | 6.4 | 5 | 101 | 2 | 5.4 | + | 2 | very dense |
| Mariflor | 66.2 | 1.8 | 5.6 | 4 | 117 | 3 | 5.2 | + | 1 | dense |
| Riotinto F1 | 72.9 | 1.8 | 6.8 | 5 | 116 | 3 | 5 | + | - | dense |
| Artix | 76.6 | 1.9 | 6.0 | 6 | 118 | 2 | 5.2 | + | - | dense |
| NPT 65 | 67.4 | 1.8 | 5.9 | 4 | 112 | 2 | 4.8 | - | - | dense |
| NPT 64 | 65.4 | 1.7 | 6.0 | 6 | 102 | 2 | 5 | + | 2 | very dense |
| Heinz 2710 | 69.5 | 1.9 | 5.9 | 5 | 101 | 3 | 5 | - | - | very dense |

Table 7. Agricultural Features of the studied cultivars

.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Gharb region is currently the local production of tomato industry in Morocco. The behavior study of new industrial tomato cultivars in the conditions of Gharb has giving interesting results. Obtained results have identified four cultivars statistically distinguished by the best morphological and agronomic technology criteria such as height, vegetative shape, LAI, yield, early maturity and Brix. These cultivars are specially Num 0058 (120 t/ha), Artix (118 t/ha), Mariflor (117 t/ha) and Riotinto (116 t/ha). These cultivars expressed the highest yields and the best brix. They also expressed the best growth, the good development performance and the number of lodges. Note that these yields are above the regional average does not exceed 60 t/ha.

In viewpoint of precocity, cultivars like Num 0058 and NPT 63 are the earliest, while Num 0001, Riotinto and Artix cultivars are later. Concerning disease resistance cultivars Num 0058 and NPT 63 were free of diseases and physiological mosaic unlike Mariflor cultivar has shown twigs with mosaic in few plants. We also observed that the Num 0058 variety with a less dense foliage than other cultivars has given the high level of yield. Adoption of these cultivars identified remains a promising project that could have a positive effect on increasing productivity in the irrigated perimeter of Gharb. For exchanging information about the methods and techniques of production, these cultivars have been appreciated by Moroccan and foreign professionals. Although, industrial tomato is an opportunity for diversification of incomes for small farmers in the region. Improving productivity remains dependent on an integrated production program including the selection of improved and adapted cultivars and the mastery of a reasoned technical and less expensive. It is recommended to better sowing early culture when the agro-ecological conditions do not present significant risks.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank first of all the General Director of the National Institute of Agricultural Research and the Manager of the Regional Center of Agricultural Research of Kenitra. In addition, we should be grateful for the financial support given us by The Conserves Meknes (LCM-Aicha) group.

REFERENCES

- Athetton, J. (1986). The tomato crop department of agriculture and Horticulture University of Nothingham School of agriculture.
- Chleyah, A. (2001). Tomate industrielle: endurcissement des plants en pépinière. Mémoire de troisième cycle en Agronomie option Horticulture. Institut agronomique et vétérinaire Hassan II, Rabat.
- Chtaina, N., El Attir, H. and Skiredj, A. (2001). Rapport de synthèse de la convention « tomate industrielle « entre l'IAV Hassan II et les industriels CIL et LCM.
- DPVCTRF. (2010). Catalogue Officielle (liste des variétés industrielles inscrites au catalogue officielle).
- Deek-IM; Battikhi-AM; Khattari-S. (1997). Effect of irrigation and N-fertilization
- (fertigation) scheduling on tomato in the Jordan Valley. Journal-of-Agronomy-and-Crop-Science. 1997, 178: 4, 205-209.
- El Alami M'B. (1982). Comparaison variétale de tomate sous abri-serre dans la région de Chtouka -Eloulja. Diplôme d'ingénieur en horticulture. Institut agronomique et vétérinaire Hassan II. Complexe Horticole d'Agadir.
- Elattir H, Skredj A, et Elfadl A. (2003). MADER/DERD. Bulletin de Transfert de technologie en agriculture.n°100. Janvier 2003: La tomate, l'aubergine, le poivron, le gombo.
- Elattir H. (2005). MADER/DERD Bulletin de Transfert de technologie en agriculture. n°124. Janvier 2005: Irrigation. La conduite et le pilotage de l'irrigation goutte à goutte en maraîchage.
- Essafi, N. and Krira, A. (2015). effect of transplanting date on growth and yield tomato of determined Tomato in gharb, NIAR, Kénitra, Morocco.
- Fritesse. M. (1981). Qualité et classification des tomates en fonction de leur utilisation Industrielle. Mémoire de fin d'étude. Institut agronomique et vétérinaire Hassan II.Rabat (section de technologie alimentaire).
- Krir, A. and El Hasnaoui, A. (2007). Rapport : Caractérisation technico-économique de la culture de la tomate industrielle (*Lycopersicum esculentum Mill*) dans la zone de apompage privé du Gharb. Oukabli A et Taibi A. (1983). Essai comparatif multi locaux de 12 variétés de tomate d'hiver et 7 variétés de tomate de printemps en culture de plein champs mémoire de fin d'étude. Complexe horticole d'Agadir
- ORMVAG. (2008). Rapport : données statistiques sur le secteur du maraîchage au Maroc. Skiredj A., El Attir H., Chtaina N. et Chliyeh A. (2002). Endurcissement des plantules de tomate industrielle au Loukkos. Actes de l'IAVHassan II, Vol 22 (3) 2002: 169-176.

PRACTICAL USE OF *PUCCINIA TRITICINA* ERIKS. ISOLATES FROM THE STATE COLLECTION OF PHYTOPATHOGENIC MICROORGANISMS OF THE ALL-RUSSIAN RESEARCH INSTITUTE OF PHYTOPATHOLOGY (ARRIP)

Natalia ZHEMCHUZHINA*, Marina KISELEVA, Albina ZHEMCHUZHINA, Tamara KOLOMIETS and Alexey GLINUSHKIN

All-Russian Research Institute of Phytopathology

* zhemch@mail.ru

ABSTRACT

The collection of isolates of leaf rust agent P. triticina exists in ARRIP more 50 years. Now all isolates of leaf rust agent are included in the State Collection of Phytopathogenic Microorganisms created in ARRIP in 1996. Research associates of institute study the genetic structure of leaf rust populations, select monopustule isolates, determine the virulence genes and transfer material to the State Collection. The main requirements for transfer of isolates to the Collection are viability, the known origin, the studied virulence and genetic stability. Currently the Collection contains more 1500 isolates of P. triticina from all wheat-growing areas in Russia. The genetic potential of the leaf rust collection is very various; there are the isolates with different spectrum of virulence genes including ones with unique infrequent virulence genes. In the State collection there is widely used the method of low-temperature storage of live biological objects, enabling the restoration of their biological functions after defrosting. Every year the Collection is replenished by the new leaf rust isolates. The Catalog and Methodical recommendations for storage are placed on the institute website. of strains According to requests of the external organizations and ARRIP laboratories the Collection takes from storage, multiplies and transfers to consumers the required isolates. Collection isolates are used to study the strategies for the breeding of rust resistant wheat cultivars, specificity of pathogen populations and the racial composition in different areas of wheat cultivation, to determine the effective resistance genes of wheat to regional populations of P. triticina and for creation of simulated infectious background in experimental rust nurseries.

Keywords: State Collection, Puccinia triticina, Isolates, Virulence, Wheat, Resistant cultivars

INTRODUCTION

Leaf rust is one of the most widespread and harmful wheat diseases in all regions of wheat cultivation in the world, including Russia. Leaf rust epidemics cause yield losses up to 50% (Sanin, 2016). During a long period, one of the reasons of brown rust epiphytoties on wheat in Russia was uncontrolled growing of varieties with the same efficient genes of race-specific resistance. Creation and cultivation of resistant to *P. triticina* wheat cultivars is environmentally favorable and safe way of fight against the disease (Smirnova et al., 1991).

One of the main factors of emergence of new leaf rust virulent races and the increase their frequencies is natural selection occurring in fungus populations under the influence of varieties with race-specific resistance (Kolmer, 1996; Singh et al., 2005). Annual variations of frequency of occurrence of brown rust races depend on not only composition of the cultivated wheat varieties, but also the weather conditions (Long et al., 1998). Mutations and recombination

variability of genetic material and spores migration have a great importance for the formation of the genetic structure of fungus populations (Park et al., 2001).

Monitoring virulence of *P. triticina* populations is the basis for the study of genes dynamics on wheat crops and requires the creation of a collection, allowing to preserve the genetic material of different years, to trace the dynamics of virulence genes in regions of Russia, to determine the role of cultivated wheat varieties in the emergence and spread of pathogen races (Kovalenko et al., 2012).

Need of continuous use of different fungus isolates for immunologic evaluations of new wheat cultivars formed a basis for creation of a collection of *P. triticina* isolates. The collection of isolates of leaf rust agent *P. triticina* exists in ARRIP more 50 years. Now all isolates of leaf rust agent are included in the State Collection of Phytopathogenic Microorganisms created in ARRIP in 1996. Research associates of institute study the genetic structure of leaf rust populations, select monopustule isolates, determine the virulence genes and transfer material to the State Collection. The main requirements for transfer of isolates to the Collection are viability, the known origin, the studied virulence and genetic stability (Kovalenko et al., 2002; Makarov et al., 2009).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Currently the collection contains more than 1500 isolates of *Puccinia triticina* Eriks. from all areas of wheat cultivation in Russia, but also from Belarus, Ukraine, Moldova, Armenia, Georgia, Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan. The genetic potential of the collection is very various; there are the isolates with unique virulence genes. A large number of fungus isolates with a wide range of virulence allows keeping the diversity of natural leaf rust populations in the collection.

In the ARRIP collection the widespread method of the low-temperature storage of live biological objects giving the chance of restitution of their biological functions after defrosting is used (Zhemchuzhina et al., 2015). Since 2006, all collection isolates of brown rust are placed on storage in cryogenic test tubes in the REVCO freezers at a temperature -80°C. Biomaterial is stored as previously propagated on the susceptible wheat cultivar urediniospores of each isolate in the amount of 4-5 mg.

When material is requested for work or at periodic planned inspections of viability and virulence urediniospores bring out of an anabiosis by heating them in open glass test tubes in the thermostat at 45°C within 5 minutes.

The viability of rust isolates is determined by germination of the spores applied on thin layer of 2% agar on a microscope slide and by disease symptoms on inoculated by the spores' suspension wheat seedlings. Taken for checkup in 2017 isolates stored in freezer since 2006 - 2011 revealed their high viability without the loss of virulence properties.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

During conducted in 2005-2017 investigations there was proved the presence of the same 30 genes virulence in leaf rust populations from different regions of the Russian Federation. These were the following genes: pp 1, 2a, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 9, 10, 11, 14a, 14b, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 23, 26, 27 + 31, 30, 32, 33, 36, 39, 40, 46, B. Annually there were dominated the leaf rust isolates with virulence genes pp 1, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 10, 14a, 14b, 17, 18, 21, 23, 27 + 31, 30, 32, 33, 39, 40, B. There were no revealed genes pp24, 29, 41, 42, 45, 47, 51, 53.

Need of expansion of territories in which it is necessary to select fungus isolates is explained by the fact that the drift with air streams of new, including potentially dangerous clones, is possible. Studying of virulence of brown rust populations in such areas allows to monitor emergence of potentially dangerous genes for the cultivated wheat varieties and to predict their distribution.

Virulence genes p19 and p46 were revealed in some collection isolates collected from 2006 to 2010. These genes were identified in isolates collected from the Middle Volga in 2006, the Central-Chernozem and the North Caucasus regions in 2008, and the Central region in 2009.

In recent years the collection was replenished by leaf rust isolates, virulent to the wheat varieties with the *Lr9* resistance gene. In 2010 isolates *P. triticina* with the complementary virulence gene were allocated from samples of spring wheat varieties Chernyava and Chernyava 13 in the Omsk region. The same gene was revealed in leaf rust isolates in the Central region in 2013, when Moscovskaya 24 cultivar began to be grown up. The frequency of occurrence isolates possessed p9 gene has reached 76% in the Central, and 44% in the North Caucasus regions.

It testifies that the virulent genes of leaf rust capable to overcome resistance of cultivated previously resistant wheat varieties have appeared there. Leaf rust isolates with the specified genes are also stored in the collection.

The phenotypes possessed virulence genes *p24*, *p38*, *p41*, *p42*, *p45*, *p47* are especially dangerous. Currently these phenotypes weren't detected in Russia, and leaf rust isolates possessed these genes are absent in the State collection.

The collection is also important for the selection of resistant to leaf rust wheat varieties, above all, for the creation of infectious backgrounds necessary for the testing of wheat varieties.

To create of artificial infectious backgrounds in the nursery for the evaluation of wheat varieties researchers select from the collection *P. triticina* isolates with the virulence genes reflecting a gene pool of local populations where the tests are conducted. For example, in 2015 isolates 782-3 and 784-1 were selected for the tests in the Central region, 776-11 and 780-15 in the North Caucasus, 786-3 and 786-6 in Middle Volga region (table 1).

There for the inoculums were used spore mixtures of collection leaf rust isolates with the maximum number of virulence genes. Artificial populations were created from equal parts of the spores of each isolate, and they included 32 or more virulence genes corresponding to the gene virulence pool of natural *P. triticina* populations.

Collection leaf rust isolates with known virulence genes can be taken for postulation resistance genes of wheat varieties by use of methods of phytopathologic testing and molecular marking (Dyck, 1993; Maleeva et al., 2003).

The method of phytopathologic testing gives the chance to determine the resistance genes of wheat varieties or their combinations without using hybridization. According to the theory "gene for gene" each resistance gene of the plant corresponds to the virulence gene of parasite (Person, 1959). In the case of a combination of the dominant allele of the virulence gene and the dominant allele of the wheat resistance gene resistance is observed. If the corresponding genes are in the homozygous recessive stated the plant is susceptible. The use of collection isolates of leaf rust marked by different virulence genes allows identifying the resistance genes in the studied varieties and samples of wheat.

Table 1. *P. triticina* isolates identified in 2015 on wheat crops of the Central, North Caucasian and Middle Volga regions of the Russian Federation and selected for the tests in 2016

| Code | Virulence genes | Race | Origin |
|--------|--|------|--|
| 782-3 | 1, 2a, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 10, 11, 14a, 14b, 15, 17, 18, 19, 21, 25, 26, 27+31, 30, 32, 33, 38, 39, 40, 46, B | TCTT | Central region, Moscow distr., winter wheat, cv. Lgovskaya |
| 781-4 | 1, 2a, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 9, 10, 11, 14a, 14b, 15, 17, 18, 20, 25, 27+31, 30, 32, 33, 38, 39, 40, B | TLTT | Central region, Moscow distr., winter wheat, cv. Moscovskaya 39 |
| 776-11 | 1, 2a, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 9, 10, 14a, 14b, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 25, 26, 27+31, 30, 32, 33, 38, 39, 40, 46, B | TRPT | North Caucasus, Stavropol distr., winter wheat, cv. Severodonetskaya |
| 780-15 | 1, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3ka, 10, 11, 14a, 14b, 18, 25, 26, 27+31, 30, 32, 33, 39, 40, 44, B | PCPT | North Caucasus, Stavropol distr., winter wheat |
| 786-3 | 1, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 9, 10, 14a, 14b, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 25, 27+31, 30, 32, 33, 39, 40, 44, B | MLPT | Middle Volga region, Penza distr., winter wheat |
| 786-6 | 1, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 10, 11, 14a, 14b, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 23, 25, 26, 27+31, 30, 32, 33, 39, 40, 46, B | PHTT | Middle Volga region, Penza distr., winter wheat |
| 776-4 | 1, 2a, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 9, 10, 14a, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 25, 26, 27+31, 32, 33, 39, 40, 46, B | TMPT | North Caucasus, Stavropol distr., winter wheat, cv.Severodonetskaya |
| 781-1 | 1, 2b, 2c, 3a, 3bg, 3ka, 9, 10, 11, 14a, 14b, 17, 18, 21, 25, 26, 27+31, 28, 30, 32, 33, 38, 39, 40, B | PLTT | Central region, Moscow distr., winter wheat, cv. Moscovskaya 39 |

Table 2 shows the results of postulating resistance genes *Lr9*, *Lr26*, *Lr46*, *Lr20*, *Lr23* in domestically produced wheat varieties with the help of 10 isolates-testers of *P. triticina*.

| Table 2. Reactions of plants to infectio | n by the collection isolates-testers of P. triticina |
|--|--|
| marked by different virulence genes, and the p | resumed <i>Lr</i> -genes in spring wheat varieties |

| Varieties and | |] | [solat | es-tes | ters | of <i>P</i> . (| tritic | ina | | | Prosumod |
|-----------------------------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|-----------------|--------|--------|-------|-------|-------------------|
| monogenic lines of wheat | 593-8 | 689-4 | 621-5 | 628-8 | 721-11 | 720-5 | 676-1 | 730-13 | 718-1 | 721-9 | Lr-genes |
| Nemchinovskaya 17 | - | - | - | - | + | - | - | + | - | - | Lr9 |
| Nemchinovskaya 24 | - | - | - | - | + | - | - | + | - | - | Lr9 |
| Tertsiya | - | - | - | - | + | - | - | + | - | - | Lr9 |
| Lr9 | - | - | - | - | + | - | - | + | - | - | Lr9 |
| Donshina | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | - | + | Lr26 |
| Snezhana | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | Lr26 |
| Lr26 | + | + | + | + | - | + | + | - | - | - | Lr26 |
| Gene | - | - | + | - | - | + | + | - | - | + | <i>Lr46</i> +++ |
| Lr46 | - | + | + | - | - | + | + | - | + | + | Lr46 |
| Doka | + | + | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | <i>Lr20+Lr23+</i> |
| Lr20 | + | + | - | + | - | - | + | + | - | - | Lr20 |
| Lr23 | + | + | + | - | + | + | + | - | + | + | Lr23 |

• + susceptibility to isolate-tester,

• - resistance to isolate-tester.

For the period from 2006 to 2017 more than 800 varieties of *Triticum aestivum sp. aestivum* and *Triticum turgidum sp. durum* of Russian and foreign breeding were studied by method of phytopathologic testing, and for these researches there were used leaf rust isolates from State collection with different spectrum of virulence genes. The single *Lr*-genes and their various combinations were identified in these wheat varieties. According to the frequency of occurrence of resistance genes in wheat varieties of different origin it is possible to estimate similarities and differences of genotypes. For example, genes *Lr10, Lr26, Lr23, Lr16, Lr11* were the most common in the cultivars of Russian breeding. In the samples from the US collection there prevailed genes *Lr14b, Lr16, Lr21, Lr23, Lr36*. Genes *Lr10, Lr14b, Lr16, Lr21* were the most common ones in Mexican samples.

CONCLUSION

Thus the leaf rust isolates stored in the State collection are required to use by a wide range of specialists. Collection isolates are used to study the strategies for the breeding of rust resistant wheat, specificity of pathogen populations, the racial composition of leaf rust in different areas of wheat cultivation, and also to determine the effective resistance genes of wheat against regional populations of *P. triticina*.

REFERENCES

- Dyck, P.L. (1993). The inheritance of leaf rust resistance in the wheat cultivar Pasqua. Can. J. Plant Sci. 73: 903-906.
- Kolmer, J.A. (1996). Genetics of resistance to wheat leaf rust. Annu. Rev. Phytopatol., 34: 435-455.
- Kovalenko, E.D., Kolomiets, T. M., Kiseleva, M.I., Zhemchuzhina, A.I., Smirnova, L.A., Shcherbik, A.A. (2012). Methods of assessment and selection of a starting material during creation of grades of wheat steady against brown rust. Moscow: 93 pp.
- Kovalenko, E.D., Makarov, A.A., Kolomiets, T. M., Zhemchuzhina, A.I., Kiseleva, M.I., Sanina, A.A., Pakholkova, E.V., Kryazheva, N.N., Zhukova, L.V. (2002). State collection of phytopathogenic fungi. Proceedings of 1-st International Mycological Forum "Modern mycology in Russia". Moscow, 1: 134.
- Long, D.L., Leonard, K.T., Roberts, J.J. (1998). Virulence and diversity of wheat leaf rust in United States in 1993 to 1995. Plant Dis., 82 (12): 1391–1400.
- Makarov A.A., Kurkova N.N., Zhemchuzhina, N.S. (2009). State collection of phytopathogenic microorganisms of ARRIP. Immunopathology, allergology, infectology, 1: 44-45.
- Maleeva, Yu.V., Samokhina, I.Yu., Insarova, I.D., Zhemchuzhina, A.I., Lekomtseva, S.N. (2003). A genetic polymorphism in populations of brown rust. – Materials of 2-d Conference of the Moscow society of geneticists and selectors. Moscow: 151-152.
- Park, R.F., Goyeau, H., Felsenstein, F.G., Bartos, P. and Zeller, F.J. (2001). Regional phenotypic diversity of *Puccinia triticina* and wheat host resistance in Western Europe. Euphytica, 122 (1): 113-127.
- Person, C. (1959). Gene-for-gene relationships in host-parasite systems. Can. J. Bot., 37: 1101–1130.
- Sanin, S.S. (2016). Phytosanitary examination of the grain field and a decision about fungicides spraying of wheat. Theory and practical recommendations. The application to Journ. Protection and quarantine of plants, 5, 41pp.
- Singh, R.P., Huerta-Espino, William, H.M. (2005). Genetics and Breeding for Durable Resistance to Leaf and Stripe Rusts in Wheat. Turk. J. Agric. For, 29: 121-127.
- Smirnova, L.A., Zhemchuzhina, A.I., Babayants, L.T., Kuptsova, V.P. (1991). Race specific brown rust resistance of a winter wheat. Selection and Seed Farming, 5: 2-4.
- Zhemchuzhina, N.S. Zhemchuzhina, A.I., Kiseleva, M.I., Dubovoy, V. P. (2015). Storage of uredo-spores of *Puccinia triticina* Eriks. in the conditions of a cryopreservation. Proceedings of 3-d International Mycological Forum "Modern Mycology in Russia". Moscow, 4: 125-126.

PRECISION LIVESTOCK FARMING APPROACH TO MEASURE THE LIVE WEIGHT OF ANIMALS

Arda AYDIN^{1*} Cihan DEMIR²

¹Kırklareli University, Technics Science Vocational High School, Mechanical Dept, Kırklareli Turkey

²Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Agriculture Faculty, Agricultural Mechanization Dept, Çanakkale, Turkey

* araydin@comu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

The accurate estimation of the animal body weight is important to provide some information about the slaughter weight, growth, feeding level, uniformity, treatment doses and feed conversion efficiency. Between the many methods used for live-weight determination, a weighing scale is considered as a reference method (gold standard). In addition to that, farmers sometimes rely on visual observations to determine the animal live weight. However, it is a subjective method due to accuracy depends on farmers' experience. Traditionally, the animal live weight is predicted by manual weighing scale with a random sample of animals. Conventional method of animal weighing usually includes the basic procedure of penning a group of animals or catching and weighing these animals individually. This traditional method is time consuming, labour intensive, open for human errors and stressful for animals and farmers. Therefore, there is a huge need a novel technique. These days, the potential of computer and digital imaging system offer a novel way to predict the animal live-weight by detecting animal body dimensions with a non-intrusive way. Although the precision of live weight prediction depends on different factors, the development of automated monitoring systems for weighing animal is feasible. Due to the important correlation between body size and weight of animals, image monitoring and processing systems with Precision Livestock Farming (PLF) approach can detect the main sizes and the shape of animals. Furthermore, by combining these relations, animal live weight can be predicted accurately. There is a lot of advantage of this technique like non-contact measurements, fast and labour saving. Further studies should focus on the control of image quality, position of the camera and 3D cameras.

Keywords: PLF, Automatic weighing, Image analysis,

INTRODUCTION

Weight is one of the most important point in animal rearing. Animal's daily gain can be assessed everyday through getting animal's weight (Doeschl-Wilson et al., 2004). Feed efficiency can also be defined by automatic feeders (Huang et al., 2012).

Then animals in average weight can be reared separately to fulfil the industry standard. In traditional method, animals have to be removed to weighing scales. This method needs too many time and labour. It needs at least three or more farmer to work 4-6 minutes for every animal (Brandl and Jorgensen, 1996). This method causes too many problems to animals like sudden death. Feed uptake of animals is less at the weighing day than to other days (Augspurger and Ellis, 2002). Some producers used automatic weighing sensors in the feeders to

autpmatically measure the weigh of animals during their life span. These sensors are expensive and easy to be destroyed by animals. Because of too many problems of this method, the noninvasive and non-intrusive measurement methods attracted attentions to measure animal weight. Image processing were proposed to have many practice in livestock farming (Deshazer et al., 1988). Using image processing technology, some sizes of animals can be calculated. Image processing technique presents many advantages, like non-contact, fast and labor saving. In this manuscript, the practice of image processing technique in predicting the live animal weight has been reviewed.

Image Processing System

A complete image processing technology primarily includes the following features: light source, digital camera, different kind of lenses, computer, image analysis platform, image processing algorithm. The check system is not necessary in animal weight prediction system, and the only output is the weight of animal information. Therefore this manuscript summary as the following points: location of digital camera, lighting and image analysis method.

Location of Digital Cameras

Digital cameras were set at the top and the side of animals to define the accurate sizes of animals. The top view camera is used to define the animal back area and the side view camera is used to measure animal's body height (Yan et al., 2006). For the protection of digital cameras, most of the researchers prefer to use top view camera instead of a side view. The vision obtained from the top camera provide the information about the body width and length of animals. Top view camera mostly fixed exactly the top of the feeder or drinker to be easily record animals without moving. High quality images can be obtained when a digital cam was fixed exactly on the top of feeding station (Schofield et al., 1999). To record high quality images, digital cameras can also be fixed top of the drinker (Minagawa and Murakami, 2001). Because, animal's body are not moving when it is drinking.

Light Sources

Light source is one of the most important parts of image processing system. A good light condition increases the contrast among animal and the surface of the barn. It is also simplify image calculations, by increasing the speed and robustness of system. The light sources plays a very important role o define body size of animals. Different colour lights were tested to find the most appropriate one for the image processing (Minagawa et al., 2003). The red light was found as more useful when compared to other lights (green and blue). Another study was performed to define the most useful light for animal weight estimation system (Fu et al., 2009). Different kind of light sources like leds, halogens and fluorescent lamps, were compared. Based on the results of their research, the fluorescent lamp was found as the best lamp for uniform light.

Image Analysis

It was known that some animal's size have high correlation by their body weight. Animal's weight was measured by animal volume multiplying the animal's density. However, animal's sizes is not regular and difficult to measure the weight of animals. For example, in the study of Fu et al. (2006) the pig's body length were used to build a model with pig weight. The correlation of the number of pixel of animal back surface with body weight was investigated. The average weight error was below than 5%. In another study, this error was under 2% (Schofield et al., 1999). Field experiments showed that the prediction of animal weight is 0.77% (Fu, 2011). It was found that body width have less correlation with weight, than body length.

CONCLUSION

The aim of this research was to investigate the potential of image processing to estimate live animal weight. Even though the accuracy of live weight prediction depends on different variables, the results of many research showed that the application of an imaging system to measure the animal weight is possible. Further studies should focus on image quality by, changing the camera position lighting situations. However, it should be investigated that how the prediction system combine with automatic feeders and drinkers for maximizing economic benefits of farmers.

REFERENCES

- Augspurger, N.R. and Ellis, M. (2002). Weighing affects short-term feeding patterns of growingfinishing pigs. Can. J. Anim. Sci., 82(3):445–448.
- Brandl, N. and Jorgensen, E. (19996). Determination of live weight of pigs from dimensions measured using image analysis. Comput. Electron. Agr., 15(1):57–72
- Deshazer, J.A., Moran, P., Onyango, C.M., Randall, J.M. and Schofield, C.P. (1988). Imaging systems to improve stockmanship in pig production. Silsoe: AFRC Institute of Engineering Research.
- Doeschl-Wilson, A.B., Whittemore, C.T., Knap, P.W. and Schofield, C.P. (2004). Using visual image analysis to describe pig growth in terms of size and shape. Anim. Sci., 79(Part 3):415–427.
- Fu, W., Teng, G. and Yang, Y. (2006). Research on three-dimensional model of pig's weight estimating. Chinese Soc. Agric. Eng., 2006 (S2):84–87.
- Fu, W., Teng, G, and Zong, C (2009). Study on Illumination Mode of Pig Growth Inspecting System Base on Binocular Stereovision Technology. In: 2009 ASABE Annual International Meeting, Reno, Nevada.
- Fu, W. (2011). Study of Pig's Body Dimensions Detection and Weight Estimation Based-on Binocular Stereovision, China Agricultural University, Beijing (in Chinese); Doctor: 118
- Huang, R., Zhong, C., Li, H., and Geng, W. (2012). The research of intelligent swine measurement system. Mod. Agric. Equip., 2012 (Z1): 64–66 (in Chinese).
- Minagawa, H. and Murakami, T. (2001). A hands-off method to estimate pig weight by light projection and image analysis. In: Livestock Environment VI: Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium, Louisville, Kentucky, USA, pp. 72–79.
- Minagawa, H., Taira, O. and Nissato, H. (2003). A color technique to simplify image processing in measurement of pig weight by a hands-off method. In: Proceedings of Swine Housing II, pp. 166–73. ASAE Publication, American Society of Agricultural Engineers, ST Joseph.
- Schofield, C.P., Marchant, J.A., White, R.P., Brandl, N. and Wilson, M. (1999). Monitoring Pig Growth using a Prototype Imaging System. J. Agric. Eng. Res., 72(3):205–210
- Yan, Y., Teng, G., Li, B. and Shi, Z. (2006). Measurement of pig weight based on computer vision. Chinese Soc. Agric. Eng. 2006 (02):127–131 (in Chinese).

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND PREVENTIVE MEASURES, A PRE-CONDITION FOR FOOD SAFETY GUARANTY

Ariola MORINA^{*1}, Renata KONGOLI¹

¹Faculty of Biotechnology and Food, Agricultural University of Tirana, Tirana, Albania

* alika@ubt.edu.al

ABSTRACT

Globalization of the food supply has led to the rapid and widespread international distribution of foods. Throughout the world the incidence of foodborne diseases is increasing and international food trade is disrupted by frequent disputes over food safety and quality requirements. An estimated 600 million - almost 1 in 10 people in the world fall ill after eating contaminated food and 420 000 die every year (DALYs). Safe food supplies support national economies, trade and tourism, contributes to food and nutrition security, and underpins sustainable development. It is also important to note that addressing the risk of foodborne disease goes beyond the public health worker. Ultimately it requires the implementation of a well functioning and integrated food control system which needs collaboration among all the components of a food control system, including food law and regulations, food control management, inspection services, epidemiological and food monitoring (laboratory services) and education of and communication with the consumer. Food quality assurance, on the other side, imposes for food manufacturing to comply standards on their products. Dietary changes in global society, restriction on importing several foods from other countries, lack of consumer food knowledge, allergies from various food ingredients, economic crisis, etc., do affect the food consumption and food industries. Food production companies may try to reduce production costs by mixing in low-quality materials, which may damage people's health. Due to the lack of knowledge and awareness, it is very difficult for consumers to distinguish between healthy and unhealthy food. Given to private sector the possibility to increase profits at all costs, food safety protection must be guided by strong government regulations. Actually, those regulations and government policy, influenced by industry, do create favorable rules that decrease the cost of business by putting consumers at risk. Regulators act more in reactive manner than preventive one, using voluntary product recalls to respond to major food safety scandals rather than addressing the underlying problems. It is up to each actor in the food production and distribution chain to take all steps to make sure that products placed on the market are free of all risks to consumers 'health. The aim of this paper is to discuss factors affecting food safety, the implementation of food quality standards and highlight significant findings on quality assurance and preventive measures in food industry, for better effective intervention strategies against foodrelated diseases and the benefits to consumers globally.

Keywords: Food Safety, Quality assurance, Food-borne diseases, Food chain

INTRODUCTION

Food borne diseases have been an issue for all societies since the beginning of humanity. The types, severity and impacts of these illnesses have changed through the ages and are still diverse across regions, countries and communities. A food borne disease can be defined as a disease commonly transmitted through ingested food. Food borne diseases comprise a broad group of illnesses, and may be caused by microbial pathogens, parasites, chemical contaminants and biotoxins.

Globalization means food products can move easily from country to country, widening the scope of food safety problems. Global food production has rapidly been consolidated in recent decades with some troubling results. The takeover of the food industry by a few multinational corporations has radically shifted the focus of food production. Increased competition and the imposition of the corporate structure have together led to a general preference for profitability over quality. Unfortunately cutting corners has become common practice across all aspects of food production – from waste management to the quality of animal feed, to the technical training that farm and food workers receive. The consequences have largely come to the cost of consumers and the safety of their food.

People have the right to expect the food they eat to be safe and suitable for consumption. Foodborne illness and foodborne injury are at best unpleasant; at worst they can be fatal. Foodborne disease outbreaks involving agents such as *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella* and chemical contaminants highlight problems with food safety and increase public anxiety that modern farming systems, food processing and marketing do not provide adequate safeguards for public health. Factors which contribute to potential hazards in foods include improper agricultural practices; poor hygiene at all stages of the food chain; lack of preventive controls in food processing and preparation operations; misuse of chemicals; contaminated raw materials, ingredients and water; inadequate or improper storage, etc. Specific concerns about food hazards have usually focused on microbiological hazards, pesticide residues, misuse of food additives, chemical contaminants, including biological toxins, adulterations. This list has been further extended to cover genetically modified organisms, allergens, veterinary drugs residues and growth promoting hormones used in the production of animal products.

Outbreaks of foodborne illness can damage trade and tourism, and lead to loss of earnings, unemployment and litigation. Food spoilage is wasteful, costly and can adversely affect trade and consumer confidence. International food trade and foreign travel are increasing bringing important social and economic benefits. But this also makes the spread of illness around the world easier. An estimated 600 million – almost 1 in 10 people in the world fall ill after eating contaminated food and 420 000 die every year (DALYs). Eating habits too, have undergone major changes in many countries over the last two decades and new food production, preparation and distribution techniques have developed to reflect this. Effective food control therefore, is vital to avoid the adverse human health and economic consequences of food borne illness, food borne injury and food spoilage. Consumers expect protection from hazards occurring along the entire food chain, often described as the farm – to – table continuum. Protection will only occur if all sectors in the chain operate in an integrated way and food control system address all stages of this chain (FAO, 2010).

Human health surveillance of food borne diseases in Albania is led by the Public Health Institute within the Ministry of Health, which collates data supplied by regional departments of public health. An early warning surveillance system operates across all of Albania (similar to the system that operates in Serbia and Macedonia (Valenciano et al., 2004), and the case definitions are the same as for syndrome surveillance under the International Health Regulations. Key indicators of food borne disease are the annual rates of reported gastrointestinal illness (approximately 56 000 cases per year, approximately 2 000 cases per 100 000 population) and cases reported as food poisoning (approximately 2800 cases per year, approximately 100 cases per 100 000 population). Food poisoning cases are reported on the basis of assessment by physicians from primary health care, as well as hospitalized cases. Surveillance for parasitic or viral infections is not routine, apart from infection with *Entamoeba histolytica* (WHO 2015).

Cross-sectional studies of faecal samples for viral and parasitic infections have been carried out (Fabiana et al., 2007; Sejdini et al., 2011). Access to health care is limited, particularly in rural areas. A lack of awareness of entitlements, and informal payment systems, mean that 20–30% of people cannot access primary health care (UNICEF). Another section of the Ministry of Health, the Department of Health and Environment, is responsible for general hygiene and sanitation across all businesses, including food-related businesses. The Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Consumer Protection Food Safety Directorate includes the National Food Authority (NFA), which is

responsible for official control, risk assessment, and communication. Official control involves the inspection of food production hygiene, and certification of hazard analysis critical control point (HACCP)-based systems.

Implementation of food law and quality standards

The development of relevant and enforceable food laws and regulations is an essential component of a modern food control system. Food law has traditionally consisted of legal definitions of unsafe food, and the prescription of enforcement tools for removing unsafe food from commerce and punishing responsible parties after the fact. It has generally not provided food control agencies with a clear mandate and authority to prevent food safety problems. The result has been food safety programs that are reactive and enforcement-oriented rather than preventive and holistic in their approach to reducing the risk of food borne illness.

In addition to legislation governments need updated food standards. In recent years, many highly prescriptive standards have been replaced by horizontal standards that address the broad issues involved in achieving food safety objectives. While horizontal standards are a viable approach to delivering food safety goals, they require a food chain that is highly controlled and supplied with good data on food safety risks and risk management strategies and as such may not be feasible for many developing countries. The importance of food safety standard may stand in the definition. According to Giovannucci and Reardon (2001), standards have been defined as parameters that segregate similar products into categories and describe them with consistent terminology that can be commonly understood by market participants. Much of the current literature agreed that worldwide food industries applied Good Agricultural Practices (GAPs), Hazards Analysis of Critical Control Points (HACCPs) and International Organization for Standardization (ISO) as benchmark of food quality system in food safety management (Lamuka, 2014).

In preparing food regulations and standards countries should take full advantage of Codex standards and food safety lessons learned in other countries. Taking into account the experiences in other countries while tailoring the information, concepts and requirements to the national context is the only sure way to develop a modern regulatory framework that will both satisfy national needs and meet the demands of the SPS Agreement and trading partners (FAO/WHO 2010).

Henson and Loader (2001) has revealed that outdated laws, lack of knowledge in sharing limited coordination between organizations handling food safety issues; includes funding of national research institutes and the lack of awareness for standards and quality may affect developing countries lack the resources to effectively participate in international trade. World Health Organization (2015) reported that food safety legislation in many developing countries is not in line with international requirement.

A study conducted by Athukorala and Jayasuriya (2003) reached a different approach, which is standards typically much higher than those existing in developing countries, and often difficult and costly to meet, but they are also subject to frequent changes. Changes are caused by scientific knowledge about health hazards, improvements in food processing technology and highly incomeelastic consumer preferences for higher safety standards. Lamuka (2014) pointed out that the core responsibility of ensuring food safety in the food supply chain is government dependability.

Adoption of food safety standards is found to lead to higher export sales, revenues, and incomes. In some cases, it is found to lead to adoption of improved technology, greater efficiency in production or marketing, higher labor income, or improved health through reduced on-farm exposure to hazards. Thus, one summary view of the studies is that they generally support the "standards as catalysts" model posed by Jaffee and Henson (2004). That is, standards tend to serve as catalysts for improved processes and products, leading to capture of greater value added for successful export industries.

Quality assurance and preventive measures

The objective of reduced risk can be achieved most effectively by the principle of prevention throughout the production, processing and marketing chain. To achieve maximum consumer protection it is essential that safety and quality be built into food products from production through to consumption. This calls for a comprehensive and integrated farm-to-table approach in which the producer, processor, transporter, vendor, and consumer all play a vital role in ensuring food safety and quality.

It is impossible to provide adequate protection to the consumer by merely sampling and analyzing the final product. The introduction of preventive measures at all stages of the food production and distribution chain, rather than only inspection and rejection at the final stage, makes better economic sense, because unsuitable products can be identified earlier along the chain. The more economic and effective strategy is to entrust food producers and operators with primary responsibility for food safety and quality. Government regulators are then responsible for auditing performance of the food system through monitoring and surveillance activities and for enforcing legal and regulatory requirements.

Food hazards and quality loss may occur at a variety of points in the food chain, and it is difficult and expensive to test for their presence. A well structured, preventive approach that controls processes is the preferred method for improving food safety and quality. Many but not all potential food hazards can be controlled along the food chain through the application of good practices i.e. good agricultural practices (GAP), good manufacturing practices (GMP), and good hygienic practices (GHP).

An important preventative approach that may be applied at all stages in the production, processing and handling of food products involves the Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point system (HACCP). The principles of HACCP have been formalized by the Codex Committee on Food Hygiene (Codex Alimentarius 1997), and provide a systematic structure to the identification and control of food borne hazards. Governments should recognize the application of a HACCP approach by the food industry as a fundamental tool for improving the safety of food.

Lamuka (2014) has listed emphasizing on food safety regulations in trade, introduction of stringent food safety standard, reorientation of food quality techniques toward preventive management and a shift by regulatory agencies toward process-based standards may become an opportunity to the developing countries, mainly in agricultural commodity export markets and domestic food sector. The existence of the private standard has been said to harmonize the public and private safety standard (Unnevehr, 2014). Several recent studies have begun to examine the importance of private standards in food production. As public and private food safety and quality standard has been written and presented in different approach, still the importance to implement in food industry is a high requirement.

Effective intervention strategies against food related diseases

The preparation of a national food control strategy enables the country to develop an integrated, coherent, effective and dynamic food control system, and to determine priorities which ensure consumer protection and promote the country's economic development. Such a strategy should provide better coherence in situations where there are several food control agencies involved with no existing national policy or overall coordinating mechanism. In such cases, it prevents confusion, duplication of effort, inefficiencies in performance, and wastage of resources.

Devising strategies for food control with clearly defined objectives is not simple, and the identification of priorities for public investment in food control can be a challenging task. The strategy should be based on multi-sectoral inputs and focus on the need for food security, and consumer protection from unsafe adulterated or misbranded food. At the same time it should take into consideration the economic interests of the country in regard to export/import trade, the development of the food industry, and the interests of farmers and food producers. Strategies should

use a risk based approach to determine priorities for action. Areas for voluntary compliance and mandatory action should be clearly identified, and timeframes determined. The need for human resource development and strengthening of infrastructure such as laboratories should be also considered (FAO/WHO 2010).

Certain types of food control interventions require large fixed capital investments in equipment and human resources. While it is easier to justify these costs for larger enterprises, imposing such costs on smaller firms who may coexist with larger enterprises may not be appropriate. Therefore the gradual phasing in of such interventions is desirable. For example, countries may allow small enterprises longer periods of time to introduce HACCP. The strategy will be influenced by the country's stage of development, the size of its economy, and the level of sophistication of its food industry.

The researcher alleged that the building of facilities to improve quality regulations and the building of government structures to ensure quality and safety of products are key points of attention. EU countries with regard to food safety and quality have well-established industry standards and are now focusing on communication of quality and safety aspects to consumers. Emerging economy countries are in the phase of implementation and harmonization of food quality and safety standards, while developing countries are still struggling with the establishment of the right conditions to enforce food quality and safety of their products.

Albania has some level of preparation in food safety, veterinary and phytosanitary policy. It made some progress in implementing relevant policies in the food safety and veterinary sectors. In the coming year, Albania should in particular update the relevant legislation to approximate it with the latest EU legislation on official controls, animal health and plant health; and enforce food safety rules, including official controls, import conditions and controls, and maximum pesticide residue levels (Commission staff working document Albania 2018 Report).

CONCLUSION

Food safety is an essential public health issue for all countries. Food born diseases due to microbial pathogens, biotoxins and chemical contaminants in food represent serious threats to the health of thousands of millions of people. Food born diseases not only sign significantly affect people's health and well-being, but they also have economic consequences for individuals, families, communities, businesses and countries.

Food production, processing, and marketing systems are complex. In many developing countries they are also highly fragmented and dependent upon a large number of small producers. While this may have socioeconomic benefits, as large quantities of food pass through a multitude of food handlers and middlemen, the risk of exposing food to unhygienic environment, contamination and adulteration increases.

The objective of reduced risk can be achieved most effectively by the principle of prevention throughout the production, processing and marketing chain. The introduction of preventive approaches such as HACCP have resulted in industry taking greater responsibility for and control of food safety risks. Such an integrated approach facilitates improved consumer protection, effectively stimulates agriculture and the food processing industry, and promotes domestic and international food trade.

The development of relevant and enforceable food laws and regulations is an essential component of a modern food control system. Food control agencies should address the specific training needs of their food inspectors and laboratory analysts as a high priority. These activities provide an important means of building food control expertise and skills in all interested parties, the thereby serve an essential preventive function.

Adoption of food safety standards is found to lead to higher export sales, revenues, and incomes. Standards tend to serve as catalysts for improved processes and products, leading to capture of greater value added for successful export industries.

REFERENCE

- Athukorala, P., and Jayasuriya, S. (2003). Food safety issues, trade and WTO rules: A developing country perspective. World Econ., 1395-1416.
- Codex Alimentarius (1997). Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP) System and Guidelines for its Application. Annex to CAC/RCP 1-1969, Rev.3 (1997)
- Commission staff working document Albania 2018 Report. Chapter 12: Food safety, veterinary and phytosanitary policy.
- Fabiana, A., Donia, D., Gabrieli, R., Petrinca, A. R., Cenko, F., Bebeci, D., Altan, A.M.D., Buonomo, E. and Divizia, M. (2007). Influence of enteric viruses on gastroenteritis in Albania: Epidemiological and molecular analysis. J. Med. Virol., 79(12): 1844–1849.
- FAO/WHO (2010). Assuring food safety and quality: Guidelines for strengthening national food control systems.
- Giovannucci, D. and Reardon, T. (2001). Understanding grades and standards and how to apply them. A Guide to Developing Agriculture Markets and Agro-Enterprises. Washington DC; World Bank Group.
- Henson, S. and Loader, R. (2001). Barriers to agricultural exports from developing countries: The role of sanitary and phytosanitary requirements. World Dev., 29(1): 85-102.
- Jaffe, S. and Henson, S. (2004). Standards and agro-food exports from developing countries: Rebalancing the debate. Policy Research Working Paper; No 3348. World Bank, Washington D.C.
- Lamuka, P.O. (2014). Challenges of developing countries in management of food safety. Enc. Food safety, (4): 20-26.
- Sejdini, A., R. Mahmud, Y.A.L. Lim, M. Mahdy, F. Sejdini, V. Gjoni, K. Xhaferraj, & G. Kasmi (2011). Intestinal parasitic infections among children in central Albania. Ann. Trop. Med. Parasit., 105(3): 241–250.
- UNICEF. No date. Albania: Children in Albania Health Access. Available from: http://www.unicef.org/albania/children_24931.html Accessed 2015-10-22.
- Unnevehr, L. (2014). Food safety in developing countries: Moving beyond exports. Glob. Food Secur., 4: 24-29.
- Valenciano, M., Bergeri, I., Jankovic, D., Milic, N., Parlic, M. and Coulombier, D. (2004). Strengthening early warning function of surveillance in the Republic of Serbia: lessons learned after a year of implementation. Euro Surveill., 9(5): 24–26.
- WHO (2015). WHO estimates of the global burden of foodborne diseases: Foodborne disease burden epidemiology reference group 2007-2015. World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/199350.

GENETIC DISTANCE OF NEW BULGARIAN DURUM WHEAT VARIETIES AND BREEDING LINES OF FCI-CHIRPAN, BULGARIA

Rangel DRAGOV*¹, Dechko DECHEV¹, Krasimira TANEVA¹

¹*Field crops institute Chirpan, 6200, Bulgaria*

* <u>dragov1@abv.bg</u>

ABSTRACT

The durum wheat breeding program in Field crops institute FCI-Chirpan started in 1928. In the last ten years, a number of varieties have been created to meet modern cultural requirements. Genetic distance is of great importance for the success of the combining breeding. In the study are included 13 varieties created over the last 10 years and 8 of the Institute's best advanced durum wheat breeding lines. The field experiment was conducted in experimental field of FCI-Chirpan during 2015-2017 year. A randomized block design in four replicated was used with a trial plot size of 15 m². A standard farming technology for durum wheat in the country was applied. Tre traits: grain yield, plant height, heading date, test weight, 1000 kernel weight, protein content, wet gluten and vitreousness were observed. The means of three-year trials for all studied traits were calculated and genetic differences between genotypes were found. The coefficients of variation (CV%) obtained for the individual traits show that the heading date and grain yields are the most variable. The correlation analysis determines significant coeficients for 9 out of 28 possible combinations of traits. The multivariate methods for determining the genetic distance between the involved genotypes in the study were used. According to the dendrogram of the cluster analysis, the distances between the four main groups formed are determined. The applied graphical PC analysis shows the interrelations between the traits and the grouping of genotypes in terms of the genetic distance between them. These methods can help for faster breeding progress using the established genetic distance as the basis for deploying thebreeding program.

Keywords: Durum wheat, Genetic distance, Breeding, Economic traits

INTRODUCTION

In the last ten years more than ten varieties of durum wheat was created in Field crops institute - Chirpan, Bulgaria. The breeding program includes crosses of varieties (parents) from all over the world and a selection in segregating generations. Increasing genetic diversity allows for reliable sources of variation in the future. By determining the genetic distance, a proper selection of the parental forms can be made, to achive serious progress on the yield potential of the recombinant genotypes (Islam, 2004). The estimation of the genetic distance between genotypes can be based on the phenotypic manifestation of quantitative and qualitative traits (Souza and Sorells, 1991). Most often, genetic distance is measured as a phenotypic distance (Arriel et al., 2007; Gashaw et al., 2007a; Debnath et al., 2008; Kabir et al., 2009). It is assumed that if the genotypes are different phenotypically in many traits they are also genetically distant by their genomes. Some researchers have widely applied cluster analysis and PC analysis methods to determine genetic distance in breeding (Bhatt, 1970; Carves et al., 1987; Mohammadi and Prassana, 2003; Eivazi et al., 2007). The results of cluster analysis and PC analysis gives the best estimate of the genetic distance of the genotypes Khodadadi et al.,

(2011). The PC analysis takes into account the first two components and this results in some distortion of the results Fotokian et al., (2002) and Siahbidi et al., (2013). Fang et al., (1996) applied a cluster analysis of 120 genotypes of durum wheat, defining five clusters based on morphological and economic qualities. Narouee R., (2006) determines with cluster analysis the genetic distances of local wheat varieties based on theyr morphological traits. The authors Talebi et al., (2010) tested 24 genotypes of durum wheat to determine their genetic distances by important yield-related traits and using cluster analysis to define three clusters. Hashjin et al., (2014) examine 116 genotypes from several different regions to determine the genetic distance between them. The results show highly significant genetic diversity between genotypes and the participants are divided into three clusters. Authors suggest that the parents from divergent clusters can be used for hybridization to isolate useful recombinants in the segregating generations in breeding programs for improvement of durum wheat.

The aim of our study is to determine the genetic distance between 21 Bulgarian durum wheat varieties and breeding lines created in FCI-Chirpan based on 8 key agronomic traits using multivariate methods.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

In the study are included 13 varieties created over the last 10 years and 8 of the Institute's best advanced durum wheat breeding lines. The field experiment was conducted in experimental field of FCI-Chirpan, Bulgaria during 2015-2017 year. A randomized block design with four replications was used with a trial plot size of 15 m². A standard farming technology for durum wheat in the country was applied. Tre traits: grain yield - GY (kg/da), plant height – H (cm), heading date – HD (m. may), test weight – TW (kg/hl), thousand kernel weight – TKW (g), protein content – PR (%), wet gluten content – GL (%) and general vitreousness – VIT (%) were observed. The results were processed through ANOVA (for 3 year results), variation analysis, correlation analysis, cluster analysis and PC analysis over the three year average data. For the statistical treatment of data is using package program Statistica 10 (StatSoft inc). The hierarchical cluster analysis was performed using the Ward's method by Ward (1963).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of the variation analysis by traits are presented in Table 1. The table shows the mean values (M) with their standard errors (\pm m) and the coefficients of variation (CV%). There is evidence of genetic diversity in the studied trait. According to the coefficients of variation the most varying traits are grain yield(GY) (9.94%) and heading date (HD) (10.12%), and the lowest varying - test weight(TW) (2.21%) and vitreousness (1.69%). The other traits occupy an intermediate position. It can be seen that the coefficients of variation are relatively low in the studied traits. Therefore, the breeding process that was led was directed to a particular model of a variety ideal. There is a certain tendency to increase the early maturity of genotypes, which corresponds to the meteorological conditions in the areal of study.

Table 2 presents the two-factor ANOVA by traits and years. The results presented significant differences between genotypes for all traits. The differences in years of cultivation are well significant for all the studied traits and show the significant influence of the conditions of the years on their expression. The genotype-environment interaction indicates that half of the traits: grain yield (GY), heading date (HD), wet gluten (GL) and vitreousness (VIT) are well significant (tab.2). This causes a certain reaction in the conduction of the breeding process. When conducting the breeding process for traits associated with the conditions of the years,
observation should prolonged for more years or phenotypic stability of the individual genotypes - to be determined by any of the conventional methods by Kang (1998).

| Genotype | GY GY | H | HD (m. | TW | TKW | PR | GL | VIT |
|------------|---------|-------|--------|---------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| 51 | (kg/da) | (cm) | May) | (kg/hl) | (g) | (%) | (%) | (%) |
| Zvezditsa | 372.13 | 92.0 | 13.00 | 73.38 | 43.16 | 15.44 | 33.86 | 95.40 |
| IPK Deni | 411.86 | 97.3 | 11.66 | 74.71 | 43.10 | 14.94 | 29.36 | 95.60 |
| Deyana | 419.03 | 98.0 | 11.00 | 76.06 | 44.36 | 15.00 | 30.23 | 92.56 |
| Tserera | 432.70 | 92.6 | 12.66 | 78.00 | 45.13 | 14.30 | 27.56 | 94.53 |
| Predel | 451.62 | 91.3 | 14.00 | 74.56 | 42.83 | 14.44 | 30.73 | 95.60 |
| IPK Elbrus | 457.16 | 95.0 | 14.00 | 75.17 | 42.90 | 14.06 | 27.26 | 94.40 |
| Viktoria | 462.46 | 102.0 | 13.66 | 75.74 | 43.60 | 14.69 | 30.60 | 95.46 |
| Trakiets | 463.63 | 100.3 | 15.33 | 76.63 | 43.16 | 14.59 | 31.50 | 96.36 |
| D-7763 | 479.96 | 104.0 | 14.66 | 79.05 | 48.73 | 13.69 | 25.96 | 93.40 |
| Kehlibar | 482.46 | 98.3 | 15.33 | 77.35 | 43.96 | 14.58 | 28.03 | 96.53 |
| Raylidur | 491.36 | 95.0 | 14.00 | 73.81 | 73.70 | 13.77 | 26.06 | 95.60 |
| D-8040 | 500.20 | 97.3 | 15.00 | 78.97 | 45.03 | 13.97 | 25.93 | 94.40 |
| D-8036 | 504.86 | 103.0 | 13.66 | 78.03 | 45.76 | 13.74 | 30.46 | 92.46 |
| Heliks | 518.13 | 99.3 | 11.66 | 77.87 | 52.33 | 13.69 | 28.90 | 95.80 |
| D-8243 | 518.20 | 97.0 | 12.66 | 75.32 | 50.56 | 14.23 | 31.93 | 97.06 |
| D-8091 | 518.60 | 99.6 | 16.00 | 76.77 | 47.63 | 13.19 | 26.33 | 91.16 |
| Saya | 520.63 | 97.6 | 15.33 | 75.72 | 43.33 | 14.41 | 30.76 | 96.80 |
| D-8031 | 527.06 | 98.3 | 12.33 | 77.32 | 51.66 | 13.97 | 29.33 | 94.96 |
| Reyadur | 533.36 | 102.0 | 15.33 | 75.99 | 46.10 | 14.01 | 27.13 | 96.93 |
| D-8148 | 543.36 | 107.6 | 14.66 | 78.46 | 48.26 | 13.68 | 30.43 | 93.13 |
| D-8159 | 559.60 | 98.0 | 13.33 | 78.57 | 48.90 | 13.62 | 29.03 | 95.33 |
| Μ | 484.20 | 98.35 | 13.78 | 76.54 | 45.91 | 14.19 | 29.11 | 94.92 |
| ±m | 10.5 | 0.87 | 0.3 | 0.36 | 0.66 | 0.12 | 0.47 | 0.35 |
| CV% | 9.94 | 4.08 | 10.12 | 2.21 | 6.66 | 3.88 | 7.55 | 1.69 |

Table 1. Mean values (M), standard error $(\pm m)$ and coefficients of variation (CV%) over 3 seasons (2015, 2016, 2017) for 8 traits of 21 genotypes new Bulgarian durum wheats

Table 2. ANOVA of traits by genotypes and years

| No | Trait | Source of variance | | | | | | |
|----|-----------------------|--------------------|----------------|-----------------|--|--|--|--|
| | | Genotypes G | Environments E | Interaction GxE | | | | |
| 1 | Grain yield | ** | ** | ** | | | | |
| 2 | Heading date | * | ** | * | | | | |
| 3 | Plant height | ** | ** | n.s. | | | | |
| 4 | 1000 kernel weight | ** | ** | n.s. | | | | |
| 5 | Test weight | ** | ** | n.s. | | | | |
| 6 | Wet gluten | * | ** | ** | | | | |
| 7 | Grain protein content | ** | ** | n.s. | | | | |
| 8 | Vitreousness | ** | ** | ** | | | | |

* - P \leq 0.05 ; ** - P \leq 0.01 ; n.s. – no significant

The established correlation coefficients between the studied traits are presented in Table 3. The table shows significant positive correlations coefficients for grain yeild (GY) with: plant height (H) (r = 0.53 *), test weight (TW) (r = 0.52 *) and tousand kernel weight (TKW) (r =0.63 **). Dogan R., (2009) and Gashaw et al., (2007) reported same significant and positive correlation between grain yield and thousand kernel weight. The positive correlation between grain yield (GY) and plant height (H) is due to the fact that all genotypes tested are from the group of medium plant height. Authors Nofouzil et al., (2008) also reported significant and positive correlation between grain yield and plant height. On the other hand, there is a very well significant negative correlation (r = -0.80 ***) between grain yield (GY) and grain protein (PR). We have established a well significant positive correlation (r = 0.56 **) of plant height (H) with the test weight (TW), which once again explains the relationship of plant height with yield. The test weight (TW) is in a positive correlation with the tousand kernel weight (TKW) (r = 0.53 *) and negative with grain protein content (PR) (r = -0.57 **). The thousand kernel weight (TKW) is also found to be negative in relation to grain protein content (PR) (r = -0.59**). Expected, very well correlation occurs between protein (PR) and wet gluten (GL) in the grain (r = 0.61 **). There is no significant corelations with heading date and vitreousness.

| Trait | GY | Н | HD | TW | TKW | PR | GL | VIT |
|-------|----|-------|------|--------|--------|----------|--------|-------|
| GY | 1 | 0.53* | 0.39 | 0.52* | 0.63** | -0.80*** | -0.29 | 0.02 |
| Н | | 1 | 0.29 | 0.56** | 0.37 | -0.42 | -0.11 | -0.30 |
| HD | | | 1 | 0.17 | -0.22 | -0.36 | -0.32 | -0.01 |
| TW | | | | 1 | 0.53* | -0.57** | -0.38 | -037 |
| TKW | | | | | 1 | -0.59** | -0.11 | -0.11 |
| PR | | | | | | 1 | 0.61** | 0.38 |
| GL | | | | | | | 1 | 0.27 |
| VIT | | | | | | | | 1 |

Table 3. Correlation coefficients between studied traits

* - P ≤ 0.05 ; ** - P ≤ 0.01 ; *** - P ≤ 0.001

The results of the hierarchical cluster analysis are presented in Figure 1. The cluster analysis was performed on the average data of the three crop years. The data is standardized in order to align the scale of the traits and obtain a more accurate assessment (Siahbidi et al., 2013). The dendrogram shows two big clasters in the first level of division. The bigger claster covers exclusively the certified varieties of the institute. In the second level of distance, this group is divided into two subclasters, which include the varieties from the two breeding branches developed at the institute - combining breeding and experimental mutagenesis. In the smaller main claster are all advanced durum wheat lines included in the experiment. This group also includes the new one variety of the Institute - Heliks (certified 2017) which falls in a subgroup with two of the most promising breeding lines. Therefore, it can be pointed out that the Institute's breeding program leads to the production of relatively diverse genotypes of durum wheat. In conducting the breeding process, we should take into account the genetic distance of the genotypes involved in the combining breeding. To achieve faster success, it is necessary to combine genetically closer parents. In order to achieve greater breeding advances in agronomical traits, it is necessary to cross genetically more remote parents (from different clusters). The authors Khodadadi et al. (2011) reached the same conclusion in the breeding strategy.



Figure 1. Dendrogram of 21 genotypes of Bulgarian durum wheat by 8 economic traits.

The PC analysis is represented graphically in Figure 2 and Figure 3. The two main components PC-1 and PC-2 account for 62.28% of the total variation for all genotypic traits. This variation is large enough to perform the analysis. Figure 2 shows the points and vectors of the traits investigated in the experiment. From the angles between the vectors of the traits, can be explained the correlation between them. From the magnitude of the angle we can judge the magnitude of the correlation. The smaller the angle, the stronger the correlation between the traits is. At an angle of 90 degrees the correlation is zero. At angles greater than 90 degrees, the correlation is negative, increasing with the increase in the angle. According to the corners of Figure 2, the correlation relationships are close to the correlation coefficients in Table 3. This figure 2 should be viewed in conjunction with Figure 3. Figure 3 shows the distribution of genotype points in the coordinate system the PC-1 to PC-2. According to the quadrant in which the genotyping points and passing vectors of the traits are located, Figure 2 can be judged for the corresponding stronger influence of the particular trait on the genotype. Figure 3 shows a significant similarity between the genotype distribution in the PC analysis (Figure 2) and the data from dendrogram (Figure 1). The authors Golabadi and Arzani., (2003) suggest that cluster analysis was similar to factor analysis in grouping the characters. In general, it can be assumed that the separation by cluster analysis gives the best estimate of the genetic distance of the genotypes. Therefore, in studying genetic diversity related to genetic proximity and distance, it is preferable to use cluster analysis (Bhatt., 1970; Carves et al., 1987; Fang et al., 1996; Khodadadi et al., 2011; Siahbidi et al., 2013).



Figure 2. PC - analysis of traits

Figure 3. PC – analysis of genotypes

CONCLUSIONS

When conducting the breeding process for traits associated with the conditions of the years, observation should be prolonged for more years or the phenotypic stability of the individual genotypes - to be determined by any of the conventional methods.

Established correlation relationships between the studied traits can be successfully used in the breeding of durum wheat.

Using of cluster analysis provides a reliable estimation of the genetic distance of genotypes in our breeding program. The established genetic distance of genotypes allows optimization of the breeding process when choosing its strategy.

Despite the possibility of PC analysis to show clustering of genotypes by genetic proximity and distance, it is preferable to apply cluster analysis for this purpose because its more precision.

REFERENCES

- Arriel, N. H. C., Mauro, A. O. D., Arriel, E. F., Costa, M. M., Barbaro, I. M. and Muniz, F. R. S. (2007). Genetic divergence in sesame based on morphological and agronomic traits. Crop. Breed. Appl. Biotechnol., 7: 253-261.
- Bhatt, J.M. (1970). Multivariate analysis approach to selection of parents for hybridization aiming at yield components in self-pollination crops. Aust. J. Agric. Rec., 21: 1-7.
- Carves, B.F., Smith, E. L. and England, H. O. (1987). Regression and cluster analysis of environmental responses of hybrid and pure line winter wheat cultivars. Crop Sci., 27: 659-664.
- Debnath, N. R., Rasul, M. G., Sarker, M. M. H. and Rahman, M. H. (2008). Genetic divergence in buckwheat. Int. J. Sustain. Crop., 3(2):60-68.
- Dogan, R. (2009). The correlation and path coefficient analysis for yield and some yield components of durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* L. var. Durum) in west anatolia conditions. Pak. J. Bot., 41(3): 108 1-1089.
- Eivazi, A. R., Naghati, M. R., Hajheidari, M., Pirseyedi, S. M., Ghaffari, M. R., Mohhamadi, I. Majidi, S. A., Salekdeh, G. H. and Mardi, M. (2007). Assessing wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) genetic diversity using quality traits, Amplified fragment length polymorphisms, simple sequence repeats and proteome analysis. Ann. Appl. Biol., 152: 81-91.

- Fang, X. W., Xiong, E. H. and Zhu, W. (1996). Cluster analysis of elite wheat germplasm. Jiangsu Agric. Sci., 4: 14-16.
- Fotokian, M., Shahnejat busheri, A. and Taleie, A. (2002). Cluster analysis based on PCA in rice genotypes. Paper presented at the 6rd international conference of Statistics, University of Tarbian modares, Iran, 26-28 August 2002.
- Gashaw, A., Mohammed, H. and Singh, H. (2007). Selection criterion for improved grain yields in Ethiopian durum wheat genotypes. African Crop. Sci. J., 15(1):25-31.
- Gashaw, A., Mohammed, H. and Singh, H. (2007a). Genetic divergence in selected durum wheat genotypes of Ethiopian plasm. Afr. Crop. Sci. J., 15(2): 67-72.
- Golabadi, M. and Arzani, A. (2003). Study of Genetic Variation and Factor Analysis of Agronomic Traits in Durum Wheat. JWSS; 7 (1): 115-127.
- Hashjin, M. R., Fotokian, M. H., Sarbrzeh, M. A., Mohammadi, M. and Talei, D. (2014). Genetic Diversity of Genotypes of Durum Wheat (*Triticum Turgidum* L.) Genotypes Based on Cluster and Principal Component Analyses. Int. J. Adv. Biol. Biomed. Res., 2, 4 (2): 86-97.
- Islam, M. R. (2004). Genetic diversity in irrigated rice. Pak. J. Biol. Sci., 2: 226-229.
- Kabir, M. Y., Khan, A. S. M. M. R. and Hassain, M. S. (2009). Genetic divergence in pointed gourd. J. Agric. Rural Dev., 7 (1&2): 87-92.
- Kang, M. (1998). Using genotype-by-environment interaction for crop cultivar development. Adv. Agron., 62: 199-252.
- Khodadadi, M., Fotokian, M. H. and Miransari, M. (2011). Genetic diversity of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) genotypes based on cluster and principal component analyses for breeding strategies. Aust. J. Crop. Sci., 5(1): 17-24.
- Mohammadi, S. A. and Prassana, B. M. (2003). Analysis of genetic diversity in crop plants: salient statical tools and considerations. Crop Sci., 43: 1235-1248.
- Narouee, R. M. (2006) Evaluation of genetic diversity and factor analysis for morphologic traits of wheat landraces of Sistan-Baloochestan. J. Pajouhesh-va-Sazandegi in Persian, abstract in English. 73: 50-58.
- Nofouzil, F., Rashidi, V. and Tarinejad, A. R. (2008). Path analysis of grain yield with its components in durum wheat under drought stress. International meeting on soil fertility land management and agroclimatology. Turkey. 681-686.
- Siahbidi, M., Aboughadareh, A., Tahmasebi, G., Teymoori, M. and Jasemi, M. (2013). Int. J. Agric.: Res. Rev., 3 (1): 184-194.
- Souza, E. and Sorrels, M. (1991). Relationships among 70 North American oat germplasms: I. Cluster analysis using quantitative characters. Crop Sci., 31: 599-605.
- Statistica 10. StatSoft Inc. (2010).
- Talebi, R., Farzad, F. and Naji, A. M. (2010). Genetic Variation and Interrelationships of Agronomic Characteristics in Durum Wheat under two Constructing Water Regimes. Braz. Arch. Biol. Technol., 53 (4): 785-791.
- Ward, J. H. (1963). Hierarchial grouping to optimize an objective function. J. Amer. Statistical Assoc., 58: 234-244.

SORGHUM CROP, AN ALTERNATIVE FOR DOBROGEA FARMERS IN THE CONTEXT OF CLIMATE CHANGES

Dumitru MANOLE¹, Vasile JINGA*², Ana Maria GIUMBA¹, Roxana DUDOIU²

¹ SC Sport Agra SRL, Amzacea, Romania

² Research and Development Institute for Plant Protection, Blvd. Ion Ionescu de la Brad, no.8 Bucharest, Romania

* vasilejinga23@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Dobrogea is the most drought area of Romania (average 1961-2016 :464 mm rainfall precipitation). Climate change in recent years has accentuated this phenomenon .For farmers from this area sorghum crop is a solution.At Sport Agra in Amzacea, in the last few years there have been experimented new sorghum crop technologies designed to face the current climate changes. These technologies include the following elements: changing the sowing epoch with one month before the usual period recommended by classical technologies; (beginning of April in order to benefit from the soil's humidity la 4-5 cm depth boosting the germination process); choosing early hybrids in order to avoid the drought season which starts in June; applying adequate crop protection treatments, with pre-emergent and post-emergent herbicides and last generation insecticides. The agricultural crops in this area are not irrigated, so the farmer proposed a new technology, with the sowing of the crops earlier. This way the plants will benefit from the moisture from the soil accumulated in the winter.The obtained production from sorghum crop was over 10t/ha for most of the varieties tested.

Keywords: Sorghums, Climate changes, Technologies

INTRODUCTION

The crop taking into study is sorghum, which is recommended for these arid areas; called the camel of crops due to its drought resistance (Amsalu Ayana and col.1998), sorghum requires the following technological elements:

Selecting early hybrids to overcome the drought periods that occur between the 5-10th of June until the 20-25th of August. There are recommended hybrids with shorter vegetation period (Poschiscanu et al., 1015).

Sorghum sowing is recommended between 20th April and 10th May (Trotus et al. 2015) ensuring a minimum of 120-140 kg / ha of nitrogen (Owen, 1967), treatment of seeds before sowing with chemicals containing thiamethoxam, pre-emergence herbicide with Guardian 21 / ha and post-emergence with Ceredin Super 40 SL 1 l/ha (Micheal et al., 2005).

The results from comparative crops in a 2-year dynamics have demonstrated sorghum crops with outstanding yields of over 10 t/ha.

The agricultural crops in this area are not irrigated, so the farmer proposed a new technology, with the sowing of the two crops earlier by about a month. This way the plants will benefit from the moisture from the soil accumulated in the winter.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental plots were placed at S.C. SPORT AGRA S.R.L. Amzacea, Constanța. The experience was situated on a land belonging to the South Dobroudja plateau, represented by cambic chernoziom, with a profile deeper than other chernozioms, a blackish-brown soil of 40-50 cm thickness, medium texture (Demeter, 2009). The content of nutrients was: mobile P index - 72; N index - 4; Humus - 3.11; K index - 200; Neutral pH - 7.2. The climate is deeply temperate continental, with an average annual temperature of 10.7-12.12°C, with a high temperature between June and August. Meteorological data are presented in Tables 1 and 2. Sowing was carried out on April.

Table 1. Precipitation and temperature during 2016 growing vegetation season (Valul lui Traian Station, Constanta)

| | 1 | | | | | | | | |
|---------|---|-----------|-----------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------|-------|
| | Month | | | | | | | | |
| | Jan. | Febr. | March | Apr | May | June | July | Aug. | |
| Periods | The gro | wing seas | on 2016: | Precipitat | tion (mm) |) for 10-c | lay period | ls | Sum |
| 1-10 | 0 | 12.0 | 10.0 | 0 | 60.0 | 3.5 | 56.0 | 4.0 | 145.5 |
| 11-20 | 95.0 | 18.5 | 19.0 | 0 | 21.0 | 20.0 | 0 | 0 | 173.5 |
| 21-30 | 15.0 | 0 | 15.0 | 20.0 | 16.0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 66.0 |
| Sum | 110.0 | 30.5 | 44.0 | 20.0 | 97.0 | 23.5 | 56.0 | 4.0 | 385.0 |
| | Average | e 1961-20 | 10 : mont | hly value | s of preci | pitation (| mm) | | Sum |
| | 27.7 | 24.0 | 29.1 | 31.8 | 37.7 | 47.1 | 38.9 | 37.4 | 273.7 |
| | The gro | wing seas | on 2016: | Mean air | (°C) for | 10-day p | eriods | | Mean |
| 1-10 | 2.5 | 4.1 | 6.8 | 10.3 | 13.9 | 19.8 | 22.6 | 23.2 | 12.9 |
| 11-20 | 4.8 | 5.2 | 7.9 | 12.9 | 16.8 | 21.4 | 24.2 | 22.6 | 14.57 |
| 21-30 | 4.3 | 5.4 | 10.2 | 13.5 | 18.7 | 22.1 | 23.8 | 21.4 | 14.92 |
| Mean | 3.9 | 4.9 | 8.3 | 12.2 | 16.5 | 21.1 | 23.5 | 22.4 | 14.1 |
| | Average 1961-2010 : monthly values of mean air temperature (°C) | | | | | | | | Mean |
| | 0.4 | 0.9 | 4.4 | 9.7 | 15.3 | 19.4 | 21.9 | 16.9 | 12.12 |

Table 2. Precipitation during 2017 growing vegetation season (Valul lui Traian Station, Constanta)

| | | | | Mo | onth | | | | |
|---------|--|-------|-------|------|------|------|-------|------|-------|
| | Jan. | Febr. | March | Apr | May | June | July | Aug. | |
| Periods | Periods The growing season 2016: Precipitation (mm) for 10-day periods | | | | | | | | |
| 1-10 | 60 | 5.0 | 4.0 | 0 | 13.0 | 18.0 | 9.0 | 0 | 109.0 |
| 11-20 | 10 | 13.5 | 31.0 | 35.0 | 12.0 | 6.0 | 0 | 0 | 107.5 |
| 21-30 | 0 | 2.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 2.0 | 4.0 | 92.0 | 6.0 | 117.0 |
| Sum | 70.0 | 20.5 | 40.0 | 41.0 | 27.0 | 28.5 | 101.0 | 6.0 | 333.5 |
| | Average 1961-2010 : monthly values of precipitation (mm) | | | | | | | | Sum |
| | 27.7 | 24.0 | 29.1 | 31.8 | 37.7 | 47.1 | 38.9 | 37.4 | 273.7 |

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

As written in Table 1, year 2016, provided higher amount of rainfall between May and June, 100 mm higher than the multiannual average. These precipitations favored the development of sorghum crops. Regarding the sorghum crop, the main technological links pursued by the research team consisted of the following: Choosing early hybrids to overcome the burning periods that occur between June 5 through August 20-25, Recommendation of shorter vegetation hybrids, Sowing the sorghum between April 20th-May 10th according to classical technology (Trotus et col 2015.), Provide a minimum of 120-140 kg / ha of nitrogen, Treatment of seeds before sowing with chemicals containing thiamethoxam to combat pests in the early stages of vegetation, Pre-emergence herbicide with Guardian 21 / ha and post-emergence with Ceredin Super 40 SL 1 l/ha

The experiments were carried out in 2016 on 6 hybrids, as shown in Table 3. Most of the hybrids were sown one month earlier (9 April) compared to the classic technology recommended by specialists (Trotus et al. 2015) and EURALIS. Hybrid Arkanciel was sown and in recommended (May 14). Table 10 shows data regarding sorghum productivity consisting in very high yields of about 10-11 tons / ha for most hybrids, due to the change of the sowing date which the plants benefit from the moisture accumulated in the soil during the winter and also avoid the drought crashes begin in June. It can be seen in the Arkanciel hybrid a production increase of 2212 kg/ha, obtained by its earlier sowing.

The data obtained in the experimental year 2017 are presented in Table 4. The sowing took place this year on April 4, and the hybrid Arkanciel was sown on 4 May. From the data presented, it can be seen that this year, through earlier sowing, large production increases of over 10000 kg / ha were obtained. This year, with the Arkanciel hybrid, an increase of 3436 kg/ha was obtained. Tables 3 present the data on the technical sheet of sorghum culture on the two plots. Experiments in plots 1 were made on 2195 sqm. Treatment of seed prior to sowing was performed with chemicals containing thiamethoxam. Pre-emergence herbicide was carried out with Frontier forte 11/ha and post-emergence with Ceredin Super 40 SL 11 / ha. Figures 3 are referred to: - Experimental field-sorghum. All of these data show that sorghum is a valuable alternative crop for this dry area.

| Hybrid | Pre-emergent plant. | Surface sqm | Seeds /ha | Sowing date | Emergence date | Yields kg / ha |
|------------|---------------------|----------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| ES Arfrio | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 10013 |
| ES Aqulion | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 12340 |
| ES Alize | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 11785 |
| Arack | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 11919 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 10022 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 2 May | 14 May | 7810 |
| ES Foehn | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 8601 |

Table 3. Demonstrative plots for sorghum crop - Amzacea 2016

| Hybrid | Pre-emergent plant. | Surface sqm | Seeds /ha | Sowing date | Emergence date | Yields kg / ha |
|-----------|------------------------|----------------|--------------|----------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| Euralis | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10439 |
| Foehn | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 11504 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10336 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 May | 16 May | 6900 |
| Albanus | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10130 |
| Typhon | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 8859 |
| Armorik | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10645 |

Table 4. Demonstrative plots for sorghum crop - Amzacea 2017



Figure1. Experimental field-sorghum



Figure 2. Sorghum harvest

CONCLUSIONS

At Sport Agro Amzacea, there have been experimented in the last few years new and improved sorghum crop technologies in order to adapt to the new climate changes. These technologies comprise the following technological elements:

Selecting early hybrids to overcome the drought periods that occur between the 5-10th of June until the 20-25th of August. There are recommended hybrids with shorter vegetation period.

Changing the sowing age - the hybrids were sown one month earlier (4 and 9 April) The results from comparative crops in a 2-year dynamics have demonstrated sorghum crops with outstanding yields of over 10 t/ha.

The agricultural crops in this area are not irrigated, so the farmer proposed a new technology, with the sowing of the two crops earlier by about a month. This way the plants will benefit from the moisture from the soil accumulated in the winter.

Acknowledgements: The experiments were founded within the research and scientific development contract number 694/16.04.2018 with S.C. Sport Agra SRL Amzacea, Constanța County.

REFERENCES

- Ayana, A., and Endashaw B. (1998). Geographical patterns of morphological variations in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolour* L. Moench) Hereditas, 129: 195-205.
- Manole, D., Jinga, V., Giumba, A. M., Dudoiu, R. and Sristea, S. (2018). Researches regarding new and improved technologies for sunflower and sorghum crops in the context of climatic changes in Dobrogea region. AgroLife Sci. J. (in press).
- Brouk, M. J. and Bean, B. (2005). Sorghum in Dairy Cattle Production Feeding Guide.
- Owen, F. G. (1967). Factors affecting nutritive value of corn and sorghum silage. J. Dairy Sci., 50:404-416.
- Pochiscanu, S. F., Robu, T., Drutu, C. A., Popa, L. D. and Trotus, E. (2015). 7, 2- Influenta temperaturii asupra germinarii boabelor de Sorghum bicolor L. J. Bot.
- Romanian National Institute of Statistics Crop production for main crops in 2016.
- Trotus, E., Lupu, C., Drutu, A. C. (2015). Tehnologii de cultivare a unor plante de camp pentru zona central a Moldovei. Ed. Ion Ionescu de la Brad, Iasi.

THE INFLUENCE OF LEAF LITTER ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF AQUATIC MACROBENTHIC FAUNA IN TUNCA RIVER (EDIRNE/TURKEY)

Nurcan ÖZKAN*

Department of Mathematics and Science Education, Faculty of Education, Trakya University, Edirne, Turkey

* nurcanozkan@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

The study was carried out in Tunca River that rises and is mostly located in Bulgaria and only a part of it is located in the European part of Turkey. With Arda and Ergene River, Tunca River constitutes a portion of Meric basin that is one of the largest river systems in East Balkan Basin. The length of this river is 384 km-long and its basin area is 7.884 km². Tunca River 12 km along forms the border with Turkey-Bulgaria. Then flowing for a while inside Turkey (approximately 30 km) missed with Meric River in the South-west of Edirne. Our experiment was designed to comparison potential differences on colonisation of macrobenthic fauna in various leaf packages. Tree localities were chosen on the river and 4 different leaves of trees found in the environment and artificial boxwood were used to take samples. Macrobenthic samples were taken between May 2012 - October 2012. 20 kg sacks of potatoes were used while packaging of leaves and a total of 25 packs were put in localities. The collected samples were kept in 70% alcohol and brought to the laboratory and they were sorted and identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level under a stereomicroscope. As a result, various invertebrate groups were detected in leaf packs. These groups: Chironomidae larvae, Chironomidae pupae, Oligochaeta, Gastropoda, Tabanidae, Odonata, Ephemeroptera, Tricoptera, Plecoptera, Isopoda, Hirudinae, Cructacea, Tipulidae, Lumbricidae. Then ANOVA test was used for analysis of macrobenthic fauna according to dates, stations and leaf various and 0.05α statistical significance was used for all tests. When there was a meaningful difference, the reason was revealed by the Tukey test. The number of organisms in artificial boxwood was found to be the most intense. This result has shown that leaf packages are for protection purposes.

Keywords: Macrobentic organism, Leaf litter, Tunca River, Edirne

INTRODUCTION

According to relative analyses, benthic invertebrates performed both natural and artificial colonies in rock and leaf packs (Sylvestre and Bailey, 2005; Haapala et al., 2003). One of the major carbon sources of rivers is the leaves that are poured from trees and reach the water. Dried leaves are indispensable carbon source, especially for the mountainsides. Along with the deterioration of the leaf, the chemicals it contains include lignin, phenolic compounds, nutrients in the tan and carbon, affecting the nutrient content in the water (Hunter, 2003; Welsh, 2007). It has been proven that the activities of certain benthic invertebrates are enhanced by the amount of decaying leaves. The activities of leaf decay chemistry and of macroinvertebrates are interdependent. Because the composition of the leaf litter is the most important factor in the

colonization of the macroinvertebrates. Besides, it can be effective in forming both leaf decay and colony in environmental conditions (Costa and Melo, 2008).

Tree rashes play a balancing role in river ecosystems (Heede, 1972, Nelson, 2000). The main source of dissolved organic and inorganic nutrients and particulate matter is caused from high places and from riverside trees. This rashes are the basis of the food cycle. Rashes falling from the tree change the geomorphology of the river; thus, creates new habitats for some taxa. Accumulation and degradation of leaf rashes provide habitat source and food for aquatic microorganism and macroinvertebrates (Petersen and Cummins, 1974). The relationship between the macroinvertebrates groups and characterization of plant litter species accumulated in rivers is important to understand the distribution of macroinvertebrates communities and processes at the ecosystem level.

Although there are many faunistic and limnological studies in the Bulgarian part of the river (Dimitrov, 1972; Uzunov, 1980; Russev et al., 1984; Javena and Russev, 1985), In the Turkey part of the river there are only two graduate theses (Kavaz, 1997; Öterler, 2003), two phytoplanctonic studies (Öterler et al., 2003 a; 2004), two faunistic studies (Kirgiz et al., 2005; Camur-Elipek et al., 2006) and one studies colonization of leaf packs of Chironomidae larvae (Özkan, 2018).

In this study, we aimed to determine leaf package preferences of aquatic macrobenthic fauna and the advantages of leaf packages in faunistic study.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was designed to compare the potential differences in the colonization of aquatic macrobenthic fauna in various leaf packs. Study was carried out between May and October 2012 at three stations located in the Tunca River (Figure 1). The first station was Suakacağı Village, the second station was Değirmenyeni Village, and the third station was Tunca Barracks (Edirne) (Figure 1).

Then *Juglans regia* L. (walnut), *Morus alba* L. (mulberry), *Ulmus leavis* Pall. (elm) leaves were collected because of the widespread presence around the river. In addition, *Buxus* sp. (artificial boxwood) and *Platanus orientalis* L. (dried plane leaf) poured from plane trees in the autumn of the previous year were collected. The leaves were then filled into 20 kg potato bags. 5 leaf packages which consisted of 5 different kinds of leaves were prepared for each station. Totally 25 packages were prepared (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Tunca River sampling stations: 1. Suakacağı Village (465409.00 D, 4632519.00 K, 47m); 2. Değirmeniyeni Village (461067.00 D, 4623425.00 K, 40 m); 3. Trakya University Tunca Barracks (Edirne) (462965.63 D, 4619414.88 K, 37m)

Packages were regularly placed on the benthic region of the river (Figure 3). Within the following 5 months, a series of leaf packs were collected from sampling stations once a month. They were washed in sieves of different aperture sizes (Nominal Aperture $-0,600\mu$, 300μ and 1,18mm) and the macrobenthic organism were picked up with some pointed forceps (Figure 4). They were fixed and stored in tubes containing 70% ethyl alcohol. Samples collected from leaf packs were moved to the laboratory, placed in petri dishes under a stereo microscope (Olympus SZ51), cleaned from the mud and grouped.

Then ANOVA test was used for total organism analysis in leaf packages according to dates, stations and leaf types. A statistical significance of 0.05 α was used in all tests. When there was a significant difference, the Tukey test results show why the difference was caused.



Figure 2. Preparation of leaf packs land)



Figure 3. Station 2 (Leaving packages to



Figure 4. Station 3 (collection of organisms from leaf packs)

RESULTS

The analysis of aquatic macrobenthic fauna according to different dates, stations and leaf kinds (Table 1, 2, 3, 4) are as follows:

| Table 1. | Variability | analysis o | of aquatic | macrobenthic f | fauna according t | o dates |
|----------|-------------|------------|------------|----------------|-------------------|---------|
|----------|-------------|------------|------------|----------------|-------------------|---------|

| | Sum of squares | df | Mean square | F | Sig. |
|----------------|----------------|----|-------------|------|------|
| Between Groups | 96894,853 | 4 | 24223,713 | ,568 | ,687 |
| Within Groups | 2987529,333 | 70 | 42678,990 | | |
| Total | 3084424,187 | 74 | | | |

*The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

There was no difference between the aquatic macrobenthic fauna according to dates (Table 1).

Table 2. Variability analysis of aquatic macrobenthic fauna according to stations

| | Sum of squares | df | Mean square | F | Sig. |
|----------------|----------------|----|-------------|------|------|
| Between Groups | 21477.307 | 2 | 10738.653 | .252 | .778 |
| Within Groups | 3062946.880 | 72 | 42540.929 | | |
| Total | 3084424.187 | 74 | | | |

*The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

There was no difference between the aquatic macrobenthic fauna according to stations (Table 3).

| | Sum of squares | df | Mean square | F | Sig. |
|----------------|----------------|----|-------------|-------|------|
| Between Groups | 736483.520 | 4 | 184120.880 | 5.489 | .001 |
| Within Groups | 2347940.667 | 70 | 33542.010 | | |
| Total | 3084424.187 | 74 | | | |

Table 3. Variability analysis of aquatic macrobenthic fauna according to leaf kinds

*The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

There was difference between the aquatic macrobenthic fauna according to leaf kinds (Table 3).

| | | | | | 95% Co | onfidence |
|------------------|------------------------|----------------|---------------------|-------|-----------|-----------|
| | | Mean | a . a | | Int | |
| | | difference (1- | Std. | a. | Lower | Upper |
| I) Leaf types | (J) Leaf types | J) | error | Sig. | bound | bound |
| <i>Buxus</i> sp. | Juglans regia | 251.20000(*) | 66.87502 | .003 | 63.9397 | 438.4603 |
| | Platanus orientalis | 209.46667(*) | 66.87502 | .021 | 22.2064 | 396.7269 |
| | Morus alba | 269.86667(*) | 66.87502 | .001 | 82.6064 | 457.1269 |
| | Ulmus leavis | 240.86667(*) | 66.87502 | .005 | 53.6064 | 428.1269 |
| Juglans regia | <i>Buxus</i> sp. | -251.20000(*) | 66.87502 | .003 | -438.4603 | -63.9397 |
| | Platanus orientalis | -41.73333 | 66.87502 | .971 | -228.9936 | 145.5269 |
| | Morus alba | 18.66667 | 66.87502 | .999 | -168.5936 | 205.9269 |
| | Ulmus leavis | -10.33333 | 66.87502 | 1.000 | -197.5936 | 176.9269 |
| Platanus | Buxus sp. | -209.46667(*) | 66.87502 | .021 | -396.7269 | -22.2064 |
| orientalis | Juglans regia | 41.73333 | 66.87502 | .971 | -145.5269 | 228.9936 |
| | Morus alba | 60.40000 | 66.87502 | .895 | -126.8603 | 247.6603 |
| | Ulmus leavis | 31.40000 | 66.87502 | .990 | -155.8603 | 218.6603 |
| Morus alba | <i>Buxus</i> sp. | -269.86667(*) | 66.87502 | .001 | -457.1269 | -82.6064 |
| | Juglans regia | -18.66667 | 66.87502 | .999 | -205.9269 | 168.5936 |
| | Platanus orientalis | -60.40000 | 66.87502 | .895 | -247.6603 | 126.8603 |
| | Ulmus leavis | -29.00000 | 66.87502 | .992 | -216.2603 | 158.2603 |
| Ulmus leavis | <i>Buxus</i> sp. | -240.86667(*) | 66.87502 | .005 | -428.1269 | -53.6064 |
| | Juglans regia | 10.33333 | 66.87502 | 1.000 | -176.9269 | 197.5936 |
| | Platanus orientalis | -31.40000 | 66.87502 | .990 | -218.6603 | 155.8603 |
| | Morus alba | 29.00000 | 66.87502 | .992 | -158.2603 | 216.2603 |

*The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

According to Table 4, whether or not there is any difference in colonization of aquatic macrobenthic fauna according to leaf types was examined by ANOVA test and found to be different according to the results (p<0.05). This difference is due to artificial *Buxus* sp. the source is shown with multiple comparative test results.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

In the study, Chironomidae larvae and pupae, Oligochaeta Tricoptera, Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Odonata, Isopoda, Crustacea, Gastropoda, Hirudinae, Lumbricidae, Culicidae, Tabanidae and Tipulidae macroinvertebrate groups were detected. The organisms were diagnosed to the extent possible. There were Amphipoda, Hemiptera, Coleoptera, Bivalvia and Nematoda organisms in the Tunca River which were not included in this study by Çamur-Elipek (2006).

In this study carried out in the Tunca River, were found to be most intensively in artificial boxwood (3825 organisms), although the number of organisms was generally high all leaf packs. This shown that organismsuse leaf packaging for protection rather than feed. At least the organism was found in mulberry leaf (331 organisms) and we can link this to the gradual decrease of mulberry leaves due to rapid decomposition. Walnut (606 organisms), elm (765 organisms) and dry plane (1229 organisms) leaves were less dissociated. This indicated that leaf packs can be preferred in stream fauna studies.

Acknowledgements: This research has been supported by Trakya University BAP (2011-130 project no). I am deeply grateful to them for their financial support.

REFERENCES

- Camur-Elipek, B., Arslan, N., Kirgiz, T. and Oterler, B. (2006). Benthic macrofauna in Tunca River (Turkey) and their Relationships with Environmental Variables. Acta Hydrochim. Hydrobiol., 34: 360 – 366.
- Costa, S.S., and Melo, A.S. (2008). Beta diversity in stream macro invertebrate assemblages: among-site and among-microhabitat components. Hydrobiologia, 598: 131–138.
- Dimitrov, M. (1972). Sur la fauna des Chironomides (Larvae) de la Tundzha. Bulletin de l'Institut de Zoologie et Musee (Sofia) 35, 155–158.
- Haapala, A., Muotka, T., and Laasonen, P. (2003). Distribution of benthic macroinvertebrates and leaf litter in relation to streambed retentivity: implications for headwater stream restoration. Boreal Environ. Res., 8:19-30.
- Heede, B.H. (1972). Influences of a forest on the hydraulic geometry of two mountain streams. Water Resour. Bull., 8: 523-530.
- Hunter, M.D., Adi, S., Pringle, C.M., and Coleman, D.C. (2003). Relative effects of macroinvertebrates and habitat on the chemistry of litter during decomposition. Pedobiologia, 47:101-115.
- Javena, I., and Russev, B. (1985). Trends in Changes of the Hydrobiological and Saprobiological State of the Tundzha River. II. May–November 1981, Hydrobiology (Sofia), 26, 15–36.
- Kavaz, E. (1997). Tunca Nehri Bentik Makroomurgasız Faunası. Trakya Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, 1 38.
- Kirgiz, T., Camur-Elipek, B., And Arslan, N. (2005). Preliminary Study of Enchytraeidae (Oligochaeta) in the Tunca River (Thrace, Turkey). Proc. Estonian Academy of Sciences, Biology And Ecology, 54 (4): 310–314.
- Nelson, S.M. (2000). Leaf Pack Breakdown and Macroinvertevrate Colonization: Bioassesment Tools for a High-altitude Segulated System?. Environ. Pollut., 110: 321-329.

- Öterler, B. (2003). Tunca Nehri Fitoplanktonu ve Su Kalitesiyle İlişkileri (Phytoplankton of Tunca River and their Relationships with Water Quality). MSc Thesis, Trakya University, Graduate School, Edirne (Turkey), [Turkish, with English Abstract].
- Öterler, B., Kırgız, T., and Albay, M. (2003a). "Epipelic Algae of Tunca River (Poster)". In XII. National Fisheries Symposium, 2–5 September 2003, Elazig (Turkiye).
- Öterler, B., Kirgiz, T., and Albay, M. (2004). The Diatoms of Tunca River and their Seasonal Distributions (Poster)". In: I. National Limnology Workshop, 16–19 May 2004, Adapazari (Turkey), 2004.
- Özkan N. (2018). Investigation of colony formation in different leaf packs of Chironomidae larvae in Edirne Tunca River". Fres. Environ. Bull., 27(4): 2366-2372.
- Petersen, R.C., and Cummins, K.W. (1974). Leaf Processing in a Woodland Stream. Freshwater Biol., 4: 343-368.
- Russev, B., Nikolova, M., and Dimitrova, M. (1984). Hydrobiological and Saprobiological Alterations in the Tundzha River. I. 1955–1967, Hydrobiology (Sofia) 22, 59–73.
- Sylvestre, S., and Bailey, R.C. (2005). Ecology of Leaf Pack Macroinvertebrate Communities in Stream of the Fraser River Basin. British Columbia. Freshwater Biol., 50: 1094-1104.
- Uzunov, Y. (1980). Water Oligochaets (Oligochaeta Limicola) from some Bulgarian Rivers; Frequency and Domination. Hydrobiology (Sofia), 12, 79–89.
- Welsh, J.H. (2007). The Effects of Suspended Sediment on Aquatic Community Structure and Detritus Processing, Presented to the Faculty of Humboldt State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Arts, 1-37.

THE ROLE OF PRECISION FARMING IN PEST MANAGEMENT AND CROP YIELD

Cihan DEMİR¹ Arda AYDIN^{2*}

¹Kırklareli University, Technics Science Vocational High School, Mechanical Dept, Kırklareli Turkey

²Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Agriculture Faculty, Agricultural Mechanization Dept, Çanakkale, Turkey

* araydin@comu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Farmers encounter weeds, insects and diseases as major pests during crop cultivation. Although, there are different kind of pest management methods like cultural, mechanical, and biological, farmers continue to rely upon chemical method for its easy handling, greater efficacy and quick results. Nevertheless, the over application of pesticides leads to chemical residues in soil and crop. However, Precision Farming (PF) includes the best useful technologies to make farm management decisions precisely by obtaining the information about specific conditions. Precision farming uses Global Positioning System (GPS), Geographic Information System (GIS), and Remote Sensing (RS) technologies to help farmers for their management decisions. The main purposes of precision farming are to increase production efficiency and quality, efficient chemical use, energy conservation and protection of soil and water. The use of precision farming can provide so many benefits like the diagnose, the crop and field problems, improved equipment efficiency by using better scheduling and improved varietal choices like crop rotation. In addition, it can be used for crop conditions, and required inputs, to reduce the potential for leaching and runoff. Precision farming helps the farmers to use crop inputs such as tillage, fertilizers, pesticides and irrigation more effectively for greater crop yield and quality, without polluting the environment. However, the most important reasons for non-adoption of precision farming are the lack of finance, credit facilities and the lack of knowledge about precision farming technologies. Therefore, farmers should trained adequately to be able to monitor the dynamics of pests and to take right decision when it required.

Keywords: PLF, Pest management, Image analysis

INTRODUCTION

Pest Management Strategies

Agricultural pesticides are dangerous for surface and groundwater quality of the world. Precision farming technologies can help to protect water quality by reducing pesticides that farmers use. Precision farming technologies provides other options to the farmers to use different kind of pest management methods. For example, cultural methods, biological controls, and other alternatives to traditional method (chemical managements) can be used.

Pest Management

Pest management is to manage weeds, animals, insects and diseases that cause some damage on plants. Management of the pests with precision farming technologies based on the use of different tools and methods to reduce the effects of pests on plants in order to fulfil industry standard. Precision farming for pest management is used to support following aims: Increase crop quantity and quality, drop to negative effects of chemical pest controls on soil, water, air, plant and animal resources, and also for humans. During crop cultivation, the major pests are the insects, disease and weeds. Even though, there are different kinds of pest management methods like cultural, mechanical and biological, unfortunately the farmers still prefer to use chemical method for its high efficacy and rapid results. Nevertheless, over use of pesticides causes some problems in soil water and produce. In that point, precision farming plays an important role to use pesticide at micro-level.

Precision Farming

Precision farming is a novel management method using newer technologies and approaches to manage farming operations for the aim of increasing the yield and quality of plants (Biswas et al., 2008). Precision Farming (PF) uses the novel technologies to obtain the required information to decide farm management methods that fit the specific conditions for each product. Precision Farming includes Global positioning system, Geographic Information System, and Remote Sensing to record data for more informed management applications.

Example of Precision Farming Applications

The main purposes of precision farming are to increase production efficiency and quality, by using efficient chemical, in regarding to soil and ground water protection (Biswas et al., 2008). Most precision farming techniques have focused on the inputs to increase crop yields (Srinivasan, 2006). Over 70% of the research efforts were focussed on nutrients, seeding rates, irrigation etc. (Lambert and Lowenberg- DeBoer 2000). For example, the potential profitability of nitrogen application with precision farming method in corn was increased from 11 to 72 dollars per hectare according to the uniform method (Malzer et al., 1996). In another research performed by Koch et al. (2003), reported that the net return per hectare was increased from \$12 to \$35 using another precision farming method when compared to the traditional way. In another research, pesticide usage was reduced 18% while keeping yield and fibre quality at same level (Fridgen et al., 2003).

Precision Pest Management

Precision pest management is a novel management method which uses pesticides at microlevel by considering to the existing population of pests. It can also be defined as the technology for increasing crop yield while dropping environmental problems to the world (Khosla, 2001). Precision farming consist of Geographical information system, Remote sensing, Farmer and Global positioning system (Sharma et al., 2005).

Global Positioning System (GPS)

All the applications of precision agriculture needs positioning knowledge and it can be obtained from the GPS. GPS was first developed and used by the US army. The accuracy of GPS is less than 5m, (Sharma et al., 2005). For agricultural treatments, GPS was used for variable-rate-input applications and data collection during agricultural operations (Morgan and Ess, 1997). Lange (1996) reported that trees, buildings, steep and slopes can block a GPS signal.

Geographic Information System

A GIS consist of a computer, algorithms, and softwares designed to make easy the analysis of recorded data that can help to take important management decisions (Aronoff, 1989). A Geographic Information System for agriculture includes different information from different sources like GPS-based yield maps, pest or pathogen scouting data, aerial photography and satellite images. All data are shown on top of a field map, allowing layers to analyse the crop health and maturity. When the basic map is in place, the farmer can collect all data about different variables like weather, insect and weed problems to get correct information about the current status of the plants.

Remote Sensing

Remote Sensing is the method for the detection or identification of an object or landscape without contact sensor (Frazier et al., 1997). Agricultural applications of RS commonly include detection of electromagnetic energy like light and heat. Sensors can measure energy which cannot be detected by human vision. Digital images for remote sensing can be gathered from either an o satellite or from an airplane fly-over. RS was used for different kinds of applications such as detection of crop stress; diseases of plants, weeds, soils, detection for problematic situations like broken drainage tiles or crop injury during harvesting.

Farmer

Precision farming is information, technology and knowledge based practice. Thus, farm managers or stockmen have to be trained adequately so that they can use the technology to monitor their plants by taking right decision before too late (Biswas et al., 2008).

Conclusions

Precision farming technologies gives opportunity to the farmers to more effectively use plant inputs including tillage methods, fertilizers, pesticides management and irrigation schedule. Precision farming ensures to use all inputs more effectively and this provides greater crop yield and quality, without polluting to the world. Geographic Information System, Geographic positioning System, and Remote Sensing can help farmers to reduce risk. Farmers who use precision farming technologies have numerous types of data to take immediate management actions.

REFERENCES

- Aronoff, S. (1989). Geographic information s~tems: A management perspective. Ottawa, Ontario: WDL Publications.
- Biswas, C., Biswas, S.K. and Jat, M.L.O (2008). Precision pest management: An emerging concept. Eco-friendly management of plant diseases, pp. 105-110.
- Frazier, B.E., Walters, C. S., and Perry, E. M. (1997). Role of remote sensing in site-specific management. Pp. 149-160 in F.J. Pierce and E.J. Sadler, eds. Th e state of site-specific management for agriculture. Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America.
- Fridgen, J.J., Lewis, M.D., Reynolds, D.B. and Hood, K.B. (2003). Use of remotely sensed imagery for variable rate application of cotton defoliants. In: Proceedings of 2003 Cotton Conference, National Cotton Council, Memphis, TN, pp. 1825-1839.
- Khosla, R. (2001). Definition of precision pest management. Colarado State University, Agronomy Newsletter, 21:24-26.

- Koch, B., Khosla, R., Frasier, M. and Westfall, D.G. (2003). Economic feasibility of variablerate nitrogen application in site-specific management, In: Proceedings 2003 Western Nutrient Management Conference, Salt Lake City, UT, pp. 107-112.
- Lambert, D. and Lowenberg-DeBoer, J. (2000). Precision agriculture profitability review, Online.http://www.agriculture.purdue.edu/ssmc/Frames/newsoilsX.pdf Accessed March 2, 2007, pp. 43-45.
- Lange, A. F. (1996). Introduction to differential GPS for precision agriculture applications. In Proceedings of the 1996 Information Agriculture Conference. Atlanta, GA: Potash and Phosphate Institute.
- Malzer, G.L., Copeland, J.G, Davis, J.A., Lamb, P.C. and Bruulsema, T.W. (1996). Spatial variability of profitability in si te-specific N management . In: Proceedings Third International Conference on Precision Agriculture. ASA/CSSA/ SSSA, Madison, WI, pp. 967-975.
- Morgan, M. T., and D. R. Ess (1997). The precisionfarming guide for agriculturists. Moline, IL:John Deere.
- Sharma, S.K., Jat M.L. and Biswas, C. (2005). Components of precision farming. Indian J. Fertilizers, 1: 13-26.
- Srinivasan, A. (2006). Precision agriculture an overview. In: Handbook of Precision Agriculture, pp. 3-18.

THE SOLUBILITY OF TURKEY OAK (*QUERCUS CERRIS* L.) AND HUNGARIAN OAK (QUERCUS FRAINETTO TEN) IN COLD WATER

Merita STAFASANI^{*1} Ariola DEVOLLI¹ Edlira SHAHINASI¹ Mariola KODRA¹ Frederik DARA²

¹Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Biotechnology and Food, Agricultural University of Tirana, Albania

²Department of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Natural Sciences, University of Tirana, Albania

* mstafasani@ubt.edu.al

ABSTRACT

Albania has an area of 28,748 km2 where forests cover occupies an area of 1.5 million hectares. Coppice forests dominated by oaks occupy an area of 623,799 hectares, where the occupied surface by oaks goes to 132,910 ha with a standing volume of 6.5 million cubic meters. Oaks forests are relatively young, and 82% of them have an age from 1-30 years. There are many types of oak in Albania, but the species that have the greater spread and the largest area are: Turkey oak (Quercus cerris L) and Hungarian oak (Quercus frainetto Ten). The study was carried out in six sites along longitudinal gradient. Three stem discs from the bole R1, middle R2 and top R3 of the stem were taken from each tree. Extraction conducted at $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C with constant mixing for 48 hours. The main components of wood parts, soluble in water, consist of carbohydrates, proteins, and inorganic salts. Average values for solubility of stem wood in cold water, in disks at the base of the trunk (R1), for the analyzed samples of Turkey oak trees (Q. *cerris*), from all stations resulted Mean of SCW $\% = 7.0 \pm 1.83\%$ and for the analyzed samples of Hungarian oak trees (O. frainetto), resulted Mean of SCW= $8.96 \pm 2.68\%$. Results for solubility in cold water SCW (%), in samples of Turkey oak, are grouped in narrower margins and lower limit values than in the samples of Hungarian oak. There was no correlation found between solubility in cold water SCW (%) and variables such as the cutting diameter, age and annual rings width TRW, for samples of both species. Solubility in cold water, SCW % the disks at the base were significantly higher than those in R2 disk and fallen further towards the top gasket.

Keywords: Hungarian oak, Turkey oak, Wood solubility, Wood extractives, Carbohydrate.

INTRODUCTION

Albania has an area of 28,748 km² where forest cover occupies an area of 1.5 million hectares. Coppice forests dominated by oaks occupy an area of 623,799 hectares. The genus *Quercus* is one of the most important clades of woody angiosperms in the Central and Western Europe, in terms of species diversity, ecological dominance, and economic value (NIXON KC 2006). The genus *Quercus* in Albania is mainly represented by Turkey oak (*Quercus cerris* L.), Italian oak (*Quercus frainetto* Ten.), pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur* L) and sessile oak (*Quercus petraea* Liebl.). *Q. cerris* and *Q. frainetto* are the most widespread species in Albania, covering 132910 ha (30.8 % of overall forest area) (ANFI 2004). In Albania, there are few

studies related to this species focused on silvicultural aspects (DIDA M 2003), but less investigated for the chemical composition and in particular for theirs extractives content.

Besides the main structural component of the cell wall (cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin) in wood was found a large group of compounds (which in oak constitutes a substantial part) called extractives. Wood extractives are non-structural compounds of low molecular weight that can relatively easily be separated from the wood using different solvents. This group of substances, which have different physical properties, chemical and biological weapons presents numerous incentives to use forest products. They include primary metabolites, which usually are described as substances that are basic chemical units of plant living cells, such as nucleic acids, proteins and polysaccharides, and secondary metabolites which often are defined to be anything else that body produces but it is not a structural compound (polysaccharide or lignin). Wood extractives may darken the heartwood and give species such their characteristic colour. Extractives of most wood species range approximately from 2 to 10% of dry matter, in some cases (mostly in tropical species) this content can increase up to 20% or more of dry matter (Yang et al., 2003).

The term "extractive" commonly refers to the organic compounds only (Fengel & Wegener 1989), although it can also refer to inorganic materials. An important aspect of extractives is their solubility, and with regard to analysis it is useful to distinguish between substances that are soluble in water or in organic solvents.

The structure, composition and content of extractives vary greatly between species and even within a single tree, where they are generally more abundant in the bark, branches and knots. The distribution of extractives within the tree stem vary greatly, with changes radially and vertically on the one hand (DeBell et al., 1999; Gartner et al., 1999; Gierlinger and Wimmer, 2004), and different cell locations (Hillis, 1971) and positions within earlywood and latewood (Côté et al., 1966) on the other.

Factors of these varieties include: differences within a tree, tree age, growth rate, soil and climate in the region, and most importantly, genetic differences between different species. The extractives play a role in protecting the plant from disease and pests, as well as in growth regulation. Tannins that are known to form complexes with metal ions and be involved in oxidative reactions that can cause degradation of cellulosic materials, known as ink corrosion (Arpino et al., 1977; Rouchon- Quillet et al., 2004; Rouchon et al., 201), constitute 5-10% of oak wood. The sensory impact of oak tannins is widely assumed to have an impact on astringency and mouth feel of a wine. In oak wood, hydrolysable tannins consist mainly of gallotannins and ellagitannins where the galloyl- and hexahydroxydiphenic acid (HHDP) moieties, respectively, are esterified to a core molecule, generally glucose (Du Penhoat et al., 1991; Mämmelä et al., 2000; Scalbert et al., 1988).

The aim of this work was the gravimetric determination of hydrophilic extractives content into Turkey oak (*Quercus cerris* L.), as well as for Hungarian oak, since in now days, they are used in many wine barrels in Albania. In general, the wood does not contain many organic compounds soluble in water, although higher amounts of tannin and arabino-galactane are presented in some species. The main components of wood parts, soluble in cold water, consist of carbohydrates, proteins, tannins, gums, coloring matter and inorganic salts. Water moves inorganic compounds from wood with the extraction step.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study was focus in the species Turkey oak (*Quercus cerris* L.) and the Hungarian oak (*Quercus frainetto* Ten.), that together are the most common types of oak in Albania. They are found in the same habitat forming mixed forests with other species.

Research Locations

The study was carried out in six sites along longitudinal gradient (Tab 1). In the northeast part our sampling sites were Kukes (KU) and Diber (DI), in the northern central part of Albania we chose Ulza (UL) and Rreshen (RR), while from southern-central Albania we took samples from Graceni (EL) and Belsh (BE). All studied sites represent the natural habitats of mixed forest stands of Turkish oak (*Q. cerris* L.) and Hungarian oak (*Q.frainetto* Ten.) managed intensively as coppice for a long time. The core sampling at first five sites was carried out during period October - November 2012, while the samples from Belshi area were taken on February 2014. The study sites are located in different exposition and in a broad altitudinal range from 240 m until 692 m a.s.1 (Table 1). Natural understory vegetation consists of common hornbeam (*Carpinus betulus* L.), common juniper (*Juniperus communis* L.), common hawthorn (*Crataegus monogyna* Jacq.) and herbaceous vegetation. These forest stands are grown on brown soils formed on limestone bedrock. Such soils have medium thickness with a sub-clay structure.

| | | Sampling sites location | | | | | |
|----|----------------|-------------------------|----------------|---------------------|--|--|--|
| Nr | Sampling sites | Longitude | Latitude | Altitude (m. a.s.l) | | | |
| 1 | Kukes (KU) | 20° 23' 35" E | 42° 05' 01" N | 365 | | | |
| 2 | Diber (DI) | 20° 23' 46" E | 41° 45' 07 " N | 616 | | | |
| 3 | Rreshen (RR) | 19° 53' 10" E | 41° 48' 09 " N | 240 | | | |
| 4 | Ulez (UL) | 19°54'07" E | 41° 39' 28 " N | 241 | | | |
| 5 | Elbasan (EL) | 19° 57' 51" E | 41° 08' 58 " N | 692 | | | |
| 6 | Belsh (BE) | 19° 56' 47" E | 40° 54' 09 " N | 136 | | | |

Table 1. Sampling sites location

Samples preparation

Three stem discs from the bole R1, middle R2 and top R3 of the stem were taken from each tree. The stem discs were air dried and sanded until the tree-ring patterns were perfectly visible. Tree-ring width (TRW) was measured to the nearest 0.001 mm using a linear table, LINTAB (Frank Rinn S.A, Heidelberg, Germany) and the TSAP-Win program. For each sampled tree, height (H) was measured with Vertex, while diameter at breast height (DBH) with caliper.

Discs are cleaned from the bark and any possible knock. Using a chainsaw, do some cutting, collecting necessary sawdust. In each case, we took care to remain unchanged correct proportion of sapwood and heartwood. Sawdust is riddled collected and stored fraction that runs the sieve 40mesh (0.400mm) and remains 60mesh sieve (0.250mm). When was needed was grinding in a hand- driven grinding mill, (TAPPI T 257 2002).

For each sample previously determined the moisture according TAPPI T 264 (TAPPI T 264 2007).

Cold- water Solubility

We weighted about 2grams (with an accuracy of 0.0001g) of wood meal, we placed sample in a plastic bottle of 500 ml and added slowly 300 ml of distilled water, so that the wood meal got all wet, to avoid the tendency to float. Extraction conducted at 23 ± 2 ° C with constant

mixing for 48 hours. (Samples were placed in an electric shaker which makes continuous and uniform mixing) (TAPPI 207).



Figure1. The extraction proces

After extracting we filtered the extract, we used it in a vacuum filtration system, transferring the material to a glass medium tare filter which was previously dried to constant weight at 105 \pm 3°C. We rinsed samples with 200ml cold distilled water and filter together with the extracted wood meal and we dried it to constant weight at 105 \pm 3°C temperature. After cooling in desiccators, we weight the filter and residues accurately to 0.0001g.

For to calculation the wood solubility in cold water we used the following equation [1]. SCW% = [(C-D)*100]/C (1)

Where: SCW = Solubility %, C = first weight of oven dry tested specimen (grams). D = weight of oven dry specimen, after extraction (grams).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The amount of extractives that is dissolved in cold water is also known as the solubility of wood in cold water SCW (%). For both types we have analyzed the solubility of extractives cold water mainly for basal discs (R1), and in fewer cases those of middle R2 and peak R3.

From the measurements carried out in the laboratory it was found that for Turkey oak (*Q. cerris*) the average value of solubility for the basin type disc was $7.03 \pm 1.83\%$. The maximum solubility value was reached in the wood sample No. 8 at the Ulza station (10.1%), while the minimum solubility value was found in the tree no.4 of the Belsh station (3.9%).

For Hungarian oak type (*Q. frainetto*), the average solubility of SCW for the base disc was $8.96 \pm 2.68\%$, while the maximum solubility in cold water was reached at tree No. 5 of Elbasan Station (12.00%), while the minimum value of cold water solubility was reached on the tree no.3 of the Belsh station (3.55%).

As seen in both types, the lowest values of cold water solubility have been reached on the samples taken at Belsh station.

Figure 2 presents the boxplots of cold water solubility values for the R1 disc of the two species studied. As can be seen from the graphical presentation below, the cold water solubility of the Hungarian oak species is higher (it has a higher average value), while the amplitude of the distribution of the solubility values of the samples around the average is greater in Turkey oak. This shows that Hungarian oak samples have a higher solubility in cold water according to stations than Turkey oak samples.



Figure 2. Box plots of SCW values (%) for samples of both species

From the correlation analysis between the cold water solubility SCW (%) and variables such as: sample diameters, age of trees and annual width of the two species, no significant correlation was observed (p < 0.05).

To identify the change in the solubility ratio of the extractives according to the samples taken according to the length of the stem for both species, we analyzed the solubility of the extractives in the cold water of the R1 disc (obtained at the base of the tree) and the R2 disc obtained in the middle. As can be seen from Figure 3 we saw that in the case of Tukey oak type the solubility of the extractives was higher in the base disc.



Figure 3. Solubility variability in cold water SCW (%) between base and middle disc (R1 and R2) for Turkey oak

The same conclusion was also reached for Hungarian oak samples. The sample solubility percentage was higher in the base samples and lower in the middle ones (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Solubility variability in cold water SCW (%) between the base and middle disc (R1 and R2) for the Hungarian oak type wood

Cold water solubility for the 3 discs (R1; R2; R3) was analyzed only on trees 4 (Turkey oak), 5 (Hungarian oak) and 6 (Hungarian oak) taken at Elbasan station. As can be seen from the figure 5, the solubility values in cold water SCW (%) fall from the base to the peak of the tree. From the graphic presentation it turns out that the solubility values of Turkey oak species in cold water are much smaller than for the Hungarian oak species.





For wood samples T5R2EL, T6R1EL and T12R1RR, we determined the solubility in cold water SCW (%) for the whole section of the disk (without bark) and then for the heartwood (after we first split it from the sapwood) The analysis showed that the solubility values in cold water were much higher for the heartwood than for the whole disk (without bark) (Figure 6).

Hillis (1987) has shown that wood extractives tend to be higher in heartwood. The size of heartwood decreases starting from crown starting level. Consequently, the tree's peak contains less heartwood and less extractive than the rest of the trunk. However, the level of reduction in the heartwood area from the base to the top depends on the species.



Figure 6. Solubility in cold water SCW (%) on the stem (sapwood and heartwood) and on the separated heartwood

For wood no. 6 at Elbasan Station (T6R2EL), the solubility in cold water SCW (%) was also determined for the bark. The results of cold water solubility for the bark were much higher than those in the whole transversal section of the tree trunk without bark (figure 7).



Figure 7. Solubility in cold water SCW (%) on the trunk and in the cortex

For sample basal disks (R1) multivariable statistical analysis were performed for the variables: tree age, cutting diameter, annual average ring width and cold water solubility SCW.

For Turkey oak (Q. cerris), the first principal component PC1 that causes variation is the diameter of the tree samples which causes about 49.1% of the total variance, while the second PC2 component that causes the variation is the average width of annual rings that causes a variance of 27.1%, and both together account for about 76.2% of all variance (figure 8).



Figure 8. Analysis of the principal components PCA for variables: wood age, cutting diameter, TRW and solubility in cold water SCW (%) for Q.cerris on R1 basal disc samples in all areas studied; screen plot a) and score plot b).

For *Q. frainetto* the principal component analysis showed that the first principal component (PC1) that causes the largest variation is the sample diameter (with eigenvalue 2.5333) that causes 63.3% of the total variance, while the second principal component (PC2) that causes variation is the age of trees which contributes with 25.9% of total variance and both together account for about 89.3% of all variance (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Analysis of principal components PCA for variables: wood age, cutting diameter, TRW and cold water solubility SCW (%) for Q. *frainetto* on R1 basal disc of samples in all areas studied. screen plot a) and score plot b).

To see how the samples are grouped according to their similarity to cold solubility, we used the Euclidean distance method. For Turkey oak specie, the samples were grouped in 2 clusters. In the first cluster the samples were grouped: T8R1UL (1), T11R1RR (2), T4R1BE (3), T3R1EL (5), T1R1DI (7), T4R1KU (9) and T7R1DI (8), while in the second cluster samples T1R1EL (4) and T4R1EL (6) of the Elbasan station (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Dendrogram created by HFC for cold water solubility SCW (%) for Q.cerris R1 discs

Even in the case of the Hungarian oak specie it resulted that the samples according to the cold water solubility were grouped in 2 clusters. The T2R1UL (1), T12R1RR (2), T3R1BE (3), T5R1KU (6) and T3R1DI (7) samples are included in the first cluster, while the T5R1EL (4) and T6R1EL (5) in the second cluster of Elbasan Station (Figure 11).





The separation of the samples from the Elbasan area can be influenced by two factors; first the samples ages from this area as a consequence and the diameters were larger as well as from other areas; secondly this area is managed not as coppice.

CONCLUSIONS

From the results of our work it is evident that these two species (Turkey oak and Hungarian oak) vary widely according to their content, in extractives components, extracted in cold water.

There was no correlation found between solubility in cold water SCW (%) and variables such as the cutting diameter, age and annual rings width TRW, for samples of both species. Hungarian oak samples have a higher solubility in cold water according to stations. The solubility values in cold water SCW (%) fall from the base to the peak of the tree. Results for the bark and the heartwood solubility were much higher than those in the entire cross section of the trunk wood without bark.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to gratefully acknowledge the kind support of E. Toromani, as well as S. Beqo and A. Buzali for their assistance related to the sample preparation.

REFERENCES

- Albanian National Forest Inventory. (2004) Final report. Terms of Reference. Tirana, Albania, ANFI pp 1-140.
- Arpino, P., Moreau, J. P., Oruezabal, C. and Flieder, F. (1977) Gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric analysis of tannin hydrolysates from the ink of ancient manuscripts (XIth to XVIth century). Journal of Chromatography.
- Côté, W.A., Day Jr., A.C., Simson, B.W. and Timell, T.E. (1966). Studies on larch arabinogalactan. I. The distribution of arabinogalactan in larch wood. Holzforschung, 20: 178–192.
- DeBell, J.D., Morrell, J. J. and Gartner, B.L. (1999). Within-stem variation in tropolone content and decay resistance of second-growth western redcedar. Forest Sci., 45: 101–107. New York.
- DIDA M (2003) State of Forest Tree Genetic Resources in Albania. Working Paper FGR/62E. Forest Resources Development Service, Forest Resources Division. FAO, Rome, Italy, (unpublished)
- Du Penhoat, C. L. M. H., Michon, V. M. F., Peng, S., Viriot, C., Scalbert, A. and Gage, D. (1991) Structural elucidation of new dimeric ellagitannins from Quercus robur L. roburins A-E. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Trans. 1 1653-1660.
- Fengel, D. and Wegener, G. (1989). Wood. Chemistry. Ultrastructure. Reaction. De Gruyter, Berlin, New York.
- Gartner, B.L., Morrell, J. J., Freitag, C.M. and Spicerm R. (1999). Heartwood decay resistance by vertical and radial position in Douglas-fir trees from a young stand. Can. J. For. Res. 29: 1993–1996.
- Gierlinger, N. and Wimmer, R. (2004). Radial trends of heartwood extractives and lignin in mature European larch. Wood Fiber Sci., 36: 387–394.
- Hillis W E. (1987) Heartwood and tree exudates. Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo, 268 pp
- Hillis, W.E. (1971). Distribution, properties and formation of some wood extractives. Wood Sci.Technol., 5: 272–289.
- Mämmelä, P., Savolainen, H., Lindroos, L., Kangas, J. and Vartiainen, T. (2000). Analysis of oak tannins by liquid chromatography-electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr., A 891: 75-83.
- Nixon, K.C. (2006). Global and Neotropical Distribution and Diversity of Oak (genus Quercus) and Oak Forests. In: Kappelle M (ed) Ecological Studies, Vol. 185, Ecology and Conservation of Neotropical Montane Oak Forests. Springer- Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 3-12.
- Rouchon- Quillet, V., Remazeilles, C., Bernard, J., Wattiaux, A. and Fournes, L.(2004) The impact of gallic acid on iron gall ink corrosion. Applied Physics A: Materials Science & Processing. 79: 389-392.
- Rouchon, V., Duranton, M., Burgaud, C., Pellizzi, E., Lavedrine, B., Janssens, K., de Nolf, W., Nuyts, G., Vanmeert, F. and Hellemans, K. (2011) Room-Temperature Study of Iron Gall Ink Impregnated Paper Degradation under Various Oxygen and Humidity Conditions: Time-Dependent Monitoring by Viscosity and X-ray Absorption Near-Edge Spectrometry Measurements. Anal. Chem., 83: 2589-2597.

Scalbert, A., Monties, B. and Favre, J.-M. (1988) Polyphenols of Quercus robur: Adult tree and in vitro grown calli and shoots. Phytochemistry, 27: 3483-3488.

TAPPI T 207 cm 99. (1999) "Water Solubility of wood and pulp", 3pp.

- TAPPI T 257 cm-02. (2002) Sampling and Preparing Wood for Analysis TAPPI, Atlanta, US
- TAPPI T 264 cm-07.(2007) "Preparation of Wood for Chemical" Analysis Technical Association of the Pulp and Paper Industry (TAPPI)
- Yang, J., Park, S., Kamdem, D.P., Keathley, D.E., Retzel, E., Paule, Ch., Kapur, V. and Han, K.H. (2003). Novel gene expression profiles define the metabolic and physiological processes characteristic of wood and its extractive formation in a hardwood tree species, Robinia pseudoacacia. Plant Molecular Biology.

ESTIMATION OF ANTI-HEMOLYTIC AND ANTI-INFLAMMATORY EFFECTS OF DAUCUS GRACILIS STEM. METHANOLIC EXTRACT FROM EASTERN ALGERIA

ELKOLLI Meriem*¹, ELKOLLI Hayet², LAOUER Hocine¹

¹ Laboratory of Natural Biological Resources, University of Sétif 1, Sétif, Algeria. ² Laboratory of Multiphase Polymeric Materials, University of Sétif 1, Sétif, Algeria

* elkollim@yahoo.fr

ABSTRACT

This study aims to exploit the biological virtues of the local plants studied for the first time. The methanolic extract (ME) of *Daucus gracilis* was tested for possible antimicrobial, antihemolytic and anti-inflammatory properties. The ME was prepared by hydro-alcoholic maceration in a water/methanol mixture, and then the total polyphenols were assayed by the Folin-Ciocalteu method. The antimicrobial activity was carried out by the agar diffusion method using disks containing 70 mg/ml. The anti-hemolytic test is carried out by the stabilizing power of human red blood cell (HRBC) and that of the anti-inflammatory activity by the measurement of protein denaturation. The extract showed moderate activity on 28% of the tested strains; *B. cereus* (9.5 mm), *L. monocytogenes* (8mm), *P. Aeruginosa* (8mm) and *C. freundii* (7mm). The anti-hemolytic activity was dose-dependent and interesting but far from being compared to the Diclofenac Sodium (P<0.05). For the anti-inflammatory test, the Diclofenac (IC₅₀: 218.67 µg/ml) was slightly more active than the extract (IC ₅₀: 554.07 µg/ml). In conclusion, we can say that our extract is moderately endowed with interesting biological activities that can be exploited later.

Keywords: Daucus gracilis, Apiaceae, Antimicrobial, Anti-hemolytic, Anti-inflammatory

INTRODUCTION

Historically, natural products have proved to be the most prolific and diverse source of antibiotics (Nguta et al., 2016). According to World Health Organization (WHO), about threequarters of the world population depends on traditional medicines (mainly herbs) for their healthcare (Shaikh et al., 2016). After great advances in modern medicine, problems of resistance, drug insecurity and side effects have appeared in recent years. Among these problems, the antibiotic resistance which has become a serious and widespread problem in developing countries, both in hospitals and the community, causing high mortality each year (Wikaningtyas and Sukandar, 2016), the problems of inflammation and those related to the fluidity of blood. *D.gracilis* is an Apiaceous species which has not been studied before. It is an annual plant with stems up to 40 cm, long pedunculate umbels, yellowish fruit, and 3.5 x 2 mm bristling with whitish short hairs. (Quezel et Santa, 1963; Sáenz Laín, 1981). It belongs to the class of Magnoliopsida, order of Apiales. In order to limit these health problems, we studied the antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory and anti-hemolytic properties of the methanolic extract of this species.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant material

The plant was harvested at Djebel Felfla (Skikda) at an altitude of 550 m. Then it was freed from impurities and dried in the shade at an ambient temperature. The species was identified

by Professor Laouer Hocine, Professor at the laboratory of valorization of natural biological substances.

Methanolic extract

The aerial parts are crushed and reduced to powder, and then 20 g are macerated in 100 ml of a water-alcoholic mixture of methanol (1-10 V/V) at ambient temperature for 72 hours. After filtration with filter paper several times, the methanol is removed from the filtrate by evaporation under reduced pressure in a rotary evaporator (BÜCHI), to obtain the methanolic extract (**ME**).

Total phenolic contents (TPC)

The TPC in methanolic extracts was determined by spectrometry using "Folin-Ciocalteu" reagent assay (Li et al., 2007). A volume of 1 ml of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent diluted 10 times with water was added to 200 μ l of ME with suitable dilutions. After 4 min, 800 μ l of a sodium carbonate solution (75 mg/ml) were added to the reaction medium. After 2 h of incubation at room temperature, the absorbance was measured at 765 nm using a UV-vis spectrophotometer.

Anti-Hemolytic Activity

The principle involved here is stabilization of human red blood cell (HRBC) membrane by hypotonicity induced membrane lysis. The assay mixture contains 1ml phosphate buffer [pH 7.4, 0.15 M], 2 ml hypo saline [0.36 %], 0.5 ml HRBC suspension (10 % v/v) with 0.5 ml of plant extracts and standard drug Diclofenac Sodium of various concentrations (50, 100, 250, 500, 1000, 2000 μ g/ml) and control (distilled water instead of hypo saline to produce 100 % hemolysis) were incubated at 37oC for 30 min and centrifuged respectively. The hemoglobin content in the suspension was estimated using spectrophotometer at 560 nm (Chippada et al., 2011). The percentage of hemolysis membrane can be calculated as follows: % hemolysis = (OD _{Test sample} / OD _{Control}) X 100

Anti-inflammatory activity in vitro

It was evaluated by the protein denaturation method (Alhakmani et al., 2013). Diclofenac Sodium, a potent anti-inflammatory drug was used as a control. The reaction mixture consists of 2 ml of the various dilutions of the ME or control and 2.8 ml of phosphate buffer saline (pH 6.4) mixed with 2 ml of egg albumen (fresh), then the mixture is incubated at 27 ° C for 15 minutes. The denaturation is induced in a water bath at 70 ° C for 10 minutes. After cooling, the absorbance was measured at 660 nm. The inhibition percentage of protein denaturation is calculated as follows:

% Inhibition = $(A_{test}-A_{control}) \times 100 / A_{control}$.

Statistical analysis

The results of the various tests are analyzed by the univariate ANOVA followed by the Dunnett and Tukey test for multiple comparisons and determination of significance rates. The statistics are made by Graphpad Prism 5.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

ТРС

The ME containing the total biomolecules has a brown color; it is soluble in Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and in methanol. The yield of extraction is 3.74%.

Gallic acid was used as a standard for the calibration curve (0-160 μ g/ml) (Figure 1) and was expressed as micrograms of Gallic acid equivalents per milligram of extract (μ g GAE/mg ME).



Figure 1. Calibration curve of Gallic acid

The ME of *D. gracilis* is rich in polyphenols $149.05 \pm 3.33 \ \mu g EAG/mg$. This content is significant compared to the majority of species of the same genera. These quantities are close to that found by (Bendiabdellah et al., 2013) in the extract of *D. crinitus*; 130.19 μ gmg. Previous studies have shown that the amount of polyphenols in plants depends on the biological (genotype, organs and ontogenesis), edaphics, and on environmental conditions (temperature, salinity, water stress and light intensity) (Ksouri et al., 2008).

Anti-hemolytic activity

This approach allows us to know the positive or negative effect of our extracts on the antifree radical system of red cells. The anti-hemolytic activity of the extract is tested on human erythrocytes and then compared with that of Diclofenac Sodium, which is known to be a good anti-hemolytic agent at non-toxic concentrations. The ME has an important membranestabilizing activity close to that of Diclofenac Sodium and its efficacy is dose-dependent (Figure 2), it showed maximum inhibition of 78.7% at the concentration of 1000 μ g / ml and Diclofenac showed the maximum inhibition of 98.66% at the same concentration. Erythrocytes are considered the major target for free radicals due to the presence of both high membrane concentrations of polyunsaturated fatty acids and the transport of oxygen associated with hemoglobin molecules which are potent promoters of reactive species to oxygen. It appears that the high total phenol content in the extract results in potent anti-hemolytic activity.



Figure 2. Anti-hemolytic activity of the ME ($n = 3 \pm SEM$). ***: $p \le 0.01$

Anti-inflammatory activity

In vitro anti-inflammatory activity may be related to denaturation of proteins. The percentage of denaturation inhibition is compared with that of Diclofenac (Figure 3). The inhibition of denaturation is directly related to the concentration of the extract. Diclofenac is slightly more active with an IC₅₀ of 218.67 μ g / ml followed by *Daucus* with an IC₅₀ of 554.07 μ g / ml. Comparison of the extracts with Diclofenac shows that the difference between the activities is not significant at 95%.



Figure 3. Anti-inflammatory activity of the ME $(n = 3) \pm SEM$

Extracts from other *Daucus* species have also been shown to be anti-inflammatory; polyphenols appear to be responsible for this activity; By studying the anti-inflammatory effect of propolis, Valenzuela-Barra et al. (2015) attributed this effect to the presence of polyphenols in considerable percentages. Bacterial infections cause an increase in the number of neutrophils, which produces an oxidative effect at the site of the microbial invasion. The erythrocytes were used as a model for studying drug-cellular membrane interactions. Anti-inflammatory effects stabilize erythrocytes against hemolytic stress induced by hypo-tonicity which prevents the release of hemoglobin. This membrane stabilization activity of erythrocytes is used in vitro to evaluate the anti-inflammatory activity of various compounds. The erythrocyte membrane is analogous to the lysosomal membrane and its stabilization implies that the extract can also stabilize the lysosomal membrane which is important in limiting the inflammatory response by preventing the release of the lysosomal constituents of activated neutrophils such as bacterial proteases and Which also cause inflammation of tissues and lesions (Kumar et al., 2013).

CONCLUSION

The results of this study can be considered the first information on anti-hemolytic and antiinflammatory properties of the methanolic extract of *D. gracilis*. This extract had a remarkable anti-hemolytic and anti-inflammatory activities which can be exploited after clinical confirmation and pharmacological standardization. Likewise, further studies are being made to test this extract in vivo to evaluate its cyto-toxicity.
REFERENCES

- Alhakmani, F., Kumar, S., Alam Khan, S. (2013). Estimation of Total Phenolic Content, In-Vitro Antioxidant and Anti-Inflammatory Activity of Flowers of Moringa oleifera. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Biomed., 3 (8): 623-627.
- Bendiabdellah, A., Dib, M. A., Meliani, N., Muselli, A., Djabou, N., Tabti, B. and Costa, J. (2013). Antibacterial Activity of Daucus crinitus Essential Oils along the Vegetative Life of the Plant. J. Chem., 01-07.
- Chippada, S.C., Volluri, S.S. and Bammidi, S.R., (2011). In Vitro Anti Inflammatory Activity of Methanolic Extract Of Centella Asiatica By HRBC Membrane Stabilisation. Rasayan J. Chem. 4(2): 457-460.
- Ksouri, R., Megdiche, W., Falleh, H., Trabelsi, N., Boulaaba, M., Smaoui, A. and Abdelly, C. (2008). Influence of Biological, Environmental and Technical Factors on Phenolic Content and Antioxidant Activities of Tunisian Halophytes. C R Biol. 331: 865-873.
- Kumar, B.S.A., Saran, G.S., Mouna, A. and Kumar, C.N. (2013). In vitro Antiinflammatory Activity of Tankana churna. Food Feed Res., 40 (1): 17-20.
- Li, H., Cheng, K.W., Wong, C.C., Fan, K.W., Chen, F. and Jiang, Y. (2007). Evaluation of Antioxidant Capacity and Total Phenolic Content of Different Fractions of Selected Microalgae. Food Chem. 102:771-776.
- Nguta, J.M., Appiah-Opong, R., Nyarko, A.K., Yeboah-Manu, D., Addo, P.G.A., Otchere, I. and Kissi-Twum, A. (2016). Antimycobacterial and Cytotoxic Activity Of Selected Medicinal Plant Extracts. J. Ethnopharmacol., 182:10-15.
- Quezel. P. and Santa, S. (1963). Nouvelle Flore de l'Algérie et des Régions Désertiques et Méridionales, Tome II. Ed. Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Paris.
- Shaikh, R.U., Pund, M.M. and Gacche, R.N. (2016). Evaluation of Anti-Inflammatory Activity of Selected Medicinal Plants Used In Indian Traditional Medication System In Vitro As Well As In Vivo. J. Tradit. Complement Med., 6: 355-361.
- Valenzuela-Barra, G., Castro, C., Figueroa, C., Barriga, A., Silva, X., Heras, B., Hortelano, S. and Delporte, C. (2015). Anti-inflammatory Activity and Phenolic Profile of Propolis from Two Locations in Region Metropolitana de Santiago, Chile. J. Ethnopharmacol. 168: 37-44.
- Wikaningtyas, P. and Sukandar, E.Y., (2016). The Antibacterial Activity of Selected Plants Towards Resistant Bacteria Isolated From Clinical Specimens. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Biomed. 6(1): 16-19.

PHYSIOLOGICAL STUDY OF CULTIVARS CARRYING THE 1BL.1RS WHEAT-RYE CHROMOSOMAL TRANSLOCATION IN BREAD WHEAT

Ioannis N. XYNIAS¹*, Athanasios G. MAVROMATIS², Chryssanthi I. PANKOU², Theano KOUTSOURA¹, Demetrios KYPARISSAS¹, Eleni LILIOPOULOU¹, Marianthi PRIAMI¹, Ioannis TASIOS¹, Demetrios TRAKOSIARIS¹, Fokion PAPATHANASIOU¹

¹School of Agricultural Technol. & Food Technol. and Nutrition, Western Macedonia University of Applied Sciences Terma Kontopoulou, 53 100 Florina, Greece
²Laboratory of Genetics and Plant Breeding, School of Agriculture, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, 54124 Thessaloniki, Greece

* ixynias@teiwm.gr; ioannis_xynias@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

In order to study the effect of the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosome translocation, on yield and other agronomic traits, three Hellenic spring wheat varieties with (cvs. Acheron, Elissavet and Orfeas) and six cultivars without the translocation (cvrs. Apollonia, Acheloos, Vergina, Doirani, Nestos and Strymonas) were used. The Russian cultivar KVZ/Cgn, one of the donators of the aforementioned translocation to modern wheat cultivars, was used as check. The complete randomized block design was used with four replications and the experiments were established in the main farm of the Western Macedonia University of Applied Sciences in Florina for two successive years. The following physiological traits were measured: total chlorophyll content, chlorophyll fluorescence, CO₂ assimilation rate, stomatal conductance, intercellular CO₂ concentration and transpiration rate. Significant differences were recorded in yield and in three traits, i.e. total chlorophyll content, CO₂ assimilation rate and transpiration rate. Regarding yield, despite the existing variability between cultivars with and without the translocation, no effect of the translocation was noticed. The two cultivars with (Elissavet and Acheron) performed equally with three of the top yielding varieties without translocation (Doerani, Apollonia and Achellos). Also, the same three wheat cultivars without the translocation were ranked in top three places according to the total chlorophyll content but they did not differentiated from cv. Elissavet which is one of the translocation carriers. In CO₂ assimilation rate, no significant effect of the translocation was observed and a similar situation was noticed in the transpiration rate. In order to find out the effect of the physiological traits on yield potential, the above results were compared to the yield performance of the corresponding cultivars. This comparison led to the conclusion that the 1BL.1RS chromosome translocation does not give any significant advantage regarding the physiological traits studied. Further research is needed to confirm the results of the present study.

Keywords: Yield potential, Drought resistance, Chlorophyll, Assimilation rate.

INTRODUCTION

One of the main problems in releasing new cultivars is that this new germplasm will probably be grown on marginal environments due to the irrational waste of territorial resources noticed in previous years. The drought conditions prevailing in spring especially in the last decades, is the main obstacle of agricultural production in the southern regions of Europe (Yau and Saxena, 1997) complicating the problem of food sufficiency. Thus, one of the most decisive factors in all breeding programs is the identification and integration of genes into cultivated varieties that confer resistance or tolerance to drought (Blum, 1988) and avoid mistakes of the past (Acevedo and Fereres, 1994). This led breeders and especially those working on wheat, to look for new gene pools to face the problem (Fehr, 1987). According to various reports bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L em Thell) cultivars carrying the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosome translocation are characterized among other by high yield potential (Kim et al., 2004; Xynias et al., 2007) and resistance to drought (Hoffmann, 2008). The 1BL.RS translocation is originated from cv. Kavkaz/Cgn (Schlegel and Meinel, 1994) and it's unique traits are attributed to genes located on the short arm of the first chromosome of rye (Schlegel and Meinel, 1994; Xynias et al., 2007). According to Acevedo and Fereres (1994) one crucial mistake in developing new germplasm was the non-sufficient exploitation of certain physiological traits, rendering cultivated plants more competitive to weeds. Common physiological traits used to recognize increased stress tolerance are was exchange parameters such as assimilation rate (A), stomatal conductance (g_s) , transpiration rate (E) and intercellular CO₂ concentration (c_i), chlorophyll content and chlorophyll fluorescence (Hura et al., 2007; Živčák et al., 2008). The above physiological traits have exhibited a good correlation with tolerance to stresses and yield parameters with a high heritability and repeatability (Fotovat et al., 2007; Sayar et al., 2008).

In a preliminary report Pankou et al. (2017) stated that no evidence was obtained confirming the positive effect of the translocation on relevant physiological traits. They suggested that research had to be continued and this was the aim of the present study: was to investigate the effect of the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosomal translocation on certain physiological traits and elucidate how they affect yield and drought resistance.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

For the purpose of the study, nine Hellenic bread wheat cultivars (eg. Acheron, Elissavet, Orfeas, Apolonia, Acheloos, Vergina, Doirani, Nestos and Strymonas) that were developed at the Cereal Institute of Thessaloniki (Anonymous 1985) were used. The Russian cultivar Kavkaz/Cgn, one of the donors of the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosome translocation (Xynias et al., 2006; Weng, 2007) was used as check. Three of the Hellenic cultivars were found to carry the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosome translocation (cvs. Acheron, Elissavet and Orfeas) whereas the other six cultivars, were lacking the specific translocation (Xynias et al., 2006; Peros et al., 2015).

Method

Experimenting lasted for two successive years. The examined cultivars and the control were sown in early November 2015 and at the same time in November 2016, in a field of the University of Applied Sciences of W. Macedonia Farm in Florina Greece ($40^{\circ}46'$ N, $21^{\circ}22'$ E, 707 m asl), in a sandy loam soil with pH 6.3, organic matter content14.0 g/kg, N-NO₃ 100 mg/kg, P (Olsen) 50.3 mg/kg and K 308 mg/kg and water holding capacity 21.8% (0 to 30 cm depth). Seedbed preparation included mouldboard plough, disc harrow and cultivator. Nitrogen and P₂0₅ at 80 and 40 kg ha⁻¹, respectively, were incorporated into the soil as diammonium phosphate (20-10-0) before sowing. The crop was kept free of weeds by hand hoeing when necessary. The Randomized Complete Blocks (RCB) experimental design (fixed model) was applied, with four replications (Steel and Torrie, 1960). The plots were consisted of five rows (plot area $3m^2$) of which the three inner were threshed (harvest area $1.8m^2$).

The mechanically harvested grain was weighed and a sample of grain was dried in an oven at 105° C for 24 h to determine grain moisture content. Grain yield was referred to 12% grain moisture. Chlorophyll content readings were taken with a hand-held dual-wavelength meter (SPAD 502, Chlorophyll meter, Minolta Camera Co., Ltd., Japan). For each plot six fully expanded flag leaves per plot were used when the plants were at physiological maturity with six measurements per leaf, a total of 36 readings per plot. A portable photosynthesis system (LI-6400 XT, Li-Cor, Lincoln, Nebraska, USA) equipped with a 2X6 (12 cm²) open top narrow leaf chamber was used for determinations of CO₂ assimilation rate (A), transpiration rate (E), stomatal conductance to water vapour (g_s), and intercellular CO₂ concentration (C_i) during grain filling period. Leaf gas exchange was measured on the fully expanded flag leaf during the grain-filling period on six plants from each plot from 09:00-12:00 in the morning to avoid high vapor-pressure deficit and photoinhibition at midday. The quantum photosynthetic yield of photosystem (PS) II or Y was measured with the portable OS5p Chlorophyll Fluorometer (Opti-Sciences Inc. Hudson, NH, USA).

The means were compared according to the L.S.D. method. The data obtained were analyzed statistically with Mstat-C (Freed and Eisensmith, 1986).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Significant differences were recorded between the examined cultivars in yield (significant differences at p = 1%, Table 1). Regarding of the physiological traits studied, revealed significant differences in total chlorophyll content, CO₂ assimilation rate and transpiration rate. No differences were observed in the other physiological traits between the examined cultivars regardless of the presence of the translocation (Table 1).

| | | | Total | Chlorophyl | CO ₂ | Stomatal | Intercellular | Transpiratio |
|-----------|----|-------|---------|------------|-----------------|------------|---------------|--------------|
| Source | df | Yield | chlorop | 1 | assimilati | conductanc | CO_2 | n rate |
| | | | hyll | fluorescen | on rate | e | concentration | |
| | | | content | ce | | | | |
| Years | 1 | ns | ** | ** | ns | ns | ** | ns |
| (Y) | | | | | | | | |
| Factor | 9 | ** | ** | ns | ** | ns | ns | ** |
| (A) | | | | | | | | |
| (Y) x (A) | 9 | ** | * * | * | ** | ns | ns | ** |
| Error | 54 | | | | | | | |
| CV | | 18.57 | 8.13 | 16.38 | 13.22 | 40.97 | 6.08 | 13.69 |

Table 1. Analysis of variance of bread wheat with and without the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosomal translocation regarding yield and six physiological traits.

The cultivars were classified according to their yield performance into four groups (Table 2). The first one included the top yielding varieties, (marked with A) cultivars Doerani, Apollonia, Elissavet*, Acheloos and Acheron* (cultivars marked with a * are those carrying the 1BK.1RS translocation). The second group included cultivars Apollonia, Elissavet*, Acheloos, Acheron* and KVZ/Cgn* (marked with B). The third group was consisted on the cultivars Acheloos, Acheron*, KVZ/Cgn* and Strymonas (marked with C). Finally, the fourth group marked with D, was consisted of the lower yielding cultivars Nestos, Orfeas* and Yecora. It is obvious from the above results that there was no particular yield differentiation of varieties studied. For this, it could be stated that no particular effect of the translocation exists and this is in disagreement with the conclusion of Kim et al. (2004), who reported a positive effect of the translocation on

yield performance. Sufficient yield can be produced by elite cultivars despite the effect of the translocation. The insufficient yield performance of cv. Yecora could be attributed to the very low temperatures prevailing in Florina during winter. However, there is no excuse for the inferior performance of cvrs. Orfeas* and Nestos, which are supposed to be low-temperature-resistant.

| Cultivar | Yield | Total | CO ₂ | Transpiration |
|-------------|-------|-------------|-----------------|---------------|
| | | chlorophyll | assimilation | rate |
| | | content | rate | |
| Acherontas* | ABC | BC | AB | AB |
| Elissavet* | | AB | | CD |
| | AB | | DE | |
| KVZ/Cgn* | | CD | | AB |
| | BC | | CDE | |
| Orfeas* | | CD | ABC | BCD |
| | D | | | |
| Apollonia | | AB | А | А |
| | AB | | | |
| Acheloos | ABC | А | ABC | ABC |
| Yecora | | D | | D |
| | D | | Е | |
| Doerani | А | Α | ABC | AB |
| Nestos | | BC | | ABCD |
| | D | | BCDE | |
| Strymonas | | AB | | ABC |
| | C | | BCD | |
| LSD | 102.1 | 3.327 | 1.968 | 0.6056 |

Table 2. Ranking of the bread wheat cultivars according to chlorophyll content.

*Cultivars carrying the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosomal translocation

The same view existed and in the ranking of the physiological traits (Table 2). The cultivars were classified in four groups in total chlorophyll content and transpiration rate and in five groups in CO₂ assimilation rate. For total chlorophyll content, cultivars Acheloos and Doerani were ranked in the first two places, they differed from three of the cultivars with the translocation (Acheron*, KVZ/Cgn*, and Orfeas*) but did not differ from the fourth cultivar with the translocation (Elissavet*). A similar view was found in assimilation and transpiration rates, where Apollonia was ranked first. The physiological traits studied in the present work (assimilation rate, stomatal conductance, transpiration rate and intercellular CO₂ concentration, chlorophyll content and chlorophyll fluorescence) are commonly used to recognize increased stress tolerance (Hura et al., 2007; Živčák et al., 2008), correlated with yield parameters (Fotovat et al., 2007; Sayar et al., 2008). However, yield performance was not affected by the aforementioned physiological traits and by the presence of the translocation. Only one cultivar with the translocation performed well (cvr Elissavet*). This questionable effect of the translocation was also reported in other studies. Lazaridou et al. (2017) suggested that any positive effect of the translocation on the host cultivar is determined by the genetic background of the host cultivar itself. The best yielding cultivars did not carry the translocation and exhibited the highest values in all physiological traits studied. The aforementioned results support the view of Acevedo and Fereres (1994) who stated that exploitation of certain physiological traits could be beneficial in producing high yield varieties. Cvs. Apollonia and Doerani which were ranked in first places not only in yield but also in all physiological traits studied are good examples of the former statement.

CONCLUSIONS

The comparison performed in the present study, supported previous statements that the 1BL.1RS chromosome translocation does not give any significant advantage regarding the physiological traits studied (assimilation rate, stomatal conductance, transpiration rate and intercellular CO_2 concentration, chlorophyll content and chlorophyll fluorescence). Its effect is probably influenced by the genetic background of the host cultivar. However, further research is needed to confirm the results of the present study.

Acknowledgement

Financial support of this project (project code80163) by the Special Account for Research Grants of the Western Macedonia University of Applied Sciences, Greece is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- Anonymous. (1985). Cereal Varieties. Hellenic Ministry of Agriculture, Thessaloniki (in Greek).
- Acevedo, E. and Fereres, E. 1994. Resistance to abiotic stresses. In Hayward, M. D., Bosemark, N. O. and Romagosa, I. (eds) Plant breeding: principles and prospects. Chapman and Hall, London. pp. 406-421Blum A. (1988). Plant breeding for stress environments. CRC Press, Inc. Boca Raton, Florida, pp. 223.
- Fehr, W. R. (1987). Principles of cultivar development. Vol.1. Theory and techniques. Macmillan Publishing Company, N. York, pp 536.
- Fotovat, R., Valizadeh, M., Toorchi, M. (2007). Association between water-use efficiency components and total chlorophyll content (SPAD) in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) under well-watered and drought stress conditions. J. Food Agric. Environ., 5: 225-227.
- Freed R. D., Eisnsmith S. P. (1986). Mstat C. Michigan State University, Lansing, Michigan, USA.
- Hoffmann, B. (2008). Alteration of Drought Tolerance of Winter Wheat Caused by Translocation of Rye Chromosome Segment 1RS. Cereal Res. Commun., 36: 269–278.
- Hura, T., Grzesiak, S., Hura, K., Thiemt, E., Tokarz, K. and Wędzony, M. (2007). Physiological and biochemical tools useful in drought-tolerance detection in genotypes of winter triticale: Accumulation of ferulic acid correlates with drought tolerance. Ann. Bot., 100: 767-775.
- Kim, W., Johnson, J. W., Baenziger, P. S., Lukaszewski, A. J., Gaines, C. S. (2004). Agronomic effect of wheat-rye translocation carrying rye chromatin (1R) from different sources. Crop Sci., 44: 1254-1258.
- Lazaridou, T. B., Pankou, C. I., Xynias, I. N., Roupakias, D. G. (2017). Effect of the 1BL.1RS Wheat- Rye Translocation on the Androgenic Response in Spring Bread Wheat. Cytology and Genetics, vol. 6, (accepted for publication).
- Pankou, C. I., Papathanasiou, F., Lazaridou, T. B., Xynias, I. N. (2017). Study of the performance of bread wheat cultivars carrying the 1BL.1RS wheat-rye chromosomal

translocation with physiological criteria. pp. 251-255. In Proceedings of VIII International Agricultural Symposium "AGROSYM", Jahorina, 5-8 October 2017, Bosnia and Herzegovina.

- Peros, H., Dalezios, G., Liakakos, E., Delis, C., Lazaridou, T. B. and Xynias, I. N. (2015). Molecular detection of the 1BL.1RS translocation in Hellenic bread wheat cultivars. Cereal Res. Commun., 43: 318-325.
- Sayar, R., Khemira, H., Kameli, A. and Mosbahi, M. (2008). Physiological tests as predictive appreciation for drought tolerance in durum wheat (*Triticum durum* Desf.). Agron. Res., 6: 79-90.
- Schlegel, R. and Meinel, A. (1994). A quantitative trait locus (QTL) on chromosome arm 1RS of rye and its effects on yield performance of hexaploid wheat. Cereal Res. Commun., 22: 7-13.
- Weng, Y., Azhaguvel, P., Devkota, R. N. and Rudd J. C. (2007). PCR-based markers for detection of different sources of 1AL.1RS and 1BL.1RS wheat-rye translocations in wheat background. Plant Breed., 126 (5) 482-486.
- Xynias, I. N., Kozub, N. and Sozinov, I. (2006). Seed storage protein composition of Greek bread wheat cultivars. Plant Breed., 125: 408-410.
- Xynias, I. N., Kozub, N., Sozinov, I. and Sozinov, A. (2007). Biochemical Markers in Wheat Breeding. Int. J. Plant Breed., 1: 1-9.
- Yau, S. K. and Saxena, M. C. (1997). Drought as a global concern in plant protection. In Jextic,S. & Pekic, S. (eds), "Drought and Plant Protection", Belgrade, Yugoslavia, pp. 15-22.
- Živčák, M., Brestič, M. and Olšovská, K. (2008). Application of photosynthetic parameters in the screening of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) genotypes for improved drought and high temperature tolerance. In Allen, J.F., Gantt, E., Golbeck, J.H., Osmond, B. (eds.), "Photosynthesis: Energy from the Sun". 14th International Congress in Photosynthesis, Springer, Berlin – Heidelberg, pp. 1247-1250.

DRYING OF KIWI FRUIT SLICES BY APPLYING VACUUM IMPREGRATION

Zekiye GÖKSEL^{1*,} S. Seçil ERDOĞAN¹, Cüneyt TUNÇKAL², Arif ATAK¹
 ¹Ataturk Horticulture Central Research Institute, 77102 Yalova, Turkey
 ² Yalova University, Electricity and Energy Department, 77200 Yalova, Turkey

* zekiyegoksel@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Kiwifruit is native to north-central and eastern China and has been cultivated in our country for about 30 years. Kiwifruit is quite rich in vitamins, minerals, antioxidants, phytochemicals and fiber content. The kiwi plantation area in our country is showing a rapid increase and parallel to this, production is increasing significantly. Therefore, kiwifruit produced in our country is becoming an important industrial product with minimal loss of quality. In this project, Actinidia deliciosa cv. Hayward was used as material. Kiwifruits were sliced to a thickness of 9 mm and dried in a hot air dryer at 65 ° C. Vacuum impregnation and osmotic dehydration technique which saves energy in drying technology were used and also 30%, 40% and 60% brix sucrose concentrations used as pre-treatments. The drying process continued until the water activities (aw) of the products were 0.60-0.65. As a control, the fruits were dried without any treatment in the hot air dryer. In this study, effect of vacuum impregnation method of kiwifruit on osmotic dehydration mechanism and the effects of different osmotic solution concentrations on the dried quality qualities of this mechanism have been examined. For this purpose, total dry matter, aw (water activity), L*a*b*- chroma- hue color values and sensory evaluation were performed and the best solution concentration was recommended according to these analyses. 30% brix concentration sensually recommended since samples with a solution concentration of 30 brix was best preserved in terms of colour that provides the best sour sweet balance.

Keywords: Actinidia deliciosa, Dried fruit, Quality Analyses, Vacuum İmpegration

INTRODUCTION

Kiwifruit is a kind of fruit that is attracted by consumers due to its taste and high nutritional qualities. In parallel with the increase in the world, the production of kiwi in Turkey is increasing every year. It is reported that the production of kiwifruit, which was 1,400 tons in 2000, rose to 43,000 tons nowadays (TUIK, 2017).

Due to the short shelf life of the kiwifruit it is necessary to increase the product range by using different processing methods to increase the commercial life. For this purpose, one of the methods applied to maintain the quality characteristics of the fruits for a long time is dried fruit. The osmotic dehydration technique, which is widely used in the world together with the drying method, has gained an increasing interest in recent years due to the advantages such as the reduction of the energy input required by the drying technology and the desired product quality. Osmotic dehydration is not a drying method alone and is considered as a pre-treatment before the actual drying process. Osmotic dehydration can be used alone, or it can be used with techniques such as vacuum impregnation and air drying.

The vacuum impregnation prevents oxidative browning and fading of the fruit pieces by expelling the gas in the pores. Several studies have been carried out on the drying of kiwi slices

(Tylewicz et al., 2011; Nowacka et al., 2014, Allaeddini et al., 2004), and it has been reported that the kiwi can be successfully used in industrial applications. For kiwi and other sliced fruits, it has also been reported that osmotic pre-treatment may be recommended to prevent loss of aroma. It has been recommended to obtain better quality dried products, which would be beneficial to investigate the drying of the kiwifruit by different drying methods (Orikasa et al., 2014).

In this study, the effects of the quality of the kiwifruit slices of the hot air-dried dryer were investigated. Vacuum impregnation-osmotic dehydration was used as pre-treatment to determine the best application by analyzing the dried kiwi quality properties (moisture content, water activity, and surface colour of kiwi samples). In our country, dried and processed kiwi sliced is very limited. This work will create an opportunity area for the production of dried kiwi. At the same time, this new product will increase consumers' chances of being easy to eat, rich in nutritional value, and superior in terms of sensory properties such as colour, appearance, taste, smell and aroma.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant Materials

A. deliciosa cv. Hayward was used as a material. Fruits were obtained from the kiwi garden of Yalova Atatürk Horticultural Central Research Institute (Viticulture Department).

Methods

1. *Harvest and storage fruits:* Kiwifruits were harvested when reached 7 Brix. Fruits were kept in the cold weather storage area of the post-harvest section and when reached to Brix value of 11, kiwi-fruits were processed.

2. Preparation of kiwi slices:

The kiwi fruit was peeled and then sliced circularly with a slitter thickness of 9 mm.

3. Preparation of osmotic solution and pre-drying in osmotic solution:

As a pre-treatment in the osmotic drying process, a "vacuum impregnation" process was carried out using three osmotic solutions. For that, sucrose solutions were prepared with water-soluble dry matter content (Brix) of 30%, 40% and 60%.

Brix values of the sucrose solutions and of fruits (fresh and dried) were determined with an Atago brand refractometer (PAL-3 model, Tokyo, Japan). The saccharose solution prepared for the osmotic dehydration is used at a temperature of 30 °C. The kiwi slices and the osmotic dehydration solution in a ratio of 1/4, were placed in a container (Fig. 1) in which a vacuum pressure was applied. The vaccum pressure was maintained at 78 kPa for 30 min (Tylewicz et al., 2011; Nowacka et al., 2014, Allaeddini and Emam-Djomeh, 2004; Karacaoğlu ve ark, 2016).

4. *Drying of the fruit:* Kiwi samples were dried in a drying oven at a temperature of 65 ° C and a relative humidity of 1.0% at relative humidity 10%.

5. Tests and analyses made: Water activity analysis was performed with a Novasina water activity device and sorbent isotherms were determined (when the aw value is between 0 and 1, the measurement accuracy is ± 0.001).

Colour analysis. Colour analysis on fresh and dried fruits L * a * b *, chroma and hue values were determined with the Konica-Minolta CR 400 instrument. H = tan-1 (b / a) C = (a2 + b2) ¹/₂. (L is a brightness value, 0 is black, 100 is white, a is red, -a is green, b is yellow and -b is blue)

Total Dry Matter Detection. Fresh, osmotic and dry kiwi samples (between 2-6 g) were dried to constant weight under vacuum at 65 °C 100 mmHg (13,3 kPa) and the results were calculated as % (AOAC, 1990). Amount of water soluble in dry matter; The amount of water-soluble dry matter measured at room temperature (20 °C) with the "Atago" brand hand refractometer (Atago S-28, Japan), with 3 replicate fruit juice removed from fresh kiwi samples. The results are expressed in %.



Figure 1. General view of the vacuum impregnation system (1.Single-phase electric motor 2. Vacuum pump 3. Vacuum tank 4. Sample area 5. Solution area 6. Manometer 7. Transparent plastic hose 8. Globe valve

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Vacuum impregnation was applied to the solutions prepared at different concentrations in the study and the results of the kiwifruit analyses are given below.

Flesh colour: In colour analysis of kiwi slices fresh and dried in three different osmotic solutions, L * value changed between 45.13-37.37, a colour value was between -6.76 and 0.6, b * colour value was 17.35-22.91, Chroma 18.72-22.91, H $^{\circ}$ -0.65 and 0, respectively. As the concentration of osmotic solution increased, the overall brightness decreased, therefore the L* value, which was 45.13, decreased to 37.37 at the highest sugar concentration. The a* value increased, the dark green colour changed from green, this is from value of -6.76 to 0.6 as the sugar concentration increased. The b* value was also found to change from yellow to dark yellow. Instrumental colour measurements correspond visually to high-quality food products. The preservation of natural colour in processed and stored food is very difficult. The green colour found in the fruit is determined by chlorophyll pigments, which degrade during heat treatments and eventually change the green colour.

In many studies on green colour changes due to time and temperature applications, it has been determined that the green colour is decreased and the change to brown colour (Monslaves et al., 1998). As the concentration of osmotic dehydration increased, Chroma rose slightly while it decreased in applications with less concentrated solutions. Also in the brightness, it was obtained the similar results. Colour changes varied depending on drying time and concentration of sucrose. While the 60<u>B</u>rix concentrated kiwi slices are dried for 6 hours, the drying time of the lower concentration fruit samples were prolonged.

The results obtained in the study were found to be consistent with the results obtained in other kiwifruit drying studies (Talens et al. 2003; Allaeddini and Emam-Djomeh, 2004; Mohammadi et al., 2008; Orikasa et al., 2014).

Moisture Ratio and Water Activity: Moisture content is an important factor in preserving the quality of food. In addition to affecting microbial quality, the increase in moisture content has negative effects such as oxidation, hydrolysis and nonenzymatic browning, and increased enzymatic activity in the structure of food. In ripe kiwifruit, it was determined that Brix value was 15.1, the dry matter amount was in the range of 23.76-26.89, and the moisture % was between 73.11% and 76.24%. Also it was determined that the kiwi slices dried by applying three different osmotic concentrations at 30, 40, and 60% changed dry matter contents from 88.35 to 89.14% and moisture content from 10.86% to 12.62%. In similar studies, it was determined that the total dry matter content varied between 86.98% and 89.64%.

Water activity is different from aw humidity in food quality; it is determine the physical, chemical and microbiological stability. Water activity is known to be moderate to severe food products of 0.60-0.90 and includes a large group of foodstuffs that are spontaneously stable, directly consumable foods (Aguilera et al., 1992). No microbiological activity is observed when the water activity value falls below 0.60. In general, dry fruits have a water activity value of 0.60 to 0.75. The values of aw were determined within the scope of this study, considering the importance of preserving the quality in food and aw importance in drying process. The water activity of the freshly untreated kiwi was determined to be 0.95. Talens et al. (2003) have found water activity value of 0.97 in their study.

In addition, they reported that it would be beneficial to apply osmotic dehydration in a short period of time to prevent damage to the fruit tissues or cells. In our study, vacuum impregnation has been shown to be beneficial in shortening the duration of dehydration. Similar comments have also been made by other researchers (Nowacka et al, 2014; Talens et al. 2003). Even though the immersion method, which is an osmotic dehydration method, slows down in terms of mass transit, it is a process that supports the improvement of the quality of the final product and energy saving. The most important advantage is to prevent microbial degradation of foodstuffs by reducing water activity prior to drying (Mujica-Paz et al., 2006).

CONCLUSIONS

In this study, it was determined that the water activity of dried kiwi slices by applying 30, 40 and 60 Brix osmotic dehydration solution is between 0,594 and 0,630. It has been observed that the water activity results of dried fruits are in the range of food safety and can be consumed for a long time, being preserved microbiologically.

The osmotic dehydrated dried fruits by increasing sucrose concentrations were found to be partially reduced in water loss and increased dry matter concentration. As the sucrose concentration rises, it is thought to form a layer on the fruit surface that prevents mass transfer. Dried kiwi can be used both in the mixed fruit cocktail as dry kiwi and in various products (fruit cake, etc.) to replace fresh fruit after being rehydrated. Sensory evaluation of colour, texture and taste has been performed to select the most appropriate solution. The sucrose solution concentrated at 30% was sensory recommended since samples pre-drying with this osmotic solution were best preserved in terms of colour and provides the best sour/sweet balance.

REFERENCES

- Aguilera, J.M., Arias, E.P., (1992). Cyted-D Ahi: An Ibero American Project on Intermediate Moisture Foods and Combined Methods Technology. Food Res. Int., 25(2): 159-165.
- Allaeddini, B., Emam-Djomeh, Z., (2004). Formulation and Quality Improvement of Dried Kiwifruit Slices Using an Osmotic Pre-Treatment, Proceedings of the 14th International Drying Symposium (IDS 2004). São Paulo, Brazil, 22-25 August, vol. C, pp. 2127-2132.
- AOAC, (1990). Official Method of Analysis of the Association of Analytical Chemist 15th Edition, USA.
- Karacaoğlu, C., Gürsoy, O., Yılmaz, Y., (2016). Effect of Ultrasound Assisted Vacuum Impregnation Treatment on Drying Kinetics of Kiwi Slices, Akademik Gıda, 14(3): 256-266.
- Monslaves, M., Bifani, V., (1998). Chlorophyllase inactivation as a measure of blanching efficacy and colour retention of artichokes (Cynara scolymus L.). Lebensmittel Wissenschaft und Technologie, 31, 1-56.
- Mujica-Paz, H., Valdez-Fragoso, A., Lopez-Malo, A., Plaou, E., Welti-Chanes, J., (2003). Impregnation and osmotic dehydration of some fruits: Effect of the vacuum pressure and syrup concentration. J. Food Eng., 57: 305-314.
- Nowacka, M., Tylewicz, U., Laghi, L., Dalla Rosa, M., Witrowa-Rajchert, D., (2014), Effect of ultrasound treatment on the water state in kiwifruit during osmotic dehydration, Food Chem., 144: 18–25.
- Orikasa, T., Koide, S., Okamoto, S., Imaizumi, T., Muramatsu, Y., Takeda, J., Shiina, T., Tagawa, A., (2014). Impacts Of Hot Air And Vacuum Drying on The Quality Attributes of Kiwifruit Slices. J. Food Eng. 125: 51–58.
- TUIK, (2017). Turkish Statistical Institute, http://www.tuik.gov.tr
- Talens, P., Escriche, I., Martinez-Navarrete, N., Chiralt, A., (2003). Influence of osmotic dehydration and freezing on the volatile profile of kiwi fruit. Food Res. Int., 36: 635–642.
- Tylewicz, U., Fito, P.J., Castro-Giráldez, M., Fito, P., Dalla Rosa, M., (2011), Analysis of kiwifruit osmodehydration process by systematic approach systems. J. Food Eng., 104: 438–444.

EFFECT OF GROWTH PROMOTERS ON GROWTH PERFORMANCE, CARCASS CHARACTERISTICS, HEMATOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL PARAMETERS OF IRAQI SHARABI CALVES FATTENED UNDER NINEVEH PROVINCE ENVIRONMENT, IRAQ

Qussay Zaki SHAMSAL-DAIN¹, Adnan KETHER NASSER, ² Nadir YOUSIF ABOU²

¹ Northern Technical University, Technical Agricultural College, Mosul, Iraq ² State of Board of Agricultural Research, Iraq. Department of Agricultural Research, Mosul

Qussay55zshams@gmail.com*

ABSTRACT

The experiment was carried out at the calves farm of Al-Rasheida Animal station, Mosul, Iraq. To investigate the effect of using growth promoters on growth and some carcass traits, hematological and biochemical traits of Iraqi sharabi calves, 16 sharabi local calves were used (140-165kg) live body weight and 8-10 months old. Divided into 4 main groups (4calves/group), each main group was divided into 2 subgroup (2 calves /group) according to their live body weight. 1st group was fed on experimental ration only, while 2nd, 3rd and 4th groups were fed on experimental ration and supplemented with 200 g of Biolaczym, or 200 g of Sorbotiol or 25 gm. of Stymulan /100kg experimental ration, respectively, for 120 days. The rations and wheat straw were given on the rate of 2.5% and 1% of B.W., for all the groups respectively. At the end of feeding trails, blood samples were withdrawal from jugular vein from each calf and all calves were slaughtered. The results indicated that adding growth promoter type of stymulant to the ration of 4^{th} calves group has significantly (p ≤ 0.05) increased the daily gain, total gain, final weight, somebody dimensions, hot and cold carcass weights, loin eye area, dressing and main cuts percentages, hemoglobin, red & white blood cell counts, packed cell volume ,total protein and globulin, while cholesterol, triglycerides and urea were decreased significantly ($p \le 0.05$) as compared with other calves groups 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3rd respectively. It was concluded that using Stymulan as growth promoter in fattening Sharabi calves had improved some production performance, carcass traits, hematological and biochemical parameters.

Keywords: Growth promoters, Some growth and carcass traits, Hematological and biochemical traits, Iraqi sharabi calves.

INTRODUCTION

Growth promoters are defined as alternative sources of antibiotics used in animal meat diets, as a partial or total replacement of these substances (El-Ashry et al., 2006). In the last decade, WHO has promoted the use of growth promoters as alternative sources of antibiotics in meat-animal diets .These Growth promoters are added to cattle, buffalo, sheep and goats rations in order to increase growth speed, body weight and improve some carcass characteristics may be due to its ability to improve digestion in the stomach and improve the feed efficiency by increasing the ability of bacteria to benefit from food compounds and identify the growth and activity of micro-organisms harmful and a positive reflection on some of the qualities of production of animals (Ahmed et al., 2009). Different types of growth

promoters are available in the market, such as enzymes (Zeid et al., 2008), juices of certain fruits and vegetables (Ahmed, et al., 2009), herbs and spices (Frankic et al., 2009), the oils of some medicinal plants (Khattab et al., 2010) and some medicinal plants seeds (Abdullah et al., 2012). It was noted that the addition of the growth promoter of the type of Megavit- DB to the fattening of the Red Chittagonger and Holstein crossbreed bull calves caused a significant increase in the rate in daily gain, total body gain (Sarker et al., 2010), in addition that adding growth promoter type of stymulan to the fattening ration of sharabi calves have significantly improved the rate of daily gain, total body gain as compared to control (Nasser et al. 2012). Bakr et al. (2009) reported that the addition of the growth promoter type of Biovet to buffalo calves diets significantly increased the number of red blood cells and the percentage of packed cell, also Shams al-dain et al. (2014c) reported that the addition of the growth promoter type of Stymulan to local calf significantly increased total protein and globulin concentration in local calf serum as compared to control group. Because of the availability of many growth promoters in the local markets of Mosul. This study was designed to use three types of growth promoters, Biolaczym, Sorbotiol and Stymulan to adding to the local fattening calves rations to observe their effect on productive efficiency, some characteristics of the calve carcasses, some hematological and biochemical parameters.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This work was carried out at cattle farm of Al-Rashidiya station, Department of Agricultural Research in Mosul, State of Board of Agricultural Research, Ministry of Agriculture. Sixteen local sharabi calves aged 8-10 months and weights 140-165 kg calves were assigned randomly into 4 main groups(4 calves s/group) according to their live weight ,each main group was divided into 2 subgroup (2 calves/group), and housed in 8 semi-shaded well ventilated pen (10 x 5 m) containing a stage for calves movement and exposure to sunlight .All groups of calves were fed on the experimental ration (Table 1) prior to formulating the experimental ration, the main feed ingredients were analyzed according to AOAC (2007),which supply from feed factory at Al-Rashidiya station from the Feedstuffs which available at the station, to cover the need for the growing calves of protein and energy represented by the American Research Council (NRC.,1994) (table 1) the experimental ration was provided at rate 2% of the live body weight of the calves group with wheat straw fed *ad libitum* for fifteen days as a preliminary period, at the end of the preliminary period all calves reweighted again in the morning and before the introduction of experimental ration .These weights were considered the initial weights for experimental for the four main calves groups.

The growth promoters were obtained from the local markets of Mosul, North part of Iraq. growth promoter type of Biolaczym, containing *Bacillus subtilillis*, *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Excipients*, while the growth promoter type of Sorbotiol, containing Sorbotiol, L-lysin, DL-methionine, and B12, the products of Biolaczym and Sorbotiol, are produced by Vietnamese company Minh Dung ,and growth promoter type of Stymulan contains some medicinal plants (cumin and fennel) and oils of some active compounds (cinnamon oil, clove oil, peppermint oil) and some extracts such as peppermint, carotene and some vitamins A, D3, E, K, C and beta and some mineral salts such as magnesium, Cobalt, manganese and sodium chloride and product by Polish Biopoint Company.

| Feed stuf | fs | Chemical analysis determined (DM% basis)* | | | | |
|------------------|-----------------------|---|--------|-------|--|--|
| Ingredients | Ingredients g/kg feed | | ration | straw | | |
| Barley grain | 400 | Dry matter(%) * | 92.28 | 93.67 | | |
| Wheat bran | 420 | Crude protein(%)* | 15.80 | 2.94 | | |
| Soy bean meal | 90 | Ether extract(%)* | 2.80 | 0.64 | | |
| Yellow corn | 80 | (%) **Crude fiber | 6.34 | 38.38 | | |
| Nacl) (Salt | 5 | Ash (%)* | 5.48 | 9.9 | | |
| Limestone(Caco3) | 5 | ME. (Kcal/kg) ** | 2744 | 41.81 | | |

Table 1. Feed stuffs (gm/kg feed) and chemical analysis (%) of experimental ration

*Determined on dry matter base according to AOAC (2007).

*Calculated from chemical analysis tables for Iraqi feed stuffs (Al-khawaja et al. 1978).

The 1st group calves was fed on the first ration (experimental ration only), while the 2nd, 3rd and 4th calves groups were fed on the second ration (experimental ration +200g of Biolaczym/100kg ration),third ration (experimental ration+100g of Sorbiol/100kg.ration), and fourth ration (experimental ration +25 g of Stymulan/100 kg ration), respectively. The four experimental rations were provided at two meals at 8:00 am and 5:00 pm. The rations and the wheat straw were provided with 2.5% and 1% of the live body weight of the calves, respectively, for 120 days. The remaining ration was reweighted at morning before the morning meal to calculate the quantities of feed intake for each group of calves. Calves were weight every fifteen days before the presentation of the morning meal, on this basis the amounts of experimental ration and the wheat straw were adjusted to each calves group.Fresh water and minerals blocks were freely available at all times in front of calves, and all calves were subjected to veterinary health care throughout the period of the experiment.

Measurements of the body dimensions (body length, chest girth, abdomen girth, front height, and wither height,) were taken at the end of the fattening period (120 days) before the animals were slaughtered using a measuring tape and numbered ruler according to the method mentioned by Shams al-dain et al.(2014b). Blood samples were individually collected early in the morning after fasting overnight from all calves groups, at the end of the experimental periods (120 days) before slaughter calves via jugular vein using a 10 ml plastic disposal syringe. About 10 ml of blood were obtained from each calf by using two vacationer tubes. The first 5 ml of the blood was put in vacationer tubes containing ethylene- demine tetra-acetic acid (EDTA), the tubes were inverted several times to ensure adequate mixing of the blood with anticoagulant and transported to the laboratory for hematological analysis, the samples were analyzed within two hours after collection, the hematological analysis included ,total of erythrocyte (RBC's $\times 10^{-6}$ cells/ul) and leukocyte (WBC's $\times 10^{-3}$ cells/ul) counts were determined manually by using the hemocytometer as described by Schalm (1977), hemoglobin concentration (Hb, g/dl) was determined according to Schalm (1977), packed cell volume (PCV%) was estimated by the use of the microhematocrit method according to Cole (1987) and expressed as a percentage. The second 5 ml of the blood but in non heparin zed glass tubes, blood samples were centrifugation at 4000 rpm /15 minutes and stored at -20C⁰ until biochemical analysis, the biochemical analysis of blood serum was used to determined the total protein (T.P), albumin (AL), globulin (GL), glycerol (G), triglycerides (TG), urea blood (BU) and blood glucose (BG) in serum by using commercial kits (Biolabo Meriex, France) according to the procedure outlined by the manufacturer and by automatic spectrophotometer. At the end of the fattening period (120 days), after fasting overnight (12 hours), prior to slaughter, all the calves were weighted (final weight) before slaughter. The slaughter was carried out at slaughter house at Al-Rashidiya station, after the slaughter, carcasses were washed, identified and weighted before being taken to the cooling chamber in order to obtain the hot carcass weight. The weight of the edible parts (testes, liver, heart, spleen and kidneys) and non edible parts (trachea, lungs, digestive tract, genital tract, head, foot and skin), subcutaneous fat weights around the internal intestines and kidneys was recorde

After the cooling period for 24 hours at a temperature of -2°C, the carcasses were reweighted to obtain the cold carcass weight and and losses due to cooling. A horizontal cut was taken between the 12th and 13th rib in order to expose the Longissimus dorsi area (loin eye area), and fat thickness were measured between the 12th and 13th ribs by using a plastic grid and vernier caliper, the fat thickness was obtained by the average of three observations in the same place .The degree of fullness of the carcass was measured by using the European grading system, which was calculated according to the method described by Commission of the European Communities. (1982), five degrees of acceptance, 1 = incomplete, 2 = medium full, 3 = wellfilled, 4 = very well filled and 5 = very full), also to measure the degree of carcass fat and the degree of lipid coating of the kidneys(kidneys fat degree), the degree of carcass fat packaging was measured by visual assay of the external fat on the carcass, (Z = lean, C = weak muscle and)fat, 1 = Lipid, 2 = very low fat, L3 = very low fat, H3 = very high fat, 4 = high fat and 5 = hyper fat. The lipid level of the kidneys was also measured by the visual estimate of the fat coating of the kidneys 1 = Very fat, 2 = low fat, 3 = good fat, 4 = high fat, 5 = excessive fat which was calculated according to the method described by Commission of the European Communities (1982). The three (11, 12 and 13) ribs regions were taken from the left side of all the calves carcasses, weighted and then put in polyethylene bags and placed in frozen until the physical section. Physical section was carried out after removing the freezing state by placing them in the refrigerator for 24 hours, the ribs were then physically separated into their components by bone, muscle and fat tissues by using scalpels and sharper knives, inside the room to avoid refrigerant evaporation as much as possible, and then recorded weights of the above components and the percentages of the rib components were calculated according to the method of Rouse et al. (1970). After completing the physical section of the ribs (11, 12 and 13), the muscle and fat tissues of all three ribs of the calve carcasses were cuts with sharp knives into small pieces and mix them well, the mixture was then mixed with an electric machine, the resulting meat was then mixed thoroughly with an electric mixer for the purpose of homogenizing. Three samples were taken from each of the three rib (11, 12 and 13) of all calves' carcasses. Chemical analysis was carried out according to the methods described by A.O.A.C. (2007) to estimate the crude fat, protein and ash. As for moisture it was calculated by taking a weight of 3-4 g of meat sample in a moisture tray after mixing it with 5 g Dry sand and dried at 50 ° C for 24 hours.

The experiment was designed by the complete randomized design (CRD). Data generated from the experiment were statically analyzed by analysis of variance was carried out on all data according to SAS (2004). Then means were separated by Duncan's multiple range tests to determine the significant at 0.05 % level of probability (Duncan, 1955).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Productive performance of calves

The statistical results of the productive performance were presented in the Table 2, showed that there were a significant (P ≤ 0.05) differences between the four calves groups in the daily and total gain and the final weight. The 4th group of calves that fed the fourth ration (experimental ration + Stymulan) was significantly (p ≤ 0.05) higher on those traits as compared with the other groups of calves that fed the first ration(experimental ration only) and the second ration (experimental ration + Biolaczym) and the third ration (experimental ration + Sorbotiol) respectively, the daily weight gain was increased and a cumulative which caused a positive

reflect to increased the total weight, causing its superiority significantly ($p \le 0.05$) in the final weight, possibly due to that growth promoter type of Stymulan containment some medicinal plants such as cumin, fennel and the oils of some effective compounds, such as cinnamon oil, clove oil, peppermint oil and some extracts of substances such as mint, carotene and antioxidants vitamin C and E, which has a positive effect on improving the immune status of animals(Safaa,2005), or perhaps that growth promoter reduce the acid function (pH) of the intestines, which increases the absorption of digested food compounds (Allam et al., 1999). These results were consistent with the results of Nasser et al. (2012) which indicated that the addition of growth promote type of Stymulan to fattening local calves rations at rate of 25 and 50 gm/100 kg ration had a significant improvement in the rate of daily weight gain and final weight as compared with those calves group that took control. The results in Table 2 showed a mathematically reduction in the daily and total feed intake by the calves groups in 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} groups, respectively, that fed the second ration (experimental ration +Biolaczym),third ration(experimental ration + Sorbotiol) and fourth ration (experimental ration + Stymulan), respectively as compared to those in 1^{st} (experimental ration), this may be due to that rations containing growth promoters as food additives, which improved the conditions of the rumen by determining the growth and activity of microorganisms and improving the efficiency of feed utilization by increasing the ability of bacteria to benefit from the compounds food (Ahmed et al., 2009), which improved the dry matter digestion factor as a result of increased feed utilization (El-Ashryet al., 2006). These results were consistent with the results of Sarker and Yang (2010), which indicated that no significant effect for the addition of growth promoter type of propolis or illite in the daily and total feed intake by Korean calves Han woo as compared to those calves that took control, but pointed to a reduction in the amount of daily feed intake of the animals containing growth promoter as compared to those control group. The decrease in daily and total feed intake was reflected by the 4th calves group (Table 2) which resulted in improved the feed efficiency as compared with the other groups of calves. These results were consistent with the results of Shams al-dain, et.al. (2014a), which indicating that there was no significant effect on the use of of growth promote type of Biolaczym in feed efficiency.

The Cost for 1 kg consumed feed for all calves groups, 550, 560,560 and 575 I.D/1kg /feed, respectively, were almost same, but the cost of feeding to produce one kg of weight gain in the fourth group 4801 I.D., was more efficient than the other groups, and were 5770, 5676 and 5422 I.D., respectively.

The results presented in table (3) showed a significant ($p\leq0.05$) effect of the addition of growth promoters in the rations in some body measurements. The 4th group of calves was significantly exceeded ($p\leq0.05$) in the body length, chest and abdomen girth as compared with other calves groups 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} , respectively, this may be attributed to the presence of a significant differences ($p\leq0.05$) in the final weights of calves groups(Table 2), which resulted in a significant ($p\leq0.05$) differences in the body length, chest and abdomen girth of the calves fed experiential ration + Stymulan, with positive and significant correlation coefficient between live weight and body length, chest and abdomen girth (Shamsal-dain et al., 2014b). These results were consistent with the results of Nasser et al. (2012), which indicated a significant effect for the addition of growth promoter type of Stymulan (0.25 and 0.50 kg/100 ration) to local Sharabi calves in body length, chest and abdomen girth. While there was no significant effect for the addition of growth promoter in the front and wither height, These results were consistent with the results of Shamsal-dain et al. (2014 a) which indicating that there was no significant effect for the addition of growth promoter type of Biolaczym (0 and 200g /100kg ration) to local calves in front and wither height.

| Treatments | T1 | T2 | Т3 | T4 |
|-----------------------------|--------------|---------------|------------|-----------|
| Studied traits | ER | ER +Bi | ER +So | ER +St |
| Initial weight, | 144 | 143 | 145 | 142 |
| kg | a± 25 | a± 26 | a± 25 | a± 27 |
| Final weight, | 205.25 | 202.33 | 207.50 | 219.25 |
| kg | b±62.0 | b± 60.5 | b± 53 | a ±69 |
| Average Daily gain,g | 510.42 | 494.42 | 520.83 | 644.38 |
| | b±111.18 | b±100.23 | b±123.10 | a± 141.80 |
| Total gain, | 61.25 | 59.33 | 62.50 | 77.25 |
| g | b± 16.25 | $b \pm 17.55$ | b± 5.66 | a±22.18 |
| Experimental ration | 3.99 | 3.79 | 3.93 | 3.96 |
| consumption (kg/calf/day) | a±0.71 | a0.75± | $a0.72\pm$ | a0.73± |
| Straw consumption | 1.40 | 1.29 | 1.38 | 1.39 |
| (kg/calf/day) | a 0.42 \pm | a0.42± | a0.31± | a± 0.35 |
| Total feed consumption | 5.39 | 5.08 | 5.31 | 5.35 |
| (kg/calf/day) | a± 0.91 | a±0.91 | a0.80± | a0.83± |
| Feed conversion efficiency | 10.57 | 10.28 | 10.19 | 8.31 |
| (g feed/g gain) | b± 4.4 | b± 4.4 | b± 5.1 | a± 3.5 |
| Cost for 1 kg consumed feed | 550 | 556 | 556 | 575 |
| (Iq.dinar/ calf /day) | | | | |
| Cost for 1 kg weight gain | 5770 | 5676 | 5422 | 4801 |
| (Iq.dinar/ calf /day) | | | | |

Table 2. Effect of growth promoters in some productive performance of calves (Mean±S.E.)

* ER= experiential ration, ER +Bi= experiential ration + Biolaczym, ER + So= experiential ration + Sorbotiol, ER + St= experiential ration + Stymulan)

**Mean with different letters within the same line are significantly different ($p \le 0.05$)

Table 3. Effect of growth promoter in different body measurements and dimensions (cm) (Mean \pm S.E.)

| Treatments | T1 | T2 | Т3 | T4 |
|----------------|-------------|---------|--------|--------|
| Studied traits | ER | ER +Bi | ER +So | ER +St |
| Body | 149.50 | 148.90 | 150.60 | 169.70 |
| length | b±18.1 | b±18.9 | b±17.3 | a±13.8 |
| Chest | 138.30 | 137.80 | 138.60 | 149.50 |
| girth | b±15.4 | b±16.3 | b±14.1 | a±11.3 |
| Abdomen | 142.60 | 141.90 | 141.20 | 154.40 |
| girth | b± 9.87 | b± 9.87 | b± 5.5 | a± 3.2 |
| Front | 104.10 | 103.60 | 103.20 | 109.20 |
| height | a± 8,8 | a 8.8 ± | a± 8.3 | a± 4.7 |
| Wither | 116.2 | 115.80 | 116.50 | 120.7 |
| height | $a \pm 9.4$ | a± 9.4 | a±9.2 | a± 6.1 |

ER= experiential ration, ER +Bi= experiential ration + Biolaczym, ER + So= experiential ration + Sorbotiol,*ER + St= experiential ration + Stymulan)

** Means with different letters within the same line are significantly different ($p \le 0.05$).

Characteristics of calve carcasses

The statistical results of the data on the carcass characteristics (Table 4) showed a significant superiority ($p\leq0.05$) for the 4thcalf groups (the experiential ration +Stymulan) in the hot and cold weight, dressing percentage and loin eye area as compared with other calves groups, 1st group (experiential ration only), 2nd group (experiential ration+Biolaczym) and 3rd group(experiential ration+Sorbiol),respectively, and the results in table 4 showed a significant ($p\leq0.05$) increased in fat thickness (mm), kidney and pelvic fat percentage(%) and main cuts percentage(%), while the secondary cut percentage (%) was a significantly ($p\leq0.05$) decreased in the 4th calf group as compared to those 1st group , this may be attributed to a positive relationship between fat thickness and kidney and pelvic fat percentage and the amount of cholesterol and triglycerides (both high and low-density lipoproteins) in the blood of buffalo calves fed to the lactobacillus +saccharamyces (Bakr et al., 2009), or perhaps the enhancers have improved the conditions of the rumen, which led to increased energy digestibility, especially the representation of energy in the showed there was no significant effect on the use of any type of the growth promoter in the percentages of the edible and non-edible parts.

| Treatments | T1 | T2 | T3 | T4 |
|------------------------------|---------|----------|---------|----------------------|
| Studied traits | ER | ER +Bi | ER +So | ER +St |
| Slaughter weight | 205.25 | 202.33 | 207.50 | 219.25 |
| (kg) | b±62.0 | b± 60.5 | b± 53 | a ±69 |
| Hot carcass weight | 106.59 | 102.80 | 106.27 | 118.65 |
| (kg) | b±25.1 | b±28.3 | b± 27.1 | a± 32.6 |
| Cold carcass weight | 104.40 | 101.10 | 104.90 | 116.30 |
| (kg) | b± 24.2 | b± 26.3 | b± 25.8 | a ^j ±19.9 |
| Dressing | 50.86 | 49.96 | 50.54 | 52.09 |
| percentage(%) | b± 2.11 | b± 2.51 | b± 2.36 | a±2.78 |
| Loin eye area | 51.12 | 51.93 | 52.01 | 56.25 |
| (cm) | b± 8.89 | b± 9.23 | b± 9.23 | a± 5.21 |
| Fat thickness | 5.83 | 5.94 | 6.10 | 6.33 |
| (mm) | b± 2.1 | ab± 2.5 | ab± 2.5 | a± 2.9 |
| Edible parts | 9.34 | 9.27 | 9.21 | 10.85 |
| percentages(%) | a± 1.2 | a±0.86 | a± 0.93 | a± 0.88 |
| Non-edible parts | 17.92 | 17.11 | 16.28 | 15.25 |
| percentages(%) | a± 1.88 | a± 2.11 | a± 2.11 | a±1.94 |
| Kidney and pelvic | 2.14 | 2.68 | 3.39 | 3.51 |
| <pre>fat percentage(%)</pre> | b± 0.56 | ab± 0.64 | a± 0.82 | a±0.89 |
| Main cuts | 67.28 | 68.56 | 69.12 | 70.76 |
| percentage(%) | b± 2.31 | ab± 1.98 | a± 1.83 | a± 1.55 |
| Secondary cuts | 32.72 | 31.44 | 30.88 | 23.24 |
| percentage(%) | a± 2.31 | ab± 1.98 | a± 1.83 | b± 1.55 |

Table 4. Effect of growth promoter in some carcass traits of calves (Mean±S.E.)

ER= experiential ration, ER+Bi= experiential ration+Biolaczym, ER+So=experiential ration+Sorbotiol, * ER+St=experiential ration+Stymulan) ** Means with different letters within the same line are significantly different (p≤0.05) The obtained results are in accordance with those reported by Adnan et al. (2012), they found that supplementation with growth promoter type of Stymulan to ration of local sharabi calves was increased significantly ($p \le 0.05$)the hot and cold weight and dressing percentage as compared to those in control group, also the results were consistent with the results of Titi et al. (2008), which indicated that there was a significant effect to add growth promoter type of yeast in the diets of fattening male cows in kidney and pelvic fat percentage and accordance with those reported by Shams al-dain et al. (2014a), they found no significant effect that supplementation with growth promoter type of Biolaczym to ration of local Sharabi calf in the percentages of the edible and non-edible parts as compared to those in control group.

| Treatments | T1 | T2 | T3 | T4 |
|---------------------------|-----------|-----------|------------|-----------|
| Studied traits | ER | ER +Bi | ER +So | ER +St |
| three ribs region weight, | 1185 | 1152 | 1177 | 1224 |
| gm. | ±240 | ±240 | ±240 | ±210 |
| Muscle tissue weight, | 653 | 643 | 667 | 691 |
| gm. | ±110 | $105\pm$ | 110± | 98± |
| fat tissue | 186 | 184 | 196 | 202 |
| weight,gm. | 28± | 27± | 28± | 31± |
| Bone tissue | 346 | 325 | 314 | 331 |
| weight,gm. | 54± | $48\pm$ | 54± | 55± |
| Percentage of | 55.11 | 55.82 | 56.67 | 56.45 |
| Muscle tissue(%) | 9.2± | 9.7± | 9.9± | 9.6± |
| Percentage of | 15.69 | 15.97 | 16.65 | 16.50 |
| Fat tissue(%) | $2.5\pm$ | $2.9\pm$ | 3.7± | 3.8± |
| Percentage of | 29.20 | 28.21 | 26.68 | 27.05 |
| Bone tissue(%) | 9.2± | 9.7± | 9.9± | 9.6± |
| Percentage of Muscle/fat | 3.51 | 3.49 | 3.40 | 3.42 |
| tissue | 0.93± | 0.91± | $1.06 \pm$ | $1.02\pm$ |
| Percentage of | 1.89 | 1.98 | 2.12 | 2.09 |
| Muscle/bone tissue | $0.21\pm$ | $0.28\pm$ | $0.23\pm$ | 0.35± |
| Percentage of | 1.86 | 1.77 | 1.60 | 1.59 |
| Fat /bone tissue | 0.21± | 0.16± | 0.16± | 0.13± |
| Percentages of Muscle | 70.80 | 71.19 | 73.32 | 72.95 |
| +fat tissues | ±4.8 | 4.9± | 5.2± | ±5.4 |

| Table 5 | Effect of | growth | nromoter ir | nh | vsical | section | of th | ree ribs | region (| Mean + | SF) |
|----------|-----------|--------|-------------|-----|--------|---------|-------|----------|----------|--------|-------|
| Table 5. | Ellect OI | growm | promoter n | грп | ysicai | section | or ui | | region (| | S.E.J |

ER= experiential ration, ER +Bi= experiential ration + Biolaczym, ER + So= experiential ration + Sorbotiol, * ER + St= experiential ration + Stymulan)

The results presented in table 5 showed that there was no significant effect on the use of any type of growth promoter in the weights and percentages of bone, meat and fat tissues (physical section) of the three ribs (11,12 and 13) region. The percentages of the muscle and fat tissues were increased arithmetically, while the percentage of bone tissue was decreased arithmetically of the three rib region of the 3rd and 4th calves groups carcasses as compared with those on ^{1st} calves group. These results were consistent with the results of Mahyuddin and Widiawati (2010) which indicated that there was no significant effect to add the growth promoter type of yeast and medicinal herbs in the fattening calves of the buffalo calves in the percentage of muscle tissue of the region of the three ribs, and in accordance with the results of Nasser et al. (2012), which indicated that there was no significant effect to add the growth promoter type of stymulan in the fattening of local calves in the percentage of bone tissue of the three ribs. The results of the statistical analysis presented in Table 7 showed

no significant effect on the use of any type of growth promoter in the chemical analysis of the three rib regions. The dry matter and protein percentages were increased arithmetically while the moisture and fat percentages were decreased arithmetically of the three ribs region of the 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} calves groups as compared with those in 1^{st} calves groups.

| Treatments | T1 | T2 | T3 | T4 |
|----------------|-------------|------------|--------|------------|
| Studied traits | ER | ER +Bi | ER +So | ER +St |
| Moisture | 58.67 | 58.47 | 58.33 | 58.24 |
| percentage | $0.48\pm$ | ±0.44 | ±0.39 | ±0.36 |
| Dry matter | 41.33 | 41.53 | 41.67 | 41.76 |
| percentage | ± 0.48 | ± 0.48 | ±0.48 | ±0.48 |
| Protein | ±0.16 99.15 | 16.21 | 16.45 | 16.54 |
| percentage | | ±0.19 | ±0.34 | ±0.27 |
| Fat | 24.08 | 24.15 | 24.21 | 24.36 |
| percentage | ±0.19 | ±0.28 | ±0.19 | ±0.32 |
| Ash | 1.18 | 1.17 | 1.14 | 1.01 |
| percentage | ± 0.06 | ±0.06 | ±0.06 | ± 0.06 |

Table 6. Effect of growth promoter in chemical analysis of three ribs region (Mean±S.E.)

ER= experiential ration, ER +Bi= experiential ration + Biolaczym, ER + So= experiential ration + Sorbotiol, * ER + St= experiential ration + Stymulan).

The results presented in Table 7 showed no significant effect on the use of any type of growth promoter in carcass grade, carcass fat grade and kidneys fat grade respectively. The values of the carcass grade, carcass fat grade and kidneys fat grades in the 4th were increased arithmetically as compared with those in 1st, 2nd and 3rd calves group respectively.

| Table 7. Effect of growth | promoter in carcass. | carcass fat and kidney | s fat grades | (Mean±S.E.) |
|---------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|
| 0 | | · | 0 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |

| Treatments | T1 | T2 | T3 | T4 |
|----------------|-----------|------------|-----------|-----------|
| studied traits | ER | ER +Bi | ER +So | ER +St |
| Carcass | 3.10 | 3.15 | 3.20 | 3.40 |
| Grade | $0.15\pm$ | ± 0.25 | $0.25\pm$ | ±0.20 |
| carcass fat | 3.00 | 3.20 | 3.25 | 3.45 |
| grade | $0.20\pm$ | ±0.15 | ±0.15 | ±0.10 |
| kidneys fat | 3.10 | 3.20 | 3.30 | 3.50 |
| grade | $0.25\pm$ | ± 0.20 | $0.15\pm$ | $0.15\pm$ |

 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{ER = experiential ration, } ER + Bi = experiential ration + Biolaczym, ER + So = experiential ration + Sorbotiol, * \\ ER + St = experiential ration + Stymulan) \end{array}$

Hematological and biochemical parameters

Data in table(8) clearly indicated that supplementation with growth promoter type of Stymulan was significantly($p\leq0.05$) affected the total of erythrocyte count (RBC), total of leukocyte count (WBC) ,hemoglobin concentration (Hb)and packed cell volume (PCV).Supplementation of growth promoter type of Stymulan to 4th groups was significantly ($p\leq0.05$) the RBC, WBC ,Hb and PCV%, as compared to those in other groups.The significant increase in the total of RBC, Hb and PCV% in 4^{td} group may be due to that growth promoter Stymulan contains some active compound.

| Traits | RBC | WBC | Platelets $(\times 10^3 \mu l)$ | Hb. | PCV |
|---------|-----------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|--------|---------|
| Factors | (×10 ⁶ µl) | (×10 ³ µl) | | (g/dl) | (%) |
| T4 | 11.72 | 12.01 | 4.33 | 11.97 | 59.32 |
| ER +St | b ±1.34 | b±0.95 | a±0.29 | b±1.34 | 3.12b± |
| T4 | 99.11 | 12.24 | 4.47 | 14.12 | 32.87 b |
| ER +St | b±1.44 | b±1.11 | a±0.30 | b±1.44 | ±3.19 |
| T4 | 12.24 | 12.27 | 4.51 | 12.26 | 06.33 |
| ER +St | b±1.11 | b±1.09 | a±0.31 | b±1.11 | b±2.67 |
| T4 | 12.58 | 12.77 | 4.62 | 12.69 | 34.89 |
| ER +St | a±1.41 | a±0.95 | a±0.29 | a±1.41 | a±3.12 |

Table 8. Effect of growth promoter in some hematological traits (Mean \pm S.E.)

*RC=control, CR +Bi=control+ Biolaczym, CR + So=control+ Sorbotiol, CR + St= control+ Stymulan) ** Means with different letters within the same column are significantly different ($p\leq 0.05$)

like medicinal plants (cumin and fennel) and oils of some active compounds (cinnamon oil, clove oil, peppermint oil) and some extracts such as peppermint and carotene. These results were consistent with the results of Ahmed et al. (2009) which indicated that there was a significant effect of growth promoter (0, 2.5%, 5% and 7.5% of vegetable and fruit juices) on RBC and Hb in the blood of buffalo calves, and also accordance with those reported by Shams al-dain et al.(2014a), they found a significant effect that supplementation growth promoter type of Biolaczym (200 g/100kg feed) to ration of local sharabi calf in the RBC, Hb and PCV% as compared to those in other groups. The results in Table 9 indicate that there is a significant effect ($p \le 0.05$) for the growth promoter in most of the studied biochemical traits. The total protein was significantly increased ($p \le 0.05$) in the 4th calves group, this may be due to the fact that the total protein status of the serum reflects the animal's feeding status and that there is a positive relationship with the food protein (Taha and Shamsal-dain, 1998), this was reflected by a significant increase (p≤0.05) in the level of globulin in the blood of calves fed on the 4th ration with the addition of the growth promoter stymulan. This may be due to increased immunity of the body through the increase of globulin, due to the presence of some extracts of medicinal plants in the growth promoter Stymulan, that growth promoter are used to reduce the incidence of inflammation and stimulate the immune system of the animals receiving the growth promoter (Avita et al., 1995), or as a result of the effect of positive food enhancers on the balance of intestinal bacteria (Fuller, 1989). These results were consistent with the results of Bakr et al. (2009), who indicated that there was a significant effect of growth promoter Biovet (0,15 and 25 g/calf/day) on the total protein concentration in the buffalo calf serum and also accordance with those reported by Shamsal-dain et al. (2014a), they found a significant effect that supplementation growth promoter Biolaczym (200 g/100kg feed) to ration of local Sharabi calf in the total protein and globulin as compared to those in other groups.

While the results in Table 9 indicated that adding the growth promoter type of stymulan to 4^{th} calves group caused a significant decrease (p≤0.05) in the amounts of cholesterol and triglycerides in the serum, which may be due to the fact that the growth promoter stymulan may caused an increased in the growth of muscle and fat composition of the body of animals (Table5), or perhaps because growth promoter stymulan may prevent the synthesis of cholesterol directly (Taranto et al., 1998).The results were consistent with the results of Vasiijevic and Shah (2008), which showed a significant decrease (p≤0.05) in the blood cholesterol of milk cows fed on diets containing the growth promoter, also the results were consistent with the results of Bakr et al.(2009), which showed a significant decrease (p≤0.05)

in the blood cholesterol of buffalo calf serum fed on diets containing the growth promoter Biovet (0.15 and 25 g/calf/day), also the results were consistent with the results of Shamsaldain et al. (2014c), which showed a significant decrease ($p \le 0.05$) in the blood cholesterol and triglycerides in the local calf serum fed rations containing the growth promoter type of Stymulan (0.15 and 30 g/100kg feed). While the results in Table 9 showed a significant decrease ($p \le 0.05$) in blood urea in the 4th calves group as compared to those other groups. These results were consistent with the results of Zeid et al. (2008), which indicated a significant ($p \le 0.05$) reduction in blood urea in Friesian dairy cows fed on diets containing growth promoter (10 g xylanase, 10 g yeast, 5 g xylanase + 5 g yeast). But the results in Table 9 indicate that there was no significant effect of the growth promoter in blood glucose. These results are consistent with the results of Shams-al-dain et al. (2014c), who indicated that there is no effect of growth promoter type Stymulan in serum glucose of local calves.

| Traits | T/protein | Globulin | Albumin | Cholesterol | Triglyceride | Glucose | Urea |
|---------|------------|----------|---------|-------------|--------------|---------|-------------|
| Factors | (g/dL) | (g/dL) | (mg/dL) | (mg/dL) | (mg/dL) | (mg/dL) | (mg/dL) |
| T1 | 7.06 | 3.38 | 3.68 | 135.89 | 42.26 | 70.38 | 58.83 |
| CR | 0.24b± | 0.16b± | 0.09a± | 3.54a± | a ±1.14 | 2.82± a | $a2.24 \pm$ |
| T2 | 7.45 | 3.66 | 3.79 | 134.17 | 41.99 | 69.94 | 58.71 |
| CR +Bi | 0,35b± | 0.11b± | 0.06a± | 12a 4± | a±0.76 | a±1.54 | a±1.87 |
| T3 | 7.44 | 3.68 | 3.76 | 134.12 | 41.97 | 69.97 | 58.68 |
| CR + So | $0.42b\pm$ | 0.09b± | 0.08a± | 3.75a± | a±0.48 | a±21.1 | a±1.92 |
| T4 | 7.98 | 4.41 | 3.37 | 131.99 | 36.74 | 69.89 | 52.91 |
| CR + St | 0.38a± | 0.08a± | 0.06a± | b±6.54 | b±0.71 | a±1.67 | b±2.27 |

Table 9. Effect of growth promoter in some biochemical parameters(Mean ±S.E.)

RC=control, CR +Bi=control+ Biolaczym, CR + So=control+ Sorbotiol, CR + St= control+Stymulan) mean with different letters within the same line are significantly different (p≤0.05)**

It can be concluded that using growth promoter Stymulan in ration of Iraqi Sharabi calves had improved the studied production performance of calves, characteristics of calves carcasses, hematological and biochemical parameters without adverse effect on the animal health's as compared with others growth promoter types Biolaczym and Sorbotiol. However further studies are needed in this aspect.

REFERENCES

- Abdullah,N,M.,A.K.Nasser and N.Y.Abou.(2012).Evaluation the using of Nigilla Sativa meal oil in the ration of Sharabi growing calves from weaning to slasughter weight on their performance and carcass traits. Diyala Agri.Sci. J.,4(2):55-66.
- Ahmed,A.A.,N.I.Bassuony,E.S.Awad,A. Aiad and A. Mohamed. (2009). Adding natural juice of vegetables and fruitage to ruminant diets (B) nutrients utilization ,microbial safety and immunity ,effect of diet supplemented with lemon,onion and garlic fed to growing buffalo calves. World J.Agri.Sci.,5(4):456 -465.
- Al-Khawaja,A.K.,S.A.Matti,R.F.Asadi,K.M,Mokhtar and S.H.Aboona.(1978).The Composition and nutritive value of Iraqi feed stuff. Division Publication. Ministry of Agriculture. Iraq.

Allam,S.M.,H.M.El-Hosseiny,A.M.Abdel-Gawad,SA.El-Saadany and A.M. Zeid (1999).Medical herbs and plants as feed additives for ruminant .1.Effect of using some

medical herbs and plants as feed additives on Zaraibi goat performances. Egypt.J.Nutr.Feeds,2:349-365.

- A.O.A.C. (2007).Official Method of Analysis.19th Ed. Association of Official Analytic Chemist. Washington ,DC.USA.
- Avita,F.A.,A.C.Paulillo,R.P.Schocken-Iturrino,F.A.Luucas.,A.Orgaz and J. L.
 Quintana(1995). Acomparative study of the efficiency of a probiotic and the anti-K99
 AND anti-A14 vaccines in the control of diarrhea in calves in Brazile.
 Rev.Elev.Med.Vet.Pays Trop.,48:239-243.
- Bakr,H.A.,E.M.Said,M.M.Abd El-tawab,M.S.Hassan.(2009).The impact of Probiotic (Biovet)on some clinical ,hematological and biochemical parameters in buffalo-calves. Beni-Suef Vet. Med .J. 19(1):1-10.
- Coles, E.H. (1987). Veterinary Clinical Pathology. 4th .Ed.W.B .Company, U.S.A. PP:124-127.
- Commission of the European Communities.(1982).Commission of the European Communities(Beef carcass classification) Regulations. Council Regulations 1345 / 80,2938/81, Brussless.
- Duncan, C. B. (1955). Multiple range and multiple "F" tests. Biometrics. 11: 1-12.
- El-Ashry,M.A.;N.E,El-Bondeny,H.M.Khattab and H.M.El-Sayed.(2006).Effect of diet with medicinal herbs on nutrient digestibility and some blood metabolites of buffalo calves .Egyptian J. Nut. and Feed,2:179 -191.
- Frankic, T., M.Voljc, J.Salobir and V. Rezar. (2009). Use of herbs and spices and their extracts in animal nutrition. Acta Agri. Slovencia, 94(2):95-102.
- Fuller, R. (1989). Probiotics in man and animals. A Review. J. Appl. Bacterol. 66:365-378.
- Khattab,H.M.,S.A.Abo El-nor ;S.M.Kholif;H.M.El-Sayed;O.H.Abd El-Shaffy and M.Saada. (2010).Effect of different sources on milk yield and composition of lactating buffaloes. Livestock Sci., 131;8-14.
- Mahyuddin,P. and Y.Widiawati.(2010).Effect of combined (Saccharamyces cerevisae +Candida utillis) and herbs on carcass characteristics of swamp buffalo. Anim.Prod.12(2):69-73.
- Nasser, A. k., Abdullah, N. M. and N. Y. Abou(2012). Effect of Stymulan Cattle® feed additive on production and carcass traits in calves. Iraqi J. of Vet. Sci. ,26(3);289-294.
- NRC. (1994).Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle,7th rev. ed. Natal. Acad. Press, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Riddell,J.B,A.J.Gallegos,L.Harmon and K. Mcleod.(2010).Addition of a Bacillus based probiotic to the diet of pre-ruminant calves :Influence on growth, health, and blood parameters. Intern.J.Appl.Res.Vet.Med.,8(1):78-85.
- Rouse, G.H., D. G. Topel, R. L.Vetter, R.E.Rust, and T.W. Wickersham. (1970). Carcass composition of lamb at different stage of development. J.Anim. Sci., 31: 846-853.
- Safaa,S.A.(2005) Effect of black seeds(Nigella Sativa) Supplementation on dairy ewes performance.Arab J.of Nuclear Sciences and Applications.38(3):111-117.
- Sarker ,M.S.and C.J.Yang.(2010).Propolis and illite as feed additives on performance and blood performances .J.Anim.and Vet.Adances,9(21):2704-2709.
- Sarker, M.S., M.R.Amin, M.H.Rashid and A.K.Kabir. (2010). Growth performance of Red Chittagong and Holstein crossbred bull calves using growth promoter. J. Bangladesh Agri. Univ., 8(1):83-86.
- SAS.(2004). Statistical analysis system. Version 9.2 SAS Institute Inc. Release 6 .12.North Carolina State Univ.Cary,NC,USA.
- Schalm, O W, Jain N C and Carroll, E J (1998) . Veterinary Hematology. 9th ed. Lea and Febiger Comp Philadelphia,USA, pp:46-59
- Shams al-dain, Q.Z., Nasser, A.K., Abo, N.Y. and A.B. Mahmood. (2014a). Study the effect of adding probiotic (Biolaczym) to therations of fattening Sharabi calves on some

productive and physiological characteristics in Nineveh province. Al-anbar J. for Agric.Sci.,12(special issue):364-377.

- Shams al-dain, Q.Z., Nasser, A.K., N. Y. Abou(2014b). The impact of the substitution of sesame seed meal instead of soybean meal in the rations of fattening local Sharabi calves on some performance and quantity of carcass traits .Iraqi J. of Agri.Res.,9(1):23-31. Shams al-dain, Q.Z., Jarjeis, E.A., Ali, M.H. and Y.I.Hamad.(2014c). The Vital Impact of supplementation of Stymulan cattle to the concentrate rations of local calves on some hematological and biochemical parameters. Al-taqani J.,27(3):54-63.
- Taha, A. H. and Shamsal-dain, Q. Z.(1998). Relationship between dietary protein and total blood protein.1-Effect of protein level. Mesopotamia. J.of Agric., 30(1):59-63.
- Taranto,M.P.;M.Edici;G.Perdigon;A.P.Ruiz Holgado and G.F.Valdez. (1998). Evidence for hypocholestermic effect of lactobacillus reuteri in hypocho lestermic mice.J.Dairy Sci.,81:2336-2340.
- Titi,H.H.;A,Y,Abullah,W.F.Lubbadeh and B.S.Obeitdah(2008).Growth and Carcass characteristics of mail dairy calves on yeast culture supplemented diet. South African J.Anim.Sci.;38(3):174-183.
- Zeid,A.M;A.M.Mohi-Eldin;I.MShakweer;E.I.Abouelenin and F.A.Ibrahim(2008). Effect of using natural feed additives on performance of dairy Friesian cows. Egyptian J. Anim. Prod., 45 (suppl.):437-448.

Vasiljevici, T. and N.P.Shah (2008). Probiotics from Metchnikoffbioactive . Int. Dairy. J. 18:714-728.

ALTERNATING ELECTRIC CURRENT AFFECTS ADVENTITIOUS ROOTING OF 140RU GRAPEVINE ROOTSTOCK

Demir KOK*

Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Agriculture Faculty, Department of Horticulture, Tekirdağ-Turkey

* <u>dkok@nku.edu.tr</u>

ABSTRACT

Rooting capability of hardwood cuttings varies depending on grapevine rootstock used in viticulture. In present research, it was utilized from alternating electric current applications (AC) at different electrical potentials, including AC-0, AC-110, AC-220 and AC-380 V and application durations, including 1, 2 and 3 hour to enhance adventitious rooting potentials of hardwood cuttings from 140Ru grapevine rootstock. Study results revealed that although increasing electrical potential from AC-0 to AC-220 V were improving rooting characteristics, reducing application durations from 3 to 1 hour positively affected rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings. In terms of adventitious rooting rates, the highest adventitious rooting rate was 87.50% for AC-220 V for 1 hour application (13.87 no) led to the highest adventitious root number than AC-0 V for 3 hour application (6.08 no). Consequently, AC-220 V for 1 hour application caused the best rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings from the best rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings from 3 hour application (6.08 no). Consequently, AC-220 V for 1 hour application caused the best rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings from 140Ru grapevine rootstock.

Keywords: *Grapevine rootstock, Hardwood cutting, Adventitious root, Difficult-to-root, Alternating electric current*

INTRODUCTION

Grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.) belongs to the family Vitaceae and there are more than 10.000 grape cultivars under the genus Vitis (Galet, 2000 a, b).

Due to various abiotic and biotic stress factors, the vegetative propagation of grapevine by grafting became a part of the modern viticulture activity (Spoerr, 1902). For this aim, grape growers are grafted scions of susceptible *Vitis vinifera* L. cultivars onto the cuttings of tolerant grapevine rootstocks bred from different North American species and after that these omega grafted cuttings were rooted under the suitable conditions for obtaining healthy grafted-rooted grapevine saplings (Kok and Bahar, 2017a; b; Kok, 2018b). Rooting ability of grapevine rootstocks depends on genetic characteristics, environmental factors and endogenous and exogenous supply of biochemical constituents (Somkuwar et al., 2011). Some of the hardwood cuttings from grapevine rootstocks, including 41B, 140Ru, 420A, Dod Ridge and Ramsey may occasionally exhibit rooting problems during their rooting processes (Çelik, 2011; Kök, 2017; Kok, 2018a).

In hardwood cuttings of difficult-to-root grapevine rootstocks, it may be taken some measures to increase rooting rates such as *I*) application of hardwood cuttings with different bacteria types, II) immersion of hardwood cuttings into hot water for a long time, III) immersion of the hardwood cuttings into lime containing water, IV) immersion of hardwood cuttings into 2-4% sucrose solution for 24 hour, V) immersion of hardwood cuttings into 0.5-1.0% hydrogen peroxide solution for 24 hour, VI) application of short-term high-voltage alternating current (1100 V) to hardwood cuttings (Celik, 2011; Ağaoğlu, 2002).

There are two different types of electrical currents such as direct electric current (DC) and alternating electric current (AC) in nature. Alternating current is an electric current, which periodically reverses direction in contrast to direct current, which flows only in one direction (Herman, 2011).

It is well known fact that external electric current applications may affect polarization of dipoles in living cells (Moon and Chung, 2000). There are various studies on effects of electric current applications on plants, including root elongation and root number of Rhizophora mucronata seedlings (Kathiresan and Rajendran, 2000), chilling effects in vernalization of winter wheat (Filek et al., 2002), breaking bud dormancy of grape (Kurooka et al., 1990) and germination of tomato seeds (Moon and Chung, 2000).

The latest studies on rooting of plants have reported on influences of electric current on different physiological and biochemical responses of various plant species (Mishra et al., 2001; Filek et al., 2002; Filek et al., 2003; Wawrecki and Zagorska-Marek, 2007; Köse, 2007).

Köse (2007) declare in a study that direct electric current (DC) application with 60 V for 3 hour results in the highest increases in rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings from grapevine rootstock Ramsey compared with Control application, which can be clarified by effects of direct electric current on plant metabolism like hormonal and enzyme activities and on movements of endogenous solutes, especially carbohydrates, plant growth regulators and enzymes.

The purpose of present study was to determine the effects of various electrical potentials of alternating electric current applied at different application durations on the rooting of hardwood cuttings from 140Ru grapevine rootstock.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Research site

This study was carried out under the laboratory conditions of electrical department at Tekirdağ Technical and Industrial High School, Tekirdağ, Turkey in 2014 year.

Plant material and preparing hardwood cuttings

In the study, it was benefited from 140Ru grapevine rootstock, which is bred from hybrid of Berlandieri Resseguier No. 2 x Rupestris du Lot (St. George) 140 Ruggeri. It is well known fact that hardwood cuttings of 140Ru grapevine rootstock have low rooting potential.

Harwood cuttings from the previous season of 8-10 mm diameter and having 3-4 buds were taken from the mother grapevine rootstocks grown in Tekirdağ Viticulture Research Institute, Turkey during the dormant period of 2014 year.

Applications of alternating electric current and rooting procedure of hardwood cuttings

In order to apply various electrical potentials of alternating electric current to hardwood cuttings, it was utilized from electrical test set and electrical potential values of alternating electric current applications were adjusted by a rectifier shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Electrical test set and rectifier

During the alternating electric current applications, a procedure declared by Köse (2007) was followed. Prior to alternating electric current applications, all prepared hardwood cuttings were kept in water to obtain good soaking for 24 hours. In the research, a special electric current application system was designed for applying of alternating electric current to hardwood cuttings and well-wetted hardwood cuttings were placed on this electric current application system (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Electric current application system



Figure 3. Applications of alternating electric current

In this system displayed in Figure 2 and 3, a stainless-steel electrode wires (0.69 mm diameter) were inserted into the pith of hardwood cuttings to a depth of 10 mm. Because negatively charged ions of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), which encourage adventitious root formation in plants, could move to the positively charged cutting base, anode was set to basipetal end and cathode was set to acropetal end of hardwood cuttings during the electric current applications (Jacobs, 1979; Moore, 1989; Köse, 2007). Subsequently, alternating electric current was applied to hardwood cuttings at certain electrical potential values and application durations (Figure 3) and all hardwood cuttings were wrapped with stretch film to keep the humidity and were moved into growth bed containing sand-perlite for rooting process. In the course of rooting period, related cultural practices, including irrigation and shading were performed. After 75 days, the study was ended and all hardwood cuttings were respectively carried out from the rooting medium and certain calculations and measurements were respectively carried out for hardwood cuttings (Kök, 2012; 2017).

In this research, it was respectively utilized from three application durations and four electrical potentials of alternating electric current (Table 1).

| (hour) | Electrical potential (volt) | |
|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------|
| | AC-0 V | |
| | AC-110 V | |
| 1, 2, 3 | AC-220 V | |
| | AC-380V | |
| AC-0 V : 0 volt alternating current | t AC-110 V: 110 volt alternating c | urrent |
| AC-220 V: 220 volt alternating curr | ent AC-380 V: 380 volt alternating c | urrent |

Table 1. Different application durations and electrical potentials of alternating electric current

 Application duration
 Electrical potential (volt)

Calculations and measurements

After the study was completed, some calculations and measurements, consisting of bud bursting rate (%), shoot length (cm), shoot weight (mg), adventitious rooting rate (%), adventitious root number (no), adventitious root length (cm) and adventitious root weight (g) were performed for omega grafted cuttings in the research.

Statistical analysis

The study was planned according to randomized complete parcels design as 2 factors with 4 replicates and each replicate consisted of 15 hardwood cuttings. Statistical analysis was performed by statistical software of TARIST and differences among the means were compared by Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) test at 5% level.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 2, 3 and 4 present interaction effects of application duration and electrical potential, main effect of application duration and main effect of electrical potential.

As shown in Table 2, there are no significant differences in terms of interaction effects of application duration and electrical potential of alternating electric current on characteristics of shoot and root (p<0.05). Based on bud bursting rates in Table 2, rising electrical potential values of alternating electric current applications up to AC-220 V for 1 h application duration (75.00%) increased bud bursting rates than AC-0 V for 3 h application duration (51.87%). Concerning shoot length in Table 2, the highest shoot length mean was recorded for AC-220 V for 1 h application duration (19.75 cm) when the compared with AC-0 V for 3 h application duration duration (10.34 cm). With respect to shoot weight in Table 2, AC-220 V for 1 h application duration (4.83 g) resulted in the highest shoot weight mean than AC-0 V for 3 h application duration (2.40 g). Regarding adventitious rooting rates represented in Table 2, the highest

| Application | Electrical | Bud | Shoot | Shoot | Adventitious | Adventitious | Adventitious | Adventitiou |
|-------------|-------------------|----------|--------|--------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|
| duration | potential | bursting | length | weight | rooting rate | root number | root length | s root |
| (hour) | (volt) | rate (%) | (cm) | (g) | (%) | (no) | (cm) | weight (g) |
| | AC-0 V | 56.25 | 11.23 | 2.73 | 40.62 | 6.16 | 5.22 | 3.44 |
| 1 h | AC-110 V | 71.87 | 16.92 | 3.97 | 78.13 | 12.96 | 9.93 | 4.22 |
| | AC-220 V | 75.00 | 19.75 | 4.83 | 87.50 | 13.87 | 11.08 | 4.82 |
| | AC-380 V | 62.50 | 13.00 | 3.22 | 62.50 | 7.12 | 6.25 | 3.77 |
| | AC-0 V | 55.62 | 10.51 | 2.70 | 37.50 | 6.12 | 5.15 | 3.30 |
| 2 h | AC-110 V | 65.62 | 15.12 | 3.75 | 76.25 | 12.03 | 9.86 | 4.11 |
| | AC-220 V | 71.87 | 17.53 | 4.29 | 84.37 | 13.33 | 10.72 | 4.45 |
| | AC-380 V | 59.37 | 12.75 | 2.93 | 59.37 | 6.75 | 5.83 | 3.59 |
| | AC-0 V | 51.87 | 10.34 | 2.40 | 37.50 | 6.08 | 5.10 | 3.22 |
| 3 h | AC-110 V | 59.37 | 14.19 | 3.09 | 67.50 | 11.84 | 9.27 | 4.00 |
| | AC-220 V | 68.75 | 17.19 | 4.01 | 81.25 | 13.00 | 10.08 | 4.27 |
| | AC-380 V | 59.37 | 12.02 | 2.83 | 56.25 | 6.50 | 5.50 | 3.53 |
| | LSD _{5%} | N.S. | N.S. | N.S. | N.S. | N.S. | N.S. | N.S. |

Table 2. Interaction effects of application duration and electrical potential of alternating electric current on characteristics of shoot and root

Different letters within the same columns denotes significant differences (p<0.05) N.S.: Not significant

AC-0 V : 0 volt alternating current AC-110 V: 110 volt alternating current AC-380 V: 380 volt alternating current

AC-220 V: 220 volt alternating current

adventitious rooting rate was obtained from AC-220 V for 1 h application duration (87.50%) compared to AC-0 V for 3 h application duration (37.50%). In point of adventitious root number demonstrated in Table 2, adventitious root number ranged from 6.08 (AC-0 V for 3 h) to 13.87 no. (AC-220 V for 1 h). Concerning adventitious root length in Table 2, the highest root length mean was recorded for AC-220 V for 1 h application duration (11.08 cm) when the compared with AC-0 V for 3 h application duration (5.10 cm). As far as adventitious root weight was concerned in Table 2, the lowest adventitious root weight mean was obtained from AC-0 V for 3 h application duration (3.22 g) whereas the highest mean was 4.82 g in AC-220 V for 1 h application duration.

Table 3 show that main effects of application duration of alternating electric current have no significant effects on characteristics of shoot and root (p<0.05).

| | Application duration (hour) | | | | |
|------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------|-------|-------|--|
| Characteristics | 1 h | 2 h | 3 h | LSD5% | |
| Bud bursting rate (%) | 66.40 | 63.12 | 59.84 | N.S. | |
| Shoot length (cm) | 15.22 | 13.98 | 13.43 | N.S. | |
| Shoot weight (g) | 3.69 | 3.42 | 3.08 | N.S. | |
| Adventitious rooting rate | 67.18 | 64.37 | 60.62 | N.S. | |
| (%) | | | | | |
| Adventitious root number | 10.03 | 9.56 | 9.35 | N.S. | |
| (no) | | | | | |
| Adventitious root length | 8.12 | 7.89 | 7.49 | N.S. | |
| (cm) | | | | | |
| Adventitious root weight (g) | 4.06 | 3.86 | 3.75 | N.S. | |

Table 3. Main effects of application duration of alternating electric current on characteristics of shoot and root

Different letters within the same columns denotes significant differences (p<0.05) N.S.: Not significant

Among the application durations, the best results were respectively obtained from 1, 2 and 3 h application duration for all characteristics of shoot and root (Table 3). Regarding bud bursting rates, the highest means were respectively recorded for 1, 2 and 3 h application durations (66.40, 63.12 and 59.84%). In terms of shoot length in Table 3, 1 h application duration (15.22 cm) caused the highest shoot length mean compared to 2 and 3 h application durations (13.98 and 13.43 cm). Based on shoot weight in Table 3, 1 h application duration (3.69 g) led to the highest shoot weight mean than 2 and 3 h application durations (3.42 and 3.08 g). In terms of adventitious rooting rates presented in Table 3, 1 h application duration (67.18%) had remarkable effect on adventitious rooting rate when the compared with 2 and 3 application durations (64.37 and 60.62%). With respect to adventitious root number, the highest adventitious root number mean was recorded for 1 h application duration (10.03 no) than 2 and 3 h application durations (9.56 and 9.35 no). As displayed in Table 3, it was observed that 1 h application duration (8.12 cm) led to the highest increase in adventitious root length mean compared to 2 and 3 h application durations (7.89 and 7.49 cm). As far as adventitious root weight was concerned in Table 3, the highest adventitious root weight means were respectively obtained from 1, 2 and 3 h application durations (4.06, 3.86 and 3.75 g).

Table 4 exhibit that main effects of electrical potential of alternating electric current have significant roles on characteristics of shoot and root except for bud bursting rate and adventitious root weight (p<0.05).

| | Electrical potential (volt) | | | | |
|---------------------------|-----------------------------|----------|----------|----------|-------|
| Characteristics | AC-0 V | AC-110 V | AC-220 V | AC-380 V | LSD5% |
| Bud bursting rate (%) | 54.58 | 65.62 | 71.87 | 60.41 | N.S. |
| Shoot length (cm) | 10.69 c | 15.41 ab | 18.16 a | 12.59 bc | 3.69 |
| Shoot weight (g) | 2.61 c | 3.61 ab | 4.38 a | 2.99 bc | 0.95 |
| Adventitious rooting rate | 38.54 c | 73.96 ab | 84.37 a | 59.37 b | 17.33 |
| (%) | | | | | |
| Adventitious root | 6.12 b | 12.28 a | 13.40 a | 6.79 b | 2.34 |
| number (no) | | | | | |
| Adventitious root length | 5.15 b | 9.68 a | 10.63 a | 5.86 b | 1.80 |
| (cm) | | | | | |
| Adventitious root weight | 3.32 | 4.11 | 4.52 | 3.63 | N.S. |
| (g) | | | | | |

Table 4. Main effects of electrical potential of alternating electric current on characteristics of shoot and root

Different letters within the same columns denotes significant differences (p<0.05) N.S.: Not significant AC-0 V : 0 volt alternating current AC-110 V: 110 volt alternating current AC-220 V: 220 volt alternating current

AC-380 V: 380 volt alternating current

As examined in Table 4, it can be seen a linear relationship among the electrical potential values of alternating electric current from AC-0 V to AC-220 V application except for AC-380 V application. Concerning bud bursting rates in Table 4, it can be seen gradually increases among the electrical potential values from AC-0 V to AC-220 V application (54.58, 65.62 and 71.87%). Concerning shoot length in Table 4, the highest shoot length mean was recorded for AC-220 V application (18.16 cm) than AC-0 V application (10.69 cm). Regarding shoot weight in Table 4, AC-220 V application (4.38 g) caused the highest shoot weight mean, while the lowest mean was obtained from AC-0 V application (2.61 g). It was figured out from Table 4 that the AC-220 V application (84.37%) resulted in highest adventitious rooting rate than AC-0 V application (38.54%). While the applications of AC-110 V and AC-220 V (12.28 and 13.40 no) were causing the highest adventitious root number means, the lowest means were obtained from applications of AC-0 V (6.12 no) and AC-380 V (6.79 no) (Table 4). As far as adventitious root length was concerned in Table 4, the applications of AC-110 V and AC-220 V (9.68 and 10.63 cm) led to the highest adventitious root length means when the compared with AC-0 V application (5.15 cm). In respect of adventitious root weight in Table 4, AC-220 V application (4.52 g) caused the highest adventitious root weight mean than AC-0 V application (3.32 g).

CONCLUSIONS

Some grapevine rootstocks used in viticulture can have difficulties in rooting of their hardwood cuttings. In this case, it can be taken different measures to overcome this difficulty.

The results of present study, in which alternating electric current applications were used to increase the rooting rates of hardwood cuttings, revealed that decreasing application durations such as 3, 2 and 1 hour had crucial roles on rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings. Likewise, increasing electrical potential values from AC-0 to AC-220 V application also caused significant improvements in rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings.

As a result, the best rooting characteristics of hardwood cuttings from 140 Ru grapevine rootstock were especially obtained from AC-220 V for 1 hour application.

REFERENCES

- Ağaoğlu, Y.S. (2002). Scientific and Applied Viticulture. Volume 2, Grapevine Physiology. Kavaklıdere Eğitim Yayınları No:5, Ankara, Turkey.
- Çelik, S. (2011). Viticulture (Ampelology). Avcı Press, 428 p, Istanbul, Turkey.
- Filek, M., J. Biesaga-Koscielniak, I. Marcinska, J. Krekule, I. Machackova (2002). Direct electric current partly replaces the chilling effect in vernalization of winter wheat. J. Plant Physiol., 159(7): 795-797.
- Filek, M., J. Biesaga-Koscielniak, I. Marcinska, J. Krekule, I. Machackova, F. Dubert (2003). The effects of electric current on flowering of grafted scions of non-vernalized winter rape. Biologia Plantarum, 46(4): 625-628.
- Galet, P. (2000 a). General Viticulture (English Edition). Chaintre: Oeno Plurimedia.
- Galet, P. (2000 b). Dictionnaire Encyclopedique des Cepages. Paris, Hachette Livre, France.
- Herman, S.L. (2011). Alternating Current Fundamentals. ISBN: 13:978-1-111-12527-1, Delmar, Cengage Learning, Canada, p.741.
- Jacob, W.P. (1979). Plant Hormones and Plant Development. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Kathiresan, K., N. Rajendran (2000). The effects of electric impulse on growth of Rhizophora mucronata seedlings (Rhizophorales:Rhizophoraceae). Revista de Biologia Tropical, 48: 919-925.
- Kok, D., E. Bahar (2017a). Callus formation and shoot characteristics in grafted cuttings of Chardonnay/99R combination as affected by different doses of salicylic acid and putrescine treatments. 2nd International Balkan Agriculture Congress, 16-18 May 2017, Tekirdağ-Turkey, pp. 636-642.
- Kok, D., E. Bahar (2017b). Combined effect of various dose of thidiazuron and activated charcoal applications on success of graft union in Lival/99R combination. 2nd International Balkan Agriculture Congress, 16-18 May 2017, Tekirdağ-Turkey, pp. 643-649.
- Kok, D. (2018a). Adventitious root development of grapevine rootstock 140 Ru as influenced by different root promoting applications (unpublished). XXX. International Horticultural Congress (IHC2018), 12-16 August 2018, Istanbul, Turkey.
- Kok, D. (2018b). Improving of callus formation in Syrah/110 R combination by 5chlorosalicylic acid and thidiazuron treatments (unpublished). XXX. International Horticultural Congress (IHC2018), 12-16 August 2018, Istanbul, Turkey.
- Kök, D. (2012). Impacts of different salicylic acid doses on salinity tolerance of grapevine rootstocks. JOTAF, 9(2): 32-40.
- Kök, D. (2017). Effects of *Trichoderma harzianum applied* at different dose and durations on rooting of Ramsey Rootstock Cuttings (unpublished). 9th Viticulture and Technologies Symposium, September 11-14, Ankara, Turkey.
- Köse, C. (2007). Effects of direct electric current on adventitious root formation of a grapevine rootstock. Am. J. Enol. Vitic., 58(1): 120-123.
- Kurooka, N.S., S. Horiuchi, S. Fukunaga, E. Yuda (1990). Effects of electric current on breaking bud dormancy in grapes. Bulletin of University of Osaka Prefecture. Series B, 42, 111-119.
- Mishra, N.S., B.N. Mallick, S.K. Sopory (2001). Electrical signal from root to shoot in *Sorghum bicolor*: Induction of leaf opening and evidence for fast extracellular propagation. Plant Sci., 160(2):237-245.
- Moon, J., H. Chung (2000). Acceleration of germination of tomato seeds by applying AC electric and magnetic fields. J. Electrostat., 48: 103-114.

- Moore, T.C. (1989). Biochemistry and Physiology of Plant Hormones. Springer-Verlag, New York, USA.
- Somkuwar, R.G., D.D. Bondage, M.S. Surange, S.D. Ramteke (2011). Rooting behavior, polyphenol oxidase activity and biochemical changes in grape rootstocks at different growth stages. Turk. J. Agric. Forestry, 35: 281-287.
- Spoerr, R. (1902). Nurseries for grapevine grafts. American Scientific, 53: 21904-21906.
- Wawrecki, W., B. Zagorska-Marek (2007). Influences of a week dc electric field on root meristem architecture. Annals of Botany, 100(4): 791-796.

RESPONSE OF CALLUSING ATTRIBUTES OF CABERNET SAUVIGNON/5BB GRAFTING COMBINATION TO APPLICATIONS OF DIFFERENT PHENOLIC COMPOUNDS

Demir KOK*

Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Agriculture Faculty, Horticulture Department, Tekirdağ-

Turkey

* dkok@nku.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Phenolic compounds have remarkable roles in regulation of plant development and growth and these compounds enhance plant vigor under the biotic and abiotic stress conditions. This research was conducted to find out influences various doses of different phenolic compound applications on Cabernet Sauvignon/5BB grafting combination. In order to improve grafting characteristics, it was benefited from three doses (Control, 100 and 200 ppm) of three different phenolic compounds (benzoic acid, citric acid and oxalic acid). In the research, after omega grafting procedure was completed, these phenolic compounds at varying doses were applied onto grafting points of the grafted cuttings. Despite the fact that various doses of different phenolic compound applications had changing effects on characteristics of shoot and grafting, the favorable results were respectively recorded for increasing doses of oxalic acid (OA), benzoic acid (BA) and citric acid (CA) for grafting characteristics. Consequently, the best results for grafting characteristics were especially obtained from applications of OA 100 ppm and OA 200 ppm for Cabernet Sauvignon/5BB grafting combination.

Keywords: Grapevine rootstock, Omega grafting, Callus promoting chemicals, Benzoic acid, Oxalic acid, Citric acid

INTRODUCTION

Grafting, consisting of cutting and scion so that both these plant parts grow together as one, is broadly used in horticulture as a method to improve disease resistance, tolerance to abiotic stress, fruit quality and plant size (Mudge et al., 2009).

Since grapevine rootstocks increase tolerance to various biotic and abiotic stresses agents, grafting is a viticultural technique frequently used in world viticulture (Cookson et al., 2013). For this reason, the grafting procedure is very important and includes complex biochemical and structural changes in the course of the adhesion of two grafted partners, followed by callus formation and the establishment of a functional vascular system (Hartmann et al., 1990; Cookson et al., 2013).

When the grape growers are grafted sensitive *Vitis vinifera* cultivars onto grapevine rootstocks by omega grafting method, they can encounter incompatibility problem in some scion/rootstock combinations (Çelik, 2011; Kok and Bahar, 2017a, b; Kok, 2018).

Successful grafting is associated with callus production, which is essential for graft union formation (Hartmann et al., 1990). Therefore, it should be taken some precautions such using of various plant growth regulators, plant growth enhancing bacteria and chemical compounds for improving callus formation at graft union (Kok and Bahar, 2017a, b; Kök, 2017; Köse, 2005; 2006).

Benzoic acid is naturally synthesized by plants and classified in the group of carboxylic acids. It seems to work like a stress signaling compound and is potentially known to provide abiotic stress tolerance (Shater Cabd Allah et al., 2015).

Citric acid is antioxidant and anti-stress agent and also act as a signaling molecule in some plant physiological processes and defense mechanisms (El-Kobisy et al., 2005). Because citric acid has stimulatory effects on growth and productivity of most plants, it is considered to have auxinic actions (Ragab, 2002).

Oxalic acid (OA) is a phenolic acid ubiquitously present in living organism that plays a considerable role in different metabolic process in plants (Shimada et al., 1997).

The purpose of present study was to find out influences of various doses of different phenolic compound applications on shoot and callusing attributes of Cabernet Sauvignon/5BB grafting combination under the callusing room conditions.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study site

The current research was performed at Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Agriculture Faculty in grafting unit of Horticulture Department in the course of 2014 year.

Plant materials

In the study, it was utilized from scions of Cabernet Sauvignon wine grape cultivar and one-year-old cuttings of 5BB (Berlandieri x Riparia Teleki 8B, Selection Kober 5BB) as plant materials.

Callus-enhancing chemicals used in the research

In order to improve callus attributes in Cabernet Sauvignon/5BB grafting combination, benzoic acid ($C_7H_6O_2$, $\geq 99.5\%$, Sigma-Aldrich), citric acid ($C_6H_8O_7$, $\geq 99.5\%$, Sigma-Aldrich) and oxalic acid ($C_2H_2O_4$, $\geq 99\%$, Sigma-Aldrich) from phenolic compounds were used and preferred doses of these phenolic compounds were respectively Control, 100 and 200 ppm (Table 1).

| C | | | |
|---------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|
| BA 100 ppm | | CA 200 ppm | |
| BA 200 ppm | | OA 100 ppm | |
| CA 100 ppm | | OA 200 ppm | |
| C : Control | BA 100 ppm : Benzoic a | acid 100 ppm | BA 200 ppm : Benzoic |
| acid 200 ppm | CA 100 g | opm : Citric acid 100 | ppm CA 200 ppm : |
| Citric acid 200 ppm | OA 100 ppm : Oxalic | acid 100 ppm | OA 200 ppm : Oxalic |
| acid 200 ppm | | | |

Table 1. Various doses of different phenolic compound applications used in the study

Providing of scions and cuttings and their storage up to the time of omega grafting

During the dormant period, scions and cuttings were successively taken from a commercial vineyard and mother grapevines of rootstock grown in Tekirdağ Viticultural Research Institute in Tekirdağ, Turkey. Afterward, these mentioned materials were stored at cold storage with 1-4 °C temperature and 85-90% relative humid until the time of omega grafting (Çelik, 2011).

Omega grafting procedure and applications of callus-enhancing chemicals

Prior to omega grafting procedure, cuttings were prepared to be 30-35 cm long and scions with single winter bud were prepared to be 4-6 cm long. Omega grafting operations were
performed at first week of April 2014. In the course of the omega grafting procedure, care should be paid to the fact that diameters of scion and cutting to be used in omega grafting were close to each other. After all omega grafting applications were completed, grafting point of grafted cuttings were dipped into solutions of various doses of different phenolic compounds applications for 1 hour (Table 1). Thereafter, all grafted cuttings were dried for 5 minutes and paraffinized. Later, grafted cuttings in plastic boxes with the water at the bottom were transferred to callusing room and were kept in here under the conditions at 28-30 °C temperature and 85-90% relative humid for 21 days. During this period, related operations were respectively carried out in callusing room (Korkutal et al., 2011).

Calculations and measurements

After grafted cuttings were taken out from the callusing room, some calculations and measurements, including bud viability rate (%), bud bursting rate (%), shoot length (cm), shoot weight (mg) as shoot characteristics and callus growth rate at grafting point (%), callus weight of scion (mg) and callus weight of cutting (mg) as grafting characteristics were respectively conducted.

Statistical analysis

The study was laid out in accordance with completely randomized blocks with 4 replicates and each replicate consisted of 15 omega grafted cuttings. Statistical analyzes were conducted by statistical software of TARIST. Differences among the means were compared by Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) test at 5% level.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Shoot characteristics

Table 2 presents the influences of various doses of different phenolic compound applications on bud viability rate, bud bursting rate, shoot length and shoot weight and bud bursting rates were statistically affected by various doses of different phenolic compound applications (P<0.05).

| Table 2. Influences of | various doses of differ | rent phenolic compoun | d applications on a | shoot |
|------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|-------|
| characteristics | | | | |

| Bud viability rate | Bud bursting rate | Shoot length | Shoot weight (mg) |
|--------------------|---|---|---|
| (%) | (%) | (cm) | |
| 70.00 | 50.00c | 4.29 | 363.75 |
| 70.00 | 50.00c | 5.15 | 390.00 |
| 70.00 | 55.00bc | 5.77 | 412.50 |
| 80.00 | 80.00a | 7.25 | 567.50 |
| 85.00 | 85.00a | 7.55 | 612.50 |
| 75.00 | 70.00abc | 6.13 | 462.50 |
| 78.75 | 75.00ab | 6.41 | 501.25 |
| N.S. | 22.46 | N.S. | N.S. |
| | Bud viability rate (%) 70.00 70.00 80.00 85.00 75.00 78.75 N.S. | Bud viability rateBud bursting rate(%)(%)70.0050.00c70.0050.00c70.0055.00bc80.0080.00a85.0085.00a75.0070.00abc78.7575.00abN.S.22.46 | Bud viability rate (%)Bud bursting rate (%)Shoot length (cm)70.0050.00c4.2970.0050.00c5.1570.0055.00bc5.7780.0080.00a7.2585.0085.00a7.5575.0070.00abc6.1378.7575.00ab6.41N.S.22.46N.S. |

Different letters within the same columns denotes significant differences (p<0.05)</th>N.S.:Not significantC: ControlBA 100 ppm : Benzoic acid 100ppmBA 200 ppm : Benzoic acid 200 ppmCA 100 ppm :Citric acid 100 ppmCA 200 ppm : Citric acid 200 ppmOA 100 ppm : Oxalic acid 100ppmOA 200 ppm : Oxalic acid 200 ppmOA 100 ppm : Oxalic acid 100

Concerning bud viability rates displayed in Table 2, although there were no significances difference among the various doses of different phenolic compound applications (P<0.05), CA 200 ppm application caused the highest bud viability rate (85.00%) than C application (70.00%).

With respect to bud bursting rates given in Table 2, it was observed that various doses of different phenolic compound applications led to significant differences in bud bursting rates (P<0.05). The study findings revealed that the highest bud bursting rates were respectively recorded for applications of CA 100 ppm (80.00%) and CA 200 ppm (85.00%) than C application (50.00%).

As far as shoot length was concerned in Table 2, various doses of different phenolic compound applications had no significant effects on shoot length (P<0.05). While the lowest shoot length mean was 4.29 cm for C application, the highest mean was obtained from CA 200 ppm application (7.55 cm).

Shoot weight means in Table 2 were not significantly affected by various doses of different phenolic compound applications (P<0.05) and CA 200 ppm application resulted in the highest shoot weight mean (612.50 mg) when the compared with C application (363.75 mg).

Grafting characteristics



It was evidently observed in Figure 1 that various doses of different phenolic compound applications significantly affected callus growth rate at grafting point (P<0.05) and

Figure 1. Influences of various doses of different phenolic compound applications on callus growth rate at grafting point

callus growth rates at grafting point ranged from 60.00 (C application) to 90.00% (OA 200 ppm application).

As indicated in Figure 2, callus weight means of scion were not significantly affected by various doses of different phenolic compound applications (P<0.05). The highest callus weight mean of scion was obtained from OA 200 ppm application (239.74 mg) whereas the lowest callus weight mean of scion was 67.76 mg for C application.



Figure 2. Influences of various doses of different phenolic compound applications on callus weight of scion

Regarding callus weight means of cutting displayed in Figure 3, there were significant differences among the various doses of different phenolic compound applications (P<0.05) and the highest callus weight of cutting was obtained from OA 200 ppm application (721.80 mg) whereas the lowest callus weight of cutting was 282.36 mg for C application.



Figure 3. Influences of various doses of different phenolic compound applications on callus weight of cutting

CONCLUSIONS

Good callus formation between scion and rootstock is a desirable situation for grapevine sapling production. Despite the fact that various doses of different phenolic compound applications had varying effects on characteristics of shoot and grafting, it was especially observed that oxalic acid applications had advantageous effects on characteristics of omega grafting. As a result, applications of OA 100 ppm and OA 200 ppm particularly caused the best results for callusing attributes, contributing to improvements in success rate of omega grafting in Cabernet Sauvignon/5BB grafting combination.

REFERENCES

- Cookson, S.J., M.JC. Moreno, C. Hevin, L.Z.N. Mendome, S. Delrot, C. Trossat-Magnin, N. Ollat (2013). Graft union formation in grapevine induces transcriptional changes related to cell wall modification, wounding, hormone signaling and secondary metabolism. J. Exp. Botany, 64: 2997-3008.
- Çelik, S. (2011). Viticulture (Ampelology). Avcı Press, Istanbul, Turkey.
- El-Kobisy D.S., K.A. Kady, R.A. Medani (2005). Response of pea plant *Pisum sativum* L. to treatment with ascorbic acid. Egypt J. Appl. Sci., 20: 36-50.
- Hartmann, H.T., D.C. Kester, F.T. Davis (1990). Plant Propagation Principles and Practices. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., USA.
- Kok, D. (2018). Improving of callus formation in Syrah/110 R combination by 5chlorosalicylic acid and thidiazuron treatments (unpublished). XXX. International Horticultural Congress (IHC2018), 12-16 August 2018, Istanbul, Turkey.
- Kok, D., E. Bahar (2017a). Callus formation and shoot characteristics in grafted cuttings of Chardonnay/99R combination as affected by different doses of salicylic acid and putrescine treatments. 2nd International Balkan Agriculture Congress, 16-18 May 2017, Tekirdağ-Turkey, pp. 636-642.
- Kok, D., E. Bahar (2017b). Combined effect of various dose of thidiazuron and activated charcoal applications on success of graft union in Lival/99R combination. 2nd International Balkan Agriculture Congress, 16-18 May 2017, Tekirdağ-Turkey, pp. 643-649.
- Korkutal, I., G. Kaygusuz, S. Bayram (2011). Different effect of scion types on callusing in bench grafting. Afr. J. Biotechnol., 10(67): 15123-15129
- Kök, D. (2017). Influences of various doses of putrescine applications with indole-3-butyric acid on callus development in grafting combination of Cabernet Sauvignon/5BB (unpublished). 9th Viticulture and Technologies Symposium, September 11-14, Ankara, Turkey.
- Köse, C., M. Güleryüz, F. Şahin, I. Demirtaş (2005). Effects of some plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) on graft union of grapevine. J. Sustain. Agric., 26(2): 139-147.
- Köse, C., M. Güleryüz (2006). Effects of auxins and cytokinins on graft union of grapevine (*Vitis vinifera*). New Zealand J. Crop Hortic. Sci., 34(2): 145-150.
- Mudge, K., J. Janick, S. Scofield, E.E. Goldschmidt (2009). A history of grafting. Hortic. Rev., 35: 437-493.
- Ragab, M.M. (2002). Effect of spraying urea, ascorbic acid and NAA on fruiting of Washington Navel orange trees. M.Sc. Thesis, Faculty of Agriculture, Minia University Egypt.
- Shater Abd Allah, M.M., H.M.S. El-Bassiouny, T.A.E. Elewa, T.N. El-Sebai (2015). Effect of salicylic acid and benzoic acid on growth, yield and some biochemical aspects of guinoa plant grown in sandy soil. International Journal of ChemTech Research, 8(12): 216-225.
- Shimada, M., Y. Akamtsu, T. Tokimatsu, K. Mii, T. Hattori (1997). Possible biochemical roles of oxalic acid as a low molecular weight compound involved in brown-rot and whiterot wood decays. J. Biotechnol., 53: 103-113.

DETERMINATION OF FATTY ACID COMPOSITION OF SESAME (SESAMUM INDICUM L.) GROWN IN ÇUKUROVA

Murat Reis Akkaya^{1*}, *Osman Kola*¹, *Yasemin Vurarak*²

¹Adana Science and Technology University, 01250, Adana, Turkey,

²Eastern Mediterranean Agricultural Research Institute, P.O. Box 45, Adana, Turkey,

* mrakkaya@adanabtu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

With its oil content and quality sesame (*Sesamum indicum* L.) is one of the oldest and the most important oil plant cultured in the world. The most important feature of sesame oil is its resistance to oxidative deterioration. In this study, fatty acid compositions of some local sesame seeds cultivated in Çukurova were determined. As a result of this study, it was determined that the composition of fatty acids is made up of palmitic acid (9.21-9.78 %), stearic acid (4.64-5.08 %), oleic acid (37.50-40.13 %), linoleic acid (42.64-44.56 %) arachidic acid (0.56-0.60 %) and linolenic acid (0.34-0.40 %). Palmitic acid content in saturated fatty acid was the highest in the Cumhuriyet 99 (9.78 %) while the oleic acid value of the unsaturated fatty acid was found to be the highest in Muganli 57 (40.13 %). The location affected the rates of palmitic acid, stearic acid and arachidic acid, while planting condition affected linoleic acid and palmitic acid. From the results of this study, it can be concluded that the fatty acid profile of the sesame oil was significantly influenced by genotypes.

Keywords: Sesame, Sesame oil, Fatty acid composition, Palmitic acid, Oleic acid, Çukurova

INTRODUCTION

Sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) is one of the oldest oil crops in the world that has been cultivated for about 4000 years (Morris, 2002). Today it is mainly produced in Asian countries like India, China, Afghanistan, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Indonesia and Sri Lanka. Sesame ranks 5th in oilseeds produced in Turkey. Sesame is widely used as vegetable oil (77.6%) and the other part is consumed in pastry (20.1%) and seed (2.3%) (Tan and Kaya, 2001). In addition to being an important oil seed, it has also found a wide range of applications in the pharmaceutical and cosmetic industries due to the antioxidant compounds it contains. Though sesame oil is edible oil, its use as vegetable oil in our country is limited because it is not economical to use. Sesame seeds, on the other hand, constitute raw material in the production of tahini and tahini halva in our country. It is also used in spices and pastry products. Sesame varieties have four different colours, white, yellow, brown and black (Dashak and Fali, 1993). Varieties contain high fat, protein and essential amino acids. Sesame seeds are especially rich in amino acids such as lysine, methionine and cysteine. Sesame seeds contain 40-60% fat. The most common fatty acids in sesame oil are; oleic acid (35.9-42.3%), linoleic acid (41.5-47.9%), palmitic acid (7.9-10.2%), stearic acid (4.8-6.1%), low linolenic acid (0.3-0.4%) and low arachidic acid (0.3% -0.6%) (TFCC, 2012).

Sesame oil is widely used in the manufacture of medicines, paints, margarines, soaps, cosmetics, and insecticides, as well as foodstuffs. After removing the oil from the sesame seeds, 43% of crude protein is present in the remaining seeds. For this reason, it has an important place in animal feeding. Sesame seeds are also considered as human food by adding bread in some countries (Ilisulu, 1973). Due to the shortening of the growing period, low production inputs and the rotation with many plants, sesame is considered to be important crop plants

(Atakisi, 1985). Due to the fact that the growing period is short, it is possible to alternate with all kinds of cultivated plants.

In the world sesame cultivation area is 7.7 million hectares and production is 4 million tons. In Turkey, sesame cultivation area is 28017 hectares, while production is 21036 tonnes (FAO, 2009). Turkey has 0.69% of world sesame production (FAO, 2009). The climate conditions of the Aegean, Mediterranean and South-eastern Anatolian regions of our country are suitable for sesame cultivation, the short growing time of sesame, low production cost and possibility of growing as second crop increase the importance of sesame furtherly.

Sesame is grown as a second crop after harvest in the southern and south-eastern provinces of Turkey after wheat and barley farming, and makes a substantial contribution to the national economy. The fact that the harvest is done by hand provides an important workforce in the regions where it is grown (Arioglu, 2007). Therefore, sesame is one of the most important crops in Turkey. It is grown in the South-eastern Anatolia Region of Turkey mostly.

In this study, some local sesame seeds cultivated in Çukurova were investigated for fatty acid composition in seed oil.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

In this research, 8 different local sesame seeds were used. Three of these varieties (Muganlı-57, Özberk -82, Baydar-2001) belong to the Western Mediterranean Agricultural Research Institute and five of these varieties (Kepsut-99, Cumhuriyet-99, Osmanlı-99, Tan-99, Orhangazi-99) were registered by the Aegean Agricultural Research Institute. These Sesame varieties were planted as the main crop and second crop in the trial area of Eastern Mediterranean Agricultural Research Institute and in the trial area of Tarsus Soil and Water Resources campus.

Extraction of sesame seed oil

10 g of sesame seeds from each variety were milled in a laboratory mixer and transferred to Soxhlet cartridges. The cartridges were placed in hangers in the extraction beaker and 150 ml of petroleum ether (boiling point of 40-60 °C) was added. After 4 hours at 160 °C, the cartridges were removed from the extraction beakers and the extraction beakers were dried at 103 °C for 1 hour and cooled in a desiccator. As a result of the weighing, the oil of the samples was calculated as percentage (AOAC, 1990).

Fatty Acid Analysis by Gas Chromatography

The extracted sesame oils were analysed by gas chromatography (GC) after the equipment featured capillary esterification. GC a column (Fused silica. $100 \text{ m} \times 0.25 \text{ mm} \times 0.2 \mu\text{m}$) and a flame ionization detector (FID), (Agilent 7890A, Agilent Technologies, USA). The GC conditions used to determine fatty acid methyl ester (FAME) were as follows: an injection volume of 1µL; a temperature program of 175°C for 10 min, 5°C/min to 210°C, 5°C/min to 230 °C and a final temperature of 230°C for 15 minutes; a detector temperature of 260°C; an injector temperature of 250°C; a gas carrier flow of N₂, 1mL min-1; a 1:20 split and a total run time of 58.5 minutes (TFCC, 2010)

Statistical Evaluations

In this study, the fatty acid results of sesame varieties were analysed according to split parcel trial design divided by random blocks using JMP 7.0. statistical package program. The data obtained from the study were subjected to analysis of variance. The Least Significant

Difference (LSD) test was used to compare the statistical significance of the differences between the varieties.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Palmitic Acid

As shown in Table 1, palmitic acid were affected from location (P <0.05), growing season (P <0.01) and variety (P <0.01). Looking at the interactions between the parameters, It was determined that there was a statistically significant effect on the palmitic acid ratio of location *variety (P <0.05), growing season*variety (P <0.05) and location*growing season (P <0.01) interactions. However, the interaction between location*growing season*variety was not statistically significant.

According to the results of multiple comparisons, it was determined that the rates of palmitic acid were higher in Adana location (9.55%) and main crop conditions (9.56%), while the highest rate of palmitic acid in varieties was found in Cumhuriyet 99 (9.78%). The lowest palmitic acid level was found in Tarsus location (9.41%) and in secondary crop conditions (9.40%). Also, it was observed that the lowest palmitic acid level belongs to Muganli 57 variety (9.21%) among the varieties. The results of this study are in correlation with the study of Baydar (2005) and Bahkali et al. (1998).

Stearic Acid

As shown in Table 1, location (P <0.05) and variety (P <0.01) were statistically significant effects on stearic acid according to the variance analysis. However, it was determined that the growing season had no significant effect on the stearic acid ratios. When the relationship between the parameters was considered, the interaction of location*growing season (P <0.05) was found to have a statistically significant effect on the stearic acid ratios but the interaction of location*variety, growing season*variety and location*growing season*variety was not important as the statistically.

According to the results of multiple comparisons, it was determined that the stearic acid ratio (4.87%) was higher in the Adana location, while the highest stearic acid ratio in the varieties was found to be in the Osmanli 99 (5.08%). It was seen that the lowest stearic acid level was in the Tarsus location (4.75%) and Orhangazi 99 variety (4.64%). Stearic acid rates were primarily affected by variety and location, but not by growing season. The results of this research are in harmony with the study of Baydar (2005) and Bahkali et al. (1998).

Oleic Acid

As shown in Table 1, according to the variance analysis performed, variety (P < 0.01) has a statistically significant effect on oleic acid. However, it had been determined that there was no significant effect on the oleic acid ratios of the location and growing season. It was determined that there was a statistically significant effect on the oleic acid ratios of the interaction between location*growing season (P < 0.01) and location*growing season*variety (P < 0.05). But the interaction of location*variety and growing season*variety was not important, statistically.

| Parameters | Palmitic Acid (%) | Stearic Acid (%) | Oleic Acid (%) | Linoleic Acid (%) | Arachidic Acid | Linolenic Acid |
|--|-----------------------|---------------------|----------------|-------------------|----------------|----------------|
| Locations | | | | | (%) | (%) |
| Adana | 9.55a | 4.87a | 38.83 | 43.50 | 0.57a | 0.37 |
| Tarsus | 9.41b | 4.75b | 38.45 | 43.88 | 0.56b | 0.38 |
| LSD 0.05 | 0.076 | 0.084 | - | - | 0.0058 | - |
| Growing Season | | | | | | |
| Main Crop | 9.56a | 4.78 | 38.97 | 43.17b | 0.57 | 0.38 |
| Second Crop | 9.40b | 4.85 | 38.30 | 44.20a | 0.57 | 0.37 |
| LSD 0.05 | 0.048 | - | - | 0.394 | - | - |
| Varieties | | | | | | |
| Muganlı 57 | 9.21d | 4.89b | 40.13a | 42.64c | 0.57b | 0.34b |
| Baydar 2001 | 9.38c | 4.83bc | 39.63a | 42.99c | 0.56b | 0.37ab |
| Özberk 82 | 9.55b | 4.80b-d | 39.46a | 43.11c | 0.56b | 0.37ab |
| Kepsut 99 | 9.40c | 4.71de | 37.88b | 43.50bc | 0.57b | 0.37a |
| Cumhuriyet 99 | 9.78a | 4.81b-d | 38.08b | 44.19ab | 0.56b | 0.39a |
| Tan 99 | 9.59b | 4.72с-е | 38.26b | 44.09ab | 0.57b | 0.37ab |
| Osmanlı 99 | 9.66ab | 5.08a | 37.50b | 44.44ab | 0.60a | 0.40a |
| Orhangazi 99 | 9.28cd | 4.64e | 38.14b | 44.56a | 0.56b | 0.40a |
| LSD 0.05 | 0.145 | 0.113 | 0.782 | 0.847 | 0.0172 | 0.031 |
| CV(%) | 2.57 | 2.65 | 2.15 | 2.59 | 3.3 | 10.81 |
| Variance Analysis P Values | | | | | | |
| Location | 0.0118* | 0.0209* | 0.0744 NS | 0.3091 NS | 0.0101* | 0.1172NS |
| Growing Season | 0.0002** | 0.1764 NS | 0.0552 NS | 0.0007** | 0.5082NS | 0.2150NS |
| Variety | <.0001** | <.0001** | <.0001** | <.0001** | 0.0013** | 0.0152* |
| Location*Variety | 0.0163* | 0.7247 NS | 0.0679 NS | 0.0535 NS | 0.6634NS | 0.2027NS |
| Location*Growing Season | 0.0033** | 0.0305* | 0.0063** | 0.0001** | 0.2612NS | 0.0452* |
| Growing Season*Variety | 0.0338* | 0.1140 NS | 0.1258 NS | 0.2200 NS | 0.0455* | 0.2182NS |
| Location*Growing Season*Variety | 0.1121 NS | 0.1789 NS | 0.0123* | 0.2570 NS | 0.2607NS | 0.1818NS |
| * p< 0.05; ** p< 0.01 important within | n error boundaries, N | IS: Not Significant | | | | |

Table 1. Summary of the variation analysis from fatty acid composition

According to the results of multiple comparisons, the highest oleic acid ratio was found in Muganlı 57 variety (40.13%) and the lowest oleic acid ratio was found in Osmanlı 99 variety (37.50%) in the studied varieties. Oleic acid ratios were affected by variety but not by location and growing season. Baydar (2005) and Bahkali et al. (1998) had similar results to the results of this research.

Linoleic Acid

As shown in Table 1, according to the analysis of variance, growing season (P <0.01) and variety (P <0.01) were statistically significant effects on linoleic acid. Also, it was determined that there was no statistical effect of the location on linoleic acid. The interaction of location*growing season (P <0.01) had a statistically significant effect on linoleic acid ratios. However, it was seen that the interaction between the location*variety, growing season*variety and the location*growing season*variety was not significant effect statistically.

According to the results of multiple comparisons, linoleic acid ratio (44.20%) was found to be higher in the second crop conditions, while the highest linoleic acid ratio was found in Orhangazi 99 variety (44.56%) among the all varieties. The lowest linoleic acid ratios were found in the main crop condition (43.17%) and belong to Muganlı 57 variety (42.64%). Linoleic acid ratios were primarily affected by variety and growing season, and were not affected by location. Baydar (2005) and Bahkali et al. (1998) had similar results to the results of this research.

Arachidic Acid

Arachidic acid rates were high in Adana location (0.57%) and low in Tarsus location (0.56%). Among the varieties, the highest ratio of arachidic acid was found in Osmanlı 99 variety (0.60%). It was determined that arachidic acid ratios were primarily affected by variety and location, respectively, but not by growing season.

Linolenic Acid

The highest linolenic acid ratio was found to be in the Osmanlı 99 and Orhangazi 99 varieties (0.40%) and the lowest linolenic acid ratio belonged to Muganlı 57 variety (0.34%) among the varieties. Also, It was determined that the linolenic acid ratios were affected by variety, and were not affected by location and growing season.

CONCLUSIONS

In recent years, sesame seeds, which can be replaced with all kinds of cultivated plants due to the shortness of growing period, have been planting widely in the Aegean, Mediterranean and Southeastern Anatolia regions as the second crop after the cereals planting. The increase in sesame production will be possible in the different regions of our country, with the its suitability as main and second crops for sesame cultivation, with varieties have to be high yield potency in dry and watery conditions. As a result of this study, it was determined that palmitic acid ratios, stearic acid ratios, oleic acid ratios, linoleic acid ratios, arachidic acid ratios and linolenic acid ratios was in the range of 9.21-9.78%, 4.64-5.08, 37.50-40.13, 42.64-44.56, 0.56-0.60 0.34-0.40%, respectively. While the location has effect on palmitic acid, stearic acid and arachidic acid, growing season affects linoleic acid and palmitic acid. The varieties were statistically effective on all given fatty acids. The relationship between location and growing season was also found to be significant in all fatty acids except arachidic acid. The Çukurova region has suitable climate and favourable soil structure for sesame growing. It is thought that sesame, which can be grown both as a main crop and a second crop, will make a significant contribution to the country's economy. In this study, it was shown that the fatty acid compositions of local sesame varieties differ in Çukurova conditions and the numerical values of these differences were determined and contributed to the literature.

Acknowledgements: This project was supported by Adana Science and Technology University Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit (Project No: 16103014).

REFERENCES

- AOAC (1990). Official Methods of Analysis, 15th ed. Association of Official Analytical Chemists Arlington Virginia USA
- Arioglu, H.H. (2007). Yağ Bitkileri Yetiştirme ve Islahı, Çukurova Üniversitesi GenelYayın No:220, Ders Kitapları Yayın No: A-70, 204, Adana
- Atakisi, İ.K. (1985). Yağ Bitkileri Yetiştirme ve Islahı, Çukurova Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Ders Kitapları Yayın No:147, pp: 120, Adana.
- Bahkali, A.H., M. A. Hussain, A.Y. Basahy (1998). Protein and oil composition of Sesame seeds (Sesamum indicum L.) grown in the gizan area of Saudi Arabia International Journal Food Science Nutrition 49, 409-414.
- Baydar, H. (2005). Susam"da (Sesamum indicum L.) Verim, Yağ, Oleik ve Linoleik Tipi Hatların Tarımsal ve Teknolojik Özellikleri, Akdeniz üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi 18, 267-272.
- Dashak, D.A., C.N. Fali (1993). Chemical Composition of Four Varieties of Nigerian benniseed (*Sesamum indicum*), Food Chemistry, 47: 253 255
- FAO (2009). http://faostat.fao.org/ (Erişim tarihi: Eylül 2011).
- Ilısulu, K. (1973). Yağ Bitkileri ve Islahı, Çağlayan Kitabevi, İstanbul, s. 366.
- Morris, J. B. (2002). Food, Industrial, Nutraceutical, and Pharmaceutical Uses of Sesame Genetic Resources, Trends in new crops and new uses.
- Tan, A.S., G. Kaya (2001). Susam, Sanayi Bitkileri Alt Komisyon Raporu, Ankara, 447s
- TFCC (2010). Turkish Food Codex Communique on Analysis Methods of Olive Oil and Olivepomace Oil Notification, Turkish Food Codex Legislation, Official Newspaper 07.08.2010 / 27665
- TFCC (2012). Turkish Food Codex Communique. Notification of Announcement of Oils with the Plant Name. Turkish Food Codex Legislation, Official Newspaper. 2.04.2012 28262.

COMPARISON OF THE CHEMICAL COMPOSITION AND STEVIOL GLYCOSIDE PROFILES OF *STEVIA REBAUDIANA* (BERTONI) VARIETIES CULTIVATED IN SOUTH OF TURKEY

Osman Kola^{*1}, Erva Parıldı¹, Murat Reis Akkaya¹, Ali Emrah Çetin¹, Nurten Cengiz¹

¹Adana Science and Technology University, 01250 Adana, Turkey

* okola@adanabtu.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

This study was carried out to determine the chemical composition and total steviol glycoside (TSG) content of some stevia varieties cultivated in Adana. For this reason, Criolla and Morita II leaves were used. Additionally, the results were compared with each other in terms of commercial production. Some physical properties (harvesting period, height of plant, leaf width and length, total carbohydrate and dietary fiber contents and crude protein content) of the samples were determined. Steviol glycoside analysis was performed using HPLC device. As a result, harvesting period of Morita II was shorter than Criolla and the TSG content of Morita II was 17.58%, while the ratio of Reb A and Stevioside were 13.37% and 3.10%, respectively. It was determined that the content of TSG and Reb A of Morita II was higher than that of Criolla, but the content of stevioside was lower. These results indicated that the Morita II variety has a better quality than Criolla for commercial production.

Keywords: Stevia, Criolla, Morita II, Steviol glycosides, Chemical composition.

INTRODUCTION

Stevia (*Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni) is a wild, small, bush-like plant of the *Asteraceae* family, and its homeland is the Amambi mountains on the border of Paraguay and Brazil. It is known that it has been extensively used by the indigenous tribe Guarani who lived in South America for 1500 years. Stevia is named with different names such as "sweet herb" and "honey leaf" by the Paraguayan Indians. Stevia is a sweet plant of semi-humid subtropical regions and its length is 60-90 cm. It can grow at about 25°C and some species can grow at 2300-2900 meters altitude (İnanç and Çınar, 2009; Yapar, 2004; Pala, 2010; Karaca, 2010; Kola, 2017). Stevia can be grown between 45th northern latitudes and 35th southern latitudes. Stevia is processed in 7 countries including Turkey. Stevia production is mostly done in China followed by Paraguay, Brazil and India. The highest consumption is in USA followed by Japan, China and France. In 2017, stevia was grown in Turkey about 1260 decares (about 500-600 tons of dry leaves) (Kola, 2015; Kola, 2017).

In 1897, the famous Swiss botanist Moisés Santiago Bertoni made a detailed explanations about stevia, which is a new sweet sugar source known by indigenous people living in Central and South America for a long time, and its sweetening properties as a result of a study in the eastern parts of Paraguay. In 1931, two French chemists (M. Briedel and R. Lavieille) isolated glycosides, which gave Stevia's unique sweetening properties. These compounds have been identified as Stevioside and Rebaudioside and have been found to be 250-300 (~520) times more sweet, non-fermented sweetener

with high temperature and pH stability compared to sucrose (Wallin, 2007; Kola et al., 2011; Kola, 2013; Kola et al., 2013; Kola, 2015; Kola, 2017). Stevia is a plant with high adaptability, high yield and high degree of sweetness. Main composition of dry stevia leaf is given in Table 1.

| Component | Amount |
|-------------------------|--------|
| Moisture (g) | 7 |
| Energy (kcal) | 270 |
| Protein (g) | 9.8 |
| Fat (g) | 2.5 |
| Carbohydrate (g) | 52 |
| Ash (g) | 10.5 |
| Crude fiber | 18.5 |
| Minerals | |
| - Calcium (mg) | 464.4 |
| - Phosphorus (mg) | 11.4 |
| - Iron (mg) | 55.3 |
| - Sodium (mg) | 190 |
| - Potassium (mg) | 1800 |
| Antinutritional factors | |
| - Oxalic acid | 2295 |
| – Tannins | 0.01 |

 Table 1. Main composition of dry stevia leaf (Karaca, 2010)

Steviol glycosides are non-toxic substances which are known as healthy, low calorie (the calorie value of sugar obtained from sugar cane is 4 Kcal / g 16.7 KJ / g and the steviol glycoside have only 0.003% of the calorie of sugar obtained from sugar cane), high density sweeteners (250-520 times sweeter than the sugar obtained from sugar cane) with their own unique taste (Savita, 2004; Kola and Kenar, 2014). It is stable at high temperature values and wide pH ranges. When it is added to a foodstuff, the foodstuff is not denaturated and easily spoilt. They are resistant to acid and alkaline conditions. The foodstuffs which are added steviol glycoside can be preserved for a long time without drying or mold (Kola, 2015; Kola, 2017).

Steviol glycosides can be substituted for sugar in obesity, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, coronary diseases and phenylpropanoid ketone patients (PKU). At the same time, it can also serve as a supporter for the cure. It helps preventing tooth decay and enteric diseases. Steviol glycosides are not digestible. They do not cause an increase in blood sugar and insulin concentration after taking in the body. They are suitable for diabetes patients. According to clinical studies, stevia is particularly effective in improving insulin sensitivity in Type 2 diabetes. Steviol glycosides can help growing of bifidobacteria and lactobacilli. These bacteria produce acetic acid, propionic acid, butyric acid and lactic acid, which inhibit the growth of pathogens such as *Escherichia coli*, *Clostridium* and *Salmonella* sp. by lowering the intestinal pH by fermenting the carbohydrates in the leaves. Steviol glycosides reduce the formation of deterioration and helping to relieve intestinal peristalsis and constipation. The molecular structure of steviol glycoside determines its lipid adsorption ability. Steviol glycoside helps lowering the concentration in the human body. HDL / LDL ratio increases because it is not effective on the High

Density Lipoprotein (HDL) concentration. In a study of the function and tolerance of steviol glycosides when taken orally, steviol glycoside was found to decrease the systolic and diastolic blood pressure (P < 0.05) and no obvious side effects were observed. The Stevia fermentation extract has a marked function on histamine antagonist (antihistamine), has allergic rhinitis, hives (urticaria) and asthma relieving effects (Kola, 2015; Kola, 2017). When Stevia sweeteners are classified, they are in the class of natural, calorie-free and high-density sweeteners as seen on Figure 1.



Figure 1. Classification of sweeteners

TSG (Total Steviol Glycoside) is produced after extraction and purification processes from dry stevia leaves (Figure 2). Rebaudioside A and other steviol glycosides are obtained by TSG separation techniques, purification or enzymatic processes (Karaca, 2010; Kola, 2017).

Stevia-derived sweeteners are approved by the FDA, EFSA and JECFA. These regulations are given in Table 2 (Kola, 2017).

There are several studies on stevia varieties grown in our country (especially *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni). However, there is no study comparing the characteristics of the wild variety Criolla and the industrial variety Morita II. Many of these studies have been done by Kola et al. (Kola et al., 2011; 2013; 2016a; 2016b; Kola, 2013; Kola and Kenar, 2014; Kola, 2015; Kola, 2017). This study was carried out to determine the chemical composition and total steviol glycoside (TSG) content of some stevia varieties cultivated in Adana. For this reason, Criolla and Morita II leaves were used. Additionally, the results were compared with each other in terms of commercial production.



Figure 2. Extraction process of TSG (total steviol glycoside) and Reb A (Rebaudioside A) from dry stevia leaf (Kola, 2015; Kola, 2017)

| Regulation number | Regulation |
|-------------------|---|
| 07 - 2004 | The Codex Alimentarius Commission, which acknowledges that Stevia is safe on |
| | the human body, has reached an agreement with JECFA. |
| 12 - 2008 | FDA accepted RebA %95 as GRAS. After a while, Australia, New Zealand, |
| | Switzerland, Taiwan and France accepted RebA %95 as GRAS. |
| 03 - 2010 | FDA accepted RebA %60, %80 and TSG%90 as GRAS. |
| 04 - 2010 | EFSA put some restrictions on the safety of stevia glycoside on human body. (ADI: |
| | 4 mg/kg). |
| 07 – 2011 | EU published the G/SPS/N/EEC/409 report. In the Commission's draft regulation, |
| | the regulation of the food additive in the second part of EC regulation 1333/2008 |
| | was revised and the authority of the use of stevia glycosides was referred. |
| | According to the information, long-term use of stevia is good for patients with |
| | cardiovascular, hypertension and diabetes. |
| 06 - 2013 | According to Turkish Food Codex Regulation on Food Additives, steviol |
| | glycosides (E 960) is allowed to use as sweetener in Turkey. |

Table 2. Some regulations about safety of stevia-derived sweeteners

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

The dry leaves of Criolla and Morita II varieties were obtained directly from the producers in Adana. The chemicals used in the analyzes and preparation of standard solutions were obtained from "Sigma-Aldrich" and "Merck". Stevia active substances to be taken for this purpose; Stevioside (50956), Stevioside hydrate (S3572), Steviol (19345), Steviol hydrate (H8664), Steviolbioside

(59754), Rebaudioside A, B, C and D (01432, 49747, 30987, 19819), Dulcoside A (90387) standards were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich.

Steviol Glycoside Analysis

Steviol glycosides were analyzed according to the method of "FAO JECFA Monographs 10" by HPLC (FAO, 2010). The injection volume was 5 μ L and the mobile phase was 32:68 acetonitrile and 10 mmol/L: sodium phosphate buffer (pH 2.6). Capcell pak C18 MG II column and UV-210 nm detector was used. The analysis was performed at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min for 30 min and the column temperature was 40°C. Identify the peaks from the sample solution by comparing the retention time with the peaks from the mixture of steviol glycosides standard solution (see under figure). Measure the peak areas for the steviol glycosides from the sample solution. Measure the peak area for stevioside and rebaudioside A from their standard solutions.

Calculate the percentage of each of the eight steviol glycosides neexcept rebaudioside A in the sample from the formula (FAO, 2010):

$$%X = [W_S/W] \times [f_XA_X/A_S] \times 100$$

Calculate the percentage of rebaudioside A in the sample from the formula (FAO, 2010):

% Rebaudioside A=
$$[W_R/W] \times [A_X/A_R] \times 100$$

Where:

X is each steviol glycoside;

Ws is the amount (mg) calculated on the dried basis of stevioside in the standard solution;

W_R is the amount (mg) calculated on the dried basis of rebaudioside A in the standard solution;

W is the amount (mg) calculated on the dried basis of sample in the sample solution;

As is the peak area for stevioside from the standard solution;

A_R is the peak area for rebaudioside from the standard solution;

 A_X is the peak area of X for the sample solution; and

 f_X is the ratio of the formula weight of X to the formula weight of stevioside: 1.00 (stevioside), 1.20 (rebaudioside A), 1.00 (rebaudioside B), 1.18 (rebaudioside C), 1.40 (rebaudioside D), 1.16 (rebaudioside F), 0.98 (dulcoside A), 0.80 (rubusoside) and 0.80 (steviolbioside).

Calculate the percentage of total steviol glycosides. In addition to the general analyzes (total dry matter, humidity, etc.), the following measurements and analyzes were performed on the obtained samples. These were harvesting period (day), height of plant (cm), leaf width - length (cm), leaf production yield (kg/da), total carbohydrate analysis (%), total dietary fiber content (g/100 g) and crude protein content (%).

RESULTS

Comparison of the Some Properties of Criolla and Morita II Varieties

Some characteristics of the Criolla and Morita II varieties of stevia are given in Table 3. It was determined that harvesting period of Morita II (70-80 days) was shorter than Criolla (110-120 days). Dry leaf yield is higher in Criolla variety than in Morita II variety. Some other parameters are also given in Table 3.

| Table 3. | Com | parison | of some | parameters | belong to | Criolla | variety | and N | lorita I | I variet | y |
|----------|-----|---------|---------|------------|-----------|---------|---------|-------|----------|----------|---|
| | | | | | <u> </u> | | | | | | ~ |

| Parameters | Criolla | Morita II |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|
| Harvesting Period (day) | 110-120 | 70-80 |
| Height of Plant (cm) | 95-110 | 65-75 |
| Leaf Width - Length (cm) | 1.79-2.21 | 2.56-3.12 |
| Leaf production yield (kg/da) | 550-630 | 450-500 |
| Total Carbohydrate Analysis (%) | 62 | 71 |
| Total Dietary Fiber Content (g/100 g) | 31.50 | 30.60 |
| Crude Protein Content (%) | 14 | 11 |

Steviol Glycoside Content of Criolla and Morita II Varieties

Total steviol glycosides (TSG) and steviol glycoside profiles were analysed and retention times (RT) were determined in this study. These were Stevioside (RT: 6.840), Rebaudioside A (RT: 6.432), Rebaudioside B (RT: 17.097), Rebaudioside C (RT: 8.747), Rebaudioside D (RT: 3.155), Rebaudioside F (RT: 7.579), Dulcoside A (RT: 9.576), Steviolbioside (RT: 18.539) and Rubusoside (RT: 12.656).

Steviol glycoside content is given in Table 4 and Figure 4. According to the Table 4 and Figure 4, The TSG content of Morita II variety (17.58%) was higher than Criolla variety (12.41%) and Rebaudioside A content of Morita II variety (13.37%) was found to be higher than Criolla variety (4.90). However, the rate of stevioside is higher in the Criolla variety (6.74%).

| Steviol Glycosides | Criolla | Morita II |
|--------------------------------|---------|-----------|
| Stevioside | 6.74 | 3.10 |
| Rebaudioside A | 4.90 | 13.37 |
| Rebaudioside B | 0.02 | 0.09 |
| Rebaudioside C | 0.36 | 0.64 |
| Rebaudioside D | 0.00 | 0.19 |
| Rebaudioside E | 0.00 | 0.01 |
| Rebaudioside F | 0.22 | 0.14 |
| Dulcoside A | 0.17 | 0.02 |
| Steviolbioside | 0.00 | 0.01 |
| Steviol | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| Rubusoside | 0.00 | 0.01 |
| Total Steviol Glycosides (TSG) | 12.41 | 17.58 |

Tablo 4. Steviol glycoside content of Criolla and Morita II varieties (%)



Figure 4. Steviol glycoside content of Criolla variety and Morita II variety

TSG, Stevioside and Rebaudioside A content of Criolla and Morita II are seen in Figure 5. According to these results, the TSG content of Morita II was 17.58%, while the ratio of Reb A and Stevioside were 13.37% and 3.10%, respectively. It was determined that the content of TSG and Reb A of Morita II was higher than that of Criolla, but the content of stevioside was lower.



Figure 5. TSG, Stevioside and Rebaudioside A Content of Criolla variety and Morita II variety

Approximately 76% of the steviol glycoside content of the Morita II variety is composed of Reb A as seen in Figure 6. For this reason, it is a more valuable variety in terms of commercial production.



Figure 6. Steviol glycoside content of Morita II variety (%)

According to Figure 7, Reb A content of Criolla variety is approximately 40% of TSG. Stevioside is 54%. When the findings are compared; It has been determined that the Morita II variety has a better quality than Criolla variety.



Figure 7. Steviol glycoside content of Criolla variety (%)

CONCLUSION

Stevia has no calories, and it is 250-520 times sweeter than sucrose in the same concentration. Other studies suggest that stevia might have extra health benefits. But a few studies show that replacing sugar with artificial or low-calorie sweeteners may not ultimately lead to weight loss in real life.

In this study; it has been determined that Criolla and Morita II stevia varieties are compatible with the climate and soil structure of our country. The leaves of Criolla and Morita II varieties can be harvested 2-3 times a year. Additionally, Morita II is a technologically high quality variety with its high content of TSG and Reb A content.

As a result; findings from this study reveal that stevia can easily be produced under the conditions of our country and that the products obtained will have superior qualities. Generally, the production of these imported products in our country will make a significant contribution to the Turkish economy.

REFERENCES

Inanç, A. L., İ. Çınar (2009). "Alternatif Doğal Tatlandırıcı: Stevya", Gıda, 34 (6), 411-415.

FAO. 2010. Steviol glycosides. FAO JECFA Monographs 10. Food and Agriculture Organization. http://www.fao.org/3/a-i1782e.pdf.

Karaca, S. (2010). Stevia rebaudiana Yapraklarından Ekstrakte Edilen "Stevioside" ile "Rebaudioside A"nın Meyveli ve Gazlı İçeceklerde Kullanımı (Yüksek Lisans Tezi), Sakarya Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü.

Kenar M., O. Kola (2014). Stevia Rebaudiana Bertoni Yapraklarından Steviol Glikozitlerin Endüstriyel Üretim Yöntemleri. II. Tıbbi ve Aromatik Bitkiler Sempozyumu.

Kola, O. (2013). Stevia Ekstraktının Gıdalarda Kullanımı. T.C. Burhaniye Kaymakamlığı ve İlçe Gıda, Tarım ve Hayvancılık Müdürlüğü, Stevia (Şeker Otu) Konferansı.

Kola, O. (2015). Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni ve Kullanıldığı Alanlar. DrinkTechmarket İçecek ve Teknolojileri Dergisi 89, 50-52.

Kola, O. (2017). Dünya'da ve Türkiye'de Stevialı Tatlandırıcılar ve Durumu. TAGEM - 2017 Yılı Proje Değerlendirme Toplantıları.

Kola, O., B. Çetiner, M. S. Özer, H. Kelebek, A. E. Çetin (2013). Ülkemizde Yetiştirilen Stevia Bitkisindeki Stevia Rebaudiana Bertoni Steviol Glikozitlerin Belirlenmesi. TGDF Gıda Kongresi.

Kola, O., M. R. Akkaya, H. Kelebek, N. Kurt (2016a). Ülkemizde Yetiştirilen Stevia Bitkisinin Toplam Steviol Glikozit TSG İçerikleri ve Steviol Glikozit Dağılımı. III. Tıbbi ve Aromatik Bitkiler Sempozyumu, 1(1), 16.

Kola, O., S. Karaca, H. Duran, H. Bozkır (2011). Using stevioside and rebaudioside a extracted from stevia leaves as a sweetener in fruit drinks and fizzy drinks. 4th International Congress on Food and Nutrition, 189-190.

Kola, O., Z. Gevrek, Ş. İnce, H. Kelebek, N. Kurt, M. R. Akkaya (2016b). Türkiye de Farklı Bölgelerde Yetiştirilen Stevia Bitkisinin Steviol Glikozit İçerikleri. Gıda, Metabolizma ve Sağlık: Biyoaktif Bileşenler ve Doğal Katkılar Kongresi.

Pala, M. (2010). "Dünya Meyve Suyu Kongresi İstanbul'da Yapılıyor", Gıda Teknolojisi Dergisi, 14 (4), 4.

Savita, S. M., K. Sheela, S. Sunanda, A. G. Shankar, P. Ramakrishna (2004). "Stevia Rebaudiana – A Functional Component for Food Industry", Journal of Human and Ecology, 15 (4), 261-264.

Wallin, H. (2007). "Steviol Glycosides", Chemical and Technical Assessment, Paper presented at the 69th JECFA, 1-7.

Yapar, B. (2004). "Diyet Gıda Ürünleri", Dış Ticaret Şubesi Araştırma Merkezi.

THE EFFECTS OF NANOPARTICLES ON THE EXPRESSION OF CATALASE ENZYME IN SHORT-TERM ADMINISTRATION ON BREAST CANCER CELLS

Metin Budak*

*Trakya University, Medicine Faculty. Department of Biophysics

22000 Edirne, Turkey.

genomicdna2@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Catalase is an enzyme found in almost all living organisms exposed to oxygen. Catalase enzyme, hydrogen peroxide separates water and oxygen. It's found in carrot and potatoes. Another task is to detect the peroxidase in foods. In this study, the therapeutic effects of nanoparticles on breast cancer cells were investigated. SiO₂, ZnO and Ag compounds and elements are used as nanoparticles. Our aim in this study is to investigate the chemo preventive effects of nanoparticles on direct breast cancer cells in 24-48-hour time period. After 24 to 48 hours of application of the above nanoparticles, the H2O2 uptake catalase activity is increased by using water in the cell and these effects are exerted through the expression of catalase enzyme. We quantified amount of catalase enzyme produced by measuring relative amount of RNA-cDNA by Quantitative PCR. As a result, compared with control cells, Ag nanoparticles decreased catalase activity in breast cancer cells compared to other 2 nanoparticles and increased 5 times in ZnO and 2.5 times in SiO2. These results show that the oxidative effect of Ag nanoparticles on breast cancer cells can be evaluated as a therapeutic agent with a high degree of oxidative effect.

Keywords: Nanoparticule, catalase, cancer

INTRODUCTION

Nanotechnology is science, engineering, and technology conducted at the nanoscale, which is about 1 to 100 nanometers. Nanoscience and nanotechnology are the study and application of extremely small things and can be used across all the other science fields, such as chemistry, biology, physics, materials science, and engineering (Logothetidis 2012).Silicon dioxide: chemical compound containing oxygen and silicon. The chemical symbol is SiO2. It has been known since the 16th century. It is used in many materials such as glass, concrete, tiles, porcelain. SiO₂ is in the form of crystalline forms (polymorph) rather than any material. There are 17 different crystal forms such as quartz, topaz and amethyst. There are some stones and quartz in the land. For this reason, it is spreading as dust. Long-term inhalation has been shown to increase lung cancer risk (McBrayer, Swanson et al. 1986). Zinc oxide: Has a bitter taste, white powder appearance, odorless. With carbon dioxide in the atmosphere has the property of absorbing ultraviolet rays. It is soluble in acids and alkalis but does not dissolve in water and alcohol. Zinc Oxide is a non-toxic substance but is highly flammable(Xia, Kovochich et al. 2008). Silver: ductile metal that reflects light very well. It shows a great resistance to oxidation in the atmosphere. it is to oxidize more difficult than copper and easier than gold. Standard electrode potential is 0,7978 V. It is resistant to acids and a few organic substances. But it is easily dissolved in nitric and concentrated hot sulfuric acid. It is especially used for burn and skin problems thanks to its curing properties(Sun and Xia 2002, Sondi, Salopek-Sondi et al. 2004, Rai, Yadav et al. 2009). Catalase, an enzyme that brings about (catalyzes) the reaction by

which hydrogen peroxide is decomposed to water and oxygen. Found extensively in organisms that live in the presence of oxygen, catalase prevents the accumulation of and protects cellular organelles and tissues from damage by peroxide, which is continuously produced by numerous metabolic reactions(Aebi 1974). In mammals, catalase is found predominantly in the liver. Our aim in this study is to investigate the chemo preventive effects of nanoparticles on direct breast cancer cells in 24-48-hour time period.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Cells and Cell Culture MCF7 cells were kindly provided by TUTAGEM [6]. The progressed variants, were generated as described in previous publications [5,7]. The cells were cultured in minimal essential medium (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 7.5% fetal bovine serum, 2.5% calf serum (Gemini Bioproducts, Woodland, CA), 500 U/ml penicillin, and 5000 U/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen) at 37jC in a 7% CO2 humidified environment.

The captured cells on each cap were lysed with 20 μ l of extraction buffer for 30 minutes at 40°C, and centrifuged (12 000 RPM-Thermo S.) from the caps into microfuge tubes. Proteinase K buffer (Fermentase) was added to each 20 μ l of cell extraction solution. The extraction solution was incubated at 55°C for 1 hour and subsequently the Proteinase K was inactivated (95°C for 10 minutes). Isolated RGCs were processed for RNA extraction using the Invitrogen RNA isolation kit (USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the sample was loaded on a RNA spin column and washed several times. DNase (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was added and the total cellular RNA was eluted from the column in 10 μ l of elution buffer. RT was performed, according to the manufacturer's specifications (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA), using 14 1 of extracted RNA from each LCM samples, we precipitated the cDNA in ethanol. Briefly, 10 μ l of 2 mol/L sodium acetate, 1 μ l of 5 mg/ μ l glycogen, and 30 μ l of water were added and vortexed. Subsequently 500 μ l of ice-cold 100% EtOH was added and the solution was placed on dry ice for 1 hour. The mixture was allowed to dry before being resuspended in 10 μ l of deionese water(Chan, Sepunaru et al. 2017).

After 24 to 48 hours of application of the above nanoparticles, the H2O2 uptake catalase activity is increased by using water in the cell and these effects are exerted through the expression of catalase enzyme. We quantified amount of catalase enzyme produced by measuring relative amount of RNA-cDNA by Quantitative PCR. Quantitative PCR experiments were carried out at the Technology Research Development Application and Research Center-Edirne/Turkey (TUTAGEM).

RESULTS

After 24 to 48 hours of application of the above nanoparticles, the H2O2 uptake catalase activity is increased by using water in the cell and these effects are exerted through the expression of catalase enzyme. We quantified amount of catalase enzyme produced by measuring relative amount of RNA-cDNA by Quantitative PCR. As a result, compared with control cells, Ag nanoparticles decreased catalase activity in breast cancer cells compared to other 2 nanoparticles and increased 5 times in ZnO and 2.5 times in SiO2 (Figure 1 and 2). These results show that the oxidative effect of Ag nanoparticles on breast cancer cells can be evaluated as a therapeutic agent with a high degree of oxidative effect.



Figure 1: Catalase measurement after 48 hour.



Figure 2: Catalase measurement after 48 hours.

DISCUSSIONS

Several malignant tumor or malignant neoplasm involve reactive oxygen species and implicate oxidative stress in disease mechanisms. Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) formation due to mitochondrial superoxide leakage perpetuates oxidative stress in tissues. Catalase, an H_2O_2 -degrading enzyme, thus remains an important antioxidant therapy target. But, catalase therapy is restricted by its labile nature and inadequate delivery. Here, a nanotechnology approach was evaluated using catalase-loaded, SiO2,

ZnO and Silver nanoparticles in human tissue protection against oxidative damage. Further, catalaseloaded NPs improved tissue recovery from H2O2 pre-exposure better than free catalase, suggesting possible applications in ameliorating stroke-relevant oxidative stress. Specific targeting of catalaseloaded NPs may find wide therapeutic applications for oxidative stress-associated acute and chronic tissue disorders against cancer.

Acknowledgements: The authors would like to gratefully acknowledge the kind support of administiry of TUTAGEM-Edirne/Turkey.

REFERENCES

Aebi, H. (1974). Catalase. Methods of Enzymatic Analysis (Second Edition), Volume 2, Elsevier: 673-684.

Chan, C., et al. (2017). "Catalytic activity of catalase–silica nanoparticle hybrids: from ensemble to individual entity activity." 8(3): 2303-2308.

Logothetidis, S. (2012). Nanotechnology: Principles and applications. Nanostructured materials and their applications, Springer: 1-22.

McBrayer, J. D., et al. (1986). "Diffusion of metals in silicon dioxide." 133(6): 1242-1246.

Rai, M., et al. (2009). "Silver nanoparticles as a new generation of antimicrobials." 27(1): 76-83.

Sondi, I., et al. (2004). "Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on E. coli as a model for Gram-negative bacteria." **275**(1): 177-182.

Sun, Y. and Y. J. S. Xia (2002). "Shape-controlled synthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles." **298**(5601): 2176-2179.

Xia, T., et al. (2008). "Comparison of the mechanism of toxicity of zinc oxide and cerium oxide nanoparticles based on dissolution and oxidative stress properties." 2(10): 2121-2134.

DETERMINATION OF NUCLEAR DNA CONTENT OF *LOLIUM* SPECIES BY FLOW CYTOMETRY METHOD AND ITS USAGE IN TAXONOMIC IDENTIFICATION

Nazlı Ulutaş¹, Elbi Cansu Yılmaz¹ E. C., Gülsemin Savaş Tuna², Metin Tuna^{*1} ¹Namık Kemal University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Field Crops, Tekirdağ, Turkey. ²Tekirdağ Anatolian High School, Tekirdağ, Turkey.

* mtuna@nku.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

The genus Lolium consists of 8 annual and perennial species. They are distributed through out temperate regions of the world. Two species in the genus, L. perenne and L. italicum are among the most important forage crops. L. perenne is also widely used in the creation of green areas. Lolium species are quite similar to each other morphologically. Interspecific hybridization is also often occur among the species. This close morphological similarity among Lolium spp. makes identification and classification of species a difficult problem for forage and turf grass scientists. Therefore, new methods are needed to facilitate the taxonomic identification and classification of Lolium species. Nuclear DNA content is the total amount of DNA included in the cell nucleus. The nuclear DNA content is stable among individuals of a species and cells of a single plant. However, it differs approximatelly 1000 folds in angiosperms. These characteristics of nuclear DNA content make it usefull in many areas of biology such as genetics and evolution. Today, flow cytometer is the method of choice in nuclear DNA content determination due to its accuracy, quickness and easiness. The objective of this study is to determine nuclear DNA content of 8 Lolium species by flow cytometry and to use the information for the taxonomic identification of species. Based on the results of the study, the mean 2C genome size of *Lolium* species varies from 7.76 pg to 4.87 pg. The differences between species are statistically significant.

Keywords: Flow cytometry, Nuclear DNA content, Lolium, Taxonomy.

INTRODUCTION

The genus *Lolium* consists of 8 annual and perennial species. Species of the genus are native to Europe, the North Atlantic Islands, temperate Asia, and north Africa, but they have been widely distributed to other geographic regions of the world (Terrell, 1968). Two species in the genus, *L. perenne* and *L. italicum* are among the most important forage crops. *L. perenne* is also widely used in the creation of green areas. *Lolium* species are quite similar to each other morphologically. Interspecific hybridization is also often occur among the species. This close morphological similarity among *Lolium* spp. makes identification and classification of species a difficult problem for forage and turf grass scientists (Polok, 2007). Therefore, new methods are needed to facilitate the taxonomic identification and classification of *Lolium* species. The nuclear DNA content is the total amount of DNA included in the nucleus. The nuclear DNA content is stable among individuals of a species and cells of a single plant. However, it differs approximatelly 1000 folds among the plant species (Bennett et al., 2000). Therefore, nuclear DNA content is species of a species of a single plant.

make it usefull in many areas of biology such as genetics and evolution (Tuna, 2014). The objectives of this study was to determine nuclear DNA content of *Lolium* species by flow cytometer and use it in taxonomic identification of the species.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

One accessions for each of the 8 *Lolium* species and one hybrid were used in the study. Three genotypes were analysed separatelly for each accession. Samples were prepared by isolating nuclei from fresh leaf tissues by using Partec commercial kit (Fig 1). A protocol explained by Tuna (2014). *Vicia sativa* (cv karaelci) was used as internal standard. Propidium iodide was used as florescent dye. Nuclear DNA content was calculated using the linear relation between the ratio of 2C peak positions of *Lolium/Vicia* on histogram of fluorescence intensities (Fig 2 and 3).



Fig 1. Preparation of the samples for nuclear DNA content analysis.



Fig 2. The relative positions of G1 peaks of sample (*L. italicum*) and standard (*Vicia sativa*), and mitotic chromosomes of sample (2n=14).



Fig 3. Appearance of histogram of fluorescence intensities after analysis by flomax computer program.

CALCULATION OF NUCLEAR DNA CONTENT

Flourescent intensity of sample (G1 peak value) × DNA content of the standard as pg

Fluorescent intensity of standard (G1 peak value)

DNA content of *Lolium italicum*: (198.27/130.80) x 3.45 = 5.24 pg

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The results of nuclear DNA content analysis carried out on 8 *Lolium* species and a hybrid are presented in Table 1. According to the results obtained in the study, the mean 2C nuclear DNA content of *Lolium* species varies between 7.47 pg and 4.87 pg. L. rigidum had the lowest 2C nuclear DNA content within the *Lolium* genus while L. temelentum had the highest 2C nuclear DNA content. These results are the first reports on nuclear DNA content of *Lolium* species except economically important two species, *L. italicum* and *L. multiflorum*. The results obtained in this study is in agreement with previous results. The mean 2C nuclear DNA content differences observed among the *Lolium* species were statistically very significant.

In addition, the 2C mean nuclear DNA content of the two cultivated species of the genus, *L. perenne* (4.95 pg) and *L. italicum* (5.21 pg) had statistically different nuclear DNA content. However, 2C nuclear DNA content of *L. perenne* (4.95 pg) was not significantly different than some of the species as *L. rigidum* (4.87 pg), *L. subulatum* (4.93 pg) and *L. hybridium* (5.04 pg).

The mean 2C nuclear DNA content of *L. italicum* (5.21 pg), *L. canariense* (6.65 pg), and *L. persicum* species (7.03 pg) were statistically very significant from others included in the genus and each others. The mean 2C nuclear DNA content of *L. temelentum* (7.47 pg) and *L. remotum* (7.44 pg)

was significantly higher than all the other species included in the genus. But, the nuclear DNA content differences between these two species were insignificant.

| Species name | DNA. | | Con. | Con. (Pg/2C) | | T*S _x | Conf. | Interv. | |
|----------------|------|------|------|--------------|-------|------------------|-------|---------|--|
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | Mean | | | Lower | Upper | |
| L. rigidum | 4.72 | 4.89 | 5.01 | 4.873 | 0.146 | 0.119 | 4.754 | 4.992 | |
| L. subulatum | 4.89 | 4.9 | 5.02 | 4.936 | 0.072 | 0.059 | 4.878 | 4.996 | |
| L. perenne | 4.87 | 4.91 | 5.09 | 4.956 | 0.117 | 0.096 | 4.861 | 5.052 | |
| L. hybridium | 4.89 | 5.03 | 5.2 | 5.04 | 0.155 | 0.127 | 4.913 | 5.167 | |
| L. italicum | 5.18 | 5.22 | 5.24 | 5.213 | 0.031 | 0.025 | 5.188 | 5.238 | |
| L. canariensis | 6.6 | 6.67 | 6.69 | 6.653 | 0.047 | 0.039 | 6.615 | 6.692 | |
| L. persicum | 6.75 | 7.12 | 7.23 | 7.033 | 0.251 | 0.206 | 6.828 | 7.239 | |
| L. remetum | 7.41 | 7.44 | 7.49 | 7.446 | 0.040 | 0.033 | 7.414 | 7.480 | |
| L. temelentum | 7.18 | 7.6 | 7.64 | 7.473 | 0.255 | 0.208 | 7.265 | 7.682 | |

Table 1. The mean 2C nuclear DNA content of the Lolium species (2C/pg)

Conclusions

The mean 2C nuclear DNA contents of the *Lolium* species are significantly different. Therefore, the 2C nuclear DNA content of the *Lolium* species determined by flow cytometer can be used as a diagnostic tool to distinguish the species when it is needed. In addition, flow cytometer can also be used to confirm taxonomic identity and ploidy of the *Lolium* genetic resources before include them in research programs.

REFERENCES

- Bennett, M. D., Bhandol, P., I. Leitch (2000). Nuclear DNA Amounts in Angiosperms and their Modern Uses D807 New Estimates. Annals of Botany 86: 859-909.
- Polok, K (2007). Molecular evolution of genus *Lolium* L. ISBN 978-83-88125-52-2. Studio Palligrafii SQL.
- Terrell, E. E. (1968). A Taxonomic Revision of the Genus Lolium. Technical Bulletin No. 1392 Agricultural Research Service United States Department Of Agriculture.
- Tuna, M. (2014). Practical Workshop on Flow Cytometer and Its Applications in Agriculture. Namık Kemal University.

MICROPROPAGATION OF ANGELONIA ANGUSTIFOLIA FROM STEM EXPLANTS

Nadejda Zaprianova¹, Valeria Ivanova^{*2} Valentin Panchev²

¹Agricultural Academy, Bulgaria, Institute of Ornamental and Medicinal Plants – Sofia, Negovan 1222 ²Agricultural University – Plovdiv, Bulgaria

* <u>valeriasi1@abv.bg</u>

ABSTRACT

The results of this study have established a micropropagation system for Angelonia angustifolia that will provide plant material of high-quality Angelonia plants for the commercial market. The study has been made for the possibility of introducing *Angelonia angustifolia* in culture by stem cuttings. Different variants of sterilization have been tested. The most successful variant was Var.2 / HgCl2 0.1% -5 min. It has the highest % sterile explants were reported - 84.7% and the highest percentage of live plants was 65.8%. Nodal explants of Angelonia angustifolia were cultured on MS basal medium and induced to form shoots when supplemented with different concentrations BAP(0.1mg/l, 0.3mg/l and 0.5mg/l). The MS medium supplemented with BAP (0.5mg/l) was the most effective, providing high multiplication factor (1,40) associated with a high number of shoots per explant (3,0±0,3 shoots/explant). The plants were rooted on MS medium without plant growth regulators or in combination with different concentrations of BAP (0.1mg/l, 0.3mg/l and 0.5mg/l). The highest percentage (90%) rooted plants were obtained when using BAP -0.1mg/l /. All plantlets survived acclimatization producing healthy plants in the greenhouse.

Key words: micropropagation, Angelonia angustifolia, sterilizing agents ACE-30% and HgCl₂, BAP

INTRODUCTION

The clonal micropropagation is an established tool for obtaining large amounts of disease-free, genetically identical and high-quality planting material of various plants. This approach is also successfully applied for producing ornamental plants. In vitro technquescan is a preferred method of breeding plant species due to the ability to breed the plant material for a short time regardless of the season and when using a limited site. It is also suitable for both rare and endangered species, thus protecting them against extinction, as well as sterile plants or plants that cannot retain their reproductive characteristics (Manolova, D et al. (2013), Manolova, D et al. (2014), Zaprianova, N., & Ivanova, I. (2016), Kaninski, A, et al. (2012), Datta K, Datta SK (1984), Maira, O., Alexander, M., & Vargas, T. E. (2010), George, E. F., Hall, M. A., & De Klerk, G. J. (2008).

Angelonia /<u>Angelonia angustifolia</u>/ (*Plantaginaceae*) is unpopular species for decorative gardening in Bulgaria. Originating from South America, it is a herbaceous plant with a height of 30 cm. The flowers are small, dyed in pink, purple and white, collected in inflorescence class. The plant has no scent and is not toxic. It is used for both gardening and for arrangement of individual containers, baskets and pots. Plants in this genus are known for their heat tolerance (Bruggeman,1957) and have been recently incorporated into active breeding programs in a number of major flower-breeding firms. However, little is known about the optimal temperature, irradiance level, photoperiod and growth-

retardant use for production of this species (Miller, A., & Armitage, A. M. (2002). The objective of this work was to develop a system for introducing Angelonia angustifolia into an in vitro culture by stem cuttings. The development of a propagation protocol tissue culture method will bring a well-balanced seedlings.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Stem cuttings of Angelonia angustifolia were collected from 6 month-old plants grown at the greenhouse of the Institute of Ornamental Plants, Sofia.

Freshly harvested plant material was washed to remove the surface pollution and then was sterilized by soaking for 1 min with 70 % ethanol followed by one two sterilizing agents ACE-30% and HgCl2 0.1%. Finally it was rinsed three times in sterile distilled water.

| Variant | CH ₂ (OH) ₅ | ACE 30% | HgCl ₂ 0.1% | Sterile distilled water |
|-------------|-----------------------------------|---------|------------------------|----------------------------|
| Variant I | 1min | - | 2.5 min | 1x5 min;1x10 min, 1x15 min |
| Variant II | 1min | - | 5 min | 1x5 min;1x10 min, 1x15 min |
| Variant III | 1min | - | 10 min | 1x5 min;1x10 min, 1x15 min |
| Variant IV | 1min | 5 min | - | 1x5 min;1x10 min, 1x15 min |
| Variant V | 1min | 10 min | - | 1x5 min;1x10 min, 1x15 min |
| Variant VI | 1min | 15 min | - | 1x5 min;1x10 min, 1x15 min |

Table 1. Variants of Angelonia angustifolia sterilization

After the sterilization the plant explants were laid out on MS medium with vitamins + 6 g/l agar + 30 g/l sucrose, with pH 5.7.

The following indicators of surface sterilization are reported: percentage of the explants with fungal contamination and sterile explants recorded at 7 and 14 days of incubation and the percentage of viable plants were reported. To determine the effect of cytokinin BAP on the Angelonia, multiplication factor nodal segments (1 cm in length) were pasted onto fresh culture medium MS basal with vitamins + 6 g / 1 agar + 30 g / 1 sucrose + BAP (0.1 mg / 1; 0.3 mg / and 0.5 mg / L BAP) with pH 5.7. After 30 days, the multiplication factor and the size of the shoots were recorded. The multiplication factor is calculated by the formula: MK% = NxA / 100, where N - number of newly formed shoots, A-% multiplied plants (Tsvetkov, 1998).

In all the trials, media pH was adjusted to 5.7 with 0.1 N NaOH or 0.1 M HCl and autoclaved at 121 °C at 1.04 kg·cm-2 pressure for 20 min. Cultures were maintained under controlled conditions: room temperature 23 ± 2 °C, photoperiod 16/8 (day / night) and 50 µmol·m-2·s-1 light intensity provided by 40 W cool white fluorescent tubes (Philips, Bulgaria). The chemicals used in the experiments were purchased from Duchefa, The Netherlands. Data presented in table are mean values \pm SE from two independent experiments with 10 plantlets per variant. T-test was used for statistical analysis (GraphPad Prizm).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

By comparing the action of sterilizing agents HgCl2 and ACE 30%, it was found that both can be used to introduce Angelonia angustifolia into an in vitro culture. From the tested variants, the most successful was Var.2 / HgCl2 0.1% -5 min. It showed the highest percentage of derived sterile explants - 84.7% and the highest percentage of live plants. The use of ACE also showed a relatively high percentage of 64.2% of sterilization (Table 2).

| Variant | I reporting /7 days/ | | II reporting /14 | | |
|--------------|----------------------|----------|-----------------------|----------|-------------|
| | explants with fungal | sterile | explants with sterile | | sterile and |
| | contamination | explants | fungal | explants | viable |
| | % | % | contamination % | % | plants % |
| Variant -1 | 23,5 | 76,9 | 100,00 | 0 | 0 |
| /HgCl2 0.1 % | | | | | |
| -2.5min/ | | | | | |
| Variant -2 | 8,5 | 91,5 | 15,3 | 84,7 | 65,8 |
| /HgCl2 0.1 % | | | | | |
| -5min/ | | | | | |
| Variant -3 | 0 | 100,00 | 54.8 | 45,2 | 18.6 |
| /HgCl2 0.1 % | | | | | |
| -10min/ | | | | | |
| Variant -4 | 4,6 | 95,4 | 23,3 | 76,7 | 34.28 |
| / ACE 30% - | | | | | |
| 5min/ | | | | | |
| Variant -5 | 12,7 | 87,3 | 35,8 | 64,2 | 41.42 |
| / ACE 30% - | | | | | |
| 10min/ | | | | | |
| Variant -6 | 35,3 | 64,7 | 50,71 | 49,3 | 5.7 |
| / ACE 30% - | | | | | |
| 15min/ | | | | | |

Table 2. Results of the introduction in in vitro culture of explants from stem cuttings from <u>Angelonia angustifolia</u>

After sterilization, the explants are placed on MS medium + 6 g / 1 agar-agar + 30 g / 1 sucrose, pH of the medium before autoclaving is 5.7. It influences favorably the growth of plants without signs of deviation from their normal development such as vitrification or chlorosis.

Most authors reported successfully cultivation of pelargonium in vitro on basal salt medium MS (Dunbar & Stephens, 1989; Hassanein & Dorion, 2005; Saxenaa et al., 2000). The MS basal nutrient medium was also successfully used (Martin and Perez, 1995) for the introduction of 5 wild species of the genus Limonium in in vitro culture. It was also cited as the most suitable for obtaining well-developed regenerants of the genus Artemisia (Hristova 2014, Liu et al., 2003) and Angelonia Salicariefolia (Datta K, Datta SK 1984). In many studies on micropropagation of ornamental plants, BAP is used alone in different concentrations to determine its effect on the crop multiplication factor (Nencheva, 2009, Bhosale et al., 2011, Hassan et al., 2013, Uzunova, 2014, Martin, C., Perez, C.

1995). Alone using a BAP at Aquilegiq hirta gives most quality cuttings at a concentration of 0,1 mg /l (Hassan, et al. 2013), while impatiens New Guinea best results in all tested varieties is using MS + 7 g / l agar + 30 g / l sucrose + 2 mg / l BAF (Nencheva, 2009).

BAP has a stimulating effect on the rate of multiplication, with the values of the studied parameters depending on the concentration applied. Low concentrations of BAP cause formation of a smaller number of shoots than the high. The largest number of lateral shoots $(3,0\pm0,3,)$ was recorded in plants cultivated in MS medium supplemented with 0.5 mg/l-1-1 BAP for the <u>Angelonia angustifolia</u> (Table 3). The inclusion of BAP in the nutrient medium also affects the size of the formed shoots. The combination of MS basal salt medium and 0.5 mg/l-1-1 BAP led to formation many microplants. The resulting lower multiplication factor at low BAP concentrations is compensated for by the formation of larger size shoots. Highest height $(9.7 \pm 0.8 \text{ cm})$ was recorded in the explants cultivated in growth medium without growth regulators and at 0.1 mg / 1 BAP concentration (Table 3). The most well-developed root system was observed in Variant-2 / MS -0.1mg / 1. Most of the micro plants grown on medium without growth regulators and at 0.1 mg / 1 BAP concentration formed roots and were fully prepared to adapt to conditions in vivo.

| Variant | Shoots /number | МК% | Height /cm | Root- length /cm/ | Rooting % |
|--------------------------------|----------------|------|------------|-------------------|-----------|
| Variant -1 control MS basal | 2,0±0,5 | 0,12 | 9,7±0,8 | 2,0±0,1 | 90 |
| Variant -2 / MS -0.1mg/l / | 2,2±0,2* | 0,83 | 9,4±0,8 | 2,4±0,2*** | 90 |
| Variant -3 / MS -0.3mg/l / | 2,5±0,4** | 0,51 | 5.2±0,6** | 0,9±0,2нс | 50 |
| Variant -4 / MS -0.5mg/l / | 3,0±0,3*** | 1,40 | 4.5±0,2*** | 1,2±0,6нс | 10 |

Table 3. Influence of tree concentrations of BAP on growth of explants of Angelonia angustifolia

Successful acclimatization enhances optimal conditions for high plant survival, followed by growth and stabilization of the micropropagated plants. The acclimatization takes place in a greenhouse at an air temperature of 20-26 ° C and an air humidity of 80-90%. During the first two weeks the plants are overshadowed and sprinkled 4-5 times a day. After the second week the humidity gradually decreases to 60%. Full acclimatization occurs for about 4 weeks.

CONCLUSIONS

The research shows the following results: The highest number of sterile and vital explants is obtained with the usage of HgCl2 as sterilizing agent, applied at 0,1% concentration over a period of 5 minutes on the plant explants. (Variant 2). MS medium supplemented with BAP (0.5mg/l) was the most effective, providing high multiplication factor (1,40) associated with a high number of shoots per explant (3,0±0,3 shoots/explant). The resulting lower multiplication factor at low BAP concentrations is compensated by the formation of larger size shoots. Highest height (9.7 ± 0.8 cm) was recorded in the explants cultivated in growth medium without growth regulators and at 0.1 mg / 1 BAP concentration Plants were rooted on MS medium without plant growth regulators or in combination with different concentrations of BAP (0.1mg/l, 0.3mg/l and 0.5mg/l). The highest

percentage (90 %) rooted plants were obtained when using BAP -0.1mg/l / All plantlets survived acclimatization producing healthy plants in the greenhouse.

REFERENCES

- Browning, J.A., (1974). Relevance of knowledge about natural ecosystems to development of pest management programs for agro-ecosystems. Proceedings of the American Phytopathological Society, pp.493-498
- Bruggeman, L. (1957). Tropical plants and their cultivation. Crowell, New York
- Datta K, Datta SK (1984) Rapid clonal multiplication of *Angelonia salicariifolia* through tissue culture. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 3:215–220
- Djilianov D., Genova G, Parvanova D., Zaprianova N., Konstantinova T., Atanassov A. (2005) In vitro culture of the resurrection plant Haberlea rhodopensis. *Plant Cell,Tissue & Organ Culture* 80 pp: 115-118 *IF- 3.633 (2012)*
- Dunbar K. B., C. T. Stephens. (1989). Shoot regeneration of hybrid seed geranium (Pelargonium x hortorum) and regal geranium (Pelargonium x domesticum) from primary callus cultures. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 19, 1, 13-21
- George, E. F., Hall, M. A., & De Klerk, G. J. (2008). Micropropagation: uses and methods. In *Plant* propagation by tissue culture (pp. 29-64). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Hassanein A., N. Dorion.(2005). Efficient Plant Regeneration System From Leaf Discs of Zonal (Pelargonium x hortorum) and two scented (P. capitatum and P. graveolens) Geraniums. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 83, 2, 231-240.
- Hassan, N. H., Ali, N. A. M., Zainudin, F., Ismail, H., (2011). Effect of 6benzylaminopurine (BAP) in different basal media on shoot multiplication of Aquilaria hirta and detection of essential oils in the in vitro shoots. African Journal of Biotechnology, 10(51), pp.10500-10503.
- Kaninski AI, Ivanova II, Bistrichanov S., Zapryanova, N., Atanasova, B., Iakimova, E.T.* (2012) Ex situ conservation of endangered Limonium species in the Bulgarian flora. *Journal of Fruit and Ornamental Plant Research*, 20(1), pp:115-129
- Liu, C.Z., Murch, S.J., El-Demerdash, M. and Saxena, P.K., (2003). Regeneration of the Egyptian medicinal plant Artemisia judaica L. Plant Cell Reports, 21(6), pp.525-530.
- Maira, O., Alexander, M., & Vargas, T. E. (2010). Micropropagation and organogenesis of Anthurium andreanum Lind cv Rubrun. In *Protocols for In Vitro Propagation of Ornamental Plants* (pp. 3-14). Humana Press.
- Manolova DM, Zapryanova NG, Kaninski A, Atanassova B (2013) Introduction of species of genus Goniolimon in an in vitro culture, Subtropical and Ornamental Horticulture, 49, pp: 216-220
- Manolova DM, Zaprianova NG, Kaninski A. (2014) In vitro multiplication of four species of Genus Goniolimon. Plant science, vol. 6, pp 66-69.
- Martín, C. and Pérez, C., (1995). Micropropagation of five endemic species of Limonium from the Iberian Peninsula. Journal of Horticultural Science, 70(1), pp.97-103

- Miller, A., & Armitage, A. M. (2002). Temperature, irradiance, photoperiod, and growth retardants influence greenhouse production of Angelonia Angustifolia Benth. Angel Mist series. *HortScience*, *37*(2), 319-321.
- Nencheva D (2009). Increasing of New Guinea Impatiens multiplication rate in vitro, Jubilee Scientific Session, Institute of Ornamental Plants, Sofia, Bulgaria, 18 June, 73-76.
- Saxenaa G., S. Banerjeea, L. Rahmana, G.R. Mallavarapub, S. Sharmac, S. Kumara. (2000) An efficient in vitro procedure for micropropagation and generation of somaclones of rose scented Pelargonium. Plant Science, 155, 2, 133–140.
- Tsvetkov, I. (1998) Propagation of mature specimen of mulberry(Morus alba L. "Pendula") by tissue culture. IPPS in Third Scientific Conference 3-5 october, Sofia 129-133.
- Uzunova.K, (2014). Comparative evaluation between Bulgarian and English rosa Varieties by degree of multiplication and rooting in micropropagation. Bulgarian Journal of Crop Science, 6, pp.70-74
- Zaprianova, N., & Ivanova, I. (2016). Multiplication of lilies (Lilium) in vitro conditions. *Journal of Mountain Agriculture on the Balkans*, 19(1), 246-255.

ASSESSMENT OF THE RESPONSE OF POTATO VARIETIES TO ECOLOGICAL CONDITIONS IN NORTH IRAQ

Ibraheem M. Aliyas Hussien J. Moharram, Mohammad A. H. Alhadeedy Agricultural Technical College, Mosul, Iraq

aboesamalnaser@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

The ecological conditions in northern Iraq are suitable for potato cropping due to moderate climate; rainfall, suitable temperature, fertile soil, water availability and farmers skills. Potato is considered an important global food crop. So it is important to improve production and quality by; by selection of suitable and high productive varieties and usage of modern technology, such as irrigation and fertilization techniques to increase yield. This study was performed as a field experiment in two regions; Khazir and Kalakchi in north Iraq. Three varieties from Netherland were used these are: Laperla, Lanorma and Actrice. The results showed; that the Khazir region; produced the highest tuber number 113110 / dunum, total tuber weight 14.2959 tons / d and higher yield 14.2959 tons/d compared with 11.4513 tons/d in the Kalakh region, Laperla variety was significantly superior in yield which reached 15.8103 tons/d, while the lanorma variety gave 13.5440 tons/d and at last the Actrice variety which gave 9.2662 tons/d, the interaction between regions and varieties gave the highest yield (khazir+Laperla) which reached 16.7330 tons/d while the same variety yielded 14.8883 tons/d.

Key words: Potato, Response, Laperla, Lanorma, Actrice, Iraq.

INTRODUCTION

Potato crop Solanum tuberosum L. belong to the Solanaceae family. Wild potato species can be found in south America. [1]. Potato plays an important role in providing nutrient energy to humans through the provision of appropriate food to secure the nutrient requirements of the growing global population, in addition to cereal crops in a sustainable form such as; wheat, rice, corn, barley, triticale and pseudocereal crops such as; buckwheat, quinoa and amaranth ...etc. Cereal crops in general are characterize by high prices and are subjected to global commercial speculations to supply, demands and commercial competition. While potato is not subjected to those speculations and competitions. Mass production of potato is common at the moment due to the short life of the crop. Their suitable price for the customer increased potato consumption. Potato cultivation in Iraq is facing many challenges, such as inadequate environmental conditions especially in the middle and southern regions, such as soil salinity, water scarcity, frequent pest infections, increase in production costs, traditional agriculture, lack of advanced technologies and the lack of advanced research centers for seed production [3]. Iraq imports 75,000 tons/year of potatoes from the neighboring countries to cover the local needs [4]. Moreover, Iraq import potato seeds from different sources such as: France, Italy and Holland to select the suitable varieties for the Iraqi environments with high productivity. In Ethiopia 16 varieties of potatoes were tested to select the highest productive varieties, the gera variety was superior which gave 53.97 t/h of marketable tubers [6]. Studies showed that dehydration of sliced fresh potato is one of the ways to prevent problems such as undesired sugar accumulation during storage and eventual browning on frying [8].

Dehydration of potato slices prevents the action of Amlolytic enzymes on starch. Certain characteristics should be available in potatoes to make it suitable for crisp industry these are: shallow eyes in the tuber, regular shape, light yellow color of the flesh, high dry matter, starch content, and low accumulation of sugars during storage [10]. The nutritional value of potato make it a very important crop as it contain 2.86% protein, 17.2% carbohydrates, 3.3 fibers, 0.0% saturated oil. And 0.10% oil. Each 100 gm of potato give 78 calories and is a rich source of vitamin B6 and vitamin C which supply the body with 23% of daily needs. [11].

MATERIALS AND METHODS:

Factorial experiment of three potato varieties from Holland were used, they are: Laperla, Lanorma, from Den Hartigh company where imported by (Alrafidian land for agricultural techniques company) in Nineveh governorate in Iraq and Actrice variety from (Agro company plant), which were supplied from the Ministry of Agriculture in Iraq, for assessment of the response of these varieties to the ecological conditions in North Iraq. The three varieties were experimented in two regions; Alkhazir and Kalalchi. Complete randomized block design (CRBD) were used with three replications with six treatments and 18 experimental units, and 3x3=9 m² plots. sprinkler irrigation were used in addition to rain fall water. Dap NPK fertilizers were aded (18-46-0) at a rate of 40 kg/d.). The soil texture is a loamy-clay in both regions. The cultural practices were mechanically performed, such as; plowing, smoothening, furrowing and plotting. Seeds were planted on the 20 of February at a rate of 750 kg/d. The distance between furrows is 80 cm with 30 cm planting distances. The crop was harvested on the 15th. of June at both regions. The samples were taken from the middle of the plots with an average of 10 plants from each plot to study the following traits: plant number/ d, tubers number/d, total tuber weight (yield)/d, non marketable tubers No/d, non marketable Tubers weight ton/d, marketable tuber No. /d, marketable yield ton/d, according to the mathematical model by calculating the following traits; number of tuber/plant, weight of tubers/plant and the average tuber weight. Recorded data was statistically analyzed by SAS program and the means were compared under the 0.05 level according to Duncan's multiple range test for the studied traits as in text book [12].

RESULTS AND DISSCUSION

This study was carried out in two regions; Khazir and Kalakchi located in north Iraq, using three varieties; Laperla, Lanorma & Actrice with three replications. The two regions have nearly the same climate. with very warm & dry summer, with moderate wet and relatively cool winter. The rain falling is during the winter & spring seasons between November to May. With an average temperature of 28 -30 C^{0} . with loamy - clay soil [13]. The results in table (1) which represent the average results of the studied traits revealed that the Khazir region was significantly superior in the following traits; total tuber number 113110 / d, total tuber weight 14.2959 ton / d, marketable tuber number was 86073 tuber/d, marketable tuber weight was 13.5921 ton/ d,either there were no significant differences in plant number, nonmarketable tuber number between the two regions. Laperla variety gave significant superiority over the other varieties in terms of total tubers number 130443/d, total tuber weight 15.8107 ton /d, nonmarketable tuber number 31777/ d, marketable tuber number 99332/d except plant number/d. table (2). The interaction between the two regions and the three varieties showed significant superiority of the Khazir region with Laperla variety in most studied traits especially the tuber number 140877 / d, and total tuber weight 16.7330 ton /d, table (3). The same result appeared in the Kalakchi area, as Laperla variety gave the highest yield 14.8883/d and tuber number number119999/d. It is worth to know from this study that the Khazir region was better than the Kakakchi region for their significant superiority in most traits, due to its suitable ecological conditions.
Also Laperla variety was significantly better than the others, may perhaps due to genetic composition of the variety which suit the weather conditions. It is also worth to note that the three varieties could be classified in order according to their yield: Laperla v. is the first and Lanorma v. is the second while Actrice v. Is the third respectively.

=

A mathematical model for potato production is been formulated from the values of table (2).

1- Tuber number / plant = Total tuber No. / Total plant No.

N = B / P

Whereas N= tuber number/plant

B= total tuber number

P= total plant number

For Lanorma variety N = 102221 / 10777.6 N= 9.5 tuber/ plant

For Laperla variety N =130443 / 10111.0 N = 12.90 =

For Actrice variety N = 77777 / 10666.5 N = 7.3

2- yield /plant =Total tuber weight / Total plant number

 $\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{W} / \mathbf{P}$

Y= yield

W= total weight

P= plant number

For Lanorma variety Y = 13544 / 10777.6 Y = 1.256 kg/plant

For Laperla variety Y = 15810/10111.0 Y = 1.563 =

For Actrice variety Y = 9266 / 10666.5 Y = 0.868 =

3- Average tuber weight = Total tuber weight / Total tuber number

Average $T.W = T \cdot T.W / T \cdot T.No$

Where: T.W; Tuber weight, T. T.W; Total tuber weight, T. T.No; Total tuber number.

For Lanorma v. T.W = 13.544/102221 = 132 gm

For Laperla v. T.W = 15.8107 / 130443 = 121 gm

For Actrice v. T.W = 9.2662 / 77777 = 119 gm

Through the application of the above mathematical model we were able to obtain the values of yield traits by using data in Table (2). These values are used for the evaluation of the three experimented varieties; the average tuber number /plant for Lanorma (9.5), Laperla (12.90) and Actrice (7.3). The tuber weight per plant was calculated for the three varieties: Lanorma (1.256 kg/p), Laperla (1.556 kg/p) and Actric (0.868 kg/p). Finally, the average tuber weight was calculated of the three varieties;

Lanorma (132 gm/t), Laperla (121 gm/t) and Actric (119 gm/t). It is obvious that Lanorma gave the highest average tuber weight (132 gm/t); because of the large size of the Lanorma variety tubers. For the calculation of profit and maximum net benefits the following models is applied:

4- $F = \Sigma Pi Yi - C$

Where ; F; Profit , P ; Price .\$, Y; Yield . ton , C ; Cost .\$

5- Maximum net benefit (MNB)

$$\mathbf{MNB} = \sum_{c} yc \times pc \times Ac - \sum_{c} c_1 w_x \times Q \times A_c$$

Where; y_c : crop yield , p_c :crop price , A_c ;crop area , c_1w_{\star} :cost price Q:quantity price .

The production is considered as a function of the environmental factors, genetic factors, and crop & soil management factors, as expressed by the following mathematical model:

Production = Function of (Ecological factors + Genetic factors + management factors).

 $\mathbf{P} = \Sigma \left(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{G} + \mathbf{M} \right)$

Table 1. Average yield characters of the three varieties in khazir&kalakchi regions.

| Experimental Region | Plant No./ d | Tuber No./ | Total tuber | No.of non | weigh of non- | No. of | weigh of |
|---------------------|--------------|------------|-------------|------------|---------------|------------|------------|
| | | d | weight in | marketable | marketable | marketable | marketable |
| | | | Tons/d | tubers /d | tubers ton/d | tubers /d | ton /d |
| | | | | | | | |
| AIKHAZER | 10592.4 A | 113110 A | 14.2959 A | 27333 A | 0.6666 A | 86073 A | 13.5921 A |
| | | | | | | | |
| KALAKCHI | 10444.3 A | 93851 B | 11.4513 B | 23926 A | 0.6072 A | 70370 B | 10.8070 B |
| | | | | | | | |

Means with the same letter are not significantly different at the 0.05 level.

Table 2. Average yield characters of the experimented varieties at both regions.

| Variety | Plants No./ | Tubers | Total tuber | Tubers No./ of | weigh of non | No. of | weigh of |
|---------|-------------|----------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|-------------|---------------|
| | d | No./ d | weight in tons /d | non marketable | marketable | marketable | marketable |
| | | | (yield) | /d | tubers ton /d | Le tubers/d | tubers ton /d |
| Lanorma | 10777.6 A | 102221 B | 13.5440 B | 26555 AB | 0.6882 A | 75666 B | 12.8550 B |
| Laperla | 10111.0 A | 130443 A | 15.8103 A | 31777 A | 0.6400 A | 99332 A | 15.1217 A |
| Actrice | 10666.5 A | 77777 C | 9.2662 C | 18555 B | 0.5825 A | 59666 B | 8.6220 C |

Means preceded by similar letters do not differ at the 0.05 level.

Table 3. The interaction between agricultural regions and varieties.

| igh of |
|----------|
| ketable |
| s Ton /d |
| |
| 33 AB |
| |
|)55 A |
| 290 C |
| 309 C |
| (|

| | Lanorma | 11111.0 A | 99555 B | 13.0883 AB | 26222AB | 0.7103 A | 73333 B | 12.377 AB |
|----------|---------|-----------|-----------|------------|---------|----------|---------|-----------|
| KALAKCHI | Laperla | 9999.9 A | 119999 AB | 14.8883 A | 30000 A | 0.5900 A | 91332 A | 14.188 A |
| | Actrice | 10222.1 A | 61999 C | 6.3773 C | 15555 B | 0.5213 A | 4644 C | 5.855 C |

Means with similar letters are not significantly different at the 0.05 level.

Table 4. Indicate yield characters for varieties through a mathematical model.

| Variety | Yield characters | | | | | | | |
|---------|--------------------|-----------------|--------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Tuber number/plant | Yield kg/ plant | average tuber weight gm. | | | | | |
| Lanorma | 9.5 | 1.256 | 132 | | | | | |
| Laperla | 12.90 | 1.556 | 121 | | | | | |
| Actrice | 7.3 | 0.868 | 119 | | | | | |

CONCLUSION

From the assessment of this experiment; it appear that the Khazir region gave better results than Kalakchi region for the three varieties due to suitability of the ecological conditions especially soil type, the Laperla variety was better than the other varieties, may be also due to genetic properties. Dunum = $50x50m = 2500 m^2 = \frac{1}{4}$ = Hectare

RECOMMMENDATIONs:

1 - Necessity to use modern technologies in all processes of soil and crop services.

2- Expanding the scientific research centers all over the Iraqi governorates.

3- Providing technical (agricultural equipments) at subsidized prices to farmers.

4 - Application of sustainable agricultural methods to achieve healthy and eco-friendly products.

5 – Production of high yield & quality varieties such as resistance to pests, especially viruses.

6. Reduce the production costs due to low price of marketable potato in Iraq to ensure a profitable income for the farmers.

7 - Prevention of potato importation for local consumption to encourage national production.

- 8. Providing refrigerated stores and refrigerated transport for potato crop.
- 9 Importation of potato high quality and productivity potato seeds.
- 10. Expanding the potato industry and processing to maintain profitable revenues.

REFERENCES:

1- FAOSTAT, 2014, United nations, food and agriculture organization, statistics division (FAOSTAT), 2014. archived from the original on the 6th of September 20th. Retrieved 8th December 2016. (crop/world/total/are a harvested/2014 (pick list).

2- Sadiq, Q. S. 2013. The Fact of potato cultivation in Iraq and raise the level of reality in Iraq grow potatoes and raise the Level of quantitative and qualitative production of scientific. Ndoh of the Dept. of Horti., and Agric. Engineering Alhaddaúq. Univ. of Baghdad.

3- Shawano, R. and J. Ayah. 2006. The effect of irrigation water salinity in the growth and holds potatoes *Solanum tuberosum* L. and Methods of Reducing It. Ph.D. dissertation, Coll. of Agric., Univ. of Baghdad. p,410-415.

4- Mashhadani, M. 2005. financial calendar for the production of potato crop in Iraq. Iraqi J. of Agric. Sci. 36(3): 11-15.

5- Kenneth A. Rykbost et al,1990, potato varieties, an introduction to variety characteristics, management and performance in the Klamath Basin Agricultural Experiment Stations Oregon State University, Corvallis University of California, Davis in cooperation with Klamath County, OR, Siskiyou County and Modoc County, CA. p:1-20.

6 - Habtamu Gebreselassie et al , 2016 , Evaluation of potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) varieties for yield and Yield components in Eastern Ethiopia, Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare www.iiste.org ISSN 2224-3208 (Paper) ISSN 2225-093X (Online) Vol.6, No.5, p,146-154.

7 - Parkin and Schwobe, 1990, Effect of low temperature and modified atmosphere storage on sugar accumulation in potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum*), journal of food science processing and preservation, volume 14, issue 3, Pages 241–252.

8- Duffus et a1; 1991. Changes in the surface morphology of starch granules of the cultivated potato, *Solanum tuberosum* L. during storage, potato research journal, June 1993, Volume 36, issue 2, pp, 119–125.

9- Kulkarni et al 2012, Optimization of HTST process parameters for production of ready-to-eat potato-soy snack, J F Food Sci. Technol. , 2012 Aug; 49 (4): 427–438.

10- Putz and Gehse 1994. Crisp quality of two potato varieties: Effects of dehydration and rehydration, journal of the science of food and agriculture (SCI) ,Volume 64, Issue 2 February 1994 Pages 205-210

11- U S, 2014, Nutrient contents of potato, baked, flesh and skin, without salt per 100 grams. *Nutrition data .com, Conde*, *Nast- for the US National Nutrient Database, SR-21. 2014*. Retrieved 7 May 2017.

12 - Al-Rawi Kh. Mahmoud, 1980, "Design and analysis of agricultural experiments["], Dep. of field Crops, Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry, Mosul University, University of Mosul. Pages 488.

13 - Ibraheem M. Aliyas, 2018. Evaluation the impact of atmospheric thermal stress on vegetative growth of trees in Nineveh governorate/ IRAQ, International journal of current research in multidisciplinary (IJCRM) ISSN: 2456-0979:2, (11), (December'17), pp. 12-18.

COLD STORAGE OF CARROTS GROWN IN KIRIKHAN (HATAY) REGION

Ahmet Genç¹, Ahmet Erhan Özdemir*¹, Tamer Sermenli¹ ¹Department of Horticulture, Mustafa Kemal University, 31034, Hatay, Turkey,

* erhan@mku.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

This study aimed to investigate quality changes in 'Nanco F1' variety carrots from Nantes group grown in Kırıkhan (Hatay) during cold storage. Harvested carrots were perforated bag, imperforated bag and modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) after washing with tap water and immersing in sodium hypochlorite containing 0.5% of chlorine, 3 minutes and stored at 0 ± 0.5 °C and $90\pm5.0\%$ relative humidity for 5 months are used analyzed every month. In addition to carrots were kept at 20 ± 0.5 °C and 75 ± 5.0 % relative humidity for 7 days in order to similar shelf life. The weight loss, CO₂ concentrations in the bag, carrot color (L* and h°), appearance (1-9), rooting and sprouting rate and rooting and sprouting degree, incidence of fungal decay and physiological disorders, carrot firmness, total soluble solid content, pH value, titrable acid content and taste (1-9) were determined during shelf life and storage. In the light of our findings, weight loss in perforated bags was higher than imperforated bags and MAP bags. There was no difference between washing with tab water and soaking in sodium hypochloride in terms of weight loss. It was determined that 'Nanco F1' type carrots could be stored for 3 months at 0 ± 0.5 °C and $90\pm5.0\%$ relative humidity without losing much of the quality for local and distant markets. In order to reduce the weight loss in carrot, MAP application was necessary.

Key words: Kırıkhan, carrot, MAP, storage, quality.

INTRODUCTION

Carrot (Daucus carota var. sativus) is a member of the Umbelliferae-Apiaceae family. It is a native of Central Asia and Near East. It is a biennial vegetable produced with seeds and has edible roots (Yanmaz, 1994). In a study investigating quality losses in carrots, it was reported that the losses before and during the harvest were high. In particular, the 49.45% discard ratio in the first class carrots produced for domestic and international consumption is an indication that there are a number of problems even as early as the starting from breeding stage (Sermenli et al., 2014). The losses that occur during harvest, after harvest and during storage are of mechanical physiological and pathological origin. Mechanical and pathological losses can be minimized by careful handling of harvest and postharvest processes and providing hygienic conditions during the storage period up until the consumption stage (Halloran et al., 1997). The respiration rate of carrots is low, and they do not deteriorate quickly when compared to other fruits and vegetables, can be stored for a long time, they continue to grow after harvest and display undesirable physical changes (rooting and sprouting) after harvest, especially during storage process (Özdemir and Candır, 2013). New technologies are needed to reduce the loss of taste and flavour, to prevent bitterness and to reduce fungal decay during storage while at the same time preserving quality. 5 kg of carrots wrapped with perforated polyethylene were stored at 5 °C and 85-90% relative humidity conditions for 4 months and rooting - sprouting rate and rooting - sprouting degree were examined. This study reported that rooting and sprouting rate increased during storage, sprouting rate reached 100% at the 2nd month and rooting rate started at the 2nd month and reached 100% at the 4th month (Kasım et al., 2000). It is stated that a clean container should be used for storage purposes, temperature should be kept close to 0 °C and the relative humidity should not exceed 95% (Tülek and Dolar, 2011). Application of chlorine to harvested carrot fruits after pre-cooling is a practical method (Hurst, 1998). Surface sterilization is provided by this method. Washing the roots with water is an effective method to remove fungal spores. Washing the carrots with chlorinated water reduces the incidence of disease (Tülek and Dolar, 2011). The Modified Atmosphere Packing (MAP) technique is a product preservation and packaging method that meet the consumers' growing demand for safe, pure products with high nutritional value. The quality of the products can be preserved for a longer time and the shelf life can be extended with the selection of proper atmospheric composition, packaging material and storage conditions in MAP technique (Kader et al., 1989; Farber et al., 2003). The purpose of this study is to improve the storage conditions of 'Nanco F1' carrot variety from Nantes group carrots grown in Kırıkhan region of Hatay Province by using MAP technique. The aim of the study was to create alternatives for raising the income levels of regional producers and to make a contribution for meeting the needs of domestic and international consumption.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

In this study, 'Nanco F1' carrot variety in the Nantes group carrots grown in Kırıkhan region of Hatay province was used. The carrots were supplied from the production site of a producer (Sedef Tarım Ltd. Şti.) in Kırıkhan. The carrots were sorted and selected on the basis of a uniform size and appearance and absence of defects. Carrots were submerged in tap water and / or 0.5% sodium hypochlorite for 3 minutes. After the carrots were dried, they were put in 10 kg commercial perforated or imperforated bags and 5 kg MAP bags (PBTW: Perforated bag with washing tap water, PBSH: Perforated bag with immersing in sodium hypochlorite, IBTW: Imperforated bag with washing tap water, IBSH: Imperforated bag with immersing in sodium hypochlorite). They were then placed in cold storage at 0 °C and at 90-95% relative humidity for 5 months. The carrots were stored at 20 °C for 7 days each month to determine the shelf life of the fruit.

CO2 concentrations in MAP bags: CO2 concentrations in MAP and perforated bags were monitored per month with a needle attached to a portable gas analyser (PBI-Dansensor America Inc., USA) via the septum glued onto the package throughout storage and CO2 gas ratios are expressed as a percentage.

Weight loss: During storage, the carrots in the bags were weighed with a 0.2 g sensitive scale (AND GX-20K,Tokyo, Japan), with a weighing capacity of 16 kg. For the purposes of measuring shelf life, 30 carrots were individually numbered and weighed per month with a 0.01 g-sensitive precision scale (Ohaus Adventurer, USA). The weight loss was expressed as a percentage.

Appearance (1-9): Samples taken each month from carrots that were stored at storage and shelf conditions were evaluated according to hedonic scale. The scale ranges from 1 (worst) to 9 (best). "5" on the scale constitutes the limit of being marketable (Cliffe-Byrnes and O'Beirne, 2007).

Taste (1-9): The taste of samples taken each month from carrots that were stored at storage and shelf conditions was assessed by a panel of 10 people in accordance with the hedonic scale. The scale ranges from 1 (worst) to 9 (best). "5" on the scale constitutes the limit of being marketable (Cliffe-Byrnes and O'Beirne, 2007).

Incidence of fungal decay and physiological disorders: The carrots that were stored at storage and shelf conditions were evaluated individually, fungal deterioration and physiological deterioration were observed and the decay rates were expressed as a percentage.

Carrot colour (L* and h°): Throughout the shelf life and during monthly removal from the storage, carrots were used to take readings by using L* a* b* Minolta CR-300 model Chromometer colour measuring device in accordance with C.I.E. (Konica Minolta Sensing Inc., Osaka, Japan). Readings were taken at 5 cm below the head in both sides (McGuire, 1992).

Rooting and sprouting rate: The carrots that were stored at storage and shelf conditions were evaluated individually, the ratio of forming roots and shoots of carrots during storage was determined as a percentage.

Rooting and sprouting degree: The number and length of shoots and roots formed in carrots according to scale 0-5 were taken into account (Halloran et al. 1997). The length of shoots and roots was measured in cm with digital callipers and then evaluated in accordance to their scale values.

Carrot firmness: During storage conditions and shelf life, carrot firmness was measured with the help of a penetrometer (Effegi model FT 444, Italy) with a drilling head length of 6 mm. First a thin layer with an approximate diameter of 1 cm on both sides has been removed from 5 cm below the head of each carrot and the values were taken in kg power and then converted to Newton (N).

pH value: The pH level was measured with a digital pH meter (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., MA, USA) during the storage and shelf conditions.

Titrable acidity content: It was measured with the potentiometric method (Sadler, 1994) during storage and shelf life, and 5 ml sample obtained from the carrot juice was increased to 100 ml by adding distilled water and it was titrated with 0.1 N NaOH solution until reading 8.1 in the digital pH meter (Brand titrette, Germany) and the results were calculated as citric acid / g citric acid / 100 ml fruit juice.

Total soluble solid content (TSS): TSS was determined as a percentage with hand refractometer (Atago ATC-1E Model, Atago Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) during storage and shelf life.

From the carrot samples taken out monthly during the storage and shelf conditions, 2 kg of carrots were analysed in 3 repetitions for each time and every application. The research is set in accordance with the "factorial experiment in a completely randomized block design" and the data acquired were analysed through SAS software (SAS Institute, Cary, N.C.) (SAS, 2018) and Tukey test (p < 0.05) was employed for comparison and the results are given in the tables.

RESULTS

The CO2 concentration in the imperforated bag and MAP was 17.17% at the end of the 5 month storage period in the 'Nanco F1' carrot variety. The application which yielded the highest increase in CO2 concentration was "imperforated bag with immersing in sodium hypochlorite" (23.33%) (Data not shown).

An increase in weight loss was detected when the storage time of the 'Nanco F1' variety carrots was prolonged and reached an average of 6.49% in the 5th month. Among the applications, weight loss was least in the "imperforated bag with washing tap water" application and most weight loss was observed in the perforated bag. As the shelf-life prolonged, the average weight loss increased from the initial 0.70% to average of 1.20% at the third month and then slightly decreased to 0.81% at the end of the fifth month. The greatest weight loss among applications during shelf life was observed in the application of MAP with washing tap water, and the lowest amount was observed in the application of imperforated bag with washing tap water (Table 1).

During the prolonged storage and during shelf life of the carrots, there has been a decrease in the appearance scores according to the 1-9 scale and at the end of the 4th month these scores fell below the acceptable limit of 5 (4.81). Among the applications, MAP applications yielded the best appearance scores during storage and shelf life and did not fall below the acceptable limit. As the storage time of the 'Nanco F1' variety carrots was extended and during shelf life, the taste scores decreased according to scale 1-9 and fell below the acceptable limit of 5 at the end of 4th month (average 4.81 and 4.98 respectively). Among the applications, MAP applications received the best taste scores during storage and shelf life and did not fall below the acceptable limit even at the end of storage (Table 1).

The fungal decay and physiological deterioration increased as the storage period of carrots prolonged, and at the end of the 5th month, it was 5.92% and 7.17% respectively. The greatest increase in fungal decay and physiological deterioration during storage has been observed in imperforated bag with immersing in sodium hypochlorite application. During the shelf life there were increases in fungal decay and reached 45.56% at the end of the fifth month. No physiological deterioration was detected in any application during shelf life (Table 1).

'Nanco F1' variety carrots have been reduced in brightness during storage. Among the applications, the maximum reduction in L* value of carrot colour was observed in perforated bag and imperforated bag with immersing in sodium hypochlorite applications; MAP application has increased the brightness of carrots. During the shelf life, carrots were similarly reduced in brightness (Table 1). There was statistically no difference between the applications at carrot colour h° value during storage, while there was an increase in initial value of carrot colour h° value. As the shelf-life prolonged, the carrot colour h° values increased compared to baseline, but the differences between the months were statistically similar (Table 1).

| Storage | Weight | Appearance | Taste | Fungal decay | Physiological | L* | h° |
|--------------|--------------|------------|--------|--------------|---------------|----------|----------|
| type | loss (%) | (1-9) | (1-9) | (%) | disorder (%) | | |
| Cold storag | ge treatment | ts | | | | | |
| PBTW | 4.52 a | 6.50 b | 6.39 b | 0.96 b | 0.00 b | 40.80 c | 53.37 a |
| PBSH | 5.11 a | 6.65 b | 6.45 b | 0.96 b | 0.00 b | 41.76 bc | 53.72 a |
| IBTW | 2.65 c | 6.74 b | 6.22 b | 1.12 b | 0.00 b | 43.26 b | 55.34 a |
| IBSH | 3.60 b | 5.85 c | 5.37 c | 6.42 a | 19.25 a | 42.00 bc | 54.26 a |
| MAPTW | 4.29 b | 7.24 a | 7.52 a | 0.60 b | 0.00 b | 52.31 a | 52.96 a |
| MAPSH | 3.64 b | 7.30 a | 7.41 a | 0.42 b | 0.00 b | 53.20 a | 53.76 a |
| Storage tin | ne (Months) |) | | | | | |
| 0 | | 9.00 a | 9.00 a | | | 47.76 bc | 51.93 b |
| 1 | 0.83 e | 8.54 b | 8.28 b | 0.00 c | 0.00 d | 46.03 c | 53.85 ab |
| 2 | 2.77 d | 7.95 с | 7.85 c | 0.28 bc | 0.00 d | 49.03 b | 54.70 ab |
| 3 | 4.10 c | 5.81 d | 5.74 d | 0.74 bc | 3.60 c | 52.03 a | 55.16 a |
| 4 | 5.65 b | 4.81 e | 4.98 e | 1.79 b | 5.27 b | 43.84 d | 53.50 ab |
| 5 | 6.49 a | 4.17 f | 3.50 f | 5.92 a | 7.17 a | 34.63 e | 54.29 ab |
| Shelf life t | reatments | | | | | | |
| PBTW | 0.74 de | 6.26 c | 6.35 c | 11.11 bc | 0.00 a | 52.53 b | 52.02 b |
| PBSH | 0.90 bc | 5.70 d | 5.72 d | 8.33 c | 0.00 a | 53.38 a | 53.30 ab |
| IBTW | 0.62 e | 5.72 d | 5.76 d | 13.33 b | 0.00 a | 51.51c | 53.35 ab |
| IBSH | 0.84 cd | 4.26 e | 4.26 e | 19.44 a | 0.00 a | 52.52 b | 54.15 a |
| MAPTW | 1.23 a | 6.50 b | 6.70 b | 0.00 d | 0.00 a | 53.22 ab | 53.70 ab |
| MAPSH | 1.02 b | 6.96 a | 6.87 a | 0.00 d | 0.00 a | 53.93 a | 53.09 ab |
| Shelf life t | ime (Month | s+days) | | | | | |
| 0+7 | 0.70 d | 8.78 a | 8.78 a | 0.00 c | 0.00 a | 56.64 a | 50.28 b |
| 1+7 | 0.86 bc | 8.33 b | 8.43 b | 0.00 c | 0.00 a | 52.44 b | 53.91 a |
| 2+7 | 0.81 cd | 6.63 c | 6.83 c | 0.00 c | 0.00 a | 52.07 b | 53.47 a |
| 3+7 | 1.20 a | 5.24 d | 5.22 d | 1.11 c | 0.00 a | 51.00 c | 54.10 a |
| 4+7 | 0.98 b | 3.93 e | 3.91 e | 5.56 b | 0.00 a | 52.36 b | 54.07 a |
| 5+7 | 0.81 cd | 2.50 f | 2.50 f | 45.56 a | 0.00 a | 52.57 b | 53.77 a |

Table 1. Effects of treatments on weight loss (%), appearance (1-9), taste (1-9), fungal decay (%), physiological disorder (%), carrot color L* and h° values in 'Nanco F1' type carrots during 5 months of storage at 0 °C and 7 days of shelf life at 20 °C

As the storage period of 'Nanco F1' variety carrots was prolonged, the rates of rooting and sprouting increased from the 2nd month and reached to an average 58.65% and 26.37% respectively at the end of the 5th month. In MAP applications, no rooting and sprouting occurred in the first 3 months. The greatest increase in the rate of rooting among applications was in perforated bag with immersion in sodium hypochlorite and the greatest increase in sprouting rate was in perforated bag with washing tap water applications, the least increase was in MAP applications. No rooting or sprouting occurred for 4 months in the shelf life, and at the end of the 5th month it was 13.89% and 23.33% respectively on average. The highest rate of rooting during shelf life was in MAP applications whereas the highest rate of sprouting occurred in MAP with immersing in sodium hypochlorite application. As the storage

time prolonged, there were increases in roots and sprouts. During the shelf life, rooting rate was 0.29% and sprouting rate was 0.53% at the end of the fifth month (Table 2).

Table 2. Effects of treatments on rooting and sprouting ratio (%), rooting and sprouting degree (0-5), carrot firmness (N) pH value and TSS (%) in 'Nanco F1' type carrots during 5 months of storage at 0 °C and 7 days of shelf life at 20 °C

| Storage | Rooting | Sprouting | Rooting degree | Sprouting | Carrot firmness (N) | pH value | TSS |
|---------------|--------------|------------|----------------|-----------|------------------------|-------------|---------|
| Cold storag | e treatments | Tutio (70) | (0.5) | | | vulue | (70) |
| PBTW | 44.31 c | 23.02 a | 1.00 a | 0.45 ab | 96.52 ab | 6.18 b | 9.62 b |
| PBSH | 51.55 a | 19.62 b | 1.03 a | 0.53 a | 99.19 a | 6.18 b | 9.00 d |
| IBTW | 46.90 b | 16.05 c | 1.05 a | 0.33 ab | 94.61 b | 6.16 b | 9.28 c |
| IBSH | 20.67 d | 20.67 b | 0.55 b | 0.50 ab | 97.19 ab | 6.20 b | 8.52 e |
| MAPTW | 16.60 f | 6.92 e | 0.51 b | 0.28 b | 93.99 b | 6.40 a | 10.09 a |
| MAPSH | 18.86 e | 8.86 d | 0.70 b | 0.27 b | 98.64 a | 6.43 a | 9.78 b |
| Storage tim | e (Months) | | | | | | |
| 0 | | | 0.00 e | 0.00 d | 99.05 c | 6.05 d | 8.27 e |
| 1 | 0.00 e | 0.00 e | 0.00 e | 0.00 d | 101.01 b | 6.20 c | 8.78 d |
| 2 | 12.92 d | 12.78 d | 0.27 d | 0.30 c | 105.03 a | 6.18 c | 9.46 c |
| 3 | 40.16 c | 16.86 c | 0.96 c | 0.33 bc | 96.30 c | 6.29 b | 9.50 c |
| 4 | 54.01 b | 23.28 b | 1.56 b | 0.57 b | 92.08 d | 6.56 a | 9.81 b |
| 5 | 58.65 a | 26.37 a | 2.06 a | 1.14 a | 86.69 e | 6.27 b | 10.49 a |
| Shelf life tr | eatments | | | | | | |
| PBTW | 0.00 c | 5.00 b | 0.00 c | 0.16 a | 97.04 a | 6.17 b | 9.21 c |
| PBSH | 0.00 c | 4.44 b | 0.00 c | 0.08 b | 98.05 a | 6.17 b | 8.82 d |
| IBTW | 2.78 b | 0.56 c | 0.06 b | 0.01 c | 87.25 c | 6.20 a | 7.96 e |
| IBSH | 0.00 c | 0.00 c | 0.00 c | 0.00 c | 93.19 b | 5.86 d | 7.85 f |
| MAPTW | 5.56 a | 8.89 a | 0.11 a | 0.16 a | 93.58 b | 6.11 c | 10.03 b |
| MAPSH | 5.56 a | 4.44 b | 0.13 a | 0.12 ab | 97.84 a | 6.19 a | 10.14 a |
| Shelf life ti | me (Months+ | days) | | | | | |
| 0+7 | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 101.01 a | 6.04 d | 8.93 c |
| 1+7 | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 99.44 ab | 6.21 a | 8.67 d |
| 2+7 | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 97.28 bc | 6.15 b | 9.16 b |
| 3+7 | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 95.03 c | 6.10 c | 9.64 a |
| 4+7 | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 0.00 b | 90.02 d | 6.10 c | 9.08 b |
| 5+7 | 13.89 a | 23.33 a | 0.29 a | 0.53 a | 85.02 e | 6.11 c | 8.52 e |

As the storage period of the carrots grew longer, the carrot firmness which initially averaged 99.05 N showed some increases and decreases; and at the end of the fifth month, it decreased to 86.69 N. During shelf-life, carrot firmness which initially averaged 101.01 N, showed decreases and decreased to 85.02 N at the end of the fifth month. The application of perforated bags and MAP with immersion in sodium hypochlorite during storage and shelf life resulted in the highest carrot hardness (Table 2).

During storage and shelf life, the pH values of the carrots have increased. The highest pH value during storage was detected in MAP applications. The highest pH value during shelf life was detected in imperforated bag with washing tap water and MAP with immersing in sodium hypochlorite (Table 2).

The differences in storage and shelf-life periods and the effects of titratable acidity are statistically insignificant (Data not shown). The increase in the TSS content storage period, which was initially 8.27% for the 'Nanco F1' variety carrots, was found to be increased and it was 10.49% at the end of the 5th month. Among the applications, TSS was found to be the lowest in imperforated bag with immersing in sodium hypochlorite while it was highest in MAP with washing tap water application. The TSS content storage time, which was initially 8.93% during the shelf life, showed some decreases and increases and decreased to 8.52% at the end of the 5th month. As the shelf-life increased, the value of TSS which was initially averaged 8.93%, showed some decreases and increases; and it decreased slightly and the average was 8.84% at the end of the 5th month. Among the applications, TSS content was the highest in the application of MAP with washing tap water and the lowest in imperforated bag with washing tap water (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

The most proper packaging film for carrots; should preserve the gas composition and cause low condensation which prevents moisture loss during storage (Workneh et al., 2001). In general, if the weight loss rate exceeds 10% of the total weight of the product, the product may lose its ability to be marketable (Grierson and Wardowski, 1978). In none of our applications weight loss has exceeded 10% at the end of 5 months. All fruits and vegetables lose weight at different rates depending on the environment and the product (Halloran et al., 2002). Similar to previous studies, we found that there was weight loss at different rates in carrots (Tronsmo, 1989, Toivone et al., 1993; Kasım, 1994; Yanmaz et al., 1995; Kasım, 2001a; Kasım, 2001b; Karaca et al., 2008). Similar findings have been reported by different investigators, indicating that appearance scores are reduced during storage (Atasay, 1999; Kasım, 2001a; Kasım, 2001b). Similar findings have been reported by different investigators, indicating that taste scores reduce during storage (Atasay, 1999; Terzioğlu, 2000; Kasım, 2001b; Karaca et al., 2008). Similar to our findings, it has been reported by Karaca et al. (2008) that carrot colour L* value scores were reduced during storage. Unlike our findings, in another study the carrot colour h° value of the baby carrots was reduced in the MAP storage (Karaca et al., 2008). In a study conducted by Sulaeman et al., (2003), it has been reported that L* and h° values in carrot chips stored at 0-1 °C for 5 months did not go through any changes. In all of our applications, rooting and sprouting rates were observed, but unlike our findings, in a study conducted by Terzioğlu (2000), carrots were not rooted and sprouted in any of the applications during cold storage for 5 months. It has also been reported by various investigators that root and sprout rates have increased during storage (Kasım, 1994, Kasım, 2001a, Kasım, 2001b). It has been reported that the storage temperature should be between 0 and 1 °C in order to minimize the sprout rate during storage and the sprouting may develop within 1 to 3 months when stored at 5 to 10 °C (Fritz et al., 2013). It has been reported that stored carrots may become rotten and rot may develop within 1 to 3 months (Tülek and Dolar, 2011; Uysal, 2012; Fritz et al., 2013). Physiological deterioration in stored carrots are reported to be spotting, surface browning or oxidative discoloration, aggravation, cold damage, aging and taste alteration (Uysal, 2012; Fritz et al., 2013). In a study conducted on baby carrots, the pH-value increased during

storage, which is similar to our findings (Karaca et al., 2008). Unlike our findings, Koca (2006) reported that the pH value of carrots decreased at the end of storage in stored carrots. It has been reported that the increase in TSS content may be due to an increase in the metabolic activity of starch to sugars (Cemeroğlu et al., 2001). Similar to our findings Kasım (1994), Atasay (1999), Kasım (2001a), Kasım (2001b) ve Karaca et al. (2008) reported that TSS content increased during storage. Unlike our findings, Svanberg and Nyman (1997) and Koca (2006) found that there was a decrease in TSS in stored carrots.

CONCLUSIONS

In the light of our findings, weight loss in perforated bags was higher than imperforated bags and MAP bags. There was no difference between washing with tab water and soaking in sodium hypochloride in terms of weight loss. For carrots that are packaged after being washed with tab water with MAP and being soaked in sodium hypochloride, there was an increase in L* values in color and the appearance was preserved, and the rate of rooting and sprouting was less. It was determined that 'Nanco F1' type carrots could be stored for 3 months at 0°C and 85-90% relative humidity without losing much of the quality for local and distant markets. In order to reduce the weight loss in carrot, MAP application was necessary.

Acknowledgements: This work is based upon research of Master Thesis financially supported by the Mustafa Kemal University Research Foundation (Project number: 11962).

REFERENCES

- Atasay, A. (1999). Burdur (Gölhisar-Yusufça) yöresinde yetiştirilen havuçlarda farklı hasat tarihlerinin kalite değişimlerine etkisi (Yüksek lisans tezi). Süleyman Demirel Üniv. Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Bahçe Bitkileri Anabilim Dalı, Isparta, 52 s (article in Turkish).
- Cemeroğlu, B., A., Yemenicioğlu, M. Özkan (2001). Meyve sebzelerin bileşimi ve soğukta depolanmaları. Gıda Teknolojisi Derneği Yayınları No: 24, Ankara (article in Turkish).
- Cliffe-Byrnes, V., D. O'Beirne (2007). The effects of modified atmospheres, edible coating and storage temperatures on the sensory quality of carrot discs. Int J Food Sci Tech 42: 1338–1349.
- Farber, J. N., L. J., Harris, M. E., Parish, L. R., Beuchat, T. V., Suslow, J. R., Gorney, E. H., Garrett, F. F. Busta (2003). Microbiological safety of controlled atmosphere and modified atmosphere packaging of fresh and fresh-cut produce. Comp. Rev. Food Sci. and Food Safety 2: 142–160.
- Fritz, V. A., C. B. S., Tong, C. J., Rosen, T. Nennich (2013). Carrots vegetable crop management. <u>http://www.extension.umn.edu/garden/fruit-vegetable/carrots-vegetable-crop-management/index.html#harvest</u> (Accessed July 17, 2018).
- Grierson, W., W. F., Wardowski (1978). Relative humidity effects on the postharvest life of fruits and vegetables. HortScience 13 (5) 570–574.

- Halloran, N., R., Yanmaz, M. U. Kasım (1997). Havuçta hasat öncesi maleik hidrazit uygulamalarının köklenme ve filizlenme üzerine etkisi. Bahçe Ürünlerinde Muhafaza ve Pazarlama Sempozyumu, 21–24 Ekim 1997, Yalova, 169–174 (article in Turkish).
- Halloran, N., M. U., Kasım, R. Kasım (2002) Havuçta hasat öncesi ve hasat sonrası hormonal değişimler. Türkiye Bilimsel ve Teknik Araştırma Kurumu Proje No: TOGTAG-1715 (article in Turkish).
- Hurst, W. C. (1998). Postharvest handling of carrots. In: carrot production and processing in Georgia. Ed. A.E. Reynolds, Research Report No: 653: 47–49.
- Kader, A. A., D., Zagory, E. L. Kerbel (1989). Modified atmosphere packaging of fruits and vegetables. Crit. Rev. Food. Sci. Nutr. 28 (1) 1–30.
- Karaca, F., E. E., Çandır, H. Yetişir (2008). Modified atmosphere packaging of true baby carrot. Bahçe Ürünlerinde IV. Muhafaza ve Pazarlama Sempozyumu, 08–11 Ekim 2008, Antalya, 392– 397(article in Turkish).
- Kasım, M. U. (1994). Değişik muhafaza yöntemlerinin havucun muhafaza süresi üzerine etkileri (Yüksek lisans tezi). Ankara Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Bahçe Bitkileri Anabilim Dalı, Ankara, 49 s (article in Turkish).
- Kasım, M. U., N., Halloran, R. Kasım (2000). Havuçta hasat sonrası içsel aba düzeyi ile köklenme ve filizlenme arasındaki ilişki. III. Sebze Tarımı Sempozyumu, 11–13 Eylül 2000, Isparta, 77–80 (article in Turkish).
- Kasım, R. (2001a). Hasat öncesi maleik hidrazit ve ethephon uygulamalarının havucun muhafaza süresine etkisi (Doktora tezi). Ankara Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Bahçe Bitkileri Anabilim Dalı, Ankara, 132 s (article in Turkish).
- Kasım, M. U. (2001b). Havucun (*Daucus carota* L.) soğukta muhafazası sırasında oksin ve absizik asit düzeyindeki değişimlerin köklenme ve filizlenmeye etkisi (Doktora tezi). Ankara Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Bahçe Bitkileri Anabilim Dalı, Ankara, 126 s(article in Turkish).
- Koca, N. (2006). Havuçlarda (*Daucus carota* L.) karotenoidler ve antioksidan aktivite. Ankara Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Gıda Mühendisliği Anabilim Dalı (Doktora Tezi), 81 s (article in Turkish).
- McGuire, R. G. (1992). Reporting of objective colour measurement. HortScience, 27: 1254–1255.
- Özdemir, A. E., E. Çandır (2013). Sebzelerde derim sonrası işlemler ders notları. Mustafa Kemal Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Bahçe Bitkileri Anabilim Dalı, Antakya-Hatay, (Yayınlanmamış) 46 s (article in Turkish).
- Sadler, G. O. (1994). Titratable acidity, Chapter 6 (Ed: Nielsen SS. Introduction to the Chemical Analysis of Foods). Jones and Bartlett Publish., Borton, USA, 81–91.
- SAS (2018). SAS Users Guide; SAS/STAT, Version 9.4. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, N.C.

- Sermenli, T., A. E., Özdemir, A., Genç, Ö., Demirkeser, M. Ünlü (2014). Havuçlarda kalite kayıpları ve önleme yolları. 10. Sebze Tarımı Sempozyumu, 2–4 Eylül 2014, Tekirdağ, 170–173 (article in Turkish).
- Sulaeman, A., L., Keeler, D. W., Giraud, S. L., Taylor, R. L., Wehling, J. A. Driskell (2003). Changes in carotenoid, physicochemical and sensory values of deepfried carrot chips during storage. Int J Food Sci Tech 38: 603–613.
- Svanberg, S. J. M., E. M. G. L. Nyman (1997). Effects of boiling and storage on dietary fibre and digestible carbohydrates in various cultivars of carrots. J Sci Food Agr 73: 245–254.
- Terzioğlu, S. B. (2000). Havuç (*Daucus carota* L.) muhafazasında izokumarin miktarı üzerine etkisi (Yüksek lisans tezi). Ankara Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü Bahçe Bitkileri Anabilim Dalı, Ankara, 37 s (article in Turkish).
- Toivonen, P. M. A., M. K., Upadhyaya, M. M. Gaye (1993). Low temperature preconditioning toimprove shelf-life of fresh market carrots. Acta Hortic. 343: 339–340.
- Tronsmo, A. (1989). Effect of weight loss on susceptibility to *Botrytis cinerea* in long-term stored carrots. Postharvest News and information 1: 1830.
- Tülek, S., F. S. Dolar (2011). Havuçlarda görülen depo hastalıkları ve yönetimi. Gaziosmanpaşa Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi 28 (2) 187–198 (article in Turkish).
- Workneh, T. S., G., Osthoff, M. S. Steyn (2001). Effect of modified atmosphere packaging on microbiological, physiological and chemical qualities of stored carrot. J. Food Technol. Africa 6: 138–143.
- Yanmaz, R. (1994). Havuç yetiştiriciliği. Standart Dergisi 34: 21–22 (article in Turkish).
- Yanmaz, R., N., Halloran, M. U., Kasım, Y. S. Ağaoğlu (1999). The effect of different storage conditions and package size on storage duration of carrots. Tarım Bilimleri Dergisi 5 (3) 1–6 (article in Turkish).

INVESTIGATION OF ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITY OF PHYSALIS ALKEKENGI L. FRUIT EXTRACTS COLLECTED FROM CORUH VALLEY

Mehmet Cemal ADIGÜZEL¹, Alper BARAN², Tamer TURGUT³, Ahmet ERDOĞAN*⁴

¹Atatürk University, Faculty of Veterinary, Department of Microbiology, 25240 Erzurum, Turkey,

²Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Department of Food Quality Control and Analysis, 25240 Erzurum, Turkey,

³ Atatürk University, Erzurum Vocational School, Department of Food Technology, 25240 Erzurum, Turkey,

⁴Atatürk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Food Engineering, 25240 Erzurum, Turkey,

* <u>a.erdogan@atauni.edu.tr</u>

ABSTRACT

Physalis alkekengi L. is a plant that can be used for complementary and alternative medicine in Europe and China. Previous studies have reported that Physalis alkekengi L. has antifungal, antiinflammatory, analgesic and anti-cough effects. During the studies, different parts of the plant such as crown and leaf were examined for antimicrobial activity. In this study, it was aimed to investigate the antimicrobial activity of the methanolic extract of Physalis alkekengi L. plant fruits collected from Coruh valley (Artvin / Turkey). The effect of the extract of Physalis alkekengi L. fruits was investigated by disk diffusion and liquid microdilution methods against reference strains containing 5 Gram negative, 6 Gram positive bacteria and Candida albicans. As a result of the study, it was determined that the methanolic extract of plant fruit had no effect against Candida albicans (MIC=4096 mg/ml). while it showed a high level of action against Bacillus subtilis and Staphylococcus epidermidis (MIC=128 mg/ml). In the disk diffusion method, the highest zone diameter was determined against Staphylococcus epidermidis and Staphylococcus aureus at concentrations of 40 and 50 µl. As a result of the study, it was determined that the extract of Physalis alkekengi L. fruit was not effective even at the highest concentration on Candida albicans, whereas it was found to have a partial effect on Pseudomonas aeruginosa, known to harbor multiple intrinsic and acquired resistance genes, and a high level of activity against Gram positive bacteria.

Keywords: Physalis alkekengi, Plant Extract, Antimicrobial Activity

INTRODUCTION

Since ancient times, human beings have used plants as a medical resource. Their use has led to the further development of modern pharmacologists to produce new compounds with additional benefits such as the potential for combating more resistant diseases and low toxicity. Between 1981 and 2010, naturally derived products and their imitators accounted for 70% of the new chemical compounds reported (Newman and Cragg, 2012). Although advances in technology, science and medicine today are quite dizzying, the fact that the dramatic spread of infectious diseases cannot be controlled is still seen as an important problem. World Health Organization (2004) stated that the infectious diseases continue to be the second most important cause of deaths worldwide. For this reason, the need for new antimicrobial agents is greater than ever. Microorganisms that have been living on the earth since millions of years have been able to adapt and develop to the changing nature throughout the ages. Plants are the largest known biochemical and pharmacy stores on our planet. These living stores can

produce an unlimited number of biochemical compounds (Cowan et al., 1999). Plants are rich in secondary metabolites with various antimicrobial properties such as saponins, tannins, alkaloids, alkenyl phenols, glycoloalkaloids, flavonoids, sesquiterpene lactones, terpenoids and phorbol esters, which have many defence mechanisms against micro and macro organisms (Lewis and Ausubel, 2006; Tiwari and Singh, 2009). The antimicrobial activity that plants possess is the result of a correlation between the plant extract and its major secondary metabolites, and as time progresses, the plants resist by producing secondary sequestered metabolites against different microorganisms (Parasites, Fungi, Bacteria and Viruses). The antimicrobial activity of different plants has been examined by many researchers around the world.

Physalis alkekengi (P. alkekengi) is a multi-annual plant classified as taxonomic in Solanaceae family and widely found in Chinese and World traditional medicine. All parts, including fruits of P. alkekengi plant, have been used for therapeutic purposes, including clinical use. Analysis of old medical research has shown that P. alkekengi is traditionally used for a long time for various illnesses such as sore throat, cough, eczema, hepatitis, urinary problems and tumors (Wiu et al, 2008; Kosalec et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2010). After further research, it was determined that the major components of this fraction contained physical and flavonoids. Other studies have shown that *P. alkekengi* strains have excellent antibacterial and / or anti-inflammatory activity. An antimicrobial study of this plant that grows in Turkey have been not carried out on particularly fruits are based on our best knowledge. Thus, in this study, it was aimed to investigate the antimicrobial activity of locally grown *P. alkekengi* fruits collected from the Coruh valley.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Materials

P. alkekengi plant and fruits was collected from Coruh valley and used as a material after the verification the spices by Atatürk University Faculty of Agriculture.

Preparation of the extract

The fruits of *P. alkekengi* were grinded in a postal mortar after being dried outdoors. 30 g of ground fruits were taken and extracted in 300 ml of methanol by holding on a rotary shaker for 48 hours. Then, filtered with Whatman No: 1 filter paper. The extract was then concentrated to dryness under reduced pressure at 40 °C using a rotary evaporator. The ethanol solubilized extract was stored at 4 [deg.] C. for further processing.

Test microorganisms

In this study, *Candida albicans* ATCC 60913, *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922, *Klebsiella pneumonia* ATCC 27736, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ATCC 27853, *Proteus mirabilis* ATCC 12453, *Bacillus cereus*, *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 6633, *Enterococcus faecalis* ATCC 29212, *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 29213, *Staphylococcus epidermidis* ATCC 12228 *Streptococcus agalactiae* ATCC 12986, a total of 11 different microorganisms have been used.

Preparation of Microorganism Cultures

The microorganisms used in the study were grown in Mueller Hinton Broth by incubation at 37 °C for 24 hours.

Microdilution method

The microdilution method is based on the method recommended by the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Briefly, bacterial strains were grown on Mueller-Hinton (MH) agar plates and

inoculum suspensions were prepared from bacteria cultured for 12 hours. 0.5 McFarland suspensions were prepared to obtain a standard turbidity and *P. alkekengi* fruit extract concentrations of serially diluted were added between 128 and 4096 mg/mL in MH water. Bacterial suspensions were incubated aerobically at 37 °C for 18 hours. Three replicate samples were run for each test concentration. A is used as a reference for bacteria as an antibiotic. The MIC is defined as the lowest concentration that prevents visible growth.

Agar disc diffusion method

Microorganisms were activated by inoculating the Mueller-Hinton (MH) agar and incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C. The appropriate suspension was then prepared (suspension blur was 108 cells / ml according to the McFarland standard) and spread on the Mueller Hinton agar medium by diffusion plate technique. For agar disc diffusion, the test compound was placed in discs (7 mm) in different amounts (10-50 μ l) and then allowed to dry. The disc was then placed on a pre-inoculated agar plate. Finally, all agar plates were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. The experiment was performed 3 times under aseptic conditions. Microbial growth was determined by measuring the diameter of the inhibition zone and average values were obtained.

RESULTS

The antimicrobial effects of the fruits were observed as 128-4096 mg/mL MIC values against the tested microorganisms (Table 1).

| Reference Strains | MIC Values (mg/ml) |
|-------------------------------------|--------------------|
| Bacillus subtilis ATCC 6633 | 128 |
| Bacillus cereus ATCC | 256 |
| Candida albicans ATCC 60913 | 4096 |
| Enterocooccus faecalis ATCC 29212 | 256 |
| Escherichia coli ATCC 25922 | 256 |
| Klebsiella pneumonia ATCC 27736 | 1024 |
| Proteus mirabilis ATCC 12453 | 256 |
| Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC 27853 | 256 |
| Staphylococcus epidermidis 12228 | 128 |
| Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 29213 | 256 |
| Streptococcus agalactiae ATCC 12986 | 256 |

 Table 1. MIC values against microorganisms of P. alkekengi fruit extract

The MIC value was determined to be 4096 mg/ml for *Candida albicans* as shown in table 1. The same value was found to be 1024 mg/ml for *Klebsiella pneumonia*. The inhibitory composition was determined to be 256 m /ml for *Bacillus cereus*, *Enterococcus faecalis*, *Escherichia coli*, *Proteus mirabilis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus agalactiae*. The results showed that *P. alkekengi* fruit extract had maximum activity against *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Bacillus subtilis* (128 mg/ml). Again, as shown in Table 2, the highest zone diameter was determined against *Staphylococcus epidermidis* according to the agar disc diffusion method (19 mm). At the highest dose (50 μ l), zone diameters of 12, 13, 15, 15 and 18 mm against to *Pseudomonas*

aeruginosa, Bacillus subtilis, Streptococcus agalactiae, Enterococcus faecalis and Staphylococcus aureus were determined, respectively.

Table 2. Zone diameters of *P. alkekengi* fruit extract against to microorganism according to agar disc diffusion method

| | | | Disc | | |
|-------------------------------------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Reference Strains | 10µl | 20µl | 30µl | 40µl | 50µl |
| Bacillus subtilis ATCC 6633 | - | - | 10mm | 12mm | 13mm |
| Bacillus cereus | - | - | - | - | - |
| Candida albicans ATCC 60913 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Enterocooccus faecalis ATCC 29212 | - | - | - | 12mm | 15mm |
| Escherichia coli ATCC 25922 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Klebsiella pneumonia ATCC 27736 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Proteus mirabilis ATCC 12453 | - | - | - | - | - |
| Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC 27853 | - | - | - | 11mm | 12mm |
| Staphylococcus epidermidis 12228 | - | 11mm | 15mm | 18mm | 19mm |
| Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 29213 | - | - | 12mm | 17mm | 18mm |
| Streptococcus agalactiae ATCC 12986 | - | - | 12mm | 14mm | 15mm |

DISCUSSION

Despite advances in antibiotics over the last 70 years, infectious diseases are an important cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide and account for nearly half of all deaths in tropical countries (Moellering et al., 2007). Therefore, medicines with new compounds that are likely to be an alternative to existing antimicrobial agents are needed. The antibacterial activity of P. alkekengi was evaluated by in vitro broth dilution and agar disk diffusion method. In a similar study, Helvaci et al. (2010) reported that the physalin D component obtained from P. alkekengi fruits had a MIC value of 32-128 µg/mL against different microorganisms. In another study (Li et al., 2018), antimicrobial effect of P. alkekengi var franchetii extracts was done by disk diffusion method. It has been reported that Bacillus aeruginosus, Bacillus coli, Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus pythogenesis, and Blastomyces albicans could not be inhibited while extracts showed inhibition of Staphylococcus aureus, alpha streptococcus, beta streptococcus, and bacillus subtilis. In this study, it was suggested that effective antimicrobial component of P. alkekengi extracts is highly sensitive to Staphylococcus aureus, alpha streptococcus, and beta streptococcus. The MIC value of this plant was reported to be between 25 and 50 g/L. While the results are compatible with our data, it is thought that the difference arising from the MIC values is due to the difference in the calculation of the extraction method and amount of the extract.

In another study, Yang et al. (2016) reported that 3 different compounds from *P. alkekengi plants* showed highly antibacterial activity on *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli*. Shu et al. (2016) reported that the *P. alkekengi* plant extract had antibacterial potency against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* between 0.825 to 1.65 and 1.65 to 13.20 mg / ml MIC values, respectively. In the same study, a sepsis model of *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* was established in mice and the antibacterial activity of *P. alkekengi* in vivo was examined. At doses of 160, 320 and 640 mg/kg, the *P. alkekengi* extract reduced the mortality rates to 33.3%, 33.3% and 58.3% in mice infected with *S. aureus*, respectively. Similarly, it was reported

that at doses of 160, 320 and 640 mg/kg, *P. alkekengi* extract reduced the mortality to 50%, 58.3% and 58.3%, respectively, in mice infected with *P. aeruginosa*.

The increased resistance of bacteria to older compounds has resulted in a new understanding of health, such as newly discovered antibiotics from different sources, new semi-synthetic versions of the antibiotics, less-used antibiotics in the past, obtaining the novel narrow-spectrum derivatives that have not been developed before the plant extracts as an alternative to using of antibacterial drugs. The different components that are thought to have different antimicrobial activities, especially at different concentrations of different plants, are important in this regard. Plant based antimicrobials have therapeutic potential because they can serve this purpose. Because of the lesser side effects than synthetic antimicrobials, it is now necessary to further investigate plant-derived antimicrobials. Further research is needed to determine the identity of antibacterial compounds within these plants and to determine their full-effect spectrum.

REFERENCES

Cowan, M. M (1999). Plant products as antimicrobial agents. Clin. Microbiol. Rev., 12(4), 564-582.

- Helvacı, S., G. Kökdil, M. Kawai, N. Duran, G. Duran, A. Güvenç (2010). Antimicrobial activity of the extracts and physalin D from Physalis alkekengi and evaluation of antioxidant potential of physalin D. Pharm. Biol., 48(2), 142-150.
- Huang, C. H., P. L. Kuo, Y. L. Hsu, T. T. Chang, H. I. Tseng, Y. T. Chu, C. H Kuo, H. N. Chen C. H. Hung (2010). The natural flavonoid apigenin suppresses Th1-and Th2-related chemokine production by human monocyte THP-1 cells through mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. J. Med. Food, 13(2), 391-398.
- Kosalec, I., S. Pepeljnjak, M. Bakmaz, S. Vladimir-Knežević (2005). Flavonoid analysis and antimicrobial activity of commercially available propolis products. Acta Pharm., 55(4), 423-430.
- Lewis, K., F. M. Ausubel (2006). Prospects for plant-derived antibacterials. Nat. Biotechnol., 24(12), 1504.
- Li, A. L., B. J. Chen, G. H. Li, M. X. Zhou, Y. R. Li, D. M. Ren, H. X. Lou, X. N. Wang, T. Shen (2018). Physalis alkekengi L. var. franchetii (Mast.) Makino: an ethnomedical, phytochemical and pharmacological review. J. Ethnopharmacol., 210, 260-274.
- Moellering Jr, R. C., J. R. Graybill, Jr, J. E. McGowan, L. Corey (2007). Antimicrobial resistance prevention initiative—an update: proceedings of an expert panel on resistance. Am. J. Med. Sci., 120(7), 4-25.
- Newman, D. J., G. M. Cragg (2012). Natural products as sources of new drugs over the 30 years from 1981 to 2010. J. Nat. Prod., 75(3), 311-335.
- Qiu, L., F. Zhao, Z. H. Jiang, L. X. Chen, Q. Zhao, H. X. Liu, X. S. Yao, F. Qiu (2008). Steroids and flavonoids from Physalis alkekengi var. franchetii and their inhibitory effects on nitric oxide production. J. Nat. Prod., 71(4), 642-646.
- Shu, Z., N. Xing, Q. Wang, X. Li, B. Xu, Z. Li, H. Kuang (2016). Antibacterial and anti-inflammatory activities of Physalis alkekengi var. franchetii and its main constituents. J. Evid. Based Complementary Altern. Med., 2016, Article ID 4359394.
- Tiwari, S., A. Singh (2004). Toxic and sub-lethal effects of oleandrin on biochemical parameters of fresh water air breathing murrel, Channa punctatus (Bloch.).
- World Health Organization (2004). Manual of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases, Injuries, and Causes of Death. Part 2. Geneva, Switzerland., 2004.

COLLECTION OF INDIRECT RESISTANCE TRAITS DISTURBANCE VIRULIFEROUS INSECTS TO ELONGATE THE PERIOD BEFORE THE FIRST INFECTION OF ZYMV

Abdulbasit, A. Al Janabi; Safa, I. Al Jobori; Sarab, A. Almukhtar; Basim M. Radi, Essam, A. Sultan Agricultural and Research Office, Ministry of Science and Technology, 5 Baghdad, Iraq, abd_lbasit@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Zucchini Yellow Mosaic Virus (ZYMV) is one of very important viruses that causes high yield loses of cucurbit in Iraq and the world. In a program of selection of indirect resistance traits for cucurbit viruses, four aspects of squash upper leaf shape and coloration (a- entire silver leaf coloration, bwhite coloration of the leaf veins which appeared as white net, c- white spots between the main leaf veins branching on the upper leaf surface, d- downy upper leaf surface shape) were observed. Each of these aspects In one way or another might made repelling or fairing or disturbing viruliferous insects, and so lead to late the visiting of virus vector insects to the plants, and thus they delayed and diminished the infection percent, elongated the period of disease dissemination, and accordingly increased the health yield productivity period of plant. Previously the genotypes had possessed these aspects were selected and developed to pure lines of cucurbits indirect resistant origin, also number of genes responses of each character and their heritability nature were determined. This study aimed to introduce these aspect genotypes in a program of hybridization between every two of them to obtain the dual hybrids, which then crossed together to obtain the quadrilateral hybrid that have all the four aspects of upper leaf surface fluffy and coloration shapes. The coloration traits appeared successively each followed the other in genotypes, so the period of delaying of first infection elongated from 14 in control to about 33 days after control infection in the dual hybrids, and to about 55 days in the quadrilateral hybrid.

Key words: vegetable breeding, virus resistance, cucurbits viruses, squash diseases, genetic resistance

INTRODUCTION

Among several diseases infected cucurbits, those caused by viruses seriously affect the quality and quantity of yield, representing the highly limiting factor for these crops production (Aljanabi et al., 2017; Harris and Kring, 1964). More than 30 virus species can naturally infect cucurbit crops, but that belong to the genus *Potyvirus* were demonstrated to be the most important group (Finettisialer *et al.*, 2012; Moura *et al.*, 2005), and *Zucchini yellow mosaic potyvirus* (ZYMV) had been representing the most serious one of them. Aphids are the natural and efficient vector for virus species from the genus *Potyvirus* (Aljanabi et al., 2017; LIMA, 2015; Gal-on, 2007; Hrpaz, 1982; Kennedy, 1969; Kring.1964, 1969, 1972).

Genetic resistance is the most effective means to control diseases (Agrios, 2004), particularly that of virus. But in case of non-availability of direct resistance, pathologist may resort to the indirect traits, as the resistance to viruliferous insects or other vector organisms of the virus. It has been observed that some varieties of zucchini possess secondary indirect resistance characteristics, as the presence of the white spots coloration of squash leaves, or fluffy upper leaf shape or some other kinds of leaf coloration were detected to have the effect of repelling and fairing the viruliferous insects and so delaying their infection and led to reduce infections with viruses under field conditions (Aljanabi, 2014; Aljanabi et al., 2015a; Shifriss, 1982). Study of these traits pure lines effect on delaying infection of ZYMV was between 8-13 days and the infection percent reduced to about 46 -65 % (Aljanabi et al., 2015b). Generally these traits were found to be controlled by single dominant gene of two alleles for each one, so they were simply inherited and transmitted. (Aljanabi et al., 2015a; Shifriss, 1982).

This study aims to collect these indirect resistance traits genotypes of hairy surface and leaf coloration (full silvery, netty white, and spotted white) of some inbred lines of squash in dual and then quadrilateral hybrids to study their effectiveness on the infection delaying and the infection percent of ZYMV.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Pure lines of fuzzy upper leaf surface and all forms of leaf coloration (Full silver, netty white, spotted white) which obtained in previous studies (Aljanabi et al., 2015a; Aljanabi et al., 2017) by continuous self-pollination, selection and purification of each aspect until stability or no new variations were observed. In this study collection of these indirect resistance traits in one genotype was achieved by a program of two stages, in the first one, each two shape pure lines (full silver and netty white) and (fluffy surface and spotted white) were crossed together to produce their dual hybrids. In the successive generations selection was done to the plants of each obtaining hybrid having the two interactive traits by self-pollination till their stability. In the second stage these selective stable genotypes having the two traits were crossed together to produce the quadrilateral hybrid that have the fourth interactive traits of all indirect resistance traits. Study of these hybrids genotypes having two to four aspects effectiveness on the delay of infection and its percent with the virus was culculated by the (Aljanabi, 2015b) following relations:

Character constant (Character efficiency) = $\frac{Character saving period}{Character appearance period mean}$ (1) No. of days to first infection before fruiting + Control lasting period = No. of days to full infection dissimination \dots (2) Genotype saving No. of days to first infection after control + period = No. of days to full infection dissimination ... (3) Genotype saving degree = $\frac{genotype \ saving \ period-control \ lasting \ period}{\times 100\%}$ (4) Genotype saving degree = $\frac{Genotype saving period}{genotype saving period} \times 100\% \dots (4)$ Genotype saving efficiency = saving degree × character constant (5) Health yield percent = $\frac{Health yield}{Total yield} \times 100\% = \frac{period of health yield}{period of total yield} \times 100\% = \frac{yield savig period}{period of total yield} \times 100\%$ 100% ... (6)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The four aspects of squash upper leaf shape and coloration [a- entire silver leaf coloration (Aljanabi , 2015a; Shiffriss, 1982), b- white coloration of the leaf veins appearing as white net(Aljanabi , 2015a), c- white spots between the leaf veins branching, d- downy upper leaf surface shape (Aljanabi , 2015a; Scarchuk, and Lent, 1965; Scott, D.M., and Riner, 1046)] of indirect virus resistance characters causing virulefirous insect disturbance and repelling were previously selected and developed to pure lines of squash indirect resistant origin in different genotypes (Aljanabi, 2014; Aljanabi et al., 2015a). These aspects were found to be controlled by one dominant gene of two alleles to each traits, so all traits were simply inherited except of the fluffy trait, as it was partially dominant,

so it lost some of their fluffy intensity when its genotype crossed with other haven't this trait (Aljanabi, 2014; Aljanabi et al., 2015a).

The two kinds of dual hybrids which obtained from the hybridization between every two inbred line genotypes (the full silver leaf with the netty white shape) as in (Fig. 1) and (fluffy surface with spotted white) as in (Fig. 2), to have two kinds of coloration shape, showed an increase in effectiveness of nuisance and drifting the insects away and keeping every hybrid plant intact for longer period, and this period increased more and more when the two dual crossed together to produce the quadrilateral hybrids having all the four aspects of upper shape and coloration (Fig. 3), as the period of delaying of the first infection was increased to the mean 14 days after control infection in the single genotype, and to 33 days in the dual hybrids and more to about 55 days in the quadrilateral hybrids having the four indirect resistance traits (Table 1), and accordingly the saving degree raised to 0.46 in the single genotype, and to 0.77, 0.89, and the saving efficiency to 49.8, 66.6% in the dual and quadrilateral hybrids respectively, while the period of healthy yield were increased from 25 days in the single genotype, and to 33, 59 days in the dual and guadrilateral hybrids respectively, and so that reflecting on the disease dissemination period, as it increased gradually from 9 days in the single genotype, to 14 days in the dual, and more to 20 days quadrilateral hybrid. All that may due to the inconvenience or fairing or non-attracting of viruliferous insects to the plants might because of the disturbance of hairy surface or the reflection of light on the white spots so they disturb the insect and alienate it from the plant in a similar manner to its reflecting on aluminum covers which used by (Hrpaz, 1982; Kennedy, et al., 1969; Moore, et al., 1965; Kring, 1964, 1969, 1972) to repel aphids from plants, and accordingly that lead to late of visiting of virus vector insects to the plants, thus they delayed and reduce the incidence of viruses transmitted by this insect (Loebenstein, et al., 2006), and so diminished the infection percent and elongated the period of disease dissemination as (Loebenstein et al. 2006; Moore, et al. 1965; Smith and Webb, 1969; Smith, et al. 1964; Harris and Kring, 1964) found when used the reflecting mulches, and that increased the health yield productivity period of plants, and so the period was elongated more and more as the number of these traits increased in the genotype, and as they was regulated in appearing sequence in the genotype each followed the other as (Aljanabi et al., 2015b) found in some genotype, but they synchronized appearing in others.

| Genotype leaf | Period of | Period of | Period of | Saving | Character | Saving | Saving | Health |
|-------------------------|------------|-----------|---------------|-----------|-----------|--------|------------|--------|
| Coloration | Character | infection | Disease | (lasting) | Constant | Degree | Efficiency | yield |
| | appearance | (day) | Dissemination | period | % | | % | % |
| | (day) | | (day) | (day) | | | | |
| Full green leaf | 0.0 | 4.0 | 3.0 | 7.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 3.0 |
| (Control) | | | | | | | | |
| Full silver leaf | 8.2 - 20.2 | 12.0 | 9.0 | 21.0 | 92.8 | 0.46 | 46.0 | 14.0 |
| Full silver × | 28.0-40.2 | 19.0 | 14.0 | 31.0 | 77.1 | 0.774 | 59.6 | 33.0 |
| Netty white | | | | | | | | |
| Spotted white × | 51-70.8 | 28.3 | 14.0 | 42.3 | 59.7 | 0.834 | 59.8 | 38.3 |
| Fluffy surface | | | | | | | | |
| Full silver to Netty to | 65.0-90.0 | 47.0 | 20.0 | 67.0 | 74.4 | 0.895 | 66.6 | 55.0 |
| Spotted to Fluffy | | | | | | | | |

Table 1. Relation of squash leaf coloration aspect number in genotype with the infection delay period, saving degree, efficiency, and healthy yield ratio of plants

Every number in table represents the average of three replicates.

Character constant (Character efficiency) = $\frac{Character saving period}{Character appearance period mean} \times 100\%.....(1)$ Control lasting period = No. of days to first infection before fruiting + No. of days to full infection dissimination ... (2) Genotype saving period = No. of days to first infection after control + No. of days to full infection dissimination ... (3) Genotype saving degree = $\frac{genotype \ saving \ period \ -control \ lasting \ period}{genotype \ saving \ period} \(4)$ Genotype saving efficiency = saving degree × character constant(5) Health yield percent = $\frac{Healthy \ yield}{Total \ yield} \times 100\% = \frac{period \ of \ healthy \ yield}{period \ of \ total \ yield}} \times 100\% = \frac{yield \ savig \ period}{total \ yield \ period} \times 100\%$





Full silverNetty whiteFull silver to netty whiteFig 1. Hybridization between the Full silver and Netty white coloration aspectes







Fluffy surfaceSpotted whiteFluffy spotted white surfaceFig (2) Hybridization between the Fluffy surface and the spotted white coloration aspects







Full silver netty white Fluffy

Full silver to netty white

Fluffy spotted white spotted white

Fig 3. Hybridization between the two dual hybrids (Full silver to netty white) and (fluffy to spotted white) to produce the quadrilateral hybrid possess the (Full silver, netty white, Fluffy, spotted white) coloration aspects

CONCLUSION

Collection of indirect resistant traits of fluffy surface and leaf coloration in one hybrid genotype increase their effectiveness of disturbing and repelling viruliferous insects and so delay and reduce the virus infection and increased the disease dissemination period with the number of aspects in the hybrid.

REFERENCES

- Agrios, G. N.(2004). Plant Pathology, Fifth edition Academic Press, London; 619 pp.; 40: 405 410
- Aljanabi A. A.; Ajeel A. A.; Almula, A. K.; Almukhtar, S.A.; Radi B. M.; Sultan, E. A., (2017). New race of zucchini yellow mosaic virus vector resistance in squash. Agriculture Symposium, (Abst), 5-8 October 2017, Joharina, Bosnia and Herzegovina.
- Aljanabi A. A.; Almukhtar, S. A.; Ajeel, A. A. (2015a). New three secondary genes of zucchini yellow mosaic virus resistance (Abst)., International Plant Breeding Congress and EUCARPIA - Oil and Protein Crops Section Conference, 1-5 November 2015, Antalya, Turkey.
- Aljanabi A. A. (2015b). Three successive timely work masked genes saving of viruliferous insects and coordinated with ZYMV resistance gene in squash. Proceeding of agriculture symposium, 15-18 October 2015, Joharina, Bosnia and Herzegovina, pp. 1089 - 1095.
- Aljanabi, A A., Ali J., Almukhtar S, A., Radi B. M., Sultan E. A. (2014). New tow races of squash resistant to Zucchini Yellow Mosaic Virus (Abst.), Eleventh Conference Arab Plant Protection, Amman, 9-13 November, 2014, Jurdon.
- Finetti-Sialer, M. M. et al. Biological and molecular characterization of a recombinant isolate of Watermelon mosaic virus associated with a watermelon necrotic disease in Italy, European Journal of Plant Pathology, v. 132, p. 317-322 2012.
- Gal-on, A. (2007). Zucchini yellow mosaic virus: Insect transmission and pathogenicity-the tail of two proteins. Mol. Plant. Pathol. 8:139–150.
- Harris, K. F.; and Kring, J. B. (1964). New ways to repel aphids, Front. Plant Sci. 17: 6-
- Hrpaz, I., 1982. Nonpesticidal control of vector-borne viruses, Page 1-21 in: Pathogens, Vectors, and Plant Diseases-Approach to control.
- Kennedy, J. S.; Booth, C. O.; and Kershaw, W. J. S., (1969). Host finding by aphids in the field, III.Visual attraction, Ann. Appl. Biol. 49:1-21.
- Kring, J. B. (1964). New ways to repel aphids, Front. Plant Sci. 17:6-
- Kring, J. B. (1969). Mulching with aluminum foil, Horticulture; 42: 27-52.
- Kring, J. B. (1972). Flight behavior of aphids, Annu, Rev, Entomol; 17:461-492. 1.
- Lima, J. A. A. (2015). Virologia essencial & viroses em culturas tropicais. Fortaleza: Ed. UFC, 605 p.
- Loebenstein, G., G., Carr J.P. Mutschler, M.A., Wintermantel, W.M., (2006). In Natural resistance mechanisms of plants to viruses, Reducing virus associated with crop loss through resistance to insect vectors, eds Loebenstein G., G., Carr J.P. (Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, Hungary), pp 241–260.
- Moore, W. G.; Smith, F. F.; Johnson, G. V.; and Wolfenbarger, D. O., (1965). Reduction of aphid population and delayed incidence of virus infection on yellow straight neck squash by the use of aluminum foil, Proc., Fla., State, Hortic. Soc.78: 187-191. 7.
- Moura, M. C. C. L. *et al.* (2005). Reação de acessos de *Cucurbitas*p. ao *Zucchini yellow mosaic virus* (ZYMV). Orticultura Brasileira, v. 23, p. 206-210.

- Scarchuk, J.; and Lent, J. M. (1965). The structure of mottled-leaf summer squash, J. Hered.56:167-168.
- Scott, D.M.; and Riner, M. E. (1946). A mottled leaf character in winter squash, Jour., Hered; 37:27-28.
- Shiffriss, O. (1982). On the silvery-leaf trait in *Cucurbita pepo* L, Cucurbit genetic Coop. Rep; 5: 48-50.
- Smith, F. F.; Johnson, G. V.; Cahn, R. P.; and Bing, A. (1964). Repellency of reflective aluminum to transient aphid virus-vectors, (Abstr.), Phytopathology 54: 748.
- Smith, F. F., and Webb, R. E. (1969). Repelling aphids by reflective surfaces, a new approach to control of insect transmission of viruses, Pages 631-639 in: Viruses, Vectors, and Vegetation. K. Maramorosch, ed. Interscience Publisher New York.

STEVIA: A NEW GENERATION NATURAL SWEETENER

Merve INANC¹, Mohd Kamran KHAN¹, Anamika PANDEY¹, Munure Tanur ERKOYUNCU², Mehmet HAMURCU¹, Mustafa YORGANCILAR², Erdogan Esref HAKKI^{1,}*

¹University of Selcuk, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Soil Science & Plant Nutrition ²University of Selcuk, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Field Crops Konya-42079, TURKEY *eehakki@selcuk.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Nowadays, rapid changes in dietary habits, especially an increase in sugar consumption are the basic cause of human diseases like obesity, diabetes, tooth decay and cardiovascular diseases. Hence, utilization of natural sweetening agents other than sugar has been initiated around the world and more than 20 sweeteners are being used according to the priority and availability. One of such known natural sweeteners is Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni that belong to family Asteraceae and was discovered in 1887 in South America. More than 80% of Stevia species have been detected in North America and around 200 native species are found in South America. It is an endemic, perennial species that grows in moist environment with an average temperature of 25 °C. On one hand, where countries like Paraguay and Brazil used it as a sweetener and therapeutic agent, countries like Japan has been using it as a food additive over thirty years. Although its production is dominant in Mediterranean region of Turkey, some parts of the Aegean, Black Sea and Central Anatolian regions are known for its small-scale production. Despite the presence of several sweetening compounds, Stevioside is the main sweetening agent in the plant. Being an ideal natural product to replace sugar, Stevia rebaudiana has attracted many researchers because of its non-toxic and non-mutagenic nature with low calorie glycosides. Thus, we are working to determine the chemical properties of Stevia plant under different growth conditions so that its production can be increased. Specifically, we aim to determine the effect of Boron application on the changes in steviol glycoside content and the germination level of Stevia *rebaudiana* plant.

Keywords: diabetes, glycosides, Stevia, stevioside, sweetener

INTRODUCTION

Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni, known as sugar grass in Turkey, was first discovered by South American life scientist Antonio Bertoni in 1887 (Table 1). In 1905, after the Paraguayan chemist Dr.Rebaudi, this plant was named as *Stevia rebaudiana* (Yadav and Guleria, 2012). This plant is endemic and perennial in nature that grows at an average temperature of 25 °C. It is called as miracle grass as its glycosides provide 300 times more sweetness than saccharose and considered to be an ideal natural product that can be used instead of sugar (Anton et al., 2010; Puri et al., 2012).

Stevia leaves contain a natural complex evolved from eight sweet diterpene glycosides including isosteviol, stevioside, rebaudiosides (A, B, C, D, E, F), steviolbioside and dulcoside A (Rajasekaran et al., 2008; Goyal et al., 2010). Stevia has a delicate and straight body with a deep rooted canopy of 30-50 cm. The taste of all green parts of the plant is sweet. The leaves are simple, thin with a length of 2-4 cm and of very different size and shape. The leaves in the dry state get a green-brown color with a darker upper side (Kinghorn 2003). Flowers are small, white, 15-17 mm wide and grow in clusters with a random distribution (Marsolais et al., 1998). Flowers start blooming atleast after 4 leaves are grown. Flowering lasts for about 1 month and during this period, flowers of

different developmental stages can be seen in the plant. Seeds, covered with a sensitive shell and protrusions, are 3 mm in length with 1000 grain weight of 0.15-0.3 g. They contain a small amount of endosperm that spread in the environment along with the wind (Ramesh et al., 2006). Generally, the seeds have low viability and great variation (Brandle et al., 1998).

| Classification | | | | | | |
|----------------|---------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Kingdom | Plantae | | | | | |
| Subkingdom | Tracheobinta | | | | | |
| Superdivision | Spermatophyta | | | | | |
| Division | Magnoliophyta | | | | | |
| Class | Magnoliopsida | | | | | |
| Subclass | Asteridae | | | | | |
| Group | Monochlamydae | | | | | |
| Order | Asterales | | | | | |
| Family | Asteraceae | | | | | |
| Subfamily | Asteroideae | | | | | |
| Tribe | Eupatorieae | | | | | |
| Genus | Stevia | | | | | |
| Species | rebaudiana | | | | | |

Table 1. Classification of *Stevia rebaudiana*

Nowadays, rapid changes in dietary habits, especially the increase in sugar consumption, are the main causes of human diseases such as obesity, diabetes, tooth decay and cardiovascular diseases. However, Stevia is a natural and healthy alternative to sugar and artificial sweeteners. Therefore, we are working to determine the chemical properties of Stevia plant under different growth conditions so that its production can be increased. In this study, we aim to determine the effect of Boron application on changes in the steviol glycoside content and germination level of the *Stevia rebaudiana* plant.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

In this study, it was aimed to grow two different Stevia genotypes, Eirete F2 and Criolla in hydroponic conditions under different B dosages. The experiment was set up under controlled hydroponic environment with 3 replicates of each genotype and 10 plants per genotype were grown. Different treatments, Control, 0 ppm B and 10 ppm B were given to the plants.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Importance of B element for the plants was understood during early 1900s after Katherine Warington released the results of their experiment on Phaseolus (Warington, 1923). In plants, Boron has important role in sugar transport, cell wall synthesis, lignification, formation of cell wall structure, carbohydrate metabolism, RNA metabolism, respiration, IAA (indolacetic acid) metabolism, phenol metabolism, pollen germination and regulates the structural and functional properties of biological membranes in pollen tube growth (Kacar ve Katkat, 1998).

This study was conducted with an aim of determining the effect of different Boron treatments on germination and increase the diterpene steviol glycoside content of two *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni genotypes. Boron deficiency and toxicity was observed in Stevia plants grown under 0 ppm B and 10 ppm B treatment, respectively. Spots and folded leaves were observed in grown leaves. Within the scope of this project, we will be able to promote healthy Stevia production in hoagland solution in a faster and homogeneous way.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

We thank Selcuk University, Faculty of Agriculture and Selcuk University BAP (project No.18703094) for supporting this work.

REFERENCES

Anton, S. D., Martin, C. K., Han, H., Coulon, S., Cefalu, W.T., Geiselman, P., Williamson, D. A., (2010), Effects of stevia, aspartame, and sucrose on food intake, satiety, and postprandial glucose and insulin levels. Appetite, 55: 37-43.

Brandle, J., Starratt, A., Gijzen, M. 1998. *Stevia rebaudiana*: Its agricultural, biological, and chemical properties. Canadian Journal of Plant Science, 78: 527536.

Goyal S, Samsher, Goyal R (2010). Stevia (*Stevia rebaudiana*) a biosweetener: a review. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 61:1-10.

Kacar, B. ve Katkat, A. V., 1998, Bitki Besleme, Uludağ Üniversitesi Güçlendirme Vakfı.

Kinghorn, A.D. 2003. Stevia: the genus Stevia. Taylor and Francis, CRC Press, New York, 224 p.

Marsolais, A., Brandle, J. and Sys, E. A. 1998. Stevia plant named 'RSIT 94751' United States Patent PP10564.

Puri, M., Sharma, D., Barrow, C. J., Tiwary, A. K., (2012), Optimisation of novel method for the extraction of steviosides from Stevia rebaudiana leaves. Food Chem., 132: 1113-1120.

Rajasekaran T, Ramakrishna A, Udaya Sankar K, Giridhar P, Ravishankar G (2008). Analysis of predominant steviosides in Stevia rebaudiana bertoni by liquid hromatography/electrospray ionizationmass spectrometry. Food Biotechnol. 22:179-188.

Ramesh, K., Singh, V., Megeji, N.W. 2006. Cultivation of Stevia [Stevia rebaudiana (Bert.) Bertoni]: A Comprehensive Review. Advances in Agronomy, 89: 137-177.

Warington, K., 1923, The effect of boric acid and borax on the broad bean and certain other plants, *Annals of Botany*, 37 (148), 629-672.

Yadav, S.K. and Guleria, P., 2012, Steviol glycosides from stevia: biosynthesis pathway review and their application in foods and medicine, Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 52:988-998 pp.

RHEOLOGICAL MODELING EVALUATION OF THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON DIFFERENT DILUTIONS OF HONEY

Hasime Manaj^{*1}, Anisa Dhroso¹, Ilirjan Malollari¹ ¹Faculty of Natural Sciences, Tirana, Albania * hasime.manaj@fshn.edu.al

ABSTRACT

Honey is the natural viscous food produced by honey bees from the nectar of plants. Honey available in Albanian market was characterized for rheological and physicochemical properties. Honey was serially diluted with different percentages of water (10 - 50 %). The density and viscosity of diluted honey were experimentally determined as a function of temperature (20 to 60°C). Viscosity is an important quality attribute of honey and there are various physical that influence this property. Several physicochemical and rheological characteristics of floral honey were investigated: density, pH, free acidity, ash, electrical conductivity, dynamic viscosity and kinematic viscosity. To study the temperature and dilution effect on viscosity Arrhenius, Abramovic and power law models were considered. The evaluations of the models were done by R^2 and mean absolute percentage error. According to the results Abramovic model provides a good description of honey viscosity as a function of the combined effects of temperature.

Key words: Honey, density, viscosity, temperature, Arrhenius model.

INTRODUCTION

Honey is a sweet, viscous food substance produced by bees and some related insects (Crane E., 1990). Bees produce honey from the sugary secretions of plants (floral nectar) or other insects (aphid honeydew) through regurgitation, enzymatic activity, and water evaporation. Honey is stored in wax structures called honeycombs (Crane E., 1990 and Crane, E., Walker, P., & Day, R. 1984). It is composed of mainly carbohydrates such as monosaccharides (glucose and fructose) and oligosaccharides like sucrose, maltose, melezitose, and raffinose. Pure honey also contains proteins, fats, water, vitamins and minerals (Nwalor, J.U., Babalola, F.U. and Anidiobu, V.O. 2018). It is reputed to have a diverse set of nutritional and medicinal benefits. Honey production constitutes 1.4% of livestock production in Albania. Data show that one of the most important developments during this period (until 2016) was the increased number of bee hives. By the end of 2016, there were 303,000 bee hives, so 4000 ton honey production. Meanwhile, in the end of 2014 Albanian beekeepers counted a total of 261,000 bee hives and total production of honey was 3000 ton. This indicator along with honey production figures confirm that honey is one of the main farm products measured in tons. Honey production increased by 25 percent. Most of the honey bee colonies are found in Korca, Vlore, Fier, Durres, and in the southeastern region (Institute of Statistics INSTAT, 2017). The purpose of this work was characterized physicochemical and rheological properties, of pure and diluted honey sample from south region. Honey was serially diluted with different percentages of water (5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, and 25 %). Furthermore, this study explores the efficacy of rheological characterization properties to adulterated or fake honey. The physicochemical characterizations of honey need time and expensive procedures, while rheological properties determination is more efficiency (Bogdanov, 2009; Akhtar et al., 2014). The composition and properties of honey vary with the floral and honeydew sources utilized by honeybees, as well as by regional and climatic conditions (Lazaridou et al. 2004). Studies on rheological behaviors of honeys, like other fluid foods, are important for applications

related to handling, storage, processing, quality control, and sensory analysis (Yoo, 2004). Moreover, honey rheology has been correlated with its chemical composition (Gómez-Díaz et al. 2009, Bakier 2007, Buba et al., 2013;). The rheological properties of honey vary, depending on water content, the type of flora used to produce it (pasturage), temperature, and the proportion of the specific sugars it contains. Honey is a natural viscous food well known for its high nutritional and prophylactic values (T. Sato and G.Miyata, 2000). The low moisture content protects honey from microbiological activity and thus it can be preserved for longer periods (AL-Naji and Hujazy, 1982; Cantarelli et al., 2008; and El-Metwally, 2015). Viscosity is an important quality attribute of honey and there are various physical as well as biochemical factors such as temperature, moisture content, and presence of crystals, colloids, and sugars that influence this property (Sudhanshu Saxena, Lata Panicker, and Satyendra Gautam, 2014). Most of the honeys were reported to have Newtonian fluid like characteristics, whereas, some honey has been reported as non-Newtonian fluids (Witczak M., Juszczak L., and Gałkowska D., 2011).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Honey available in Albanian market, from south region was characterized for rheological and physicochemical properties. Honey was serially diluted with different percentages of water (5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, and 25 %), with a volume of 500 ml. The density and viscosity of diluted honey were experimentally determined as a function of temperature (20° C, 25° C, 30° C, 40° C, 45° C, 50° C, 55° C, and 60° C). Physicochemical and rheological characteristics of honey were analyzed: density, pH, free acidity, ash, electrical conductivity, dynamic viscosity and kinematic viscosity. The pH (PHS-3CW Microprocessor pH/ mV METER) and the electric conductivity (DDS-120W Microprocessor Conductivity Meter) were measured. Viscosity and temperature of honey samples were measured using the Digital Viscometer Model NDJ-5S with accuracy $\pm 1\%$. The SP (1-4) spindle was operated at 6, 12, 30, and 60 rpm. In addition to the dynamic viscosity and density, kinematic viscosity by the formula was also determined. Density and viscosity are very sensitive to temperature, studied and the dependence between them. The effect of temperature on the kinematic viscosity of liquid is described by means of the Arrhenius equation as:

$$\mu = \mu_{\infty,T} \exp\left(\frac{E_a}{RT}\right) \tag{1}$$

Where μ is the dynamic viscosity in Pa.s, $\mu_{\infty,T}$ is the viscosity at infinite-temperature in Pa.s, E_a is the exponential constant that is known as activation energy (J/mol); R is the gas constant (8.31 J/mol.K) and T is the absolute temperature Kelvin (Clements C. et al.; 2006, Ahmad M. F.; 2009, Giap S. G. E.; 2010).

Abramovic also used three-constant formula known as Andrade equations that are represented in the following equations:

$$Ln\mu = A + \frac{B}{T} + \frac{C}{T^2}$$
(2)

Where μ is the dynamic viscosity in Pa.s, T is the temperature in Kelvin. A, B and C are constants. Power Law Model

$$\mu = k(T - T_{ref})^n \tag{3}$$

Where k and n are constants, T_{ref} is reference temperature of 273.15 K (Fasina O.O. and Colley Z., 2008).

The mean absolute percentage error (MA%E), which indicates the deviance of the observed values from the calculated, was calculated using the following formula:

$$MAPE^{a} = \frac{\left|\sum_{1=1}^{n} \left(\frac{A_{0} - A_{C}}{A_{0}}\right)\right|}{n} \cdot 100$$
(4)

Where A_0 is the observed value, A_C is the calculated value, and *n* represents the number of pairs of samples.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This study focused on the effect of water and temperature on the rheological behavior of honey. Rheology is used as a quality parameter for many food products and is also an important property for honey (Bera A., Almeida-Muradian L. B., and Sabato S. F., 2009). Several physicochemical and rheological characteristics of pure and diluted honey were investigated: density, pH, free acidity, ash, electrical conductivity, dynamic viscosity and kinematic viscosity. Table 1, shows the physicochemical and rheological properties of pure honey (H). Honey is acidic (pH 4.1), within the European range 3.7-4.5. The ash content of our pure honey was 0.02%. The ash content of honey is mainly mineral trace elements: calcium, copper, iron, magnesium, manganese, potassium, sodium, and chlorides, phosphates, silicates and sulphates. The color of our pure honey was dark. Dark color shows is very rich in minerals. These trace amounts of minerals may be important for human nutrition (Al M. L., Daniel D., Moise A., Bobis O., Laslo L., and Bogdanov S., 2009). Our honey samples showed electrical conductivity 0.1363 mS/cm. This measurement depends on the ash and acid content of honey; the lower ash and acid content, the lower the resulting conductivity. Free acidity was 10 meq/Kg. Figure 1 shows the effect of temperature on density and electric conductivity of pure honey (H). Results showed that temperature has significant influence on physical parameters. Electric conductivity rise (0.1283 - 0.1713 mS) and density decrease with temperature rise (1.4622 - 1.4601 g/cm^3).

| Honey | Density (g/cm ³) (25C) | рН | Free acidity (meq/Kg) | Ash (%) | Electric conductivity (mS/cm) (25C) | Viscosity dynamic (mPa.s) (25C) | Kinematic viscosity (mm²/s) (25C) |
|-------|--|-----|-----------------------------|-------------|--|--|--|
| Н | 1.46185 | 4.1 | 10 | 0.03 | 0.1363 | 68800 | 47064 |
| | | | ◆ Density g/cr | m3 | • | | |
| | | • | ٠ | • | • | • | |
| | | 1 | | Temperature | e (C) | | |

Table 1: Physicochemical properties of pure honey (H)



Figure 2 shows effect of temperature on dynamic and kinematic viscosities of pure honey (H). Results showed that temperature has significant influence on viscosities. The kinematic viscosity (mm²/s) requires knowledge of mass density of the liquid, at that temperature and pressure. It is defined as ratio of dynamic viscosity (mPa.s) to density (g/cm³). The viscosities of honey were measured at temperatures ranging from 25C to 60C and found to decrease with increase in the temperature. Temperature dependent decrease in viscosity of honey may be attributed to reduced molecular friction and hydrodynamic forces (Saxena S., Panicker L., and Gautam S., 2014).



Figure 2: Effect of temperature on dynamic and kinematic viscosity of pure honey (H)

The experimental data of pure and diluted honey, for dynamic viscosity (Pa.s) fitting by Arrhenius model are shown in Figure 3. The dependence of the honey viscosities to temperature was modeled by using Arrhenius Equation (Eq. 1). Table 2 shows the results of parameters for Arrhenius model, correlation coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) and mean absolute percentage error (MAPE^a).

| | a | Ea (kJ/mol) | R ² | MAPE ^a |
|----|-------------|-------------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| Н | 3.04699E-12 | 76.42 | 0.994 | 0.3285 |
| H1 | 3.64280E-13 | 74.52 | 0.9987 | 0.0880 |
| H2 | 5.03027E-12 | 65.47 | 0.995 | 0.0269 |
| H3 | 6.97733E-12 | 63.38 | 0.99 | 0.5305 |
| H4 | 2.21555E-10 | 51.60 | 0.9922 | 0.2847 |
| H5 | 4.72675E-10 | 48.53 | 0.995 | 0.1445 |

Table 2: Parameters for Arrhenius model



Figure 3: Effect of temperature on dynamic viscosity of different diluted honey and fitting of model to experimental data by Arrhenius equation

Arrhenius model was suitable to describe temperature dependence of the viscosity for all investigated honeys. In all cases the determination coefficient (R^2) exceeded values >0.99. The mean absolute percentage error (MAPE^a) (Equation 4) for pure and diluted honey range from 0.02 – 0.53 %, was below 10%. The values of activation energies of the analyzed honeys ranged from 48.53 - 76.42 kJ/mol, which describe the sensitivity of viscosity to temperature changes.

Figure 4 shows the honey $\ln \mu$ (Pa.s) dependence of the (1/T) and the fitting of the Abramovic model to experimental data (Equation 2). Table 3 resumes the results of Abramovic parameters, correlation coefficient (R²) and mean absolute percentage error (MAPE^a).



Figure 4: Honey viscosities dependence of temperature and fitting of model to Experimental data by Abramovic equation

| | А | В | С | R ² | MAPE ^a |
|----|---------|---------|---------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| Η | -88.516 | 482.59 | -614.47 | 0.9987 | 0.06 |
| H1 | -13.452 | -5.2207 | 147.97 | 0.9991 | 3.57 |
| H2 | 5.3465 | -117.16 | 305.52 | 0.997 | 7.43 |
| H3 | -92.88 | 496.06 | -654.56 | 0.9998 | 0.13 |
| H4 | -59.617 | 295.67 | -364.21 | 0.9968 | 0.01 |
| H5 | -51.557 | 246.36 | -293.08 | 0.9985 | 0.01 |

 Table 3: Parameters for Abramovic model

According to our experimental data, Abramovic equation was the best fit of dynamic viscosity of honey samples, where the determination coefficient (R^2) exceeded values> 0.995. The mean absolute percentage error ranges from 0.01 to 7.43 for pure and diluted honey were below 10%.

Figure 5 shows the dynamic viscosity (Pa.s) versus temperature (C), for pure and diluted honey. Experimental values were processed according to the Law Power model, equation 3. In the table below are presented k, n constants, correlations coefficient and mean absolute percentage error.



Figure 5: Honey viscosities dependence of temperature and fitting of model to Experimental data by Law Power equation

| | k | n | \mathbb{R}^2 | MAPE ^a |
|----|-------------|--------|----------------|-------------------|
| Н | 12852097.23 | -3.69 | 0.97 | 2.2256 |
| H1 | 222979 | -3.375 | 0.99 | 0.8761 |
| H2 | 22090 | -2.976 | 0.9932 | 0.3221 |
| H3 | 8053.3 | -2.83 | 0.9534 | 2.3287 |
| H4 | 420.15 | -2.314 | 0.9638 | 1.1309 |
| H5 | 168.65 | -2.178 | 0.9687 | 1.1531 |

Table 4: Parameters for Law Power

Law Power equation was not the best fit of dynamic viscosity of honey samples, because the correlation coefficients were under 0.99. The mean absolute percentage error ranges from 0.3 to 2.2 for pure and diluted honey.

CONCLUSIONS

The temperature affects the viscosity of honeys at temperatures between $20-60^{\circ}$ C, with viscosity decreasing with increase in temperature. The viscosities for pure honey (H) from 20-60 C, were higher than the values of diluted honey viscosities. The value of correlation coefficient and mean absolute percentage error indicates that the model fits satisfactorily to experimental data. In according with these results, we can conclude that the mathematical model adopted provides a good description of honey viscosity as a function of temperature. For Arrhenius and Abramovic models, the correlation coefficient obtained from the non-linear regression procedure was greater than 0.99. However, comparisons of the calculated data indicate that the temperature-dependence of viscosity for the honey samples was best described by the Abramovic model.

REFERENCES

- Ahmad M., Amran A., Giap S. G. E. and Nik W. M. N. W., "The assessment of rheological model reliability in lubricating behavior of vegetable oils ", Engineering e-Transaction, 4(2), 81-89 (2009).
- Akhtar, S., Ali, J., Javed, B., Hassan, S., Abbas, S., Siddique, M., 2014. Comparative physiochemical analysis of imported and locally produced Khyber Pakhtunkhwa honey. Global J. Biotechnol. Biochem. 9 (3), 55–59
- Al M. L., Daniel D., Moise A., Bobis O., Laslo L., and Bogdanov S. (2009), "Physicochemical and bioactive properties of different floral origin honeys from Romania," Food Chemistry, vol. 112, pp. 863–867, 2009.
- AL-Naji, L.K., Hujazy, I.M., 1982. Microorganisms of ripe honey produced in northern Iraq and their effects on its physical properties. Zanco (Iraq) 8, 3–16.
- Bera A., Almeida-Muradian L. B., and Sabato S. F., 2009: "Effect of gamma radiation on honey quality control," Radiation Physics and Chemistry, vol. 78, no. 7-8, pp. 583–584.
- Bogdanov, S., 2009. Physical properties of honey. In: Book of Honey, Chapter 4. Bee Product Science.
- Buba, F., Gidado, A., Shugaba, A., 2013. Analysis of biochemical composition of honey samples from North-East Nigeria. Biochem. Anal. Biochem. 2 (3), 139. http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2161-1009.1000139.
- Cantarelli, M.A., Pellerano, R.G., Marchevsky, E.J., Camin[°]a, J.M., 2008. Quality of honey from Argentina: study of chemical composition and trace elements. J. Argentine Chem. Soc. 96 (1–2), 33–41.
- Clements C., Craig-Schmidt M., Fasina O. O. and Hallman H., "Predicting temperature-dependence viscosity of vegetable oils from fatty acid composition ", Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 83(10), 899-903 (2006).
- Crane E., (1990). "Honey from honeybees and other insects". Ethology Ecology & Evolution. 3 (sup1): 100–105.
- Crane, E., Walker, P., & Day, R. (1984). Directory of important world honey sources. International Bee Research Association. ISBN 086098141X.
- EL-Metwally, A.A.E., 2015. Factors Affecting the Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Egyptian Beehoney. Ph. D. Thesis, Fac. Agric. Cairo Univ., 320p.
- Fasina O.O. and Colley Z., 2008, Viscosity and specific heat of vegetable oils As a function of temperature: 35°C TO 180°C, International Journal of Food Properties, 11: 738–746.
- Giap S. G. E., "The hidden property of Arrhenius-type relationship: viscosity as a function of temperature ", Journal of Physical Science, 21(1), 29–39 (2010).
- Lazaridou A, Biliaderis Cg, Bacandritsos N and Sabatini Ag. 2004. Composition, thermal and rheological behavior of selected Greek honeys. J Food Eng 64: 9-21.
- Nwalor, J.U., Babalola, F.U. and Anidiobu, V.O. (2018) Rheological Modeling of the Effects of Adulteration on Nigerian Honey. Open Journal of Fluid Dynamics , 8, 249-263.
- Sato T. and Miyata G., "Thenutraceutical benefit, part iii: honey," Nutrition, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 468–469, 2000.
- Saxena S., Panicker L., and Gautam S., 2014, Rheology of Indian Honey: Effect of Temperature and Gamma Radiation, Hindawi Publishing Corporation International Journal of Food Science Volume 2014, Article ID 935129, 6 pages.
- YOO B. 2004. Effect of temperature on dynamic rheology of Korean honeys. J Food Eng 65: 459-463.
- Witczak M., Juszczak L., and Gałkowska D., "Non-Newtonian behaviour of heather honey," Journal of Food Engineering, vol.104, no. 4, pp. 532–537, 2011.

IN VITRO REGENERATION IN SELECTED CUCURBITA SPP. GERMPLASM

Buse Dursun^{*1}, Ahu Altinkut Uncuoğlu², Yıldız Aydin¹

¹Marmara University, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Biology, Istanbul, TURKEY ²Marmara University, Faculty of Engineering, Department of Bioengineering, Istanbul, TURKEY

* busedursun@marun.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

The genus *Cucurbita* is an important vegetable food and crop in around the world and Turkey is the 7th biggest squash (*Cucurbita pepo* L.) producer in terms of annual production ranged 300 to 400 thousand tons. Cucurbita species constitutes 20% of the total vegetable production in the world and 31% of the vegetable production in Turkey. In vitro techniques are very helpful for acceleration of breeding studies, quick mass production, cloning and disease-free plant production. In this study, we aimed to develop suitable protocols for direct and indirect regeneration of Cucurbita hybrid variety through different explant for 5 different hybrid squash lines which obtained from the Trace Agricultural Research Institute. Seeds were surface sterilized by immersion in 70% ethanol solution for 3 minutes and keeping in 15% bleaching solution (with 2-3 drop of Tween 20) for 15 minutes. Sterilized seeds were cultured on MS (Murashige and Skoog) medium with 30 gr/l sucrose. Explants were isolated from 15-21 days in vivo grown plants by collecting cotyledon, leaf, node, internode, shoot tip and hypocotyl explants and were prepared in sterile cabin. Inoculation of explants was made singly per culture vessel in solid MS (Murashige and Skoog) supplemented with different concentrations and combinations of BAP (1mg/ml,2 mg/ml, 3 mg/ml) and 30 gr/l sucrose. Cultures were assessed according to callusing, shooting and rooting. Among different concentrations, 3.0 mg/l BAP showed best response for In vitro regenerated shoots induction. In vitro regenerated shoots were rooted well in strength MS (Murashige and Skoog) with no plant growth regulator and MS (Murashige and Skoog) with 1 mg/l IBA and micro plants were acclimatized successfully in natural condition.

Key words: In vitro regeneration, Cucurbita, explant type.

INTRODUCTION

Cucurbita is an important tropical vegetable grown all around the world. Cucurbita fruits are rich in carbohydrate, protein, lipid, fiber and vitamins (especially B and C). Also vegetable-oil from Cucurbita seeds is popular in some areas. Cucurbita seeds can be consumed as snack (Kurtar et al., 2002). The genus cucurbita is native to the Americas. Turkey is an important producer for area and its production is increasing year by year. Annual vegetable production of Turkey is 25.671.517 tons and 31% of the production is *Cucurbita* spp (7.658.000 tons) in 2017. Summer squash constitutes 300-400 thousand tons of this production (FAO 2017). Despite its economic importance, this species has been otherwise little improved by biotechnology (Gaba et al., 2004).

In vitro methods are frequently used for accelerating the breeding studies, obtaining transgenic lines, mutation studies and production of grafted seedlings. Producing of parent lines for *Cucurbita* spp. could last for 8-10 years with conventional methods (Kurtar, 2017). On the other hand *in vitro* methods is used effectively in breeding programs of many species due to both shortening the
reproduction period and decreasing the cost and labor. Regeneration in C. pepo has been reported via somatic embryogenesis (Kintzios et al., 2002; Urbanek et al., 2004). Additionally, regeneration in squash has been recently reported by direct shoot organogenesis for the first time (Ananthakrishnan et al., 2003), but only for three cultivars.

As a wide range of genetic variation occurs within *Cucurbita pepo*, for the widely disparate representatives of this species could be expected to reveal genetic differences in the ability to regenerate *in vitro*. The aim of the study is to optimize an in vitro regeneration procedure for locally important summer squash lines. In this study 5 different hybrids were used as plant material (Ardendo, Anjelina, Torpido, Roni, Sena Hanım) which supplied by Thrace Agricultural Research Institute. Cotyledons, hypocotyls, nodes, internodes and shoot tips were used as explant.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Material

Hybrid seeds were provided by Thrace Agricultural Research Institute. Cotyledon nods, hypocotyls, nodes, internodes and shoot tips were used as explant.

Surface sterilization and In vitro culture

Surface sterilization started with the washing the seeds under tap water for three hours. Then seeds were treated with 70% ethanol solution for three minutes. After that, seeds were treated with 15% sodium hypochloride solution with two three drop of Tween 20 for 15 minutes. Then seeds were washed with sterile distilled water theree four 3-4 times. Seed coats were removed before culture and seeds were placed on MS (Murashige and Skoog) medium without plant growth regulators. Cultures were stored in dark for 24 hours then were placed in culture room at 26C° with 16/8 hours photoperiod, under 6500 lux lightning (Obembe et al., 2017).

Culture mediums and In vitro regenerations

MS (Murashige and Skoog) medium with no PGR (Plant Growth Regulators) is used for germination of seeds. For shoot induction, MS (Murashige and Skoog) with different concentrations of BAP (6-Benzylaminopurine) was used (1 mg/L, 2 mg/L, 3 mg/L). Regenerated shoots were rooted on MS (Murashige and Skoog) with no PGR (Plant Growth Regulators) (Obembe, 2017). All culture mediums prepared with 2,7 g/L phytagel and 3% sucrose and pH was adjusted to 5,7. Culture mediums were autoclaved 3 hours with 121 °C for sterilization. Effect of genotype, BAP concentration and explant type was evaluated on callus and shoot regeneration.

Acclimatization

Successfully rooted plantlets are potted for acclimatization on sterile commercial soil. Pots are covered with stretch film for prevent moist loss. In two weeks, stretch films were removed gradually (Lee et all., 2003).

RESULTS

In vitro regenerations were succesfully achieved on selected *Cucurbita pepo* L. genotypes. Regenerations were obtained from all genotypes, and the highest regeneration rates were observed on Ardendo. Cotyledon node and shoot apex were the most successful explant type for callus and shoot regenerations. Shoot regeneration rates for cotyledon node, shoot apex, node, internode and hypocotyl was 95%, 80%, 22.5%, 0% and 0% respectively. Callus regeneration rates was 86%, 96%, 96%, 6.6% and 41.23% respectively.

Culture medium with 1 mg/L BAP (K1) and 3 mg/L BAP (K3) had higher regeneration rates with compared to culture medium with 2 mg/L BAP (K2). K1, K2 and K3 shoot regeneration rates were 67.56%, 41.3% and 55.55% respectively and callus regeneration rates were 78.37%, 69.56% and 77.77%.

Only shoots from Shoot apex and cotyledon node could be rooted. Rooting were made at MS (Murashige and Skoog) without PGR (Plant Growth Regulators). Shoot apex was gave the highest root regeneration rate.

DISCUSSION

In vitro regenerations were succesfully achieved on selected *Cucurbita pepo* L. genotypes. The highest shoot regenerations were obtained from Ardendo and Torpedo. Cotyledon nodes were one hundred percent regenerated in K1 (MS + 1 mg/L BAP) and K2 (MS plas+ two mg/L BAP) mediums. The highest regenerations were obtained from K1 medium (MS + one mg per/L BAP). Regenerated shoots from shoot apexes and cotyledon nodes were successfully rooted on MS (Murashige and Skoog) without PGR (Plant Growth Regulators).

In this study, similarly with the studies made before, we couldn't obtain shoot regenerations from hypocotyls (Abrie et al., 2001; Ananthakrishnan et al 2003). Also Ananthkrishnan (2003) was obtained the highest regeneration rate on kotyledon node and this result is parallel with our findings.

CONCLUSIONS

In this study, tissue culture systems are provided in the plant and tissue culture optimization is provided for micropropagation. This study is made as a pre-study. More detailed studies are being carried out.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research has been supported by Marmara University Research Foundation-BAPKO (Projects: FEN-C-YLP-110618-0359).

REFERENCES

- Abrie, A. L., J. Van Staden (2001). Development of Regeneration Protocols for Selected Cucurbit Cultivars. Plant Growth Regulation, 35: 263-267.
- Ananthakrishnan, G., X. Xia, C. Elman, S. Singer, H. S. Paris, A. Gal-On & V. Gaba (2003). Shoot Production in Squash (*Cucurbita pepo*) by in vitro Organogenesis. Plant cell reports, 21(8), 739-746.
- Chee, P. P. (1992). Initiation and Maturation of Somatic Embryos of Squash (*Cucurbita pepo*). HortScience 27: 59–60.
- Gaba, V., A. Zelcer, A. Gal-On (2004). Cucurbit Biotechnology the Importance of Virus Resistance. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant 40: 346–3587.
- Kintzios, S., E. Sereti, P. Bluchos, J. B. Drossopoulos, C. K. Kitsaki & A. Liopa-Tsakalidis (2002) Growth Regulator Pretreatment Improves Somatic Embryogenesis from Leaves of Squash (*Cucurbita pepo* L.) and Melon (*Cucumis melo* L.). Plant Cell Rep. 21: 1–8.
- Kurtar, E. S., N. Sari, K. Abak (2002). Obtention of Haploid Embryos and Plants Through Irradiated Pollen Technique in Squash (*Cucurbita pepo* L.). Euphytica 127:335–344
- Kurtar, E. S., A. Balkaya, M. Göçmen, & O. Karaağaç (2017). Hıyara (*Cucumis sativus* L.) Anaç Olabilecek Ümitvar Kabak (*Cucurbita* spp.) Genotiplerinde Işınlanmış Polen Tekniği ile Dihaploidizasyon. Selçuk Tarım ve Gıda Bilimleri Dergisi, 31(1), 34-41.
- Lee, Y. K., W. L. Chung & H. Ezura (2003). Efficient Plant Regeneration via Organogenesis in Winter Squash (*Cucurbita maxima* Duch.). Plant science, 164(3), 413-418.
- Obembe, O. O., O. S. Aworunse, O. A. Bello & A. O. Ani (2017). Multiple Shoots Induction from Indigenous Nigerian Pumpkin (*Cucurbita pepo* L.). Annual Research & Review in Biology.
- Urbanek, A., B. Zechmann & M. Muller (2004). Plant Regeneration Via Somatic Embryogenesis in Styrian Pumpkin: Cytological and Biochemical Investigations. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult. 79: 329–340

MORPHOLOGICAL EVALUATION AND DNA BARCODING IN PLANTS

Ezgi Çabuk Şahin*¹, Ahu Altinkut Uncuoglu², Yıldız Aydin¹

¹Marmara University, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Biology, Istanbul, TURKEY. ²Marmara University, Faculty of Engineering, Department of Bioengineering, Istanbul, TURKEY.

*ezgicabuk@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Identification of plant species is very important because of the basic research in taxonomy, cataloguing hidden diversity, improving environmental monitoring, sustaining natural resources, protecting endangered species, etc. Plant species are identified using a variety of methods, including analyses of morphologic characteristics and molecular genetic variations. In spite of the effects of air and soil conditions on plant growth, plant morphology is an easy and convenient method for identifying different plant species. The classical use of morphological traits for species identification has several limitations. So, identification of species can be completed by using more reliable molecular methods such as DNA barcoding approach representing the best solution for identifying species when their morphology is of limited use by being faster and cheaper. In this study, morphological characterization and DNA barcoding analysis were performed together to identify Colchicum species reference to horticulture, ornamental and generation of metabolites for pharmaceutical industries. In this study, 168 Colchicum L. genotypes of the wide variety of 49 Colchicum species in Turkey 35 of which are endemic and 16 candidate Colchicum species were characterized with important 38 morphological traits. As a result of the morphological measurements, Colchicum technical certificate based on UPOV was prepared and color catalog was created. When the morphological measurement results were evaluated, it was determined that morphological characterization is inadequate for identifying of species. For this reason, rbcL, matK and trnH-psbA chloroplast genes were used to determine Colchicum species using DNA barcoding method. The discrimination power of these genes were compared to each other. As a result, it was determined that the *matK* barcode gene region was more successful than rbcL and trnH-psbA gene regions in discriminating species. In comparison morphological and DNA barcoding data obtained in this study, DNA barcoding method was found to be more successful and easier for identifying Colchicum species.

Keywords: Morphological characterization, DNA barcoding, Colchicum L.

INTRODUCTION

The bulbous ornamental plant *Colchicum* L. belongs the family Colchicaceae that has 49 taxa and 35 of them are known endemic in Turkey and it has medicinal value of having colchicine (Persson, 2007; Ghosh et al., 2008). The kind of confusion and synonym excess of the Colchicum plant put this plant into a taxonomically difficult position. Since the information on Colchicum species is extremely limited, taxonomic classifications have not been completed yet. Considering this negative situation of the Colchicum plant, it is necessary to carry out more morphological characterization supported by molecular studies.

The effectiveness and reliability of the methods used to determine the species is highly relevant to systematics research. Morphological characters remain an important tool for phylogenetic studies, even in the current age of molecular systematics. Using of objective definers based on the morphology

of reliable characters can be useful in confirming and evaluating similarities and uniformity, differences between plant populations. Identification of the variation in quantitative and qualitative characters is important for plant breeding programs and usually, these characters have been used for cultivar characterization and determination by UPOV (The International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants). Classical morphological features have some limitations in species definition (Valentini, 2009). Thus, a high level of expertise is often required to correctly identify species with the accuracy required in ecological studies. Identification of species can be completed by using more reliable molecular methods such as DNA barcoding. This approach might currently represent the best solution for identifying species when their morphology is of limited use (Ahrens, 2007). Even if morphological identification of a species is possible, DNA barcoding might enhance biodiversity inventories by being faster and cheaper, and by overcoming the taxonomic impediment

DNA barcodes use short sequence diversity and standard gene regions to help identify species (Hebert et al., 2003a; Savolainen et al., 2005). Thus, it can be used as biological barcodes to enable the identification of DNA sequence differences in small parts of the genomes of organisms to the species level at the species level, and a universal type identification key to identify these species by means of matching the DNA sequences in the DNA sequences and the DNA sequences in unidentified species where it is not possible to obtain morphological characteristics it is possible (Sass et al., 2007; Aravind et al., 2007).

In this study, it was utilized from morphological characterization and DNA barcoding method to identify 168 genotypes (16 new candidate species include) belongs to *Colchicum* L.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant material

As a plant material, 168 genotypes of belong to 49 *Colchicum* L. species and 16 new candidate species were provided by Republic of Turkey Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock General Directorate of Agricultural Research and Policy, Atatürk Central Research Institute of Gardening Plants in Yalova.

Morphological characterization

For identification of the 49 Colchicum species, morphological characterization was performed using measurement of morphological characters and results were scored. These morphological characters were selected according to "The International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants" (UPOV) guidelines for Tulip and Lilium genus. Also, according to "Pantone" color scale, color of the tepal, peduncle, anther, leaf, corm and fruit capsule were determined and color catalog of *Colchicum* L. species was prepared.

Molecular characterization

To identify the Colchicum genotypes, multi-marker DNA barcoding method, proposed as universal DNA-based tool for species identification was used. For this aim *rbcL*, *matK* and *trnH-psbA* chloroplast genes were chosen which were suggested by "CBOL - The Consortium for the Barcode of Life Plant Working Group". For DNA barcoding, as first, the isolation of genomic DNA using the leaves of *Colchicum* L. was performed by CTAB (Doyle and Doyle, 1987) method. PCR analyses were performed by using genomic DNA of all genotypes and primers of these barcode genes. Obtained PCR products were sequenced. Using these sequence information, DNA barcodes were obtained and

sequences of *Colchicum* L. genotypes were sent to the NCBI database by the BOLD system and the access number was obtained for each genotype.

RESULTS

Morphological characterization

Characterization of 168 *Colchicum* L. genotypes was performed by measuring 38 morphological characters. As a result, the color catalog was prepared for Colchicum species to identify the differences between Colchicum species using color cods for autumn and spring *Colchicum* species. Also, using morphological characters, UPOV technical description document for Colchicum species was created (unpublished data).

Molecular characterization

Using the *rbcL*, *matK* and *trnH-psbA* barcode genes, the results of the analysis (phylogenetic tree, Structure, PCA) for the identification of 168 *Colchicum* L. genotypes by DNA barcoding were compared between each of these genes. Structure, PCA analysis of the phylogenetic tree performed were found to be consistent with each other. After assessing the barcoding results of all barcode genes together, *matK* barcode gene was found to be more successful than *rbcL* and *trnH-psbA* barcode genes for the identification of the *Colchicum* L. species (unpublished data).

As a result of this study, DNA sequence data of genotypes staying out candidate species were entered into BOLD (The Barcode of Life Data) database and DNA barcodes of each genotype belong to the three barcode genes (*rbcL*, *matK* and *trnH-psbA*) were created.

DISCUSSION

It is known that morphological features are very important and this basic information help to accurately identify the plants considering the medicinal importance of Colchicum species and many synonyms reported. With morphological characterization studies that were performed using 168 *Colchicum* L. genotypes belong to flora of Turkey will contribute to the understanding of the diversity of the Colchicum species. Morphological character measurements of Colchicum species were used to evaluate the differences between the species. Technical certificate based on UPOV requirements for Colchicum species using morphological parameters and the color catalog were prepared to simplify the determination of Colchicum species. Since this study was performed for the first time in the Colchicum plant, the data obtained from this study is very important for the development of DNA barcodes specific to the Colchicum plant with the addition of analysis of more conserved gene regions.

CONCLUSIONS

As a conclusion, the Colchicum plant, which is the material of this study, has been used as an ornamental plant for the treatment of some diseases especially in medicine because of colchicine alkaloid, so it has a great economic value. Through all these studies, the taxonomical classification of the genus Colchicum will help to correct the wrong synonyms and to understand the evolution of the genome structure and relationships. In this way, conservation and sustainable use of plant material at the DNA level will be ensured to contribute to the conservation of gene resources and the transformation of these resources into economic value.

Acknowledgements: This study was supported by The Scientific and Technological Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) with project number TBAG-111T854.

REFERENCES

- Ahrens, D., M. T. Monaghan, A. P. Vogler (2007). DNA-Based Taxonomy for Associating Adults and Larvae in Multi-species Assemblages of Chafers ü (Coleoptera:Scarabaeidae). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution, 44(1), 436-449.
- Aravind, K., G. Ravikanth, R. Uma Shaanker, K. Chandrashekara, A. R. V. Kumar, K. N. Ganeshaiah (2007). DNA Barcoding: An Exercise in Futility or Utility? Current Science, 92(9), 1213-1216.
- Doyle, J. J., J. L. Doyle (1987). A Rapid DNA Isolation Procedure from Small Quantities of Fresh Leaf Tissues. Phytochem Bull., 19, 11-15.
- Ghosh, S., S. Jha (2008). Colchicine–an Overview for Plant Biotechnologists. In: Bioactive Molecules and Medicinal Plants. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 215-232.
- Hebert, P. D. N., N. A. Cywinska, S. L. Ball, J. R. deWaard (2003a). Biological Identifications Through DNA Barcodes. Proc Roy Soc B-Biol Sci., 270, 313–321.
- Persson, K. (2007). Nomenclatural Synopsis of the Genus Colchicum (Colchicaceae), With Some New Species and Combinations. Bot. Jahrb. Syst, 127, 165–242.
- Sass, C., D. P. Little, D. W. Stevenson, C. D. Specht (2007). DNA Barcoding in the Cycadales: Testing The Potential of Proposed Barcoding Markers for Species Identification of Cycads. PloS one, 2(11), e1154.
- Savolainen, V., R. S. Cowan, A. P. Vogler, G. K. Roderick, R. Lane (2005). Towards Writing the Encyclopaedia of Life: An Introduction to DNA Barcoding. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Biological Sciences, 360(1462), 1805-1811.
- Valentini, A., F. Pompanon, P. Taberlet (2009). DNA Barcoding for Ecologists. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 24(2), 110-117.

INDUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC HAPLOID EMBRYOS AND PLANTS AFTER POLLINATION BY IRRADIATED POLLEN IN SUNFLOWER

Yunus Emre Aktaş*¹, Ahu Altinkut Uncuoğlu¹, Yıldız Aydin²

¹Marmara University, Faculty of Engineering, Department of Bioengineering, Istanbul, TURKEY.

²Marmara University, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Biology, Istanbul, TURKEY.

* emre.aktas.89@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

The method of irradiated pollen induced parthenogenesis followed by in vitro culture of immature embryos as an efficient method for production of sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) doubled haploids. The influence of gamma ray doses and genotypes on the induction of haploid embryos obtained by irradiated pollen technique was studied in sunflower. The female flowers were were bagged before flowering to avoid to avoid undesirable pollinations. The pollen was collected from the pollen sources on alternate days and stored at 4°C till irradiation and pollen was irradiated with gamma-rays at the doses of 500, 750 and 1000 Gy. Only bagged and opened female flowers were pollinated. Pollination was done by hand by brushing the stigmas with irradiated pollen, and thereafter the pollinated flowers were re-bagged to eliminate contamination by foreign pollen. All pollinations experiments were conducted in the field. Embryos were rescued from 12 to 20 days old and cultured in magenta boxes containing solid A, FM and D medium. The conditions of the experiment, best results were obtained in inactivation of the pollen with 750 and 1000 Gy. After in vitro culture, a total of 6 haploid plantlets were obtained. To determine the ploidy level of in vitro obtained from rescued embryos and subjected to ploidy analysis using flow cytometry technique. As a result of the present study, haploid embryos and haploid plants were obtained, with haploid production strongly influenced by gamma ray doses, embryo stages and genotypes. This research has been supported by TUBITAK TOVAG (Project No: 214O274) and Marmara University Research Foundation-BAPKO (Project No: FEN-C-YLP-081117-0627).

Keywords: Sunflower, Haploid plant, Irradiated pollen, Embryo rescue.

INTRODUCTION

Sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.), which has an important share in world vegetable oil production, is the main raw material of our oil industry and the most cultivated oil crop in Turkey (Kaya, 2004). Hybrid sunflower lines preferred by produces due to their high yield performance, quality and uniformity. However, the development of inbred lines by self pollination is time consuming even if immature embryo rescue techniques may reduce by half the time required (Zhong et al., 1995). Haploidization techniques facilitate the production of pure lines from heterozygous plants in a single generation and represent significant advantages for breeders and geneticists.

The results from studies with anther culture (Bohorova et al. 1985; Yang et al., 1990; Gürel et al., 1991a; Pugliesi et al., 1993; Thengane et al., 1994; Zhong et al., 1995; Saji and Sujatha, 1998), gynogenesis (Yang et al., 1985; Gelebart and San, 1987), and microspore culture (Gürel et al., 1991b; Coumans and Zhong, 1995). Sunflower has been recalcitrant to all in vitro culture techniques, that makes challenging to establish haploid techniques (Friedt, 1992; Yang et al., 1995; Hahne, 2001).

Parthenogenic haploid induction could be advantageous method when androgenesis and gynogenesis are not successful. *In situ* parthenogenetic induction is widely used for all haploid induction studies, in which germinated plants have maternal genotype. This method can be generalized as maternal embryo induction with pseudo fertilization.

Induction of maternal haploid embryos by pollination with irradiated pollen has been used successfully in many species (Mishra et al., 2014). Todorova et al. (1997) used irradiated polleninduced parthenogenesis obtained the number of agronomically useful fertile DH lines. However not all the species respond well enough to the haploidization techniques. To test this approach for production of haploid plants in sunflower we extended this technique to sunflower genotypes from Turkey's National Sunflower Breeding Program.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was carried on with 16 different sunflower lines (G1, G2, G3, ..., G16) which supplied by Thrace Agricultural Research Institute (TARI). All plants were grown in TARI fields. Planting, emasculation and pollination stages were carried out in the fields of Thrace Agricultural Research Institute by Dr. Göksel Evci and İbrahim Yılmaz. Flower heads, except CMS lines, emasculated daily by hand early in the morning, before anthesis. Pollen collected from different sunflower lines and mixed before irradiation treatment. Pollen were treated by gamma irradiation (Cobalt 60 source) at doses 500 Gy, 750 Gy and 1000 Gy. 81 flower-heads were pollinated with irradiated pollen and bagged again. 12-20 days after pollination flower heads were harvested and were brought to laboratory. The embryo stage determined before cultivation.

Seeds were extracted after determination of embryo stage. Then seeds were treated 20 minutes with 20% commercial bleaching solution with 2-3 drops of Tween 20 in sterile bottles. Bottles were gently shaken during the application. After that seeds were washed with sterile distilled water 5-6 times until all the detergent foams gone (Dagustu, 2010). Three different embryo rescue procedures were used (A - Aspiroz, 1988; FM - Freyssinet, 1988; D - Dagustu, 2010). Culture mediums were autoclaved for 3 hours at 121°C

After surface sterilization embryo sacs were removed and embryos were cultured with endosperm. Equal number of embryos were attempted to cultured on mediums that prepared according to three different embryo rescue procedure (which coded A, D, FM). Cultured embryos were placed in the culture room at illuminance of 6000 lux with a photo-period of 16/8 h and at 25°C. Embryos in contaminated cultures were planted directly to soil.

In vitro germinated embryos with strong shoots and roots were planted to the soil for acclimatization (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Acclimatization stages of germinated plantlets.

The ploidy of the obtained plants was determined with flow-cytometry and chromosome analyze using root apical meristem cells.

RESULTS

Haploid plantlets were detected from G9 and G15. Fertile diploid plantlets were selfed and seeds were obtained from G5, G6, G8, G9 and G11. Biochemical tests are continued for detection of spontaneous haploidization on this lines. Embryo rescue protocols were compared to their germination efficiency. The highest germination rate was obtained from D media. Also effect of the irradiation doses were evaluated. It was determined that 1000 Gy and 750 Gy irradiation doses were suitable.

DISCUSSION

Haploid induction by irradiated pollen appears to be an applicable approach for rapid production of haploid plants in sunflower and with this method seems useful for accelerate breeding line production. Embryo germinations were obtained from almost all breeding lines but the effectiveness of the method highly depends on the genotype specificity of the recipient.

Flower-heads were harvested 12-16 days after pollination with irradiated pollen. Microscope observations were shown that most of the seeds had embryos but the regeneration rate was low for relatively weak seeds. To increase the regeneration rate harvesting time expanded to 21 days and only the stronger embryos were cultured and germination rates were rose. This method change was made our results similar to Todorova's results. Todorova (1997) obtained 1107 plants from 2279 embryos and had 48,5% germination rate.

CONCLUSIONS

The effectiveness of method highly dependent on the genotype of the recipient line. At the beginning of the study, flower heads harvested 12-16 days after pollination but in this early stage embryo in different development stages were observed but survival ratio was very low. To prevent this issue, we were extended the waiting period until 21 days and were waited for embryos to be more mature. Only embryos with relatively more endosperm were regenerated and create healthy plants.

REFERENCES

- Aspiroz, H. S., P. Vincourt, H. Serieys, A. Galais (1987). La culture in vitro des embryos inmatures dans l'accelération du cycle de sélection des dignées de tournesol et ses effects morphovégétalifs. Helia, 10, 35-38.
- Bohorova, N. E., A. Atanassov, J. Georgieva-Todorova (1985). *In vitro* organogenesis, androgenesis and embryo-culture in the genus *Helianthus* L. Z. Pflanzenztichtg, 95, 34-44.
- Dagustu, N. (2018). *In Vitro* Tissue Culture Studies in Sunflower (*Helianthus* spp.). Ekin Journal, 4(1), 13-21.
- Friedt, W. (1992). fr Present state and future prospects of biotechnology in sunflower breeding. In: Seiler, G. (ed). Field crops research, vol 30. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp: 425-442.
- Gelebart, P., L. H. San (1987). Obtention de plantes haploides par culture in vitro d'ovaires et d'ovules non fécondés de Tournesol (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Agronomie 7, 81-86.
- Gilles, L., J. Martinant, P. Rogowsky, T. Widiez (2017). Haploid induction in plants, Current Biology, 27, R1089-R1107.
- Gürel, A., K. Nichterlein, W. Friedt (1991a). Shoot regeneration from anther culture of sunflower *(Helianthus annuus)* and some interspecific hybrids as affected by genotype and culture procedure. Plant Breed., 106, 68-76.
- Hahne, G. (2001). Sunflower. In: Hui, Y. H., G. G. Khatchtourians, A. McHughen, W. K. Nip, R. Scorza (eds). Handbook of transgenic plants. Dekker, New York, pp: 813-833.
- Hertwig, O. (1911). Die Radiumkrankheit tierischer Keimzellen. Archiv für mikroskopische Anatomie, 77(1), 1A-95A.
- Hu, J., G. Seiler, C. Kole (2010). Genetics, genomics and breeding of sunflower. CRC Press.
- Ivanov, P., J. Encheva, N. Nenova, M. Todorova (2002). Application of some biotechnological achievements in sunflower breeding. HELIA 25, 9-18.
- Kaya, Y. (2004). Confectionery sunflower production in Turkey. In: Proceedings of the 16th International Sunflower Conference'. Fargo, ND, USA. Seiler, G. J. (ed.). pp: 817-822.
- Mezzarobba, A., R. Jonard (1986). Effets du stade de prelevement et des pretraitements sur Ie developpement *in vitro* d'antheres prelevees sur Ie tournesol cultive (*Helianthus annuus* L.). C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 303, 181-186.
- Mishra, V. K., R. Goswami (2014). Haploid production in higher plant. Int. J. Chem. Biol. Sci, 1, 26-45.
- Mix, G. (1985). Antheren and avarien cultur von Sonnenblumen. Helianthus annuus, 153-156.
- Pandey, K. K., M. Phung (1982). 'Hertwig Effect'in plants: induced partenogenesis through the use of irradiated pollen. Theor. Appl. Genet. 62, 295-300.

- Pugliesi, C., P. Megale, F. Cecconi, S. Baroncelli (1993). Organogenesis and embryogenesis in *Helianthus tuberosus* and in the interspecific hybrid *Helianthus annuus× Helianthus tuberosus*. Plant cell, tissue and organ culture, 33(2), 187-193.
- Saji, K. V., M. Sujatha (1998). Embryogenesis and plant regeneration in anther culture of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Euphytica, 103(1), 1-7.
- Shu, Q. Y., B. P. Forster, H. Nakagawa, H. Nakagawa (2012). Plant mutation breeding and biotechnology. CABI.
- Thengane, S. R., M. S. Joshi, S. S. Khuspe, A. F. Mascarenhas, (1994). Anther culture in *Helianthus* annuus L., influence of genotype and culture conditions on embryo induction and plant regeneration. Plant cell reports, 13(3-4), 222-226.
- Todorova, M., P. Ivanov, P. Shindrova, M. Christov, I. Ivanova (1997). Doubled haploid production of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) through irradiated pollen-induced parthenogenesis. Euphytica, 97(3), 249-254.
- Todorova, M., P. Ivanov (1999). Induced parthenogenesis in sunflower: effect of pollen donor. Helia (Yugoslavia).
- Todorova, M., P. Ivanov (2000). Induced parthenogenesis in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.): Effect of gamma-irradiation doses. In: Proc of the 15th International Sunflower Conference, Toulouse, France, p: L-46-51.
- Wedzony, M., B. P. Forster, I. Z ur, E. Golemiec, M. Szechyn' ska- Hebda, E. Dubas, G. Gote biowska (2009). Progress in doubled haploid technology in higher plants. In: Advances in haploid production in higher plants. Touraev, A., B. P. Forster, S. M. Jain (eds), pp: 1-34. Heidelberg, Berlin: Springer- Verlag.
- Yang, H. Y., C. Zhou, D. Cai, H. Yan, Y. Wu, Y. M. Chen (1985). *In vitro* culture of unfertilized ovules in *Helianthus annuus* L. In: Haploids of Higher Plants *In vitro*. Hu H., H. Y., Yang (eds), China Academic Publishers, Beijing, Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp: 182-191.
- Yang, H. Y., H. Yan, C. Zhou (1990). *In vitro* production of haploids in Helianthus. In Legumes and Oilseed Crops I, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp: 472-484.
- Zhong, D., N. Michaux-Ferriére, M. Coumans (1995). Assay for doubled haploid sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) plant production by androgenesis: fact or artifact? Part 1. In vitro anther culture. Plant cell, tissue and organ culture, 41(2), 91-97.

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENT IN VITRO HEAVY METAL CONTAMINATION IN SUNFLOWER

Deniz Yeliz Akbaş^{*1}, Ülgen Sever¹, Buse Dursun¹, Elif Gökçe Taşkara¹, Muhammed Bilaloğlu¹, Ahu Altinkut Uncuoğlu², Yıldız Aydin¹

¹Marmara University, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Biology, Istanbul, TURKEY.

²Marmara University, Faculty of Engineering, Department of Bioengineering, Istanbul, TURKEY.

*Corresponding author's e-mail: dnzylz.akbas@hotmail.com

Abstract

Sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) is cultivated as a food and feed crop as well as for bioenergy production, and it has an important role as a plant. Growing sunflower plants have shown the potential to absorb various metal contaminants apart from industrial applications of dry sunflower biomass. The plant tissue culture techniques can be used in study of metal tolerance of a plant by exposing it in culture media containing known quantities of the specific heavy metal. In this study, sunflower plants were exposed to the MS medium having concentrations nickel-Ni, lead-Pb, copper-Cu and cadmium-Cd in 10 ppms and their genotoxic effects were evaluated by flow cytometry analysis and morphological observations comparison with seeds cultivated in heavy metal-free MS medium during 21 days. Flow cytometry analysis showed that the roots were more affected plant tissues than leaves for all heavy metal treatments on sunflower. The results show the highest genotoxic effect was obtained for the 10 ppm Pb treatment in leaf tissue while the highest genotoxic effect was obtained for the 10 ppm Cd treatment in root tissue. As a result of morphological observations, Cd (10 ppm) is much more abnormalities having percentage than Pb, Cu and Ni, as it induced more black nodules in the roots of all treated plants unlike the control group. Also, Cd is induced the lowest germination percentage (76,83 %), root length (2,8 cm), stem length (2,5 cm), total plant length (5,44 cm) and stem/root rate (3,87). Both flow and morphological results will be useful in environmental monitoring of the genotoxicity of metals and with the help of tissue culture experiments the potential of plant for heavy metal stress can be studied easily.

Key words: Sunflower, heavy metal contamination, flow analysis.

INTRODUCTION

Sunflower, that Latin name is *Helianthus annuus* L., is get to name from Greek origin words meaning "helios" is sun, "anthus" is flower. Sunflower is one of 67 species belonging to Helianthus genus which found in the family Compositae (Asteraceae) of Asterales (Berglund, 2007; Hu et al., 2010). Sunflower is grown in moist and containing rich organic substance soil and sunflower is plant of too arid climate and half arid climate. Homeland of sunflower known as Peru and Mexica (Ġlisulu, 1973). Cultivated sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) is a globally important oilseed, food, and ornamental crop plant. The regions made of sunflower cultivation in Turkey is Thrace, South Marmara, Aegean, Central Anatolia, Çukurova and Black Sea Region. Most of sunflower is produced in Turkey Thrace-Marmara Region. Turkey's exports of sunflower seeds for oil is much smaller than imports (Ministry of Customs and Trade, 2018). Therefore, sunflower production in Turkey, it is not

enough for consumption. In this study, the effects of heavy metal contamination on sunflower agriculture are highlighted.

Heavy metal contamination is a relatively recent concern but an ancient problem as technological advances like the discovery of fire or ore-mining and more importantly the industrial revolution has contributed to continuously and exponentially increase metal pollution in the environment. Even worse, as heavy metals are not degraded by living organisms, they can easily accumulate to harmful levels. From the many forms of heavy metal toxicity, genotoxicity poses one of the major threats to organisms. Damage to the DNA can have severe repercussion to cells such as mutagenesis or deregulation of the cell replication machinery, among others, which could ultimately result in tumorigenesis and death. Heavy metals are passed to the water sources by the dissolution of heavy metals in the soil of industrial wastes or acid rain, and thus the heavy metals in the composition and reaching river, lake and underground waters of dissolved heavy metals (Rodriguez et al., 2011). Heavy metals cause a decrease in yield and quality in plant production as they affect the events such as root and stem growth, germination and photosynthesis rate, enzyme activities, protein synthesis and ion uptake (Zengin et al., 2006; Asri et al., 2007). In this study, the effects of heavy metals on sunflower plants were examined in plant tissue culture.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant Material

Sunflower seeds (TARSAN-1018) were provided by Thrace Agricultural Research Institute (TARI).

Plant Tissue Culture

The control group contains MS (Murashige and Skoog), sucrose and phytagel, as shown in Table 1. In the heavy metal group there are additionally 10 ppm of the related heavy metal.

| Murashige and Skoog Basal Medium (MS, 1962) | | | | | | | | | |
|---|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Control | Cd | Pb | Ni | Cu | | | | | |
| - | 10 ppm | 10 ppm | 10 ppm | 10 ppm | | | | | |
| | (1 liter) | (1 liter) | (1 liter) | (1 liter) | | | | | |
| 4.4 g MS | 4.4 g MS | 4.4 g MS | 4.4 g MS | 4.4 g MS | | | | | |
| vitamin not | vitamin not | vitamin not | vitamin not | vitamin not | | | | | |
| including | including | including | including | including | | | | | |
| 30 g sucrose | 30 g sucrose | 30 g sucrose | 30 g sucrose | 30 g sucrose | | | | | |
| 2.3 g phytagel | 2.3 g phytagel | 2.3 g phytagel | 2.3 g phytagel | 2.3 g phytagel | | | | | |

Table 1. Preparation of MS medium containing different in vitro heavy metals

These studies were carried out in sterile conditions in the biosafety cabinet. Sunflower seeds were kept in tap water for 1 hour. The seeds were surface sterilized in 20 % commercial bleach with a few drops of detergent for 20 minutes. Then they were rinsed three times in sterile distilled water. Later the seeds were placed on sterile drying paper and dried. Eight seeds were cultured in each culture box. After cultured, the tissue culture boxes are wrapped with aluminum foil for germination. After

germination they were placed in the plant growth cabinet. For the analysis, 21-day seedlings were used (Figure 1).

(B)



(A)

Figure 1. Culture conditions day 1 (A), day 21 (B).

RESULTS

Morphological Analyzes

Morphological analyzes were performed on day 21 (Figure 2).



Figure 2. 21 day seedlings. Respectively Control, Ni, Pb, Cu, Cd.

Percentage of germination (%), root length (cm), stem length (cm), total plant length (cm) and stem/root rate were calculated. Control group is induced the highest germination percentage (89,02%), root length (5,68 cm), stem length (5,32 cm), total plant length (11 cm) and stem/root rate (3). Cadmium (Cd) is induced the lowest germination percentage (76,83%), root length (2,8 cm), stem length (2,5 cm), total plant length (5,44 cm) and stem/root rate (3,87).

Significant, distinctive morphological characteristics of each culture medium were noted (Figure 3). The obtained data were analyzed in comparison with the control group.



Figure 3. Plants that are exposed to nickel heavy metal have swollen hypocotyl in the majority, unlike the control (A), in the same way, plants that are exposed to copper heavy metal have swollen hypocotyl in the majority, unlike the control (B), most of the plants exposed to lead heavy metal have swollen hypocotyls such as nickel and copper and plants that are exposed to lead heavy metal haven't growth of shoot in the majority, unlike the control (C,D), plants that are exposed to cadmium heavy metal have swollen hypocotyl in the majority, like other medium. Also, unlike other medium, the roots of plants exposed to cadmium heavy metal have black nodules and it has become quite thick (E,F).

Flow Cytometry Analysis

Roots

Heavy metal contamination was also measured by flow cytometry. The lowest genotoxic effect in the roots was obtained in the control group. The highest genotoxic effect in the roots was obtained in the 10 ppm cadmium (Cd) treatment (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Flow cytometry measurements in roots.

Leaves

As in the roots, the lowest genotoxic effect in the leafs was obtained in the control group. The highest genotoxic effect in the leafs was obtained in the 10 ppm lead (Pb) treatment (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Flow cytometry measurements in leaves.

DISCUSSION

The heavy metal contamination of the oily seeds causes high concentrations of various metals in the crude oils obtained from these seeds (Alpaslan et al., 2001). Cadmium is known to reduce the fidelity and quantity of DNA synthesis and cause chromosome breakage (Degraeve, 1981). Cadmium is much more easily taken up by plants than other heavy metals (Stoeppler, 1991) and this may explain its toxicity at low concentrations. Copper toxicosis in plants is less usual than in animals or humans (Scheinberg, 1991). To compare the toxicity of some heavy metals, six metal, aluminum (AI), cadmium (Cd), copper (Cu), nickel (Ni), lead (Pb) and zinc (Zn) effects of *Helianthus annuus* plant working in Chakravarty et al. high toxicity was found by both high and low concentrations of Pb, while Zn was found to be the least toxic. According to the results, Cu and Zn Al showed less damage than Cd, Pb and Ni (Chakravarty et al, 1992). In the results of Alaboudi et al., Cd and Pb were reported to have negative effects on shoot and root length in sunflower plants (Alaboudi et al., 2018).

In this study, as a result of morphological observations, control group is induced the highest percentage of germination, root length, stem length and total plant length. On the other hand, cadmium is induced the lowest percentage of germination, root length, stem length and total plant length. Nickel are the heavy metal that cause the least damage.

Flow cytometry analysis showed that the roots were more affected plant tissues than leaves for all heavy metal treatments on sunflower. Because the roots are exposed to heavy metals before the leaves. According to the results of flow cytometry, copper is the heavy metal that causes the least damage to both roots and leaves, as in the results of Chakravarty et al.

CONCLUSIONS

With the help of tissue culture systems in the direction of our results, the potency of the sunflower plant for heavy metal stress can be easily examined.

Acknowledgements: This research has been supported by Marmara University Research Foundation-BAPKO (Projects: FEN-E- 090517-0270).

REFERENCES

- Akgül, N. (2016). Ayçiçeğinde (*Helianthus annuus* L.) in vitro Koşullarda Androgenik Embriyo ve Organ Rejenerasyonu. Marmara Üniversitesi, İstanbul.
- Alaboudi, K. A., B. Ahmed and G. Brodie (2018). Phytoremediation of Pb and Cd contaminated soils by using sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) plant. Annals of Agricultural Sciences, 63(1), 123–127.
- Aydın, Y., A. Altınkut Uncuoğlu, Y. E. Aktaş, F. Vardar and G. Evci (2018). Strategies for Haploid Plant Production: Experiences from Sunflower. 11th World Congress on Plant Biotechnology and Agriculture.
- Chakravarty, B. and S. Srivastava (1992). Toxicity of some heavy metals in vivo and in vitro in *Helianthus annuus*. Mutation Research Letters, 283(4), 287–294.
- Çakmak, E. (2017). Biochemical and Molecular Analysis of Sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) in Response to in vitro Conditions. Marmara University, İstanbul.
- Dağüstü, N., M. Sincik, G. Bayram, M. Bayraktaroğlu (2010). Regeneration of Fertile Plants from Sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.)- Immature Embriyo. Uludağ University, Bursa.
- Dağüstü, N., G. Bayram, M. Sincik and M. Bayraktaroğlu (2012). The Short Breeding Cycle Protocol Effective on Diverse Genotypes of Sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Uludağ University, Bursa.
- Gölge, B. (2018). Arpa (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) Köklerinde Alüminyum ile Uyarılmış Programlı Hücre Ölümünün İmmünohistokimyasal Analizi. Marmara Universitesi, İstanbul.
- Jambhulkar, S. (1995). Rapid Cycling Through Immature Embriyo Culture in Sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). India.
- Kahvecioğlu, Ö., G. Kartal, A. Güven and S. Timur. Metallerin Çevresel Etkileri. İTÜ, İstanbul.
- Rodriguez, E., R. Azevedo, P. Fernandes and C. Santos (2011). Cr(VI) Induces DNA Damage, Cell Cycle Arrest and Polyploidization: A Flow Cytometric and Comet Assay Study in *Pisum sativum*. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 24, 1040–1047.
- T. C. Gümrük ve Ticaret Bakanlığı Kooperatifçilik Genel Müdürlüğü 2017 Yılı Ayçiçeği Raporu, Mart 2018.
- Üstbaş, Y., M. Taşan, Ü. Geçgel (2009). Trakya Bölgesinde Üretilen Ayçiçeği Tohumu (*Helianthus annus* L.) Yağlarında Bakır, Demir, Kadmiyum ve Kurşun İçeriklerinin Belirlenmesi. Namık Kemal Üniversitesi, Ziraat Fakültesi Gıda Mühendisliği Bölümü.
- Yıldız, N. (2001). Toprak Kirletici Bazı Ağır Metallerin (Zn, Cu, Cd, Cr, Pb, Co ve Ni) Belirlenmesinde Kullanılan Yöntemler. Atatürk Üniversitesi.

THE PERFORMANCE OF SOME HYBRID RICE CULTIVARS IN EDIRNE CONDITIONS

Necmi BEŞER Yalçın KAYA,

Trakya University, Engineering Faculty, Department of Genetics and Bioengineering Prof. Dr. Ahmet Karadeniz Yerleskesi. 2230- Edirne, TURKEY

necmibeser@trakya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

This study was carried out to test performance of some *japonica* hybrid rice cultivars at Uzunköprü and Edirne conditions in 2015. Six japonica type rice cultivars and three self-pollinated check were used as a material. To obtain seedlings, seeds were planted at 3, May, 2015. Seedlings were transplanted at 4th of June and 7th of June to field in Edirne and Uzunköprü respectively. 4-5 seedlings were transplanted at 16.7 cm within rows and 30 cm between rows. Experiment was conducted with three replications at Randomized Complete Block Design (RCB). 180 kg/ha N and 80 kg/ha P₂O₅ fertilizer were applied. Line TL2015-02 had the lowest days to flowering and days to maturity at the both locations, followed by check varieties Edirne and Osmancik-97 respectively. LiaO 8/ you 5 had highest plant height and longest panicle length. TL2015-2 and TL2105-3 had the highest fertile panicle per square meter. In Edirne location Liao/ you62 rice cultivar had the highest pady yield with 10, 102 t/ ha and followed by TL2015-3 with 9,098 t/ ha. All hybrid rice cultivars had better yield than check cultivars except TL2105-2. In Uzunköprü location TL2105-3 rice lines had 9,772 t/ ha and it was followed by Liao 8/ you 5 with 9, 390 t/ ha. In Uzunköprü location all hybrid rice cultivars had better yield than that of check cultivars.

Key words: Edirne, hybrid rice, performance, yield,

INTRODUCTION

Because of being a self-pollinated crop, the flower structure and high seed use, hybrid breeding in rice has started very late. On the other hand, especially in China, hybrid paddy rice production increased to over 50% with great success. After these successful efforts in China, especially private sector breeding institutions have entered hybrid rice breeding activities in Asia and America in every year. However, hybrid rice is new in Europe and some varieties of American seed companies are cultivated in small quantities in Europe countries and but there is no hybrid rice production in Turkey.

While there is no hybrid rice production, more than 90 % hybrid seed is used in some crops (sunflower, corn, many vegetables etc.) in Turkey. The reason is that high seed rate at direct seeding which traditionally used in Turkey and low heterosis in japonica type rice.

Heterosis in rice was first reported in 1926 (Jones, 1926). Due to the self-pollinated plant and flower structure, it was very difficult to develop a hybrid rice at the beginning. The first hybrid paddy rice was registered in China in 1976 and after this date the cultivation areas have increased rapidly. In 1991, more than half of paddy rice sown in China was hybrid rice. Most of the rice varieties planted in Europe is not hybrid, but the F_1 hybrid rice varieties especially in the southern states of the United

States has reached 35 %. On the other hand, F_1 hybrid rice is cultivated in many Asian countries and research and breeding studies in various private companies in the USA, including European ones continue with collaboration with IRRI.

Heterosis is reported that in rice root system, panicle and grain size, larger photosynthesis area, more photosynthetic activity, distribution of photosynthesis products and grain yield, etc. (Yuan and Fu, 1995). In the experiments at IRRI, some F_1 hybrid rice lines had high yield than the best control cultivars by 22% (Yuan and Virmani, 1988) and some F1 hybrid lines exhibited more yield between 29.3% and 46.6% over than traditional cultivars in China in 1981-1990 (Yuan and Fu 1995). Furthermore, the varieties grown in China were tested in the USA in 1983-1984 they showed higher yield by 14-19% then US cultivars (Yuan and Virmani, 1988). In another study conducted in Turkey, average heterosis and heterobeltiosis per plant in seed yield was found as 21.2% and 15.2%, respectively in rice (Surek and Korkut, 1996).

The first trials to develop the F1 hybrid varieties utilizing from advantage of heterosis were performed in rice in India in 1962 (Richhari A) in China in 1966 (Yuan, 1966), in USA 1966 (Stanselve and Craigmiles) in Japan in 1966 (Shinjyo and O'Mura, 1966) and in IRRI in 1972 (Athwal and Virmani, 1972). However, these efforts could not be realized because of being self-pollination and the flower structure.

On the other hand, Chinese researchers started to develop F_1 hybrid rice in 1964 with a 3-line system (CMS, maintainer and restorer line) and registered the first F_1 hybrid rice in 1973, identifying F hybrids showing higher heterosis in 1974 and the first F_1 hybrid rice lines were distributed to farmers. In 1976, F_1 hybrid rice was planted in 150 thousand ha area (Yuan and Virmani, 1988). In China, F_1 hybrid paddy rice varieties were cultivated in regions from tropical the northern 18° latitude Hainan Island to cold areas the Liaoning District in the northern 43° latitudes (Yuan and Virmani, 1988).

The first F₁ hybrid varieties were developed with the application in three-line system and in this hybrid system, CMS (Cytoplasmic Male Sterility) genes was obtained from wild lines via backcross (Yuan and Fu 1995). The first CMS resources to cause male infertility in rice was firstly reported in 1954 (Weeraratne, 1954, Sampath and Mohanty, 1954) and then CMS genes was firstly transferred to cultural types in Japan (Shinjyo and O'mura, 1966). Later, different researchers obtained then transferred CMS from different sources (Erickson, 1969, Carnahan et al., 1972, Athwal and Virmani, 1972, Cheng and Huang, 1979). Among these CMS sources, the most stable and totally male sterile one was developed by Shinjyo and O Virmura (1966) then this CMS source was widely used in China (Yuan and Virmani 1988). Additionally, the CMS source obtained from *Oryza sativa f. stimmelma* called WA type (Lin and Yuan, 1980, Yuan, 1972) was used in IRRI and other national programs for male sterility in China (Yuan and Virmani, 1988).

On the other hand, restorer genes were mainly found in wild rice with tropical and subtropical *indica* types. However, there are almost no restorer genes in Japanese types so the restorer gene of the *Japonica* type restorer lines transferred from the IR8 lines developed by IRRI was used commercially in China (Yuan and Fu 1995). Nearly 20 % of the cultivated and breeding lines developed in IRRI have been reported that having WA gene restoring cytoplasm (Yuan and Vimmani, 1988).

Rice is a self-pollinated plant due to its floral structure but, cross pollination ranged from 0-6.8% in the cultivated varieties (Sahadevan and Namboodiri, 1963) and varied from 16.5% to 100% in wild forms (Sakai and Narise, 1959, Oka and Morishhima, 1967). On the other hand, the rate of cross pollination in CMS lines ranges from 0 to 44% (Athwal and Virmani, 1972) but cross pollination rate was observed in CMS lines between 3 to 43% in IRRI studies (Yuan and Virmani, 1988). The cross pollination rate varies with the floral structure and it is related to the size of the stigma, its output and the time of the flowers' exposure affect. Flowers remain open for 1 to 3 hours and not open again after closing in rice (Taillebois and Guimaraes, 1988). For higher seed development in F_1 rice CMS lines, 2-3 m/ s wind speed is required to keep more than 50% seed development (Namai and Kato, 1988). In the F1 hybrid rice and parental line seed production, two times gibberellic acid application was recommended to increase seed development when first 10-15% of flowering and after 2 days (Virmani and Sharma, 1993).

The highest opening rate of rice flowers varies between 9 and 11.30 in the morning, but there are some differences between species. While *O. globerrima* opens 60 % of flowers at 9 am in a sunny day, *O. Sativa* type IR 36 line opens less than 5 % of flowers at this time (Yuan and Virmani, 1988). For higher seed development in CMS lines; the panicles should be as higher as possible from the flag leaf, should be at least 10 paniclelets in the panicle, the flowers should be opened for at least 45 minutes, the stigma should come out in the blossoming flowers and the pollens could be taken at least for 5-7 days.

After the three-line system, two sensitive and temperature-sensitive male infertility have been developed for hybrids in China (Yuan and Fu 1995). Since there are two lines in this system, F_1 seed production is cheaper. For example, the temperature-sensitive genetic male sterile lines vary according to the lines of flowering time but they are completely male sterile at 23-29 C°. Single-line F_1 system could be possible also that reduces the cost of hybrid paddy rice breeding such as using multi-year paddy rice use, a large number of F_1 hybrid paddy reproduction from somatic cells, apomixis, etc. From these methods, major researches have been carried out on apomixis and these studies started in the 1980s in China and Lu52 (*Japonica*), Alixisini (*Japonica*), Shuang 13 (*indica*) and Shuang 3 (*indica*) facultative lines were developed (Yuan and Fu, 1995).

 F_1 paddy rice breeding activities were started in 1964 in China, 1976 in North Korea, 1979 in the Philippines, 1980 in the USA, 1981 in India, 1982 in Indonesia, 1982 in the Republic of Korea, 1982 in Brazil, 1983 in Thailand, 1985 in Vietnam, 1988 in IRRI, 1988 in Egypt, 1988 in Sri Lanka, 1990 in France, 1990 in Colombia. In addition to state institutions in these countries, especially in some countries (USA, Japan, China, India, Philippines etc.) private sector firms have started F_1 hybrid rice breeding programs too (Virmani 1994).

Three early CMS hybrid IRRI rice lines (Reimei, IR682776, IR68283) were tried but their seed development rates were lower in field conditions in Turkey. Additionally, two temperature sensitive lines (Norin Pl 12 and IR 68948-4-12-3-7-B) were also tested in yield trials and satisfactory results were obtained from these lines in Edirne, Turkey conditions (Beşer and Sürek, 1999).

This study was carried out to test some japonica hybrid cultivars, improved with three-line system, at two locations at Edirne and Uzunköprü, in Turkey. This study is the first japonica hybrid yield trial in Turkey.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The experiment was conducted with six japonica hybrid rice varieties obtained from China and 3 controls. Seeds were planted at seed bad on May 9, 2015, then transplanted to field on June 4, 2015 in Uzunköprü and in 7 June, 2015 in Edirne locations. The experiment was conducted according to the randomized block trial design with 3 replications and the seedlings were transplanted as 30 cm in between rows and 6.7 cm within rows. 4-5 seedlings were transplanted per each hill. The trial was fertilized with 18 kg / da N and 8 kg / P2O5. The plants were harvested by hand. Measurements and observations were done for days to flowering, days to maturity, Plant height, panicle length, panicle per square meter and yield.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The varieties tested in the experiment were adapted to Edirne conditions and it was observed that they could grow in Edirne conditions without any problems according to their days to flowering and days to maturity characteristics. For days to flowering, TL2015-02 was the earliest in both locations, followed by the Osmancık-97 and Edirne varieties. Days to flowering of other varieties were closer to the standard varieties. For days to maturity, similar results were obtained with days to flowering and the TL2015-02 had the earliest days to maturity, and standard varieties followed it respectively (Table 1 and 2).

For plant height, Liao8/you5 hybrid was the highest hybrid after check variety Edirne, while the other hybrid varieties were shorter than the standard varieties (Table 1 and 2) in both locations. Shorter plant height is needed to prevent lodging in rice production.

| Lines | Days to | Days to | Plant | Panicle | Panicle per | Seed Yield |
|------------------|-----------|----------|---------|---------|-------------|------------|
| | flowering | Maturity | Height | Length | square | (t/ha) |
| | (days) | (days) | (cm) | (cm) | meter | |
| Osmancık-97(Std) | 85,6 d | 121,6 cd | 101,3 b | 15,6 cd | 268,6 d | 8,259 bc |
| Edirne (Std) | 84,3 d | 121,6 cd | 109,1a | 17,1 bc | 292,3 cd | 7,426 c |
| TL 2015-01 | 94,0 a | 132,0 a | 92,5 c | 16,0 cd | 288,3 cd | 8,658 abc |
| TL 2015-02 | 80,6 e | 119,6 d | 89,1 c | 16,6 bc | 339,0 a | 7,677 bc |
| TL 2015-03 | 94,3 a | 126,3 bc | 94,4 c | 16,4 bc | 326,6 ab | 9,985 a |
| TL 2015-04 | 95,3 a | 131,0 ab | 94,1 c | 16,8 bc | 295,7 bcd | 8,636 abc |
| TG-1 (Check) | 91,6 b | 128,6 ab | 89,2 c | 14,1 d | 272,0 d | 8,362,7 bc |
| Liao 8/you5 | 88,6 c | 131,3 ab | 103,1 b | 21,5 a | 283,3 cd | 9,098 ab |
| Liao /you62 | 90,3 b | 129,0 ab | 94,3 c | 18,3 b | 310,3 abc | 10,102 a |
| CV (%) | 1,10 | 2,32 | 3,22 | 7,28 | 6,49 | 10,60 |
| LSD (%5) | 1,65 | 5,06 | 5,32 | 2,12 | 33,34 | 1,586 |

Table 1. Performance of hybrid rice cultivars in Edirne location

Liao8/you5 variety had the highest panicle length followed by Liao /you62 in two locations. The Edirne standard variety had a longer panicle length than the other hybrids except Liao8 / you5 and Liao / you62 in both locations (Table 1 and 2). For panicles per the square meters TL2015-2 and

TL2105-3 hybrid varieties had higher number of panicles in both locations and exhibited a higher potential for tillering.

Liao / you62 hybrid rice variety had highest paddy grain yield in Edirne location with 10,102 t/ ha, it was followed by TL2015-3 hybrid variety with 9,098 t/ ha paddy yield. The standard Edirne and Osmancık-97 varieties had lower yields than hybrid varieties tested except TL2105-2 hybrid in Edirne location. In Uzunköprü location, TL2105-3 had the highest yield e with 9,772 t/ha paddy yield, it was followed by Liao8/you 5 with 9,390 t/ha. In this location, all hybrids tested had higher yields than check verieties. (Table 1 and 2).

| Lines | Days to | Days to | Plant | Panicle | Panicle per | Seed |
|-------------------|-----------|----------|---------|---------|-------------|-----------|
| | flowering | Maturity | Height | Length | square | Yield |
| | (days) | (days) | (cm) | (cm) | meter | (t/ha) |
| Osmancık-97 (Std) | 84,7 d | 121 d | 85,3 ab | 13,0 d | 322,7 bc | 7,260 c |
| Edirne (Std) | 83,3 d | 120 de | 89,2 a | 15,7 bc | 278,7 d | 6,297 d |
| TL 2015-01 | 92,7 a | 130,3 a | 83,7 bc | 15,7 bc | 360,7 ab | 7,461 c |
| TL 2015-02 | 80,3 e | 118 e | 80,6 c | 15,6 bc | 377,0 a | 8,885 b |
| TL 2015-03 | 93,3 a | 124,3 c | 83,1 bc | 14,1 cd | 360,3 ab | 9,772 a |
| TL 2015-04 | 94,3 a | 130,0 ab | 82,3 bc | 16,0 b | 283,0 cd | 8,968 ab |
| TG-1 (Check) | 89,3 b | 127,7 b | 81,0 bc | 12,9 d | 300,0 cd | 7,326 c |
| Liao 8/you5 | 87,0 c | 129,0 ab | 89,6 a | 19,2 a | 297,3 cd | 9,390 ab |
| Liao /you62 | 89,0 b | 130,0 ab | 85,4 ab | 15,9 b | 310,0 cd | 8,899,7 b |
| CV (%) | 1,25 | 1,23 | 3,12 | 6,66 | 7,79 | 5,77 |
| LSD (%5) | 1,86 | 2,66 | 4,56 | 1,75 | 43,26 | 0,820 |

Table 2. Performance of hybrid rice cultivars in Uzunköprü location

CONCLUSIONS

This study was the first japonica hybrid experiments was reported in Turkey. In this study, it has been found that hybrid rice varieties had better performances than standards. it seems that there is potential to grow Chinese japonica hybrids in Turkey. But the one thousand kernel size of hybrid varieties used in the study were small than the check varieties and thousand kernel size is one of the important quality characteristics in Turkey for customer.

REFERENCES

- Arthwal, D. S., Virmani S.S., Cytoplasmic male sterility and hibrid breeding in rice. Pages 615-620 in rice breeding. International Rice Research Institute, P.O. Box 933, Manila, Philippines. (1972).
- Beşer, N., Sürek, H. Rice Research strategies and future prospects under temperate conditions in Turkey. Cahiers options mediterraneennes Volume 50. FAO Med Rice. P 105-113. Research strategies for rice development in transition economics. Proceeedings os the Workshops. Bucharest, 2-4 Septenber 1999, Romania. (1999)
- Carnahan, H. L., Erickson J. R., Tseng S. T., Rutger J. N., Outlook for hybrid rice in USA. Pages 603-607 in Rice breeding. International Rice Research Institute, P. O. Box 933, Manila, Philippines. (1972).

- Cheng, Y. K., Huang C. S., Studies on cytoplasmic-genetic male sterility in cultivated rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). I. Effect of different cytoplasmic sources on male abnormalities at anthesis. Chung Hua Nung Hsueh Hui Pao (J. Agric. Assoc. China) 106:11-22. (1979).
- Erickson, J. R., Cytoplasmic male sterility in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Argon. Abstr. 69:6. (1969).
- Jones, J. W. Hybrid vigor in rice. J. Am. Soc. Agron. 18:423-428 (1926).
- Lin, S. C., Yuan L. P. Hybrid rice breeding in China. Pages 35-51 in Innovative approaches to rice breeding. International Rice Research Institute, Manila, Philippines. (1980).
- Oka, H. I., Morishima H. Variations in the breeding systems of a wild rice, *Oryza perennis*. Evolution. 21:249-258. (1967).
- Richharia, R. H., Clonal propagation as a practical means of exploiting hybrid vigor in rice. Nature, 194:598 (1962).
- Sahadevan, P. C., Namboodiri K. M. N. Natural crossing in rice. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Sect. B58:176-185. (1983).
- Sakai, K. I., Narise T. Further note on natural crossing in wild rice. Ann. Rep. Natl. Instl. Genet. 10:65. (1959).
- Sampath, S., Mohanty H. K. Cytology of semi-sterile rice hybrids. Curr. Sci. 23:182-183 (1954).
- Shinjyo C., Omura T., Cytoplasmic male sterility in cultivated rice, *Oryza sativa* L. I. Fertility of F₁, F₂, and offsprings obtained from tehir mutual reciprocal backcrosses, and segregation of completely male sterile plants. Jpn. J. Breed. 16 (suppl.) 1:179-180. (1966).
- Singh, R.B. Prospects of Hybrid Rice in the Asia-Pacific Region. Hybrid rice, Proceedings of the International Symposium on Hybrid Rice. pp: 25-32. International Rice Research Institute. Manila, Phlippines. (1988)
- Stansel J. W., Craigmiles J. P. Hybrid rice, problems and potentials. Rice J. 69(5):14-15, (1966).
- Sürek, H., Korkut. K. Heterosis for yield and its componenets in rice (Oryza sativa L.) under temperate conditions. Bangaldesh J. Pl. Breed. Genet., 9 (1 &2): 33-39. (1996)
- Taillebois, J. Guimaraes, E. Improving Outcrossing Rate in Rice. Hybrid rice, Proceedings of the International Symposium on Hybrid Rice. pp: 175-180. International Rice Research Institute. Manila, Phlippines. (1988)
- Virmani, S.S. 1994 Heterosis and hybrid rice breeding. Monographs on Theoretical and Applied Genetics, Edited by R. Frankel, M. Grossman, P. Maliga. Springer Verlag . (1994)
- Virmani, S.S., Sharma, H.L. Hybrid Rice Seed Production. IRRI International Rice Research Institute. IRRI (1993)
- Weeraratne, H., (1954). Hybridization technique in rice. Trop. Agric. (Colombo) 110:93-97
- Yuan, L. P., (1966). A preliminary report on male sterility in rice. Sci. Bull. 4:32-34.
- Yuan, L. P. An introduction to the breeding of male sterile lines in rice [in Chinese]. In proceedings of the 2nd workshop on genetics. Hainan, Guangdong. (1972).
- Yuan, L.P. Virmani, S.S. Organization of Hybrid Rice Breeding Program. Hybrid rice, Proceedings of the International Symposium on Hybrid Rice. pp: 33-38. International Rice Research Institute. Manila, Phlippines. (1988 -a)
- Yuan, L.P., Virmani, S.S. Status of Hybrid Rice Research and Development. Hybrid rice, Proceedings of the International Symposium on Hybrid Rice. P: 7-24. International Rice Research Institute. Manila, Phlippines. (1988-b)
- Yuan, L.P., Fu, X.Q. Technology of hybrid rice production. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome (1995)

CARCINOGENESIS OF HIGH-RISK HUMAN PAPILLOMA VIRUS (HPV) IN PATIENTS WITH CERVICAL ABNORMALITIES

Tabark S. Jassim Abdul Hussein M.AlFaisal

Institute of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology-University of Baghdad

*alfais2000@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

A total number of 90 subjects were included. 70 of them are Iraqi patients with cervical abnormalities and 20 apparently healthy women. The patients and healthy were aged between 25-55 years. Buccal swab-Pap smear were collected from each women under supervision of gynecologist. Real Time PCR for qualitative detection and genotyping of Human Papilloma virus High Risk was done. The results also revealed that out of 70 cases, (30) patients were positive to HPV. Carcinoma showed the highest HPV infected samples (100%) followed by HSIL (50%), LSIL (38.89%), ASC-US (35%) and non specific cervicitis (20%). Multi HPV genotypes were detected in all grades and the most common high-risk HPV types among them is the genotype 16 (26.67%). These results revealed that HPV genotype 16 plays a role in cervical cancer development since it exist in ISIL, HSIL and carcinoma.

INTRODUCTION

Human papillomaviruses (HPV) is considered a major risk factor for the development of cervical cancer (Stanley, 2012). This virus is of different genotypes and according to the associations with neoplasms, HPV classified into low risk genotypes such as HPV 6, 11, 42, 43 and 44 that are associated with benign genital warts and high risk types such as HPV 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 59, 66, 68 and 70 that are associated with the development of cancer (Woodman et al., 2007). High risk HPV genotypes nucleic acid has been found in the vast majority of squamous cell carcinomas and adenocarcinomas of the cervix. Additionally, different studies showed HPV DNA in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (Kuhn et al., 2000). There is a great variation in the prevalence of HPV and the prevalent genotypes depending upon patient age, cytology stage, and other risk factor. PAP test is cheap, simple and most commonly used technique for cervical cancer and preinvasive cervical lesions screening. Atypical squamous cells (ASC) is a term that refers to inflammatory, reactive and reparative processes which are atypical and of higher level and whose quality and quantity is insufficient to be classified as cervical intraepithelial lesions (CIN)(Solomon and Navar 2004; Nayar and Wilbur 2015). The major cause of CIN is chronic infection of the cervix with the sexually transmitted HPV, especially the high-risk HPV types 16 or 18. Over 200 types of HPV have been identified (Anttila et al., 2001). About a dozen of these types appear to cause cervical dysplasia and may lead to the development of cervical cancer (Van Baars et al., 2012). The current study aimed to explore the association of HPV and cytology grads of the cervical abnormalities.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects:

A total number of 90 subjects were included. 70 of them are Iraqi patients with cervical abnormalities and 20 apparently healthy women. Patients and healthy were referred to the surgical pathology department of the teaching laboratories in the Medical City Teaching Hospital and Al-Elweya Teaching Hospital, Baghdad, Iraq from April 2017 to February 2018. The patients and healthy were aged between 25-55 years. Buccal swab-Pap smear were collected from each women under supervision of gynecologist.

Molecular analysis:

Real Time PCR for qualitative detection and genotyping of Human Papilloma virus High Risk was done using *HPV* HCR genotype-titre-RT PCR kit (AmpliSens® /Russia) and according to the company instruction (Table-1). They were four channel for read four dyes (FAM, JOE, ROX and Cy5) to detect HPV genotyping, showed in table-1. Results are interpreted by the crossing (or not-crossing) the fluorescence curve with the threshold line set at the specific level that corresponds to the presence (or absence) of a *Ct* value of the DNA sample. RT-PCR condition for HPV and genes were listed in table-2.

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Analysis System- SAS (2012) program was used to effect of difference factors in study parameters. Chi-square test was used to significant compare between percentage and Least significant difference –LSD test (ANOVA) was used to significant compare between means in this study.

| Step | Temperature C° | Time | Cycles |
|------|----------------|----------------------------|--------|
| 1 | 95 | 15 min | 1 |
| 2 | 95 | 5 s | |
| | 60 | 20 s | 5 |
| | 72 | 15 s | |
| 3 | 95 | 5 s | 40 |
| | 60 | 20s fluorescence acquiring | |
| | 72 | 15 s | |

Table -1: Amplification program for HR-HPV

| Matrix for comparison | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|-----|---------|----|--|--|--|--|
| FAM | JOE | JOE ROX | | | | | |
| 16 | 31 | 18 | IC | | | | |
| 39 | 45 | 59 | IC | | | | |
| 33 | 35 | 68 | 56 | | | | |
| 58 | 52 | 66 | 51 | | | | |

Table 2 : HPV genotypes detection dyes

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The high cytological grads among the cervical abnormalities samples were Asc-us, 20(28.57%) and ISIL, 18(25.72%) followed by HSIL,16(22.85), Non specific cervicitis, 10(14.29%) and carcinoma,6(8.57%). The results also revealed that out of 70 cases, (30) patients were positive to HPV. Carcinoma showed the highest HPV infected samples (100%) followed by HSIL (50%), LSIL (38.89%), ASC-US (35%) and non specific cervicitis (20%) (Table-3). Multi HPVgenotypes were detected in all grades and the most common high-risk HPV types among them is the genotype 16 (26.67%) (Table-4, Table-5). These results revealed that HPV genotype 16 plays a role in cervical cancer development since it exist in ISIL, HSIL and carcinoma. This study shows the importance of monitoring women with ASCUS lesion for early detection of lesion that can progress to higher level of change such as cervical cancer. Infection with HPV16, either as a single infection or multiple infections with other hrHPV genotypes, is associated with a high incidence of high-grade disease. In Iraq, several studies declared an association of HPV with cervical carcinoma such as Mohammed Ali (2001), Al-Azzawi (2006) and Al-Shwaikh (2006) who found that between 25% to 33% of cervical abnormalities were positive for HPV.

A prospective study to evaluate the prevalence of HPV types in Asian women with invasive cervical cancer showed that HPV-16, -18, -52, -45, -58, -33, or -31 were strongly associated with cervical cancer (Lisa *et al.*, 2018). HPV-16 as a cause of cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer was also demonstrated by others (Stewart and Wild, 2014; Bose *et al.*, 2005). Several pathological studies also demonstrated the interference between multiple HPV type Interactions between different HPV types during their life cycle may affect the propagation, pathogenesis, and evolution of HPVs (Mori *et al.*, 2014). These are categorized of high-risk viruses (HR-HPV), according to their oncogenic potential, and the HR-HPV (16, 58, 59) found in all cytology grads (carcinoma, HSIL, LSIL and ASC-US). According to cervical lesions observed by Papillomavirus types- a research in Europe study on Portugal women, 12 HPV types were associated with high grade cervical lesion, of which especially HPV-16, -18, -31, -33, -35, -45, -51, -52, and -58 (Monsonego *et al.*, 2012). HPV-16 as a cause of cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer was also demonstrated by others (Stewart and Wild, 2014; Bose *et al.*, 2005). High risk of HPV are associated with progression of lesions to invasive cervical cancer.

Common high-risk types of genital HPV include types 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45,51, 52, 56, 58, 59, 68, 73, and 82 (Bell *et al.*, 2007). High-risk HPV, multiple high-risk HPV and HPV 16 infections are significantly associated with anal cytological abnormalities.

ASC-US Atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance, LSIL: Low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion and HSIL High-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion.

| Cytopathology | | Н | PV | | |
|-------------------------|---|----------|----------|---------|-----------|
| | | Positive | Negative | P-value | |
| Carcinoma | Ν | 6 | 0 | | |
| | % | 100.00 | 0.00 | 0.0001 | 15.00 ** |
| HSIL | Ν | 8 | 8 | 1.00 | NS |
| (High grade SIL) | % | 50.00 | 50.00 | | |
| LSIL | Ν | 7 | 11 | | |
| (Low grade SIL) | % | 38.89 | 61.11 | 0.0002 | 10.036 ** |
| ASC-US | Ν | 7 | 13 | | |
| | % | 35.00 | 65.00 | 0.0001 | 12.064 ** |
| Non specific cervicitis | N | 2 | 8 | | |
| | % | 20.00 | 80.00 | 0.0001 | 13.250 ** |

Table 3: Correlation between cytopathology grad and HPV infection.

Table 4: Positive results of high-risk HPV genotyping real time PCR assay.

| Genotype of HPV | Number | Percentage | Genotype of HPV | Number | Percentage |
|------------------|--------|------------|---------------------|--------|------------|
| | | (%) | | | (%) |
| 16 | 8 | 26.67 | 56 | 4 | 13.33 |
| 66 | 3 | 10.00 | 58 | 3 | 10.00 |
| Chi-square value | | 9.026 ** | Other HPV genotypes | 5 | 3.33-6.76 |
| P-value | | 0.0002 | ** (P<0.01) | | |

Table 5: Detection of HR HPV genotype according to cytopathology

| Cytopathology | No. | HPV (+) Genotype |
|---------------|-----------------------|--------------------|
| Carcinoma | 6 (12.00%) | 16,18 |
| HSIL | 8(16.00%) | 59,16,58,68,45 |
| LSIL | 7 (14.00%) | 66,39,58,59 51,16 |
| ASC-US | 9 (18.00%) | 68 ,51,56,66,59,58 |
| Normal | 20 (40.00%) | Negative |
| LSD value | Chi-Square = 9.331 ** | |

Almost all (99.7%) cervical cancer cases are result of persistent infection with high-risk type HPV (Wright, 2014). There are 15 high-risk (oncogenic) HPV, with just two, 16 and 18, responsible for 70% of all cervical cancers (Frumovitz, 2013). Such conclusion was also noticed in the current study where the high risk HPV 16 and 18 were detected in cervical carcinoma. HPV commonly spreads through sexual contact; it can spread without sex, by skin-to-skin contact with an infected area of body (Wright, 2014; Wright *et al.*,2007). Weak immune system is another risk factor. As a result of HIV or by drugs causing suppression of immune response put women at high risk for HPV infection (ACS, 2014). Woman with mother/sister having cervical cancer has 2-3 times risk of developing cervical cancer than women without family history (Frumovitz, 2013).

REFERENCES

- Al-Azzawi, M. K.(2006). Molecular Typing Human Papilloma Virus Associated with Uterine Cervical Carcinoma in Iraqi Femal Patients. A thesis submitted to the Collage of Science AL-Mustansiriyah University in partial fulfillment of the PhD Degree in Microbiology.
- Al-Shwaikh ,A. M.(2006).A study on Human Papilloma virus :High-Risk HPV E6 ,P53 and p16 proteins expression and their role in cervical carcinogenesis A thesis submitted to the Collage of Medicine AL- Nahrain University in partial fulfillment of the Master Degree in Medical Microbiology.
- American Cancer Society (ACS) .(2014). Cervical Cancer. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society.
- Anttila, T., Saikku, P. and Pentti, K .(2001) . "Serotypes of Chlamydia trachomatis and Risk for Development of Cervical Squamous Cell Carcinoma," JAMA, January 3; 285 (1) :47-51.
- Bell, M.; Schmidt-Grimmer, D.; Patrick, S.; Ryschon, T.; Linz, L. and Chauhan, S.(2007). There is a high prevalence of human papillomavirus infection in American Indian women of the Northern Plains. *Gynecol Oncol.* 107(2):236–41.
- Bose, S., Evans ,H. and Lantzy, L. (2005). p16INK4A is a surrogate biomarker for a subset of human papilloma virus-associated dysplasias of the uterine cervix as determined on the Pap smear. Diagn Cytopathol, 32, 21-4.
- Frumovitz , M. (2013). Invasive cervical cancer: Epidemiology, risk factors, clinical manifestations, and diagnosis.
- Kuhn, L., Denny, L. and Pollack A. (2000). Human papillomavirus DNA testing for cervical cancer screening in low-resource settings. J Natl Cancer Inst, 92, 818-25.
- Lisa, M., Megan, A., Chase, W. Nelson, M., Dean ,N. and Meredith, Y.(2018). The Intersection of HPV Epidemiology, Genomics and Mechanistic Studies of HPV-Mediated Carcinogenesis. Viruse , 10, 80, doi, 10: 3390- v10020080.
- Mohammed Ali S H.(2000). Molecular Biological Studies of Human Papillomavirus Infections in Patients with Cervical Neoplasia. A thesis submitted to the Collage of Medicine AL- Nahrain University in partial fulfillment of the PhD degree in Medical Microbiology

- Monsonego, J., Zerat, L., Syrjänen, K., Zerat, J., Smith, J. and Halfon, P.(2012). Prevalence of typespecific human papillomavirus infection among women in France: Implications for screening, vaccination, and a future generation of multivalent HPV vaccines Vaccine, 30: 5215-21.
- Mori, S., Kusumoto-Matsuo, R. and Ishii, Y. (2014). Replication interference between human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 mediated by heterologous E1 helicases. Virology Journal 11:11
- Nayar, R. and Wilbur, D.(2015). The Pap Test and Bethesda 2014. Acta Cytologica ; 59: 121-32.
- Solomon, D. and Nayar, R.(2004). The Bethesda System for Reporting Cervical Cytology. Definitions, Criteria, and Explanatory Notes. Springer. New York ; 4: 67-87. 3.
- Stanley, M.A.(2012). Genital human papillomavirus infections: current and prospective therapies. J. *Gen. Virol.*, *93*, 681–691.
- Stewart, S. and Wild, H. (2014). human papillomavirus (hpv) genotype distribution in patients with recurrent respiratory papillomatosis (rrp). 10 (22): 187-1973
- Van Baars, R., Bosgraaf, R., Harmsel, B., Melchers, W., Quint, W. and Bekkers, R. (2012) .Dry storage and transport of a cervicovaginal self-sample by use of the Evalyn Brush, providing reliable human papillomavirus detection combined with comfort for women. J Clin Microbiol 50: 3937–3943.
- Woodman, C.B., Collins, S.I. and Young, L.S. (2007). The natural history of cervical HPV infection: unresolved issues. Nat Rev Cancer, 7, 11-22
- Wright, J. D. (2014). Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: Terminology, incidence, pathogenesis, and prevention.
- Wright, T.C., Massad, L.S. and Dunton, C.J. (2007). consensus guidelines for the management of women with abnormal cervical cancer screening tests. Am J Obstet Gynecol;197(4):346-55.

SINGLE AND COMBINED EFFECT OF BOTH FUNGICIDES TRICYCLAZOLE AND CYPROCONAZOLE OF FUNGUS ALTERNARIA ALTERNATE

Huda W. Hadi

Biology Department College of Sciences, Mosul University, Mosul city Almajmoa st., Iraq merrymathiew@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

In a study on Alternaria alternata, which was isolated from the salad plant Beta vulgaris subsp. cicla, the minimum inhibitory concentrations of Tricyclazole and Cyproconazole were measured. The minimum inhibitory concentration of the Tricyclazole was 750 µg/ml while for Cyproconazole was 0.2 µg/ml. Spontaneous mutants were also isolated for each fungicide, it turns out that the frequency of spontaneous resistant mutants of Cyproconazole is 30.8×10^{-4} Which is less than half frequency of the Tricyclazole (66×10^{-4}) . In order to study the effect of the fungicides mixture, the minimum inhibitory concentration was measured. It was about 0.15 µg/ml of Cyproconazole when Tricyclazole 75 µg/ml, and when the Tricyclazole was increased to 250 µg/ml, it required a lethal concentration of Cyproconazole which was 0.1 µg/ml in the mixture, proving an inverse relationship between the effects of the pesticides in their mixture. The spontaneous resistant mutants of the mixture were isolated and calculated at lethal concentrations in their mixture in two successive experiments for three replicates were performed. The first experiment gave a frequency of 134.1×10^{-4} while the second experiment gave 24.5×10^{-4} . The resistant mutants were also distinguished in the color of conidia because they were affected by the active substances of these fungicides even though they were in the same mixture. We conclude from the above that the process of mixing pesticides is a process that not only leads to positive results as it accelerates the process of killing fungus pathogen, but at the same time lead to the growth or emergence of resistance between pathogenic fungi of plants, which may cause results contrary to the expected.

Key Word: *Tricyclazole, Cyproconazole,* Fungicides mixture, Spontaneous resistant mutants, *Alternaria alternate*

INTRODUCTION

The economic losses caused by the infection of plant pathogens are frequent and severe. Therefore, the last century has witnessed a significant increase in the global production of pesticides. The pesticides in general and fungicides in particular have become one of the technological inputs to increase agricultural production (Fisher, 2012). However, a wide range of resistance strains have emerged, these strains have acquired new genes and have enabled fungi to possess some mechanisms of overcoming the toxic effect of the pesticide due to the excessive and indiscriminate use of chemical control (Klaassen et al., 2012; Fisher et al., 2012). The effectiveness of mixing two or more pesticides is one of the methods of eliminating the increasing resistance to fungicides, a subject that has been widely discussed and intensified since the late 1970s. Some researchers prefer mixing, while others reject mixtures largely as a tactic to eliminate resistant strains (Shaw,2006).

In this study two types of fungicides were used, the first is Tricyclazole, it's structural formula is shown in (Figure 1-A), while molecular formula is [5-methyl-1,2,4-triazole(3,4-b) benzothiazole, code

number EL-291], it is a systematic fungicide used to control blast disease on rice (Froyd et al.,1976). Tricyclazole is a melanin inhibitor that does not affect growth effectively (Kurahashi, 2001). Therefore, it has been classified with a group of fungicides that inhibit the bio-building of melanin (FRAC Code, 2018).

The second fungicide is the Atemi®, its active ingredient is Cyproconazole that has molecular formula [alpha-(4-chlorophenyl)- alpha-(1-cyclopropylethyl)-1h-1,2,4-triazole-1-ethanol] and its structural formula is shown in (Fig: 1-B), it is a systematic fungicide from triazole group (Buchenauer, 1987) which is economically important agricultural compound and it is widely used against crop diseases such as wheat, barley, fruit vegetables, cereals, and seeds or as human antimycotic therapeutics (Buchenauer, 1987; Bolčič–Tavčar and Vračko, 2009; FRAC Code, 2018). The goal of this pesticide is to remove the instance of carbon atom 14 in cytochrome P450 sterol 14 alpha-demethylase, an enzyme required for the biosynthesis of ergosterol in fungi which is the bio-building process of cell membrane (Dahl et al., 1987).

Therefore, the current study aims to test the appearance of the spontaneous mutants of each \fungicide alone and then comparing these frequencies of mutants during fungus exposure to a mixture of both fungicides.



Figure (1):A;Tricyclazole

Figure(1): B:Cyproconazole

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Isolation and Diagnosis of fungus

The fungus was isolated from black leaves containing black spots of Salad plant *Beta vulgaris subsp. cicla*, which was cut, washed, sterilized and then cultured on the (PDA) potato dextrose agar media at 28 °c. Then, the fungal colonies were sub cultured, examined under the microscope. The conidia and morphological characteristics were observed according to (Pitt& Hocking, 2009).

Media and culture conditions

The (M) minimal medium was used to isolate the resistant spontaneous mutants Depending on (Caten, 1979). The solution (D) Sodium deoxycholate was also used to obtain Specific, distinct and individual colonies with a concentration of 400 μ g/ml (Mackintosh& Pritchard, 1963). PDA was used to make the fungus grows in a rich and dense manner.

Fungicide solutions

The minimum amount of tricyclazole was dissolved in concentrated 95% ethanol alcohol and then the solution was supplied to a certain size so that the concentration of the stock solution has been 2500 μ g/ml,

the tricyclazole fungicide was obtained in the form of 98% purity through the correspondences with the Chinese company Shanghai Redbrillian Chemical Co., Ltd... The Cyproconazole fungicide was dissolved in distilled water because it is an emulsified form and then added at the concentrations under study. This fungicide from a Syngenta Comp. /Swiss.

Measurment of minimal inhibitory concentration (mic)

Mic was measured for each fungicide alone and their mixture using the minimal medium (M) that contain progressive concentrations which were measured depending on the active ingredient for each fungicide.

Resistant mutant isolation

The isolation of spontaneous resistant mutations was done by inoculation 10 petri dishes that were containing (MD) medium as well as the fungicide with concentration higher than lethal for each fungicide alone by inoculation of 10^{0} conidial suspension(un diluted susp.) that was already prepared at rate 0.1 ml for each petri dish three petri dish contain (md) medium were also inoculated by the conidial suspension with 10^{-4} dilution at rate of 0.1 ml for each petri dish in order to numerate the living cells.

Calculations and statistical analysis

The inhibition percentage was calculated after four days from inoculation by calculate the mean of colonies diameters that were growing around the inoculating point in each petri dish which then were compared with the diameter of colonies that were growing on the (MD) medium which was didn't contain fungicide and represented the control. The inhibition percentage was calculated:

$inhibition\ precentage = \frac{spntaneouus\ treatment\ average - fungicide\ treatment\ average}{spntaneouus\ treatment\ average} \times 100$

The frequency of spontaneous resistant mutants was estimated through:

$mutants\ frequency\ = \frac{mutants\ number\ for\ each\ treatment}{expected\ population\ size\ for\ that\ treatment} \times 100$

Expected population size was estimated from conidial suspension for both treatments:

Expected population size =mean of colonies no. on (MD) plates \times dilution factor \times control plates no.

Statistical analysis was done for the results using t-test at level of 0.05>P (Cochran and Cox, 1957) in order to explain the differences between mixture fungicides treatment and fungicied treatment alone.

RESULTS

Isolation and Diagnosis of fungus

Figure 2 showed the *Alternaria* leaf spot of salad plant, while (figure3) showed the microscopic characteristics of *Alternaria alternata* conidia.



Figure (2): Alternaria leaf spot of salad plant



Figure (3): Alternaria alternata Conidia

Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of each fungicide alone

This study found inhibition percentage of Tricyclazole was 100% at concentration750 μ g/ml and sometimes 650 μ g/ml.

Table1: Diameter of the colonies (cm) for *Alternaria alternata* growing on the M medium containing mounting concentrations of Tricyclazole

| Inhibition Percentage | (Average M) | Colony Diameter | | | Tricyclazole | |
|-----------------------|-------------|-----------------|-----|-----|--------------|-------|
| | | R4 | R3 | R2 | R1 | μg/ml |
| 0 | 2 | 2 | 2.2 | 1.8 | 2 | 0 |
| 64 | 0.75 | 0.9 | 0.8 | 0.5 | 0.7 | 50 |
| 75 | 0.5 | 0.6 | 0.4 | 0.4 | 0.6 | 75 |
| 86.5 | 0.27 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.4 | 0.5 | 250 |
| 96.2 | 0.075 | 0.0 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 500 |
| 98.7 | 0.025 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.1 | 650 |
| 100 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 750 |

Wherase the MIC of cyproconazole reached to $0.2 \mu g/ml$ as follow:

Table 2: Diameter of the colonies (cm) for *Alternaria alternata* growing on the M medium containing mounting concentrations of cyproconazole

| Inhibition Percentage | (Average M) | Colony Diameter | | | Cyproconazole | |
|-----------------------|-------------|-----------------|-----|-----|---------------|-------|
| | | R4 | R3 | R2 | R1 | µg/ml |
| 0 | 2.0 | 2.1 | 2 | 1.9 | 2.2 | 0 |
| 60 | 0.8 | 0.8 | 0.9 | 0.7 | 0.8 | 0.02 |
| 62.5 | 0.75 | 0.5 | 0.9 | 0.8 | 0.8 | 0.04 |
| 82.5 | 0.35 | 0.5 | 0.4 | 0.2 | 0.3 | 0.06 |
| 90 | 0.2 | 0.0 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 0.5 | 0.1 |
| 97.5 | 0.05 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 0.17 |
| 100 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.2 |

Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of mixture

The process of measuring the minimum inhibitory concentration of the fungicide mixture was a little complicated process.to measure the MIC of mixture two experiments were done. However, the under lethal concentration of both fungicides were used in both experiments.in the first one when a constant concentration of tricyclazole which is 75 μ g/ml was used, it is found that killing fungal growth requires

an increase in cypro concentration from 0.04 to 0.15 μ g/ml in order to find the MIC of mixture (Table 3).while in the second experiment a constant concentration of tricyclazole which is 250 μ g/ml was used, and it is found that killing fungal growth requires less concentration of cypro that reached about 0.1 μ g/ml (Table 4).

Table 3: minimal inhibitory concentration for fungicide mixture when Tricyclazole conc. is 75 μ g/ml.

| Inhibition Percentage | Average | Colony Diameter(cm) | | | Cyproconazole | Tricyclazole |
|-----------------------|---------|---------------------|-----|-------|---------------|--------------|
| | | R3 R2 R1 | | µg/ml | µg/ml | |
| 0 | 1.76 | 1.5 | 2 | 1.8 | 0 | 0 |
| 26.13 | 1.3 | 1.3 | 1.3 | 1.4 | 0.04 | 75 |
| 85.22 | 0.26 | 0.4 | 0.2 | 0.2 | 0.1 | 75 |
| 100 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.15 | 75 |

Table 4: minimal inhibitory concentration for fungicide mixture when Tricyclazole conc. Is 250 μ g/ml.

| Inhibition Percentage | Average | Colony Diameter(cm) | | Cyproconazole | Tricyclazole | |
|-----------------------|---------|---------------------|-----|---------------|--------------|-----|
| | | R3 R2 R1 | | µg/ml | µg/ml | |
| 0 | 1.76 | 1.6 | 1.5 | 2.2 | 0 | 0 |
| 73.8 | 0.46 | 0.5 | 0.4 | 0.5 | 0.04 | 250 |
| 92.61 | 0.13 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 0.1 | 0.07 | 250 |
| 100 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.1 | 250 |

Mutant frequencies for each fungicide separately

It is noted from (Table 5) that the average frequency of spontaneous mutants of the Cyproconazole fungicide alone was 30.8. Which is less than that of Tricyclazole which that means the average frequency of spontaneous mutants of Tricyclazole is more than twice of that of Cyproconazole.

Table 5: mutant frequencies for each pesticide separately.

| Standard error | Variation | Mutant frequency× 10 ⁴ | Fungicide |
|----------------|-----------|-----------------------------------|-------------------|
| SE | S | average | μg/ml |
| 0.87 | 1.5 | 30.8 | Cyproconazole 0.2 |
| 0.4 | 0.7 | 66.5 | Tricyclazole 750 |

Mutant frequencies of fungicides mixture

two different experiments were done in order to measure the average frequency of resistant spontaneous mutants of fungicides mixture.in the first experiment When the concentration of Tricyclazole was 75 μ g/ml and concentration of cyproconazole was 1.5 μ g/ml the mutants frequency was 134.1(Table 6 and figure 4) but in the second experiment When the concentration of Tricyclazole was 250 μ g/ml and concentration of cyproconazole was 0.1 μ g/ml the mutants frequency was 42.5which is less than that of the first experiment (Table 6 and figure 4).

| <i>t</i> value | Standard error | Variation | Mutant frequency $\times 10^4$ | Cyproconazole | Tricyclazole |
|----------------|----------------|-----------|--------------------------------|---------------|--------------|
| | SE | S | average | µg/ml | µg/ml |
| 47.6 | 1.39 | 2.4 | 134.1 | 0.15 | 75 |
| 17.39 | 1.33 | 2.3 | 42.5 | 0.1 | 250 |

Table 6: frequency of mutants to mixture of pesticides.



Colour of resistant mutants

Resistant mutants of fungicides mixture were different in color Colonies (Figure 5) that are that resistant to Tricyclazole appeared in white color. While those that are resistant to cyproconazole still retain their black color



Figure (5): Diference in color of resistant mutants of fungicides mixture.

DISCUSSION

Isolation and Diagnosis of fungus

The *Alternaria alternata* fungus was isolated and it was confirmed that the fungus was *Alternaria alternata* through the conidia properties depending on (Pitt& Hocking, 2009).
Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of each fungicide alone

Full inhibiting of fungus growth requires very high concentrations of Tricyclazole when compared to Cyproconazole fungicide which was the very low concentrations (Table 1,2), Sharma et al. observed this in 2013 when he treated cumin that was infected by *Alternaria* with Tricyclazole which had moderate or little effect in comparing with triazole fungicide. which is a very high concentration in comparison with the inhibitory concentration of mycelium and conidia growth of the fungus *Piricularia oryazae*, that was about 200 and 300 μ g / mL for inhibition respectively (froyd et al., 1976).

MIC of cyproconazole was similar to that of difenoconazole a fungicide from triazole group also which is highly effective against potato early blight disease caused by *Alternaria Solani* (Horsfield et al., 2010) .other study demonstrated that the difenoconazole was very effective against the growth and germination of *Alternaria* spores in compared with a variety of fungicides (alum et al., 2017). Other laboratory experiments have shown that a fungicide from the same group of triazole, Propiconazole, is very effective in controlling the *A. alternata* which is very sensitive to it, and is also from a triazole group (Duba et al., 2018).

The great difference between these two fungicides in MIC is in fact due to the completely different working mechanism towards the cell of fungi, as the first fungicide targets a compound of secondary metabolites that has no major effect on the vitality of the fungus (Hopwood, 1997; Kimura and Tsuge, 1993). Melanin is not necessary for growth or development, but it enhances the competitiveness among species and provides protecting against various environmental stresses to the organisms that produce (Jacobson, 2000).

While the triazole fungicides are targeting an important vital process that takes place within fungal cell membrane, the process of building the ergesterol which is an essential component of the cell membrane, thus inhibiting the growth of mycelium fungus (Panwar et al., 2013).

Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of mixture

The results in (Table 3, 4) indicate an inverse relationship between the two lethal concentrations of both fungicides when used as a single mixture. This is may be due to a cooperative or complementary action between the two fungicides, so that if the concentration of one of them increases, thus the lethal concentration of the other fungicide decreases. This makes the mixture of fungicides significantly effective in eliminating fungal diseases in plants. Also this was found by Zamani-Noor and Knüfer in (2018) when they mixed two pesticides together, one of them returning to the triazole group (tebuconazole), noting the severity of the elimination of fungal diseases.

Mutant frequencies for each fungicide separately

The reason of low spontaneous mutant's frequency of Cyproconazole that the Cyproconazole is from triazole group which is a highly effective pesticides against *Alternaria*(Kiran et. al.,2018), but it does not hide the possibility of developing resistance even if it is low (Fisher et al.,2012).

Mutant frequencies of fungicides mixture

From the statistic (Table 6), it was found that the calculated value of T is higher than the value of T-table at the level of probability 0.05 or 0.01 for mixture resistance mutants in comparison with the frequency average of mutants in the case of Tricyclazole alone. The results of the mixture resistant were divided into two categories: The first one demonstrated that; when the concentration of Tricyclazole fungicide was 75 μ g/ml the frequency of Resistant mutations then became 134.1 (Table 6), there was a significant difference in the resistance which was higher than that in the case of using of the aforementioned fungicide alone When its concentration was 750 μ g/ml; the frequency of

resistant mutations changed to 66.5 (Table 5). second section demonstrated that; when the concentration of Tricyclazole was 250 μ g/ml T value will be significant This may be due to the high concentration of Tricyclazole compared to the first resistance to the mixture, possibly due to its increased effect on melanin, which is the resistance component of this fungal pathogen (Kawamura et al., 1999) this lead to increase in the cyproconazole effect even if its concentration was low consequently the number of mutants decreased. This has been confirmed by some studies on the possibility of reducing the resistance of fungi by mixing two or more pesticides (Dinakaran et al., 2012), But these results do not prevent the emergence of resistance against the mixture of fungicides that was very high as recorded in the first experiment mentioned above of the mixture.

Color of resistant mutants

Mutants that have resistance against the mixture of fungicides were different in color. Colonies that are that resistant to Tricyclazole appeared in white color, while those that are resistant to cyproconazole still retain their black color as in the case when the mutants resisted each fungicide alone. This indicates the separate impact of each fungicide alone. Which may means that there is no fusion or interaction between the active ingredients of the both fungicides, in spite of they were present in the same mixture, although there was a difference in the lower inhibitory concentration when mixed together and the different numbers of resulted frequencies mutants.

CONCLUSIONS

This study indicates the evolution of resistant strains of pathogenic fungi in the case of mixing the fungicides, regardless of the fact that it is possible to cause a 100% kill rate in this mixture for both fungicides with low concentrations that are less than their lethal concentration when used separately. It can be seen through the experiment of mixing fungicide that, it is a complex process and not as easy as some may think it. It depends on the biology of the organism to be combated, as well as on the study the mechanism of work of each fungicide and the study of lethal and under the lethal concentrations. It depends on conducting many experiments before the mixing process.

REFERENCES

- Aalum,K., Wani,I.A., Singh,S.D., Ganguly,S., Kumar,B.(2018). In Vitro Effect of Various Systematic Fungicides on Inhibition Spore Germination. Int. J. Curr. Tren. Sci. Techn., 8(2), 20245-20249.
- Birch, C. P. D., Shaw, M. W. (1997). When can reduced doses and pesticide mixtures delay the build-

up of pesticide resistance? A mathematical model. J. Appl. Ecol., 34(4):1032-1042.

- Bolčič–Tavčar, M., Vračko, M. (2009). Assessing the reproductive toxicity of some (con) azole compounds using a structure–activity relationship approach. Sar and Qsar in Environmental Research. 20(7-8):711-725.
- Buchenauer, H. (1987). Mechanism of action of triazolyl fungicides and related compounds. In Modern selective fungicides: properties, applications, mechanisms of action, (H. Lyr, Ed.), pp. 205–231. Wiley, New York.
- Caten, C.E. (1979). Genetical determination of conidial color *Aspergillus heterocaryoticus* and relationship of this species to *Aspergillus amstelodami*. Trans. Br. Mycol. Soc., 73, 65-74.

Cochran, W., Cox, G. (1957). Experimental Designs, 2nd edition. Wiely, New York.

- Dahl, C., Biemann, H.P., Dahl, J. (1987). A protein kinase antigenically related to pp60v-src possibly involved in yeast cell cycle control: positive in vivo regulation by sterol. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 84(12): 4012–4016.
- Demirci ,A, Katircioğlu Y. Z., Demirci, F.(2002)Triazole grubu fungisitlerin bazı önemli antagonist funguslar ve non-patojen *Fusarium oxysporum* (Schlecht)' un *in vıtro*'da gelişmesine etkileri üzerine araştırmalar. Bitki Koruma B-Lteni, 42 (1-4), 53-65.
- Dinakaran, D., Mathiyazhagan, S., Thiruvudainambi, S., Gajendran, G., Kathiresan, G. (2012). Efficacy of zineb + hexaconazole on the management of sheath blight, brown spot and grain discoloration in rice. *Oryza* Int. J. on Rice, 49(2), 144-146.
- Duba, A., Goriewa, K., Wachowska, U., Wiwart M. (2018). *Alternaria alternata* (Fr.) Keissl with mutation G143A in the Cyt b gene is the source of a difficult-to-control allergen. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.Int., 25(1) abstract.
- Fisher, M.C., Henk, D.A., Briggs, C.J., Brownstein, J.S., Madoff, L.C., McCraw, S. L., Gurr, S. J. (2012) Emerging fungal threats to animal, plant and ecosystem health. Nature, 484: 186-194.
- FRAC Code List (2018). Fungicides sorted by mode of action. Accessed on 26/2/2018 from <u>www.phi-base.org/images/fracCodeList.pdf</u>.
- Froyd JD, Paget CJ, Guse LR, Dreikorn, BA, Pafford JL. Tricyclazole: a new systemic fungicide for control of Pyricularia oryzae on rice. Phytopathol
- Froyd, J.D., Paget, C.J., Guse, L.R., Dreikorn, B.A., Pafford, J.L. (1976). Tricyclazole: a new systemic fungicide for control of Piricularia oryzae on rice.phytopathol.,66:1135-1139.
- Hopwood, D.A. (1997). Genetic contributions to understanding polyketide synthases. Chem. Rev., 97,2465-2498.
- Horsfield ,A. ,Wicks, T., Davies, K. ,Wilson, D., Paton ,S (2010) .A Effect of fungicide use strategies on the control of early blight (*Alternaria solani*) and potato yield. Australasian Plant Pathol., 39(4) 368-375.
- Horsfield ,A. ;Wicks ,T., Davies, K., Wilson, D., Paton , S.(2010). Effect of fungicide use strategies on the control of early blight (*Alternaria solani*) and potato yield. Austral. Plant Pathol. 39(4) abstract.
- Jacobson, E.S. (2000). Pathogenic roles for fungal melanins. Clin. Microbiol. Rev., 13, 708-717.
- Kawamura, C., Tsujimoto, T., Tsuge, T. (1999). Targeted disruption of a melanin biosynthesis gene affects conidial development and UV tolerance in the japanese pear pathotype of *Alternaria alternata*. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interac, 12, 59-63.
- Kimura, N. ;Tsuge, T. (1993). Gene cluster involved in melanin biosynthesis of the filaments fungus *Alternaria alternata* . J. Bacteriol., 175, 4427-4435.

- Kiran ,G.V.N.S.M., Thara ,S., Brinda, G.B.(2018). In vitro Efficacy of Fungicides against Alternaria brassicicola Causing Alternaria Leaf Spot of Cabbage . Int.J.Curr.Microbiol.App.Sci 7(4): 1131-1135.
- Klaassen, C.H., Gibbons, J.G., Fedorova, N.D., Meis ,J.F., Rokas, A. (2012). Evidence for genetic differentiation and variable recombination rates among Dutch populations of the opportunistic human pathogen *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Mol Ecol 21(1): 57–70.
- Kurahashi Y. (2001). Melanin biosynthesis inhibitors (MBIs) for control of rice blast. Pestic Outlook 12:32–35.
- Mackintosh, M.E. and Pritchard, R.H. (1963). The production and replica plating micro-colonies of *Aspergillus nidulans*. Genet. Res., 4: 320-322.
- Paget, C. J; Guse, L. R.; Dreikorn, B. A.; Pafford, J. I.; (1976). Tricyclazole a new systematic fungicide for control of *Piricularia oryzae* on rice. Phytopathol., 66:1135-1139.
- Panwar, V., Gangwar, R.K., Javeria, S., Yadav, R.S. 2013. Antifungal efficacy of fungicides and biocontrol agents against leaf spot pathogens, *Alternaria alternata*. Curr. Discov. 2:128-133.
- Peffer, R.C., Moggs, J.G., Pastoor, T., Currie, R.A., Wright, J., Milburn, G., Waechter, F., Rusyn, I. (2007)Mouse liver effects of cyproconazole, a triazole fungicide: role of the constitutive androstane receptor. Toxicol. Sci., 99(1):315-25.
- Pitt, J.I. and Hocking, A.D. (2009). Fungi and Food Spoilage. Springer.
- Scheinpflug, H. ,Kuck, K.H.(1987). Sterol biosynthesis inhibiting piperazine, pyridine, pyrimidine and azole fungicides. In: LYR, H. (ed.). Modern Selective Fungicides: Properties, applications and mechanisms of action. Longman Scientific and Technical, New York. pp. 173-197.
- Sharma,Y.K., Choudappa,P.C., Anwer,M.M.(2013)efficacy of fungicides for the management of *Alternaria* blight of cumin. International J. Seed Spices, 3(1):48-49.
- Shaw, M. W. (2006). Is there such a thing as a fungicide resistance strategy? a modeller's perspective. Asp. Appl. Biol., 78:37-44.
- Zamani-Noor, N., Knüfer, J. (2018). Effects of host plant resistance and fungicide application on phoma stem canker, growth parameters and yield of winter oilseed rape. Crop Protection, 112:313-321.

A CONTRIBUTION TO THE FAUNA OF MICROCHELONUS SZÉPLIGETI, 1908 (HYMENOPTERA: BRACONIDAE: CHELONINAE) OF ÇANAKKALE PROVINCE

Mitat Aydogdu¹

¹Trakya University, Faculty of Science, Department of Biology, TR-22030 Edirne, Turkey,

mitataydogdu@trakya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Canakkale province consists of land on both sides of the Dardanelles and is naturally bordered by Koru Mountain on the Gelibolu peninsula in the north, the Marmara Sea in the north-east, the Aegean Sea in the north-west and west, and Kaz Mountain and the Aegean Sea in the south. This study area consists of forests, agricultural fields and meadows. The study was carried out in spring, summer and autumn periods between the years 2008-2016 various localities and habitats of Çanakkale Province. This study increases about ten times the number of localities of Microchelonus Szépligeti, 1908 (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Cheloninae) previously known from the Canakkale province of Turkey. Samples collected from short plants using standard insect sweeping nets were transferred into tubes containing 70% ethanol and labeled following their preparations according to museum techniques. Members of Cheloninae are solitary koinobiont egglarval endoparasitoids on Lepidoptera (especially Tortricoidea and Pyraloidea), Diptera, Hymenoptera and Coleoptera, and therefore are potentially very important biological control agents to be used against pest insects. Eight solitary egg-larval endoparasitoid Microhelonus species were collected from pastures, vegetable garden, crop fields, orchards, pine and mixed forests at different altitudes in Canakkale province. The distributions of the determined species in Turkey as well as their general distributions were given and discussed zoogeographically. For each species its chorotype was reported.

Keywords: Microchelonus, Hymenoptera, Cheloninae, Fauna, Turkey

INTRODUCTION

Çanakkale province has a European (Thrace) and an Asian (Anatolia) part. The European part is formed by the Gallipoli (Gelibolu) peninsula, while the Asian part is largely coterminous with the historic region of Anatolia. They are separated by the Dardanelles strait, connecting the Sea of Marmara and the Aegean Sea. This city consists of land on both sides of the Dardanelles and is naturally bordered by Koru Mountain on the Gelibolu peninsula in the north, the Marmara Sea in the north-east, the Aegean Sea in the north-west and west, and Kaz Mountain and the Aegean Sea in the south (Kılıç, 2001).

The subgenus *Microchelonus* Szépligeti, 1908 (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Cheloninae) is cosmopolitan, koinobiont egg-larval endoparasitoid of Lepidoptera. Species of subgenus mainly exploit host groups that have concealed Lepidoptera larvae (Coleophoridae, Cosmopterygidae, Elachistidae, Gelechiidae, Momphidae, Oecophoridae, Tortricidae, Pyralidae) and Cynipidae (Hymenoptera). For this reason, members of this genus are potentially very important biological control agents against pest insects The subfamily Cheloninae is characterised as having a gastral carapace formed by the fusion of 1-3 tergites, covering the rest of the gaster (Aydogdu & Beyarslan, 2006; Tobias, 1986). This genus has as distinctive features 16 antennomeres in the female and a

foramen at the apex of the carapace, in the male. This carapace foramen is present in the female of some species as a small and circular opening (Papp, 1999).

This study area consists of forests, agricultural fields and meadows. The study was carried out in spring, summer and autumn periods between the years 2008-2016 various localities and habitats of Çanakkale Province.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Adult *Microchelonus* subgenus were collected from various localities, habitats and altitudes using sweeping nets and were transferred into tubes containing 70% ethanol. The specimens were then pinned and labeled according to taxonomic rules and regulations. For the terminology used in this paper and for the identification of the subgenus, see Abdinbekova (1975) and Tobias (1986). Species were treated in alphabetical order in the subgenus. All records were arranged in the following order: province (alphabetically ordered)-town-local place-geographic name, habitat, altitude, date of collection, and the number of male and female individuals. References are used for known general distributions and hosts of the species in the world (Aydogdu & Beyarslan, 2006; Yu et al., 2012). The samples of the identified *Microchelonus* species are stored at the Collections of the Biology Department, Trakya University.

RESULTS

Eight *Microchelonus* species were identified within 1 genus in this study, and all species were recorded with new localities for the fauna of Çanakkale. These species are as follows:

Microchelonus SZÉPLIGETI, 1908

1. Chelonus (Microchelonus) arnoldii (TOBIAS, 1964)

Material examined: Çanakkale-Gelibolu-Burhanlı, mixed forests, 60m, 05.07.2012, $2 \stackrel{\frown}{\downarrow} \stackrel{\frown}{\downarrow}$.

General Distribution: Hungary, Kazakhistan, Romania, Turkey.

Hosts: So far unknown.

2. Chelonus (Microchelonus) excavatus TOBIAS, 1972

Material examined: Çanakkale-Gelibolu-Burhanlı, vegetable garden, 40m, 05.07.2012, \bigcirc ; Çanakkale-Gelibolu-Güneyli, pasture, crop field, 60m, 06.08.2014, \bigcirc .

General Distribution: Russia, Mongolia, Turkey.

Hosts: So far unknown.

3. Chelonus (Microchelonus) fenestratus (NEES von ESENBECK, 1816)

Material examined: Çanakkale-Ayvacık, orchard, 50 m, 10.07.2008; $2 \bigcirc \bigcirc$; -Gelibolu-Kabatepe, pine forests, 40m, 05.07.2015, \bigcirc .

General Distribution: England, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Korea, Poland, Russia, Turkey.

Hosts: So far unknown.

4. Chelonus (Microchelonus) flavipalpis (SZÉPLIGETI, 1896)

Material examined: Çanakkale-Kilirtbahir, pine forests, 70m, 21.06.2015, $2 \bigcirc \bigcirc$; -Eceabat-Bigali, orchards and vegetable garden, 80m, 20.06.2015, \bigcirc .

General Distribution: Georgia, Hungary, Mongolia, South Russia, Ukrain, Turkey.

Hosts: Parasitoid of lepidopterans *Parametriotes theae* K. (Momphidae), *Sparganothis pilleriana* D. & S. (Tortricidae).

5. Chelonus (Microchelonus) microphtalmus (WESMAEL, 1838)

Material examined: Çanakkale-Bayramiç-Evciler, orchard, 400 m., 02.08.2016, $2 \bigcirc \bigcirc$; -Kilirtbahir, pine forests, 70m, 21.06.2015, \bigcirc .

General Distribution: Belgium, Finland, former Yugoslavia, France, Germany, Hungary, Korea, Mongolia, Rumanian, Russia, Sweden, Turkey, Turkmenia.

Hosts: Parasitoid of lepidopteran Colleophora hemerobiella SCOP. (Coleophoridae).

6. Chelonus (Microchelonus) nigritibialis (ABDINBEKOVA, 1971)

Material examined: Çanakkale-Bayramiç-Evciler, orchard, 400 m., 02.08.2016, \bigcirc ; -Biga, crop fields, 50 m., 06.07.2011 \bigcirc ; -Dardanos, vegetable garden, 40 m., 12.07.2015, \bigcirc ; -Güzelyali, pine forests, 500 m., 02.09.2016, \bigcirc .

General Distribution: Azerbaijan, Mongolia, Turkey.

Hosts: So far unknown.

7. Chelonus (Microchelonus) risorius (REINHARD, 1867)

Material examined: Çanakkale-Ayvacık, orchard, 50 m, 10.07.2008; ♀, -Kepez

General Distribution: Armenia, Croatia, England, Finland, former Czechoslavakia, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Kazakhistan, Mongolia, Russia, Turkey.

Hosts: Parasitoid of hymenopterans Biorhiza terminalis F., Biorhiza pallida O. (Cynipidae).

8. Chelonus (Microchelonus) rostratus (TOBIAS, 1966)

Material examined: Çanakkale- Bayramiç-Ayazma, 500 m., 3 , 22.7.1997, $3\bigcirc \bigcirc$, \circlearrowright : -Ezine, vegetable garden, 100 m, 11.07.2009, $2\bigcirc \bigcirc$.

G e n e r a l D i s t r i b u t i o n : Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bulgaria, Hungary, Mongolia, Russia, Turkey, Turkmenia, Ukrain.

Hosts: So far unknown.

DISCUSSION

This study increases about ten times the number of localities of *Microchelonus* Szépligeti, 1908 (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Cheloninae) previously known from the Çanakkale province of Turkey.

The majority of the 8 species described in this study are disturbed in the Palaearctic region. They can be divided into the following groups according to their zoogeographical distributions (Taglianti et al.,1999).

• Asiatic-European: Chelonus (Microchelonus) arnoldii, C. (M.) excavatus, C. (M.) fenestratus, C. (M.) flavipalpis, C. (M.) microphtalmus, C. (M.) risorius, C. (M.) rostratus.

• Centralasiatic-European: C. (M.) nigritibialis.

CONCLUSIONS

The aim of this study was to survey the Lepidoptera and Hymenoptera parsitoids from a wide range of habitats at different altitudes in the Çanakkale province of Marmara region of Turkey.

REFERENCES

- Abdinbekova A.A. (1975). Die Braconiden (Hymenoptera, Braconidae) Aserbaidschans. Akad. Nauk. Aserbaid. SSR, Inst. Zool. "ELM", Baku: 204-229
- Aydogdu M., Beyarslan A. (2006). *Microchelonus* SZÉPLIGETI 1908 (Hymenoptera: Braconidae: Cheloninae) species from the Marmara, Western and Blacksea regions of Turkey. Linzer biol. Beitr., 38(1): 397-407.
- Kılıç A.Y., (2001). The Tabanidae (Diptera) Fauna of Çanakkale Province. Turk. J. Zool., 25: 403-411.
- Papp J. (1999). Redescription of F. Silvestri's two chelonine species (Hymenoptera, Braconidae: Cheloninae). Boll. Lab. Ent. agr. 55: 15-26.
- Taglianti AV., Audisio PA., Biondi M., Bologna MA., Carpaneto GM., Biase AD., Fattorini S., Piatella E., Sindacao R., Venchi A., Zapparoli M.A. (1999): A Proposal for chorotype classification of the Near East Fauna, in the framework of the Western Palearctic Region. Biogeographia, 20: 31-59.
- Tobias V.I. (1986): Keys to the Insects of the European Part of USSR. New Delhi, Baba Barkha Nath. Ed: G.S. Medvedev. 3 (4): 900.
- Yu DS, van Achterberg C, Horstmann K (2012). Interactive Catalogue of World Ichneumonoidea, Taxonomy, Biology, Morphology, and Distribution. Compact disc.

GIANT REED GROWTH FOR NEY MANUFACTURING IN SAMANDAĞ DISTRICT OF HATAY PROVINCE

Mehmet ARSLAN

Erciyes University, Agricultural Faculty, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Kayseri

mehmetarslan@erciyes.edu.tr

ABSTARCT

A ney is a musical instrument made from well dried firmly fibrous giant reeds (*Arundo donax* L.) having 9 homogeneously distributed short internodes along the cane. The best quality canes for ney manufacturing naturally grown in 6.5 km long and 100-250 m width sea shore of Asi delta plain Samandağ, Turkey. A good cane for ney manufacturing must have 9 homogeneously distributed short internodes. A cane with long internodes cannot used for ney manufacturing. To increase the number of canes that can be used for ney manufacturing plants that cannot be used for ney manufacturing must be cut and removed in the giant reed growing areas. In addition to plant removal, application of growth inhibitors shortened the internode length of canes. Either plant tinning or application of plant growth inhibitor can increase the number of canes suitable for ney manufacturing.

Key words: Arundo donax, Asi delta plain, giant reed, ney production, Samandağ

INTRODUCTION

Giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) is a genus of tall perennial reed-like grasses indigenous to the Mediterranean and to warmer regions of the Old World (Hickman 1993; Bell, 1997; Munz and Keck, 1959, Robbins et al. 1951). Giant reed was given several common names such as cane and common cane, but the scientific community accepted its common name as giant reed.

The plant has a long history in world culture through its influence on the creation of music, which can be traced back 5000 years (Merzouki et al. 2000, Perdue 1958). Arundo donax is a hydrophyte, growing along lakes, streams, drains and other wet sites. Ancient people of the Middle East was well known the giand reed. Woodwind musical instruments are made from giant reed stems. Therefore, commercial plantations of giant reed exist for musical instrument production.

Under optimal conditions it can grow more than 5 cm per day (Purdue 1958). Giant reed stands are among the most biologically productive of all communities. Under ideal growth conditions they can produce more than 20 tons per hectare above-ground dry mass (Perdue 1958). The world's best quality giant reeds for ney manufacturing is grown in Samandağ district in Hatay province due to suitable soil properties and environmental conditions. A ney is a musical instrument made from well dried firmly fibrous canes having 9 homogeneously distributed short internodes along the cane. The rarity of the canes that can be used for ney production increases the value of ney type canes.

It is well known that light quality influences plant growth and development. The fare red relative to red light ratio received during leaf development has been associated with plant height. Plants in higher-density receive higher fare red relative to red light ratios develop longer stems. Studies showed that the ratio of fare red relative to red light acts through the phytochrome system to

regulate stem elongation (Downs, et al., 1957). Anti-gibberellins affects plant height by suppressing gibberellin synthesis. Use of Anti-gibberellins is another way to reduce plant height. Chlormequat chloride and paclobutrazol, acts as anti-gibberellin, are recommended for height control in plants (Barret, 2001). These chemicals must be sprayed onto the plants for several times to get maximum effect. Thus, the aim of this study was to evaluate the tilling and growth regulator application efficiencies on the vegetative growth of giant reed aiming at height control.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The giant reed growing areas that can be used for the ney production lays the coastal line between at the end of Deniz neighborhood of Samandağ and Meydan gendarme building in Asi delta plain. Asi delta plain coast in which the ney type canes grow in 6.5 km long and 100-250 m width has slightly alkaline sandy soils, slightly saline, pure in organic matter, 33.3 mg/kg phosphorous, and 511 mg/kg potassium content with having seasonal varying water level between 5 and 95 cm depth. Mean yearly temperature is 20 °C and the lowest and the highest temperatures were -2.2 and 41°C, respectively. Yearly mean precipitation, relative humidity and wind speed are 900 mm, 75% and 4.6 m/sn, respectively.

Paclobutrazol (0, 10, and 20 mg/l) and chlormequat chloride (0, 4000, and 6000 mg/l) were applied when the plant heights were about 30 cm. The plant growth regulator applications were repeated in every 10 day intervals. The plants were monitored, and the data for the plant height were collected every 10 days.

A suitable tilling work area was chosen in the natural giant reed growing plantation in Samandağ, Hatay. The giant reed plants were cut down form the soil surface in March. The plant number was tinned to 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 plant/m² when the plant started to regrow. During the growth period, the plant number plot was kept by the removing of the regrowth plants. The plant height, stem diameter, nod number and internode length were measured at the harvest. The experimental design consisted of a complete randomized block design with 3 replications. The data were subjected to an analysis of variance, and the means were compared using the LSD test at 5%.

RESULTS

Due to the asexual reproduction difficulties of giant reed, its genetic variability and finding new genotypes or varieties were very difficult. Therefore, selecting superior genotype for ney manufacturing is useless. Plant tilling and application of anti-gibberellins look like good solutions to reduce internode length. Paclobutrazol and Chloromequat chloride were applied as anti-gibberellins. They were used as growth retardant to prevent lodging in grain and cereal crops and for growth control of potted greenhouse crops. Plant tilling and anti-gibberellin application studies were conducted in Samandağ delta plain, Hatay.

| | Plant | Stem diameter Internode | | Node | | | | | |
|------------------------------|------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|---------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Application | height (m) | (cm) | (cm) length (cm) number | | | | | | |
| Chloromequat chloride (mg/l) | | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 3.4 A | 2.3 B | 23.4 A | 18.6 A | | | | | |
| 4000 | 2.9 B | 2.9 A | 20.4 B | 17.7 AB | | | | | |
| 6000 | 3.1 B | 3.0 A | 18.5 C | 16.5 B | | | | | |
| | | Paclobutrazol (mg | g/l) | | | | | | |
| 0 | 3.8 A | 2.2 B | 19.5 A | 20.3 A | | | | | |
| 10 | 2.5 B | 3.1 A | 14.3 B | 15.2 b | | | | | |
| 20 | 2.1 B | 3.2 A | 10.2 C | 10.7 C | | | | | |
| LSD 0.05 | 0.2 | 0.18 | 0.4 | 2.01 | | | | | |

Table 1. Effects of chloromequat chloride and paclobutrazol on plant height, stem diameter, internode length and nod number.

Table 1 showed that the application of chloromequat chloride and paclobutrazol reduced the mean plant height. However, chloromequat chloride was found more effective on internode length compared with paclobutrazol. The lowest internode length was obtained from 20 mg/l paclobutrazol application, and the longest was obtained from no chemical applied control plots. Stem diameter also influenced from the chemical applications. Both chloromequat chloride and paclobutrazol increased stem diameter.

Chloromequat chloride had limited effect on the mean height of plants at the concentrations applied. In contrast, paclobutrazol was found more effective in controlling plant height and node length at a concentration of 10 and 20 mg/l. Paclobutrazol offers a viable means for internode length control in giant reed.

| Pant | Plant | Stem diameter | Node length | Node |
|-----------------------|------------|---------------|---------------|--------------|
| number/m ² | height (m) | (cm) | (cm) | number/plant |
| 5 | 1.6 E | 2.8 A | 13.5 E | 18.6 B |
| 10 | 1.5 E | 2.4 B | 14.8 D | 18.7 B |
| 15 | 1.9 D | 2.3 B | 18.5 C | 18.5 B |
| 20 | 2.2 C | 2.1 B | 19.5 B | 20.3 A |
| 25 | 2.5 B | 1.3 C | 19.3 B | 19.2 A |
| 30 | 2.9 A | 1.2 C | 23.2 A | 19.7 A |
| LSD 0.05 | 0.21 | 0.19 | 0.35 | 2.49 |

Table 2. Effects of plant density on plant height, stem diameter and nod number.

Plant density had significant effects on plant height, stem diameter, node number and node length. When plant height was considered, the lowest value was obtained from the lowest plant density with 1.6 m (Table 2). The highest plant plant heights were obtained from 30 and 25 plant/m² densities. Plant height increased with the increasing plant density. Internode length showed similar length response pattern. The lowest mean internode length was obtained from the lowest plant population density with 13.5 cm. Internode length increased with the increased with the increased plant population. Light plays important role on plant growth

and development. Plants grown in higher-density populations receive higher far red/red ratios and develop longer stems (Downs, et al., 1957).

CONCLUSIONS

To obtain maximum number of canes that can be used for ney production removal of all plant canopy after cutting and removal of individuals that cannot be used for ney production are required. In addition to plant removal, application of anti-gibberellin group type of chemicals helped to complete the process that necessary for production of canes with short internodes.

REFERENCES

- Barret, J. (2001). Mechanisms of action. In.: Gaston, M. L.; Konjoian, P. S.; Kunkle, L. A.; Wilt, M. F. (Ed.). Tips on regulating growth of floriculture crops. Columbus: OFA, p. 32-41.
- Bell GP (1997). Ecology and management of *Arundo donax*, and approaches to riparian habitat restoration in southern California. In: Plant Invasions: Studies from North America and Europe.
- Downs RJ, Hendricks SB, Borthwick HA (1957) Photoreversible control of elongation of pinto beans and other plants. Bot Gaz 188:199-208.
- Hickman JC, editor. (1993). The Jepson manual: higher plants of California. Berkeley (CA): University of California Press.
- Munz, P.A. and D.D. Keck. (1959). A California Flora. In collaboration with D.D. Keck. University of California Press, Berkeley, California.
- Merzouki, A., F. Ed-Derfoufi and J.M. Mesa. 2000. Contribution to the knowledge of Rifiarian traditional medicine. II Folk medicine in Ksar Lakbir District (NW Morocco). Fitoterapia 71:278-307.
- Perdue RE. (1958). Arundo donax source of musical reeds and industrial cellulose. Econ. Bot. 12: 368-404.
- Robbins, W.W., M.K. Bellue and W.S. Ball. 1951. Weeds of California. California Department of Agriculture, Sacramento.

ESSENTIAL OIL CONTENT AND COMPOSITION OF LEMON BALM (MELISSA OFFICINALIS L.) GENOTYPES GROWN UNDER CENTRAL ANATOLIAN REGION

Mehmet ARSLAN

Erciyes University, Agricultural Faculty, Agricultural Biotechnology-Kayseri

mehmetarslan@erciyes.edu.tr

ABSTARCT

Lemon balm (*Melissa officinalis* L.) is a perennial plant from Labiatae family widely used in alternative medicine. This study was conducted at to determine herbage yield, essential oil content and essential oil components of 6 lemon balm genotypes under the continental type of climate in 2015 – 2017 growing seasons. The experimental design was randomized complete blocks with three replications. The essential oil content was determined by steam distillation and the essential oil composition was determined with gas chromatography - mass spectrometry. The herbage yield varied between 2500-3250 kg/ha. The genotype ERU02 had highest herbage yield while the genotype ERU12 had the lowest. Essential oil contents varied between 0.09 and 0.3 %. The genotype CA03 had highest essential oil content while the genotype ERU09 had the lowest. The main essential oil components were citral, citronellal, geraniol, linalool, β -caryophyllene, cermacrene-d.

Key words: Melissa officinalis, Lemon balm, essential oil content, essential oil composition

INTRODUCTION

Lemon Balm (Melissa officinalis L.), a perennial herbaceous plant distributed in the Mediterranean region and Asia, has great medicinal properties. The lemon balm leaves are used as herbal tea, fever, headache, gastrointestinal disorders, insomnia, rheumatism and calming nerves. The plant has antibacterial, antiviral, antiseptic, antispasmodic, carminative, sedative, digestive properties. Lemon balm essential oil can be used as antioxidant and also as antimicrobial. Antimicrobials are not new and have been used throughout all of recorded history (Gurib-Fakim, 2006). A report by the World Health Organization estimates that 80 percent of the world's people use plants for their healthcare (WHO 2001). Even more, the concept of pharmaceutical drugs, cosmetic, and even the food industries are founded upon the healing and beneficial effects of plant extracts (Hammer, 1999). Essential oil content of lemon balm is low (among 0.05 and 0.12 % vol.) compared with most of essential oil bearing plants. The main constituents in lemon balm oil were citral (neral, geranial), citronellal, citronellol, linalool, geranyl acetate, although, there were reports for quantitative variation in the major compounds of oil. Essential oil content, composition and herbage yield can be varying among lemon balm genotypes. In order to get higher herbage, yield the selected superior lemon balm genotypes or species must be cultivated. The objective of the current study was to determine the essential oil content, essential oil component and herbage yield of lemon balm.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

High yielding selected lemon balm genotypes were vegetatively propagated by stem cuttings. The rooted cuttings were transferred in 4-row plots, 5 m long with 5 intra-row spacing at the experimental field of Erciyes University. The planting densities were 60 x 35 cm (47.580 plants/ha),

60 x 30 cm (55.500 plants/ha), 60 x 25 cm (66.666 plants/ha), 60 x 20 cm (83.333 plants/ha) and 60 x 15 cm (110.833 plants/ha). The experimental design was a randomized complete block with three replications. The crop was fertilized with 75 kg/ha of N and 75 kg/ha of P2O5. Drip irrigation was applied during the growing period. Aerial parts of lemon balm genotypes were harvested at the flowering stage. The harvested plants were dried under the shade. Essential oil was extracted by water distillation for 3 h from air-dried leaves, by using a Clevenger-type apparatus. The obtained essential oils were dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and stored at four degrees in a refrigerator until they were analyzed.

Essential oil analysis was done using a Hewlett-Packard 2890 GC with FID. A HP-5 MS capillary column (30 m x 0.25 mm i.d. 0.25 μ m film thickness) was used. The carrier gas used was Helium (1.4 ml/ min). The column had a temperature programming of: five minutes at 45 degrees, then at three degrees per minute up until 220 degrees, and held for 10 minutes. The injector temperature was 220 degrees and the detector temperature was 250 degrees. Injection was done using the automatic settings. Samples (0.5 μ l of the oil solution in hexane (1:100) were injected using the splitless technique into Helium carrier gas. Peak areas and retention times was measured by electronic integration. GC/MS analysis of the essential oil was carried out on Hewlett Packard 5970A mass selective detector (MSD), directly coupled to a HP 6890 GC. The column, temperature program and injection was performed using the same procedure outlined above. Injection was done using the automatic settings. The library search was done using "Wiley Library, WILEY275, NBS75K, NIST98, FLAVOR". EI mass spectra was measured at 70 e V ionizations voltage over the mass range 10 - 400 u. Identification of the compounds was accomplished through a comparison of retention times and mass spectra with the library standards (Stenhagen, 1974; Adams, 1995).

The statistical analysis of experimental data was determined using a general linear model procedure of SAS for Windows (Version 8.02, SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA), applying the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Differences between means were tested through LSD and values of p < 0.05 were considered significantly different.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Dry herbage yield significantly varied among lemon balm genotypes (Table 1). The herbage yield varied between 2500-3250 kg/ha. The genotype ERU02 had highest herbage yield while the genotype ERU12 had the lowest. Essential oil contents also significantly varied among lemon balm genotype. The essential oil variation was between 0.09 and 0.3 %. The genotype CA03 had highest essential oil content while the genotype ERU09 had the lowest (Table 1). Essential oil content of lemon balm in the present work (range, 0.09 - 0.3 % v/w) was similar with studies of Rehman et al. (2013), Sari et al. 2002, and Ayanoğlu, et al.(2008), Dukic et al. (2004) and Sadraei et al. (2003).

More than twenty-five essential oil components were detected from the essential oil of lemon balm genotype ERU02, 29 from ERU06, 28 from ERU09, 26 from ERU12, 25 from CA03 and 24 from CA07. Considerable number of essential oil components (>2%) were recorded for lemon balm genotypes. Citronellal, Neral, Geraniol, Geranial, β -Caryophyllene and Caryophyllene oxide were the major essential oil components.

| Lemon balm genotypes | Herbage yield (kg/ha) | Essential oil content (%) |
|----------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------|
| ERU02 | 3100 A | 0.31 A |
| ERU06 | 2980 B | 0.29 A |
| ERU09 | 2870 C | 0.28 A |
| ERU12 | 2740 D | 0.17 B |
| CA03 | 2600 E | 0.12 B |
| CA07 | | |
| LSD 0.05 | 100.2 | 0.083 |

Table 1. Herbage yield and essential oil content of lemon balm grown in the central Anatolia.

Table 2. Essential oil components of lemon balm genotypes grown in the central Anatolia.

| | | Area (%) | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|------|----------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| Components | RI* | ERU02 | ERU06 | ERU09 | ERU12 | CA03 | CA07 |
| Sabinen | 973 | 0.91 | 0.84 | 0.37 | 0.91 | 0.91 | 0.91 |
| α-Terpinene | 1012 | 0.25 | 0.27 | 0.23 | 0.25 | 0.25 | |
| Limonene | 1030 | 0.63 | 0.71 | 0.65 | 0.63 | 0.63 | 0.63 |
| trans-β-Ocimene | 1051 | | 0.22 | 0.31 | 0.24 | 0.24 | 0.24 |
| Linalool | 1095 | 0.34 | 0.24 | 0.49 | 0.34 | 0.34 | 0.34 |
| n-Nonanal | 1102 | 0.21 | | 0.12 | 0.21 | | 0.21 |
| cis- Rose oxide | 1114 | 0.22 | 0.33 | 0.36 | 0.22 | 0.22 | |
| trans-Rose oxide | 1123 | 0.28 | 0.22 | 0.16 | | 0.28 | |
| neo-Isopulegol | 1142 | 0.45 | 0.47 | 0.33 | 0.45 | 0.45 | 0.45 |
| Citronellal | 1150 | 14.50 | 13.31 | 17.65 | 14.50 | 14.50 | 14.50 |
| Isogeranial | 1167 | 0.20 | 0.22 | 0.20 | 0.20 | | 0.20 |
| Isomenthol | 1180 | 0.38 | 0.34 | 0.31 | | 0.38 | 0.38 |
| Nerol | 1222 | 1.20 | 1.41 | 2.14 | 1.20 | 1.20 | 1.20 |
| Neral | 1241 | 25.10 | 24.15 | 27.13 | 25.10 | 25.10 | 25.10 |
| Geraniol | 1258 | 4.21 | 3.18 | 4.25 | 4.21 | 4.21 | 4.21 |
| Geranial | 1271 | 35.10 | 37.46 | 30.34 | 35.10 | 35.10 | 35.10 |
| Nonanoic acid | 1285 | 0.40 | 0.30 | 0.21 | 0.40 | 0.40 | 0.40 |
| Undecanal | 1300 | 0.29 | 0.32 | 0.23 | 0.29 | 0.29 | |
| Dihydro citronellol acetate | 1314 | 0.21 | 0.31 | 0.41 | 0.21 | | 0.21 |
| Citronellyl acetate | 1351 | 0.30 | 0.30 | 0.36 | | 0.30 | |
| Geranyl acetate | 1365 | | 0.23 | 0.20 | 0.23 | 0.23 | 0.23 |
| α-Ylangene | 1372 | 1.90 | 1.20 | 1.94 | 1.90 | 1.90 | 1.90 |
| α-Copaene | 1376 | | 0.17 | 0.13 | 0.15 | 0.15 | 0.15 |
| β-Caryophyllene | 1404 | 3.75 | 2.98 | 3.25 | 3.75 | 3.75 | 3.75 |
| β- Farnesene | 1441 | 0.32 | 0.37 | | | | - |
| γ -Himachalene | 1470 | 0.41 | 0.35 | 0.47 | 0.41 | 0.41 | 0.41 |
| Valencene | 1495 | 0.24 | 0.26 | 0.11 | 0.24 | 0.24 | 0.24 |
| cis-Calamenene | 1520 | 0.24 | 0.19 | 0.21 | 0.24 | 0.24 | 0.24 |
| Caryophyllene oxide | 1578 | 7.50 | 6.80 | 7.48 | 7.50 | 7.50 | 7.50 |
| β-Eudesmol | 1580 | 0.30 | 0.41 | | 0.30 | | 0.30 |

*Retantion index

The essential oil components recorded for this study was similar to the essential oil components from Serbia (Dukic et al., 2004), Slovak (Holla et al., 1997), Egypt (Shalaby El-Gengaihi and Khattab, 1995), France (Carnat et al., 1998), Greece (Basta et al., 2005) and Iran (Sadraei et al., 2003). Essential oils of lemon balm were dominated by neral (29.9 % and 39.3 %) and geranial (41.0 % and 47.3 %) respectively (Pino et al., 1999; Da Silva et al., 2005). A low citronellal content (0.2 %) was reported for lemon balm grown in Cuba (Pino et al., 1999) and zero in Brazil (Da Silva et al., 2005). Higher β -carophyllene content (14.2 %) was reported in the essential oil content of lemon balm gron in Turkey (Allahverdiyev et al., 2004).

REFERENCES

- Ayanoglu, F., Arslan, M. and Hatay, A. (2005). Effects of harvesting stages, harvesting hours and drying methods on essential oil content of lemon balm grown in Eastern Mediterranean. International Journal of Botany. 1: 138-142.
- Allahverdiyev, A., Duran, N., Ozguven, M., Koltas, S. (2004). Antiviral activity of the volatile oils of M. officinalis L. against Herpes simplex virus type-2. Phytomedicine 11:657-61.
- Basta A, Tzakou O, Couladi M. (2005). Composition of the leaves essential oil of Melissa officinalis from Greece. Flav Fragr J 20:642-4.
- Carnat, A.P., Carnat, A., Fraisse, D., Lamaison, J.L. (1998). The aromatic and polyphenolic composition of lemon balm (Melissa officinalis. L. subsp. officinalis) tea. Pharma Acta Helv 72:301-5.
- Dukic, N.M., Bozin, B., Sokovic, M., Simin, N. (2004). Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of (Lamiaceae) essential oil. J Agric Food Chem 52:2485-9.
- Da Silva, S.S., Salgueiro Lage ACL, Da Silva San Gil RA, De Almeide Azevedo D, Esquibel MAJ. (2005). Essential oil composition of Melissa officinalis L. In vitro produced under the influence of growth regulators. Braz Chem Soc. 16:1387-90.
- Gurib-Fakim, A. (2006). Medicinal plants: traditions of yesterday and drugs of tomorrow. Mol Aspects Med 27: 1 93.
- Holla, M, Svajdlenka, E, Tekel, J., Vaverkova, S., Havranek, E. (1997). Composition of the essential oil from M. officinalis L. cultived in Slovak Repuc. J Essent Oil Res. 9:481-4.
- Pino, J.A., Rosado, A, Fuentes, V. (1999). Composition of the essential oil of Melissa officinalis L. from Cuba. J Essent Oil Res 11:363-4.
- Rehman, S. U., Latief, R., Bhat, K.A., Khuroo, M.A., Shawl AS and Chandra S. Comparative analysis of the aroma chemicals of Melissa officinalis using hydrodistillation and HSSPME techniques. Arabian Journal of Chem. 2013.
- Sadraei, H, Ghannadi, A, Malekshahi K. (2003). Relaxant effect of essential oil of Melissa officinalis and citral on rat ileum contractions. Fitoterapia 74:445-52.

- Sari, A.O. A. (2002). Yield characteristics and essential oil composition of lemon balm (Melissa officinalis L.) grown in the Aegean region of Turkey. Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry, 26: 217-224.
- Shalaby E.I-Gengaihi, A.S., Khattab M. J. (1995). Oil of Melissa officinalis L. as affected by storage and herb drying. J Essent Oil Res 7:667-9.
- WHO (World Health Organization) (2011) The World Traditional Medicines Situation, in Traditional medicines: Global Situation, Issues and Challenges. Geneva 3:1–14.

ALLELOPATHIC POTENTIAL OF RAPESEED (BRASSICA NAPUS L.) CULTIVARS ON WEEDS

Mehmet ARSLAN*¹, İlhan UREMIS²

¹Erciyes University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Field Crops, 31034 Hatay-Turkey ²Mustafa Kemal University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, Hatay-Turkey

* mehmetarslan@erciyes.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Rapeseed (Brassica napus L., spp. oleifera) contains water soluble allelochemicals that can be used effectively and economically to control problem weeds in cultivated areas. Four rapeseed cultivars (Westar, Bristol, ACSN3 and Eureka), three development stages (rosette, flowering and harvesting) and three extract concentrations (2, 4 and 8%) were examined for their allelopathic potential against Amaranthus retroflexus and Solanum nigrum. Cultivars, development stages and extract concentrations had significant effects on the inhibition of seed germination, and shoot and root growth of the tested weed species. Cultivars Westar and ACSN3 had the highest inhibitory effects on the germination of A. retroflexus (42.6%) and S. nigrum (41.3%) seeds. The rate of germination and seedling growth inhibitions increased with increasing extract concentrations. The highest inhibition rates were obtained from 8 g 100 mL extract concentration for both weed species. Rapeseed extracts exhibited different levels of allelopathy at rosette, flowering and harvesting stages. Shoot powder extracts of the flowering stage had the highest allelopathy followed by rosette and harvesting stages. Rapeseed cultivars having higher allelopathic potential at the vegetative stage are potentially viable green manures, while cultivars having higher allelopathic potential at harvesting stage may be useful in crop rotation to control problem weeds. However, further studies are needed to determine the amount of residue, the time interval between rapeseed harvest and the planting of the following crop, tillage practices applied after rapeseed harvest and appropriate soil conditions for maximum release of allelochemicals.

Keywords Allelopathy; Amaranthus retroflexus; Brassica napus; germination; Solanum nigrum.

INTRODUCTION

Allelopathy, effects of one plant on another by chemicals release or the breakdown products of their metabolites, gained great attention due to increased public and environmental concerns on extensive use of synthetic herbicides to control weeds. Herbicides are increasingly found in groundwater and surface waters due to their extensive use in agriculture, forests, pastures, lakes, parks, root-sides as well as home lawns. In cultivated lands, 3.2 billion tons of pesticides are used and \$36 billion are spent to control pests in the World. Herbicides are accounted for 50% of the total pesticides used. Therefore, allelopathic suppression of weeds is receiving greater attention as a possible alternative for weed management. The genetic improvement of crops for allelopathic traits is a strategy for biological weed control in breeding programs (Wu *et al.* 1999). It has been proposed that the allelopathic potential of plants is genetically controlled (Mason-Sedun 1986; Putnam and Tang 1986). Thus, understanding of genetic control of allelopathy can enhance development of allelopathic

cultivars that can be incorporated into crop rotation systems for improved weed control. Accessions having allelopathic potential have been found in many crop species, however, no commercial cultivars carrying allelopathic properties have been developed.

Plants in Brassica species may suppress growth and development of weeds through the release of allelochemicals from plant residues incorporated into the soil (Tollsten and Bergstrom 1988; Bialy *et al.* 1990, Muehlchen *et al.* 1990; Khatib *et al.* 1997; Vaughn and Boydston 1997; Turk and Tawaha 2002). After its harvest, rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L., spp. *oleifera*) offers a long crop growing period for double cropping in Mediterranean type of climates. Another importance of rapeseed in rotation is reduction of initial weed density, so that a following crop's canopy can smother the weeds and excellent weed control can be achieved with only a few applications of herbicides. Rapeseed is an alternate crop for rotation in an agricultural system predominated by small cereal grains. Rapeseed is the third most important oilseed crop worldwide and it is also one of the major sources of edible oil for humans and residual meal for farm animals (Anonymous 2008).

Increasing allelopathic potential in combination with breeding for competitive plant types could result in crop cultivars with superior weed-suppressive ability. Therefore, allelopathic potential would be a valuable trait to breed in cultivars so they can be used for weed control in cropping systems. Allelopathic traits incorporated crop cultivars may reduce the need for weed management, particularly herbicide use. The present study was designed to evaluate the allelopathic potential of rapeseed cultivars (Westar, Bristol, ACSN3 and Eureka), harvested at various growth stages, on the germination and seedling growth of *Amaranthus retroflexus* L. and *Solanum nigrum* L.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Crop growth

Rapeseed cultivars (Westar, Bristol, ACSN3 and Eureka) were planted in 10 m² plots six 5 m rows, planted 0.35 m apart in November 2005 at the experimental farm of Mustafa Kemal University (36° 15' N; 36° 30' E, 60 m altitude). The rapeseed cultivars were harvested for each species at the rosette stage in March 2006, flowering stage April 2006 and harvest stage in May 2006. The soil of the experimental site, developed from alluvial deposits of river terraces, is typical for the Eastern Mediterranean region of Turkey and is classified as Chromoxeret by USDA Soil Taxonomy (1998) and as Vertisol by FAO/UNESCO (1974) having relatively high clay content with the predominant clay minerals smectite and kaolinite. The soil of the experimental plots was a clay silt loam with a pH of 7.6, 1.7% organic matter, 0.13% total nitrogen content, and a water holding capacity of 0.34 cm³. Based on soil analysis and local recommendations, fertilizer was applied prior to planting at a rate of 25-25-0 kg/ha NPK. Total precipitation during the plant growing period was 519 mm. The maximum and the minimum air temperature was about 27-10 °C at during the cropping period (November 2005-May 2006), while the relative humidity ranged from 50-67%.

Seed collection

The fruits of black nightshade (*Solanum nigrum* L.) were collected from infested areas in the experimental farm of Mustafa Kemal University in October 2005. The fruits were shade dried in the laboratory at ambient temperature (20-25 °C) for 30 days and then the seeds were hand separated and floated in distilled water to remove thrashes. After rinsed with distilled water, the seeds were dried on

the filter papers at ambient temperature in the laboratory for 7 days. The panicles of redroot pigweed (*Amaranthus retroflexus* L.) were collected from the infested areas and dried at room temperatures for 7 days. Trash was removed from the seeds by floating them in distilled water. To break dormancy, imbibed seeds were stored for 21 days at 4 °C in the dark (Faccini and Barat 1989).

Extract preparation

Rapeseed cultivars were uprooted at three different development stages (rosette, flowering and harvest maturity) and taken immediately to the laboratory where they were washed thoroughly with tap water and separated into root and shoot. After rinsing with distilled water, shoots were separately chopped into small pieces with clippers then grinded with a batch mill (Ika M 20 Universal mill with M 23 Star-shaped cutter). Grinded fresh shoot samples were separately pressed with a modified hydraulic bottle jack to have shoot extracts. The extracts were filtered through a double layer of muslin cloth and then and centrifuged (1500 g) for 4 h. The supernatant was filtered again using a 0.2 mm filterware unit to give the final shoot extracts. The extracts were divided in to two half. One half was frozen in 100 mL plastic caps at -24 °C for the future germination test, the other half was diluted to obtain a series of solutions with different concentrations (2, 4 and 8%).

Germination bioassay

A hundred redroot pigweed and black nightshade seeds were surface sterilized with water : bleach solution (10:1) and placed evenly on filter paper in sterilized 90 mm Petri dishes. Ten mililiters of different concentrations of aqueous extracts (2, 4 and 8%) and distilled water was used as a control. All Petri dishes were placed in a growth chamber at 28/32 °C for 12/12h and dark/light period for 16/8h. Treatments were arranged in a completely randomized design with four replications. An equal volume of distilled water was added to the petri dishes when moisture content of the filter paper declined. The number of germinated seeds were counted at 3, 5, 7, 14, 21 and 28 days after incubation.

Percent germination inhibition was calculated as [(CG-TG)/CG] x 100.

Where growth inhibition in %; CG, germination rate in check treatment; TG, germination rate in extract treatment. Analysis of variance was performed for all data using a general linear model procedure (SAS Inst. 1997). Data from two experiments were pooled and mean values were separated on the basis of least significant difference (LSD) at the 0.05 probability level

Growth bioassay

Seeds of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* were germinated on filter paper in growth chamber. Fifteen 2 cm long seedlings of each test weed were planted in a 90 mm Petri dishes filled with sterilized quartz sand. Ten mililiters of different concentrations of aqueous extracts (2, 4 and 8) or distilled water in the case of the control, were added. Experiments were arranged in a completely randomized design with four replications. Petri dishes were, then, incubated in an illuminated growth chamber at 30 °C. The shoot and root length of seedlings were measured 5 days after treatment.

Percent Growth inhibition was calculated as [(LC-LT)/LC] x 100.

Where growth inhibition in %; LT, shoot or root length of treated weed seedling; LC, shoot and root length of untreated check weed seedling.

All experiments were conducted twice in a completely randomized design with four replications. Analysis of variance was performed on all data using a general linear model procedure (SAS Inst. 1997). Data from two experiments were pooled and mean values were separated on the basis of least significant difference (LSD) at the 0.05 probability level.

RESULTS

Analysis of variance showed significant differences among growth stages, application doses and cultivars for germination, seedling and root growth inhibitions of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* (Table 1). Development stage x dose interaction was significant for seedling growth of *A. retroflexus* and root growth of *S. nigrum*. Development stage x cultivar interaction was significant for all of the investigated plant parameters of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*, except for germination inhibition of *A. retroflexus*. Growth stage x dose x cultivar interaction was significant for seedling and root growth of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*, but not for seed germination of both weed species.

Table 1. Effects of rapeseed cultivars, growth stages and extract concentrations on germination, seedling and root growth of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*. Table 1. Effects of rapeseed cultivars, growth stages and extract concentrations on germination, seedling and root growth of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*.

| | Germination | | Seedling g | growth | Root growth | | |
|------------------|--------------------|----------|----------------|-----------|--------------------|-----------|--|
| | <u>(% of the c</u> | ontrol) | (% of the | control) | (% of the control) | | |
| | A. retroflexus | S.nigrum | A. retroflexus | S. nigrum | A. retroflexus | S. nigrum | |
| Cultivar (C) | | | | | | | |
| Westar | 42.6 | 35.1 | 25.1 | 20.5 | 53.8 | 40.3 | |
| Bristol | 42.5 | 28.6 | 27.3 | 14.2 | 59.9 | 44.6 | |
| Acsn3 | 42.2 | 41.3 | 21.4 | 13.9 | 54.0 | 33.5 | |
| Eureka | 34.6 | 36.1 | 25.5 | 20.7 | 57.6 | 41.8 | |
| LSD 0.05 | 5.35 | 4.23 | 1.82 | 1.42 | 2.47 | 2.93 | |
| Growth stage (GS |) | | | | | | |
| Rosette | 41.1 | 33.6 | 26.0 | 17.9 | 56.9 | 38.6 | |
| Flowering | 45.5 | 42.7 | 31.2 | 22.2 | 60.9 | 49.0 | |
| Harvest | 34.8 | 29.6 | 17.2 | 11.8 | 51.2 | 32.6 | |
| LSD 0.05 | 4.66 | 3.66 | 1.58 | 1.23 | 2.14 | 2.53 | |
| Dose (D) g/100 m | l | | | | | | |
| 2 | 24.6 | 17.3 | 17.9 | 9.1 | 46.9 | 31.9 | |

| 4 | | 40.6 | 32.0 | 23.1 | 15.4 | 56.3 | 37.8 |
|---------------|---------------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| 8 | | 56.2 | 56.5 | 33.4 | 27.6 | 65.8 | 50.4 |
| LSD 0.05 | i | 4.63 | 3.66 | 1.58 | 1.23 | 2.14 | 2.59 |
| Source of var | riation <u>d.f.</u> | | | | | | |
| Replication | on (R) 7 | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS |
| GS | 2 | *** | *** | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| Error 1 | 14 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| D | 2 | *** | *** | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| GS X D | 4 | NS | NS | NS | NS | NS | *** |
| Error 2 | 42 | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| С | 3 | ** | *** | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| GS X C | 6 | NS | *** | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| D X C | 6 | NS | ** | *** | *** | *** | *** |
| GS X D X | XC 12 | NS | NS | *** | *** | *** | *** |

*, **, and *** Significant at the 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 levels of probability respectively; NS is not significant.

Water soluble extracts from Westar, Bristol, ACSN3 and Eureka showed inhibitory effects on seed germination, seedling and root growth of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* (Table 1). Inhibitory effects of extracts on germination, seedling growth and root growth of weed species varied with the rapeseed cultivar. The germination inhibition of cultivars on *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* varied between 34.6 and 42.6% and between 28.6 and 41.3%, respectively. Cultivar Westar had the highest inhibitory effects on the germination of *A. retroflexus* seeds, whereas cultivar Eureka had the lowest. The inhibitory effects of Westar, Bristol and ACSN3 water soluble extracts on germination of *A. retroflexus* were similar and classified as highly allelopathic cultivars. With *S. nigrum* germination, rapeseed cultivars exerted different inhibitory effects. Bristol had the lowest (28.6%) and ACSN3 had the highest (41.3%) inhibitory effects on the germination of *S. nigrum* seeds. Among the cultivars, ACSN3 had the most consistent, while Bristol had the most inconsistent inhibitory effects on the germination of both weed species. ACSN3 and Eureka had similar inhibitory effects on the germination of both *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* seeds.

Shoot and root growth of *S. nigrum* were less sensitive to water soluble extracts of rapeseed cultivars than those of *A. retroflexus*. Shoot growth inhibition of *A. retroflexus* varied between 21.4 and 27.3%, the highest and the lowest inhibition rates obtained from ACSN3 and Bristol, respectively. However, shoot growth of *S. nigrum* was differently affected by rapeseed cultivars. Cultivar Eureaka had the highest inhibition rate on the shoot growth of *S. nigrum*, while Bristol had the lowest.

Growth stages of the rapeseed had significant effect on germination, seedling and root growth of both weed species (Table 1). The highest inhibition rates for mentioned plant parameters of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* were obtained from the plant samples taken at flowering stage and the lowest were obtained from the samples taken at harvest. Based on *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* germination and seedling growth, averaged across all extract concentrations, the degree of toxicity of different growth stages can be ranked in the following order of inhibition: flowering stage > rosette stage > harvest stage.

The germination of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* was influenced differently by various concentrations of extracts. To determine the most effective extract concentration on the germination of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* seeds, three different concentrations 2, 4, and 8% of shoot extract were applied. The degree of inhibition increased with the increasing extract concentration (Table 1). The highest germination inhibition rates were obtained from the 8% extract concentration with 56.2 and 56.5% for *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*, respectively. Seedlings and roots showed similar patterns of inhibition. The highest and the lowest inhibition rates for both weed species were obtained from 2 and 8% extract concentrations, respectively.

Growth stage x cultivar interaction on seed germination was significant for only *S. nigrum* (Table 1). The significant interaction resulted from cultivar ACSN3 and Eureka (Fig. 1). Since ACSN3 had the highest germination inhibition rate at rosette and harvest stages while it had not highest inhibition rate at flowering stage. At the flowering stage, however, Eureka had the highest inhibition rate while it had the lowest inhibition rate at harvest.



Figure 1. Growth stage x cultivar interaction on germination inhibition of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*.



Figure 2. Growth stage x cultivar interaction on shoot growth inhibition of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*.

Growth stage x cultivar interaction on shoot and root growths of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum* were significant (Table 1). Allelopathic potential of rapeseed cultivars on shoot growth of *A. retroflexus* varied with growth stages. Bristol had the highest germination inhibition rate at rosette and harvest stages (Fig. 2). At the flowering stage, Westar had the highest inhibition rate on shoot growth, but it had the lowest inhibition rate at harvest. With *S. nigrum*, rapeseed cultivars exhibited different amounts of allelopathy at rosette, flowering and harvest stages. Cultivar Westar had the highest inhibition rate on shoot growth of *S. nigrum* at rosette and flowering. At the harvest stage, however, cultivar Eureka had the highest inhibition rate on shoot growth of *S. nigrum*.



Figure 3. Growth stage x cultivar interaction on root growth inhibition of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*.

Shoot extracts of Bristol at rosette, flowering and harvest stages had the highest inhibition rate on root growth of *A. retroflexus* (Fig. 3). In the case of *S. nigrum*, however, shoot extracts of Bristol at harvest stage did not have the highest root inhibition. Of the cultivars, Eureka had the highest inhibition rate on root inhibition rate at harvest.

DISCUSSION

Germination, shoot and root growth inhibitions of A. retroflexus and S. nigrum by water soluble extracts of rapeseed reflect the allelopathic potential of individual rapeseed cultivars at rosette, flowering and harvesting stages. The degree of allelopathic suppression varied among the tested rapeseed cultivars and development stages. The allelopathic potential of rapeseed cultivars are attributed to glucosinolates that have been reported to have allelopathic activity after hydrolysis by the enzyme myrosinase and volatiles produced from glucosinolate hydrolysis products (Jimenez-Osornio and Gliessman, 1987; Brown and Morra, 1995, 1996; Eberlein et al. 1998; Gardiner et al. 1999). Plant glucosinolate content depends on genetic, environmental and husbandry factors (Fenwick et al. 1983; Milford and Evans 1991; Morra and Kirkegaard 2002). The inhibitory allelopathic impact of water soluble extracts of rapeseed at the flowering stage was more powerful than that of the other growth stages (Schumacher et al. 1983; Reinhardt and Bezuidenhout 2001; Zuo and Ma, 2007). Water soluble extracts of allelopathic plants generally have more pronounced effects at the flowering stage. Therefore, germination and seedling growth of small-seeded weed species are best suppressed by selecting cultivars having higher level of allelopathy at the vegetative and early generative stages. However, most growers are unwilling to apply this practice due to its cost and lack of its direct contribution to the farm budget. However, rapeseed cultivars performing higher levels of allelopathicity at harvest are more suitable for weed management in crop rotations and use of their residues has no additional cost to growers. Breeding of rapeseed cultivars that do not lose most of their allelopathic potentials at harvest may be possible by developing biotechnology techniques to incorporate the gene(s) responsible for synthesizing allelochecimals into the rapeseed. Cultivar Westar may provide important genes for breeding highly allelopathic cultivars. It has been proposed that the allelopathic potential of plants is genetically controlled (Mason-Sedun 1986; Putnam and Tang 1986). Thus, understanding the genetic control of allelopathy can enhance development of allelopathic cultivars that can be incorporated into crop rotation systems for improved weed control. An increase in the allelopathic potential of cultivars will likely have a great impact on weed control in agroecosystems, even though the breeding approach alone cannot overcome all weed problems.

Amount of rapeseed residues, the amount of water soluble compounds in the crop residues, and the volatile compounds produced from glucosinolates are the important factors that affect weed seed germination. The current study indicated that the degree of germination inhibition of weed seeds increased with the increasing extract concentration. The results are in agreement with the previous investigations in that the activity of extracts was directly related to the concentration of extract rates (Babu and Kandasamy 1997; Hu and Jones 1997; Kirkegaard and Sarwar 1998; Arslan *et al.* 2005; Uremis *et al.* 2005).

In addition to residue amount, applied tillage practice influences allelopathic potential of rapeseed on weed species. The highest allelopathic effects can be seen with double cropping due to

increased allelopathic substances concentration in the top layer of the soil which contains most of the annual weed seeds.

Another aspect to be considered is the time interval between rapeseed harvest and planting of the following crop. If the time interval is long, the allelopathic potential of the rapeseed residue is lost due to decomposition and leaching hence, no allelopathic effects on weeds will be seen. This situation is more pronounced in the cooler regions where a long fallow period takes place after rapeseed harvest. Rapeseed residues suppresses certain weed species especially small-seeded weed species (Khatib *et al.* 1997), while they had no effect on large seeded crop species such as corn, soybean and cotton (Uremis *et al.* 2009). Hence, rapeseed is one of the best potential allelopathic crops in crop rotations to control weeds in the regions where double cropping is possible after rapeseed harvest.

CONCLUSIONS

Rapeseed extracts had significant herbicidal effects on the germination and seedling growth of *A. retroflexus* and *S. nigrum*. Rapeseed cultivars exhibited different levels of allelopathicity on the tested weed species. Germination and seedling growth inhibitions increased with the increasing extract concentration. Cultivar Westar had the highest germination inhibition rate on *A. retroflexus*, whereas cultivar ACSN3 had the highest inhibitory effect on *S. nigrum*. Averaged across all extract concentrations, allelopathic potential of cultivars at rosette, flowering and harvest stages were highly different. The highest inhibitory effects on germination and seedling growth of the tested weed species were obtained from the shoot extracts of the plant at the flowering stage while the lowest was obtained from the shoot extracts of the plant at the harvest. Rapeseed cultivar demonstrating higher levels of allelopathy in their harvest residues can be used in crop rotation to manage harmful weeds. However, further studies are needed to determine the amount of residue, the time interval between rapeseed harvest and the planting of the following crop, type of tillage applied after rapeseed harvest and proper soil conditions for maximum release of allelochemicals.

REFERENCES

Anonymous, (2008). Fao web site: <u>www.fao.org</u>.

- Arslan, M., Uremis, I. and Uludag, A. (2005). Determining bio-herbicidal potential of rapeseed, radish and turnip extracts on germination inhibition of cutleaf ground-cherry (*Physalis* angulata L.) seeds. J. Agron. 4:134-137.
- Babu R.C. and Kandasamy, O.S. (1997). Allelopathic effect of *Eucalyptus globtdus* Labill. on *Cyperus rotundus L.* and *Cynodon dactylon* L. Pers. J. Agron.Crop Sci. **179**: 123-126.
- Bialy, Z., Oleszek, W., Lewis, J. and Fenwick, G.R. (1990). Allelopathic potential of glucosinolates (mustard oil glycosides) and their degradation products against wheat. *Plant Soil* **129**: 277-281.
- Brown, P. D., and Morra. M.J. (1995). Glucosinolate-containing plant tissues as bioherbicides. J. Agric. Food Chem. 43: 3070-3074.

- Brown, P.D. and Morra M.J. (1996). Hydrolysis products of glucosinolates in *Brassica napus* tissues as inhibitors of seed germination. *Plant soil*. **181**: 307-316.
- Eberlein, C.V., Morra, M.J. Guttieri, M.J. Brown, P. D. and Brown, J. (1998). Glucosinolate production in five field-grown *Brassica napus* cultivars used as green manures. *Weed Technol*. 12: 712-718.
- Faccini, D. and Barat, E. (1989). Estudio del comportamiento germinativo del yuyo colorado (Amaranthus quitensis H.B.K.). Revista de la Asociacio 'n Argentina para el control de malezas, 17: 53–62.
- FAO/UNESCO, (1974). Soil Map of the World, Legend, World Soil Resources Report 59, Rome, Vol. 1.
- Fenwick, G.R., Heaney, R.K. and Mullin, W.J. (1983). Glucosinolates and their breakdown products in food and foot plants. *CRC Crit. Rev.Food Sci.* **18**:128-201.
- Gardiner J, Morra, M.J., Eberlein, C.V., Brown, P.D. and Borek, V. (1999). Allelochemicals released in soil following incorporation of rapeseed (*Brassica napus*) green manures. *J. Agr. Food Chem.* 47: 3837-3842.
- Hu, F.D. and Jones, R.J. (1997). Effects of plant extracts of *Bothriochloa pertusa* and *Urochloa mosambicensis* on seed germination and seedling growth of *Stylosanthes hamata* cv. Verano and *Stylosanthes scabra* cv. Seca. *Aust. J. Agr.* Res. 48: 1257-1264.
- Jimenez-Osornio, J. and Gliessman, S.R. (1987). Allelopathy interference in a wild mustard (*Brassica campestris* L.) and broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. var *italica*) intercrop agroecosystems. In: Allelochemicals: Role in Agriculture and Forestry, (Ed: Waller, G.R.) American Chemical Society Symposium Series, Washington D.C., **330**: 262-274.
- Khatib, K.A., Libbey, C. and Boydston, R. (1997). Weed suppression with Brassica green manure crops in green pea. *Weed Sci.* **45**: 439-445.
- Kirkegaard, J. A. and Sarwar, M. (1998). Biofumigation potential of Brassicas. I. Variation in glucosinolate profiles of diverse field-grown Brassicas. *Plant Soil* **201** : 71–89.
- Mason-Sedun, W. (1986). Differencial phytotoxicity of residues from the genus Brassica. PhD Thesis. University of New England.
- Milford, G.F.J. and Evans, E.J. (1991). Factors causing variation in glucosinolate in oil seed rape. Outlook on Agriculture, **20**, 131-137.
- Morra, M.J., and Kirkegaard. J.A. (2002). Isothiocyanate release from soil-incorporated Brassica tissues. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **34**: 1683-1690.
- Muehlchen, A.M., Rand, R.E. and Parke, J.L. (1990). Evaluation of cruciferous green manure crops for controlling Aphanomyces root rot of peas. *Plant Dis.* **64**: 651-654.
- Putnam, A.R. and Tang, C.S. (1986). Allelopathy: State of science, In: *The Science of Allelopathy* (eds.: A.R. Putnam and C.S. Tang), 43-56. John Wiley and Sons, New York, USA.

- Reinhardt, C.F. and Bezuidenhout, S.R. (2001). Growth stage of *Cyperus esculentus* influences its allelopathic effect on ectomycorrhizal and higher plant species. J. Crop Prod. 4: 23-333.
- SAS Institute. (1997). SAS/Stat software: Changes and enhancements through release 6.12. Cary, NC.
- Schumacher, W.J., Thill, D.C. and Lee, G.A. (1983). Allelopathic potential of wild oat (*Avena fatua*) on spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) growth. J. Chem. Ecol. **9**: 1235-1245.
- Tollsten, L. and Bergstrom, G. (1988). Headscape volatiles of whole plant and macerated plant parts of *Brassica* and *Sinapis*. *Phytochemistry* **27**: 4013-4018.
- Turk, M.A. and Tawaha, A.M. (2002). Inhibitory effects of aqueous extracts of black mustard on germination and growth of lentil. *Agron. J.* **1**: 28-30.
- Uremis, I., Arslan, M. and Uludag, A. (2005). Allelopathic Effects of Some Brassica Species on Germination and Growth of Cutleaf Ground-Cherry (*Physalis angulata* L.). J. Biol. Sci. 5: 661-665.
- Uremis, I., Arslan, M., Sangun, M.K., Uygur, V. and Isler, N. (2009). Allelopathic potential of rapeseed cultivars on germination and seedling growth of weeds. *Asian J. Chem.* **21**: 2170-2184.
- USDA, (1998). Keys to Soil Taxonomy, Natural Resources Conservation Service, Eighth Edition, Washington, DC., pp. 326.
- Vaughn, S.F. and Boydston, R.A. 1997. Volatile allelochemicals released by crucifer green manures. J. Chem. Ecol. 23 2107-2116.
- Wu, H., Pratley, J., Lemerle, D. and Haig, T. (1999). Crop cultivars with allelopathic capability. *Weed Res.*, **39**: 171-180.
- Zuo, S. and Ma, Y. Inanaga, S. (2007). Allelopathy variation in dryland winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) accessions grown on the Loess Plateau of China for about fifty years. *Genet. Resour. Crop Ev.* 54: 1381-1393.

DIURNAL VARIATION OF ESSENTIAL OIL CONTENT AND COMPOSITION OF THYME (THYMRA SPICATA)

Mehmet ARSLAN

Erciyes University, Agricultural Faculty, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology-Kayseri

mehmetarslan@erciyes.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Diurnal variation in fresh and dry herbage for preparing essential oil of thyme (*Thymra spicata*) were studied. Plants were harvested hourly starting at 6 a.m. and ending at 5 p.m. Essential oils of fresh and dry plant was extracted by steam distillation and the essential oil composition was determined with gas chromatography - mass spectrometry. Essential oil content slightly varied among harvesting hours. The highest essential oil content was obtained from 6 a.m. harvest, the lowest was obtained from 2 p.m. harvest. Twenty eight essential oil components were determined. Thymol, carvacrol, a-terpinen and cymol were the major essential oil components in both fresh and dry plant. Small variation in essential oil components were detected among harvest hours. The results indicated that the cooler hours of the day was the best harvesting time for essential oil yield with the highest active ingredients.

Key words: diurnal variation, essential oil, thyme, Thymra spicata,

INTRODUCTION

Thyme (*Thymus vulgaris*), is an evergreen sub-shrub native to the southern Europe and the Mediterranean, is a perennial medicinal and aromatic plant belonging to the Lamiaceae family (Davis, 1982, Morales, 2002; Zarzuelo and Crespo, 2002). Tyme essential oil of is among the top 10 essential oils (Letchamo and Gosselin, 1996; Zarzuelo and Crespo, 2002). Tyme essential oil can be used as antioxidant and also as antimicrobial. The major constituents of commercial thymol are p-cymene, - terpinene and carvacrol (Arslan and Derviş, 2011 Hudaib et al. 2002, Tian and Lai, 2006). Tyme has multiple biological activities including anti-inflammatory [Braga et al, 2006], immunomodulatory (Amirghofran et al., 2012), antispasmodic (Babaei et al. 2008), antioxidant (Aeschbach et al. 1994), antibacterial (Didry, 1994), antifungal (Arslan and Derviş, 2011), antiviral (Bukovska, 2007), antihelminthic (Rasooli et al., 2006), carminative (Dapkevicius et al. 2002), and free radical scavenging properties (Fujisawa and Y. Kadoma). Thymol is the main phenolic components that is mainly responsible for antioxidative activity [5]. The leaves of thyme and its essential oil are used in foods for the flavour, aroma and preservation. Currently, thyme has changed from a traditional herb to a serious drug in rational phytotherapy due to its broad biological activities.

Although biosynthesis essential oil components is controlled genetically, it is strongly affected by temperature, humidity, wind velocity, light intensity and photoperiod. Seasonal variation of thyme essential oil content and composition has been widely studied. However, there are a few study on diurnal fluctuation of thyme essential oil. The purpose the current study was determine diurnal essential oil fluctuation of thyme.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Thyme plants, grown in the research area of Erciyes University, Kayseri were harvested at two-hour intervals starting from 6:00 to 16:00 in July, 10 and 15 2016. Harvested plant samples were divided in two groups. Group one was freshly studied immediately after harvest and group two was dried in the shade at 26 °C for one week to determine diurnal essential oil content and component variations of fresh and dry herbage of thyme. In each group, approximately 100 g fresh material was sampled for analysis.

The fresh and dried samples were subjected to steam distillation for 3 h using a Clevenger type apparatus. Essential oils obtained were dried over anhydrous sodium sulphate and stored at -20° C until gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis. The oil percentage was expressed as w/v with respect to dry matter of the initial material.

GC-MS analysis

Analysis of the essential oil carried out by using Thermo Scientific Focus Gas Choromatograph equipped with MS, auto sampler and TR-5MS (5% Phenyl Polysilphenylenesiloxane, 0.25 mm x 60 m i.d, film thickness 0.25).The carrier gas was helium (99.9%) at a flow rate of 1 mL/min; ionization energy was 70 eV. Mass range m/z 50-650 amu. Data acquisition was scan mode. MS transfer line temperature was 250 °C, MS Ionization source temperature was 220 °C, the injection port temperature was 220 °C. The samples were injected with 250 split ratio. The injection volume was 1µl. Oven temperature was programmed to from 50 °C to 220 °C at 3 °C /min. The structure of each compound was identified by comparison of their mass spectrum (Wiley) a data was handled through using of Xcalibur software program. The retention indices (RIs) were calculated for all volatile constituents using a homologous series of *n*-alkane standard solutions C8-C20 (Fluka, product no. 04070) and C21-C40 (Fluka, product no. 04071).

Statistical Analysis

All experiments were conducted in a completely randomized design with three replicates. The statistical analysis of experimental data was determined using a general linear model procedure of SAS for Windows (Version 8.02, SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA), applying the one way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Differences between means were tested through LSD and values of p < 0.05 were considered significantly different.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

There were no significant differences among harvesting hours in terms of essential oils content (Table 1). Essential oil content of fresh thyme harvested hourly, varied between 0.75 and 1.20 %. The lowest fresh plant essential oil content was obtained from 14:00 harvest with 0.72 % while the highest was obtained from 18:00 harvests with 1.25 %. When dry plant essential oil contents were considered essential oil contents did not significantly vary among harvesting hours. The highest dry plant essential oil content was obtained from 10:00 harvest with 2.95 %, while the lowest was obtained from 14:00 harvest with 2.45 % fallowed by 16:00 harvesting hours. In the current study, essential oil contents were similar to the essential oil contents reported by Rumińska (1983) Letchamo et al. (1995), Shalaby and Razin (1992), Jackson and Hay (2002), Asllani and Toska (2003), Hudaib et al. (2002), and Badi et al. (2004).

| Harvesting | Temperature | Humidity | Essential oil content (%) | | |
|------------|-------------|----------|---------------------------|-------------|--|
| hour | (°C) | (%) | Fresh herbage | Dry herbage | |
| 6:00 AM | 23 | 46 | 1.23 | 2.80 | |
| 8:00 AM | 26 | 44 | 1.15 | 2.88 | |
| 10:00 AM | 27 | 33 | 1.18 | 2.95 | |
| 12:00PM | 33 | 42 | 0.90 | 2.48 | |
| 14:00 PM | 31 | 46 | 0.72 | 2.45 | |
| 16:00 PM | 27 | 50 | 0.85 | 2.58 | |
| 18:00 PM | 25 | 54 | 1.25 | 2.76 | |
| LSD 0.05 | | | NS | NS | |

Table 1. Diurnal essential oil content variations of fresh and dry thyme.

NS: Non significant

Both fresh and dry herbage essential oil content of thyme was affected from harvesting hours (Table 1). The lowest fresh and dry essential oil contents were obtained when the harvest was done at the hottest hours of the day (Table 1). Ramezani et al. (2009) reported that essential oil content of coriander (*Coriandrum sativum*) diurnally varied.

| | RI | Fresh H | Fresh Plant Essential oil content (%) | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|------|---------|---------------------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|
| Essential oil Compounts | | 6:00 | 8:00 | 10:00 | 12:00 | 14:00 | 16:00 | 18:00 | |
| α-Pinene | 1027 | 0.85 | 0.74 | 0.90 | 0.62 | 0.65 | 0.68 | 0.69 | |
| α-Thujene | 1031 | 1.17 | 0.96 | 1.34 | 0.92 | 0.88 | 0.97 | 0.77 | |
| Camphene | 1072 | 0.68 | 0.65 | 0.67 | 0.42 | 0.51 | 0.46 | 0.78 | |
| β-Pinene | 1111 | 0.25 | 0.23 | 0.25 | 0.20 | 0.18 | 0.22 | 0.19 | |
| Sabinene | 1126 | 0.09 | 0.09 | 0.12 | 0.08 | 0.14 | 0.50 | 0.05 | |
| β-Myrcene | 1169 | 1.43 | 1.31 | 1.52 | 1.06 | 1.08 | 1.22 | 1.09 | |
| δ-4-Carene | 1183 | 1.05 | 1.06 | 1.20 | 0.86 | 0.91 | 1.20 | 0.93 | |
| Bornylene | 1200 | 0.41 | 0.41 | 0.41 | 0.29 | 0.32 | 0.37 | 0.32 | |
| Eucalyptol | 1208 | 0.72 | 0.78 | 0.83 | 0.90 | 0.57 | 0.72 | 0.63 | |
| β-Phellandrene | 1211 | 0.07 | 0.11 | 0.14 | 0.67 | 0.11 | 0.16 | 0.11 | |
| γ-Terpinene | 1250 | 10.51 | 11.17 | 11.72 | 7.91 | 7.38 | 8.85 | 8.71 | |
| p-Cymene | 1275 | 21.80 | 21.20 | 21.37 | 15.19 | 15.37 | 14.70 | 14.74 | |
| 1 Octen 3 ol | 1453 | 0.51 | 0.45 | 0.45 | 0.42 | 0.42 | 0.44 | 0.42 | |
| Cis-Sabinene hydrate | 1464 | 1.04 | 0.94 | 1.03 | 0.87 | 0.88 | 0.86 | 0.80 | |
| Camphor | 1508 | 0.42 | 0.36 | 0.44 | 0.40 | 0.34 | 0.39 | 0.71 | |
| trans-Sabinene hydrate | 1546 | 0.31 | 0.31 | 0.31 | 0.89 | 1.30 | 1.79 | 0.61 | |
| Linalool | 1550 | 2.12 | 1.92 | 1.70 | 1.30 | 1.44 | 1.12 | 1.19 | |
| Caryophyllene | 1588 | 1.32 | 1.55 | 1.40 | 1.98 | 2.41 | 4.04 | 2.47 | |
| Thymyl methyl ether | 1594 | 0.77 | 0.63 | 0.20 | 0.25 | 0.22 | 0.25 | 0.62 | |
| Terpinene 4-ol | 1597 | 0.50 | 0.68 | 0.54 | 1.44 | 1.81 | 1.75 | 1.06 | |
| Carvacrol methyl ether | 1604 | 0.15 | 0.23 | 0.21 | 0.18 | 0.17 | 0.25 | 0.36 | |
| Borneol | 1694 | 1.51 | 1.79 | 1.42 | 1.00 | 1.50 | 1.36 | 1.96 | |
| Caryophyllene oxide | 1966 | 0.74 | 0.76 | 0.62 | 0.58 | 0.33 | 0.50 | 0.60 | |
| Thymol | 2216 | 44.95 | 44.12 | 43.72 | 41.02 | 34.21 | 30.42 | 27.51 | |
| Carvacrol | 2237 | 3.52 | 4.08 | 4.84 | 8.58 | 17.08 | 22.80 | 29.49 | |

Table 2. Diurnal essential oil component variations of fresh thyme.

The relative amounts of each component were determined by the GC-MS analysis (Table 2 and 3). More than 25 components, representing about 95.8% of the oil, were identified in both fresh and dry plant essential oil, but most of them constituted less than 1 %.

| Eccential oil Compounts | RI | Fresh I | Fresh Plant Essential oil content (%) | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|------|---------|---------------------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|
| Essential on Compounts | | 6:00 | 8:00 | 10:00 | 12:00 | 14:00 | 16:00 | 18:00 | |
| α-Pinene | 1027 | 0.54 | 0.70 | 0.14 | 0.46 | 0.65 | 0.67 | 0.59 | |
| α-Thujene | 1031 | 0.97 | 0.93 | 0.18 | 0.71 | 0.96 | 1.18 | 1.66 | |
| Camphene | 1072 | 0.34 | 0.56 | 0.05 | 0.27 | 0.41 | 0.44 | 0.52 | |
| β-Myrcene | 1169 | 1.28 | 1.23 | 0.36 | 0.94 | 1.15 | 1.31 | 1.03 | |
| δ-4-Carene | 1183 | 1.77 | 1.04 | 0.41 | 1.12 | 1.26 | 1.92 | 0.94 | |
| Bornylene | 1200 | 0.44 | 0.36 | 0.11 | 0.30 | 0.38 | 0.44 | 0.29 | |
| Eucalyptol | 1208 | 0.43 | 0.80 | 0.28 | 0.40 | 0.68 | 0.47 | 0.56 | |
| β-Phellandrene | 1211 | 0.25 | 0.11 | 0.00 | 0.16 | 0.16 | 0.25 | 0.11 | |
| γ-Terpinene | 1250 | 10.41 | 8.38 | 12.51 | 7.33 | 9.61 | 10.50 | 11.25 | |
| p-Cymene | 1275 | 18.27 | 20.14 | 14.79 | 13.80 | 17.71 | 13.67 | 14.22 | |
| α-Terpinolene | 1285 | 0.32 | 0.07 | 0.06 | 0.15 | 0.00 | 0.29 | 0.05 | |
| 1 Octen 3 ol | 1453 | 0.40 | 0.51 | 0.21 | 0.37 | 0.47 | 0.43 | 0.30 | |
| Cis-Sabinene hydrate | 1464 | 0.96 | 0.89 | 0.51 | 0.85 | 0.96 | 0.97 | 0.57 | |
| Camphor | 1508 | 0.22 | 0.25 | 0.05 | 0.25 | 0.25 | 0.28 | 0.50 | |
| trans-Sabinene hydrate | 1546 | 1.67 | 0.60 | 0.88 | 1.95 | 1.04 | 1.97 | 1.53 | |
| Linalool | 1550 | 1.42 | 1.65 | 0.46 | 1.24 | 1.46 | 1.57 | 1.12 | |
| Linalyl acetate | 1560 | 0.31 | 0.12 | 0.22 | 0.61 | 0.32 | 0.33 | 0.11 | |
| Endobornyl acetate | 1575 | 0.20 | 0.19 | 0.13 | 0.18 | 0.15 | 0.18 | 0.16 | |
| Caryophyllene | 1588 | 1.99 | 1.60 | 2.69 | 3.36 | 2.50 | 2.78 | 2.72 | |
| Thymyl methyl ether | 1594 | 0.56 | 0.95 | 0.00 | 0.18 | 0.14 | 0.07 | 0.33 | |
| Terpinene 4-ol | 1597 | 2.89 | 0.89 | 1.35 | 2.81 | 2.16 | 2.94 | 2.99 | |
| Carvacrol methyl ether | 1604 | 0.31 | 0.39 | 0.11 | 0.20 | 0.08 | 0.47 | 0.14 | |
| Borneol | 1694 | 0.68 | 1.51 | 1.06 | 1.31 | 1.23 | 1.60 | 1.30 | |
| Farnesol | 1722 | 0.31 | 0.16 | 0.32 | 1.83 | 0.13 | 0.43 | 0.95 | |
| Thymol | 2216 | 30.56 | 37.01 | 39.97 | 32.29 | 30.03 | 31.02 | 33.61 | |
| Carvacrol | 2237 | 15.38 | 13.68 | 14.69 | 22.21 | 20.84 | 19.34 | 15.29 | |

Table 3. Diurnal essential oil component variations of dry thyme.

Only 5 or 6 components detected in the fresh herbage essential oil of thyme in concentrations greater than 2 % were γ -terpinene, p-cymene, linalool, thymol and carvacrol. More than 15 components were present in amounts less than 1%. (Table 2 and 3). Among the essential oil components, thymol was the major component (>30%) while p-cymene was the second major component (>9%) of the essential oil of thyme harvested hourly between 6:00 and 17.00. Carvacrole was the third major component (>3%). Among major essential oil component, γ -terpinen and p-cymene were not greatly varied among harvesting hours.

Essential oil compositions in the fresh and dry herbage of thyme were within the limits reported by Kluczyńska, (2001) and Lis (2003). Seasonal essential oil component variations of thyme were well documented (McGimpsey et al., 2006, Jordan et al. 2006). At the flowering stage, carovacrol and thymol were higher in summer. However, Nejad-Ebrahimi et al. (2008) obtained the highest carvacrol content when the harvest was done at the vegetative stage. The percentage of major essential oil components of thyme flactuated hourly.

CONCLUSIONS

Thyme *is* cultivated in small areas in Turkey for multiple purposes. Diurnal flactuation of thyme essential oil content and composition in the central Anatolia has not been studied. This study was conducted to determine diurnal essential oil content and composition fluctuations.

Greater essential oil content in fresh and dry plant were obtained in the early morning and late afternoon harvest hours than the noon harvest hours. The main essential oil compounds of the thyme essential oils in the fresh and dry plants were thymol, γ -terpinene, p-cymene and carvacrol. This study showed that the best harvesting hours of thyme for essential oil were between 6:00 and 10:00.

REFERENCES

- Aeschbach, R., Loliger, J., Scott, B. C., Murcia, A., Butler, J., Halliwell, B., Aruoma, O.I. (1994). Antioxidant actions of thymol, carvacrol, 6-gingerol, zingerone and hydroxytyrosol," Food and Chemical Toxicology, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 31–36.
- Alireza K, Faeghe H, Siamak S, Negar B. 2015. Study of the effect of extract of Thymus vulgaris on anxiety in male rats. Journal of Traditional and Complementary Medicine. 1-5.
- Amirghofran, Z., Ahmadi, H., Karimi, M. H. (2012). Immunomodulatory activity of the water extract of Thymus vulgaris, Thymus daenensis, and Zataria multiflora on dendritic cells and T cells responses. J Immunoassay Immunochem. 33: 388-402.
- Arslan M, Dervis S (2010) Antifungal activity of essential oils against three vegetative compatibility groups of *Verticillium dahlae*. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 26:1813-1821.
- Asllani U, Toska V. (2003) Chemical composition of Albanian thyme oil (*Thymus vulgaris* L.). J Essent Oil Res 15:165-7.
- Babaei M, Abarghoei ME, Ansari R, Vafaei AA, Taherian AA, Akhavan MM, Toussy G, Mousavi S. (2008). Antispasmodic effect of hydroalcoholic extract of Thymus vulgaris on the guinea-pig ileum. Nat Prod Res.;22: 1143-1150.
- Badi HN, Yazdani D, Ali SM, Nazari F. (2004) Effects of spacing and harvesting time on herbage yield and quality\quantity of oil in thyme, *T. vulgaris* L. Indust Crops & Products, 19:231-6.
- Braga, P. C., Dal Sasso, M., Culici, M., Bianchi, T., Bordoni, L. and Marabini, L. (2006). Antiinflammatory activity of thymol: inhibitory effect on the release of human neutrophil Elastase," Pharmacology, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 130–136.
- Bukovska, A. Cikos, S. Juhas, S. Il'kova, G. Rehak, P.and Koppel, J. (2007). Effects of a combination of thyme and oregano essential oils on TNBS-induced colitis in mice, *Mediators of Inflammation*, vol. 2007, Article ID 23296, p. 9,
- Dapkevicius, A., V.T. A. Van Beek, G.P. Lelyveld, A. Van Veldhuizen, A. DeGroot, J.P.H. Linssen, and Venskutonis, R. (2002). Isolation and structural elucidation of radical scavengers from Thymus vulgaris leaves. J. Nat. Prod. 65(6): 892-896.
- Davis, P.H.1982. Flora of Turkey and the East Aegean Islands. University Pres, Edinburgh.

- Didry, N., Dubreuil, L. and Pinkas, M. (1994). Activity of thymol, carvacrol, cinnamaldehyde and eugenol on oral bacteria," Pharmaceutica Acta Helvetiae, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 25–28.
- Fujisawa S. and Kadoma, Y. 1992. Effect of phenolic compounds on the polymerization of methyl methacrylate, Dental Materials, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 324–326.
- Hudaib, M. Speroni, EDi Pietra, A. M. and Cavrini, V. (2002). GC/MS evaluation of thyme (*Thymus vulgaris* L.) oil composition and variations during the vegetative cycle," Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 691-700.
- Jackson S, Hay KC. Characteristics of varieties of thyme (*Thymus vulgaris* L.) for use in the UK : Oil content, composition and related characters. J Hort Sci 2002; 69(2):275-81
- Kluczyńska D. (2001). Medicinal properties of thyme. Wiad Ziel; 7/8:13-16.
- Letchamo W, Xu HL, Gosselin A. Variations in photosynthesis and essential oil in thyme. J Plant Physiol 1995; 147:29-37.
- Lis A. (2003). The most valuable oils. Thyme oils. Aromaterapia; 3/4:5-13.
- McGimpsey JA, Douglas MH, Van Klink JW, Beauregard DA, Perry NB (2006). Seasonal variation in essential oil yield and composition from naturalized *Thymus vulgaris* L. in New Zealand. Flavour. Fragrance. J., 9(6): 347-352.
- McGimpsey JA, Douglas MH, Van Klink JW, Beauregard DA, Perry NB (2006). Seasonal variation in essential oil yield and composition from naturalized *Thymus vulgaris* L. in New Zealand. Flavour. Fragrance. J., 9(6): 347-352.
- Morales, R. (2002). *Medicinal and Aromatic Plants Industrial Profiles, vol. 24-Thyme,* E. Stahl-Biskup and F. Saez, eds., Taylor&Francis, pp. 16.
- Nejad-Ebrahimi S, Hadian J, Mirjalili MH, Sonboli A, Yousefzadi M (2008). Essential oil composition and antibacterial activity of *Thymus caramanicus* at different phenologycal stages. Food Chemistry. 110: 927-931.
- Nickavar, B., Mojab, F.and Dolat-Abadi, R. (2005). Analysis of the essential oils of two Thymus species from Iran," Food Chemistry, vol. 90, no. 4, pp. 609–611.
- Rasooli, I., M.B. Rezaei and A. Allameh, (2006). Ultra structural studies on antimicrobial efficacy of thyme essential oils on listeria monocytogenes. Int. J. Infectious Diseases, 10: 236-241.
- Rumińska A. Rośliny, L. Warszawa. L., Shalaby A.S., Razin, A.M. (1992). Dense cultivation and fertilization for higher yield of thyme (*Thymus vulgaris* L.). J Agron Crop Sci 168:243-8.
- Tian, H. and Lai, D.M.H. (2006). Analysis on the volatile oil in *Origanum vulgare*," Zhong Yao Cai, vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 920–921.
- Vila, (2002). Flavonoids and further polyphenols in the genus Thymus," in Thyme: The Genus Thymus. Medicinal and Aromatic Plants—Industrial Profiles, E. Stahl-Biskup and F. Saez, Eds., p. 75, Taylor and Francis, New York, NY, USA, 2002.

International Agricultural, Biological & Life Science Conference, Edirne, Turkey, 2018

Zarzuelo A.and Crespo, E. (2002) The medicinal and non-medicinal uses of thyme, In Thyme: The Genus Thymus. Medicinal and Aromatic Plants—Industrial Profiles, E. Stahl-BiskupandF. Saez, Eds., pp. 263–292, Taylor & Francis, New York, NY, USA.

SOIL PHOSPHATASE ACTIVITY IN DIFFERENT BUFFER PH AND STOCK CULTURE

Serdar Bilen¹, Warren A. Dick² "*"

¹Atatürk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Soil Science, Erzurum, Turkey ²The Ohio State University, School of Environment and Natural Resources, 1680 Madison Avenue, Wooster, OH 44691 USA

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study is to determine the phosphatase enzyme activities in different buffer pH, sterile and non-sterile soils and to compare phosphatase enzyme activities in different stock culture methods (bacteria and Freeze dry culture). Wooster and New Mexico soils, varying in organic matter content and pH were selected for the study. For culture preparation, added 4.5 ml extraction solution to 0.5 g soil, shaken 30 minute, waited 1h. 0.5 ml top solution was taken, and put in 1 lt LB Medium. Solutions were shaken at 37 °C until turbidity reached A600 of 0.8.

30 ml **bacteria cells culture** or 10 mg **freeze dry cell culture** () were harvested with centrifugation and added 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=6 (AcdP: acid phosphatase) or pH=11 (AlkP: alkaline phosphatase), 0.2 ml Toluene, 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution. Samples were incubated 1 h at 37 °C, and then added 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl₂ and 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH, read 405 nm wave length with spectrophotometer and calculated p-nitrophenol (PNP) content from calibration curve standards. This study focused on the changes of phosphatase enzyme activity of **sterile (with toluene)** and **non-sterile (without toluene)** soil at different buffer pH application rates of MUB (pH 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12) and at different stock culture (bacteria culture and freeze dry culture) methods.

According to the results; AcdP enzyme activity increased with increasing buffer pH up to pH 6 in sterile and non-sterile acidic Wooster (pH:6.45), but decreased over buffer pH 6. AlkP enzyme activity increased with increasing buffer pH up to pH 11 in sterile and non-sterile alkaline New Mexico soils (pH:7.80), but decreased over buffer pH 11.

The investigation show that soil AcdP and AlkP enzyme activities have been affected with sterile and non-sterile soil condition and these enzyme activity values were in parallel with different stock culture isolation methods.

Keywords : Alkaline phosphatase, bacteria cells culture, freeze dry cell culture.
INTRODUCTION

Soil enzymes are sensitive indicators of various specific and general soil processes and functions. The activity of soil enzymes often correlates well with nutrient mineralization and cycling, decomposition and formation of soil organic matter, and the decomposition of xenobiotics (e.g., pesticides) (Chen et al., 2003; Nannipieri et al., 2003). They can also integrate information concerning overall microbial activity (Frankenberger and Dick, 1983; Trasar-Cepeda et al., 2000; Aon and Colaneri, 2001; Baum et al., 2003). Enzyme activities in soil are dependent on the number of microorganisms present, the presence of substrate, the presence of substrate, the presence of inhibitors and the environmental conditions of the soil (Tabatabai, 1994).

Phosphatase activity is important because phosphate is often the most limiting nutrient in both natural and agricultural soil systems. Once the phosphate is cleaved away from the organic moiety, it becomes more available for plant and microbial uptake (Tabatabai and Dick, 2002).

Phosphatase enzymes can serve as indicators of the organic phosphorus mineralization potential and biological activity of soils (Dick and Tabatabai, 1992). Their activity is related to soil and vegetation conditions (Herbien and Neal, 1990), and responds to changes in management (Adams, 1992; Clarholm, 1993) and seasonal changes in soil temperature and moisture (Dormaar et al., 1984; Speir and Cowling, 1991). The phosphatases are significantly affected by soil pH and acid phosphatase activity is found predominantly in acid soils and alkaline phosphatase activity in neutral or alkaline soils (Eivazi and Tabatabai, 1977; Dick and Tabatabai, 1984). The ratio of alkaline phosphatase to acid phosphatase has been proposed as a way to assess the optimum pH of a soil for crop production (Dick et al, 2000).

Alkaline phosphatase activity is thought to be primarily derived from microbial sources and not from higher plant material (Tabatabai, 1994). Like phosphatases, in general, its activity is affected by soil properties such as pH, texture, and organic matter content (Haanstra and Doelman, 1991; Speir et al., 1999; Moreno et al., 2001).

The effect of MUB buffer pH on soil alkaline phosphatase is attributed to its presence in the active site of the enzyme and its overall ability to effect the composition of soil microbial communities (Chen et al, 2000; Kieliszewska, 2001; Nannipieri et all., 2003).

The specific objectives were; (1) to determine the rate effect of different MUB tampon pH on alkaline phosphatase activity in sterile and non-sterile soils and (2) to determine the rate effect of different culture method on alkaline phosphatase activity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Soil samples

Four Ap-horizon soils obtained from various states in USA were used in this research. Wooster soil was from Ohio State and New Mexico soil from New Mexico State areas (Figure 1). The soil samples

were dried air indoors, crushed and sieved 2-mm and stored at 4 °C for phosphatase enzyme activity measurements. Selected properties of the two soils are provided in Table 1.

Total organic matter (SOM) content was determined by following the standard loss-on-ignition (LOI) method (Nelson and Sommers, 1996), total N content of the soil was measured by the Dumas method (Anonymous, 1989), soil pH by using a glass electrode pH meter (1:2.5, soil:water), cation exchange capacity by the method of Sumner and Miller (1996), and exchangeable cations were determined as prescribed by Warncke and Brown (1998).The available P in soil was determined using the Bray PI extraction procedure (Kuo, 1996), water holding capacity by the tensiometer method (Topp et al., 1993), soil particle size distribution was determined by the Bouyoucus hydrometer method (<u>Gee and Bauder, 1986</u>), and electrical conductivity (EC) by using an EC meter according to the method of Rhoades (1996).



International Agricultural, Biological & Life Science Conference, Edirne, Turkey, 2018

Culture Preperation

Add 4.5 ml Extraction Solution to 0.5 g soil. 30 minute shaken, 1 hours wait. Taken 0.5 ml top solution, and put in 1 lt LB Medium. At 37 °C shaken and untill turbidity reached A600 of 0.8.

30 ml **bacteria cells culture** or 10 mg **freeze dry cell culture** were harvested with centrifugation and added 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=6 (AcdP: acid phosphatase) or pH=11 (AlkP: alkaline phosphatase), 0.2 ml Toluene, 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution. Samples were incubated 1 h at 37 °C, and then added 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl₂ and 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH, read 405 nm wave length with spectrophotometer and calculated PNP content from calibration curve standards. This study focused on the changes of phosphatase enzyme activity of **sterile (with toluene)** and **non-sterile (without toluene)** soil at different buffer pH application rates of MUB (pH 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12) and at different stock culture (**bacteria culture** and **freeze dry culture**) methods (Figure 2, 3).

| 0.5 g <u>soil</u> (<u>Natural Soil</u>) | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Add 4.5 ml Extraction Solution, | | | | | | |
| 25 ml Mit | nimal salt, | | | | | |
| 30 <u>minute shak</u> | en, 1 hours wait | | | | | |
| <u>Take 0.5</u> ml to | p solution, and | | | | | |
| put solution into t | he 1 It LB Medium | | | | | |
| Added 30 µg ml | -1 cycloheximide | | | | | |
| At 37 <u>°C shaken and untill t</u> | urbidity reached A600 of 0.8 | | | | | |
| Take 30 ml | Cells culture | | | | | |
| Harvested with Centrifuga | tion, Remove Supernatant | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Sterile Soil Non-Sterile Soil | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity | Phosphotase enzyme activity | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl ₂ | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl ₂ | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl2 Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl ₂ Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl2 Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH Swirled for a few seconds | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl ₂ Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH Swirled for a few seconds | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl ₂ Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH Swirled for a few seconds Filtered the samples | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl2 Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH Swirled for a few seconds Filtered the samples | | | | | |
| Phosphotase enzyme activity 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl ₂ Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH Swirled for a few seconds Filtered the samples Read 405 nm wave length with spectrophotometer | Phosphotase enzyme activity 0.2 ml Toluene 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=4-11 (for breaks cells) 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution Swirled for a few seconds Incubated 1 hours at 37 °C Add 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl ₂ Add 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH Swirled for a few seconds Filtered the samples Read 405 nm wave length with spectrophotometer | | | | | |

Figure 2. Culture preperation and phosphatase enzymes activity assay in sterile and non-sterile soils.

| Bacteria Culture Method | Freeze Dry Culture Method | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 0.5 g soil (Natural Soil) | 0.5 g soil (Natural Soil) | | | | |
| Add 4.5 ml Extraction Solution, | Add 4.5 ml Extraction Solution, | | | | |
| 25 ml Minimal salt, | 25 ml Minimal salt, | | | | |
| 30 minute shaken, 1 hours wait | 30 minute shaken, 1 hours wait | | | | |
| Take 0.5 ml top solution, and | Take 0.5 ml top solution, and | | | | |
| put solution into the 1 lt LB Medium | put solution into the 1 lt LB Medium | | | | |
| Added 30 µg ml-1 cycloheximide | Added 30 µg ml-1 cycloheximide | | | | |
| At 37 °C shaken and untill turbidity reached A600 of 0.8 | At 37 °C shaken and untill turbidity reached A600 of 0.8 | | | | |
| Take 30 ml Cells culture | Take 30 ml Cells culture | | | | |
| Harvested with Centrifugation, Remove Supernatant | Harvested with Centrifugation, Remove Supernatant | | | | |
| Bacteria Culture | Freeze Dry | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Dhosphotese e | nzyme estivity | | | | |
| Phosphotase e | nzyme activity | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml | nzyme activity Toluene | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH= 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) tenol phosphate solution | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH- 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph Swirled for a | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) tenol phosphate solution tew seconds | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH= 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph Swirled for a Incubated 1 b | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) enol phosphate solution 1 few seconds tours at 37 °C | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph Swirled for a Incubated 1 h Add 1 ml 0 | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) tenol phosphate solution a few seconds tours at 37 °C 5 M CaCl ₂ | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH= 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph Swirled for a Incubated 1 h Add 1 ml 0 Add 4 ml 0 | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) tenol phosphate solution a few seconds tours at 37 °C .5 M CaCl ₂ .5 M NaOH | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph Swirled for a Add 1 ml 0 Add 4 ml 0 Swirled for a | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) tenol phosphate solution a few seconds tours at 37 °C .5 M CaCl ₂ .5 M NaOH a few seconds | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph Swirled for a Incubated 1 b Add 1 ml 0 Add 4 ml 0 Swirled for a Filtered th | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) enol phosphate solution few seconds iours at 37 °C5 M CaCl25 M NaOH few seconds ie samples | | | | |
| Phosphotase e 0.2 ml 4 ml MUB Buffer pH 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitroph Swirled for a Incubated 1 h Add 1 ml 0 Add 4 ml 0 Swirled for a Filtered th Read 405 nm wave lengt | nzyme activity Toluene =4-11 (for breaks cells) tenol phosphate solution 1 few seconds tours at 37 °C .5 M CaCl ₂ .5 M NaOH 1 few seconds te samples h with spectrophotometer | | | | |

Figure 3. Culture Preperation and Phosphatase Enzymes Activity assay in bacteria culture method and freeze dry method.

Culture preperation

Each soil was maintained at field moisture condition and the remainder was left on the laboratory bench for 48 h at laboratory temperature (25–28 $^{\circ}$ C) to air-dry and passed through a 2 mm screen. Soil samples were stored in glass jars at 4 $^{\circ}$ C for subsequent phosphatase enzyme activity measurements.

Added 4.5 ml extraction solution to 0.5 g soil, shaken 30 minute, waited 1h. 0.5 ml top solution was taken, and put in 1 lt LB Medium. Solutions were shaken at 37 °C untill turbidity reached A600 of 0.8. Thirty mL of the spectinomycin-treated culture was transferred into a sterile centrifuge tube. The contents in each tube were incubated with gentle shaking for 4 hours at 37°C. The purpose of this incubation was to activate alkaline phosphatase activity of the bacterial culture. The cells were then harvested by centrifugation and washed with 10 mL of 20 mM phosphate buffer (pH 11) containing 0.5 mM EDTA (to remove extra Zn).

The washed bacterial cells were dispersed in 5 mL THAM buffer (pH 11) and disrupted by sonication using a 350 watt capacity Model S-185 Sonicator set at power level 5. Cells were broken using 8 short bursts of 5 seconds each (Mulrooney, 2005).

Alkaline phosphatase assay

30 ml cells culture or 10 mg cells (freeze dry) were harvested with centrifugation and added 4 ml MUB Buffer pH=11, 0.2 ml Toluene, 1 ml, 0.025 M p-nitrophenol phosphate solution. Samples were incubated 1 h at 37 °C, and then added 1 ml 0.5 M CaCl₂ and 4 ml 0.5 M NaOH, read 405

nm wave length with spectrophotometer and calculated p-nitrophenol content from calibration curve standards (Tabatabai (1994).

2.5 Statistical analysis

Each treatment of soil was replicated three times resulting in a total of 192 experimental units (i.e. two soils, two sterilizations, two culture methods, eight MUB pH, and three replications). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine the significance of each treatment on soil and bacterial culture alkaline phosphatase activity.

RESULTS

The main soil characteristics were as follows; soil pH ranged in 6,45–7.80; EC (dS/m), 0.64–2.13; clay (%), 36.0–46.0; organic matter content (%), 5,47–2.57; total N (%), 0.27–0.13; available p (mg kg⁻¹), 85.0-95.0. The main characteristics of these soils are outlined in Table 1.

| Soil properties | Wooster | New Mexico |
|--|---------|------------|
| pH (1:2.5) | 6.45 | 7.8 |
| Organic matter, % | 5.47 | 2.57 |
| Total N, % | 0.27 | 0.135 |
| Plant Available P mg kg ⁻¹ | 95 | 85 |
| Exchangeable cations, cmol kg ⁻¹ soil | | |
| Ca | 9.62 | 20.81 |
| Mg | 2.53 | 4.73 |
| Κ | 0.51 | 2.68 |
| Na | 1.07 | 0.67 |
| Cation exchange capacity, cmol kg ⁻¹ | | 28.21 |
| Electrical conductivity, dS m ⁻¹ | 0.64 | 2.13 |
| Salt, % | 0.019 | 0.042 |
| Water holding capacity at 1/3 Bars, % | 30.22 | 28.25 |
| Particle size distribution, % | | |
| Sand | 35.5 | 33.0 |
| Silt | 18.5 | 31.0 |
| Clay | 46.0 | 36.0 |

Table 1. Some chemical and physical properties of experimental soil.

Soil phosphatase enzyme activities in different sterilization condition

The phosphatase enzyme activity values in sterile Wooster soil ranged from 1.26 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ in sterile soil to 22.51 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ in non-sterile soil. This activity values in sterile New Mexico soil ranged from 1.01 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ in sterile soil to 23.33 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ in non-sterile soil. The highest phosphatase enzymes activities were observed in buffer pH 6 in Wooster soil, and in buffer pH 11 in New Mexico soil (Table 1).

According to the results; AcdP enzyme activity increased with increasing buffer pH up to pH 6 in sterile and non-sterile acidic Wooster (pH:6.45), but decreased over buffer pH 6. AlkP enzyme activity increased with increasing buffer pH up to pH 11 in sterile and non-sterile alkaline New Mexico soils (pH:7.80), but decreased over buffer pH 11 (Table 2, Figure 4).

| | Phosphatase Enzymes Activity, µg PNP g ⁻¹ soil h ⁻¹ | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|---|----------------------|---------------------|------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Wooster soil | | New Me | xico Soil | | | | | |
| Buffer pH | Steril Soil | Non Steril | Steril Soil | Non Steril | | | | | |
| 4 | 1.26 d | 11.53 c | 1,01 e | 5.93 g | | | | | |
| 5 | 1.56 c | 14.09 b | 1,47 d | 9.33 f | | | | | |
| 6 | 1.90 b | 21.96 a | 1,60 c | 14.38 e | | | | | |
| 7 | <mark>2.77 a</mark> | <mark>22.51 a</mark> | 1,86 b | 20.31 d | | | | | |
| 8 | 2.65 a | 18.12 ab | 2,11 ab | 24.71 c | | | | | |
| 9 | 2.22 ab | 14.08 b | 2,24 ab | 30.52 b | | | | | |
| 10 | 2.24 ab | 12.94 bc | 2,46 a | 34.37 ab | | | | | |
| 11 | 2.01 b | 11.35 c | <mark>2,76</mark> a | 38.32 a | | | | | |
| 12 | 2.29 ab | 10.05 d | 2,55 a | 23.33 c | | | | | |

Table 2. Phosphatase Enzymes Activity in sterile and non-sterile Wooster and New Mexico soilsin Different Buffer pH.

[†]When comparing phosphatase activities as affected by sterilization, different letters indicate differences at the P < 0.05 level of significance.

The investigation shows that soil AcdP and AlkP enzyme activities have been affected with sterile and non-sterile soil condition. The enzyme activity values of AcdP (at buffer pH=6) and AlkP (at buffer pH=11) of bacterial cultures obtained by different culture methods.

Although New Mexico soil had the lowest organic matter concentrations of the two soils, it also had the highest native pH. It is well known that alkaline phosphatase activity is higher in alkaline soils than in acid soils (Eivazi and Tabatabai, 1977).



Figure 4. Phosphatase Enzymes Activity in sterile and non-sterile Wooster and New Mexico soils in Different Buffer pH

Soil phosphatase enzyme activities in different culture methods

The phosphatase enzyme activity values in sterile Wooster soil ranged from 6.54 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ to 52.26 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ in bacteria culture and freeze dry method. This activity values in New Mexico soil ranged from 1.95 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ to 56.18 μ g PNP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹ in culture and freeze method. The highest phosphatase enzyme activities were observed in buffer pH 6 in Wooster and in buffer pH 11 in New Mexico soil (Table 3).

Table 3. Phosphatase Enzymes Activity in Wooster and New Mexico soils in bacteria culture and freeze dry culture methods in different buffer pH.

| | Phosphatase Enzymes Activity, µg PNP g ⁻¹ soil h ⁻¹ | | | | | | | |
|-----------|---|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|--|--|--|--|
| | Wooster s | oil pH=6.45 | New Mexic | o Soil pH=7.80 | | | | |
| Buffer pH | Culture Method | Freeze Dry Method | Culture Mehod | Freeze Dry Method | | | | |
| 4 | 9.98 d | 8.44 e | 2,25 e | 1,95 g | | | | |
| 5 | 20.97 b | 23.02 bc | 13,62 d | 12,06 e | | | | |
| 6 | <mark>52.26</mark> a | <mark>49.11</mark> a | 16,22 d | 14,36 e | | | | |
| 7 | 25.87 b | 28.47 b | 22,13 c | 19,71 d | | | | |
| 8 | 22.18 b | 21.51 bc | 28,14 c | 25,26 c | | | | |
| 9 | 13.87 c | 16.08 c | 34,63 b | 31,10 b | | | | |
| 10 | 10.68 dc | 11.37 d | 38,15 b | 34,10 b | | | | |
| 11 | 9.50 d | 8.74 e | <mark>56,18 a</mark> | <mark>50,16 a</mark> | | | | |
| 12 | 6.59 e | 3.74 f | 5,38 e | 4,72 f | | | | |

[†]When comparing phosphatase activities as affected by culture method, different letters indicate differences at the P < 0.05 level of significance.

According to the results; AcdP enzyme activity increased with increasing buffer pH up to pH 7 in culture method and Freeze culture method in both soils, but decreased over buffer pH 7. AlkP enzyme activity increased with increasing buffer pH up to pH 11 in culture method and Freeze culture method in New Mexico soils (pH:7.80), but decreased over buffer pH 11 (Table 3, Fig. 5).

The investigation shows that soil phosphatase enzyme activities have been affected with culture method and Freeze culture method condition. The soil alkaline phosphatase activity by different MUB pH and culture method interaction effects were also statistically significant (P<0.05).

The investigation show that soil AcdP and AlkP enzyme activities have not been affected with sterile and non-sterile soil condition and these enzyme activity values were in parallel with different stock culture isolation methods.



Figure 5. Phosphatase Enzymes Activity in Wooster and New Mexico soils in in bacteria culture and freeze dry culture methods in different buffer pH.

DISCUSSION

The soils selected for this study contained higher levels of alkaline phosphatase activity as compared to the activity levels reported by others (Frankerberger and Dick, 1983; Dick et al., 2000; Dick, 1983). Soils with high pH would generally have higher activity, and the relationship between alkaline phosphatase activity and soil pH suggests that the rate of synthesis and release of this enzyme by soil microorganisms or the stability of this enzyme once it is introduced to the soil is related to soil pH (Dick et al., 1983; Juma and Tabatabai, 1988). However, the higher soil pH would also create a condition where one could predict the potential for alkaline phosphatase activity (Impellitteri et al., 2002).

Phosphatase can be enriched by extracting cells from soils using minimal salts medium and growing cells in LB medium. LB medium is an excellent general purpose medium because it is very efficient in stimulating growth and is suitable for a wide variety of bacteria. It is categorized as a rich medium meaning it contains high quantity of all the nutrients (such as peptides and peptones, vitamins and trace elements) needed for bacteria to proliferate (Eitinger et al., 1997).

CONCLUSION

An assay procedure was developed to measure phosphatase enzyme activity in soil. The optimum assay condition for phosphatase enzyme activity method in soils was achieved at pH 6.0 for acid soils and at pH 11.0 for alkaline soils an incubation temperature of 37°C.

Phosphatase enzyme activity method reported here does not require any specialized equipment, is rapid, inexpensive and can be easily adopted for use in most soil biochemistry laboratories.

Phosphotase enzyme activity was more sensitive to the soil pH, and effected pH level and organic matter content of the soils.

The investigation show that soil AcdP and AlkP enzyme activities have been affected with sterile and non-sterile soil condition and these enzyme activity values were in parallel with different stock culture isolation methods. The investigation of soils together could give more reliable and accurate information about effects of buffer pH on soil alkaline phosphatase enzyme activity.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by state and federal funds appropriated to The Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center, The Ohio State University, Wooster, OH, USA and by sabbatical support provided to Dr. S. Bilen by Atatürk University, Erzurum, Turkey.

REFERENCES

- Adams, M.A. 1992. Phosphatase activity and phosphorus fractions in Karri (*Eucalyptus diversicolor* F. Muell.) forest soils. Biology and Fertility of Soils 14:200-204.
- Anonymous, 1989. AOAC Official Method 990.03 Protein (Crude) in Animal Feed, Combustion Method. Journal of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists 72:770.
- Aon, M.A. and Colaneri, A.C. 2001. II. Temporal and spatial evolution of enzymatic activities and physico-chemical properties in an agricultural soil. Applied Soil Ecology 18:255–270.
- Baum, C., Leinweber, P. and Schlichting, A. 2003. Effects of chemical conditions in re-wetted peats temporal variation in microbial biomass and acid phosphatase activity within the growing season. Applied Soil Ecology 22:167–174.
- Chen, Q.X. Zheng, W.Z. Lin, J.Y. Shi, Y. Xie W.Z. and Zhou, H.M. 2000. Effect of metal ions on the activity of green crab (*Scylla serrata*) alkaline phosphatase. International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology 32:879–885.
- Chen, S.K., Edwards, C.A. and Subler, S. 2003. The influence of two agricultural biostimulants on nitrogen transformations, microbial activity, and plant growth in soil microcosms. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35:9–19.
- Clarholm, M. 1993. Microbial biomass P, labile P and acid phosphatase activity in the humus layer of a spruce forest, after repeated additions of fertilizers. Biology and Fertility of Soils 16:287-292.

- Dick, W.A. and Tabatabai, M.A. 1984. Kinetic parameters of phosphatases in soils and organic waste materials, Soil Science 137:7–15.
- Dick, W.A. and Tabatabai, M. A. 1992. Significance and potential uses of soil enzymes. p. 95–127. In: Soil Microbial Ecology, F.B. Meeting, Jr. (Ed.), Marcel Dec., Inc. New York, USA.
- Dick, W.A., Cheng, L. and Wang, P. 2000. Soil acid and alkaline phosphatase activity as pH adjustment indicators. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32:1915-1919.
- Dick, W.A., Juma, N.G. and Tabatabai, M.A. 1983. Effects of soils on acid phosphatase and inorganic pyrophosphatase of corn roots, Soil Science 136:19–25.
- Dick, W. A. 1983. Influence of long-term tillage and crop rotation combinations on soil enzyme activities. Soil Science Society of America Journal 48:569-574.
- Dormaar, J.F., Johnston, A. and Smoliak, A. 1984. Seasonal changes in carbon content, and dehydrogenase, phosphatase, and urease activities in mixed prairie and fescue grassland Ah horizons. Journal of Range Management 37:31-35.
- Eitinger. T., Wolfram, L., Degen, O. and Anthon, C. 1997. A Ni²⁺ Binding Motif Is the Basis of High Affinity Transport of the **Alcaligenes eutrophus** Nickel Permease. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 272:17139-17144.
- Eivazi, F. and Tabatabai, M.A. 1977. Phosphatases in soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 9:167-172.
- Frankenberger, Jr.,W.T. and Dick, W.A. 1983. Relationships between enzyme activities and microbial growth and activity indices in soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal 47:945-951.
- Gee, G.W. and Bauder, J.W. 1986. Particle-size analysis. p. 383–411. In Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 1- Physical and mineralogical methods. A. Klute (Ed.), 2nd ed. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA.
- Haanstra, L. and Doelman, P. 1991. An ecological dose-response model approach to short-and long-term effects of heavy metals on arylsulphatase activity in soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils 11:18–23.
- Herbien, S.A. and Neal, J.L. 1990. Soil pH and phosphatase activity. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 21:439-456.
- Impellitteri, C.A., Saxe, J.K., Cochran, M., Janssen, G.M. and Allen H.E. 2002. Predicting the bioavailability of copper and zinc in soils: Modeling the partitioning of potentially bioavailable copper and zinc from soil solid to soil solution. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 22:1380-1386.
- Juma, N.G. and Tabatabai M.A.1988. Distribution of phosphomonoesterases in soils. Soil Science 126:101–108.
- Kieliszewska-Rokicka, B. 2001. Soil enzymes and their importance in studies on the microbial activity of soil. p. 37-49. In: Soil environment microorganisms physiological, biochemical and genetic aspects. Ed. H. Dahm, A. Pokojska-Burdziej, UMK Toruń.
- Kuo, S. 1996. Phosphorus. p. 894-895. In: Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3. Bartels, J.M and Bigham, J. M. (Eds.), Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA.

- Moreno, J.L., Garcia, C., Landi, L., Falchini, L., Pietramellara, G. and Nannipieri, P. 2001. The ecological dose value (ED50) for assessing Cd toxicity on ATP content and dehydrogenase and urease activities of soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33:483–489.
- Mulrooney, S. B., Ward, S. K. and Hausinger, R. P. 2005. Purification and Properties of the *Klebsiella aerogenes* UreE Metal-Binding Domain, a Functional Metallochaperone of Urease. Journal of Bacteriology 187:3581-3585.
- Nannipieri, P., Ascher J., Ceccherini M.T., Landi L., Pietramellara G. and Renella G. 2003. Microbial diversity and soil function. European Journal of Soil Science 54:655-670.
- Nelson, D. W. and Sommers, L.E. 1996. Total Carbon, Organic Carbon, and Organic Matter. p, 961-1011. In: Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3. Chemical Methods. Bartels, J.M, Bigham, J. M. (Eds), Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA.
- Rhoades, J. 1996. Salinity: electrical conductivity and total dissolved solids. p. 417-435. Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3- Chemical Methods. Bartels, J.M, Bigham, J. M. (Eds), Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA.
- Speir, T.W. and Cowling, J.C. 1991. Phosphatase activities of pasture plants and soils: relationship with plant productivity and soil P fertility indices. Biology and Fertility of Soils 12:189-194.
- Speir, T.W., Kettles, H.A., Parshotam, A., Searle, P.L. and Vlaar, L.N.C. 1999. Simple kinetic approach to determine the toxicity of As(V) to soil biological properties. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 31:705–713.
- Sumner, M.E. and Miller, P.E. 1996. Cation Exchange Capasity and Exchange Coefficients. p. 1201-1231. In: Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3. Chemical Methods. Bartels, J.M, Bigham, J. M. (Eds), Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA.
- Tabatabai, M.A. 1994. Soil enzymes, p. 775–833. In: Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2: Microbiological and Biochemical Properties. Weaver, R.W., Angel, J.S., Bottomley, P.S. (Eds.), Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA.
- Tabatabai, M.A. and Dick, W. A. 2002. Enzymes in soil. Research and developments in measuring activities. p. 567–595. In: Enzymes in the Environment. Activity, Ecology, and Applications. R.G. Burns and R.P. Dick, Ed., Chapter 21, Boca Raton, FL, U.S.A.
- Topp, G.C., Galganov, Y.T., Ball, B.C. and Carter, M.R. 1993. Soil water desorption curves. p. 569–579. In: Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis, M.R. Carter (ed.), Canadian Society of Soil Science, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leiros, M.C. and Gil-Sotres, F. 2000. Biochemical properties of acid soils under climax vegetation (Atlantic oakwood) in an area of the European temperate-humid zone (Galicia, NW Spain): specific parameters. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32:747–755.
- Warncke, D., and J.R. Brown. 1998. Potassium and other basic cations. p 31-33. In: Recommended chemical soil test procedures for the North Central region. J. L. Brown (ed.). NCR Publication. No. 221 Missouri Agricultural Experiment Station, Columbia, MO, USA.

EFFECTS OF SOIL TILLAGE ON SOIL PROPERTIES

Bilen, S^{1*} ., Islam, K.R²., Bilen, M^3 ., Ozgul, M^1 .,

¹University of Ataturk, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Soil Science, Erzurum, Turkey

²The Ohio State University South Centers at Piketon, Ohio, USA

³*Eti Holding Research and Development Department, Guvercinlik, Ankara, Turkey.*

*: <u>sbilen@atauni.edu.tr</u>

ABSTRACT

Improved soil quality is related to agricultural enhancement and sustainability. Soil quality has been affected by management practices Non-tillage (NT) and conventional tillage (CT). To evaluate the effects of management practices on some soil properties, composite soils from 48 conventionally-tilled (CT) and non-tilled (NT) farmer's fields under sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*) were sampled, processed, and analyzed for microbial populations, basal respiration (BR), enzyme activity, and some chemical properties. Averaged across fields, NT had observed less bacterial and total microbial populations, but 2 times more fungal populations than CT. The NT had less BR than CT. Moreover, NT had higher acid phosphatase, more alkaline phosphatase, and greater dehydrogenase activity than CT. Urease activity was lower in NT over CT. NT had higher TC, TOC, TN, and AP than CT. Among the SQ indices, soil biological quality (SBQ) was higher and chemical quality (SCQ) was higher in NT over CT. Likewise, the overall SQ was higher in NT than in CT. The SBQ significantly accounted for of the variability in the overall SQ. Significantly higher values of biological and chemical properties and soil quality in NT than in CT are due to the surface placement of crop residues, dominance of energy efficient fungal food webs, and cooler, moist, undisturbed soil environment.

Key words: Bacterial population, fungal population, basal respiration, soil enzyme activity

INTRODUCTION

Soil quality is responsive to management practices (Islam and Weil 2000a). Although high input production agriculture produces greater amounts of food, feed, and fiber, frequent use of conventional tillage is identified as one of the contributors of soil erosion, agricultural CO_2 emissions to the atmosphere, net loss of organic matter, and soil quality degradation (Dick 1997, Islam and Weil 2000a, Lobell et al. 2006).

The negative impacts of CT on farm economics and soil quality have led to adaptation of sustainable agricultural management practices. No-till, as an important component of sustainable management practices, reduces fuel, labor, and equipment cost and minimizes soil erosion (Crovetto 2006). Moreover, continuous NT is expected to improve soil quality by providing suitable habitats for soil organisms, increasing microbial diversity and efficiency, enhancing nutrient recycling and carbon sequestration, and greater physical resilience (Dick 1984; Islam and Weil, 2000a, Crovetto 2006). Therefore, replacing CT with NT could improve functional stability of the soil.

Improved soil quality is related to agricultural enhancement and sustainability. However, appropriate information is lacking regarding the impact of tillage management practices on farmer's field soil quality. The objectives of the study were to compare the effects of CT and transitional NT on soil quality by measuring chemical properties, microbial populations, and enzyme activities in selected farmer's field.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental site and soil sampling

The study was conducted at Askale Plain ($39^{0}54$ ' N latitude and $41^{0}13$ ' E longitude at 1880-m above mean sea level), Erzurum, Eastern Turkey. The Askale Plain is one of the rapidly adopting NT farming regions of the Turkey. Based on area distribution within a similar soil-mapping unit, 36-paired CT and NT (~7 - 8 years) farms were selected. The dominant soil series is Askale loam (ustorthents) and contains 31.7 ± 4.5 g clay, 26.1 ± 5.8 g silt, and 40.2 ± 7.1 g sand, respectively (Soil Survey Staff, 1999. The area is under semiarid climate with an average annual rainfall of 4270 ± 30 mm. Average annual temperature is 15.4° C. Major crops grown in this region are wheat, barley, secale, maize, cabbage, cotton, sugar beat, and potatoes.

At each CT or NT farm, three composite soil samples were randomly collected from 15-m x 5-m subplots at 0 - 30-cm depth in October 2008. Soil samples were 2-mm sieved to remove stones, roots, and large organic residues. After sieving, a portion of the soil was incubated at room temperature (25^oC) for 7-d to stabilize microbial activity followed by analysis of biological activities. Another portion of the soil spread on a dark colored polyethylene sheet and air-dried at room temperature for 7-d and analyzed for selected chemical and physical properties.

Analysis of soil microbial populations and enzyme activity

Culturable bacterial and fungal cells were enumerated using spread soil dilution plate method (Cynathia 2003). For bacteria and fungi, each 10-g ODE soil was homogenized by diluting the series (10^6-10^7) in 100 ml phosphate-buffered saline solution (PBS, 0.15-M potassium phosphate, 0.85% NaCl, pH 7.2) and placed onto petridishes (Zuberer 1994). Soil extract agar (SEA) was used for bacterial incubation at 30°C for 7-d (Zuberer 1994) and dextrose-peptone agar (DPA) was used for fungal incubation at 25°C for 7-d (Parkinson 1994). After the incubation, the colony forming units (cfu) per gram of oven-dried equivalent (ODE) of field-moist soil were determined using an automated colony counter (Canbolat at al., 2006, Madigon et al. 2006).

Basal respiration (BR) was determined using *in vitro* static incubation of unamended field-moist soil (Islam and Weil 2000a). A 20-g ODE of field-moist soil adjusted to 70% water-filled porosity in 25-ml glass beaker and placed in a 1-L mason jar along with a glass vial containing distilled water and a plastic vial containing 10-mL of 0.5-M NaOH. The mason jars were incubated in the dark at $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C for 20-d. The CO₂ evolved from the soil was absorbed in the 0.5-M NaOH followed by precipitation as BaCO₃ by the addition of excess 1-M BaCl₂. The remaining NaOH in each vial was then titrated to the phenolphthalein endpoint with a standardized 0.5-M HCl to calculate BR.

BR (mg CO₂ kg⁻¹ soil d⁻¹) = (CO₂soil - CO₂air)/20 d



Where CO_2 soil is the evolution of CO_2 during 20-d incubation of field-moist soil and CO_2 air is the ambient air CO_2 in a blank mason jar.

Soil enzyme activities such as acid (AcdP) and alkaline phosphatase (AlkP) were assayed using pnitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP) substrate and expressed as μg pNPP g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹. Urease activity was assayed using urea solution and expressed as μg NH₄-N g⁻¹ soil 2h⁻¹. Dehydrogenase (DH) activity was assayed using triphenyl tetrazolium chloride and expressed as μg TPF g⁻¹ soil 24h⁻¹. Soil enzyme activities were determined by following Tabatabai (1994).

Analysis of soil chemical and physical properties

Soil organic matter (SOM) content was determined by following the standard loss-on-ignition method. A factor of 1.724 was used to convert SOM into total carbon (TC) content. The CaCO₃ content was determined using the pressure calcimeter method. Total organic C (TOC) was calculated after substrcating CaCO₃ from the TC content. Total N content was determined by the micro-Kjeldahl method. Soil pH was determined using a glass electrode meter in 1:2.5 soil:water ratio. Melich-I solution (0.125M H₂SO₄+0.5M HCL) was used to extract soil for exchnageable cations and the exchnageable cations were determined by using atomic absorption spectrophotometer. Effective cation exchange capacity (ECEC) was calculated as the sum of the exchnageable cations. Available P (AP) was determined by following ammonium molybdate-ascorbic acid method, after extracting the soil with 0.5-M Na₂CO₃. Soil microelements were determined by DTPA extraction method (Lindsay and Norvell, 1978). Mechanical analysis of soil was conducted using the standard hydrometer method and the soil textural class was determined by following the USDA textural triangle.

Calculation of soil quality index

The inductive additive approach based on normalization, summation, and average of selected biological and chemical properties into integrators of biology quality (SBQ), chemical quality (SCQ), and an overall soil quality (SQ) were calculated (Islam and Weil 2000b). The datum of each individual soil property (X₀) measured or calculated was transformed on a [> 0 to \leq 100] scale relative to the maximum value (X_{max}) of that X₀ in the data-set (X_i = X₀/X_{max}). Equal weight was assigned to X_i's such that each X_i was in [> 0 to \leq 100] scale and the SQ indices were calculated on a relative scale [> 0 to \leq 100] by dividing with the total number of soil properties used (n).

Statistical analysis

All the statistical analyses were carried out using analysis of variance procedure of the SAS [SAS Institute 2008]. Treatment means were separated by the least significant difference (LSD) test at $p \le 0.05$ unless otherwise mentioned. Relationship between soil pH and enzyme activity was fitted to linear and non-linear models and the best fit was graphically represented using SigmaPlot[®].

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Microbial populations, basal respiration, and enzyme activity

Bacterial, fungal, and total microbial populations and basal respiration rates (BR) significantly varied in response to the effects of tillage systems (Table 1). Non-tillage (NT) had a lower number of bacterial and total microbial populations (11%) than CT. However, the fungal populations in NT were more than 2 times higher than in CT. The NT had 46% less BR than CT. The acid- (AcdP) and alkaline phosphatase (AlkP) activity was significantly higher (13 and 26%, respectively) in NT over CT (Table 2). Likewise, dehydrogenase activity in NT has increased by 64% than in CT. However, urease activity did not vary significant between NT and CT. When plotted, the enzyme activity showed a close relationship with soil pH (Fig. 1). The AcdP activity decreased non-linearly with increasing soil pH in both CT and NT (Fig. 1a). In contrast, the AlkP activity increased linearly with rise of soil pH (Fig. 1b). The rate of increase of AlkP activity as influenced by soil pH was higher in CT than in NT. Urease and DH activity decreased linearly with rise of soil pH. The rate of decrease of DH activity was more obvious in CT than in NT (Fig. 1c). However, the rate of decrease of urease activity was more detectable in NT than in CT (Fig. 1d).

Soil microbial populations and their activities respond quickly to changes in inputs, management practices by changing in their species composition, dominance, and activities (Hendrix et al., 1986; Beare et al., 1997, Lupwayi et al., 1998, Islam and Weil 2000a). A significantly higher number of bacterial and total microbial populations and BR with lower number of fungal populations in CT than NT are due to greater physical disturbance from annual plowing (Islam and Weil 2000a). Plowing affects soil biology by fragmenting crop residues, roots, fungal hyphae, and mycorrhizal associations (Hendrix et al., 1986; Beare et al., 1997). An intense competition among the heterotrophic microbes for the available C favored a dominance of bacterial food webs because of their greater adaptability, generalist feeding habits, short generation time, smaller size, and rapid dispersal under disturbed environments like CT (Adu and Oades 1978, Kassim et al. 1981, Hendrix et al., 1986). The low C-assimilation efficiency of the bacteria (20 - 40%) is most probably responsible for higher BR in CT (Adu and Oades 1978, Kassim et al. 1981). Frequent plowing mixes crop residues, degrades soil structures and exposes protected C and nutrients to microbes, and subsequently causes an increase in catabolism (loss of C as CO_2) from accelerated decomposition of SOM (Beare et al., 1997; Islam and Weil, 2000a). A higher BR in CT is more related to stressed or a higher number of bacterial populations. Moreover, increasing aeration and rising soil temperature after plowing accelerate chemical oxidation of SOM.

In contrast, a higher number of fungal populations with lower BR in NT are associated with surface placement of crop residues in cooler, moist, partially anaerobic, and undisturbed soil ecosystems like NT (Beare *et al.*, 1997). Moreover, fungi have a higher C-assimilation efficiency (40 - 70%) than bacteria, and so they release less CO₂ as BR and accumulate more C over time (Adu and Oades 1978, Kassim et al. 1981). A difference in microbial populations as influenced by tillage

operations may reflect in their differences to regulate soil enzyme activities. A significantly lower enzyme activity in CT as compared with NT is possibly due to greater survival strategy of microbes especially bacteria from greater physical disturbance exerted by annual plowing and a labile C stress (Acosta-Martinez *et al.*, 2007, Islam and Weil 2000a). Higher enzyme activity in NT over CT is associated with greater substrate-assimilation efficiency of fungus than bacteria.

It is reported that pH influence enzyme activity by influencing the concentration of inhibitors or activators and substrates in the soil (Deng and Tabatabai, 1997; Dick et al., 2000). The inverse relationship of the AcdP activity with increasing pH suggested that the rate of synthesis and release of the AcdP by soil microbes or the functional stability of the AcdP affected by soil pH (May and Douglas, 1976). Others reported that optimum soil pH for urease activity is ranged between 6 - 6.8 (Singh and Nye, 1984). Similarly, the maximum DH activity is reported at soil pH ranged from 6.6 - 7.2 (Batra, 2004). Since urease and DH activity has greatly influnced by subtrates availability, a lower amount of C and N in CT than NT consequently resulted lower levels of urease and DH activity (Rao and Ghai, 1985). However, AlkP activity turned out to be more functional at high soil pH (Deng and Tabatabai, 1997).

Soil carbon, nitrogen, exchangeable nutrients, and pH

Total C (TC), organic C (TOC), total N (TN), and available P (AP) concentration significantly varied between CT and NT (Table 3). The TC (15%), TOC (16%), TN (16%), and AP (25%) concentrations were higher in NT than in CT. Soil pH was lower in NT than in CT but did not vary significantly between them. The exchangeable cations except K concentration did not vary significantly by tillage systems (Table 4). NT had 8% higher K than CT. Soil ECEC did not vary significantly.

Significantly higher TC, TOC, TN, and AP concentrations in NT than in CT are due to the effects of surface placement of crop residues, dominance of fungi food webs, cooler, moist, and partially anaerobic undisturbed soil environment (Islam and Weil, 2000a). Since carbon is stoichiometrically link with nitrogen in SOM, a higher TOC may have invariably increased TN content or vice-versa in NT than in CT. A lack of difference in concentration of exchangeable cations between NT and CT is possibly due to less solubility of the metals in high pH soil. Kabata-Pendias (2001) reported that Mn, Cu, Fe, and Zn solubility decreased with increased soil pH. A higher pH in both CT and NT is most probably associated with greater content of CaCO₃, Ca, and Mg. Moreover, a higher soil pH is associated with the effects of higher ECEC and base saturation.

Soil quality indices

The values of soil biological quality index (SBQ), soil chemical quality index (SCQ), and overall soil quality index (SQ) significantly influenced by tillage systems (Table 2). Among the SQ indices, the SBQ was higher by 13% and SCQ was higher by 10% in NT over CT. Likewise, the overall SQ was higher by 11% in NT than in CT. When plotted, the SBQ significantly accounted for 90% of the variability in the SQ. In contrast, the SCQ accounted for 56% of the variability in

the SQ. Greater metabolic efficiency of fungal food webs with higher enzyme activity, organic C, and N contents is likely associated with higher soil quality. A significantly greater accountability of the SQ variations by the SBQ over SCQ suggested that the biological properties are more sensitive as indicators for early detection of SQ changes in response to management practices.

CONCLUSIONS

Non-tillage had higher fungal populations, enzyme activity, total organic C and N contents, and soil quality than CT. The greater amount of C and N and a simultaneous decrease in BR in NT is attributed to the dominance of metabolically efficient fungal food webs. Reduced numbers of fungus with a simultaneous increase in bacterial populations and BR in CT are due to grater physical disturbance from annual plowing and labile-C stress over time.

References

- Acosta-Martínez V, Cruz L, Sotomayor-Ramírez D, Pérez-Alegría L (2007) Enzyme activities as affected by soil properties and land-use in a tropical watershed. <u>Appl Soil Ecol 35</u>: 35-45.
- Adu JK, Oades JM (1978) Utilization of organic materials in soil aggregates by bacteria and fungi. Soil Biochem 10: 117 - 122.
- Batra L (2004) Dehydrogenase activity of normal, saline and alkali soils under different agricultural management systems. J Ind Soc Soil Sci 52:160-163.
- Beare MH (1997) Fungal and bacterial pathways of organic matter decomposition and nitrogen mineralization in arable soil. In: Brussaard L, Ferrera-Cerrato R (Ed.) Soil ecology in sustainable agricultural systems Lewis Publ, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. p. 37–70.
- Canbolat MY, Bilen S, Cakmakci R, Sahin F, Aydin A (2005) Effect of plant growth promoting bacteria and soil compaction on barley seedling growth, nutrient uptake, soil properties and rhizosphere microflora. Biol Fertil Soils 42: 350-357.
- Crovetto CC (2006) No-tillage: The relationship between no tillage, crop residues, plants and soil nutrition. Therma Impresores S.A., Hualpen, Chile.
- Cynathia SA (2003) Microbiological methods, 5th ed. Butlerworth Publication, London.
- Deng SP, Tabatabai MA (1997) Effect of tillage and residue management on enzyme activities in soils: III. Phosphatases and arylsulfatase. Biol Fert Soils 24:141-146.
- Dick RP (1997) Soil enzyme activities as integrative indicators of soil health. In: Pankhurst CE, Doube BM, and Gupta VVSR (Eds.), Biological Indicators of Soil Health, CAB International. pp. 121–157.
- Dick WA (1984) Influence of long-term tillage and rotation combinations on soil enzyme activities. Soil Sci Soc Am J 48: 569–574.

- Dick WA, Cheng L, Wang P (2000) Soil acid and alkaline phosphatase activity as pH adjustment indicators. Soil Biol Biochem 32: 1915-1919.
- Hendrix PF, Parmelee RW, Crossley DA, Coleman DC, Odum EP, Groffman FM (1986) Detritus food webs in conventional and no-tillage agroecosystems. Bio Sci 36: 374 -380.
- Islam KR, Weil RR (2000a) Soil quality indicator properties in mid-Atlantic soils as influenced by conservation management. J Soil Water Conser 55: 69-78.
- Islam KR, Weil RR (2000b) Land use effects on soil quality in a tropical forest ecosystem of Bangladesh. Agric Ecosys Environ 79: 9-16.
- Kabata-Pendias A (2001) Trace elements in soils and plants, 3rd Ed., CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA.
- Kassim G, Martin JP, Haider K (1981) Incorporation of a wide variety of organic substrate carbons into soil biomass as estimated by the fumigation procedure. Soil Sci Soc Am J 45: 1106 1112.
- Lindsay WL, Norvell WA (1978) Development of a DTPA test for zinc, iron, manganese, and copper. Soil Sci Soc Am J 42: 421-428.
- Lobell DB, Bala G, Duffy PB (2006) Biogeophysical impacts of cropland management changes on climate. Geophy Res Letters 33, Issue: 6, Article No. L06708.
- Lupwayi NZ, Rice WA, Clayton GW (1998) Soil microbial diversity and community structure under wheat as influenced by tillage and crop rotation. Soil Biol Biochem 30: 1733-1741.
- May PB, Douglas LA (1976) Assay for soil urease activity. Plant Soil 45: 301-305.
- Parkinson D (1994) Flamentous Fungi. In: Weaver RW, Angle JS, Bottomley PS (Eds.) Methods of Soil Analysis: Microbiological and Biochemical Properties, Part 2. SSSA Book Ser. 5, SSSA, Madison, WI, pp. 329–350.
- Rao DLN, Ghai SK (1985) Urease and dehydrogenase activity of alkali and reclaimed soils. Aus J Soil Res 23: 661–665.
- SAS Institute (2008) The SAS System for Microsoft Windows R. 8.2. SAS Institute, Cary, NC. Singh R, Nye PH (1984) The effect of soil-pH and high urea concentrations on urease activity in soil. J Soil Sci 35: 519-527.
- Tabatabai MA (1994) Soil enzymes. In: Weaver RW, Angle JS, Bottomley PS (Eds.) Methods of Soil Analysis: Microbiological and Biochemical Properties, Part 2. SSSA Book Ser. 5, SSSA, Madison, WI, pp. 775–833.
- Zuberer DA (1994) Recovery and enumeration of viable bacteria. In: Weaver RW, Angle JS, Bottomley PS (Eds.) Methods of Soil Analysis: Microbiological and Biochemical Properties, Part 2. SSSA Book Ser. 5, SSSA, Madison, WI, pp. 119–144.

| Tillage | Acid-P | Alkaline-P | Urease | Dehydrogenase |
|---------|-----------------------|------------|---|--|
| System | (µg g ⁻¹ h | | (µg g ⁻¹ 2-h ⁻¹) | (µg g ⁻¹ 24-h ⁻¹) |
| CT | 29.9b | 57.4b | 19.0a | 72.9b |
| NT | 33.8a* | 72.4a | 17.1a | 119.8a |

Table 2: Tillage effects on acid- and alkaline phosphatases, urease, and dehydrogenase activities in soil

CT=Conventional tillage, NT=Non-tillage, Acid-P=Acid phosphatase, and Alkaline-P=Alkaline phosphatase, *Means separated by same lower case letter within each column are non-significant at $p\leq 0.05$.

Table 3: Tillage effects on soil pH, total and organic carbon, calcium carbonate, total nitrogen, and available phosphorus contents

| Tillage System | pH (1:2) | TC | CaCO ₃ | ТОС | TN | CN ratio | AP mg kg ⁻¹ |
|-------------------|-------------|-------|-------------------|-------|------|-------------|---------------------------|
| CT | 8.3a* | 16.2b | 4.1a | 12.1b | 1.9b | 8.5a | 13.3b |
| NT | 8.1a | 18.6a | 4.2a | 14.4a | 2.2a | 8.5a | 16.6a |

CT=Conventional-tillage, NT=Non-tillage, TC=Total carbon, TOC=Total organic carbon, TN=Total nitrogen, and AP=Available phosphorus. *Means separated by upper case letter within each column are non-significant at $p \le 0.05$.

| Tillage | Ca | Mg | K | Na | Fe | Cu | Zn | Mn | ECEC |
|---------|-------|--------------------|------|-------|-------|---------------------|------|-----------|-----------------|
| System | { | g kg ⁻¹ | | | | mg kg ⁻¹ | | _ cmol kg | g ⁻¹ |
| СТ | 4.2a* | 1.0a | 1.2b | 78.2a | 23.2a | 3.6a | 2.3a | 10.6a | 35.1a |
| NT | 4.4a | 1.0a | 1.3a | 64.4b | 22.3a | 3.4a | 2.1a | 10.6a | 34.6a |

Table 4: Tillage effects on extractable cations and effective cation exchange capacity in soil

CT=Conventional tillage, NT=Non-tillage, Ca=Calcium, Mg=Magnesium, K=Potassium, Fe=Iron, Na=Sodium, Cu=Copper, Zn=Zinc, Mn=Manganese, and ECEC=Effective cation exchange capacity. *Means separated by same lower case letter within each column are non-significant at $p\leq0.05$.

| SBQ | SCQ | SQ |
|-------|-----------------------|----------------------|
| | (%) | |
| 61.7b | 65.4b | 63.5b |
| 69.8a | 71.9a | 70.8a |
| | SBQ 61.7b 69.8a | SBQ SCQ (%) |

Table 5: Tillage effects on biological, chemical, and overall soil quality indices

CT=Conventional tillage, NT=Non-tillage, SBQ=Soil biological quality, SCQ=Soil chemical quality, SQ=Overall soil quality. *Means separated by same lower case letter within each column are non-significant at $p \le 0.05$.

Figure Captions

Figure 1: Effects of pH on (a) acid- and (b) alkaline phosphatase, (c) dehydrogenase, and (d) urease activity in conventional and non-tillage soil.



Figure 2: Relationship among biological, chemical, and overall soil quality indices in conventional and non-tillage.



THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN EMOTIONAL INTELLIGENCE AND SOCIAL MEDIA ATTITUDES OF UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

Gülden Aynacı^{*1}, Ayşegül Atilla¹ ¹Trakya University, 22030, Edirne, Turkey guldenaynaci@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

High emotional intelligence is related with academic success, and good skills in interpersonal communication. In our study, emotional intelligence (EI) levels of university students, the factors affecting EI and the relationship of emotional intelligence with social media attitudes were evaluated. Our study was performed with Trakya University undergraduate students between April 2017-August 2018. Age, gender, demographic characteristics, socioeconomic status, parental education, and the longest place of residence of the volunteers were recorded to evaluate students. Emotional Intelligence was evaluated with Bar-On Emotional Quotient inventory (Bar-On EQ-I). To evaluate social media attitudes of the university students Social Media Attitudes Scale (SMAS) was used. SMAS scores and Bar-On EQ-i scores were significantly higher in participants who were using social media for a longer period of time than new users. SMAS scores were significantly higher in participants who used social media more frequently. Also, Bar-On EQ-i scores tended to be higher with increasing frequency of social media use. Appropriate use of social media by young people has positive effects in terms of communication with the environment, socio-cultural development, sharing feelings and thoughts in a clear and understandable way, communication and mental relaxation; its inappropriate use may cause losing too much time, decreasing efficiency and performance at work, distracting attention, and adverse effects on socialization. Social media may be helpful to support learning, but caution should be exercised to avoid its negative consequences.

Education programs should be established to improve younger generations' emotional intelligence in order to improve their abilities to cope with social problems and catching up with their times. Sociodemographic features that affect emotional intelligence should be identified, its relationship with social media use to which young people spend a great deal of time should be determined, and both should be included in education programs to contribute to young people's personal development.

Keywords: Social media, nursing student, university student, emotional intelligence

INTRODUCTION

Emotional intelligence has recently attracted an increasing interest in the whole world and scientists add dimensions such as adaptation to and relationship with the environment to the

definition of intelligence. Previous research has shown that although intelligence quotient (IQ) gives a quantitative measurement for cognitive intelligence, emotional quotient determines success in life and maintains quality of life [1, 2]. High emotional intelligence is related with academic success, and good skills in sociocultural, interpersonal communication and stress management areas; low emotional intelligence is related with unusual behaviors, alcohol and substance dependence and insufficient interpersonal relations [3]. Emotional intelligence is the sum of all non-cognitive skills and abilities that affect coping of the individual with external influences. Studies have shown associations between emotional intelligence and achievements such as creativity and communication skills [4, 5].

Using empathy and interview skills developed since the education period in professional life may help to reduce the anxiety encountered and increase the harmony in the working environment. Studies that evaluated the relationship between emotional intelligence and sociodemographic features of individuals demonstrated that the lessons they have learned during their education life and their parents' attitudes may support the development of emotional intelligence. In the studies, there were also positive correlations between personal skills, interpersonal skills, compatibility, coping with stress, and general mood subscales of emotional intelligence, understanding people and establishing relationships [6, 7].

Research has shown that use of internet and especially social media is getting more and more important place in lives of young people. In recent years 95% of young people aged 18-33 reported active use of social media. Social sharing sites help to share experiences and social relations and the use of social media programs among young people seems to be widespread. The use of social media is rapidly becoming a central part of young people's lives, and more than 90% of them now use social media almost every hour of the day [8, 9].

It is important to determine the sociodemographic characteristics and lifestyle features which affect emotional intelligence in order to determine the needs of young people and to develop education programs for them. As the communication skills are very important nowadays, it is important to develop curriculums in order to promote emotional intelligence of young people while they are attending to school and before they enter to professional life.

In our study, emotional intelligence levels of university students, the factors affecting emotional intelligence and the relationship of emotional intelligence with social media attitudes were evaluated.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Emotional Intelligence was evaluated with Bar-On Emotional Quotient inventory (Bar-On EQ-i) which was validated in Turkish (13-15). Bar-On EQ-i is a Likert type measure consisting of 87 items. During rating the items 5 means fully agree, 4: agree, 3: undecided, 2: disagree, and 1: strongly disagree. This scale measures 5 subscales of emotional intelligence (personal skills, interpersonal skills, compatibility, stress management, and general mood). Construct validity and criterion validity studies of Bar-On EQ-i were conducted during Turkish validity and reliability

study. Construct validity studies included comparison of extreme groups and item-total score correlations and demonstrated that both discriminative features and correlations with relevant dimensions were statistically significant; criterion validity studies demonstrated that emotional intelligence was a theoretical construct apart from intelligence quotient but related with personality features. According to these results it was concluded that Turkish version of Bar-On EQ-i can be used in scientific studies [10-12].

Personal information form includes questions about age, gender, school, socioeconomic status, parental education, and the longest place of residence of the volunteers.

To evaluate social media attitudes of the university students Social Media Attitudes Scale (SMAS) which was developed by Otrar and Argın was used. This scale includes a total of 23 items (6 of which are positive and 17 of which are negative) and 4 factors (need to share, social competence, social isolation, and relationship with authorities) [13].

This study evaluated the levels of emotional IQ and social media use in university students and the relationship between them. The data were summarized using appropriate descriptive statistics. Mean and standard deviation were used for numerical variables and frequency and percentage were used for categorical variables.

Approval was obtained from Trakya University Scientific Research Ethics Committee and informed consents were obtained from all participants. All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 20.0 Package Program. The data were summarized with appropriate descriptive statistics. Mean and standard deviation were measured for numerical variables and frequency and percentage were measured for categorical variables. Normal distribution of data was controlled with Shapiro-Wilk test. Student t test was used for comparison of two groups. One-way ANOVA was used for comparison of more than two groups. Multiple comparisons after one-way analysis of variance were evaluated with Bonferroni test. Chi-square test was used for the relationships between categorical variables. Significance level for all statistical analyses was defined as 5%.

RESULTS

Our study included 208 university students between 18-24 years of age. This study included voluntary students from Trakya University Health Vocational School and Applied Sciences High School. Distribution of the students to classes showed that 58 were at grade 1, 91 were at grade 2, 34 were at grade 3 and 25 were at grade 4 (Table 1).

 Table 1. Distribution of participants according to grades

| Grade | Ν |
|-------|----|
| 1 | 58 |
| 2 | 91 |
| 3 | 34 |
| 4 | 25 |

Among the participants 135 were females and 73 were males. The mean SMAS score of the female students was 64.3 and the male students was 68.6. The mean score of the male students was statistically significantly higher. Although no significant difference could be found in emotional intelligence the mean Bar-On scale score of the females was higher than the males.

Health Vocational High School Students formed 38% of all students and Applied Sciences High School students formed 62%. The mean SMAS and Bar-On scale scores of Applied Sciences High School Students were higher than Health Vocational High School students. Also, Bar-On emotional quotient increased with increasing SMAS score (Table 2).

No difference was found in SMAS and Bar-On EQ-i scores of the participants according to education level of the parents of the participants. However, scores from both scales tended to increase as the level of mother's education increased. With increasing father's education only SMAS scores tended to increase.

Although there weren't some statistically significant difference students with a better socioeconomic status tended to have a better score in Bar-On emotional intelligence scale. However, there was not a trend for increasing SMAS scores. Also, familial attitudes were asked and the mean scores from both scales did not change according to familial attitudes.

There was not a difference in scores from the scales according to mothers' occupations however, children of housewives tended to get lower scores from both scales. Also there was not a statistically significant difference according to fathers' occupations (Table 2).

| rticipants. | lemogra | | | | | | | the stu |
|-------------|---------|---|------|-----------|---|--------|-----------|---------|
| | N | % | SMAS | Standard | Р | Bar-On | Standard | Р |
| | | | | Deviation | | EQ-i | Deviation | |
| Gender | | | | • | | | | |

Table 2 Sociademographic features and the mean SMAS and Par On EQ i secret of the study

| | | | | 2011000 | | - 2 - | 2011000 | |
|----------------|-----|------|-------|---------|-------|-------|---------|-------|
| Gender | | | | | | | | |
| Male | 73 | 35.1 | 68.68 | 14.6 | .032* | 295.9 | 33.6 | .361 |
| Female | 135 | 64.9 | 64.33 | 13.4 | | 299.7 | 25.5 | |
| School | | | | | | | | |
| Health | 79 | 38 | 62.73 | 12.6 | .012* | 291.9 | 22.1 | .035* |
| Vocational | | | | | | | | |
| High School | | | | | | | | |
| Applied | 129 | 62 | 67.77 | 14.5 | | 300.5 | 31.6 | |
| Sciences High | | | | | | | | |
| School | | | | | | | | |
| Mother's | | | | | | | | |
| Education | | | | | | | | |
| Primary school | 146 | 70.2 | 64.8 | 14.1 | | 296.9 | 27.3 | |
| or lower | | | | | .254 | | | .834 |
| Secondary | 59 | 28.4 | 68.0 | 13.8 | | 297.5 | 32.3 | |
| School | | | | | | | | |
| University or | 3 | 1.4 | 72.0 | 8.0 | | 307.0 | 10.3 | |
| higher | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

| International Agricultura | l, Biological | & Life Science | e Conference, | Edirne, | Turkey, 2018 |
|---------------------------|---------------|----------------|---------------|---------|--------------|
| | | | | | |

| Father's | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|-----|------|-------|--------|------|--------|------|------|
| Education | | | | | | | | |
| Primary school | 92 | 44.2 | 64.36 | 14.4 | | 298.02 | 27.1 | |
| or lower | | | | | .365 | | | .944 |
| Secondary | 99 | 47.6 | 66.84 | 12.7 | | 296.61 | 28.9 | |
| school | | | | | | | | |
| University or | 17 | 8.2 | 68.24 | 18.1 | | 297.18 | 35.9 | |
| higher | | | | | | | | |
| Socioeconomic | | | | | | | | |
| status | | | • | • | | | | |
| Moderate | 165 | 79.3 | 66.1 | 13.7 | .628 | 297.05 | 27.0 | .821 |
| Good | 43 | 20.7 | 64.9 | 15.0 | | 298.16 | 34.6 | |
| Family | | | | | | | | |
| attitudes | | | | | | | | |
| Protective | 119 | 57.2 | 65.92 | 13.617 | | 297.66 | 27.8 | |
| Authoritarian | 28 | 13.5 | 66.0 | 15.171 | .991 | 300.68 | 32.0 | .668 |
| Democratic | 61 | 29.3 | 65.66 | 14.490 | | 294.97 | 28.9 | |
| Father's | | | | | | | | |
| Occupation | | | | | | | | |
| Public Servant | 23 | 11.1 | 65.9 | 17.2 | | 298.4 | 28.9 | |
| Worker | 56 | 26.9 | 66.0 | 12.8 | .880 | 295.7 | 25.1 | .973 |
| Self Employed | 72 | 34.6 | 64.8 | 12.8 | | 297.8 | 32.8 | |
| Other | 57 | 27.4 | 66.8 | 15.3 | | 297.5 | 26.7 | |
| Mother's job | | | | | | | | |
| Public Servant | 2 | 1.0 | 65.5 | 2.1 | | 296.0 | 7.0 | |
| Worker | 23 | 11.1 | 69.9 | 15.2 | | 300.3 | 40.3 | |
| Self Employed | 8 | 3.8 | 69.5 | 6.1 | .653 | 310.2 | 43.0 | .178 |
| Housewife | 16 | 79.3 | 64.6 | 14.1 | | 295.9 | 26.3 |] |
| | 5 | | | | | | | |
| Other | 10 | 4.8 | 73.1 | 12.3 | | 301.6 | 24.2 | |

*indicates statistically significant difference.

Young people were connecting to social media sites more commonly by mobile devices. They were using social media not only during their leisure times at home but also during when they are outdoors (Table 3).

Table 3. Preferences for social media connection device and place of the participants

| | Ν | % |
|---|-----|------|
| The most common place to connect to social media | | |
| Home | 60 | 28.8 |
| Outside | 148 | 71.2 |
| The most common device to connect to social media | | |
| Mobile device | 204 | 98.1 |
| Computer | 4 | 1.9 |

Table 4, shows social media use and scores from both scales of the participants. SMAS scores and Bar-On EQ-i scores were significantly higher in participants who were using social media for a longer period of time than new users. No significant difference could be found according to the time spent at each entry to social media. However, there was a tendency for higher SMAS and Bar-On EQ-i scores in participants who stayed longer at each entry. SMAS scores were significantly higher in participants who used social media more frequently. Also, Bar-On EQ-i scores tended to be higher with increasing frequency of social media use but the difference was not statistically significant.

| | . | 0 (| a) () (| a 1 1 | 7 | D | a 1 1 | - |
|-----------------------------|----------|------------|----------|-----------|-------|----------|-----------|-------|
| | Ν | % | SMAS | Standard | Р | Bar-On | Standard | Р |
| | | | | Deviation | | Scale | Deviation | |
| Duration of social media | | | | | | | | |
| Less than 1 | 5 | 24 | 11 A | 85 | | 271 / | 15.6 | |
| year | 5 | 2.7 | | 0.5 | .002* | 271.4 | 15.0 | .041* |
| 1-2 years | 8 | 3.8 | 61.3 | 10.9 | | 285.5 | 17.5 | |
| 2-3 years | 31 | 14.9 | 63.6 | 11.4 | | 291.0 | 28.3 | |
| More than 4 | 164 | 78.8 | 67.1 | 14.1 | | 299.8 | 28.8 | |
| years | | | | | | | | |
| Time spent at each entry to | | | | | | | | |
| social media | | | | | | | | |
| 5-10 min | 29 | 13.9 | 62.3 | 12.5 | | 295.2 | 31.5 | |
| 11-30 min | 54 | 26 | 64.9 | 13.9 | | 297.3 | 21.7 | |
| 31-60 min | 53 | 25.5 | 65.8 | 13.5 | .391 | 292.8 | 28.9 | .543 |
| 61-120 min | 31 | 14.9 | 66.7 | 16.1 | | 299.1 | 27.5 | |
| More than 121 | 41 | 19.7 | 68.9 | 13.8 | | 302.8 | 34.6 | |
| min | | | | | | | | |
| Frequency of social media | | | | | | | | |
| More than | 18/ | 88.1 | 67.1 | 13 / | 006* | 200.2 | 20.2 | 086 |
| once every day | 104 | 00.4 | 07.1 | 13.4 | .000* | 299.2 | 29.2 | .000 |
| Once or less every day | 24 | 11.6 | 56.4 | 12.3 | | 283.3 | 19.9 | |

Table 4. Social media use, SMAS and Bar-On Scale scores of the participants.

*indicates statistically significant difference.

DISCUSSION

In our study the mean Bar-On EQ-i scores of the participants were at moderate level. Previous studies also reported moderate level emotional intelligence scores in students attending health related schools [14, 15].

Although there was not a statistically significant difference in emotional intelligence according to gender, the mean score of females from Bar-On EQ-i was higher than males. Some studies detected that emotional intelligence differ according to gender with a 90% confidence interval and females have higher emotional intelligence than males [16]. The mean SMAS score was higher in males.

SMAS and Bar-On EQ-i scores were significantly higher in those who started to use social media earlier in our study. Also, participants who used social media for a longer duration each time had higher mean scores in both scales although the difference was not statistically significant. Those who used social media more frequently in 24 hours had higher SMAS scores than others. With increasing social media use Bar-On EQ-i also increased but the difference was not statistically significant. Other studies showed that young people who used social media a few times a month had lower social media attitude scores than those who use everyday or at least once a week. This shows that increasing frequency of social media use also increases attitudes towards social media [17].

Studies on use of internet and social media show that most young people spend at least half an hour every day. With the rapid progress in technology, people tend to meet the internet and social media at an earlier age and tend to use it more often and for a longer period of time than older adults. Due to their age, it is normal for young people to be in an effort to establish close relationships with their surroundings. The use of social media is a tool that enables young people to communicate with each other and introduce themselves to other people [9, 18]. In our study 88.4% of the participants used social media more frequently and their SMAS scores were higher than those who used social media less frequently. Although it was not statistically significant Bar-On EQ-i scores were higher as frequency of social media use increased.

The nature of mankind is not suitable for living alone and this leads him to communicate in various forms. The increasing use of social media also provides new communication environments for people. Thus, individuals who do not want to be separated from the society they belong use the possibilities of technology in this area in order to keep communication alive [19, 20].

Studies that evaluated mother's working status, its effect on emotional intelligence scores, and academic achievement found a positive relationship between emotional intelligence scores and mother's working status [21]. In our study, no difference could be found both in SMAS and in emotional intelligence scales according to mother's occupation but children of mothers who were not working had higher scores in both scales than children of working mothers.

In our study no significant difference could be found in scores from the scales according to father's occupation. Previous studies also couldn't prove a relationship between father's occupation and emotional intelligence. Under normal conditions emotional connection between the mother and the child begins as soon as the baby has first formed in the mother's womb and continues as the child grows, and develops, which is always more prominent than the connection with the father. Although the relationship with the father increases in some stages of life it is not easy to replace

the relationship with the mother. Father's occupation may affect the quality and duration of time he spends with his child; but no evidence could be detected to prove that father's occupation has a strong influence to affect emotional intelligence score of his child.

Studies that investigated the correlation between emotional intelligence and education level of mother found a positive correlation. Mother's love to her child starts when she first feels it and this love enables to provide the most emotional support possible throughout her life as long as it is not adversely affected by some external factors [22]. In our study no statistically significant difference could be found in SMAS or Bar-On EQ-i scores according to mother's education. Regardless of their education level mothers try to support the development of their children with their endless love and affection. However, mothers with higher education find better opportunities which facilitate their efforts. Our study also showed a trend of increase in both scales as mother's education level increases.

Previous studies couldn't find a relation between fathers' education level and emotional intelligence of the participants [22]. In our study only SMAS scores tended to increase with increasing paternal education. Increased education level decreases financial concerns of the father. This increases the time he spends with his child and facilitates sharing mother's responsibilities. But with increasing education level father's expectations on academic and social grounds increase, leading to a pressure on the child and affecting emotional development adversely. Considering all these factors together, low level of education does not always mean low emotional support from the father. Development of emotional intelligence will be better when father enjoys a good time with his child, tries to form strong bonds and shows timely support. Increased paternal education level also decreases socioeconomic concerns and increases access to social media.

There wasn't a statistically significant difference according to socioeconomic status of the patients however, Bar-On EQ-i scores tended to be better in participants with a better income status. Some previous studies have found a positive relationship between emotional intelligence level and socioeconomic status of the family [23]. As families' financial concerns decrease they respond more easily to needs of their children. This increases sociocultural development of individuals but can't support emotional development by itself. Emotional intelligence strengthens with family bonds and their affection, respect and support towards each other.

General attitudes of families as protective, authoritarian, or democratic were not associated with scores on SMAS or Bar-On scales. There are other studies which investigated the association between family attitudes and emotional intelligence. Some studies have found significant relations between emotional intelligence and family attitudes of individuals [24]. We didn't question familial problems of the participants. Considering that they won't want to share their familial problems they were only asked to choose from the options as authoritarian, protective, or democratic. Inability to find an association between social media use, emotional intelligence and attitudes of families may be due to the wide spectrum of family attitudes.

Emotional intelligence was first defined by scientists as "the ability of individuals to evaluate their own and others' feelings, to distinguish between these feelings, and to use them in shaping their

thoughts and behaviors". Research has shown that emotional intelligence is indispensable to be successful in social, cultural and academic grounds [25, 26].

Some studies have indicated that cognitive intelligence measured by tests is not an important indicator of success in life; instead those who recognize and control feelings of themselves and others are more successful in academic and sociocultural grounds. Emotional intelligence may be developed with personal effort. Research has shown that cognitive intelligence alone can give young people the profession they desire but it can't provide pleasure from the life [26-28].

Appropriate use of social media by young people has positive effects in terms of communication with the environment, socio-cultural development, sharing feelings and thoughts in a clear and understandable way, communication and mental relaxation; its inappropriate use may cause losing too much time, decreasing efficiency and performance at work, distracting attention, and adverse effects on socialization. Social media may be helpful to support learning, but caution should be exercised to avoid its negative consequences.

Education programs should be established to improve younger generations' emotional intelligence in order to improve their abilities to cope with social problems and catching up with their times. Sociodemographic features that affect emotional intelligence should be identified, its relationship with social media use to which young people spend a great deal of time should be determined, and both should be included in education programs to contribute to young people's personal development.

REFERENCES

- Serrat, O., Understanding and developing emotional intelligence, in Knowledge Solutions. 2017, Springer. p. 329-339.
- Füsun, A., Duygusal zekâ ve liderlik. 2002.
- Parker, J.D., et al., Emotional intelligence and academic success: Examining the transition from high school to university. Personality and individual differences, 2004. 36(1): p. 163-172.
- Hunt, N. and D. Evans, Predicting traumatic stress using emotional intelligence. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 2004. 42(7): 791-798.
- Goleman, D., Leadership That Gets Results (Harvard Business Review Classics). 2017: Harvard Business Press.
- Rezvani, H.R. M. Hashemi. The relationship between emotional intelligence and organizational commitment among employees of governmental organizations affiliated subgroups tehran municipality. European Journal of Management and Marketing Studies, 2018.
- Artioli, G., et al., "Could I return to my life?" Integrated Narrative Nursing Model in Education (INNE). pathology, 2018. 3: p. 4.

- Andreassen, C.S., S. Pallesen, and M.D. Griffiths, The relationship between addictive use of social media, narcissism, and self-esteem: Findings from a large national survey. Addictive Behaviors, 2017. 64: p. 287-293.
- Birnbaum, M.L., et al., Role of social media and the I nternet in pathways to care for adolescents and young adults with psychotic disorders and non-psychotic mood disorders. Early intervention in psychiatry, 2017. 11(4): p. 290-295.
- Bar-On, R., EQ-i: Baron emotional quotient inventory: A measure of emotional intelligence: Technical manual2002: Multi-Health System.
- Karabulut, A., Duygusal zeka: Baron ölçeği uyarlaması, 2012, DEÜ Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü.
- Fernández-Berrocal, P., et al., The Relationship of Botín Foundation's Emotional Intelligence Test (TIEFBA) with Personal and Scholar Adjustment of Spanish Adolescents. Revista de Psicodidáctica (English ed.), 2018. 23(1): p. 1-8.
- Otrar, M. F.S. Argın, Öğrencilerin sosyal medyaya ilişkin tutumlarının kullanım alışkanlıkları bağlamında incelenmesi. Eğitim ve Öğretim Araştırmaları Dergisi, 2014. 3(3): 1-13.
- Gribble, N., R.K. Ladyshewsky, and R. Parsons, Fluctuations in the emotional intelligence of therapy students during clinical placements: Implication for educators, supervisors, and students. Journal of interprofessional care, 2017. 31(1): p. 8-17.
- Haight, R.C., et al., Assessing emotionally intelligent leadership in pharmacy students. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 2017. 81(2): p. 29.
- Patel, S.K., Emotional intelligence of college level students in relation to their gender. The International Journal of Indian Psychology, 2017. 4: 2349-3429.
- Otrar, M., F.S. Argin, Ergenlerin Sosyal Medyaya İlişkin Tutumlarının Çok Boyutlu İncelenmesi. Practice, 2014. 5(10): p. 3-22.
- Livingstone, S., G. Mascheroni, E. Staksrud, 2018. European research on children's internet use: Assessing the past and anticipating the future. New Media & Society, 20: 1103-1122.
- Andersson, E. J. Öhman, Young people's conversations about environmental and sustainability issues in social media. Environmental Education Research, 2017. 23(4): 465-485.
- Reinecke, L., et al., Digital stress over the life span: The effects of communication load and internet multitasking on perceived stress and psychological health impairments in a German probability sample. Media Psychology, 2017. 20(1): 90-115.
- Mandal, M.B. and C. Mehera, Relationship between Altruism and Emotional Intelligence among Adolescent children of Working and non-working Mothers. Educational Quest, 2017. 8: p. 389.
- Kong, F., et al., Mother's but not father's education predicts general fluid intelligence in emerging adulthood: Behavioral and neuroanatomical evidence. Human brain mapping, 2015. 36(11): p. 4582-4591.

- Holmes, R.A., Class effects: An exploratory study of the relationship between emotional intelligence and socio-economic status among African Americans2007: The George Washington University.
- Linares, M.C.G., et al., Emotional Intelligence Profiles in College Students and Their Fathers' and Mothers' Parenting Practices. Journal of Adult Development, 2018: p. 1-9.
- Gupta, R., N. Singh, R. Kumar, Longitudinal predictive validity of emotional intelligence on first year medical students perceived stress. BMC medical education, 2017. 17(1): 139.
- Thomas, C.L., J.C. Cassady, M.L. Heller, The influence of emotional intelligence, cognitive test anxiety, and coping strategies on undergraduate academic performance. Learning and Individual Differences, 2017. 55: 40-48.
- Salavera, C., P. Usán, L. Jarie, Emotional intelligence and social skills on self-efficacy in Secondary Education students. Are there gender differences? Journal of Adolescence, 2017. 60: 39-46.
- Miles, S., et al., Background Previous research has shown that higher Emotional Intelligence (EI) is associated with better academic and work performance. BMC Medical Education, 2017. 17(1): p. 1-10.

SORGHUM CROP, AN ALTERNATIVE FOR DOBROGEA FARMERS IN THE CONTEXT OF CLIMATE CHANGES

Dumitru MANOLE¹, Vasile JINGA^{*2}, Ana Maria GIUMBA¹, Roxana DUDOIU²

¹SC Sport Agra SRL, Amzacea, Romania ² Research and Development Institute for Plant Protection, Blvd. Ion Ionescu de la Brad, no.8 Bucharest, Romania * <u>vasilejinga23@gmail.com</u>

ABSTRACT

Dobrogea is the most drought area of Romania (average 1961-2016 :464 mm rainfall precipitation). Climate change in recent years has accentuated this phenomenon. For farmers from this area sorghum crop is a solution. At Sport Agra in Amzacea, in the last few years there have been experimented new sorghum crop technologies designed to face the current climate changes. These technologies include the following elements: changing the sowing epoch with one month before the usual period recommended by classical technologies; (beginning of April in order to benefit from the soil's humidity la 4-5 cm depth boosting the germination process); choosing early hybrids in order to avoid the drought season which starts in June; applying adequate crop protection treatments, with pre-emergent and post-emergent herbicides and last generation insecticides. The agricultural crops in this area are not irrigated, so dr.ing Dumitru Manole proposed a new technology, with the sowing of the crops earlier. This way the plants will benefit from the moisture from the soil accumulated in the winter. The obtained production from sorghum crop was over 10t/ha for most of the varieties tested.
Keywords: Sorghums, Climate changes, Technologies

INTRODUCTION

The crop taking into study is sorghum, which is recommended for these arid areas; called the camel of crops due to its drought resistance (Amsalu Ayana and col.1998), sorghum requires the following technological elements: Selecting early hybrids to overcome the drought periods that occur between the 5-10th of June until the 20-25th of August. There are recommended hybrids with shorter vegetation period (Poschiscanu et al., 1015).

Sorghum sowing is recommended between 20th April and 10th May (Trotus et al. 2015) ensuring a minimum of 120-140 kg / ha of nitrogen (Owen, 1967), treatment of seeds before sowing with chemicals containing thiamethoxam, pre-emergence herbicide with Buctril Universal 0,8 l/ha (bromoxinil+2,4D) and post-emergence with Dual Gold (metalaclor) 1,5 l/ha. The results from comparative crops in a 2-year dynamics have demonstrated sorghum crops with outstanding yields of over 10 t/ha.

The agricultural crops in this area are not irrigated, so the dr.ing Dumitru Manole proposed a new technology, with the sowing of the two crops earlier by about a month. This way the plants will benefit from the moisture from the soil accumulated in the winter.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental plots were placed at S.C. SPORT AGRA S.R.L. Amzacea, Constanța. The experience was situated on a land belonging to the South Dobroudja plateau, represented by cambic chernoziom, with a profile deeper than other chernozioms, a blackish-brown soil of 40-50 cm thickness, medium texture (Demeter, 2009). The content of nutrients was: mobile P index - 72; N index - 4; Humus - 3.11; K index - 200; Neutral pH - 7.2. The climate is deeply temperate continental, with an average annual temperature of 10.7-12.12°C, with a high temperature between June and August. Meteorological data are presented in Tables 1 and 2. Sowing was carried out on April.

| | Month | | | | | | | | | |
|---------|-----------|--|--------------|---------------|--------------|-----------|------|------|-------|--|
| | Jan. | Febr. | March | Apr | May | June | July | Aug. | | |
| Periods | The growi | The growing season 2016: Precipitation (mm) for 10-day periods | | | | | | | | |
| 1-10 | 0 | 12.0 | 10.0 | 0 | 60.0 | 3.5 | 56.0 | 4.0 | 145.5 | |
| 11-20 | 95.0 | 18.5 | 19.0 | 0 | 21.0 | 20.0 | 0 | 0 | 173.5 | |
| 21-30 | 15.0 | 0 | 15.0 | 20.0 | 16.0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 66.0 | |
| Sum | 110.0 | 30.5 | 44.0 | 20.0 | 97.0 | 23.5 | 56.0 | 4.0 | 385.0 | |
| | Average 1 | 961-2010 : 1 | monthly valu | ues of precip | oitation (mm | ı) | | | Sum | |
| | 27,7 | 24,0 | 29,1 | 31,8 | 37,7 | 47,1 | 38,9 | 37,4 | 273,7 | |
| | The growi | ng season 2 | 016: Mean a | ir (°C) for | 10-day perio | ods | | _ | Mean | |
| 1-10 | 2.5 | 4.1 | 6.8 | 10.3 | 13.9 | 19.8 | 22.6 | 23.2 | 12.9 | |
| 11-20 | 4.8 | 5.2 | 7.9 | 12.9 | 16.8 | 21.4 | 24.2 | 22.6 | 14.57 | |
| 21-30 | 4.3 | 5.4 | 10.2 | 13.5 | 18.7 | 22.1 | 23.8 | 21.4 | 14.92 | |
| Mean | 3.9 | 4.9 | 8.3 | 12.2 | 16.5 | 21.1 | 23.5 | 22.4 | 14.1 | |
| | Average 1 | 961-2010 : 1 | monthly valu | ues of mean | air tempera | ture (°C) | | | Mean | |
| | 0,4 | 0,9 | 4,4 | 9,7 | 15,3 | 19,4 | 21,9 | 16,9 | 12.12 | |

Table 1. Precipitation and temperature during 2016 growing vegetation season.(Valul lui Traian Station,Constanta)

Table 2. Precipitation during 2017 growing vegetation season.(Valul lui Traian Station,Constanta)

| | Month | | | | | | | | |
|---------|--|--------------|--------------|-------------|------------|---------|-------|------|-------|
| | Jan. | Febr. | March | Apr | May | June | July | Aug. | |
| Periods | The growi | ng season 20 | 016: Precipi | tation (mm) | for 10-day | periods | | | Sum |
| 1-10 | 60 | 5.0 | 4.0 | 0 | 13.0 | 18.0 | 9.0 | 0 | 109.0 |
| 11-20 | 10 | 13.5 | 31.0 | 35.0 | 12.0 | 6.0 | 0 | 0 | 107.5 |
| 21-30 | 0 | 2.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 2.0 | 4.0 | 92.0 | 6.0 | 117.0 |
| Sum | 70.0 | 20.5 | 40.0 | 41.0 | 27.0 | 28.5 | 101.0 | 6.0 | 333.5 |
| | Average 1961-2010 : monthly values of precipitation (mm) | | | | | | | | Sum |
| | 27,7 | 24,0 | 29,1 | 31,8 | 37,7 | 47,1 | 38,9 | 37,4 | 273,7 |

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

As written in Table 1, year 2016, provided higher amount of rainfall between May and June, 100 mm higher than the multiannual average. These precipitations favored the development of sorghum crops. Regarding the sorghum crop, the main technological links pursued by the research team consisted of the following: Choosing early hybrids to overcome the burning periods that occur between June 5 through August 20-25, Recommendation of shorter vegetation hybrids, Sowing the sorghum between April 20th-May 10th according to classical technology (Trotus et col 2015.), Provide a minimum of 120-140 kg / ha of nitrogen,

Treatment of seeds before sowing with chemicals containing thiamethoxam to combat tanymecus sp. in the early stages of vegetation, Pre-emergence herbicide with Dual Gold (metalaclor) 1,5 l/ha and post-emergence with Buctril Universal 0,8 l/ha (bromoxinil+2,4D)

The experiments were carried out in 2016 on 6 hybrids, as shown in Table 3. Most of the hybrids were sown one month earlier (9 April) compared to the classic technology recommended by specialists (Trotus et al. 2015) and EURALIS. Hybrid Arkanciel was sown and in recommended (May 14). Table 10 shows data regarding sorghum productivity consisting in very high yields of about 10-11 tons / ha for most hybrids, due to the change of the sowing date which the plants benefit from the moisture accumulated in the soil during the winter and also avoid the drought

crashes begin in June. It can be seen in the Arkanciel hybrid a production increase of 2212 kg/ha, obtained by its earlier sowing.

The data obtained in the experimental year 2017 are presented in Table 4. The sowing took place this year on April 4, and the hybrid Arkanciel was sown on 4 May. From the data presented, it can be seen that this year, through earlier sowing, large production increases of over 10000 kg / ha were obtained. This year, with the Arkanciel hybrid, an increase of 3436 kg/ha was obtained. Tables 3 present the data on the technical sheet of sorghum culture on the two plots. Experiments in plots 1 were made on 2195 sqm. Treatment of seed prior to sowing was performed with chemicals containing thiamethoxam. Pre-emergence herbicide was carried out with Dual Gold (metalaclor) 1,5 l/ha and post-emergence with Buctril Universal 0,8 l/ha (bromoxinil+2,4D). Figures 3 are referred to: - Experimental field-sorghum. All of these data show that sorghum is a valuable alternative crop for this dry area.

| Hybrid | Pre-emergent | Surface | Seeds/ha | Sowing | Emergence | Yields |
|------------|--------------|---------|----------|---------|-----------|--------|
| | plant | sqm | | date | date | kg/ha |
| ES Arfrio | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 10013 |
| ES Aqulion | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 12340 |
| ES Alize | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 11785 |
| Arack | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 11919 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 10022 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 2 May | 14 May | 7810 |
| ES Foehn | Wheat | 2195 | 230000 | 9 April | 18 April | 8601 |

Table 3. Demonstrative plots for sorghum crop - Amzacea 2016

Table 4. Demonstrative plots for sorghum crop - Amzacea 2017

| Hybrid | Pre-emergent | Surface | Seeds/ha | Sowing | Emergence | Yields |
|-----------|--------------|---------|----------|---------|-----------|--------|
| | plant | sqm | | date | date | kg/ha |
| Alize | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10439 |
| Foehn | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 11504 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10336 |
| Arkanciel | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 May | 16 May | 6900 |
| Albanus | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10130 |
| Typhon | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 8859 |
| Armorik | Wheat | 2195 | 220000 | 4 April | 14 April | 10645 |



Figure 2 Sorghum harvest



Figure 1. Experimental field-sorghum

CONCLUSIONS

At Sport Agra Amzacea, there have been experimented in the last few years new and improved sorghum crop technologies in order to adapt to the new climate changes. These technologies comprise the following technological elements: Selecting early hybrids to overcome the drought periods that occur between the 5-10th of June until the 20-25th of August. There are recommended hybrids with shorter vegetation period. Changing the sowing age - the hybrids were

sown one month earlier (4 and 9 April). The results from comparative crops in a 2-year dynamics have demonstrated sorghum crops with outstanding yields of over 10 t/ha.

The agricultural crops in this area are not irrigated, so the farmer proposed a new technology, with the sowing of the two crops earlier by about a month. This way the plants will benefit from the moisture from the soil accumulated in the winter.

REFERENCES

- Ayana, A., Endashaw B. (1998). Geographical patterns of morphological variations in sorghum *(Sorghum bicolour L. Moench)* Hereditas, 129: 195-205.
- Manole, D., Jinga, V., Giumba, A. M., Dudoiu, R. Sristea, S. (2018). Researches regarding new and improved technologies for sunflower and sorghum crops in the context of climatic changes in Dobrogea region. AgroLife Sci. J. (in press).
- Brouk, M. J. Bean, B. (2005). Sorghum in Dairy Cattle Production Feeding Guide.
- Owen, F. G. (1967). Factors affecting nutritive value of corn and sorghum silage. J. Dairy Sci., 50: 404-416.
- Pochiscanu, S. F., Robu, T., Drutu, C. A., Popa, L. D. Trotus, E. (2015). 7, 2- Influenta temperaturii asupra germinarii boabelor de *Sorghum bicolor L*. J. Bot.
- Romanian National Institute of Statistics Crop production for main crops in 2016.
- Trotus, E., Lupu, C., Drutu, A. C. (2015). Tehnologii de cultivare a unor plante de camp pentru zona central a Moldovei. Ed. Ion Ionescu de la Brad, Iasi.

INVESTIGATION OF EXTRACELLULAR ALPHA-AMYLASE ACTIVITY OF PENICILLIUM CYCLOPIUM

Gamze ALTINTAŞ KAZAR¹*, Figen ERTAN¹

¹Trakya University, Department of Biology, Edirne 22030, Turkey

*gamzealtintas@trakya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

A variety of fungus species have been screened for α -amylase activity by a starch plate culture method. *Penicillium cyclopium* was found to be 2.25 ± 0.06 having the highest starch degrading activity in which starch degrading activity is defined as the ratio of the diameter of clear zone to the diameter of fungus colony (DCZ/DFC). Extracellular amylolytic activities of *P. cyclopium* is evaluated under varying pH and temperature reaction conditions. The optimum pH and temperature for reaction were found to be 5 and 30°C, with the enzyme activity values of 2.94 ± 1.01 and 2.06 ± 1.04 U/ml, respectively. The starch hydrolysis percentage of *P. cyclopium* was also investigated with starches from different sources. The highest hydrolysis percentages were found for corn starch in 5, 10 and 15 min, however rice starch was ranked the highest hydrolysis percentage in 30 minutes.

Keywords: *Penicillium cyclopium*, α -amylase, hydrolysis percentage, thermal stability, pH stability

INTRODUCTION

Alpha-amylase, (α -amylase) is a protein enzyme (EC 3.2.1.1) that belongs to a family of endo-amylases that catalyzes the initial hydrolysis of starch into shorter oligosaccharides through the cleavage of α -D-(1–4) glycosidic bonds (Kandra, 2003). The end products of α -amylase action are oligosaccharides with varying length with an α -configuration and α -limit dextrins, which constitute a mixture of maltose, maltotriose, and branched oligosaccharides of 6–8 glucose units that contain both α -1,4 and α - 1,6 linkages (Van der Maarel et al., 2012 ; Whitcomb and Lowe, 2007). Although other amylolytic enzymes contributes the breakdown process of starch, but the participation of α -amylase is the most critical step for the initiation of the degredation process (Tangphatsornruang, 2005). Starch conversion, detergent industry, ethanol production, biofuel production are the industrial uses of α -amylases. Not only do food, textile and paper industry use

 α -amylases, but also medical industry uses the potential of α -amylases for the degradation of biofilms (De Souza and De Oliveira Magalhães, 2010; Chi et al., 2009).

Although plants and animals are the sources of amylases, microbial amylase production dominates the commercial industry (Gupta et al., 2003). As it is shown that the stability of microbial amylases are higher than amylases from other sources, the huge production capacity and manipulation convenience are the other benefits of the microbial amylase usage (Tanyildizi et al., 2005). A limited species of mesophilic fungi are the most studied group and many studies focus on the selection of the outperforming species and description of cultural conditions on a commercial scale (Gupta et al., 2003).

Aspergillus and Penicillium are commonly studied species as they are suitable for solidstate fermentation and their amylase products are generally accepted as GRAS (Generally Recognized As Safe) (Kathiresan and Manivannan, 2006; Gupta et al., 2003). Although a number of Penicillium species are screened for starch degrading activity, α -amylase activity of Penicillium cyclopium remains unstudied (Saranraj and Stella, 2013).

The aim of the study was the determination of α -amylase activity of *Penicillium cyclopium* by a starch plate culture method and the evaluation of extracellular amylolytic activities of *P*. *cyclopium* under varying pH and temperature reaction conditions. In addition, thermal and pH stability of extracellular α -amylase from *P*. *cyclopium* and its hydrolysis potential on starches from different plant sources were investigated.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Five species of fungal cultures (*Penicillium glabrum*, *Penicillium expansum*, *P. cyclopium*, *Talaromyces radicus*, *Fusarium solani*) fungal cultures originally obtained from University of Valencia; Spain and Westerdijk Institute of Utrecht, Netherlands; stored in Trakya University Science Faculty Department of Biology were assessed for amylase activity. CDB (Czapek-Dox Broth) medium containing 2.5% agar and 2.0% starch (pH 6) was used to prepare screening plates. Incubation was performed via three-point inoculation method. After 7 days in an incubator at 30°C, the plates were treated with 1% iodine solution as described by Abou-Zeid in 1997. The diameter of clear zone (DCZ) and the diameter of fungal colony (DFC) were measured. The measurements used to calculate DCZ to DFC ratios for each species.

Growth medium was used as described by Abou-Zeid¹³ containing 3 g NaNO₃, 1 g KH₂PO₄, 0.5 g MgSO₄.7H₂O, 0.5 g KCl, 0.01 g FeSO₄.7H₂O, 0.01 g yeast extract, 20 g maltose in 1 l distilled water. The flasks containing fungal cultures were incubated in 30°C water bath with a shaking frequency of 200 rpm. After 7 days, the culture containing media was filtered through Whatman No:1 paper filter. The filtrate was used as crude enzyme source.

In order to determine the biochemical properties of α -amylase from *P. cyclopium* varying incubation pH and temperature of reaction and the thermal stability and pH stability of the crude

enzyme was tested. The starch degrading ability of α -amylase from *P. cyclopium* on starch samples from different plant sources was also investigated with varying incubation periods. α -amylase activity was measure according to methods described by Abou-Zeid in 1997. Blank, control and three replicates of sample tubes were prepared and their absorbance values at 620 nm were measured. The difference between control and samples were used to calculate the amount of starch degraded by crude enzyme via formula obtained from starch standard curve graph.

0.8% soluble starch was dissolved in boiling 0.05 M KH₂PO₄-NaOH buffer (pH 5.0) and then cooled. For the assay 0.1 ml of crude enzyme solution was placed in a test tube after 5 min following the addition of 0.2 ml of starch substrate. The reaction was stopped by the addition of 5 ml of iodine solution. The absorbance was measured at 620 nm against blank containing enzyme, buffer and iodine solution (Abou-Zeid, 1997). One unit of α -amylase is defined as the amount of enzyme which hydrolyses 0.1 mg of starch at 30°C when 8 mg of starch is present (Balkan and Ertan, 2004).

The effect of temperature on the activity of α -amylase was measured by incubating 0.1 ml enzyme and 0.2 ml of starch solution at 30°C, 40°C, 50°C and 60°C for 5 minutes. The effect of pH on the activity of α -amylase was measured by incubating 0.1 ml enzyme and 0.2 ml of buffers, adjusted to pH from 4 to 8, containing soluble starch (For pH 4 and 5 sodium acetate buffer; for pH 6 to 8 phosphate buffer were used.). Thermostability was determined by incubating crude enzyme at temperatures ranging from 30°C to 60°C for 20 min prior to substrate addition. Stability of the enzyme at different pH values was examined by the incubation of the enzyme at various pH values varying from 4.0 to 8.0 for 1 hr at 4°C. Hydrolysis percentage potential on starches from different plant sources were determined by using standard, wheat, corn, potato and rice starch as substrate.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Penicillium glabrum, P. expansum, P. cyclopium, T. radicus, F. solani species were assessed for amylase activity by starch plate method and the diameter of clear zone (DCZ) and the diameter of fungal colony (DFC) were measured and their DCZ to DFC ratios are calculated (Table 1). *P. cyclopium* was found to be 2.25 ± 0.06 having the highest starch degrading activity in which starch degrading activity is defined as the ratio of the diameter of clear zone to the diameter of fungus colony (DCZ/DFC). As there is no prior studies on the characterization of biochemical properties of extracellular amylases from *P. cyclopium*, further biochemical studies performed by crude extracellular enzyme extracts of *P. cyclopium*.

Alpha-amylase activity was measure according to methods described by Abou-Zeid in 1997. The difference between control and samples were used to calculate the amount of starch degraded by crude enzyme via formula obtained from starch standard curve graph (Fig. 1).

The effect of temperature and pH on the activity of α -amylase were evaluated by incubating enzyme and substrate in varying temperatures and varying pH buffers. The results in Figure 2 and Figure 3 show that the optimum pH and temperature for reaction were found to be 5 and 30°C, with the enzyme activity values of 2.94 ± 1.01 and 2.06 ± 1.04 U/ml, respectively. The optimum temperature of α -amylases is generally related to natural habitat and growth of microorganism and the optimum pH of α -amylases varies from 2 to 12 but most bacterial and fungal α -amylases prefers conditions of acidic to neutral range (Saranraj and Stella, 2013). In accordance with that, α -amylase from *P. cyclopium* performed best at slightly acidic conditions.

| Fungus | Fungus Unstained | | DCZ/DFC |
|-----------------------|------------------|--|---------|
| Penicillium glabrum | 545 | | 0.3 |
| Penicillium expansum | * | | 1.3 |
| Penicillium cyclopium | 211 | | 2.25 |
| Talaromyces radicus | 210 | | 0.7 |
| Fusarium solani | set | | 0.2 |

Table 1. DCZ/DFC ratios of fungus species



Figure 1. Calibration curve of starch



Figure 2. Alpha-amylase activity of *P. cyclopium* under different temperatures



Figure 3. Alpha-amylase activity of *P. cyclopium* under varying pH

Thermostability was determined by incubating crude enzyme at varying temperatures and stability of the enzyme at different pH values was examined by the incubation of the enzyme at various pH values. Thermal stability of the crude enzyme was kept for 30 °C and 40 °C up to 97 % but as temperature increases above 40 °C the thermal stability of the enzyme was lost (Fig. 4). pH stability of the enzyme was performed best at pH 5 but tested pH values cause only up to 3% decrease in enzyme activity (Fig. 5). According to study performed by Balkan and Ertan, α -Amylase from *Penicillium chrysogenum* was found to be stable at a pH range from 5.0–6.0 and at 30°C for 20 min (Balkan and Ertan, 2004).



Figure 4. Thermal stability of α -amylase activity from P. cyclopium



Figure 5. pH stability of α -amylase activity from P. cyclopium

The starch hydrolysis percentage of *P. cyclopium* was also investigated with starches from different sources. The highest hydrolysis percentages were found for corn starch in 5, 10 and 15 min, however rice starch was ranked the highest hydrolysis percentage in 30 minutes (Table 2).

Table 2. Hydrolysis percentage of starches from different sources by α -amylase from *P*. *cyclopium* under varying incubation durations

| Time | Hydrolysis percentage of different starch (%) | | | | | | | | |
|------|---|--------------|-------------|---------------|--------------------|--|--|--|--|
| min | Soluble Starch | Wheat Starch | Corn Starch | Potato Starch | Rice Starch | | | | |
| 5 | 8.6 | 17.4 | 25.9 | 16.2 | 14.7 | | | | |
| 10 | 18.0 | 25.7 | 31.4 | 26.0 | 24.0 | | | | |
| 15 | 23.5 | 32.0 | 36.8 | 27.8 | 35.5 | | | | |
| 30 | 41.8 | 49.9 | 42.9 | 37.7 | 50.7 | | | | |

CONCLUSION

The results of this study is the first information on extracellular amylolytic activity of *P*. *cyclopium*. In addition, characteristics of biochemical properties for the enzyme are investigated for the first time in literature. Optimum temperature and optimum pH of the enzyme were determined and found to be 5 and 30 °C, respectively. Thermostability and pH stability studies also showed that the crude enzyme was stable for 30 °C and 40 °C up to 97 % and varying pH values from 4 to 8 causes only up to 3% decrease in enzyme activity. Further studies are being made to evaluate the potential of α -amylase from *P. cyclopium* in industrial use.

REFERENCES

- Abou-Zeid, A.M. (1997). Production, purification and characterization of an extracellular alphaamylase enzyme isolated from Aspergillus flavus. Microbios, *89* (358): 55-66.
- Balkan, B. and Ertan, F. (2005). Production and Properties of α-Amylase from *Penicillium chrysogenum* and its Application in Starch Hydrolysis. Preparative Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 35 (2): 169-178.
- Chi, Z., Chi, Z., Liu, G., Wang, F., Ju L. and Zhang T. (2009). *Saccharomycopsis fibuligera* and its applications in biotechnology. Biotechnol Adv., 27: 423–431.
- De Souza, P. M. and De Oliveira Magalhães, P. (2010). Application of microbial α-amylase in industry A review. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 41 (4): 850–861.
- Gupta, R., Gigras, P., Mohapatra, H., Goswami, V.K. and Chauhan, B. (2003). Microbial αamylases: a biotechnological perspective. Process Biochem 38: 1599 - 1616.
- Kandra L. (2003). α-Amylases of medical and industrial importance. Journal of Molecular Structure (Theochem), 666–667: 487-498.
- Kathiresan, K. and Manivannan, S. (2006). α-Amylase production by *Penicillium fellutanum* isolated from mangrove rhizosphere soil. Afr. J. Biotechnol., 5: 829–832.
- Saranraj, P. and Stella, D. (2013) Fungal amylase-A review. Int. J. Microbiol. Res, 4 (2): 203-211.
- Tangphatsornruang S., Naconsie M., Thammarongtham C. and Narangajavana J. (2005). Isolation and characterization of an alpha-amylase gene in cassava (*Manihot esculenta*). Plant Physiol Biochem., 43: 821–827.
- Tanyildizi, M.S., Ozer, D. and Elibol, M. (2005). Optimization of α-amylase production by *Bacillus* sp. using response surface methodology. Process Biochem, 40: 2291-2296.

International Agricultural, Biological & Life Science Conference, Edirne, Turkey, 2018

- Van der Maarel, M.J., Van der Veen, B., Uitdehaag, J.C., Leemhuis, H. and Dijkhuizen L. (2002). Properties and applications of starch-converting enzymes of the alpha-amylase family. J Biotechnol., 94:137–155.
- Whitcomb D.C. and Lowe M.E. (2007). Human pancreatic digestive enzymes. Dig Dis Sci., 52:1–17.

GENETIC MARKERS ASSOCIATED WITH CANINE HIP DYSPLASIA

Süleyman KÖK¹, Sertaç ATALAY²

¹Trakya University, Faculty of Engineering, Department of Genetics and Bioengineering, Edirne, Turkey ²Namık Kemal University, Central Research Laboratory, Tekirdag, Turkey

koks@trakya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Dogs were domesticated from its wolf ancestors about 15,000 years ago. Beginning with the wolf, mankind has created dog breeds that are hunters or herders, big or small, and lean or squat. Thus, dogs became the most diverse mammal species morphologically. On the other hand, the selection of some morphological traits made some dog breeds more susceptible to orthopedic diseases. Hip dysplasia, one of these diseases, is the most common orthopedic disease in dogs. But still, the etiology, mechanobiology, and pathology underlying this disease are not well understood. Canine hip dysplasia (CHD) tends to be more common in some breeds (German Shepherds, Rottweilers, Great Danes atc.) than others and in some lines than others, which indicates that there is a genetic component to the disorder. Various attempts have been made to identify genetic loci underlying CHD development with the goal to develop a DNA test that would outperform, and eventually obviate, phenotype-based selection for CHD. Several initiatives have been made to develop a DNA test to determine the genetic loci underlying CHD. As a result of the investigations, many genetic variations have been reported to be associated with CHD. This review focuses on these markers of dogs.

INTRODUCTION

Mankind has bred a large number of dog breeds, each with its own characteristics, with the artificial selection that it has applied for thousands of years. The dogs whose smell, hearing and sight properties are sharpened have been used for safety and hunting for a very long time. However, during the selection studies, besides the desired characteristics, it has been preserved by being selected in the undesirable properties, and even it has become the fixed characteristic of some races (André et al. 2017). One of these genetic defects is CHD, which is very common in some breeds, while it is rarely seen in some breeds. Hip dysplasia (HD) is an inherited, non-congenital disease that is particularly prevalent in large and giant breeds of dog and the expression of HD genes may be influenced by a number of environmental factors (Ginja et al. 2010). It causes pain and movement restriction, genetic origin and can be detected by radiographic techniques (Figure 1) in dogs that have reached a size of 6-8 months(King 2017). In studies up to now, many genes have been proposed as marker candidates associated with CHD; CHST3 (carbohydrate chondroitin 6

sulfotransferase) gene (Bartolomé et al. 2015), FBN2 (fibrillin 2) gene (Friedenberg. 2011, Lavrijsen et al. 2014), OSTF1 (Osteoclast Stimulating Factor 1), PGM2 (Phosphoglucomutase-2), MYPN (Myopalladin), OLFM1 (Olfactomedin 1), IBSP (Integrin Binding Sialoprotein), FGF12 (Fibroblast Growth Factor 12) genes (Distl et al. 2013), *KSR2 gene* is (Kinase suppressor of Ras 2) gene (Fels and Distl 2014).

Today, security forces use service dogs that specialize in different categories (mine, patrol, bomb, search and rescue, etc.). The education of these dogs is started with births and is completed by the end of one year. Detection of CHD disease at 6-8 months of age in dogs that have a long, laborious and costly training process results in the removal of the CHD dog from education. This can lead to economic losses as well as time and motivation losses. In our research, genetic markers associated with CHD will be investigated in dogs used as breeding centers in centers where breeding and training of service dogs are conducted. It is aimed to reduce the frequency of the disease and contribute to the training and breeding of more effective healthy dogs by removing the dogs carrying the disease-related markers from the population in the dogs in the dog training centers.



Figure1. Normal right hip and hip dysplasia (Anonymous, 2018)

MATERIAL AND METHODS

German Shepherd, Malinois, and Labrador Retriever dogs 20 blood tissue samples were collected which were raised in the Nevşehir Horse and Dog Training Center and stored at -20 °C in a deep freezer as far as molecular genetic studies are performed. The primer pair was designed using the Primer 3 program in the NCBI (Table 1).

| Gene Name/Gene region | Primer sequences | Product size (bp) | Reference | |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------|------------|--|
| OSTE1/Introp 3 | F: AACCTACCTGCCCCTAAGGA | 340 | This study | |
| | R: GTGAAAGCTGAGGTCTGGGA | 549 | This study | |
| IBSD/Exon 4 and Introp 5 | F: TGGCCTGTGCTTTCTCAGTA | 555 | This study | |
| IDSI /EXOII 4 and Inition 5 | R: TTCTAGACTGGGCCCAAATGC | 555 | | |
| EGE12/Evon 2and Intron 2 | F: CAAACCCTGGGATGGGAGAA | 368 | This study | |
| | R: CCCCAGCTGAAGGGAATTGT | 500 | This study | |

Table 1. We designed Primer pairs for use in this research.

PCR amplifications were performed with the PCR master mix (Thermo, K0171) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The PCRs were carried out in volumes of 25 μ l using; 12,5 μ l PCR Master Mix, 50 ng (5 μ l) genomic DNA, 1 μ l (5 pmol) each primer, and the rest was ddH2O. The amplification was performed at 95 °C for 3 min, followed by 35 cycles at 95 °C for 30 sec, annealing for OSTF1, IBSP, FGF12 genes at 62, 60, 64 °Crespectively 30 sec, 72 °C for 45 secand a final extension of 72 °C for 10 min on T100 Thermal Cycler (Biorad).

The PCR products were subjected to electrophoresis on 2 % agarose/ethidium bromide gel (Aga003R, Bioshop, Canada) in 1× TBE buffer (TBE-001, New Bioscience). Gels were visualized under UV light and documented in WGD30S Molecular Imager apparatus (Wisd) (Figure 1). PCR products were sequenced by automated fluorescent sequencing using Quick Start Kit (Beckman Coulter, RN608120) and GenomeLab GeXP DNA analyzer (Beckman Coulter). SNPs were detected by BioEdit Sequence Alignment Editor software (Hall, 1999) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. FGF12 gene product on agarose gel electrophoresis

RESULTS

In our studies, we researched 20 example dogs up to now, we could not detect variation in the exon 2-intron 2 region of the FGF12 gene. The FGF12 gene region (part of exon 2-intron 2) was found to be monomorphic in German Shepherd, Malinois, Labrador Retriever breed dogs. However, was found A>G SNP in the exon 4-intron 4 region of the IBSP gene (Figure 2) and A>G SNPin the intron 3 region of the OSTF1 gene (Figure 3). The variations detected in the samples will be investigated in relation to CHD by studying more samples.

Our research goal is to study with 5 different SNPs and in total 210 dogs of which at least 10 percent in morphological trait dogs which have canine hip dysplasia. These will be clinically controlled dogs about healthy or unhealthy. We continue to search with existing Candidate Marker Genes for variations in the genes and collect blood samples from the dogs. Also, we will continue to search additional 2 genes (Carbohydrate Sulfotransferase 3-CHST3 and CX3C Chemokine Receptor 1-CX3CR1).

It hope that there are positive outcomes from this case-control study with Canine hip dysplasia in dogs.



Figure 2. IBSP gene; a) AA genotype, b) AG genotype, c) GG genotype



Figure 3. OSTF1 gene; a) AA genotype, b) AG genotype, c) GG genotype

REFERENCES

André, C., E. Guaguère, G. Chaudieu, J.-P. Genevois and P. Devauchelle (2017). "The importance of dogs for comparative pathology and genetics: Examples of shared resources and programmes." Revue Vétérinaire Clinique.

Anonymous (2018), https://vcahospitals.com

Bartolomé, N., S. Segarra, M. Artieda, O. Francino, E. Sánchez, M. Szczypiorska, J. Casellas, D. Tejedor, J. Cerdeira and A. Martínez (2015). "A genetic predictive model for canine hip dysplasia: integration of Genome Wide Association Study (GWAS) and candidate gene approaches." PloS one 10 (4): e0122558.

Distl, O., Y. Marschall and K.-F. Stock (2013). Analysis for the genetic disposition for hip dysplasia in Canidae. European Patent Office Bulletin: 672.

Fels, L. and O. Distl (2014). "Identification and validation of quantitative trait loci (QTL) for canine hip dysplasia (CHD) in German shepherd dogs." PLoS one 9(5): e96618.

Friedenberg, S. G., L. Zhu, Z. Zhang, W. van den Berg Foels, P. A. Schweitzer, W. Wang, P. J. Fisher, N. L. Dykes, E. Corey and M. Vernier-Singer (2011). "Evaluation of a fibrillin 2 gene haplotype associated with hip dysplasia and incipient osteoarthritis in dogs." American journal of veterinary research 72 (4): 530-540.

Ginja, M., A. Silvestre, J. Gonzalo-Orden and A. Ferreira (2010). "Diagnosis, genetic control and preventive management of canine hip dysplasia: a review." The Veterinary Journal 184 (3): 269-276.

Hall, T. A. (1999). BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucleic acids symposium series, [London]: Information Retrieval Ltd., c1979-c2000.

King, M. D. (2017). "Etiopathogenesis of Canine Hip Dysplasia, Prevalence, and Genetics." Hip Dysplasia, an Issue of Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, E-Book 47 (4): 753.

Lavrijsen, I. C., P. A. Leegwater, A. J. Martin, S. J. Harris, M. A. Tryfonidou, H. C. Heuven and H. A. Hazewinkel (2014). "Genome wide analysis indicates genes for basement membrane and cartilage matrix proteins as candidates for hip dysplasia in Labrador Retrievers." PLoS one 9 (1): e87735.

DNA FINGERPRINTING OF REGISTERED TURKISH RICE (Oryza sativa L) CULTIVARS

Zeynep Çisem MUTAFÇILAR, Semra HASANÇEBİ, Yalçın KAYA, Necmi BEŞER Trakya University, Engineering Faculty, Department of Genetics and Bioengineering Edirne-TÜRKİYE

necmibeser@trakya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Rice is one of the most important crops in the world. It is also existing as one of the most profitable crop in Turkey. The sstu Turkey with 10 SSR markers of registered rice varieties to determine the finger izleirn by identifying fragments of these varieties they created were made in 2016 and 2017. Studies in production in Turkey with registration or have received permission assortment of some 60 local and foreign rice varieties were used as materials. Characterization of 60 varieties with 10 SSR markers, genotyping of varieties combined with 10 SSR fingerprints have been created in the study.

Key words: Rice (Oryza sativa L), fingerprinting, moleculer chracterization, SSR

INTRODUCTION

A number of DNA molecular markers such as RFLP, RAPD, SSR, AFLP and SNP have been increasingly used to investigate germplasm diversity and genetic relationships by plant breeders since 1990 (Melchinger, 1999). Since these markers do not affect the environmental conditions. DNA markers in microsatellite (SSRs) are more advantageous for these studies than other markers and SSRs markers are well distributed within the genome in eukaryotic organisms and they are mostly existing in large amounts and show polymorphism (Morgante and Olivieri, 1993). SSR markers are especially very useful and suitable markers in the identification and purity of varieties (Weising et al. 1997; Ni et al. 2002; Kostova 2006). It is reported in some studies that SSR markers is so appropriate to investigate genetic differences in rice (Powell et al. 1996) indicating that markers are suitable for the investigation of genetic variation for both aromatic and non-aromatic paddy varieties and their relatives (Ghneim et al. 2008). For this purpose, some researchers have developed SSR markers for rice (Zhao and Kochert 1993) and Pervaiz et al. (2009) reported that they developed more than 20 000 SSR markers and were mapped for paddy genome-specific regions.

The genetic diversity and characterization studies with SSR markers in rice were carried out by different researchers. For instance, Hossain et al. (2007) used 30 SSR markers to determine the characterization and differences of the 21 paddy variety in their study. They indicated that number of alleles in the loci were changed between three (RM165, RM219, RM248, RM463, RM470, AVE RM 517) and nine (RM223), and 4.53 alleles in 30 loci and also PIC (polymorphic

information content) values for 30 loci ranged from 0.30 (RM219) to 0.84 (RM223). The most common allele frequency for each locus were ranged from 24% (RM223 and RM334) to 81% (RM219). In another study in Pakistan, Pervaiz et al. (2010) found in 32 polymorphic SSR loci and 3 loci were found to be monoformic in 142 alleles utilizing 75 SSD markers in the local rice genotype. The number of alleles for each marker were ranged from 2 to 13 with an average of 4.4 and allele sizes were ranged from 11bp to 71 bp. Rahman et al. (2012) studied 34 microsatelite molecular markers to determine their characterization and their differentiation in 21 paddy cultivars. The number of alleles per locus were ranged from 2 to 11 and 14 paddy varieties were different from each other. These alleles have been found to be useful in recognizing these varieties for molecular characterization and DNA fingerprinting. According to the PIC (polymorphic information content) values, RM401 was the most appropriate marker in the variety recognition and difference analysis followed by RM566, RM3428, RM463, and RM8094. Based on the study results, five clusters were observed in the UPGMA dendogram and eight SSR markers (RM10713, RM279, RM424, RM6266, RM1155, RM289, RM20224 and RM5371) were produced different alleles in aromatic rice varieties. Then they suggested that these markers could be used for variety recognition and DNA fingerprinting studies.

Choudhary et al. (2013) analyzed the genetic width by using 64 SSR markers in high yield 100 paddy varieties registered in India in between 1970 and 2010. Based on their study results, 52 markers showed polymorphism from these 64 SSR markers and a total of 184 alleles were identified and an average of 3.63 alleles were determined per locus. In another study, Worede et al. (2013) investigated genetic differences using 24 SSR markers in 24 paddy cultivars and found 144 alleles in total. Kumar et al. (2014) studied the local varieties collected from different villages in the Chhattisgarh province with the SSR markers. A total of 44 different alleles were detected from 15 polymorphic SSR markers while the number of alleles per locus ranged from 1 to 4 with the average allele number being 2.93 in their study. Li et al. (2014) used 29 SSR markers to determine polymorphism in 394 Korean rices. They considered total 381 alleles as raw data to understand genetic differences and population structure. Based their studies, the number of alleles per locus was 3 to 44 (mean 13.14) and mean genetic differences (GD) were waxy, low amylose, medium amylose, and high amylose brass, respectively, 0.6014, 0.5922, 0.5858 and 0.7232, respectively. The varieties with high amylose content gave the highest values in terms of both GD and PIC values in their study.

There are some studies also in Turkey on determining on the genetic diversity of Turkish rice varieties. Cömertpay et al. (2013) conducted a study using SSR to determine kinship relationships in commercial varieties. In another study, Bay (2009) used seed storage proteins and 20 RAPD primers in his study and observed that the settlement of varieties was differently from each other but basically similar dendrograms and the two main groups were formed among registered some varieties in Turkey. While Sürek-95, Serhat-92 and Rocca varieties were in a main group, all other varieties were included in another main group in this study. Yüzbaşıoğlu et al (2016) worked polymorphisms using markers for this purpose in the registered 37 rice varieties in Turkey IRAP (inter-retrotransposon amplified polymorphism) and they designed specific primers for most abundant Houba (Tos5 / Osr13) RIRE1 Hopi (Osr27) and Osr30 retrotranposons rice genome. In this study, the highest polymorphism was observed as Hopi (Osr27) with 75%, followed by Osr30 with 57%, Houba with 52% and RIRE1 with 45%.

The aim of this study is to settle of the DNA fingerprints used to determine the identities by combining the fragment lengths and peak images of 60 paddy species utilizing from 10 SSR markers.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Material

In Turkey, there was 48 rice registered or production permitted varieties in 2016 (when the project has started). The material used in this study was obtained from Trakya Agricultural Research Institute and Trakya Genetik ARGE Consultancy Production Import Export and Marketing Ltd. However, some of the varieties are not in currently in production and also some of local varieties were obtained USDA or Turkish Gene Bank collected from Turkey or Turkish Gene Bank. The list of varieties used in the research is given in Table 1.

Table 1. The list of characterized rice materials in the study (registered or production permitted and local varieties in Turkey until 2016).

| # | The name of variety |
|----|---------------------|
| 1 | Altınyazı |
| 2 | Bafra Yıldızı |
| 3 | Demir |
| 4 | Durağan |
| 5 | Ergene |
| 6 | İpsala |
| 7 | Kargı |
| 8 | Kıral |
| 9 | Koral |
| 10 | Meriç |
| 11 | N1-41T-1T-0T |
| 12 | Sürek-95 |
| 13 | Şumnu |
| 14 | Yavuz |

METHOD

SSR markers used in the study

There were used 50 suggested SSR markers representing all rice chromosoms obtained from Gramene database in the study (Table 2).

| Marker | Marker | Ch # | Loc. | Primer (Forward) | Primer (Revers) | Tm (°C) |
|--------|--------|---------|-------|------------------------|------------------------|------------|
| SSR1 | RM495* | 1 | 2.8 | aatccaaggtgcagagatgg | Caacgatgacgaacacaacc | 55 |
| SSR2 | RM1 | 1 | 29.7 | gcgaaaacacaatgcaaaaa | Gcetteetteeaccteac | 55 |
| SSR3 | RM283* | 1 | 31,4 | gtctacatgtacccttgttggg | Cggcatgagagtctgtgatg | 61 |
| SSR4 | RM259 | 1 | 54,2 | tggagtttgagaggaggg | Cttgttgcatggtgccatgt | 55 |
| SSR5 | RM312 | 1 | 71,6 | gtatgcatatttgataagag | Aagtcaccgagtttaccttc | 55 |
| SSR6 | RM5 | 1 | 94,9 | tgcaacttctagctgctcga | Gcatccgatcttgatggg | 57 |
| SSR7 | RM237* | 1 | 115,2 | caaatcccgactgctgtcc | Tgggaagagagcactacagc | 55 |
| SSR8 | RM431* | 1 | 178,3 | tcctgcgaactgaagagttg | Agagcaaaaaccctggttcac | 55 |
| SSR9 | RM154* | 2 | 4,8 | accetetecgeetegeeteete | Ctcctcctcctgcgaccgctcc | 61 |
| SSR10 | RM452* | 2 | 58,4 | ctgatcgagagcgttaaggg | Gggatcaaaccacgtttctg | 61 |
| SSR11 | RM489 | 3 | 29,2 | acttgagacgatcggacacc | Tcacccatggatgttgtcag | 55 |
| SSR12 | OSR13* | 3 | 53,1 | catttgtgcgtcacggagta | Agccacagcgcccatctctc | 53 |
| SSR13 | RM338* | 3 | 108,4 | cacaggagcaggagaagagc | Ggcaaaccgatcactcagtc | 55 |
| SSR14 | RM55 | 3 | 168,2 | ccgtcgccgtagtagagaag | Tcccggttattttaaggcg | 55 |
| SSR15 | RM514* | 3 | 216,4 | agattgatctcccattcccc | Cacgagcatattactagtgg | 55 |
| SSR16 | RM307 | 4 | 0 | gtactaccgacctaccgttcac | Ctgctatgcatgaactgctc | 55 |
| SSR17 | RM124* | 4 | 150,1 | atcgtctgcgttgcggctgctg | Catggatcaccgagctcccccc | 67 |
| SSR18 | RM507* | 5 | 0 | cttaagctccagccgaaatg | Ctcaccctcatcatcgcc | 55 |
| SSR19 | RM413* | 5 | 26,7 | ggcgattcttggatgaagag | Tccccaccaatcttgtcttc | 53 |
| SSR20 | RM161* | 5 | 96,9 | tgcagatgagaagcggcgcctc | Tgtgtcatcagacggcgctccg | 61 |
| SSR21 | RM178 | 5 | 118,8 | tcgcgtgaaagataagcggcgc | Gatcaccgttccctccgcctgc | 69 |
| SSR22 | RM334 | 5 | 141,8 | gttcagtgttcagtgccacc | Gactttgatctttggtggacg | 55 |
| SSR23 | RM133* | 6 | 0 | ttggattgttttgctggctcgc | Ggaacacggggtcggaagcgac | 63 |
| SSR24 | RM510 | 6 | 20,8 | aaccggattagtttctcgcc | Tgaggacgacgagcagattc | 57 |
| SSR25 | RM454 | 6 | 99,3 | ctcaagcttagctgctgctg | Gtgatcagtgcaccatagcg | 55 |
| SSR26 | RM162* | 6 | 108,3 | gccagcaaaaccagggatccgg | Caaggtcttgtgcggcttgcgg | 61 |
| SSR27 | RM125* | 7 | 24,8 | atcagcagccatggcagcgacc | Aggggatcatgtgccgaaggcc | 63 |
| SSR28 | RM11 | 7 | 47 | Tctcctcttcccccgatc | Atagcgggcgaggcttag | 55 |
| SSR29 | RM455* | 7 | 65,7 | aacaacccaccacctgtctc | Agaaggaaaagggctcgatc | 57 |
| SSR30 | RM118* | 7 | 96,9 | ccaatcggagccaccggagagc | Cacatcetecagegaegeegag | 67 |
| SSR31 | RM408* | 8 | 0 | caacgagctaacttccgtcc | Actgctacttgggtagctgacc | 55 |
| SSR32 | RM152* | 8 | 9,4 | gaaaccaccacacctcaccg | Ccgtagaccttcttgaagtag | 53 |
| SSR33 | RM25 | 8 | 52,2 | ggaaagaatgatcttttcatgg | Ctaccatcaaaaccaatgttc | 53 |
| SSR34 | RM44* | 8 | 60,9 | acgggcaatccgaacaacc | Tcgggaaaacctaccctacc | 53 |
| SSR35 | RM284* | 8 | 83,7 | atctctgatactccatccatcc | Cctgtacgttgatccgaagc | 55 |
| SSR36 | RM433* | 8 | 116 | tgcgctgaactaaacacagc | Agacaaacctggccattcac | 53 |

 Table 2. SSR markers used in molecular analysis in the study (<u>http://archive.gramene.org/db/markers/ssrtool</u>)

| SSR37 | RM447* | 8 | 124,6 | Cccttgtgctgtctcctctc | Acgggcttcttctccttctc | 55 |
|-------|--------|----|-------|------------------------|---------------------------|----|
| SSR38 | RM316* | 9 | 1,8 | ctagttgggcatacgatggc | Acgettatatgttacgteaac | 55 |
| SSR39 | RM105 | 9 | 32,1 | gtcgtcgacccatcggagccac | Tggtcgaggtggggatcgggtc | 63 |
| SSR40 | RM215* | 9 | 99,4 | caaaatggagcagcaagagc | Tgagcacctccttctctgtag | 55 |
| SSR41 | RM474 | 10 | 0 | aagatgtacgggtggcattc | Tatgagctggtgagcaatgg | 55 |
| SSR42 | RM271* | 10 | 59,4 | tcagatctacaattccatcc | Tcggtgagacctagagagcc | 55 |
| SSR43 | RM171 | 10 | 73 | aacgcgaggacacgtacttac | Acgagatacgtacgcctttg | 55 |
| SSR44 | RM484* | 10 | 97,3 | tetecetectcaccattgte | Tgetgecetetetetete | 55 |
| SSR45 | RM552 | 11 | 40,6 | cgcagttgtggatttcagtg | Tgetcaacgtttgactgtcc | 55 |
| SSR46 | RM536* | 11 | 55,1 | Tctctcctcttgtttggctc | Acacaccaacacgaccacac | 55 |
| SSR47 | RM287 | 11 | 68,6 | Ttccctgttaagagagaaatc | Gtgtatttggtgaaagcaac | 55 |
| SSR48 | RM144 | 11 | 123,2 | Tgccctggcgcaaatttgatcc | Gctagaggagatcagatggtagtgc | 57 |
| SSR49 | RM19 | 12 | 20,9 | Caaaaacagagcagatgac | Ctcaagatggacgccaaga | 55 |
| SSR50 | RM277* | 12 | 112.2 | Cggtcaaatcatcacctgac | Caaggettgeaaggaag | 55 |

DNA isolation from one rice grain

Healthy and appropriate amount of DNA was obtained from the single rice grains whose embryo was removed and polished based on determined method in the study of Rajendra Kumar et al. (2007). The obtained gDNAs were used in SSR marking studies. Detailed steps of the method were given below;

• A 1ml of polished grain was placed in 2ml ependorf tubes with the endosperm. 600 lendl extraction buffer (1.25 M NaCl, 0.1 M Tris, 0.25 M EDTA, 2% CTAB, 3% PVP) was added.

• incubated at 370C for 45-60 minutes.

- Two 3mm metal balls were added into each sample tube.
- Samples were ruptured at a speed of 30 rpm for 5 minutes in the tissue shredder (RETSCH MM400) to allow the tissues to break apart completely.
- 600 ilavel of chloroform was added.
- Samples were mixed gently and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 10 minutes at room temperature.
- The supernatant was transferred to a new 1.5 ml tube and equal volume of isoproponol was added.
- They were centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 10 minutes at room temperature.
- The supernatant was discarded and washed twice with 70% ETOH.
- Pellets were allowed to dry at room temperature under a fume hood.

• Dried DNA pellets were dissolved with sterile water to 50-75 50l depending on the desired DNA concentration.

The measurement of DNA contents and quality analysis

OPTIZEN NanoQ Spectrophotometer was used for the DNA quantification of the samples, and the absorbance value of the samples at 260 nm wavelength was measured and the amount of gDNA was determined in ng / μ l. In addition, ODD260 / OD280 (for nucleic acid purity) wavelength values were observed to determine whether protein contamination was present in gDNA. Samples completed process having been assayed on an agarose gel at a concentration of 0.8% and run at

120V 80mA for one hour. After electrophoresis, the DNA quality of the samples was examined under gel UV light.

Multiplying SSR locus with PCR

SSR loci were amplified by PCR using 50 primers given in Table 2 in gDNAs isolated from rice grains. The components and concentrations used for this process are given in Table 3. PCR reactions were prepared in 25 del volume. In addition to the PCR reaction prepared for each primer in 64 subjects, a negative control without DNA was added. The prepared reaction mixtures were incubated at the temperature conditions presented in Table 3 to amplify the SSR loci.

The primary sequences of these SSR markers were synthesized and made ready for use by dilution at a concentration of 10 tirilM. In the characterized genotypes, each SSR marker locus was amplified by PCR and analyzed. The components given in Table 3 were used for all PCRs and the reaction temperatures using for each marker using the appropriate binding temperatures.

The DNA fragments amplified by the reaction were analyzed in the capillary electrophoresis system (AATI Fragment Analyzer).

| Used PCR Con | PCR Protocols | | | | |
|-------------------|---------------|-------|------------------|----------|--------------|
| PCR Components | Concentration | Cycle | Temperature (°C) | Duration | Cycle Number |
| Gdna | 50 ng | 1 | 94 | 2 dk | 1 |
| PCR Buffer | 1X | | 94 | 45 sn | |
| MgCl ₂ | 2.5 μM | 2 | 53 - 61* | 1 dk | 35 |
| DNTPs | 0,2 mM) | | 72 | 1 dk | |
| Primer (forward) | 1 µM | 3 | 72 | 10 dk | 1 |
| Primer (revers) | 1 µM | | | | |
| Taq DNA polimeraz | 1 U | | | | |
| dH ₂ O | 13,8 µl | | | | |

Table 3. The protocol PCR and its used components

*Each SSR marker was changed based on primer Tm values.

Electrophoresis Analysis

Capillary electrophoresis was used in the study. Thus, high resolution separation and analysis of each SSR locus was carried out for each sample. The DNA fragments of the PCR-amplified SSR loci were in the range of about 100-300 bp and for the analysis of PCR products, 1 to 5000 bp lar DNA ladder SS was preferred.

PCR products were diluted 1/5 by using Dilution Buffer and the final volume to 96 1/ plate was 24 1/l. As the capillary electrophoresis device used contains 12 capillaries in parallel, 1-500b of DNA ladder was added at the end of each row of PCR products. After the samples were placed in the wells in the plates, mineral oil was added to the samples to avoid evaporation. The

electrophoresis procedure was carried out at a rate of 9.0 kV, 80.0 min. Capillary electrophoresis results were analyzed using the ProSize sistem software program developed specifically for the system.

RESULTS

Initially, 50 SSR markers were proposed in the Gramenegen database to demonstrate genetic diversity in rice. Then, 10 SSR markers which show polymorphism in these markers were selected and their peaks were combined by removing the fingerprints of the varieties with these 10 SSR markers.

Based on study results, Capillary electrophoresis and classified ProSize sistem software program results were given in Figure 1. The 10 selected SSR markers were given as barcode pictures for each variety respectively in the figures.



Figure 1. Some registered and production permitted rice variety barcodes utilizing SSR markers





International Agricultural, Biological & Life Science Conference, Edirne, Turkey, 2018









CONCLUSIONS

All registered and production permitted rice cultivars in Turkey were characterized in the study. There are molecular characterization results of some rice cultivars. While rice was selling and using non coating in Turkey, then there were not easy and fully to recognize for belonging which cultivars in the market. Based on study results, utilizing ten SSR markers it could be identified scientifically from one naked grain selling in the market belonging which cultivar studied in the research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This study was supported by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of Turkey under the Project TAGEM-15/AR-GE/58.

REFERENCES

- BAY, S. (2009). Türk çeltik çeşitlerinin (Oryza sativa L.) Tohum depo proteinleri ve random amplified polymorhic DNA (RAPD) belirleyiciler ile genetik analizi (Yüksek Lisans tezi). Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam Üniversitesi, Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Biyoloji Anabilim Dalı Yüksek Lisans tezi.
- COUDHARY G., Ranjitkumar N., Surapaneni M., Deborah D.A., Vipparla A., Anuradha G., Siddiq E.A. and Vemireddy L.R. (2013) Moleculer Genetic Diversity of MAjor Indian Rice Cultivars over Decadal Periods. Plos One. June 21. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.oo66197.
- CÖMERTPAY, G. Baloch, F., Derya, M., Andeden, E., Sürek, H., Beşer, N., Özkan, H. (2011). Ticari Çeltik Çeşitlerinde Retotransposon ve SSR Moleküler Markörleri Kullanılarak Genetik Çeşitliliğinin Belirlenmesi. 10 Tarla Bitkileri Kongresi, Konya.
- HOSSAIN M.Z., Rasul M.G., Ali M.S., Iftekharuddaula K.M., and Mian M.A.K. (2007). Moleculer characterization and genetic diversity in fine grain and aromatic landraces of rice using microsatellite markers. Bangaldes J. Genet Pl. Breed. 20(2): 1-10

http://archive.gramene.org/db/markers/ssrtool

- KOSTOVA A., Todorovska E., Christov N., Hristov K., and Atanassov A. (2006). Assessment of genetic variability induced by chemical mutagenesis in elite maize germplasm via SSR markers. *J. Crop Improv.* 16:37-48
- KUMAR S., Tantwai K., Kottapalli P.R. and Katiyar S.K. (2014). Genetic diversity analysis of rice genotypes collected from different villages of Chhattisgarh using simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers. Advances in Plant Sciences, 25(2): 419-422.
- LI F.P., Lee Y.S., Kwon S.W., Li G., and Park Y.J. (2014) Analysis of genetic diversity and trait correlations among Korean landrace rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Genetics and Molekuler Research* 13 (3):631-6331.
- MELCHINGER A.E. (1999). Genetic diversity and heterosis. In: Coors, J.G. and Pandey, S. (Eds). The genetics and exploitation of heterosis in Crops. American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of Americs, Soils Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin, USA.)-118
- MORGANTE M., and Olivieri A. (1993). PCR-amplified microsatelites as markers in plant genetics. *Plant J.* 3:175-182
- NI J., Colowit P.M., and Mackill D.J. (2002). Evaluation of genetic diversity in rice subspecies using microsatellite markers. *Crop Science* 42: 601-607.
- PERVAIZ Z.H., Rabbani M.A., Khaliq I., Pearce S.R. and Malik S.A. (2010) Genetic diversity associated with agronomic traits using microsatellite markers in Pakistani rice landraces. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*. 13(3): 0717-3458.
- POWEL W., Machray G.C., and Provan J. (1996). Polymorphism revealed by simple sequence repeats. *Trends Plant Sci.* 1:215-222.
- RAHMAN M.M., Rasaul M.G. Hossain M.A., Iftekharuddaula K.M., Hasegawa H., (2012) Moleculeler Characterization and Genetic Diversity Analysis of Rice (Oryza sativa L.) Using SSR Markers. *Journal of Crop Improvment*. 26:244-257.
- YÜZBAŞIOĞLU G., Yılmaz S. And Gözükırmızı N. (2016) Houba retrotransposon-based molecular markers: a tool for variation analysis in rice. Tur J Agric For 40: 456-464
- WEISING, K., Winter, P., Hüttel B., and Kahl G. (1997) Microsatellite markers for moleculer breeding. J. Crop Prod. 1:113-143
- WOREDE F., Sreewongchai T., Phumichai C., and Sripichitt P. (2013) Genetic diversity analysis of rice cultivars from various origins using simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers. African Journal of Biotechnology. 12(26): 4074- 4081.
- ZHAO X., and Kochert, G. (1993) Phylogenetic distribution and genetic mapping of a (GGC)n microsatellites from rice (*Oryza sativa* L), *Plant Moleculer Biology*, 21, 697-614.

NICKEL ACCUMULATION AND ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY OF COMMON REED (PHRAGMITES AUSTRALIS) IN THE ALBANIAN PART OF LAKE OHRID

Enis DALO^{*1,2}, Rigerta SADIKAJ², Hazbije SAHITI¹

¹ University of Prishtina, Department of Biology, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Prishtina, Kosovo

² University of Tirana, Department of Biotechnology, Tirana, Albania

*enisd8@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The presence of some mines that produced nickel, chromium, iron and coal which now most are not functional is one of the main factors of metal contamination in the Albanian part of Lake Ohrid. In addition to this factor agriculture, chemical and metallurgical industry, serpentine soils endanger the lake. The purpose of our research was to evaluate the accumulation of nickel from the aquatic plant of the lake Common reed and to estimate the antioxidant activity of the leaves in the spring season. Concentration of heavy metals was determinated with Atomic Absorption Spectrofotometry (AAS) method whereas the total antioxidative activity with DPPH (2.2-diphenyl-1- picrylhydrazil) radical elimination method. The results showed that the largest accumulation of nickel was at the point of the former Fe-Ni mine 6.98 ± 0.5468 mg/kg and the difference was significant in comparison with entry of Pogradec (p <0.05) and Lin village (p<0.01). As far as antioxidant activity was concerned, it was highest at the point of the former Fe-Ni mine 431.88 ± 28.298 mg Trolox/g dry tissue weight but the difference was not significant compared to other points.

Keywords: Ohrid, Ni, Antioxidant, Pollution, Mine, Reed

INTRODUCTION

Nickel is the 24rt by weight, the fifth most abundant element after iron, oxygen, magnesium and silicon in the Earth crust. Although it is found in some oxidation states, Ni (II) is the form mostly found in the environment. This element has extensive commercial and industrial use. Usually used for the production of stainless steel. Nickel, which is quite undesirable in the environment, stems from natural resources and anthropogenic activities. Wind-blown dust, derived from the weathering of rocks and soils, volcanic emissions, forest fires and vegetation, represent natural resources. (Cempel and Nikel, 2016) Nickel is the essential nutritient for high plants without the presence of which cannot complete the life cycle. (Brown et al., 1987) But the presence of nickel in high concentrations in the medium has adverse effects on the plant. High concentrations of nickel cause chlorosis and necrosis in plants, preventing iron uptake and metabolism. (Molas and Baran, 2004) Reactive oxygen species, also known as oxygen-free radicals, can be described as a group of reactive molecules and free radicals that can be formed

during aerobic metabolic processes of cells (Bras et al., 2005; Czarn and Jarmuszkiewicz, 2006). Mitochondria is the organelle where occurs reactive oxygen species formation. Mitochondria has antioxidant mechanism to protect itself from harmful effects of reactive oxygen species. These mechanisms include reducement of reactive oxygen species formation and removal of existed reactive oxygen species (Czarn and Jarmuszkiewicz, 2006) There are proteins, enzymes (superoxide dismutase (Cu, Zn-SOD, Mn-SOD), catalase, glutathione peroxidase) and nonenzymatic antioxidants (vitamins (Vitamin C (ascorbic acid), Vitamin E (alpha-tocopherol), carotenoids), thiol antioxidants (glutathione, thioredoxin and lipoic acid), flavonoids, selenium, zinc) that play role in antioxidant defense mechanism of mitochondria (Jomova and Valko, 2011; Valko et al. 2006). Research carried out in the Albanian part of Lake Ohrid shows high values of nickel in sediment. (Vogel et al., 2011; Malaj et al., 2012) Sources of this metal may be mines located on the shore of the lake. Although they don't work, their wastes carry heavy metals to the lake after the rain. (Avramovski et al., 2003) Heavy metals can accumulate from aquatic plants with roots. (Zwolsman et al., 1990) One of these plants is Common reed (*Phragmites australis*) that grows at several points of the lake (Albrecht et al., 2008). This metals represent one of the environmental stress factors that stimulate the generation of reactive oxygen species (Sen A., 2012) The purpose of our research was to evaluate the accumulation of nickel from the stem of aquatic plant of the lake Common reed and to estimate the antioxidant activity of the leaves in the spring season.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The research was conducted in the spring of 2015. The sampling was done at three points in Lake Ohrid on the side that belongs to Albania, precisely at the entrance of Pogradec (area occupied by *Phragmites australis*), near the former Fe-Ni mine and in the village of Lin. Lin village has served as a reference point due to the distance it has from the mine. The macrophytes samples have been collected by hand from the shore of the lake, then the leaves have been removed and the stems are placed in sterile glasses filled with the water taken from the lake. The prepared samples are brought to the laboratory in the ice containers at a temperature of about 5°C, then part of the stems and leaves are dried at room temperature while the rest is placed at a temperature of -20° C.

Determination of heavy metals

The heavy metals are determined by the atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) method by the Perkin-Elmer 1200 B model apparatus. The samples are initially dried at room temperature and then subjected to liquid mineralization. The dry materials (0.5-1 g) are diluted with 10 ml of concentrated nitric acid (HNO₃) and 10 ml of concentrated hydrochloric acid (HCl) at a temperature of 400°C for about 1 hour. Then the mineralized samples were mixed with distilled water and filtered with Watman 0.45 μ m filtration paper. The filter is placed in volumetric flask with a volume of 50 ml and is leveled up to the mark with distilled water. AAS calibration is done with a standard of 1000 ppm for each element.
Evaluation of Antioxidant Activity

The DPPH (2.2-diphenyl-l-picrylhydrazyl) radical scavenging assay and Trolox (2.5 mM in methanol) were used as reference substances following the protocol of Chizzola et al. The calibration curve was constructed using Trolox (0-50 mg/mL). The absorbance of the decolorizing process was measured at 515 nm. The results are expressed as the DPPH mg TE/g dm.

Statistical analysis

Diferences between the points are expressed using ANOVA and a Post Hoc Tukey test. Data were expressed as means \pm standard error (SE) for each samples (n= 6) for heavy metals and (n=4) for antioxidant activity. P values of p≤.0.01 were considered to be significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of heavy metals showed that the largest accumulation of nickel in stem was at the point of the former Fe-Ni mine 6.98 ± 0.54 mg kg⁻¹ and the difference was significant in comparison with entry of Pogradec (p <0.05) and Lin village (p <0.01). As far as antioxidant activity was concerned, it was highest at the point of the former Fe-Ni mine 431.88 ± 28.29 mg Trolox/g dry tissue weight but the difference was not significant compared to other points. (Table 1).

Table 1. DPPH antioxidant activity in leaves and nickel values in stems of Common reed (*Phragmites australis*) at three sample points on the Albanian side of Lake Ohrid

| | Entry of Pogradec | Former Fe-Ni mine | Lin village |
|------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| mg TE / g dm | 396.41 ± 54.52 | 431.88 ± 28.29 | 397.29 ± 65.71 |
| Ni mg kg ⁻¹ | 5.31 ± 0.4956 | 6.98± 0.5468 ** | 1.83 ± 0.3656 |

(The results are presented as Mean \pm SD, significant to the reference point of Lin ** p <0.01 and * p <0.05) (n = 6)

Heavy metals in general and in this case chromium and nickel may have toxic effects on plants. According to Allen et al., nickel values over the value of 5 mg kg⁻¹ are toxic to plants. In the current research, the toxic values of nickel have been ascertained at all points except the point of Lin. (Allen et al., 1989)

According to Bani et al., the plants collected in the serpentine soils from Librazhd-Pogradec region have shown great accumulation of nickel. This accumulation has changed from plant to plant where Alyssum markgrafite from Brassicaceae family has shown greater accumulation 5234 mg kg⁻¹ while lower accumulation has shown in Aegilops triuncialis from the L. Poaceae family 9.81 mg kg⁻¹. According to them 2% of nickel comes from iron type laterites and a piece of nickel comes from chromium mines. Generally, the recorded values are high but in the plant belonging to the same family with P. australis is recorded a value close to the value obtained at the point of the former Fe-Ni mines. (Bani et al., 2013)

According to Zeneli et al., plants grown in industrial contaminated areas in Kosovo have shown bioaccumulation of some metals such as Pb, Cd, Zn, Mn and Fe. These metals have stimulated the production of reactive oxygen species. While plants grown in these areas have shown accumulation of heavy metals, the total antioxidative capacity was lower compared to the coparison group. According to them, Fe influences the reduction of total antioxidative capacity. (Zeneli et al.2013)

CONLUSIONS

The former Fe-Ni mine was the point where there was greater accumulation of nickel in stem. This value is a toxic value for the plant. The total antioxidant activity did not show much difference between the points. The lowest value is recorded at the entrance of Pogradec where except heavy metals in the creation of oxidative stress may have an impact agriculture.

REFERENCES

- Albrecht, C., Wilke, T. (2008). Ancient Lake Ohrid: biodiversity and evolution. Hydrobiologia, 615, 103–140.
- Allen, S. E. (1989). Chemical Analysis of Ecological Material. Blackwell Scientific Pub.
- Avramoski, O., Kycyku, S., Naumoski, T., Panovski, D., Puka, V., Selfo, L., Watzin, M., (2003). Lake Ohrid: experience and lessons learned brief (Lake Basin Management Initiative).
- Bani, A., Imeri, A., Echevarria, G., Pavlova, D., Reeves, R.D., Morel, J.L., Sulçe, S. (2013). Nickel hyperaccumulation in the serpentine flora of Albania. Fresenius Environmental Bulletin., 22:1792-1801.
- Bras, M. L., Clement, M. V., Pervaiz, Sh., Brenner, C. (2005). Reactive oxygen species and the mitochondrial signaling pathway of cell death. Histology and histopathology, 20(1):205-19.
- Brown, P. H., Welch, R. M., Cary, E.E. (1987). Nickel a micronutrient essential for all higher plants. Plant Physiol., 85:801-803.
- Cempel, M., Nikel, G. (2006). Nickel: A Review of Its Sources and Environmental Toxicology. Polish J. of Environ. Stud., 15(3):375-382.
- Chizzola, R., Michitsch, H., Franz, Z. (2008). Antioxidative properties of Thymus vulgaris leaves: Comparison of different extracts and essential oil chemotypes. J. Agric. Food. Chem., 56 :6897–6904.
- Czarn, M., Jarmuszkiewicz, W. (2006). Role of mitochondria in reactive oxygen species generation and removal; relevance to signaling and programmed cell death. Postepy Biochem., 52(2):145-56.
- Favier, A. (2006). Oxidative stress in human diseases. Ann Pharm Fr., 64(6): 390-6.
- Jomova, K., Valko, M. (2011). Advances in metal-induced oxidative stress and human disease. Toxicology. 283(2-3):65-87.
- Malaj, E., Rousseau, P. L. D., Laing, D. G., Lens, N.L. P. (2012). Near-shore distribution of heavy metals in the Albanian part of Lake Ohrid. Environ Monit Assess., 184:1823–1839.
- Molas, J. S., Baran, S. (2004). Relationship between the chemical form of nickel applied to the soil and its uptake and toxicity to barley plants (Hordeum vulgare L.). Geoderma, 122(2-4):247-255.
- Şen, A. (2012) Oxidative Stress Studies in Plant Tissue Culture. InTech Open Access Publisher, 59-88,
- Valko, M., Rhodes, CJ., Moncol, J., Izakovic, M., Mazur, M., (2006). Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. Chem Biol Interact., 160: 1-40.

- Vogel, H., Wessels, M., Albrecht, C., Stich, H.-B., Wagner, B., (2010) Spatial variability of recent sedimentation in Lake Ohrid (Albania/Macedonia). Biogeosciences, 7:3333-3342.
- Zeneli, L., Daci-Ajvazi, M., Daci, N. M., Hoxha, D., Shala, A. (2012). Environmental Pollution and Relationship Between Total Antioxidant Capacity and Heavy Metals (Pb, Cd, Zn, Mn, and Fe) in Solanum tuberosum L. and Allium cepa L. Human and Eco. Risk Assess. An Internat., 19(6):1618-1627
- Zwolsman, J.J.G., Berger, G.W., Van Eck, G.T. M. (1993). Sediment accumulation rates, historical input, postdepositional mobility and retention of major elements and trace metals in salt marsh sediments of the Scheldt estuary, SW Netherlands. Mar. Chem., 44:73–94.

OXIDATIVE STRESS IN COMMON REED (PHRAGMITES AUSTRALIS) IN THE ALBANIAN PART OF LAKE OHRID

Enis DALO^{*1,2}, Rigerta SADIKAJ², Hazbije SAHITI¹

¹ University of Prishtina, Department of Biology, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Prishtina, Kosovo

² University of Tirana, Department of Biotechnology, Tirana, Albania

*enisd8@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Aquatic plants are constantly exposed to various environmental factors that cause reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. One of these factors that endanger the Ohrid Lake's plants is the accumulation of heavy metals by plants. Various metals like nickel, chromium increase ROS production and with it the malondialdehyde (MDA) values in the plants. The purpose of this research was to evaluate oxidative stress in common reed by measuring the values of MDA and to see the possibility of using of MDA as a bioindicator for the assessment of pollution in the Lake Ohrid. Plant samples were analyzed by Health Packer spectrophotometric method. The research conducted on three points at the entrance of Pogradec, at the former factory of ferro nickel and at the village Lin. Although not significant the greater values of MDA (4.8300 ± 0.5742 micromol/g wet tissue) in stem of common reed had in the factory point. Our results showed that a further study on MDA as a bioindicator on various parts of the plant and even in various aquatic plants should be continued.

Keywords: Ohrid, MDA, plant, oxidative stress, common reed

INTRODUCTION

Oxidative stress is one of the negative effects of environmental stress factors on high sessile plants. This stress caused by the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) may be the result of exposure to drought, salinity, heavy metals, nutritional disorders or radioactivity. In ROS are present the superoxide radical (O_2^{--}), the singlet oxygen (1O_2), the hydroxyl radical (OH⁻), the hydroperoxyl radical (HO₂⁻), the hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) like that. These highly reactive and partially reduced oxygen particles can be produced in different parts of the plant such as chloroplasts, mitochondria, peroxisomes, plasma membranes, apoplasts, endoplasmic reticulum, and cell-wall. Their production occurs both during the normal metabolism of the plant and under the induction of environmental factors. Exposure to environmental stress factors increases the overproduction of ROS and this increase oxidative stress. Oxidative stress, which is defined as the imbalance of ROS production and antioxidant protection, causes damage in different parts of the cell such as proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and DNA. (Rao et al., 2006, Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Desikan et al. al., 2008; Gill and Tuteja, 2010, Sen, 2012) One of the environmental stress factors that causes ROS overproduction in plants are heavy metals. (Sen, 2012) In moderate concentrations, heavy metals do not affect plant growth, but if the tolerance threshold passes, this may lead to the death of the plant. In their tissues aquatic macrophytes can accumulate heavy metals in considerable quantities. (Kovacks et al., 1984; Unadkat and Parikh, 2017) A typical aquatic aquatic plant that can accumulate heavy metals in different tissues in different parts of it like roots, tems, and leaves is common reed (*Phragmites australis*) (Bonnano et al., 2010). This plant is quite widespread along the shore of the Albanian part of Lake Ohrid. According to Albrecht et al, the macrophytes of this lake can grow in four zones of the so-called Clodophora zone, Chara zone, Phragmites australis zone, Potamogeton zone (Albrecht et al., 2008)

From this point of view, the purpose of this study was to evaluate the oxidative stress of the *Phragmites australis* stem in three points of the lake and to predict whether MDA could be a parameter of lake plants that could serve as a bioindicator for evaluation of pollution in the lake.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study area

The research was conducted in Ohrid Lake, which is one of the oldest lakes in the world located in Balkan Peninsula (Popovska and Bonacci 2007). Lake Ohrid is a transboundary lake shared between the Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (FYROM) and the Republic of Albania (Fig. 1). The lake is located at 693.5m above sea level and has a maximum length of 30.4 km (N–S), a maximum width of 14.7 km (W–E), surface area of 358 km², and a tub-shaped bathymetry with a maximum water depth of 293 m, a mean water depth of ~151 m, and a total volume of 50 (Wagner et al. 2017). Despite the fact that the Lake Ohrid is under the influence of the anthropogenic factor this lake is still considered as an oligotrophic lake with high amounts of dissolved oxygen in the deep waters (Matzinger et al, 2007). Another special characteristic of this ecosystem is high biodiversity and extremely high endemicity rates, Ohrid Lake hosts various endemic species from the entire food chain (Albrecht and Wilke, 2008; Trajanovska et al., 2014).



Figure 1. Map of Lake Ohrid (https://www.google.com/maps/place/Lake+Ohrid)

Sampling

The research was conducted in the spring of 2015. The sampling was done at three points in Lake Ohrid on the side that belongs to Albania, precisely at the entrance of Pogradec (area occupied by *Phragmites australis*), near the former Fe-Ni mine and in the village of Lin. Lin village has served as a reference point due to its distance from the mine. The macrophytes samples have been collected by hand from the shore of the lake, then the leaves have been removed and only the stems are placed in sterile glasses filled with the water taken from the lake. The prepared samples are brought to the laboratory in the ice containers at a temperature of about 5°C, then part of the stems are dried at room temperature while the rest stalk is placed at a temperature of -20°C.

Determination of malondialdehyde

Malondialdehyde (MDA) was determined according to Heath and Packer 1968 with some modifications. The principle of this method is based on the reaction of MDA with thiobarbituric acid, whereby a colored complex is formed. Firstly, frozen samples of plant stems with countermeasure 0.5 g are homogenized with 10% tricloracetic acid (TCA). Then the homogenate was centrifuged at 7000 X g for 10 minutes. One ml homogenate is mixed with two ml of 0.5% thiobarbituric acid dissolved in 10% TCA. This mixture is placed at 95°C for 45 minutes and then cooled to room temperature. After centrifugation, the formed color is read at 532 nm in the spectrophotometer. Calculation of the MDA value is done with extinction coefficient 1.56×10^5 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹ expressed as micromol MDA per gram of wet tissue.

Statistical analysis

Diferences between the points are expressed using ANOVA and a Post Hoc Tukey test. Data were expressed as means \pm standard error (SE) for each samples (n=3) for MDA. P values of p \leq .0.01 were considered to be significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Although not significant the greater values of MDA (4.8300 ± 0.5742 micromol/g wet tissue) in stem of common reed had in the factory point. (Table 1)

Table 1. MDA values in sem of Common reed (*Phragmites australis*) at three sample points on the Albanian part of Lake Ohrid

| | Entry of Pogradec | Former Fe-Ni mine | Lin village |
|-----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------|
| µmol MDA/g wet tissue | 3.9433 ± 0.3953 | 4.8300 ± 0.5742 | 3.5567± 0.7304 |

(The results are presented as Mean \pm SD, significant to the reference point of Lin ** p <0.01 and *p<0.05)(n=3)

Lake Ohrid is endangered by pollution. The presence of old mining waste around the lake shore causes heavy metals such as chromium, nickel, molybdenum, and iron to be transported to the lake. They are mainly transferred to the lake after the rain. In addition to metals and agriculture, the inadequacy of water treatment at certain points of the lake threatens it with pollution. (Avramovski et al., 2003) Previous works has shown high values of chromium, nickel, iron and molybdenum in sediment. (Malaj et al. 2012; Vogel et al,) According to Malaj et al., 2012 mining points have had exceptionally high values of a number of metals in sediment compared to Lin and the points that were far from the mines. The presence of metal in high amounts of sediment causes them to accumulate from aquatic plants of roots. Their accumulation varies from plant to plant and their main accumulation is in the root. (Bonnano et al., 2012) One of these plants that grow in the lake Ohrid is common reed (Phragmites australis). (Albrecht et al., 2008) Heavy metals are considered as environmental pollutants that cause physiological reactions to plants. One of the risks that can cause plants is ROS production. ROS changes normal cellular physiology by degrading proteins, lipids, nucleic acids and enzymes. (Panda and Patra 2016) As a marker that evaluates the degree of lipid peroxidation is malondialdehyde MDA. There are numerous researches carried out on plants especially on leaves of plant during which MDA is estimated.

Malar et al., 2014 investigated the impact of lead on MDA in water hyacinths by treating it with different lead doses of 100 to 100 mg / L with a determination that there is an increase in MDA values up to 400 mg / L. But then at higher doses there was a decrease in MDA.

Jyknus et al., 2012 investigated the impacts of some heavy metals like Cu, Zn, Ni, Cr, Pb, Cd on oxidative stress and growth of spring barley. These metals induced MDA levels with increased metal concentration. In addition to the MDA increase, there has been a reduction of the dry biomass. A moderate increase in MDA has been the case with chromium and nickel treatment. Since Cr has been continuously increasing with dose increase, the highest dose of 1000 micromol has been shown to decrease.

A research conducted by Rahman et al., 2012 has shown that chromium treatment with different concentrations of 0.5 to 3 mg / L in mangrove seedlings has been continuously increasing MDA and the maximum value reached in 3 mg / L. The change was not significant only in the lowest dosage of treatment compared to the control.

Treatment with Co, Ni, Cd (as SO_4), Cr (as dichromate) and Pb (as nitrate) at the rate of 0.25 mM. has caused significant increase in MDA in the case of Cr, Co, Cd and Pb (Gopal and Khurana, 2013).

CONCLUSIONS

Our results showed that a further study on MDA as a bioindicator on various parts of the plant and even in various aquatic plants should be continued in the Albanian part of Lake Ohrid.

REFERENCES

- Albrecht, C., Wilke, T. (2008) Ancient Lake Ohrid: biodiversity and evolution. Hydrobiologia, 615:103–140.
- Avramoski, O., Kycyku, S., Naumoski, T., Panovski, D., Puka, V., Selfo, L., Watzin, M., (2003) Lake Ohrid: experience and lessons learned brief (Lake Basin Management Initiative).
- Bonanno, G., Giudice, RL. (2010) Heavy metal bioaccumulation by the organs of Phragmites australis (common reed) and their potential use as contamination indicators. Ecol. Indic., 10:639–645.
- Desikan, R., Hancock, J., Neill, S. (2005) Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules, in: Smirnoff, N., ed., Antioxidants and Reactive Oxygen Species in Plants, Blackwell Pub. Ltd. Pp: 169-196.
- Foyer, C.H., Noctor, G., (2005) Oxidant and antioxidant signaling in plants: a re-evaluation of the concept of oxidative stress in a physiological contex, Plant, Cell Environ., 28:1056-1071.
- Gill, S.S., Tuteja, N. (2010) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants, Plant Physiol. Biochem., 48: 909-930.
- Gopal, R., Khurana, N. (2011) Effect of heavy metal pollutants on sunflower. African Journal of Plant Science, 5:531-536.
- Heath R. L., Packer, L. (1968) Photoperoxidation in isolated chloroplasts I. Kinetics and stoichiometry of fatty acid peroxidation. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 125:189–198.
- Juknys R, Vitkauskaitė G, Račaitė M, Venclovienė J. (2012) The impacts of heavy metals on oxidative stress and growth of spring barely. Cent Eur J Biol., 7:299-306.
- Kovacks, M., Nyary, L. and Toth, L. (1984) The microelement content of some submerged and floating aquatic plants. Acta Botanica Hungarica, 30:173-185.
- Malaj, E., Rousseau, P. L. D., Laing, D. G., Lens, N.L. P. (2012) Near-shore distribution of heavy metals in the Albanian part of Lake Ohrid. Environ Monit Assess., 184, 1823– 1839.
- Malar, S., Vikram, S.S., Favas, P.J.C., Perumal, V. (2014) Lead heavy metal toxicity induced changes on growth and antioxidative enzymes level in water hyacinths [Eichhornia crassipes (Mart.)]. Botanical Studies, 55:54-65.
- Matzinger, A., Schmid, M., Veljanoska-Sarafiloska, E., Patceva, S., Guseska, D., Wagner, B., Müller, B., Sturm, M., Wüest, A. (2007) Eutrophication of ancient Lake Ohrid: Global warming amplifies detrimental effects of increased nutrient inputs. Limnol. Oceangr., 52:338-353.
- Panda, S.K., Choudhury, S.; Patra, H.K. (2016) Heavy-Metal-Induced Oxidative Stress in Plants: Physiological and Molecular Perspectives. Abiotic Stress Response Plants, 221– 236.
- Popovska, C., Bonacci, O. (2007) Basic data on the hydrology of Lakes Ohrid and Prespa. Hydrological Processes, 21:658–664.
- Rahman, MM., Yan, C., Motiur Rahman, MD., Islam, KS. (2012) Effects of copper on growth, accumulation, antioxidant activityand malondialdehyde c ontent in young seedlings of the mangrove species Kandelia candel (L.) Plant Biosyst, 146:47–57.
- Rao, K.V.M. (2006) Introduction, in Rao, K.V.M., Raghavendra, A.S., Reddy, K.J., eds., Physiology and Molecular Biology of Stress Tolerance in Plants, Springer-Netherlands, pp. 1-14
- Şen, A., (2012) Oxidative Stress Studies in Plant Tissue Culture. InTech Open Access Publisher, 59-88

- Trajanovska, S., Talevska, M., Imeri, A., Schneider, S. (2014) Assessment of littoral eutrophication in Lake Ohrid by submerged macrophytes. Biologia, 69:756-764.
- Unadkat K, Parikh P. A. (2017) Review on Heavy Metal Absorption Capacity of Aquatic Plants: Sources, Impact and Remediation Technique. International Journal of Allied Practice, Research and Review, 4:23-30.
- Vogel, H., Wessels, M., Albrecht, C., Stich, H.-B., Wagner, B. (2010) Spatial variability of recent sedimentation in Lake Ohrid (Albania/Macedonia). Biogeosciences, 7:3333-3342.
- Wagner, B., Wilke, T., Francke, A., Albrecht, C., Baumgarten, H., Bertini, A., Combourieu-Nebout, N., Cvetkoska, A., D'Addabbo, M., Donders, T. H., Föller, K., Giaccio, B., Grazhdani, A., Hauffe, T., Holtvoeth, J., Joannin, S., Jovanovska, E., Just, J., Kouli, K., Koutsodendris, A., Krastel, S., Lacey, J. H., Leicher, N., Leng M. J., Levkov, Z., Lindhorst, K., Masi, A., Mercuri, A. M., Nomade, S., Nowaczyk, N., Panagiotopoulos K., Peyron O., Reed J. M., Regattieri E., Sadori L., Sagnotti L., Stelbrink B., Sulpizio R., Tofilovska, S., Torri, P., Vogel, H., Wagner, T., Wagner-Cremer, F., Wolff, G. A., Wonik, T., Zanchetta, G., Zhang, X. S. (2017) The environmental and evolutionary history of Lake Ohrid (FYROM/Albania): interim results from the SCOPSCO deep drilling project, Biogeosciences, 14:2033-2054.

PARTICIPANT LIST

| # | NAME | E MAIL | COUNTRY |
|----|-------------------------|-------------------------------|---------|
| 1 | Anisa Dhroso | anisa.dhroso@fshn.edu.al | Albania |
| 2 | Ariola Devolli | adevolli@ubt.edu.al | Albania |
| 3 | Ariola Morina | alika@ubt.edu.al | Albania |
| 4 | Artiona Laze | alaze@ubt.edu.al | Albania |
| 5 | Blerta Turani | blertaturani@yahoo.com | Albania |
| 6 | Edlira Shahinasi | eshahinasi@ubt.edu.al | Albania |
| 7 | Elfrida Dishmema | e.dishmema@gmail.com | Albania |
| 8 | Emilian Shabani | emilian3shabani@yahoo.it | Albania |
| 9 | Enis Dalo | enisd8@gmail.com | Albania |
| 10 | Eralda Dano | danoeralda@gmail.com | Albania |
| 11 | Frederik Dara | frederik.dara@fshn.edu.al | Albania |
| 12 | Hasime Manaj | hasime.manaj@fshn.edu.al | Albania |
| 13 | Majlinda Sana | lidabrahaj@hotmail.com | Albania |
| 14 | Merita Stafasani | mstafasani@ubt.edu.al | Albania |
| 15 | Onejda Kycyk | okycyk@ubt.edu.al | Albania |
| 16 | Silvana Mustafaj | smustafaj@ubt.edu.al | Albania |
| 17 | Sonila Vito | sonila.vito@fshn.edu.al | Albania |
| 18 | Suela Bushi | bushisuela@yahoo.it | Albania |
| 19 | Amel Chouabia | amelchouabia@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 20 | Abdelmalek Oulmi | oulmi@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 21 | Abdennacer Mouffok | mouffok_ab@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 22 | Abderezak Chebli | a.chebli@ensa.dz | Algeria |
| 23 | Abderrahmane Baghiani | baghianiab@hotmail.co.uk | Algeria |
| 24 | Abderrahmane Chebli | chebli.abderrahmane@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 25 | Abderrezak Chaouch | chaouch69@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 26 | Adel Nadjib Chaker | laala_z@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 27 | Ahlem Karbab | karbabal2@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 28 | Ahmed Belguermi | belguermi.ahmed@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 29 | Ahmed İnal | inal_ahmed@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 30 | Aicha Hennia | hennia72@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 31 | Ali Aouabed | aouabed@hotmail.com | Algeria |
| 32 | Amel Benselama | inal_ahmed@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 33 | Amel Chouia | chouiamel88@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 34 | Amina Smai | amina.smai@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 35 | Amina Kadiri | myna71@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 36 | Amine Harrane | amineharrane@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 37 | Arrar Lekhmici | lekharrar@hotmail.com | Algeria |
| 38 | Asma Achour | achourasma@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 39 | Bahia Doumandji-Mitiche | b.doumandji@ensa.dz | Algeria |
| 40 | Balla El Hacene | hbalanet@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 41 | Saliha Belal | saliha.belal2016@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 42 | Zeyneb Benkebil | benkebil-zineb-eco@hotmail.fr | Algeria |
| 43 | Brahim Kebabi | b_kebabi@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 44 | Chahinaz Chekroun | chekroun-ch@hotmail.com | Algeria |

| 45 | Chahrazed Aberkane | chahrazed2011@hotmail.com | Algeria |
|----|----------------------------|---------------------------------|---------|
| 46 | Dalila Messaoudi | messaoudidalila@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 47 | Djamel Atsamnia | atsame2000@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 48 | Fatima Bensaida | bensaidafatima@hotmail.com | Algeria |
| 49 | Fatima Benchikh | ftmamira@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 50 | Fatima Yakoubi | yakoubi-fatimabio@hotmail.fr | Algeria |
| 51 | Fatima Zohra Babou | sweetdays2013@hotmail.fr | Algeria |
| 52 | Habiba Boukhebti | oulmi2@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 53 | Habiba Saadi | habiba.saadi@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 54 | Hafid Bouies | bouies.hafid@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 55 | Hafidha Khadem | bbbkr9@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 56 | Hakima Oulebsir-Mohandkaci | mohandkacihakima1@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 57 | Hammama Bouriche | bouriche_ha@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 58 | Meriem Hani | hani.meriem@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 59 | Hassiba Benabdallah | benabdallahhas2015@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 60 | Hassina Bougherara | hassinabougherara@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 61 | Hind Fenghour | fenghourhind@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 62 | Hicham Mahi Boumedal | hichemboumedal@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 63 | Hocine Laouer | hocine_laouer@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 64 | Houaria Bendjedou | houaria8710@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 65 | Houneida Benbouzid | benbouzid_h@yahoo.com | Algeria |
| 66 | Kaissa Boudieb | k.boudieb@univ-boumerdes.dz | Algeria |
| 67 | Katia Djenadi | djenadi-katia@hotmail.fr | Algeria |
| 68 | Khadidja Dehimi | d.kadija8@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 69 | Khaled Khachai | | Algeria |
| 70 | Khalissa Cheniti | khalissacheniti@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 71 | Kheira Benaissa | benaissa.nawel1987@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 72 | Kheira Errouane | errouane_80@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 73 | Kheira Kechar | kechark@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 74 | Lamia Oulmi | oulmilamia@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 75 | Leila Ailane | leila.mohammed.ailane@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 76 | Leila Bellebcir | leilabellebcir@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 77 | Leila Madani | lmadani2010@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 78 | Leila Mallem | leilamallem@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 79 | Linda Cheriak | cheriaklinda2005@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 80 | Loucif-Ayad Wahida | wahloucif@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 81 | Louiza Belkacemi | lbelkacemi@hotmail.fr | Algeria |
| 82 | Lynda Maya Mansour | mlyndamaya@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 83 | Maachou Hamida | hamidamaachou@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 84 | Mahmoud Belalia | mbelalia@yahoo.com | Algeria |
| 85 | Mahmoud Kitouni | mahmoudkitouni@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 86 | Meriem Elkolli | elkollim@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 87 | M'hamed El Mokhefi | elmokhefimhamed@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 88 | Moufida Bouchekrit | bouchekritmoufida@ymail.com | Algeria |
| 89 | Moulay Belkhodja | moulay2009@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 90 | Mounira Merghem | mouniramerghem@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 91 | Nacer Djirar | djirar.nacer@univ-setif.dz | Algeria |

| 92 | Nadia Yasmine Asfouri | asfouri.n@gmail.com | Algeria |
|-----|------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------|
| 93 | Nadjet Meharrar | nadjet.meharrar@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 94 | Nadjia Allouche | n.allouche@univ-dbkm.dz | Algeria |
| 95 | Nadjiba Meziou- Chebouti | chnadj1ba@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 96 | Nafa Zahreddine | nafa.zahreddine@univ-guelma.dz | Algeria |
| 97 | Nassima Behidj | behidj_nassima@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 98 | Nassima Chikhi-Chorfi | nachorfi2000@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 99 | Nawel Boucherba | boucherbanawel@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 100 | Nawel Merouani | nawelmerouani@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 101 | Naziha Bourenane Bouhafs | bourenanenaziha@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 102 | Nour El Houda Yasmina Bouras | bouras-rosa@outlook.fr | Algeria |
| 103 | Noureddine Hadidi | hadd71@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 104 | Ouahiba Boumaza | ouahibaboumaza@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 105 | Ouarda Mansouri | souadmansouri2003@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 106 | Rabiaa Merrouche | merrabiaa74@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 107 | Rafika Lebazda | rlebazda@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 108 | Ratiba Mekkiou | mekkiou_ratiba@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 109 | Ridha Aichour | ridha_aichour@yahoo.ca | Algeria |
| 110 | Sabrina Bicha | bichasabrina2016@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 111 | Safia Zenia | safia_zenia@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 112 | Saliha Larouci | saliha_002@hotmail.fr | Algeria |
| 113 | Salima Roudj | salimaroudj06@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 114 | Samira Bensoltane | bensoltane_samira@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 115 | Sarri Madani | sarri.m.dz@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 116 | Seddik Khennouf | khennouf_sed@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 117 | Semir Bechir Suheil Gaouar | suheilgaouar@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 118 | Senani Rachida | r_senani@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 119 | Sidi Mohammed Merioua | sm.merioua@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 120 | Slim Bouguessa | bouguessaslim2009@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 121 | Soumeya Doumandji | sdoumandji@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 122 | Soumeya Kaouche | kaouchesoumeya@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 123 | Soumia Krimat | soumani_karima@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 124 | Tahri Miloud | tahri1m@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 125 | Taleb Kahina | kahina-taleb@hotmail.com | Algeria |
| 126 | Yamina Zouambia | zouambia_y@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 127 | Yasmina Bidai | ybidai@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 128 | Zahira Laala | oulmi1@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 129 | Zineb Mahi | z.mahiman@gmail.com | Algeria |
| 130 | Zineb Lakache | lakache.zineb@yahoo.fr | Algeria |
| 131 | Afruz Nasirova | anasirli@inbox.ru | Azerbaijan |
| 132 | Kamala Asadova | asadovakamala@yahoo.com | Azerbaijan |
| 133 | Angelina Muhova | muhova.angelina@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 134 | Daniela Valkova | valkova_d@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 135 | Dimitrinka Krusheva | kasidi4@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 136 | Elena Todorovska | e.g.todorovska@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 137 | Emil Penchev | emo_ap@mail.bg | Bulgaria |
| 138 | Galin Georgiev | galindzi@abv.bg | Bulgaria |

| 139 | Galina Mihova | gm_mihova@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
|-----|------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------|
| 140 | Georgi Georgiev | georgi_d4@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 141 | Ivona Dimitrova | ivonna_dimitrova@yahoo.co.uk | Bulgaria |
| 142 | Kamelia Yotovska | kami_yotovska@biofac.uni-sofia.bg | Bulgaria |
| 143 | Krasimira Genova | kgenova@ltu.bg | Bulgaria |
| 144 | Minka Koleva | m_koleva2006@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 145 | Miroslava Cristova-Cherbadji | miroslavaxristova75@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 146 | Mladen Dimov | gospodin.cunicula@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 147 | Nadezhda Markova | nadya@orgchm.bas.bg | Bulgaria |
| 148 | Nadezhda Palova | nadejda_palova@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 149 | Neli Prodanova-Marinova | neli_npm@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 150 | Neli Valkova | | Bulgaria |
| 151 | Nikolay Panayotov | niknikpan@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 152 | Nina Nenova | nina_n13@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 153 | Petia Genova-Kalou | petia.d.genova@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 154 | Rangel Dragov | agov1@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 155 | Spasimira Nedyalkova | fpl_2005@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 156 | Stefka Ivanova | stefka.krumova@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 157 | Stoyan Georgiev | stogeorgiev@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 158 | Tatyana Yoncheva | t_ion@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 159 | Teodora Barakova | tedi_mendeva@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 160 | Teodora Popova | tlpopova@yahoo.com | Bulgaria |
| 161 | Tsveta Hristeva | zveta_h@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 162 | Valentin Panchev | valentin_panchev@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 163 | Valentina Encheva | en4eva_v@yahoo.com | Bulgaria |
| 164 | Valeria Ivanova | valeriasi1@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 165 | Valja Dimitrova | | Bulgaria |
| 166 | Vanya Ivanova | vkiryakova@yahoo.com | Bulgaria |
| 167 | Viliana Vasileva | viliana.vasileva@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 168 | Violeta Bozhanova | violetazb@gmail.com | Bulgaria |
| 169 | Zlatina Uhr | zlatinapg@abv.bg | Bulgaria |
| 170 | Attia El Gayar | attiaelgayar@yahoo.com | Egypt |
| 171 | Dinkinesh Abera | dinkineshabera@gmail.com | Ethiopia |
| 172 | Zeleke Ashango | zelekemarc2014@gmail.com | Ethiopia |
| 173 | Abderahim Ahmadou | abderahim.ahmadou@cirad.fr | France |
| 174 | Ioannis Xynias | ioannis_xynias@hotmail.com | Greece |
| 175 | Ioannis Kalavrouziotis | ikalabro@eap.gr | Greece |
| 176 | Ioannis Tokatlidis | itokatl@agro.duth.gr | Greece |
| 177 | Louloudia Koulympoudi | k_loula@yahoo.gr | Greece |
| 178 | Zisis Vryzas | zvryzas@agro.duth.gr | Greece |
| 179 | Darshana Duhan | darshuduhan2@gmail.com | India |
| 180 | Patel Thaneswer | thaneswer@gmail.com | India |
| 181 | Afifuddin Latif Adiredjo | al.adiredjo@gmail.com | Indonesia |
| 182 | Mahboubeh Mirzahosseini | m.mırzahosseını@ut.ac.ır | Iran |
| 183 | Nasser Zare | zarenasser@yahoo.com | Iran |
| 184 | Parisa Sheikhzadeh | sheikhzadehmp@gmail.com | Iran |
| 185 | Solieman Rasouliazar | rasoul188s@yahoo.com | Iran |

| 186 | Vahid Akbarpour | v_akbarpour60@yahoo.com | Iran |
|-----|-------------------------------|------------------------------|------------|
| 187 | Abdl-Monnem Kahlel | monnem_sadalaha@yahoo.com | Iraq |
| 188 | Abdul Hussein Al-Faisal | alfais2000@yahoo.com | Iraq |
| 189 | Abdulbasit Aljanabi | abd_lbasit@yahoo.com | Iraq |
| 190 | Fatimah Al-Dulaymi | i_education@yahoo.com | Iraq |
| 191 | Huda W. Hadi Huda | akram.alabdo77@gmail.com | Iraq |
| 192 | Maha Hasan | dr_maha2008@yahoo.com | Iraq |
| 193 | Qussay Zaki Shams Al-Dain | qussay55zshams@gmail.com | Iraq |
| 194 | Thikra Hasan | thikra_appleid@yahoo.com | Iraq |
| 195 | Zaure Karimovna Ayupova | zaure567@yandex.ru | Kazakhstan |
| 196 | Emine Daci Zejnullahi | emine.daci@ubt-uni.net | Kosovo |
| 197 | Biljana Jordanoska Shishkoska | bi.jordanoska@gmail.com | Macedonia |
| 198 | Valentina Pelivanoska | vpelivanoska@yahoo.com | Macedonia |
| 199 | Vesna Krsteska | vkrsteska@yahoo.com | Macedonia |
| 200 | Afafe Slimani | slimani.afaf.iaa@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 201 | Amal Ennouri | a.ennouri@uhp.ac.ma | Morocco |
| 202 | Amin Laglaoui Amin | laglaouiamin@yahoo.fr | Morocco |
| 203 | El Hassania El Herradi | haelherradi@yahoo.fr | Morocco |
| 204 | Fatima Ezzahrae Guaouguaou | f.guaouguaou@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 205 | Hajar Koubali | hajar.koubali93@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 206 | Hasnaa Sammama | hasna.sammama@edu.uca.ac.ma | Morocco |
| 207 | Hmouni Driss | hmouni.iss@uit.ac.ma | Morocco |
| 208 | Hssaini Lahcen | hssaiini@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 209 | İssam Et Hmouni | khadir.el@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 210 | Lamia Yakkou | yakkou.lam@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 211 | Mohamed Aitboulahsen | maitboulahsen@uae.ac.ma | Morocco |
| 212 | Mohamed Najib Alfeddy | Alfeddynajib@yahoo.com | Morocco |
| 213 | Mohammed Bouskout | mohammedbous91@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 214 | Najoua Mouden | nadnajoua@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 215 | Nour Eddine Es-Safi | essafi_n@yahoo.fr | Morocco |
| 216 | Oumaima Harkousse | harkousse.oumaima@hotmail.fr | Morocco |
| 217 | Rajae Alloudane | rajaealloudane@yahoo.com | Morocco |
| 218 | Said Barrijal | barrijal@yahoo.fr | Morocco |
| 219 | Said Zantar | zantar_said@hotmail.com | Morocco |
| 220 | Sofia Houida | houidasofia@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 221 | Souad Amghar | eamghar@gmail.com | Morocco |
| 222 | Abdul Qayyum | aqayyum@uoh.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 223 | Abdul Sattar | abdulsattar04@gmail.com | Pakistan |
| 224 | Ahmad Shahab | khosa.shahab@gmail.com | Pakistan |
| 225 | Ahmad Sher | ahmad.sher@bzu.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 226 | Ali Muhammad Yousafzai | alifishzoology@yahoo.com | Pakistan |
| 227 | Anjum Ayub | anjumiccbs@gmail.com | Pakistan |
| 228 | Anwaar Ahmed | anwaarft@uaar.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 229 | Ayaz Mehmood | ayaz.gıll@uoh.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 230 | Farid Asif Shaheen | shaheen@uaar.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 231 | Mustafa Ghazala | ghazala.mustafa@yahoo.com | Pakistan |
| 232 | Gul Nabi Khan | gulnabi@icp.edu.pk | Pakistan |

| 233 | Jawaria Mansoor | jawaria.khan@uvas.edu.pk | Pakistan |
|-----|---------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------|
| 234 | Muhammad Ansar Farooq | ansar 1264@yahoo.com | Pakistan |
| 235 | Muhammad Iqbal | muhammadiqbal999@hotmail.com | Pakistan |
| 236 | Muhammad Irfan | m.irfan@uos.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 237 | Muhammad Saeed | drsaeedhu@gmail.com | Pakistan |
| 238 | Mumtaz Joyo | joyo.mumtaz@gmail.com | Pakistan |
| 239 | Naqib Ullah Khan Khan | nukmarwat@yahoo.com | Pakistan |
| 240 | Raees Ahmed | raees.agri@gmail.com | Pakistan |
| 241 | Romana Anjum | romana.anjum@uaf.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 242 | Sabika Firasat | sabika.firasat@qau.edu.pk | Pakistan |
| 243 | Saeed Rauf | saeedbreeder@hotmail.com | Pakistan |
| 244 | Shadab Shaukat | shadab_uaf@hotmail.com | Pakistan |
| 245 | Shazia Perveen | shaz-chem@hotmail.com | Pakistan |
| 246 | Adrian Peticila | apeticila@gmail.com | Romania |
| 247 | Anei (Guriencu) Raluca-Cristina | raluca.anei@ugal.ro | Romania |
| 248 | Claudiu-Daniel Utoiu | claudiu.utoiu@gmail.com | Romania |
| 249 | Manole Dumitru | dumitrumanole38@yahoo.ro | Romania |
| 250 | Mihai Gidea | gideam@yahoo.com | Romania |
| 251 | Mirela İrina Cordea | mcordea@usamvcluj.ro | Romania |
| 252 | Ştefan Iordache | istefanrares@gmail.com | Romania |
| 253 | Tamara Mihociu | tamaramihociu@yahoo.com | Romania |
| 254 | Vasile Jinga | vasilejinga23@gmail.com | Romania |
| 255 | Natalia Zhemchuzhina | zhemch@mail.ru | Russian Federation |
| 256 | Carlos López Herrera | lherrera@ias.csic.es | Spain |
| 257 | Jose M Melero-Vara | jmmelero@ias.csic.es | Spain |
| 258 | Shaker Ahmed | shaker33@gmail.com | Sudan |
| 259 | Ebraheem Al-Jouri | ejouri73@gmail.com | Syrian Arab Republic |
| 260 | Nooduan Muangsan | nooduan@sut.ac.th | Thailand |
| 261 | Abidi Sourour | sourour.abidi@yahoo.fr | Tunisia |
| 262 | Amel Najjar | amelnajarbenmatoug@gmail.com | Tunisia |
| 263 | Anissa Riahi | riahia2002@yahoo.fr | Tunisia |
| 264 | Aziza Gasmi-Boubaker | azizaboubaker@yahoo.com | Tunisia |
| 265 | Ben Haj Koubaier Hayet | h.kbaier@gmail.com | Tunisia |
| 266 | Ben Haj Yahia İmen | imenbhyahia@yahoo.fr | Tunisia |
| 267 | Hajer Debbabi | debbabih@gmail.com | Tunisia |
| 268 | Samia Ben Said | sabensaid@gmail.com | Tunisia |
| 269 | Sarra Jribi | sarra.jribi@gmail.com | Tunisia |
| 270 | Mustafa Yildiz | mustafa.yildiz@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 271 | Ahmet Candemir | ahmet.candemir@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 272 | Ahmet Uludag | ahuludag@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 273 | Ahu Altinkut Uncuoğlu | ahu.uncuoglu@marmara.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 274 | Ali Güler | aligguler@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 275 | Alper Baran | alper.baran@atauni.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 276 | Armağan Kaya | armagan.kaya@alanya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 277 | Arzu Coşkuntuna | acoskuntuna@nku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 278 | Aybegün Ton | aybeguntoncu@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 279 | Aysun Türkanoğlu Özçelik | aysunozcelik@akdeniz.edu.tr | Turkey |

| 280 | Ayşe Çalik | aysgns@yahoo.com | Turkey |
|-----|-----------------------|---------------------------------|--------|
| 281 | Bahattin Tanyolac | bahattin.tanyolac@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 282 | Behiye Banu Bilgen | bbilgen@nku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 283 | Belgin Çamur-Elipek | belginelipekcamur@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 284 | Birgül Güden | birgulguden@akdeniz.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 285 | Buket Aşkin | buketaskin@klu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 286 | Burcu Şahin | burcusahin06@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 287 | Buse Dursun | busedursun@marun.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 288 | Cantekin Kivrak | cantekin.kivrak@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 289 | Cem Tokatli | tokatlicem@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 290 | Cemal Kasnak | ckasnak@aku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 291 | Cihan Demir | cihan.demir@klu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 292 | Çağla Gül Güldiken | caglagt@anadolu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 293 | Çayan Alkan | calkan@nku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 294 | Çiler Kartal | cilermeric@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 295 | Demet Yildiz Turgut | demet.yildizturgut@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 296 | Demir Kok | dkok@nku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 297 | Deniz Aksoy | denizyuksel@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 298 | Deniz Yeliz Akbaş | dnzylz.akbas@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 299 | Didem Tuncay | didemtuncay@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 300 | Dilay Kart | dilay_kart@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 301 | Doğanay Tolunay | dtolunay@istanbul.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 302 | Dönüş Gençer | donustoy@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 303 | Duygu Akay | aduygu950@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 304 | Duygu Ateş | duyguates1980@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 305 | Duygu Benzer Gürel | duygu-benzer@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 306 | Duygu Şahin Gül | duygusahin@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 307 | Ebru Derici Eker | edeker@mersin.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 308 | Ebru Güney | ebrgny@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 309 | Elbi Cansu Yilmaz | elbicansuyilmaz@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 310 | Emin Bülent Erenoğlu | berenoglu@cukurova.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 311 | Emrullah Culpan | eculpan@nku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 312 | Ender Makineci | emak@istanbul.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 313 | Engin Yol | enginyol@akdeniz.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 314 | Erdogan Hakki | eehakki@selcuk.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 315 | Esin Ari | esinari@akdeniz.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 316 | Esra Uca | ucaesrauca@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 317 | Eyup Başer | ebaser32@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 318 | Ezgi Çabuk Şahin | ezgicabuk@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 319 | Fatih Bakanoğullari | fbakanogullari@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 320 | Fatih Erci | ferci@konya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 321 | Fatma Ersöz | fatmaersoz@akdeniz.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 322 | Fatmagül Halici Demir | fatmagulhalici@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 323 | Ferah Yamaç | ferahyamac@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 324 | Figen Ertan | fgn966@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 325 | Filiz Sanal | fekinci3@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 326 | Fulya Dilek Gökalp | fulyadilek@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |

| 327 | Furkan Ayaz | furkanayaz@mersin.edu.tr | Turkey |
|-----|------------------------|--------------------------------|--------|
| 328 | Gamze Altintaş Kazar | gamzealtintas@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 329 | Gokhan Onder Erguven | gokhanondererguven@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 330 | Goksel Evci | gokselevci@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 331 | Gonca Günbatar | gonca@mesacevre.com | Turkey |
| 332 | Gulden Yilmaz | guldenyilmaz2009@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 333 | Gulden Aynaci | guldenaynaci@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 334 | Gühergül Uluçam | gulergul@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 335 | Gülsemin Savaş Tuna | glsvs@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 336 | Haci Ali Güleç | ggulec@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 337 | Halide Aydoğdu | halideaydogdu@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 338 | Hasan Akan | hakan@harran.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 339 | Hatice Kati | haticekati@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 340 | Hatice Palüzar | haticepaluzar@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 341 | Hayati Arda | harda@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 342 | Hilal Özkilinç | hilalozkilinc@comu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 343 | İlham Eröz Poyraz | ieroz@anadolu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 344 | İrfan Öztürk | ozturkirfan62@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 345 | İsmail Demir | idemir@ktu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 346 | Kadir Çinar | kadir1440@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 347 | Kadir Emre Özaltin | kadiremre.ozaltin@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 348 | Mehmet Arslan | mehmetarslan@erciyes.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 349 | Mehmet Cavit Sezer | mehmetcavit.sezer@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 350 | Mehmet Cetin | mcetin@kastamonu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 351 | Mehmet Ibrahim Yilmaz | yilmazmehmet22@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 352 | Mehmet İnan | minan@akdeniz.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 353 | Mehmet Kadir Erdoğan | mehmetkadirerdogan@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 354 | Mehmet Yavuz Hüseyinca | yhuseyinca@selcuk.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 355 | Melek Akay | melek.akay@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 356 | Melisa Ayişiği | melisaayisigi@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 357 | Meltem Çakmak | meltemcakmak@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 358 | Merve Guzel | merveguzel@live.com | Turkey |
| 359 | Metin Budak | genomicdna2@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 360 | Miray Pamir Kezile | miray.pamir@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 361 | Mitat Aydoğdu | maydogdu75@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 362 | Mumin Sahin | mumins@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 363 | Murat Reis Akkaya | mrakkaya@adanabtu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 364 | Murat Yurtcan | myurtcan@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 365 | Mustafa Kaplan | kaplanmustafa@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 366 | Muzaffer Aydemir | aydemirma67@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 367 | Nazli Ulutaş | nazliulutas059@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 368 | Nebiye Pelin Türker | npelinturker@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 369 | Necmettin Güler | nguler@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 370 | Nevin Şafak Odabaşi | nsafak@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 371 | Nilgün Tan | nilguntopcu@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 372 | Numan Gozubenli | gnuman@harran.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 373 | Nurcan Özkan | nurcanozkan@hotmail.com | Turkey |

| 374 | Oğuzhan Doğanlar | doganlar@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
|-----|-------------------------|--------------------------------|--------|
| 375 | Orhan Onur Askin | orhanonuraskin@klu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 376 | Osman Kola | okola@adanabtu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 377 | Özlem Çağindi | ozlemcagindi@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 378 | Pelin Onsekizoğlu Bağci | pelinonsekizoglu@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 379 | Pinar Atukeren | p_atukeren@yahoo.com | Turkey |
| 380 | Pinar Mimiroğlu | pinar_altinoluk@yahoo.com.tr | Turkey |
| 381 | Ramazan Canhilal | r_canhilal@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 382 | Ramazan Konak | ramazankonak15@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 383 | Recep Palamutoğlu | rpalamutoglu@aku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 384 | Remziye Nalçacioğlu | remziye@ktu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 385 | S. Ahmet Bağci | bagcia@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 386 | Sabriye Canakci | sabriye@ktu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 387 | Safure Guler | safure.guler@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 388 | Sahinde Sili | sahindesili@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 389 | Secil Erdogan | seciley@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 390 | Seda Külen | seda.kulen@tarim.gov.tr | Turkey |
| 391 | Selçuk Selvi | selcukselvi@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 392 | Sema Alaşahan | salasahan@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 393 | Sena Ardiçli | sardicli@uludag.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 394 | Serap Kizil Aydemir | serap.kizil@bilecik.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 395 | Serdar Akburak | sakburak@istanbul.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 396 | Serdar Bilen | sbilen@atauni.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 397 | Sergun Dayan | sergundayan@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 398 | Sevda Pehlivanlar Önen | sevdapehlivanlar@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 399 | Sezen Arat | sarat@nku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 400 | Sinem Leventer | sinemleventer@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 401 | Süleyman Kök | koks@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 402 | Süreyya Altintaş | saltintas@nku.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 403 | Şeküre Çulha Erdal | sekureculha85@hacettepe.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 404 | Tahir Altinbalik | tahira@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 405 | Tamer Sermenli | tsermenli@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 406 | Tuğba Hilal Kiliç | hilalciftcigil@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 407 | Tuğba Tunceli | tugbatunceli@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 408 | Ufuk Bagci | ufukbagci@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 409 | Ufuk Eren Vapur | ufukerenvapur@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 410 | Utku Güner | uguner@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 411 | Veli Pekcan | velipekcan@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 412 | Yildiz Aydin | ayildiz@marmara.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 413 | Yilmaz Camlitepe | yilmazc@trakya.du.tr | Turkey |
| 414 | Yilmaz Can | ycan@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 415 | Yonca Yüzügüllü Karakuş | yyuzugullu@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 416 | Yunus Emre Aktaş | emre.aktas.89@hotmail.com | Turkey |
| 417 | Zafer Şakaci | zafer54gs@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 418 | Zekiye Göksel | zekiyegoksel@gmail.com | Turkey |
| 419 | Zeynep Banu Doganlar | zdoganlar@yahoo.com.tr | Turkey |
| 420 | Zeynep Çisem Mutafcılar | cisemmutafzeynep@gmail.com | Turkey |

| 421 | Zeynep Erdoğan | zeyneperdogan@trakya.edu.tr | Turkey |
|-----|-------------------|-----------------------------|----------------|
| 422 | Zihni Demirbag | zihni@ktu.edu.tr | Turkey |
| 423 | Yurii Boiko | yuriyalexb@gmail.com | Ukraine |
| 424 | Kamran Shoukat | akhkamransali@gmail.com | United Kingdom |
| 425 | Michael Asigbaase | mbxma18@nottingham.ac.uk | United Kingdom |
| | | | |

AGBIOL CONFERENCE STUDENT ORGANIZING TEAM

- # NAME
- 1 Emrah Akpinar
- 2 Selcuk Kaya
- 3 Begum Kaya
- 4 Begum Cidal
- 5 Burak Tatlises
- 6 Buse Tepe
- 7 Gizem Civi
- 8 Tugay Gümüş
- 9 Deniz Kizilkaya
- 10 Çisem Mutafçilar
- 11 Müge Koç
- 12 Pelin Turhan
- 13 Gülden Vapur
- 14 Gülsüm Ahmet
- 15 Ömer Arda
- 15 Çağatay Akar
- 17 Alperen Dilekli
- 18 Deniz Erdoğan
- 19 Elifgül Aksu
- 20 Sinan Batur
- 21 Deniz Durcan
- 22 Muhamedsemi Memedi
- 23 Selma Güler
- 24 Yusuf Eryildiz
- 25 Miray Sezer
- 26 Mehmet Zeki Bozkus
- 27 Kübra Kolburan
- 28 Berna Duran
- 29 Aysenur Pala
- 30 Sencer Kuru
- 31 Nadide Yürüten
- 32 Elçin Yildirim
- 33 İlayda Ertürk

OUR SPONSORS

PLATINUM SPONSORSHIP

DINNER SPONSOR

TRAGEN RD CO Ltd www.tragen.gen.tr



SILVER SPONSOR

WILMAR MYANMAR <u>http://www.wilmar-international.com/</u>





CONFERENCE BAG SPONSHORHIP

DESMET BALLESTRA www.desmetballestra.com

| | Oils & Fats Oleochemicals |
|---------------------------|------------------------------|
| | desmet ballestra |
| Science behind Technology | |
| www.desmetballestra.com | |

BRONZE SPONSHORHIP

TRAKYA BIRLIK OILSEED COOPERATIVES

www.trakyabirlik.com.tr



BRONZE SPONSHORHIP

ST Equipment & Technology https://steqtech.com



BRONZE SPONSHORHIP

BRUKER www.bruker.com



OUR OFFICIAL AIRLINE



A STAR ALLIANCE MEMBER 🔧

